# **CD-ROM Included!**

• All examples and workbooks discussed in the book

• Searchable electronic version of this book, in PDF format

# John Walkenbach

# Exce 2010

Master Excel formulas for useful worksheets

Create effective charts suitable for the boardroom

Analyze and present data with pivot tables

# The book you need to succeed!

# Excel<sup>®</sup> 2010 Bible

# Excel<sup>®</sup> 2010 Bible

# John Walkenbach



#### Excel® 2010 Bible

Published by Wiley Publishing, Inc. 10475 Crosspoint Boulevard Indianapolis, IN 46256 www.wiley.com

Copyright © 2010 by Wiley Publishing, Inc., Indianapolis, Indiana

Library of Congress Control Number: 2010922573

Published simultaneously in Canada

ISBN: 978-0-470-47487-7

Manufactured in the United States of America

 $10\ 9\ 8\ 7\ 6\ 5\ 4\ 3\ 2\ 1$ 

No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, scanning or otherwise, except as permitted under Sections 107 or 108 of the 1976 United States Copyright Act, without either the prior written permission of the Publisher, or authorization through payment of the appropriate per-copy fee to the Copyright Clearance Center, 222 Rosewood Drive, Danvers, MA 01923, (978) 750-8400, fax (978) 646-8600. Requests to the Publisher for permission should be addressed to the Permissions Department, John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 111 River Street, Hoboken, NJ 07030, (201) 748-6011, fax (201) 748-6008, or online at http://www.wiley.com/go/permissions.

LIMIT OF LIABILITY/DISCLAIMER OF WARRANTY: THE PUBLISHER AND THE AUTHOR MAKE NO REPRESENTATIONS OR WARRANTIES WITH RESPECT TO THE ACCURACY OR COMPLETENESS OF THE CONTENTS OF THIS WORK AND SPECIFICALLY DISCLAIM ALL WARRANTIES, INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION WARRANTIES OF FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE. NO WARRANTY MAY BE CREATED OR EXTENDED BY SALES OR PROMOTIONAL MATERIALS. THE ADVICE AND STRATEGIES CONTAINED HEREIN MAY NOT BE SUITABLE FOR EVERY SITUATION. THIS WORK IS SOLD WITH THE UNDERSTANDING THAT THE PUBLISHER IS NOT ENGAGED IN RENDERING LEGAL, ACCOUNTING, OR OTHER PROFESSIONAL SERVICES. IF PROFESSIONAL ASSISTANCE IS REQUIRED, THE SERVICES OF A COMPETENT PROFESSIONAL PERSON SHOULD BE SOUGHT. NEITHER THE PUBLISHER NOR THE AUTHOR SHALL BE LIABLE FOR DAMAGES ARISING HEREFROM. THE FACT THAT AN ORGANIZATION OR WEBSITE IS REFERRED TO IN THIS WORK AS A CITATION AND/OR A POTENTIAL SOURCE OF FURTHER INFORMATION DOES NOT MEAN THAT THE AUTHOR OR THE PUBLISHER ENDORSES THE INFORMATION THE ORGANIZATION OR WEB SITE MAY PROVIDE OR RECOMMENDATIONS IT MAY MAKE. FURTHER, READERS SHOULD BE AWARE THAT INTERNET WEB SITES LISTED IN THIS WORK MAY HAVE CHANGED OR DISAPPEARED BETWEEN WHEN THIS WORK WAS WRITTEN AND WHEN IT IS READ.

For general information on our other products and services or to obtain technical support, please contact our Customer Care Department within the U.S. at (877) 762-2974, outside the U.S. at (317) 572-3993 or fax (317) 572-4002.

**Trademarks:** Wiley, the Wiley logo, and related trade dress are trademarks or registered trademarks of John Wiley & Sons, Inc. and/or its affiliates, in the United States and other countries, and may not be used without written permission. Excel is a registered trademark of Microsoft Corporation in the United States and/or other countries. All other trademarks are the property of their respective owners. Wiley Publishing, Inc. is not associated with any product or vendor mentioned in this book.

Wiley also publishes its books in a variety of electronic formats. Some content that appears in print may not be available in electronic books.

This book is dedicated to Wormpicker, a gentleman and a scholar who one day will be a fine old-time fiddler.

# About the Author

**John Walkenbach** is a bestselling Excel author who has published more than 50 spreadsheet books. He lives amid the saguaros, javelinas, rattlesnakes, bobcats, and gila monsters in Southern Arizona — but the critters are mostly scared away by his clawhammer banjo playing. For more information, Google him.

# About the Technical Editor

Niek Otten started in data processing in 1967 in an insurance company. He ran into VisiCalc in 1980 and has been addicted to spreadsheets ever since. His first acquaintance with Excel (version 1!) was in 1985 on a Macintosh. Since 2005, Niek has been self-employed. He answers questions about Excel in newsgroups and forums, reviews and edits Excel books, writes articles, and develops Excel-related software, such as a high-performance actuarial add-in. Niek has been a Microsoft Most Valuable Professional (MVP) for Excel since 2001.

# Credits

Project Editor Rebecca Senninger

Acquisitions Editor Katie Mohr

**Technical Editor** Niek Otten

Senior Copy Editor Teresa Artman

Editorial Manager Leah Cameron

**Editorial Director** Mary C. Corder

Vice President and Executive Group Publisher Richard Swadley Vice President and Publisher Andy Cummings

**Project Coordinator** Katie Crocker

Media Development Project Manager Laura Moss

Media Development Assistant Project Manager Jenny Swisher

Media Development Associate Producers Josh Frank Shawn Patrick Doug Kuhn Marilyn Hummel

**Proofreading and Indexing** Linda Seifert Broccoli Information Management

# Contents

Acknowledgments	
Introduction	xxxviii
Part I: Getting Started with Excel	1
Chapter 1: Introducing Excel	
What Is Excel Good For?	
What's New in Excel 2010?	4
Understanding Workbooks and Worksheets	5
Moving around a Worksheet	
Navigating with your keyboard	9
Navigating with your mouse	
Introducing the Ribbon	
Ribbon tabs	
Contextual tabs	
Types of commands on the Ribbon	
Accessing the Ribbon by using your keyboard	
Using Shortcut Menus	
Customizing Your Quick Access Toolbar	
Working with Dialog Boxes	
Navigating dialog boxes	
Using tabbed dialog boxes	
Using the Task Pane	
Creating Your First Excel Worksheet	
Getting started on your worksheet	
Filling in the month names	23
Entering the sales data	23
Formatting the numbers	24
Making your worksheet look a bit fancier	25
Summing the values	
Creating a chart	
Printing your worksheet	
Saving your workbook	

Chapter 2: Entering and Editing Worksheet Data	29
Exploring the Types of Data You Can Use	29
About numeric values	30
About text entries	30
About formulas	30
Entering Text and Values into Your Worksheets	32
Entering Dates and Times into Your Worksheets	33
Entering date values	33
Entering time values	34
Modifying Cell Contents	34
Erasing the contents of a cell	35
Replacing the contents of a cell	35
Editing the contents of a cell	35
Learning some handy data-entry techniques	37
Automatically moving the cell pointer after entering data	37
Using navigation keys instead of pressing Enter	37
Selecting a range of input cells before entering data	38
Using Ctrl+Enter to place information into multiple cells simultaneously	38
Entering decimal points automatically	38
Using AutoFill to enter a series of values	38
Using AutoComplete to automate data entry	39
Forcing text to appear on a new line within a cell	40
Using AutoCorrect for shorthand data entry	40
Entering numbers with fractions	40
Simplifying data entry by using a form	40
Entering the current date or time into a cell	42
Applying Number Formatting	42
Using automatic number formatting	43
Formatting numbers by using the Ribbon	44
Using shortcut keys to format numbers	45
Formatting numbers using the Format Cells dialog box	45
Adding your own custom number formats	47
Chapter 3: Essential Worksheet Operations	49
Learning the Fundamentals of Excel Worksheets	49
Working with Excel windows	49
Moving and resizing windows	51
Switching among windows	52
Closing windows	52
Activating a worksheet	53
Adding a new worksheet to your workbook	54
Deleting a worksheet you no longer need	54
Changing the name of a worksheet	55
Changing a sheet tab color	56

Rearranging your worksheets	
Hiding and unhiding a worksheet	
Controlling the Worksheet View	
Zooming in or out for a better view	
Viewing a worksheet in multiple windows	60
Comparing sheets side by side	61
Splitting the worksheet window into panes	62
Keeping the titles in view by freezing panes	62
Monitoring cells with a Watch Window	64
Working with Rows and Columns	65
Inserting rows and columns	65
Deleting rows and columns	
Hiding rows and columns	
Changing column widths and row heights	67
Changing column widths	67
Changing row heights	
Chapter 4. Working with Cells and Panges	60
	09
Understanding Cells and Ranges	
Selecting ranges	
Selecting complete rows and columns	
Selecting noncontiguous ranges	
Selecting multisheet ranges	
Selecting special types of cells	
Selecting cells by searching	
Copying or Moving Ranges	
Copying by using Ribbon commands	
Copying by using shortcut menu commands	80
Copying by using shortcut keys	81
Copying or moving by using drag-and-drop	81
Copying to adjacent cells	
Copying a range to other sneets	83
Using the Office Clipboard to paste	
Pasting in special ways	85
Using the Paste Special Dialog box	
Ching in a blogla sub an aparting	
Skipping blanks when pasting	
I fallsposifig a fallge	
Osnig Ivanies to Work with Ranges	
Creating range names in your workbooks	90
Using the Neme box	90
Using the Greate Names from Selection dialog her-	91
Using the Create Names from Selection dialog box	91
managing names	92

Adding Comments to Cells	94
Formatting comments	95
Changing a comment's shape	96
Reading comments	96
Printing comments	96
Hiding and showing comments	97
Selecting comments	97
Editing comments	
Deleting comments	
Chapter 5: Introducing Tables	
What Is a Table?	
Creating a Table	
Changing the Look of a Table	
Working with Tables	
Navigating in a table	
Selecting parts of a table	
Adding new rows or columns	
Deleting rows or columns	106
Moving a table	
Setting table options	107
Working with the Total Row	107
Removing duplicate rows from a table	109
Sorting and filtering a table	110
Sorting a table	
Filtering a table	
Converting a table back to a range	113
Chapter 6: Worksheet Formatting	115
Getting to Know the Formatting Tools	115
Using the formatting tools of the Home Tab	116
Using the Mini toolbar	116
Using the Format Cells dialog box	
Using Different Fonts to Format Your Worksheet	119
Changing Text Alignment	
Choosing horizontal alignment options	122
Choosing vertical alignment options	124
Wrapping or shrinking text to fit the cell	124
Merging worksheet cells to create additional text space	124
Displaying text at an angle	125
Controlling the text direction	
Using Colors and Shading	
Adding Borders and Lines	
Adding a Background Image to a Worksheet	

Using Named Styles for Easier Formatting	131
Applying styles	132
Modifying an existing style	133
Creating new styles	134
Merging styles from other workbooks	134
Controlling styles with templates	135
Understanding Document Themes	135
Applying a theme	137
Customizing a theme	138
Chapter 7: Understanding Excel Files	141
Creating a New Workbook	141
Opening an Existing Workbook	143
Using the Favorite Links	146
Filtering filenames	146
Choosing your file display preferences	147
Saving a Workbook	147
Using AutoRecover	149
Recovering versions of the current workbook	149
Recovering unsaved work	149
Specifying a Password	150
Organizing Your Files	151
Other Workbook Info Options	
Security Warning section	
Compatibility Mode section	
Permissions section	
Prepare for Sharing section	
Versions section	
Closing Workbooks	
Safeguarding Your Work	
Excel File Compatibility	
Checking compatibility	
Recognizing the Excel 2010 life formats	139
Charter Q. Lister and Creating Translater	
Chapter 8: Using and Creating Templates	161
Exploring Excel Templates	
Viewing templates	161
Creating a workbook from a template	
Modifying a template	
Understanding Custom Excel Templates	
Working with the default templates	
Using the workbook template to change workbook defaults	
Using the worksheet template to change worksheet defaults	

Editing your templates	168
Resetting the default workbook and worksheet settings	168
Creating custom templates	168
Saving your custom templates	170
Ideas for creating templates	170
Chapter 9: Printing Your Work	171
Printing with One Click	171
Changing Your Page View	172
Normal view	173
Page Layout view	174
Page Break Preview	175
Adjusting Common Page Setup Settings	177
Choosing your printer	178
Specifying what you want to print	178
Changing page orientation	179
Specifying paper size	179
Printing multiple copies of a report	180
Adjusting page margins	
Understanding page breaks	
Inserting a page break	
Removing manual page breaks	
Printing row and column titles	
Scaling printed output	
Printing cell gridlines	
Printing row and column headers	
Using a background image	
Adding a Header or Footer to Your Reports	
Selecting a predefined header or footer	186
Understanding header and footer element codes	
Other header and footer options	187
Copying Page Setup Settings across Sheets	
Preventing Certain Cells from Being Printed	
Preventing Objects from Being Printed	
Creating Custom Views of Your Worksheet	190

## Part II: Working with Formulas and Functions

193

Chapter 10: Introducing Formulas and Functions	195
Understanding Formula Basics	
Using operators in formulas	
Understanding operator precedence in formulas	197

Using functions in your formulas	199
Examples of formulas that use functions	200
Function arguments	201
More about functions	202
Entering Formulas into Your Worksheets	202
Entering formulas manually	203
Entering formulas by pointing	203
Pasting range names into formulas	205
Inserting functions into formulas	206
Function entry tips	208
Editing Formulas	209
Using Cell References in Formulas	209
Using relative, absolute, and mixed references	210
Changing the types of your references	212
Referencing cells outside the worksheet	212
Referencing cells in other worksheets	213
Referencing cells in other workbooks	213
Using Formulas in Tables	214
Summarizing data in a table	214
Using formulas within a table	216
Referencing data in a table	217
Correcting Common Formula Errors	218
Handling circular references	219
Specifying when formulas are calculated	220
Using Advanced Naming Techniques	222
Using names for constants	222
Using names for formulas	223
Using range intersections	224
Applying names to existing references	226
Tips for Working with Formulas	227
Don't hard-code values	227
Using the Formula bar as a calculator	227
Making an exact copy of a formula	227
Converting formulas to values	228
Chapter 11: Creating Formulas That Manipulate Text	. 229
A Few Words about Text	229
Text Functions	230
Working with character codes	231
The CODE function	232
The CHAR function	232
Determining whether two strings are identical	233
Joining two or more cells	234

Displaying formatted values as text	
Displaying formatted currency values as text	
Repeating a character or string	
Creating a text histogram	
Padding a number	
Removing excess spaces and nonprinting characters	
Counting characters in a string	
Changing the case of text	
Extracting characters from a string	
Replacing text with other text	
Finding and searching within a string	
Searching and replacing within a string	
Advanced Text Formulas	
Counting specific characters in a cell	
Counting the occurrences of a substring in a cell	
Extracting a filename from a path specification	
Extracting the first word of a string	
Extracting the last word of a string	
Extracting all but the first word of a string	
Extracting first names, middle names, and last names	
Removing titles from names	
Creating an ordinal number	
Counting the number of words in a cell	
Counting the number of words in a cell Chapter 12: Working with Dates and Times	
Counting the number of words in a cell Chapter 12: Working with Dates and Times How Excel Handles Dates and Times	
Counting the number of words in a cell <b>Chapter 12: Working with Dates and Times</b> How Excel Handles Dates and Times Understanding date serial numbers	
Counting the number of words in a cell <b>Chapter 12: Working with Dates and Times</b> How Excel Handles Dates and Times Understanding date serial numbers Entering dates	
Counting the number of words in a cell <b>Chapter 12: Working with Dates and Times</b> How Excel Handles Dates and Times Understanding date serial numbers Entering dates Understanding time serial numbers	
Counting the number of words in a cell <b>Chapter 12: Working with Dates and Times</b> How Excel Handles Dates and Times Understanding date serial numbers Entering dates Understanding time serial numbers Entering times	
Counting the number of words in a cell <b>Chapter 12: Working with Dates and Times</b> How Excel Handles Dates and Times Understanding date serial numbers Entering dates Understanding time serial numbers Entering times Formatting dates and times	
Counting the number of words in a cell <b>Chapter 12: Working with Dates and Times</b> How Excel Handles Dates and Times Understanding date serial numbers Entering dates Understanding time serial numbers Entering times Formatting dates and times Problems with dates	
Counting the number of words in a cell <b>Chapter 12: Working with Dates and Times</b> How Excel Handles Dates and Times Understanding date serial numbers Entering dates Understanding time serial numbers Entering times Formatting dates and times Problems with dates Excel's leap year bug.	
Counting the number of words in a cell <b>Chapter 12: Working with Dates and Times</b> How Excel Handles Dates and Times Understanding date serial numbers Entering dates Understanding time serial numbers Entering times Formatting dates and times Problems with dates Excel's leap year bug Pre-1900 dates	
Counting the number of words in a cell	
Counting the number of words in a cell	
Counting the number of words in a cell	
Counting the number of words in a cell <b>Chapter 12: Working with Dates and Times</b> How Excel Handles Dates and Times Understanding date serial numbers Entering dates Understanding time serial numbers. Entering times. Formatting dates and times Problems with dates Excel's leap year bug. Pre-1900 dates Inconsistent date entries Date-Related Worksheet Functions Displaying the current date Displaying any date.	
Counting the number of words in a cell	
Counting the number of words in a cell	
Counting the number of words in a cell	
Counting the number of words in a cell	
Counting the number of words in a cell	

Calculating a person's age	
Determining the day of the year	
Determining the day of the week	
Determining the date of the most recent Sunday	
Determining the first day of the week after a date	
Determining the <i>n</i> th occurrence of a day of the week in a month	
Calculating dates of holidays	
New Year's Day	
Martin Luther King, Jr. Day	
Presidents' Day	
Easter	
Memorial Day	270
Independence Day	270
Labor Day	
Columbus Day	270
Veterans Day	270
Thanksgiving Day	271
Christmas Day	271
Determining the last day of a month	271
Determining whether a year is a leap year	271
Determining a date's quarter	272
Time-Related Functions	272
Displaying the current time	272
Displaying any time	273
Calculating the difference between two times	274
Summing times that exceed 24 hours	275
Converting from military time	277
Converting decimal hours, minutes, or seconds to a time	277
Adding hours, minutes, or seconds to a time	278
Rounding time values	279
Working with non–time-of-day values	279
Chapter 13: Creating Formulas That Count and Sum	
Counting and Summing Worksheet Cells	281
Basic Counting Formulas	283
Counting the total number of cells	283
Counting blank cells	284
Counting nonblank cells	285
Counting numeric cells	285
Counting text cells	285
Counting nontext cells	
Counting logical values	
Counting error values in a range	200 286

	Advanced Counting Formulas	
	Counting cells by using the COUNTIF function	
	Counting cells based on multiple criteria	
	Using And criteria	
	Using Or criteria	
	Combining And and Or criteria	
	Counting the most frequently occurring entry	291
	Counting the occurrences of specific text	
	Entire cell contents	
	Partial cell contents	
	Total occurrences in a range	
	Counting the number of unique values	
	Creating a frequency distribution	
	The FREQUENCY function	
	Using formulas to create a frequency distribution	
	Using the Analysis ToolPak to create a frequency distribution	
	Using a pivot table to create a frequency distribution	
	Summing Formulas	
	Summing all cells in a range	
	Computing a cumulative sum	
	Summing the "top <i>n</i> " values	
	Conditional Sums Using a Single Criterion	
	Summing only negative values	
	Summing values based on a different range	
	Summing values based on a text comparison	
	Summing values based on a date comparison	
	Conditional Sums Using Multiple Criteria	
	Using And criteria	
	Using Or criteria	
	Using And and Or criteria	
Cha	pter 14: Creating Formulas That Look Up Values	309
	Introducing Lookup Formulas	300
	Functions Relevant to Lookups	310
	Rasic Lookup Formulas	312
	The VI OOKUP function	312
	The HI OOKUP function	313
	The LOOKUP function	314
	Combining the MATCH and INDEX functions	316
	Specialized Lookup Formulas	318
	Looking up an exact value	318
	Looking up a value to the left	319
	Performing a case-sensitive lookup	320
	Looking up a value from multiple lookup tables	
	Determining letter grades for test scores	
	0 0	

Calculating a grade-point average	
Performing a two-way lookup	
Performing a two-column lookup	
Determining the cell address of a value within a range	
Looking up a value by using the closest match	
Chapter 15: Creating Formulas for Financial Applications	329
The Time Value of Money	
Loan Calculations	
Worksheet functions for calculating loan information	
PMT	
PPMT	
IPMT	
RATE	
NPER	
PV	
A loan calculation example	
Credit card payments	
Creating a loan amortization schedule	
Summarizing loan options by using a data table	
Creating a one-way data table	
Creating a two-way data table	
Calculating a loan with irregular payments	
Investment Calculations	
Future value of a single deposit	
Calculating simple interest	
Calculating compound interest	
Calculating interest with continuous compounding	
Future value of a series of deposits	
Depreciation Calculations	
Chapter 16: Introducing Array Formulas	355
Understanding Array Formulas	
A multicell array formula	
A single-cell array formula	
Creating an array constant	
Array constant elements	
Understanding the Dimensions of an Array	
One-dimensional horizontal arrays	
One-dimensional vertical arrays	
Two-dimensional arrays	
Naming Array Constants	
Working with Array Formulas	
Entering an array formula	
Selecting an array formula range	

Editing an array formula	
Expanding or contracting a multicell array formula	
Using Multicell Array Formulas	
Creating an array from values in a range	
Creating an array constant from values in a range	
Performing operations on an array	
Using functions with an array	
Transposing an array	
Generating an array of consecutive integers	
Using Single-Cell Array Formulas	
Counting characters in a range	
Summing the three smallest values in a range	
Counting text cells in a range	
Eliminating intermediate formulas	
Using an array in lieu of a range reference	
Chapter 17: Performing Magic with Array Formulas	379
Working with Single-Cell Array Formulas	379
Summing a range that contains errors	379
Counting the number of error values in a range	
Summing the <i>n</i> largest values in a range	
Computing an average that excludes zeros	
Determining whether a particular value appears in a range	
Counting the number of differences in two ranges	
Returning the location of the maximum value in a range	
Finding the row of a value's <i>n</i> th occurrence in a range	
Returning the longest text in a range	
Determining whether a range contains valid values	
Summing the digits of an integer	
Summing rounded values	
Summing every <i>n</i> th value in a range	
Removing non-numeric characters from a string	
Determining the closest value in a range	
Returning the last value in a column	
Returning the last value in a row	
Ranking data with an array formula	
Working with Multicell Array Formulas	
Returning only positive values from a range	
Returning nonblank cells from a range	
Reversing the order of cells in a range	
Sorting a range of values dynamically	
Returning a list of unique items in a range	
Displaying a calendar in a range	

401

Part III:	Creating	Charts	and	Gra	phics
-----------	----------	--------	-----	-----	-------

Chapter 18: Getting Started Making Charts	403
What Is a Chart?	403
Understanding How Excel Handles Charts	
Embedded charts	
Chart sheets	
Creating a Chart	
Hands On: Creating and Customizing a Chart	
Selecting the data	
Choosing a chart type	
Experimenting with different layouts	
Trying another view of the data	
Trying other chart types	
Trying other chart styles	
Working with Charts	
Resizing a chart	
Moving a chart	
Copying a chart	
Deleting a chart	
Adding chart elements	
Moving and deleting chart elements	
Formatting chart elements	
Printing charts	
Understanding Chart Types	
Choosing a chart type	
Column	419
Bar	
Line	
Pie	
XY (scatter)	
Area	
Doughnut	
Radar	
Surface	
Bubble	
Stock	
Learning More	
Chapter 19: Learning Advanced Charting	
Selecting Chart Elements	
Selecting with the mouse	
Selecting with the keyboard	
Selecting with the Chart Element control	

User Interface Choices for Modifying Chart Elements	441
Using the Format dialog box	441
Using the Ribbon	
Using the Mini toolbar	
Modifying the Chart Area	
Modifying the Plot Area	
Working with Chart Titles	
Working with a Legend	
Working with Gridlines	
Modifying the Axes	
Value axis	
Category axis	452
Working with Data Series	455
Deleting a data series	456
Adding a new data series to a chart	456
Changing data used by a series	457
Changing the data range by dragging the range outline	457
Using the Edit Series dialog box	458
Editing the Series formula	459
Displaying data labels in a chart	
Handling missing data	461
Adding error bars	461
Adding a trendline	
Modifying 3-D charts	
Creating combination charts	
Displaying a data table	
Creating Chart Templates	
Learning Some Chart-Making Tricks	470
Creating picture charts	470
Creating a thermometer chart	
Creating a gauge chart	473
Displaying conditional colors in a column chart	474
Creating a comparative histogram	
Creating a Gantt chart	
Plotting mathematical functions with one variable	
Plotting mathematical functions with two variables	479
Chapter 20: Visualizing Data Using Conditional Formatting	481
About Conditional Formatting	
Specifying Conditional Formatting	
Formatting types you can apply	
Making your own rules	
Conditional Formats That Use Graphics	
Using data bars	
A simple data bar	
Using data bars in lieu of a chart	

Using color scales	487
A color scale example	
An extreme color scale example	489
Using icon sets	490
An icon set example	491
Another icon set example	492
Creating Formula-Based Rules	494
Understanding relative and absolute references	495
Conditional formatting formula examples	
Identifying weekend days	
Displaying alternate-row shading	
Creating checkerboard shading	
Shading groups of rows	
Displaying a total only when all values are entered	
Working with Conditional Formats	499
Managing rules	499
Copying cells that contain conditional formatting	
Deleting conditional formatting	
Locating cells that contain conditional formatting	
hapter 21: Creating Sparkline Graphics	503
Sparkline Types	504
Creating Sparklines	505
Customizing Sparklines	
Sizing Sparkline cells	507
Handling hidden or missing data	508
Changing the Sparkline type	508
Changing Sparkline colors and line width	508
Highlighting certain data points	500
Adjusting Sparkline axis scaling	509
Falzing a reference line	510
Specifying a Date Avis	
Auto Undating Sparklines	513
Displaying a Sparkline for a Dynamic Range	
benter 22. Enterneine Verr Werter ith Bistures and Drewines	
napter 22: Enhancing Your work with Pictures and Drawings	
Using Shapes	
Inserting a Shape	
Adding text to a Shape	
Formatting Shapes	
Grouping objects	
Aligning and spacing objects	523
Reshaping Shapes	523
Printing objects	524

Using SmartArt	
Inserting SmartArt	
Customizing SmartArt	
Changing the layout	
Changing the style	
Learning more about SmartArt	
Using WordArt	
Working with Other Graphic Types	531
About graphics files	531
Using the Clip Art task pane	
Inserting graphics files	532
Inserting screenshots	
Displaying a worksheet background image	535
Using the Equation Editor	535

## Part IV: Using Advanced Excel Features

539

Chapter 23: Customizing the Excel User Interface	541
Customizing the Quick Access Toolbar	541
About the Quick Access toolbar	542
Adding new commands to the Quick Access toolbar	543
Other Quick Access toolbar actions	545
Customizing the Ribbon	546
Why customize the Ribbon?	546
What can be customized	546
How to customize the Ribbon	547
Chapter 24: Using Custom Number Formats	551
About Number Formatting	551
Automatic number formatting	552
Formatting numbers by using the Ribbon	552
Using shortcut keys to format numbers	553
Using the Format Cells dialog box to format numbers	554
Creating a Custom Number Format	555
Parts of a number format string	557
Custom number format codes	558
Custom Number Format Examples	
Scaling values	
Displaying values in thousands	
Displaying values in hundreds	561
Displaying values in millions	562
Adding zeros to a value	
Displaying leading zeros	564
Displaying fractions	

Displaying a negative sign on the right	
Formatting dates and times	
Displaying text with numbers	
Suppressing certain types of entries	
Filling a cell with a repeating character	
Chapter 25: Using Data Validation	569
About Data Validation	
Specifying Validation Criteria	
Types of Validation Criteria You Can Apply	
Creating a Drop-Down List	
Using Formulas for Data Validation Rules	
Understanding Cell References	
Data Validation Formula Examples	
Accepting text only	
Accepting a larger value than the previous cell	
Accepting nonduplicate entries only	
Accepting dates by the day of the week	
Accepting only values that don't exceed a total	578
Creating a dependent list	
Chapter 26: Creating and Using Worksheet Outlines	
Introducing Worksheet Outlines	
Creating an Outline	
Preparing the data	
Creating an outline automatically	
Creating an outline manually	
Working with Outlines	
Displaying levels	
Adding data to an outline	
Removing an outline	
Highing the outline symbols	
Chapter 27: Linking and Consolidating Worksheets	
Linking Workbooks	
Creating External Reference Formulas	
Understanding link formula syntax	
Creating a link formula by pointing	
Pasting links	
working with External Reference Formulas	
Opening a workbook with external reference formula-	
Changing the startup prompt	
Undating links	

Changing the link source	
Severing links	
Avoiding Potential Problems with External Reference Formulas	
Renaming or moving a source workbook	
Using the Save As command	596
Modifying a source workbook	596
Intermediary links	
Consolidating Worksheets	
Consolidating worksheets by using formulas	
Consolidating worksheets by using Paste Special	
Consolidating worksheets by using the Consolidate command	600
A workbook consolidation example	601
Refreshing a consolidation	604
More about consolidation	604
Chapter 28: Excel and the Internet	605
Understanding How Excel Uses HTML	605
Understanding the Different Web Formats	606
Creating an HTML file	607
Creating a single file Web page	607
Opening an HTML File	609
Working with Hyperlinks	610
Inserting a hyperlink	610
Using hyperlinks	611
Using Web Queries	612
Other Internet-Related Features	614
Chapter 29: Sharing Data with Other Office Applications	615
Copying and Pasting	615
Copying from Excel to Word	617
Pasting static information	617
Pasting a link	
Embedding Objects in a Worksheet	
Embedding Word documents	
Embedding other types of documents	
Embedding an Excel Workbook in a Word Document	
Embedding a sound workbook in Word by copying	
Creating a new Excel object in Word	
Chapter 30: Using Excel in a Workgroup	627
Using Excel on a Network	
Understanding File Reservations	
Sharing Workbooks	
Understanding shared workbooks	
Designating a workbook as a shared workbook	

Controlling the advanced sharing settings	632
Tracking changes	
Updating changes	
Resolving conflicting changes between users	
Controlling the Include in Personal View settings	
Tracking Workbook Changes	
Turning Track Changes on and off	
Reviewing the changes	
Chapter 31: Protecting Your Work	637
Types of Protection	
Protecting a Worksheet	
Unlocking cells	
Sheet protection options	
Assigning user permissions	641
Protecting a Workbook	
Requiring a password to open a workbook	641
Protecting a workbook's structure	
Protecting a workbook's windows	
VB Project Protection	
Related Topics	645
Saving a worksheet as a PDF file	
Marking a workbook final	
Inspecting a workbook	
Using a digital signature	
Getting a digital ID	
Signing a workbook	647
Chapter 32: Making Your Worksheets Error-Free	649
Finding and Correcting Formula Errors	649
Mismatched parentheses	
Cells are filled with hash marks	651
Blank cells are not blank	651
Extra space characters	
Formulas returning an error	
#DIV/0! errors	
#N/A errors	654
#NAME? errors	655
#NULL! errors	655
#NUM! errors	655
#REF! errors	656
#VALUE! errors	656
Absolute/relative reference problems	657
Operator precedence problems	657
Formulas are not calculated	
Actual versus displayed values	658

Floating point number errors	659
"Phantom link" errors	
Using Excel Auditing Tools	661
Identifying cells of a particular type	661
Viewing formulas	
Tracing cell relationships	
Identifying precedents	
Identifying dependents	665
Tracing error values	665
Fixing circular reference errors	
Using background error-checking feature	665
Using the Excel Formula Evaluator	
Searching and Replacing	
Searching for information	669
Replacing information	670
Searching for formatting	670
Spell Checking Your Worksheets	671
Using AutoCorrect	

675

## Part V: Analyzing Data with Excel

Chapter 33: Getting Data from External Database Files	677
Understanding External Database Files	
Importing Access Tables	
Retrieving Data with Query: An Example	
The database file	
The task	
Selecting a data source	
Using the Query Wizard	
Query Wizard: Choosing the columns	
Query Wizard: Filtering data	
Query Wizard: Sort order	
Query Wizard: Finish	
Specifying a location for the data	
Working with Data Returned by Query	
Adjusting the external data range properties	
Refreshing a query	
Deleting a query	
Changing your query	
Using Query without the Wizard	
Creating a query manually	690
Using multiple database tables	692

Adding and editing records in external database tables	
Formatting data	
Learning More about Query	693
Chapter 34: Introducing Pivot Tables	695
About Pivot Tables	
A pivot table example	
Data appropriate for a pivot table	
Creating a Pivot Table	701
Specifying the data	
Specifying the location for the pivot table	701
Laying out the pivot table	702
Formatting the pivot table	703
Modifying the pivot table	
More Pivot Table Examples	
Question 1	
Question 2	
Question 3	710
Question 4	710
Question 5	711
Question 6	712
Question 7	713
Learning More	714
Chapter 35: Analyzing Data with Pivot Tables	
Working with Non-Numeric Data	
Grouping Pivot Table Items	
A manual grouping example	
Automatic grouping examples	719
Grouping by date	719
Grouping by time	722
Creating a Frequency Distribution	
Creating a Calculated Field or Calculated Item	
Creating a calculated field	
Inserting a calculated item	
Filtering Pivot Tables with Slicers	731
Referencing Cells within a Pivot Table	
Creating Pivot Charts	735
A pivot chart example	
More about pivot charts	738
Another Pivot Table Example	739
Producing a Report with a Pivot Table	742

Chapter 36: Performing Spreadsheet What-If Analysis	
A What-If Example	745
Types of What-If Analyses	747
Manual What-If Analysis	747
Creating Data Tables	747
Creating a one-input data table	748
Creating a two-input data table	750
Using Scenario Manager	753
Defining scenarios	754
Displaying scenarios	757
Modifying scenarios	758
Merging scenarios	758
Generating a scenario report	758
Chapter 37: Analyzing Data Using Goal Seeking and Solver	761
What-If Analysis, in Reverse	761
Single-Cell Goal Seeking	762
A goal-seeking example	762
More about goal seeking	763
Introducing Solver	764
Appropriate problems for Solver	765
A simple Solver example	765
More about Solver	770
Solver Examples	771
Solving simultaneous linear equations	771
Minimizing shipping costs	773
Allocating resources	776
Optimizing an investment portfolio	778
Chapter 38: Analyzing Data with the Analysis ToolPak	781
The Analysis ToolPak: An Overview	781
Installing the Analysis ToolPak Add-in	782
Using the Analysis Tools	783
Introducing the Analysis ToolPak Tools	783
Analysis of Variance	784
Correlation	784
Covariance	785
Descriptive Statistics	785
Exponential Smoothing	786
F-Test (two-sample test for variance)	786
Fourier Analysis	787
Histogram	787
Moving Average	788
Random Number Generation	789

Rank and Percentile	
Regression	
Sampling	
t-Test	
z-Test (two-sample test for means)	

## Part VI: Programming Excel with VBA

-	<b>`</b>	1
1	y	3

Chapter 39: Introducing Visual Basic for Applications	795
Introducing VBA Macros	
Displaying the Developer Tab	
About Macro Security	
Saving Workbooks That Contain Macros	
Two Types of VBA Macros	
VBA Sub procedures	
VBA functions	
Creating VBA Macros	
Recording VBA macros	
Recording your actions to create VBA code: The basics	
Recording a macro: A simple example	
Examining the macro	
Testing the macro	
Editing the macro	
Another example	
Running the macro	
Examining the macro	
Re-recording the macro	
Testing the macro	
More about recording VBA macros	
Absolute versus relative recording	
Storing macros in your Personal Macro Workbook	
Assigning a macro to a shortcut key	
Assigning a macro to a button	
Writing VBA code	
The basics: Entering and editing code	
How VBA works	
Objects and collections	
Properties	
Methods	
Variables	
Controlling execution	
A macro that can't be recorded	
Learning More	

Chapter 40: Creating Custom Worksheet Functions	
Overview of VBA Functions	
An Introductory Example	
A custom function	
Using the function in a worksheet	
Analyzing the custom function	
About Function Procedures	
Executing Function Procedures	
Calling custom functions from a procedure	
Using custom functions in a worksheet formula	828
Function Procedure Arguments	828
A function with no argument	829
A function with one argument	829
Another function with one argument	
A function with two arguments	
A function with a range argument	
Debugging Custom Functions	
Inserting Custom Functions	
Learning More	
Chapter 41: Creating UserForms	837
Why Create UserForms?	
UserForm Alternatives	
The InputBox function	
The MsgBox function	839
Creating UserForms: An Overview	
Working with UserForms	
Adding controls	
Changing the properties of a control	
Handling events	
Displaying a UserForm	
A UserForm Example	
Creating the UserForm	
Testing the UserForm	
Creating an event-handler procedure	
Another UserForm Example	
Creating the UserForm	850
Testing the UserForm	
Creating event-handler procedures	853
Testing the UserForm	854
Making the macro available from a worksheet button	855
Making the macro available on your Quick Access toolbar	855
More on Creating UserForms	856
Adding accelerator keys	856
Controlling tab order	856
Learning More	857
Selecting a row or column	
---	-----
Moving a range	
Looping through a range efficiently	
Prompting for a cell value	
Determining the type of selection	
Identifying a multiple selection	
Counting selected cells	
Working with Workbooks	896
Saving all workbooks	896
Saving and closing all workbooks	896
Working with Charts	
Modifying the chart type	
Modifying chart properties	
Applying chart formatting	
VBA Speed Tips	
Turning off screen updating	
Preventing alert messages	
Simplifying object references	
Declaring variable types	
Chapter 45: Creating Custom Excel Add-Ins	903
What Is an Add-In?	
Working with Add-Ins	
Why Create Add-Ins?	
Creating Add-Ins	
An Add-In Example	908
Setting up the workbook	908
Procedures in Module1	909
About the UserForm	909
Testing the workbook	910
Adding descriptive information	911
Protecting the project	911
Creating the add-in	912
Creating the user interface for your add-in macro	912
Installing the add-in	
	045
Part VII: Appendixes	915
Appendix A: Worksheet Function Reference	917
	000
Appendix B: what's on the CD-ROM	
System Requirements	933
Using the CD	933

What's on the CD	
Applications	934
eBook version of Excel 2010 Bible	934
Sample files for Excel 2010 Bible	934
Chapter 01	935
Chapter 02	935
Chapter 04	935
Chapter 05	935
Chapter 06	935
Chapter 10	936
Chapter 11	936
Chapter 12	936
Chapter 13	936
Chapter 14	937
Chapter 15	937
Chapter 16	937
Chapter 17	937
Chapter 18	938
Chapter 19	938
Chapter 20	939
Chapter 21	939
Chapter 22	939
Chapter 24	939
Chapter 25	939
Chapter 26	939
Chapter 27	939
Chapter 28	940
Chapter 33	940
Chapter 34	940
Chapter 35	940
Chapter 36	940
Chapter 37	941
Chapter 38	941
Chapter 39	941
Chapter 40	941
Chapter 41	941
Chapter 42	941
Chapter 43	942
Chapter 44	942
Chapter 45	942
Troubleshooting	942

Appendix C: Additional Excel Resources	943
The Excel Help System	
Microsoft Technical Support	
Support options	
Microsoft Knowledge Base	
Microsoft Excel Home Page	
Microsoft Office Home Page	
Internet Newsgroups	
Accessing newsgroups by using a newsreader	
Accessing newsgroups by using a Web browser	
Searching newsgroups	
Internet Web sites	
The Spreadsheet Page	947
Daily Dose of Excel	
Jon Peltier's Excel Page	
Pearson Software Consulting	
Contextures	
David McRitchie's Excel Pages	
Pointy Haired Dilbert	
Mr. Excel	948
Appendix D: Excel Shortcut Keys	949
Index	957
End-User License Agreement	1007



hanks to everyone who bought the previous editions of this book. Your suggestions have helped make this edition the best one yet.

xxxix

# Untroduction

hanks for purchasing *Excel 2010 Bible*. If you're just starting with Excel, you'll be glad to know that Excel 2010 is the easiest version ever.

My goal in writing this book is to share with you some of what I know about Excel, and in the process, make you more efficient on the job. The book contains everything that you need to know to learn the basics of Excel and then move on to more advanced topics at your own pace. You'll find many useful examples and lots of tips and tricks that I've accumulated over the years.

## Is This Book for You?

The *Bible* series from Wiley Publishing, Inc. is designed for beginning, intermediate, and advanced users. This book covers all the essential components of Excel and provides clear and practical examples that you can adapt to your own needs.

In this book, I've tried to maintain a good balance between the basics that every Excel user needs to know and the more complex topics that will appeal to power users. I've used Excel for more than 20 years, and I realize that almost everyone still has something to learn (including myself). My goal is to make that learning an enjoyable process.

## **Software Versions**

This book was written for Excel 2010 for Windows. Much of the information also applies to Excel 2007, but if you're using an older version of Excel, I suggest that you put down this book immediately and find a book that's appropriate for your version of Excel. The user interface changes introduced in Excel 2007 are so extensive that you'll probably be hopelessly confused if you use an earlier version.

## **Conventions This Book Uses**

Take a minute to scan this section to learn some of the typographical and organizational conventions that this book uses.

## **Excel commands**

Excel 2010 (like Excel 2007) features a "menu-less" user interface. In place of a menu system, Excel uses a context-sensitive Ribbon system. The words along the top (such as File, Insert, Page Layout, and so on) are known as *tabs*. Click a tab, and the Ribbon displays the commands for the selected tab. Each command has a name, which is (usually) displayed next to or below the icon. The commands are arranged in groups, and the group name appears at the bottom of the Ribbon.

The convention I use is to indicate the tab name, followed by the group name, followed by the command name. So, the command used to toggle word wrap within a cell is indicated as:

```
Home 🖒 Alignment 🖒 Wrap Text
```

You'll learn more about using the Ribbon user interface in Chapter 1.

## Filenames, named ranges, and your input

Input that you make from the keyboard appears in **bold**. Named ranges appear in a monospace font. Lengthy input usually appears on a separate line. For example, I may instruct you to enter a formula such as the following:

```
= "Part Name: " & VLOOKUP(PartNumber, PartList, 2)
```

#### **Key names**

Names of the keys on your keyboard appear in normal type. When two keys should be pressed simultaneously, they're connected with a plus sign, like this: "Press Ctrl+C to copy the selected cells." Here are the key names as I refer to them throughout the book:

Alt	down arrow	Num Lock	right arrow	End
Scroll Lock	Caps Lock	Home	PgDn	Shift
Ctrl	Insert	PgUp	Tab	Delete
left arrow	up arrow			

The four "arrow" keys are collectively known as the *navigation keys*.

## **Functions**

Excel built-in worksheet functions appear in uppercase, like this: "Note the SUM formula in cell C20."

#### **Mouse conventions**

You'll come across some of the following mouse-related terms, all standard fare:

- **Mouse pointer:** The small graphic figure that moves onscreen when you move your mouse. The mouse pointer is usually an arrow, but it changes shape when you move to certain areas of the screen or when you're performing certain actions.
- **Point:** Move the mouse so that the mouse pointer is on a specific item: for example, "Point to the Save button on the toolbar."
- Click: Press the left mouse button once and release it immediately.
- **Right-click:** Press the right mouse button once and release it immediately. The right mouse button is used in Excel to pop up shortcut menus that are appropriate for whatever is currently selected.
- Double-click: Press the left mouse button twice in rapid succession.
- **Drag:** Press the left mouse button and keep it pressed while you move the mouse. Dragging is often used to select a range of cells or to change the size of an object.

## What the Icons Mean

Throughout the book, you'll see special graphic symbols, or icons, in the left margin. These call your attention to points that are particularly important or relevant to a specific group of readers. The icons in this book are as follows:

#### Note

This icon signals the fact that something is important or worth noting. Notes may alert you to a concept that helps you master the task at hand, or they may denote something that is fundamental to understanding subsequent material. ■

#### Tip

This icon marks a more efficient way of doing something that may not be obvious. ■

#### Caution

I use this symbol when a possibility exists that the operation I'm describing may cause problems if you're not careful. ■

#### **Cross-Reference**

This icon indicates that a related topic is discussed elsewhere in the book.

#### On the CD

This icon indicates that a related example or file is available on the companion CD-ROM. ■

#### **New Feature**

This icon indicates a feature that is new to Excel 2010. ■

## How This Book Is Organized

Notice that the book is divided into six main parts, followed by four appendixes.

**Part I: Getting Started with Excel:** This part consists of nine chapters that provide background about Excel. These chapters are considered required reading for Excel newcomers, but even experienced users will probably find some new information here.

**Part II: Working with Formulas and Functions:** The chapters in Part II cover everything that you need to know to become proficient with performing calculations in Excel.

**Part III: Creating Charts and Graphics:** The chapters in Part III describe how to create effective charts. In addition, you'll find a chapter on the conditional formatting visualization features, and a chapter on the new Sparkline graphics.

**Part IV: Using Advanced Excel Features:** This part consists of ten chapters that deal with topics that are sometimes considered advanced. However, many beginning and intermediate users may find this information useful as well.

**Part V: Analyzing Data with Excel:** Data analysis is the focus of the chapters in Part IV. Users of all levels will find some of these chapters of interest.

**Part VI: Programming Excel with VBA:** Part VI is for those who want to customize Excel for their own use or who are designing workbooks or add-ins that are to be used by others. It starts with an introduction to recording macros and VBA programming and then provides coverage of UserForms, add-ins, and events.

**Appendixes:** The book has four appendixes that cover Excel worksheet functions, the contents of the book's CD-ROM, other Excel resources, and Excel shortcut keys.

## How to Use This Book

Although you're certainly free to do so, I didn't write this book with the intention that you would read it cover to cover. Rather, it's a reference book that you can consult when:

- You're stuck while trying to do something.
- You need to do something that you've never done.
- You have some time on your hands, and you're interested in learning something new about Excel.

The index is comprehensive, and each chapter typically focuses on a single broad topic. If you're just starting out with Excel, I recommend that you read the first few chapters to gain a basic understanding of the product and then do some experimenting on your own. After you become familiar with Excel's environment, you can refer to the chapters that interest you most. Some readers, however, may prefer to follow the chapters in order.

Don't be discouraged if some of the material is over your head. Most users get by just fine by using only a small subset of Excel's total capabilities. In fact, the 80/20 rule applies here: 80 percent of Excel users use only 20 percent of its features. However, using only 20 percent of Excel's features still gives you *lots* of power at your fingertips.

## What's on the Companion CD

This book contains many examples, and the workbooks for those examples are available on the companion CD-ROM, arranged in directories that correspond to the chapters. Refer to Appendix B for a complete list of the files.

In addition, the CD-ROM contains an electronic version of this book. It's a searchable PDF file that's a perfect companion for your notebook computer when you take your next cross-country flight.

## Part I

## Getting Started with Excel

The chapters in this part are intended to provide essential background information for working with Excel. Here, you'll see how to make use of the basic features that are required for every Excel user. If you've used Excel (or even a different spreadsheet program) in the past, much of this information may seem like review. Even so, it's possible that you'll find quite a few tricks and techniques.

#### **IN THIS PART**

Chapter 1 Introducing Excel

**Chapter 2** Entering and Editing Worksheet Data

**Chapter 3** Essential Worksheet Operations

**Chapter 4** Working with Cells and Ranges

**Chapter 5** Introducing Tables

**Chapter 6** Worksheet Formatting

**Chapter 7** Understanding Excel Files

**Chapter 8** Using and Creating Templates

**Chapter 9** Printing Your Work

### CHAPTER

## **Introducing Excel**

his chapter serves as an introductory overview of Excel 2010. If you're already familiar with a previous version of Excel, reading this chapter is still a good idea. You'll find that Excel 2010 is very similar to Excel 2007. However, both Excel 2007 and Excel 2010 are different from every previous version — *very* different.

## What Is Excel Good For?

Excel, as you probably know, is the world's most widely used spreadsheet program, and is part of the Microsoft Office suite. Other spreadsheet programs are available, but Excel is by far the most popular and has become the world standard.

Much of the appeal of Excel is due to the fact that it's so versatile. Excel's *forte*, of course, is performing numerical calculations, but Excel is also very useful for non-numeric applications. Here are just a few of the uses for Excel:

- Number crunching: Create budgets, analyze survey results, and perform just about any type of financial analysis you can think of.
- Creating charts: Create a wide variety of highly customizable charts.
- **Organizing lists:** Use the row-and-column layout to store lists efficiently.
- Accessing other data: Import data from a wide variety of sources.
- **Creating graphical dashboards:** Summarize a large amount of business information in a concise format.

### **IN THIS CHAPTER**

- Understanding what Excel is used for
- What's new for Excel 2010
- Learning the parts of Excel's window
- Introducing the Ribbon user interface, shortcut menus, and dialog boxes

**Navigating Excel worksheets** 

Introducing Excel with a quick hands-on session

- **Creating graphics and diagrams:** Use Shapes and the new SmartArt to create professional-looking diagrams.
- Automating complex tasks: Perform a tedious task with a single mouse click with Excel's macro capabilities.

## What's New in Excel 2010?

When a new version of Microsoft Office is released, sometimes Excel gets lots of new features. And sometimes it gets very few new features. In the case of Office 2010, Excel got very few new features. Here's a quick summary of what's new in Excel 2010, relative to Excel 2007:

- **64-bit version**: If your hardware (and Windows version) supports it, you can install the 64-bit version, which lets you create larger workbooks. Most people do not require the 64-bit version, and using it might cause some add-ins to not function.
- **Sparkline charts:** Create small in-cell charts to summarize a range of data graphically. See Chapter 21.
- Slicers: A new way to filter and display data in pivot tables, by clicking buttons. See Chapter 35.
- New pivot table formatting options: You have more control over the appearance of pivot table reports. See Chapter 35.
- Office button changes: The big round Office button in Excel 2007 has been replaced by a File button/tab, displayed to the left of the tabs. Clicking it displays a screen that lets you perform various operations on your workbook. This view essentially replaces the traditional File and Print menus plus quite a bit more.
- **Conditional formatting enhancements:** Data bar conditional formatting can display in a solid color, and the bars provide a more accurate display. See Chapter 20.
- **Function enhancements:** Some Excel worksheet financial and statistical functions have been improved in terms of numerical accuracy.
- **Image editing enhancements:** You have much more control over graphic images inserted into a workbook, including the ability to remove nonessential parts from the background of an image.
- Screen capture tool: You can easily capture a window from a different program and then insert the image on a worksheet.
- **Paste preview**: When you copy a range, the Paste command displays various options with a live preview so you can see how the paste operation will look.

- Ribbon customization: You can customize the Ribbon by adding new tabs and groups.
- Equation editor: Create and display (noncalculating) mathematical equations and embed them on a worksheet. See Chapter 22.
- **Faster**: Microsoft made some improvements to the calculation engine, and files load a bit faster.
- New security features: Workbooks downloaded from the Internet or from e-mail attachments are opened in Protected View mode. Workbooks can be designated as "trusted," and don't need to reside in special trusted folders.
- **Solver:** Excel 2010 includes a new version of the Solver add-in, which is useful for solving some complex problems.
- Enhancements to VBA: Operations that used to require old XLM macros can now be performed directly using VBA macro commands. In addition, macro recording now works for operations such as chart shape formatting.

## Understanding Workbooks and Worksheets

The work you do in Excel is performed in a workbook file, which appears in its own window. You can have as many workbooks open as you need. By default, Excel 2010 workbooks use an .xlsx file extension.

Each *workbook* comprises one or more worksheets, and each *worksheet* is made up of individual *cells*. Each cell contains a value, a formula, or text. A worksheet also has an invisible *draw layer*, which holds charts, images, and diagrams. Each worksheet in a workbook is accessible by clicking the *tab* at the bottom of the workbook window. In addition, workbooks can store chart sheets. A *chart sheet* displays a single chart and is also accessible by clicking a tab.

Newcomers to Excel are often intimidated by all the different elements that appear within Excel's window. After you become familiar with the various parts, it all starts to make sense.

Figure 1.1 shows you the more important bits and pieces of Excel. As you look at the figure, refer to Table 1.1 for a brief explanation of the items shown in the figure.

#### FIGURE 1.1

The Excel screen has many useful elements that you will use often.

			Application close
		Window m	naximize/restore
		Application maxi	mize/restore
Row number		Applicatio	n minimize
Name box toolbar	Column letter Title bar	Help	
File button	Tab list Mir	imize the Ribbon	Window minimize
<b>x</b> y • ∞ -   <del>-</del>	Book1 - Microsoft Excel		
File Home My Tab Insert Page Layo	ut Formulas Data Review View	w Developer Add-Ins	
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	■ = ■ ≫ · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		ete ▼
C4 - fx			~
A B C D	E F G H	I J K L	MN
2			=
4			
6			
7			
9			
10			
11 12			
13			
14 15			
16			
17 18			
19			
21			
22			
23			
Ready			00% — U + ,:
Active cell	Formula bar		Status bar
muicatul	Ribbon	Page view	buttons
Macro recorder Inse	ert Worksheet button	Horizontal scrollb	ar Zoom control
Sheet tab scroll buttons	Vertical	scrollbar	Window close

#### TABLE 1.1

Parts of the Excel Screen That You Need to Know			
Name	Description		
Active cell indicator	This dark outline indicates the currently active cell (one of the 17,179,869,184 cells on each worksheet).		
Application Close button	Clicking this button closes Excel.		
Application Minimize button	Clicking this button minimizes the Excel window.		
Column letters	Letters range from A to XFD — one for each of the 16,384 columns in the worksheet. You can click a column heading to select an entire column of cells, or drag a column border to change its width.		
File button	Click this button to open Back Stage view, which contains many options for working with your document (including printing), and setting Excel options.		
Formula bar	When you enter information or formulas into a cell, it appears in this line.		
Help button	Clicking this button displays the Excel Help system window.		
Horizontal scrollbar	Use this tool to scroll the sheet horizontally.		
Macro recorder indicator	Click to start recording a VBA macro. The icon changes while your actions are being recorded. Click again to stop recording.		
Minimize Ribbon button	Clicking this button hides the Ribbon, giving you a bit more space onscreen. When you click a tab, the Ribbon reappears.		
Name box	This field displays the active cell address or the name of the selected cell, range, or object.		
Page View buttons	Change the way the worksheet is displayed by clicking one of these buttons.		
Quick Access toolbar	This customizable toolbar holds commonly used commands. The Quick Access toolbar is always visible, regardless of which tab is selected.		
Ribbon	This is the main location for Excel commands. Clicking an item in the tab list changes the Ribbon that displays.		
Row numbers	Numbers range from 1 to 1,048,576 — one for each row in the worksheet. You can click a row number to select an entire row of cells.		
Sheet tabs	Each of these notebook-like tabs represents a different sheet in the work- book. A workbook can have any number of sheets, and each sheet has its name displayed in a sheet tab.		
Insert Sheet button	By default, each new workbook that you create contains three sheets. Add a new sheet by clicking the Insert Worksheet button (which is displayed after the last sheet tab).		
Sheet tab scroll buttons	Use these buttons to scroll the sheet tabs to display tabs that aren't visible.		

continued

<b>TABLE 1.1</b> (continued)	
Name	Description
Status bar	This bar displays various messages as well as the status of the Num Lock, Caps Lock, and Scroll Lock keys on your keyboard. It also shows summary information about the range of cells that is selected. Right-click the status bar to change the information that's displayed.
Tab list	Use these commands to display a different Ribbon, similar to a menu.
Title bar	This displays the name of the program and the name of the current work- book, and also holds some control buttons that you can use to modify the window.
Vertical scrollbar	Use this to scroll the sheet vertically.
Window Close button	Clicking this button closes the active workbook window.
Window Maximize/Restore button	Clicking this button increases the workbook window's size to fill Excel's complete workspace. If the window is already maximized, clicking this button "unmaximizes" Excel's window so that it no longer fills the entire screen.
Window Minimize button	Clicking this button minimizes the workbook window, and it displays as an icon.
Zoom control	Use this scroller to zoom your worksheet in and out.

## Moving around a Worksheet

This section describes various ways to navigate through the cells in a worksheet. Every worksheet consists of rows (numbered 1 through 1,048,576) and columns (labeled A through XFD). After column Z comes column AA, which is followed by AB, AC, and so on. After column AZ comes BA, BB, and so on. After column ZZ is AAA, AAB, and so on.

The intersection of a row and a column is a single cell. At any given time, one cell is the *active cell*. You can identify the active cell by its darker border, as shown in Figure 1.2. Its *address* (its column letter and row number) appears in the Name box. Depending on the technique that you use to navigate through a workbook, you may or may not change the active cell when you navigate.

Notice that the row and column headings of the active cell appear in different colors to make it easier to identify the row and column of the active cell.

#### FIGURE 1.2

The active cell is the cell with the dark border — in this case, cell C8.

	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	
1		Last Year	This Year					Г
2	January	89	98					
3	February	96	91					
4	March	121	103					=
5	April	104	99					
6	May	121	96					
7	June	145	109					
8								
9								
10								
11								
12 I	( → →   Sh	eet1 / 🖓 /		Ī	4			

## Navigating with your keyboard

Not surprisingly, you can use the standard navigational keys on your keyboard to move around a worksheet. These keys work just as you'd expect: The down arrow moves the active cell down one row, the right arrow moves it one column to the right, and so on. PgUp and PgDn move the active cell up or down one full window. (The actual number of rows moved depends on the number of rows displayed in the window.)

#### Tip

You can use the keyboard to scroll through the worksheet without changing the active cell by turning on Scroll Lock, which is useful if you need to view another area of your worksheet and then quickly return to your original location. Just press Scroll Lock and use the navigation keys to scroll through the worksheet. When you want to return to the original position (the active cell), press Ctrl+Backspace. Then, press Scroll Lock again to turn it off. When Scroll Lock is turned on, Excel displays Scroll Lock in the status bar at the bottom of the window.

The Num Lock key on your keyboard controls how the keys on the numeric keypad behave. When Num Lock is on, the keys on your numeric keypad generate numbers. Many keyboards have a separate set of navigation (arrow) keys located to the left of the numeric keypad. The state of the Num Lock key doesn't affect these keys.

Table 1.2 summarizes all the worksheet movement keys available in Excel.

#### TABLE 1.2

Excel Worksheet Movement Keys			
Key	Action		
Up arrow (1)	Moves the active cell up one row.		
Down arrow $(\downarrow)$	Moves the active cell down one row.		
Left arrow ( $\leftarrow$ ) or Shift+Tab	Moves the active cell one column to the left.		
Right arrow $(\rightarrow)$ or Tab	Moves the active cell one column to the right.		
PgUp	Moves the active cell up one screen.		
PgDn	Moves the active cell down one screen.		
Alt+PgDn	Moves the active cell right one screen.		
Alt+PgUp	Moves the active cell left one screen.		
Ctrl+Backspace	Scrolls the screen so that the active cell is visible.		
<b>^</b> *	Scrolls the screen up one row (active cell does not change).		
$\downarrow$ *	Scrolls the screen down one row (active cell does not change).		
←*	Scrolls the screen left one column (active cell does not change).		
$\rightarrow^*$	Scrolls the screen right one column (active cell does not change).		

\* With Scroll Lock on

## Navigating with your mouse

To change the active cell by using the mouse, click another cell; it becomes the active cell. If the cell that you want to activate isn't visible in the workbook window, you can use the scrollbars to scroll the window in any direction. To scroll one cell, click either of the arrows on the scrollbar. To scroll by a complete screen, click either side of the scrollbar's scroll box. You also can drag the scroll box for faster scrolling.

#### Tip

If your mouse has a wheel, you can use the mouse wheel to scroll vertically. Also, if you click the wheel and move the mouse in any direction, the worksheet scrolls automatically in that direction. The more you move the mouse, the faster the scrolling.

Press Ctrl while you use the mouse wheel to zoom the worksheet. If you prefer to use the mouse wheel to zoom the worksheet without pressing Ctrl, choose File r Options and select the Advanced section. Place a check mark next to the Zoom on Roll with Intellimouse check box.

Using the scrollbars or scrolling with your mouse doesn't change the active cell. It simply scrolls the worksheet. To change the active cell, you must click a new cell after scrolling.

## **Introducing the Ribbon**

The most dramatic change introduced in Office 2007 was the new user interface. In most Office 2007 applications, traditional menus and toolbars were replaced with the Ribbon. In Office 2010, all applications use the Ribbon interface. In addition, the Ribbon can be customized in Office 2010 (see Chapter 23).

## **Ribbon tabs**

The commands available in the Ribbon vary, depending upon which tab is selected. The Ribbon is arranged into groups of related commands. Here's a quick overview of Excel's tabs.

- **Home:** You'll probably spend most of your time with the Home tab selected. This tab contains the basic Clipboard commands, formatting commands, style commands, commands to insert and delete rows or columns, plus an assortment of worksheet editing commands.
- **Insert:** Select this tab when you need to insert something in a worksheet a table, a diagram, a chart, a symbol, and so on.
- **Page Layout:** This tab contains commands that affect the overall appearance of your worksheet, including some settings that deal with printing.
- **Formulas:** Use this tab to insert a formula, name a cell or a range, access the formula auditing tools, or control how Excel performs calculations.
- Data: Excel's data-related commands are on this tab.
- **Review:** This tab contains tools to check spelling, translate words, add comments, or protect sheets.
- **View:** The View tab contains commands that control various aspects of how a sheet is viewed. Some commands on this tab are also available in the status bar.
- **Developer:** This tab isn't visible by default. It contains commands that are useful for programmers. To display the Developer tab, choose File ➡ Options and then select Customize Ribbon. In the Customize the Ribbon section on the right, place a check mark next to Developer and then click OK.
- Add-Ins: This tab is visible only if you loaded an older workbook or add-in that customizes the menu or toolbars. Because menus and toolbars are no longer available in Excel 2010, these user interface customizations appear on the Add-Ins tab.

#### Note

Although the File button shares space with the tabs, it's not actually a tab. Clicking the File button displays the new Back Stage view, where you perform actions with your documents. ■

The appearance of the commands on the Ribbon varies, depending on the width of Excel window. When the window is too narrow to display everything, the commands adapt; some of them might seem to be missing, but the commands are still available. Figure 1.3 shows the Home tab of the Ribbon with all controls fully visible. Figure 1.4 shows the Ribbon when Excel's window is made more narrow. Notice that some of the descriptive text is gone, but the icons remain. Figure 1.5 shows the extreme case when the window is made very narrow. Some groups display a single icon. However, if you click the icon, all the group commands are available to you.

#### **FIGURE 1.3**

The Home tab of the Ribbon.

2 - 0 - 1	Book1 + Microsoft Excel	. 8 2
File Home Inset Papelayout Formulas Da	sta Review View Developer	a 🕢 = 🕫 🛙
A Cut Calibo + 22 - A' A'	= = 🙀 &+ iff + 📑 Wrap Text General +	B B P P B States & A
$ \begin{array}{c} P_{auto} & s_{d} \subset Syy^* \\ s_{d} & Format \; Painter \end{array}  \mathbf{B}  \mathbf{Z}  \underline{U} \; \cdot \; ( \ \underline{m} \; \cdot \; ( \ \underline{m} \; \cdot \; \underline{m} \; \mathsf{m$	■草草 連伊 図HegeliCenter S・N・N はな	Conditional Format Cell Inset Delete Format Formatting - as Table - Styles
Optional G Font G	Alignment 5 Number 5	Styles Cells Editing

#### **FIGURE 1.4**

The Home tab when Excel's window is made narrower.

X	Book1 - Microsoft Excel	- e X
File Home Insert PageLayout Fo	rmulas Data Review View Developer	x 🕤 🗆 🔞 A
Calibri 11 A A	= = 📑 General 🔹 📰 Conditional Form	natting × 📲 Insert × Σ× 🗛 🏔
	三言言語・ \$ ・% , 膨 Format as Table ・	Pelete - Delete - Cat D Cat D
$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c } \hline Paste & & & & \\ \hline F & ste & & \\ \hline v & & & \\ \hline v & & & \\ \hline v & & & \\ \hline s $	谭谭 🗞 🕅 🔹 況 🗒 Cell Styles *	Format * 2 * Filter * Select *
Clipboard 5 Font 5	Alignment 🖙 Number 🖙 Styles	Cells Editing

#### **FIGURE 1.5**

The Home tab when Excel's window is made very narrow.



#### Tip

If you would like to hide the Ribbon to increase your worksheet view, just double-click any tab. The Ribbon goes away, and you can see about five additional rows of your worksheet. When you need to use the Ribbon again, just click a tab, and it comes back temporarily. To keep the Ribbon turned on, double-click a tab. You can also press Ctrl+F1 to toggle the Ribbon display on and off. The Minimize the Ribbon button (to the left of the Help button) provides yet another way to toggle the Ribbon. ■

## **Contextual tabs**

In addition to the standard tabs, Excel 2010 also includes *contextual tabs*. Whenever an object (such as a chart, a table, or a SmartArt diagram) is selected, specific tools for working with that object are made available in the Ribbon.

Figure 1.6 shows the contextual tab that appears when a chart is selected. In this case, it has three contextual tabs: Design, Layout, and Format. Notice that the contextual tabs contain a description (Chart Tools) in Excel's title bar. When contextual tabs appear, you can, of course, continue to use all the other tabs.

#### FIGURE 1.6

When you select an object, contextual tabs contain tools for working with that object.



## Types of commands on the Ribbon

When you hover your mouse pointer over a Ribbon command, you'll see a pop-up box that contains the command's name as well as a brief description. For the most part, the commands in the Ribbon work just as you would expect them to. You do encounter several different styles of commands on the Ribbon.

- Simple buttons: Click the button, and it does its thing. An example of a simple button is the Increase Font Size button in the Font group of the Home tab. Some buttons perform the action immediately; others display a dialog box so that you can enter additional information. Button controls may or may not be accompanied by a descriptive label.
- **Toggle buttons:** A toggle button is clickable and also conveys some type of information by displaying two different colors. An example is the Bold button in the Font group of the Home tab. If the active cell isn't bold, the Bold button displays in its normal color. If the active cell is already bold, though, the Bold button displays a different background color. If you click this button, it toggles the Bold attribute for the selection.
- **Simple drop-downs:** If the Ribbon command has a small down arrow, the command is a drop-down. Click it, and additional commands appear below it. An example of a simple drop-down is the Conditional Formatting command in the Styles group of the Home tab. When you click this control, you see several options related to conditional formatting.
- **Split buttons:** A *split button control* combines a one-click button with a drop-down. If you click the button part, the command is executed. If you click the drop-down part (a down arrow), you choose from a list of related commands. You can identify a split button command because it displays in two colors when you hover the mouse over it. An example of a split button is the Merge & Center command in the Alignment group of the Home tab (see Figure 1.7). Clicking the left part of this control merges and centers text in the selected cells. If you click the arrow part of the control (on the right), you get a list of commands related to merging cells.

#### FIGURE 1.7

The Merge & Center command is a split button control.

ŀ	lom	ie	I	inse	rt	Page	Layou	t Fo	rmulas	Data	Review	V	ïew						
	C	alib	ri			* 1	۲. ×	Αî <sub>Λ</sub> ĭ	= =	= %	⊧¶ -	Ĩ	General		٣		 ≦\$		
8	1	B	I	Ū	*	<u>.</u>	<u></u>	<u>A</u> •	≣≣	≡ 律 6	F		\$•%,	*.( .0	00. 00 0.∉ 0	Cond Forma	litional atting *	Format as Table *	Cell Styles *
- Fai					Fo	nt		Es.		Alignmen	t	-23	Merge & <u>C</u> enter		- Fai			Styles	
2				- (			f <sub>x</sub>					車	Merge <u>A</u> cross	- 1					
	Τ		В			С		D	E	F		s 💷	Merge Cells			J	K		L
													Unmerge Cells						
				_									Unmerge C	ells					
													Split the s new cells.	eled	ted cel	lls into	multiple		
				_														_	
							_	_											
	t						-				-								

- **Check boxes:** A check box control turns something on or off. An example is the Gridlines control in the Show group of the View tab. When the Gridlines check box is checked, the sheet displays gridlines. When the control isn't checked, the sheet gridlines don't appear.
- **Spinners:** Excel's Ribbon has only one spinner control: the Scale To Fit group of the Page Layout tab. Click the top part of the spinner to increase the value; click the bottom part of the spinner to decrease the value.

Some of the Ribbon groups contain a small icon on the right side, known as a *dialog box launcher*. For example, if you examine the Home  $\Rightarrow$  Alignment group, you see this icon (see Figure 1.8). Click it, and Excel displays the Format Cells dialog box, with the Alignment tab preselected. The dialog launchers generally provide options that aren't available in the Ribbon.

#### FIGURE 1.8

Some Ribbon groups contain a small icon on the right side, known as a dialog box launcher.

Formulas Data	Review	View					
· = = *	·· •• •	General	*	<b>S</b>	Bea Insert ▼		
		- <b>\$</b> - %	• .0 .00 .00 ⇒.0	Conditional F Formatting ≠ as	ormat Cell Table ▼ Styles •	- Forma	t₹
S Alignm	nent	Numb	er 🖓	Sty	les	Cells	
		Format Cells: Ali	gnment				
EF	G		Show ti Format	he Alignment tab Cells dialog box.	of the	M	

## Accessing the Ribbon by using your keyboard

At first glance, you may think that the Ribbon is completely mouse-centric. After all, none of the commands have the traditional underline letter to indicate the Alt+keystrokes. But in fact, the Ribbon is *very* keyboard friendly. The trick is to press the Alt key to display the pop-up *keytips*. Each Ribbon control has a letter (or series of letters) that you type to issue the command.

#### Tip

#### You don't need to hold down the Alt key while you type keytip letters.

Figure 1.9 shows how the Home tab looks after I press the Alt key to display the keytips. If you press one of the keytips, the screen then displays more keytips. For example, to use the keyboard to align the cell contents to the left, press Alt, followed by H (for Home) and then AL (for Align Left). Nobody will memorize *all* these keys, but if you're a keyboard fan (like me), it takes just a few times before you memorize the keystrokes required for commands that you use frequently.

After you press Alt, you can also use the left- and right-arrow keys to scroll through the tabs. When you reach the proper tab, press the down arrow to enter the Ribbon. Then use left and right arrow keys to scroll through the Ribbon commands. When you reach the command you need, press Enter to execute it. This method isn't as efficient as using the keytips, but it's a quick way to take a look at the commands available.

#### FIGURE 1.9

Pressing Alt displays the keytips.

2 BA	Phy Ix								Book	L - Micros	oft Ex	el						-	. = 8
File H	ane	Insert	Pagela	yout	Form	las	Data	Resiew	y ye	ay De	dope	<b>1</b> 3						00	
8	Calibri	[14]	- 11	• A*	A 8	=	- % -	14 -	1	General	GE)					as∎Insert •	Σ.	27	10
Paste J	B /	<u>u</u> -	· · ·	3- A	- 1	E 85	書 读 (	×.	- 16	\$ - %	•	*.0 .00 *.0 *.0	Conditional Formatting *	Format as Table -	Cell Styles =	Format *	四.	Sort & Filter *	Find & Select =
Clipboard 14		Fo	unt		6		Alignmer	it i	- 0	hu	mber	14		Styles		Cells		Editing	

## **Using Shortcut Menus**

In addition to the Ribbon, Excel features many shortcut menus, which you access by right-clicking just about anything within Excel. Shortcut menus don't contain every relevant command, just those that are most commonly used for whatever is selected.

As an example, Figure 1.10 shows the shortcut menu that appears when you right-click a cell. The shortcut menu appears at the mouse-pointer position, which makes selecting a command fast and efficient. The shortcut menu that appears depends on what you're doing at the time. For example, if you're working with a chart, the shortcut menu contains commands that are pertinent to the selected chart element.

#### FIGURE 1.10

Click the right mouse button to display a shortcut menu of commands you're most likely to use.

	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	Н	1
1		Last Year	This Year						
2	January	89	9	В					
3	February	96	C	alibri v 11	× A <sup>+</sup> . <sup>v</sup>	\$ - 0/-			
4	March	121			<u> </u>	····· · /0	, <u></u>		
5	April	104	1	3 I = <	<u>* A * </u>	.00 →.0	<b>A</b>		
6	May	121	م	5					
7	June	145		6 Cu <u>t</u>					
8			8	≧ ⊆ору					
9			6	Paste Op	tions: \s	2			
10									
11				Pacte Sn	ecial				
12									
13				Insert					
14				<u>D</u> elete					
15				Clear Co	<u>n</u> tents				
16				Filt <u>e</u> r		•			
17				Sort		+			
18			25	Insert Co	mment				
19									
20			L.	g. rormat (	.ells	[			
21				Pic <u>k</u> From	n Drop-down	List			
22				Define N	l <u>a</u> me				
23				B Hyperl <u>i</u> n	k				
24									
25									
26									

#### Mini Toolbar Be Gone\_

If you find the Mini toolbar annoying, you can search all day and not find an option to turn it off. The General tab of the Excel Options dialog box has an option labeled Show Mini Toolbar on Selection, but this option applies to selecting characters while editing a cell. The only way to turn off the Mini toolbar when you right-click is to execute a VBA macro:

```
Sub ZapMiniToolbar()
Application.ShowMenuFloaties = True
End Sub
```

The statement might seem wrong, but it's actually correct. Setting that property to True turns off the Mini toolbar. It's a bug that appeared in Excel 2007 and was not fixed in Excel 2010 because correcting it would cause many macros to fail. (See Part VI for more information about VBA macros.)

The box above the shortcut menu — the Mini toolbar — contains commonly used tools from the Home tab. The Mini toolbar was designed to reduce the distance your mouse has to travel around the screen. Just right-click, and common formatting tools are within an inch from your mouse pointer. The Mini toolbar is particularly useful when a tab other than Home is displayed. If you use a tool on the Mini toolbar, the toolbar remains displayed in case you want to perform other formatting on the selection.

## **Customizing Your Quick Access Toolbar**

The Ribbon is fairly efficient, but many users prefer to have some commands available at all times — without having to click a tab. The solution is to customize your Quick Access toolbar. Typically, the Quick Access toolbar appears on the left side of the title bar, above the Ribbon. Alternatively, you can display the Quick Access toolbar below the Ribbon; just right-click the Quick Access toolbar and choose Show Quick Access Toolbar below the Ribbon.

Displaying the Quick Access Toolbar below the Ribbon provides a bit more room for icons, but it also means that you see one less row of your worksheet.

By default, the Quick Access toolbar contains three tools: Save, Undo, and Repeat. You can customize the Quick Access toolbar by adding other commands that you use often. To add a command from the Ribbon to your Quick Access toolbar, right-click the command and choose Add to Quick Access Toolbar. If you click the down arrow to the right of the Quick Access toolbar, you see a drop-down menu with some additional commands that you might want to place in your Quick Access toolbar.

Excel has commands that aren't available on the Ribbon. In most cases, the only way to access these commands is to add them to your Quick Access toolbar. Right-click the Quick Access toolbar and choose Customize the Quick Access Toolbar. You see the dialog box shown in Figure 1.11. This section of the Excel Options dialog box is your one-stop shop for Quick Access toolbar customization.

#### FIGURE 1.11

Add new icons to your Quick Access toolbar by using the Quick Access Toolbar section of the Excel Options dialog box.

Excel Options	8	3
General	Customize the Quick Access Toolbar.	٦
Formulas		
Proofing	Popular Commands Trom: () Customize Quick Access toolbar: () Popular Commands	
Save		
Language		
Advanced	🔢 Calculate Now 🗉 🥙 Redo 🕨	
Customize Ribbon	臺 Center 點 Conditional Formatting →	
Quick Access Toolbar	D Connections	
Add-Ins	dia Copy dia Create Chart <u>A</u> dd >>	-
Trust Center	Custom Sort << <u>R</u> emove	Ŧ
	🔏 Cut	
	Datasheet Formatting	
	A Decrease ront size	
	Pelete Cens	
	Delete Sheet Rows	
	Show Quick Access Toolbar below the Customizations: Reset • 0 Ribbon Import/Esport • 0	
	<	
	OK Cancel	<u>ב</u>

#### **Cross-Reference**

See Chapter 23 for more information about customizing your Quick Access toolbar. ■

#### Caution

You can't reverse every action, however. Generally, anything that you do using the File button can't be undone. For example, if you save a file and realize that you've overwritten a good copy with a bad one, Undo can't save the day. You're just out of luck. ■

The Repeat button, also on the Quick Access toolbar, performs the opposite of the Undo button: Repeat reissues commands that have been undone. If nothing has been undone, then you can use the Repeat button (or Ctrl+Y) to repeat the last command that you performed. For example, if you applied a particular style to a cell (by choosing Home ⇔ Styles ⇔ Cell Styles), you can activate another cell and press Ctrl+Y to repeat the command.

## **Changing Your Mind**

You can reverse almost every action in Excel by using the Undo command, located on the Quick Access toolbar. Click Undo (or press Ctrl+Z) after issuing a command in error, and it's as if you never issued the command. You can reverse the effects of the past 100 actions that you performed by executing Undo more than once.

If you click the arrow on the right side of the Undo button, you see a list of the actions that you can reverse. Click an item in that list to undo that action and all the subsequent actions you performed.

## **Working with Dialog Boxes**

Many Excel commands display a dialog box, which is simply a way of getting more information from you. For example, if you choose Review ⇔ Changes ⇔ Protect Sheet, Excel can't carry out the command until you tell it what parts of the sheet you want to protect. Therefore, it displays the Protect Sheet dialog box, shown in Figure 1.12.

#### FIGURE 1.12

Excel uses a dialog box to get additional information about a command.

Protect Sheet	? ×
Protect worksheet and content	s of locked cells
Password to unprotect sheet:	
Allow all users of this worksheet to	:
Select locked cells	~
Select unlocked cells	
Format cells	
Format columns	E
Format rows	
Insert columns	
Insert rows	
Insert hyperlinks	
Delete columns	
Delete rows	~
ОК	Cancel

Excel dialog boxes vary in how they work. You'll find two types of dialog boxes:

• **Typical dialog box:** A *modal* dialog box takes the focus away from the spreadsheet. When this type of dialog box is displayed, you can't do anything in the worksheet until you dismiss the dialog box. Clicking OK performs the specified actions, and clicking Cancel (or pressing Esc) closes the dialog box without taking any action. Most Excel dialog boxes are this type.

• **Stay-on-top dialog box:** A *modeless* dialog box works in a manner similar to a toolbar. When a modeless dialog box is displayed, you can continue working in Excel, and the dialog box remains open. Changes made in a modeless dialog box take effect immediately. For example, if you're applying formatting to a chart, changes you make in the Format dialog box appear in the chart as soon as you make them. A modeless dialog box has a Close button but no OK button.

Most people find working with dialog boxes to be quite straightforward and natural. If you've used other programs, you'll feel right at home. You can manipulate the controls either with your mouse or directly from the keyboard.

## Navigating dialog boxes

Navigating dialog boxes is generally very easy — you simply click the control you want to activate.

Although dialog boxes were designed with mouse users in mind, you can also use the keyboard. Every dialog box control has text associated with it, and this text always has one underlined letter (*a hot key* or an *accelerator key*). You can access the control from the keyboard by pressing Alt and then the underlined letter. You also can press Tab to cycle through all the controls on a dialog box. Pressing Shift+Tab cycles through the controls in reverse order.

#### Tip

When a control is selected, it appears with a dotted outline. You can use the spacebar to activate a selected control. ■

## Using tabbed dialog boxes

Many Excel dialog boxes are "tabbed" dialog boxes: That is, they include notebook-like tabs, each of which is associated with a different panel.

When you click a tab, the dialog box changes to display a new panel containing a new set of controls. The Format Cells dialog box, shown in Figure 1.13, is a good example. It has six tabs, which makes it functionally equivalent to six different dialog boxes.

Tabbed dialog boxes are quite convenient because you can make several changes in a single dialog box. After you make all your setting changes, click OK or press Enter.

#### Tip

To select a tab by using the keyboard, press Ctrl+PgUp or Ctrl+PgDn, or simply press the first letter of the tab that you want to activate. ■

Excel 2007 introduced a new style of modeless tabbed dialog box in which the tabs are on the left, rather than across the top. Excel 2010 also uses this style. Figure 1.14 shows the Format Shape

dialog box, which is modeless tabbed. To select a tab using the keyboard, press the up- or downarrow key and then Tab to access the controls.

#### FIGURE 1.13

Use the dialog box tabs to select different functional areas in the dialog box.



#### FIGURE 1.14

A tabbed dialog box with tabs on the left.

Format Shape		? ×
Fill	Shadow	
Line Color	Presets:	
Line Style	Color:	
Shadow		
Reflection	Iransparency:	
Glow and Soft Edges	Size:	
3-D Format	Blur:	
3-D Rotation	Angle:	
Picture Corrections	Distance:	
Picture Color		
Artistic Effects		
Crop		
Size		
Properties		
Text Box		
Alt Text		
	[	Close

## **Using the Task Pane**

The final user interface element that I discuss is the task pane. The task pane appears automatically in response to several commands. For example, to insert a clip art image, choose Insert  $\Rightarrow$  Illustrations  $\Rightarrow$  Clip Art. Excel responds by displaying the Clip Art task pane, shown in Figure 1.15. The task pane is similar to a dialog box except that you can keep it visible as long as you like. There's no OK button. When you're finished using a task pane, click the Close button in the upper-right corner.

By default, the task pane is docked on the right side of the Excel window, but you can move it anywhere you like by clicking its title bar and dragging. Excel remembers the last position, so the next time you use that task pane, it will be right where you left it.

#### FIGURE 1.15

The Clip Art task pane.

•	•	
Clip Art		▼ X
Search for:		
business		Go
Search in:		
All collections		-
Results should be:		
All media file types		▼
Organize dips     Office	coline	
Ips for finding d	lips	

## **Creating Your First Excel Worksheet**

This section presents an introductory hands-on session with Excel. If you haven't used Excel, you may want to follow along on your computer to get a feel for how this software works.

In this example, you create a simple monthly sales projection table along with a chart.

## Getting started on your worksheet

Start Excel and make sure that you have an empty workbook displayed. To create a new, blank workbook, press Ctrl+N (the shortcut key for File 🖒 New 🖒 Blank Workbook 🖒 Create).

The sales projection will consist of two columns of information. Column A will contain the month names, and column B will store the projected sales numbers. You start by entering some descriptive titles into the worksheet. Here's how to begin:

- 1. Move the cell pointer to cell A1 (the upper-left cell in the worksheet) by using the navigation (arrow) keys. The Name box displays the cell's address.
- **2.** Enter Month into cell A1 and press Enter. Depending on your setup, Excel either moves the cell pointer to a different cell, or the pointer remains in cell A1.
- 3. Move the cell pointer to B1, type Projected Sales, and press Enter.

The text extends beyond the cell width, but don't worry about that for now.

#### Filling in the month names

In this step, you enter the month names in column A.

- 1. Move the cell pointer to A2 and type Jan (an abbreviation for January). At this point, you can enter the other month name abbreviations manually, but you can let Excel do some of the work by taking advantage of the AutoFill feature.
- **2.** Make sure that cell A2 is selected. Notice that the active cell is displayed with a heavy outline. At the bottom-right corner of the outline, you'll see a small square known as the *fill handle*. Move your mouse pointer over the fill handle, click, and drag down until you've highlighted from A2 down to A13.
- 3. Release the mouse button, and Excel automatically fills in the month names.

Your worksheet should resemble the one shown in Figure 1.16.

#### Entering the sales data

Next, you provide the sales projection numbers in column B. Assume that January's sales are projected to be \$50,000, and that sales will increase by 3.5 percent in each subsequent month.

- **1.** Move the cell pointer to B2 and type 50000, the projected sales for January. You could type a dollar sign and comma to make the number more legible, but you do the number formatting a bit later.
- **2.** To enter a formula to calculate the projected sales for February, move to cell B3 and enter the following: =B2\*103.5%. When you press Enter, the cell displays 51750. The formula returns the contents of cell B2, multiplied by 103.5%. In other words, February sales are projected to be 3.5% greater than January sales.
- **3.** The projected sales for subsequent months use a similar formula. But rather than retype the formula for each cell in column B, once again take advantage of the AutoFill feature. Make sure that cell B3 is selected. Click the cell's fill handle, drag down to cell B13, and release the mouse button.

#### FIGURE 1.16

Your worksheet, after entering the column headings and month names.

	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	Н
1	Month	Projected	Sales					
2	Jan							
3	Feb							
4	Mar							
5	Apr							
6	May							
7	Jun							
8	Jul							
9	Aug							
10	Sep							
11	Oct							
12	Nov							
13	Dec							
14								
15								
16								

At this point, your worksheet should resemble the one shown in Figure 1.17. Keep in mind that except for cell B2, the values in column B are calculated *with formulas*. To demonstrate, try changing the projected sales value for the initial month, January (in cell B2). You'll find that the formulas recalculate and return different values. These formulas all depend on the initial value in cell B2, though.

#### FIGURE 1.17

Your worksheet, after creating the formulas.

	A	В	С	D	E	F	
1	Month	Projected	Sales				
2	Jan	50000					
3	Feb	51750					
4	Mar	53561.25					
5	Apr	55435.89					
6	May	57376.15					
7	Jun	59384.32					
8	Jul	61462.77					
9	Aug	63613.96					
10	Sep	65840.45					
11	Oct	68144.87					
12	Nov	70529.94					
13	Dec	72998.49					
14							
15							

#### Formatting the numbers

The values in the worksheet are difficult to read because they aren't formatted. In this step, you apply a number format to make the numbers easier to read and more consistent in appearance:

1. Select the numbers by clicking cell B2 and dragging down to cell B13.

#### Tip

Don't drag the fill handle this time, though, because you're selecting cells, not filling a range. ■

2. Choose Home 

→ Number, click the drop-down Number Format control (it initially displays General), and select Currency from the list. The numbers now display with a currency symbol and two decimal places. Much better!

## Making your worksheet look a bit fancier

At this point, you have a functional worksheet, but it could use some help in the appearance department. Converting this range to an "official" (and attractive) Excel table is a snap:

- 1. Move to any cell within the range.
- **2.** Choose Insert ↔ Tables ↔ Table. Excel displays its Create Table dialog box to make sure that it guessed the range properly.
- **3.** Click OK to close the Create Table dialog box. Excel applies its default table formatting and also displays its Table Tools ↔ Design contextual tab. Your worksheet should look like Figure 1.18.
- **4.** If you don't like the default table style, just select another one from the Table Tools → Design → Table Styles group. Notice that you can get a preview of different table styles by moving your mouse over the Ribbon. When you find one you like, click it, and style will be applied to your table.

#### FIGURE 1.18

Your worksheet, after converting the range to a table.

		A	В	С	D	E	F
	1	Month 🔽	Projected Sales 💌				
1	2	Jan	\$50,000.00				
	3	Feb	\$51,750.00				
4	4	Mar	\$53,561.25				
	5	Apr	\$55,435.89				
	6	May	\$57,376.15				
	7	Jun	\$59,384.32				
-	8	Jul	\$61,462.77				
4	9	Aug	\$63,613.96				
1	LO	Sep	\$65,840.45				
1	1	Oct	\$68,144.87				
1	2	Nov	\$70,529.94				
1	13	Dec	\$72,998.49				
1	4						
1	15						
1	16						
- 0	-						

## Summing the values

The worksheet displays the monthly projected sales, but what about the total projected sales for the year? Because this range is a table, it's simple.

- 1. Activate any cell in the table
- 2. Choose Table Tools ➡ Design ➡ Table Style Options ➡ Total Row. Excel automatically adds a new row to the bottom of your table, including a formula that calculated the total of the Projected Sales column.
- **3.** If you'd prefer to see a different summary formula (for example, average), click cell B14 and choose a different summary formula from the drop-down list.

### **Creating a chart**

How about a chart that shows the projected sales for each month?

- **1.** Activate any cell in the table.
- **2.** Choose Insert ⇔ Charts ⇔ Column and then select one of the 2-D column chart **types.** Excel inserts the chart in the center of your screen.

#### Tip

To move the chart to another location, click its border and drag it. To change the appearance and style of the chart, use the commands on the Chart Tools contextual tab. ■

Figure 1.19 shows the worksheet with a column chart. Your chart may look different, depending on the chart layout or style you selected.

#### On the CD

This workbook is available on the companion CD-ROM. The filename is table and chart.xlsx.

#### FIGURE 1.19

The table and chart.

	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	Н	I	J	
1	Month 🔽	Projected Sales 💌									1
2	Jan	\$50,000.00				Droiec	ted Sa	امد			
3	Feb	\$51,750.00				iiojee	icu su	103			
4	Mar	\$53,561.25	\$80	,000.00							
5	Apr	\$55,435.89	\$70	,000.00 +							
6	May	\$57,376.15	\$60	,000.00 +							
7	Jun	\$59,384.32	\$50	00000+							
8	Jul	\$61,462.77									
9	Aug	\$63,613.96	\$40	1,000.00							
10	Sep	\$65,840.45	\$30	0,000.00							
11	Oct	\$68,144.87	\$20	,000.00 +							
12	Nov	\$70,529.94	\$10	,000.00 +							
13	Dec	\$72,998.49		\$0.00							
14	Total	\$730,098.08			Jan Feb M	lar Apr M	lay Jun J	ul Aug Se	p Oct No	ov Dec	
15											
16											
17											
18											
## **Printing your worksheet**

Printing your worksheet is very easy (assuming that you have a printer attached and that it works properly).

- **1.** Make sure that the chart isn't selected. If a chart is selected, it will print on a page by itself. To deselect the chart, just press Esc or click any cell.
- 2. To make use of Excel's handy page layout view, click the Page Layout View button on the right side of the status bar. Excel then displays the worksheet page by page so that you can easily see how your printed output will look. Figure 1.20 shows the worksheet zoomed out to show a complete page. In Page Layout view, you can tell immediately whether the chart is too wide to fit on one page. If the chart is too wide, click and drag a corner to resize it. Or, you can just move the chart below the table of numbers.

#### FIGURE 1.20

Viewing the worksheet in Page Layout mode.

Month Pr	ojected Sal				-
Jan	\$50,000.00	Pro	ojected Sales		H
Mar	\$5356125	\$80,000.00			
Apr	\$55,435.89	570.000.00			
Mag	\$57,376.15	\$70,000.00	-		
Jun	\$59,384.32	\$60,000.00			
Jul	\$61,462.77	\$50,000.00			- U
Aug	\$63,613.96	540.000.00			
Oct	\$63,640,40	340,000.00			
Nov	\$70.529.94	\$30,000.00			
Dec	\$72,998.49	\$20,000.00			
Total	\$730,098.08	\$10,000,00			
		310,000.00			
		\$0.00			H
		Jan Feb Mar	Apr May Jun Jul Aug	Sep Oct Nov Dec	

#### 3. When you're ready to print, choose File 🖒 Print.

At this point, you can change some print settings. For example, you can choose to print in landscape rather than portrait orientation. Make the change, and you see the result in the preview window. When you're satisfied, click the Print button in the upper-left corner. The page is printed, and you're returned to your workbook.

## Saving your workbook

Until now, everything that you've done has occurred in your computer's memory. If the power should fail, all may be lost — unless Excel's AutoRecover feature happened to kick in. It's time to save your work to a file on your hard drive.

- 1. Click the Save button on the Quick Access toolbar. (This button looks like an old-fashioned floppy disk, popular in the previous century.) Because the workbook hasn't been saved yet and still has its default name, Excel responds with the Save As dialog box.
- **2.** In the box labeled File Name, enter a name (such as Monthly Sales Projection), and then click Save or press Enter. Excel saves the workbook as a file. The workbook remains open so that you can work with it some more.

### Note

By default, Excel saves a backup copy of your work automatically every ten minutes. To adjust the AutoRecover setting (or turn if off), choose File ⇔ Options, and click the Save tab of the Excel Options dialog box. However, you should never rely on Excel's AutoRecover feature. Saving your work frequently is a good idea.

If you've followed along, you may have realized that creating this workbook was not at all difficult. But, of course, you've barely scratched the surface. The remainder of this book covers these tasks (and many, many more) in much greater detail.

## CHAPTER

# **Entering and Editing Worksheet Data**

This chapter describes what you need to know about entering, using, and modifying data in your worksheets. As you see, Excel doesn't treat all data equally. Therefore, you need to learn about the various types of data that you can use in an Excel worksheet.

# Exploring the Types of Data You Can Use

An Excel workbook can hold any number of worksheets, and each worksheet is made up of more than 17 billion cells. A cell can hold any of three basic types of data:

- A numeric value
- Text
- A formula

A worksheet can also hold charts, diagrams, pictures, buttons, and other objects. These objects aren't contained in cells. Rather, they reside on the worksheet's *draw layer*, which is an invisible layer on top of each worksheet.

## **Cross-Reference**

Chapter 22 discusses some of the items you can place on the draw layer. ■

## **IN THIS CHAPTER**

Understanding the types of data you can use

Entering text and values into your worksheets

Entering dates and times into your worksheets

Modifying and editing information

Using built-in number formats

## About numeric values

*Numeric values* represent a quantity of some type: sales amounts, number of employees, atomic weights, test scores, and so on. Values also can be dates (such as Feb-26-2011) or times (such as 3:24 a.m.).

### **Cross-Reference**

Excel can display values in many different formats. Later in this chapter, you see how different format options can affect the display of numeric values (see "Applying Number Formatting"). ■

## **About text entries**

Most worksheets also include text in their cells. You can insert text to serve as labels for values, headings for columns, or instructions about the worksheet. Text is often used to clarify what the values in a worksheet mean.

Text that begins with a number is still considered text. For example, if you type **12 Employees** into a cell, Excel considers the entry to be text rather than a value. Consequently, you can't use this cell for numeric calculations. If you need to indicate that the number 12 refers to employees, enter **12** into a cell and then type **Employees** into the cell to the right.

## About formulas

Formulas are what make a spreadsheet a spreadsheet. Excel enables you to enter powerful *formulas* that use the values (or even text) in cells to calculate a result. When you enter a formula into a cell, the formula's result appears in the cell. If you change any of the values used by a formula, the formula recalculates and shows the new result.

Formulas can be simple mathematical expressions, or they can use some of the powerful functions that are built into Excel. Figure 2.1 shows an Excel worksheet set up to calculate a monthly loan payment. The worksheet contains values, text, and formulas. The cells in column A contain text. Column B contains four values and two formulas. The formulas are in cells B6 and B10. Column D, for reference, shows the actual contents of the cells in column B.

## On the CD

This workbook, named loan payment calculator.xlsx, is available on the companion CD-ROM. ■

## **Cross-Reference**

You can find out much more about formulas in Part II. ■

## Excel's Numeric Limitations\_

You may be curious about the types of values that Excel can handle. In other words, how large can numbers be? And how accurate are large numbers?

Excel's numbers are precise up to 15 digits. For example, if you enter a large value, such as 123,456,789,123,456,789 (18 digits), Excel actually stores it with only 15 digits of precision. This 18-digit number displays as 123,456,789,123,456,000. This precision may seem quite limiting, but in practice, it rarely causes any problems.

Here are some of Excel's other numeric limits:

Largest positive number: 9.9E+307

Smallest negative number: -9.9E+307

Smallest positive number: 1E-307

Largest negative number: -1E-307

These numbers are expressed in scientific notation. For example, the largest positive number is "9.9 times 10 to the 307th power" — in other words, 99 followed by 306 zeros. Keep in mind, though, that this number has only 15 digits of accuracy.

#### FIGURE 2.1

You can use values, text, and formulas to create useful Excel worksheets.

	A	B	C	D	- E
з.	Loan Payment Ca	lculator			
2					
3				Column B Contents	
4	Purchase Amount:	\$475,000		475000	
5	Down Payment Pct:	20%		0.2	
6	Loan Amount:	\$380,000		=84*(1-65)	
$\mathcal{T}$	Term (months):	360		360	
8	Interest Nate (APR):	6.23%		0.0625	
9					
10	Monthly Payment:	\$2,139.71		=PWT(80/12,87,-86)	
11					
12					

# Entering Text and Values into Your Worksheets

To enter a numeric value into a cell, move the cell pointer to the appropriate cell, type the value, and then press Enter or one of the navigation keys. The value is displayed in the cell and also appears in the Formula bar when the cell is selected. You can include decimal points and currency symbols when entering values, along with plus signs, minus signs, and commas (to separate thousands).

## Note

If you precede a value with a minus sign or enclose it in parentheses, Excel considers it to be a negative number. ■

Entering text into a cell is just as easy as entering a value: Activate the cell, type the text, and then press Enter or a navigation key. A cell can contain a maximum of about 32,000 characters — more than enough to hold a typical chapter in this book. Even though a cell can hold a huge number of characters, you'll find that it's not possible to actually display all these characters.

## Tip

If you type an exceptionally long text entry into a cell, the Formula bar may not show all the text. To display more of the text in the Formula bar, click the bottom of the Formula bar and drag down to increase the height (see Figure 2.2). Also useful is the Ctrl+Shift+U keyboard shortcut. Pressing this key combination toggles the height of the formula bar to show either one row, or the previous size.

What happens when you enter text that's longer than its column's current width? If the cells to the immediate right are blank, Excel displays the text in its entirety, appearing to spill the entry into adjacent cells. If an adjacent cell isn't blank, Excel displays as much of the text as possible. (The full text is contained in the cell; it's just not displayed.) If you need to display a long text string in a cell that's adjacent to a nonblank cell, you can take one of several actions:

- Edit your text to make it shorter.
- Increase the width of the column (drag the border in the column letter display).
- Use a smaller font.
- Wrap the text within the cell so that it occupies more than one line. Choose Home ↔ Alignment ↔ Wrap Text to toggle wrapping on and off for the selected cell or range.

#### FIGURE 2.2

The Formula bar, expanded in height to show more information in the cell.

(1) H	0.0					4	dashe - N	Accessible.	4						22
110	1100	· Next	Pageta	quet to	mentari i	coda Pre	ees v	10						0 Q 0	# 10
Pade Pade		101 1 X -	- 8 - 11 - 1 For	• K 2 9• <u>A</u> -		8	- 12 30-	General 4 - % Sel 24 Frank-re	•	<ul> <li>Constitution</li> <li>Frank in T</li> <li>Cell State 7</li> </ul>	fomating: Mare	Pitest Pitest Urest Cit	- x ·	Ent D Protection	2
	Alk	• (5	2	LIMITED / Software days from Noticeal in DREV 3.0 HOPECTS / foome dtal above film Bratitation Horcenty	MARRAY IT will perfin the date rotate/pro to counter to	VFOR SOFT missional direction index and the solution of the soft of the solution of the soluti	WARE AD delity in a frankings problem rate outer rate outer het allow i y to your packs or i rati by any	ouriest in condense led warne obsteine so two ens toko ens initations Any supple hed Plans pr varonty i	THE I with t ty or ref it toop toop toop toop too the the the the the toop	US AND CAMAI the accompany condition is o , you also hav or two LAMIT MERCISING VI on long an imp to or updates t with one address with long autom	W. Sparfill (up materi sated by y can implife to vicense attacs the clear wards a the Softe the might film might	Consulting fails for a per- sumbate () of warranty of the Consultin- nty or consil- ance, includ- alizes of the or statutory.	varrants feel of el misdictio or constitu ribumi), J ors of Ar- tion lasto fing nithe releasing de c	that the insty 1900 e and inst, 60/T to 100 ANY SY 6040, s, co the sat ag Linstend	4 4
4	4		c	D	E	P		н	1	1	E	L	М	м	-
1	29	306	346	315	318	655	385								- 6
1	808	3.52	12	447	400	11.0	316								
2	408	221	177	404	499	365	215								
.8	3.00	474	316	81	317	48.1	3.00								
5	384	255	226	251	299	428	375								
6	- 34	388	378	315	258	405	225								
т	417	312	111	310	811	411	414								
8	259	- 84	427	455	328	5	179								
2		414	447		308	12	112								
1.9	376	471	56	440	479	475	304								
11	308	332	308	278	2.58	404	210								
12 mi 13 14 8 4 5	N the	en kelser	T-41-COLO	er e tveut e	BE ORBADA.3	yani il Cananji		- And the Julk		1946 madein	dally in more	an or off birls			
Reads	121										(0	000.00	ь (с. —		

## **Entering Dates and Times into Your Worksheets**

Excel treats dates and times as special types of numeric values. Typically, these values are formatted so that they appear as dates or times because we humans find it far easier to understand these values when they appear in the correct format. If you work with dates and times, you need to understand Excel's date and time system.

## **Entering date values**

Excel handles dates by using a serial number system. The earliest date that Excel understands is January 1, 1900. This date has a serial number of 1. January 2, 1900, has a serial number of 2, and so on. This system makes it easy to deal with dates in formulas. For example, you can enter a formula to calculate the number of days between two dates.

Most of the time, you don't have to be concerned with Excel's serial number date system. You can simply enter a date in a familiar date format, and Excel takes care of the details behind the scenes. For example, if you need to enter June 1, 2001, you can simply enter the date by typing **June 1**, **2001** (or use any of several different date formats). Excel interprets your entry and stores the value 39234, which is the serial number for that date.

#### Note

The date examples in this book use the U.S. English system. Depending on your Windows regional settings, entering a date in a format (such as June 1, 2011) may be interpreted as text rather than a date. In such a case, you need to enter the date in a format that corresponds to your regional date settings — for example, 1 June, 2011. ■

## **Cross-Reference**

For more information about working with dates, see Chapter 12. ■

## **Entering time values**

When you work with times, you simply extend Excel's date serial number system to include decimals. In other words, Excel works with times by using fractional days. For example, the date serial number for June 1, 2011, is 40695. Noon on June 1, 2011 (halfway through the day), is represented internally as 40695.5 because the time fraction is added to the date serial number to get the full date/time serial number.

Again, you normally don't have to be concerned with these serial numbers (or fractional serial numbers, for times). Just enter the time into a cell in a recognized format.

## **Cross-Reference**

See Chapter 12 for more information about working with time values. ■

## **Modifying Cell Contents**

After you enter a value or text into a cell, you can modify it in several ways:

- Erase the cell's contents.
- Replace the cell's contents with something else.
- Edit the cell's contents.

## Note

You can also modify a cell by changing its formatting. However, formatting a cell affects only a cell's appearance. Formatting does not affect its contents. Later sections in this chapter cover formatting. ■

## Erasing the contents of a cell

To erase the contents of a cell, just click the cell and press Delete. To erase more than one cell, select all the cells that you want to erase and then press Delete. Pressing Delete removes the cell's contents but doesn't remove any formatting (such as bold, italic, or a different number format) that you may have applied to the cell.

For more control over what gets deleted, you can choose Home 🖒 Editing 🌣 Clear. This command's drop-down list has five choices:

- **Clear All:** Clears everything from the cell its contents, its formatting, and its cell comment (if it has one).
- Clear Formats: Clears only the formatting and leaves the value, text, or formula.
- Clear Contents: Clears only the cell's contents and leaves the formatting.
- Clear Comments: Clears the comment (if one exists) attached to the cell.
- **Clear Hyperlinks:** Removes hyperlinks contained in the selected cells. The text remains, but the cell no longer functions as a clickable hyperlink.

## Note

Clearing formats doesn't clear the background colors in a range that has been designated as a table unless you replace the table style background colors manually. ■

## Replacing the contents of a cell

To replace the contents of a cell with something else, just activate the cell and type your new entry, which replaces the previous contents. Any formatting applied to the cell remains in place and is applied to the new content.

## Tip

You can also replace cell contents by dragging and dropping or by pasting data from the Clipboard. In both cases, the cell formatting will be replaced by the format of the new data. To avoid pasting formatting, choose Home ⇔ Clipboard ⇔ Paste ⇔ Values (V), or Home ⇔ Clipboard ⇔ Paste ⇔ Formulas (F). ■

## Editing the contents of a cell

If the cell contains only a few characters, replacing its contents by typing new data usually is easiest. However, if the cell contains lengthy text or a complex formula and you need to make only a slight modification, you probably want to edit the cell rather than re-enter information.

When you want to edit the contents of a cell, you can use one of the following ways to enter celledit mode.

- Double-click the cell to edit the cell contents directly in the cell.
- Select the cell and press F2 to edit the cell contents directly in the cell.
- Select the cell that you want to edit and then click inside the Formula bar to edit the cell contents in the Formula bar.

You can use whichever method you prefer. Some people find editing directly in the cell easier; others prefer to use the Formula bar to edit a cell.

#### Note

The Advanced tab of the Excel Options dialog box contains a section called Editing Options. These settings affect how editing works. (To access this dialog box, choose File ⇔ Options.) If the Allow Editing Directly in Cells option isn't enabled, you can't edit a cell by double-clicking. In addition, pressing F2 allows you to edit the cell in the Formula bar (not directly in the cell). ■

All these methods cause Excel to go into *edit mode*. (The word Edit appears at the left side of the status bar at the bottom of the screen.) When Excel is in edit mode, the Formula bar displays two new icons: the X and the Check Mark (see Figure 2.3). Clicking the X icon cancels editing without changing the cell's contents. (Pressing Esc has the same effect.) Clicking the Check Mark icon completes the editing and enters the modified contents into the cell. (Pressing Enter has the same effect.)

#### FIGURE 2.3

While editing a cell, the Formula bar displays two new icons.

P	L A	CANEN	- 15	• 4 4	
Parto	1	8.7.1	1.1	$\Im \cdot \Delta$	11 H (F (F (A))
	C29		· (* * *	.6 143.55	
27	В	E	D	E	- F
28		143.55			
30			-		

#### The X icon The Check Mark icon

When you begin editing a cell, the insertion point appears as a vertical bar, and you can perform the following tasks:

- Add new characters at the location of the insertion point. Move the insertion point by
  - Using the navigation keys to move within the cell
  - Pressing Home to move the insertion point to the beginning of the cell
  - Pressing End to move the insertion point to the end of the cell

- Select multiple characters. Press Shift while you use the navigation keys.
- Select characters while you're editing a cell. Use the mouse. Just click and drag the mouse pointer over the characters that you want to select.

## Learning some handy data-entry techniques

You can simplify the process of entering information into your Excel worksheets and make your work go quite a bit faster by using a number of useful tricks, described in the following sections.

#### Automatically moving the cell pointer after entering data

By default, Excel automatically moves the cell pointer to the next cell down when you press the Enter key after entering data into a cell. To change this setting, choose File ➡ Options and click the Advanced tab (see Figure 2.4). The check box that controls this behavior is labeled After Pressing Enter, Move Selection. If you enable this option, you can choose the direction in which the cell pointer moves (down, left, up, or right).

Your choice is completely a matter of personal preference. I prefer to keep this option turned off. When entering data, I use the navigation keys rather than the Enter key (see the next section).

#### FIGURE 2.4

You can use the Advanced tab in Excel Options to select a number of helpful input option settings.



#### Using navigation keys instead of pressing Enter

Instead of pressing the Enter key when you're finished making a cell entry, you also can use any of the navigation keys to complete the entry. Not surprisingly, these navigation keys send you in the direction that you indicate. For example, if you're entering data in a row, press the right-arrow ( $\rightarrow$ ) key rather than Enter. The other arrow keys work as expected, and you can even use PgUp and PgDn.

#### Selecting a range of input cells before entering data

Here's a tip that most Excel users don't know about: When a range of cells is selected, Excel automatically moves the cell pointer to the next cell in the range when you press Enter. If the selection consists of multiple rows, Excel moves down the column; when it reaches the end of the selection in the column, it moves to the first selected cell in the next column.

To skip a cell, just press Enter without entering anything. To go backward, press Shift+Enter. If you prefer to enter the data by rows rather than by columns, press Tab rather than Enter. Excel continues to cycle through the selected range until you select a cell outside of the range.

#### Using Ctrl+Enter to place information into multiple cells simultaneously

If you need to enter the same data into multiple cells, Excel offers a handy shortcut. Select all the cells that you want to contain the data, enter the value, text, or formula, and then press Ctrl+Enter. The same information is inserted into each cell in the selection.

#### **Entering decimal points automatically**

If you need to enter lots of numbers with a fixed number of decimal places, Excel has a useful tool that works like some adding machines. Access the Excel Options dialog box and click the Advanced tab. Select the check box Automatically Insert a Decimal Point and make sure that the Places box is set for the correct number of decimal places for the data you need to enter.

When this option is set, Excel supplies the decimal points for you automatically. For example, if you specify two decimal places, entering **12345** into a cell is interpreted as 123.45. To restore things to normal, just clear the Automatically Insert a Decimal Point check box in the Excel Options dialog box. Changing this setting doesn't affect any values that you already entered.

#### Caution

The fixed decimal-places option is a global setting and applies to all workbooks (not just the active workbook). If you forget that this option is turned on, you can easily end up entering incorrect values — or cause some major confusion if someone else uses your computer. ■

#### Using AutoFill to enter a series of values

The Excel AutoFill feature makes inserting a series of values or text items in a range of cells easy. It uses the AutoFill handle (the small box at the lower right of the active cell). You can drag the AutoFill handle to copy the cell or automatically complete a series.

Figure 2.5 shows an example. I entered **1** into cell A1 and **3** into cell A2. Then I selected both cells and dragged down the fill handle to create a linear series of odd numbers. The figure also shows a Smart Icon that, when clicked, displays some additional AutoFill options.

#### Tip

If you drag the AutoFill handle while you press and hold the right mouse button, Excel displays a shortcut menu with additional fill options.

#### FIGURE 2.5

This series was created by using AutoFill.

4	A		C	D	
1	1				
2	3				
3	5				
4	7				
5	- 9				
6	11				
7	13				
а.	15				
5	17				
10	19				
11	21				
12	23				
13	25				
24	27				
15	25				
16		191			
17					
1.0					

#### Using AutoComplete to automate data entry

The Excel AutoComplete feature makes entering the same text into multiple cells easy. With AutoComplete, you type the first few letters of a text entry into a cell, and Excel automatically completes the entry based on other entries that you already made in the column. Besides reducing typing, this feature also ensures that your entries are spelled correctly and are consistent.

Here's how it works. Suppose that you're entering product information in a column. One of your products is named Widgets. The first time that you enter **Widgets** into a cell, Excel remembers it. Later, when you start typing **Widgets** in that same column, Excel recognizes it by the first few letters and finishes typing it for you. Just press Enter, and you're done. To override the suggestion, just keep typing.

AutoComplete also changes the case of letters for you automatically. If you start entering **widget** (with a lowercase w) in the second entry, Excel makes the w uppercase to be consistent with the previous entry in the column.

## Tip

You also can access a mouse-oriented version of AutoComplete by right-clicking the cell and choosing Pick from Drop-Down List from the shortcut menu. Excel then displays a drop-down box that has all the entries in the current column, and you just click the one that you want. ■

Keep in mind that AutoComplete works only within a contiguous column of cells. If you have a blank row, for example, AutoComplete identifies only the cell contents below the blank row.

If you find the AutoComplete feature distracting, you can turn it off by using the Advanced tab of the Excel Options dialog box. Remove the check mark from the check box labeled Enable AutoComplete for Cell Values.

#### Forcing text to appear on a new line within a cell

If you have lengthy text in a cell, you can force Excel to display it in multiple lines within the cell: Press Alt+Enter to start a new line in a cell.

#### Note

When you add a line break, Excel automatically changes the cell's format to Wrap Text. But unlike normal text wrap, your manual line break forces Excel to break the text at a specific place within the text, which gives you more precise control over the appearance of the text than if you rely on automatic text wrapping.

#### Tip

To remove a manual line break, edit the cell and press Delete when the insertion point is located at the end of the line that contains the manual line break. You won't see any symbol to indicate the position of the manual line break, but the text that follows it will move up when the line break is deleted. ■

#### Using AutoCorrect for shorthand data entry

You can use the AutoCorrect feature to create shortcuts for commonly used words or phrases. For example, if you work for a company named Consolidated Data Processing Corporation, you can create an AutoCorrect entry for an abbreviation, such as *cdp*. Then, whenever you type **cdp**, Excel automatically changes it to Consolidated Data Processing Corporation.

Excel includes quite a few built-in AutoCorrect terms (mostly common misspellings), and you can add your own. To set up your custom AutoCorrect entries, access the Excel Options dialog box (choose File  $\Rightarrow$  Options) and click the Proofing tab. Then click the AutoCorrect Options button to display the AutoCorrect dialog box. In the dialog box, click the AutoCorrect tab, check the option labeled Replace Text as You Type, and then enter your custom entries. (Figure 2.6 shows an example.) You can set up as many custom entries as you like. Just be careful not to use an abbreviation that might appear normally in your text.

#### Tip

Excel shares your AutoCorrect list with other Office applications. For example, any AutoCorrect entries you created in Word also work in Excel.

#### **Entering numbers with fractions**

To enter a fractional value into a cell, leave a space between the whole number and the fraction. For example, to enter 6%, enter **6 7/8** and then press Enter. When you select the cell, 6.875 appears in the Formula bar, and the cell entry appears as a fraction. If you have a fraction only (for example,  $\frac{1}{8}$ ), you must enter a zero first, like this — **0 1/8** — or Excel will likely assume that you're entering a date. When you select the cell and look at the Formula bar, you see 0.125. In the cell, you see  $\frac{1}{8}$ .

#### Simplifying data entry by using a form

Many people use Excel to manage lists in which the information is arranged in rows. Excel offers a simple way to work with this type of data through the use of a data entry form that Excel can create automatically. This data form works with either a normal range of data, or with a range that has been designated as a table (choose Insert  $\Rightarrow$  Tables  $\Rightarrow$  Table). Figure 2.7 shows an example.

#### FIGURE 2.6

AutoCorrect allows you to create shorthand abbreviations for text you enter often.

AutoCorrect: English	(2.0)	1.00
Address Add	mak As You Type   Smert Tags   M	#h AukeConnett
She Aktoor	et options includes	
IZ Correct TV/s 2% IZ Capitalize First in IZ Capitalize ranke	tal Claitais Itor of serilances of days	E-centery-
Correct accident Poplace text ac	al use of eAPS LOCK May you type	
(Replace:	with:	
odu	Consolidated Date Precessing C	arponetion
candidates	candidates	
can't of been	onthereben	
68680077	CROMONY	
categiory	capada.A	
(entrien)	certam.	
	Add	Delete
	OK	Carnel

Unfortunately, the command to access the data form is not on the Ribbon. To use the data form, you must add it to your Quick Access toolbar or add it to the Ribbon. The instructions that follow describe how to add this command to your Quick Access toolbar:

- **1. Right-click the Quick Access toolbar and choose Customize Quick Access Toolbar.** The Quick Access Toolbar panel of the Excel Options dialog box appears.
- 2. In the Choose Commands From drop-down list, choose Commands Not in the Ribbon.
- 3. In the list box on the left, select Form.
- 4. Click the Add button to add the selected command to your Quick Access toolbar.
- 5. Click OK to close the Excel Options dialog box.

#### FIGURE 2.7

Excel's built-in data form can simplify many data-entry tasks.

Real Datate L	ictings	
épents	Lang	48 of 125
Dege Lieterd:	6/25/2807	Nes
Artan	N. Caurity	Delete
Light Prices	359080	Aestore
Dechoarme:	3	The filter of
tarty .	2.5	Printigrav
sys:	22:0	Redigent
Type:	Single Family	Q'iteria
Park	PASE	Cjoox
field:	FALSE	

After performing these steps, a new icon appears on your Quick Access toolbar.

To use a data entry form, follow these steps:

- 1. Arrange your data so that Excel can recognize it as a table by entering headings for the columns in the first row of your data entry range.
- **2.** Select any cell in the table and click the Form button on your Quick Access toolbar. Excel displays a dialog box customized to your data (refer to Figure 2-7).
- **3.** Fill in the information.

Press Tab to move between the text boxes. If a cell contains a formula, the formula result appears as text (not as an edit box). In other words, you can't modify formulas using the data entry form.

4. When you complete the data form, click the New button.

Excel enters the data into a row in the worksheet and clears the dialog box for the next row of data.

#### Entering the current date or time into a cell

If you need to date-stamp or time-stamp your worksheet, Excel provides two shortcut keys that do this task for you:

- Current date: Ctrl+; (semicolon)
- Current time: Ctrl+Shift+; (semicolon)

The date and time are from the system time in your computer. If the date or time is not correct in Excel, use the Windows Control Panel to make the adjustment.

#### Note

When you use either of these shortcuts to enter a date or time into your worksheet, Excel enters a static value into the worksheet. In other words, the date or time entered doesn't change when the worksheet is recalculated. In most cases, this setup is probably what you want, but you should be aware of this limitation. If you want the date or time display to update, use one of these formulas:

```
=TODAY()
=NOW()
```

## **Applying Number Formatting**

*Number formatting* refers to the process of changing the appearance of values contained in cells. Excel provides a wide variety of number formatting options. In the following sections, you see how to use many of Excel's formatting options to quickly improve the appearance of your worksheets.

## Tip

The formatting that you apply works with the selected cell or cells. Therefore, you need to select the cell (or range of cells) before applying the formatting. Also remember that changing the number format does not affect the underlying value. Number formatting affects only the appearance. ■

Values that you enter into cells normally are unformatted. In other words, they simply consist of a string of numerals. Typically, you want to format the numbers so that they're easier to read or are more consistent in terms of the number of decimal places shown.

Figure 2.8 shows a worksheet that has two columns of values. The first column consists of unformatted values. The cells in the second column are formatted to make the values easier to read. The third column describes the type of formatting applied.

## On the CD

This workbook is available on the companion CD-ROM. The file is named number formatting.xlsx.

#### FIGURE 2.8

Use numeric formatting to make it easier to understand what the values in the worksheet represent.

	A	1	C	D
3				
2	Unformated	Formatted	Туре	
3	1200	\$1,200.00	Currency	
4	0.231	23.1%	Percentage	
5	2/3/2010	2/3/2008	Short Date	
6	2/3/2010	Sunday, February 08, 2008	Long Date	
$\mathcal{T}$	123435832	123,435,832.00	Accounting	
8	5659652	555-5632	Phone Number	
9	434868723	434-98-8723	Social Security Number	
10	0.552	1:14:53 PM	Time	
11	0.25	1/4	Fraction	
12	12332354090	1.25E+10	Scientific	
13				

## Tip

If you move the cell pointer to a cell that has a formatted value, the Formula bar displays the value in its unformatted state because the formatting affects only how the value appears in the cell — not the actual value contained in the cell.

## Using automatic number formatting

Excel is smart enough to perform some formatting for you automatically. For example, if you enter **12.2%** into a cell, Excel knows that you want to use a percentage format and applies it for you automatically. If you use commas to separate thousands (such as 123,456), Excel applies comma formatting for you. And if you precede your value with a dollar sign, the cell is formatted for currency (assuming that the dollar sign is your system currency symbol).

## Tip

A handy default feature in Excel makes entering percentage values into cells easier. If a cell is formatted to display as a percent, you can simply enter a normal value (for example, 12.5 for 12.5%). To enter values less than 1%, precede the value with a zero (for example, 0.52 for 0.52%). If this automatic percent–entry feature isn't working (or if you prefer to enter the actual value for percents), access the Excel Options dialog box and click the Advanced tab. In the Editing Options section, locate the Enable Automatic Percent Entry check box and remove the check mark.

## Formatting numbers by using the Ribbon

The Home ⇔ Number group in the Ribbon contains controls that let you quickly apply common number formats (see Figure 2.9).

#### FIGURE 2.9

You can find number formatting commands in the Number group of the Home tab.



The Number Format drop-down list contains 11 common number formats. Additional options include an Accounting Number Format drop-down list (to select a currency format), a Percent Style, and a Comma Style button. The group also contains a button to increase the number of decimal places, and another to decrease the number of decimal places.

When you select one of these controls, the active cell takes on the specified number format. You also can select a range of cells (or even an entire row or column) before clicking these buttons. If you select more than one cell, Excel applies the number format to all the selected cells.

## Using shortcut keys to format numbers

Another way to apply number formatting is to use shortcut keys. Table 2.1 summarizes the shortcut-key combinations that you can use to apply common number formatting to the selected cells or range. Notice that these Ctrl+Shift characters are all located together, in the upper left of your keyboard.

#### TABLE 2.1

	Number-Formatting Keyboard Shortcuts
Key Combination	Formatting Applied
Ctrl+Shift+~	General number format (that is, unformatted values)
Ctrl+Shift+\$	Currency format with two decimal places (negative numbers appear in parentheses)
Ctrl+Shift+%	Percentage format, with no decimal places
Ctrl+Shift+^	Scientific notation number format, with two decimal places
Ctrl+Shift+#	Date format with the day, month, and year
Ctrl+Shift+@	Time format with the hour, minute, and AM or PM
Ctrl+Shift+!	Two decimal places, thousands separator, and a hyphen for negative values

## Formatting numbers using the Format Cells dialog box

In most cases, the number formats that are accessible from the Number group on the Home tab are just fine. Sometimes, however, you want more control over how your values appear. Excel offers a great deal of control over number formats through the use of the Format Cells dialog box, shown in Figure 2.10. For formatting numbers, you need to use the Number tab.

You can bring up the Format Cells dialog box in several ways. Start by selecting the cell or cells that you want to format and then do one of the following:

- Choose Home ➡ Number and click the small dialog box launcher icon (in the lower-right corner of the Number group).
- Choose Home 
   Number, click the Number Format drop-down list, and choose More Number Formats from the drop-down list.
- Right-click the cell and choose Format Cells from the shortcut menu.
- Press Ctrl+1.

#### FIGURE 2.10

When you need more control over number formats, use the Number tab of the Format Cells dialog box.

Format Cells		E.E.
Namber Jäigement	Fanit Barder Fill Protection	
GRIMBET General Matcher Concerning Date Time Percentage Processing Percentage Percentage Special Openal Special Openal	n Sample puttor M getimal placeme: 2 2 2mitol: 5 Second placeme: 2 2 Second placeme: 2 2	•
Carrency Formats are points in a column.	<ul> <li>and the general monetary values. Use Associating formula to align de</li> </ul>	, scinal
	ox. C	reel

The Number tab of the Format Cells dialog box displays 12 categories of number formats from which to choose. When you select a category from the list box, the right side of the tab changes to display the appropriate options.

The Number category has three options that you can control: the number of decimal places displayed, whether to use a thousands separator, and how you want negative numbers displayed. Notice that the Negative Numbers list box has four choices (two of which display negative values in red), and the choices change depending on the number of decimal places and whether you choose to separate thousands.

The top of the tab displays a sample of how the active cell will appear with the selected number format (visible only if a cell with a value is selected). After you make your choices, click OK to apply the number format to all the selected cells.

#### **Cross-Reference**

Chapter 10 discusses ROUND and other built-in functions. ■

The following are the number-format categories, along with some general comments:

• **General:** The default format; it displays numbers as integers, as decimals, or in scientific notation if the value is too wide to fit in the cell.

- **Number:** Enables you to specify the number of decimal places, whether to use a comma to separate thousands, and how to display negative numbers (with a minus sign, in red, in parentheses, or in red and in parentheses).
- **Currency**: Enables you to specify the number of decimal places, whether to use a currency symbol, and how to display negative numbers (with a minus sign, in red, in parentheses, or in red and in parentheses). This format always uses a comma to separate thousands.
- Accounting: Differs from the Currency format in that the currency symbols always align vertically.
- Date: Enables you to choose from several different date formats.
- Time: Enables you to choose from several different time formats.
- **Percentage:** Enables you to choose the number of decimal places and always displays a percent sign.
- Fraction: Enables you to choose from among nine fraction formats.
- Scientific: Displays numbers in exponential notation (with an E): 2.00E+05 = 200,000; 2.05E+05 = 205,000. You can choose the number of decimal places to display to the left of E.
- **Text:** When applied to a value, causes Excel to treat the value as text (even if it looks like a number). This feature is useful for such items as part numbers.
- **Special:** Contains additional number formats. In the U.S. version of Excel, the additional number formats are Zip Code, Zip Code +4, Phone Number, and Social Security Number.
- **Custom:** Enables you to define custom number formats that aren't included in any other category.

## Tip

If a cell displays a series of hash marks (such as ##########), it usually means that the column isn't wide enough to display the value in the number format that you selected. Either make the column wider or change the number format.

## Adding your own custom number formats

Sometimes you may want to display numerical values in a format that isn't included in any of the other categories. If so, the answer is to create your own custom format.

## **Cross-Reference**

Excel provides you with a great deal of flexibility in creating number formats — so much so that I've devoted an entire chapter (Chapter 24) to this topic. ■

## When Numbers Appear to Add Incorrectly.

Applying a number format to a cell doesn't change the value — only how the value appears in the worksheet. For example, if a cell contains 0.874543, you may format it to appear as 87%. If that cell is used in a formula, the formula uses the full value (0.874543), not the displayed value (87%).

In some situations, formatting may cause Excel to display calculation results that appear incorrect, such as when totaling numbers with decimal places. For example, if values are formatted to display two decimal places, you may not see the actual numbers used in the calculations. But because Excel uses the full precision of the values in its formula, the sum of the two values may appear to be incorrect.

Several solutions to this problem are available. You can format the cells to display more decimal places. You can use the ROUND function on individual numbers and specify the number of decimal places Excel should round to. Or you can instruct Excel to change the worksheet values to match their displayed format. To do so, access the Excel Options dialog box and click the Advanced tab. Check the Set Precision as Displayed check box (is located in the When Calculating This Workbook section).

#### Caution

Selecting the Precision as Displayed option changes the numbers in your worksheets to permanently match their appearance onscreen. This setting applies to all sheets in the active workbook. Most of the time, this option is not what you want. Make sure that you understand the consequences of using the Set Precision as Displayed option.

## CHAPTER



This chapter covers some basic information regarding workbooks, worksheets, and windows. You discover tips and techniques to help you take control of your worksheets. The result? You'll be a more efficient Excel user.

# Learning the Fundamentals of Excel Worksheets

In Excel, each file is called a *workbook*, and each workbook can contain one or more *worksheets*. You may find it helpful to think of an Excel workbook as a notebook and worksheets as pages in the notebook. As with a notebook, you can view a particular sheet, add new sheets, remove sheets, and copy sheets.

The following sections describe the operations that you can perform with worksheets.

## Working with Excel windows

Each Excel workbook file is displayed in a window. A workbook can hold any number of sheets, and these sheets can be either worksheets (sheets consisting of rows and columns) or *chart sheets* (sheets that hold a single chart). A worksheet is what people usually think of when they think of a spreadsheet. You can open as many Excel workbooks as necessary at the same time.

## **IN THIS CHAPTER**

Understanding Excel worksheet essentials

**Controlling your views** 

Manipulating the rows and columns

Figure 3.1 shows Excel with four workbooks open, each in a separate window. One of the windows is minimized and appears near the lower-left corner of the screen. (When a workbook is minimized, only its title bar is visible.) Worksheet windows can overlap, and the title bar of one window is a different color. That's the window that contains the active workbook.

#### FIGURE 3.1

You can open several Excel workbooks at the same time.



The workbook windows that Excel uses work much like the windows in any other Windows program. Each window has three buttons at the right side of its title bar. From left to right, they are Minimize, Maximize (or Restore), and Close. When a workbook window is maximized, the three buttons appear directly below the Excel title bar.

Workbook windows can be in one of the following states:

- **Maximized:** Fills the entire Excel workspace. A maximized window doesn't have a title bar, and the workbook's name appears in the title bar for Excel. To maximize a window, click its Maximize button.
- **Minimized:** Appears as a small window with only a title bar. To minimize a window, click its Minimize button.
- **Restored:** A nonmaximized size. To restore a maximized or minimized window, click its Restore button.

If you work with more than one workbook simultaneously (which is quite common), you need to know how to move, resize, and switch among the workbook windows.

#### Moving and resizing windows

To move a window, make sure that it's not maximized. Then click and drag its title bar with your mouse.

To resize a window, click and drag any of its borders until it's the size that you want it to be. When you position the mouse pointer on a window's border, the mouse pointer changes to a double-sided arrow, which lets you know that you can now click and drag to resize the window. To resize a window horizontally and vertically at the same time, click and drag any of its corners.

## Note

You can't move or resize a workbook window if it's maximized. You can move a minimized window, but doing so has no effect on its position when it's subsequently restored. ■

If you want all your workbook windows to be visible (that is, not obscured by another window), you can move and resize the windows manually, or you can let Excel do it for you. Choosing View  $\Rightarrow$  Window  $\Rightarrow$  Arrange All displays the Arrange Windows dialog box, shown in Figure 3.2. This dialog box has four window-arrangement options. Just select the one that you want and click OK. Windows that are minimized aren't affected by this command.

#### FIGURE 3.2

Use the Arrange Windows dialog box to quickly arrange all open non-minimized workbook windows.



#### Switching among windows

At any given time, one (and only one) workbook window is the active window. The active window accepts your input and is the window on which your commands work. The active window's title bar is a different color, and the window appears at the top of the stack of windows. To work in a different window, you need to make that window active. You can make a different window the active workbook in several ways:

- Click another window, if it's visible. The window you click moves to the top and becomes the active window. This method isn't possible if the current window is maximized.
- Press Ctrl+Tab (or Ctrl+F6) to cycle through all open windows until the window that you want to work with appears on top as the active window. Pressing Shift+Ctrl+Tab (or Shift+Ctrl+F6) cycles through the windows in the opposite direction.
- Choose View r > Window r > Switch Windows and select the window that you want from the drop-down list (the active window has a check mark next to it). This menu can display as many as nine windows. If you have more than nine workbook windows open, choose More Windows (which appears below the nine window names).
- Click the icon for the window in the Windows taskbar. This technique is available only if the Show All Windows in the Taskbar option is turned on. You can control this setting from the Advanced tab of the Excel Options dialog box (in the Display section).

#### Tip

Most people prefer to do most of their work with maximized workbook windows, which enables you to see more cells and eliminates the distraction of other workbook windows getting in the way. At times, however, viewing multiple windows is preferred. For example, displaying two windows is more efficient if you need to compare information in two workbooks or if you need to copy data from one workbook to another. ■

When you maximize one window, all the other windows are maximized, too (even though you don't see them). Therefore, if the active window is maximized and you activate a different window, the new active window is also maximized.

#### Tip

You also can display a single workbook in more than one window. For example, if you have a workbook with two worksheets, you may want to display each worksheet in a separate window to compare the two sheets. All the window-manipulation procedures described previously still apply. Choose View ⇔ Window ⇔ New Window to open an additional window in the active workbook. ■

#### **Closing windows**

If you have multiple windows open, you may want to close those windows that you no longer need. Excel offers several ways to close the active window:

- Choose File ➡ Close.
- Click the Close button (the X icon) on the workbook window's title bar. If the workbook window is maximized, its title bar is not visible, so its Close button appears directly below the Excel Close button.
- Press Ctrl+W.

When you close a workbook window, Excel checks whether you made any changes since the last time you saved the file. If you have made changes, Excel prompts you to save the file before it closes the window. If not, the window closes without a prompt from Excel.

## Activating a worksheet

At any given time, one workbook is the active workbook, and one sheet is the active sheet in the active workbook. To activate a different sheet, just click its sheet tab, located at the bottom of the workbook window. You also can use the following shortcut keys to activate a different sheet:

- Ctrl+PgUp: Activates the previous sheet, if one exists
- Ctrl+PgDn: Activates the next sheet, if one exists

If your workbook has many sheets, all its tabs may not be visible. Use the tab scrolling controls (see Figure 3.3) to scroll the sheet tabs. The sheet tabs share space with the worksheet's horizontal scroll bar. You also can drag the tab split control to display more or fewer tabs. Dragging the tab split control simultaneously changes the number of tabs and the size of the horizontal scroll bar.

## Tip

When you right-click any of the tab scrolling controls, Excel displays a list of all sheets in the workbook. You can quickly activate a sheet by selecting it from the list. ■

#### FIGURE 3.3

Use the tab controls to activate a different worksheet or to see additional worksheet tabs.



Tab scrolling controls Tab split control

## Adding a new worksheet to your workbook

Worksheets can be an excellent organizational tool. Instead of placing everything on a single worksheet, you can use additional worksheets in a workbook to separate various workbook elements logically. For example, if you have several products whose sales you track individually, you may want to assign each product to its own worksheet and then use another worksheet to consolidate your results.

The following are three ways to add a new worksheet to a workbook:

- Click the Insert Worksheet control, which is located to the right of the last sheet tab. This method inserts the new sheet *after* the last sheet in the workbook.
- Press Shift+F11. This method inserts the new sheet before the active sheet.
- Right-click a sheet tab, choose Insert from the shortcut menu, and click the General tab of the Insert dialog box that appears. Then select the Worksheet icon and click OK. This method inserts the new sheet *before* the active sheet.

## Deleting a worksheet you no longer need

If you no longer need a worksheet, or if you want to get rid of an empty worksheet in a workbook, you can delete it in either of two ways:

- Right-click its sheet tab and choose Delete from the shortcut menu.
- Activate the unwanted worksheet and choose Home ↔ Cells ↔ Delete ⇔ Delete Sheet. If the worksheet contains any data, Excel asks you to confirm that you want to delete the sheet. If you've never used the worksheet, Excel deletes it immediately without asking for confirmation.

## Tip

You can delete multiple sheets with a single command by selecting the sheets that you want to delete. To select multiple sheets, press Ctrl while you click the sheet tabs that you want to delete. To select a group of contiguous sheets, click the first sheet tab, press Shift, and then click the last sheet tab. Then use either method to delete the selected sheets. ■

## Caution

When you delete a worksheet, it's gone for good. Deleting a worksheet is one of the few operations in Excel that can't be undone. ■

## Changing the name of a worksheet

The default names that Excel uses for worksheets — Sheet1, Sheet2, and so on — aren't very descriptive. If you don't change the worksheet names, remembering where to find things in multiple-sheet workbooks can be a bit difficult. That's why providing more meaningful names for your worksheets is often a good idea.

# Changing the Default Number of Sheets in Your Workbooks

By default, Excel automatically creates three worksheets in each new workbook. You can change this default behavior. For example, I prefer to start each new workbook with a single worksheet. After all, you can easily add new sheets if and when they're needed. To change the default number of worksheets:

- **1.** Choose File ⇒ Excel Options to display the Excel Options window.
- 2. Click the General tab.
- 3. Change the value for the Include This Many Sheets setting and then click OK.

Making this change affects all new workbooks but has no effect on existing workbooks.

To change a sheet's name, double-click the sheet tab. Excel highlights the name on the sheet tab so that you can edit the name or replace it with a new name.

Sheet names can be up to 31 characters, and spaces are allowed. However, you can't use the following characters in sheet names:

- : colon
- / slash
- \ backslash
- [] square brackets
- <> angle brackets
- . period
- ? question mark
- apostrophe
- \* asterisk

Keep in mind that a longer worksheet name results in a wider tab, which takes up more space onscreen. Therefore, if you use lengthy sheet names, you won't be able to see very many sheet tabs without scrolling the tab list.

## Changing a sheet tab color

Excel allows you to change the color of your worksheet tabs. For example, you may prefer to color-code the sheet tabs to make identifying the worksheet's contents easier.

To change the color of a sheet tab, right-click the tab and choose Tab Color from the shortcut menu. Then select the color from the color selector box.

## **Rearranging your worksheets**

You may want to rearrange the order of worksheets in a workbook. If you have a separate worksheet for each sales region, for example, arranging the worksheets in alphabetical order may be helpful. You may want to move a worksheet from one workbook to another. (To move a worksheet to a different workbook, both workbooks must be open.) You can also create copies of worksheets.

You can move or copy a worksheet in the following ways:

• Right-click the sheet tab and choose Move or Copy to display the Move or Copy dialog box (see Figure 3.4). Use this dialog box to specify the operation and the location for the sheet.

#### FIGURE 3.4

Use the Move or Copy dialog box to move or copy worksheets in the same or another workbook.

Move or Copy		? X
Move selected sheets To book:		
budget.xlsx		•
Before sheet:		
Totals Operations Marketing Manufacturing (move to end)		*
Create a copy		<b>T</b>
	ОК	Cancel

- To move a worksheet, click the worksheet tab and drag it to its desired location (either in the same workbook or in a different workbook). When you drag, the mouse pointer changes to a small sheet, and a small arrow guides you.
- To copy a worksheet, click the worksheet tab, and press Ctrl while dragging the tab to its desired location (either in the same workbook or in a different workbook). When you drag, the mouse pointer changes to a small sheet with a plus sign on it.

## Tip

You can move or copy multiple sheets simultaneously. First select the sheets by clicking their sheet tabs while holding down the Ctrl key. Then you can move or copy the set of sheets by using the preceding methods. ■

If you move or copy a worksheet to a workbook that already has a sheet with the same name, Excel changes the name to make it unique. For example, Sheet1 becomes Sheet1 (2). You probably want to rename the copied sheet to give it a more meaningful. See "Changing the name of a worksheet," earlier in this chapter.

## Note

When you move or copy a worksheet to a different workbook, any defined names and custom formats also get copied to the new workbook. ■

## Hiding and unhiding a worksheet

In some situations, you may want to hide one or more worksheets. Hiding a sheet may be useful if you don't want others to see it or if you just want to get it out of the way. When a sheet is hidden, its sheet tab is also hidden. You can't hide all the sheets in a workbook; at least one sheet must remain visible.

To hide a worksheet, right-click its sheet tab and choose Hide Sheet. The active worksheet (or selected worksheets) will be hidden from view.

## Preventing Sheet Actions \_\_\_\_\_

To prevent others from unhiding hidden sheets, inserting new sheets, renaming sheets, copying sheets, or deleting sheets, protect the workbook's structure:

- **1.** Choose Review ⇔ Changes ⇔ Protect Workbook.
- 2. In the Protect Workbook dialog box, click the Structure option.
- 3. (Optional) Provide a password.

After performing these steps, several commands will no longer be available when you right-click a sheet tab: Insert, Delete Sheet, Rename Sheet, Move or Copy Sheet, Tab Color, Hide Sheet, and Unhide Sheet. Be aware, however, that this is a very weak security measure. Cracking Excel's protection features is relatively easy.

You can also make a sheet "very hidden." A sheet that is very hidden doesn't appear in the Unhide dialog box. To make a sheet very hidden:

- 1. Activate the worksheet.
- 3. In the Properties box, select the Visible option and choose 2 xlSheetVeryHidden.

continued

continued

_	1 .						1 -	1		
-	A	В	C	D	E	F	G		н	
1	Operations	4								
2										
3		Q1	Q2	Properties				8		
4	Salaries	128,500	128,5	Int. 10 III. I				-		
5	Travel	18,500	19,4	Sneet3 worksneet				-		
6	Supplies	16,000	16,8	Alphabetic Categ	orized					
7	Facility	23,000	23,0	(Name)		Sheet3				
8	Total	186,000	187,7	DisplayPageBreaks		False		-11		
9				EnableAutoFilter		False		-11		
10				EnableCalculation		True		-11		
11				EnableFormatCond	itionsCalculation	True				
12				EnableOutlining		False				
12				EnablePivotTable		False		-11		
1/	-			EnableSelection		0 - xINoRestrictions		-11		
15				ScrollArea		Operations		-11		
15				StandardWidth		8.43				
10				Visible		2 - xlSheetVeryHidd	en	-		
17						-1 - xlSheetVisible				
18						2 - xlSheetVeryHidd	en N	- 11		
19							12			
20							- 0	- 11		
21										
22			1							
23										
24										
25										
26										
27										
20										

After performing these steps, the worksheet is hidden and doesn't appear in the Unhide dialog box.

#### Caution

Be careful! After you make a sheet very hidden, you can't use the Properties box to unhide it because you aren't able to select the sheet! To unhide such a sheet, press Alt+F11 to activate the Visual Basic Editor. Locate the workbook in the Projects window and select the name of the sheet that is very hidden. Press F4 to display the Properties box, in which you can change the Visible property back to -1 - xlSheetVisible ■

To unhide a hidden worksheet, right-click any sheet tab and choose Unhide Sheet. Excel opens its Unhide dialog box that lists all hidden sheets. Choose the sheet that you want to redisplay and click OK. For reasons known only to a Microsoft programmer who is probably retired by now, you can't select multiple sheets from this dialog box, so you need to repeat the command for each sheet that you want to unhide. When you unhide a sheet, it appears in its previous position among the sheet tabs.

## **Controlling the Worksheet View**

As you add more information to a worksheet, you may find that navigating and locating what you want gets more difficult. Excel includes a few options that enable you to view your sheet, and sometimes multiple sheets, more efficiently. This section discusses a few additional worksheet options at your disposal.

## Zooming in or out for a better view

Normally, everything you see onscreen is displayed at 100%. You can change the *zoom percentage* from 10% (very tiny) to 400% (huge). Using a small zoom percentage can help you to get a bird's-eye view of your worksheet to see how it's laid out. Zooming in is useful if your eyesight isn't quite what it used to be and you have trouble deciphering tiny type. Zooming doesn't change the font size, so it has no effect on printed output.

## **Cross-Reference**

Excel contains separate options for changing the size of your printed output. (Use the controls in the Page Layout ⇔ Scale to Fit ribbon group.) See Chapter 9 for details. ■

Figure 3.5 shows a window zoomed to 10% and a window zoomed to 400%.

#### FIGURE 3.5

You can zoom in or out for a different view of your worksheets.



You can easily change the zoom factor of the active worksheet by using the Zoom slider located on the right side of the status bar. Click and drag the slider, and your screen transforms instantly.

Another way to zoom is to choose View ➡ Zoom ➡ Zoom, which displays a dialog box. Choosing View ➡ Zoom ➡ Zoom to Selection zooms the worksheet to display only the selected cells (useful if you want a particular range of cells to fill the workbook window).

## Tip

Zooming affects only the active worksheet, so you can use different zoom factors for different worksheets. Also, if you have a worksheet displayed in two different windows, you can set a different zoom factor for each of the windows.

## **Cross-Reference**

If your worksheet uses named ranges (see Chapter 4), zooming your worksheet to 39% or less displays the name of the range overlaid on the cells. Viewing named ranges in this manner is useful for getting an overview of how a worksheet is laid out.

## Viewing a worksheet in multiple windows

Sometimes, you may want to view two different parts of a worksheet simultaneously — perhaps to make referencing a distant cell in a formula easier. Or you may want to examine more than one sheet in the same workbook simultaneously. You can accomplish either of these actions by opening a new view to the workbook, using one or more additional windows.

To create and display a new view of the active workbook, choose View ↔ Window ↔ New Window.

Excel displays a new window for the active workbook, similar to the one shown in Figure 3.6. In this case, each window shows a different worksheet in the workbook. Notice the text in the windows' title bars: climate data.xlsx:1 and climate data.xlsx:2. To help you keep track of the windows, Excel appends a colon and a number to each window.

## Tip

If the workbook is maximized when you create a new window, you may not even notice that Excel created the new window. If you look at the Excel title bar, though, you'll see that the workbook title now has : 2 appended to the name. Choose View the Window the Arrange All and choose one of the Arrange options in the Arrange Windows dialog box to display the open windows. If you select the Windows of Active Workbook check box, only the windows of the active workbook are arranged.

A single workbook can have as many views (that is, separate windows) as you want. Each window is independent. In other words, scrolling to a new location in one window doesn't cause scrolling in the other window(s). However, if you make changes to the worksheet shown in a particular window, those changes are also made in all views of that worksheet.

You can close these additional windows when you no longer need them. For example, clicking the Close button on the active window's title bar closes the active window but doesn't close the other windows for the workbook.

## Tip

Multiple windows make copying or moving information from one worksheet to another easier. You can use Excel's drag-and-drop procedures to copy or move ranges. ■

#### FIGURE 3.6

Use multiple windows to view different sections of a workbook at the same time.

nate	data.xls>	c1															
С	D	E	F	G	Н	1	J	K	L	Μ	Ν	0	Ρ				
ι.																	
Average Precipitation																	
	Jan	Feb	Mar	Apr	May	Jun	Jul	Aug	Sep	Oct	Nov	Dec					
	1.9	2.4	2.5	3.0	4.	5 3.1	2.2	1.9	2.9	3.7	2.6	2.8					
	5.4	4.6	6.5	3.6	5.	0 6.9	8.0	7.0	5.0	3.3	3.9	4.1					
					Α	🗐 climat	e data.xl	sx:2								c	
	9.0	7			···· []			А		В		С	D	E	F	G	н
	8.0					3											
	4 Normal Monthly Precipita									tion (In	ches)						
	7.0 5 NORMALS 1971-2000							00									
	6.0		/	$\langle \cdot \rangle$		6											
	5.0	5	/			7 284 0	ITIES			J	٩N	FEB	MAR	APR	MAY	JUN	JUL
	5.0	`				8 ABEF	RDEEN,	SD		0.	48	0.48	1.34	1.83	2.69	3.49	2.92
	4.0 9 ABILENE, TX						0.	97	1.13	1.41	1.67	2.83	3.06	1.69			
	3.0 10 AKRON, OH						2.	49	2.28	3.15	3.39	3.96	3.55	4.02			
						11 ALAP	L ALAMOSA, CO			0.	25	0.21	0.46	0.54	0.7	0.59	0.94
	2.0					12 ALBA				2.	/1	2.27	3.1/	3.25	3.67	3.74	3.5
	1.0					13 ALBU	ALBOQUERQUE, NW				49	0.44	0.01	2.40	0.0	2.00	1.27
	0.0	0.0					1	76	2.75	2.30	2 21	4.47	2.52	4.27			
		Jan	Feb	Mar /	Apr	16 AMA	RILLO	тх		0	63	0.55	1.13	1.33	2.5	3.28	2.68
					-wal	17 ANC	HORAG	E. AK		0.	68	0.74	0.65	0.52	0.69	1.06	1.7
								9.	67	8.05	7,96	7.37	5.73	4.72	4.26		
19 APALACHICOLA, FL								4.	87	3.76	4.95	3	2.62	4.3	7.31		
↔ H Sheet1 Data 20 ASHEVILLE, N						NC		4.	06	3.83	4.59	3.5	4.41	4.38	3.87		
						21 ASTC	1 ASTORIA, OR				62	7.87	7.37	4.93	3.28	2.57	1.16
						22 ATH	ATHENS, GA			4.	69	4.39	4.99	3.35	3.86	3.94	4.41
						23 ATLA	3 ATLANTA, GA				02	4.68	5.38	3.62	3.95	3.63	5.12
						24 ATLA	4 ATLANTIC CITY AP, NJ				3.6	2.85	4.06	3.45	3.38	2.66	3.86
							Shee	t1 Da	ata 🖉	1/							Þ

## Comparing sheets side by side

In some situations, you may want to compare two worksheets that are in different windows. The View Side by Side feature makes this task a bit easier.

First, make sure that the two sheets are displayed in separate windows. (The sheets can be in the same workbook or in different workbooks.) If you want to compare two sheets in the same workbook, choose View ⇔ Window ⇔ New Window to create a new window for the active workbook. Activate the first window; then choose View ⇔ Window ⇔ View Side by Side. If more than two windows are open, you see a dialog box that lets you select the window for the comparison. The two windows appear next to each other.

When using the Compare Side by Side feature, scrolling in one of the windows also scrolls the other window. If you don't want this simultaneous scrolling, choose View ⇔ Window ⇔ Synchronous Scrolling (which is a toggle). If you have rearranged or moved the windows, choose View ⇔ Window ⇔ Reset Window Position to restore the windows to the initial side-by-side arrangement. To turn off the side-by-side viewing, choose View ⇔ Window ⇔ View Side by Side again.

Keep in mind that this feature is for manual comparison only. Unfortunately, Excel doesn't provide a way to actually point out the differences between two sheets.

## Splitting the worksheet window into panes

If you prefer not to clutter your screen with additional windows, Excel provides another option for viewing multiple parts of the same worksheet. Choosing View  $\Rightarrow$  Window  $\Rightarrow$  Split splits the active worksheet into two or four separate panes. The split occurs at the location of the cell pointer. If the cell pointer is in row 1 or column A, this command results in a two-pane split. Otherwise, it gives you four panes. You can use the mouse to drag the individual panes to resize them.

Figure 3.7 shows a worksheet split into two panes. Notice that row numbers aren't continuous. The top pane shows rows 8 through 21, and the bottom pane shows rows 1020 through 1029. In other words, splitting panes enables you to display in a single window widely separated areas of a worksheet. To remove the split panes, choose View ⇔ Window ⇔ Split again.

#### FIGURE 3.7

You can split the worksheet window into two or four panes to view different areas of the worksheet at the same time.

🗟 climate data.xlsx 🛛 🗠 @											
	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	н	▲		
8	ABERDEEN, SD	0.48	0.48	1.34	1.83	2.69	3.49	2.92	2 🗏		
9	ABILENE, TX	0.97	1.13	1.41	1.67	2.83	3.06	1.69	2		
10	AKRON, OH	2.49	2.28	3.15	3.39	3.96	3.55	4.02	3		
11	ALAMOSA, CO	0.25	0.21	0.46	0.54	0.7	0.59	0.94	1		
12	ALBANY, NY	2.71	2.27	3.17	3.25	3.67	3.74	3.5	3		
13	ALBUQUERQUE, NM	0.49	0.44	0.61	0.5	0.6	0.65	1.27	1		
14	ALLENTOWN, PA	3.5	2.75	3.56	3.49	4.47	3.99	4.27	4		
15	ALPENA, MI	1.76	1.35	2.13	2.31	2.61	2.53	3.17			
16	AMARILLO, TX	0.63	0.55	1.13	1.33	2.5	3.28	2.68	2		
17	ANCHORAGE, AK	0.68	0.74	0.65	0.52	0.69	1.06	1.7	2		
18	ANNETTE, AK	9.67	8.05	7.96	7.37	5.73	4.72	4.26	6		
19	APALACHICOLA, FL	4.87	3.76	4.95	3	2.62	4.3	7.31	7		
20	ASHEVILLE, NC	4.06	3.83	4.59	3.5	4.41	4.38	3.87			
21	ASTORIA, OR	9.62	7.87	7.37	4.93	3.28	2.57	1.16	1 🕶		
1020	VICTORIA, TX	10.4	10.9	11.4	11.7	10.7	9.7	8.9	-		
1021	WACO, TX	11.3	11.7	12.7	12.6	11.5	11.1	10.7			
1022	WAKE ISLAND, PC	13.6	13.5	14.5	15.6	14.3	12.6	12.6			
1023	WASHINGTON DULLES AP,	8.1	8.6	9	8.8	7.4	6.8	6.2			
1024	WASHINGTON NAT'L AP, E	10	10.3	10.9	10.5	9.3	8.9	8.3			
1025	WATERLOO, IA	11.4	11.4	12.1	12.6	11.1	9.8	8.4			
1026	WEST PALM BEACH, FL	10.1	10.5	11	10.9	9.9	8.3	7.7			
1027	WICHITA FALLS, TX	11.3	11.9	13.1	13.1	12.2	12.1	11.1	1		
1028	WICHITA, KS	12	12.5	13.8	14	12.3	12.2	11.3	1		
1029	WILLIAMSPORT, PA	8.7	8.7	9	8.9	7.7	6.8	6.3			
1000	▶ ₩ Sheet1 Data 2		0.7	10.1	1	44.4	10.0		► [ .:i		

## Keeping the titles in view by freezing panes

If you set up a worksheet with row or column headings, these headings will not be visible when you scroll down or to the right. Excel provides a handy solution to this problem: freezing panes. Freezing panes keeps the headings visible while you're scrolling through the worksheet.
To freeze panes, start by moving the cell pointer to the cell below the row that you want to remain visible while you scroll vertically, and to the right of the column that you want to remain visible while you scroll horizontally. Then, choose View ↔ Window ↔ Freeze Panes and select the Freeze Panes option from the drop-down list. Excel inserts dark lines to indicate the frozen rows and columns. The frozen row and column remain visible while you scroll throughout the work-sheet. To remove the frozen panes, choose View ↔ Window ↔ Freeze Panes, and select the Unfreeze Panes option from the drop-down list.

Figure 3.8 shows a worksheet with frozen panes. In this case, rows 1:4 and column A are frozen in place. This technique allows you to scroll down and to the right to locate some information while keeping the column titles and the column A entries visible.

#### FIGURE 3.8

Freeze certain columns and rows to make them remain visible while you scroll the worksheet.

1	climate data.xlsx								- 0	23
	A	E	F	G	н	1	J	К	L	-
1	Normal Monthly Precipita									
2	NORMALS 1971-2000									=
3										
4	City	APR	MAY	JUN	JUL	AUG	SEP	OCT	NOV	
91	FAIRBANKS, AK	0.21	0.6	1.4	1.73	1.74	1.12	0.92	0.68	
92	FARGO, ND	1.37	2.61	3.51	2.88	2.52	2.18	1.97	1.06	
93	FLAGSTAFF, AZ	1.29	0.8	0.43	2.4	2.89	2.12	1.93	1.86	
94	FLINT, MI	3.13	2.74	3.07	3.17	3.43	3.76	2.34	2.65	
95	FORT MYERS, FL	1.67	3.42	9.77	8.98	9.54	7.86	2.59	1.71	
96	FORT SMITH, AR	3.91	5.29	4.28	3.19	2.56	3.61	3.94	4.8	
97	FORT WAYNE, IN	3.54	3.75	4.04	3.58	3.6	2.81	2.63	2.98	
98	FRESNO, CA	0.76	0.39	0.23	0.01	0.01	0.26	0.65	1.1	
99	GAINESVILLE, FL	2.86	3.23	6.78	6.1	6.63	4.37	2.5	2.17	
100	GALVESTON, TX	2.56	3.7	4.04	3.45	4.22	5.76	3.49	3.64	
101	GLASGOW, MT	0.75	1.72	2.2	1.78	1.25	0.98	0.71	0.39	
102	GOODLAND, KS	1.51	3.46	3.3	3.54	2.49	1.12	1.05	0.82	
103	GRAND FORKS, ND	1.23	2.21	3.03	3.06	2.72	1.96	1.7	0.99	
104	GRAND ISLAND, NE	2.61	4.07	3.72	3.14	3.08	2.43	1.51	1.41	Ŧ
H.	🕩 📕 Sheet1 🕽 Data 🖉	]			14			111		▶ .d

The vast majority of the time, you'll want to freeze either the first row or the first column. The View  $\Rightarrow$  Window  $\Rightarrow$  Freeze Panes drop-down list has two additional options: Freeze Top Row and Freeze First Column. Using these commands eliminates the need to position the cell pointer before freezing panes.

### Tip

If you designated a range to be a table (by choosing Insert ⇔ Tables ⇔ Table), you may not even need to freeze panes. When you scroll down, Excel displays the table column headings in place of the column letters. Figure 3.9 shows an example. The table headings replace the column letters only when a cell within the table is selected. ■

#### FIGURE 3.9

When using a table, scrolling down displays the table headings where the column letters normally appear.

2	climate data.xlsx								e X
	City	JAN 💌 F	EB 💌 N	/IAR 💌 AI	PR 💌 N	IAY 🔽 JU	N 💽 JUL	. 💌	AUG
16	ATHENS, GA	4.69	4.39	4.99	3.35	3.86	3.94	4.41	3.
17	ATLANTA, GA	5.02	4.68	5.38	3.62	3.95	3.63	5.12	3.
18	ATLANTIC CITY AP, NJ	3.6	2.85	4.06	3.45	3.38	2.66	3.86	4.
19	ATLANTIC CITY C.O., NJ	3.44	2.88	3.79	3.25	3.16	2.46	3.36	4.
20	AUGUSTA,GA	4.5	4.11	4.61	2.94	3.07	4.19	4.07	4.
21	AUSTIN/BERGSTROM, TX	2.2	1.73	1.98	2.77	5.87	3.38	1.61	1.
22	AUSTIN/CITY, TX	1.89	1.99	2.14	2.51	5.03	3.81	1.97	2.
23	AVOCA, PA	2.46	2.08	2.69	3.28	3.69	3.97	3.74	
24	BAKERSFIELD, CA	1.18	1.21	1.41	0.45	0.24	0.12	0	0.
25	BALTIMORE, MD	3.47	3.02	3.93	3	3.89	3.43	3.85	3.
26	BARROW, AK	0.12	0.12	0.09	0.12	0.12	0.32	0.87	1.
27	BATON ROUGE, LA	6.19	5.1	5.07	5.56	5.34	5.33	5.96	5.
28	BECKLEY, WV	3.23	2.96	3.63	3.42	4.39	3.92	4.78	3.
29	BETHEL, AK	0.62	0.51	0.67	0.65	0.85	1.6	2.03	3.
30	BETTLES,AK	0.84	0.61	0.55	0.38	0.85	1.43	2.1	2.
31	BIG DELTA,AK	0.34	0.41	0.22	0.2	0.77	2.38	2.77	2.
32	BILLINGS, MT	0.81	0.57	1.12	1.74	2.48	1.89	1.28	0.
33	BINGHAMTON, NY	2.58	2.46	2.97	3.49	3.55	3.8	3.49	3.
34	BIRMINGHAM AP,AL	5.45	4.21	6.1	4.67	4.83	3.78	5.09	3.
35	BISHOP, CA	0.88	0.97	0.62	0.24	0.26	0.21	0.17	0.
14	• > > Sheet1 Data	<u>9</u> /			I € Î				▶ 🗋 .:

# Monitoring cells with a Watch Window

In some situations, you may want to monitor the value in a particular cell as you work. As you scroll throughout the worksheet, that cell may disappear from view. A feature known as Watch Window can help. A *Watch Window* displays the value of any number of cells in a handy window that's always visible.

To display the Watch Window, choose Formulas ➡ Formula Auditing ➡ Watch Window. The Watch Window appears in the task pane, but you can also drag it and make it float over the worksheet.

To add a cell to watch, click Add Watch and specify the cell that you want to watch. The Watch Window displays the value in that cell. You can add any number of cells to the Watch Window, and you can move the window to any convenient location. Figure 3.10 shows the Watch Window monitoring four cells.

#### FIGURE 3.10

Use the Watch Window to monitor the value in one or more cells.

Watch Window	Natch Window 🔻 🗙								
🖧 Add Watch 🖄 Delete Watch									
Book	Sheet	Name	Cell	Value	Formula				
budget.xlsx	Marketing		E8	173,310	=SUBTOTAL(109,[Ap				
budget.xlsx	Manufacturing		F9	1,423,601.13	=SUM(F4:F8)				
budget.xlsx	Sheet1	grandtotal	C9	78984	=SUM(C1:C8)				
•			m		4				

### Tip

Double-click a cell in the Watch Window to immediately select that cell. ■

# Working with Rows and Columns

This section discusses worksheet operations that involve complete rows and columns (rather than individual cells). Every worksheet has exactly 1,048,576 rows and 16,384 columns, and these values can't be changed.

### Note

If you open a workbook that was created in a version of Excel prior to Excel 2007, the workbook is opened in Compatibility Mode. These workbooks have 65,536 rows and 256 columns. To increase the number of rows and columns, save the workbook as an Excel 2010 .xlsx file and then reopen it.

# Inserting rows and columns

Although the number of rows and columns in a worksheet is fixed, you can still insert and delete rows and columns if you need to make room for additional information. These operations don't change the number of rows or columns. Rather, inserting a new row moves down the other rows to accommodate the new row. The last row is simply removed from the worksheet if it's empty. Inserting a new column shifts the columns to the right, and the last column is removed if it's empty.

### Note

If the last row isn't empty, you can't insert a new row. Similarly, if the last column contains information, Excel doesn't let you insert a new column. Attempting to add a row or column displays the dialog box shown in Figure 3.11. ■

To insert a new row or rows, you can use any of these techniques:

- Select an entire row or multiple rows by clicking the row numbers in the worksheet border. Right-click and choose Insert from the shortcut menu.
- Move the cell pointer to the row that you want to insert and then choose Home 
   Cells 
   The cells 
   Insert 
   Insert 
   Sheet Rows. If you select multiple cells in the column, Excel inserts additional rows that correspond to the number of cells selected in the column and moves the rows below the insertion down.

The procedures for inserting a new column or columns is similar, but you choose Home 与 Cells ♀ Insert ♀ Insert ♀ Insert Sheet Columns.

You also can insert cells, rather than just rows or columns. Select the range into which you want to add new cells and then choose Home ⇔ Cells ⇔ Insert ⇔ Insert Cells (or right-click the selection and choose Insert). To insert cells, the existing cells must be shifted to the right or shifted down. Therefore, Excel displays the Insert dialog box shown in Figure 3.12 so that you can specify the direction in which you want to shift the cells.

#### FIGURE 3.11

You can't add a new row or column if it causes nonblank cells to move off the worksheet.

Microsoft	Excel
	To prevent possible loss of data, Excel cannot shift nonblank cells off of the worksheet. Select another location in which to insert new cells, or delete data from the end of your worksheet.
	If you do not have data in cells that can be shifted off of the worksheet, you can reset which cells Excel considers nonblank. To do this, press CTRL+End to locate the last nonblank cell on the worksheet. Delete this cell and all cells between it and the last row and column of your data then save.
	ОК

#### FIGURE 3.12

You can insert partial rows or columns by using the Insert dialog box.

Insert 🔋 💌
Insert
Shift cells right
Shift cells <u>d</u> own
Entire row
Entire <u>c</u> olumn
OK Cancel

# **Deleting rows and columns**

You may also want to delete rows or columns in a worksheet. For example, your sheet may contain old data that is no longer needed.

To delete a row or rows, use either of these methods:

- Select an entire row or multiple rows by clicking the row numbers in the worksheet border. Right-click and choose Delete from the shortcut menu.
- Move the cell pointer to the row that you want to delete and then choose Home 
   Cells 
   Delete Sheet Rows. If you select multiple cells in the column, Excel deletes all rows in the selection.

Deleting columns works in a similar way. If you discover that you accidentally deleted a row or column, select Undo from the Quick Access toolbar (or press Ctrl+Z) to undo the action.

# Hiding rows and columns

In some cases, you may want to hide particular rows or columns. Hiding rows and columns may be useful if you don't want users to see particular information, or if you need to print a report that summarizes the information in the worksheet without showing all the details.

### **Cross-Reference**

Chapter 26 discusses another way to summarize worksheet data without showing all the details — outlining. ■

To hide rows or columns in your worksheet, select the row or rows that you want to hide by clicking in the row or column header. Then right-click and choose Hide from the shortcut menu. Or, you can use the commands on the Home ➡ Cells ➡ Format ➡ Hide & Unhide drop-down list.

### Tip

You also can drag the row or column's border to hide the row or column. You must drag the border in the row or column heading. Drag the bottom border of a row upward or the border of a column to the left. ■

A hidden row is actually a row with its height set to zero. Similarly, a hidden column has a column width of zero. When you use the navigation keys to move the cell pointer, cells in hidden rows or columns are skipped. In other words, you can't use the navigation keys to move to a cell in a hidden row or column.

Unhiding a hidden row or column can be a bit tricky because selecting a row or column that's hidden is difficult. The solution is to select the columns or rows that are adjacent to the hidden column or row. (Select at least one column or row on either side.) Then right-click and choose Unhide. For example, if column *G* is hidden, select columns F and H.

Another method is to choose Home  $\Rightarrow$  Find & Select  $\Rightarrow$  Go To (or its F5 equivalent) to select a cell in a hidden row or column. For example, if column A is hidden, you can press F5 and specify cell A1 (or any other cell in column A) to move the cell pointer to the hidden column. Then you can choose Home  $\Rightarrow$  Cells  $\Rightarrow$  Format  $\Rightarrow$  Hide & Unhide  $\Rightarrow$  Unhide Columns.

# Changing column widths and row heights

Often, you'll want to change the width of a column or the height of a row. For example, you can make columns narrower to accommodate more information on a printed page. Or you may want to increase row height to create a "double-spaced" effect.

Excel provides several different ways to change the widths of columns and the height of rows.

#### **Changing column widths**

Column width is measured in terms of the number of characters of a *fixed pitch font* that will fit into the cell's width. By default, each column's width is 8.43 units, which equates to 64 pixels (px).

### Tip

If hash symbols (#) fill a cell that contains a numerical value, the column isn't wide enough to accommodate the information in the cell. Widen the column to solve the problem.

Before you change the column width, you can select multiple columns so that the width will be the same for all selected columns. To select multiple columns, either click and drag in the column border or press Ctrl while you select individual columns. To select all columns, click the button where the row and column headers intersect. You can change columns widths by using any of the following techniques.

- Drag the right-column border with the mouse until the column is the desired width.
- Choose Home 
  → Cells 
  → Format 
  → Column Width and enter a value in the Column Width dialog box.
- Choose Home ➡ Cells ➡ Format ➡ AutoFit Column Width to adjust the width of the selected column so that the widest entry in the column fits. Rather than selecting an entire column, you can just select cells in the column, and the column is adjusted based on the widest entry in your selection.
- Double-click the right border of a column header to set the column width automatically to the widest entry in the column.

### Tip

To change the default width of all columns, choose Home ▷ Cells ▷ Format ▷ Column ▷ Default Width. This command displays a dialog box into which you enter the new default column width. All columns that haven't been previously adjusted take on the new column width. ■

### Caution

After you manually adjust a column's width, Excel will no longer automatically adjust the column to accommodate longer numerical entries. You need to change the column width manually. ■

#### **Changing row heights**

Row height is measured in points (pt; a standard unit of measurement in the printing trade — 72 pt is equal to 1 inch). The default row height using the default font is 15 pt, or 20 px.

The default row height can vary, depending on the font defined in the Normal style. In addition, Excel automatically adjusts row heights to accommodate the tallest font in the row. So, if you change the font size of a cell to 20 pt, for example, Excel makes the row taller so that the entire text is visible.

You can set the row height manually, however, by using any of the following techniques. As with columns, you can select multiple rows.

- Drag the lower row border with the mouse until the row is the desired height.
- Choose Home ➡ Cells ➡ Format ➡ Row Height and enter a value (in points) in the Row Height dialog box.
- Double-click the bottom border of a row to set the row height automatically to the tallest entry in the row. You also can choose Home ↔ Cells ↔ Format ↔ Autofit Row Height for this task.

Changing the row height is useful for spacing out rows and is almost always preferable to inserting empty rows between lines of data.

### CHAPTER

# Working with Cells and Ranges

Ost of the work you do in Excel involves cells and ranges. Understanding how best to manipulate cells and ranges will save you time and effort. This chapter discusses a variety of techniques that you can use to help increase your efficiency.

# **Understanding Cells and Ranges**

A *cell* is a single element in a worksheet that can hold a value, some text, or a formula. A cell is identified by its *address*, which consists of its column letter and row number. For example, cell D12 is the cell in the fourth column and the twelfth row.

A group of cells is called a *range*. You designate a range address by specifying its upper-left cell address and its lower-right cell address, separated by a colon.

Here are some examples of range addresses:

C24	A range that consists of a single cell.
A1:B1	Two cells that occupy one row and two columns.
A1:A100	100 cells in column A.
A1:D4	16 cells (four rows by four columns).
C1:C1048576	An entire column of cells; this range also can be expressed as C:C.
A6:XFD6	An entire row of cells; this range also can be expressed as 6:6.
A1:XFD1048576	All cells in a worksheet. This range also can be expressed as either A:XFD or 1:1048576.

### **IN THIS CHAPTER**

Understanding Excel cells and ranges

Selecting cells and ranges

Copying or moving ranges

Using names to work with ranges

Adding comments to cells

#### 69

# Selecting ranges

To perform an operation on a range of cells in a worksheet, you must first select the range. For example, if you want to make the text bold for a range of cells, you must select the range and then choose Home  $\Rightarrow$  Font  $\Rightarrow$  Bold (or press Ctrl+B).

When you select a range, the cells appear highlighted. The exception is the active cell, which remains its normal color. Figure 4.1 shows an example of a selected range (B5:C8) in a worksheet. Cell B5, the active cell, is selected but not highlighted.

#### FIGURE 4.1

When you select a range, it appears highlighted, but the active cell within the range is not highlighted.

	A	В	С	D	E	
1	Product	Sold By	Month			
2	Widget	Gomez	January			
3	Widget	Gomez	March			
4	Sprocket	Gomez	January			
5	Widget	Gomez	March			
6	Sprocket	Gomez	February			
7	Sprocket	Gomez	January			
8	Sprocket	Gomez	March			
9	Widget	Gomez	March			
10	Widget	Gomez	January			
11	Sprocket	Gomez	March			
12	Sprocket	Jones	March			
13	Sprocket	Jones	February			

You can select a range in several ways:

- Press the left mouse button and drag, highlighting the range. Then release the mouse button. If you drag to the end of the screen, the worksheet will scroll.
- Press the Shift key while you use the navigation keys to select a range.
- Press F8 and then move the cell pointer with the navigation keys to highlight the range. Press F8 again to return the navigation keys to normal movement.
- Type the cell or range address into the Name box and press Enter. Excel selects the cell or range that you specified.
- Choose Home ➡ Editing ➡ Find & Select ➡ Go To (or press F5) and enter a range's address manually into the Go To dialog box. When you click OK, Excel selects the cells in the range that you specified.

### Tip

While you're selecting a range, Excel displays the number of rows and columns in your selection in the Name box (located on the left side of the Formula bar). As soon as you finish the selection, the Name box reverts to showing the address of the active cell.

# Selecting complete rows and columns

Often, you'll need to select an entire row or column. For example, you may want to apply the same numeric format or the same alignment options to an entire row or column. You can select entire rows and columns in much the same manner as you select ranges:

- Click the row or column border to select a single row or column.
- To select multiple adjacent rows or columns, click a row or column border and drag to highlight additional rows or columns.
- To select multiple (nonadjacent) rows or columns, press Ctrl while you click the row or column borders that you want.
- Press Ctrl+spacebar to select a column. The column of the active cell (or columns of the selected cells) is highlighted.
- Press Shift+spacebar to select a row. The row of the active cell (or rows of the selected cells) is highlighted.

### Tip

Press Ctrl+A to select all cells in the worksheet, which is the same as selecting all rows and all columns. If the active cell is within a table, you may need to press Ctrl+A two or even three times to select all cells in the worksheet. You can also click the area at the intersection of the row and column borders to select all cells.

# Selecting noncontiguous ranges

Most of the time, the ranges that you select are *contiguous* — a single rectangle of cells. Excel also enables you to work with *noncontiguous ranges*, which consist of two or more ranges (or single cells) that aren't next to each other. Selecting noncontiguous ranges is also known as a *multiple selection*. If you want to apply the same formatting to cells in different areas of your worksheet, one approach is to make a multiple selection. When the appropriate cells or ranges are selected, the formatting that you select is applied to them all. Figure 4.2 shows a noncontiguous range selected in a worksheet. Three ranges are selected: A2:C3, A5:C5, and A9:C10.

You can select a noncontiguous range in several ways:

- Select the first range (or cell). Then press and hold Ctrl as you click and drag the mouse to highlight additional cells or ranges.
- From the keyboard, select a range as described previously (using F8 or the Shift key). Then press Shift+F8 to select another range without canceling the previous range selections.
- Enter the range (or cell) address in the Name box and press Enter. Separate each range address with a comma.
- Choose Home ➡ Editing ➡ Find & Select ➡ Go To (or press F5) to display the Go To dialog box. Enter the range (or cell) address in the Reference box and separate each range address with a comma. Click OK, and Excel selects the ranges.

	A	В	С	D	E	F	G
1	Product	Sold By	Month				
2	Widget	Gomez	January				
3	Widget	Gomez	March				
4	Sprocket	Gomez	January				
5	Widget	Gomez	March				
6	Sprocket	Gomez	February				
7	Sprocket	Gomez	January				
8	Sprocket	Gomez	March				
9	Widget	Gomez	March				
10	Widget	Gomez	January				
11	Sprocket	Gomez	March				
12	Sprocket	Jones	March				
13	Sprocket	Jones	February				
14	Sprocket	Jones	February				
15	Widget	Jones	March				
16	Widget	Jones	January				
17	Widget	Jones	February				
18	Widget	Richards	February				
19	Sprocket	Richards	January				
20	Widget	Richards	March				
21	Widget	Richards	February				
	1						

Excel enables you to select noncontiguous ranges.

### Note

Noncontiguous ranges differ from contiguous ranges in several important ways. One obvious difference is that you can't use drag-and-drop methods (described later) to move or copy noncontiguous ranges. ■

# Selecting multisheet ranges

In addition to two-dimensional ranges on a single worksheet, ranges can extend across multiple worksheets to be three-dimensional ranges.

Suppose that you have a workbook set up to track budgets. A common approach is to use a separate worksheet for each department, making it easy to organize the data. You can click a sheet tab to view the information for a particular department.

Figure 4.3 shows a simplified example. The workbook has four sheets: Totals, Operations, Marketing, and Manufacturing. The sheets are laid out identically. The only difference is the values. The Totals sheet contains formulas that compute the sum of the corresponding items in the three departmental worksheets.

### On the CD

This workbook, named budget.xlsx, is available on the companion CD-ROM. ■

The worksheets in this workbook are laid out identically.

					-		- 1	
	A	В	C	U	E	F	G	4
1	Budget Summ	ary						
2								
3		Q1	Q2	Q3	Q4	Year Total		-
4	Salaries	286,500	286,500	286,500	290,500	1,150,000		
5	Travel	40,500	42,525	44,651	46,884	174,560		_
6	Supplies	59,500	62,475	65,599	68,879	256,452		
7	Facility	144,000	144,000	144,000	144,000	576,000		
8	Total	530,500	535,500	540,750	550,263	2,157,013		
9								
10								•
H -	★ ★ H Totals	Onerations /	Marketing / Mar	nufacturing / 9			► []	1

Assume that you want to apply formatting to the sheets — for example, make the column headings bold with background shading. One (albeit not-so-efficient) approach is to format the cells in each worksheet separately. A better technique is to select a multisheet range and format the cells in all the sheets simultaneously. The following is a step-by-step example of multisheet formatting, using the workbook shown in Figure 4.3.

- 1. Activate the Totals worksheet by clicking its tab.
- 2. Select the range B3:F3.
- **3.** Press Shift and click the Manufacturing sheet tab. This step selects all worksheets between the active worksheet (Totals) and the sheet tab that you click in essence, a three-dimensional range of cells (see Figure 4.4). Notice that the workbook window's title bar displays [Group] to remind you that you've selected a group of sheets and that you're in Group mode.

#### FIGURE 4.4

In Group mode, you can work with a three-dimensional range of cells that extend across multiple worksheets.

2	🖾 budget.xlsx [Group]								
	A	В	С	D	E	F	G		
1	Budget Summa	ary							
2									
3		Q1	Q2	Q3	Q4	Year Total	=		
4	Salaries	286,500	286,500	286,500	290,500	1,150,000			
5	Travel	40,500	42,525	44,651	46,884	174,560			
6	Supplies	59,500	62,475	65,599	68,879	256,452			
7	Facility	144,000	144,000	144,000	144,000	576,000			
8	Total	530,500	535,500	540,750	550,263	2,157,013			
9									
10							-		
14	Totals	Operations / I	Marketing 🖉 Mai	nufacturing 🖉 🕄			► I:		

- **4.** Choose Home ➡ Font ➡ Bold and then choose Home ➡ Font ➡ Fill Color to apply a colored background. Excel applies the formatting to the selected range across the selected sheets.
- **5.** Click one of the other sheet tabs. This step selects the sheet and also cancels Group mode; [Group] is no longer displayed in the title bar.

When a workbook is in Group mode, any changes that you make to cells in one worksheet also apply to all the other grouped worksheets. You can use this to your advantage when you want to set up a group of identical worksheets because any labels, data, formatting, or formulas you enter are automatically added to the same cells in all the grouped worksheets.

### Note

When Excel is in Group mode, some commands are disabled and can't be used. In the preceding example, you can't convert all these ranges to tables by choosing Insert ⇔ Tables ⇔ Table. ■

In general, selecting a multisheet range is a simple two-step process: Select the range in one sheet and then select the worksheets to include in the range. To select a group of contiguous worksheets, you can press Shift and click the sheet tab of the last worksheet that you want to include in the selection. To select individual worksheets, press Ctrl and click the sheet tab of each worksheet that you want to select. If all the worksheets in a workbook aren't laid out the same, you can skip the sheets that you don't want to format. When you make the selection, the sheet tabs of the selected sheets appear with a white background, and Excel displays [Group] in the title bar.

### Tip

To select all sheets in a workbook, right-click any sheet tab and choose Select All Sheets from the shortcut menu. ■

# Selecting special types of cells

As you use Excel, you may need to locate specific types of cells in your worksheets. For example, wouldn't it be handy to be able to locate every cell that contains a formula — or perhaps all the cells whose value depends on the current cell? Excel provides an easy way to locate these and many other special types of cells. Simply choose Home  $\Rightarrow$  Editing  $\Rightarrow$  Find & Select  $\Rightarrow$  Go to Special to display the Go to Special dialog box, shown in Figure 4.5.

After you make your choice in the dialog box, Excel selects the qualifying subset of cells in the current selection. Often, this subset of cells is a multiple selection. If no cells qualify, Excel lets you know with the message No cells were found.

### Tip

If you bring up the Go to Special dialog box with only one cell selected, Excel bases its selection on the entire used area of the worksheet. Otherwise, the selection is based on the selected range.

Use the Go to Special dialog box to select specific types of cells.

Go To Special	? 🗙
Select	
Comments	Row differences
Constants	Column differences
Eormulas	Precedents
✓ Numbers	Dependents
✓ Te <u>x</u> t	O Direct only
Logicals	<ul> <li>All levels</li> </ul>
Errors	🔘 Last cell
Blanks	Visible cells only
Current region	Conditional formats
Current <u>array</u>	O Data validation
Objects	All
	Same
	OK Cancel

Table 4.1 offers a description of the options available in the Go to Special dialog box. Some of the options are very useful.

ΤA	BL	E 4	1.1

Option	What It Does
Comments	Selects only the cells that contain a cell comment.
Constants	Selects all nonempty cells that don't contain formulas. Use the check boxes under the Formulas option to choose which types of nonformula cells to include.
Formulas	Selects cells that contain formulas. Qualify this by selecting the type of result: numbers, text, logical values (TRUE or FALSE), or errors.
Blanks	Selects all empty cells.
Current Region	Selects a rectangular range of cells around the active cell. This range is deter- mined by surrounding blank rows and columns. You can also press Ctrl+Shift+*.
Current Array	Selects the entire array. See Chapter 16 for more information about arrays.
Objects	Selects all graphic objects on the worksheet.
Row Differences	Analyzes the selection and selects cells that are different from other cells in each row.
Column Differences	Analyzes the selection and selects the cells that are different from other cells in each column.

**Go to Special Options** 

continued

TABLE 4.1 (continu	ued)
Option	What It Does
Precedents	Selects cells that are referred to in the formulas in the active cell or selection (limited to the active sheet). You can select either direct precedents or precedents at any level. See Chapter 32 for more information.
Dependents	Selects cells with formulas that refer to the active cell or selection (limited to the active sheet). You can select either direct dependents or dependents at any level. See Chapter 32 for more information.
Last Cell	Selects the bottom-right cell in the worksheet that contains data or formatting.
Visible Cells Only	Selects only visible cells in the selection. This option is useful when dealing with outlines or a filtered table.
Conditional Formats	Selects cells that have a conditional format applied (by choosing Home ➪ Styles ➪ Conditional Formatting). The Same option selects only the cells that have the same conditional formatting as the active cell.
Data Validation	Selects cells that are set up for data-entry validation (by choosing Data 🖒 Date Tools 🖒 Data Validation). The All option selects all such cells. The Same option selects only the cells that have the same validation rules as the active cell.

### Tip

When you select an option in the Go to Special dialog box, be sure to note which suboptions become available. For example, when you select Constants, the suboptions under Formulas become available to help you further refine the results. Likewise, the suboptions under Dependents also apply to Precedents, and those under Data Validation also apply to Conditional Formats.

# Selecting cells by searching

Another way to select cells is to use the Excel Home ➡ Editing ➡ Find & Select ➡ Find, command (or press Ctrl+F), which allows you to select cells by their contents. The Find and Replace dialog box is shown in Figure 4.6. This figure shows additional options that are available when you click the Options button.

Enter the text that you're looking for; then click Find All. The dialog box expands to display all the cells that match your search criteria. For example, Figure 4.7 shows the dialog box after Excel has located all cells that contain the text *March*. You can click an item in the list, and the screen will scroll so that you can view the cell in context. To select all the cells in the list, first select any single item in the list. Then press Ctrl+A to select them all.

The Find and Replace dialog box, with its options displayed.

Find and F	Replace	8 2
Find	Replace	
Find wha	t:	▼ No Format Set Format ▼
Wit <u>h</u> in: Search:	Sheet By Rows	Match case     Match entire cell contents
Look in:	Formulas	▼ Optjons <<
		Find All Eind Next Close

#### FIGURE 4.7

The Find and Replace dialog box, with its results listed.

Find and Replace					? ×		
Find Replace							
Fi <u>n</u> d what: Mar	Figd what: March 💌 No Format Set Format 🔻						
Within:     Sheet       Search:     By Rows       Look in:     Formulas	• •	Match g Match e	ase entire cell o	ontents	Optjons <<		
		F	ind All	Eind I	Vext Close		
Book	Sheet	Name	Cell	Value	Formula		
sales summary.xlsx	Sheet1		\$C\$3	March			
sales summary.xlsx	Sheet1		\$C\$5	March			
sales summary.xlsx	Sheet1		\$C\$8	March			
sales summary.xlsx	Sheet1		\$C\$9	March			
sales summary.xlsx	Sheet1		\$C\$11	March			
sales summary.xlsx	Sheet1		\$C\$12	March			
sales summary.xlsx	Sheet1		\$C\$15	March			
sales summary.xlsx	Sheet1		\$C\$20	March			
8 cell(s) found					.4		

### Note

The Find and Replace dialog box allows you to return to the worksheet without dismissing the dialog box. ■

The Find and Replace dialog box supports two wildcard characters:

- ? matches any single character.
- \* matches any number of characters.

Wildcard characters also work with values. For example, searching for 3\* locates all cells that contain a value that begins with 3. Searching for 1?9 locates all three-digit entries that begin with 1 and end with 9.

### Tip

To search for a question mark or an asterisk, precede the character with a tilde character (~). For example, the following search string finds the text \*NONE\*:

~\*NONE~\*

#### If you need to search for the tilde character, use two tildes.

If your searches don't seem to be working correctly, double-check these three options (which sometimes have a way of changing on their own):

- Match Case: If this check box is selected, the case of the text must match exactly. For example, searching for smith does not locate Smith.
- Match Entire Cell Contents: If this check box is selected, a match occurs if the cell contains only the search string (and nothing else). For example, searching for Excel doesn't locate a cell that contains Microsoft Excel.
- Look In: This drop-down list has three options: Values, Formulas, and Comments. If, for example, Values is selected, searching for 900 doesn't find a cell that contains 900 if that value is generated by a formula.

# **Copying or Moving Ranges**

As you create a worksheet, you may find it necessary to copy or move information from one location to another. Excel makes copying or moving ranges of cells easy. Here are some common things you might do:

- Copy a cell to another cell.
- Copy a cell to a range of cells. The source cell is copied to every cell in the destination range.
- Copy a range to another range. Both ranges must be the same size.
- Move a range of cells to another location.

The primary difference between copying and moving a range is the effect of the operation on the source range. When you copy a range, the source range is unaffected. When you move a range, the contents are removed from the source range.

### Note

Copying a cell normally copies the cell's contents, any formatting that is applied to the original cell (including conditional formatting and data validation), and the cell comment (if it has one). When you copy a cell that contains a formula, the cell references in the copied formulas are changed automatically to be relative to their new destination. ■

Copying or moving consists of two steps (although shortcut methods do exist):

- **1.** Select the cell or range to copy (the source range) and copy it to the Clipboard. To move the range instead of copying it, cut the range rather than copying it.
- **2.** Move the cell pointer to the range that will hold the copy (the destination range) and paste the Clipboard contents.

### Caution

When you paste information, Excel overwrites any cells that get in the way without warning you. If you find that pasting overwrote some essential cells, choose Undo from the Quick Access toolbar (or press Ctrl+Z).

### Note

When you copy a cell or range, Excel surrounds the copied area with an animated border (sometimes referred to as "marching ants"). As long as that border remains animated, the copied information is available for pasting. If you press Esc to cancel the animated border, Excel removes the information from the Clipboard.

Because copying (or moving) is used so often, Excel provides many different methods. I discuss each method in the following sections. Copying and moving are similar operations, so I point out only important differences between the two.

# Copying by using Ribbon commands

Choosing Home ⇔ Clipboard ⇔ Copy transfers a copy of the selected cell or range to the Windows Clipboard and the Office Clipboard. After performing the copy part of this operation, select the cell that will hold the copy and choose Home ⇔ Clipboard ⇔ Paste.

Rather than choosing Home ➡ Clipboard ➡ Paste, you can just activate the destination cell and press Enter. If you use this technique, Excel removes the copied information from the Clipboard so that it can't be pasted again.

### Note

If you click the Copy button more than once before you click the Paste button, Excel may automatically display the Office Clipboard task bar. To prevent this task bar from appearing, click the Options button at the bottom and then remove the check mark from Show Office Clipboard Automatically.

If you're copying a range, you don't need to select an entire same-sized range before you click the Paste button. You need only activate the upper-left cell in the destination range.

# Understanding the Office Clipboard.

Whenever you cut or copy information from a Windows program, Windows stores the information on the Windows Clipboard, which is an area of your computer's memory. Each time that you cut or copy information, Windows replaces the information previously stored on the Clipboard with the new information that you cut or copied. The Windows Clipboard can store data in a variety of formats. Because Windows manages information on the Clipboard, it can be pasted to other Windows applications, regardless of where it originated.

Office has its own Clipboard (the Office Clipboard), which is available only in Office programs. To view or hide the Office Clipboard, click the dialog launcher icon in the bottom-right corner of the Home r Clipboard group.

Whenever you cut or copy information in an Office program, such as Excel or Word, the program places the information on both the Windows Clipboard and the Office Clipboard. However, the program treats information on the Office Clipboard differently than it treats information on the Windows Clipboard. Instead of replacing information on the Office Clipboard, the program appends the information to the Office Clipboard. With multiple items stored on the Clipboard, you can then paste the items either individually or as a group.

Find out more about this feature in "Using the Office Clipboard to paste," later in this chapter.

#### **New Feature**

The Home ⇔ Clipboard ⇔ Paste control contains a drop-down arrow that, when clicked, gives you additional paste option icons. The paste preview icons are new to Excel 2010. These icons are explained later in this chapter (see "Pasting in Special Ways"). The difference is that you can preview how the pasted information will appear. ■

# Copying by using shortcut menu commands

If you prefer, you can use the following shortcut menu commands for copying and pasting:

- Right-click the range and choose Copy (or Cut) from the shortcut menu to copy the selected cells to the Clipboard.
- Right-click and choose Paste from the shortcut menu that appears to paste the Clipboard contents to the selected cell or range.

For more control over how the pasted information appears, use one of the paste icons in the shortcut menu (see Figure 4.8).

Rather than using Paste, you can just activate the destination cell and press Enter. If you use this technique, Excel removes the copied information from the Clipboard so that it can't be pasted again.

The paste icons on the shortcut menu provide more control over how the pasted information appears.

Ж	Cu <u>t</u>						
	<u>C</u> opy						
ß	Paste Options:						
	123 fx f1 %						
	Paste <u>S</u> pecial ▶						
	Insert Copied C <u>e</u> lls						
	<u>D</u> elete						
	Clear Co <u>n</u> tents						
	Filt <u>e</u> r ▶						
	S <u>o</u> rt ▶						
	Insert Co <u>m</u> ment						
<b>P</b>	<u>F</u> ormat Cells						
	Pick From Drop-down List						
	Define N <u>a</u> me						
2	Hyperl <u>i</u> nk						

# Copying by using shortcut keys

The copy and paste operations also have shortcut keys associated with them:

- Ctrl+C copies the selected cells to both the Windows and Office Clipboards.
- Ctrl+X cuts the selected cells to both the Windows and Office Clipboards.
- Ctrl+V pastes the Windows Clipboard contents to the selected cell or range.

#### Tip

Most other Windows applications also use these shortcut keys. ■

# Copying or moving by using drag-and-drop

Excel also enables you to copy or move a cell or range by dragging. Be aware, however, that dragging and dropping does not place any information on either the Windows Clipboard or the Office Clipboard.

### Caution

The drag-and-drop method of moving does offer one advantage over the cut-and-paste method — Excel warns you if a drag-and-drop move operation will overwrite existing cell contents. However, you do not get a warning if a drag-and-drop copy operation will overwrite existing cell contents. ■

To copy using drag-and-drop, select the cell or range that you want to copy and then press Ctrl and move the mouse to one of the selection's borders (the mouse pointer is augmented with a small plus sign). Then, simply drag the selection to its new location while you continue to press the Ctrl key. The original selection remains behind, and Excel makes a new copy when you release the mouse button. To move a range using drag-and-drop, don't press Ctrl while dragging the border.

# Using Smart Tags When Inserting and Pasting

Some cell and range operations — specifically inserting, pasting, and filling cells by dragging — result in the display of a Smart Tag. A *Smart Tag* is a small square that when clicked, presents you with options. For example, if you copy a range and then paste it to a different location, a Smart Tag appears at the lower-right of the pasted range. Click the Smart Tag (or press Ctrl), and you see the options shown in the figure here. These options enable you to specify how the data should be pasted, such as values only or formatting only. In this case, using the Smart Tag is an alternative to using options in the Paste Special dialog box. (Read more about Paste Special in the upcoming section, "Using the Paste Special Dialog box.")

18.26438	
95.59116	
95.19521	
14.95153	
19.72382	
 	(Ctrl) 🕶
	Paste
	🖹 🕺 🏂
	Paste Values
	123 12% 123
	Other Paste Options
	% 🛱 🖾 🖾

Some users find these Smart Tags helpful, and others think that they're annoying. (Count me in the latter group.) To turn off these Smart Tags, choose File  $\Rightarrow$  Options and click the Advanced tab. Remove the check mark from the two options labeled Show Paste Options Buttons and Show Insert Options Buttons.

### Tip

If the mouse pointer doesn't turn into an arrow when you point to the border of a cell or range, you need to make a change to your settings. Access the Excel Options dialog box, click the Advanced tab, and place a check mark on the option labeled Enable Fill Handle and Cell Drag-and-Drop.

# Copying to adjacent cells

Often, you need to copy a cell to an adjacent cell or range. This type of copying is quite common when working with formulas. For example, if you're working on a budget, you might create a formula to add the values in column B. You can use the same formula to add the values in the other columns. Rather than re-enter the formula, you can copy it to the adjacent cells.

Excel provides additional options for copying to adjacent cells. To use these commands, activate the cell that you're copying *and* extend the cell selection to include the cells that you're copying to. Then issue the appropriate command from the following list for one-step copying:

- Home ⇔ Editing ⇔ Fill ⇔ Down (or Ctrl+D) copies the cell to the selected range below.
- Home ➡ Editing ➡ Fill ➡ Right (or Ctrl+R) copies the cell to the selected range to the right.
- Home ➡ Editing ➡ Fill ➡ Up copies the cell to the selected range above.
- Home ➡ Editing ➡ Fill ➡ Left copies the cell to the selected range to the left.

None of these commands places information on either the Windows Clipboard or the Office Clipboard.

### Tip

You also can use AutoFill to copy to adjacent cells by dragging the selection's fill handle (the small square in the bottom-right corner of the selected cell or range). Excel copies the original selection to the cells that you highlight while dragging. For more control over the AutoFill operation, drag the fill handle with the right mouse button, and you'll get a shortcut menu with additional options. ■

# Copying a range to other sheets

You can use the copy procedures described previously to copy a cell or range to another worksheet, even if the worksheet is in a different workbook. You must, of course, activate the other worksheet before you select the location to which you want to copy.

Excel offers a quicker way to copy a cell or range and paste it to other worksheets in the same workbook.

- 1. Select the range to copy.
- 2. Press Ctrl and click the sheet tabs for the worksheets to which you want to copy the information. Excel displays [Group] in the workbook's title bar.
- **3.** Choose Home  $\Rightarrow$  Editing  $\Rightarrow$  Fill  $\Rightarrow$  Across Worksheets. A dialog box appears to ask you what you want to copy (All, Contents, or Formats).
- **4.** Make your choice and then click OK. Excel copies the selected range to the selected worksheets; the new copy occupies the same cells in the selected worksheets as the original occupies in the initial worksheet.

### Caution

Be careful with the Home 
→ Editing 
→ Fill 
→ Across Worksheets command because Excel doesn't warn you when the destination cells contain information. You can quickly overwrite lots of cells with this command and not even realize it. So make sure you check your work, and use Undo if the result isn't what you expected.

# Using the Office Clipboard to paste

Whenever you cut or copy information in an Office program, such as Excel, you can place the data on both the Windows Clipboard and the Office Clipboard. When you copy information to the Office Clipboard, you append the information to the Office Clipboard instead of replacing what is already there. With multiple items stored on the Office Clipboard, you can then paste the items either individually or as a group.

To use the Office Clipboard, you first need to open it. Use the dialog launcher on the bottom right of the Home r Clipboard group to toggle the Clipboard task pane on and off.

### Tip

# To make the Clipboard task pane open automatically, click the Options button near the bottom of the task pane and choose the Show Office Clipboard Automatically option. ■

After you open the Clipboard task pane, select the first cell or range that you want to copy to the Office Clipboard and copy it by using any of the preceding techniques. Repeat this process, selecting the next cell or range that you want to copy. As soon as you copy the information, the Office Clipboard task pane shows you the number of items that you've copied and a brief description (it will hold up to 24 items). Figure 4.9 shows the Office Clipboard with four copied items.

#### FIGURE 4.9

Use the Clipboard task pane to copy and paste multiple items.

4 of 24 - Clipboard	×
Paste All Clear All Click an item to paste:	
January February March April May June July August September October November December	*
廢〕 6 7 8 9	
锏) Sprocket Gomez February	
圓〕 27.87320424 51.31956105 4.269896745 25.2413326 7.325151425	_
Options 🔻	÷

When you're ready to paste information, select the cell into which you want to paste information. To paste an individual item, click it in the Clipboard task pane. To paste all the items that you've copied, click the Paste All button (which is at the top of the Clipboard task pane). The items are pasted, one after the other. The Paste All button is probably more useful in Word, for situations in which you copy text from various sources, and then paste it all at once.

You can clear the contents of the Office Clipboard by clicking the Clear All button.

The following items about the Office Clipboard and its functioning are worth noting:

- Excel pastes the contents of the Windows Clipboard (the last item you copied to the Office Clipboard) when you paste by choosing Home ↔ Clipboard ↔ Paste, by pressing Ctrl+V, or by right-clicking and choosing Paste from the shortcut menu.
- The last item that you cut or copied appears on both the Office Clipboard and the Windows Clipboard.
- Pasting from the Office Clipboard also places that item on the Windows Clipboard. If you choose Paste All from the Office Clipboard toolbar, you paste all items stored on the Office Clipboard onto the Windows Clipboard as a single item.
- Clearing the Office Clipboard also clears the Windows Clipboard.

### Caution

The Office Clipboard has a serious problem that makes it virtually worthless for Excel users: If you copy a range that contains formulas, the formulas are not transferred when you paste to a different range. Only the values are pasted. Furthermore, Excel doesn't even warn you about this fact. ■

# Pasting in special ways

You may not always want to copy everything from the source range to the destination range. For example, you may want to copy only the formula results rather than the formulas themselves. Or you may want to copy the number formats from one range to another without overwriting any existing data or formulas.

To control what is copied into the destination range, choose Home  $\Rightarrow$  Clipboard  $\Rightarrow$  Paste and use the drop-down menu shown in Figure 4.10. When you hover your mouse pointer over an icon, you'll see a preview of the pasted information in the destination range. Click the icon to use the selected paste option.

The paste options are

- **Paste (P):** Pastes the cell's contents, formats, and data validation from the Windows Clipboard.
- Formulas (F): Pastes formulas, but not formatting.
- Formulas & Number Formatting (O): Pastes formulas and number formatting only.
- Keep Source Formatting (K): Pastes formulas, and all formatting.
- No Borders (B): Pastes everything except borders that appear in the source range.
- Keep Source Column Width (W): Pastes formulas, and also duplicates the column width of the copied cells.

- **Transpose (T):** Changes the orientation of the copied range. Rows become columns, and columns become rows. Any formulas in the copied range are adjusted so that they work properly when transposed.
- Merge Conditional Formatting (G): This icon is displayed only when the copied cells contain conditional formatting. When clicked, it merges the copied conditional formatting with any conditional formatting in the destination range.
- Values (V): Pastes the results of formulas. The destination for the copy can be a new range or the original range. In the latter case, Excel replaces the original formulas with their current values.
- Values & Number Formatting (A): Pastes the results of formulas, plus the number formatting.
- Values & Source Formatting (E): Pastes the results of formulas, plus all formatting.
- Formatting (R): Pastes only the formatting of the source range.
- **Paste Link (N):** Creates formulas in the destination range that refer to the cells in the copied range.
- **Picture (U):** Pastes the copied information as a picture.
- Linked Picture (I): Pastes the copied information as a "live" picture that is updated if the source range is changed.
- Paste Special: Displays the Paste Special dialog box (described in the next section).

Excel offers several pasting options, with preview. Here, the information is copied from D2:E5, and is being pasted beginning at cell D10.

X					Book1	- Microsof	t Excel
File Home I	nsert Page	e Layout F	ormulas	Data F	Review N	/iew De	veloper
Calibri	* 11	Ă Ă	= =	≡ ॐ∵	r ∎	General	
Paste J B I	<u>u</u> • 🖽 •	<u>&amp;</u> - A -	≣≣	■ 律律	-3-	\$ - %	6,
Paste	Font		à l	Alignment		á Ne	umber
<b>f</b> x % <b>f</b> x <b>y</b>	6.	fx					
ren en ren	С	D	E	F	G	н	- I
Paste Values 5	1	Jan	Feb				
123 123 Iranspose (I)		6	9				
Other Paste Options		7	0				
% 🖗 📓 👼		8	9				
Paste <u>S</u> pecial							
10		Jan	6	7	8		
11		Feb	9	0	9		
12							

### Note

After you paste, you're offered another chance to change your mind. A Smart Tag appears at the lower right of the pasted range. Click the Smart Tag (or press Ctrl), and you see the paste option icons again. ■

# Using the Paste Special Dialog box

For yet another pasting method, choose Home ↔ Clipboard ↔ Paste ↔ Paste Special to display the Paste Special dialog box (see Figure 4.11). You can also right-click and choose Paste Special from the shortcut menu to display this dialog box. This dialog box has several options, which I explain in the following list.

### Note

Excel actually has several different Paste Special dialog boxes, each with different options. The one displayed depends on what's copied. This section describes the Paste Special dialog box that appears when a range or cell has been copied. ■

#### FIGURE 4.11

The Paste Special dialog box.

Paste Special	? 🗙
Paste	
Al	All using Source theme
Eormulas	All except borders
Values	Column widths
Formats	Formulas and number formats
Comments	Values and number formats
Validation	<ul> <li>All merging conditional formats</li> </ul>
Operation	
None	Multiply
© A <u>d</u> d	Divide
Subtract	
Skip <u>b</u> lanks	Transpos <u>e</u>
Paste Link	OK Cancel

# Tip

For the Paste Special command to be available, you need to copy a cell or range. (Choosing Home ▷ Clipboard ▷ Cut doesn't work.)

- All: Pastes the cell's contents, formats, and data validation from the Windows Clipboard.
- Formulas: Pastes values and formulas, with no formatting.
- Values: Pastes values and the results of formulas (no formatting). The destination for the copy can be a new range or the original range. In the latter case, Excel replaces the original formulas with their current values.

- Formats: Copies only the formatting.
- **Comments:** Copies only the cell comments from a cell or range. This option doesn't copy cell contents or formatting.
- Validation: Copies the validation criteria so the same data validation will apply. Data validation is applied by choosing Data ↔ Data Tools ↔ Data Validation.
- All Using Source Theme: Pastes everything, but uses the formatting from the document theme of the source. This option is relevant only if you're pasting information from a different workbook, and the workbook uses a different document theme than the active workbook.
- All Except Borders: Pastes everything except borders that appear in the source range.
- Column Widths: Pastes only column width information.
- Formulas and Number Formats: Pastes all values, formulas and number formats (but no other formatting).
- Values and Number Formats: Pastes all values and numeric formats, but not the formulas themselves.
- All merging conditional formats: Merges the copied conditional formatting with any conditional formatting in the destination range. This option is enabled only when you are copying a range that contains conditional formatting.

In addition, the Paste Special dialog box enables you to perform other operations, described in the following sections.

#### Performing mathematical operations without formulas

The option buttons in the Operation section of the Paste Special dialog box let you perform an arithmetic operation on values and formulas in the destination range. For example, you can copy a range to another range and select the Multiply operation. Excel multiplies the corresponding values in the source range and the destination range and replaces the destination range with the new values.

This feature also works with a single copied cell, pasted to a multi-cell range. Assume that you have a range of values, and you want to increase each value by 5 percent. Enter **105%** into any blank cell and copy that cell to the Clipboard. Then select the range of values and bring up the Paste Special dialog box. Select the Multiply option, and each value in the range is multiplied by 105 percent.

#### Warning

If the destination range contains formulas, the formulas are also modified. In many cases, this is not what you want. ■

#### Skipping blanks when pasting

The Skip Blanks option in the Paste Special dialog box prevents Excel from overwriting cell contents in your paste area with blank cells from the copied range. This option is useful if you're copying a range to another area but don't want the blank cells in the copied range to overwrite existing data.

#### **Transposing a range**

The Transpose option in the Paste Special dialog box changes the orientation of the copied range. Rows become columns, and columns become rows. Any formulas in the copied range are adjusted so that they work properly when transposed. Note that you can use this check box with the other options in the Paste Special dialog box. Figure 4.12 shows an example of a horizontal range (A1:D5) that was transposed to a different range (A9:E12).

#### FIGURE 4.12

Transposing a range changes the orientation as the information is pasted into the worksheet.

	A	В	С	D	E	F	G
1		Jan	Feb	Mar			
2	Region 1	12	32	55			
3	Region 2	34	36	68			
4	Region 3	45	64	96			
5	Region 5	17	21	27			
6							
7							
8							
9		Region 1	Region 2	Region 3	Region 5		
10	Jan	12	34	45	17		
11	Feb	32	36	64	21		
12	Mar	55	68	96	27		
13							
14							
15							

# Tip

If you click the Paste Link button in the Paste Special dialog box, you create formulas that link to the source range. As a result, the destination range automatically reflects changes in the source range.

# **Using Names to Work with Ranges**

Dealing with cryptic cell and range addresses can sometimes be confusing. (This confusion becomes even more apparent when you deal with formulas, which I cover in Chapter 10.) Fortunately, Excel allows you to assign descriptive names to cells and ranges. For example, you can give a cell a name such as Interest\_Rate, or you can name a range JulySales. Working with these names (rather than cell or range addresses) has several advantages:

- A meaningful range name (such as Total\_Income) is much easier to remember than a cell address (such as AC21).
- Entering a name is less error-prone than entering a cell or range address.
- You can quickly move to areas of your worksheet either by using the Name box, located at the left side of the Formula bar (click the arrow to drop down a list of defined names) or by choosing Home 
   → Editing 
   → Find & Select 
   → Go To (or F5) and specifying the range name.
- Creating formulas is easier. You can paste a cell or range name into a formula by using Formula Autocomplete.
- Names make your formulas more understandable and easier to use. A formula such as =Income-Taxes is more intuitive than =D20-D40.

# Creating range names in your workbooks

Excel provides several different methods that you can use to create range names. Before you begin, however, you should be aware of some important rules about what is acceptable:

- Names can't contain any spaces. You may want to use an underscore character to simulate a space (such as Annual\_Total).
- You can use any combination of letters and numbers, but the name must begin with a letter. A name can't begin with a number (such as 3rdQuarter) or look like a cell reference (such as QTR3). If these are desirable names, though, you can precede the name with an underscore: for example, \_3rd Quarter and \_QTR3.
- Symbols, except for underscores and periods, aren't allowed.
- Names are limited to 255 characters, but it's a good practice to keep names as short as possible yet still meaningful and understandable.

### Caution

Excel also uses a few names internally for its own use. Although you can create names that override Excel's internal names, you should avoid doing so. To be on the safe side, avoid using the following for names: Print\_Area, Print\_Titles, Consolidate\_Area, and Sheet\_Title. To delete a range name or rename a range, see "Managing Names," later in this chapter.

#### Using the New Name dialog box

To create a range name, start by selecting the cell or range that you want to name. Then, choose Formulas ↔ Defined Names ↔ Define Name. Excel displays the New Name dialog box, shown in Figure 4.13. Note that this is a resizable dialog box. Click and drag a border to change the dimensions.

Create names for cells or ranges by using the New Name dialog box.

New Name		? ×
<u>N</u> ame:		
Scope:	Workbook 💌	
Comment:		^
<u>R</u> efers to:	=Sheet1!\$E\$10	T Cancel

Type a name in the Name text field (or use the name that Excel proposes, if any). The selected cell or range address appears in the Refers To text field. Use the Scope drop-down list to indicate the scope for the name. The *scope* indicates where the name will be valid, and it's either the entire workbook or a particular sheet. If you like, you can add a comment that describes the named range or cell. Click OK to add the name to your workbook and close the dialog box.

#### Using the Name box

A faster way to create a name is to use the Name box (to the left of the Formula bar). Select the cell or range to name, click the Name box, and type the name. Press Enter to create the name. (You must press Enter to actually record the name; if you type a name and then click in the worksheet, Excel doesn't create the name.) If a name already exists, you can't use the Name box to change the range to which that name refers. Attempting to do so simply selects the range.

The Name box is a drop-down list and shows all names in the workbook. To choose a named cell or range, click the Name box and choose the name. The name appears in the Name box, and Excel selects the named cell or range in the worksheet.

#### Using the Create Names from Selection dialog box

You may have a worksheet that contains text that you want to use for names for adjacent cells or ranges. For example, you may want to use the text in column A to create names for the corresponding values in column B. Excel makes this task easy to do.

To create names by using adjacent text, start by selecting the name text and the cells that you want to name. (These items can be individual cells or ranges of cells.) The names must be adjacent to the cells that you're naming. (A multiple selection is allowed.) Then, choose Formulas ⇔ Defined Names ⇔ Create from Selection. Excel displays the Create Names from Selection dialog box, shown in Figure 4.14. The check marks in this dialog box are based on Excel's analysis of the selected range. For example, if Excel finds text in the first row of the selection, it proposes that you

create names based on the top row. If Excel didn't guess correctly, you can change the check boxes. Click OK, and Excel creates the names. Using the data in Figure 4.14, Excel creates six names: January for cell B1, February for cell B2, and so on.

#### FIGURE 4.14

Use the Create Names from Selection dialog box to name cells using labels that appear in the worksheet.

	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	
1	January	933						
2	February	1232						
3	March	1330						
4	April	1327						
5	May	1448	(	Create Name	s from Selec	tion 😨	×	
б	June	1412		Create names	from values	in they		
7					i i oni values	ir uic.		
8				I off colu	j Imp			
9				Bottom	'ow			
10				Right co	lumn			
11								
12					ОК	Cancel		
13				_				
14								
15								
16								
17								

### Note

If the text contained in a cell would result in an invalid name, Excel modifies the name to make it valid. For example, if a cell contains the text Net Income (which is invalid for a name because it contains a space), Excel converts the space to an underscore character. If Excel encounters a value or a numeric formula where text should be, however, it doesn't convert it to a valid name. It simply doesn't create a name — and does not inform you of that fact.

### Caution

If the upper-left cell of the selection contains text and you choose the Top Row and Left Column options, Excel uses that text for the name of the entire data, excluding the top row and left column. So, after Excel creates the names, take a minute to make sure that they refer to the correct ranges. If Excel creates a name that is incorrect, you can delete or modify it by using the Name Manager (described next).

# **Managing names**

A workbook can have any number of names. If you have many names, you should know about the Name Manager, shown in Figure 4.15.

Use the Name Manager to work with range names.

<u>N</u> ew	Edit	elete		Eilter •
Name	Value	Refers To	Scope	Comment
April	1327	=Sheet1!\$8\$4	Workbook	
February	1232	=Sheet1!\$B\$2	Workbook	
🔲 January	933	=Sheet1!\$8\$1	Workbook	
💷 June	1412	=Sheet1!\$B\$6	Workbook	
March	1330	=Sheet1!\$B\$3	Workbook	
💷 May	1448	=Sheet1!\$B\$5	Workbook	
•		III		
efers to:				
× ✓ =Sheet	1!\$B\$1			5
				Close

The Name Manager appears when you choose Formulas ↔ Defined Names ↔ Name Manager (or press Ctrl+F3). The Name Manager has the following features:

- **Displays information about each name in the workbook.** You can resize the Name Manager dialog box and widen the columns to show more information. You can also click a column heading to sort the information by the column.
- Allows you to filter the displayed names. Clicking the Filter button lets you show only those names that meet a certain criteria. For example, you can view only the worksheet level names.
- **Provides quick access to the New Name dialog box**. Click the New button to create a new name without closing the Name Manager.
- Lets you edit names. To edit a name, select it in the list and then click the Edit button. You can change the name itself, modify the Refers To range, or edit the comment.
- Lets you quickly delete unneeded names. To delete a name, select it in the list and click Delete.

### Caution

Be extra careful when deleting names. If the name is used in a formula, deleting the name causes the formula to become invalid. (It displays #NAME?.) However, deleting a name can be undone, so if you find that formulas return #NAME? after you delete a name, choose Undo from the Quick Access toolbar (or press Ctrl+Z) to get the name back. ■

If you delete the rows or columns that contain named cells or ranges, the names contain an invalid reference. For example, if cell A1 on Sheet1 is named Interest and you delete row 1 or column A, the name Interest then refers to =Sheet1! #REF! (that is, to an erroneous reference). If you use Interest in a formula, the formula displays #REF.

### Tip

The Name Manager is useful, but it has a shortcoming: It doesn't let you display the list of names in a worksheet range so you can view or print them. Such a feat is possible, but you need to look beyond the Name Manager.

To create a list of names in a worksheet, first move the cell pointer to an empty area of your worksheet — the list is created at the active cell position and overwrites any information at that location. Press F3 to display the Paste Name dialog box, which lists all the defined names. Then click the Paste List button. Excel creates a list of all names in the workbook and their corresponding addresses. ■

# **Adding Comments to Cells**

Documentation that explains certain elements in the worksheet can often be helpful. One way to document your work is to add comments to cells. This feature is useful when you need to describe a particular value or explain how a formula works.

To add a comment to a cell, select the cell and use any of these actions:

- Choose Review ⇔ Comments ⇔ New Comment.
- Right-click the cell and choose Insert Comment from the shortcut menu.
- Press Shift+F2.

Excel inserts a comment that points to the active cell. Initially, the comment consists of your name, as specified in the Excel Options dialog box (you can delete your name, if you like). Enter the text for the cell comment and then click anywhere in the worksheet to hide the comment. You can change the size of the comment by clicking and dragging any of its borders. Figure 4.16 shows a cell with a comment.

#### FIGURE 4.16

You can add comments to cells to help clarify important items in your worksheets.

	A	В	С	D	E	F	G		
1	January	933							
2	February	1232							
3	March	1330		John:					
4	April	1327							
5	May	643	-	What h	What happened in May?				
6	June	1412							
7				-					
8									
9									
10									

Cells that have a comment display a small red triangle in the upper-right corner. When you move the mouse pointer over a cell that contains a comment, the comment becomes visible.

You can force a comment to be displayed even when its cell is not activated. Right-click the cell and choose Show/Hide Comments. Although this command refers to "comments" (plural), it affects only the comment in the active cell. To return to normal (make the comment appear only when its cell is activated), right-click the cell and choose Hide Comment.

### Tip

You can control how comments are displayed. Access the Advanced tab of the Excel Options dialog box. In the Display section, select the No Comments or Indicators option from the For Cells with Comments, Show list. ■

# **Formatting comments**

If you don't like the default look of cell comments, you can make some changes. Right-click the cell and choose Edit Comment. Select the text in the comment and use the commands of the Font and the Alignment groups (on the Home tab) to make changes to the comment's appearance.

For even more formatting options, right-click the comment's border and choose Format Comment from the shortcut menu. Excel responds by displaying the Format Comment dialog box, which allows you to change many aspects of its appearance, including color, border, and margins.

### Tip

You can also display an image inside a comment. Right-click the cell and choose Edit Comment. Then rightclick the comment's border and choose Format Comment. Select the Colors and Lines tab in the Format Comment dialog box. Click the Color drop-down list and select Fill Effects. In the Fill Effects dialog box, click the Picture tab and then click the Select Picture button to specify a graphics file. Figure 4.17 shows a comment that contains a picture. ■

#### FIGURE 4.17

This comment contains a graphics image.



# Changing a comment's shape

Normally, a cell comment is rectangular, but they don't have to be. To change the shape of a cell comment, add a command to your Quick Access toolbar:

- **1. Right-click the Quick Access toolbar and choose Customize Quick Access Toolbar.** The Quick Access Toolbar section of the Excel Options dialog box appears.
- 2. From the Choose Commands From drop-down list, select Drawing Tools | Format Tab.
- 3. From the list on the left, select Change Shape and then click Add.
- 4. Click OK to close the Excel Options dialog box.

After performing these steps, your Quick Access toolbar has a new Change Shape icon.

To change the shape of a comment, make sure that it's visible (right-click the cell and select Show/ Hide Comments). Then click the comment's border to select it as a Shape (or, Ctrl-click the comment to select it as a Shape). Click the Change Shape button on the Quick Access toolbar and choose a new shape for the comment. Figure 4.18 shows a cell comment with a nonstandard shape.

#### FIGURE 4.18

Cell comments don't have to be rectangles.

	D	E	F	G	Н	1	J
3	Q3	Q4	Year Total				
4	128,500	132,500	518,000				
5	20,396	21,416	79,737				
6	17,640	18,522	68,962				
7	23,000	23,000	92,000				
8	189,536	195,438	758,699	~ G	ood work		
9				_∕ π	at's only a	• )	
10				2.5	% increas	e	
11				ove	er last yea	ır. /	
12							
13							
14							

# **Reading comments**

To read all comments in a workbook, choose Review ↔ Comments ↔ Next. Keep clicking Next to cycle through all the comments in a workbook. Choose Review ↔ Comments ↔ Previous to view the comments in reverse order.

# **Printing comments**

Normally, when you print a worksheet that contains cell comments, the comments are not printed. If you would like to print the comments, though, here's how:

- Click the dialog box launcher in the Page Layout 
  → Page Setup group. This is the
  small icon to the right of the Page Setup group name. Clicking this icon displays the Page
  Setup dialog box.
- 2. In the Page Setup dialog box, click the Sheet tab.
- **3.** Make your choice from the Comments drop-down control: At End of Sheet, or As Displayed on Sheet (see Figure 4.19).

Specifying how to print cell comments.

Page Setup	? 🗙
Page Margins Header/Footer Sheet	
Print area:	
Rows to repeat at top: Columns to repeat at left:	ES:
Print Gridlines Black and white Praft guality Row and column headings	Comments: (None)  Cell grors as: (None) At end of sheet As displayed on sheet
Page order	μ <u>τ</u>
	Print Print Preview Options
	OK Cancel

**4.** Click OK to close the Page Setup dialog box. Or, click the Print button to print the worksheet.

# Hiding and showing comments

If you want all cell comments to be visible (regardless of the location of the cell pointer), choose Review ↔ Comments ↔ Show All Comments. This command is a toggle; select it again to hide all cell comments. To toggle the display of an individual comments, select its cell and then choose Review ↔ Comments ↔ Show/Hide Comment.

# **Selecting comments**

To quickly select all cells in a worksheet that contain a comment, choose Home ⇔ Editing ⇔ Find & Select ⇔ Go to Special. Then choose the Comments option and click OK.

# An Alternative to Cell Comments.

You can make use of Excel's Data Validation (covered in Chapter 25) feature to add a different type of comment to a cell. This type of comment appears automatically when the cell is selected. Follow these steps:

- 1. Select the cell that will contain the comment.
- 2. Choose Data 🗢 Data Tools 🗢 Data Validation to display the Data Validation dialog box.
- 3. Click the Input Message tab.
- 4. Make sure that the Show Input Message When Cell Is Selected check box is selected.
- 5. Type your comment in the Input Message box.
- 6. As an option, type a title in the Title box. (This text will appear in bold at the top of the message.)
- 7. Click OK to close the Data Validation dialog box.

After performing these steps, the message appears when the cell is activated, and it disappears when any other cell is activated.

Note that this message isn't a "real" comment. For example, a cell that contains this type of message doesn't display a comment indicator, and it's not affected by any of the commands used to work with cell comments. In addition, you can't format these messages in any way.

# **Editing comments**

To edit a comment, activate the cell, right-click, and then choose Edit Comment from the shortcut menu. Or, select the cell and press Shift+F2. After you make your changes, click any cell.

# **Deleting comments**

To delete a cell comment, activate the cell that contains the comment and then choose Review  $\Rightarrow$  Comments  $\Rightarrow$  Delete. Or, right-click and then choose Delete Comment from the shortcut menu.
# CHAPTER

# **Introducing Tables**

any worksheets are designed to store data in a table. A *table* is a rectangular range of data that usually has a row of text headings to describe the contents of each column. Excel's table feature (introduced in Excel 2007) makes common tasks much easier — and a lot better looking. More importantly, the table features may help eliminate some common errors.

This chapter is a basic introduction to Excel table features. As always, I urge you to just dig in and experiment with the various table-related commands. You may be surprised at what you can accomplish with just a few mouse clicks.

# What Is a Table?

A *table* is simply a rectangular range of structured data. Each row in the table corresponds to a single entity. For example, a row can contain information about a customer, a bank transaction, an employee, a product, and so on. Each column contains a specific piece of information. For example, if each row contains information about an employee, the columns can contain data such as name, employee number, hire date, salary, department, and so on. Tables typically have a header row at the top that describes the information contained in each column.

### **IN THIS CHAPTER**

Understanding how a table differs from a normal range

Working with tables

Using the Total Row

Removing duplicate rows from a table

Sorting and filtering a table

Setting up data like this in a range of cells is very straightforward. The magic happens when you tell Excel to convert a range of data into an "official" table. You do this by selecting any cell within the range and then choosing Insert r Tables Tables.

When you explicitly identify a range as a table, Excel can respond more intelligently to the actions you perform with that range. For example, if you create a chart from a table, the chart will expand automatically as you add new rows to the table.

Figure 5.1 shows a range of data that has not yet been converted to a table. Notice that this range corresponds to the description I provide earlier: It's a range of structured data with column headers. In this example, each row contains information about a single real estate listing. The range has 10 columns and 125 rows of data (plus a descriptive header row).

#### FIGURE 5.1

This range of data is a good candidate for a table.

E	A.	8	-C	D	E.	F	-6	н	1	1	
1	Apent	Date United	Ares	Uni Price	Bedraoma	Setto:	5471	Type	Poel	Sold	
2	nhacta	2/8/2009	Dentral	\$ans.com		( a	2,175	single tanaly	1948	PARE	
3	Daily	2/39/2009	Central	\$354,000		( 2	2,058	Single Family	14.52	PAUSE	
4	Hareibon	2/33/2009	N. COLINDY	\$425,988			2,418	single tunnity	1848	PAULE	
5	Daily	2/34/2009	5. County	\$294,986	1 2	2.5	1,698	Single Family	FA155	TRUS	
-8	Lang	2/33/2009	Dentral	\$210,000	3	1 3	1,168	coedo	PALM	PARE	
7	Paterson	2/35/2009	5. County	\$268,986	4	2.5	1,911	Single Family	CA15C	FALSE	
-8	Jenkies	5/2/2909	5. County	\$338,876	4	2.5	2,612	Single Family	FALSE.	FALSE	
7	Barnes .	2/6/3203	N. Doumby	irm,ore		1 2	2,008	coedo	PALSE	PAGE	
10	Lang	5/3/2909	Central	\$225,900	4	( )	2,008	Single Family	PALSE	FALSE	
11	Patricia	8/18/2009	Dentral I	\$384,900		2.5	2,307	sangle Farmly	PALM	PARE	
	forme:	3/13/2009	N. County	\$294,986	1	( )	2,495	Condo	CALSE	FALSE	
13	Ranewo	3/33/2009	Central I	\$210,908			2,285	tangle tunnity	TRUE	TRUE	
14	Chung	3/21/2009	5. County	\$285,086	1 2	2.5	2,006	Single Family	TRUS	FALSE	
15	<b>Berne</b>	3/21/2009	N. County	\$358,088	5	2.5	1,990	Cowdo	FALSE.	TRUE	
16	Lang	3/32/2009	5. County	\$925,086		( 1	2,779	Single Family	FA156	FALSE	
17	Shate	3/25/2009	N. County	\$396,000	4	2.5	2,629	Single Family	PALSE	FALSE	
18	sharta	8/38/2009	<b>Dentral</b>	\$210,088		1.7	2,117	single tunnity	TRUE	TRUE	
13	Jenkies	3/25/2009	5. County	\$247,586		( )	2,008	Single Family	FALSE	FALSE	
20	Raberkan	3/23/2009	5. Country	\$210,088		1 3	1,110	coedo	PALM	TRUE	
21	Rebinson	3/39/2009	N. County	\$279,086	4	1	2,008	Single Family	FALSE	TRUS	
23	Enmann	4/1/2009	N. County	\$299,000			4,000	<b>Kingle Family</b>	14197	PAUSE	
21	Patterson	4/6/2009	N. County	\$205,900	5	1	2,447	Condo	TRUS	FALSE	
24	Shate	4/6/2919	Central	\$345,000	5	2.5	1,871	Single Family	PALSE	FALSE	
23	penking .	4/8/2009	N. COUNTY	\$210,100		2.5	2,305	sangle transity	TRUE	TRUE	

Figure 5.2 shows the range after I converted it to a table by choosing Insert ⇔ Tables ⇔ Table.

#### On the CD

If you'd like to practice working with tables, the workbook shown here is available on the CD-ROM. The file is named real estate table.xlsx.

#### FIGURE 5.2

#### An Excel table.

14	A.	8	C	0	E	F	6	н	1	1
1	Apert	<ul> <li>Safe United</li> </ul>	Area -	Uni Price	editores -	hello -	54F1 -	Type	Post -	Sold -
11	share	2/5/2009	central	\$450,000	1	2	4,275	single ramity.	1895	HALSE
3	Daily	2/19/29/9	Central	\$154,000	- 4	2	2,088	Single Family	PALSE	FALSE.
12	Hareibon	2/33/2009	N. COUNTY	\$425,986		1	2,404	tangle Farmly	TRUE	PALSE
5	Daily	2/34/2989	5. County	5204,986	5	2.8	1,608	Single Family	FALSE	TRUE
	Lang	2/33/2009	Dentral	\$218,988	3	2	1,200	coedo	PRIME	PALSE
7	Patence	2/35/2869	S. County	\$368,986	- 4	2.5	5,963	Single Family	FA155	FALSE
	2010/100	1/3/2009	3. Calurdy	\$118,876		1.5	2,663	Sarghe Farmily	PALME	PALSE
9	forme .	2/6/2089	N. County	\$299,086	1	2	2,058	Condo	FA155	FALSE
10	Lang	3/3/2009	Central	\$125,996	- 4	3	2,006	Single Family	PAISE	PALSE
11	PROFILER	0/318/00019	Lentral	\$JOA, MIL	- 4	63	2,587	bingle Hamily	HALSH.	HALSE
12	Barnes	3/15/29/9	N. County	\$354,900	3	3	2,455	Condo	PA152	PALSE
111	Ranees	3/33/2009	Central	\$215,162	- 4	1	2,285	Single Family	TRUE	TRUE
14	Chung	3/21/29/9	5. County	\$305,086	3	2.5	2,081	Single Family	TRUE	PALSE
13	Bartett	3/31/2009	N. COURTY	\$210,000	1	2.5	1,981	coedo	PRIME	TRUE
1.6	Lang	3/32/2009	S. County	\$825,086	4	1	2,778	Single Family	FALSE	FALSE
$\mathbf{LT}$	1014/58	3/33/2009	N. COURTY	\$1716,000	4	2.5	2,628	Sangle Family	PRIME	PALSE
1.6	Sharba	3/33/2809	Central	\$215,086	3	1.75	2,157	Single Family	TRUS	TRUS
1.9	Jenkiro	9/25/29/9	5. County	\$347,500	- 4	3	2,088	Single Family	PALSE	FALSE.
20	Robinson	3/35/2009	S. County	\$215,000	1	2	1,553	Condo	FALSE	TRUS
21	Rebinsen	3/29/29/9	N. County	\$175,000	4	3	3,088	Single Family	PALSE	TRUE
23	Ranees	4/3/2009	N. COUNTY	\$798,088		3	4,800	Single Family	PRIME	PALSE
23	Peterson	4/6/2009	N. County	\$308,998	5	3	2,447	Condo	TRUE	PALSE
24	NAME	4/4/2009	Dentral	\$260,000	1	2.5	3,871	Single Family	PRIME	PALSE
25	Jenkins	4/6/2009	N. County	\$348,586	- 4	2.5	2,181	Single Family	TRUS	TRUS

What's the difference between a standard range and table?

- Activating any cell in the table gives you access to the Table Tools contextual tab on the Ribbon (see Figure 5.3).
- The cells contain background color and text color formatting. This formatting is optional.
- Each column header contains a drop-down list, which you can use to sort the data or filter the table to hide specific rows.
- If the active cell is within the table, when you scroll the sheet down so that the header row disappears, the table headers replace the column letters in the worksheet header.
- Tables support calculated columns. A single formula in a column is automatically propagated to all cells in the column. (See Chapter 10.)
- Tables support structured references. Rather than using cell references, formulas can use table names and column headers. (See Chapter 10.)
- The lower-right corner of the lower-right cell contains a small control that you can click and drag to extend the table's size, either horizontally (add more columns) or vertically (add more rows).
- Excel can remove duplicate rows automatically.
- Selecting rows and columns within the table is simplified.

#### FIGURE 5.3

When you select a cell in a table, you can use the commands located on the Table Tools 🕫 Design tab.

2 1 1 1 1 - 0 1 1 1 1 1 - 0	- a a kunt Reptemb	Radii Missarithad Persala Las Prine V	Ves Devlager Design	
TE-HIDRE TABLE DENIET TABLE	図 connects with Portface P DenoreContrades 通 convertes tange	Depet Partiels	Badentoy    Frit Deam     Transe    Badentoy     Badentoy     Dealertoy     Dealertoy	
Progettie:	7-10	Informal Technology	Web-35th Ophiesi	Table 18/4:

# **Creating a Table**

Most of the time, you'll create a table from an existing range of data. However, Excel also allows you to create a table from an empty range so that you can fill in the details later. The following instructions assume that you already have a range of data that's suitable for a table.

- 1. Make sure that the range doesn't contain any completely blank rows or columns; otherwise, Excel will not guess the table range correctly.
- 2. Select any cell within the range.
- **3.** Choose Insert ➡ Tables ➡ Table (or press Ctrl+T). Excel responds with its Create Table dialog box, shown in Figure 5.4. Excel tries to guess the range as well as whether the table has a header row. Most of the time, it guesses correctly. If not, make your corrections before you click OK.

#### FIGURE 5.4

Use the Create Table dialog box to verify that Excel guessed the table dimensions correctly.

	A		c	D	E.	P	- 0	н	1
1	Apont	Date Listed	Area	Unit Prilog	Sectores	lefts.	5471	Type	b
2	NP-4K2A	2)19/2009	Creation	\$450,000	a a	3	2,275	tangle namely	
þ.	Daily	2/13/3089	Cer Daw	e Table	1. 600	2	2,088	Single Family	
1	Randbox	2(20/2009	N.C. alter	in the data for one i	Colden	1	2,414	tangle namely	
5	Daily	204/2009	5.00	ACCOUNT OF A DATE OF A DAT	1941	2.5	1,620	Single Family	
ā	Lang	3/28/3089	Cen		10	3	1,248	Combo	
2	Peterson	2/26/3089	5.60	? 면: table her heads	紙	2.5	1,911	Single Family	
8	Jenkino	3/2/2009	5.0			2.5	2,612	Single Family	
2	BOTHER .	10/10/20070	N. C.	QH.	Circle		2,050	Londo	
18	Limp	5/7/2009	Central	5221,500		3	2,086	Single Family	
12	NONIA	3/13/2009	Creation	\$294, 900	a a	2.5	2,107	tangle namely	
	Bornes	3/13/3089	N. County	\$294,900	5 B	3	2,455	Condo	
13	Bomero	3/15/2009	Creation	\$211,816	a a		2,285	tangle namely	
14	Chung	3/25/3089	5. County	\$285,000	5 B	2.5	2,081	Single Family	
15	BARNet	3/25/3089	N. Country	\$200,000	a a	2.5	1,981	coedo	
15	Lang	3/22/3089	5. County	\$205,000	a 4	- 9	2,770	Single Family	
12	Grante	3/25/2009	M. County	5298,000	6 a	2.5	2,426	Single Family	
LB	Sheeta	3/23/3089	Control	\$215,000	5 B	1.75	2,157	Single Family	
ē.	10.10 million	a jan hanna		40.00.000					à

The range is converted to a table (using the default table style), and the Table Tools ➡ Design tab of the Ribbon appears.

### Note

Excel may guess the table's dimensions incorrectly if the table isn't separated from other information by at least one empty row or column. If Excel guesses incorrectly, just specify the exact range for the table in the Create Table dialog box. Better yet, click Cancel and rearrange your worksheet such that the table is separated from your other data by at least one blank row or column.

To create a table from an empty range, just select the range and choose Insert  $\Rightarrow$  Tables  $\Rightarrow$  Table. Excel creates the table, adds generic column headers (such as Column1 and Column2), and applies table formatting to the range.

# **Changing the Look of a Table**

When you create a table, Excel applies the default table style. The actual appearance depends on which document theme is used in the workbook. If you prefer a different look, you can easily change the entire look of the table.

Select any cell in the table and choose Table Tools  $\Rightarrow$  Design  $\Rightarrow$  Table Styles. The Ribbon shows one row of styles, but if you click the bottom of the scrollbar to the right, the table styles group expands, as shown in Figure 5.5. The styles are grouped into three categories: Light, Medium, and Dark. Notice that you get a "live" preview as you move your mouse among the styles. When you see one you like, just click to make it permanent. And yes, some are really ugly and practically illegible.

For a different set of color choices, choose Page Layout ↔ Themes ↔ Themes to select a different document theme. For more information about themes, see Chapter 6.

## Tip

If applying table styles isn't working, it's probably because the range was already formatted before you converted it to a table. Table formatting doesn't override normal formatting. To clear existing background fill colors, select the entire table and choose Home ⇔ Font ⇔ Fill Color ⇔ No Fill. To clear existing font colors, choose Home ⇔ Font ⊕ Font ⇔ Font ⇔ Font ⇔ Font ⇔ Font ⊕ Fon

If you'd like to create a custom table style, choose Table Tools  $\Rightarrow$  Design  $\Rightarrow$  Table Styles  $\Rightarrow$  New Table Style to display the New Table Quick Style dialog box shown in Figure 5.6. You can customize any or all of the 12 table elements. Select an element from the list, click Format, and specify the formatting for that element. When you're finished, give the new style a name and click OK. Your custom table style will appear in the Table Styles gallery in the Custom category. Unfortunately, custom table styles are available only in the workbook in which they were created.

### FIGURE 5.5

Excel offers many different table styles.

LIGHT					-
			5		
Medium					
Ewk					
in genta 18 gent	ible Style				

#### FIGURE 5.6

Use this dialog box to create a new table style.

New Table Quick Style	
Neme: Rable-Style 1	
Julie Bonard:	Previow
thuis Table Prist Colum Stree Second Colum Stree Decondition Unpe Last Colum Prist Colum Prist Colum Total Rev Exemat	v Sign Sm
tienent romarting:	
<ul> <li>Set as default table quick style for this doc</li> </ul>	OK Careel

# Tip

If you would like to make changes to an existing table style, locate it in the Ribbon and right-click. Choose Duplicate from the shortcut menu. Excel displays the Modify Table Quick Style dialog box with all the settings from the specified table style. Make your changes, give the style a new name, and click OK to save it as a custom table style. ■

# Working with Tables

This section describes some common actions you'll take with tables.

# Navigating in a table

Selecting cells in a table works just like selecting cells in a normal range. One difference is when you use the Tab key. Pressing Tab moves to the cell to the right, and when you reach the last column, pressing Tab again moves to the first cell in the next row.

# Selecting parts of a table

When you move your mouse around in a table, you may notice that the pointer changes shapes. These shapes help you select various parts of the table.

- To select an entire column: Move the mouse to the top of a cell in the header row, and the mouse pointer changes to a down-pointing arrow. Click to select the data in the column. Click a second time to select the entire table column (including the Header Row and the Total Row, if it has one). You can also press Ctrl+spacebar (once or twice) to select a column.
- To select an entire row: Move the mouse to the left of a cell in the first column, and the mouse pointer changes to a right-pointing arrow. Click to select the entire table row. You can also press Shift+spacebar to select a table row.
- To select the entire table: Move the mouse to the upper-left part of the upper-left cell. When the mouse pointer turns into a diagonal arrow, click to select the data area of the table. Click a second time to select the entire table (including the Header Row and the Total Row). You can also press Ctrl+A (once or twice) to select the entire table.

# Tip

Right-clicking a cell in a table displays several selection options in the shortcut menu. ■

# Adding new rows or columns

To add a new column to the end of a table, select a cell in the column to the right of the table and start entering the data. Excel automatically extends the table horizontally.

Similarly, if you enter data in the row below a table, Excel extends the table vertically to include the new row.

### Note

An exception to automatically extending tables is when the table is displaying a Total Row. If you enter data below the Total Row, the table will not be extended. and the data will not be part of the table. ■

To add rows or columns within the table, right-click and choose Insert from the shortcut menu. The Insert shortcut menu command displays additional menu items:

- Table Columns to the Left
- Table Columns to the Right
- Table Rows Above
- Table Rows Below

## Tip

When the cell pointer is in the bottom-right cell of a table, pressing Tab inserts a new row at the bottom of the table, above the Total Row (if the table has one). ■

When you move your mouse to the resize handle at bottom-right cell of a table, the mouse pointer turns into a diagonal line with two arrow heads. Click and drag down to add more rows to the table. Click and drag to the right to add more columns.

When you insert a new column, the Header Row displays a generic description, such as Column1, Column2, and so on. Typically, you'll want to change these names to more descriptive labels. Just select the cell and overwrite the generic text with your new text.

# **Deleting rows or columns**

To delete a row (or column) in a table, select any cell in the row (or column) to be deleted. To delete multiple rows or columns, select a range of cells. Then right-click and choose Delete  $\Rightarrow$  Table Rows (or Delete  $\Rightarrow$  Table Columns).

# Moving a table

To move a table to a new location in the same worksheet, move the mouse pointer to any of its borders. When the mouse pointer turns into a cross with four arrows, click and drag the table to its new location.

To move a table to a different worksheet (which could be in a different workbook), you can drag and drop it as well — as long as the destination worksheet is visible onscreen.

# **Excel Remembers.**

When you do something with a complete column in a table, Excel remembers that and extends that "something" to all new entries added to that column. For example, if you apply currency formatting to a column and then add a new row, Excel applies currency formatting to the new value in that column.

The same thing applies to other operations, such as conditional formatting, cell protection, data validation, and so on. And if you create a chart using the data in a table, the chart will be extended automatically if you add new data to the table. Those who have used versions prior to Excel 2007 will appreciate this feature the most.

Or, you can use these steps to move a table to different worksheet or workbook:

- 1. Press Ctrl+A *twice* to select the entire table.
- 2. Press Ctrl+X to cut the selected cells.
- 3. Activate the new worksheet and select the upper-left cell for the table.
- **4.** Press Ctrl+V to paste the table.

# Setting table options

The Table Style Options group of the Table Tools  $\Rightarrow$  Design tab contains several check boxes that determine whether various elements of the table are displayed, and whether some formatting options are in effect:

- Header Row: Toggles the display of the Header Row.
- Total Row: Toggles the display of the Total Row.
- **First Column:** Toggles special formatting for the first column. Depending on the table style used, this command might have no effect.
- Last Column: Toggles special formatting for the last column. Depending on the table style used, this command might have no effect.
- Banded Rows: Toggles the display of *banded* (alternating color) rows.
- Banded Columns: Toggles the display of banded columns.

# Working with the Total Row

The Total Row in a table contains formulas that summarize the information in the columns. When you create a table, the Total Row isn't turned on. To display the Total Row, choose Table Tools ➡ Design ➡ Table Style Options and put a check mark next to Total Row.

By default, a Total Row displays the sum of the values in a column of numbers. In many cases, you'll want a different type of summary formula. When you select a cell in the Total Row, a drop-down arrow appears in the cell. Click the arrow, and you can select from a number of other summary formulas (see Figure 5.7):

- None: No formula
- Average: Displays the average of the numbers in the column
- **Count:** Displays the number of entries in the column (blank cells are not counted)
- **Count Numbers:** Displays the number of numeric values in the column (blank cells, text cells, and error cells are not counted)
- Max: Displays the maximum value in the column
- Min: Displays the minimum value in the column
- Sum: Displays the sum of the values in the column
- **StdDev:** Displays the standard deviation of the values in the column. Standard deviation is a statistical measure of how "spread out" the values are.
- Var: Displays the variance of the values in the column. Variance is another statistical measure of how "spread out" the values are.
- More Functions: Displays the Insert Function dialog box so that you can select a function that isn't in the list.

#### FIGURE 5.7

Several types of summary formulas are available for the Total Row.

🔄 nai amin taki	e.vib:									
Agent	Gate Larged	<ul> <li>Area</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>UCPUS</li> </ul>	Bedrooms -	BADIN -	sors -	тура (-	Pool -	sold -	-
15 Randalph	10/5/0009	Central	\$290,000	4	3	2,408	Single Family	FABE	FALSE	
117 #dami	10/8/3089	CHIDA	\$2,990,000	1	2.5	1,510	canda	194438	PALSE	
11 Peterson	10/6/0005	Central	\$237,500	4	3	1,990	Single Family	TRUE	FALSE	
15 Petersen	19/9/3089	Central	\$272,908	4	3	2,008	Single Family	1432	PALSE	
20 Kelly	30/38/3089	Central	\$245,000	3	3	2,694	Single Family	FABE	FALSE	
21 Long	30/13/3089	Central	\$243,000	4	2.5	1.514	Single Family	1432	PALSE	
to thing	30(17/2009	S. COLUMN	\$264,808	4	2.5	2,488	canda	10.018	PALSE	
(2) Leng	30/37/2009	S. County	\$380,808	0	2.5	2,359	Single Family	CASE	FALSE	
nosedos III	31/24/2009	CHIDAL	\$275,808	4	3	2,318	tingle tankly	TRUE	TRUE	
25 Romero	31/27/3089	N. County	\$269,908	4	3	1,908	Canda	FABE	TRUS	
24 Adams	12/5/2009	Control	(275,576	2	2	1,452	Single Family	THE	THEF	
27 Total										
129						hierer				
1219						00.00	12			
150						COUNT NO	1994			
111						Min				
192						3um				
110						i.e.				
194						Mone Pure	date			
A & B & Shee	e1/9/				4					нE

### Caution

If you have a formula that refers to a value in the Total Row of a table, the formula returns an error if you hide the Total Row. But if you make the Total Row visible again, the formula works as it should.

### **Cross-Reference**

For more information about formulas, including the use of formulas in a table column, see Chapter 10. ■

# Removing duplicate rows from a table

If data in a table was obtained from multiple sources, the table may contain duplicate items. Most of the time, you want to eliminate the duplicates. In the past, removing duplicate data was essentially a manual task, but it's very easy if the data is in a table.

Start by selecting any cell in your table. Then choose Table Tools ↔ Design ↔ Tools ↔ Remove Duplicates. Excel responds with Remove Duplicates dialog box shown in Figure 5.8. The dialog box lists all the columns in your table. Place a check mark next to the columns that you want to be included in the duplicate search. Most of the time, you'll want to select all the columns, which is the default. Click OK, and Excel weeds out the duplicate rows and displays a message that tells you how many duplicates it removed.

When you select all columns in the Remove Duplicates dialog box, Excel will delete a row only if the content of every column is duplicated. In some situations, you may not care about matching some columns, so you would deselect those columns in the Remove Duplicates dialog box. In the example shown in Figure 5.8, removing the check mark from all columns except Agent would result in a table that showed one row per agent — an unduplicated list of all agents.

#### FIGURE 5.8

Removing duplicate rows from a table is easy.

kanne that contain duplicates.
2 by data has headers
*
- OK Cancel

## Caution

It's important to understand that duplicate values are determined by the value displayed in the cell — not necessarily the value stored in the cell. For example, assume that two cells contain the same date. One of the dates is formatted to display as 5/15/2011, and the other is formatted to display as May 15, 2011. When removing duplicates, Excel considers these dates to be different.

# Sorting and filtering a table

The Header Row of a table contains a drop-down arrow that, when clicked, displays sorting and filtering options (see Figure 5.9).

#### FIGURE 5.9

Each column in a table contains sorting and filtering option.

-91	real order table	6.601									
	A		c	D				15	H	1	1
1	April	· Date Unled	Area In	Unit Price	• Bedresens	- 045		set la	Post 1	Peol I	
2	MARSA .	2)19/2009	CHIERA 24	2010mmet	N Lingest			3,275	tingle namely	19.4	
2	Delly	2/10/2009	Contro 💱	Spriturentia	(Insile)			3,099	Single Family	FALSE	6
4	Randbox	2)/20/2009	NL COURT	Regiley Caller			L.	3,414	angle randy	79.4	
5	Delly	2/24/3089	S. Count	Char Filler Do	an "Baliles"			1,530	Single Family	FALSE	1
6	Lang	2/25/3009	Centre	Witness Inc. Contra-				1,248	Canalo	FAUSE	
7	Peterson	2/26/3089	S. Coun					1,911	Single Family	FALSE	6
8	Jenkins	3/2/2009	S. Court	Length Date			_	3,832	Single Family	FAUSE	
10	BARNet	3/6/2008	N. COUR	Search			×	3,050	cando	PAGE	1
3.9	Limp	3/3/2009	Centre	Ripper	40			2,005	Single Family	FAUSE	
11	PRHIMAN	3/10/2009	CHIER	- E 1				3,507	langle rankly	PAGE	
:12	Romas	3/13/3089	N. Court	-21.5				3,485	Cando	FALSE	6
11	Bomero	3/25/2009	CHIER	8.22				3,285	Jungle rankly	19.4	
:14	Chung	3/25/3089	S. Coun	81				3,001	Single Family	19.6	6
15	Bomes	3/21/3009	N. Court	-96.3.5				1.591	Canalo	PAUSE	
15	Lang	3/22/3089	S. Coun	24				3,730	Single Family	FALSE	6
12	Shapta	3/29/3089	N. Court					2,630	Single Family	FAUSE	
18	March .	3/20/2009	CHIER					3,557	tingle namely	19.8	
15	Jenkino	3/25/3089	S. Court					2,000	Single Family	FAUSE	
30	Bobreson	3/25/2009	S. Down					1,552	cando	PALSE	1
21	Robisson	3/29/3089	N. Cour					3,000	Single Family	FALSE	1
32	Bornero	4/1/2009	N. Court					4,800	tingle namely	PALSE.	
22	Peterson	4/9/2009	N. Cour			Count		3,447	Cando	19.6	6
24	Shapta	4/9/2009	Centre			1.616.6	-	1.871	Single Family	FAUSE	
25	Jenkins	4/1/2009	N. County	\$240.	580	4	13	3,101	Single Family	19.6	1
25	Jenkins	4/13/3089	Central	53355	380	4	2	1,690	Canalo	79.8	1
37	Pitersan	4/10/2009	5. County	3297	MBO	4	1.5	3,170	langle rankly	PAGE	
25	Adoms	4/14/3089	N. County	\$3395	500	3	2	1,835	Single Family	19.8	1
29	Petersan	4/18/2009	N. Country	\$2519	NDO	4		1,714	cando	PAGE	1.0
×	t b K Shee	k1/32/			114						• E

#### Sorting a table

*Sorting* a table rearranges the rows based on the contents of a particular column. You may want to sort a table to put names in alphabetical order. Or, maybe you want to sort your sales staff by the totals sales made.

To sort a table by a particular column, click the drop-down in the column header and choose one of the sort commands. The exact command varies, depending on the type of data in the column.

You can also select Sort by Color to sort the rows based on the background or text color of the data. This option is relevant only if you've overridden the table style colors with custom formatting.

You can sort on any number of columns. The trick is to sort the least significant column first and then proceed until the most significant column is sorted lasted. For example, in the real estate table, you may want to sort the list by agent. And within each agent's group, sort the rows by area.

And within each area, sort the rows by list price. For this type of sort, first sort by the List Price column, then sort by the Area column, and then sort by the Agent column. Figure 5.10 shows the table sorted in this manner.

#### Note

When a column is sorted, the drop-down list in the header row displays a different graphic to remind you that the table is sorted by that column. ■

#### FIGURE 5.10

A table, after performing a three-column sort.

	.A.	8	£	D		6	i fi	G	H
1	Apent 2	Date United	Area	List Price		Sectores -	Baths In	set 1	a Page
2	Adams	10/10/2008	Central	11.00	300	3	2.5	1,510	condo
3	Adamo	8/35/2009	Central	\$214	500	4	2.5	1.962	Single Famil
10	Adams	4/31/2008	Certifial	\$280,	300	4		1,805	tangle rand
5	Adams	7/10/2009	Central	\$298.	500	4	3.5	1.911	Single Famil
	Adams	13/3/2009	Certaral	\$274,	500	3		3,552	tangle rand
7	Adams	7/31/2009	Central	\$20%	890	4	1	3,800	Single Famil
8	Adamo	6/34/2009	Central	\$325	800	3	2.5	1,752	Single Family
9	Adams	4/34/2009	N. County	\$20%	800	3	- 2	1,839	Single Famil
10	Adamo	5/25/2009	N. County	\$540	900	4	- 2.5	2,790	Consto
11	Adams	8/7/2009	N. COLUMN	\$170)	300	1		3,004	condo
12	Adamo	6/5/2905	N. County	\$379.	500	3	2.5	2,465	Condio
11	Adams	4/30/2008	5. Country	\$208,	780	4		3,207	bangle rand
14	Surnes .	9/35/2009	N. County	\$2298;	900	4		3,041	Condo
1.5	Rannes	8/18/2008	N. COLIEDS	\$284,	NDO	1		2,010	condo
1.6	Garmen	3/6/2889	N. County	\$298	800	3	2	3,850	Condo
[T]	6erres	8/9/2909	N. County	\$340,	900	4	- 5	2,588	Condio
1.0	Barnes .	3/31/2009	N. COURTS	3105	500	1	2.5	1,291	tondo
1.9	Serves .	6/25/2009	N. County	\$355.	800	4	2.5	2,847	Condio
20	Rannes	6/33/2008	8. Country	\$208,	790	4		1,800	tangle rand
21	Bennet:	5/11/2009	Central	\$228.	500	4	1	3,041	Single Famil
23	Bennet:	5/8/2009	Certifial	\$3429	300	4		1,840	tangle rand
23	Bennet:	6/30/2009	N. County	\$228.	500	6	1	3,700	Single Famil
24	Rennet	#/30/2009	N. County	\$204	400	1		3,265	Consta
25	Bennet:	5/35/2009	N. County	\$22%	800	4	1	3,041	Condo
28	Sennet:	6/25/2009	5. County	\$225	500	3	- 2.5	1,580	Single Famil
27	chung	2/3/2009	Certifial	\$210,	NDO	1		1,700	bangle ranal
28	Chung	8/35/2009	Central	\$309.	500	4		2,235	Single Family
219	chung	4/30/2008	Certifial	\$175	300	4		2,017	bangle ranal
20	Chung	3/31/2009	5. County	\$295,	100	3	3.5	3,001	Single Family

Another way of performing a multiple-column sort is to use the Sort dialog box (choose Home ↔ Editing ↔ Sort & Filter ↔ Custom Sort). Or, right-click any cell in the table and choose Sort ↔ Custom Sort from the shortcut menu.

In the Sort dialog box, use the drop-down lists to specify the sort specifications. In this example, you start with Agent. Then, click the Add Level button to insert another set of search controls. In this new set of controls, specify the sort specifications for the Area column. Then, add another level and enter the specifications for the List Price column. Figure 5.11 shows the dialog box after entering the specifications for the three-column sort. This technique produces exactly the same sort as described in the previous paragraph.

#### FIGURE 5.11

Using the Sort dialog box to specify a three-column sort.

ader
-

#### Filtering a table

*Filtering* a table refers to displaying only the rows that meet certain conditions. (The other rows are hidden.)

Using the real estate table, assume that you're only interested in the data for the N. County area. Click the drop-down arrow in the Area Row Header and remove the check mark from Select All, which unselects everything. Then, place a check mark next to N. County and click OK. The table, shown in Figure 5.12, is now filtered to display only the listings in the N. County area. Notice that some of the row numbers are missing; these rows contain the filtered (hidden) data.

Also notice that the drop-down arrow in the Area column now shows a different graphic — an icon that indicates the column is filtered.

#### FIGURE 5.12

This table is filtered to show only the information for N. County.

K	A.	8	C	D	£	F	6	14	1	- 2
1	Agent	El Date United	· Area 12	UNIPHO I	Sectore -	Settion in	Set 1	Tape H	Real In	Sold in
2	Adams	4/34/2007	PL COURTS	\$110,900		x	1,029	single samily	1 KUA	1 KUh
10	Adamo	5/25/2009	N. County	\$345,000	4	2.5	2,750	Condo	TPUE	TPUE
11	Adams	8/3/2009	R. COLUMN	\$378,000	1	1	2,354	condo	PALSE	TRUE
12	Adamo	6/5/2989	N. County	5275,900	3	2.5	2,488	Condo	PALSE	PAUSE
14	BATHS	8/36/2009	R. COLUMN	\$218,900	4	1	2,011	condo	PALSE	PAUM
15	former .	3/13/2009	N. County	\$254,988	3	- 9	2,495	Condo	FALSE	FALSE
2.6	BATHS	3/4/2019	R. COLUMN	\$298,080	1	3	2,050	Doedo	PALSE	PAUM
17	former .	8/5/2009	H. County	\$145,088	4	- 9	2,209	Condo	TRUE	TRUE
18	Berno	5/21/2019	N. County	\$250,000	3	2.5	1,991	Condo	PALSE	TRUE
1.9	former .	6/35/2009	H. County	\$255,080	4	2.5	2,647	Condo	TRUE	FAUSE
23	Sernet	6/30/2009	N. County	\$225,500	6	3	2,790	Single Family	TPUE	PAUSE
24	served.	(8/30/2009	R. COLUMN	\$228,900	1	3	2,286	condo	PALSE	PAGE
23	Sernet	5/35/2009	N. County	\$125,900	4	3	2,041	Condo	PALSE	PAUSE
15.5	Harelbon	2/33/2009	R. COLUMN	\$415,900	3	1	2,404	tangle namely	TRUE	PAGE
47	Jankim	4/31/2009	N. County	\$238,080	4	2.5	1,500	Condo	FALSE	TRUE
122	zenime -	4/8/2009	R. COUNTY	\$248,100	4	2.5	2,101	tangle namely	TRUE	TRUE
49	Jankins	4/30/2009	H. County	\$140,980	4	- 3	2,290	Single Family	TRUE	TRUE
50	Jenkies -	8/35/2019	N. County	\$1,208,580	5	5	4,696	Single Family	TRUE	FAUSE.
56	Kelly	6/6/2009	H. County	\$209,580	4	2	1,971	Single Family	FALSE	FAUSE
82	Lang	8/22/2009	N. County	\$254,900	3	2.5	2,082	Condo	PALSE	PAUSE
61	Lang	7/31/2009	R. COLUMN	\$348,000	4	1	1,900	tangle namely	TRUE	PAUM

You can filter by multiple values in a column by using multiple check marks. For example, to filter the table to show only N. County and Central, place a check mark next to both values in the drop-down list in the Area Row Header.

You can filter a table using any number of columns. For example, you may want to see only the N. County listings in which the Type is Single Family. Just repeat the operation using the Type column. All tables then display only the rows in which the Area is N. County and the Type is Single Family.

For additional filtering options, select Text Filters (or Number Filters, if the column contains values). The options are fairly self-explanatory, and you have a great deal of flexibility in displaying only the rows that you're interested in.

In addition, you can right-click a cell and use the Filter command on the shortcut menu. This menu item leads to several additional filtering options.

### Note

#### As you may expect, the Total Row is updated to show the total only for the visible rows.

When you copy data from a filtered table, only the visible data is copied. In other words, rows that are hidden by filtering don't get copied. This filtering makes it very easy to copy a subset of a larger table and paste it to another area of your worksheet. Keep in mind, though, that the pasted data is not a table — it's just a normal range. You can, however, convert the copied range to a table.

To remove filtering for a column, click the drop-down in the Row Header and select Clear Filter. If you've filtered using multiple columns, it may be faster to remove all filters by choosing Home ➡ Editing ➡ Sort & Filter ➡ Clear.

## Converting a table back to a range

If you need to convert a table back to a normal range, just select a cell in the table and choose Table Tools  $\Rightarrow$  Design  $\Rightarrow$  Tools  $\Rightarrow$  Convert to Range. The table style formatting remains intact, but the range no longer functions as a table.

# CHAPTER

# Worksheet Formatting

**P** ormatting your worksheet is like the icing on a cake — it may not be absolutely necessary, but it can make the end product a lot more attractive. In an Excel worksheet, formatting can also make it easier for others to understand the worksheet's purpose.

Stylistic formatting isn't essential for every workbook that you develop — especially if it is for your own use only. On the other hand, it takes only a few moments to apply some simple formatting; and, after you apply it, the formatting will remain in place without further effort on your part.

In Chapter 5, I show how easy it is to apply formatting to a table. The information in this chapter applies to normal ranges. I show you how to work with the Excel formatting tools: fonts; colors; and styles, such as bold and italic. I also cover custom styles that you can create to make formatting large amounts of material in a similar way easier.

# Getting to Know the Formatting Tools

Figure 6.1 shows how even simple formatting can significantly improve a worksheet's readability. The unformatted worksheet (on the left) is perfectly functional but not very readable compared with the formatted worksheet (on the right).

## On the CD

This workbook is available on the companion CD-ROM. The file is named loan payments.xlsx.

# **IN THIS CHAPTER**

Understanding how formatting can improve your worksheets

Getting to know the formatting tools

Using formatting in your worksheets

Using named styles for easier formatting

Understanding document themes

#### FIGURE 6.1

In just a few minutes, some simple formatting can greatly improve the appearance of your worksheets.



The Excel formatting tools are available in three locations:

- On the Home tab of the Ribbon
- On the Mini toolbar that appears when you right-click a range or a cell
- From the Format Cells dialog box

In addition, many common formatting commands have keyboard shortcuts that you can use.

### **Cross-Reference**

Excel also enables you to format cells based on the cell's contents. Chapter 20 discusses conditional formatting.

# Using the formatting tools of the Home Tab

The Home tab of the Ribbon provides quick access to the most commonly used formatting options. Start by selecting the cell or range; then use the appropriate tool in the Font, Alignment, or Number groups.

Using these tools is very intuitive, and the best way to familiarize yourself with them is to experiment. Enter some data, select some cells, and then click the controls to change the appearance. Note that some of these controls are actually drop-down lists. Click the small arrow on the button, and the button expands to display your choices.

# Using the Mini toolbar

When you right-click a cell or a range selection, you get a shortcut menu. In addition, the Mini toolbar appears above the shortcut menu. Figure 6.2 shows how this toolbar looks.

#### FIGURE 6.2

The Mini toolbar appears above the right-click shortcut menu.



The Mini toolbar contains controls for common formatting:

- Font
- Font Size
- Increase Font
- Decrease Font
- Accounting Number Format
- Percent Style
- Comma Style
- Format Painter
- Bold
- Italic
- Center
- Borders
- Fill Color
- Font Color
- Increase Decimal
- Decrease Decimal
- Merge & Center

If you use a tool on the Mini toolbar, the shortcut menu disappears, but the toolbar remains visible so you can apply other formatting if you like. Also, notice that after you use it, the Mini toolbar gradually fades away if you move the mouse pointer away from it. To hide the Mini toolbar, just click in any cell.

Some people find the Mini toolbar distracting. Unfortunately, Excel does not provide an option to turn it off. The Excel Options dialog box does offer the Show Mini Toolbar on Selection option, but this option applies only to selecting text while editing a cell.

## Tip

If you really want to disable the Mini toolbar, you can execute this VBA statement in the Immediate window of the Visual Basic Editor (VBE):

```
Application.ShowMenuFloaties = True
```

Yes, setting the property to True is completely counter-intuitive! But it works. You need to execute this statement only one time, and Excel remembers the setting between sessions. If you change your mind, execute that statement again, but change True to False.

# Using the Format Cells dialog box

The formatting controls available on the Home tab of the Ribbon are sufficient most of the time, but some types of formatting require that you use the Format Cells dialog box. This tabbed dialog box lets you apply nearly any type of stylistic formatting, as well as number formatting. The formats that you choose in the Format Cells dialog box apply to the cells that you have selected at the time. Later sections in this chapter cover the tabs of the Format Cells dialog box.

### Note

# When you use the Format Cells dialog box, you don't see the effects of your formatting choices until you click OK. ■

After selecting the cell or range to format, you can display the Format Cells dialog box by using any of the following methods:

- Press Ctrl+1.
- Click the dialog box launcher in Home ➡ Font, Home ➡ Alignment, or Home ➡ Number. (The dialog box launcher is the small downward-pointing arrow icon displayed to the right of the group name in the Ribbon.) When you display the Format Cells dialog box using a dialog box launcher, the dialog box is displayed with the appropriate tab visible.
- Right-click the selected cell or range and choose Format Cells from the shortcut menu.
- Click the More command in some of the drop-down controls in the Ribbon. For example, the Home ➡ Font ➡ Border ➡ More Borders drop-down includes an item named More Borders.

The Format Cells dialog box contains six tabs: Number, Alignment, Font, Border, Patterns, and Protection. The following sections contain more information about the formatting options available in this dialog box.

# Using Different Fonts to Format Your Worksheet

You can use different fonts, sizes, or text attributes in your worksheets to make various parts — such as the headers for a table — stand out. You also can adjust the font size. For example, using a smaller font allows for more information on a single page.

By default, Excel uses 11 point (pt) Calibri font. A *font* is described by its typeface (Calibri, Cambria, Arial, Times New Roman, Courier New, and so on), as well as by its size, measured in points. (Seventy-two pt equal one inch.) Excel's row height, by default, is 15 pt. Therefore, 11 pt type entered into 15 pt rows leaves a small amount of blank space between the characters in adjacent rows.

# Tip

If you've not manually changed a row's height, Excel automatically adjusts the row height based on the tallest text that you enter into the row. ■

# Updating Old Fonts \_\_\_\_

Office 2007 introduced several new fonts, and the default font has been changed for all the Office applications. In versions prior to Excel 2007, the default font was 10 pt Arial. In Excel 2007 and Excel 2010, the default font for the Office theme is 11 pt Calibri. Most people will agree that Calibri is much easier to read, and it gives the worksheet a more modern appearance.

If you open a workbook created in a pre-Excel 2007 version, the default font will not be changed, even if you apply a document style (by choosing Page Layout  $\Rightarrow$  Themes  $\Rightarrow$  Themes). But here's an easy way to update the fonts in a workbook that was created using an older version of Excel:

- 1. Press Ctrl+N to open a new, empty workbook. The new workbook will use the default document theme.
- 2. Open your old workbook file.
- 4. In the Merge Styles dialog box, select the new workbook that you created in Step 1.
- 5. Click OK.
- 6. Click Yes in response to Excel's question regarding merging styles that have the same name.

This technique changes the font and size for all unformatted cells. If you've applied font formatting to some cells (for example, made them bold), the font for those cells will not be changed (but you can change the font manually). If you don't like the new look of your workbook, just close the workbook without saving the changes.

### Tip

If you plan to distribute a workbook to other users, you should stick with the standard fonts that are included with Windows or Microsoft Office. If you open a workbook and your system doesn't have the font with which the workbook was created, Windows attempts to use a similar font. Sometimes this attempt works okay, and sometimes it doesn't. ■

Use the Font and Font Size tools on the Home tab of the Ribbon (or on the Mini toolbar) to change the font or size for selected cells.

You also can use the Font tab in the Format Cells dialog box to choose fonts, as shown in Figure 6.3. This tab enables you to control several other font attributes that aren't available elsewhere. Besides choosing the font, you can change the font style (bold, italic), underlining, color, and effects (strikethrough, superscript, or subscript). If you select the Normal Font check box, Excel displays the selections for the font defined for the Normal style. I discuss styles later in this chapter. See "Using Named Styles for Easier Formatting."

#### FIGURE 6.3

The Font tab of the Format Cells dialog box gives you many additional font attribute options.

(M)		rget style:	2001
Tatana 12 Synton 19 Sinten 19 Tardello 12 Tardello 12 Teen	_	Rogular Bold Disci Italic	14 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
gr Teron Light. Inderline:		Quier:	
lione .	*		<ul> <li>Bonal fact</li> </ul>
Cflotta		Provines	
Dotefreich			
5.percolat		AaE	BbCcYyZz
Subscript.			
his is a fruefype feat. The same	e font will be used	fen bóth year print	or and your servers.

Figure 6.4 shows several different examples of font formatting. In this figure, gridlines were turned off to make the underlining more visible. Notice, in the figure, that Excel provides four different underlining styles. In the two non-accounting underline styles, only the cell contents are underlined. In the two accounting underline styles, the entire width of the cells is always underlined.

#### FIGURE 6.4

You can choose many different font-formatting options for your worksheets.

	n	11	li li	
1	Large and Bold		Fonts come in many varieties	
z	Large and Italic		Fonts come in many varieties	
,	Single Underline		Fonts come in many varieties	
4	Double Underline		Fonts come in many varieties	
5	Single Accounting Underline		Fonts come in many varieties	
	Double Accounting Underline		FONTS COMO IN MANY VARIATIOS	
7	Supersoript x <sup>1</sup>		Fonts come in many varieties	
	Subscript x <sub>2</sub>		Foëti evme in many varietiei	
2	itrikotiwangh		Fonts come in many varieties	
100				

If you prefer to keep your hands on the keyboard, you can use the following shortcut keys to format a selected range quickly:

- Ctrl+B: Bold
- Ctrl+I: Italic
- Ctrl+U: Underline
- **Ctrl+5**: Strikethrough

These shortcut keys act as a toggle. For example, you can turn bold on and off by repeatedly pressing Ctrl+B.

### Note

Beginning with Excel 2007, the Document Themes feature attempts to assist nondesigners in creating attractive worksheets. I discuss document themes later in this chapter. See "Understanding Document Themes." ■

# Using Multiple Formatting Styles in a Single Cell.

If a cell contains text (as opposed to a value or a formula), Excel also enables you to format individual characters in the cell. To do so, switch to Edit mode (press F2, or double-click the cell) and then select the characters that you want to format. You can select characters either by dragging the mouse over them or by pressing the Shift key as you press the left- or right-arrow key.

After you select the characters for format, use any of the standard formatting techniques. The changes apply only to the selected characters in the cell. This technique doesn't work with cells that contain values or formulas.

# **Changing Text Alignment**

The contents of a cell can be aligned horizontally and vertically. By default, Excel aligns numbers to the right and text to the left. All cells use bottom alignment, by default.

Overriding these defaults is a simple matter. The most commonly used alignment commands are in the Alignment group on the Home tab of the Ribbon. Use the Alignment tab of the Format Cells dialog box for even more options (see Figure 6.5).

#### FIGURE 6.5

The full range of alignment options are available on the Alignment tab of the Format Cells dialog box.

Format Calls		
Number (Approxit) Faul Barder Fill Protection		
Text algoment	oner	anter -
Environtal: Left Sincken() 2etKoli Center Duttfy dottbutted Text control Synop text Streng so fit	T t t	Text
Bylvan colla Rylvan left Best directore Context		
	OK.	Carved

# **Choosing horizontal alignment options**

Horizontal alignment options, which control how cell contents are distributed across the width of the cell (or cells), are available from the Format Cells dialog box:

- **General:** Aligns numbers to the right, aligns text to the left, and centers logical and error values. This option is the default alignment.
- Left: Aligns the cell contents to the left side of the cell. If the text is wider than the cell, the text spills over to the cell on the right. If the cell on the right isn't empty, the text is truncated and not completely visible. Also available on the Ribbon.

- **Center:** Centers the cell contents in the cell. If the text is wider than the cell, the text spills over to cells on either side if they're empty. If the adjacent cells aren't empty, the text is truncated and not completely visible. Also available on the Ribbon.
- **Right:** Aligns the cell contents to the right side of the cell. If the text is wider than the cell, the text spills over to the cell on the left. If the cell on the left isn't empty, the text is truncated and not completely visible. Also available on the Ribbon.
- Fill: Repeats the contents of the cell until the cell's width is filled. If cells to the right also are formatted with Fill alignment, they also are filled.
- **Justify:** Justifies the text to the left and right of the cell. This option is applicable only if the cell is formatted as wrapped text and uses more than one line.
- **Center across Selection:** Centers the text over the selected columns. This option is useful for precisely centering a heading over a number of columns.
- **Distributed**: Distributes the text evenly across the selected column.

### Note

If you choose Left, Right, or Distributed, you can also adjust the Indent setting, which adds space between the cell border and the text. ■

Figure 6.6 shows examples of text that uses three types of horizontal alignment: Left, Justify, and Distributed (with an indent).

### On the CD

If you would like to experiment with text alignment settings, this workbook is available on the companion CD-ROM. The file is named text alignment.xlsx.

#### FIGURE 6.6

The same text, displayed with three types of horizontal alignment.

1			
2 64	k internet in the second se		
		Autily	Distributed (with indext)
3			
2228	ar score and seven years ago our hers brought forth on this continent, o w sature, concerved in Liberty, and clicated to the proposition that all men clicated such	Your score and seven years ago our forhers brought forth on this continent, a teek nation, concerved in Liberty, and dedicated to the propertion that all men tee constructions.	Four some and sever years ago our failures brought forth on this contrart, is new nation, conserved in Uberty, and dedicated to the proposition that all men are created equal.
2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	as you are segregated in a great chieff away, thing whether that nation, or any tien so remedient and so clerificated, is long endows, me are not on a great the-facilit of that way. We have come cleakasts a particular of that thief, as a al resting place for those who have we then these that that nation regist as it is alregated fitting and proper it we choosid do that.	View over are sengaged in a great rivil row, setting whether that nation, or any nation so removined and se dedicated, can long endure, we are need on a great hethe-field of that next. We have teme to deduct a partner of that field, is a final resting plane for those who have gave these lives that that nation regit ine. It is alreptime fitting, and proper that we chaude do this.	Now we are engaged in a great civil now, training solutions that nation, ne any notice to conceived and so dedicated, san long enders. We are not on a great battle-field of that now, We have come to dedicate a partoe of that field, so final netting place for those who have give their lases that that nation inglist line, it is allogether fitting and proper their we should do that.

# **Choosing vertical alignment options**

Vertical alignment options typically aren't used as often as the horizontal alignment options. In fact, these settings are useful only if you've adjusted row heights so that they're considerably taller than normal.

Vertical alignment options available in the Format Cells dialog box are

- Top: Aligns the cell contents to the top of the cell. Also available on the Ribbon.
- Center: Centers the cell contents vertically in the cell. Also available on the Ribbon.
- Bottom: Aligns the cell contents to the bottom of the cell. Also available on the Ribbon.
- Justify: Justifies the text vertically in the cell; this option is applicable only if the cell is formatted as wrapped text and uses more than one line. This setting can be used to increase the line spacing.
- **Distributed:** Distributes the text evenly vertically in the cell. This setting seems to have the same effect as Justify.

# Wrapping or shrinking text to fit the cell

If you have text too wide to fit the column width but don't want that text to spill over into adjacent cells, you can use either the Wrap Text option or the Shrink to Fit option to accommodate that text. The Wrap Text control is also available on the Ribbon.

The Wrap Text option displays the text on multiple lines in the cell, if necessary. Use this option to display lengthy headings without having to make the columns too wide, and without reducing the size of the text.

The Shrink to Fit option reduces the size of the text so that it fits into the cell without spilling over to the next cell. Usually, it's easier to make this adjustment manually.

### Note

If you apply Wrap Text formatting to a cell, you can't use the Shrink to Fit formatting.

# Merging worksheet cells to create additional text space

Excel also enables you to merge two or more cells. When you merge cells, you don't combine the contents of cells. Rather, you combine a group of cells into a single cell that occupies the same space. The worksheet shown in Figure 6.7 contains four sets of merged cells. For example, range C2:I2 has been merged into a single cell, and so has range J2:P2. In addition, ranges B4:B8 and B9:B13 have also been merged. In the latter two cases, the text direction has been changed (see "Displaying text at an angle," later in this chapter).

#### FIGURE 6.7

Merge worksheet cells to make them act as if they were a single cell.

	Week 1					Week 2								
	1	2	3	4	5	6	2	1	2	10	11	12	11	14
	79	-44	78	25	- 99	35	63	- 58	- 51	35	- 55	- 59	19	- 83
Ξ.	- 60	- 640	90	100	39	83	- 4	10	10	47	28	- 89	- 80	100
18	21	- 96	- 26	45	89	- 77	23	22	- 29	- 99	47	- 16	- 9	68
8	82	- 818	12	32	32	30	411	40	72	24	8.8	-83	- 2	- 44
	50	-42	- 75	72	34	80	-55	- 57	- 06	- 9	- 79	13	- 7	- 97
	0	-83	- 14	- 11	8	- 95	1	- 59	78	65	80	71	65	- 83
100	34	18	10	08	39	33	112		17	77	12	- 88	77	- 27
	- 22	- 20	- 55	-64	65	34	- 1	71	- 3	- 60	- 54	- 60	1.5	1.5
ē.	49		62	$\pi$	41	34	- 20		34	- 60	82	28	18	25
	35	-91	49	- 29	30	30	6	- 4	68	90	42	63	16	- 115

You can merge any number of cells occupying any number of rows and columns. In fact, you can merge all 17,179,869,184 cells in a worksheet into a single cell — although I can't think of any good reason to do so, except maybe to play a trick on a co-worker.

The range that you intend to merge should be empty, except for the upper-left cell. If any of the other cells that you intend to merge are not empty, Excel displays a warning. If you continue, all the data (except in the upper-left cell) will be deleted. To avoid deleting data, click Cancel in response to the warning.

You can use the Alignment tab of the Format Cells dialog box to merge cells, but using the Merge & Center control on the Ribbon (or on the Mini toolbar) is simpler. To merge cells, select the cells that you want to merge and then click the Merge & Center button. The cells will be merged, and the content in the upper-left cells will be centered horizontally. The Merge & Center button acts as a toggle. To unmerge cells, select the merged cells and click the Merge & Center button again.

After you merge cells, you can change the alignment to something other than Center.

The Home r Alignment r Merge & Center control contains a drop-down list with these additional options:

- Merge Across: When a multirow range is selected, this command creates multiple merged cells one for each row.
- Merge Cells: Merges the selected cells without applying the Center attribute.
- Unmerge Cells: Unmerges the selected cells.

# Displaying text at an angle

In some cases, you may want to create more visual impact by displaying text at an angle within a cell. You can display text horizontally, vertically, or at an angle between 90 degrees up and 90 degrees down.

From the Home ➡ Alignment ➡ Orientation drop-down list, you can apply the most common text angles. For more control, use the Alignment tab of the Format Cells dialog box. In the Format Cells dialog box (refer to Figure 6-5), use the Degrees spinner control — or just drag the pointer in the gauge. You can specify a text angle between –90 and +90 degrees.

Figure 6.8 shows an example of text displayed at a 45-degree angle.

### Note

Rotated text may look a bit distorted onscreen, but the printed output is usually of much better quality. ■

#### FIGURE 6.8

Rotate text for additional visual impact.

	A	8	C	D	1	F.	G	н	
3									
2			_						
3			as'	653	650	650	1.00		
4		North	854	852	903	784	3,373		
3		South	897	440	879	983	3.199		
6		East	109	98	251	211	699		
$\tau$		West	87	98	130	89	384		
8		Total	1,947	1,498	2,187	2,067	7,645		
9									
10									
1.1									

# **Controlling the text direction**

Not all languages use the same character direction. Although most Western languages are read left to right, other languages are read right to left. You can use the Text Direction option to select the appropriate setting for the language you use. This command is available only in the Alignment tab of the Format Cells dialog box.

Don't confuse the Text Direction setting with the Orientation setting (discussed in the previous section). Changing the text orientation is common. Changing the text direction is used only in very specific situations.

### Note

Changing the Text Direction setting won't have any effect unless you have the proper language drivers installed on your system. For example, you must install Japanese language support from the Office CD-ROM to use right-to-left text direction Japanese characters. ■

### **New Feature**

Use the Language tab of the Excel Options dialog box to determine which languages are installed. ■

# **Using Colors and Shading**

Excel provides the tools to create some very colorful worksheets. You can change the color of the text or add colors to the backgrounds of the worksheet cells.

### Note

Prior to Excel 2007, workbooks were limited to a palette of 56 colors. Excel 2010 allows a virtually unlimited number of colors. ■

You control the color of the cell's text by choosing Home  $\Rightarrow$  Font  $\Rightarrow$  Font Color. Control the cell's background color by choosing Home  $\Rightarrow$  Font  $\Rightarrow$  Fill Color. Both of these color controls are also available on the Mini toolbar, which appears when you right-click a cell or range.

# Tip

To hide the contents of a cell, make the background color the same as the font text color. The cell contents are still visible in the Formula bar when you select the cell. Keep in mind, however, that some printers may override this setting, and the text may be visible when printed. ■

Even though you have access to an unlimited number of colors, you might want to stick with the ten theme colors (and their light/dark variations) displayed in the various color selection controls. In other words, avoid using the More Color option, which lets you select a color. Why? First of all, those ten colors were chosen because they "go together" (well, at least *somebody* thought they did). Another reason involves document themes. If you switch to a different document theme for your workbook, nontheme colors aren't changed. In some cases, the result may be less than pleasing, aesthetically. See "Understanding Document Themes," later in this chapter, for more information about themes.

# Using Colors with Table Styles\_

In Chapter 5, I discuss the handy Table feature. One advantage to using tables is that it's very easy to apply table styles. You can change the look of your table with a single mouse click.

It's important to understand how table styles work with existing formatting. A simple rule is that applying a style to a table doesn't override existing formatting. For example, assume that you have a range of data that uses yellow as the background color for the cells. When you convert that range to a table (by choosing Insert range Tables range), the default table style (alternating row colors) isn't visible. Rather, the table will display the previously applied yellow background.

To make table styles visible with this table, you need to remove the manually applied background cell colors. Select the entire table and then choose Home I Font I Color I No Fill.

You can apply any type of formatting to a table, and that formatting will override the table style formatting. For example, you may want to make a particular cell stand out by using a different fill color.

# **Adding Borders and Lines**

Borders (and lines within the borders) are another visual enhancement that you can add around groups of cells. Borders are often used to group a range of similar cells or to delineate rows or columns. Excel offers 13 preset styles of borders, as you can see in the Home  $\Rightarrow$  Font  $\Rightarrow$  Borders drop-down list shown in Figure 6.9. This control works with the selected cell or range and enables you to specify which, if any, border style to use for each border of the selection.

#### FIGURE 6.9

Use the Borders drop-down list to add lines around worksheet cells.



You may prefer to draw borders rather than select a preset border style. To do so, use the Draw Border or Draw Border Grid command from the Home  $\Rightarrow$  Font  $\Rightarrow$  Borders drop-down list. Selecting either command lets you create borders by dragging your mouse. Use the Line Color or Line Style commands to change the color or style. When you're finished drawing borders, press Esc to cancel the border-drawing mode.

Another way to apply borders is to use the Border tab of the Format Cells dialog box, which is shown in Figure 6.10. One way to display this dialog box is to select More Borders from the Borders drop-down list.

#### FIGURE 6.10

Use the Border tab of the Format Cells dialog box for more control over cell borders.

render v. ann.	- V - M
kaber Mannet	Fant Derber Fill Protection
une	Presets
gole: Qole: Adomatic X	Border
The selected border style Brave.	can be applied by cicking the presents, preview diagram or the buttons

Before you display the Format Cells dialog box, select the cell or range to which you want to add borders. First, choose a line style and then choose the border position for the line style by clicking one of the Border icons (these icons are toggles).

Notice that the Border tab has three preset icons, which can save you some clicking. If you want to remove all borders from the selection, click None. To put an outline around the selection, click Outline. To put borders inside the selection, click Inside.

Excel displays the selected border style in the dialog box; there is no live preview. You can choose different styles for different border positions; you can also choose a color for the border. Using this dialog box may require some experimentation, but you'll get the hang of it.

When you apply diagonal lines to a cell or range, the selection looks like it has been crossed out.

### Tip

If you use border formatting in your worksheet, you may want to turn off the grid display to make the borders more pronounced. Choose View ⇔ Show ⇔ Gridlines to toggle the gridline display.

# Adding a Background Image to a Worksheet

Excel also enables you to choose a graphics file to serve as a background for a worksheet. This effect is similar to the wallpaper that you may display on your Windows desktop or as a background for a Web page.

To add a background to a worksheet, choose Page Layout ⇔ Page Setup ⇔ Background. Excel displays a dialog box that enables you to select a graphics file; all common graphic file formats are supported. When you locate a file, click Insert. Excel tiles the graphic across your worksheet. Some images are specifically designed to be tiled, such as the one shown in Figure 6.11. This type of image is often used for Web page backgrounds, and it creates a seamless background.

#### FIGURE 6.11

You can add almost any image file as a worksheet background image.



### On the CD

This workbook, named background image.xlsx, is available on the companion CD-ROM. ■

You also want to turn off the gridline display because the gridlines show through the graphic. Some backgrounds make viewing text difficult, so you may want to use a solid background color for cells that contain text.

Keep in mind that using a background image will increase the size of your workbook. This may be a consideration if you plan to e-mail the workbook to others.

### Note

The graphic background on a worksheet is for onscreen display only — it isn't printed when you print the worksheet. ■

# Copying Formats by Painting\_

Perhaps the quickest way to copy the formats from one cell to another cell or range is to use the Format Painter button (the button with the paintbrush image) of the Home  $\Rightarrow$  Clipboard group.

- 1. Select the cell or range that has the formatting attributes you want to copy.
- 2. Click the Format Painter button. The mouse pointer changes to include a paintbrush.
- 3. Select the cells to which you want to apply the formats.
- 4. Release the mouse button, and Excel applies the same set of formatting options that were in the original range.

If you double-click the Format Painter button, you can paint multiple areas of the worksheet with the same formats. Excel applies the formats that you copy to each cell or range that you select. To get out of Paint mode, click the Format Painter button again (or press Esc).

# **Using Named Styles for Easier Formatting**

One of the most underutilized features in Excel is named styles. Named styles make it very easy to apply a set of predefined formatting options to a cell or range. In addition to saving time, using named styles also helps to ensure a consistent look.

A style can consist of settings for up to six different attributes:

- Number format
- Font (type, size, and color)
- Alignment (vertical and horizontal)
- Borders
- Pattern
- Protection (locked and hidden)

The real power of styles is apparent when you change a component of a style. All cells which use that named style automatically incorporate the change. Suppose that you apply a particular style to a dozen cells scattered throughout your worksheet. Later, you realize that these cells should have a font size of 14 pt rather than 12 pt. Rather than change each cell, simply edit the style. All cells with that particular style change automatically.

# **Applying styles**

Beginning with Excel 2007, the style feature has been revamped significantly, and Excel now includes a good selection of predefined named styles that work in conjunction with document themes. Figure 6.12 shows the effect of choosing Home  $\Rightarrow$  Styles  $\Rightarrow$  Cell Styles. Note that this display is a *live preview:* that is, as you move your mouse over the style choices, the selected cell or range temporarily displays the style. When you see a style you like, click it to apply the style to the selection.

### Note

If Excel's window is wide enough, you won't see the Cell Styles command in the Ribbon. Rather, you will see four or more formatted style boxes. Click the drop-down arrow to the right of these boxes to display all the defined styles.

#### FIGURE 6.12

Excel displays samples of available cell styles.

Grout, Red and Her	ukal					B
Normal	Bed	Good	Neutral			
Bala and Model						
Colculation	Cherk Cell	Splanatory -	Input	UnivertiCell	Note	
Output	WarringText					
Titles and Heading	8					
Heading 1	Heading 2	Heading 2	Heading 4	Title	Total	
I NOTICE LOT MUNC						
20% - Accenti	20% - Accent2	29% - Accenta	20% - AccentH	20% - Accent5	30% - AccentS	
49% - ALLWAL	Whi - Accentz	10% - Accents	48% - Accenter	40N - Accenta	40N - Asserts	
60% - ALLW 11.	67% - Acces 12	62% - 5009731	60% - Accesta	achi - Accesta	with - Assessments	l
derard 1	Arrand 2	Arrent's	limenti.	Jerewil.	Arrenti	i.
Mumber Permat						
Commente	Comme 110	Currency	Currency (R)	Percent		B
Sal (per Cel Byle Sal (Series States)	-					

### Note

By default, all cells use the Normal style. If you modify the Normal style, all cells that haven't been assigned a different style will reflect the new formatting. ■

After you apply a style to a cell, you can apply additional formatting to it by using any formatting method discussed in this chapter. Formatting modifications that you make to the cell don't affect other cells that use the same style.

You have quite a bit of control over styles. In fact, you can do any of the following:

- Modify an existing style.
- Create a new style.
- Merge styles from another workbook into the active workbook.

The following sections describe these procedures.

# Modifying an existing style

To change an existing style, choose Home  $\Rightarrow$  Styles  $\Rightarrow$  Cell Styles. Right-click the style you want to modify and choose Modify from the shortcut menu. Excel displays the Style dialog box, shown in Figure 6.13. In this example, the Style dialog box shows the settings for the Office theme Normal style — which is the default style for all cells. The style definitions vary, depending on which document theme is active.

#### FIGURE 6.13

Use the Style dialog box to modify named styles.

Style	
Style name: 10	rná
	Romat.
Style indudes	
🗵 Banber	General
2 Algement	General, Bottom Aligned
2 East	Calbri (Body) 11, Text 1
2 Border	Na flacities
219	No Sheding
2 Pyrioction	Lodwell
	OK Carved

Here's a quick example of how you can use styles to change the default font used throughout your workbook.

- **1.** Choose Home ➡ Styles ➡ Cell Styles. Excels displays the list of styles for the active workbook.
- **2. Right-click Normal and choose Modify**. Excel displays the Style dialog box (Figure 6-13), with the current settings for the Normal style.
- 3. Click the Format button. Excel displays the Format Cells dialog box.
- 4. Click the Font tab and choose the font and size that you want as the default.
- 5. Click OK to return to the Style dialog box.
- 6. Click OK again to close the Style dialog box.

The font for all cells that use the Normal style changes to the font that you specified. You can change any formatting attributes for any style.

# **Creating new styles**

In addition to using Excel's built-in styles, you can create your own styles. This flexibility can be quite handy because it enables you to apply your favorite formatting options very quickly and consistently.

To create a new style, follow these steps:

- **1.** Select a cell and apply all the formatting that you want to include in the new style. You can use any of the formatting that is available in the Format Cells dialog box (refer to Figures 6-3 and 6-5).
- **3.** Enter a new style name in the Style Name field. The check boxes display the current formats for the cell. By default, all check boxes are selected.
- **4.** (Optional) If you don't want the style to include one or more format categories, remove the check(s) from the appropriate check box(es).
- 5. Click OK to create the style and to close the dialog box.

After you perform these steps, the new custom style is available when you choose Home 
Styles 
Cell Styles. Custom styles are available only in the workbook in which they were created. To copy your custom styles to another workbook, see the section that follows.

### Note

The Protection option in the Style dialog box controls whether users will be able to modify cells for the selected style. This option is effective only if you've also turned on worksheet protection, by choosing Review ⇔ Changes ⇔ Protect Sheet. ■

## Merging styles from other workbooks

Custom styles are stored with the workbook in which they were created. If you've created some custom styles, you probably don't want to go through all the work to create copies of those styles in each new Excel workbook. A better approach is to merge the styles from a workbook in which you previously created them.

To merge styles from another workbook, open both the workbook that contains the styles that you want to merge and the workbook into which you want to merge styles. From the workbook into which you want to merge styles, choose Home  $\Rightarrow$  Styles  $\Rightarrow$  Cell Styles and choose Merge Styles. Excel displays the Merge Styles dialog box that shows a list of all open workbooks. Select the workbook that contains the styles you want to merge and click OK. Excel copies styles from the workbook that you selected into the active workbook.
# Tip

You may want to create a master workbook that contains all your custom styles so that you always know which workbook to merge styles from. ■

# **Controlling styles with templates**

When you start Excel, it loads with several default settings, including the settings for stylistic formatting. If you spend a lot of time changing the default elements, you should know about templates.

Here's an example. You may prefer that gridlines aren't displayed in worksheets. And maybe you prefer Wrap Text to be the default setting for alignment. Templates provide an easy way to change defaults.

The trick is to create a workbook with the Normal style modified to the way that you want it. Then, save the workbook as a template in your XLStart folder. After doing so, you choose Office r New to display a dialog box from which you can choose the template for the new workbook. Template files also can store other named styles, providing you with an excellent way to give your workbooks a consistent look.

### **Cross-Reference**

Chapter 8 discusses templates in detail. ■

# **Understanding Document Themes**

To help users create more professional-looking documents, the Office designers incorporated a concept known as *document themes*. Using themes is an easy (and almost foolproof) way to specify the colors, fonts, and a variety of graphic effects in a document. And best of all, changing the entire look of your document is a breeze. A few mouse clicks is all it takes to apply a different theme and change the look of your workbook.

Importantly, the concept of themes is incorporated into other Office 2010 (and Office 2007) applications. Therefore, a company can easily create a standard look and feel for all its documents.

## Note

Themes don't override specific formatting that you apply. For example, assume that you apply the Accent 1– named style to a range. Then you use the Fill Color control to change the background color of that range. If you change to a different theme, the manually applied fill color will not be modified. Bottom line? If you plan to take advantage of themes, stick with default formatting choices. ■

Figure 6.14 shows a worksheet that contains a SmartArt diagram, a table, a chart, and range formatted with the Heading 1–named style. These items all use the default theme, which is the Office Theme.

#### FIGURE 6.14

The elements in this worksheet use the default theme.



Figure 6.15 shows the same worksheet after applying a different document theme. The different theme changed the fonts, colors (which may not be apparent in the figure), and the graphic effects for the SmartArt diagram.

### On the CD

If you'd like to experiment with using various themes, the workbook shown in Figures 6.14 and 6.15 is available on the companion CD-ROM. The file is named theme examples.xlsx.

#### FIGURE 6.15

The worksheet, after applying a different theme.

_	A				Mon	thly	Sale	5	
Sprace		6Mgers .		Witercelarts Witercelarts					
Contraction of the	-/ 1		344.1						
	V		409					12	12
			400		-		12	- 10	-10
			1.00	125	10	-			-18
In case of the local division of the	PERSONAL PROPERTY AND	The second s	in the	10		10			18
hart -	115	111	100						
1.46	**5	234	200					- 75	- 02
Mar	158	190	101	02	122	-522	10	10	10
Apt	754	745		16					10
(Hay)	164	389		75	15	18	- 88	- 55	- 11
3.07	1/8	175		1.1.1				-	
Tetal	848	1415		1.45	1.046	M41	- 10	1441	100

# Applying a theme

Figure 6.16 shows the theme choices that appear when you choose Page r Layout r Themes r Themes. This display is a live preview. (While you move your mouse over the theme choices, the active worksheet displays the theme.) When you see a theme you like, click it to apply the theme to all worksheets in the workbook.

### Note

A theme applies to the entire workbook. You can't use different themes on different worksheets within a workbook. ■

#### FIGURE 6.16

Built-in Excel theme choices.

848.51				8
Aa	A.a. 	Aa	Aa 	
Aa	As T	Aa	Aa Fronty	
Ag	Aa	An	An	
Aa	Aa	Aa	Aa tunto	
Aa	A	Aa	Ao.	
Datie Specia Specia Specia	Content Opda for Themes. most Themes	in ner griz	Ordent.	

When you specify a particular theme, the gallery choices for various elements reflect the new theme. For example, the chart styles that you can choose from vary, depending on which theme is active.

Because themes use different fonts and font sizes, changing to a different theme may affect the layout of your worksheet. For example, after applying a new theme, a worksheet that printed on a single page may spill over to a second page. Therefore, you may need to make some adjustments after you apply a new theme.

# **Customizing a theme**

Notice that the Themes group on the Page Layout tab contains three other controls: Colors, Fonts, and Effects. You can use these controls to change just one of the three components of a theme. For example, if you like the Urban theme but would prefer different fonts, apply the Urban theme and then specify your preferred font set by choosing Page Layout the Themes the Font.

Each theme uses two fonts (one for headers, and one for the body), and in some cases, these two fonts are the same. If none of the theme choices is suitable, choose Page Layout I Themes I Font I Create New Theme Fonts to specify the two fonts you prefer (see Figure 6.17).

#### FIGURE 6.17

Use this dialog box to specify two fonts for a theme.

Create New Thoma Fonts	9 HO
Latin text	
Gending tour (Later):	Sampre
Cambria *	Heading
gody first (Later):	flody text body text body text.
Calbri .	Cody text body text.
Complex script Heading font (Complex script): Bedy fant (Sonales, script):	Semple כותרית יורינסו בר הטקסו בר יורינסו בר הטקסו בר יורינסו בר הטקסו בר יורינסו בר הטקסו בר
Bene: Witten	Same Cancel

# Tip

#### When you choose Home ⇔ Fonts ⇔ Font, the two fonts for the current theme are listed first in the dropdown list. ■

Choose Page Layout ➡ Themes ➡ Colors to select a different set of colors. And, if you're so inclined, you can even create a custom set of colors by choosing Page Layout ➡ Themes ➡ Colors ➡ Create New Theme Colors. This command displays the Create New Theme Colors dialog box, shown in Figure 6.18. Note that each theme consists of 12 colors. Four of the colors are for text and backgrounds, six are for accents, and two are for hyperlinks. As you specify different colors, the preview panel in the dialog box updates.

#### FIGURE 6.18

If you're feeling creative, you can specify a set of custom colors for a theme.

Create New Therne Colors		- 1 B.B
Theme calors	Sample	
TextBackground - Dark 1	• Text	Text
Text/Background - Light 1		
Textitacignound - gani 2		0
Text/Background - Light 2	n aite a	allin –
Alleri j	- Boords	Reperies
Accent 2		<b>Homits</b>
Allenig		
Accent g		
Allenia		
Accent 6		
Dypetrik I	•	
Extend Hyperink		
See. Street		
	Save	Carvel

### Note

Theme effects operate on graphic elements, such as SmartArt, Shapes, and charts. You can't customize theme effects. ■

If you've customized a theme using different fonts or colors, you can save the new theme by choosing Page Layout in Themes in Save Current Theme. Your customized themes appear in the theme list in the Custom category. Other Office applications, such as Word and PowerPoint, can use these theme files.

# CHAPTER

# Understanding Excel Files

**E** xcel, of course, uses files to store its workbooks. This chapter describes the operations that you perform with workbook files: opening, saving, closing, deleting, and so on. It discusses how Excel uses files and provides an overview of the various types of files. Most of the file operations discussed here occur in the new *Backstage View*, the screen that you see when you click File on the Excel Ribbon.

This chapter also discusses the Excel 2007 and Excel 2010 file formats and describes how to determine what (if anything) will be lost if you save your workbook in an earlier file format.

As you read through this chapter, remember that you can have any number of workbooks open simultaneously, and that only one workbook is the active workbook at any given time. The workbook's name appears in its title bar (or in the Excel title bar if the workbook is maximized).

# **Creating a New Workbook**

When you start Excel normally, it automatically creates a new (empty) workbook called Book1. This workbook exists only in memory and has not been saved to disk. By default, this workbook consists of three worksheets named Sheet1, Sheet2, and Sheet3. If you're starting a project from scratch, you can use this blank workbook.

# **IN THIS CHAPTER**

Creating a new workbook

**Opening an existing workbook** 

Saving and closing workbooks

Sharing workbooks with those who use an older version of Excel

While you're working in Excel, you can create a new (empty) workbook at any time. Excel provides two ways to create a new workbook:

- Choose File ⇔ New, which displays a screen like the one shown see Figure 7.1. This screen lets you create a blank workbook, a workbook based on a template, or a workbook based on an existing workbook. To create a new blank workbook, select Blank Workbook and then click the Create button.
- Press Ctrl+N. This shortcut is the fastest way to start a new workbook if you're not using a template.

#### FIGURE 7.1

Choosing File INew presents you with options for creating a new workbook.



#### **Cross-Reference**

See Chapter 8 for more information about using and creating templates. ■

# Starting Excel without an Empty Workbook.

If you prefer to avoid the empty workbook displayed when Excel starts up, edit the command line used to start Excel. You need to create a new shortcut to excel.exe and then modify the properties:

1. Use Windows Explorer and locate the excel.exe program. The default location is

C:\Program Files\Microsoft Office\Office14\

- 2. Pressing and holding the right mouse button, drag the excel.exe filename (or icon) to your desktop and then release the mouse button.
- **3.** From the shortcut menu that appears, choose Create Shortcuts Here. Windows creates a new shortcut icon on your desktop.
- 4. Right-click the shortcut icon and choose Properties.
- 5. In the Properties dialog box that appears, click the Shortcut tab.
- 6. Edit the Target field by adding a space, followed by /e, to the end. For example:

"C:\Program Files\Microsoft Office\Office14\EXCEL.EXE" /e

- **7.** (**Optional**) **Specify a shortcut key.** If you provide a shortcut key, you can use that keystroke combination to start or active Excel.
- 8. Click OK.

After making that change, Excel doesn't display an empty workbook when you start it by clicking that shortcut icon. In addition, you won't see the normal "splash" screen.

# **Opening an Existing Workbook**

Following are some of the ways to open a workbook saved on your hard drive:

- Choose File r Recent and then select the file you want from the Recent Workbooks list. Only the most recently used files are listed. You can specify the number of files to display (maximum of 50) in the Advanced section of the Excel Options dialog box.
- Locate the Excel workbook file via a Windows Explorer file list. Just double-click the filename (or icon), and the workbook opens in Excel. If Excel is not running, Windows automatically starts Excel and loads the workbook file.
- Use either of the following methods to display the Open dialog box:
  - Choose File S Open.
  - Press Ctrl+O.

From this dialog box, you can browse your computer for workbooks.

### Tip

When you choose File  $\Rightarrow$  Recent, each file in the recent workbooks list displays a pushpin icon on the right. Click the pushpin icon, and that file becomes "pinned" to the list and will always appear at the top of the list. This handy feature ensures that important files always appear on the recent workbooks list — even if you haven't opened the file recently.

Also, notice that you can right-click a workbook in the list and choose Remove from List. Or, choose Clear Unpinned Items to clear the list and start fresh. ■

The Open dialog box, shown in Figure 7.2, is resizable. To make it larger or smaller, click the lower-right corner and drag. Also, notice that it's virtually identical to a Windows Explorer window. The only difference is that it includes additional controls at the bottom.

### Note

The appearance of the Open dialog box varies, depending on the version of Windows you use. The dialog box in Figure 7.2 shows the Open dialog box when running Windows Vista. ■

#### FIGURE 7.2

Use the Open dialog box to open any of your Excel workbook files.

(s ==					<b>KN</b>
GOAL + Conhage + (	OSICI + FAMI		• + 17 Dest		-
A REAL PROPERTY.	Middle	_		_	and the
Terrer III. Lane III. Difficit Core Haltspace Transment Transme	Name	Cale work?ed 1202000 124 Ped 1202000 126 Ped 12120000 1200 - 1212000 1200 -	Type Manank Offan I., Microed Offan I.,	300 1400 1916 1916 1916 1916 1916 1916 1916 19	
faterer uto	e-Statular		<ul> <li>Attest</li> </ul>	Net Collines, 19	6.7
			Testi + Libert	M Caro	<b>4</b>

To open a workbook from the Open dialog box, use the folder tree display on the left to locate the folder that contains the file, and then select the workbook file from the list on the right. After you locate and select the file, click Open, and the file opens. Or, just double-click the filename to open it.

# About Protected View.

#### **New Feature**

#### Protected View is a new feature in Excel 2010. ■

One of the new features in Excel 2010 is Protected View. Although it might seem like Excel is trying to keep you from opening your own files, protected view is all about protecting you from malware. *Malware* refers to something that can harm your system. Hackers have figured out several way to manipulate Excel files in a way that harmful code can be executed. Protected View essentially prevents these types of attacks by opening a file in a protected environment (a "sandbox").

If you use Excel 2010 to open an Excel workbook that you downloaded from the Web, you'll see a colorful message above the Formula bar. In addition, the Excel title bar displays [Protected View].

If you are certain that the file is safe, click Enable Editing. If you don't enable editing, you will be able to view the contents of the workbook, but you won't be able to make any changes to it.

If the workbook contains macros, you'll see another message after you enable editing: Security Warning. Macros have been disabled. If you are sure that the macros are harmless, click Enable Content.

Protected View kicks in for the following:

- Files downloaded from the Internet
- Attachments opened from Outlook 2010
- Files open from potentially unsafe locations, such as your Temporary Internet Files folder
- File that are blocked by File Block Policy (a feature that allows administrators to define potentially dangerous files)
- Files that were digitally signed, but the signature has expired

In some situations, you don't care about working with the document. You just want to print it. In that case, choose File  $\Rightarrow$  Print, and then click the Enable Printing button.

It would be nice if copying were allowed in Protected View — but it's not. The only way to copy information from a workbook in Protected View is to enable editing.

You have some control over how Protected View works. To change the settings, choose File  $\Rightarrow$  Options, and click Trust Center. Then click the Trust Center Settings button and click the Protected View tab in the Trust Center dialog box.

Notice that the Open button is actually a drop-down list. Click the arrow, and you see the additional options:

- **Open:** Opens the file normally.
- **Open Read-Only:** Opens the selected file in read-only mode. When a file is opened in this mode, you can't save changes with the original filename.

- **Open as Copy:** Opens a copy of the selected file. If the file is named budget.xlsx, the workbook that opens is named Copy (1) budget.xlsx.
- **Open in Browser:** Opens the file in your default Web browser. If the file can't be opened in a browser, this option is disabled.
- **Open in Protected View:** Opens the file in a special mode that does not allow editing. In this view, most of the Excel Ribbon commands are disabled. Read more about this new feature in the sidebar, "About Protected View."
- **Open and Repair:** Attempts to open a file that may be damaged and recover information contained in it.

# Tip

# You can hold down the Ctrl key and select multiple workbooks. When you click Open, all the selected workbook files open. ■

Right-clicking a filename in the Open dialog box displays a shortcut menu with many extra Windows commands. For example, you can copy, delete, or rename the file, modify its properties, and so on.

# **Using the Favorite Links**

Your Favorite Links list appears at the top of the left panel of the Open dialog box. It contains a list of shortcuts to folders on your system. Initially, it's just a partial list of folders, but you can click More to expand the list.

To add a new folder to the Favorite Links section, click the folder in the Open dialog box and drag it into the Favorite Links area. Customizing the Favorite Links section by adding shortcuts to folders that you use frequently can save you lots of clicking.

# **Filtering filenames**

At the bottom of the Open dialog box is a button with a drop-down list. When the Open dialog box is displayed, this button shows All Excel Files (and a long list of file extensions). The Open dialog box displays only those files that match the extensions. In other words, you see only standard Excel files.

If you want to open a file of a different type, click the arrow in the drop-down list and select the file type that you want to open. This changes the filtering and displays only files of the type that you specify.

You can also type a filter directly in the File Name box. For example, typing the following will display only files that have an .xlsx extension (press Enter after typing the filter): \*.xlsx.

# **Opening Workbooks Automatically**

Many people work on the same workbooks each day. If this describes you, you'll be happy to know that Excel can open specific workbook files automatically whenever you start Excel. Any workbooks placed in the XLStart folder open automatically.

The location of the XLStart folder varies, depending on your Windows version. To determine the location of the XLStart folder on your system

- 1. Choose File 🗘 Options and click Trust Center.
- 2. Click the Trust Center Settings button.
- **3.** In the Trust Center dialog box, click the Trusted Locations tab. You'll see a list of trusted locations.
- **4.** Look for the path for the location described as User Startup. The path might look something like this:

C:\Users\<username>\AppData\Roaming\Microsoft\Excel\XLSTART\

Another XLStart folder may be located here:

C:\Program Files\Microsoft Office\Office14\XLStart\

Any workbook files (excluding template files) stored in either of these XLStart folders open automatically when Excel starts. If one or more files open automatically from an XLStart folder, Excel won't start with a blank workbook.

You can specify an alternate startup folder in addition to the XLStart folder. Choose File racce Options and select the Advanced tab. Scroll down to the General section and enter a new folder name in the At Startup, Open All Files In field. Then, when you start Excel, it automatically opens all workbook files in both the XLStart folders and the alternate folder that you specified.

# Choosing your file display preferences

The Open dialog box can display your workbook filenames in several different styles: as a list, with complete details, as icons, and so on. You control the style by clicking the Views icon and then selecting from the drop-down list. The style that you choose is entirely up to you.

# Saving a Workbook

When you're working in Excel, your workbook is vulnerable to day-ruining events such as power failures and system crashes. Therefore, you should save your work often. Saving a file takes only a few seconds, but re-creating hours of lost work takes many hours.

Excel provides four ways to save your workbook:

- Click the Save icon on the Quick Access toolbar.
- Press Ctrl+S.
- Press Shift+F12.
- Choose File Save.

### Caution

Saving a file overwrites the previous version of the file on your hard drive. If you open a workbook and then completely mess it up, don't save the file! Instead, close the workbook without saving it and then reopen the good copy on your hard drive. ■

If your workbook has already been saved, it's saved again using the same filename. If you want to save the workbook to a new file, choose File  $\Rightarrow$  Save As (or press F12).

If your workbook has never been saved, its title bar displays a default name, such as Book1 or Book2. Although Excel allows you to use these generic workbook names for filenames, you'll be better off using more descriptive filenames. Therefore, the first time that you save a new workbook, Excel displays the Save As dialog box to let you provide a more meaningful name.

The Save As dialog box is similar to the Open dialog box. Select the desired folder in the folder list on the left. After you select the folder, enter the filename in the File Name field. You don't need to specify a file extension — Excel adds it automatically, based on the file type specified in the Save as Type field. By default, files are saved in the standard Excel file format, which uses an .xlsx file extension.

## Tip

To change the default file format for saving files, access the Excel Options dialog box. Click the Save tab and change the setting for the Save Files in This Format option. For example, if your workbooks must be compatible with older versions of Excel, you can change the default format to Excel 97-2003 Workbook (\*.xls). Doing so eliminates the need to select the older file type every time you save a new workbook. ■

## Caution

If your workbook contains VBA macros, saving it with an .xlsx file extension will erase all the macros. It must be saved with an .xlsm extension (or saved in the XLS or XLSB format)). If your workbook has macros, Excel will still propose to save it as an XLSX file. It other words, Excel suggests a file format that will destroy your macros! It will, however, warn you that the macros will be lost.

If a file with the same name already exists in the folder that you specify, Excel asks whether you want to overwrite that file with the new file. *Be careful:* You can't recover the previous file after you overwrite it.

# **Using AutoRecover**

If you've used computers for any length of time, you've probably lost some work. You forgot to save a file, or maybe the power went out and your unsaved work was lost. Or maybe you were working on something and didn't think it was important, so you closed it without saving — and later realized that it *was* important. A new feature in Excel 2010 called Versions might make these types of "D'oh!" moments less frequent.

As you work in Excel, your work is periodically saved, automatically. It happens in the background so you don't even know that it's happening. What's new in Excel 2010 is that you can access these autosaved versions of your work. And this even applies to workbooks that you never explicitly saved.

The Versions feature consists of two components:

- Versions of a workbook are saved automatically, and you can view them.
- Workbooks that you closed without saving are saved as draft versions.

# **Recovering versions of the current workbook**

To see whether any previous versions of the current workbook are available, choose File ⇔ Info. The Versions section Versions lists the available old versions (if any) of the current workbook. In some cases, more than one autosaved version will be listed. In other cases, no autosaved versions will be available.

You can open an autosaved version by clicking its name. Remember that opening an autosaved version *won't* automatically replace the current version of your workbook. Therefore, you can decide whether the autosaved version is preferable to the current version. Or, you can just copy some information that may have been accidentally deleted, and paste it to your current workbook.

When you close the workbook, the autosaved versions are deleted.

# **Recovering unsaved work**

When you close a workbook without saving your changes, Excel asks whether you're sure. If that unsaved workbook has an autosaved version, the "Are you sure?" dialog box informs you of that fact.

To recover a workbook that you closed without saving, choose File ➡ Info ➡ Versions, and choose Recover Draft Versions. You'll see a list of all draft versions of your workbooks. You can open them and (hopefully) recover something that you needed. These drafts are also listed in the recent file list, displayed when you choose File ➡ Recent.

Draft versions are deleted after four days, or until you edit the file.

# **Filenaming Rules**

Excel workbook files are subject to the same rules that apply to other Windows files. A filename can be up to 255 characters, including spaces. This length enables you to give meaningful names to your files. You can't, however, use any of the following characters in your filenames:

\ (slash)	? (question mark)
: (colon)	* (asterisk)
" (quote)	< (less than)
> (greater than)	(vertical bar)

You can use uppercase and lowercase letters in your names to improve readability. The filenames aren't case sensitive. For example, My 2011 Budget.xlsx and MY 2011 BUDGET.xlsx are equivalent names.

### Note

You can adjust the Versions feature in the Save tab of the Excel Options dialog box. For example, you can change the autosave time interval (the default is 10 minutes), turn off autosave for a particular workbook, or disable this feature for all workbooks. ■

# **Specifying a Password**

In some cases, you may want to specify a password for your workbook. When a user attempts to open a password-protected workbook, a password must be entered before the file is opened.

To set a password for a workbook, choose File r Info, and click the Protect Workbook button. This button displays some additional options. Choose Encrypt With Password. Excel displays the Encrypt Document dialog box, shown in Figure 7.3. Enter the password, and then enter it again. Click OK, and save the workbook.

When you re-open the workbook, you will be prompted for a password.

#### FIGURE 7.3

The Encrypt Document dialog box is where you specify a password for your workbook.

Encrypt Decoment	
Encrypt the contents of this like	_
Parconecept	
Caution: If you lose or forget the password, it recovered. It is advisable to large a let of peo- their conseguriting document names in a rule (Remember that casewords are case-penality)	connut be swords and place.
	Careel

# Caution

Passwords are case sensitive. Be careful with this option because it is impossible to open the workbook (using normal methods) if you forget the password. Also, remember that Excel passwords can be cracked, so it's not a perfect security measure.

# **Organizing Your Files**

If you have hundreds of Excel files, you might have a problem locating the workbook that you need. Using descriptive filenames can help, and using folders and subfolders (with descriptive names) also makes it easier to find the particular file you need. In some cases, though, that's not enough.

Fortunately, Excel lets you assign a variety of descriptive information (sometimes known as *meta-data*) to a workbook. These are known as document properties. This information includes such items as the author, title, subject, and so on.

When you choose File  $\Rightarrow$  Info you can view (or modify) the document properties for the active workbook. This information is shown on the right side of the screen (see Figure 7.4).

# Tip

If you aren't seeing all the properties for your workbook, click the down-arrow on Properties and select Show All Properties Another option on the Document Properties drop-down list is Show Document Panel. Choosing this command displays the properties in a panel below the Ribbon.

When you use the Open dialog box, you can specify additional columns to display. Start by clicking Views (at the top of the Open dialog box) and then choose Details. Right-click the column header to see a list of other properties to include. Click the More option for a longer list of properties (see Figure 7.5).

You can sort the file list in the Open dialog box by a particular column by clicking the column heading. Also, notice that each heading is actually a drop-down list. Click the drop-down arrow, and you can filter the list to show only files that match the selected properties.

Using document properties lets you work with files as if they were in a database. The key, of course, is taking the time to ensure that the document properties are actually assigned, and are accurate.

# Tip

If you would like to be prompted to ensure that the document properties are correct, choose Developer to Modify to Document Panel. In the Document Information Panel dialog box, select the Always Show Document Information Panel on Document Open and Initial Save check box. If the Developer tab isn't visible, use the Customize Ribbon panel in the Excel Options dialog box to display it.

### FIGURE 7.4

Use Properties to store additional information about your workbook.

In instant	Passage	prigary by do . Likenset find frames: 2002 Parent Ver Broke		
월 tee 월 teent 월 teent	Information 17 New York To	in about jogging log	TTTT	NCARE.
Call Data	Hand Netlect	Permissions Researcing oper copy and damps any part of the workhold		11.28
New Perst Share Help	(†) Oudris Ioser	Program for Starragi Better d'annights file for association contrast 1 Encourant propriets, and author's anning 2 Contrast (Mit Auto 3 Contrast (Mit Auto 4 Contrast (Mit Auto) 4 Contrast (Mit Auto)	non Rig United II Ray (M) Ray	regency second and particular par
D 14	Q Mary trace:	Versions. Not can spars in delete a vector bia. Note advantation of events do deleted advant pro- claureta. No. 3,3 Marcia are provided, vectors, efficien- tia.	Independence In	Notes 1993 All All persons and how with the set of the set the set of the set

#### FIGURE 7.5

The Choose Details dialog box, where you choose additional properties to display in the file list.

Choose Details		1
pelect the details yourward to display folder.	for the IN	ens in this
Oetalle:		
12 Name	*	Moure Up
2 Date modified		
2 Type		Marve Danali
M 946		Show
		-
<ul> <li>Items focal length</li> </ul>		mos
Alter a		
Ab a stat		
1 Annia Annia		
11 Artists		
Amintant's name		
Assistant's phone		
Attachments		
Attrautes	-	
Width of selected column (in pixels):	217	
0	e .	Cancel
	-	

# Using Workspace Files \_\_\_\_

If you have a project that uses multiple workbooks, you probably get tired of opening the same files every time you work on the project. The solution? Create a workspace file:

- 1. Open all the workbooks used for your project.
- 2. Arrange the workbook windows the way you like them.
- 3. Choose View 🗘 Window 🞝 Save Workspace to display the Save Workspace dialog box.
- 4. Excel proposes the name resume.xlw, but you can specify any name you like. Just make sure that you use the XLW extension.
- 5. Click Save. The workspace file is created.

After creating a workspace file, you can open it by choosing File  $\Rightarrow$  Open. In the Open dialog box, specify Workspaces (\*.xlw) from the Files of Type drop-down list. Better yet, pin it to the top of the recent files list so it will always be easily accessible.

#### Note

A workspace file contains only the filenames and window position information — not the workbooks. Make sure that you save the workbooks that comprise the workspace. ■

### Note

This discussion of document properties just barely scratches the surface. For example, you can display additional properties and even specify a custom document information panel template that contains information specific to your needs. A complete discussion is beyond the scope of this book. ■

# **Other Workbook Info Options**

The Info pane of Backstage View displays more file-related options, as shown in Figure 7.6. To display this pane, choose File  $\Rightarrow$  Info. These options, described in the following sections, may be useful if you plan to distribute your workbook to others. Note that not all workbooks display all the options shown in Figure 7.6. Only the relevant options are shown.

# **Security Warning section**

If the active workbook displayed a security warning when you opened it, the Info pane will display a Security Warning section, with an Enable Content button. Use this panel to find out more about why Excel triggered the security warning, and to enable the content if you're sure that it's safe to do so.

#### FIGURE 7.6

Choose File 与 Info for additional options.



# **Compatibility Mode section**

If the active workbook is an old workbook opened in compatibility mode, you'll see the Compatibility Mode section in the Info pane. To convert the workbook to the Excel 2007/2010 format, click the Convert button.

## Caution

Be aware that this command deletes the original version of the file — which seems like a rather drastic measure. It's probably wise to make a copy of your workbook before you use this command. ■

# **Permissions section**

In the Permissions section of the Info pane, click the Protect Workbook button to display the following options:

#### • Mark as Final

Use this option to designate the workbook as "final." The document is saved as a readonly file to prevent changes. This isn't a security feature. Rather, the Mark as Final command is useful to let others know that you are sharing a completed version of a workbook.

#### • Encrypt with Password

Use this command to specify a password that is required to open the workbook. See "Specifying a password," earlier in this chapter.

#### • Protect Current Sheet

This command lets you protect various elements of a worksheet. It displays the same dialog box as the Review r Changes r Protect Sheet command. See Chapter 31 for more information about protecting worksheets.

#### • Protect Workbook Structure

This command lets you protect the structure of a workbook. It displays the same dialog box as Review  $\Rightarrow$  Changes  $\Rightarrow$  Protect Workbook. See Chapter 31 for more information for more information about protecting the structure of a workbook.

#### • Restrict Permission by People

Use this option to specify those who may open the document. This feature requires a feebased service called *Information Rights Management*.

#### • Add a Digital Signature

This command allows you to "sign" a workbook digitally. See Chapter 31 for more information about digital signatures.

# **Prepare for Sharing section**

The Prepare for Sharing section of the Info pane contains a Check for Issues button. When clicked, the button displays three options:

#### • Inspect Document

This command displays the Document Inspector dialog box. This feature can alert you to some potentially private information that may be contained in your workbook — perhaps information that's contained in hidden rows or columns or hidden worksheets. If you plan on making a workbook available to a large audience, it's an excellent idea to use the Document Inspector for a final check.

#### • Check Accessibility

This command checks the workbook for potential problems that might occur for people with disabilities. The results of the check are displayed in a task pane in the workbook. This feature works only with Excel 2007/2010 workbooks.

#### • Check Compatibility

This command is useful if you need to save your workbook in an older file format. It displays a very helpful Compatibility Checker dialog box that lists potential compatibility problems. This dialog box also appears when you save a workbook using an older file format. For more information, see "Excel File Compatibility," later in this chapter.

# **Versions section**

Clicking the Manage Versions button of the Versions section of the Info pane displays two options:

#### • Recover Draft Versions

This command displays the Open dialog box, pointed to the folder where Excel displays AutoRecover versions of workbooks that were not saved. If you accidentally forget to save a file, this command may help you out.

#### • Delete All Draft Versions

This command simply deletes all unsaved files on your drive. Alternatively, you can delete the files manually.

# **Closing Workbooks**

After you're finished with a workbook, you can close it to free the memory that it uses. You can close a workbook by using any of the following methods:

- Choose File ⇔ Close.
- Click the Close button (the X) in the workbook's title bar.
- Double-click the Excel icon on the left side of the workbook's title bar. This icon is visible only if the workbook window is not maximized.
- Press Ctrl+F4.
- Press Ctrl+W.

If you've made any changes to your workbook since it was last saved, Excel asks whether you want to save the changes to the workbook before closing it.

### Tip

When you close Excel, you are prompted to save each workbook that hasn't been saved. The dialog box has a Save All button, but it doesn't have a Don't Save Anything button. If you'd like a quick exit, without saving any workbooks, press Shift while you click the Don't Save button. Excel shuts down immediately. ■

# **Safeguarding Your Work**

Nothing is more frustrating than spending hours creating a complicated Excel workbook only to have it destroyed by a power failure, a hard drive crash, or even human error. Fortunately, protecting yourself from these disasters is not a difficult task.

Earlier in the chapter, I discuss the AutoRecover feature that makes Excel save a backup copy of your workbook at regular intervals (see "Using AutoRecover"). AutoRecover is a good idea, but it certainly isn't the only backup protection you should use. If a workbook is important, you need to take extra steps to ensure its safety. The following backup options help ensure the safety of individual files:

- Keep a backup copy of the file on the same drive. Although this option offers some protection if you make a mess of the workbook, it won't do you any good if the entire hard drive crashes.
- Keep a backup copy on a different hard drive. This method assumes, of course, that your system has more than one hard drive. This option offers more protection than the preceding method, because the likelihood that both hard drives will fail is remote. If the entire system is destroyed or stolen, however, you're out of luck.
- Keep a backup copy on a network server. This method assumes that your system is connected to a server on which you can write files. This method is fairly safe. If the network server is located in the same building, however, you're at risk if the entire building burns down or is otherwise destroyed.
- Keep a backup copy on an Internet backup site. Several Web sites specialize in storing backup files. This is a safe method, as long as the company doesn't go out of business.
- Keep a backup copy on a removable medium. This is the safest method. Using a removable medium, such as a USB drive enables you to physically take the backup to another location. So, if your system (or the entire building) is damaged, your backup copy remains intact.

# **Excel File Compatibility**

It's important to understand the limitations regarding version compatibility. Even though your colleague is able to open your file, there is no guarantee that everything will function correctly or look the same.

# **Checking compatibility**

If you save your workbook to an older file format (such as XLS, for versions prior to Excel 2007), Excel automatically runs the Compatibility Checker. The Compatibility Checker identifies the elements of your workbook that will result in loss of functionality or fidelity (cosmetics).

Figure 7.7 shows the Compatibility Checker dialog box. Use the Select Versions to Show button to limit the compatibility checking to a specific version of Excel.

#### FIGURE 7.7

The Compatibility Checker is a useful tool for those who share workbooks with others.



The bottom part of the Compatibility Checker lists the potential compatibility problems. To display the results in a more readable format, click the Copy to New Sheet button.

Keep in mind that compatibility problems can also occur with Excel 2007 even though that version uses the same file format as Excel 2010. You can't expect features that are new to Excel 2010 to work in earlier versions. For example, if you create a workbook with Sparkline charts (a new feature in Excel 2010) and send it to a colleague who uses Excel 2007, the cells that contain the Sparklines will be empty. In addition, formulas that use any of the new worksheet functions will return an error. The Compatibility Checker identifies these types of problems.

Perhaps one of the most confusing aspects of Excel is the nearly overwhelming number of file formats that it can read and write. With the introduction of Excel 2007, things got even more confusing because it has quite a few new file formats.

#### Note

Excel 2010 can open all files created with earlier versions of Excel.

# **Recognizing the Excel 2010 file formats**

Excel file formats (which were introduced in Excel 2007) are

- XLSX: A workbook file that does not contain macros
- XLSM: A workbook file that contains macros
- XLTX: A workbook template file that does not contain macros
- XLTM: A workbook template file that contains macros
- XLSA: An add-in file
- XLSB: A binary file similar to the old XLS format but able to accommodate the new features
- XLSK: A backup file

With the exception of XLSB, these are all "open" XML files, which means that other applications are able to read and write these types of files.

# Tip

XML files are actually Zip-compressed text files. If you rename one of these files to have a ZIP extension, you'll be able to examine the contents using any of several zip file utilities — including the Zip file support built into Windows. Taking a look at the innards of an Excel workbook is an interesting exercise for curious-minded users.

# Saving a file for use with an older version of Excel

To save a file for use with an older version of Excel, choose File r> Save As. In the Save As dialog box, select one of the following from the Save as Type drop-down:

- Excel 97-2003 Workbook (\*.xls): If the file will be used by someone who has Excel 97, Excel 2000, Excel 2002, or Excel 2003.
- Microsoft Excel 5.0/95 Workbook (\*.xls): If the file will be used by someone who has Excel 5 or Excel 95.

# The Office Compatibility Pack\_\_\_\_

Normally, those who use an earlier version of Excel can't open workbooks saved in the new Excel file formats. But, fortunately, Microsoft has released a free Compatibility Pack for Office 2003 and Office XP.

If an Office 2003 or Office XP user installs the Compatibility Pack, they can open files created in Office 2007 or Office 2010 and also save files in the new format. The Office programs that are affected are Excel, Word, and PowerPoint. This software doesn't endow the older versions with any new features: It just gives them the capability to open and save files in the new format.

To download the Compatibility Pack, search the Web for Office Compatibility Pack.

# CHAPTER



# Using and Creating Templates

*template* is essentially a model that serves as the basis for something else. An Excel template is a workbook that's used to create other workbooks. This chapter discusses some of the templates included with Excel and also describes how to create your own template files. Creating a template takes some time, but in the long run, doing so may save you a lot of work.

# **Exploring Excel Templates**

The best way to become familiar with Excel template files is to jump in and try a few. Excel 2010 gives you quick access to hundreds of template files.

# **Viewing templates**

To explore the Excel templates, choose File ➡ New to display the Available Templates screen in Backstage View. You can select a template stored on your hard drive, or a template from Microsoft Office Online. If you choose a template from Microsoft Office Online, you must be connected to the Internet to download it.

The Office Online Templates section contains a number of icons, which represent various categories of templates (see Figure 8.1). Click an icon, and you'll see the available templates. When you select a template thumbnail, you see a preview in the right panel.

# **IN THIS CHAPTER**

**Understanding Excel templates** 

Working with the default templates

**Creating custom templates** 

### Part I: Getting Started with Excel

#### FIGURE 8.1

The New page in Backstage View displays template categories.



#### Note

Microsoft Office Online has a wide variety of templates, and some are better than others. If you download a few duds, don't give up. Even though a template may not be perfect, you can often modify a template to meet your needs. Modifying an existing template is often easier than creating a workbook from scratch. ■

# Creating a workbook from a template

To create a workbook based on a template, just locate the template and click the Create button on the right. If the template is on Microsoft Office Online, the Create button is replaced with a Download button.

What you do next depends on the template. Every template is different, but most are selfexplanatory. Some workbooks require customization. Just replace the generic information with your own information.

Figure 8.2 shows a workbook based on an invoice template. This particular workbook has a few simple formulas that perform calculations using the data that you enter. Figure 8.3 shows the workbook after it has been customized a bit, and some items added. Notice that formulas calculate the subtotal, sales tax, and total.

## Note

It's important to understand that you're not working with the template file. Rather, you're working with a workbook that was created from the template file. If you make any changes, you're not changing the template — you're changing the workbook that's based on the template. After you download a template from Microsoft Office Online, that template is available in the My Templates category (in the Available Templates screen) so you don't need to redownload it if you want to re-use the template. ■

FIGURE 8.2

1.1.1.1. 1.1.11. 3 Your Company Name T TABAS TABAB Non Company Nogae 140 Eq.81.3PCnk - HOL PRIVATE Company Name Distances in the local In IT DECent 31 H. H. 3H 3H 38. 12 21 23 31 н 12 the pay shift to 'Kear' 33 H F H F H TAMEN NOA YOU NAME BARRIER 7004 Invoice //52

A workbook created from an invoice template downloaded from Microsoft Office Online.

If you want to save the workbook, click the Save button. Excel proposes a named based on the template's name, but you can use any name you like.

#### FIGURE 8.3

The workbook, after customizing it and entering some information.

Age Services in	nioreitete ministriet			<u></u>		
	*	-	1 ¢			
-						- 11
						- 11
	Bill & Baufo anbbiA					- 11
[  -3+	New-Field K. Ken Shprif					- 11
1 2	10 Employee		DA1E:	Agent 4.3	104	- 11
- 33	Phone GID INI 1981		and the second second	-184		- 11
2						- 11
[	URL: NO.					- 11
-31	Philad Burgs Acedenia					- 11
1.2	Territoria di anno					- 11
1 1	(Sel RECEN					- 11
	0030307104	194	Films	0.40	UNT	- 11
	ren Midun Israel		115		21.71	- 11
1 31	Lagtar Dia Model 80	2	14.M		7441	- 11
- X.	Nacarvesh Sape		LIE		4346	
1.1						
- 21		4				- 11
2						- 11
						- 11
						- 11
1 8						- 11
1 44						- 11
· 0						- 11
1.44						- 11
			LAPTIN.		winds	- 11
- 12L			DADPIN'NE .		LURN I	- 11
1 2			100.00		100	- 11
1 m			1018		20181	- 11
- 381						
1.5	Mate distants quality in Bill's English Departs					- 11
1.22	Totalities & R. data. Consider an evening coldent to consider sharps of	Farmer	*			
- 10						
× + + + 5	iervice Involte / 53/	11				<ul> <li>#137</li> </ul>

# Modifying a template

A template file is just like a workbook file. As such, you can open a template file, make changes to it, and then resave the template file. Looking at the invoice template shown earlier in this chapter, you may want to modify it so that it shows your company information and uses your actual sales tax rate. Then, when you use that template in the future, the workbook created from it will already be customized.

To open a template, choose File r Open (not File r New) and locate the template file (it will have an .xltx or .xlt extension).

#### Tip

The location for template files varies. To find out where Excel stores template files, open a new workbook and choose File  $\Rightarrow$  Save As. In the Save As dialog box, choose Excel Template (\* .xltx) from the Save as Type dropdown list. Excel will activate your template folder. Make a note of this location, and click Cancel to close the Save As dialog box. On my system, templates are stored here:

```
C:\Users\<username>\AppData\Roaming\Microsoft\Templates
```

When you open a XLST (or \*.XLT) template file, you are opening the actual file — you are *not* creating a workbook from the template file.

#### Note

To create a workbook from a modified template, you must select the template from the My Templates icon in the Available Template screen. Clicking My Templates displays the New dialog box shown in Figure 8.4. Just select the template and click OK. ■

#### FIGURE 8.4

The New dialog box displays downloaded and custom templates stored on your hard drive.

malate	1480	7194 *	
Betronic Gudebook.stts	0.640	MS OF TR	Par-ken
Excel Photo Synthesizes.atta	ROXID.	HS Offic	
Hexagenal graph papertt	30KB	MS Of the	
Invoice that calculates total alt	1700	MS Of the	
Envoice that calculates total site:	128D	MS Offic	
Invoice with two calculation alt	1985	MS Offic	
Net Worth/Flarmer.cltx	728B	MS Offic_	Preview toX available.
Perpetual year's calendar alto:	EQUID.	MS Offic	
goaleo report.chu	114D	MS OF IK	
Services invoke with tax salculation.alt	50KD	MS OF Ite	
Services involve with ter calculation [ alloc	13KD	MS OF Ite:	
Likimate ExcelliPeriodic Table.x8x	SIND	MS OF R +	

# **Understanding Custom Excel Templates**

So far, this chapter has focused on templates that were created by others. The remainder of the chapter deals with *custom templates* — templates that you create.

Why create custom templates? The main reason is to make your job easier. For example, you may always like to use a particular header or footer on your printouts. Consequently, the first time that you print a worksheet, you need to spend time entering the header and footer information. Although it isn't a lot of work, wouldn't it be easier if Excel simply remembered your favorite page settings and used them automatically?

The solution is to modify the template that Excel uses to create new workbooks. In this case, the modification consists of inserting your header into the template. Save the template file using a special name, and then every new workbook that you create (including the workbook created when Excel starts) has your customized page settings.

Excel supports three types of templates, which I discuss in the following sections:

- The default workbook template: Used as the basis for new workbooks.
- The default worksheet template: Used as the basis for new worksheets inserted into a workbook.
- **Custom workbook templates:** Usually, these ready-to-run workbooks include formulas, but they can be as simple or as complex as you like. Typically, these templates are set up so that a user can simply plug in values and get immediate results. The Microsoft Office Online templates (discussed earlier in this chapter) are examples of this type of template.

# Working with the default templates

The term *default template* may be a little misleading. If you haven't created your own template files to control the default settings, Excel uses its own internal settings — not an actual template file. In other words, Excel uses your template files to set the defaults for new workbooks or worksheets, if these files exist. But if you haven't created these files, Excel is perfectly happy to use its own settings.

#### Using the workbook template to change workbook defaults

Every new workbook that you create starts out with some default settings. For example, the workbook has three worksheets, the worksheets have gridlines, the page header and footer are blank, and text appears in the fonts specified by the default document template. Columns are 8.43 units wide, and so on. If you're not happy with any of the default workbook settings, you can change them by creating a workbook template.

Making changes to Excel's default workbook is fairly easy to do, and it can save you lots of time in the long run. Here's how you change Excel's workbook defaults:

- 1. Open a new workbook.
- 2. Add or delete sheets to give the workbook the number of worksheets that you want.
- 3. Make any other changes that you want to make, which can include column widths, named styles, page setup options, and many of the settings that are available in the Excel Options dialog box. To change the default formatting for cells, choose Home ➡ Styles ➡ Cell Styles and then modify the settings for the Normal style. For example, you can change the default font, size, or number format.
- **4.** When your workbook is set up to your liking, choose File ⇔ Save As.
- **5.** In the Save As dialog box, select Excel Template (\*.xltx) from the Save As Type list. If your template contains any VBA macros, select Excel Macro-Enabled Template (\*.xltm).
- 6. Enter book for the filename.

# Caution

Excel will offer a name, such as Book1.xlt. You must change this name to book.xlt (or book.xltm) if you want Excel to use your template to set the workbook defaults. ■

7. Save the file in your XLStart folder (not in your Templates folder).

# Tip

#### The location of the XLStart folder varies, but it is probably located here:

C:\Program Files\Microsoft Office\Office14\XLStart

8. Close the file.

After you perform the preceding steps, the new default workbook is based on the book.xltx (or book.xltm) workbook template. You can create a workbook based on your template by using any of these methods:

- Press Ctrl+N.
- Open Excel without first selecting a workbook to open.

### Note

For some reason, the book.xltx template is not used if you choose File ⇔ New and choose Blank Workbook. That command results in a default workbook. I'm not sure whether this is a bug or whether it's by design. In any case, it provides a way to override the custom book.xltx template if you need to.

# Caution

If you insert a new worksheet into a workbook that's based on the book.xlxt template, the new worksheet will not use any customized worksheet settings specified in the template (for example, a different column width). Therefore, you may also want to create a sheet.xltx template (described in the next section), which controls the settings for new worksheets.

If you ever want to revert to the standard default workbook, just delete the book.xltx file.

#### Using the worksheet template to change worksheet defaults

When you insert a new worksheet into a workbook, Excel uses its built-in worksheet defaults for the worksheet. These default settings include items such as column width, row height, and so on.

If you don't like the default settings for a new worksheet, you can change them by following these steps:

- 1. Start with a new workbook and delete all the sheets except one.
- 2. Make any changes that you want to make, which can include column widths, named styles, page setup options, and many settings available in the Excel Options dialog box.

- 3. When your workbook is set up to your liking, choose File 与 Save As.
- 4. In the Save As dialog box, select Template (\*.xltx) from the Save As Type list.
- 5. Enter sheet.xltx for the filename.
- 6. Save the file in your \XLStart folder (not in your \Templates folder).
- 7. Close the file.
- 8. Close and restart Excel.

After performing these steps, all new worksheets that you insert by using any of these methods will be formatted like your sheet.xltx template:

- Click the Insert Worksheet button (next to the last sheet tab).
- Choose Home I Cells I Insert I Insert Sheet.
- Press Shift+F11.
- Right-click a sheet tab, choose Insert from the shortcut menu, and choose the Worksheet icon in the Insert dialog box.

#### Editing your templates

After you create your book.xltx or sheet.xltx templates, you may discover that you need to change them. You can open the template files and edit them just like any other workbook. After you make your changes, save the file to its original location, and close it.

#### Resetting the default workbook and worksheet settings

If you create a book.xltx or sheet.xltx file and then decide that you would rather use the standard default settings, simply delete the book.xltx or sheet.xltx template file — depending on whether you want to use the standard workbook or worksheet defaults — from the XLStart folder. Excel then uses its built-in default settings for new workbooks or worksheets.

#### Tip

You can also rename or move the template files if you'd like to keep them for future use.

# **Creating custom templates**

The book.xltx and sheet.xltx templates discussed in the preceding section are two special types of templates that determine default settings for new workbooks and new worksheets. This section discusses other types of templates, referred to as *workbook templates*, which are simply workbooks that you set up as the basis for new workbooks or worksheets.

Creating a workbook template can eliminate repeating work. Assume that you create a monthly sales report that consists of your company's sales by region, plus several summary calculations and charts. You can create a template file that consists of everything except the input values. Then, when it's time to create your report, you can open a workbook based on the template, fill in the blanks, and be finished.

# Note

You could, of course, just use the previous month's workbook and save it with a different name. This is prone to errors, however, because you easily can forget to use the Save As command and accidentally overwrite the previous month's file. Another option is to use File ⇔ New, and choose the New from Existing option in the Available Templates screen. This command creates a new workbook from an existing one, but gives a different name to ensure that the old file is not overwritten. ■

When you create a workbook that's based on a template, the default workbook name is the template name with a number appended. For example, if you create a new workbook based on a template named Sales Report.xltx, the workbook's default name is Sales Report1.xlsx. The first time that you save a workbook that is created from a template, Excel displays its Save As dialog box so that you can give the template a new name if you want to.

A *custom template* is essentially a normal workbook, and it can use any Excel feature, such as charts, formulas, and macros. Usually, a template is set up so that the user can enter values and get immediate results. In other words, most templates include everything but the data, which is entered by the user.

## Note

If your template contains macros, it must be saved as an Excel Macro-Enabled Template, with an XLTM extension. ■

# Locking Formula Cells in a Template File \_\_\_\_

If novices will use the template, you might consider locking all the formula cells to make sure that the formulas aren't deleted or modified. By default, all cells are locked and cannot be changed when the worksheet is protected. The following steps describe how to unlock the nonformula cells:

- 2. Select Constants and click OK. This step selects all nonformula cells.
- 3. Press Ctrl+1 to display the Format Cells dialog box.
- 4. In the Format Cells dialog box, click the Protection tab.
- 5. Remove the check mark from the Locked check box.
- 6. Click OK to close the Format Cells dialog box.
- 7. Choose Review 🕫 Changes 🕫 Protect Sheet to display the Protect Sheet dialog box.
- 8. Specify a password (optional) and then click OK.

After you perform these steps, you can't modify the formula cells — unless the sheet is unprotected.

#### Saving your custom templates

To save a workbook as a template, choose File  $\Rightarrow$  Save As and select Template (\*.xltx) from the Save as Type drop-down list. If the workbook contains any VBA macros, select Excel Macro-Enabled Template (\*.xltm). Save the template in your Templates folder — which Excel automatically suggests — or a folder within that Templates folder.

If you later discover that you want to modify the template, choose File to Open to open and edit the template.

#### Ideas for creating templates

This section provides a few ideas that may spark your imagination for creating templates. The following is a partial list of the settings that you can adjust and use in your custom templates:

- Multiple formatted worksheets: You can, for example, create a workbook template that has two worksheets one formatted to print in landscape mode and one formatted to print in portrait mode.
- Style: The best approach is to choose Home ↔ Styles ↔ Cell Styles and modify the attributes of the Normal style. For example, you can change the font or size, the alignment, and so on.
- **Custom number formats:** If you create number formats that you use frequently, you can store them in a template.
- **Column widths and row heights:** You may prefer that columns be wider or narrower, or you may want the rows to be taller.
- **Print settings:** Change these settings in the Page Layout tab. You can adjust the page orientation, paper size, margins, and several other attributes.
- Header and footer: You enter custom headers or footers in Page Layout view (choose View ➡ Workbook Views ➡ Page Layout).
- Sheet settings: These options are in the Show group on the View tab, and also on the Advanced tab of the Excel Options dialog box (in the Display Options for This Worksheet section). Options include row and column header, page break display, gridlines, and others.

You can, of course, also create complete workbooks and save them as templates. For example, if you frequently need to produce a specific report, you may want to create a template that has everything for the report except for the data you need to enter. By saving your master copy as a template, you're less likely to overwrite the original file when you save the file after entering your data.
## CHAPTER

## **Printing Your Work**

espite predictions of the "paperless office," reports printed on paper remain commonplace, and they will be around for a long time. Many worksheets that you develop with Excel can probably serve as printed reports. You'll find that printing from Excel is quite easy and that you can generate attractive, well-formatted reports with minimal effort. In addition, Excel has many options that provide you with a great deal of control over the printed page so that you can make your printed reports even better. These options are explained in this chapter.

## **Printing with One Click**

If you want to print a copy of a worksheet with no fuss and bother, use the Quick Print option. One way to access this command is to choose File r Print (which displays the Print pane of Backstage View), and then click the Print button.

Issuing that command with a mouse takes three clicks, though. A slightly more efficient method is to press Ctrl+P and then click the Print button (or press Enter).

But if you like the idea of one-click printing, take a few seconds to add a new button to your Quick Access toolbar: Click the downward-pointing arrow on the right of the Quick Access toolbar and then choose Quick Print from the drop-down list. Excel adds the Quick Print icon (looks like a desktop printer) to your Quick Access toolbar.

Clicking the Quick Print button prints the current worksheet on the currently selected printer, using the default print settings. If you've changed any

## **IN THIS CHAPTER**

**One-click printing** 

Changing your worksheet view

Adjusting your print settings for better results

Preventing some cells from being printed

**Using Custom Views** 

of the default print settings (by using the Page Layout tab), Excel uses the new settings; otherwise, it uses the following default settings:

- Prints the active worksheet (or all selected worksheets), including any embedded charts or objects
- Prints one copy
- Prints the entire active worksheet
- Prints in portrait mode
- Doesn't scale the printed output
- Uses letter-size paper with .75" margins for the top and bottom and .70" margins for the left and right margins (for the U.S. version)
- Prints with no headers or footers
- Doesn't print cell comments
- Prints with no cell gridlines
- For wide worksheets that span multiple pages, prints down and then over

When you print a worksheet, Excel prints only the active area of the worksheet. In other words, it won't print all 17 billion cells — just those that have data in them. If the worksheet contains any embedded charts or other graphic objects (such as SmartArt or Shapes), they're also printed.

## Tip

To quickly determine the active area of the worksheet, press Ctrl+End to move to the last active cell in the worksheet. The active area is between cell A1 and the last active cell. You may notice that Ctrl+End isn't always accurate. For example, if you've deleted some rows, Ctrl+End will take you to the last row that you deleted. However, when the sheet is printed, the active area is reset, so the empty rows are not printed. ■

## **Changing Your Page View**

Page Layout view, a feature introduced in Excel 2007, shows your worksheet divided up into pages. In other words, you can visualize your printed output while you work.

Page Layout view is one of three worksheet views, which are controlled by the three icons on the right side of the status bar. You could also use the commands in the View  $\Rightarrow$  Workbook Views group on the Ribbon to switch views. The three view options are

- Normal: The default view of the worksheet. This view may or may not show page breaks.
- Page Layout: Shows individual pages.
- Page Break Preview: Allows you to manually adjust page breaks.

## **Using Print Preview**\_

When you choose File  $rac{1}{2}$  Print, Backstage View displays a preview of your printed output, exactly as it will be printed. Initially, Excel displays the first page of your printed output. To view subsequent pages, use the page controls along the bottom of the preview pane (or, use the vertical scrollbar along the right side of the screen).

For one-click access to the Print Preview display, add a button to your Quick Access toolbar: Click the downward-pointing arrow on the right of the Quick Access toolbar, and choose Print Preview from the drop-down list. Excel adds the Print Preview icon (a dog-eared piece of paper with a magnifying glass) to your Quick Access toolbar.

The Print Preview window has a few other commands (at the bottom) that you can use while previewing your output. For multipage printout, use the page number controls to quickly jump to a particular page. The Show Margins button toggles the display of margins, and the Zoom to Page ensures that a complete page is displayed.

When the Show Margins option is in effect, Excel adds markers to the preview that indicate column borders and margins. You can drag the column or margin markers to make changes that appear onscreen. Changes that you make to column widths in preview mode are also made in the actual worksheet.

Print Preview is certainly useful, but you may prefer to use Page Layout view to preview your output (see "Changing Your Page View").

Just click one of the icons to change the view. You can also use the Zoom slider to change the magnification from 10% (a very tiny, bird's-eye view) to 400% (very large, for showing fine detail).

The following sections describe how these views can help with printing.

## Normal view

Most of the time when you work in Excel, you use Normal view. Normal view can display page breaks in the worksheet. The page breaks are indicated by horizontal and vertical dotted lines. These page break lines adjust automatically if you change the page orientation, add or delete rows or columns, change row heights, change column widths, and so on. For example, if you find that your printed output is too wide to fit on a single page, you can adjust the column widths (keeping an eye on the page-break display) until the columns are narrow enough to print on one page.

## Note

Page breaks aren't displayed until you print (or preview) the worksheet at least one time. Page breaks are also displayed if you set a print area by choosing Page Layout ⇔ Page Setup ⇔ Print Area. ■

## Tip

If you'd prefer to not see the page break display in Normal view, choose FIIe r Options and select the Advanced tab. Scroll down to the Display Options for This Worksheet section and remove the check mark from Show Page Breaks. This setting applies only to the active worksheet. Unfortunately, the option to turn off page break display is not on the Ribbon, and it's not even available for inclusion on the Quick Access toolbar.

Figure 9.1 shows a worksheet in Normal view, zoomed out to show multiple pages. Notice the dotted lines that indicate page breaks.

#### FIGURE 9.1

In Normal view, dotted lines indicate page breaks.

-01	world population.do:							-	10	
	0		D	6	P	6	11			100
1										- 61
2	Examing	Casie	4600	1000	2000			- 1		
2	N or	HE.	2,000	2,000	2,000					
4	Failured interats	196	3,808	3,080	3,080			- 1		
2	sand Pierre and Miganion	38	8,000	8,000	3,080			- 1		-
4	Munitury and	1.08	10,000	13,600	3,080			- 1		
<u> </u>	Sand Melana	394	5,000	7,080	7,080			- 1		
9	Seer.	rek	16,000	10,000	:0000			- 1		
	Turks and Calors Islands	11	10,000	10,080	13,800			-		
	Virgis Islands, British	¥1	1:1.000	16.000	20,000			- 1		
11	Centrinterats	C4E	20,000	26,080	26,080			- 1		
32	E3 PECTIC NIEHR	10.	10,000	210,0010	20,000					
15	Christer	6	50,000	54,000	28,000			- 1		
14	Caryman Islands	0	17,000	28,700	18,000			- 1		
15	Seint Kitts and Nevis	90	40.000	40,000	40,000			- 1		
18	Far or Islands	PO	1000,000	ND/OBD	48,000			- 1		
17	terosviend	-98.	56,808	845,0885	56,088					
18	Bry masks	83	NG/BOB	60,000	63,000			- 1		
18	Antigua and Barbuda	AC	40,000	80,000	76,080			-		
	American Samoa	A3.	56,000	56,000	76,080			- 1		
11	DOWNING B	00	75,000	76,080	80,000			- 1		
	Groneda	9	116,000	96,080	WL000			-		
20	Seystelles .	100	60,000	70,080	80,000			- 1		
24	wate	AA	40,000	76,080	HC/OBD			- 1		
28	Gribei	KN .	80,000	70,080	W0,000			-		
28	Tonga	74	90,000	100,000	1.85,080			- 1		
12	Seint Kincent/Grenedines	¥0	100,000	110,000	1:3.400			- 1		
18	Virginialarah, K.L.	VQ.	99,600	104/080	103,080			-		
32	Seint Lucie	\$7	120,000	150,000	150,000			- 1		
30	San Torse and Principe	74	40,000	120,080	140,000			- 1		
25,	0.0m	op.	110,000	136/080	156,000			-		
10	Parryly & Jane	PG .	20,000	120,000	120,000			- 1		
30	Samoa	993	140,000	180,000	1.76/080			- 1		
24	New Calefonia	PRE .	140,000	170,000	286,086			- 1		
3.5	Versehr	198	120,000	140,000	200,000			- 1		
29	Nother lands with lines	147	136,000	196,088	005,088			- 1		
32	Bellar	84	140,000	180,000	240,000			- 1		
28	French Polytesta	14	110,000	300,000	256,088			- 1		
29	Berbecko	65	150,000	191.000	276,086			- 1		
+0	Wesleyslabora	99	140,000	136,080	276,080			- 1		
41	tostend	16	150,000	150,000	286,000			- 1		
42	Meldium	inde	180,000	120,080	296,080			- 1		
40	Rehemal, The	8×	316,000	380,000	2000/2000			- 1		
4.4	Brunni	ilk.	180,000	180,000	844,080					
-45	Multa	NT .	305,000	356,000	2000/2002					
10	the state thread 1 / Ta /	1.4	444.000	111.00	a. a. 664					a51
										-121

## **Page Layout view**

Page Layout view is the ultimate print preview. Unlike the preview in Backstage View (choose File  $\Rightarrow$  Print), this mode is not a view-only mode. You have complete access to all Excel commands. In fact, you can use Page Layout view all the time if you like.

Figure 9.2 shows a worksheet in Page Layout view, zoomed out to show multiple pages. Notice that the page header and footer (if any) appear on each page, giving you a true preview of the printed output.

## Tip

If you move the mouse to the corner of a page while in Page Layout view, you can click to hide the white space in the margins. Doing so gives you all the advantages of Page Layout view, but you can see more information onscreen because the unused margin space is hidden.

#### FIGURE 9.2

Самание     Самание		1	1.1				
Name     Name     Name     Name     Name     Name     Name     Name       Self-Derivation     Self-Derivation     No     Self-Derivation     No     Self-Derivation       Self-Derivation     Self-Derivation     No     Self-Derivation     No     Self-Derivation       Self-Derivation     Self-Derivation     No     No     Self-Derivation     No     Self-Derivation       Self-Derivation     Self-Derivation     No     No     Self-Derivation     No     Self-Derivation       Self-Derivation     Self-Derivation     No     Self-Derivation     No     Self-Derivation     No     Self-Derivation       Self-Derivation     Self-Derivation     Self-Derivation     Self-Derivation     Self-Derivation     Self-Derivation       Self-Derivation     Self-Derivation     Self-Derivation     Self-Derivation     Self-Derivation       Self-Derivation     Self-Derivation     Self-Derivation     Self-Derivation     Self-Derivation       Self-Derivation     Self-Derivation     Self-Derivation     Self-Derivation     Self-Derivation       Self-Derivation     Self-Derivation     Self-Derivation     Self-Derivation     Self-Derivation       Self-Derivation     Self-Derivation     Self-Derivation     Self-Derivation     Self-Derivation <t< th=""><th></th><th>Cited to additionalize</th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th>District a</th><th>Alloweder</th></t<>		Cited to additionalize				District a	Alloweder
Scholl Der Neris Article Scholler (Scholler)       Scholl Der Neris Article Scholler     Mer. 2000     Beit Sc	The state	Table 1	Table 1	10.01	No.		1999
And Dark Menis I Markening Pi 200 Dendi Barthemis 300 1300 Dendi Bar	Antaria Overania	18ur	140	2,010	Read Overants	1.00	1.80
Leichens berthers berthers berthers berthers berther berthe	Centralli Esuth America	Politamilecania	PH	2,819	Desiral's Daub Hermita	3.901	1.80
Catalanteen beern bee	Flamit, Agenta	Last Parce and Augustan		6,010	Real Agentics	6.001	1.80
Construction         Description         Description <thdescription< th=""> <thdescription< th=""></thdescription<></thdescription<>	Cantoration Despite, Accelering	Magazing and an and a	140-1	1000	Desirate Durks Monarty 4	6.901	1.00
Coloradio     Testing to the second of the sec	And a state of the	Contraction of the second s	100-1	100	and a second second	1.001	1.00
Andres Spite Nateries registrant metrics is a spite	Approx Content	THE CONTRACTOR OF A DESCRIPTION			The second secon		
Automation     Bit Series     Bit Series <td>Contraction Statistics Street</td> <td>TOTAL BEFORE THE PARTY</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>Company production</td> <td></td> <td></td>	Contraction Statistics Street	TOTAL BEFORE THE PARTY			Company production		
mini Consisti B. A Particulario B. A 1990 Marco Marco M. 1990	Address and property of the party of	TALK STRUCT			BUILT DOUBLE		
markingsping     Barkan     B     Billion     Markan     Billion	Antari Cronnia	U.S. Paulic Munks	14	man	Index Crossie	26,261	24 Mile
Jamah Indohanata Gagawakanan Gu Gu Oking Lamah Indohan Indohan Sanah Indohanata Gagawakanan Gu Hang Changa Sanah Indohanan Gu S	Votenillenge	Général	6	displayer.	Manamilian av	in and	24.040
Janual Land Inata I. Land Tang Janual Land Inata I. Land I. La	Carmails Routh America	Cagnutishania	64	679818	Exemula Reals invalida	26,760	16 July
Instructions I	Carmalia Reach Amazina	Gaint Otra grafidania	60	and in	Exercute Route Employ	ed John	ed lette
InstAmenia Bernied B. BLO BART STATES BART	Venenifieres	Plana Islande	PD	#100 P	kianamiliansa.	Ref. Justice	ad latin
IndiAmetia Bendar Bondar BD Bild Bendar Bondar Bond	Harris America	Generalized	GL	81.010	Real America	80,001	N.MD
Schull Josh Amira     Amira Maguel Barba     AC     6000     Dombi Darb Institu     6100     1100       Schull Darb Maria     Amira Miller     Col     10000     1000	Figurity Agents in	Elements and a	EK.)	81010	Read America	60,001	\$1.04D
teri Doreta Arrison Bernaria Sentin Dank Maria and Bernaria Sentin Dank Maria and Bernaria Sentin Dank Maria and Sentin Senti Sentin Sentin Sentin Sentin Sentin Sentin Sentin	Centrally Eauth America	Artigue est Bastrale	AC .	0.00	Dreinally Eauto Herming	80,000	PL ND
Dendi Derk Menta         Dende         DO         Table         Dende Derk         E.M.B.           Seine Instruktures         Media         Media <td< td=""><td>Astali Densis</td><td>American James</td><td>AG</td><td>31010</td><td>Huiri Ormania</td><td>HLMH</td><td>PL ND</td></td<>	Astali Densis	American James	AG	31010	Huiri Ormania	HLMH	PL ND
schult spich Minister Berecht in die Mitter Mitter Berecht in die Mitter	Centrally Eauth America	Daminipus	DO	7600	Dreinally Eauth Hermity	PLMH	H.HD
No.         Important         Impo	Carlling Struth Athenoid	termod a	104	m.00	Exiting to the second	(A. 1911)	PL 20
Select sub-Network Arbon Arbon Select	Adapte	The get the PACE	140	4100	and the second sec	10,000	PL PD
Chila skillender     Mark     M	Cartrate South America	Argo	(4,4)	4100	Demails 2016 million	PL 901	M.MP
Schloren     Terrer     Terrer     Terrer     Schloren     Schloren <td>Address Concerns</td> <td>CONTRACT OF CONTRACT OF CONTRACT.</td> <td>100</td> <td>4100</td> <td>R/WEQUINE</td> <td>10,001</td> <td>14,80</td>	Address Concerns	CONTRACT OF CONTRACT.	100	4100	R/WEQUINE	10,001	14,80
Anna bank hana a gapakana hi na ba ba bank hana hana hana hana hana hana hana h	Addard Coloring	10.04	-	4100	R/N/LOOIMID	100,001	10,00
Same Strate State         Same Strate St	Contracts Results America	Salt Providence and	100	1000	Contracts found interior		10.000
inter formation in the Tampa Property of the constraint of the second property	Company the Report Property of	Company and a second	27	and the second se	Francis Load Interior	100	100.000
Jan S Davis Markan Angeler Construction (Construction (Con	Laboration of the second se	Harry Terrary and Balanian	-	1000	United States	100	100
Density North         Preshthans         Preshtans	had not Comparin	Courts	00	and the second se	Resident Company,	10.000	100
Name         VI         Billion         Billion         Billion         Billion           Nami Chresin         Mar Chresin         Mar Chresin         Mar Chresin         Billion	Carmolia Espain America	Promote Chalance	10	Table	Consulta Escate Unamina	64 M F	01.00
Variation         Mark Contains         MC         HUBD         Hust Contain         HLBI         H	Astali Densis	linear and a second sec	140	61.010	Read Oversein	101,001	111,040
March Constant         Water         Het         Database         Head         Billion         Head         Disk         Billion         Head         Disk         Billion         Head         Disk         Billion         Billion         Billion         Billion         Database         Billion         Billion         Billion         Database         Billion         Database         Billion         Downsing base         Billion         Billion         Downsing base         Billion         Downsing base         Billion         Downsing base         Billion         Downsing base         Down	Antaria Overania	Inter Collectories	MC	#1,010	Read Overants	171,001	206,040
Child sublemaine Child sublem	Antarii Osmania	"Comparing	144	21.010	Rear Domain	84.301	206,040
Devid Nexts         Brier	Central II Institution	Ideilari asis Artifice	M	81.010	Desiral's Deale Herming	10.001	206.00
Unit Open Productings Provide State County of State County of State County of State County of State St	Central's Dauth America	Delar	89H	41.010	Dreinally Dauby Hermitan	16.00	281,000
Salah Suda Manta Berdadi U UU (TSUD) Dalim Buda Manta (DAM (TSUD) Man (Salah Suda (Dalim)) (TSUD) Man (Salah Suda (Dalim)) (TSUD) (TSU	Address Colorises	Pinchell Program (Inc.	10.	01010	R/MEQUARE	100,000	120,000
Net ventralen ventralen vit state som en som	Carltan Iouth America	trebobul.	00	101010	Definate touto mitaro-e	194,941	121,249
chelentropic de la construcción	Adapta	Vedwith/Barata	141	#100	and a	10,000	175,949
Shel Deale Shel Deale Market Sheat Market Sh	And an address of the	to-stand	<b>R</b>	124949	MARINDU De	(N.80	100,000
Annue tampe annue a seconda annue an annue an annue a	Advision and	Maddani .	M.	2002	Birel Ocario	10.00	10.02
Chila sidesire Didus sidesire	And and American Street of	Carlottan, The	10 C	and the second se	Company to an other a	100,000	100.000
Christelleveler Dhitselleveler	Asked Church	Ervisi -	ER:	#100	Brief Charles	250,001	10.000
Chila delivade Dationale							
Christ addresier Dationaler							
Chi in skilveske Datus skilveske							
Chilis addreader Dakta addreader							
Christ addresder Disk's addresder							
		2010-00-00					
		1. All a second s				L-65/10 0	

In Page Layout view, the worksheet resembles printed pages.

## **Page Break Preview**

Page Break Preview displays the worksheet and shows where the page breaks occur. Figure 9.3 shows an example. This view mode is different from Normal view mode with page breaks turned on: The key difference is that you can drag the page breaks. Unlike Page Layout view, Page Break Preview does not display headers and footers.

When you enter Page Break Preview, Excel performs the following:

- Changes the zoom factor so that you can see more of the worksheet.
- Displays the page numbers overlaid on the pages.

- Displays the current print range with a white background; nonprinting data appears with a gray background.
- Displays all page breaks as draggable dashed lines.

When you change the page breaks by dragging, Excel automatically adjusts the scaling so that the information fits on the pages, per your specifications.

## Tip

In Page Break Preview, you still have access to all Excel commands. You can change the zoom factor if you find the text to be too small.

To exit Page Break Preview, just click one of the other View icons on the status bar.

#### FIGURE 9.3

Page Break Preview mode gives you a bird's-eye view of your worksheet and shows exactly where the page breaks occur.



## **Adjusting Common Page Setup Settings**

Clicking the Quick Print button (or choosing File ➡ Print ➡ Print) may produce acceptable results in many cases, but a little tweaking of the print settings can often improve your printed reports. You can adjust print settings in three places:

- The Print screen in Backstage View, displayed when you choose File I Print
- The Page Layout tab of the Ribbon
- The Page Setup dialog box, displayed when you click the dialog launcher in the bottomright corner of the Page Layout 🕫 Page Setup group on the Ribbon

Table 9.1 summarizes the locations where you can make various types of print adjustments in Excel 2010.

#### TABLE 9.1

	0	0	
Setting	Print Settings Screen	Page Layout Tab of Ribbon	Page Setup Dialog Box
Number of copies	Х		
Printer to use	Х		
What to print	Х		
Specify worksheet print area		Х	Х
1-sided or 2-sided	Х		
Collated	Х		
Orientation	Х	Х	Х
Paper size	Х	Х	Х
Adjust margins	Х	Х	Х
Specify manual page breaks		Х	
Specify repeating rows and/or columns			Х
Set print scaling		Х	Х
Print or hide gridlines		Х	Х
Print or hide row and column headings		Х	Х
Specify the first page number			Х
Center output on page			Х
Specify header/footers and options			Х
Specify how to print cell comments			Х

## Where to Change Printer Settings

continued

TABLE 9 1 (continued)

TADEL 9.1 (continued)			
Setting	Print Settings Screen	Page Layout Tab of Ribbon	Page Setup Dialog Box
Specify page order			Х
Specify black-and-white output			Х
Specify how to print error cells			Х
Launch dialog box for printer-specific settings	Х		Х

## **Choosing your printer**

To switch to a different printer, choose File ⇔ Print, and use the drop-down control in the Printer section to select a different installed printer.

## Note

To adjust printer settings, click the Printer Properties link to display a property box for the selected printer. The exact dialog box that you see depends on the printer. The Properties dialog box lets you adjust printer-specific settings, such as the print quality and the paper source. In most cases, you won't have to change any of these settings, but if you're having print-related problems, you may want to check the settings. ■

## Specifying what you want to print

Sometimes you may want to print only a part of the worksheet rather than the entire active area. Or you may want to reprint selected pages of a report without printing all the pages. Choose File  $\Rightarrow$  Print, and use the controls in the Settings section to specify what to print.

You have several options:

- Active Sheets: Prints the active sheet or sheets that you selected. (This option is the default.) You can select multiple sheets to print by pressing Ctrl and clicking the sheet tabs. If you select multiple sheets, Excel begins printing each sheet on a new page.
- Entire Workbook: Prints the entire workbook, including chart sheets.
- Selection: Prints only the range that you selected before choosing File 🖒 Print.
- Selected Table: Appears only if the cell pointer is within a table (created with Insert  $\Rightarrow$  Tables  $\Rightarrow$  Table) when the Print Setting screen is displayed. If selected, only the table will be printed.

## Tip

You can also choose Page Layout ⇔ Page Setup ⇔ Print Area ⇔ Set Print Area to specify the range or ranges to print. Before you choose this command, select the range or ranges that you want to print. To clear the print area, choose Page Layout ⇔ Page Setup ⇔ Print Area ⇔ Clear Print Area. To override the print area, select the Ignore Print Areas check box in the list of Print What options. ■

## Is Printing Getting More Complicated?\_

If you're new to Excel, the information in Table 9.1 might be a bit overwhelming. Why does Excel provide three ways to adjust printing options? After all, before Excel 2007, Excel provided the Page Setup dialog box, plus a Print dialog box. Everything you needed was in these two dialog boxes. It was fairly simple.

With the introduction of the Ribbon in Excel 2007, though, things got a bit more complicated. Some of the more common print settings were in the Page Layout  $\Rightarrow$  Page Setup Ribbon group, where they are easily seen. These are also the settings that determine how the Page Layout View is displayed. The Page Setup and Print dialog boxes were still used.

#### **New Feature**

In Excel 2010, the Print tab in Backstage View replaces the Print dialog box. The Page Layout ⇔ Page Setup Ribbon group remains unchanged. And users still need to use the Page Setup dialog box to make some changes. ■

Table 9.1 might make printing seem more complicated than it really is. The key point to remember is this: If you can't find a way to make a particular adjustment, it's probably available from the Page Setup dialog box.

#### Note

The print area does not have to be a single range. You make a multiple selection before you set the print area. Each area will print on a separate page. ■

If your printed output uses multiple pages, you can select which pages to print by indicating the number of the first and last pages to print by using Pages controls in the Settings section. You can either use the spinner controls or type the page numbers in the edit boxes.

## **Changing page orientation**

Page orientation refers to how output is printed on the page. Choose Page Layout ⇔ Page Setup ⇔ Orientation ⇔ Portrait to print tall pages (the default) or Page Layout ⇔ Page Setup ⇔ Orientation ⇔ Landscape to print wide pages. Landscape orientation is useful when you have a wide range that doesn't fit on a vertically oriented page.

If you change the orientation, the onscreen page breaks adjust automatically to accommodate the new paper orientation.

Page orientation settings are also available when you choose File 🖒 Print.

## Specifying paper size

Choose Page Layout ➡ Page Setup ➡ Size to specify the paper size you're using. The paper size settings are also available when you choose File ➡ Print.

## Note

Even though Excel displays a variety of paper sizes, your printer may not be capable of using them.

## Printing multiple copies of a report

Use the Copies control at the top of the Print tab in Backstage View to specify the number of copies to print. Just enter the number of copies you want and then click Print.

## Tip

If you're printing multiple copies of a report, make certain that the Collated option is selected so that Excel prints the pages in order for each set of output. If you're printing only one page, Excel ignores the Collated setting. ■

## Adjusting page margins

*Margins* are the unprinted areas along the sides, top, and bottom of a printed page. Excel provides four "quick margin" settings, and you can also specify the exact margin size you require. All printed pages have the same margins. You can't specify different margins for different pages.

In Page Layout view, a ruler is displayed above the column header and to the left of the row header. Use your mouse to drag the margins in the ruler. Excel adjusts the page display immediately. Use the horizontal ruler to adjust the left and right margins, and use the vertical ruler to adjust the top and bottom margins.

From the Page Layout ⇔ Page Setup ⇔ Margins drop-down list, you can select Normal, Wide, Narrow, or the Last custom Setting. These options are also available when you choose File ⇔ Print. If none of these settings does the job, choose Custom Margins to display the Margins tab of the Page Setup dialog box, shown in Figure 9.4.

To change a margin, click the appropriate spinner (or you can enter a value directly). The margin settings that you specify in the Page Setup dialog box will then be available in the Page Layout ⇔ Page Setup ⇔ Margins drop-down list, referred to as Last Custom Setting.

## Note

The Preview box in the center of the Page Setup dialog box is a bit deceiving because it doesn't really show you how your changes look in relation to the page; rather, it displays a darker line to let you know which margin you're adjusting. ■

In addition to the page margins, you can adjust the distance of the header from the top of the page and the distance of the footer from the bottom of the page. These settings should be less than the corresponding margin; otherwise, the header or footer may overlap with the printed output.

By default, Excel aligns the printed page at the top and left margins. If you want the output to be centered vertically or horizontally, select the appropriate check box in the Center on Page section of the Margins tab.

#### FIGURE 9.4

The Margins tab of the Page Setup dialog box.

Page Setup		
Page (Hergine) Head	m/Foster Shevit	
	3801 1 (0)	ns Io
µft 1.15  0		Baht: 8-25 (§)
	Bottom:	Exoter: 0.5 (2)
Enter in page Temperaty Engeneraty		
	Bint., Pri	getere
	(	OK Canvad

## Understanding page breaks

When printing lengthy reports, controlling where pages break is often important. For example, you probably don't want a row to print on a page by itself, nor do you want a table header row to be the last line on a page. Fortunately, Excel gives you precise control over page breaks.

Excel handles page breaks automatically, but sometimes you may want to force a page break — either a vertical or a horizontal one — so that the report prints the way you want. For example, if your worksheet consists of several distinct sections, you may want to print each section on a separate sheet of paper.

#### Inserting a page break

To insert a horizontal page-break line, move the cell pointer to the cell that will begin the new page. Just make sure that you place the pointer in column A, though; otherwise, you'll insert a vertical page break *and* a horizontal page break. For example, if you want row 14 to be the first row of a new page, select cell A14. Then choose Page Layout ⇔ Page Setup ⇔ Breaks ⇔ Insert Page Break.

#### Note

Page breaks are visualized differently, depending on which view mode you're using. See "Changing Your Page View," earlier in this chapter. ■

To insert a vertical page-break line, move the cell pointer to the cell that will begin the new page. In this case, though, make sure to place the pointer in row 1. Choose Page Layout ⇔ Page Setup ⇔ Breaks ⇔ Insert Page Break to create the page break.

#### **Removing manual page breaks**

To remove a page break you've added, move the cell pointer to the first row beneath (or the first column to the right) of the manual page break and then choose Page Layout ➡ Page Setup ➡ Breaks ➡ Remove Page Break.

To remove all manual page breaks in the worksheet, choose Page Layout ➡ Page Setup ➡ Breaks ➡ Reset All Page Breaks.

## Printing row and column titles

If your worksheet is set up with titles in the first row and descriptive names in the first column, it can be difficult to identify data that appears on printed pages where those titles do not appear. To resolve this problem, you can choose to print selected rows or columns as titles on each page of the printout.

## **Cross-Reference**

Row and column titles serve pretty much the same purpose on a printout as frozen panes do in navigating within a worksheet. See Chapter 3 for more information on freezing panes. Keep in mind, however, that these features are independent of each other. In other words, freezing panes does not affect the printed output.

## Caution

Don't confuse print titles with headers; these are two different concepts. Headers appear at the top of each page and contain information, such as the worksheet name, date, or page number. Row and column titles describe the data being printed, such as field names in a database table or list. ■

You can specify particular rows to repeat at the top of every printed page or particular columns to repeat at the left of every printed page. To do so, choose Page Layout ↔ Page Setup ↔ Print Titles. Excel displays the Sheet tab of the Page Setup dialog box, shown in Figure 9.5.

Activate the appropriate box (either Rows To Repeat At Top or Columns To Repeat At Left) and then select the rows or columns in the worksheet. Or you can enter these references manually. For example, to specify rows 1 and 2 as repeating rows, enter **1:2**.

## Note

When you specify row and column titles and use Page Layout view, these titles will repeat on every page (just as when the document is printed). However, the cells used in the title can be selected only on the page in which they first appear. ■

#### FIGURE 9.5

Use the Sheet tab of the Page Setup dialog box to specify rows or columns that will appear on each printed page.

Page Setup			
Page Margina Heads	eFoster Syst.	1	
Print great			56
Barvs to repeat at top:	\$1:51		1
Columns to repeat at left	\$A-\$A		26
Print Øgednes Data and white Data and column header Page order Øgen, fran sver Ø Ogen, fran sver Ø Ogen, fran sver	Cognents: Coligron as: p	(Marw) deplayed	
	Bint.,	Print Proving	jotora
		<u> </u>	Cancel

## Scaling printed output

In some cases, you may need to force your printed output to fit on a specific number of pages. You can do so by enlarging or reducing the size. To enter a scaling factor, choose Page Layout 🕏 Scale to Fit 🗢 Scale. You can scale the output from 10% up to 400%. To return to normal scaling, enter **100%**.

To force Excel to print using a specific number of pages, choose Page Layout ⇔ Scale to Fit ⇔ Width and Page Layout ⇔ Scale to Fit ⇔ Height. When you change either one of these settings, the corresponding scale factor is displayed in the Scale control.

## Caution

Excel doesn't care about legibility, however. It will gladly scale your output to be so small that no one can read it. ■

## **Printing cell gridlines**

Typically, cell gridlines aren't printed. If you want your printout to include the gridlines, choose Page Layout ⇔ Sheet Options ⇔ Gridlines ⇔ Print.

Alternatively, you can insert borders around some cells to simulate gridlines. See Chapter 6 for information about borders.

## Inserting a Watermark.

A *watermark* is an image (or text) that appears on each printed page. A watermark can be a faint company logo, or a word such as DRAFT. Excel doesn't have an official command to print a watermark, but you can add a watermark by inserting a picture in the page header or footer. Here's how:

- 1. Locate an image on your hard drive that you want to use for the watermark.
- 2. Choose View ⇔ Workbook Views ⇔ Page Layout View.
- 3. Click the center section of the header.
- 4. Choose Header & Footer Tools 🕫 Header & Footer Elements 🕫 Picture.
- 5. Using the Insert Picture dialog box, locate the image from Step 1.
- 6. Click outside the header to see your image.
- 7. To center the image in the middle of the page, click the center section of the header and add some carriage returns before the & [Picture] code. You'll need to experiment to determine the number of carriage returns required to push the image into the body of the document.
- 8. If you need to adjust the image (for example, make it lighter), click the center section of the header and then choose Header & Footer Tools ⇔ Header & Footer Elements ⇔ Format Picture. Use the Image controls in the Picture tab of the Format Picture dialog box to adjust the image. You may need to experiment with the settings to make sure that the worksheet text is legible.

The accompanying figure shows an example of a header image (a globe) used as a watermark. You can do a similar thing with text, of course.

-		-				0		
	-		-					
188.84	10140	2011/9	- 18.10	188.84	10.44	514.17	16404	- 665.4
180.69	300-14	247.04	2418	17.81	488.70	481.10	411.00	349.2
491.54	164.00	41136	448.00	10144	481.15	185.44	100.04	1964
204.00	198.76	74.61	199.42	940.00	701.78	182.30	114.14	24/6.2
894.74	10144	44144	201570	198.44	1088.75	10.11	\$81.54	10114
16106	401.104	428.44	430.30	48.00	676.17	107.30	1.87	0113
408.44	\$86.00	52546	481.47	109.10	\$10.5	410.20	445.59	495.4
400-00	6.81	948.30	80.11	Deci. 87	2144	190-89	80.04	241.0
484.25	101.10	795.40	148.04	481.47	40184	101.10	105.41	1014
490-24	108.79	401.79	BULL.	1417.24	140104	18.41	400.84	1041.0
99.6	109.44	445.00	\$10.51			10154	48.85	
481.01	19.40	242-82	35.47	748.62	100044	DED PH	164.70	2010
596,08	85.01	414/05	1008	10.00	ં નવ	5,7634	1018-05	181.0
100-04	1040	108.45	ં પ્રશાસ	(14-46)	12780	100042	100.04	104.3
79.10	108.76	181.10	14836	10.10	128.00	1.466	104.04	4418
891.00	40 B	HELPO	(1992)	LARKS!	43.8.	1.758	948-01	411.1
245.05	17140	145.07	CORNEL	00014	1.464	6538	894.01	65.
481.81	240.29	141.01	798.28	10.01	10142	102.00	#11P	204.9
126440	140.40	14845	110.10	448.04	- 945-62	09990	116.04	100.4
104.117	10.42	10.01	164 F.	100.00			048.78	440.4
640	102,107	16168.	2 RH	104.05	455.44.	- #6.M	100.00	508.5
1040	DOTAT	#120	101.60	20346	198.42	118.25	28.90	42014
250.44	588.15	144.45		545.45	10.000.00	506/84	59844	411.1
100-04	241.8	124.45	10142	U. TAM	100.0	MON.	216.40	480.5
54.0	440.54	00144	18.04	1445	回動(24)	ासम	10.00	404.0
449.30	18.40	06.04	107.84	387	108.00	104140	100.00	19114
442.17	- NIS #2	110.15	18711	1810	1175	44130	90.84	172.4
19.30	91136	K11.HT	362.17	370.24	111.76	147	104.20	00.5
18.42	149.22	140.16	5.84	161.6	45.54	1044	410.4	548.4
100.45	180-00	CORAL PROPERTY AND	421.10	ICER AT	108104	890 E	100-00	- 104.4
001.10	1010	101.07	141.35	10885	1084.81	19.15	419.90	410.4
61040	100-04	188.47	180.06	123.76	34.75	201.8	342.18	180.4
99.50	10.81	48034	101.0	140105	705.74	440.05	80.8	91.0
100.H	40.00	004.02	28.8	101.16	101.12	04.65	191.11	420.3
498,70	40040	19034	19090	00100	812.21	104.18	84.00	2212.7
11140	271-02	172-80	20110	P8.00	100.07	81.10	114.07	1014
081.50	808.00	458.50	040.05	410.96	18.00	11144	440.07	1000
946.70	84100	10.40	101.01	108.24	100.07	10184	10.00	891.3
10120	14150	4(100	100.06	20121	498.50	444.01	104.00	19.5
808.72	000 B.	24014.0	714.18	80344	211.10	2014.58	2247	268.8
188	10.01	770.90	294.07	4185	91140	1004	1000	401.5
80.41	4180	701.36	82.26	168.42	00040	101.36	0017.	1440
004.31	40540	7120	000.40	70.14	100.45	4140	18.45	500.0
100000-0-00	A 100 King Street	1000	100.0	B 100 - 101	744.44	1.775.84		-

## Printing row and column headers

By default, row and column headers for a worksheet are not printed. If you want your printout to include these items, choose Page Layout 与 Sheet Options ⇔ Headings ⇔ Print.

## Using a background image

Would you like to have a background image on your printouts? Unfortunately, you can't. You may have noticed the Page Layout  $\Rightarrow$  Page Setup  $\Rightarrow$  Background command. This button displays a dialog box that lets you select an image to display as a background. Placing this control among the other print-related commands is very misleading. Background images placed on a worksheet are never printed.

## Tip

In lieu of a true background image, you can insert a Shape, WordArt, or a picture on your worksheet and then adjust its transparency. Then copy the image to all printed pages. Alternatively, you can insert an object in a page header or footer. See the sidebar titled, "Inserting a Watermark."

## Adding a Header or Footer to Your Reports

A *header* is information that appears at the top of each printed page. A *footer* is information that appears at the bottom of each printed page. By default, new workbooks do not have headers or footers.

You can specify headers and footers by using the Header/Footer tab of the Page Setup dialog box. This task is much easier if you switch to Page Layout view, though, where you can click the section labeled Click to Add Header or Click to Add Footer.

## Note

If you're working in Normal view, you can choose Insert ⇔ Text ⇔ Header & Footer. Excel switches to Page Layout view and activates the center section of the page header. ■

You can then type the information and apply any type of formatting you like. Note that headers and footers consist of three sections: left, center, and right. For example, you can create a header that prints your name at the left margin, the worksheet name centered in the header, and the page number at the right margin.

## Tip

If you would like a consistent header or footer for all your documents, create a book.xlt with your headers or footers specified. A book.xlt template is used as the basis for new workbooks. See Chapter 8 for details.

When you activate the header or footer section in Page Layout view, the Ribbon displays a new contextual tab: Header & Footer Tools 
Design. Use the controls on this tab to work with headers and footers.

## Selecting a predefined header or footer

You can choose from a number of predefined headers or footers by using either of the two dropdown lists in the Header & Footer Tools ↔ Design ↔ Header & Footer group. Notice that some items in these lists consist of multiple parts, separated by a comma. Each part goes into one of the three header or footer sections (left, center, or right). Figure 9.6 shows an example of a header that uses all three sections.

#### FIGURE 9.6

This three-part header is one of Excel's predefined headers.

	Å	8	0	8	£	P.	6	14		
	the data				combere	al				гарі
. 4										
3	168.00	281.68	263.79	188.07	788.68	205.88	103.87	984.04	387.47	
4	743.88	430.65	201.88	241.18	627.88	123.78	187.08	471.88	218.38	
· 2	4933.10	184.18	411.38	448.30	127.08	453.05	103.00	303.08	120.04	
	2990.822	791.78	\$14.10	222-48	PH 10	199.24	162.22	124.34	180.15	
- T	834.74	170.04	441.40	263.39	100.00	108.73	113.39	00134	387.48	
- 0	\$4.04	101.59	491.46	452.95	44.50	604.65	985.92	8.97	457.98	
- 9	895.08	596.11	521.68	400.47	102.59	686.17	599.20	695.59	293.45	
1.0	432.08	6.66	864.95	985.17	964.17	55.66	798.09	183.04	217.06	
10 A A A A										

## Understanding header and footer element codes

When a header or footer section is activated, you can type whatever text you like into the section. Or, to insert variable information, you can insert any of several element codes by clicking a button in the Header & Footer Tools  $\Rightarrow$  Design  $\Rightarrow$  Header & Footer Elements group. Each button inserts a code into the selected section. For example, to insert the current date, click the Current Date button. Table 9.2 lists the buttons and their functions.

#### TABLE 9.2

#### **Header & Footer Buttons and Their Functions**

Button	Code	Function
Page Number	&Page]	Displays the page number
Number of Pages	&[Pages]	Displays the total number of pages to be printed
Current Date	&[Date]	Displays the current date
Current Time	&[Time]	Displays the current time

Button	Code	Function
File Path	&[Path]&[File]	Displays the workbook's complete path and filename
File Name	&[File]	Displays the workbook name
Sheet Name	&[Tab]	Displays the sheet's name
Picture	Not applicable	Enables you to add a picture
Format Picture	Not applicable	Enables you to change an added picture's settings

You can combine text and codes and insert as many codes as you like into each section.

## Note

If the text that you enter uses an ampersand (&), you must enter the ampersand twice (because Excel uses an ampersand to signal a code). For example, to enter the text Research & Development into a section of a header or footer, enter Research && Development. ■

You can also use different fonts and sizes in your headers and footers. Just select the text that you want to change and then use the formatting tools in the Home  $\Rightarrow$  Font group. Or use the controls on the Mini toolbar, which appears automatically when you select the text. If you don't change the font, Excel uses the font defined for the Normal style.

## Tip

You can use as many lines as you like. Press Enter to force a line break for multiline headers or footers. If you use multiline headers or footers, you may need to adjust the top or bottom margin so the text won't overlap with the worksheet data. See "Adjusting the page margins," earlier in this chapter.

Unfortunately, you can't print the contents of a specific cell in a header or footer. For example, you may want Excel to use the contents of cell A1 as part of a header. To do so, you need to enter the cell's contents manually — or write a VBA macro to perform this operation before the sheet is printed.

## Other header and footer options

When a header or footer is selected in Page Layout view, the Header & Footer 🖒 Design 🖒 Options group contains controls that let you specify other options:

- **Different First Page:** If checked, you can specify a different header/footer for the first printed page.
- Different Odd & Even Pages: If checked, you can specify a different header/footer for odd and even pages.
- Scale with Document: If checked, the font size in the header and footer will be sized accordingly if the document is scaled when printed. This option is enabled, by default.
- Align with Page Margins: If checked, the left header and footer will be aligned with the left margin, and the right header and footer will be aligned with the right margin. This option is enabled, by default.

## **Copying Page Setup Settings across Sheets**

Each Excel worksheet has its own print setup options (orientation, margins, headers and footers, and so on). These options are specified in the Page Setup group of the Page Layout tab.

When you add a new sheet to a workbook, it contains the default page setup settings. Here's an easy way to transfer the settings from one worksheet to additional worksheets:

- 1. Activate the sheet that contains the desired setup information. This is the source sheet.
- **2. Select the target sheets.** Ctrl-click the sheet tabs of the sheets you want to update with the settings from the source sheet.
- 3. Click the dialog box launcher in the lower-right corner of the Page Layout ⇒ Page Setup group.
- 4. When the Page Setup dialog box appears, click OK to close it.
- **5.** Ungroup the sheets by right-clicking any selected sheet and choosing Ungroup Sheets from the shortcut menu. Because multiple sheets are selected when you close the Page Setup dialog box, the settings of the source sheet will be transferred to all target sheets.

#### Note

Two settings located on the Sheet tab of the Page Setup dialog box are not transferred: Print Area and Print Titles. In addition, pictures in the header or footer are not transferred. ■

## **Preventing Certain Cells from Being Printed**

If your worksheet contains confidential information, you may want to print the worksheet but not the confidential parts. You can use several techniques to prevent certain parts of a worksheet from printing:

- Hide rows or columns. When you hide rows or columns, the hidden rows or columns aren't printed. Use the Home ↔ Cells ↔ Format drop-down list to hide the selected rows or columns.
- Hide cells or ranges.
  - You can hide cells or ranges by making the text color the same color as the background color. Be aware, however, that this method may not work for all printers.
  - You can hide cells by using a custom number format that consists of three semicolons (;;;). See Chapter 24 for more information about using custom number formats.
- Mask an area. You can mask a confidential area of a worksheet by covering it with a rectangle Shape. Choose Insert ➡ Illustrations ➡ Shapes and click the Rectangle Shape. You'll probably want to adjust the fill color to match the cell background and remove the border.

If you find that you must regularly hide data before you print certain reports, consider using the Custom Views feature, discussed later in this chapter (see "Creating Custom Views of Your Worksheet"). This feature allows you to create a named view that doesn't show the confidential information.

## **Preventing Objects from Being Printed**

To prevent objects on the worksheet (such as charts, Shapes, and SmartArt) from being printed, you need to access the Properties tab of the object's Format dialog box (see Figure 9.7):

- **1. Right-click the object and choose Format** *xxxx* **from the shortcut menu**. (*xxxx* varies, depending on the object.)
- 2. In the Format dialog box that opens for the object, click the Properties tab.
- 3. Remove the check mark for Print Object.

#### Note

For a chart, you must right-click the chart's Chart Area (the background of the chart). Or, double-click the chart's border to display the Format Chart Area dialog box. Then click the Properties tab and remove the check mark from Print Object. ■

#### FIGURE 9.7

Use the Properties tab of the object's Format dialog box to prevent objects from printing.



## **Creating Custom Views of Your Worksheet**

If you need to create several different printed reports from the same Excel workbook, setting up the specific settings for each report can be a tedious job. For example, you may need to print a full report in landscape mode for your boss. Another department may require a simplified report using the same data, but with some hidden columns in portrait mode. You can simplify the process by creating custom named views of your worksheets that include the proper settings for each report.

The Custom Views feature enables you to give names to various views of your worksheet, and you can quickly switch among these named views. A *view* includes settings for the following:

- Print settings, as specified in the Page Layout ➡ Page Setup, Page Layout ➡ Scale to Fit, and Page ➡ Page Setup ➡ Sheet Options groups
- Hidden rows and columns
- The worksheet view (Normal, Page Layout, Page Break preview)
- Selected cells and ranges
- The active cell
- The zoom factor
- Window sizes and positions
- Frozen panes

If you find that you're constantly fiddling with these settings before printing and then changing them back, using named views can save you lots of effort.

#### Caution

Unfortunately, the Custom Views feature does not work if the workbook (not just the worksheet) contains at least one table. When a workbook that contains a table is active, the Custom View command is disabled. This limitation severely limits the usefulness of the Custom Views feature.

To create a named view

- 1. Set up the view settings the way you want them. For example, hide some columns.
- 2. Choose View 与 Workbook Views 与 Custom Views to display the Custom Views dialog box.
- **3.** Click the Add button and provide a descriptive name in the Add View dialog box that appears (see Figure 9.8). You can also specify what to include in the view by using the two check boxes. For example, if you don't want the view to include print settings, remove the check mark from Print Settings.
- 4. Click OK to save the named view.

#### FIGURE 9.8

Use the Add View dialog box to create a named view.

Add View	
Same: Elencative Summary	
Include in view Third settings Third settings Third settings	
<u> </u>	Canvel

Then, when you're ready to print, open the Custom Views dialog box to see all named views. To select a particular view, just select it from the list and click the Show button. To delete a named view from the list, click the Delete button.

# Part II

# Working with Formulas and Functions

Formulas and worksheet functions are essential to manipulating data and obtaining useful information from your Excel workbooks. The chapters in this part present a wide variety of formula examples that use many Excel functions. Two of the chapters are devoted to array formulas. These chapters are intended primarily for advanced users who need to perform calculations that may otherwise be impossible.

## **IN THIS PART**

**Chapter 10** Introducing Formulas and Functions

#### Chapter 11

Creating Formulas That Manipulate Text

**Chapter 12** Working with Dates and Times

**Chapter 13** Creating Formulas That Count and Sum

**Chapter 14** Creating Formulas That Look Up Values

**Chapter 15** Creating Formulas for Financial Applications

**Chapter 16** Introducing Array Formulas

**Chapter 17** Performing Magic with Array Formulas

# 

# Introducing Formulas and Functions

Formulas are what make a spreadsheet program so useful. If it weren't for formulas, a spreadsheet would simply be a glorified word-processing document that has great support for tabular information. You use formulas in your Excel worksheets to calculate results from the data stored in the worksheet. When data changes, the formulas calculate updated results with no extra effort on your part. This chapter introduces formulas and functions and helps you get up to speed with this important element.

## **Understanding Formula Basics**

A *formula* consists of special code entered into a cell. It performs a calculation of some type and returns a result, which is displayed in the cell. Formulas use a variety of operators and worksheet functions to work with values and text. The values and text used in formulas can be located in other cells, which makes changing data easy and gives worksheets their dynamic nature. For example, you can see multiple scenarios quickly by changing the data in a worksheet and letting your formulas do the work.

A formula can consist of any of these elements:

- Mathematical operators, such as + (for addition) and \* (for multiplication)
- Cell references (including named cells and ranges)
- Values or text
- Worksheet functions (such as SUM or AVERAGE)

## **IN THIS CHAPTER**

**Understanding formula basics** 

Entering formulas and functions into your worksheets

Understanding how to use references in formulas

Correcting common formula errors

Using advanced naming techniques

Tips for working with formulas

## Note

When you're working with a table, a feature introduced in Excel 2007 enables you to create formulas that use column names from the table — which can make your formulas much easier to read. I discuss table formulas later in this chapter. (See "Using Formulas In Tables.")

After you enter a formula, the cell displays the calculated result of the formula. The formula itself appears in the Formula bar when you select the cell, however.

Here are a few examples of formulas:

=150*.05	Multiplies 150 times 0.05. This formula uses only values, and it always returns the same result. You could just enter the value 7.5 into the cell.
=A1+A2	Adds the values in cells A1 and A2.
=Income-Expenses	Subtracts the value in the cell named Expenses from the value in the cell named Income.
=SUM(A1:A12)	Adds the values in the range A1:A12.
=A1=C12	Compares cell A1 with cell C12. If the cells are identical, the formula returns TRUE; otherwise, it returns FALSE.

#### Tip

Formulas always begin with an equal sign so that Excel can distinguish them from text. ■

## Using operators in formulas

Excel lets you use a variety of operators in your formulas. *Operators* are symbols that indicate what mathematical operation you want the formula to perform. Table 10.1 lists the operators that Excel recognizes. In addition to these, Excel has many built-in functions that enable you to perform additional calculations.

#### **TABLE 10.1**

#### **Operators Used in Formulas**

Operator	Name
+	Addition
-	Subtraction
*	Multiplication
/	Division
^	Exponentiation
&	Concatenation

Operator	Name
=	Logical comparison (equal to)
>	Logical comparison (greater than)
<	Logical comparison (less than)
>=	Logical comparison (greater than or equal to)
<=	Logical comparison (less than or equal to)
<>	Logical comparison (not equal to)

You can, of course, use as many operators as you need to perform the desired calculation.

Here are some examples of formulas that use various operators.

Formula	What It Does
="Part-"&"23A"	Joins (concatenates) the two text strings to produce Part-23A.
=A1&A2	Concatenates the contents of cell A1 with cell A2. Concatenation works with values as well as text. If cell A1 contains 123 and cell A2 contains 456, this formula would return the text 123456.
=6^3	Raises 6 to the third power (216).
=216^(1/3)	Raises 216 to the 1/3 power. This is mathematically equivalent to cal- culating the cube root of 216, which is 6.
=A1 <a2< td=""><td>Returns TRUE if the value in cell A1 is less than the value in cell A2. Otherwise, it returns FALSE. Logical-comparison operators also work with text. If A1 contains Bill and A2 contains Julia, the formula would return TRUE because Bill comes before Julia in alphabetical order.</td></a2<>	Returns TRUE if the value in cell A1 is less than the value in cell A2. Otherwise, it returns FALSE. Logical-comparison operators also work with text. If A1 contains Bill and A2 contains Julia, the formula would return TRUE because Bill comes before Julia in alphabetical order.
=A1<=A2	Returns TRUE if the value in cell A1 is less than or equal to the value in cell A2. Otherwise, it returns FALSE.
=A1<>A2	Returns TRUE if the value in cell A1 isn't equal to the value in cell A2. Otherwise, it returns FALSE.

## Understanding operator precedence in formulas

When Excel calculates the value of a formula, it uses certain rules to determine the order in which the various parts of the formula are calculated. You need to understand these rules if you want your formulas to produce the desired results.

Table 10.2 lists the Excel operator precedence. This table shows that exponentiation has the highest precedence (performed first) and logical comparisons have the lowest precedence (performed last).

#### **TABLE 10.2**

Symbol	Operator	Precedence
^	Exponentiation	1
*	Multiplication	2
/	Division	2
+	Addition	3
-	Subtraction	3
&	Concatenation	4
=	Equal to	5
<	Less than	5
>	Greater than	5

#### **Operator Precedence in Excel Formulas**

You can use parentheses to override the Excel's built-in order of precedence. Expressions within parentheses are always evaluated first. For example, the following formula uses parentheses to control the order in which the calculations occur. In this case, cell B3 is subtracted from cell B2, and the result is multiplied by cell B4:

=(B2-B3)\*B4

If you enter the formula without the parentheses, Excel computes a different answer. Because multiplication has a higher precedence, cell B3 is multiplied by cell B4. Then this result is subtracted from cell B2, which isn't what was intended.

The formula without parentheses looks like this:

=B2-B3\*B4

It's a good idea to use parentheses even when they aren't strictly necessary. Doing so helps to clarify what the formula is intended to do. For example, the following formula makes it perfectly clear that B3 should be multiplied by B4, and the result subtracted from cell B2. Without the parentheses, you would need to remember Excel's order of precedence.

=B2-(B3\*B4)

You can also *nest* parentheses within formulas — that is, put them inside other parentheses. If you do so, Excel evaluates the most deeply nested expressions first — and then works its way out. Here's an example of a formula that uses nested parentheses:

=((B2\*C2)+(B3\*C3)+(B4\*C4))\*B6

This formula has four sets of parentheses — three sets are nested inside the fourth set. Excel evaluates each nested set of parentheses and then sums the three results. This result is then multiplied by the value in cell B6.

Although the preceding formula uses four sets of parentheses, only the outer set is really necessary. If you understand operator precedence, it should be clear that you can rewrite this formula as:

=(B2\*C2+B3\*C3+B4\*C4)\*B6

But most would agree that using the extra parentheses makes the calculation much clearer.

Every left parenthesis, of course, must have a matching right parenthesis. If you have many levels of nested parentheses, keeping them straight can sometimes be difficult. If the parentheses don't match, Excel displays a message explaining the problem — and won't let you enter the formula.

## Caution

In some cases, if your formula contains mismatched parentheses, Excel may propose a correction to your formula. Figure 10.1 shows an example of the Formula AutoCorrect feature. You may be tempted simply to accept the proposed correction, but be careful — in many cases, the proposed formula, although syntactically correct, isn't the formula you intended, and it will produce an incorrect result.

#### FIGURE 10.1

The Excel Formula AutoCorrect feature sometimes suggests a syntactically correct formula, but not the formula you had in mind.



## Tip

Excel lends a hand in helping you match parentheses. When the insertion point moves over a parenthesis while you're editing a cell, Excel momentarily makes the parenthesis character bold and displays it in a different color — and does the same with its matching parenthesis. ■

## Using functions in your formulas

Many formulas you create use worksheet functions. These functions enable you to greatly enhance the power of your formulas and perform calculations that are difficult (or even impossible) if you use only the operators discussed previously. For example, you can use the TAN function to calculate the tangent of an angle. You can't do this complicated calculation by using the mathematical operators alone.

#### **Examples of formulas that use functions**

A worksheet function can simplify a formula significantly.

Here's an example. To calculate the average of the values in 10 cells (A1:A10) without using a function, you'd have to construct a formula like this:

= (A1+A2+A3+A4+A5+A6+A7+A8+A9+A10) /10

Not very pretty, is it? Even worse, you would need to edit this formula if you added another cell to the range. Fortunately, you can replace this formula with a much simpler one that uses one of Excel's built-in worksheet functions, AVERAGE:

=AVERAGE(A1:A10)

The following formula demonstrates how using a function can enable you to perform calculations that are not otherwise possible. Say you need to determine the largest value in a range. A formula can't tell you the answer without using a function. Here's a formula that uses the MAX function to return the largest value in the range A1:D100:

=MAX(A1:D100)

Functions also can sometimes eliminate manual editing. Assume that you have a worksheet that contains 1,000 names in cells A1:A1000, and the names appear in all-capital letters. Your boss sees the listing and informs you that the names will be mail-merged with a form letter. All-uppercase letters is not acceptable; for example, JOHN F. SMITH must now appear as John F. Smith. You *could* spend the next several hours re-entering the list — ugh — or you could use a formula, such as the following, which uses the PROPER function to convert the text in cell A1 to the proper case:

```
=PROPER(A1)
```

Enter this formula once in cell B1 and then copy it down to the next 999 rows. Then select B1:B1000 and choose Home I Clipboard I Copy to copy the range. Next, with B1:B1000 still selected, choose Home I Clipboard I Paste Values (V) to convert the formulas to values. Delete the original column, and you've just accomplished several hours of work in less than a minute.

One last example should convince you of the power of functions. Suppose you have a worksheet that calculates sales commissions. If the salesperson sold more than \$100,000 of product, the commission rate is 7.5 percent; otherwise, the commission rate is 5.0 percent. Without using a function, you would have to create two different formulas and make sure that you use the correct formula for each sales amount. A better solution is to write a formula that uses the IF function to ensure that you calculate the correct commission, regardless of sales amount:

=IF(A1<100000,A1\*5%,A1\*7.5%)

This formula performs some simple decision-making. The formula checks the value of cell A1. If this value is less than 100,000, the formula returns cell A1 multiplied by 5 percent. Otherwise, it returns what's in cell A1, multiplied by 7.5 percent. This example uses three arguments, separated by commas. I discuss this in the upcoming section, "Function arguments."

## **New Functions in Excel 2010**

## **New Feature**

#### Excel 2010 contains more than 50 new worksheet functions. ■

But, before you get too excited, understand that nearly all the new functions are simply improved versions of existing statistical functions. For example, you'll find five new functions that deal with the Chi Square distribution: CHISQ.DIST, CHISQ.DIST.RT, CHISQ.INV, CHISQ.INV.RT, and CHISQ. TEST. These are very specialized functions, and the average Excel user will have no need for them.

Excel 2010 offers only three new functions that might appeal to a more general audience:

- AGGREGATE: A function that calculates sums, averages, and so on, with the ability to ignore errors and/or hidden rows.
- NETWORKDAYS.INTL: An international version of the NETWORKDAYS function, which returns the number of workdays between two dates.
- WORKDAY.INTL: An international version of the WORKDAY function, which returns a date before or after a specified number of workdays.

Keep in mind that if you use any of these new functions, you can't share your workbook with someone who uses an earlier version of Excel.

#### **Function arguments**

In the preceding examples, you may have noticed that all the functions used parentheses. The information inside the parentheses is the *list of arguments*.

Functions vary in how they use arguments. Depending on what it has to do, a function may use

- No arguments
- One argument
- A fixed number of arguments
- An indeterminate number of arguments
- Optional arguments

An example of a function that doesn't use an argument is the NOW function, which returns the current date and time. Even if a function doesn't use an argument, you must still provide a set of empty parentheses, like this:

=NOW()

If a function uses more than one argument, you must separate each argument with a comma. The examples at the beginning of the chapter used cell references for arguments. Excel is quite flexible when it comes to function arguments, however. An argument can consist of a cell reference, literal

values, literal text strings, expressions, and even other functions. Here are some examples of functions that use various types of arguments:

- Cell reference: =SUM(A1:A24)
- Literal value: =SQRT(121)
- Literal text string: = PROPER("john smith")
- Expression: =SQRT (183+12)
- Other functions: =SQRT(SUM(A1:A24))

## Note

A comma is the list-separator character for the U.S. version of Excel. Some other versions may use a semicolon. The list separator is a Windows setting, which can be adjusted in the Windows Control Panel (the Regional and Language Options dialog box).

#### More about functions

All told, Excel includes more than 400 functions. And if that's not enough, you can purchase additional specialized functions from third-party suppliers — and even create your own custom functions (by using VBA) if you're so inclined.

Some users feel a bit overwhelmed by the sheer number of functions, but you'll probably find that you use only a dozen or so on a regular basis. And as you'll see, the Excel Insert Function dialog box (described later in this chapter) makes it easy to locate and insert a function, even if it's not one that you use frequently.

## **Cross-Reference**

You'll find many examples of Excel's built-in functions in Chapters 11 through 17. Appendix A contains a complete listing of Excel's worksheet functions, with a brief description of each. Chapter 40 covers the basics of creating custom functions with VBA. ■

## **Entering Formulas into Your Worksheets**

As I mention earlier, a formula must begin with an equal sign to inform Excel that the cell contains a formula rather than text. Excel provides two ways to enter a formula into a cell: manually or by pointing to cell references. The following sections discuss each way in detail.

Excel provides additional assistance when you create formulas by displaying a drop-down list that contains function names and range names. The items displayed in the list are determined by what you've already typed. For example, if you're entering a formula and then type the letter L, you'll see the drop-down list shown in Figure 10.2. If you type an additional letter, the list is shortened to show only the matching functions. To have Excel autocomplete an entry in that list, use the navigation keys to highlight the entry, and then press Tab. Notice that highlighting a function in the list also displays a brief description of the function. See the sidebar "Using Formula Autocomplete" for an example of how this feature works.

#### FIGURE 10.2

Excel displays a drop-down list when you enter a formula.

G).802	Returns t	fne k-th la	ergest valu	e in a data s	et. For examp	sle, the fifth la	rgest numbe
SUP SUP SUP SUN SUN SUN SUN SUN SUN SUN SUN SUN SUN							
BLOBIORM.3W							

## **Entering formulas manually**

Entering a formula manually involves, well, entering a formula manually. In a selected cell, you simply type an equal sign (=) followed by the formula. As you type, the characters appear in the cell and in the Formula bar. You can, of course, use all the normal editing keys when entering a formula.

## Entering formulas by pointing

Even though you can enter formulas by typing in the entire formula, Excel provides another method of entering formulas that is generally easier, faster, and less error-prone. This method still involves some manual typing, but you can simply *point* to the cell references instead of typing their values manually. For example, to enter the formula =A1+A2 into cell A3, follow these steps:

- 1. Move the cell pointer to cell A3.
- **2.** Type an equal sign (=) to begin the formula. Notice that Excel displays Enter in the status bar (bottom left of your screen).
- **3.** Press the up arrow twice. As you press this key, Excel displays a faint moving border around cell A1, and the cell reference appears in cell A3 and in the Formula bar. In addition, Excel displays Point in the status bar.
- **4.** Type a plus sign (+). A solid-color border replaces the faint border, and Enter reappears in the status bar.
- **5. Press the up arrow again.** The moving border encompasses cell A2, and adds that cell address to the formula.
- 6. Press Enter to end the formula.

## Tip

You can also point to the data cells by using your mouse. ■

## **Using Formula Autocomplete**

The Formula Autocomplete feature (introduced in Excel 2007) makes entering formulas easier than ever. Here's a quick walk-through that demonstrates how it works. The goal is to create a formula that uses the AGGREGATE function to calculate the average value in a range that I named TestScores. The AVERAGE function will not work in this situation because the range contains an error value.

- **1.** Select the cell that will hold the formula, and type an equal sign (=) to signal the start of a formula.
- **2.** Type the letter A. You get a list of functions and names that begin with A (see the figure here). This feature is not case sensitive, so you can use either uppercase or lowercase characters.

	A		C	D	1	- F	- 6	н	1
1	Jim	87							
2	8ob	81							
3	Sam	ill%/A							
4	Sue	69							
5	Polly	78							
6	Ned	91							
$\overline{T}$	Frank	82							
в.		100000	_	Tel con di	a direct de la	alor of a sec		han a lift of d	Real and
9		N ACCREME	-	PREATER	HE MERSON/LOSE F	anus on a riur	moler, a murr	Der Without	es aign
10		(8) ACCRIME							
11		(8) ACCS							
12		8 ACOSH	- 1						
13		(8) ADDRESS							
14		(8) ASCREGA	75						
15		(R) AMORDES	PR						
16		8 40							
17		(8) ARCAS							
10		(8) ASIN	+						
1.0									

- 3. Scroll through the list, or type another letter to narrow down the choices.
- **4.** When AGGREGATE is highlighted, press Tab to select it. Excel adds the opening parenthesis and displays another list that contains options for the first argument for AGGREGATE, as shown in the figure here.

	A		C	D	1	F.	G
1	Jim	\$7					
2	800	81					
3	Sam	#N/A					
4	SUB	65					
3	Polly	78					
6	Ned	91					
7	Frank	82					
8		-AGOMEGA	TE				
9		AGGREGA	TEthunctio	<b>e, num</b> , coti	ons, amay, (A	2	
10		ADDREDA	TE 11	MERAGE	• 2		
11			632-	COUNT			
$\pm 2$			1011	COUNTA			
13			635	101	1		
14			1216-	PRODUCT			
15			617-	17081-5			
16			1211-	STORY P	1		
17			101 k -	SLM			
18			152 11	- 14R.5			
19			50 12	- MEDIAN	-		
20							

- 5. Select 1 AVERAGE and then press Tab. Excel inserts 1, which is the code for calculating the average.
- 6. Type a comma to separate the next argument.
- 7. When Excel displays a list of items for the AGGREGATE function's second argument, select 2 Ignore Error Values and then press Tab.
- 8. Type a comma to separate the third argument (the range of test scores).
- 9. Type a T to get a list of functions and names that begin with *T*. You're looking for TestScores, so narrow it down a bit by typing the second character (e).
- 10. Highlight TestScores and then press Tab.
- 11. Type a closing parenthesis and then press Enter.

The completed formula is

=AGGREGATE(1,2,TestScores)

Formula Autocomplete includes the following items (and each type is identified by a separate icon):

- Excel built-in functions
- User-defined functions (functions defined by the user through VBA or other methods)
- Defined names (named using the Formulas ⇔ Defined Names ⇔ Define Name command)
- Enumerated arguments that use a value to represent an option (only a few functions use such arguments, and AGGREGATE is one of them)
- Table structure references (used to identify portions of a table)

## Pasting range names into formulas

If your formula uses named cells or ranges, you can either type the name in place of the address, or choose the name from a list and have Excel insert the name for you automatically. Two ways to insert a name into a formula are available:

- Select the name from the drop-down list. To use this method, you must know at least the first character of the name. When you're entering the formula, type the first character and then select the name from the drop-down list.
- **Press F3.** This action displays the Paste Name dialog box. Select the name from the list and then click OK (or just double-click the name). Excel will enter the name into your formula. If no names are defined, pressing F3 has no effect.

Figure 10.3 shows an example. The worksheet contains two defined names: Expenses and Sales. The Paste Name dialog box is being used to insert a name (Sales) into the formula being entered in cell B10.

## **Cross-Reference**

See Chapter 4 for information about defining names. ■

#### FIGURE 10.3

Use the Paste Name dialog box to quickly enter a defined name into a formula.

	- h		C	D	E	F	G	H
1		Sales	Expenses					
2	Jan	3093	1232					
3	reb	2873	1095					
4	Mar	2548	1456					
5	Apr	3545	2000			-	10750	
6	May	4002	2 194	DE PANTINE		-1	10.00	
$\overline{T}$	Jun	3873	2 Per	ie gene				
8			10	peneet			1	
9								
10		naveragel						
11								
12							-	
11			-				-	
14					OK	Cm	1	
15			_	_	_			
1.5								

## Inserting functions into formulas

The easiest way to enter a function into a formula is to use Formula AutoComplete (the drop-down list that Excel displays while you type a formula). To use this method, however, you must know at least the first character of the function's name.

Another way to insert a function is to use the Function Library group on the Formulas tab (see Figure 10.4). This method is especially useful if you can't remember which function you need. When entering a formula, click the function category (Financial, Logical, Text, and so on) to get a list of the functions in that category. Click the function you want, and Excel displays its Function Arguments dialog box. This is where you enter the function's arguments. In addition, you can click the Help on This Function link to learn more about the selected function.

#### FIGURE 10.4

You can insert a function by selecting it from one of the function categories.



Yet another way to insert a function into a formula is to use the Insert Function dialog box (see Figure 10.5). You can access this dialog box in several ways:
- Choose Formulas ➡ Function Library ➡ Insert Function.
- Use the Insert Function command, which appears at the bottom of each drop-down list in the Formulas 🖒 Function Library group.
- Click the Insert Function icon, which is directly to the left of the Formula bar. This button displays fx.
- Press Shift+F3.

## FIGURE 10.5

The Insert Function dialog box.

Inset Function	
Search for a function:	
Type a brief description of what you want to do and then cick ge	1
Or select a-gategory: Date &Time	
Select a functiog:	
SECOND TIME TEMPINALUE TODAY	•
WIRKLM	
WORSDAY	1
WURLAW(awial_number,wham, type) Returns anumber from 1 to 7 identifying the day of the week of a date.	
this on this function DK Cannel	

The Insert Function dialog box shows a drop-down list of function categories. Select a category, and the functions in that category are displayed in the list box. To access a function that you recently used, select Most Recently Used from the drop-down list.

If you're not sure which function you need, you can search for the appropriate function by using the Search for a Function field at the top of the dialog box.

- **1.** Enter your search terms and click Go. You get a list of relevant functions. When you select a function from the Select a Function list, Excel displays the function (and its argument names) in the dialog box along with a brief description of what the function does.
- **2.** When you locate the function you want to use, highlight it and click OK. Excel then displays its Function Arguments dialog box, as shown in Figure 10.6.
- **3. Specify the arguments for the function.** The Function Arguments dialog box will vary, depending on the function you're inserting, and it will show one text box for each of the function's arguments. To use a cell or range reference as an argument, you can enter the address manually or click inside the argument box and then select (that is, point to) the cell or range in the sheet.
- 4. After you specify all the function arguments, click OK.

## FIGURE 10.6

The Function Arguments dialog box.

Function Arguments	
INTENDAT	
Secial_number	i number
Return_type	i number
Returns a number From 1 to Sav	7 Monthing the day of the week of a date.
Formála result =	
Male on this 4 section	OK Court

# Tip

Yet another way to insert a function while you're entering a formula is to use the Function List to the left of the Formula bar. When you're entering or editing a formula, the space typically occupied by the Name box displays a list of the functions you've used most recently. After you select a function from this list, Excel displays the Function Arguments dialog box.

# **Function entry tips**

Here are some additional tips to keep in mind when you use the Insert Function dialog box to enter functions:

- You can use the Insert Function dialog box to insert a function into an existing formula. Just edit the formula and move the insertion point to the location at which you want to insert the function. Then open the Insert Function dialog box (using any of the methods described earlier) and select the function.
- You can also use the Function Arguments dialog box to modify the arguments for a function in an existing formula. Click the function in the Formula bar and then click the Insert Function button (the *fx* button, to the left of the Formula bar).
- If you change your mind about entering a function, click the Cancel button.
- How many boxes you see in the Function Arguments dialog box depends on the number of arguments used in the function you selected. If a function uses no arguments, you won't see any boxes. If the function uses a variable number of arguments (such as the AVERAGE function), Excel adds a new box every time you enter an optional argument.
- As you provide arguments in the Function Argument dialog box, the value of each argument is displayed to the right of each box.
- A few functions, such as INDEX, have more than one form. If you choose such a function, Excel displays another dialog box that lets you choose which form you want to use.

• As you become familiar with the functions, you can bypass the Insert Function dialog box and type the function name directly. Excel prompts you with argument names as you enter the function.

# **Editing Formulas**

After you enter a formula, you can (of course) edit that formula. You may need to edit a formula if you make some changes to your worksheet and then have to adjust the formula to accommodate the changes. Or the formula may return an error value, in which case you have to edit the formula to correct the error.

The following are some of the ways to get into cell edit mode:

- Double-click the cell, which enables you to edit the cell contents directly in the cell.
- Press F2, which enables you to edit the cell contents directly in the cell.
- Select the cell that you want to edit, and then click in the Formula bar. This enables you to edit the cell contents in the Formula bar.
- If the cell contains a formula that returns an error, Excel will display a small triangle in the upper-left corner of the cell. Activate the cell, and you'll see a Smart Tag. Click the Smart Tag, and you can choose one of the options for correcting the error. (The options will vary according to the type of error in the cell.)

# Tip

You can control whether Excel displays these formula-error-checking Smart Tags in the Formulas section of the Excel Options dialog box. To display this dialog box, choose File ⇒ Options. If you remove the check mark from Enable Background Error Checking, Excel no longer displays these Smart Tags. ■

While you're editing a formula, you can select multiple characters either by dragging the mouse cursor over them or by pressing Shift while you use the navigation keys.

# Tip

If you have a formula that you can't seem to edit correctly, you can convert the formula to text and tackle it again later. To convert a formula to text, just remove the initial equal sign (=). When you're ready to try again, type the initial equal sign to convert the cell contents back to a formula.

# **Using Cell References in Formulas**

Most formulas you create include references to cells or ranges. These references enable your formulas to work dynamically with the data contained in those cells or ranges. For example, if your formula refers to cell A1 and you change the value contained in A1, the formula result changes to

reflect the new value. If you didn't use references in your formulas, you would need to edit the formulas themselves in order to change the values used in the formulas.

# Using relative, absolute, and mixed references

When you use a cell (or range) reference in a formula, you can use three types of references:

- **Relative:** The row and column references can change when you copy the formula to another cell because the references are actually offsets from the current row and column. By default, Excel creates relative cell references in formulas.
- Absolute: The row and column references do not change when you copy the formula because the reference is to an actual cell address. An absolute reference uses two dollar signs in its address: one for the column letter and one for the row number (for example, \$A\$5).
- **Mixed:** Either the row or column reference is relative, and the other is absolute. Only one of the address parts is absolute (for example, \$A4 or A\$4).

The type of cell reference is important only if you plan to copy the formula to other cells. The following examples illustrate this point.

Figure 10.7 shows a simple worksheet. The formula in cell D2, which multiplies the quantity by the price, is

=B2\*C2

This formula uses relative cell references. Therefore, when the formula is copied to the cells below it, the references adjust in a relative manner. For example, the formula in cell D3 is

=B3\*C3

## FIGURE 10.7

Copying a formula that contains relative references.

	A	8	C	D	- E	- F	
1	item	Quantity	Price	Total			
2	Chair	-4	\$125.00	\$540.00			
3	Desk	- 4	\$695.00	\$2,780.00			
4	Lamp	3	\$39.95	\$119.85			
5							4
6							
$\overline{T}$							
8							
9							

But what if the cell references in D2 contained absolute references, like this?

=\$B\$2\*\$C\$2

In this case, copying the formula to the cells below would produce incorrect results. The formula in cell D3 would be exactly the same as the formula in cell D2.

Now I'll extend the example to calculate sales tax, which is stored in cell B7 (see Figure 10.8). In this situation, the formula in cell D2 is

=(B2\*C2)\*\$B\$7

The quantity is multiplied by the price, and the result is multiplied by the sales-tax rate stored in cell B7. Notice that the reference to B7 is an absolute reference. When the formula in D2 is copied to the cells below it, cell D3 will contain this formula:

=(B3\*C3)\*\$B\$7

Here, the references to cells B2 and C2 were adjusted, but the reference to cell B7 was not — which is exactly what I want because the cell that contains the sales tax never changes.

#### FIGURE 10.8

Formula references to the sales tax cell should be absolute.

	A		C	D	E	F
1	item	Quantity	Palce	Sales Tax	Total	
2	Chair	- 4	\$125.00	\$37.50		
3	Desk	- 4	\$695.00			
4	Lamp	3	\$18.95			
5						
6						
$\mathcal{T}$	Sales Tax:	7.50%				
8						

Figure 10.9 demonstrates the use of mixed references. The formulas in the C3:F7 range calculate the area for various lengths and widths. The formula in cell C3 is

=\$B3\*C\$2

#### FIGURE 10.9

Using mixed cell references.

	*		C	D	1	F.	6	
1				Wide				
2			1.8	1.5	2.0	2.5		
3		1.0	1.0	1.5	2.0	2.5		
4	8	1.5	1.5	2.3	3.0	3.4		
5	3	2.0	2.0	3.0	4.0	5.0		
6	_	2.5	2.5	3.8	5.0	6.3		
$\mathcal{T}$		3.0	3.0	4.3	6.0	7.5		
8								
9								

Notice that both cell references are mixed. The reference to cell B3 uses an absolute reference for the column (\$B), and the reference to cell C2 uses an absolute reference for the row (\$2). As a result, this formula can be copied down and across, and the calculations will be correct. For example, the formula in cell F7 is

=\$B7\*F\$2

If C3 used either absolute or relative references, copying the formula would produce incorrect results.

## On the CD

The workbook that demonstrates the various types of references is available on the companion CD-ROM. The file is named cell references.xlsx.

## Note

When you cut and paste a formula (move it to another location), the cell references in the formula aren't adjusted. Again, this is usually what you want to happen. When you move a formula, you generally want it to continue to refer to the original cells.

# Changing the types of your references

You can enter *nonrelative* references (that is, absolute or mixed) manually by inserting dollar signs in the appropriate positions of the cell address. Or you can use a handy shortcut: the F4 key. When you've entered a cell reference (by typing it or by pointing), you can press F4 repeatedly to have Excel cycle through all four reference types.

For example, if you enter **=A1** to start a formula, pressing F4 converts the cell reference to **=**\$A\$1. Pressing F4 again converts it to **=**A\$1. Pressing it again displays **=**\$A1. Pressing it one more time returns to the original **=**A1. Keep pressing F4 until Excel displays the type of reference that you want.

## Note

When you name a cell or range, Excel (by default) uses an absolute reference for the name. For example, if you give the name SalesForecast to B1:B12, the Refers To box in the New Name dialog box lists the reference as BS1:BS1:BS12. This is almost always what you want. If you copy a cell that has a named reference in its formula, the copied formula contains a reference to the original name.

# Referencing cells outside the worksheet

Formulas can also refer to cells in other worksheets — and the worksheets don't even have to be in the same workbook. Excel uses a special type of notation to handle these types of references.

## **Referencing cells in other worksheets**

To use a reference to a cell in another worksheet in the same workbook, use this format:

SheetName!CellAddress

In other words, precede the cell address with the worksheet name, followed by an exclamation point. Here's an example of a formula that uses a cell on the Sheet2 worksheet:

=A1\*Sheet2!A1

This formula multiplies the value in cell A1 on the current worksheet by the value in cell A1 on Sheet2.

## Tip

If the worksheet name in the reference includes one or more spaces, you must enclose it in single quotation marks. (Excel does that automatically if you use the point-and-click method.) For example, here's a formula that refers to a cell on a sheet named All Depts:

=A1\*'All Depts'! A1

## **Referencing cells in other workbooks**

To refer to a cell in a different workbook, use this format:

```
=[WorkbookName]SheetName!CellAddress
```

In this case, the workbook name (in square brackets), the worksheet name, and an exclamation point precede the cell address. The following is an example of a formula that uses a cell reference in the Sheet1 worksheet in a workbook named Budget:

```
=[Budget.xlsx]Sheet1!A1
```

If the workbook name in the reference includes one or more spaces, you must enclose it (and the sheet name) in single quotation marks. For example, here's a formula that refers to a cell on Sheet1 in a workbook named Budget For 2011:

=A1\*'[Budget For 2011.xlsx]Sheet1'!A1

When a formula refers to cells in a different workbook, the other workbook doesn't have to be open. If the workbook is closed, however, you must add the complete path to the reference so that Excel can find it. Here's an example:

=A1\*'C:\My Documents\[Budget For 2011.xlsx]Sheet1'!A1

A linked file can also reside on another system that's accessible on your corporate network. The following formula refers to a cell in a workbook in the files directory of a computer named DataServer.

='\\DataServer\files\[budget.xlsx]Sheet1'!\$D\$7

## **Cross-Reference**

See Chapter 27 for more information about linking workbooks.

# Tip

To create formulas that refer to cells not in the current worksheet, point to the cells rather than entering their references manually. Excel takes care of the details regarding the workbook and worksheet references. The workbook you're referencing in your formula must be open if you're going to use the pointing method.

## Note

If you point to a different worksheet or workbook when creating a formula, you'll notice that Excel always inserts absolute cell references. Therefore, if you plan to copy the formula to other cells, make sure that you change the cell references to relative before you copy.

# **Using Formulas in Tables**

A table is a specially designated range of cells, set up with column headers. In this section, I describe how formulas work with tables.

# **Cross-Reference**

See Chapter 5 for an introduction to the Excel table features. ■

# Summarizing data in a table

Figure 10.10 shows a simple table with three columns. I entered the data, and then converted the range to a table by choosing Insert  $\Rightarrow$  Tables  $\Rightarrow$  Table. Note that I didn't define any names, but the table is named Table1 by default.

## FIGURE 10.10

	- h -	8	C	D	1	E.
3						
2		Month 🖬	Projected 🖬	Actual 📼		
3		Jan	4,000	3,255		
4		Feb	4,000	4,102		
5		Mar	4,000	1,982		
6		Apr	5,000	4,598		
7		May	5,000	5,873		
8		Jun	5,000	4,783		
9		Jul .	5,000	5,109		
10		Aug	6.000	5,982		
11		5ep	6,000	6,201		
1.2		Ott	7,000	6,833		
1.3		Nov	8,000	7,983		
14		Dec	9,000	9,821		
15						

A simple table with three columns of information.

## On the CD

This workbook is available on the companion CD-ROM. It is named table formulas.xlsx.

If you'd like to calculate the total projected and total actual sales, you don't even need to write a formula. Simply click a button to add a row of summary formulas to the table:

- **1.** Activate any cell in the table.
- 2. Place a check mark next to Table Tools ↔ Design ↔ Table Style Options ↔ Total Row.
- **3.** Activate a cell in the Total Row and use the drop-down list to select the type of summary formula to use (see Figure 10.11). For example, to calculate the sum of the Actual column, select SUM from the drop-down list in cell D15. Excel creates this formula:

```
=SUBTOTAL(109,[Actual])
```

For the SUBTOTAL function, 109 is an enumerated argument that represents SUM. The second argument for the SUBTOTAL function is the column name, in square brackets. Using the column name within brackets creates "structured" references within a table. (I discuss this further in the upcoming section, "Referencing data in a table.")

## FIGURE 10.11

A drop-down list enables you to select a summary formula for a table column.

	- A -		C	D	1	- F -
3						
2		Month 🖬	Projected 🗖	Actual 🔹		
3		Jan	4,000	3,255		
4		reb	4,000	4,102		
3		Mar	4,000	1,982		
6		Apr	5,000	4,598		
7		May	5,000	5,878		
8		Jun	5,000	4,783		
3		Ref.	5,000	5,109		
10		Aug	6,000	5,982		
11		Sep	6,000	6,201		
12		Oct	7,000	6,833		
13		Nov	8,000	7,983		
14		Dec	9,000	5,821		
15		Total		68,522	Ŧ	
16				Note		
17				Count		
18				Count Numbers		
19				Mat		
20				Selley	2	
21				Yar	6	
22				Pare Functions		
23						
10.00						

# Note

You can toggle the Total Row display via Table Tools ⇔ Design ⇔ Table Style Options ⇔ Total Row. If you turn it off, the summary options you selected will be displayed again when you turn it back on. ■

# Using formulas within a table

In many cases, you'll want to use formulas within a table to perform calculations that use other columns. For example, in the table shown in Figure 10.11, you may want a column that shows the difference between the Actual and Projected amounts. To add this formula:

- **1.** Activate cell E2 and type Difference for the column header. Excel automatically expands the table for you to include the new column.
- 2. Move to cell E3 and type an equal sign to signify the beginning of a formula.
- 3. Press the left arrow key. Excel displays [@Actual], which is the column heading, in the Formula bar.
- 4. Type a minus sign and then press left arrow twice. Excel displays [@Projected] in your formula.
- 5. Press Enter to end the formula. Excel copies the formula to all rows in the table.

Figure 10.12 shows the table with the new column.

## **FIGURE 10.12**

The Difference column contains a formula.

	- A		C	D	1	- F
3						
2		Month 💌	Projected	Actual 💌	Difference 💌	
3		Jan	4,000	1,255	- 745	
4		Feb	4,000	4,102	102	
5		Mar	4,000	1,992	-10	
6		Apr	5,000	4,598	-402	
7		May	5,000	5,873	873	
18		Jun	5,000	4,783	-217	
9		Jul .	5,000	5,109	109	
10		Aug	6,000	5,982	-18	
11		5ep	6,000	6,201	201	
12		Det	7,000	6,833	-187	
13		Nev	8,000	7,983	-17	
1.4		Dec	9,000	9,821	821	
15		Total	68,000	68,522		
18						
17						

Examine the table, and you find this formula for all cells in the Difference column:

=[@Actual]-[@Projected]

Although the formula was entered into the first row of the table, that's not necessary. Any time a formula is entered into an empty table column, it will automatically fill all the cells in that column. And if you need to edit the formula, Excel will automatically copy the edited formula to the other cells in the column.

## Note

The "at" (@) symbol that precedes the column header represents "this row." ■

These steps use the pointing technique to create the formula. Alternatively, you could have entered the formula manually using standard cell references rather than column headers. For example, you could have entered the following formula in cell E3:

=D3-C3

If you type the cell references, Excel will still copy the formula to the other cells automatically.

One thing should be clear, however, about formulas that use the column headers instead of cell references: They are much easier to understand.

# Tip

When you add a formula to a column in a table, Excel displays a SmartTag. To override the automatic column formulas, click the SmartTag and choose Stop Automatically Creating Calculated Columns. Use this option if you need different formulas for different rows within the table. ■

# Referencing data in a table

Excel offers some other ways to refer to data that's contained in a table by using the table name and column headers.

## Note

Remember that you don't need to create names for tables and columns. The table itself has a range name, which is provided when you create the table (for example, Table1), and you can refer to data within the table by using the column headers — which are not range names.

You can, of course, use standard cell references to refer to data in a table, but using the table name and column headers has a distinct advantage: The names adjust automatically if the table size changes by adding or deleting rows. In addition, formulas the use table names and column headers will adjust automatically if you change the name of the table or give a new name to a column.

Refer to the table (Table1) shown in Figure 10.11. To calculate the sum of all the data in the table, use this formula:

=SUM(Table1)

This formula will always return the sum of all the data (excluding calculated Total Row values, if any), even if rows or columns are added or deleted. And if you change the name of Table1, Excel will adjust formulas that refer to that table automatically. For example, if you renamed Table1 to AnnualData (by using the Name Manager, or by using Table Tools  $\Rightarrow$  Design  $\Rightarrow$  Properties  $\Rightarrow$  Table Name), the preceding formula would change to

```
=SUM(AnnualData)
```

Most of the time, you want to refer to a specific column in the table. The following formula returns the sum of the data in the Actual column:

```
=SUM(Table1[Actual])
```

Notice that the column name is enclosed in square brackets. Again, the formula adjusts automatically if you change the text in the column heading.

Even better, Excel provides some helpful assistance when you create a formula that refers to data within a table. Figure 10.13 shows the formula Autocomplete helping to create a formula by showing a list of the elements in the table. Notice that, in addition to the column headers in the table, Excel lists other table elements that you can reference: #All, #Data, #Headers, #Totals, and @ - This Row.

## FIGURE 10.13

The formula Autocomplete feature is useful when creating a formula that refers to data in a table.

	ert	
SUView	nberl, [number2],)	
	5.3 Month	
	Sill Projected	
	CE Article	
	Sil Ofference	
	84	
	#Cata	
	#Headers	
	17.04	

# **Correcting Common Formula Errors**

Sometimes, when you enter a formula, Excel displays a value that begins with a hash mark (#). This is a signal that the formula is returning an error value. You have to correct the formula (or correct a cell that the formula references) to get rid of the error display.

# Tip

If the entire cell is filled with hash-mark characters, the column isn't wide enough to display the value. You can either widen the column or change the number format of the cell. ■

In some cases, Excel won't even let you enter an erroneous formula. For example, the following formula is missing the closing parenthesis:

=A1\*(B1+C2

If you attempt to enter this formula, Excel informs you that you have unmatched parentheses, and it proposes a correction. Often, the proposed correction is accurate, but you can't count on it.

Table 10.3 lists the types of error values that may appear in a cell that has a formula. Formulas may return an error value if a cell to which they refer has an error value. This is known as the *ripple effect* — a single error value can make its way into lots of other cells that contain formulas that depend on that one cell.

Error Value	Explanation			
#DIV/0!	The formula is trying to divide by zero. This also occurs when the formula attempts to divide by what's in a cell that is empty (that is, by nothing).			
#NAME?	The formula uses a name that Excel doesn't recognize. This can happen if you delete a name that's used in the formula or if you have unmatched quotes when using text.			
#N/A	The formula is referring (directly or indirectly) to a cell that uses the NA function to signal that data is not available. Some functions (for example, VLOOKUP) can also return $\#N/A$ .			
#NULL!	The formula uses an intersection of two ranges that don't intersect. (This concept is described later in the chapter.)			
#NUM!	A problem with a value exists; for example, you specified a negative number where a positive number is expected.			
#REF!	The formula refers to a cell that isn't valid. This can happen if the cell has been deleted from the worksheet.			
#VALUE!	The formula includes an argument or operand of the wrong type. An <i>operand</i> is a value or cell reference that a formula uses to calculate a result.			

Evcol Error Values

#### **TABLE 10.3**

# Handling circular references

When you're entering formulas, you may occasionally see a Circular Reference Warning message, shown in Figure 10.14, indicating that the formula you just entered will result in a *circular reference*. A circular reference occurs when a formula refers to its own value — either directly or indirectly. For example, you create a circular reference if you enter **=A1+A2+A3** into cell A3 because the formula in cell A3 refers to cell A3. Every time the formula in A3 is calculated, it must be calculated again because A3 has changed. The calculation could go on forever.

## FIGURE 10.14

If you see this warning, you know that the formula you entered will result in a circular reference.

Mcrosoft	Office Excel
	Grade Reference Utering
A	One or more formulae contain a citoLike reference and may not calculate correctly. Declike references are any enterence while a formula that depend upon the results of that same formula. For example, a cell that neffers to its even robut or a cell that refers to another cell which depends in the original cell's value both centain cellular references.
	If an more information about understanding, finding, and reneway anouter references, dok CK. 27 you want to sharks a circular reference, dok Cancel to continue.
	dx. Canal

When you get the circular reference message after entering a formula, Excel gives you two options:

- Click OK, and Excel displays a Help screen that tells you more about circular references.
- Click Cancel to enter the formula as is.

Regardless of which option you choose, Excel displays a message in the left side of the status bar to remind you that a circular reference exists.

## Warning

Excel won't tell you about a circular reference if the Enable Iterative Calculation setting is in effect. You can check this setting in the Formulas section of the Excel Options dialog box. If Enable Iterative Calculation is turned on, Excel performs the circular calculation exactly the number of times specified in the Maximum Iterations field (or until the value changes by less than 0.001 or whatever value is in the Maximum Change field). In a few situations, you may use a circular reference intentionally. In these cases, the Enable Iterative Calculation setting must be on. However, it's best to keep this setting turned off so that you're warned of circular references. Usually a circular reference indicates an error that you must correct.

Usually, a circular reference is quite obvious and easy to identify and correct. But when a circular reference is indirect (as when a formula refers to another formula that refers to yet another formula that refers back to the original formula), it may require a bit of detective work to get to the problem.

## On the CD

The companion CD-ROM contains a workbook that demonstrates an intentional circular reference. This file is named circular reference.xlsx.

# Specifying when formulas are calculated

You've probably noticed that Excel calculates the formulas in your worksheet immediately. If you change any cells that the formula uses, Excel displays the formula's new result with no effort on your part. All this happens when Excel's Calculation mode is set to Automatic. In Automatic Calculation mode (which is the default mode), Excel follows these rules when it calculates your worksheet:

• When you make a change — enter or edit data or formulas, for example — Excel calculates immediately those formulas that depend on new or edited data.

- If Excel is in the middle of a lengthy calculation, it temporarily suspends the calculation when you need to perform other worksheet tasks; it resumes calculating when you're finished with your other worksheet tasks.
- Formulas are evaluated in a natural sequence. In other words, if a formula in cell D12 depends on the result of a formula in cell D11, Excel calculates cell D11 before calculating D12.

Sometimes, however, you may want to control when Excel calculates formulas. For example, if you create a worksheet with thousands of complex formulas, you'll find that processing can slow to a snail's pace while Excel does its thing. In such a case, set Excel's calculation mode to Manual — which you can do by choosing Formulas 🕫 Calculation 🕫 Calculation Options 🕫 Manual (see Figure 10.15).

## FIGURE 10.15

You can control when Excel calculates formulas.

Watch Window	Faite Date	darson a	Canadata Nove Canadata Sheet
	1	Anto Anto	matter matter Except for Data Radies
		Eler-	" Þ

# Intentional Circular References\_

You can sometimes use a circular reference to your advantage. For example, suppose your company has a policy of contributing 5 percent of its net profit to charity. The contribution itself, however, is considered an expense — and is therefore subtracted from the net profit figure. This produces a circular reference (see the accompanying figure).

The Contributions cell contains the following formula:

=5%\*Net\_Profit

The Net Profit cell contains the following formula:

=Gross\_Income-Expenses-Contributions

	A	9	C	D	E	F
1	Gross Income	600,000				
2	Expenses	225,000				
3	Contributions	17,857	should be	5% of Ne	t Profits	
4	Net Profit	257,543	Gross Pro	fits - Expe	nues - Cont	tributions
5						

These formulas produce a resolvable circular reference. If the Enable Iterative Calculation setting is on, Excel keeps calculating until the Contributions value is, indeed, 5 percent of Net Profit. In other words, the result becomes increasingly accurate until it converges on the final solution.

# Tip

If your worksheet uses any data tables (described in Chapter 36), you may want to select the Automatically Except for Data Tables option. Large data tables calculate notoriously slowly. Note: A data table is not the same as a table created by choosing Insert  $\Rightarrow$  Tables  $\Rightarrow$  Tables.

When you're working in Manual Calculation mode, Excel displays Calculate in the status bar when you have any uncalculated formulas. You can use the following shortcut keys to recalculate the formulas:

- F9: Calculates the formulas in all open workbooks.
- Shift+F9: Calculates only the formulas in the active worksheet. Other worksheets in the same workbook aren't calculated.
- Ctrl+Alt+F9: Forces a complete recalculation of all formulas.

## Note

Excel's Calculation mode isn't specific to a particular worksheet. When you change the Calculation mode, it affects all open workbooks, not just the active workbook. ■

# **Using Advanced Naming Techniques**

Using range names can make your formulas easier to understand, easier to modify, and even help prevent errors. It's much easier to deal with a meaningful name such as AnnualSales than with a range reference, such as AB12:AB68.

# **Cross-Reference**

See Chapter 4 for basic information regarding working with names. ■

Excel offers a number of advanced techniques that make using names even more useful. I discuss these techniques in the sections that follow.

# Using names for constants

Many Excel users don't realize that you can give a name to an item that doesn't appear in a cell. For example, if formulas in your worksheet use a sales-tax rate, you would probably insert the tax-rate value into a cell and use this cell reference in your formulas. To make things easier, you would probably also name this cell something similar to SalesTax.

Here's how to provide a name for a value that doesn't appear in a cell:

- **1.** Choose Formulas ⇔ Defined Names ⇔ Define Name. Excel displays the New Name dialog box.
- 2. Enter the name (in this case, SalesTax) into the Name field.

- **3.** Select a scope in which the name will be valid (either the entire workbook or a specific worksheet).
- **4.** Click the Refers To text box, delete its contents, and replace the old contents with a value (such as .075).
- 5. (Optional). Use the Comment box to provide a comment about the name.
- 6. Click OK to close the New Name dialog box and create the name.

You just created a name that refers to a constant rather than a cell or range. Now if you type **=SalesTax** into a cell that's within the scope of the name, this simple formula returns 0.075 — the constant that you defined. You also can use this constant in a formula, such as **=A1\*SalesTax**.

# Tip

A constant also can be text. For example, you can define a constant for your company's name.

## Note

Named constants don't appear in the Name box or in the Go To dialog box. This makes sense because these constants don't reside anywhere tangible. They do appear in the drop-down list that's displayed when you enter a formula — which is handy because you use these names in formulas. ■

# Using names for formulas

Just like you can create a named constant, you can also create named formulas. Like with named constants, named formulas don't appear in the worksheet.

You create named formulas the same way you create named constants — by using the New Name dialog box. For example, you might create a named formula that calculates the monthly interest rate from an annual rate; Figure 10.16 shows an example. In this case, the name MonthlyRate refers to the following formula:

```
=Sheet3!$B$1/12
```

## FIGURE 10.16

Excel allows you to name a formula that doesn't exist in a worksheet cell.

New Name		
Banc:	MonthlyRate	
(Date)	If wideok	
Cgement		
		-
Contents Not	-Shoet319891/12	D6
		Cancel

When you use the name MonthlyRate in a formula, it uses the value in B1 divided by 12. Notice that the cell reference is an absolute reference.

Naming formulas gets more interesting when you use relative references rather than absolute references. When you use the pointing technique to create a formula in the Refers To field of the New Name dialog box, Excel always uses absolute cell references — which is unlike its behavior when you create a formula in a cell.

For example, activate cell B1 on Sheet1 and create the name **Cubed** for the following formula:

```
=Sheet1!A1^3
```

In this example, the relative reference points to the cell to the left of the cell in which the name is used. Therefore, make certain that cell B1 is the active cell *before* you open the New Name dialog box; this is very important. The formula contains a relative reference; when you use this named formula in a worksheet, the cell reference is always relative to the cell that contains the formula. For example, if you enter **=Cubed** into cell D12, then cell D12 displays the contents of cell C12 raised to the third power (C12 is the cell directly to the left of D12).

# Using range intersections

This section describes a concept known as *range intersections* — individual cells that two ranges have in common. Excel uses an *intersection operator* — a space character — to determine the overlapping references in two ranges. Figure 10.17 shows a simple example.

## **FIGURE 10.17**

You can use a range-intersection formula to determine values.

	- A -		C	D	E	F.	G	Н
3	74	105	107	90	40			
2	176	53	32	68	130			
3	107	130	124	199	133			
4	162	62	37	306	69			
5	192	69	130	311	123			
6	167	133	141	87	63			
7								
8								
5		130						
10								
11								
10								

The formula in cell B9 is

=B1:B6 A3:D3

This formula returns 130, the value in cell B3 — that is, the value at the intersection of the two ranges.

The intersection operator is one of three reference operators used with ranges. Table 10.4 lists these operators.

Potoronco Onorators for Pangos

#### **TABLE 10.4**

	Reference Operators for Ranges
Operator	What It Does
: (colon)	Specifies a range.
, (comma)	Specifies the union of two ranges. This operator combines multiple range references into a single reference.
(space)	Specifies the intersection of two ranges. This operator produces cells that are common to two ranges.

The real value of knowing about range intersections is apparent when you use names. Examine Figure 10.18, which shows a table of values. I selected the entire table and then used Formulas ↔ Defined Names ↔ Create from Selection to create names automatically by using the top row and left column.

## **FIGURE 10.18**

When you use names, using a range-intersection formula to determine values is even more useful.

	A		C	D	E	F
1		Quarter1	Quarter2	Quarter3	Quarter4	
2	North	93	103	88	122	
3	South	45	-40	45	56	
$^{\rm 4}$	East	2013	121	127	144	
5	West	214	198	254	294	
4						
7						
4						

Excel created the following names:

North	=Sheet1!\$B\$2:\$E\$2	Quarter1	=Sheet1!\$B\$2:\$B\$5
South	=Sheet1!\$B\$3:\$E\$3	Quarter2	=Sheet1!\$C\$2:\$C\$5
West	=Sheet1!\$B\$4:\$E\$4	Quarter3	=Sheet1!\$D\$2:\$D\$5
East	=Sheet1!\$B\$5:\$E\$5	Quarter4	=Sheet1!\$E\$2:\$E\$5

With these names defined, you can create formulas that are easy to read and use. For example, to calculate the total for Quarter 4, just use this formula:

=SUM(Quarter4)

To refer to a single cell, use the intersection operator. Move to any blank cell and enter the following formula:

=Quarter1 West

This formula returns the value for the first quarter for the West region. In other words, it returns the value that exists where the Quarter1 range intersects with the West range. Naming ranges in this manner can help you create very readable formulas.

# Applying names to existing references

When you create a name for a cell or a range, Excel doesn't automatically use the name in place of existing references in your formulas. For example, suppose you have the following formula in cell F10:

=A1-A2

If you define a name Income for A1 and Expenses for A2, Excel won't automatically change your formula to =Income-Expenses. Replacing cell or range references with their corresponding names is fairly easy, however.

To apply names to cell references in formulas after the fact, start by selecting the range that you want to modify. Then choose Formulas  $\Rightarrow$  Defined Names  $\Rightarrow$  Define Name  $\Rightarrow$  Apply Names. Excel displays the Apply Names dialog box, as shown in Figure 10.19. Select the names that you want to apply by clicking them and then click OK. Excel replaces the range references with the names in the selected cells.

## FIGURE 10.19

Use the Apply Names dialog box to replace cell or range references with defined names.

E	A	8	C	D	E	F	6	н	1	1	IC.
		Quarter3	Quarter2	Quarter5	Quarter4						
2	Both -	83	101	38	332	1.00	ok Harney			D. Market	1
3	South	-43	-40	45	56						
4	EAST	109	125	317	344	10	and the second	_	_		
5	West	214	138	254	295	2	10.107				
		459	682	328	#13	E E	18702) 18702				
7						16	eirs.				
.8						12	10				
18											
10											
11											
						1	terror Balan	a little of the			
23						10					
54						×	Use row and	Ckynn ryne	- 18	Optione in a	
13									x 0	Cancel	
16										10.00	
LT.											
1.6											
13											

# **Tips for Working with Formulas**

In this section, I offer a few additional tips and pointers relevant to formulas.

# Don't hard-code values

When you create a formula, think twice before you use any specific value in the formula. For example, if your formula calculates sales tax (which is 6.5 percent), you may be tempted to enter a formula, such as the following:

=A1\*.065

A better approach is to insert the sales tax rate in a cell — and use the cell reference. Or you can define the tax rate as a named constant, using the technique presented earlier in this chapter. Doing so makes modifying and maintaining your worksheet easier. For example, if the sales tax rate changed to 6.75 percent, you would have to modify every formula that used the old value. If you store the tax rate in a cell, however, you simply change that one cell — and Excel updates all the formulas.

# Using the Formula bar as a calculator

If you need to perform a quick calculation, you can use the Formula bar as a calculator. For example, enter the following formula — but don't press Enter:

=(145\*1.05)/12

If you press Enter, Excel enters the formula into the cell. But because this formula always returns the same result, you may prefer to store the formula's *result* rather than the formula itself. To do so, press F9 and watch the result appear in the Formula bar. Press Enter to store the result in the active cell. (This technique also works if the formula uses cell references or worksheet functions.)

# Making an exact copy of a formula

When you copy a formula, Excel adjusts its cell references when you paste the formula to a different location. Sometimes, you may want to make an exact copy of the formula. One way to do this is to convert the cell references to absolute values, but this isn't always desirable. A better approach is to select the formula in Edit mode and then copy it to the Clipboard as text. You can do this in several ways. Here's a step-by-step example of how to make an exact copy of the formula in A1 and copy it to A2:

- 1. Double-click A1 (or press F2) to get into Edit mode.
- **2. Drag the mouse to select the entire formula.** You can drag from left to right or from right to left. To select the entire formula with the keyboard, press Shift+Home.
- **3.** Choose Home  $\Rightarrow$  Clipboard  $\Rightarrow$  Copy (or press Ctrl+C). This copies the selected text (which will become the copied formula) to the Clipboard.

- 4. Press Esc to leave Edit mode.
- 5. Select cell A2.
- 6. Choose Home 🖒 Clipboard 🖒 Paste (or press Ctrl+V) to paste the text into cell A2.

You also can use this technique to copy just *part* of a formula, if you want to use that part in another formula. Just select the part of the formula that you want to copy by dragging the mouse, and then use any of the available techniques to copy the selection to the Clipboard. You can then paste the text to another cell.

Formulas (or parts of formulas) copied in this manner won't have their cell references adjusted when they are pasted to a new cell. That's because the formulas are being copied as text, not as actual formulas.

# Tip

You can also convert a formula to text by adding an apostrophe (') in front of the equal sign. Then, copy the formula as usual and paste it to its new location. Remove the apostrophe from the pasted formula, and it will be identical to the original formula. And don't forget to remove the apostrophe from the original formula as well. ■

# Converting formulas to values

If you have a range of formulas that will always produce the same result (that is, *dead formulas*), you may want to convert them to values. If, say, range A1:A20 contains formulas that have calculated results that will never change — or that you don't want to change. For example, if you use the RANDBETWEEN function to create a set of random numbers and you don't want Excel to recalculate those random numbers each time you press Enter, you can convert the formulas to values. Just follow these steps:

- 1. Select A1:A20.
- **2.** Choose Home 与 Clipboard 与 Copy (or press Ctrl+C).
- **3.** Choose Home ▷ Clipboard ▷ Paste Values (V).
- 4. Press Esc to cancel Copy mode.

# CHAPTER

# **Creating Formulas That Manipulate Text**

E also quite versatile, however, with handling text. As you know, you can enter text for such things as row and column headings, customer names and addresses, part numbers, and just about anything else. In addition (as you may expect), you can use formulas to manipulate the text contained in cells.

This chapter contains many examples of formulas that use a variety of functions to manipulate text. Some of these formulas perform feats that you may not have thought possible.

# A Few Words about Text

When you enter data into a cell, Excel immediately goes to work and determines whether you're entering a formula, a number (including a date or time), or anything else. That "anything else" is considered text.

## Note

You may hear the term string used instead of text. You can use these terms interchangeably. Sometimes they even appear together, as in text string. ■

A single cell can hold up to 32,000 characters — roughly equivalent to the number of characters in this chapter. But Excel is not a word processor, and I can't think of a reason why anyone would need to even come close to that number.

# **IN THIS CHAPTER**

How Excel handles text entered into cells

Excel worksheet functions that handle text

Examples of advanced text formulas

# When a Number Isn't Treated as a Number.

If you import data into Excel, you may be aware of a common problem: Sometimes the imported values are treated as text.

Depending on your error-checking settings (as specified on the Formula tab of the Excel Options dialog box), Excel may display a Smart Tag to identify numbers stored as text. If the cell contains a Smart Tag, you'll see a small rectangle in the upper-left corner of the cells. Activate the cell, and you can respond to the Smart Tag. To force the number to be treated as an actual number, select Convert to Number from the Smart Tag list of options.



If the Smart Tag isn't displayed, here's another way to convert these non-numbers to actual values. Activate any empty cell and choose Home  $\Rightarrow$  Clipboard  $\Rightarrow$  Copy (or press Ctrl+C). Then select the range that contains the values you need to fix. Choose Home  $\Rightarrow$  Clipboard  $\Rightarrow$  Paste Special. In the Paste Special dialog box, select the Add operation and then click OK. This procedure essentially adds zero to each cell — and, in the process, forces Excel to treat the non-numbers as actual values.

If you need to display lots of text in a worksheet, consider using a text box. Choose Insert  $\Rightarrow$  Text Box, and start typing. Working with large amounts of text in a text box is easier than editing cells. In addition, you can easily move, resize, or change the dimensions of a text box. However, if you need to work with the text using formulas and functions, the text must reside in cells.

# **Text Functions**

Excel has an excellent assortment of worksheet functions that can handle text. You can access these functions just where you'd expect: from the Text control in the Function Library group of the Formula tab.

A few other functions that are relevant to text manipulation appear in other function categories.

# **Cross-Reference**

See Appendix A for a listing of the functions in the Text category. Or, you can peruse these functions in the Insert Function dialog box. Activate an empty cell, and choose Formulas ⇔ Function Library ⇔ Insert Function. In the Insert Function dialog box, select the Text category and scroll through the list. To find out more about a particular function, click the Help on This Function link. ■

Most text functions are not limited to text: They can also operate with cells that contain values. You'll find that Excel is very accommodating when it comes to treating numbers as text and text as numbers.

The examples discussed in this section demonstrate some common (and useful) things you can do with text. You may need to adapt some of these examples for your own use.

# Working with character codes

Every character you see on your screen has an associated code number. For Windows systems, Excel uses the standard ANSI character set. The ANSI character set consists of 255 characters, numbered (not surprisingly) from 1–255.

Figure 11.1 shows a portion of an Excel worksheet that displays all of the 255 characters. This example uses the Wingdings 3 font. (Other fonts may have different characters.)

## On the CD

The companion CD-ROM includes a copy of this workbook, which also includes some simple VBA macros that enable you to display the character set for any font installed on your system. The file is named character set.xlsm.

## FIGURE 11.1

The ANSI character set (for the Wingdings 3 font).

	A B	С	D	E	F	G	Н	1	J	K	L	Μ	N	0	Р	Q
1	Font:	Wing	dings 3	}		•	Size:	11	•	Bold						
2	Samp	le text:				^_	\$	୲≎►△	⊽⇔?	×▲∠⇒	(⇔	•	↑⇒∆⇒			
3	1		33	←	65	€,	97	⇔	129		161	+	193	٠	225	÷
4	2	ı	34	→	66		98	÷	130	•	162	+	194	٠	226	<b>→</b>
5	3	Ĺ	35	t	67	Lj.	99	⇒	131	•	163	ŧ	195	٠	227	1
6	4	J	36	Ļ	68	⇆	100	æ	132	•	164	÷	196	-	228	Ψ.
7	5	1	37	<u>م</u>	69	1t	101	÷	133	<	165	+	197	+	229	
8	6	-	38	/	70	i <del>4_</del>	102	←	134	>	166	→	198	⇒	230	7
9	7	•	39	~	71	±₹	103	$\rightarrow$	135	•	167	+	199	ŧ	231	"
10	8		40	~	72	Ħ	104	Ŷ	136	¥	168	<b>→</b>	200	ŧ	232	ы
11	9		41	14	73	⇒	105	$\downarrow$	137	-	169	+	201	+	233	•
12	10		42	-+1	74	tt	106	~	138	-	170	<b>→</b>	202	4	234	•
13	11	8	43	Ť	75	11	107	7	139	1	171	-	203	÷	235	
14	12		44	Ŧ	76	¢	108	2	140	1	172	•	204	-	236	•
15	13		45	٦	77	đ	109	2	141	+	173	•	205	t	237	<
16	14	f1	46	7	78	C,	110	⇔	142	<b>→</b>	174	•	206	t	238	>
17	15	X	47	ŧ	79	5	111	\$	143	t	175	•	207	t	239	^
18	16	+	48	ŧ	80	U	112		144	Ļ	176	-	208	l	240	v
19	17	•	49		81	Q	113	▼	145	+	177	-	209	$\leftarrow$	241	0
20	18	1	50	1	82	5	114	$\triangle$	146	<b>→</b>	178	-	210	$\rightarrow$	242	
21	19	ii.	51	· +-	83	~	115	$\nabla$	147	t	179	-	211	$\uparrow$	243	0
22	20	9	52	´ →	84	^	116	•	148	÷	180	•	212	$\downarrow$	244	
23	21	T	53	í †	85	72	117		149	*	181	٠	213	Γ	245	0
24	22	т	54	Ļ	86		118	$\triangleleft$	150	+	182	+	214	7	246	
25	23	+	55	· 2	87	~	119	$\triangleright$	151	+	183	٠	215	Ľ	247	0
26	24	î	56		88	앝	120	•	152	*	184	+	216	Ы	248	
27	25	ŀ	57	, ⊢	89	會	121	-	153	-	185	-	217	←	249	
28	26	+	58	÷	90	¢	122	•	154		186	-	218	→	250	
29	27	*	59	→	91	⇔	123		155	t	187		219	↑	251	
30	28		60	Ĺ	92	¢	124	•	156	1	188	¥	220	<b>1</b>	252	
31	29		61	Ĵ	93	⇒	125	•	157	+	189	٠	221	ĸ	253	
32	30		62	Γ	94	¢	126	•	158	<b>→</b>	190	٠	222	7	254	
33	31		63	l	95	⇒	127		159	t	191	+	223	Ľ	255	
34	32		64	4	96	¢	128	•	160	Ļ	192	+	224	И		
36																

Two functions come into play when dealing with character codes: CODE and CHAR. These functions may not be very useful by themselves, but they can prove quite useful in conjunction with other functions. I discuss these functions in the following sections.

## The CODE function

The Excel CODE function returns the character code for its argument. The formula that follows returns 65, the character code for uppercase *A*:

```
=CODE("A")
```

If the argument for CODE consists of more than one character, the function uses only the first character. Therefore, this formula also returns 65:

```
=CODE("Abbey Road")
```

## The CHAR function

The CHAR function is essentially the opposite of the CODE function. Its argument should be a value between 1 and 255, and the function returns the corresponding character. The following formula, for example, returns the letter *A*:

```
=CHAR(65)
```

To demonstrate the opposing nature of the CODE and CHAR functions, try entering this formula:

```
=CHAR (CODE ( "A" ) )
```

This formula, which is illustrative rather than useful, returns the letter *A*. First, it converts the character to its code value (65), and then it converts this code back to the corresponding character.

Assume that cell A1 contains the letter *A* (uppercase). The following formula returns the letter *a* (lowercase):

```
=CHAR(CODE(A1)+32)
```

This formula takes advantage of the fact that the alphabetic characters all appear in alphabetical order within the character set; lowercase letters follow uppercase letters (with a few other characters tossed in between). Each lowercase letter is exactly 32 character positions higher than its corresponding uppercase letter.

# Inserting Special Characters \_\_\_\_

If you need to insert special characters not found on your keyboard, you can use the Symbol dialog box (choose Insert  $\Rightarrow$  Symbols  $\Rightarrow$  Symbol). This dialog box simplifies inserting special characters (including Unicode characters) into cells. For example, you may want to display the Greek letter *pi* ( $\pi$ ) in your worksheet. From the Symbol dialog box, select the Symbol font (see the accompanying figure). Examine the characters, locate the pi character, and click Insert. You'll see (in the Character Code area of the Symbol dialog box) that this character has a numerical code of 112.

Symbol																	?	×
<u>S</u> ymbo	ls s	pecial	Chara	cters	]													
Eont: Symbol																		
Δ	E	Φ	Г	Η	Ι	θ	K	Λ	Μ	Ν	Ο	П	Θ	Р	Σ	Т	Y	^
ς	Ω	Ξ	Ψ	Ζ	[	:.	]	$\bot$		_	α	β	χ	δ	ε	φ	γ	
η	ι	φ	κ	λ	μ	ν	0	π	θ	ρ	σ	τ	υ	ω	ω	ξ	Ψ	
ζ	{		}	~														-
Recent	tly use	d syml	bols:															
Ħ	€	£	¥	©	®	тм	±	≠	≤	≥	÷	×	$\infty$	μ	α	β	π	
Symbo	l: 112							⊆	haract	er cod	e: 11	2		fro <u>m</u> :	Sym	ool (de	cimal)	•
														Inse	ert		Cano	el

In addition, Excel has several built-in AutoCorrect symbols. For example, if you type (c) followed by a space or the Enter key, Excel converts it to a copyright symbol.

To see the other symbols that you can enter this way, display the AutoCorrect dialog box. To display this dialog box, choose File  $\Rightarrow$  Options and select the Proofing tab in the Excel Options dialog box. Then click the AutoCorrect Options button. You can then scroll through the list to see which autocorrections are enabled (and delete those that you don't want).

If you find that Excel makes an autocorrection that you don't want, press Ctrl+Z immediately to undo the autocorrection.

# Determining whether two strings are identical

You can create a simple logical formula to determine whether two cells contain the same entry. For example, use this formula to determine whether cell A1 has the same contents as cell A2:

=A1=A2

This formula will return either TRUE or FALSE, depending on the contents of cells A1 and A2. However, Excel is a bit lax in its comparisons when text is involved. Consider the case in which A1 contains the word January (initial capitalization), and A2 contains JANUARY (all uppercase).

You'll find that the previous formula returns TRUE even though the contents of the two cells are not really the same — the comparison is not case-sensitive.

Often, you don't need to worry about the case of the text. If you need to make an exact, case-sensitive comparison, though, use the EXACT function. The following formula returns TRUE *only if* cells A1 and A2 contain *exactly* the same entry:

=EXACT(A1,A2)

When you compare text, be careful with trailing space characters, which are often difficult to identify. The following formula returns FALSE because the first string contains a trailing space:

```
=EXACT("Canada ", "Canada")
```

# Joining two or more cells

Excel uses an ampersand (&) as its concatenation operator. *Concatenation* is simply a fancy term that describes what happens when you join the contents of two or more cells. For example, if cell A1 contains the text Tucson and cell A2 contains the text Arizona, the following formula will return TucsonArizona:

=A1&A2

Notice that the two strings are joined together without an intervening space. To add a space between the two entries (to get Tucson Arizona), use a formula like this one:

=A1&" "&A2

Or, even better, use a comma and a space to produce Tucson, Arizona:

=A1&", "&A2

If you'd like to force the second string to be on a new line, concatenate the strings using CHAR (10), which inserts a line-break character. Also, make sure that you apply the Wrap Text format to the cell. The following example joins the text in cell A1 and the text in cell B1, with a line break in between:

=A1&CHAR(10)&B1

## Tip

To apply Wrap Text formatting, select the cells and then choose Home ↔ Alignment ↔ Wrap Text.

You can also concatenate characters returned by the CHAR function. The following formula returns the string Stop by concatenating four characters returned by the CHAR function:

=CHAR(83) & CHAR(116) & CHAR(111) & CHAR(112)

Here's a final example of using the & operator. In this case, the formula combines text with the result of an expression that returns the maximum value in column C:

="The largest value in Column C is " &MAX(C:C)

## Note

Excel also has a CONCATENATE function, which takes up to 255 arguments. For example:

```
=CONCATENATE(A1, B1, C1, D1)
```

This function simply combines the arguments into a single string. You can use this function if you like, but using the & operator results in shorter formulas.

# **Displaying formatted values as text**

The TEXT function enables you to display a value in a specific number format. Figure 11.2 shows a simple worksheet. The formula in cell D3 is

="The net profit is " & B3

#### FIGURE 11.2

The formula in D3 doesn't display the formatted number.

	A	В	С	D	
1	Gross	\$354,234			
2	Expenses	\$123,440			
3	Net	\$230,794		The net profit is 230794	
4					
5					

This formula essentially combines a text string with the contents of cell B3 and displays the result. Note, however, that the formula displays the contents of B3 as a raw value (no formatting). To improve readability, you might want to display the contents of B3 by using a Currency number format.

## Note

Contrary to what you might expect, applying a number format to the cell that contains the formula has no effect. This is because the formula returns a string, not a value. ■

Here's a revised formula that uses the TEXT function to apply formatting to the value in B3:

="The net profit is " & TEXT(B3," \$#,##0")

This formula displays the text along with a nicely formatted value:

The net profit is \$230,794

The second argument for the TEXT function consists of a standard Excel number format string. You can enter any valid number format code for this argument.

The preceding example uses a simple cell reference (B3). You can, of course, use an expression instead. Here's an example that combines text with a number resulting from a computation:

="Average Expenditure: "& TEXT(AVERAGE(A:A), "\$#, ##0.00")

This formula might return a string such as Average Expenditure: \$7,794.57.

Here's another example that uses the NOW function (which returns the current date and time). The TEXT function displays the date and time, nicely formatted.

="Report printed on "&TEXT(NOW(), "mmmm d, yyyy at h:mm AM/PM")

The formula might display the following:

Report printed on March 22, 2010 at 3:23 PM

## **Cross-Reference**

See Chapter 24 for details on Excel number formats. ■

# Displaying formatted currency values as text

The Excel DOLLAR function converts a number to text using the currency format. It takes two arguments: the number to convert, and the number of decimal places to display. The DOLLAR function uses the regional currency symbol (for example, a \$).

You can sometimes use the DOLLAR function in place of the TEXT function. The TEXT function, however, is much more flexible because it doesn't limit you to a specific number format.

The following formula returns Total: \$1,287.37 (the second argument for the DOLLAR function specifies the number of decimal places):

```
="Total: "&DOLLAR(1287.367, 2)
```

## Note

If you're looking for a function that converts a number into spelled out text (such as "One hundred twelve and 32/100"), you won't find such a function. Well, Excel does have a function, BAHTTEXT — but it converts the number into the Thai language. The existence of this function in the English language version of Excel remains a mystery.

# Repeating a character or string

The REPT function repeats a text string (first argument) any number of times you specify (second argument). For example, this seasonal formula returns HoHoHo:

=REPT("Ho",3)

You can also use this function to create crude vertical dividers between cells. This example displays a squiggly line, 20 characters in length:

```
=REPT("~",20)
```

# Creating a text histogram

A clever use for the REPT function is to create a simple *histogram* (or frequency-distribution chart) directly in a worksheet. Figure 11.3 shows an example of such a histogram. You'll find this type of graphical display especially useful when you need a visual summary of many values and a standard chart is unwieldy.

## **Cross-Reference**

The Data Bars conditional formatting feature is a much better way to display a simple histogram directly in cells. See Chapter 20 for details. ■

## FIGURE 11.3

Using the REPT function to create a histogram in a worksheet range.

	A	В	С	D	E
1	Month	Units Sold		Chart	
2	January	834		8888888	
3	February	1,132		888888888888	
4	March	1,243		8888888888888	
5	April	1,094		88888888888	
6	May	902		8888888888	
7	June	1,543		8888888888888888	
8	July	1,654		88888888888888888	
9	August	2,123		8888888888888888888888888	
10	September	1,566		8888888888888888	
11	October	1,434		8888888888888888	
12	November	1,321		888888888888888	
13	December	1,654		88888888888888888	
					-

The formulas in column D graphically depict the sales numbers in column B by displaying a series of characters in the Wingdings font. This example uses character code 61 (an equal sign), which appears onscreen as a small floppy disc in the Wingdings font. A formula using the REPT function determines the number of characters displayed. The formula in cell D2 is

=REPT("=", B2/100)

Assign the Wingdings font to cells D2, and then copy the formulas down the column to accommodate all the data. Depending on the numerical range of your data, you may need to change the scaling. Experiment by replacing the 100 value in the formulas. You can substitute any character you like for the equal sign character in the formula to produce a different character in the chart.

## On the CD

The workbook shown in Figure 11.3 also appears on the companion CD-ROM. The file is named text histogram.xlsx.

# Padding a number

You're probably familiar with a common security measure (frequently used on printed checks) in which numbers are padded with asterisks on the right. The following formula displays the value in cell A1, along with enough asterisks to make a total of 24 characters:

```
=(A1 & REPT("*",24-LEN(A1)))
```

If you'd prefer to pad the number with asterisks on the left instead, use this formula:

=REPT("\*",24-LEN(A1))&A1

The following formula displays 12 asterisks on both sides of the number:

=REPT("\*",12)&A1&REPT("\*",12)

The preceding formulas are a bit deficient because they don't show any number formatting. This revised version displays the value in A1 (formatted), along with the asterisk padding on the right:

= (TEXT(A1, "\$#, ##0.00") & REPT("\*", 24-LEN(TEXT(A1, "\$#, ##0.00"))))

Figure 11.4 shows this formula in action.

## FIGURE 11.4

Using a formula to pad a number with asterisks.

	A	В	С	D
1	\$198.34	\$198.34***************		
2	\$9.00	\$9.00*****************		
3	\$0.98	\$0.98******************		
4	\$1,093.00	\$1,093.00**************		
5	\$0.00	\$0.00****************		
6				
7				
8				

You can also pad a number by using a custom number format. To repeat the next character in that format until it fills the column width, include an asterisk (\*) in the custom number format code. For example, use this number format to pad the number with dashes:

\$#,##0.00\*-

To pad the number with asterisks, use two asterisks in the number-format code, like this:

\$#,##0.00\*\*

## **Cross-Reference**

See Chapter 24 for more information about custom number formats, including additional examples using the asterisk format code. ■

# **Removing excess spaces and nonprinting characters**

Often, data imported into an Excel worksheet contains excess spaces or strange (often unprintable) characters. Excel provides you with two functions to help whip your data into shape: TRIM and CLEAN:

- TRIM removes all leading and trailing spaces and replaces internal strings of multiple spaces by a single space.
- CLEAN removes all nonprinting characters from a string. These "garbage" characters often appear when you import certain types of data.

This example uses the TRIM function. The formula returns Fourth Quarter Earnings (with no excess spaces):

=TRIM(" Fourth Quarter Earnings ")

# Counting characters in a string

The LEN function takes one argument and returns the number of characters in the argument. For example, assume that the string September Sales is contained in cell A1. The following formula returns 15:

=LEN(A1)

Notice that space characters are included in the character count.

The following formula returns the total number of characters in the range A1:A3:

```
=LEN(A1)+LEN(A2)+LEN(A3)
```

## **Cross-Reference**

You see example formulas that demonstrate how to count the number of specific characters within a string later in this chapter. Chapter 13 covers counting techniques further. ■

# Changing the case of text

Excel provides three handy functions to change the case of text:

- UPPER converts the text to ALL UPPERCASE.
- LOWER converts the text to all lowercase.
- **PROPER** converts the text to Proper Case (the first letter in each word is capitalized, as in a proper name).

# Transforming Data with Formulas\_

Many of the examples in this chapter describe how to use functions to transform data in some way. For example, you can use the UPPER function to transform text into uppercase. Often, you'll want to replace the original data with the transformed data. Specifically, follow these steps:

- 1. Insert a new temporary column for formulas to transform the original data.
- 2. Create your formulas in the temporary column.
- 3. Select the formula cells.
- 5. Select the original data cells.
- 6. Choose Home ↔ Clipboard ↔ Paste ↔ Values (V).

This procedure replaces the original data with the transformed data; then you can delete the temporary column that holds the formulas.

These functions are quite straightforward. The formula that follows, for example, converts the text in cell A1 to proper case.

```
=PROPER(A1)
```

If cell Al contained the text MR. JOHN Q. PUBLIC, the formula would return Mr. John Q. Public.

These functions operate only on alphabetic characters; they simply ignore all other characters and return them unchanged.

These functions aren't perfect, and they sometimes produce undesired results. For example, this formula returns Don'T:

```
=PROPER("don't")
```

Apparently, the PROPER function is programmed to always capitalize the letter following an apostrophe. If the argument is "o'reilly", the function works perfectly.

# Extracting characters from a string

Excel users often need to extract characters from a string. For example, you may have a list of employee names (first and last names) and need to extract the last name from each cell. Excel provides several useful functions for extracting characters:

- LEFT returns a specified number of characters from the beginning of a string.
- RIGHT returns a specified number of characters from the end of a string.
- MID returns a specified number of characters beginning at any position within a string.

The following formula returns the last 10 characters from cell A1; if A1 contains fewer than 10 characters, the formula returns all text in the cell:

```
=RIGHT(A1,10)
```

This next formula uses the MID function to return five characters from cell A1, beginning at character position 2. In other words, it returns characters 2–6.

=MID(A1,2,5)

The following example returns the text in cell A1 with only the first letter in uppercase. It uses the LEFT function to extract the first character and convert it to uppercase. This then concatenates to another string that uses the RIGHT function to extract all but the first character (converted to low-ercase). Here's what it looks like:

=UPPER(LEFT(A1))&RIGHT(LOWER(A1),LEN(A1)-1)

If cell A1 contained the text FIRST QUARTER, the formula would return First quarter.

## Note

This is different than the result obtained using the PROPER function. The PROPER function makes the first character in each word uppercase. ■

# **Replacing text with other text**

In some situations, you may need a formula to replace a part of a text string with some other text. For example, you may import data that contains asterisks, and you need to convert the asterisks to some other character. You could use choose Home  $\Rightarrow$  Editing  $\Rightarrow$  Find & Select  $\Rightarrow$  Replace to make the replacement. If you prefer a formula-based solution, you can take advantage of either of two functions:

- SUBSTITUTE replaces specific text in a string. Use this function when you know the character(s) to be replaced but not the position.
- REPLACE replaces text that occurs in a specific location within a string. Use this function when you know the position of the text to be replaced but not the actual text.

The following formula uses the SUBSTITUTE function to replace 2010 with 2011 in the string 2010 Budget. The formula returns 2011 Budget.

=SUBSTITUTE("2010 Budget", "2010", "2011")

The following formula uses the SUBSTITUTE function to remove all spaces from a string. In other words, it replaces all space characters with an empty string. The formula returns 2011OperatingBudget.

```
=SUBSTITUTE("2011 Operating Budget", " ", "")
```

The following formula uses the REPLACE function to replace one character beginning at position 5 with nothing. In other words, it removes the fifth character (a hyphen) and returns Part544.

```
=REPLACE("Part-544",5,1,"")
```

# Finding and searching within a string

The FIND and SEARCH functions enable you to locate the starting position of a particular substring within a string:

- FIND finds a substring within another text string and returns the starting position of the substring. You can specify the character position at which to begin searching. Use this function for case-sensitive text comparisons. Wildcard comparisons are not supported.
- SEARCH finds a substring within another text string and returns the starting position of the substring. You can specify the character position at which to begin searching. Use this function for non-case-sensitive text or when you need to use wildcard characters.

The following formula uses the FIND function and returns 7, the position of the first *m* in the string. Notice that this formula is case-sensitive.

=FIND("m", "Big Mama Thornton", 1)

The formula that follows, which uses the SEARCH function, returns 5, the position of the first *m* (either uppercase or lowercase):

=SEARCH("m", "Big Mama Thornton", 1)

You can use the following wildcard characters within the first argument for the SEARCH function:

- Question mark (?) matches any single character.
- Asterisk (\*) matches any sequence of characters.

## Tip

# If you want to find an actual question mark or asterisk character, type a tilde (~) before the question mark or asterisk.

The next formula examines the text in cell A1 and returns the position of the first three-character sequence that has a hyphen in the middle of it. In other words, it looks for any character followed by a hyphen and any other character. If cell A1 contains the text Part-A90, the formula returns 4.

```
=SEARCH("?-?",A1,1)
```

# Searching and replacing within a string

You can use the REPLACE function in conjunction with the SEARCH function to replace part of a text string with another string. In effect, you use the SEARCH function to find the starting location used by the REPLACE function.
For example, assume that cell A1 contains the text Annual Profit Figures. The following formula searches for the six-letter word Profit and replaces it with the word Loss:

```
=REPLACE(A1,SEARCH("Profit",A1),6,"Loss")
```

This next formula uses the SUBSTITUTE function to accomplish the same effect in a more efficient manner:

```
=SUBSTITUTE(A1, "Profit", "Loss")
```

# **Advanced Text Formulas**

The examples in this section appear more complex than the examples in the preceding section. As you can see, though, these examples can perform some very useful text manipulations. Space limitations prevent a detailed explanation of how these formulas work, but this section gives you a basic introduction.

## On the CD

You can access all the examples in this section on the companion CD-ROM. The file is named text formula examples.xlsx.

# Counting specific characters in a cell

This formula counts the number of Bs (uppercase only) in the string in cell A1:

```
=LEN(A1)-LEN(SUBSTITUTE(A1, "B", ""))
```

This formula works by using the SUBSTITUTE function to create a new string (in memory) that has all the *Bs* removed. Then the length of this string is subtracted from the length of the original string. The result reveals the number of *Bs* in the original string.

The following formula is a bit more versatile: It counts the number of *Bs* (both uppercase and lowercase) in the string in cell A1. Using the UPPER function to convert the string makes this formula work with both uppercase and lowercase characters:

```
=LEN(A1)-LEN(SUBSTITUTE(UPPER(A1), "B", ""))
```

# Counting the occurrences of a substring in a cell

The formulas in the preceding section count the number of occurrences of a particular character in a string. The following formula works with more than one character. It returns the number of occurrences of a particular substring (contained in cell B1) within a string (contained in cell A1). The substring can consist of any number of characters.

=(LEN(A1)-LEN(SUBSTITUTE(A1,B1,"")))/LEN(B1)

For example, if cell A1 contains the text Blonde On Blonde and B1 contains the text Blonde, the formula returns 2.

The comparison is case sensitive, so if B1 contains the text blonde, the formula returns 0. The following formula is a modified version that performs a case-insensitive comparison by converting the characters to uppercase:

```
= (LEN(A1)-LEN(SUBSTITUTE(UPPER(A1),UPPER(B1),"")))/LEN(B1)
```

# Extracting a filename from a path specification

The following formula returns the filename from a full path specification. For example, if cell A1 contains c:\windows\important\myfile.xlsx, the formula returns myfile.xlsx.

```
=MID(A1,FIND("*",SUBSTITUTE(A1,"\","*",LEN(A1)-LEN(SUBSTITUTE(A1,"\",
""))))+1,LEN(A1))
```

This formula assumes that the system path separator is a backslash ( $\)$ ). It essentially returns all text that follows the last backslash character. If cell A1 doesn't contain a backslash character, the formula returns an error.

# Extracting the first word of a string

To extract the first word of a string, a formula must locate the position of the first space character and then use this information as an argument for the LEFT function. The following formula does just that:

=LEFT(A1,FIND(" ",A1)-1)

This formula returns all the text prior to the first space in cell A1. However, the formula has a slight problem: It returns an error if cell A1 consists of a single word. A slightly more complex formula that checks for the error using the IFERROR function solves that problem:

```
=IFERROR(LEFT(A1,FIND(" ",A1)-1),A1)
```

## Caution

The preceding formula uses the IFERROR function, which was introduced in Excel 2007. If your workbook will be used with previous versions of Excel, use this formula:

```
=IF(ISERR(FIND(" ",A1)),A1,LEFT(A1,FIND(" ",A1)-1))
```

# Extracting the last word of a string

Extracting the last word of a string is more complicated because the FIND function only works from left to right. Therefore the problem is locating the *last* space character. The formula that follows, however, solves this problem by returning the last word of a string (all text following the last space character):

```
=RIGHT(A1, LEN(A1)-FIND("*", SUBSTITUTE(A1," ","*", LEN(A1)-
LEN(SUBSTITUTE(A1," ","")))))
```

This formula, however, has the same problem as the first formula in the preceding section: It fails if the string does not contain at least *one* space character. The following modified formula uses the IFERROR function to test for an error (that is, no spaces). If the first argument returns an error, the formula returns the complete contents of cell A1:

```
=IFERROR(RIGHT(A1, LEN(A1)-FIND("*", SUBSTITUTE(A1, " ", "*", LEN(A1)-
LEN(SUBSTITUTE(A1, " ", "")))), A1)
```

Following is a modification that doesn't use the IFERROR function. This formula works for all versions of Excel:

```
=IF(ISERR(FIND(" ",A1)),A1,RIGHT(A1,LEN(A1)-FIND("*",SUBSTITUTE(A1,"
","*",LEN(A1)-LEN(SUBSTITUTE(A1," ",""))))))
```

# Extracting all but the first word of a string

The following formula returns the contents of cell A1, except for the first word:

```
=RIGHT(A1,LEN(A1)-FIND(" ",A1,1))
```

If cell A1 contains 2010 Operating Budget, the formula returns Operating Budget.

The following formula, which uses the IFERROR function, returns the entire contents of cell A1 if the cell doesn't have a space character:

=IFERROR(RIGHT(A1,LEN(A1)-FIND(" ",A1,1)),A1)

A modification that works in all versions of Excel is

=IF(ISERR(FIND(" ", A1)), A1, RIGHT(A1, LEN(A1)-FIND(" ", A1, 1)))

# Extracting first names, middle names, and last names

Suppose you have a list consisting of people's names in a single column. You have to separate these names into three columns: one for the first name, one for the middle name or initial, and one for the last name. This task is more complicated than you may think because it must handle the situation for a missing middle initial. However, you can still do it.

## Note

The task becomes a lot more complicated if the list contains names with titles (such as Mr. or Dr.) or names followed by additional details (such as Jr. or III). In fact, the following formulas will not handle these complex cases. However, they still give you a significant head start if you're willing to do a bit of manual editing to handle special cases. For a way to remove these titles, see the next section, "Removing titles from names."

The formulas that follow all assume that the name appears in cell A1.

You can easily construct a formula to return the first name:

```
=LEFT(A1,FIND(" ",A1)-1)
```

This formula returns the last name:

=RIGHT(A1, LEN(A1) - FIND("\*", SUBSTITUTE(A1, " ", "\*", LEN(A1) - LEN(SUBSTITUTE(A1, " ", "")))))

The next formula extracts the middle name and requires that you use the other formulas to extract the first name and the last name. It assumes that the first name is in B1 and the last name is in D1. Here's what it looks like:

```
=IF(LEN(B1&D1)+2>=LEN(A1), "", MID(A1, LEN(B1)+2, LEN(A1)-LEN(B1&D1)-2))
```

As you can see in Figure 11.5, the formulas work fairly well. There are a few problems, however, notably names that contain four "words." But, as I mentioned earlier, you can clean up these cases manually.

## On the CD

This workbook, named extract names.xlsx, is available on the companion CD-ROM. ■

#### FIGURE 11.5

This worksheet uses formulas to extract the first name, last name, and middle name (or initial) from a list of names in column A.

4	A	В	С	D	E
1	Full Name	First	Middle	Last	
2	John Q. Public	John	Q.	Public	
3	Lisa Smith	Lisa		Smith	
4	J. R. Robins	J.	R.	Robins	
5	Dr. Lester B. Jones	Dr.	Lester B.	Jones	
6	J. R. R. Tolkien	J.	R. R.	Tolkien	
7	Franklin H. Lee	Franklin	н.	Lee	
8	Melvina Pryce	Melvina		Pryce	
9	Suzette I. Thorson	Suzette	1.	Thorson	
10	J. Frank	J.		Frank	
11	Amanda M. Rowe	Amanda	M.	Rowe	
12	Melvin H. Hodges	Melvin	н.	Hodges	
13	Aaron E. Pacheco	Aaron	Ε.	Pacheco	
14	Dennis Michael Batie	Dennis	Michael	Batie	
15	Lloyd Benedict Arnold	Lloyd	Benedict	Arnold	
16	Agnes K. Saterfiel	Agnes	к.	Saterfiel	
17	Robert M. Simmons	Robert	M.	Simmons	
18	Joseph Q. Glenn	Joseph	Q.	Glenn	
19	Jeffrey George Bishop	Jeffrey	George	Bishop	
20	Henrietta D. Markowski	Henrietta	D.	Markowski	
21	William R. Gordon	William	R.	Gordon	
22	Khalilah Gorski	Khalilah		Gorski	
23	Tammy Faye. Lindsey	Tammy	Faye.	Lindsey	
24	Wilfred A. Moy	Wilfred	Α.	Moy	

# Splitting Text Strings without Using Formulas.

In many cases, you can eliminate the use of formulas and use the Text to Columns command to parse strings into their component parts. This command is found in the Data Tools group of the Data tab. Text to Columns displays the Convert Text to Columns Wizard, which consists of a series of dialog boxes that walk you through the steps to convert a single column of data into multiple columns. Generally, you want to select the Delimited option (in Step 1) and use Space as the delimiter (in Step 2), as shown in the following figure.

Convert Text to Columns Wizard - Step 2 of 3							
This screen lets you se the preview below.	This screen lets you set the delimiters your data contains. You can see how your text is affected in the preview below.						
Delimiters							
Tab							
Semicolon	Treat consecutive delimiters as one						
□ <u>C</u> omma ☑ <u>S</u> pace □ <u>O</u> ther: :	Comma V Space Other: :						
Data preview	Data greview						
John Q. Pu Lisa Smith J. R. Ro Dr. Lester B.	bins Jones	Î					
μ. κ. κ.	Tolkien						
		,					
	Cancel < <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext >	Einish					

## **Removing titles from names**

You can use the formula that follows to remove three common titles (*Mr.*, *Ms.*, and *Mrs.*) from a name. For example, if cell A1 contains Mr. Fred Munster, the formula would return Fred Munster.

```
=IF(OR(LEFT(A1,2)="Mr",LEFT(A1,3)="Mrs",LEFT(A1,2)="Ms"),
RIGHT(A1,LEN(A1) -FIND(" ",A1)),A1)
```

# Creating an ordinal number

An ordinal number is an adjective form of a number. Examples include 1st, 2nd, 5th, 23rd, and so on.

The formula that follows displays the value in cell A1 as an ordinal number:

```
=A13&IF(OR(VALUE(RIGHT(A1,2))={11,12,13}),"th",
IF(OR(VALUE(RIGHT(A1))={1,2,3}),CHOOSE(RIGHT(A1),
"st","nd","rd"),"th"))
```

The formula is rather complex because it must determine whether the number will end in th, st, nd, or rd. This formula also uses literal arrays (enclosed in brackets), which are described in Chapter 17.

# Counting the number of words in a cell

The following formula returns the number of words in cell A1:

=LEN(TRIM(A1))-LEN(SUBSTITUTE( (A1), " ", ""))+1

The formula uses the TRIM function to remove excess spaces. It then uses the SUBSTITUTE function to create a new string (in memory) that has all the space characters removed. The length of this string is subtracted from the length of the original (trimmed) string to get the number of spaces. This value is then incremented by 1 to get the number of words.

Note that this formula will return 1 if the cell is empty. The following modification solves that problem:

=IF(LEN(A1)=0,0,LEN(TRIM(A1))-LEN(SUBSTITUTE(TRIM(A1)," ",""))+1)



# Working with Dates and Times

any worksheets contain dates and times in cells. For example, you might track information by date, or create a schedule based on time. Beginners often find that working with dates and times in Excel can be frustrating. To work with dates and times, you need a good understanding of how Excel handles time-based information. This chapter provides the information you need to create powerful formulas that manipulate dates and times.

## Note

The dates in this chapter correspond to the U.S. English language date format: month/day/year. For example, the date 3/1/1952 refers to March 1, 1952, not January 3, 1952. I realize that this setup may seem illogical, but that's the way Americans have been trained. I trust that the non-American readers of this book can make the adjustment. ■

# How Excel Handles Dates and Times

This section presents a quick overview of how Excel deals with dates and times. It includes coverage of the Excel program's date and time serial number system, and it offers tips for entering and formatting dates and times.

# Understanding date serial numbers

To Excel, a date is simply a number. More precisely, a date is a *serial number* that represents the number of days since the fictitious date of January 0, 1900.

# **IN THIS CHAPTER**

An overview of using dates and times in Excel

**Excel date-related functions** 

**Excel time-related functions** 

A serial number of 1 corresponds to January 1, 1900; a serial number of 2 corresponds to January 2, 1900, and so on. This system makes it possible to deal with dates in formulas. For example, you can create a formula to calculate the number of days between two dates (just subtract one from the other).

Excel support dates from January 1, 1900, through December 31, 9999 (serial number = 2,958,465).

You may wonder about January 0, 1900. This *nondate* (which corresponds to date serial number 0) is actually used to represent times that aren't associated with a particular day. This concept becomes clear later in this chapter (see "Entering times").

To view a date serial number as a date, you must format the cell as a date. Choose Home ➡ Number ➡ Number Format. This drop-down control provides you with two date formats. To select from additional date formats, see "Formatting dates and times," later in this chapter.

# **Entering dates**

You can enter a date directly as a serial number (if you know the serial number) and then format it as a date. More often, you enter a date by using any of several recognized date formats. Excel automatically converts your entry into the corresponding date serial number (which it uses for calculations), and it also applies the default date format to the cell so that it displays as an actual date rather than as a cryptic serial number.

# Choose Your Date System: 1900 or 1904.

Excel supports two date systems: the 1900 date system and the 1904 date system. Which system you use in a workbook determines what date serves as the basis for dates. The 1900 date system uses January 1, 1900 as the day assigned to date serial number 1. The 1904 date system uses January 1, 1904, as the base date. By default, Excel for Windows uses the 1900 date system, and Excel for Macintosh uses the 1904 date system. Excel for Windows supports the 1904 date system for compatibility with Macintosh files. You can choose the date system for the active workbook in the Advanced section of the Excel Options dialog box. (It's in the When Calculating This Workbook subsection.) You can't change the date system if you use Excel for Macintosh.

Generally, you should use the default 1900 date system. And you should exercise caution if you use two different date systems in workbooks that are linked. For example, assume that Book1 uses the 1904 date system and contains the date 1/15/1999 in cell A1. Assume that Book2 uses the 1900 date system and contains a link to cell A1 in Book1. Book2 displays the date as 1/14/1995. Both workbooks use the same date serial number (34713), but they're interpreted differently.

One advantage to using the 1904 date system is that it enables you to display negative time values. With the 1900 date system, a calculation that results in a negative time (for example, 4:00 PM–5:30 PM) cannot be displayed. When using the 1904 date system, the negative time displays as -1:30 (that is, a difference of 1 hour and 30 minutes).

For example, if you need to enter June 18, 2010 into a cell, you can enter the date by typing **June 18**, **2010** (or any of several different date formats). Excel interprets your entry and stores the value 40347, the date serial number for that date. It also applies the default date format, so the cell contents may not appear exactly as you typed them.

## Note

Depending on your regional settings, entering a date in a format such as June 18, 2010 may be interpreted as a text string. In such a case, you need to enter the date in a format that corresponds to your regional settings, such as 18 June, 2010. ■

When you activate a cell that contains a date, the Formula bar shows the cell contents formatted by using the default date format — which corresponds to your system's *short date format*. The Formula bar doesn't display the date's serial number. If you need to find out the serial number for a particular date, format the cell with a nondate number format.

## Tip

To change the default date format, you need to change a system-wide setting. From the Windows Control Panel, select Regional and Language Options. The exact procedure varies, depending on the version of Windows you use. Look for the drop-down list that enables you to change the Short Date Format. The setting you choose determines the default date format that Excel uses to display dates in the Formula bar. ■

\_

Table 12.1 shows a sampling of the date formats that Excel recognizes (using the U.S. settings). Results will vary if you use a different regional setting.

Date Entry Formats Recognized by Excel				
Entry	Excel Interpretation (U.S. Settings)			
6-18-10	June 18, 2010			
6-18-2010	June 18, 2010			
6/18/10	June 18, 2010			
6/18/2010	June 18, 2010			
6-18/10	June 18, 2010			
June 18, 2010	June 18, 2010			
Jun 18	June 18 of the current year			
June 18	June 18 of the current year			
6/18	June 18 of the current year			
6-18	June 18 of the current year			
18-Jun-2010	June 18, 2010			
2010/6/18	June 18, 2010			

#### **TABLE 12.1**

# Searching for Dates \_\_\_\_

If your worksheet uses many dates, you may need to search for a particular date by using the Find and Replace dialog box (Home +> Editing +> Find & Select +> Find, or Ctrl+F). Excel is rather picky when it comes to finding dates. You must enter the date as it appears in the formula bar. For example, if a cell contains a date formatted to display as June 19, 2010, the date appears in the Formula bar using your system's short date format (for example, 6/19/2010). Therefore, if you search for the date as it appears in the Formula bar. But it will find the cell if you search for date in the format that appears in the Formula bar.

As you can see in Table 12.1, Excel is rather flexible when it comes to recognizing dates entered into a cell. It's not perfect, however. For example, Excel does *not* recognize any of the following entries as dates:

- June 18 2010
- Jun-18 2010
- Jun-18/2010

Rather, it interprets these entries as text. If you plan to use dates in formulas, make sure that Excel can recognize the date you enter as a date; otherwise, the formulas that refer to these dates will produce incorrect results.

If you attempt to enter a date that lies outside of the supported date range, Excel interprets it as text. If you attempt to format a serial number that lies outside of the supported range as a date, the value displays as a series of hash marks (#########).

# Understanding time serial numbers

When you need to work with time values, you extend the Excel date serial number system to include decimals. In other words, Excel works with times by using fractional days. For example, the date serial number for June 1, 2010 is 40330. Noon (halfway through the day) is represented internally as 40330.5.

The serial number equivalent of one minute is approximately 0.00069444. The formula that follows calculates this number by multiplying 24 hours by 60 minutes, and dividing the result into 1. The denominator consists of the number of minutes in a day (1,440).

=1/(24\*60)

Similarly, the serial number equivalent of one second is approximately 0.00001157, obtained by the following formula:

1/24 hours  $\times$  60 minutes  $\times$  60 seconds

In this case, the denominator represents the number of seconds in a day (86,400).

=1/(24\*60\*60)

In Excel, the smallest unit of time is one one-thousandth of a second. The time serial number shown here represents 23:59:59.999 (one one-thousandth of a second before midnight):

0.99999999

Table 12.2 shows various times of day along with each associated time serial numbers.

#### **TABLE 12.2**

## Times of Day and Their Corresponding Serial Numbers

Time of Day	Time Serial Number
12:00:00 AM (midnight)	0.0000000
1:30:00 AM	0.06250000
7:30:00 AM	0.31250000
10:30:00 AM	0.43750000
12:00:00 PM (noon)	0.5000000
1:30:00 PM	0.56250000
4:30:00 PM	0.68750000
6:00:00 PM	0.75000000
9:00:00 PM	0.87500000
10:30:00 PM	0.93750000

## **Entering times**

As with entering dates, you normally don't have to worry about the actual time serial numbers. Just enter the time into a cell using a recognized format. Table 12.3 shows some examples of time formats that Excel recognizes.

#### **TABLE 12.3**

## **Time Entry Formats Recognized by Excel**

Entry	Excel Interpretation
11:30:00 am	11:30 AM
11:30:00 AM	11:30 AM
11:30 pm	11:30 PM
11:30	11:30 AM
13:30	1:30 PM

Because the preceding samples don't have a specific day associated with them, Excel (by default) uses a date serial number of 0, which corresponds to the nonday January 0, 1900. Often, you'll want to combine a date and time. Do so by using a recognized date-entry format, followed by a space, and then a recognized time-entry format. For example, if you enter **6/18/2010 11:30** in a cell, Excel interprets it as 11:30 a.m. on June 18, 2010. Its date/time serial number is 40347.4791666667.

When you enter a time that exceeds 24 hours, the associated date for the time increments accordingly. For example, if you enter **25:00:00** into a cell, it's interpreted as 1:00 a.m. on January 1, 1900. The day part of the entry increments because the time exceeds 24 hours. Keep in mind that a time value without a date uses January 0, 1900 as the date.

Similarly, if you enter a date *and* a time (and the time exceeds 24 hours), the date that you entered is adjusted. If you enter **9/18/2010 25:00:00**, for example, it's interpreted as 9/19/2010 1:00:00 a.m.

If you enter a time only (without an associated date) into an unformatted cell, the maximum time that you can enter into a cell is 9999:59:59 (just less than 10,000 hours). Excel adds the appropriate number of days. In this case, 9999:59:59 is interpreted as 3:59:59 p.m. on 02/19/1901. If you enter a time that exceeds 10,000 hours, the entry is interpreted as a text string rather than a time.

# Formatting dates and times

You have a great deal of flexibility in formatting cells that contain dates and times. For example, you can format the cell to display the date part only, the time part only, or both the date and time parts.

You format dates and times by selecting the cells and then using the Number tab of the Format Cells dialog box, as shown in Figure 12.1. To display this dialog box, click the dialog box launcher icon in the Number group of the Home tab. Or, click Number Format and choose More Number Formats from the list that appears.

The Date category shows built-in date formats, and the Time category shows built-in time formats. Some formats include both date and time displays. Just select the desired format from the Type list and then click OK.

# Tip

When you create a formula that refers to a cell containing a date or a time, Excel sometimes automatically formats the formula cell as a date or a time. Often, this automation is very helpful; other times, it's completely inappropriate and downright annoying. To return the number formatting to the default General format, choose Home c> Number c> Number Format and choose General from the drop-down list. Or, press Ctrl+Shift+~.

If none of the built-in formats meets your needs, you can create a custom number format. Select the Custom category and then type the custom format codes into the Type box. (See Chapter 24 for information on creating custom number formats.)

#### FIGURE 12.1

Use the Number tab in the Format Cells dialog box to change the appearance of dates and times.

Format Cel	ls							? 🗙
Number	Alignment		Font	Border	Fill	Protection	]	
Category: General Number Currency Accounting Dime Precentage Frection Scientific Special Custom Locale (loc English (L)				le 2/2698 /2001 nesday, Ma 01 yr r-01 (location): h (U.S.)	arch 14, 200	1		E T
Date form an asteris operating	ats display d k (*) respond system. Form	- late d to mate	and tim change s withou	e serial num s in regiona it an asteris	ibers as dat I date and t ik are not af	e values. Da ime settings t ffected by ope	te formats th hat are speci erating syste	at begin with fied for the m settings.
							ОК	Cancel

# **Problems with dates**

Excel has some problems when it comes to dates. Many of these problems stem from the fact that Excel was designed many years ago. Excel designers basically emulated the Lotus 1-2-3 program's limited date and time features, which contain a nasty bug that was duplicated intentionally in Excel. (You can read why in a bit.) If Excel were being designed from scratch today, I'm sure it would be much more versatile in dealing with dates. Unfortunately, users are currently stuck with a product that leaves much to be desired in the area of dates.

#### Excel's leap year bug

A *leap year*, which occurs every four years, contains an additional day (February 29). Specifically, years that are evenly divisible by 100 are not leap years, unless they are also evenly divisible by 400. Although the year 1900 was not a leap year, Excel treats it as such. In other words, when you type **2/29/1900** into a cell, Excel interprets it as a valid date and assigns a serial number of 60.

If you type **2/29/1901**, however, Excel correctly interprets it as a mistake and doesn't convert it to a date. Rather, it simply makes the cell entry a text string.

How can a product used daily by millions of people contain such an obvious bug? The answer is historical. The original version of Lotus 1-2-3 contained a bug that caused it to treat 1900 as a leap year. When Excel was released some time later, the designers knew of this bug and chose to reproduce it in Excel to maintain compatibility with Lotus worksheet files.

Why does this bug still exist in later versions of Excel? Microsoft asserts that the disadvantages of correcting this bug outweigh the advantages. If the bug were eliminated, it would mess up millions of existing workbooks. In addition, correcting this problem would possibly affect compatibility between Excel and other programs that use dates. As it stands, this bug really causes very few problems because most users don't use dates prior to March 1, 1900.

#### Pre-1900 dates

The world, of course, didn't begin on January 1, 1900. People who use Excel to work with historical information often need to work with dates before January 1, 1900. Unfortunately, the only way to work with pre-1900 dates is to enter the date into a cell as text. For example, you can enter **July 4, 1776** into a cell, and Excel won't complain.

## Tip

If you plan to sort information by old dates, you should enter your text dates with a four-digit year, followed by a two-digit month, and then a two-digit day: for example, 1776-07-04. This format will enable accurate sorting. ■

Using text as dates works in some situation, but the main problem is that you can't perform any manipulation on a date that's entered as text. For example, you can't change its numeric formatting, you can't determine which day of the week this date occurred on, and you can't calculate the date that occurs seven days later.

## On the CD

The companion CD-ROM contains a workbook named XDATE demo.xlsm. This workbook contains eight custom worksheet functions written in VBA. These functions enable you to work with any date in the years 0100 through 9999. Figure 12.2 shows a worksheet that uses these extended date functions in columns E though G to perform calculations that involve pre-1900 dates.

### FIGURE 12.2

The author's Extended Date Functions add-in enables you to work with pre-1900 dates.

	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	
1	President Birthdays	5						
2								
3	President	Year	Month	Day	XDATE	XDATEDOW	XDATEYEARDIF	
4	George Washington	1732	2	22	2/22/1732	Friday	277	
5	William Henry Harrison	1773	2	9	2/9/1773	Tuesday	236	
6	Zachary Taylor	1784	11	24	11/24/1784	Wednesday	224	
7	Abraham Lincoln	1809	2	12	2/12/1809	Sunday	200	
8	James A. Garfield	1831	11	19	11/19/1831	Saturday	177	
9	William McKinley	1843	1	29	1/29/1843	Sunday	166	
10	Warren G. Harding	1865	11	2	11/2/1865	Thursday	143	
11	Franklin D. Roosevelt	1882	1	30	1/30/1882	Monday	127	
12	Harry S Truman	1884	5	8	5/8/1884	Thursday	125	
13	Barack Obama	1961	8	4	8/4/1961	Friday	48	
14								

#### **Inconsistent date entries**

You need to exercise caution when entering dates by using two digits for the year. When you do so, Excel has some rules that kick in to determine which century to use. And those rules vary, depending on the version of Excel that you use.

Two-digit years between 00 and 29 are interpreted as 21st century dates, and two-digit years between 30 and 99 are interpreted as 20th-century dates. For example, if you enter **12/15/28**, Excel interprets your entry as December 15, 2028. But if you enter **12/15/30**, Excel sees it as December 15, 1930 because Windows uses a default boundary year of 2029. You can keep the default as is or change it via the Windows Control Panel. From the Regional and Language Options dialog box, click the Customize button to display the Customize Regional Options dialog box. Select the Date tab and then specify a different year.

Figure 12.3 shows this dialog box in Windows Vista. This procedure may vary with different versions of Windows.

#### FIGURE 12.3

Use the Windows Control Panel to specify how Excel interprets two-digit years.

Customize Region	al Options
mbers Currency	Time Date
Example	
Short date:	12/20/2009
Long date:	Sunday, December 20, 2009
Date formats	
Short date:	M/d/yyyy 👻
Long date:	dddd, MMMM dd, yyyy
d, dd = day; ddo Calendar	i, dddd = day of week; M = month; y = year
When a two-dig	it year is entered interpret it as a year between:
1930 a	nd 2029 🐳
Click Reset to resto numbers, currency	ore the system default settings for Reset

## Tip

The best way to avoid any surprises is to simply enter all years using all four digits for the year. ■

# **Date-Related Worksheet Functions**

Excel has quite a few functions that work with dates. These functions are accessible by choosing Formulas & Function Library & Date & Time.

Table 12.4 summarizes the date-related functions available in Excel.

#### **TABLE 12.4**

Function	Description
DATE	Returns the serial number of a particular date
DATEVALUE	Converts a date in the form of text to a serial number
DAY	Converts a serial number to a day of the month
DAYS360	Calculates the number of days between two dates based on a 360-day year
EDATE*	Returns the serial number of the date that represents the indicated number of months before or after the start date
EOMONTH*	Returns the serial number of the last day of the month before or after a speci- fied number of months
MONTH	Converts a serial number to a month
NETWORKDAYS*	Returns the number of whole work days between two dates
NETWORKDAYS.INTL**	An international version of the NETWORKDAYS function, which allows non- standard weekend days.
NOW	Returns the serial number of the current date and time
TODAY	Returns the serial number of today's date
WEEKDAY	Converts a serial number to a day of the week
WEEKNUM*	Returns the week number in the year
WORKDAY*	Returns the serial number of the date before or after a specified number of workdays
WORKDAY.INTL**	An international version of the WORKDAY function, which allows non-standard weekend days.
YEAR	Converts a serial number to a year
YEARFRAC*	Returns the year fraction representing the number of whole days between <pre>start_date</pre> and <pre>end_date</pre>

## **Date-Related Functions**

\* In versions prior to Excel 2007, these functions are available only when the Analysis ToolPak add-in is installed.

\*\* Indicates a function new to Excel 2010.

## **New Feature**

Excel 2010 includes two new worksheet functions related to dates: NETWORKDAYS.INTL and WORKDAY.INTL. These functions include an additional argument in which you can specify non-standard weekend days. If you consider Saturday and Sunday to be non-working weekend days, the older versions of these functions will work fine.

# Displaying the current date

The following formula uses the TODAY function to display the current date in a cell:

=TODAY()

You can also display the date combined with text. The formula that follows, for example, displays text, such as Today is Friday, April 9, 2010:

="Today is "&TEXT(TODAY(), "dddd, mmmm d, yyyy")

It's important to understand that the TODAY function is not a date stamp. The function is updated whenever the worksheet is calculated. For example, if you enter either of the preceding formulas into a worksheet, the formulas display the current date. And when you open the workbook tomorrow, they will display the current date (*not* the date when you entered the formula).

## Tip

To enter a date stamp into a cell, press Ctrl+; (semicolon). This action enters the date directly into the cell and does not use a formula. Therefore, the date will not change. ■

# **Displaying any date**

You can easily enter a date into a cell by simply typing it while using any of the date formats that Excel recognizes. You can also create a date by using the DATE function, which takes three arguments: the year, the month, and the day. The following formula, for example, returns a date comprising the year in cell A1, the month in cell B1, and the day in cell C1:

```
=DATE(A1,B1,C1)
```

## Note

The DATE function accepts invalid arguments and adjusts the result accordingly. For example, the following formula uses 13 as the month argument and returns January 1, 2010. The month argument is automatically translated as month 1 of the following year.

```
=DATE(2009,13,1)
```

Often, you'll use the DATE function with other functions as arguments. For example, the formula that follows uses the YEAR and TODAY functions to return the date for the U.S. Independence Day (July 4) of the current year:

```
=DATE (YEAR (TODAY()), 7, 4)
```

The DATEVALUE function converts a text string that looks like a date into a date serial number. The following formula returns 40412, which is the date serial number for August 22, 2010:

```
=DATEVALUE("8/22/2010")
```

To view the result of this formula as a date, you need to apply a date number format to the cell.

## Caution

Be careful when using the DATEVALUE function. A text string that looks like a date in your country may not look like a date in another country. The preceding example works fine if your system is set for U.S. date formats, but it returns an error for other regional date formats because Excel is looking for the eighth day of the 22nd month!

# Generating a series of dates

Often, you want to insert a series of dates into a worksheet. For example, in tracking weekly sales, you may want to enter a series of dates, each separated by seven days. These dates will serve to identify the sales figures.

In some cases you can use the Excel AutoFill feature to insert a series of dates. Enter the first date and drag the cell's fill handle while holding the right mouse button. Release the mouse button and select an option from the shortcut menu (see Figure 12.4) — Fill Days, Fill Weekdays, Fill Months, or Fill Years.

For more flexibility enter the first two dates in the series, and choose Fill Series from the shortcut menu. For example, to enter a series of dates separated by seven days, enter the first two dates of the series and select both cells. Drag the cell's fill handle while holding the right mouse button. In the shortcut menu, choose Fill Series. Excel completes the series by entering additional dates, separated by seven days.

The advantage of using formulas (instead of AutoFill) to create a series of dates is that when you change the first date, the others update automatically. You need to enter the starting date into a cell and then use formulas (copied down the column) to generate the additional dates.

The following examples assume that you enter the first date of the series into cell A1 and the formula into cell A2. You can then copy this formula down the column as many times as needed.

To generate a series of dates separated by seven days, use this formula:

=A1+7

#### FIGURE 12.4

Using AutoFill to create a series of dates.

	A	В	С	D	E
1	1/1/2010				
2		-			
3					
4					
5					
6		⊆op	y Cells		
7		Fills	<u>S</u> eries		
8		Fill <u>F</u>	Eormatting C	only	
9		Fill \	With <u>o</u> ut Forr	natting	
10		Fill 0	Days		
11		- Fill V			
12		Fill /	Months		
13			<u></u>	10	
14		FIII	<u>(</u> ears	- v	
15		Line	ar Trend		
16		Gro	wth Trend		
17		S <u>e</u> ri	es		
18					
19					

To generate a series of dates separated by one month, you need to use a more complicated formula because months don't all have the same number of days. This formula creates a series of dates, separated by one month:

```
=DATE(YEAR(A1), MONTH(A1)+1, DAY(A1))
```

To generate a series of dates separated by one year, use this formula:

```
=DATE(YEAR(A1)+1, MONTH(A1), DAY(A1))
```

To generate a series of weekdays only (no Saturdays or Sundays), use the formula that follows. This formula assumes that the date in cell A1 is not a weekend day.

```
=IF(WEEKDAY(A1)=6,A1+3,A1+1)
```

## Converting a nondate string to a date

You may import data that contains dates coded as text strings. For example, the following text represents August 21, 2010 (a four-digit year followed by a two-digit month, followed by a two-digit day):

```
20100821
```

To convert this string to an actual date, you can use a formula, such as the following. (It assumes that the coded data is in cell A1.)

```
=DATE(LEFT(A1,4),MID(A1,5,2),RIGHT(A1,2))
```

This formula uses text functions (LEFT, MID, and RIGHT) to extract the digits, and then it uses these extracted digits as arguments for the DATE function.

## **Cross-Reference**

See Chapter 11 for more information about using formulas to manipulate text. ■

# Calculating the number of days between two dates

A common type of date calculation determines the number of days between two dates. For example, say you have a financial worksheet that calculates interest earned on a deposit account. The interest earned depends on the number of days the account is open. If your sheet contains the open date and the close date for the account, you can calculate the number of days the account was open.

Because dates are stored as consecutive serial numbers, you can use simple subtraction to calculate the number of days between two dates. For example, if cells A1 and B1 both contain a date, the following formula returns the number of days between these dates:

=A1-B1

If cell B1 contains a more recent date than the date in cell A1, the result will be negative.

### Note

If this formula does not display the correct value, make sure that A1 and B1 both contain actual dates — not text that looks like a date. ■

Sometimes, calculating the difference between two days is more difficult. To demonstrate, consider the common *fence-post analogy*. If somebody asks you how many units make up a fence, you can respond with either of two answers: the number of fence posts or the number of gaps between the fence posts. The number of fence posts is always one more than the number of gaps between the posts.

To bring this analogy into the realm of dates, suppose that you start a sales promotion on February 1 and end the promotion on February 9. How many days was the promotion in effect? Subtracting February 1 from February 9 produces an answer of eight days. Actually, though, the promotion lasted nine days. In this case, the correct answer involves counting the fence posts, not the gaps. The formula to calculate the length of the promotion (assuming that you have appropriately named cells) appears like this:

```
=EndDay-StartDay+1
```

# Calculating the number of work days between two dates

When calculating the difference between two dates, you may want to exclude weekends and holidays. For example, you may need to know how many business days fall in the month of November. This calculation should exclude Saturdays, Sundays, and holidays. The NETWORKDAYS function can help out.

## Note

In versions prior to Excel 2007, the NETWORKDAYS function was available only when the Analysis ToolPak add-in was installed. This function is now part of Excel and doesn't require an add-in.

The NETWORKDAYS function calculates the difference between two dates, excluding weekend days (Saturdays and Sundays). As an option, you can specify a range of cells that contain the dates of holidays, which are also excluded. Excel has no way of determining which days are holidays, so you must provide this information in a range.

Figure 12.5 shows a worksheet that calculates the work days between two dates. The range A2:A11 contains a list of holiday dates. The two formulas in column C calculate the work days between the dates in column A and column B. For example, the formula in cell C15 is

=NETWORKDAYS (A15, B15, A2:A11)

#### FIGURE 12.5

Using the NETWORKDAYS function to calculate the number of working days between two dates.

	A	В	С	D
1	Date	Holiday		
2	1/1/10	New Year's Day		
3	1/18/10	Martin Luther King Jr. Day		
4	2/15/10	Presidents' Day		
5	5/31/10	Memorial Day		
6	7/4/10	Independence Day		
7	9/6/10	Labor Day		
8	10/11/10	Columbus Day		
9	11/11/10	Veterans Day		
10	11/25/10	Thanksgiving Day		
11	12/25/10	Christmas Day		
12				
13				
14	First Day	Last Day	Working Days	
15	Friday 1/1/2010	Thursday 1/7/2010	4	
16	Friday 1/1/2010	Friday 12/31/2010	253	
17				

This formula returns 4, which means that the seven-day period beginning with January 1 contains four work days. In other words, the calculation excludes one holiday, one Saturday, and one Sunday. The formula in cell C16 calculates the total number of work days in the year.

## On the CD

This workbook is available on the companion CD-ROM. The file is named work days.xlsx.

### New

Excel 2010 includes an updated version of the NETWORKDAYS function, named NETWORKDAYS.INTL. This new version is useful if you consider weekend days to be days other than Saturday and Sunday.

# Offsetting a date using only work days

The WORKDAY function is the opposite of the NETWORKDAYS function. For example, if you start a project on January 4 and the project requires 10 working days to complete, the WORKDAY function can calculate the date you will finish the project.

## Note

In versions prior to Excel 2007, the WORKDAY function was available only when the Analysis ToolPak add-in was installed. The function is now part of Excel and doesn't require an add-in.

The following formula uses the WORKDAY function to determine the date that is ten working days from January 4, 2010. A working day consists of a week day (Monday through Friday).

```
=WORKDAY("1/4/2010",10)
```

The formula returns a date serial number, which must be formatted as a date. The result is January 18, 2010 (four weekend dates fall between January 4 and January 18).

## Caution

The preceding formula may return a different result, depending on your regional date setting. (The hard-coded date may be interpreted as April 1, 2010.) A better formula is

```
=WORKDAY(DATE(2010,1,4),10)
```

The second argument for the WORKDAY function can be negative. And, as with the NETWORKDAYS function, the WORKDAY function accepts an optional third argument (a reference to a range that contains a list of holiday dates).

## New

Excel 2010 includes an updated version of the WORKDAY function, named WORKDAY. INTL. This new version is useful if you consider weekend days to be days other than Saturday and Sunday.

## Calculating the number of years between two dates

The following formula calculates the number of years between two dates. This formula assumes that cells A1 and B1 both contain dates:

=YEAR(A1)-YEAR(B1)

This formula uses the YEAR function to extract the year from each date and then subtracts one year from the other. If cell B1 contains a more recent date than the date in cell A1, the result is negative.

Note that this function doesn't calculate *full* years. For example, if cell A1 contains 12/31/2010 and cell B1 contains 01/01/2011, the formula returns a difference of one year even though the dates differ by only one day. See the next section for another way to calculate the number of full years.

# Calculating a person's age

A person's age indicates the number of full years that the person has been alive. The formula in the previous section (for calculating the number of years between two dates) won't calculate this value correctly. You can use two other formulas, however, to calculate a person's age.

The following formula returns the age of the person whose date of birth you enter into cell A1. This formula uses the YEARFRAC function.

=INT(YEARFRAC(TODAY(),A1,1))

## Note

In versions prior to Excel 2007, the YEARFRAC function was available only when the Analysis ToolPak add-in was installed. The function is now part of Excel, and does not require an add-in.

The following formula uses the DATEDIF function to calculate an age. (See the sidebar, "Where's the DATEDIF Function?")

=DATEDIF(A1,TODAY(),"Y")

# Where's the DATEDIF Function?\_

One of Excel's mysteries is the DATEDIF function. You may notice that this function does not appear in the drop-down function list for the Date & Time category, nor does it appear in the Insert Function dialog box. Therefore, when you use this function, you must always enter it manually.

The DATEDIF function has its origins in Lotus 1-2-3, and apparently Excel provides it for compatibility purposes. For some reason, Microsoft wants to keep this function a secret. The function has been available since Excel 5, but Excel 2000 is the only version that ever documented it in its Help system.

continued

#### continued

DATEDIF is a handy function that calculates the number of days, months, or years between two dates. The function takes three arguments: start\_date, end\_date, and a code that represents the time unit of interest. Here's an example of a formula that uses the DATEDIF function (it assumes cells A1 and A2 contain a date). The formula returns the number of complete years between those two dates.

=DATEDIF(A1,A2,"y")

The following table displays valid codes for the third argument. (You must enclose the codes in quotation marks.)

Unit Code	Returns
"У"	The number of complete years in the period.
"m"	The number of complete months in the period.
"d"	The number of days in the period.
"md"	The difference between the days in start_date and end_date. The months and years of the dates are ignored.
"Ym"	The difference between the months in start_date and end_date. The days and years of the dates are ignored.
"yd"	The difference between the days of start_date and end_date. The years of the dates are ignored.

The start\_date argument must be earlier than the end\_date argument or else the function returns an error.

# Determining the day of the year

January 1 is the first day of the year, and December 31 is the last day. But what about all those days in between? The following formula returns the day of the year for a date stored in cell A1:

```
=A1-DATE(YEAR(A1),1,0)
```

Here's a similar formula that returns the day of the year for the current date:

```
=TODAY()-DATE(YEAR(TODAY()),1,0)
```

The following formula returns the number of days remaining in the year after a particular date (assumed to be in cell A1):

```
=DATE(YEAR(A1), 12, 31)-A1
```

Here's the formula modified to use the current date:

```
=DATE (YEAR (TODAY()), 12, 31) -TODAY()
```

When you enter either formula, Excel applies date formatting to the cell. You need to apply a nondate number format to view the result as a number.

To convert a particular day of the year (for example, the 90th day of the year) to an actual date in a specified year, use the following formula, which assumes that the year is stored in cell A1 and that the day of the year is stored in cell B1:

=DATE(A1,1,B1)

# Determining the day of the week

The WEEKDAY function accepts a date argument and returns an integer between 1 and 7 that corresponds to the day of the week. The following formula, for example, returns 7 because the first day of the year 2011 falls on a Saturday:

```
=WEEKDAY(DATE(2011,1,1))
```

The WEEKDAY function uses an optional second argument that specifies the day-numbering system for the result. If you specify 2 as the second argument, the function returns 1 for Monday, 2 for Tuesday, and so on. If you specify 3 as the second argument, the function returns 0 for Monday, 1 for Tuesday, and so on.

## Tip

You can also determine the day of the week for a cell that contains a date by applying a custom number format. A cell that uses the following custom number format displays the day of the week, spelled out:

dddd

## Determining the date of the most recent Sunday

You can use the following formula to return the date for the previous Sunday (or any other day of the week). If the current day is a Sunday, the formula returns the current date:

=TODAY()-MOD(TODAY()-1,7)

To modify this formula to find the date of a day other than Sunday, change the 1 to a different number between 2 (for Monday) and 7 (for Saturday).

# Determining the first day of the week after a date

This next formula returns the specified day of the week that occurs after a particular date. For example, use this formula to determine the date of the first Monday after June 1, 2010. The

formula assumes that cell A1 contains a date and cell A2 contains a number between 1 and 7 (1 for Sunday, 2 for Monday, and so on).

=A1+A2-WEEKDAY(A1)+(A2<WEEKDAY(A1))\*7

If cell A1 contains June 1, 2010 (a Tuesday), and cell A2 contains 7 (for Saturday), the formula returns June 5, 2010. This is the first Saturday after June 1, 2010.

# Determining the *n*th occurrence of a day of the week in a month

You may need a formula to determine the date for a particular occurrence of a week day. For example, suppose that your company payday falls on the second Friday of each month and you need to determine the paydays for each month of the year. The following formula makes this type of calculation:

```
=DATE (A1, A2, 1) +A3-WEEKDAY (DATE (A1, A2, 1)) +
(A4-(A3>=WEEKDAY (DATE (A1, A2, 1))))*7
```

The formula in this section assumes that

- Cell A1 contains a year.
- Cell A2 contains a month.
- Cell A3 contains a day number (1 for Sunday, 2 for Monday, and so on).
- Cell A4 contains the occurrence number (for example, 2 to select the second occurrence of the weekday specified in cell A3).

If you use this formula to determine the date of the second Friday in November 2010, it returns November 12, 2010.

## Note

If the value in cell A4 exceeds the number of the specified day in the month, the formula returns a date from a subsequent month. For example, if you attempt to determine the date of the fifth Friday in November 2010 (there is no such date), the formula returns the first Friday in December.

# Calculating dates of holidays

Determining the date for a particular holiday can be tricky. Some, such as New Year's Day and U.S. Independence Day are no-brainers because they always occur on the same date. For these kinds of holidays, you can simply use the DATE function. To enter New Year's Day (which always falls on January 1) for a specific year in cell A1, you can enter this function:

```
=DATE(A1,1,1)
```

Other holidays are defined in terms of a particular occurrence of a particular week day in a particular month. For example, Labor Day falls on the first Monday in September.

Figure 12.6 shows a workbook with formulas that calculate the date for 11 U.S. holidays. The formulas, which reference the year in cell A1, are listed in the sections that follow.

#### FIGURE 12.6

Using formulas to determine the date for various holidays.

1	A	В	С	D	E	F
1	2010	< Enter the year				
2						
3			<b>Holiday Calculations</b>			
4						
5		Holiday	Description	Date	Weekday	
6		New Year's Day	1st Day in January	January 1, 2010	Friday	
7		Martin Luther King Jr. Day	3rd Monday in January	January 18, 2010	Monday	
8		Presidents' Day	3rd Monday in February	February 15, 2010	Monday	
9		Easter	Complicated	April 4, 2010	Sunday	
10		Memorial Day	Last Monday in May	May 31, 2010	Monday	
11		Independence Day	4th Day of July	July 4, 2010	Sunday	
12		Labor Day	1st Monday in September	September 6, 2010	Monday	
13		Columbus Day	2nd Monday in October	October 11, 2010	Monday	
14		Veterans Day	11th Day of November	November 11, 2010	Thursday	
15		Thanksgiving Day	4th Thursday in November	November 25, 2010	Thursday	
16		Christmas Day	25th Day of December	December 25, 2010	Saturday	
17						

## On the CD

The workbook shown in Figure 12.5 also appears on the companion CD-ROM. The file is named holidays. xlsx.

#### New Year's Day

This holiday always falls on January 1:

```
=DATE(A1,1,1)
```

#### Martin Luther King, Jr. Day

This holiday occurs on the third Monday in January. This formula calculates Martin Luther King, Jr. Day for the year in cell A1:

```
=DATE (A1,1,1) + IF (2<WEEKDAY (DATE (A1,1,1)), 7-WEEKDAY
(DATE (A1,1,1))+2,2-WEEKDAY (DATE (A1,1,1)))+((3-1)*7)
```

#### **Presidents' Day**

Presidents' Day occurs on the third Monday in February. This formula calculates Presidents' Day for the year in cell A1:

```
=DATE(A1,2,1)+IF(2<WEEKDAY(DATE(A1,2,1)),7-WEEKDAY
(DATE(A1,2,1))+2,2-WEEKDAY(DATE(A1,2,1)))+((3-1)*7)
```

#### Easter

Calculating the date for Easter is difficult because of the complicated manner in which Easter is determined. Easter Day is the first Sunday after the next full moon occurs after the vernal equinox. I found these formulas to calculate Easter on the Web. I have no idea how they work. And they don't work if your workbook uses the 1904 date system. (Read about the difference between the 1900 and the 1904 date system earlier in this chapter.)

=DOLLAR(("4/"&A1)/7+MOD(19\*MOD(A1,19)-7,30)\*14%,)\*7-6

This one is slightly shorter, but equally obtuse:

```
=FLOOR("5/"&DAY(MINUTE(A1/38)/2+56)&"/"&A1,7)-34
```

#### **Memorial Day**

The last Monday in May is Memorial Day. This formula calculates Memorial Day for the year in cell A1:

```
=DATE (A1, 6, 1) + IF (2<WEEKDAY (DATE (A1, 6, 1)), 7-WEEKDAY
(DATE (A1, 6, 1))+2, 2-WEEKDAY (DATE (A1, 6, 1)))+((1-1)*7)-7
```

Notice that this formula actually calculates the first Monday in June and then subtracts 7 from the result to return the last Monday in May.

#### **Independence Day**

This holiday always falls on July 4:

```
=DATE(A1,7,4)
```

#### Labor Day

Labor Day occurs on the first Monday in September. This formula calculates Labor Day for the year in cell A1:

```
=DATE (A1,9,1)+IF (2<WEEKDAY (DATE (A1,9,1)),7-WEEKDAY
(DATE (A1,9,1))+2,2-WEEKDAY (DATE (A1,9,1)))+((1-1)*7)
```

#### **Columbus Day**

This holiday occurs on the second Monday in October. This formula calculates Columbus Day for the year in cell A1:

```
=DATE(A1,10,1)+IF(2<WEEKDAY(DATE(A1,10,1)),7-WEEKDAY
(DATE(A1,10,1))+2,2-WEEKDAY(DATE(A1,10,1)))+((2-1)*7)
```

#### Veterans Day

This holiday always falls on November 11:

```
=DATE(A1,11,11)
```

#### **Thanksgiving Day**

Thanksgiving Day is celebrated on the fourth Thursday in November. This formula calculates Thanksgiving Day for the year in cell A1:

```
=DATE (A1, 11, 1) + IF (5<WEEKDAY (DATE (A1, 11, 1)), 7-WEEKDAY
(DATE (A1, 11, 1)) + 5, 5-WEEKDAY (DATE (A1, 11, 1))) + ((4-1)*7)
```

#### **Christmas Day**

This holiday always falls on December 25:

=DATE(A1,12,25)

## Determining the last day of a month

To determine the date that corresponds to the last day of a month, you can use the DATE function. However, you need to increment the month by 1 and use a day value of 0. In other words, the "0th" day of the next month is the last day of the current month.

The following formula assumes that a date is stored in cell A1. The formula returns the date that corresponds to the last day of the month.

=DATE(YEAR(A1), MONTH(A1)+1,0)

You can use a variation of this formula to determine how many days are in a specified month. The formula that follows returns an integer that corresponds to the number of days in the month for the date in cell A1:

```
=DAY (DATE (YEAR (A1), MONTH (A1) + 1, 0))
```

# Determining whether a year is a leap year

To determine whether a particular year is a leap year, you can write a formula that determines whether the 29th day of February occurs in February or March. You can take advantage of the fact that the Excel DATE function adjusts the result when you supply an invalid argument — for example, a day of 29 when February contains only 28 days.

The following formula returns TRUE if the year of the date in cell A1 is a leap year. Otherwise, it returns FALSE.

=IF(MONTH(DATE(YEAR(A1),2,29))=2,TRUE,FALSE)

### Caution

This function returns the wrong result (TRUE) if the year is 1900. See "Excel's leap year bug," earlier in this chapter. ■

# Determining a date's quarter

For financial reports, you may find it useful to present information in terms of quarters. The following formula returns an integer between 1 and 4 that corresponds to the calendar quarter for the date in cell A1:

=ROUNDUP(MONTH(A1)/3,0)

This formula divides the month number by 3 and then rounds up the result.

# **Time-Related Functions**

Excel also includes a number of functions that enable you to work with time values in your formulas. This section contains examples that demonstrate the use of these functions.

Table 12.5 summarizes the time-related functions available in Excel. These functions work with date serial numbers. When you use the Insert Function dialog box, these functions appear in the Date & Time function category.

Function	Description
HOUR	Returns the hour part of a serial number
MINUTE	Returns the minute part of a serial number
NOW	Returns the serial number of the current date and time
SECOND	Returns the second part of a serial number
TIME	Returns the serial number of a specified time
TIMEVALUE	Converts a time in the form of text to a serial number

**Time-Related Functions** 

#### **TABLE 12.5**

## **Displaying the current time**

This formula displays the current time as a time serial number (or as a serial number without an associated date):

=NOW()-TODAY()

You need to format the cell with a time format to view the result as a recognizable time. The quickest way is to choose Home ↔ Number ↔ Format Number and select Time from the drop-down list.

## Note

This formula is updated only when the worksheet is calculated. ■

## Tip

To enter a time stamp (that doesn't change) into a cell, press Ctrl+Shift+: (colon). ■

# **Displaying any time**

One way to enter a time value into a cell is to just type it, making sure that you include at least one colon (:). You can also create a time by using the TIME function. For example, the following formula returns a time comprising of the hour in cell A1, the minute in cell B1, and the second in cell C1:

```
=TIME(A1,B1,C1)
```

Like the DATE function, the TIME function accepts invalid arguments and adjusts the result accordingly. For example, the following formula uses 80 as the minute argument and returns 10:20:15 AM. The 80 minutes are simply added to the hour, with 20 minutes remaining.

=TIME(9,80,15)

## Caution

If you enter a value greater than 24 as the first argument for the TIME function, the result may not be what you expect. Logically, a formula such as the one that follows should produce a date/time serial number of 1.041667 (that is, one day and one hour).

=TIME(25,0,0)

#### In fact, this formula is equivalent to the following:

=TIME(1,0,0)

You can also use the DATE function along with the TIME function in a single cell. The formula that follows generates a date and time with a serial number of 39420.7708333333 — which represents 6:30 PM on December 4, 2010:

=DATE(2010,12,4)+TIME(18,30,0)

The TIMEVALUE function converts a text string that looks like a time into a time serial number. This formula returns 0.2395833333, the time serial number for 5:45 AM:

=TIMEVALUE("5:45 am")

To view the result of this formula as a time, you need to apply number formatting to the cell. The TIMEVALUE function doesn't recognize all common time formats. For example, the following formula returns an error because Excel doesn't like the periods in "a.m."

=TIMEVALUE("5:45 a.m.")

# Calculating the difference between two times

Because times are represented as serial numbers, you can subtract the earlier time from the later time to get the difference. For example, if cell A2 contains 5:30:00 and cell B2 contains 14:00:00, the following formula returns 08:30:00 (a difference of 8 hours and 30 minutes):

=B2-A2

If the subtraction results in a negative value, however, it becomes an invalid time; Excel displays a series of hash marks (#######) because a time without a date has a date serial number of 0. A negative time results in a negative serial number, which cannot be displayed — although you can still use the calculated value in other formulas.

If the direction of the time difference doesn't matter, you can use the ABS function to return the absolute value of the difference:

=ABS(B2-A2)

This "negative time" problem often occurs when calculating an elapsed time — for example, calculating the number of hours worked given a start time and an end time. This presents no problem if the two times fall in the same day. But if the work shift spans midnight, the result is an invalid negative time. For example, you may start work at 10:00 p.m. and end work at 6:00 a.m. the next day. Figure 12.7 shows a worksheet that calculates the hours worked. As you can see, the shift that spans midnight presents a problem (cell C3).

#### FIGURE 12.7

Calculating the number of hours worked returns an error if the shift spans midnight.

	A	В	С	D	E
1	Start Shift	End Shift	Hours Worked		
2	8:00 AM	5:30 PM	9:30		
3	10:00 PM	6:00 AM	****		
4	9:00 AM	4:30 PM	7:30		
5	11:30 AM	7:45 PM	8:15		
6	6:15 AM	1:45 PM	7:30		
7					
8					

Using the ABS function (to calculate the absolute value) isn't an option in this case because it returns the wrong result (16 hours). The following formula, however, *does* work:

=IF(B2<A2,B2+1,B2)-A2

## Tip

Negative times are permitted if the workbook uses the 1904 date system. To switch to the 1904 date system, use the Advanced section of the Excel Options dialog box. Select the Use 1904 Date System option. But beware! When changing the workbook's date system, if the workbook uses dates, the dates will be off by four years For more information about the 1904 date system, see the sidebar "Choose Your Date System: 1900 or 1904," earlier in this chapter. ■

# Summing times that exceed 24 hours

Many people are surprised to discover that when you sum a series of times that exceed 24 hours, Excel doesn't display the correct total. Figure 12.8 shows an example. The range B2:B8 contains times that represent the hours and minutes worked each day. The formula in cell B9 is

```
=SUM(B2:B8)
```

As you can see, the formula returns a seemingly incorrect total (17 hours, 45 minutes). The total should read 41 hours, 45 minutes. The problem is that the formula is displaying the total as a date/ time serial number of 1.7395833, but the cell formatting is not displaying the *date* part of the date/ time. The answer is incorrect because cell B9 has the wrong number format.

#### FIGURE 12.8

Incorrect cell formatting makes the total appear incorrectly.

	A	В	С	D
1	Day	Hours Worked		
2	Sunday	0		
3	Monday	8:30		
4	Tuesday	8:00		
5	Wednesday	9:00		
6	Thursday	9:30		
7	Friday	4:15		
8	Saturday	2:30		
9	Total Hours	17:45		
10				
11				
12				
13				

To view a time that exceeds 24 hours, you need to apply a custom number format for the cell so that square brackets surround the *hour* part of the format string. Applying the number format here to cell B9 displays the sum correctly:

[h]:mm

## **Cross-Reference**

For more information about custom number formats, see Chapter 24. ■

Figure 12.9 shows another example of a worksheet that manipulates times. This worksheet keeps track of hours worked during a week (regular hours and overtime hours).

## On the CD

This workbook is available on the companion CD-ROM. The filename is time sheet.xlsm. The workbook contains a few macros to make it easier to use. ■

The week's starting date appears in cell D5, and the formulas in column B fill in the dates for the days of the week. Times appear in the range D8:G14, and formulas in column H calculate the number of hours worked each day. For example, the formula in cell H8 is

=IF(E8<D8,E8+1-D8,E8-D8)+IF(G8<F8,G8+1-G8,G8-F8)

#### FIGURE 12.9

An employee timesheet workbook.

A	В	С	D	E	F	G	H	
Protect Sheet Employee Time Sheet								
	Emplo	yee Name:	Gina Daviso	n				
	D	epartment:	Tech Support					
		Start Day:	1/11/2010					
			Start	Time Out	Time In	End	Total	Weekly
	Weekday	Date	Work	(Lunch)	(Lunch)	Work	Hours	Hours
	Monday	1/11/2010	8:00 AM	12:00 PM	1:00 PM	6:00 PM	9:00	9:00
	Tuesday	1/12/2010	10:00 AM	2:00 PM	2:30 PM	7:00 PM	8:30	17:30
	Wednesday	1/13/2010	9:00 AM	12:00 PM	1:00 PM	6:30 PM	8:30	26:00
	Thursday	1/14/2010	8:00 AM	12:00 PM	1:00 PM	6:30 PM	9:30	35:30
	Friday	1/15/2010	9:30 AM	2:00 PM	3:30 PM	5:00 PM	6:00	41:30
	Saturday	1/16/2010					0:00	41:30
	Sunday	1/17/2010					0:00	41:30
		WEEKLY	( TOTAL					
	Total hours:			41:30				
	Regular ho	urs:		40:00				
	Overtime hours:			1:30	Clear Help			
					·			
	0	40.00	1					
overtime. 40.00								

The first part of this formula subtracts the time in column D from the time in column E to get the total hours worked before lunch. The second part subtracts the time in column F from the time in column G to get the total hours worked after lunch. I use IF functions to accommodate graveyard shift cases that span midnight — for example, an employee may start work at 10:00 PM and begin lunch at 2:00 AM. Without the IF function, the formula returns a negative result.

The following formula in cell H17 calculates the weekly total by summing the daily totals in column H:

=SUM(H8:H14)

This worksheet assumes that hours in excess of 40 hours in a week are considered overtime hours. The worksheet contains a cell named *Overtime*, in cell C23. This cell contains a formula that returns 40:00. If your standard workweek consists of something other than 40 hours, you can change this cell.

The following formula (in cell H18) calculates regular (nonovertime) hours. This formula returns the smaller of two values: the total hours or the overtime hours.

```
=MIN(E17,Overtime)
```

The final formula, in cell H19, simply subtracts the regular hours from the total hours to yield the overtime hours.

=E17-E18

The times in H17:H19 may display time values that exceed 24 hours, so these cells use a custom number format:

[h]:mm

# Converting from military time

Military time is expressed as a four-digit number from 0000 to 2359. For example, 1:00 a.m. is expressed as 0100 hours, and 3:30 p.m. is expressed as 1530 hours. The following formula converts such a number (assumed to be in cell A1) to a standard time:

```
=TIMEVALUE(LEFT(A1,2)&":"&RIGHT(A1,2))
```

The formula returns an incorrect result if the contents of cell A1 do not contain four digits. The following formula corrects the problem, and it returns a valid time for any military time value from 0 to 2359:

=TIMEVALUE(LEFT(TEXT(A1, "0000"), 2)&":"&RIGHT(A1, 2))

Following is a simpler formula that uses the TEXT function to return a formatted string, and then it uses the TIMEVALUE function to express the result in terms of a time.

=TIMEVALUE(TEXT(A1,"00 $\:00"$ ))

# Converting decimal hours, minutes, or seconds to a time

To convert decimal hours to a time, divide the decimal hours by 24. For example, if cell A1 contains 9.25 (representing hours), this formula returns 09:15:00 (nine hours, 15 minutes):

=A1/24

To convert decimal minutes to a time, divide the decimal hours by 1,440 (the number of minutes in a day). For example, if cell A1 contains 500 (representing minutes), the following formula returns 08:20:00 (eight hours, 20 minutes):

=A1/1440

To convert decimal seconds to a time, divide the decimal hours by 86,400 (the number of seconds in a day). For example, if cell A1 contains 65,000 (representing seconds), the following formula returns 18:03:20 (18 hours, three minutes, and 20 seconds):

=A1/86400

# Adding hours, minutes, or seconds to a time

You can use the TIME function to add any number of hours, minutes, or seconds to a time. For example, assume that cell A1 contains a time. The following formula adds 2 hours and 30 minutes to that time and displays the result:

=A1+TIME(2,30,0)

You can use the TIME function to fill a range of cells with incremental times. Figure 12.10 shows a worksheet with a series of times in 10-minute increments. Cell A1 contains a time that was entered directly. Cell A2 contains the following formula, which copied down the column:

=A1+TIME(0,10,0)

#### **FIGURE 12.10**

Using a formula to create a series of incremental times.

	A	В	С	D
1	8:00 AM			
2	8:10 AM			
3	8:20 AM			
4	8:30 AM			
5	8:40 AM			
6	8:50 AM			
7	9:00 AM			
8	9:10 AM			
9	9:20 AM			
10	9:30 AM			
11	9:40 AM			
12	9:50 AM			
13				
14				
## **Rounding time values**

You may need to create a formula that rounds a time to a particular value. For example, you may need to enter your company's time records rounded to the nearest 15 minutes. This section presents examples of various ways to round a time value.

The following formula rounds the time in cell A1 to the nearest minute:

=ROUND(A1\*1440,0)/1440

The formula works by multiplying the time by 1440 (to get total minutes). This value is passed to the ROUND function, and the result is divided by 1440. For example, if cell A1 contains 11:52:34, the formula returns 11:53:00.

The following formula resembles this example, except that it rounds the time in cell A1 to the nearest hour:

=ROUND(A1\*24,0)/24

If cell A1 contains 5:21:31, the formula returns 5:00:00.

The following formula rounds the time in cell A1 to the nearest 15 minutes (a quarter of an hour):

=ROUND(A1\*24/0.25,0)\*(0.25/24)

In this formula, 0.25 represents the fractional hour. To round a time to the nearest 30 minutes, change 0.25 to 0.5, as in the following formula:

=ROUND(A1\*24/0.5,0)\*(0.5/24)

## Working with non-time-of-day values

Sometimes, you may want to work with time values that don't represent an actual time of day. For example, you may want to create a list of the finish times for a race or record the amount of time you spend in meetings each day. Such times don't represent a time of day. Rather, a value represents the time for an event (in hours, minutes, and seconds). The time to complete a test, for example, may be 35 minutes and 45 seconds. You can enter that value into a cell as:

```
00:35:45
```

Excel interprets such an entry as 12:35:45 a.m., which works fine. (Just make sure that you format the cell so that it appears as you like.) When you enter such times that do not have an hour component, you must include at least one zero for the hour. If you omit a leading zero for a missing hour, Excel interprets your entry as 35 hours and 45 minutes.

Figure 12.11 shows an example of a worksheet set up to keep track of a person's jogging activity. Column A contains simple dates. Column B contains the distance in miles. Column C contains the time it took to run the distance. Column D contains formulas to calculate the speed in miles per hour. For example, the formula in cell D2 is

=B2/(C2\*24)

#### **FIGURE 12.11**

This worksheet uses times not associated with a time of day.

	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	Н	
				Speed	Pace	YTD	Cumulative		
1	Date	Distance	Time	(mph)	(min/mile)	Distance	Time		
2	1/1/2010	1.50	00:18:45	4.80	12.50	1.50	00:18:45		
3	1/2/2010	1.50	00:17:40	5.09	11.78	3.00	00:36:25		
4	1/3/2010	2.00	00:21:30	5.58	10.75	5.00	00:57:55		
5	1/4/2010	1.50	00:15:20	5.87	10.22	6.50	01:13:15		
6	1/5/2010	2.40	00:25:05	5.74	10.45	8.90	01:38:20		
7	1/6/2010	3.00	00:31:06	5.79	10.37	11.90	02:09:26		
8	1/7/2010	3.80	00:41:06	5.55	10.82	15.70	02:50:32		
9	1/8/2010	5.00	01:09:00	4.35	13.80	20.70	03:59:32		
10	1/9/2010	4.00	00:45:10	5.31	11.29	24.70	04:44:42		
11	1/10/2010	3.00	00:29:06	6.19	9.70	27.70	05:13:48		
12	1/11/2010	5.50	01:08:30	4.82	12.45	33.20	06:22:18		
13									
14									

Column E contains formulas to calculate the pace, in minutes per mile. For example, the formula in cell E2 is

= (C2\*60\*24) / B2

Columns F and G contain formulas that calculate the year-to-date distance (using column B) and the cumulative time (using column C). The cells in column G are formatted using the following number format (which permits time displays that exceed 24 hours):

[hh]:mm:ss

## On the CD

You can also access the workbook shown in Figure 12.11 on the companion CD-ROM. The file is named jogging log.xlsx.



# **Creating Formulas That Count and Sum**

any of the most common spreadsheet questions involve counting and summing values and other worksheet elements. It seems that people are always looking for formulas to count or to sum various items in a worksheet. If I've done my job, this chapter answers the vast majority of such questions. It contains many examples that you can easily adapt to your own situation.

# **Counting and Summing Worksheet Cells**

Generally, a *counting formula* returns the number of cells in a specified range that meet certain criteria. A *summing formula* returns the sum of the values of the cells in a range that meet certain criteria. The range you want counted or summed may or may not consist of a worksheet database.

Table 13.1 lists the Excel worksheet functions that come into play when creating counting and summing formulas. Not all these functions are covered in this chapter. If none of the functions in Table 13.1 can solve your problem, it's likely that an array formula can come to the rescue.

## **Cross-Reference**

See Chapters 16 and 17 for detailed information and examples of array formulas used for counting and summing. ■

## **IN THIS CHAPTER**

Information on counting and summing cells

**Basic counting formulas** 

Advanced counting formulas

Formulas for performing common summing tasks

Conditional summing formulas using a single criterion

Conditional summing formulas using multiple criteria

## Note

If your data is in the form of a table, you can use autofiltering to accomplish many counting and summing operations. Just set the autofilter criteria, and the table displays only the rows that match your criteria (the nonqualifying rows in the table are hidden). Then you can select formulas to display counts or sums in the table's total row. See Chapter 5 for more information on using tables.

#### **TABLE 13.1**

	Excer Counting and Summing Functions
Function	Description
COUNT	Returns the number of cells that contain a numeric value.
COUNTA	Returns the number of nonblank cells.
COUNTBLANK	Returns the number of blank cells.
COUNTIF	Returns the number of cells that meet a specified criterion.
COUNTIFS*	Returns the number of cells that meet multiple criteria.
DCOUNT	Counts the number of records that meet specified criteria; used with a worksheet database.
DCOUNTA	Counts the number of nonblank records that meet specified criteria; used with a worksheet database.
DEVSQ	Returns the sum of squares of deviations of data points from the sample mean; used pri- marily in statistical formulas.
DSUM	Returns the sum of a column of values that meet specified criteria; used with a worksheet database.
FREQUENCY	Calculates how often values occur within a range of values and returns a vertical array of numbers. Used only in a multicell array formula.
SUBTOTAL	When used with a first argument of 2, 3, 102, or 103, returns <i>a count</i> of cells that comprise a subtotal; when used with a first argument of 9 or 109, returns <i>the sum</i> of cells that comprise a subtotal.
SUM	Returns the sum of its arguments.
SUMIF	Returns the sum of cells that meet a specified criterion.
SUMIFS*	Returns the sum of cells that meet multiple criteria.
SUMPRODUCT	Multiplies corresponding cells in two or more ranges and returns the sum of those products.
SUMSQ	Returns the sum of the squares of its arguments; used primarily in statistical formulas.
SUMX2PY2	Returns the sum of the sum of squares of corresponding values in two ranges; used primar- ily in statistical formulas.
SUMXMY2	Returns the sum of squares of the differences of corresponding values in two ranges; used primarily in statistical formulas.
SUMX2MY2	Returns the sum of the differences of squares of corresponding values in two ranges; used primarily in statistical formulas.

**Excel Counting and Summing Functions** 

\* These functions were introduced in Excel 2007.

## Getting a Quick Count or Sum\_

The Excel status bar can display useful information about the currently selected cells — no formulas required. Normally, the status bar displays the sum and count of the values in the selected range. You can, however, right-click to bring up a menu with other options. You can choose any or all the following: Average, Count, Numerical Count, Minimum, Maximum, and Sum.

Paul	Jim	Hank	Joe	
101	115	107	114	
107	102	113	106	
105	107	120	114	
106	102	104	104	
117	119	120	100	
113	116	103	119	
113	111	103	104	
103	110	100	113	
106	117	112	114	
108	117	104	119	
120	109	107	100	
103	119	112	113	
110	105	115	111	
107	103	105	119	
 				۶ I

# **Basic Counting Formulas**

The basic counting formulas presented in this section are all straightforward and relatively simple. They demonstrate the capability of the Excel counting functions to count the number of cells in a range that meet specific criteria. Figure 13.1 shows a worksheet that uses formulas (in column E) to summarize the contents of range A1:B10 — a 20-cell range named *Data*. This range contains a variety of information, including values, text, logical values, errors, and empty cells.

## On the CD

This workbook is available on the companion CD-ROM. The file is named basic counting.xlsx.

## Counting the total number of cells

To get a count of the total number of cells in a range (empty and non-empty cells), use the following formula. This formula returns the number of cells in a range named *Data*. It simply multiplies the number of rows (returned by the ROWS function) by the number of columns (returned by the COLUMNS function).

```
=ROWS (Data) *COLUMNS (Data)
```

This formula will not work if the *Data* range consists of noncontiguous cells. In other words, *Data* must be a rectangular range of cells.

## About This Chapter's Examples.

Most of the examples in this chapter use named ranges for function arguments. When you adapt these formulas for your own use, you'll need to substitute either the actual range address or a range name defined in your workbook.

Also, some examples consist of array formulas. An *array formula* is a special type of formula that enables you to perform calculations that would not otherwise be possible. You can spot an array formula because it's enclosed in curly brackets when it's displayed in the Formula bar. In addition, I use this syntax for the array formula examples presented in this book. For example:

{=Data\*2}

When you enter an array formula, press Ctrl+Shift+Enter (not just Enter) but *don't* type the curly brackets (Excel inserts the brackets for you.) If you need to edit an array formula, don't forget to use Ctrl+Shift+Enter when you finish editing (otherwise, the array formula will revert to a normal formula, and it will return an incorrect result). See Chapter 16 for an introduction to array formulas.

#### FIGURE 13.1

Formulas in column E display various counts of the data in A1:B10.

	A	В	С	D	E	F
1	Jan	Feb		Total cells:	20	
2	525	718		Blank cells:	6	
3				Nonblank cells:	14	
4	3			Numeric values:	7	
5	552	911		Non-text cells:	17	
6	250	98		Text cells:	3	
7				Logical values:	2	
8	TRUE	FALSE		Error values:	2	
9		#DIV/0!		#N/A errors:	0	
10	Total	#NAME?		#NULL! errors:	0	
11				#DIV/0! errors:	1	
12				#VALUE! errors:	0	
13				#REF! errors:	0	
14				#NAME? errors:	1	
15				#NUM! errors:	0	
16						

## **Counting blank cells**

The following formula returns the number of blank (empty) cells in a range named Data:

```
=COUNTBLANK (Data)
```

The COUNTBLANK function also counts cells containing a formula that returns an empty string. For example, the formula that follows returns an empty string if the value in cell A1 is greater than 5. If the cell meets this condition, the COUNTBLANK function counts that cell.

=IF(A1>5,"",A1)

You can use the COUNTBLANK function with an argument that consists of entire rows or columns. For example, this next formula returns the number of blank cells in column A:

```
=COUNTBLANK(A:A)
```

The following formula returns the number of empty cells on the entire worksheet named Sheet1. You must enter this formula on a sheet other than Sheet1, or it will create a circular reference.

```
=COUNTBLANK (Sheet1!1:1048576)
```

## **Counting nonblank cells**

To count nonblank cells, use the COUNTA function. The following formula uses the COUNTA function to return the number of nonblank cells in a range named *Data*:

=COUNTA(Data)

The COUNTA function counts cells that contain values, text, or logical values (TRUE or FALSE).

#### Note

If a cell contains a formula that returns an empty string, that cell is included in the count returned by COUNTA, even though the cell appears to be blank.

## **Counting numeric cells**

To count only the numeric cells in a range, use the following formula (which assumes the range is named *Data*):

=COUNT(Data)

Cells that contain a date or a time are considered to be numeric cells. Cells that contain a logical value (TRUE or FALSE) aren't considered to be numeric cells.

## **Counting text cells**

To count the number of text cells in a range, you need to use an array formula. The array formula that follows returns the number of text cells in a range named *Data*:

```
{=SUM(IF(ISTEXT(Data),1))}
```

## **Counting nontext cells**

The following array formula uses the Excel ISNONTEXT function, which returns TRUE if its argument refers to any nontext cell (including a blank cell). This formula returns the count of the number of cells not containing text (including blank cells):

```
{=SUM(IF(ISNONTEXT(Data),1))}
```

## **Counting logical values**

The following array formula returns the number of logical values (TRUE or FALSE) in a range named *Data*:

{=SUM(IF(ISLOGICAL(Data),1))}

## Counting error values in a range

Excel has three functions that help you determine whether a cell contains an error value:

- ISERROR: Returns TRUE if the cell contains any error value (#N/A, #VALUE!, #REF!, #DIV/0!, #NUM!, #NAME?, or #NULL!)
- ISERR: Returns TRUE if the cell contains any error value except #N/A
- ISNA: Returns TRUE if the cell contains the #N/A error value

You can use these functions in an array formula to count the number of error values in a range. The following array formula, for example, returns the total number of error values in a range named *Data*:

```
{=SUM(IF(ISERROR(data),1))}
```

Depending on your needs, you can use the ISERR or ISNA function in place of ISERROR.

If you would like to count specific types of errors, you can use the COUNTIF function. The following formula, for example, returns the number of #DIV/0! error values in the range named *Data*:

```
=COUNTIF(Data, "#DIV/0!")
```

## **Advanced Counting Formulas**

Most of the basic examples I present earlier in this chapter use functions or formulas that perform conditional counting. The advanced counting formulas that I present here represent more complex examples for counting worksheet cells, based on various types of criteria.

#### **Cross-Reference**

Some of these examples are array formulas. See Chapters 16 and 17 for more information about array formulas. ■

## Counting cells by using the COUNTIF function

The COUNTIF function, which is useful for single-criterion counting formulas, takes two arguments:

- *range*: The range that contains the values that determine whether to include a particular cell in the count
- criteria: The logical criteria that determine whether to include a particular cell in the count

Table 13.2 lists several examples of formulas that use the COUNTIF function. These formulas all work with a range named *Data*. As you can see, the *criteria* argument proves quite flexible. You can use constants, expressions, functions, cell references, and even wildcard characters (\* and ?).

#### **TABLE 13.2**

#### **Examples of Formulas Using the COUNTIF Function**

_	-
=COUNTIF(Data,12)	Returns the number of cells containing the value 12
=COUNTIF(Data, "<0")	Returns the number of cells containing a negative value
=COUNTIF(Data, "<>0")	Returns the number of cells not equal to 0
=COUNTIF(Data,">5")	Returns the number of cells greater than 5
=COUNTIF(Data,A1)	Returns the number of cells equal to the contents of cell A1
=COUNTIF(Data, ">"&A1)	Returns the number of cells greater than the value in cell A1
=COUNTIF(Data, "*")	Returns the number of cells containing text
=COUNTIF(Data,"???")	Returns the number of text cells containing exactly three characters
=COUNTIF(Data, "budget")	Returns the number of cells containing the single word <i>budget</i> (not case sensitive)
=COUNTIF(Data,"*budget*")	Returns the number of cells containing the text <i>budget</i> anywhere within the text
=COUNTIF(Data,"A*")	Returns the number of cells containing text that begins with the letter <i>A</i> (not case sensitive)
=COUNTIF(Data,TODAY())	Returns the number of cells containing the current date
=COUNTIF(Data,">"&AVERAGE (Data))	Returns the number of cells with a value greater than the average
=COUNTIF(Data,">"&AVERAGE (Data)+STDEV(Data)*3)	Returns the number of values exceeding three standard deviations above the mean
=COUNTIF(Data,3)+COUNTIF (Data,-3)	Returns the number of cells containing the value 3 or $-3$
=COUNTIF(Data,TRUE)	Returns the number of cells containing logical TRUE
=COUNTIF(Data,TRUE)+COUNTIF (Data,FALSE)	Returns the number of cells containing a logical value (TRUE or FALSE)
=COUNTIF(Data,"#N/A")	Returns the number of cells containing the #N/A error value

## Counting cells based on multiple criteria

In many cases, your counting formula will need to count cells only if two or more criteria are met. These criteria can be based on the cells that are being counted or based on a range of corresponding cells.

Figure 13.2 shows a simple worksheet that I use for the examples in this section. This sheet shows sales data categorized by Month, SalesRep, and Type. The worksheet contains named ranges that correspond to the labels in row 1.

## On the CD

This workbook is available on the companion CD-ROM. The file is named multiple criteria counting .xlsx.

#### Note

Several of the examples in this section use the COUNTIFS function, which was introduced in Excel 2007. I also present alternative versions of the formulas, which should be used if you plan to share your workbook with others who use an earlier version of Excel.

#### FIGURE 13.2

This worksheet demonstrates various counting techniques that use multiple criteria.

	A	В	С	D	
1	Month	SalesRep	Туре	Amount	
2	January	Albert	New	85	
3	January	Albert	New	675	
4	January	Brooks	New	130	
5	January	Cook	New	1350	
6	January	Cook	Existing	685	
7	January	Brooks	New	1350	
8	January	Cook	New	475	
9	January	Brooks	New	1205	
10	February	Brooks	Existing	450	
11	February	Albert	New	495	
12	February	Cook	New	210	
13	February	Cook	Existing	1050	
14	February	Albert	New	140	
15	February	Brooks	New	900	
16	February	Brooks	New	900	
17	February	Cook	New	95	
18	February	Cook	New	780	
19	March	Brooks	New	900	
20	March	Albert	Existing	875	
21	March	Brooks	New	50	
22	March	Brooks	New	875	
23	March	Cook	Existing	225	
24	March	Cook	New	175	
25	March	Brooks	Existing	400	
26	March	Albert	New	840	
27	March	Cook	New	132	
20					

#### **Using And criteria**

An And criterion counts cells if all specified conditions are met. A common example is a formula that counts the number of values that fall within a numerical range. For example, you may want to count cells that contain a value greater than 100 *and* less than or equal to 200. For this example, the COUNTIFS function will do the job:

```
=COUNTIFS (Amount, ">100", Amount, "<=200")
```

#### Note

If the data is contained in a table, you can use table referencing in your formulas. For example, if the table is named Table1, you can rewrite the preceding formula as:

=COUNTIFS(Table1[Amount], ">100", Table1[Amount], "<=200")

This method of writing formulas does not require named ranges.

The COUNTIFS function accepts any number of paired arguments. The first member of the pair is the range to be counted (in this case, the range named *Amount*); the second member of the pair is the criterion. The preceding example contains two sets of paired arguments and returns the number of cells in which *Amount* is greater than 100 and less than or equal to 200.

Prior to Excel 2007, you would need to use a formula like this:

```
=COUNTIF (Amount, ">100") -COUNTIF (Amount, ">200")
```

The formula counts the number of values that are greater than 100 and then subtracts the number of values that are greater than or equal to 200. The result is the number of cells that contain a value greater than 100 and less than or equal to 200. This formula can be confusing because the formula refers to a condition ">200" even though the goal is to count values that are less than or equal to 200. Yet another alternate technique is to use an array formula, like the one that follows. You may find it easier to create this type of formula:

```
{=SUM((Amount>100)*(Amount<=200))}
```

#### Note

# When you enter an array formula, remember to use Ctrl+Shift+Enter but don't type the brackets. Excel includes the brackets for you. ■

Sometimes, the counting criteria will be based on cells other than the cells being counted. You may, for example, want to count the number of sales that meet the following criteria:

- Month is January, and
- SalesRep is Brooks, and
- Amount is greater than 1000

The following formula (for Excel 2007 and Excel 2010) returns the number of items that meets all three criteria. Note that the COUNTIFS function uses three sets of pairs of arguments.

```
=COUNTIFS (Month, "January", SalesRep, "Brooks", Amount, ">1000")
```

An alternative formula, which works with all versions of Excel, uses the SUMPRODUCT function. The following formula returns the same result as the previous formula.

```
=SUMPRODUCT((Month="January")*(SalesRep="Brooks")*(Amount>1000))
```

Yet another way to perform this count is to use an array formula:

```
{=SUM((Month="January")*(SalesRep="Brooks")*(Amount>1000))}
```

#### **Using Or criteria**

To count cells by using an Or criterion, you can sometimes use multiple COUNTIF functions. The following formula, for example, counts the number of sales made in January or February:

```
=COUNTIF(Month, "January") +COUNTIF(Month, "February")
```

You can also use the COUNTIF function in an array formula. The following array formula, for example, returns the same result as the previous formula:

{=SUM(COUNTIF(Month, { "January", "February"}))}

But if you base your Or criteria on cells other than the cells being counted, the COUNTIF function won't work. (Refer to Figure 13.2.) Suppose that you want to count the number of sales that meet the following criteria:

- Month is January, or
- SalesRep is Brooks, or
- Amount is greater than 1000

If you attempt to create a formula that uses COUNTIF, some double counting will occur. The solution is to use an array formula like this:

```
{=SUM(IF((Month="January")+(SalesRep="Brooks")+(Amount>1000),1))}
```

#### **Combining And and Or criteria**

In some cases, you may need to combine And and Or criteria when counting. For example, perhaps you want to count sales that meet the following criteria:

- Month is January, and
- SalesRep is Brooks, *or* SalesRep is Cook

This array formula returns the number of sales that meet the criteria:

```
{=SUM((Month="January")*IF((SalesRep="Brooks")+
(SalesRep="Cook"),1))}
```

## Counting the most frequently occurring entry

The MODE function returns the most frequently occurring value in a range. Figure 13.3 shows a worksheet with values in range A1:A10 (named *Data*). The formula that follows returns 10 because that value appears most frequently in the *Data* range:

=MODE(Data)

#### FIGURE 13.3

The MODE function returns the most frequently occurring value in a range.

	A	В	С	D	E	F
1	1		10	<- Mode		
2	4		5	<- Freque	ency of the	mode
3	4					
4	10					
5	10					
6	10					
7	10					
8	10					
9	12					
10	12					
11						

To count the number of times the most frequently occurring value appears in the range (in other words, the frequency of the mode), use the following formula:

```
=COUNTIF(Data, MODE(Data))
```

This formula returns 5 because the modal value (10) appears five times in the Data range.

The MODE function works only for numeric values. It simply ignores cells that contain text. To find the most frequently occurring text entry in a range, you need to use an array formula.

To count the number of times the most frequently occurring item (text or values) appears in a range named *Data*, use the following array formula:

{=MAX(COUNTIF(Data,Data))}

This next array formula operates like the MODE function except that it works with both text and values:

{=INDEX(Data,MATCH(MAX(COUNTIF(Data,Data)),COUNTIF(Data,Data),0))}

## Counting the occurrences of specific text

The examples in this section demonstrate various ways to count the occurrences of a character or text string in a range of cells. Figure 13.4 shows a worksheet used for these examples. Various text strings appear in the range A1:A10 (named *Data*); cell B1 is named *Text*.

#### FIGURE 13.4

This worksheet demonstrates various ways to count character strings in a range.

	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	Н	- I		
1	aa	alpha		2	Entire cell	(not case-s	ensitive)				
2	Alpha			1	Entire cell	(case-sens	itive)				
3	AAA										
4	aaa			3	Part of cell	(not case-	sensitive)				
5	Beta			1	Part of cell (case-sensitive)						
6	В										
7	BBB			3	Total occur	rences in r	ange (not	case-sensi	tive)		
8	Alpha Beta			1	Total occur	rences in r	ange (case	-sensitive	)		
9	AB										
10	alpha										
11											

#### On the CD

The companion CD-ROM contains a workbook that demonstrates the formulas in this section. The file is named counting text in a range.xlsx.

#### **Entire cell contents**

To count the number of cells containing the contents of the *Text* cell (and nothing else), you can use the COUNTIF function as the following formula demonstrates.

```
=COUNTIF(Data,Text)
```

For example, if the *Text* cell contains the string Alpha, the formula returns 2 because two cells in the *Data* range contain this text. This formula is not case sensitive, so it counts both Alpha (cell A2) and alpha (cell A10). Note, however, that it does not count the cell that contains Alpha Beta (cell A8).

The following array formula is similar to the preceding formula, but this one is case sensitive:

```
{=SUM(IF(EXACT(Data,Text),1))}
```

#### Partial cell contents

To count the number of cells that contain a string that includes the contents of the *Text* cell, use this formula:

```
=COUNTIF(Data, "*"&Text&"*")
```

For example, if the *Text* cell contains the text Alpha, the formula returns 3 because three cells in the *Data* range contain the text alpha (cells A2, A8, and A10). Note that the comparison is not case sensitive.

If you need a case-sensitive count, you can use the following array formula:

```
{=SUM(IF(LEN(Data)-LEN(SUBSTITUTE(Data,Text,""))>0,1))}
```

If the *Text* cells contain the text Alpha, the preceding formula returns 2 because the string appears in two cells (A2 and A8).

#### Total occurrences in a range

To count the total number of occurrences of a string within a range of cells, use the following array formula:

```
{=(SUM(LEN(Data))-SUM(LEN(SUBSTITUTE(Data,Text,""))))
    /
    LEN(Text)}
```

If the *Text* cell contains the character B, the formula returns 7 because the range contains seven instances of the string. This formula is case sensitive.

The following array formula is a modified version that is not case sensitive:

```
{=(SUM(LEN(Data))-SUM(LEN(SUBSTITUTE(UPPER(Data),
UPPER(Text),"")))/LEN(Text)}
```

## Counting the number of unique values

The following array formula returns the number of unique values in a range named Data:

{=SUM(1/COUNTIF(Data,Data))}

#### Note

The preceding formula is one of those "classic" Excel formulas that gets passed around the Internet. I don't know who originated it. ■

Useful as it is, this formula does have a serious limitation: If the range contains any blank cells, it returns an error. The following array formula solves this problem:

```
{=SUM(IF(COUNTIF(Data,Data)=0, "",1/COUNTIF(Data,Data)))}
```

#### **Cross-Reference**

To find out how to create an array formula that returns a list of unique items in a range, see Chapter 17.

## On the CD

The companion CD-ROM contains a workbook that demonstrates this technique. The file is named count unique.xlsx.

## Creating a frequency distribution

A *frequency distribution* basically comprises a summary table that shows the frequency of each value in a range. For example, an instructor may create a frequency distribution of test scores. The table would show the count of A's, B's, C's, and so on. Excel provides a number of ways to create frequency distributions. You can

- Use the FREQUENCY function.
- Create your own formulas.
- Use the Analysis ToolPak add-in.
- Use a pivot table.

## On the CD

A workbook that demonstrates these four techniques appears on the companion CD-ROM. The file is named frequency distribution.xlsx.

#### The FREQUENCY function

Using the FREQUENCY function to create a frequency distribution can be a bit tricky. This function always returns an array, so you must use it in an array formula that's entered into a multicell range.

Figure 13.5 shows some data in range A1:E25 (named *Data*). These values range from 1 to 500. The range G2:G11 contains the bins used for the frequency distribution. Each cell in this bin range contains the upper limit for the bin. In this case, the bins consist of <=50, 51–100, 101–150, and so on.

To create the frequency distribution, select a range of cells that corresponds to the number of cells in the bin range (in this example, select H2:H11 because the bins are in G2:G11). Then enter the following array formula into the selected range (press Ctrl+Shift+Enter it):

{=FREQUENCY(Data,G2:G11)}

The array formula returns the count of values in the *Data* range that fall into each bin. To create a frequency distribution that consists of percentages, use the following array formula:

{=FREQUENCY(Data,G2:G11)/COUNT(Data)}

Figure 13.6 shows two frequency distributions — one in terms of counts and one in terms of percentages. The figure also shows a chart (histogram) created from the frequency distribution.

#### FIGURE 13.5

Creating a frequency distribution for the data in A1:E25.

	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	Н
1	55	316	223	185	124		Bins	
2	124	93	163	213	314		50	
3	211	41	231	241	212		100	
4	118	113	400	205	254		150	
5	262	1	201	12	101		200	
6	167	479	205	337	118		250	
7	489	15	89	362	148		300	
8	179	248	125	197	177		350	
9	456	153	269	49	127		400	
10	289	500	198	317	300		450	
11	126	114	303	314	270		500	
12	151	279	347	314	170			
13	250	175	93	209	61			
14	166	113	356	124	242			
15	152	384	157	233	99			
16	277	195	436	6	240			
17	147	80	173	211	244			
18	386	93	330	400	141			
19	332	173	129	323	188			
20	338	263	444	84	220			
21	221	402	498	98	2			
22	201	400	3	190	105			
23	35	225	12	265	329			
24	43	302	125	301	444			
25	56	9	135	500	398			

#### FIGURE 13.6

Frequency distributions created by using the FREQUENCY function.

	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	Н	1	J	K	L
1	55	316	223	185	124		Bins	Freq	Percent			
2	124	93	163	213	314		50	12	9.6%			
3	211	41	231	241	212		100	11	8.8%			
4	118	113	400	205	254		150	19	15.2%			
5	262	1	201	12	101		200	19	15.2%			
6	167	479	205	337	118		250	21	16.8%			
7	489	15	89	362	148		300	10	8.0%			
8	179	248	125	197	177		350	15	12.0%			
9	456	153	269	49	127		400	8	6.4%			
10	289	500	198	317	300		450	4	3.2%			
11	126	114	303	314	270		500	6	4.8%			
12	151	279	347	314	170							
13	250	175	93	209	61				-			
14	166	113	356	124	242				Perce	nt		
15	152	384	157	233	99		18%		_			- []
16	277	195	436	6	240		16%					- 11
17	147	80	173	211	244		14%					
18	386	93	330	400	141		12%					
19	332	173	129	323	188		10%			_		_ [.]
20	338	263	444	84	220		6%					_ [.]
21	221	402	498	98	2		4% -					• I.I
22	201	400	3	190	105		2% -					
23	35	225	12	265	329		0%					
24	43	302	125	301	444			1 2 3	4 5	6 7	8 9 1	
25	56	9	135	500	398					5 /		

#### Using formulas to create a frequency distribution

Figure 13.7 shows a worksheet that contains test scores for 50 students in column B (the range is named *Grades*). Formulas in columns G and H calculate a frequency distribution for letter grades. The minimum and maximum values for each letter grade appear in columns D and E. For example, a test score between 80 and 89 (inclusive) earns a B. In addition, a chart displays the distribution of the test scores.

The formula in cell G2 that follows counts the number of scores that qualify for an A:

=COUNTIFS(Grades, ">="&D2,Grades, "<="&E2)</pre>

You may recognize this formula from a previous section in this chapter (see "Counting cells by using multiple criteria"). This formula was copied to the four cells below G2.

#### Note

The preceding formula uses the COUNTIFS function, which first appeared in Excel 2007. For compatibility with previous Excel versions, use this array formula:

```
{=SUM((Grades>=D2)*(Grades<=E2))}
```

#### FIGURE 13.7

Creating a frequency distribution of test scores.



The formulas in column H calculate the percentage of scores for each letter grade. The formula in H2, which was copied to the four cells below H2, is

=G2/SUM(\$G\$2:\$G\$6)

#### Using the Analysis ToolPak to create a frequency distribution

The Analysis ToolPak add-in, distributed with Excel, provides another way to calculate a frequency distribution.

- 1. Enter your bin values in a range.
- **2.** Choose Data ⇔ Analysis ⇔ Analysis to display the Data Analysis dialog box. If this command is not available, see the sidebar, "Is the Analysis ToolPak Installed?".
- **3.** In the Data Analysis dialog box, select Histogram and then click OK. You should see the Histogram dialog box shown in Figure 13.8.
- **4.** Specify the ranges for your data (Input Range), bins (Bin Range), and results (Output Range), and then select any options. Click OK. Figure 13.9 shows a frequency distribution (and chart) created with the Histogram option.

#### Caution

Note that the frequency distribution consists of values, not formulas. Therefore, if you make any changes to your input data, you need to rerun the Histogram procedure to update the results. ■

#### FIGURE 13.8

The Analysis ToolPak's Histogram dialog box.

Histogram		? 🗙
Input		OK
Input Range:	\$A\$1:\$E\$25	
<u>B</u> in Range:	\$G\$2:\$G\$11	Cancel
Labels		Help
Output options		
Output Range:	\$I\$1	
New Worksheet Ply:		
🔘 New <u>W</u> orkbook		
Pareto (sorted histogram)		
Cumulative Percentage		
Chart Output		

#### FIGURE 13.9

4	A	В	C	D	E	F	G	Н	1	J	K	L	
1	55	316	223	185	124		Bins		Bin	Frequency			
2	124	93	163	213	314		50		5	12			
3	211	41	231	241	212		100		10	11			
4	118	113	400	205	254		150		15	) 19			
5	262	1	201	12	101		200		20	19			
6	167	479	205	337	118		250		25	21			
7	489	15	89	362	148		300		30	10			
8	179	248	125	197	177		350		35	15			
9	456	153	269	49	127		400		40	8 0			
10	289	500	198	317	300		450		45	) 4			
11	126	114	303	314	270		500		50	6 0			
12	151	279	347	314	170				More	0			
13	250	175	93	209	61								
14	166	113	356	124	242								
15	152	384	157	233	99				HIST	ogram			
16	277	195	436	6	240			25					
17	147	80	173	211	244			> 20					
18	386	93	330	400	141			B 15					
19	332	173	129	323	188			B 10	- 14				
20	338	263	444	84	220			£ 5				- I	
21	221	402	498	98	2			o 🕂 🗖	╷┛╷┛╷┚	╶╷┛╷┛╷┛			
22	201	400	3	190	105			20	8 2 8	8 8 8 8	2 8 2	5 00	
23	35	225	12	265	329					4 N M A	044	° P	
24	43	302	125	301	444					Bin			
25	56	9	135	500	398								
26													

A frequency distribution and chart generated by the Analysis ToolPak's Histogram option.

#### Using a pivot table to create a frequency distribution

If your data is in the form of a table, you may prefer to use a pivot table to create a histogram. Figure 13.10 shows the student grade data summarized in a pivot table in columns D and E. The data bars were added using conditional formatting.

## Is the Analysis ToolPak Installed?.

To make sure that the Analysis ToolPak add-in is installed, click the Data tab. If the Ribbon displays the Data Analysis command in the Analysis group, you're all set. If not, you'll need to install the add-in:

- 2. Click the Add-ins tab on the left.
- 3. Select Excel Add-Ins from the Manage drop-down list.
- 4. Click Go to display the Add-Ins dialog box.
- 5. Place a check mark next to Analysis ToolPak.
- 6. Click OK.

If you've enabled the Developer tab, you can display the Add-Ins dialog box by choosing Developer 🕫 Add-Ins 🕫 Add-Ins.

*Note:* In the Add-Ins dialog box, you see an additional add-in, Analysis ToolPak - VBA. This add-in is for programmers, and you don't need to install it.

#### **Cross-Reference**

I cover pivot tables in detail in Chapters 34 and 35, and you can learn more about the conditional formatting data bars in Chapter 20. ■

#### FIGURE 13.10

Using data bars within a pivot table to display a histogram.

	A	В	С	D	E	
1	Student	Grades		Row Labels 💌	Count of Grades	
2	Student 1	62		30-39	3	
3	Student 2	92		40-49	7	
4	Student 3	52		50-59	6	
5	Student 4	60		60-69	6	
б	Student 5	81		70-79	7	
7	Student 6	66		80-89	10	
8	Student 7	63		90-100	11	
9	Student 8	100		Grand Total	50	
10	Student 9	46				
11	Student 10	87				
12	Student 11	93				
13	Student 12	84				
14	Student 13	44				
15	Student 14	71				
16	Student 15	100				
17	Student 16	40				
18	Student 17	35				
19	Student 18	73				
20	Student 19	99				
21	Student 20	88				
22	Student 21	00				

## **Summing Formulas**

The examples in this section demonstrate how to perform common summing tasks by using formulas. The formulas range from very simple to relatively complex array formulas that compute sums by using multiple criteria.

## Summing all cells in a range

It doesn't get much simpler than this. The following formula returns the sum of all values in a range named *Data*:

=SUM(Data)

The SUM function can take up to 255 arguments. The following formula, for example, returns the sum of the values in five noncontiguous ranges:

=SUM(A1:A9,C1:C9,E1:E9,G1:G9,I1:I9)

You can use complete rows or columns as an argument for the SUM function. The formula that follows, for example, returns the sum of all values in column A. If this formula appears in a cell in column A, it generates a circular reference error.

```
=SUM(A:A)
```

The following formula returns the sum of all values on Sheet1 by using a range reference that consists of all rows. To avoid a circular reference error, this formula must appear on a sheet other than Sheet1.

```
=SUM(Sheet1!1:1048576)
```

The SUM function is very versatile. The arguments can be numerical values, cells, ranges, text representations of numbers (which are interpreted as values), logical values, and even embedded functions. For example, consider the following formula:

=SUM(B1,5,"6",,SQRT(4),A1:A5,TRUE)

This odd formula, which is perfectly valid, contains all the following types of arguments, listed here in the order of their presentation:

- A single cell reference: B1
- A literal value: 5
- A string that looks like a value: "6"
- A missing argument: , ,
- An expression that uses another function: SQRT (4)
- A range reference: A1:A5
- A logical value: TRUE

#### Caution

The SUM function is versatile, but it's also inconsistent when you use logical values (TRUE or FALSE). Logical values stored in cells are always treated as 0. However, logical TRUE, when used as an argument in the SUM function, is treated as 1.

## Computing a cumulative sum

You may want to display a cumulative sum of values in a range — sometimes known as a "running total." Figure 13.11 illustrates a cumulative sum. Column B shows the monthly amounts, and column C displays the cumulative (year-to-date) totals.

The formula in cell C2 is

=SUM(B\$2:B2)

Notice that this formula uses a *mixed reference* — that is, the first cell in the range reference always refers to the same row (in this case, row 2). When this formula is copied down the column, the

range argument adjusts such that the sum always starts with row 2 and ends with the current row. For example, after copying this formula down column *C*, the formula in cell C8 is

=SUM(B\$2:B8)

#### **FIGURE 13.11**

Simple formulas in column C display a cumulative sum of the values in column B.

	A	В	С	D	
1	Month	Amount	Year-to-Date		
2	January	850	850		
3	February	900	1,750		
4	March	750	2,500		
5	April	1,100	3,600		
6	May	600	4,200		
7	June	500	4,700		
8	July	1,200	5,900		
9	August		5,900		
10	September		5,900		
11	October		5,900		
12	November		5,900		
13	December		5,900		
14	TOTAL	5,900			
15					
16					

You can use an IF function to hide the cumulative sums for rows in which data hasn't been entered. The following formula, entered in cell C2 and copied down the column, is

=IF(B2<>"",SUM(B\$2:B2),"")

Figure 13.12 shows this formula at work.

#### FIGURE 13.12

Using an IF function to hide cumulative sums for missing data.

	A	В	С	D	
1	Month	Amount	Year-to-Date		
2	January	850	850		
3	February	900	1,750		
4	March	750	2,500		
5	April	1,100	3,600		
6	May	600	4,200		
7	June	500	4,700		
8	July	1,200	5,900		
9	August				
10	September				
11	October				
12	November				
13	December				
14	TOTAL	5,900			
15					
16					

## On the CD

This workbook is available on the companion CD-ROM. The file is named cumulative sum.xlsx.

## Summing the "top *n*" values

In some situations, you may need to sum the *n* largest values in a range — for example, the top ten values. If your data resides in a table, you can use autofiltering to hide all but the top *n* rows and then display the sum of the visible data in the table's total row.

Another approach is to sort the range in descending order and then use the SUM function with an argument consisting of the first *n* values in the sorted range.

A better solution — which doesn't require a table or sorting — uses an array formula like this one:

{=SUM(LARGE(Data, {1,2,3,4,5,6,7,8,9,10}))}

This formula sums the ten largest values in a range named *Data*. To sum the ten smallest values, use the SMALL function instead of the LARGE function:

{=SUM(SMALL(Data, {1,2,3,4,5,6,7,8,9,10}))}

These formulas use an array constant comprised of the arguments for the LARGE or SMALL function. If the value of *n* for your top-*n* calculation is large, you may prefer to use the following variation. This formula returns the sum of the top 30 values in the *Data* range. You can, of course, substitute a different value for 30.

{=SUM(LARGE(Data,ROW(INDIRECT("1:30"))))}

Figure 13.13 shows this array formula in use.

#### **FIGURE 13.13**

Using an array formula to calculate the sum of the 30 largest values in a range.

D5 🔻 🖱			f:	<pre>fx {=SUM(LARGE(data,ROW(INDIRECT("1:30"))))}</pre>						
	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	Н		
1	Day	Amount								
2	1	183								
3	2	226								
4	3	101								
5	4	151		9,397	Sum of to	op-30 Amour	nts			
6	5	196								
7	6	220								
8	7	262								
9	8	189								
10	9	133								
11	10	145								
12	11	224								

## **Cross-Reference**

See Chapter 16 for more information about using array constants. ■

# **Conditional Sums Using a Single Criterion**

Often, you need to calculate a *conditional sum*. With a conditional sum, values in a range that meet one or more conditions are included in the sum. This section presents examples of conditional summing by using a single criterion.

The SUMIF function is very useful for single-criterion sum formulas. The SUMIF function takes three arguments:

- *range*: The range containing the values that determine whether to include a particular cell in the sum.
- *criteria*: An expression that determines whether to include a particular cell in the sum.
- *sum\_range*: Optional. The range that contains the cells you want to sum. If you omit this argument, the function uses the range specified in the first argument.

The examples that follow demonstrate the use of the SUMIF function. These formulas are based on the worksheet shown in Figure 13.14, set up to track invoices. Column F contains a formula that subtracts the date in column E from the date in column D. A negative number in column F indicates a past-due payment. The worksheet uses named ranges that correspond to the labels in row 1.

## On the CD

All the examples in this section also appear on the companion CD-ROM. The file is named conditional sum.xlsx.

#### **FIGURE 13.14**

Δ R C D F F Amount DateDue 1 InvoiceNum Office Today Difference 2 AG-0145 Oregon \$5.000.00 4/1/2010 5/5/2010 -34 3 AG-0189 California \$450.00 4/19/2010 5/5/2010 -16 Washington \$3,211.56 4/28/2010 5/5/2010 4 AG-0220 -7 5 AG-0310 Oregon \$250.00 4/30/2010 5/5/2010 -5 Washington \$125.50 5/4/2010 5/5/2010 6 AG-0355 -1 7 AG-0409 Washington \$3,000.00 5/10/2010 5/5/2010 5 8 AG-0581 \$2,100.00 5/24/2010 5/5/2010 Oregon 19 \$335.39 5/24/2010 5/5/2010 9 AG-0600 Oregon 19 10 AG-0602 Washington \$65.00 5/28/2010 5/5/2010 23 \$250.00 5/31/2010 5/5/2010 11 AG-0633 California 26 12 TOTAL \$14,787.45 29 13

A negative value in Column F indicates a past-due payment.

## Summing only negative values

The following formula returns the sum of the negative values in column F. In other words, it returns the total number of past-due days for all invoices. For this worksheet, the formula returns -63.

```
=SUMIF(Difference, "<0")
```

Because you omit the third argument, the second argument ("<0") applies to the values in the Difference range.

You don't need to hard-code the arguments for the SUMIF function into your formula. For example, you can create a formula, such as the following, which gets the criteria argument from the contents of cell G2:

```
=SUMIF(Difference,G2)
```

This formula returns a new result if you change the criteria in cell G2.

## Summing values based on a different range

The following formula returns the sum of the past-due invoice amounts (in column C):

=SUMIF(Difference, "<0", Amount)

This formula uses the values in the *Difference* range to determine whether the corresponding values in the *Amount* range contribute to the sum.

## Summing values based on a text comparison

The following formula returns the total invoice amounts for the Oregon office:

=SUMIF(Office, "=Oregon", Amount)

Using the equal sign in the argument is optional. The following formula has the same result:

=SUMIF(Office, "Oregon", Amount)

To sum the invoice amounts for all offices *except* Oregon, use this formula:

=SUMIF(Office, "<>Oregon", Amount)

## Summing values based on a date comparison

The following formula returns the total invoice amounts that have a due date after May 1, 2010:

```
=SUMIF(DateDue, ">= "&DATE(2010, 5, 1), Amount)
```

Notice that the second argument for the SUMIF function is an expression. The *expression* uses the DATE function, which returns a date. Also, the comparison operator, enclosed in quotes, is concatenated (using the & operator) with the result of the DATE function.

The formula that follows returns the total invoice amounts that have a future due date (including today):

```
=SUMIF(DateDue, ">="&TODAY(), Amount)
```

# **Conditional Sums Using Multiple Criteria**

The examples in the preceding section all used a single comparison criterion. The examples in this section involve summing cells based on multiple criteria.

Figure 13.15 shows the sample worksheet again, for your reference. The worksheet also shows the result of several formulas that demonstrate summing by using multiple criteria.

## **Using And criteria**

Suppose that you want to get a sum of the invoice amounts that are past due *and* associated with the Oregon office. In other words, the value in the *Amount* range will be summed only if both of the following criteria are met:

- The corresponding value in the Difference range is negative.
- The corresponding text in the Office range is Oregon.

If the worksheet won't be used by anyone running a version prior to Excel 2007, the following formula does the job:

=SUMIFS(Amount, Difference, "<0", Office, "Oregon")

The array formula that follows returns the same result and will work in all versions of Excel.

{=SUM((Difference<0)\*(Office="Oregon")\*Amount)}

#### **FIGURE 13.15**

4	A	В	С	D	E	F
1	InvoiceNum	Office	Amount	DateDue	Today	Difference
2	AG-0145	Oregon	\$5,000.00	4/1/2010	5/5/2010	-34
3	AG-0189	California	\$450.00	4/19/2010	5/5/2010	-16
4	AG-0220	Washington	\$3,211.56	4/28/2010	5/5/2010	-7
5	AG-0310	Oregon	\$250.00	4/30/2010	5/5/2010	-5
6	AG-0355	Washington	\$125.50	5/4/2010	5/5/2010	-1
7	AG-0409	Washington	\$3,000.00	5/10/2010	5/5/2010	5
8	AG-0581	Oregon	\$2,100.00	5/24/2010	5/5/2010	19
9	AG-0600	Oregon	\$335.39	5/24/2010	5/5/2010	19
10	AG-0602	Washington	\$65.00	5/28/2010	5/5/2010	23
11	AG-0633	California	\$250.00	5/31/2010	5/5/2010	26
12	TOTAL		\$14,787.45			29
13						
14						
15	-63	Total past du	e days			
16	-63	Total past du	e days (array	r formula)		
17						
18	\$9,037.06	Total amount	t past due			
19	\$9,037.06	Total amount	t past due (a	rray formula)		
20	4					
21	\$7,685.39	Total for Ore	gon only			
22	4					
23	\$7,102.06	lotal for all e	except Orego	n		
24	64.4 707.45	T-4-1				
25	\$14,/87.45	i otai amouni	t with due da	ite beyond Ma	аў т	
20	ćE 250.00	Total past du	a ana aunt f-	- Oreann (5	-1 2007 as !-+-	an and si
27	\$5,250.00	Total past du	e amount fo	r Oregon (EXC	er 2007 or late	er only)
28	\$5,250.00	rotarpast du	e amount to	r Oregon (arra	y ronnula)	
29	¢E 000.00	Total pact du	o omounts (	D amounts fo	· Orazon larr	u formula)
21	\$5,000.00	rotarpast du	e amounts C	ik amounts to	r Oregon (arra	ay ronnula)
31	ćE 700.00	Total pact du	o omounts f	or Orogon and	California (a	rrau formula)
32	\$5,700.00	rotar past du	e amounts fo	or oregon and	cantornia (a	ray formula)

This worksheet demonstrates summing based on multiple criteria.

## **Using Or criteria**

Suppose that you want to get a sum of past-due invoice amounts *or* ones associated with the Oregon office. In other words, the value in the *Amount* range will be summed if either of the following criteria is met:

- The corresponding value in the *Difference* range is negative.
- The corresponding text in the Office range is Oregon.

This example requires an array formula:

{=SUM(IF((Office="Oregon")+(Difference<0),1,0)\*Amount)}</pre>

A plus sign (+) joins the conditions; you can include more than two conditions.

## Using And and Or criteria

As you may expect, things get a bit tricky when your criteria consists of both And and Or operations. For example, you may want to sum the values in the *Amount* range when both of the following conditions are met:

- The corresponding value in the *Difference* range is negative.
- The corresponding text in the Office range is Oregon or California.

Notice that the second condition actually consists of two conditions joined with Or. The following array formula does the trick:

```
{=SUM((Difference<0)*IF((Office="Oregon")+
(Office="California"),1)*Amount)}
```

# CHAPTER

# **Creating Formulas That Look Up Values**

his chapter discusses various techniques that you can use to look up a value in a range of data. Excel has three functions (LOOKUP, VLOOKUP, and HLOOKUP) designed for this task, but you may find that these functions don't quite cut it.

This chapter provides many lookup examples, including alternative techniques that go well beyond the Excel program's normal lookup capabilities.

# **Introducing Lookup Formulas**

A *lookup formula* essentially returns a value from a table by looking up another related value. A common telephone directory provides a good analogy. If you want to find a person's telephone number, you first locate the name (look it up) and then retrieve the corresponding number.

## Note

I use the term table to describe a rectangular range of data. The range does not necessarily need to be an "official" table, as created by choosing Insert ⇔ Tables ⇔ Table. ■

Figure 14.1 shows a worksheet that uses several lookup formulas. This worksheet contains a table of employee data, beginning in row 7. This range is named *EmpData*. When you enter a last name into cell C2, lookup formulas in D2:G2 retrieve the matching information from the table. If the last name does not appear in Column C, the formulas return #N/A.

## **IN THIS CHAPTER**

An introduction to formulas that look up values in a table

An overview of the worksheet functions used to perform lookups

**Basic lookup formulas** 

More sophisticated lookup formulas

## About This Chapter's Examples.

Most of the examples in this chapter use named ranges for function arguments. When you adapt these formulas for your own use, you need to substitute the actual range address or a range name defined in your workbook.

The following lookup formulas use the VLOOKUP function:

D2	=VLOOKUP(C2,EmpData,2,FALSE)
E2	=VLOOKUP(C2,EmpData,3,FALSE)
F2	=VLOOKUP(C2,EmpData,4,FALSE)
G2	=VLOOKUP(C2,EmpData,5,FALSE)

#### FIGURE 14.1

Lookup formulas in row 2 look up the information for the employee name in cell C2.

	A	В	C	D	E	F	G
1			Last Name	First Name	Department	Extension	Date Hired
2	Enter a na	me>	Davis	Rita	Administration	2604	4/15/2005
3							
4							
5							
6			Last Name	First Name	Department	Extension	Date Hired
7			Allen	Yolanda	Sales	4466	3/5/1998
8			Baker	Nancy	Operations	3432	4/16/2003
9			Bunnel	Ken	Marketing	4422	12/1/2004
10			Charles	Larry	Administration	2822	9/16/1999
11			Cramden	Moe	Administration	1231	3/12/2001
12			Davis	Rita	Administration	2604	4/15/2005
13			Dunwell	James	Operations	3983	2/9/2000
14			Ellis	Pamela	Data Processing	2144	3/24/2004
15			Endow	Ed	Data Processing	1102	11/12/2003
16							

This particular example uses four formulas to return information from the *EmpData* range. In many cases, you want only a single value from the table, so use only one formula.

# **Functions Relevant to Lookups**

Several Excel functions are useful when writing formulas to look up information in a table. Table 14.1 lists and describes these functions.

#### **TABLE 14.1**

	Functions Used in Lookup Formulas
Function	Description
CHOOSE	Returns a specific value from a list of values supplied as arguments.
HLOOKUP	Horizontal lookup. Searches for a value in the top row of a table and returns a value in the same column from a row you specify in the table.
IF	Returns one value if a condition you specify is TRUE, and returns another value if the condi- tion is FALSE.
IFERROR*	If the first argument returns an error, the second argument is evaluated and returned. If the first argument does not return an error, then it is evaluated and returned.
INDEX	Returns a value (or the reference to a value) from within a table or range.
LOOKUP	Returns a value either from a one-row or one-column range. Another form of the LOOKUP function works like VLOOKUP but is restricted to returning a value from the last column of a range.
MATCH	Returns the relative position of an item in a range that matches a specified value.
OFFSET	Returns a reference to a range that is a specified number of rows and columns from a cell or range of cells.
VLOOKUP	Vertical lookup. Searches for a value in the first column of a table and returns a value in the same row from a column you specify in the table.

\* Introduced in Excel 2007.

The examples in this chapter use the functions listed in Table 14.1.

## Using the IF Function for Simple Lookups\_

The IF function is very versatile and is often suitable for simple decision-making problems. The accompanying figure shows a worksheet with student grades in column B. Formulas in column C use the IF function to return text: either Pass (a score of 65 or higher) or Fail (a score below 65). For example, the formula in cell C2 is

```
=IF(B2>=65,"Pass","Fail")
```

4	A	В	С	D
1	Student	Score	Grade	
2	Andy	82	Pass	
3	Barbara	57	Fail	
4	Chris	73	Pass	
5	Dennis	54	Fail	
6	Elsie	Elsie 82		
7	Francine	72	Pass	
8				
-				

continued

#### continued

You can "nest" IF functions to provide even more decision-making ability. This formula, for example, returns one of four strings: Excellent, Very Good, Fair, or Poor.

=IF(B2>=90, "Excellent", IF(B2>=70, "Very Good", IF(B2>=50, "Fair", "Poor")))

This technique is fine for situations that involve only a few choices. However, using nested IF functions can quickly become complicated and unwieldy. The lookup techniques described in this chapter usually provide a much better solution.

# **Basic Lookup Formulas**

You can use the Excel basic lookup functions to search a column or row for a lookup value to return another value as a result. Excel provides three basic lookup functions: HLOOKUP, VLOOKUP, and LOOKUP. In addition, the MATCH and INDEX functions are often used together to return a cell or relative cell reference for a lookup value.

## **The VLOOKUP function**

The VLOOKUP function looks up the value in the first column of the lookup table and returns the corresponding value in a specified table column. The lookup table is arranged vertically (which explains the V in the function's name). The syntax for the VLOOKUP function is

```
VLOOKUP(lookup_value,table_array,col_index_num,range_lookup)
```

The VLOOKUP function's arguments are as follows:

- *lookup\_value*: The value to be looked up in the first column of the lookup table.
- *table\_array*: The range that contains the lookup table.
- *col\_index\_num*: The column number within the table from which the matching value is returned.
- *range\_lookup*: Optional. If TRUE or omitted, an approximate match is returned. (If an exact match is not found, the next largest value that is less than *lookup\_value* is returned.) If FALSE, VLOOKUP will search for an exact match. If VLOOKUP can't find an exact match, the function returns #N/A.

## Caution

If the range\_lookup argument is TRUE or omitted, the first column of the lookup table must be in ascending order. If lookup\_value is smaller than the smallest value in the first column of table\_array, VLOOKUP returns #N/A. If the range\_lookup argument is FALSE, the first column of the lookup table need not be in ascending order. If an exact match is not found, the function returns #N/A.

## Tip

If the lookup\_value argument is text and the range\_lookup argument is False, the lookup\_value can include wildcard characters \* and ?.

A very common use for a lookup formula involves an income tax rate schedule (see Figure 14.2). The tax rate schedule shows the income tax rates for various income levels. The following formula (in cell B3) returns the tax rate for the income in cell B2:

=VLOOKUP(B2,D2:F7,3)

## On the CD

The examples in this section are available on the companion CD-ROM. They're contained in a file named basic lookup examples.xlsx.

#### FIGURE 14.2

Using VLOOKUP to look up a tax rate.

	A	В	С	D	E	F
1				Income is Greater Than or Equal To	But Less Than or Equal To	Tax Rate
2	Enter Income:	\$45,500		\$0	\$2,650	15.00%
3	The Tax Rate is:	31.00%		\$2,651	\$27,300	28.00%
4				\$27,301	\$58,500	31.00%
5				\$58,501	\$131,800	36.00%
6				\$131,801	\$284,700	39.60%
7				\$284,701		45.25%
8						

The lookup table resides in a range that consists of three columns (D2:F7). Because the last argument for the VLOOKUP function is 3, the formula returns the corresponding value in the third column of the lookup table.

Note that an exact match is not required. If an exact match is not found in the first column of the lookup table, the VLOOKUP function uses the next largest value that is less than the lookup value. In other words, the function uses the row in which the value you want to look up is greater than or equal to the row value but less than the value in the next row. In the case of a tax table, this is exactly what you want to happen.

## **The HLOOKUP function**

The HLOOKUP function works just like the VLOOKUP function except that the lookup table is arranged horizontally instead of vertically. The HLOOKUP function looks up the value in the first row of the lookup table and returns the corresponding value in a specified table row.

The syntax for the HLOOKUP function is

HLOOKUP(lookup\_value,table\_array,row\_index\_num,range\_lookup)

The HLOOKUP function's arguments are as follows

- *lookup\_value*: The value to be looked up in the first row of the lookup table.
- *table\_array*: The range that contains the lookup table.
- *row\_index\_num*: The row number within the table from which the matching value is returned.
- *range\_lookup*: Optional. If TRUE or omitted, an approximate match is returned. (If an exact match is not found, the next largest value less than *lookup\_value* is returned.) If FALSE, VLOOKUP will search for an exact match. If VLOOKUP can't find an exact match, the function returns #N/A.

## Tip

If the lookup\_value argument is text and the range\_lookup argument is False, the lookup\_value can include wildcard characters \* and?.

Figure 14.3 shows the tax rate example with a horizontal lookup table (in the range E1:J3). The formula in cell B3 is

```
=HLOOKUP(B2,E1:J3,3)
```

#### FIGURE 14.3

Using HLOOKUP to look up a tax rate.

	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	Н	- I	J	
1				Income is Greater Than or Equal To	\$0	\$2,651	\$27,301	\$58,501	\$131,801	\$284,701	
2	Enter Income:	\$21,566		But Less Than	\$2,650	\$27,300	\$58,500	\$131,800	\$284,700		
3	The Tax Rate is:	28.00%		Tax Rate	15.00%	28.00%	31.00%	36.00%	39.60%	45.25%	
4											

## **The LOOKUP function**

The LOOKUP function looks in a one-row or one-column range (*lookup\_vector*) for a value (*lookup\_value*) and returns a value from the same position in a second one-row or one-column range (*result\_vector*).

The LOOKUP function has the following syntax:

```
LOOKUP(lookup_value,lookup_vector,result_vector)
```
The function's arguments are as follows:

- *lookup\_value*: The value to be looked up in the *lookup\_vector*.
- *lookup\_vector*: A single-column or single-row range that contains the values to be looked up. These values must be in ascending order.
- *result\_vector*: The single-column or single-row range that contains the values to be returned. It must be the same size as the *lookup\_vector*.

## Caution

Values in the lookup\_vector must be in ascending order. If lookup\_value is smaller than the smallest value in lookup\_vector, LOOKUP returns #N/A.

Figure 14.4 shows the tax table again. This time, the formula in cell B3 uses the LOOKUP function to return the corresponding tax rate. The formula in cell B3 is

=LOOKUP(B2,D2:D7,F2:F7)

## Caution

If the values in the first column are not arranged in ascending order, the LOOKUP function may return an incorrect value. ■

Note that LOOKUP (as opposed to VLOOKUP) requires two range references (a range to be looked in, and a range that contains result values). VLOOKUP, on the other hand, uses a single range for the lookup table, and the third argument determines which column to use for the result. This argument, of course, can consist of a cell reference.

#### FIGURE 14.4

Using LOOKUP to look up a tax rate.

	A	В	С	D	E	F	
1				Income is Greater Than or Equal To	But Less Than	Tax Rate	
2	Enter Income:	\$123,409		\$0	\$2,650	15.00%	
3	The Tax Rate is:	36.00%		\$2,651	\$27,300	28.00%	
4				\$27,301	\$58,500	31.00%	
5				\$58,501	\$131,800	36.00%	
6				\$131,801	\$284,700	39.60%	
7				\$284,701		45.25%	
8							
9							

## **Combining the MATCH and INDEX functions**

The MATCH and INDEX functions are often used together to perform lookups. The MATCH function returns the relative position of a cell in a range that matches a specified value. The syntax for MATCH is

MATCH(lookup\_value,lookup\_array,match\_type)

The MATCH function's arguments are as follows:

- *lookup\_value*: The value you want to match in *lookup\_array*. If *match\_type* is 0 and the *lookup\_value* is text, this argument can include wildcard characters \* and ?
- *lookup\_array*: The range being searched.
- *match\_type*: An integer (-1, 0, or 1) that specifies how the match is determined.

## Note

If match\_type is 1, MATCH finds the largest value less than or equal to lookup\_value. (lookup\_array must be in ascending order.) If match\_type is 0, MATCH finds the first value exactly equal to lookup\_value. If match\_type is -1, MATCH finds the smallest value greater than or equal to lookup\_value. (lookup\_array must be in descending order.) If you omit the match\_type argument, this argument is assumed to be 1.

The INDEX function returns a cell from a range. The syntax for the INDEX function is

INDEX(array,row\_num,column\_num)

The INDEX function's arguments are as follows:

- array: A range
- *row\_num*: A row number within *array*
- *col\_num*: A column number within *array*

## Note

#### If array contains only one row or column, the corresponding row\_num or column\_num argument is optional.

Figure 14.5 shows a worksheet with dates, day names, and amounts in columns D, E, and F. When you enter a date in cell B1, the following formula (in cell B2) searches the dates in column D and returns the corresponding amount from column F. The formula in cell B2 is

=INDEX(F2:F21,MATCH(B1,D2:D21,0))

To understand how this formula works, start with the MATCH function. This function searches the range D2:D21 for the date in cell B1. It returns the relative row number where the date is found. This value is then used as the second argument for the INDEX function. The result is the corresponding value in F2:F21.

#### FIGURE 14.5

	A	В	С	D	E	F	
1	Date:	1/12/2010		Date	Weekday	Amount	
2	Amount:	189		1/1/2010	Friday	23	
3				1/2/2010	Saturday	179	
4				1/3/2010	Sunday	149	
5				1/4/2010	Monday	196	
6				1/5/2010	Tuesday	131	
7				1/6/2010	Wednesday	179	
8				1/7/2010	Thursday	134	
9				1/8/2010	Friday	179	
10				1/9/2010	Saturday	193	
11				1/10/2010	Sunday	191	
12				1/11/2010	Monday	176	
13				1/12/2010	Tuesday	189	
14				1/13/2010	Wednesday	163	
15				1/14/2010	Thursday	121	
16				1/15/2010	Friday	100	
17				1/16/2010	Saturday	109	
18				1/17/2010	Sunday	151	
19				1/18/2010	Monday	138	
20				1/19/2010	Tuesday	114	
21				1/20/2010	Wednesday	156	
22							

Using the INDEX and MATCH functions to perform a lookup.

## When a Blank Is Not a Zero\_

The Excel lookup functions treat empty cells in the result range as zeros. The worksheet in the accompanying figure contains a two-column lookup table, and this formula looks up the name in cell B1 and returns the corresponding amount:

=VLOOKUP(B1,D2:E8,2)

Note that the Amount cell for Charlie is blank, but the formula returns a 0.

	A	В	С	D	E	F
1	Name:	Charlie		Name	Amount	
2	Amount:	0		Bob	45	
3				Charlie		
4				David	16	
5				Frank	32	
б				George	9	
7				Harry	0	
8				Mike	1	
9						

continued

#### continued

If you need to distinguish zeros from blank cells, you must modify the lookup formula by adding an IF function to check whether the length of the returned value is 0. When the looked up value is blank, the length of the return value is 0. In all other cases, the length of the returned value is non-zero. The following formula displays an empty string (a blank) whenever the length of the looked-up value is zero and the actual value whenever the length is anything but zero:

=IF(LEN(VLOOKUP(B1,D2:E8,2))=0,"",(VLOOKUP(B1,D2:E8,2)))

Alternatively, you can specifically check for an empty string, as in the following formula:

```
=IF(VLOOKUP(B1,D2:E8,2)="", "", (VLOOKUP(B1,D2:E8,2)))
```

## **Specialized Lookup Formulas**

You can use additional types of lookup formulas to perform more specialized lookups. For example, you can look up an exact value, search in another column besides the first in a lookup table, perform a case-sensitive lookup, return a value from among multiple lookup tables, and perform other specialized and complex lookups.

## On the CD

The examples in this section are available on the companion CD-ROM. The file is named specialized lookup examples.xlsx.

## Looking up an exact value

As demonstrated in the previous examples, VLOOKUP and HLOOKUP don't necessarily require an exact match between the value to be looked up and the values in the lookup table. An example is looking up a tax rate in a tax table. In some cases, you may require a perfect match. For example, when looking up an employee number, you would require a perfect match for the number.

To look up an exact value only, use the VLOOKUP (or HLOOKUP) function with the optional fourth argument set to FALSE.

Figure 14.6 shows a worksheet with a lookup table that contains employee numbers (column C) and employee names (column D). The lookup table is named *EmpList*. The formula in cell B2, which follows, looks up the employee number entered in cell B1 and returns the corresponding employee name:

=VLOOKUP(B1, EmpList, 2, FALSE)

Because the last argument for the VLOOKUP function is FALSE, the function returns a value only if an exact match is found. If the value is not found, the formula returns #N/A. This result, of course,

is exactly what you want to happen because returning an approximate match for an employee number makes no sense. Also, notice that the employee numbers in column C are not in ascending order. If the last argument for VLOOKUP is FALSE, the values need not be in ascending order.

## Tip

If you prefer to see something other than #N/A when the employee number is not found, you can use the IFERROR function to test for the error result and substitute a different string. The following formula displays the text Not Found rather than #N/A:

```
=IFERROR(VLOOKUP(B1, EmpList, 2, FALSE), "Not Found")
```

IFERROR works only with Excel 2007 and Excel 2010. For compatibility with previous versions, use the following formula:

```
=IF(ISNA(VLOOKUP(B1,EmpList,2,FALSE)),"Not Found",
VLOOKUP(B1,EmpList,2,FALSE))
```

## FIGURE 14.6

This lookup table requires an exact match.

4	A	В	C	D	
1	Employee No.:	1101	Employee Number	Employee Name	
2	Employee Name:	Melinda Hindquest	873	Charles K. Barkley	
3			1109	Francis Jenikins	
4			1549	James Brackman	
5			1334	Linda Harper	
6			1643	Louise Victor	
7			1101	Melinda Hindquest	
8			1873	Michael Orenthal	
9			983	Peter Yates	
10			972	Sally Rice	
11			1398	Walter Franklin	
12					
					_

## Looking up a value to the left

The VLOOKUP function always looks up a value in the first column of the lookup range. But what if you want to look up a value in a column other than the first column? It would be helpful if you could supply a negative value for the third argument for VLOOKUP — but Excel doesn't allow it.

Figure 14.7 illustrates the problem. Suppose that you want to look up the batting average (column B, in a range named *Averages*) of a player in column C (in a range named *Players*). The player you want data for appears in a cell named *LookupValue*. The VLOOKUP function won't work because the data isn't arranged correctly. One option is to rearrange your data, but sometimes that's not possible.

One solution is to use the LOOKUP function, which requires two range arguments. The following formula (in cell F3) returns the batting average from column B of the player name contained in the cell named *LookupValue*:

=LOOKUP(LookupValue, Players, Averages)

Using the LOOKUP function requires that the lookup range (in this case, the *Players* range) is in ascending order. In addition to this limitation, the formula suffers from a slight problem: If you enter a nonexistent player (in other words, the *LookupValue* cell contains a value not found in the *Players* range), the formula returns an erroneous result.

A better solution uses the INDEX and MATCH functions. The formula that follows works just like the previous one except that it returns #N/A if the player is not found. Another advantage is that the player names need not be sorted.

=INDEX(Averages,MATCH(LookupValue,Players,0))

#### FIGURE 14.7

The VLOOKUP function can't look up a value in column B, based on a value in column C.

	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	
1	At Bats	Average	Player	Player	to lookup:	Hardy		
2	12	0.333	Albertson					
3	41	0.390	Darvin		Average	0.300	< LOOKUP	
4	24	0.333	Deerberg		At Bats:	30	< LOOKUP	
5	25	0.160	Gomez					
6	23	0.217	Gonzolez		Average	0.300	< INDEX and MATCH	
7	30	0.300	Hardy		At Bats:	30	< INDEX and MATCH	
8	0	0.000	Henderson					
9	51	0.333	Jackson					
10	43	0.186	King					
11	36	0.139	Klorber					
12	9	0.333	Mazden					
13	16	0.313	Mendez					
14	44	0.341	Nester					
15	14	0.286	Perez					
16	28	0.321	Talisman					
17								

## Performing a case-sensitive lookup

The Excel lookup functions (LOOKUP, VLOOKUP, and HLOOKUP) are not case sensitive. For example, if you write a lookup formula to look up the text *budget*, the formula considers any of the following a match: *BUDGET*, *Budget*, or *BuDgEt*.

Figure 14.8 shows a simple example. Range D2:D7 is named *Range1*, and range E2:E7 is named *Range2*. The word to be looked up appears in cell B1 (named *Value*).

#### FIGURE 14.8

Using an array formula to perform a case-sensitive lookup.

4	A	В	С	D	E	F
1	Word	DOG		Range1	Range2	
2	Result:	300		APPLE	100	
3				apple	200	
4				DOG	300	
5				dog	400	
6				CANDY	500	
7				candy	600	
8						
0						

The array formula that follows is in cell B2. This formula does a case-sensitive lookup in *Range1* and returns the corresponding value in *Range2*.

{=INDEX(Range2,MATCH(TRUE,EXACT(Value,Range1),0))}

The formula looks up the word *DOG* (uppercase) and returns 300. The following standard LOOKUP formula (which is not case sensitive) returns 400:

=LOOKUP(Value,Range1,Range2)

## Note

When entering an array formula, remember to use Ctrl+Shift+Enter. ■

## Looking up a value from multiple lookup tables

You can, of course, have any number of lookup tables in a worksheet. In some situations, your formula may need to decide which lookup table to use. Figure 14.9 shows an example.

This workbook calculates sales commission and contains two lookup tables: G3:H9 (named *CommTable1*) and J3:K8 (named *CommTable2*). The commission rate for a particular sales representative depends on two factors: the sales rep's years of service (column B) and the amount sold (column C). Column D contains formulas that look up the commission rate from the appropriate table. For example, the formula in cell D2 is

=VLOOKUP(C2,IF(B2<3,CommTable1,CommTable2),2)

## FIGURE 14.9

This worksheet demonstrates the use of multiple lookup tables.

	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	Н	1	J	K
1	Sales Rep	Years	Sales	Comm. Rate	Commission		<3 Years Tenure			3+ Years Tenure	
2	Benson	2	120,000	7.00%	8,400		Amt Sold	Rate		Amt Sold	Rate
3	Davidson	1	210,921	7.00%	14,764		0	1.50%		0	2.00%
4	Ellison	1	100,000	7.00%	7,000		5,000	3.25%		50,000	6.25%
5	Gomez	2	87,401	6.00%	5,244		10,000	3.50%		100,000	7.25%
6	Hernandez	6	310,983	9.25%	28,766		20,000	5.00%		200,000	8.25%
7	Kelly	3	43,902	2.00%	878		50,000	6.00%		300,000	9.25%
8	Martin	2	121,021	7.00%	8,471		100,000	7.00%		500,000	10.00%
9	Oswald	3	908	2.00%	18		250,000	8.00%			
10	Reginald	1	0	1.50%	0						
11	Veras	4	359,832	9.25%	33,284						
12	Wilmington	4	502,983	10.00%	50,298						
13											

The second argument for the VLOOKUP function consists of an IF formula that uses the value in column B to determine which lookup table to use.

The formula in column E simply multiplies the sales amount in column C by the commission rate in column D. The formula in cell E2, for example, is

=C2\*D2

## Determining letter grades for test scores

A common use of a lookup table is to assign letter grades for test scores. Figure 14.10 shows a worksheet with student test scores. The range E2:F6 (named *GradeList*) displays a lookup table used to assign a letter grade to a test score.

Column C contains formulas that use the VLOOKUP function and the lookup table to assign a grade based on the score in column B. The formula in cell C2, for example, is

```
=VLOOKUP(B2,GradeList,2)
```

When the lookup table is small (as in the example shown earlier in Figure 14.10), you can use a literal array in place of the lookup table. The formula that follows, for example, returns a letter grade without using a lookup table. Rather, the information in the lookup table is hard-coded into an array. See Chapter 17 for more information about arrays.

```
=VLOOKUP(B2,{0,"F";40,"D";70,"C";80,"B";90,"A"},2)
```

Another approach, which uses a more legible formula, is to use the LOOKUP function with two array arguments:

```
=LOOKUP(B2,{0,40,70,80,90},{"F","D","C","B","A"})
```

## FIGURE 14.10

Looking up letter grades for test scores.

	A	В	С	D	E	F	G
1	Student	Score	Grade		Score	Grade	
2	Adams	36	F		0	F	
3	Baker	68	D		40	D	
4	Camden	50	D		70	С	
5	Dailey	77	С		80	В	
6	Gomez	92	Α		90	Α	
7	Hernandez	100	Α				
8	Jackson	74	С				
9	Maplethorpe	45	D				
10	Paulson	60	D				
11	Ramirez	89	В				
12	Sosa	99	А				
13	Thompson	91	А				
14	Wilson	59	D				
15							

## Calculating a grade-point average

A student's *grade-point average* (GPA) is a numerical measure of the average grade received for classes taken. This discussion assumes a letter grade system, in which each letter grade is assigned a numeric value (A=4, B=3, C=2, D=1, and F=0). The GPA comprises an average of the numeric

grade values weighted by the credit hours of the course. A one-hour course, for example, receives less weight than a three-hour course. The GPA ranges from 0 (all Fs) to 4.00 (all As).

Figure 14.11 shows a worksheet with information for a student. This student took five courses, for a total of 13 credit hours. Range B2:B6 is named *CreditHours*. The grades for each course appear in column *C*. (Range C2:C6 is named *Grades*.) Column D uses a lookup formula to calculate the grade value for each course. The lookup formula in cell D2, for example, follows. This formula uses the lookup table in G2:H6 (named *GradeTable*).

=VLOOKUP(C2,GradeTable,2,FALSE)

#### FIGURE 14.11

Using multiple formulas to calculate a GPA.

	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	Н		
1	Course	Credit Hrs	Grade	rade Grade Val Weighted Val Grade						
2	Psych 101	3	А	4	12		А	4		
3	PhysEd	2	С	2	4		В	3		
4	PoliSci 101	4	В	3	12		С	2		
5	IndepStudy	1	А	4	4		D	1		
6	IntroMath	3	Α	4	12		F	0		
7										
8	GPA:	3.38	< Requi	Requires multiple formulas and lookup table						
9										

Formulas in column E calculate the weighted values. The formula in cell E2 is

=D2\*B2

Cell B8 computes the GPA by using the following formula:

```
=SUM(E2:E6)/SUM(B2:B6)
```

The preceding formulas work fine, but you can streamline the GPA calculation quite a bit. In fact, you can use a single array formula to make this calculation and avoid using the lookup table and the formulas in columns D and E. This array formula does the job:

```
{=SUM((MATCH(Grades, {"F", "D", "C", "B", "A"}, 0)-1)*CreditHours)
/SUM(CreditHours)}
```

## Performing a two-way lookup

Figure 14.12 shows a worksheet with a table that displays product sales by month. To retrieve sales for a particular month and product, the user enters a month in cell B1 and a product name in cell B2.

#### FIGURE 14.12

This table demonstrates a two-way lookup.

	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	Н	
1	Month:	July			Widgets	Sprockets	Snapholytes	Combined	
2	Product:	Sprockets		January	2,892	1,771	4,718	9,381	
3				February	3,380	4,711	2,615	10,706	
4	Month Offset:	8		March	3,744	3,223	5,312	12,279	
5	Product Offset:	3		April	3,221	2,438	1,108	6,767	
6	Sales:	3,337		May	4,839	1,999	1,994	8,832	
7				June	3,767	5,140	3,830	12,737	
8				July	5,467	3,337	3,232	12,036	
9	Single-formula>	3,337		August	3,154	4,895	1,607	9,656	
10				September	1,718	2,040	1,563	5,321	
11				October	1,548	1,061	2,590	5,199	
12				November	5,083	3,558	3,960	12,601	
13				December	5,753	2,839	3,013	11,605	
14				Total	44,566	37,012	35,542	117,120	
15									

To simplify things, the worksheet uses the following named ranges:

Month	B1
Product	B2
Table	D1:H14
MonthList	D1:D14
ProductList	D1:H1

The following formula (in cell B4) uses the MATCH function to return the position of the *Month* within the *MonthList* range. For example, if the month is January, the formula returns 2 because January is the second item in the *MonthList* range (the first item is a blank cell, D1).

```
=MATCH(Month,MonthList,0)
```

The formula in cell B5 works similarly but uses the *ProductList* range.

```
=MATCH(Product, ProductList, 0)
```

The final formula, in cell B6, returns the corresponding sales amount. It uses the INDEX function with the results from cells B4 and B5.

=INDEX(Table, B4, B5)

You can, of course, combine these formulas into a single formula, as shown here:

=INDEX(Table,MATCH(Month,MonthList,0),MATCH(Product,ProductList,0))

## Tip

Another way to accomplish a two-way lookup is to provide a name for each row and column of the table. A quick way to do so is to select the table and choose Formulas r Defined Names r Create from Selection. In the Create Names from Selection dialog box, select the Top Row and Left Column check boxes. After creating the names, you can use a simple formula, such as:

= Sprockets July

This formula, which uses the range intersection operator (a space), returns July sales for Sprockets. See Chapter 10 for details about the range intersection operator. ■

## Performing a two-column lookup

Some situations may require a lookup based on the values in two columns. Figure 14.13 shows an example.

## FIGURE 14.13

This workbook performs a lookup by using information in two columns (D and E).

	A	В	С	D	E	F	
1	Make:	Jeep		Make	Model	Code	
2	Model:	Grand Cherokee		Chevy	Blazer	C-094	
3	Code:	J-701		Chevy	Tahoe	C-823	
4				Ford	Explorer	F-772	
5				Ford	Expedition	F-229	
6				Isuzu	Rodeo	I-897	
7				Isuzu	Trooper	I-900	
8				Jeep	Cherokee	J-983	
9				Jeep	Grand Cherokee	J-701	
10				Nissan	Pathfinder	N-231	
11				Toyota	4Runner	T-871	
12				Toyota	Land Cruiser	T-981	
13							
14							

The lookup table contains automobile makes and models and a corresponding code for each. The worksheet uses named ranges, as shown here:

F2:F12	Code
B1	Make
B2	Model
D2:D12	Makes
E2:E12	Models

The following array formula displays the corresponding code for an automobile make and model:

{=INDEX(Code,MATCH(Make&Model,Makes&Models,0))}

This formula works by concatenating the contents of *Make* and *Model* and then searching for this text in an array consisting of the concatenated corresponding text in *Makes* and *Models*.

## Determining the cell address of a value within a range

Most of the time, you want your lookup formula to return a value. You may, however, need to determine the cell address of a particular value within a range. For example, Figure 14.14 shows a worksheet with a range of numbers that occupies a single column (named *Data*). Cell B1, which contains the value to look up, is named *Target*.

## FIGURE 14.14

The formula in cell B2 returns the address in the Data range for the value in cell B1.

	A	В	С	D
1	Target:	55	Data	
2	Address:	\$C\$10	74	
3			62	
4			60	
5			44	
6			50	
7			41	
8			77	
9			24	
10			55	
11			30	
12			12	
13			21	
14			7	
15			1	
16			22	
17			53	
18			36	
19			18	
20			68	
21				
22				

The formula in cell B2, which follows, returns the address of the cell in the *Data* range that contains the *Target* value:

=ADDRESS(ROW(Data)+MATCH(Target,Data,0)-1,COLUMN(Data))

If the *Data* range occupies a single row, use this formula to return the address of the *Target* value:

=ADDRESS(ROW(Data),COLUMN(Data)+MATCH(Target,Data,0)-1)

If the *Data* range contains more than one instance of the *Target* value, the address of the first occurrence is returned. If the *Target* value isn't found in the *Data* range, the formula returns #N/A.

## Looking up a value by using the closest match

The VLOOKUP and HLOOKUP functions are useful in the following situations:

- You need to identify an exact match for a target value. Use FALSE as the function's fourth argument.
- You need to locate an approximate match. If the function's fourth argument is TRUE or omitted and an exact match is not found, the next largest value less than the lookup value is returned.

But what if you need to look up a value based on the *closest* match? Neither VLOOKUP nor HLOOKUP can do the job.

Figure 14.15 shows a worksheet with student names in column A and values in column B. Range B2:B20 is named *Data*. Cell E2, named *Target*, contains a value to search for in the *Data* range. Cell E3, named *ColOffset*, contains a value that represents the column offset from the *Data* range.

## FIGURE 14.15

This workbook demonstrates how to perform a lookup by using the closest match.

	A	В	С	D	E	
1	Student	Data				
2	Ann	9,101	Target	t Value>	8025	
3	Betsy	8,873	Column	Offset>	-1	
4	Chuck	6,000				
5	David	9,820		Student:	Leslie	
6	George	10,500				
7	Hilda	3,500				
8	James	12,873				
9	John	5,867				
10	Keith	8,989				
11	Leslie	8,000				
12	Michelle	1,124				
13	Nora	9,099				
14	Paul	6,800				
15	Peter	5,509				
16	Rasmusen	5,460				
17	Sally	8,400				
18	Theresa	7,777				
19	Violet	3,600				
20	Wendy	5,400				
21						

The array formula that follows identifies the closest match to the *Target* value in the *Data* range and returns the names of the corresponding student in column A (that is, the column with an offset of -1). The formula returns Leslie (with a matching value of 8,000, which is the one closest to the *Target* value of 8,025).

```
{=INDIRECT(ADDRESS(ROW(Data)+MATCH(MIN(ABS(Target-Data)),
ABS(Target-Data),0)-1,COLUMN(Data)+ColOffset))}
```

If two values in the *Data* range are equidistant from the *Target* value, the formula uses the first one in the list.

The value in *ColOffset* can be negative (for a column to the left of *Data*), positive (for a column to the right of *Data*), or 0 (for the actual closest match value in the *Data* range).

To understand how this formula works, you need to understand the INDIRECT function. This function's first argument is a text string in the form of a cell reference (or a reference to a cell that contains a text string). In this example, the text string is created by the ADDRESS function, which accepts a row and column reference and returns a cell address.



# **Creating Formulas for Financial Applications**

**T** is a safe bet that the most common use of Excel is to perform calculations involving money. Every day, people make hundreds of thousands of financial decisions based on the numbers that are calculated in a spreadsheet. These decisions range from simple (*Can I afford to buy a new car?*) to complex (*Will purchasing XYZ Corporation result in a positive cash flow in the next 18 months?*). This chapter discusses basic financial calculations that you can perform with the assistance of Excel.

## The Time Value of Money

The face value of money may not always be what it seems. A key consideration is the time value of money. This concept involves calculating the value of money in the past, present, or future. It is based on the premise that money increases in value over time because of interest earned by the money. In other words, a dollar invested today will be worth more tomorrow.

For example, imagine that your rich uncle decided to give away some money and asked you to choose one of the following options:

- Receive \$8,000 today.
- Receive \$9,500 in one year.
- Receive \$12,000 in five years.
- Receive \$150 per month for five years.

If your goal is to maximize the amount received, you need to take into account not only the face value of the money but also the *time value* of the money when it arrives in your hands.

## **IN THIS CHAPTER**

- A brief overview of the Excel functions that deal with the time value of money
- Formulas that perform various types of loan calculations
- Formulas that perform various types of investment calculations

An overview of Excel depreciation functions

## 329

The time value of money depends on your perspective. In other words, you're either a lender or a borrower. When you take out a loan to purchase an automobile, you're a borrower, and the institution that provides the funds to you is the lender. When you invest money in a bank savings account, you're a lender; you're lending your money to the bank, and the bank is borrowing it from you.

Several concepts contribute to the time value of money:

- **Present Value (PV):** This is the principal amount. If you deposit \$5,000 in a bank savings account, this amount represents the *principal*, or present value, of the money you invested. If you borrow \$15,000 to purchase a car, this amount represents the principal or present value of the loan. Present Value may be positive or negative.
- Future Value (FV): This is the principal plus interest. If you invest \$5,000 for five years and earn 3 percent annual interest, your investment is worth \$5,796.37 at the end of the five-year term. This amount is the future value of your \$5,000 investment. If you take out a three-year auto loan for \$15,000 and make monthly payments based on a 5.25 percent annual interest rate, you pay a total of \$16,244.97. This amount represents the principal plus the interest you paid. Future Value may be positive or negative, depending on the perspective (lender or borrower).
- **Payment (PMT):** This is either principal or principal plus interest. If you deposit \$100 per month into a savings account, \$100 is the payment. If you have a monthly mortgage payment of \$1,025, this amount is made up of principal and interest.
- **Interest Rate:** Interest is a percentage of the principal, usually expressed on an annual basis. For example, you may earn 2.5 percent annual interest on a bank CD (certificate of deposit). Or your mortgage loan may have a 6.75 percent interest rate.
- **Period:** This represents the point in time when interest is paid or earned (for example, a bank CD that pays interest quarterly, or an auto loan that requires monthly payments).
- **Term:** This is the amount of time of interest. A 12-month bank CD has a term of one year. A 30-year mortgage loan has a term of 360 months.

## **Loan Calculations**

This section describes how to calculate various components of a loan. Think of a loan as consisting of the following components:

- The loan amount
- The interest rate
- The number of payment periods
- The periodic payment amount

If you know any three of these components, you can create a formula to calculate the unknown component.

## Note

The loan calculations in this section all assume a fixed-rate loan with a fixed term. ■

## Worksheet functions for calculating loan information

This section describes six commonly used financial functions: PMT, PPMT, IPMT, RATE, NPER, and PV. For information about the arguments used in these functions, see Table 15.1.

#### **TABLE 15.1**

Function Argument	Description
rate	The interest rate per period. If the rate is expressed as an annual interest rate, you must divide it by the number of periods.
nper	The total number of payment periods.
per	A particular period. The period must be less than or equal to nper.
pmt	The payment made each period (a constant value that does not change).
fv	The future value after the last payment is made. If you omit $fv$ , it is assumed to be 0. (The future value of a loan, for example, is 0.)
type	Indicates when payments are due — either 0 (due at the end of the period) or 1 (due at the beginning of the period). If you omit type, it is assumed to be 0.

## **Financial Function Arguments**

## PMT

The PMT function returns the loan payment (principal plus interest) per period, assuming constant payment amounts and a fixed interest rate. The syntax for the PMT function is

```
PMT(rate, nper, pv, fv, type)
```

The following formula returns the monthly payment amount for a \$5,000 loan with a 6 percent annual percentage rate. The loan has a term of four years (48 months).

=PMT(6%/12,48,-5000)

This formula returns \$117.43, the monthly payment for the loan. The first argument, rate, is the annual rate divided by the number of months in a year. Also, notice that the third argument (pv, for present value) is negative and represents money owed.

## PPMT

The PPMT function returns the principal part of a loan payment for a given period, assuming constant payment amounts and a fixed interest rate. The syntax for the PPMT function is

```
PPMT(rate,per,nper,pv,fv,type)
```

The following formula returns the amount paid to principal for the first month of a \$5,000 loan with a 6 percent annual percentage rate. The loan has a term of four years (48 months).

=PPMT(6%/12,1,48,-5000)

The formula returns \$92.43 for the principal, which is about 78.7 percent of the total loan payment. If I change the second argument to 48 (to calculate the principal amount for the last payment), the formula returns \$116.84, or about 99.5 percent of the total loan payment.

## Note

To calculate the cumulative principal paid between any two payment periods, use the CUMPRINC function. This function uses two additional arguments: start\_period and end\_period. In Excel versions prior to Excel 2007, CUMPRINC is available only when you install the Analysis ToolPak add-in. ■

## IPMT

The IPMT function returns the interest part of a loan payment for a given period, assuming constant payment amounts and a fixed interest rate. The syntax for the IPMT function is

IPMT(rate,per,nper,pv,fv,type)

The following formula returns the amount paid to interest for the first month of a \$5,000 loan with a 6 percent annual percentage rate. The loan has a term of four years (48 months).

=IPMT(6%/12,1,48,-5000)

This formula returns an interest amount of \$25.00. By the last payment period for the loan, the interest payment is only \$0.58.

## Note

To calculate the cumulative interest paid between any two payment periods, use the CUMIPMT function. This function uses two additional arguments: start\_period and end\_period. In Excel versions prior to Excel 2007, CUMIPMT is available only when you install the Analysis ToolPak add-in.

## RATE

The RATE function returns the periodic interest rate of a loan, given the number of payment periods, the periodic payment amount, and the loan amount. The syntax for the RATE function is

RATE(nper,pmt,pv,fv,type,guess)

The following formula calculates the annual interest rate for a 48-month loan for \$5,000 that has a monthly payment amount of \$117.43.

=RATE(48,117.43,-5000)\*12

This formula returns 6.00 percent. Notice that the result of the function is multiplied by 12 to get the annual percentage rate.

## NPER

The NPER function returns the number of payment periods for a loan, given the loan's amount, interest rate, and periodic payment amount. The syntax for the NPER function is

```
NPER(rate,pmt,pv,fv,type)
```

The following formula calculates the number of payment periods for a \$5,000 loan that has a monthly payment amount of \$117.43. The loan has a 6 percent annual interest rate.

=NPER(6%/12,117.43,-5000)

This formula returns 47.997 (that is, 48 months). The monthly payment was rounded to the nearest penny, causing the minor discrepancy.

## PV

The PV function returns the present value (that is, the original loan amount) for a loan, given the interest rate, the number of periods, and the periodic payment amount. The syntax for the PV function is

PV(rate,nper,pmt,fv,type)

The following formula calculates the original loan amount for a 48-month loan that has a monthly payment amount of \$117.43. The annual interest rate is 6 percent.

=PV(6%/12,48,-117.43)

This formula returns \$5,000.21. The monthly payment was rounded to the nearest penny, causing the \$0.21 discrepancy.

## A loan calculation example

Figure 15.1 shows a worksheet set up to calculate the periodic payment amount for a loan.

## On the CD

The workbook described in this section is available on the companion CD-ROM. The file is named loan payment.xlsx.

The loan amount is in cell B1, and the annual interest rate is in cell B2. Cell B3 contains the payment period expressed in months. For example, if cell B3 is 1, the payment is due monthly. If cell B3 is 3, the payment is due every three months, or quarterly. Cell B4 contains the number of periods of the loan. The example shown in this figure calculates the payment for a \$25,000 loan at 6.25 percent annual interest with monthly payments for 36 months. The formula in cell B6 is

```
=PMT(B2*(B3/12),B4,-B1)
```

Using the PMT function to calculate a periodic loan payment amount.

	A	В	С	
1	Loan Amount:	25,000.00		
2	Annual Interest Rate:	6.25%		
3	Payment Period (months):	1		
4	Number of Periods:	36		
5				
6	Payment per Period:	\$763.38		
7				
8				
9	Period	36		
10	Principal Amount	\$759.43		
11	Interest Amount	\$3.96		
12				
13				

Notice that the first argument is an expression that calculates the *periodic interest rate* by using the annual interest rate and the payment period. Therefore, if payments are made quarterly on a three-year loan, the payment period is 3, the number of periods is 12, and the periodic interest rate would be calculated as the annual interest rate multiplied by 3/12.

In the worksheet in Figure 15.1, range A9:B11 is set up to calculate the principal and interest amount for a particular payment period. Cell B9 contains the payment period used by the formulas in B10:B11. (The payment period must be less than or equal to the value in cell B4.)

The formula in cell B10, shown here, calculates the amount of the payment that goes toward principal for the payment period in cell B9:

```
=PPMT(B2*(B3/12),B9,B4,-B1)
```

The following formula, in cell B11, calculates the amount of the payment that goes toward interest for the payment period in cell B9:

```
=IPMT(B2*(B3/12), B9, B4, -B1)
```

You should note that the sum of B10 and B11 is equal to the total loan payment calculated in cell B6. However, the relative proportion of principal and interest amounts varies with the payment period. (An increasingly larger proportion of the payment is applied toward principal as the loan progresses.) Figure 15.2 shows the principal and interest portions graphically.

## **Credit card payments**

Do you ever wonder how long it would take to pay off a credit card balance if you make the minimum payment amount each month? Figure 15.3 shows a worksheet set up to make this type of calculation.

This chart shows the relative interest and principal amounts for the payment periods of a loan.



## On the CD

The workbook shown in Figure 15.3 is available on the companion CD-ROM. The file is named credit card payments.xlsx.

Range B1:B5 stores input values. In this example, the credit card has a balance of \$1,000, and the lender charges 21.25 percent annual percentage rate (APR). The minimum payment is 2.00 percent (typical of many credit card lenders). Therefore, the minimum payment amount for this example is \$20. You can enter a different payment amount in cell B5, but it must be large enough to pay off the loan. For example, you may choose to pay \$50 per month to pay off the balance more quickly. However, paying \$10 per month isn't sufficient, and the formulas return an error.

Range B7:B9 holds formulas that perform various calculations. The formula in cell B7, which follows, calculates the number of months required to pay off the balance:

=NPER(B2/12,B5,-B1,0)

The formula in B8 calculates the total amount you will pay. This formula is

=B7\*B5

The formula in cell B9 calculates the total interest paid:

=B8-B1

This worksheet calculates the number of payments required to pay off a credit card balance by paying the minimum payment amount each month.

	A	В	
1	Credit Card Balance	\$1,000.00	
2	Annual Interest Rate:	21.25%	
3	Minimum Payment Pct:	2.00%	
4	Minimum Monthly Payment Amount:	\$20.00	
5	Your Actual Monthly Payment:	\$20.00	
6			
7	No. of Payments Required:	123.4	
8	Total Amount Paid:	\$2,468.42	
9	Total Interest Paid:	\$1,468.42	
10			
11			

In this example, it would take about 123 months (more than ten years) to pay off the credit card balance if the borrower made only the minimum monthly payment. The total interest paid on the \$1,000 loan would be \$1,468.42. This calculation assumes, of course, that no additional charges are made on the account. This example may help explain why you receive so many credit card solicitations in the mail.

Figure 15.4 shows some additional calculations for the credit card example. For example, if you want to pay off the credit card in 12 months, you need to make monthly payments of \$93.23. (This amount results in total payments of \$1,118.81 with total interest of \$118.81.) The formula in B13 is

=PMT(\$B\$2/12,A13,-\$B\$1)

#### FIGURE 15.4

Column B shows the payment required to pay off the credit card balance for various payoff periods.

4	A	B	С	D
11				
12	Other Payoff Periods (months)	Pmt Required	Total Pmts	Total Interest
13	2	\$513.32	\$1,026.64	\$26.64
14	6	\$177.15	\$1,062.89	\$62.89
15	12	\$93.23	\$1,118.81	\$118.81
16	24	\$51.51	\$1,236.20	\$236.20
17	36	\$37.80	\$1,360.93	\$360.93
18	48	\$31.10	\$1,492.82	\$492.82
19	60	\$27.19	\$1,631.65	\$631.65
20	72	\$24.68	\$1,777.17	\$777.17
21	84	\$22.96	\$1,929.06	\$929.06
22	96	\$21.74	\$2,086.97	\$1,086.97
23	108	\$20.84	\$2,250.54	\$1,250.54
24	120	\$20.16	\$2,419.38	\$1,419.38
25	132	\$19.64	\$2,593.09	\$1,593.09
26				

## Creating a loan amortization schedule

A *loan amortization schedule* is a table of values that shows various types of information for each payment period of a loan. Figure 15.5 shows a worksheet that uses formulas to calculate an amortization schedule.

## FIGURE 15.5

A loan amortization schedule.

	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	Н
1	Loan Amount:	\$18,500.00						
2	Annual Interest Rate:	7.25%						
3	Pmt. Period (months):	1						
4	Number of Periods:	36						
5								
6			Loai	n Amortiz	ation Sche	dule		
7	Payment Period	Payment Amount	Cumulative Payments	Interest	Cumulative Interest	Principal	Cumulative Principal	Principal Balance
8								\$18,500.00
9	1	\$573.34	\$573.34	\$111.77	\$111.77	\$461.57	\$461.57	\$18,038.43
10	2	\$573.34	\$1,146.69	\$108.98	\$220.75	\$464.36	\$925.93	17,574.07
11	3	\$573.34	\$1,720.03	\$106.18	\$326.93	\$467.17	\$1,393.10	17,106.90
12	4	\$573.34	\$2,293.37	\$103.35	\$430.28	\$469.99	\$1,863.09	16,636.91
13	5	\$573.34	\$2,866.72	\$100.51	\$530.80	\$472.83	\$2,335.92	16,164.08
14	6	\$573.34	\$3,440.06	\$97.66	\$628.46	\$475.69	\$2,811.60	15,688.40
15	7	\$573.34	\$4,013.40	\$94.78	\$723.24	\$478.56	\$3,290.16	15,209.84
16	8	\$573.34	\$4,586.75	\$91.89	\$815.13	\$481.45	\$3,771.61	14,728.39
17	9	\$573.34	\$5,160.09	\$88.98	\$904.12	\$484.36	\$4,255.97	14,244.03
18	10	\$573.34	\$5,733.43	\$86.06	\$990.18	\$487.29	\$4,743.26	13,756.74
19	11	\$573.34	\$6,306.78	\$83.11	\$1,073.29	\$490.23	\$5,233.49	13,266.51
20	12	\$573.34	\$6,880.12	\$80.15	\$1,153.44	\$493.19	\$5,726.68	12,773.32
21	13	\$573.34	\$7,453.46	\$77.17	\$1,230.61	\$496.17	\$6,222.85	12,277.15
22	14	\$5/3.34	\$8,026.81	\$/4.1/	\$1,304.79	\$499.17	\$0,722.02	11,777.98
23	15	\$5/3.34	\$8,000.15	\$/1.16	\$1,375.95	\$502.18	\$7,224.20	10,275.80
24	10	\$573.34	\$9 746 84	\$65.07	\$1,444.07	\$508.22	\$8,237,69	10,770.38
~	17	JJ75.34	\$5,740.04	\$55.07	\$1,505.14	5008.27	<i>vo</i> ,237.03	10,202.51

## On the CD

This workbook available on the companion CD-ROM. The file is named loan amortization schedule .xlsx.

The loan parameters are entered into B1:B4, and the formulas beginning in row 9 use these values for the calculations. Table 15.2 shows the formulas in row 9 of the schedule. These formulas were copied down to row 488. Therefore, the worksheet can calculate amortization schedules for a loan with as many as 480 payment periods (40 years of monthly payments).

## Note

Formulas in the rows that extend beyond the number of payments return an error value. The worksheet uses conditional formatting to hide the data in these rows. See Chapter 20 for more information about conditional formatting. ■

#### **TABLE 15.2**

## Formulas Used to Calculate an Amortization Schedule

Cell	Formula	Description
A9	=A8+1	Returns the payment number
B9	=PMT(\$B\$2*(\$B\$3/12),\$B\$4,-\$B\$1)	Calculates the periodic payment amount
С9	=C8+B9	Calculates the cumulative payment amounts
D9	=IPMT(\$B\$2*(\$B\$3/12),A9,\$B\$4,-\$B\$1)	Calculates the interest portion of the periodic payment
E9	=E8+D9	Calculates the cumulative interest paid
F9	=PPMT(\$B\$2*(\$B\$3/12),A9,\$B\$4,-\$B\$1)	Calculates the principal portion of the periodic payment
G9	=G8+F9	Calculates the cumulative amount applied toward principal
H9	=H8-F9	Returns the principal balance at the end of the period

## Summarizing loan options by using a data table

The Excel Data Table feature is probably one of the most underutilized tools in Excel. Keep in mind that a data table is not the same as a table (created with Insert 🖒 Tables 🏳 Table). A data table is a handy way to summarize calculations that depend on one or two "changing" cells. In this example, I use a data table to summarize various loan options. This section describes how to create one-way and two-way data tables.

## **Cross-Reference**

See Chapter 36 for more information about setting up data tables. ■

## On the CD

A workbook that demonstrates one- and two-way data tables is available on the companion CD-ROM. The file is named loan data tables.xlsx.

## Creating a one-way data table

A *one-way data table* shows the results of any number of calculations for different values of a single input cell.

Figure 15.6 shows a one-way data table (in B10:I13) that displays three calculations (payment amount, total payments, and total interest) for a loan, using seven interest rates ranging from 7.00 percent to 8.50 percent. In this example, the input cell is cell B2.

Using a one-way data table to display three loan calculations for various interest rates.

	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	Н	I
1	Loan Amount:	\$10,000.00							
2	Annual Interest Rate:	7.25%							
3	Pmt. Period (months):	1							
4	Number of Periods:	36							
5									
6	Payment Amount:	\$309.92							
7	Total Payments:	\$11,156.95							
8	Total Interest:	\$1,156.95							
9									
10			7.00%	7.25%	7.50%	7.75%	8.00%	8.25%	8.50%
11	Payment Amount:	\$309.92	\$308.77	\$309.92	\$311.06	\$312.21	\$313.36	\$314.52	\$315.68
12	Total Payments:	\$11,156.95	\$11,115.75	\$11,156.95	\$11,198.24	\$11,239.62	\$11,281.09	\$11,322.66	\$11,364.31
13	Total Interest:	\$1,156.95	\$1,115.75	\$1,156.95	\$1,198.24	\$1,239.62	\$1,281.09	\$1,322.66	\$1,364.31
14									

To create this one-way data table, follow these steps:

- **1.** Enter the formulas that return the results for use in the data table. In this example, the formulas are in B6:B8.
- **2.** Enter various values for a single input cell in successive columns. In this example, the input value is interest rate, and the values for various interest rates appear in C10:110.
- **3.** Create a reference to the formula cells in the column to the left of the input values. In this example, the range B11:B13 contains simple formulas that reference other cells. For example, cell B11 contains the following formula:

=Вб

- **4.** Select the rectangular range that contains the entries from the previous steps. In this example, select B10:I13.
- 5. Choose Data ⇔ Data Tools ⇔ What-If Analysis ⇔ Data Table. Excel displays the Data Table dialog box, shown in Figure 15.7.

#### FIGURE 15.7

The Data Table dialog box.

Data Table	? 🗙
Row input cell:	\$B\$2
<u>C</u> olumn input cell:	EK:
ОК	Cancel

- 6. For the Row input cell field, specify the cell reference that corresponds to the variable in your Data Table column header row. In this example, the Row input cell is B2.
- **7.** Leave the Column input cell field empty. The Column input field is used for two-way data tables, described in the next section.

- **8.** Click OK. Excel inserts an array formula that uses the TABLE function with a single argument.
- **9.** (**Optional**) Format the data table. For example, you may want to apply shading to the row and column headers.

Note that the array formula is not entered into the entire range that you selected in Step 4. The first column and first row of your selection are not changed.

## Tip

When you create a data table, the leftmost column of the data table (the column that contains the references entered in Step 3) contains the calculated values for the input cell. In this example, those values are repeated in column D. You may want to hide the values in column B by making the font color the same color as the background. ■

## Creating a two-way data table

A *two-way data table* shows the results of a single calculation for different values of two input cells. Figure 15.8 shows a two-way data table (in B10:I16) that displays a calculation (payment amount) for a loan, using seven interest rates and six loan amounts.

To create this two-way data table, follow these steps:

- **1.** Enter a formula that returns the results that will be used in the data table. In this example, the formula is in cell B6. The formulas in B7:B8 are not used.
- **2.** Enter various values for the first input in successive columns. In this example, the first input value is interest rate, and the values for various interest rates appear in C10:110.

## FIGURE 15.8

Using a two-way data table to display payment amounts for various loan amounts and interest rates.

	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	Н	I.
1	Loan Amount:	\$10,000.00							
2	Annual Interest Rate:	7.25%							
3	Pmt. Period (months):	1							
4	Number of Periods:	36							
5									
6	Payment Amount:	\$309.92							
7	Total Payments:	\$11,156.95							
8	Total Interest:	\$1,156.95							
-					Interest Rat	ρ			
9									
9 10		\$309.92	7.00%	7.25%	7.50%	7.75%	8.00%	8.25%	8.50%
9 10 11		\$309.92 <b>\$9,000.00</b>	7.00% \$277.89	7.25% \$278.92	7.50% \$279.96	7.75% \$280.99	8.00% \$282.03	8.25% \$283.07	8.50% \$284.11
9 10 11 12	unt	\$309.92 <b>\$9,000.00</b> <b>\$9,500.00</b>	7.00% \$277.89 \$293.33	7.25% \$278.92 \$294.42	7.50% \$279.96 \$295.51	7.75% \$280.99 \$296.60	8.00% \$282.03 \$297.70	8.25% \$283.07 \$298.79	8.50% \$284.11 \$299.89
9 10 11 12 13	mount	\$309.92 \$9,000.00 \$9,500.00 \$10,000.00	7.00% \$277.89 \$293.33 \$308.77	7.25% \$278.92 \$294.42 \$309.92	7.50% \$279.96 \$295.51 \$311.06	7.75% \$280.99 \$296.60 \$312.21	8.00% \$282.03 \$297.70 \$313.36	8.25% \$283.07 \$298.79 \$314.52	8.50% \$284.11 \$299.89 \$315.68
9 10 11 12 13 14	n Amount	\$309.92 \$9,000.00 \$9,500.00 \$10,000.00 \$10,500.00	7.00% \$277.89 \$293.33 \$308.77 \$324.21	7.25% \$278.92 \$294.42 \$309.92 \$325.41	7.50% \$279.96 \$295.51 \$311.06 \$326.62	7.75% \$280.99 \$296.60 \$312.21 \$327.82	8.00% \$282.03 \$297.70 \$313.36 \$329.03	8.25% \$283.07 \$298.79 \$314.52 \$330.24	8.50% \$284.11 \$299.89 \$315.68 \$331.46
9 10 11 12 13 14 15	loan Amount	\$309.92 \$9,000.00 \$9,500.00 \$10,000.00 \$10,500.00 \$11,000.00	7.00% \$277.89 \$293.33 \$308.77 \$324.21 \$339.65	7.25% \$278.92 \$294.42 \$309.92 \$325.41 \$340.91	7.50% \$279.96 \$295.51 \$311.06 \$326.62 \$342.17	7.75% \$280.99 \$296.60 \$312.21 \$327.82 \$343.43	8.00% \$282.03 \$297.70 \$313.36 \$329.03 \$344.70	8.25% \$283.07 \$298.79 \$314.52 \$330.24 \$345.97	8.50% \$284.11 \$299.89 \$315.68 \$331.46 \$347.24
9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16	Loan Amount	\$309.92 \$9,000.00 \$9,500.00 \$10,000.00 \$10,500.00 \$11,000.00 \$11,500.00	7.00% \$277.89 \$293.33 \$308.77 \$324.21 \$339.65 \$355.09	7.25% \$278.92 \$294.42 \$309.92 \$325.41 \$340.91 \$356.40	7.50% \$279.96 \$295.51 \$311.06 \$326.62 \$342.17 \$357.72	7.75% \$280.99 \$296.60 \$312.21 \$327.82 \$343.43 \$359.04	8.00% \$282.03 \$297.70 \$313.36 \$329.03 \$344.70 \$360.37	8.25% \$283.07 \$298.79 \$314.52 \$330.24 \$345.97 \$361.70	8.50% \$284.11 \$299.89 \$315.68 \$331.46 \$347.24 \$363.03

- **3.** Enter various values for the second input cell in successive rows, to the left and below the input values for the first input. In this example, the second input value is the loan amount, and the values for various loan amounts are in B11:B16.
- **4.** Create a reference to the formula that will be calculated in the table. This reference goes in the upper-left corner of the data table range. In this example, cell B10 contains the following formula:

=Вб

- **5.** Select the rectangular range that contains the entries from the previous steps. In this example, select B10:116.
- **6.** Choose Data ↔ Data Tools ↔ What-If Analysis ↔ Data Table. Excel displays the Data Table dialog box. (Refer to Figure 15.7.)
- **7.** For the Row Input Cell field, specify the cell reference that corresponds to the first input cell. In this example, the Row Input cell is B2.
- **8.** For the Column Input Cell field, specify the cell reference that corresponds to the second input cell. In this example, the ColumnInput cell is B1.
- **9.** Click OK. Excel inserts an array formula that uses the TABLE function with two arguments.

After you create the two-way data table, you can change the calculated cell by changing the cell reference in the upper-left cell of the data table. In this example, you can change the formula in cell B10 to =B8 so that the data table displays total interest rather than payment amounts.

## Tip

If you create very large data tables, the calculation speed of your workbook may be slowed down. Excel has a special calculation mode for calculation-intensive data tables. To change the calculation mode, choose Formulas 
Calculation Calculation Options 
Automatic Except For Data Tables.

## Calculating a loan with irregular payments

So far, the loan calculation examples in this chapter have involved loans with regular periodic payments. In some cases, loan payback is irregular. For example, you may loan some money to a friend without a formal agreement as to how he will pay the money back. You still collect interest on the loan, so you need a way to perform the calculations based on the actual payment dates.

Figure 15.9 shows a worksheet set up to keep track of such a loan. The annual interest rate for the loan is stored in cell B1 (named *APR*). The original loan amount and loan date are stored in row 5. Formulas, beginning in row 6, track the irregular loan payments and perform calculations.

This worksheet tracks loan payments that are made on an irregular basis.

	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	Н
1	Interest Rate (APR):	6.50%						
2								
3								
	Payment	Payment	Payment	Amount to	Amount to	Cumulative	Cumulative	Loan
4	Number	Amount	Date	Interest	Principal	Payments	Interest	Balance
5	Original Loan	(\$10,000.00)	06/08/08					\$10,000.00
6	1	\$200.00	07/25/08	\$83.70	\$116.30	\$200.00	\$83.70	\$9,883.70
7	2	\$200.00	08/09/08	\$26.40	\$173.60	\$400.00	\$110.10	\$9,710.10
8	3	\$200.00	09/24/08	\$79.54	\$120.46	\$600.00	\$189.64	\$9,589.64
9	4	\$100.00	12/09/08	\$129.79	(\$29.79)	\$700.00	\$319.43	\$9,619.43
10	5	\$250.00	01/19/09	\$70.24	\$179.76	\$950.00	\$389.67	\$9,439.67
11	Addition to Principal	(\$500.00)	02/01/09	\$21.85	(\$521.85)	\$450.00	\$411.52	\$9,961.52
12	6	\$200.00	02/11/09	\$17.74	\$182.26	\$650.00	\$429.26	\$9,779.26
13	7	\$100.00	02/27/09	\$27.86	\$72.14	\$750.00	\$457.12	\$9,707.12
14	8	\$1,000.00	03/08/09	\$15.56	\$984.44	\$1,750.00	\$472.68	\$8,722.68
15	9	\$250.00	03/23/09	\$23.30	\$226.70	\$2,000.00	\$495.98	\$8,495.98
16	10	\$200.00	04/09/09	\$25.72	\$174.28	\$2,200.00	\$521.70	\$8,321.70
17	11	\$200.00	04/26/09	\$25.19	\$174.81	\$2,400.00	\$546.90	\$8,146.90
18	12	\$1,000.00	05/11/09	\$21.76	\$978.24	\$3,400.00	\$568.66	\$7,168.66
19	13	\$100.00	05/23/09	\$15.32	\$84.68	\$3,500.00	\$583.98	\$7,083.98
20	14	\$200.00	06/09/09	\$21.45	\$178.55	\$3,700.00	\$605.42	\$6,905.42
21	15	\$200.00	06/26/09	\$20.91	\$179.09	\$3,900.00	\$626.33	\$6,726.33
22	16	\$100.00	07/12/09	\$19.17	\$80.83	\$4,000.00	\$645.49	\$6,645.49
23	17	\$100.00	07/22/09	\$11.83	\$88.17	\$4,100.00	\$657.33	\$6,557.33
24	Addition to Principal	(\$500.00)	09/08/09	\$56.05	(\$556.05)	\$3,600.00	\$713.38	\$7,113.38
25	18	\$100.00	11/09/09	\$78.54	\$21.46	\$3,700.00	\$791.92	\$7,091.92
26	19	\$100.00	11/22/09	\$16.42	\$83.58	\$3,800.00	\$808.34	\$7,008.34
27	20	\$200.00	12/22/09	\$37.44	\$162.56	\$4,000.00	\$845.78	\$6,845.78
28	21	\$750.00	01/12/10	\$25.60	\$724.40	\$4,750.00	\$871.38	\$6,121.38
29	22	\$750.00	01/26/10	\$15.26	\$734.74	\$5,500.00	\$886.64	\$5,386.64
30	23	\$750.00	02/12/10	\$16.31	\$733.69	\$6,250.00	\$902.95	\$4,652.95
31	24							

Column B stores the payment amount made on the date in column C. Notice that the payments are not made on a regular basis. Also, notice that in two cases (row 11 and row 24), the payment amount is negative. These entries represent additional borrowed money added to the loan balance. Formulas in columns D and E calculate the amount of the payment credited toward interest and principal. Columns F and G keep a running tally of the cumulative payments and interest amounts. Formulas in column H compute the new loan balance after each payment. Table 15.3 lists and describes the formulas in row 6. Note that each formula uses an IF function to determine whether the payment date in column C is missing. If so, the formula returns an empty string, so no data appears in the cell.

## **TABLE 15.3**

## Formulas to Calculate a Loan with Irregular Payments

Cell	Formula	Description
D6	=IF(C6<>"",(C6- C5)/365*H5*APR,"")	The formula calculates the interest, based on the payment date.
E6	=IF(C6<>"",B6-D6,"")	The formula subtracts the interest amount from the payment to calculate the amount credited to principal.

Cell	Formula	Description
F6	=IF(C6<>"",F5+B6,"")	The formula adds the payment amount to the running total.
G6	=IF(C6<>"",G5+D6,"")	The formula adds the interest to the running total.
H6	=IF(C6<>"",H5-E6,"")	The formula calculates the new loan balance by subtracting the principal amount from the previous loan balance.

## On the CD

This workbook is available on the companion CD-ROM. The file name is irregular payments.xlsx.

## **Investment Calculations**

Investment calculations involve calculating interest on fixed-rate investments, such as bank savings accounts, CDs, and annuities. You can make these interest calculations for investments that consist of a single deposit or multiple deposits.

## On the CD

The companion CD-ROM contains a workbook with all the interest calculation examples in this section. The file is named investment calculations.xlsx.

## Future value of a single deposit

Many investments consist of a single deposit that earns interest over the term of the investment. This section describes calculations for simple interest and compound interest.

## Calculating simple interest

*Simple interest* refers to the fact that interest payments are not compounded. The basic formula for computing interest is

Interest = Principal \* Rate \* Term

For example, suppose that you deposit \$1,000 into a bank CD that pays a 3 percent simple annual interest rate. After one year, the CD matures, and you withdraw your money. The bank adds \$30, and you walk away with \$1,030. In this case, the interest earned is calculated by multiplying the principal (\$1,000) by the interest rate (.03) by the term (one year).

If the investment term is less than one year, the simple interest rate is adjusted accordingly, based on the term. For example, \$1,000 invested in a six-month CD that pays 3 percent simple annual interest earns \$15.00 when the CD matures. In this case, the annual interest rate multiplies by 6/12.

Figure 15.10 shows a worksheet set up to make simple interest calculations. The formula in cell B7, shown here, calculates the interest due at the end of the term:

=B3\*B4\*B5

The formula in B8 simply adds the interest to the original investment amount.

#### FIGURE 15.10

This worksheet calculates simple interest payments.

	A	В	С	
1	Simple Interest Calculation			
2				
3	Investment amount:	\$1,000.00		
4	Annual interest rate:	3.00%		
5	Investment term (years):	1		
6				
7	Interest:	\$30.00		
8	Investment at the end of the term	\$1,030.00		
9				

## **Calculating compound interest**

Most fixed-term investments pay interest by using some type of compound interest calculation. *Compound interest* refers to interest credited to the investment balance, and the investment then earns interest on the interest.

For example, suppose that you deposit \$1,000 into a bank CD that pays 3 percent annual interest rate, compounded monthly. Each month, the interest is calculated on the balance, and that amount is credited to your account. The next month's interest calculation will be based on a higher amount because it also includes the previous month's interest payment. One way to calculate the final investment amount involves a series of formulas (see Figure 15.11).

Column B contains formulas to calculate the interest for one month. For example, the formula in B10 is

```
=C9*($B$5*(1/12))
```

The formulas in column C simply add the monthly interest amount to the balance. For example, the formula in C10 is

=C9+B10

At the end of the 12-month term, the CD balance is \$1,030.42. In other words, monthly compounding results in an additional \$0.42 (compared with simple interest).

Using a series of formulas to calculate compound interest.

	A	В	С	
1	<b>Compound Interest</b>	Calculation		
2	Monthly compounding			
3				
4	Investment amount:	\$1,000.00		
5	Annual interest rate:	3.00%		
6	Investment term (months):	12		
7				
8	Month	Interest Earned	Balance	
9	Beginning Balance		\$1,000.00	
10	1	\$2.50	\$1,002.50	
11	2	\$2.51	\$1,005.01	
12	3	\$2.51	\$1,007.52	
13	4	\$2.52	\$1,010.04	
14	5	\$2.53	\$1,012.56	
15	6	\$2.53	\$1,015.09	
16	7	\$2.54	\$1,017.63	
17	8	\$2.54	\$1,020.18	
18	9	\$2.55	\$1,022.73	
19	10	\$2.56	\$1,025.28	
20	11	\$2.56	\$1,027.85	
21	12	\$2.57	\$1,030.42	
22				

You can use the FV (Future Value) function to calculate the final investment amount without using a series of formulas. Figure 15.12 shows a worksheet set up to calculate compound interest. Cell B6 is an input cell that holds the number of compounding periods per year. For monthly compounding, the value in B6 would be 12. For quarterly compounding, the value would be 4. For daily compounding, the value would be 365. Cell B7 holds the term of the investment expressed in years.

#### **FIGURE 15.12**

Using a single formula to calculate compound interest.

	A	В				
1	<b>Compound Interest Calculation</b>					
2	Single formula general solution					
3						
4	Investment amount:	\$5,000.00				
5	Annual interest rate:	4.25%				
6	Compounding periods/year	4				
7	Term (years)	3				
8						
9	Periodic interest rate:	1.06%				
10	Investment value at end of term:	\$5,676.11				
11	Total interest earned:	\$676.11				
12						
13	Annual yield:	4.51%				
14						
15						

Cell B9 contains the following formula that calculates the periodic interest rate. This value is the interest rate used for each compounding period.

=B5\*(1/B6)

The formula in cell B10 uses the FV function to calculate the value of the investment at the end of the term. The formula is

=FV(B9,B6\*B7,,-B4)

The first argument for the FV function is the periodic interest rate, which is calculated in cell B9. The second argument represents the total number of compounding periods. The third argument (pmt) is omitted, and the fourth argument is the original investment amount (expressed as a negative value).

The total interest is calculated with a simple formula in cell B11:

=В10-В4

Another formula, in cell B13, calculates the annual yield on the investment:

=(B11/B4)/B7

For example, suppose that you deposit \$5,000 into a three-year CD with a 4.25 percent annual interest rate compounded quarterly. In this case, the investment has four compounding periods per year, so you enter **4** into cell B6. The term is three years, so you enter **3** into cell B7. The formula in B10 returns \$5,676.11.

Perhaps you want to see how this rate stacks up against a competitor's account that offers daily compounding. Figure 15.13 shows a calculation with daily compounding, using a \$5,000 investment (compare this with Figure 15.12). As you can see, the difference is very small (\$679.88 versus \$676.11). Over a period of three years, the account with daily compounding earns a total of \$3.77 more interest. In terms of annual yield, quarterly compounding earns 4.51%, and daily compounding earns 4.53%.

## Calculating interest with continuous compounding

The term *continuous compounding* refers to interest that is accumulated continuously. In other words, the investment has an infinite number of compounding periods per year. The following formula calculates the future value of a \$5,000 investment at 4.25 percent compounded continuously for three years:

=5000\*EXP(4.25%\*3)

The formula returns \$5,679.92, which is an additional \$0.04 compared with daily compounding.

Calculating interest by using daily compounding.

	A	В	
1	<b>Compound Interest Calculation</b>		
2	Single formula general solution		
3			
4	Investment amount:	\$5,000.00	
5	Annual interest rate:	4.25%	
6	Compounding periods/year	365	
7	Term (years)	3	
8			
9	Periodic interest rate:	0.01%	
10	Investment value at end of term:	\$5,679.88	
11	Total interest earned:	\$679.88	
12			
13	Annual yield:	4.53%	
14			

## Note

You can calculate compound interest without using the FV function. The general formula to calculate compound interest is

Principal \* (1 + periodic rate) ^ number of periods

For example, consider a five-year, \$5,000 investment that earns an annual interest rate of 4 percent, compounded monthly. The formula to calculate the future value of this investment is

```
=5000*(1+4%/12)^(12*5)
```

## The Rule of 72\_

Need to make an investment decision, but don't have a computer handy? You can use the *Rule of 72* to determine the number of years required to double your money at a particular interest rate, using annual compounding. Just divide 72 by the interest rate. For example, consider a \$10,000 investment at 4 percent interest. How many years will it take to turn that 10 grand into 20 grand? Take 72, divide it by 4, and you get 18 years. What if you can get a 5 percent interest rate? If so, you can double your money in a little over 14 years.

How accurate is the Rule of 72? The table that follows shows Rule of 72 estimated values versus the actual values for various interest rates. As you can see, this simple rule is remarkably accurate. However, for interest rates that exceed 30 percent, the accuracy drops off considerably.

continued

continued

Interest Rate	Rule of 72	Actual	
1%	72.00	69.66	
2%	36.00	35.00	
3%	24.00	23.45	
4%	18.00	17.67	
5%	14.40	14.21	
6%	12.00	11.90	
7%	10.29	10.24	
8%	9.00	9.01	
9%	8.00	8.04	
10%	7.20	7.27	
15%	4.80	4.96	
20%	3.60	3.80	
25%	2.88	3.11	
30%	2.40	2.64	

The Rule of 72 also works in reverse. For example, if you want to double your money in six years, divide 6 into 72; you'll discover that you need to find an investment that pays an annual interest rate of about 12 percent. Good luck.

## Future value of a series of deposits

Now, consider another type of investment, one in which you make a regular series of deposits into an account. This type of investment is known as an *annuity*.

The worksheet functions discussed in the "Loan Calculations" section earlier in this chapter also apply to annuities, but you need to use the perspective of a lender, not a borrower. A simple example of this type of investment is a holiday club savings program offered by some banking institutions. A fixed amount is deducted from each of your paychecks and deposited into an interest-earning account. At the end of the year, you withdraw the money (with accumulated interest) to use for holiday expenses.

Suppose that you deposit \$200 at the beginning of each month (for 12 months) into an account that pays 2.5 percent annual interest compounded monthly. The following formula calculates the future value of your series of deposits:

=FV(2.5%/12,12,-200,,1)

This formula returns \$2,432.75, which represents the total of your deposits (\$2,400) plus the interest (\$32.75). The last argument for the FV function is 1, which means that you make payments at the beginning of the month. Figure 15.14 shows a worksheet set up to calculate annuities. Table 15.4 describes the contents of this sheet.

#### FIGURE 15.14

This worksheet contains formulas to calculate annuities.

	A	В
1	Annuity Calculator	
2		
3	Deposits	
4	Initial investment:	\$0.00
5	Periodic deposit amount:	\$200.00
б	No. periodic deposits per year :	12
7	Deposits made at beginning of period?	TRUE
8		
9	Investment Period	
10	Length of investment (years):	1
11		
12	Interest Rate	
13	Annual interest rate:	2.50%
14		
15	Calculations	
16	Initial investment	\$0.00
17	Additional deposits:	\$2,400.00
18	Total amount invested:	\$2,400.00
19	Periodic interest rate:	0.21%
20	Value of investment at end of term:	\$2,432.75
21	Interest earned on investment:	\$32.75
22		
23		

## On the CD

The workbook shown in Figure 15.14 is available on the companion CD-ROM. The file is named annuity calculator.xlsx.

#### **TABLE 15.4**

## The Annuity Calculator Worksheet

Cell	Formula	Description
B4	None (input cell)	Initial investment (can be 0)
B5	None (input cell)	The amount deposited on a regular basis
B6	None (input cell)	The number of deposits made in 12 months
Β7	None (input cell)	TRUE if you make deposits at the beginning of period; FALSE otherwise
B10	None (input cell)	The length of the investment, in years (can be fractional)

continued

ТАВ	TABLE 15.4   (continued)				
Cell	Formula	Description			
B13	None (input cell)	The annual interest rate			
B16	=B4	Displays the initial investment amount			
B17	=B5*B6*B10	Calculates the total of all regular deposits			
B18	=B16+B17	Adds the initial investment to the sum of the deposits			
B19	=B13*(1/B6)	Calculates the periodic interest rate			
B20	=FV(B19,B6*B10,- B5,-B4,IF(B7,1,0))	Calculates the future value of the investment			
B21	=B20-B18	Calculates the interest earned from the investment			

## **Depreciation Calculations**

Excel offers five functions to calculate depreciation of an asset over time. Depreciating an asset places a value on the asset at a point in time, based on the original value and its useful life. The function that you choose depends on the type of *depreciation method* that you use.

Table 15.5 summarizes the Excel depreciation functions and the arguments used by each. For complete details, consult the Excel online Help system.

## **TABLE 15.5**

## **Excel Depreciation Functions**

Function	Depreciation Method	Arguments*
SLN	Straight-line. The asset depreciates by the same amount each year of its life.	Cost, Salvage, Life
DB	Declining balance. Computes depreciation at a fixed rate.	Cost, Salvage, Life, Period, [Month]
DDB	Double-declining balance. Computes depreciation at an accelerated rate. Depreciation is highest in the first period and decreases in successive periods.	Cost, Salvage, Life, Period, [Factor
Function	Depreciation Method	Arguments*
----------	---	---
SYD	Sum of the year's digits. Allocates a large depreciation in the earlier years of an asset's life.	Cost, Salvage, Life, Period
VDB	Variable-declining balance. Computes the depreciation of an asset for any period (including partial periods) using the double-declining balance method or some other method you specify.	Cost, Salvage, Life, Start _Period, End_Period, [Factor], [No Switch]

\* Arguments in brackets are optional.

Here are the arguments for the depreciation functions:

- Cost: Original cost of the asset.
- Salvage: Salvage cost of the asset after it has fully depreciated.
- Life: Number of periods over which the asset will depreciate.
- Period: Period in the life for which the calculation is being made.
- Month: Number of months in the first year; if omitted, Excel uses 12.
- Start\_Period:Starting period for the depreciation calculation.
- End\_Period: Ending period for the depreciation calculation.
- Factor: Rate at which the balance declines; if omitted, it is assumed to be 2 (that is, double-declining).
- No Switch: TRUE or FALSE. Specifies whether to switch to straight-line depreciation when depreciation is greater than the declining balance calculation.

Figure 15.15 shows depreciation calculations using the SLN, DB, DDB, and SYD functions. The asset's original cost, \$10,000, is assumed to have a useful life of 10 years, with a salvage value of \$1,000. The range labeled *Depreciation Amount* shows the annual depreciation of the asset. The range labeled *Value of Asset* shows the asset's depreciated value over its life.

## On the CD

This workbook is available on the companion CD-ROM. The file is named depreciation calculations .xlsx.

Figure 15.16 shows a chart that graphs the asset's value. As you can see, the SLN function produces a straight line; the other functions produce a curved line because the depreciation is greater in the earlier years of the asset's life.

## FIGURE 15.15

## A comparison of four depreciation functions.

	A	В	С	D	E
1	Asset:	Office Furniture			
2	Original Cost:	\$10,000			
3	Life (years):	10			
4	Salvage Value:	\$1,000			
5					
б	Depreciation Am	ount			
7	Year	SLN	DB	DDB	SYD
8	1	\$900.00	\$2,060.00	\$2,000.00	\$1,636.36
9	2	\$900.00	\$1,635.64	\$1,600.00	\$1,472.73
10	3	\$900.00	\$1,298.70	\$1,280.00	\$1,309.09
11	4	\$900.00	\$1,031.17	\$1,024.00	\$1,145.45
12	5	\$900.00	\$818.75	\$819.20	\$981.82
13	6	\$900.00	\$650.08	\$655.36	\$818.18
14	7	\$900.00	\$516.17	\$524.29	\$654.55
15	8	\$900.00	\$409.84	\$419.43	\$490.91
16	9	\$900.00	\$325.41	\$335.54	\$327.27
17	10	\$900.00	\$258.38	\$268.44	\$163.64
18	-				
19	-				
20	Value of Asset				
21	Year	SLN	DB	DDB	SYD
22	0	\$10,000.00	\$10,000.00	\$10,000.00	\$10,000.00
23	1	\$9,100.00	\$7,940.00	\$8,000.00	\$8,363.64
24	2	\$8,200.00	\$6,304.36	\$6,400.00	\$6,890.91
25	3	\$7,300.00	\$5,005.66	\$5,120.00	\$5,581.82
26	4	\$6,400.00	\$3,974.50	\$4,096.00	\$4,436.36
27	5	\$5,500.00	\$3,155.75	\$3,276.80	\$3,454.55
28	6	\$4,600.00	\$2,505.67	\$2,621.44	\$2,636.36
29	7	\$3,700.00	\$1,989.50	\$2,097.15	\$1,981.82
30	8	\$2,800.00	\$1,579.66	\$1,677.72	\$1,490.91
31	9	\$1,900.00	\$1,254.25	\$1,342.18	\$1,163.64
32	10	\$1,000.00	\$995.88	\$1,073.74	\$1,000.00

## FIGURE 15.16

This chart shows an asset's value over time, using four depreciation functions.



The VBD function is useful if you need to calculate depreciation for multiple periods (for example, years 2 and 3). Figure 15.17 shows a worksheet set up to calculate depreciation using the VBD function. The formula in cell B11 is

=VDB(B2,B4,B3,B6,B7,B8,B9)

## FIGURE 15.17

Using the VBD function to calculate depreciation for multiple periods.

	A	В	
1	Asset:	Office Furniture	
2	Original Cost:	\$10,000	
3	Life (years):	10	
4	Salvage Value:	\$1,000	
5			
6	Starting Period:	0	
7	Ending Period:	3	
8	Factor:	2	
9	No-Switch:	TRUE	
10			
11	Depreciation:	\$4,880.00	
12			

The formula displays the depreciation for the first three years of an asset (starting period of 0 and ending period of 3).

# CHAPTER ]\_\_\_\_\_\_

# Introducing Array Formulas

ne of Excel's most interesting (and most powerful) features is its ability to work with arrays in formulas. When you understand this concept, you'll be able to create elegant formulas that appear to perform spreadsheet magic.

This chapter introduces the concept of arrays and is required reading for anyone who wants to become a master of Excel formulas. Chapter 17 continues with lots of useful examples.

# On the CD

Most of the examples in this chapter are available on the companion CD-ROM. The filename is array examples.xlsx.

# **Understanding Array Formulas**

If you do any computer programming, you've probably been exposed to the concept of an array. An *array* is simply a collection of items operated on collectively or individually. In Excel, an array can be one dimensional or two dimensional. These dimensions correspond to rows and columns. For example, a *one-dimensional array* can be stored in a range that consists of one row (a horizontal array) or one column (a vertical array). A *two-dimensional array* can be stored in a rectangular range of cells. Excel doesn't support three-dimensional arrays (but its VBA programming language does).

As you'll see, arrays need not be stored in cells. You can also work with arrays that exist only in Excel's memory. You can then use an *array formula* to manipulate this information and return a result. An array formula can occupy multiple cells or reside in a single cell.

# **IN THIS CHAPTER**

The definition of an array and an array formula

One-dimensional versus twodimensional arrays

How to work with array constants

Techniques for working with array formulas

Examples of multicell array formulas

Examples of array formulas that occupy a single cell

This section presents two array formula examples: an array formula that occupies multiple cells and another array formula that occupies only one cell.

# A multicell array formula

Figure 16.1 shows a simple worksheet set up to calculate product sales. Normally, you'd calculate the value in column D (total sales per product) with a formula such as the one that follows, and then you'd copy this formula down the column.

=B2\*C2

After copying the formula, the worksheet contains six formulas in column D.

## FIGURE 16.1

Column D contains formulas to calculate the total for each product.

	A	В	С	D	E
1	Product	Units Sold	Unit Price	Total	
2	AR-998	3	\$50	\$150	
3	BZ-011	10	\$100	\$1,000	
4	MR-919	5	\$20	\$100	
5	TR-811	9	\$10	\$90	
6	TS-333	3	\$60	\$180	
7	ZL-001	1	\$200	\$200	
8					
	1				

An alternative method uses a *single* formula (an array formula) to calculate all six values in D2:D7. This single formula occupies six cells and returns an array of six values.

To create a single array formula to perform the calculations, follow these steps:

- 1. Select a range to hold the results. In this case, the range is D2:D7. Because you can't display more than one value in a single cell, six cells are required to display the resulting array so you select six cells to make this array work.
- 2. Type the following formula:

=B2:B7\*C2:C7

**3.** Press Ctrl+Shift+Enter to enter the formula. Normally, you press Enter to enter a formula. Because this is an array formula, however, press Ctrl+Shift+Enter.

## Caution

You can't insert a multicell array formula into a range that has been designated a table (using Insert ↔ Tables ↔ Table). In addition, you can't convert a range that contains a multicell array formula to a table.

The formula is entered into all six selected cells. If you examine the Formula bar, you see the following:

{=B2:B7\*C2:C7}

Excel places curly brackets around the formula to indicate that it's an array formula.

This formula performs its calculations and returns a six-item array. The array formula actually works with two other arrays, both of which happen to be stored in ranges. The values for the first array are stored in B2:B7, and the values for the second array are stored in C2:C7.

This array formula returns exactly the same values as these six normal formulas entered into individual cells in D2:D7:

```
=B2*C2
=B3*C3
=B4*C4
=B5*C5
=B6*C6
=B7*C7
```

Using a single array formula rather than individual formulas does offer a few advantages:

- It's a good way to ensure that all formulas in a range are identical.
- Using a multicell array formula makes it less likely that you'll overwrite a formula accidentally. You can't change one cell in a multicell array formula. Excel displays an error message if you attempt to do so.
- Using a multicell array formula will almost certainly prevent novices from tampering with your formulas.

Using a multicell array formula as described in the preceding list also has some potential disadvantages:

- It's impossible to insert a new row into the range. But in some cases, the inability to insert a row is a positive feature. For example, you might not want users to add rows because it would affect other parts of the worksheet.
- If you add new data to the bottom of the range, you need to modify the array formula to accommodate the new data.

# A single-cell array formula

Now it's time to take a look at a single-cell array formula. Check out Figure 16.2, which is similar to Figure 16.1. Notice, however, that the formulas in column D have been deleted. The goal is to calculate the sum of the total product sales without using the individual calculations that were in column D.

## FIGURE 16.2

The array formula in cell C9 calculates the total sales without using intermediate formulas.

	A	В	С	D
1	Product	Units Sold	Unit Price	
2	AR-998	3	\$50	
3	BZ-011	10	\$100	
4	MR-919	5	\$20	
5	TR-811	9	\$10	
6	TS-333	3	\$60	
7	ZL-001	1	\$200	
8				
9		Total Sales:	\$1,720	
10				

The following array formula is in cell C9:

```
{=SUM(B2:B7*C2:C7)}
```

When you enter this formula, make sure that you use Ctrl+Shift+Enter (and don't type the curly brackets because Excel automatically adds them for you).

This formula works with two arrays, both of which are stored in cells. The first array is stored in B2:B7, and the second array is stored in C2:C7. The formula multiplies the corresponding values in these two arrays and creates a new array (which exists only in memory). The SUM function then operates on this new array and returns the sum of its values.

## Note

In this case, you can use the SUMPRODUCT function to obtain the same result without using an array formula:

```
=SUMPRODUCT (B2:B7,C2:C7)
```

As you see, however, array formulas allow many other types of calculations that are otherwise not possible.

# Creating an array constant

The examples in the preceding section used arrays stored in worksheet ranges. The examples in this section demonstrate an important concept: An array need not be stored in a range of cells. This type of array, which is stored in memory, is referred to as an *array constant*.

To create an array constant, list its items and surround them with brackets. Here's an example of a five-item horizontal array constant:

 $\{1, 0, 1, 0, 1\}$ 

The following formula uses the SUM function, with the preceding array constant as its argument. The formula returns the sum of the values in the array (which is 3):

=SUM({1,0,1,0,1})

Notice that this formula uses an array, but the formula itself isn't an array formula. Therefore, you don't use Ctrl+Shift+Enter to enter the formula — although entering it as an array formula will still produce the same result.

## Note

When you specify an array directly (as shown previously), you must provide the curly brackets around the array elements. When you enter an array formula, on the other hand, you do not supply the brackets.

At this point, you probably don't see any advantage to using an array constant. The following formula, for example, returns the same result as the previous formula. The advantages, however, will become apparent.

=SUM(1,0,1,0,1)

This formula uses two array constants:

=SUM({1,2,3,4}\*{5,6,7,8})

This formula creates a new array (in memory) that consists of the product of the corresponding elements in the two arrays. The new array is

 $\{5, 12, 21, 32\}$ 

This new array is then used as an argument for the SUM function, which returns the result (70). The formula is equivalent to the following formula, which doesn't use arrays:

=SUM(1\*5,2\*6,3\*7,4\*8)

Alternatively, you can use the SUMPRODUCT function. The formula that follows is not an array formula, but it uses two array constants as its arguments.

=SUMPRODUCT({1,2,3,4},{5,6,7,8})

A formula can work with both an array constant and an array stored in a range. The following formula, for example, returns the sum of the values in A1:D1, each multiplied by the corresponding element in the array constant:

=SUM((A1:D1\*{1,2,3,4}))

This formula is equivalent to

=SUM(A1\*1,B1\*2,C1\*3,D1\*4)

## Array constant elements

An array constant can contain numbers, text, logical values (TRUE or FALSE), and even error values, such as #N/A. Numbers can be in integer, decimal, or scientific format. You must enclose text in double quotation marks. You can use different types of values in the same array constant, as in this example:

{1,2,3,TRUE,FALSE,TRUE,"Moe","Larry","Curly"}

An array constant can't contain formulas, functions, or other arrays. Numeric values can't contain dollar signs, commas, parentheses, or percent signs. For example, the following is an invalid array constant:

{SQRT(32), \$56.32, 12.5%}

# **Understanding the Dimensions of an Array**

As stated previously, an array can be one dimensional or two dimensional. A one-dimensional array's orientation can be horizontal (corresponding to a single row) or vertical (corresponding to a single column).

# **One-dimensional horizontal arrays**

The elements in a one-dimensional horizontal array are separated by commas, and the array can be displayed in a row of cells. The following example is a one-dimensional horizontal array constant:

 $\{1, 2, 3, 4, 5\}$ 

Displaying this array in a range requires five consecutive cells in a row. To enter this array into a range, select a range of cells that consists of one row and five columns. Then enter  $=\{1,2,3,4,5\}$  and press Ctrl+Shift+Enter.

## Note

If you enter this array into a horizontal range that consists of more than five cells, the extra cells will contain #N/A (which denotes unavailable values). If you enter this array into a vertical range of cells, only the first item (1) will appear in each cell.

The following example is another horizontal array; it has seven elements and is made up of text strings:

{"Sun", "Mon", "Tue", "Wed", "Thu", "Fri", "Sat"}

To enter this array, select seven cells in a row and type the following (followed by Ctrl+Shift+Enter):

```
={"Sun", "Mon", "Tue", "Wed", "Thu", "Fri", "Sat"}
```

# **One-dimensional vertical arrays**

The elements in a one-dimensional vertical array are separated by semicolons, and the array can be displayed in a column of cells. The following is a six-element vertical array constant:

 $\{10; 20; 30; 40; 50; 60\}$ 

Displaying this array in a range requires six cells in a column. To enter this array into a range, select a range of cells that consists of six rows and one column. Then enter the following formula, followed by Ctrl+Shift+Enter:

 $= \{10; 20; 30; 40; 50; 60\}$ 

The following is another example of a vertical array; this one has four elements:

{ "Widgets"; "Sprockets"; "Doodads"; "Thingamajigs" }

## **Two-dimensional arrays**

A two-dimensional array uses commas to separate its horizontal elements and semicolons to separate its vertical elements. The following example shows a 3 × 4 array constant:

 $\{1, 2, 3, 4; 5, 6, 7, 8; 9, 10, 11, 12\}$ 

Displaying this array in a range requires 12 cells. To enter this array into a range, select a range of cells that consists of three rows and four columns. Then type the following formula, followed by Ctrl+Shift+Enter:

 $= \{1, 2, 3, 4; 5, 6, 7, 8; 9, 10, 11, 12\}$ 

Figure 16.3 shows how this array appears when entered into a range (in this case, B3:E5).

If you enter an array into a range that has more cells than array elements, Excel displays #N/A in the extra cells. Figure 16.4 shows a  $3 \times 4$  array entered into a  $10 \times 5$  cell range.

Each row of a two-dimensional array must contain the same number of items. The array that follows, for example, isn't valid, because the third row contains only three items:

 $\{1, 2, 3, 4; 5, 6, 7, 8; 9, 10, 11\}$ 

Excel doesn't allow you to enter a formula that contains an invalid array.

## FIGURE 16.3

A  $3 \times 4$  array entered into a range of cells.

	B3	•	• (0	$f_{x} = \{1, 2, 3, 4; 5, 6, 7, 8; 9, 10, 11, 12\}\}$				
	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	
1								
2								
3		1	2	3	4			
4		5	6	7	8			
5		9	10	11	12			
6								

## FIGURE 16.4

A 3  $\times$  4 array entered into a 10  $\times$  5 cell range.

	B3	•	0	fx {={1,2,3,4;5,6,7,8;9,10,11,12}}				
	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	
1								
2								
3		1	2	3	4	#N/A		
4		5	6	7	8	#N/A		
5		9	10	11	12	#N/A		
6		#N/A	#N/A	#N/A	#N/A	#N/A		
7		#N/A	#N/A	#N/A	#N/A	#N/A		
8		#N/A	#N/A	#N/A	#N/A	#N/A		
9		#N/A	#N/A	#N/A	#N/A	#N/A		
10		#N/A	#N/A	#N/A	#N/A	#N/A		
11		#N/A	#N/A	#N/A	#N/A	#N/A		
12		#N/A	#N/A	#N/A	#N/A	#N/A		
13								

# **Naming Array Constants**

You can create an array constant, give it a name, and then use this named array in a formula. Technically, a named array is a named formula.

## **Cross-Reference**

Chapter 3 covers the topic of names and named formulas. ■

Figure 16.5 shows a named array being created from the New Name dialog box. (Access this dialog box by choosing Formulas ↔ Defined Names ↔ Define Name.) The name of the array is *DayNames*, and it refers to the following array constant:

{"Sun", "Mon", "Tue", "Wed", "Thu", "Fri", "Sat"}

Notice that, in the New Name dialog box, the array is defined (in the Refers To field) using a leading equal sign (=). Without this equal sign, the array is interpreted as a text string rather than an

array. Also, you must type the curly brackets when defining a named array constant; Excel does not enter them for you.

After creating this named array, you can use it in a formula. Figure 16.6 shows a worksheet that contains a single array formula entered into the range A1:G1. The formula is

{=DayNames}

## FIGURE 16.5

Creating a named array constant.

New Name	1	? 🗙
Name:	DayNames	
Scope:	Workbook	
Comment:		*
		*
Refers to:	={"Sun", "Mon", "Tue", "Wed", "Thu", "Fri", "Sat"}	1
	OK	Cancel

## FIGURE 16.6

Using a named array in an array formula.

A1		•	<ul> <li>f<sub>x</sub> {=DayNames}</li> </ul>					
	А	В	С	D	E	F	G	
1	Sun	Mon	Tue	Wed	Thu	Fri	Sat	
2								
3								

Because commas separate the array elements, the array has a horizontal orientation. Use semicolons to create a vertical array. Or you can use the Excel TRANSPOSE function to insert a horizontal array into a vertical range of cells (see "Transposing an array," later in this chapter). The following array formula, which is entered into a seven-cell vertical range, uses the TRANSPOSE function:

{=TRANSPOSE(DayNames)}

You also can access individual elements from the array by using the Excel INDEX function. The following formula, for example, returns Wed, the fourth item in the DayNames array:

=INDEX(DayNames,4)

# **Working with Array Formulas**

This section deals with the mechanics of selecting cells that contain arrays and entering and editing array formulas. These procedures differ a bit from working with ordinary ranges and formulas.

# Entering an array formula

When you enter an array formula into a cell or range, you must follow a special procedure so that Excel knows that you want an array formula rather than a normal formula. You enter a normal formula into a cell by pressing Enter. You enter an array formula into one or more cells by pressing Ctrl+Shift+Enter.

Don't enter the curly brackets when you create an array formula; Excel inserts them for you. If the result of an array formula consists of more than one value, you must select all the cells in the results range *before* you enter the formula. If you fail to do so, only the first element of the result is returned.

# Selecting an array formula range

You can select the cells that contain a multicell array formula manually by using the normal cell selection procedures. Or you can use either of the following methods:

- Activate any cell in the array formula range. Display the Go To dialog box (choose Home ↔ Editing ↔ Find & Select ↔ Go To, or just press F5). In the Go To dialog box, click the Special button and then choose the Current Array option. Click OK to close the dialog box.
- Activate any cell in the array formula range and press Ctrl+/ to select the entire array.

# Editing an array formula

If an array formula occupies multiple cells, you must edit the entire range as though it were a single cell. The key point to remember is that you can't change just one element of a multicell array formula. If you attempt to do so, Excel displays the message shown in Figure 16.7.

## FIGURE 16.7

Excel's warning message reminds you that you can't edit just one cell of a multicell array formula.



The following rules apply to multicell array formulas. If you try to do any of these things, Excel lets you know about it:

- You can't change the contents of any individual cell that makes up an array formula.
- You can't move cells that make up part of an array formula (but you can move an entire array formula).
- You can't delete cells that form part of an array formula (but you can delete an entire array).
- You can't insert new cells into an array range. This rule includes inserting rows or columns that would add new cells to an array range.
- You can't use multicell array formulas inside of a table that was created by choosing Insert ↔ Tables ↔ Table. Similarly, you can't convert a range to a table if the range contains a multicell array formula.

To edit an array formula, select all the cells in the array range and activate the Formula bar as usual (click it or press F2). Excel removes the brackets from the formula while you edit it. Edit the formula and then press Ctrl+Shift+Enter to enter the changes. All the cells in the array now reflect your editing changes.

## Caution

If you accidentally press Ctrl+Enter (instead of Ctrl+Shift+Enter) after editing an array formula, the formula will be entered into each selected cell, but it will no longer be an array formula. And it will probably return an incorrect result. Just reselect the cells, press F2, and then press Ctrl+Shift+Enter.

Although you can't change any individual cell that makes up a multicell array formula, you can apply formatting to the entire array or to only parts of it.

# Expanding or contracting a multicell array formula

Often, you may need to expand a multicell array formula (to include more cells) or contract it (to include fewer cells). Doing so requires a few steps:

- 1. Select the entire range that contains the array formula.
- 2. Press F2 to enter Edit mode.
- 3. Press Ctrl+Enter. This step enters an identical (non-array) formula into each selected cell.
- **4.** Change your range selection to include additional or fewer cells, but make sure the active cell is in a cell that's part of the original array.
- 5. Press F2 to re-enter Edit mode.
- **6.** Press Ctrl+Shift+Enter.

# Array Formulas: The Downside.

If you've followed along in this chapter, you probably understand some of the advantages of using array formulas. The main advantage, of course, is that an array formula enables you to perform otherwise impossible calculations. As you gain more experience with arrays, however, you undoubtedly will also discover some disadvantages.

Array formulas are one of the least understood features of Excel. Consequently, if you plan to share a workbook with someone who may need to make modifications, you should probably avoid using array formulas. Encountering an array formula when you don't know what it is can be very confusing.

You might also discover that you can easily forget to enter an array formula by pressing Ctrl+Shift+Enter. (And don't forget: If you edit an existing array, you must remember to use this key combination to complete the edits.) Except for logical errors, this is probably the most common problem that users have with array formulas. If you press Enter by mistake after editing an array formula, just press F2 to get back into Edit mode and then press Ctrl+Shift+Enter.

Another potential problem with array formulas is that they can slow your worksheet's recalculations, especially if you use very large arrays. On a faster system, this delay in speed may not be a problem. But, conversely, using an array formula is almost always faster than using a custom VBA function. See Chapter 40 for more information about creating custom VBA functions.

# **Using Multicell Array Formulas**

This section contains examples that demonstrate additional features of *multicell array formulas* (array formulas that are entered into a range of cells). These features include creating arrays from values, performing operations, using functions, transposing arrays, and generating consecutive integers.

# Creating an array from values in a range

The following array formula creates an array from a range of cells. Figure 16.8 shows a workbook with some data entered into A1:C4. The range D8:F11 contains a single array formula:

## {=A1:C4}

The array in D8:F11 is linked to the range A1:C4. Change any value in A1:C4, and the corresponding cell in D8:F11 reflects that change. It's a one-way link, of course. You can't change a value in D8:F11.

### FIGURE 16.8

Creating an array from a range.

	D8	•	• (0	<i>f</i> <sub>∞</sub> {=A1:	C4}		
	A	В	С	D	E	F	G
1	1	dog	3				
2	4	5	cat				
3	7	FALSE	9				
4	monkey	8	12				
5							
6							
7							
8				1	dog	3	
9				4	5	cat	
10				7	FALSE	9	
11				monkey	8	12	
12							

# Creating an array constant from values in a range

In the preceding example, the array formula in D8:F11 essentially created a link to the cells in A1:C4. It's possible to sever this link and create an array constant made up of the values in A1:C4:

- 1. Select the cells that contain the array formula (the range D8:F11, in this example).
- 2. Press F2 to edit the array formula.
- 3. Press F9 to convert the cell references to values.
- **4.** Press Ctrl+Shift+Enter to re-enter the array formula (which now uses an array constant).

The array constant is

{1,"dog",3;4,5,"cat";7,False,9;"monkey",8,12}

Figure 16.9 shows how this looks in the Formula bar.

#### FIGURE 16.9

After you press F9, the Formula bar displays the array constant.

_									
	D8	•	0	f <sub>x</sub> {={1,"	'dog",3;4,5	,"cat";7,FA	LSE,9;"moi	nkey",8,12]	}}
	С	D	E	F	G	Н	1	J	
6									
7									
8		1	dog	3					
8 9		1 4	dog 5	3 cat					
8 9 10		1 4 7	dog 5 FALSE	3 cat 9					
8 9 10 11		1 4 7 monkey	dog 5 FALSE 8	3 cat 9 12					

# Performing operations on an array

So far, most of the examples in this chapter simply entered arrays into ranges. The following array formula creates a rectangular array and multiplies each array element by 2:

 $\{=\{1, 2, 3, 4; 5, 6, 7, 8; 9, 10, 11, 12\} * 2\}$ 

Figure 16.10 shows the result when you enter this formula into a range:

#### **FIGURE 16.10**

Performing a mathematical operation on an array.

B8 • f <sub>x</sub> {={1,2,3,4;5,6,7,8							12}*2}
	A	В	С	D	E	F	G
7							
8		2	4	6	8		
9		10	12	14	16		
10		18	20	22	24		
4.4							

The following array formula multiplies each array element by itself:

 $\{=\{1, 2, 3, 4; 5, 6, 7, 8; 9, 10, 11, 12\} \times \{1, 2, 3, 4; 5, 6, 7, 8; 9, 10, 11, 12\}\}$ 

The following array formula is a simpler way of obtaining the same result. Figure 16.11 shows the result when you enter this formula into a range:

 $\{=\{1, 2, 3, 4; 5, 6, 7, 8; 9, 10, 11, 12\}^2\}$ 

If the array is stored in a range (such asB8:E10), the array formula returns the square of each value in the range, as follows:

{=B8:E10^2}

## FIGURE 16.11

Multiplying each array element by itself.

B8 • (*			fx {={1,	2,3,4;5,6,7	,8;9,10,11,:	12}^2}	
	A	В	С	D	E	F	G
7							
8		1	4	9	16		
9		25	36	49	64		
10		81	100	121	144		
11							

# Using functions with an array

As you may expect, you also can use worksheet functions with an array. The following array formula, which you can enter into a 10-cell vertical range, calculates the square root of each array element in the array constant:

```
{=SQRT({1;2;3;4;5;6;7;8;9;10})}
```

If the array is stored in a range, a multicell array formula such as the one that follows returns the square root of each value in the range:

{=SQRT(A1:A10)}

# Transposing an array

When you transpose an array, you essentially convert rows to columns and columns to rows. In other words, you can convert a horizontal array to a vertical array (and vice versa). Use the TRANSPOSE function to transpose an array.

Consider the following one-dimensional horizontal array constant:

 $\{1, 2, 3, 4, 5\}$ 

You can enter this array into a vertical range of cells by using the TRANSPOSE function. To do so, select a range of five cells that occupy five rows and one column. Then enter the following formula and press Ctrl+Shift+Enter:

=TRANSPOSE({1,2,3,4,5})

The horizontal array is transposed, and the array elements appear in the vertical range.

Transposing a two-dimensional array works in a similar manner. Figure 16.12 shows a twodimensional array entered into a range normally and entered into a range by using the TRANSPOSE function. The formula in A1:D3 is

 $\{=\{1, 2, 3, 4; 5, 6, 7, 8; 9, 10, 11, 12\}\}$ 

The formula in A6:C9 is

{=TRANSPOSE({1,2,3,4;5,6,7,8;9,10,11,12})}

You can, of course, use the TRANSPOSE function to transpose an array stored in a range. The following formula, for example, uses an array stored in A1:C4 (four rows, three columns). You can enter this array formula into a range that consists of three rows and four columns.

{=TRANSPOSE(A1:C4)}

## **FIGURE 16.12**

Using the TRANSPOSE function to transpose a rectangular array.

A6 🔻 🖱			fs.	{=TRANS	POSE(A1:	)3)}
	А	В	С	D	E	F
1	1	2	3	4		
2	5	6	7	8		
3	9	10	11	12		
4						
5						
6	1	5	9			
7	2	6	10			
8	3	7	11			
9	4	8	12			
10						

# Generating an array of consecutive integers

As you see in Chapter 17, generating an array of consecutive integers for use in an array formula is often useful. The ROW function, which returns a row number, is ideal for this. Consider the array formula shown here, entered into a vertical range of 12 cells:

{=ROW(1:12)}

This formula generates a 12-element array that contains integers from 1 to 12. To demonstrate, select a range that consists of 12 rows and one column and enter the array formula into the range. You'll find that the range is filled with 12 consecutive integers (as shown in Figure 16.13).

## **FIGURE 16.13**

Using an array formula to generate consecutive integers.

B2			. (-	<i>f</i> <sub>∞</sub> {=RO\	N(1:12)}
	A	В	С	D	E
1					
2		1			
3		2			
4		3			
5		4			
6		5			
7		6			
8		7			
9		8			
10		9			
11		10			
12		11			
13		12			

# Worksheet Functions That Return an Array\_

Several of the Excel worksheet functions use arrays; you must enter a formula that uses one of these functions into multiple cells as an array formula. These functions are FORECAST, FREQUENCY, GROWTH, LINEST, LOGEST, MINVERSE, MMULT, and TREND. Consult the Excel Help system for more information.

If you want to generate an array of consecutive integers, a formula like the one shown previously is good — but not perfect. To see the problem, insert a new row above the range that contains the array formula. Excel adjusts the row references so that the array formula now reads

```
{=ROW(2:13)}
```

The formula that originally generated integers from 1 to 12 now generates integers from 2 to 13.

For a better solution, use this formula:

{=ROW(INDIRECT("1:12"))}

This formula uses the INDIRECT function, which takes a text string as its argument. Excel does not adjust the references contained in the argument for the INDIRECT function. Therefore, this array formula *always* returns integers from 1 to 12.

## **Cross-Reference**

Chapter 17 contains several examples that use the technique for generating consecutive integers.

# **Using Single-Cell Array Formulas**

The examples in the preceding section all used a multicell array formula — a single array formula that's entered into a range of cells. The real power of using arrays becomes apparent when you use single-cell array formulas. This section contains examples of array formulas that occupy a single cell.

# Counting characters in a range

Suppose that you have a range of cells that contains text entries (see Figure 16.14). If you need to get a count of the total number of characters in that range, the "traditional" method involves creating a formula like the one that follows and copying it down the column:

```
=LEN(A1)
```

Then you use a SUM formula to calculate the sum of the values returned by these intermediate formulas.

The following array formula does the job without using any intermediate formulas:

{=SUM(LEN(A1:A14))}

## **FIGURE 16.14**

The goal is to count the number of characters in a range of text.

	A	В	С	D
1	aboriginal			
2	aborigine	Total characters:	112	
3	aborting			
4	abort			
5	abound			
6	about			
7	above			
8	aboveboard			
9	aboveground			
10	abovementioned			
11	abrade			
12	abrasion			
13	abrasive			
14	abreact			
15				

The array formula uses the LEN function to create a new array (in memory) that consists of the number of characters in each cell of the range. In this case, the new array is

 $\{10, 9, 8, 5, 6, 5, 5, 10, 11, 14, 6, 8, 8, 7\}$ 

The array formula is then reduced to

=SUM({10,9,8,5,6,5,5,10,11,14,6,8,8,7})

The formula returns the sum of the array elements, 112.

# Summing the three smallest values in a range

If you have values in a range named *Data*, you can determine the smallest value by using the SMALL function:

=SMALL(Data,1)

You can determine the second smallest and third smallest values by using these formulas:

```
=SMALL(Data,2)
=SMALL(Data,3)
```

To add the three smallest values, you could use a formula like this:

```
=SUM(SMALL(Data,1), SMALL(Data,2), SMALL(Data,3)
```

This formula works fine, but using an array formula is more efficient. The following array formula returns the sum of the three smallest values in a range named *Data*:

{=SUM(SMALL(Data, {1,2,3}))}

The formula uses an array constant as the second argument for the SMALL function. This generates a new array, which consists of the three smallest values in the range. This array is then passed to the SUM function, which returns the sum of the values in the new array.

Figure 16.15 shows an example in which the range A1:A10 is named *Data*. The SMALL function is evaluated three times, each time with a different second argument. The first time, the SMALL function has a second argument of 1, and it returns –5. The second time, the second argument for the SMALL function is 2, and it returns 0 (the second smallest value in the range). The third time, the SMALL function has a second argument of 3 and returns the third smallest value of 2.

## **FIGURE 16.15**

An array formula returns the sum of the three smallest values in A1:A10.

	A	В	С	D	E
1	12				
2	-5		Sum of three smallest:	-3	
3	3				
4	2				
5	0				
6	6				
7	13				
8	7				
9	4				
10	8				
11					
12					

Therefore, the array that's passed to the SUM function is

 $\{-5, 0, 2\}$ 

The formula returns the sum of the array (-3).

# Counting text cells in a range

Suppose that you need to count the number of text cells in a range. The COUNTIF function seems like it might be useful for this task — but it's not. COUNTIF is useful only if you need to count values in a range that meet some criterion (for example, values greater than 12).

To count the number of text cells in a range, you need an array formula. The following array formula uses the IF function to examine each cell in a range. It then creates a new array (of the same size and dimensions as the original range) that consists of 1s and 0s, depending on whether the

cell contains text. This new array is then passed to the SUM function, which returns the sum of the items in the array. The result is a count of the number of text cells in the range:

```
{=SUM(IF(ISTEXT(A1:D5),1,0))}
```

## **Cross-Reference**

This general array formula type (that is, an IF function nested in a SUM function) is very useful for counting. See Chapter 13 for additional examples of IF and SUM functions. ■

Figure 16.16 shows an example of the preceding formula in cell C7. The array created by the IF function is

 $\{0,1,1,1;1,0,0,0;1,0,0,0;1,0,0,0;1,0,0,0\}$ 

Notice that this array contains four rows of three elements (the same dimensions as the range).

Here is a slightly more efficient variation on this formula:

```
{=SUM(ISTEXT(A1:D5)*1)}
```

This formula eliminates the need for the IF function and takes advantage of the fact that

TRUE \* 1 = 1

and

FALSE \* 1 = 0

#### **FIGURE 16.16**

An array formula returns the number of text cells in the range.

	A	В	С	D	E	
1		Jan	Feb	Mar		
2	Region 1	7	4	9		
3	Region 2	8	2	8		
4	Region 3	12	1	9		
5	Region 4	14	6	10		
6						
7	No. of tex	t cells:	7			
8						

# Eliminating intermediate formulas

One key benefit of using an array formula is that you can often eliminate intermediate formulas in your worksheet, which makes your worksheet more compact and eliminates the need to display irrelevant calculations. Figure 16.17 shows a worksheet that contains pre-test and post-test scores for students. Column D contains formulas that calculate the changes between the pre-test and the

post-test scores. Cell D17 contains a formula, shown here, that calculates the average of the values in column D:

```
=AVERAGE(D2:D15)
```

With an array formula, you can eliminate column D. The following array formula calculates the average of the changes but does not require the formulas in column D:

{ =AVERAGE (C2:C15-B2:B15) }

How does it work? The formula uses two arrays, the values of which are stored in two ranges (B2:B15 and C2:C15). The formula creates a *new* array that consists of the differences between each corresponding element in the other arrays. This new array is stored in Excel's memory, not in a range. The AVERAGE function then uses this new array as its argument and returns the result.

The new array consists of the following elements:

 $\{11, 15, -6, 1, 19, 2, 0, 7, 15, 1, 8, 23, 21, -11\}$ 

The formula, therefore, is equivalent to

=AVERAGE({11,15,-6,1,19,2,0,7,15,1,8,23,21,-11})

Excel evaluates the function and displays the results, 7.57.

You can use additional array formulas to calculate other measures for the data in this example. For example, the following array formula returns the largest change (that is, the greatest improvement). This formula returns 23, which represents Linda's test scores.

{=MAX(C2:C15-B2:B15)}

## **FIGURE 16.17**

Without an array formula, calculating the average change requires intermediate formulas in column D.

	A	В	С	D	E
1	Student	Pre-Test	Post-Test	Change	
2	Andy	56	67	11	
3	Beth	59	74	15	
4	Cindy	98	92	-6	
5	Duane	78	79	1	
6	Eddy	81	100	19	
7	Francis	92	94	2	
8	Georgia	100	100	0	
9	Hilda	92	99	7	
10	Isabel	54	69	15	
11	Jack	91	92	1	
12	Kent	80	88	8	
13	Linda	45	68	23	
14	Michelle	71	92	21	
15	Nancy	94	83	-11	
16					
17		Average Ch	ange:	7.57	
18					

The following array formula returns the smallest value in the Change column. This formula returns –11, which represents Nancy's test scores.

{=MIN(C2:C15-B2:B15)}

# Using an array in lieu of a range reference

If your formula uses a function that requires a range reference, you may be able to replace that range reference with an array constant. This is useful in situations in which the values in the referenced range do not change.

## Note

A notable exception to using an array constant in place of a range reference in a function is with the database functions that use a reference to a criteria range (for example, DSUM). Unfortunately, using an array constant instead of a reference to a criteria range does not work.

## **Cross-Reference**

For information about lookup formulas, see Chapter 14.

Figure 16.18 shows a worksheet that uses a lookup table to display a word that corresponds to an integer. For example, looking up a value of 9 returns Nine from the lookup table in D1:E10. The formula in cell C1 is

=VLOOKUP(B1,D1:E10,2,FALSE)

## **FIGURE 16.18**

You can replace the lookup table in D1:E10 with an array constant.

	A	В	С	D	E	F
1	Number ->	9	Nine	1	One	
2				2	Two	
3				3	Three	
4				4	Four	
5				5	Five	
6				6	Six	
7				7	Seven	
8				8	Eight	
9				9	Nine	
10				10	Ten	
11						
12						

You can use a two-dimensional array in place of the lookup range. The following formula returns the same result as the previous formula, but it does not require the lookup range in D1:E1:

=VLOOKUP(B1, {1, "One";2, "Two";3, "Three";4, "Four";5, "Five"; 6, "Six";7, "Seven";8, "Eight";9, "Nine";10, "Ten"},2, FALSE)

This chapter introduced arrays. Chapter 17 explores the topic further and provides some additional examples.

# CHAPTER

# **Performing Magic** with Array Formulas

The preceding chapter provides an introduction to arrays and array formulas and presented some basic examples to whet your appetite. This chapter continues the saga and provides many useful examples that further demonstrate the power of this feature.

I selected the examples in this chapter to provide a good assortment of the various uses for array formulas. You can use most of them as-is. You will, of course, need to adjust the range names or references used. Also, you can modify many of the examples easily to work in a slightly different manner.

# Working with Single-Cell Array Formulas

As I describe in the preceding chapter, you enter single-cell array formulas into a single cell (not into a range of cells). These array formulas work with arrays contained in a range or that exist in memory. This section provides some additional examples of such array formulas.

# On the CD

The examples in this section are available on the companion CD-ROM. The file is named single-cell array formulas.xlsx.

# Summing a range that contains errors

You may have discovered that the SUM function doesn't work if you attempt to sum a range that contains one or more error values (such as #DIV/0! or

# **IN THIS CHAPTER**

More examples of single-cell array formulas

More examples of multicell array formulas

Returning an array from a custom VBA function

#N/A). Figure 17.1 shows an example. The formula in cell C11 returns an error value because the range that it sums (C4:C10) contains errors.

The following array formula, in cell C13, overcomes this problem and returns the sum of the values, even if the range contains error values:

{=SUM(IFERROR(C4:C10, ""))}

This formula works by creating a new array that contains the original values but without the errors. The IF function effectively filters out error values by replacing them with an empty string. The SUM function then works on this "filtered" array. This technique also works with other functions, such as AVERAGE, MIN, and MAX.

## Note

The IFERROR function was introduced in Excel 2007. Following is a modified version of the formula that's compatible with older versions of Excel:

```
{=SUM(IF(ISERROR(C4:C10), "", C4:C10))}
```

## **New Feature**

The new AGGREGATE function, which works only in Excel 2010, provides another way to sum a range that contains one or more error values. Here's an example:

=AGGREGATE(9,2,C4:C10)

The first argument, 9, is the code for SUM. The second argument, 2, is the code for "ignore error values."

## FIGURE 17.1

An array formula can sum a range of values, even if the range contains errors.

	A	В	С	D	E				
1	Summing	Summing a range that contains error values							
2									
3	Total	Number	Per Unit						
4	80	10	8.00						
5	120	6	20.00						
6	144	12	12.00						
7			#DIV/0!						
8			#DIV/0!						
9	100	20	5.00						
10	50	5	10.00						
11	TOTAL:		#DIV/0!						

# Counting the number of error values in a range

The following array formula is similar to the previous example, but it returns a count of the number of error values in a range named *Data*:

```
{=SUM(IF(ISERROR(Data),1,0))}
```

This formula creates an array that consists of 1s (if the corresponding cell contains an error) and 0s (if the corresponding cell does not contain an error value).

You can simplify the formula a bit by removing the third argument for the IF function. If this argument isn't specified, the IF function returns FALSE if the condition is not satisfied (that is, the cell does not contain an error value). In this context, Excel treats FALSE as a 0 value. The array formula shown here performs exactly like the previous formula, but it doesn't use the third argument for the IF function:

```
{=SUM(IF(ISERROR(Data),1))}
```

Actually, you can simplify the formula even more:

{=SUM(ISERROR(Data)\*1)}

This version of the formula relies on the fact that

```
TRUE * 1 = 1
```

and

FALSE \* 1 = 0

## Summing the *n* largest values in a range

The following array formula returns the sum of the 10 largest values in a range named Data:

```
{=SUM(LARGE(Data,ROW(INDIRECT("1:10"))))}
```

The LARGE function is evaluated 10 times, each time with a different second argument (1, 2, 3, and so on up to 10). The results of these calculations are stored in a new array, and that array is used as the argument for the SUM function.

To sum a different number of values, replace the 10 in the argument for the INDIRECT function with another value.

If the number of cells to sum is contained in cell C17, use the following array formula, which uses the concatenation operator (&) to create the range address for the INDIRECT function:

{=SUM(LARGE(Data,ROW(INDIRECT("1:"&C17))))}

To sum the *n* smallest values in a range, use the SMALL function instead of the LARGE function.

## Computing an average that excludes zeros

Figure 17.2 shows a simple worksheet that calculates average sales. The formula in cell B13 is

```
=AVERAGE(B4:B11)
```

## FIGURE 17.2

The calculated average includes cells that contain a 0.

	А	В	С	D	E	F		
1	Exclude zero from average							
2								
3	Sales Person	Sales						
4	Abner	23,991						
5	Baker	15,092						
6	Charleston	0						
7	Davis	11,893						
8	Ellerman	32,116						
9	Flugelhart	29,089						
10	Gallaway	0						
11	Harrison	33,211						
12								
13		18,174	< Averag	ge with zer	os			
14		24,232	< Averag	ge without	zeros (arra	ıy formula)		
15								

Two of the sales staff had the week off, however, so including their 0 sales in the calculated average doesn't accurately describe the average sales per representative.

## Note

The AVERAGE function ignores blank cells, but it does not ignore cells that contain 0.

The following array formula returns the average of the range but excludes the cells containing 0:

{=AVERAGE(IF(B5:B12<>0,B5:B12))}

This formula creates a new array that consists only of the nonzero values in the range. The AVERAGE function then uses this new array as its argument.

You also can get the same result with a regular (non-array) formula:

=SUM(B5:B12)/COUNTIF(B5:B12,"<>0")

This formula uses the COUNTIF function to count the number of nonzero values in the range. This value is divided into the sum of the values.

## Note

The only reason to use an array formula to calculate an average that excludes zero values is for compatibility with versions prior to Excel 2007. A simple approach is to use the AVERAGEIF function in a non-array formula:

```
=AVERAGEIF(B5:B12, "<>0", B5:B12)
```

# Determining whether a particular value appears in a range

To determine whether a particular value appears in a range of cells, you can choose Home ➡ Editing ➡ Find & Select ➡ Find and do a search of the worksheet. But you also can make this determination by using an array formula.

Figure 17.3 shows a worksheet with a list of names in A5:E24 (named *NameList*). An array formula in cell D3 checks the name entered into cell C3 (named *TheName*). If the name exists in the list of names, the formula displays the text Found. Otherwise, it displays Not Found.

## FIGURE 17.3

Using an array formula to determine whether a range contains a particular value.

	A	В	С	D	E	
1	Is a value co	ntained in a	range?			
2			_			
3	Enter a Nam	ie>	Merle	Found		
4						
5	AI	Daniel	Harold	Lyle	Richard	]
6	Allen	Dave	lan	Maggie	Rick	
7	Andrew	David	Jack	Margaret	Robert	]
8	Anthony	Dennis	James	Marilyn	Rod	
9	Arthur	Don	Jan	Mark	Roger	
10	Barbara	Donald	Jeff	Marvin	Ronald	
11	Bernard	Doug	Jeffrey	Mary	Russ	
12	Beth	Douglas	Jerry	Matt	Sandra	
13	Bill	Ed	Jim	Mel	Scott	
14	Bob	Edward	Joe	Merle	Simon	
15	Brian	Eric	John	Michael	Stacy	
16	Bruce	Fran	Joseph	Michelle	Stephen	
17	Cark	Frank	Kathy	Mike	Steven	
18	Carl	Fred	Kathy	Norman	Stuart	
19	Charles	Gary	Keith	Patrick	Susan	
20	Chris	George	Kenneth	Paul	Terry	
21	Chuck	Glenn	Kevin	Peter	Thomas	
22	Clark	Gordon	Larry	Phillip	Timothy	
23	Curt	Greg	Leonard	Ray	Vincent	
24	Dan	Gregory	Louise	Rebecca	Wendy	
25						

The array formula in cell D3 is

{=IF(OR(TheName=NameList), "Found", "Not Found")}

This formula compares *TheName* to each cell in the *NameList* range. It builds a new array that consists of logical TRUE or FALSE values. The OR function returns TRUE if any one of the values in the new array is TRUE. The IF function uses this result to determine which message to display.

A simpler form of this formula follows. This formula displays **TRUE** if the name is found and returns **FALSE** otherwise.

{=OR(TheName=NameList)}

Yet another approach uses the COUNTIF function in a non-array formula:

=IF(COUNTIF(NameList, TheName)>0, "Found", "Not Found")

# Counting the number of differences in two ranges

The following array formula compares the corresponding values in two ranges (named *MyData* and *YourData*) and returns the number of differences in the two ranges. If the contents of the two ranges are identical, the formula returns 0.

{=SUM(IF(MyData=YourData,0,1))}

## Note

The two ranges must be the same size and of the same dimensions.

This formula works by creating a new array of the same size as the ranges being compared. The IF function fills this new array with 0s and 1s: 1 if a difference is found, and 0 if the corresponding cells are the same. The SUM function then returns the sum of the values in the array.

The following array formula, which is simpler, is another way of calculating the same result:

```
{=SUM(1*(MyData<>YourData))}
```

This version of the formula relies on the fact that

```
TRUE * 1 = 1
```

and

FALSE \* 1 = 0

# Returning the location of the maximum value in a range

The following array formula returns the row number of the maximum value in a single-column range named *Data*:

{=MIN(IF(Data=MAX(Data),ROW(Data), ""))}

The IF function creates a new array that corresponds to the *Data* range. If the corresponding cell contains the maximum value in *Data*, the array contains the row number; otherwise, it contains an

empty string. The MIN function uses this new array as its second argument, and it returns the smallest value, which corresponds to the row number of the maximum value in *Data*.

I use the MIN function to handle ties. If the *Data* range contains more than one cell that has the maximum value, the row of the *first* occurrence of the maximum cell is returned. If you change MIN to MAX, then the formula returns the last occurrence of the maximum cell.

The following array formula is similar to the previous one, but it returns the actual cell address of the maximum value in the *Data* range. It uses the ADDRESS function, which takes two arguments: a row number and a column number.

```
{=ADDRESS(MIN(IF(Data=MAX(Data),ROW(Data), "")),COLUMN(Data))}
```

The previous formulas work only with a single-column range. The following variation works with any sized range and returns the address of the smallest value in the range named *Data*:

```
{=ADDRESS(MIN(IF(Data=MAX(data),ROW(Data), "")),
MIN(IF(Data=MAX(Data),COLUMN(Data), "")))}
```

# Finding the row of a value's *n*th occurrence in a range

The following array formula returns the row number within a single-column range named *Data* that contains the *n*th occurrence of the value in a cell named *Value*:

{=SMALL(IF(Data=Value,ROW(Data), ""),n)}

The IF function creates a new array that consists of the row number of values from the *Data* range that are equal to *Value*. Values from the *Data* range that aren't equal to *Value* are replaced with an empty string. The SMALL function works on this new array and returns the *n*th smallest row number.

The formula returns **#NUM!** if the *Value* is not found or if *n* exceeds the number of the values in the range.

# Returning the longest text in a range

The following array formula displays the text string in a range (named *Data*) that has the most characters. If multiple cells contain the longest text string, the first cell is returned.

```
{=INDEX(Data,MATCH(MAX(LEN(Data)),LEN(Data),FALSE),1)}
```

This formula works with two arrays, both of which contain the length of each item in the *Data* range. The MAX function determines the largest value, which corresponds to the longest text item. The MATCH function calculates the offset of the cell that contains the maximum length. The INDEX function returns the contents of the cell containing the most characters. This function works only if the *Data* range consists of a single column.

## Determining whether a range contains valid values

You may have a list of items that you need to check against another list. For example, you may import a list of part numbers into a range named *MyList*, and you want to ensure that all the part numbers are valid. You can do so by comparing the items in the imported list to the items in a master list of part numbers (named *Master*).

The following array formula returns TRUE if every item in the range named *MyList* is found in the range named *Master*. Both ranges must consist of a single column, but they don't need to contain the same number of rows.

```
{=ISNA(MATCH(TRUE,ISNA(MATCH(MyList,Master,0)),0))}
```

The array formula that follows returns the number of invalid items. In other words, it returns the number of items in *MyList* that do not appear in *Master*.

```
{=SUM(1*ISNA(MATCH(MyList,Master,0)))}
```

To return the first invalid item in MyList, use the following array formula:

{=INDEX(MyList,MATCH(TRUE,ISNA(MATCH(MyList,Master,0)),0))}

## Summing the digits of an integer

I can't think of any practical application for the example in this section, but it's a good demonstration of the power of an array formula. The following array formula calculates the sum of the digits in a positive integer, which is stored in cell A1. For example, if cell A1 contains the value 409, the formula returns 13 (the sum of 4, 0, and 9).

{=SUM(MID(A1,ROW(INDIRECT("1:"&LEN(A1))),1)\*1)}

To understand how this formula works, start with the ROW function, as shown here:

{=ROW(INDIRECT("1:"&LEN(A1)))}

This function returns an array of consecutive integers beginning with 1 and ending with the number of digits in the value in cell A1. For example, if cell A1 contains the value 409, the LEN function returns 3, and the array generated by the ROW functions is

 $\{1, 2, 3\}$ 

## **Cross-Reference**

For more information about using the INDIRECT function to return this array, see Chapter 16. ■

This array is then used as the second argument for the MID function. The MID part of the formula, simplified a bit and expressed as values, is the following:

{=MID(409, {1,2,3},1)\*1}
This function generates an array with three elements:

{4,0,9}

By simplifying again and adding the SUM function, the formula looks like this:

 $\{=SUM(\{4,0,9\})\}$ 

This formula produces the result of 13.

#### Note

The values in the array created by the MID function are multiplied by 1 because the MID function returns a string. Multiplying by 1 forces a numeric value result. Alternatively, you can use the VALUE function to force a numeric string to become a numeric value. ■

Notice that the formula doesn't work with a negative value because the negative sign is not a numeric value. Also, the formula fails if the cell contains non-numeric values (such as 123A6). The following formula solves this problem by checking for errors in the array and replacing them with zero.

{=SUM(IFERROR(MID(A1,ROW(INDIRECT("1:"&LEN(A1))),1)\*1,0))}

#### Note

This formula uses the IFERROR function, which was introduced in Excel 2007.

Figure 17.4 shows a worksheet that uses both versions of this formula.

#### FIGURE 17.4

Two versions of an array formula calculate the sum of the digits in an integer.

	A	В	С		
1	Sum of the digi	ts of a value			
2					
3	Number	Sum of Digits	Improved Version		
4	132	6	6		
5	9	9	9		
6	111111	6	6		
7	980991	36	36		
8	-980991	#VALUE!	36		
9	409	13	13		
10	123A6	#VALUE!	12		
11	12	3	3		
12	98,763,023	38	38		
13	111,111,111	9	9		
14					

## Summing rounded values

Figure 17.5 shows a simple worksheet that demonstrates a common spreadsheet problem: rounding errors. As you can see, the grand total in cell E7 appears to display an incorrect amount. (That is, it's off by a penny.) The values in column E use a number format that displays two decimal places. The actual values, however, consist of additional decimal places that do not display due to rounding (as a result of the number format). The net effect of these rounding errors is a seemingly incorrect total. The total, which is actually \$168.320997, displays as \$168.32.

#### FIGURE 17.5

Using an array formula to correct rounding errors.

	A	В	С	D	E	F		
1	Summing rounde	d values						
2	A B C D E Summing rounded values Unit Price Discount Total Widgets 6 \$11.69 5.23% \$66.47 Sprockets 8 \$9.74 5.23% \$73.84 Snapholytes 3 \$9.85 5.23% \$28.00 GRAND TOTAL GRAND TOTAL Sum of rounded values: \$168.31							
3	Description	Quantity	Unit Price	Discount	Total			
4	Widgets	6	\$11.69	5.23%	\$66.47			
5	Sprockets	8	\$9.74	5.23%	\$73.84			
6	Snapholytes	3	\$9.85	5.23%	\$28.00			
7	GRAND TOTAL				\$168.32			
8								
9	Sum of rounded values: \$168.31							
10								

The following array formula creates a new array that consists of values in column E, rounded to two decimal places:

{=SUM(ROUND(E4:E6,2))}

This formula returns \$168.31.

You also can eliminate these types of rounding errors by using the ROUND function in the formula that calculates each row total in column E (which does not require an array formula).

# Summing every *n*th value in a range

Suppose that you have a range of values and you want to compute the sum of every third value in the list — the first, the fourth, the seventh, and so on. One solution is to hard-code the cell addresses in a formula. A better solution, though, is to use an array formula.

### Note

In Figure 17.6, the values are stored in a range named Data, and the value of n is in cell D2 (named n).

#### FIGURE 17.6

An array formula returns the sum of every *n*th value in the range.

	Α	В	С	D	E	F
1	Sun	nming eve	ery nth valu	ie		
2						
3		Data			-	
4		1		3	=nth	
5		2		70	= Result	
6		3				
7		4				
8		5				
9		6				
10		7				
11		8				
12		9				
13		10				
14		11				
15		12				
16		13				
17		14				
18		15				
19		16				
20		17				
21		18				
22		19				
23						

The following array formula returns the sum of every *n*th value in the range:

```
{=SUM(IF(MOD(ROW(INDIRECT("1:"&COUNT(Data)))-1,n)=0,Data,""))}
```

This formula returns 70, which is the sum of every third value in the range.

This formula generates an array of consecutive integers, and the MOD function uses this array as its first argument. The second argument for the MOD function is the value of n. The MOD function creates another array that consists of the remainders when each row number is divided by n. When the array item is 0 (that is, the row is evenly divisible by n), the corresponding item in the *Data* range will be included in the sum.

You find that this formula fails when *n* is 0: that is, when it sums no items. The modified array formula that follows uses an IF function to handle this case:

{=IF(n=0,0,SUM(IF(MOD(ROW(INDIRECT("1:"&COUNT(data)))-1,n)=0,data,"")))}

This formula works only when the *Data* range consists of a single column of values. It does not work for a multicolumn range or for a single row of values.

# Using the Excel Formula Evaluator\_

If you would like to better understand how some of these complex array formulas work, consider using a handy tool: the Formula Evaluator. Select the cell that contains the formula and then choose Formulas  $\Rightarrow$  Formula Auditing  $\Rightarrow$  Evaluate Formula. The Evaluate Formula dialog box shown in the figure here.

Evaluate Formula	8 🗙
Reference: Sheet14!\$D\$5	Evaluation: = []F(g=0,0,SUM()F(MOD(ROW(INDIRECT("1:"&COUNT(Data))))-1, n)=0,Data,"")))
A function in this formula calculated. The final eva not.	causes the result to change each time the spreadsheet is luation step will match the result in the cell, but interim steps may
	Evaluate Step In Step Out Gose

Click the Evaluate button repeatedly to see the intermediate results as the formula is being calculated. It's like watching a formula calculate in slow motion.

To make the formula work with a horizontal range, you need to transpose the array of integers generated by the ROW function. The TRANPOSE function is just the ticket. The modified array formula that follows works only with a horizontal *Data* range:

```
{ =IF(n=0,0,SUM(IF(MOD(TRANSPOSE(ROW(INDIRECT
("1:"&COUNT(Data))))-1,n)=0,Data,""))) }
```

## Removing non-numeric characters from a string

The following array formula extracts a number from a string that contains text. For example, consider the string *ABC145Z*. The formula returns the numeric part, 145.

{=MID(A1,MATCH(0,(ISERROR(MID(A1,ROW(INDIRECT ("1:"&LEN(A1))),1)\*1)\*1),0),LEN(A1)-SUM((ISERROR (MID(A1,ROW(INDIRECT("1:"&LEN(A1))),1)\*1)\*1))))

This formula works only with a single embedded number. For example, it fails with a string like *X45Z99* because the string contains two embedded numbers.

## Determining the closest value in a range

The formula in this section performs an operation that none of Excel's lookup functions can do. The array formula that follows returns the value in a range named *Data* that is closest to another value (named *Target*):

{=INDEX(Data,MATCH(SMALL(ABS(Target-Data),1),ABS(Target-Data),0))}

If two values in the *Data* range are equidistant from the *Target* value, the formula returns the first one in the list. Figure 17.7 shows an example of this formula. In this case, the *Target* value is 45. The array formula in cell D4 returns 48 — the value closest to 45.

#### FIGURE 17.7

An array formula returns the closest match.

	A	В	С	D
1	Determini	ing the clo	sest value in a ran	ge
2				
3	-12		Target Value>	45
4	203		Closest Match:	48
5	566			
6	12			
7	20			
8	21			
9	40			
10	48			
11	56			
12	72			
13	102			
14	109			
15	96			
16	97			
17	105			
18	137			
19	1234			
20	165			
21	7			
22				

## Returning the last value in a column

Suppose that you have a worksheet that you update frequently by adding new data to columns. You may need a way to reference the last value in column A (the value most recently entered). If column A contains no empty cells, the solution is relatively simple and doesn't require an array formula:

```
=OFFSET(A1,COUNTA(A:A)-1,0)
```

This formula uses the COUNTA function to count the number of nonempty cells in column A. This value (minus 1) is used as the second argument for the OFFSET function. For example, if the last value is in row 100, COUNTA returns 100. The OFFSET function returns the value in the cell 99 rows down from cell A1 in the same column.

If column A has one or more empty cells interspersed, which is frequently the case, the preceding formula won't work because the COUNTA function doesn't count the empty cells.

The following array formula returns the contents of the last nonempty cell in the first 500 rows of column A:

{=INDEX(A1:A500,MAX(ROW(A1:A500)\*(A1:A500<>"")))}

You can, of course, modify the formula to work with a column other than column A. To use a different column, change the four column references from A to whatever column you need. If the last nonempty cell occurs in a row beyond row 500, you need to change the two instances of 500 to a larger number. The fewer rows referenced in the formula, the faster the calculation speed.

#### Caution

You can't use this formula, as written, in the same column with which it's working. Attempting to do so generates a circular reference. You can, however, modify it. For example, to use the function in cell A1, change the references so that they begin with row 2 instead of row 1. ■

## Returning the last value in a row

The following array formula is similar to the previous formula, but it returns the last nonempty cell in a row (in this case, row 1):

{=INDEX(1:1,MAX(COLUMN(1:1)\*(1:1<>"")))}

To use this formula for a different row, change the 1:1 reference to correspond to the row.

## Ranking data with an array formula

Often, computing the rank orders for the values in a range of data is helpful. If you have a worksheet containing the annual sales figures for 20 salespeople, for example, you may want to know how each person ranks, from highest to lowest.

If you've used the Excel RANK function, you may have noticed that the ranks produced by this function don't handle ties the way that you may like. For example, if two values are tied for third place, RANK gives both of them a rank of 3. You may prefer a commonly used approach that assigns each an average (or midpoint) of the ranks — in other words, a rank of 3.5 for both values tied for third place.

Figure 17.8 shows a worksheet that uses two methods to rank a column of values (named *Sales*). The first method (column C) uses the RANK function. Column D uses array formulas to compute the ranks.

The following is the array formula in cell D4:

{=SUM(1\*(B4<=Sales))-(SUM(1\*(B4=Sales))-1)/2}

This formula is copied to the cells below it.

#### Note

Each ranking is computed with a separate array formula, not with an array formula entered into multiple cells.

Each array function works by computing the number of higher values and subtracting one half of the number of equal values minus 1.

#### **New Feature**

Excel 2010 includes a new worksheet function, RANK.AVG, that eliminates the need for an array formula. The formula that follows returns the same rankings as shown in Column D in Figure 17.8. This formula is in cell D4, and copied to the cells below.

```
=RANK.AVG(B4,Sales)
```

#### FIGURE 17.8

Ranking data with the Excel's RANK function and with array formulas.

	А	В	С	D	E	F
1	Ranking data v	vith an arra	ay formula			
2						
3	Salesperson	Sales	Excel's Rank Function	Ranks With Array Formula		
4	Adams	123,000	6	6		
5	Bigelow	98,000	9	10		
6	Fredericks	98,000	9	( 10 )	Assigned	middle rank
7	Georgio	98,000	9	10		
8	Jensen	25,000	12	12		
9	Juarez	101,000	8	8		
10	Klein	305,000	1	1		
11	Lynch	145,000	3	3.5		
12	Mayne	145,000	3	3.5	Assigned	average rank
13	Roberton	121,000	7	7		
14	Slokum	124,000	5	5		
15	Wu	150,000	2	2		
16					-	

# **Working with Multicell Array Formulas**

The preceding chapter introduced array formulas entered into multicell ranges. In this section, I present a few more array multicell formulas. Most of these formulas return some or all the values in a range, but rearranged in some way.

## On the CD

The examples in this section are available on the companion CD-ROM. The file is named multi-cell array formulas.xlsx.

## Returning only positive values from a range

The following array formula works with a single-column vertical range (named *Data*). The array formula is entered into a range that's the same size as *Data* and returns only the positive values in the *Data* range. (Zeroes and negative numbers are ignored.)

```
{=INDEX(Data,SMALL(IF(Data>0,ROW(INDIRECT("1:"&ROWS(Data)))),
ROW(INDIRECT("1:"&ROWS(Data)))))}
```

As you can see in Figure 17.9, this formula works, but not perfectly. The *Data* range is A4:A22, and the array formula is entered into C4:C23. However, the array formula displays #NUM! error values for cells that don't contain a value.

This modified array formula, entered into range E4:E23, uses the IFERROR function to avoid the error value display:

```
{=IFERROR(INDEX(Data,SMALL(IF(Data>0,ROW
(INDIRECT("1:"&ROWS(Data)))),ROW
(INDIRECT("1:"&ROWS(Data))))),"")}
```

The IFERROR function was introduced in Excel 2007. For compatibility with older versions, use this formula:

```
{=IF(ISERR(SMALL(IF(Data>0,ROW(INDIRECT("1:"&ROWS(Data)))),ROW
(INDIRECT("1:"&ROWS(Data))))),"",INDEX(Data,SMALL(IF
(Data>0,ROW(INDIRECT("1:"&ROWS(Data)))),ROW(INDIRECT
("1:"&ROWS(Data)))))}
```

## Returning nonblank cells from a range

The following formula is a variation on the formula in the preceding section. This array formula works with a single-column vertical range named *Data*. The array formula is entered into a range of the same size as *Data* and returns only the nonblank cell in the *Data* range.

```
{=IFERROR(INDEX(Data,SMALL(IF(Data<>",ROW(INDIRECT
("1:"&ROWS(Data)))),ROW(INDIRECT("1:"&ROWS(Data))))),"")}
```

For compatibility with versions prior to Excel 2007, use this formula:

```
{=IF(ISERR(SMALL(IF(Data<>"",ROW(INDIRECT("1:"&ROWS(Data)))),
    ROW(INDIRECT("1:"&ROWS(Data))))),"",INDEX(Data,SMALL(IF
    (Data<>"",ROW(INDIRECT("1:"&ROWS(Data)))),ROW(INDIRECT
    ("1:"&ROWS(Data))))))
```

#### FIGURE 17.9

Using an array formula to return only the positive values in a range.

	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	
1	Return	only	positive val	uest	from a range	Э		
2								
3	Data		Positive Vals		Positive Vals		Positive Vals	
4	33		33		33		33	
5	-33		44		44		44	
б	44		4		4		4	
7	4		43		43		43	
8	-5		99		99		99	
9	0		5		5		5	
10	43		6		6		6	
11	-1		8		8		8	
12	-2		9		9		9	
13	-3		10		10		10	
14	-33		11		11		11	
15	99		12		12		12	
16	5		#NUM!					
17	6		#NUM!					
18	-14		#NUM!					
19	8		#NUM!					
20	9		#NUM!					
21	10		#NUM!					
22	11		#NUM!					
23	12		#NUM!					
24								

## Reversing the order of cells in a range

In Figure 17.10, cells C4:C13 contain a multicell array formula that reverses the order of the values in the range A4:A13 (which is named *Data*).

The array formula is

```
{=IF(INDEX(Data,ROWS(Data)-ROW(INDIRECT
("1:"&ROWS(Data)))+1)="","",INDEX(Data,ROWS(Data)-ROW(INDIRECT("1
:"&ROWS(Data)))+1))}
```

#### **FIGURE 17.10**

A multicell array formula displays the entries in A4:A13 in reverse order.

	A	В	С	D
1	<b>Reversing the</b>	order o	f cells in a rang	ge
2				
3	Data Entry Range		Reversed	
4	first		10th	
5	second		9	
6	third		8	
7	fourth		7th	
8	5th		6th	
9	6th		5th	
10	7th		fourth	
11	8		third	
12	9		second	
13	10th		first	
14				
15				

## Sorting a range of values dynamically

Figure 17.11 shows a data entry range in column A (named *Data*). As the user enters values into that range, the values are displayed sorted from largest to smallest in column *C*. The array formula in column C is rather simple:

```
{=LARGE(Data,ROW(INDIRECT("1:"&ROWS(Data))))}
```

If you prefer to avoid the #NUM! error display, the formula gets a bit more complex:

```
{=IF(ISERR(LARGE(Data,ROW(INDIRECT("1:"&ROWS(Data))))),
    "",LARGE(Data,ROW(INDIRECT("1:"&ROWS(Data)))))}
```

Note that this formula works only with values. The companion CD-ROM has a similar array formula example that works only with text.

# Returning a list of unique items in a range

If you have a single-column range named *Data*, the following array formula returns a list of the unique items in the range (the list with no duplicated items):

```
{=INDEX(Data,SMALL(IF(MATCH(Data,Data,0)=ROW(INDIRECT
("1:"&ROWS(Data))),MATCH(Data,Data,0),""),ROW(INDIRECT
("1:"&ROWS(Data)))))}
```

This formula doesn't work if the *Data* range contains any blank cells. The unfilled cells of the array formula display #NUM!.

The following modified version eliminates the #NUM! display by using the Excel 2007 IFERROR function.

```
{=IFERROR(INDEX(Data,SMALL(IF(MATCH(Data,Data,0)=ROW(INDIRECT
("1:"&ROWS(data))),MATCH(Data,Data,0),""),ROW(INDIRECT
("1:"&ROWS(Data)))),"")}
```

#### **FIGURE 17.11**

A multicell array formula displays the values in column A, sorted.

	A	В	С	D	E
1	Sorting a range	e of valu	es dynamica	lly	
2					
	Data Entry Bango		SORTED		SORTED
3	Data Entry Kange		(with #NUM!)		(no #NUM!)
4	44		233		233
5	25		105		105
6	89		89		89
7	43		55		55
8	31		44		44
9	105		43		43
10			31		31
11	55		25		25
12			#NUM!		
13	233		#NUM!		
14			#NUM!		
15			#NUM!		
16			#NUM!		
17			#NUM!		
18			#NUM!		
19			#NUM!		
20			#NUM!		
21			#NUM!		
22			#NUM!		
23			#NUM!		
24			#NUM!		
25			#NUM!		
26			#NUM!		
27			#NUM!		
28			#NUM!		
29			#NUM!		
30			#NUM!		
31			#NUM!		
32			#NUM!		
33			#NUM!		
34			#NUM!		
35					

Figure 17.12 shows an example. Range A4:A22 s named *Data*, and the array formula is entered into range C4:C22. Range E4:E22 contains the array formula that uses the IFERROR function.

#### **FIGURE 17.12**

Using an array formula to return unique items from a list.

		_	_	_	-	
	A	B	C	D	E	
1	Returning a	list of	unique items	in a r	ange	
2						
3	Data		Unique Items		Unique Items	
4	Dog		Dog		Dog	
5	Dog		Cat		Cat	
6	Dog		Monkey		Monkey	
7	Dog		Elephant		Elephant	
8	Cat		Pigeon		Pigeon	
9	Cat		Donkey		Donkey	
10	Cat		#NUM!			
11	Cat		#NUM!			
12	Monkey		#NUM!			
13	Cat		#NUM!			
14	Elephant		#NUM!			
15	Elephant		#NUM!			
16	Elephant		#NUM!			
17	Pigeon		#NUM!			
18	Pigeon		#NUM!			
19	Pigeon		#NUM!			
20	Donkey		#NUM!			
21	Dog		#NUM!			
22	Monkey		#NUM!			
23						
24						

# Displaying a calendar in a range

Figure 17.13 shows the results of one of my favorite multicell array formulas, a "live" calendar displayed in a range of cells. If you change the date at the top, the calendar recalculates to display the dates for the month and year.

## On the CD

This workbook is available on the companion CD-ROM. The file is named array formula calendar.xlsx. In addition, you'll find a workbook (yearly calendar.xlsx) that uses this technique to display a calendar for a complete year. ■

After you create this calendar, you can easily copy it to other worksheets or workbooks.

To create this calendar in the range B2:H9, follow these steps:

- 1. Select B2:H2 and merge the cells by choosing Home ▷ Alignment ▷ Merge & Center.
- 2. Enter a date into the merged range. The day of the month isn't important.
- 3. Enter the abbreviated day names in the range B3:H3.

**4. Select B4:H9 and enter this array formula**. Remember: To enter an array formula, press Ctrl+Shift+Enter (not just Enter).

```
{ = IF (MONTH (DATE (YEAR (B2), MONTH (B2), 1)) <> MONTH (DATE (YEAR (B2),
MONTH (B2), 1) - (WEEKDAY (DATE (YEAR (B2), MONTH (B2), 1)) - 1) +
{0;1;2;3;4;5}*7+{1,2,3,4,5,6,7}-1), "",
DATE (YEAR (B2), MONTH (B2), 1) - (WEEKDAY (DATE (YEAR (B2), MONT
H (B2), 1)) - 1) +
{0;1;2;3;4;5}*7+{1,2,3,4,5,6,7}-1) }
```

- **5.** Format the range B4:H9 to use this custom number format: **d**. This step formats the dates to show only the day. Use the Custom category in the Number tab of the Format Cells dialog box to specify this custom number format.
- 6. Adjust the column widths and format the cells as you like.
- 7. Change the month and year in cell B2. The calendar updates automatically.

After creating this calendar, you can copy the range to any other worksheet or workbook.

#### **FIGURE 17.13**

Displaying a calendar by using a single array formula.

	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	Н				
1												
2		August, 2009										
3		Sun	Mon	Tue	Wed	Thu	Fri	Sat				
4								1				
5		2	3	4	5	6	7	8				
6		9	10	11	12	13	14	15				
7		16	17	18	19	20	21	22				
8		23	24	25	26	27	28	29				
9		30	31									
10												
11												

The array formula actually returns date values, but the cells are formatted to display only the day portion of the date. Also, notice that the array formula uses array constants.

### **Cross-Reference**

See Chapter 16 for more information about array constants. ■

# Part III

# Creating Charts and Graphics

The five chapters in this section deal with charts and graphics — including the new Sparkline graphics. You'll discover how to use Excel's graphics capabilities to display your data in a chart. In addition, you'll learn to use Excel's other drawing tools to enhance your worksheets.

## **IN THIS PART**

Chapter 18 Getting Started Making Charts

**Chapter 19** Learning Advanced Charting

**Chapter 20** Visualizing Data Using Conditional Formatting

**Chapter 21** Creating Sparkline Graphics

**Chapter 22** Enhancing Your Work with Pictures and SmartArt

# CHAPTER ]

# **Getting Started Making Charts**

hen most people think of Excel, they think of crunching rows and columns of numbers. But as you probably know already, Excel is no slouch when it comes to presenting data visually in the form of a chart. In fact, Excel is probably the most commonly used software for creating charts.

This chapter presents an introductory overview of the Excel program's charting ability.

### **New Feature**

One of the new features in Excel 2010 is Sparklines. A *Sparkline* is a mini-chart that's displayed in a single cell. Because this feature is significantly different from standard charts, I devote Chapter 21 to Sparklines. ■

# What Is a Chart?

A *chart* is a visual representation of numeric values. Charts (also known as *graphs*) have been an integral part of spreadsheets since the early days of Lotus 1-2-3. Charts generated by early spreadsheet products were quite crude, but thy have improved significantly over the years. Excel provides you with the tools to create a wide variety of highly customizable charts.

Displaying data in a well-conceived chart can make your numbers more understandable. Because a chart presents a picture, charts are particularly useful for summarizing a series of numbers and their interrelationships. Making a chart can often help you spot trends and patterns that may otherwise go unnoticed. If you're unfamiliar with the elements of a chart, see the sidebar later in this chapter, "The Parts of a Chart."

## **IN THIS CHAPTER**

**Charting overview** 

How Excel handles charts

Embedded charts versus chart sheets

The parts of a chart

Examples of each chart type

Figure 18.1 shows a worksheet that contains a simple column chart that depicts a company's sales volume by month. Viewing the chart makes it very apparent that sales were down in the summer months (June through August), but they increased steadily during the final four months of the year. You could, of course, arrive at this same conclusion simply by studying the numbers. But viewing the chart makes the point much more quickly.

#### FIGURE 18.1

A simple column chart depicts the monthly sales volume.



A column chart is just one of many different types of charts that you can create with Excel. I discuss all chart types so you can make the right choice for your data later in this chapter.

# **Understanding How Excel Handles Charts**

Before you can create a chart, you must have some numbers — sometimes known as *data*. The data, of course, is stored in the cells in a worksheet. Normally, the data that a chart uses resides in a single worksheet, but that's not a strict requirement. A chart can use data that's stored in a different worksheet or even in a different workbook.

A chart is essentially an object that Excel creates upon request. This object consists of one or more data series, displayed graphically. The appearance of the data series depends on the selected chart type. For example, if you create a line chart that uses two data series, the chart contains two lines, each representing one data series. The data for each series is stored in a separate row or column. Each point on the line is determined by the value in a single cell and is represented by a marker. You can distinguish each of the lines by its thickness, line style, color, or data markers (squares, circles, and so on).

Figure 18.2 shows a line chart that plots two data series across a 12-month period. I used different data markers (squares versus circles) to identify the two series, as shown in the legend at the bottom of the chart. The chart clearly shows the sales in the Eastern Region are declining steadily, while Western Region sales are relatively constant.

A key point to keep in mind is that charts are *dynamic*. In other words, a chart series is linked to the data in your worksheet. If the data changes, the chart is updated automatically to reflect those changes.

After you create a chart, you can always change its type, change the formatting, add new data series to it, or change an existing data series so that it uses data in a different range.

#### FIGURE 18.2

This line chart displays two data series.

10	A	8	0	D	6	F		5	H				- 2		Ε.
		Western	Eintern												
а.	Month -	Region	Engine												-
2	Jan .	20,614	41,399	88,000	a -	Mon	this	Sal	es b	v Re	szine	n			
	Peb	19,065	41,110	49,000	a -	141541		241	~~~~		-9101				
-4	Mar	15,199	39,649		1.00	-8-									
3	Apr	20,596	35.571	10,00		-6	-	-8.							
	May	21,079	17,879	35,00	a -				×.						
7	Jan	21,508	34,400	10.00					_	-		÷.,	۰.		
	241	18,502	11,349											1	
-9	Aug	21,202	31,894	26,00	a -				-						
1.0	Sep	15,792	32,354	28,00	a	-	~	+	-	~	A	*	+	•	
11	OCT.	20,241	30,711	10.000						Ξ.					
1.2	Nov	26,735	27,34L	10,000	- 1										
2.1				18,000	a -	<ul> <li>mean</li> </ul>	н таңы	n							
14				5.00		· Later	Region								
1/4	1														
1.15				1 '											
1/T	1				-law	Pek Me	- Apr	May	Jan	ad .	ing 1	1et	Det	N INC	
1.0															_
1.15	1														

A chart is either embedded in a worksheet, or displayed on a separate chart sheet. It's very easy to move an embedded chart to a chart sheet (and vice versa).

## **Embedded charts**

An *embedded chart* basically floats on top of a worksheet, on the worksheet's drawing layer. The charts shown previously in this chapter are both embedded charts.

As with other drawing objects (such as Shapes or SmartArt), you can move an embedded chart, resize it, change its proportions, adjust its borders, and perform other operations. Using embedded charts enables you to print the chart next to the data that it uses.

To make any changes to the actual chart in an embedded chart object, you must click it to *activate* the chart. When a chart is activated, Excel displays the Chart Tools context tab. The Ribbon provides many tools for working with charts.

With one exception, every chart starts out as an embedded chart. The exception is when you create a default chart by selecting the data and pressing F11. In that case, the chart is created on a chart sheet.

# **Chart sheets**

When a chart is on a chart sheet, you view it by clicking its sheet tab. Chart sheets and worksheets can be interspersed in a workbook.

To move an embedded chart to a chart sheet, click the chart to select it and then choose Chart Tools r Design r Location r Move Chart. Excel displays the Move Chart dialog box, shown in Figure 18.3. Select the New Sheet option and provide a name for the chart sheet (or accept Excel's default name). Click OK, and the chart is moved, and the new chart sheet is activated.

## Tip

This operation also works in the opposite direction: You can select a chart on a chart sheet and relocate it to a worksheet as an embedded chart. In the Move Chart dialog box, choose Object In, and then select the worksheet from the drop-down list. ■

#### FIGURE 18.3

The Move Chart dialog box lets you move a chart to a chart sheet.

Move Chart			7 BB		
Chease where you want the chart to be placed:					
bb.	@ New gheet	Cherts			
	O glystini	pheets	•		
			OK Carvel		

When you place a chart on a chart sheet, the chart occupies the entire sheet. If you plan to print a chart on a page by itself, using a chart sheet is often your better choice. If you have many charts, you may want to put each one on a separate chart sheet to avoid cluttering your worksheet. This technique also makes locating a particular chart easier because you can change the names of the chart sheets' tabs to provide a description of the chart that it contains.

The Excel Ribbon changes when a chart sheet is active, similar to the way it changes when you select an embedded chart.

Excel displays a chart in a chart sheet in WYSIWYG (What You See Is What You Get) mode: The printed chart looks just like the image on the chart sheet. If the chart doesn't fit in the window, you can use the scroll bars to scroll it or adjust the zoom factor. You also can change its orientation (tall or wide) by choosing Page Layout store and the scroll bars to scroll the scroll bars to scroll the scroll bars to scroll it or adjust the zoom factor. You also can change its orientation (tall or wide) by choosing Page Layout store and scroll bars to scroll bars to scroll bars to scroll bars the zoom factor. You also can change its orientation (tall or wide) by choosing Page Layout store and scroll bars to scroll bars the zoom factor.

## **Parts of a Chart**

Refer to the accompanying chart as you read the following description of the chart's elements.

The particular chart is a *combination chart* that displays two *data series:* Calls and Sales. Calls are plotted as vertical columns, and the Sales are plotted as a line with square markers. Each column (or marker on the line) represents a single *data point* (the value in a cell). The chart data is stored in the range A1:C7.



It has a horizontal axis, known as the *category axis*. This axis represents the category for each data point (January, February, and so on).

It has two vertical axes, known as value axes, and each one has a different scale. The axis on the left is for the columns (Calls), and the axis on the right is for the line (Sales).

The value axes also display scale values. The axis on the left displays scale values from 0 to 1,400, in major unit increments of 200. The value axis on the right uses a different scale: 0 to 120, in increments of 20.

## Note

A chart with two value axes is appropriate because the two data series vary dramatically in scale. If the Sales data were plotted using the left axis, the line would barely be visible. ■

Most charts provide some method of identifying the data series or data points. A legend, for example, is often used to identify the various series in a chart. In this example, the legend appears on the bottom of the chart. Some charts also display data labels to identify specific data points. This chart displays data labels for the Calls series, but not for the Sales series. In addition, most charts (including the example chart) contain a chart title and additional labels to identify the axes or categories.

# **Creating a Chart**

Creating a chart is fairly simple:

- 1. Make sure that your data is appropriate for a chart.
- **2.** Select the range that contains your data.
- **3.** Choose Insert  $\Rightarrow$  Charts and select a chart type. These icons display drop-down lists that display subtypes. Excel creates the chart and places it in the center of the window.
- **4.** (Optional) Use the commands in the Chart Tools contextual menu to change the look or layout of the chart or add or delete chart elements.

## Tip

You can create a chart with a single keystroke. Select the range to be used in the chart and then press Alt+F1 (for an embedded chart) or F11 (for a chart on a chart sheet). Excel displays the chart of the selected data, using the default chart type. The default chart type is a column chart, but you can change it. Start by creating a chart of the type that you want to be the default type. Select the chart and choose Chart Tools ⇔ Design ⇔ Change Chart Type. In the Change Chart Type dialog box, click Set As Default Chart. ■

# Hands On: Creating and Customizing a Chart

This section contains a step-by-step example of creating a chart and applying some customizations. If you've never created a chart, this is a good opportunity to get a feel for how it works.

Figure 18.4 shows a worksheet with a range of data. This data is customer survey results by month, broken down by customers in three age groups. In this case, the data resides in a table (created by choosing Insert ↔ Tables ↔ Table), but that's not a requirement to create a chart.

## On the CD

This workbook, named hands-on example.xlsx, is available on the companion CD-ROM. ■

# Selecting the data

The first step is to select the data for the chart. Your selection should include such items as labels and series identifiers (row and column headings). For this example, select the range A4:D10. This range includes the category labels but not the title (which is in A1).

#### FIGURE 18.4

The source data for the hands-on chart example.

	A.	8	C	D	1
1	Customer	Satisfacti	on by Age	Group	
2	Percent Very 5	atofied" by c	ustomer age		
1					
4	Menth 💶	< 10 💌	30-49 🖬	58+ 🗖	
5	Jan	42%	46%	75%	
6	reb	33%	52%	76%	
$\mathcal{T}$	Mar	29%	38%	73%	
10	Apr	22%	29%	75%	
9	May	48%	53%	20%	
10	Jun	50%	57%	78%	
11					
12					

## Tip

If your chart data is in a table (or is in a rectangular range separated from other data), you can select just a single cell. Excel will almost always guess the range for the chart accurately. ■

#### Note

The data that you use in a chart need not be in contiguous cells. You can press Ctrl and make a multiple selection. The initial data, however, must be on a single worksheet. If you need to plot data that exists on more than one worksheet, you can add more series after the chart is created. In all cases, however, data for a single chart series must reside on one sheet.

# Choosing a chart type

After you select the data, select a chart type from the Insert in Charts group. Each control in this group is a drop-down list, which lets you further refine your choice by selecting a subtype.

For this example, choose Insert ➡ Charts ➡ Column ➡ Clustered Column. In other words, you're creating a column chart, using the clustered column subtype. Excel displays the chart shown in Figure 18.5.

You can move the chart by dragging any of its borders. You can also resize it by clicking and dragging in one of its corners.

## **Experimenting with different layouts**

The chart looks pretty good, but it's just one of several predefined layouts for a clustered column chart.

To see some other configurations for the chart, select the chart and apply a few other layouts in the Chart Tools in Design in Chart Layouts group.

#### FIGURE 18.5

#### A clustered columns chart.



## Note

Every chart type has a set of layouts that you can choose from. A layout contains additional chart elements, such as a title, data labels, axes, and so on. You can add your own elements to your chart, but often, using a predefined layout saves time. Even if the layout isn't exactly what you want, it may be close enough that you need to make only a few adjustments.

Figure 18.6 shows the chart after selecting a layout that adds a chart title and moves the legend to the bottom. The chart title is a text element that you can select and edit (the figure shows the generic title). For this example, *Customer Satisfaction by Age Group* is a good title.

#### FIGURE 18.6

The chart, after selecting a different layout.



## Tip

You can link the chart title to a cell so the title always displays the contents of a particular cell. To create a link to a cell, click the chart title, type an equal sign (=), click the cell, and press Enter. Excel displays the link in the Formula bar. In the example, the contents of cell A1 is perfect for the chart title. ■

Experiment with the Chart Tools r Layout tab to make other changes to the chart. For example, you can remove the grid lines, add axis titles, relocate the legend, and so on. Making these changes is easy and fairly intuitive.

# Trying another view of the data

The chart, at this point, shows six clusters (months) of three data points in each (age groups). Would the data be easier to understand if you plotted the information in the opposite way?

Try it. Select the chart and then choose Chart Tools ➡ Design ➡ Data ➡ Switch Row/Column. Figure 18.7 shows the result of this change. I also selected a different layout, which provides more separation between the three clusters.

## Note

The orientation of the data has a drastic effect on the look of your chart. Excel has its own rules that it uses to determine the initial data orientation when you create a chart. If Excel's orientation doesn't match your expectation, it's easy enough to change. ■

The chart, with this new orientation, reveals information that wasn't so apparent in the original version. The <30 and 30–49 age groups both show a decline in satisfaction for March and April. The 50+ age group didn't have this problem, however.

#### FIGURE 18.7

The chart, after changing the row and column orientation, and choosing a different layout.



# Trying other chart types

Although a clustered column chart seems to work well for this data, there's no harm in checking out some other chart types. Choose Design  $\Rightarrow$  Type  $\Rightarrow$  Change Chart Type to experiment with other chart types. This command displays the Change Chart Type dialog box, shown in Figure 18.8. The main categories are listed on the left, and the subtypes are shown as icons. Select an icon and click OK, and Excel displays the chart using the new chart type. If you don't like the result, select Undo.

## Tip

You can also change the chart type by selecting the chart and using the controls in the Insert 🕫 Charts group.

#### FIGURE 18.8

Use this dialog box to change the chart type.

Dunge Chart Type	1.968
La Tonico II Gauss Si Let Si Let Si S	
de name	

# Trying other chart styles

If you'd like to try some of the prebuilt chart styles, select the chart and choose Chart Tools  $\Rightarrow$  Design  $\Rightarrow$  Chart Styles gallery. You'll find an amazing selection of different colors and effects, all available with a single mouse click.

## Tip

The styles displayed in the gallery depend on the workbook's theme. When you choose Page Layout → Themes → Themes to apply a different theme, you'll have a new selection of chart styles designed for the selected theme. ■ Figure 18.9 shows a few different chart type options using the customer satisfaction data.

#### FIGURE 18.9

The customer satisfaction chart, using four different chart types.



# **Working with Charts**

This section covers some common chart modifications:

- Resizing and moving charts
- Copying a chart
- Deleting a chart
- Adding chart elements
- Moving and deleting chart elements
- Formatting chart elements
- Printing charts

#### Note

Before you can modify a chart, the chart must be activated. To activate an embedded chart, click it. Doing so activates the chart and also selects the element that you click. To activate a chart on a chart sheet, just click its sheet tab. ■

## **Resizing a chart**

If your chart is an embedded chart, you can freely resize it with you mouse. Click the chart's border. Handles (gray dots) appear on the chart's corners and edges. When the mouse pointer turns into a double arrow, click and drag to resize the chart.

When a chart is selected, choose Chart Tools 🕫 Format 🕏 Size to adjust the height and width of the chart. Use the spinners, or type the dimensions directly into the Height and Width controls.

# Moving a chart

To move a chart to a different location on a worksheet, click the chart and drag one of its borders. You can use standard cut and paste techniques to move an embedded chart. In fact, this is the only way to move a chart from one worksheet to another. Select the chart and choose Home  $\Rightarrow$ Clipboard  $\Rightarrow$  Cut (or press Ctrl+X). Then activate a cell near the desired location and choose Home  $\Rightarrow$  Clipboard  $\Rightarrow$  Paste (or press Ctrl+V). The new location can be in a different worksheet or even in a different workbook. If you paste the chart to a different workbook, it will be linked to the data in the original workbook.

To move an embedded chart to a chart sheet (or vice versa), select the chart and choose Chart Tools 
Design 
Location 
Move Chart to display the Move Chart dialog box. Choose New Sheet and provide a name for the chart sheet (or use the Excel proposed name).

# **Copying a chart**

To make an exact copy of an embedded chart on the same worksheet, activate the chart, press and hold the Ctrl key, and drag. Release the mouse button, and a new copy of the chart is created.

To make a copy of a chart sheet, use the same procedure, but drag the chart sheet's tab.

You also can use standard copy and paste techniques to copy a chart. Select the chart (an embedded chart or a chart sheet) and choose Home ↔ Clipboard ↔ Copy (or press Ctrl+C). Then activate a cell near the desired location and choose Home ↔ Clipboard ↔ Paste (or press Ctrl+V). The new location can be in a different worksheet or even in a different workbook. If you paste the chart to a different workbook, it will be linked to the data in the original workbook.

# **Deleting a chart**

To delete an embedded chart, press Ctrl and click the chart (to select the chart as an object). Then press Delete. When the Ctrl key is pressed, you can select multiple charts, and then delete them all with a single press of the Delete key.

To delete a chart sheet, right-click its sheet tab and choose Delete from the shortcut menu. To delete multiple chart sheets, select them by pressing Ctrl while you click the sheet tabs.

## Adding chart elements

To add new elements to a chart (such as a title, legend, data labels, or gridlines), use the controls on the Chart Tools in Layout tab. These controls are arranged into logical groups, and they all display a drop-down list of options.

## Moving and deleting chart elements

Some elements within a chart can be moved: titles, legend, and data labels. To move a chart element, simply click it to select it. Then drag its border.

The easiest way to delete a chart element is to select it and then press Delete. You can also use the controls on the Chart Tools I Layout tab to turn off the display of a particular chart element. For example, to delete data labels, choose Chart Tools I Layout I Labels I Data Labels I None.

#### Note

A few chart elements consist of multiple objects. For example, the data labels element consists of one label for each data point. To move or delete one data label, click once to select the entire element and then click a second time to select the specific data label. You can then move or delete the single data label.

## Formatting chart elements

Many users are content to stick with the predefined chart layouts and chart styles. For more precise customizations, Excel allows you to work with individual chart elements and apply additional formatting. You can use the Ribbon commands for some modifications, but the easiest way to format chart elements is to right-click the element and choose Format from the shortcut menu. The exact command depends on the element you select. For example, if you right-click the chart's title, the shortcut menu command is Format Chart Title.

The Format command displays a stay-on-top tabbed dialog box with options for the selected element. Changes that you make are displayed immediately, but in some cases you need to deactivate the control by pressing tab to move to the next control. You can keep this dialog box displayed while you work on the chart. When you select a new chart element, the dialog box changes to display the properties for the newly selected element.

### **New Feature**

In Excel 2007, the designers removed the ability to double-click a chart element to display the corresponding Format dialog box. In response to user complaints, double-clicking a chart element has been reinstated in Excel 2010. ■

Figure 18.10 shows the Format Axis dialog box, which is displayed by right-clicking the vertical axis and selecting Format Axis from the shortcut menu — or by simply double-clicking the vertical axis.

## Tip

If you apply formatting to a chart element and decide that it wasn't such a good idea, you can revert to the original formatting for the particular chart style. Right-click the chart element and choose Reset to Match Style from the shortcut menu. To reset the entire chart, select the chart area when you issue the command.

#### **FIGURE 18.10**

Each chart element has a formatting dialog box. This one is used to format a chart axis.

ionmat Asis		
Ana Options Number Hi Line Calor Line Style Shactur Geor and Soft Edges 3-0 Permet Algoment	Axis Options Nimum: @ Axis: 0 Bood 0.0 Northerm: @ Ayis: 0 Poed 0.5 Night with @ Axis: 0 Poed 0.1 Nimum: @ Axis: 0 Poed 0.1 Solves inverses arise: Solves inverses arise: Speed diplay until labelien: chart Night tick mark type: None = Piper tick mark type: None = Spin labeli: Next to Axis = Horsonial enit crosses: @ Axis wildy: 0.1 Spin labeli: Next to Axis = Horsonial enit crosses: @ Axis wildy: 0.1 Spin labeli: Next to Axis = Notice of the solves: @ Axis wildy: 0.1 Spin labeli: Next to Axis = Notice of the solves: @ Axis wildy: 0.1 Spin labeli: Next to Axis = Notice of the solves: @ Axis wildy: 0.1 Spin labeli: Next to Axis = Notice of the solves: % Axis wildy: 0.1 Spin labeli: Next to Axis = % Axis wildy: 0.1 % A	
		Oese

### **Cross-Reference**

See Chapter 19 for more information about customizing and formatting charts. ■

# **Printing charts**

Printing embedded charts is nothing special; you print them the same way that you print a worksheet. As long as you include the embedded chart in the range that you want to print, Excel prints the chart as it appears onscreen. When printing a sheet that contains embedded charts, it's a good idea to preview first (or use Page Layout view) to ensure that your charts do not span multiple pages. If you created the chart on a chart sheet, Excel always prints the chart on a page by itself.

## Tip

If you select an embedded chart and choose File ▷ Print, Excel prints the chart on a page by itself and does not print the worksheet. ■

If you don't want a particular embedded chart to appear on your printout, use the Properties tab of the Format Chart Area dialog box. To display this dialog box, double-click the background area of the chart. In the Properties tab of the Format Chart Area dialog box, clear the Print Object check box.

# **Understanding Chart Types**

People who create charts usually do so to make a point or to communicate a specific message. Often, the message is explicitly stated in the chart's title or in a text box within the chart. The chart itself provides visual support.

Choosing the correct chart type is often a key factor in the effectiveness of the message. Therefore, it's often well worth your time to experiment with various chart types to determine which one conveys your message best.

In almost every case, the underlying message in a chart is some type of *comparison*. Examples of some general types of comparisons include

- **Compare item to other items.** A chart may compare sales in each of a company's sales regions.
- Compare data over time. A chart may display sales by month and indicate trends over time.
- Make relative comparisons. A common pie chart can depict relative proportions in terms of pie "slices."
- **Compare data relationships.** An XY chart is ideal for this comparison. For example, you might show the relationship between marketing expenditures and sales.
- Frequency comparison. You can use a common histogram, for example, to display the number (or percentage) of students who scored within a particular grade range.
- **Identify "outliers" or unusual situations.** If you have thousands of data points, creating a chart may help identify data that is not representative.

# Choosing a chart type

A common question among Excel users is "How do I know which chart type to use for my data?" Unfortunately, this question has no cut-and-dried answer. Perhaps the best answer is a vague one: Use the chart type that gets your message across in the simplest way.

Figure 18.11 shows the same set of data plotted by using six different chart types. Although all six charts represent the same information (monthly Web site visitors), they look quite different from one another.

#### FIGURE 18.11

The same data, plotted by using six chart types.



## On the CD

This workbook is available on the companion CD-ROM. The file is named six chart types.xlsx.

The column chart (upper left) is probably the best choice for this particular set of data because it clearly shows the information for each month in discrete units. The bar chart (upper right) is similar to a column chart, but the axes are swapped. Most people are more accustomed to seeing time-based information extend from left to right rather than from top to bottom.

The line chart (middle left) may not be the best choice because it seems to imply that the data is continuous — that points exist in between the 12 actual data points. This same argument may be made against using an area chart (middle right).

The pie chart (lower left) is simply too confusing and does nothing to convey the time-based nature of the data. Pie charts are most appropriate for a data series in which you want to emphasize proportions among a relatively small number of data points. If you have too many data points, a pie chart can be impossible to interpret.

The radar chart (lower right) is clearly inappropriate for this data. People aren't accustomed to viewing time-based information in a circular direction!

Fortunately, changing a chart's type is easy, so you can experiment with various chart types until you find the one that represents your data accurately, clearly, and as simply as possible.

The remainder of this chapter contains more information about the various Excel chart types. The examples and discussion may give you a better handle on determining the most appropriate chart type for your data.

# Column

Probably the most common chart type is column charts. A *column chart* displays each data point as a vertical column, the height of which corresponds to the value. The value scale is displayed on the vertical axis, which is usually on the left side of the chart. You can specify any number of data series, and the corresponding data points from each series can be stacked on top of each other. Typically, each data series is depicted in a different color or pattern.

Column charts are often used to compare discrete items, and they can depict the differences between items in a series or items across multiple series. Excel offers seven column-chart subtypes.

## On the CD

A workbook that contains the charts in this section is available on the companion CD-ROM. The file is named column charts.xlsx.

Figure 18.12 shows an example of a clustered column chart that depicts monthly sales for two products. From this chart, it is clear that Sprocket sales have always exceeded Widget sales. In addition, Widget sales have been declining over the five-month period, whereas Sprocket sales are increasing.

#### **FIGURE 18.12**

D 6 Widget and Sprocket Sales Jan 68.983 68.782 64,000 101000 60,004 I Feb 5 1/10 48 (021 77,390 98.000 14 MUM 88.000 10.000 38.675 98,738 78,808 \$1,000 58.808 48,808 10.000 28,800 18.800 0 144 neb 184 expredient in undgent

This clustered column chart compares monthly sales for two products.

The same data, in the form of a stacked column chart, is shown in Figure 18.13. This chart has the added advantage of depicting the combined sales over time. It shows that total sales have remained fairly steady each month, but the relative proportions of the two products have changed.

Figure 18.14 shows the same sales data plotted as a 100% stacked column chart. This chart type shows the relative contribution of each product by month. Notice that the vertical axis displays percentage values, not sales amounts. This chart provides no information about the actual sales volumes. This type of chart is often a good alternative to using several pie charts. Instead of using a pie to show the relative sales volume in each year, the chart uses a column for each year.

#### **FIGURE 18.13**



This stacked column chart displays sales by product and depicts the total sales.

#### **FIGURE 18.14**

This 100% stacked column chart display monthly sales as a percentage.



The data is plotted with a 3-D clustered column chart in Figure 18.15. The name is a bit deceptive, because the chart uses only two dimensions, not three. Many people use this type of chart because it has more visual pizzazz. Compare this chart with a "true" 3-D column chart, shown in Figure 18.16. This type of chart may be appealing visually, but precise comparisons are difficult because of the distorted perspective view.

You can also choose from column variations known as cylinder, cone, and pyramid charts. The only difference among these chart types and a standard column chart is the shape of the columns.

#### **FIGURE 18.15**

A 3-D column chart.



#### **FIGURE 18.16**

A true 3-D column chart.



## Bar

A *bar chart* is essentially a column chart that has been rotated 90 degrees clockwise. One distinct advantage to using a bar chart is that the category labels may be easier to read. Figure 18.17 shows a bar chart that displays a value for each of ten survey items. The category labels are lengthy, and displaying them legibly with a column chart would be difficult. Excel offers six bar chart subtypes.

## On the CD

A workbook that contains the chart in this section is available on the companion CD-ROM. The file is named bar charts.xlsx.

## Note

Unlike a column chart, no subtype displays multiple series along a third axis. (That is, Excel does not provide a 3-D Bar Chart subtype.) You can add a 3-D look to a column chart, but it will be limited to two axes.

You can include any number of data series in a bar chart. In addition, the bars can be "stacked" from left to right.

#### **FIGURE 18.17**

If you have lengthy category labels, a bar chart may be a good choice.


### Line

*Line charts* are often used to plot continuous data and are useful for identifying trends. For example, plotting daily sales as a line chart may enable you to identify sales fluctuations over time. Normally, the category axis for a line chart displays equal intervals. Excel supports seven line chart subtypes.

See Figure 18.18 for an example of a line chart that depicts daily sales (200 data points). Although the data varies quite a bit on a daily basis, the chart clearly depicts an upward trend.

### On the CD

A workbook that contains the charts in this section is available on the companion CD-ROM. The file is named line charts.xlsx.

The final line chart example, shown in Figure 18.20, is a 3-D *line chart*. Although it has a nice visual appeal, it's certainly not the clearest way to present the data. In fact, it's fairly worthless.

A line chart can use any number of data series, and you distinguish the lines by using different colors, line styles, or markers. Figure 18.19 shows a line chart that has three series. The series are distinguished by markers (circles, squares, and diamonds) and different line colors.



#### **FIGURE 18.18**

A line chart often can help you spot trends in your data.

This line chart displays three series.



#### **FIGURE 18.20**

This 3-D line chart does not present the data very well.



### Pie

A *pie chart* is useful when you want to show relative proportions or contributions to a whole. A pie chart uses only one data series. Pie charts are most effective with a small number of data points. Generally, a pie chart should use no more than five or six data points (or slices). A pie chart with too many data points can be very difficult to interpret.

### Caution

The values used in a pie chart must all be positive numbers. If you create a pie chart that uses one or more negative values, the negative values will be converted to positive values — which is probably not what you intended! ■

You can "explode" one or more slices of a pie chart for emphasis (see Figure 18.21). Activate the chart and click any pie slice to select the entire pie. Then click the slice that you want to explode and drag it away from the center.

### On the CD

A workbook that contains the charts in this section is available on the companion CD-ROM. The file is named pie charts.xlsx.

#### **FIGURE 18.21**

A pie chart with one slice exploded.



The pie of pie and bar of pie chart types enables you to display a secondary chart that provides more detail for one of the pie slices. Figure 18.22 shows an example of a bar of pie chart. The pie chart shows the breakdown of four expense categories Rent, Supplies, Miscellaneous, and Salary. The secondary bar chart provides an additional regional breakdown of the Salary category.

The data used in the chart resides in A2:B8. When the chart was created, Excel made a guess at which categories belong to the secondary chart. In this case, the guess was to use the last three data points for the secondary chart — and the guess was incorrect.

To correct the chart, right-click any of the pie slices and choose Format Data Series. In the dialog box that appears, select the Series Options tab and make the changes. In this example, I chose Split Series by Position and specified that the Second Plot Contains the Last 4 Values in The Series.

A bar of pie chart that shows detail for one of the pie slices.



### XY (scatter)

Another common chart type is an *XY chart* (also known as scattergrams or scatter plots). An XY chart differs from most other chart types in that both axes display values. (An XY chart has no category axis.)

This type of chart often is used to show the relationship between two variables. Figure 18.23 shows an example of an XY chart that plots the relationship between sales calls made (horizontal axis) and sales (vertical axis). Each point in the chart represents one month. The chart shows that these two variables are positively related: Months in which more calls were made typically had higher sales volumes.

#### **FIGURE 18.23**

An XY chart shows the relationship between two variables.



### On the CD

A workbook that contains the charts in this section is available on the companion CD-ROM. The file is named xy charts.xlsx.

### Note

Although these data points correspond to time, the chart doesn't convey any time-related information. In other words, the data points are plotted based only on their two values. ■

Figure 18.24 shows another XY chart, this one with lines that connect the XY points. This chart plots a hypocycloid curve with 200 data points. It's set up with three parameters. Change any of the parameters, and you'll get a completely different curve. This is a very minimalist chart. I deleted all the chart elements except the data series itself.

If this type of design looks familiar, it's because a hypocycloid curve is the basis for a popular children's drawing toy.

#### **FIGURE 18.24**

A hypocycloid curve, plotted as an XY chart.

2	A	1.0	1.1.1		1	-		1.14			1 1
1		mos At he		4,560	8.10						
1		trade wan a	- 1	a.inc	1.95						
8			1	4. Ameri	-8.82						
*											
1.		10 B 10 B	1								
1.1	1.1.29	14		· 18	12						
8.1	464	44	44	44	44						1
1.1	1911		-11.6	1.1	11.8				1.00	200	t
8	14.1			1.0	48.0				10	20	19
10.0	11.4	1.10	-11.7	31.1	28-4			(C-2)	-442	No.	44
111	46.0	. 89	-44.0	18.7	1.1			1117	5.27	100	- 88
11	18.4	100	41.8	41.7	-14.9			20036	12.5	3 <b>8</b> 5	194
11	48.7	11.9	-414	12.4	19.1		- 67	0.350	100	28.	1982
4.	TLE	11.6		1.1	- 44.4		- 10	1.0002	18 C	26.	191.52
ĸΕ	.11.9	148	-18.2	-41.1	46.8		2	1.1223	1.0075	84.	Note:
8.	41.0	- Md		82.4	14		1	0002	요즘 음	8.01	6448 C
11	101.1	119	1	-91.0	-88.2		1	70896	0.11.0	8,65	100 M
ΝT	LICE		1075-4	12.8	88.7		- R	- 49605	88. YO	887.	810.14
1	LHI	20/2	444.4	18.4	4414		100	100	1000	(PD-)	100
10	121.4	11.0	4111	-111	10.2		1-	1000	117-1-1	N SAF	en a
4	4114	104	414.0	414.6	-44-4		-	100	500	navi i	130
U.	1414	18.4	-1418	-17.8	-11.1				10	77144	100
15	10.7	11.9	1 1.1918	17.3	128.4				1	211-	
4	101	18.0	6.88.4	- 45.8	-128.0-				- 2	1.5	
11	1119	.0.9	1.1812	-411.1	LLL.C						
1	443.0	14.6	438.0	6.64.4	84.8						
11	.111.1	11.9	-1.0+1	10483	11.0						

### Area

Think of an *area chart* as a line chart in which the area below the line has been colored in. Figure 18.25 shows an example of a stacked area chart. Stacking the data series enables you to see clearly the total, plus the contribution by each series.

#### A stacked area chart.



### On the CD

A workbook that contains the charts in this section is available on the companion CD-ROM. The file is named area charts.xlsx.

Figure 18.26 shows the same data, plotted as a 3-D area chart. As you can see, it's not an example of an effective chart. The data for products B and C are obscured. In some cases, the problem can be resolved by rotating the chart or using transparency. But usually the best way to salvage a chart like this is to select a new chart type.

#### **FIGURE 18.26**

This 3-D area chart is not a good choice.



### Doughnut

A *doughnut chart* is similar to a pie chart, with two differences: It has a hole in the middle, and it can display more than one series of data. Doughnut charts are listed in the Other Charts category.

Figure 18.27 shows an example of a doughnut chart with two series (1st Half Sales and 2nd Half Sales). The legend identifies the data points. Because a doughnut chart doesn't provide a direct way to identify the series, I added arrows and series descriptions manually.

### On the CD

A workbook that contains the charts in this section is available on the companion CD-ROM. The file is named doughnut charts.xlsx.

#### **FIGURE 18.27**

A doughnut chart with two data series.



Notice that Excel displays the data series as concentric rings. As you can see, a doughnut chart with more than one series can be very difficult to interpret. For example, the relatively larger sizes of the slices toward the outer part of the doughnut can be deceiving. Consequently, you should use doughnut charts sparingly. Perhaps the best use for a doughnut chart is to plot a single series as a visual alternative to a pie chart.

In many cases, a stacked column chart for such comparisons expresses your meaning better than does a doughnut chart (see Figure 18.28).



Using a stacked column chart is a better choice.

### Radar

Radar charts are listed in the Other Charts category. You may not be familiar with this type of chart. A *radar chart* is a specialized chart that has a separate axis for each category, and the axes extend outward from the center of the chart. The value of each data point is plotted on the corresponding axis.

Figure 18.29 shows an example of a radar chart. This chart plots two data series across 12 categories (months) and shows the seasonal demand for snow skis versus water skis. Note that the waterski series partially obscures the snow-ski series.

### On the CD

A workbook that contains the charts in this section is available on the companion CD-ROM. The file is named radar charts.xlsx.

Using a radar chart to show seasonal sales may be an interesting approach, but it's not the best. As you can see in Figure 18.30, a stacked bar chart shows the information much more clearly.

A more appropriate use for radar charts is shown in Figure 18.31. These four charts each plot a color. More precisely, each chart shows the RGB components (the contributions of red, green, and blue) that make up a color. Each chart has one series, and three categories. The categories extend from 0 to 255.

Marth w SM Ballets - Water Shi Sales 2 Ian 3 Feb 6,817 1,882 1.752 3347 4.114 1,108 1,118 8 Apt 8 Hiley 7 1911 3.122 1.612 \$311 10,718 724 15,452 1 14 7 AU 18 34P 8% 15,874 50.0 0.004 1,344 5,419 目 98 1.714 1.111 LL Her 04.0 1,459 11.041 41,710 1.410 14 # Direy Martalasi 1.1 il Weier thi later 27

Plotting ski sales using a radar chart with 12 categories and 2 series.

#### **FIGURE 18.30**

A stacked bar chart is a better choice for the ski sales data.



### Note

If you view the charts in color, you'll see that they actually depict the color that they describe. The data series colors were applied manually.

These radar charts depict the red, green, and blue contributions for each of four colors.



### Surface

Surface charts display two or more data series on a surface. Surface charts are listed in the Other Charts category.

As Figure 18.32 shows, these charts can be quite interesting. Unlike other charts, Excel uses color to distinguish values, not to distinguish the data series. The number of colors used is determined by the major unit scale setting for the value axis. Each color corresponds to one major unit.

### On the CD

A workbook that contains the charts in this section is available on the companion CD-ROM. The file is named surface charts.xlsx.

### Note

A surface chart does not plot 3-D data points. The series axis for a surface chart, like with all other 3-D charts, is a category axis — not a value axis. In other words, if you have data that is represented by x, y, and z coordinates, it can't be plotted accurately on a surface chart unless the x and y values are equally spaced.  $\blacksquare$ 

A surface chart.



### **Bubble**

Think of a *bubble chart* as an XY chart that can display an additional data series, which is represented by the size of the bubbles. As with an XY chart, both axes are value axes (there is no category axis). Bubble charts are listed in the Other Charts category.

Figure 18.33 shows an example of a bubble chart that depicts the results of a weight-loss program. The horizontal value axis represents the original weight, the vertical value axis shows the number of weeks in the program, and the size of the bubbles represents the amount of weight lost.

### On the CD

A workbook that contains the charts in this section is available on the companion CD-ROM. The file is named bubble charts.xlsx.

Figure 18.34 shows another bubble chart, made up of nine series that represent mouse face parts. The size and position of each bubble required some experimentation.

### Stock

*Stock charts* are most useful for displaying stock-market information. These charts require three to five data series, depending on the subtype. This chart type is listed in the Other Charts category.

#### A bubble chart.



### FIGURE 18.34

This bubble chart depicts a mouse.

17	A	-	121	-11	- E.		F 1	1.1	-	4				
Т	Fet	x		Babble										_
1	Right for	3.6	7.8	38.0		10+-								-
2	Lefter	24	2.6	35.0		1.0								
4	Hall	1.10	- 44	80.0										
1	3.4Pt Gys	3.4	-5,4	18.0				1.1			112			
	Fight Fye	4.6	8.4	18/0		1.0					1		(****	
3	Left Pupil	3.2	5.6	5.0			14			1.1	<b>a</b>			
8	Fight hard	4.4	3.6	5.0		7	- 1			111				
	Note	- 6.0	1.1	15.0			-1.5						1.1	
	Mouth	4.0	- 8.0	18.0				100		V		100		
						8- 3- 8- 8- 8- 8- 8- 8- 8- 8- 8- 8- 8- 8- 8-						)		
Delite in 1						2	÷	-	1		ł	1	+	1

Figure 18.35 shows an example of each of the four stock chart types. The two charts on the bottom display the trade volume and use two value axes. The daily volume, represented by columns, uses the axis on the left. The *up-bars*, sometimes referred to as *candlesticks*, are the vertical lines that

depict the difference between the opening and closing price. A black up-bar indicates that the closing price was lower than the opening price.

### On the CD

A workbook that contains the charts in this section is available on the companion CD-ROM. The file is named stock charts.xlsx.

Stock charts aren't just for stock price data. Figure 18.36 shows a chart that depicts the high, low, and average temperatures for each day in May. This is a high-low-close chart.

#### **FIGURE 18.35**

The four stock chart subtypes.



Plotting temperature data with a stock chart.



# **Learning More**

This chapter introduced Excel charts, including examples of the types of charts that you can create. For many uses, the information in this chapter is sufficient to create a wide variety of charts.

Those who require control over every aspect of their charts can find the information they need in the next chapter. It picks up where this one left off and covers the details involved in creating the perfect chart.

# CHAPTER ] ] ] ] ]

# Learning Advanced Charting

**E** a chart type, and you're finished. You may take a few extra seconds and select one of the prebuilt Chart Layouts, and maybe even select one of the Chart Styles. But if your goal is to create the most effective chart possible, you probably want to take advantage of the additional customization techniques available in Excel.

Customizing a chart involves changing its appearance as well as possibly adding new elements to it. These changes can be purely cosmetic (such as changing colors modifying line widths, or adding a shadow) or quite substantial (say, changing the axis scales or adding a second Value Axis). Chart elements that you might add include such features as a data table, a trend line, or error bars.

The preceding chapter introduced charting in Excel and described how to create basic charts. This chapter takes the topic to the next level. You learn how to customize your charts to the maximum so that they look exactly as you want. You also pick up some slick charting tricks that will make your charts even more impressive.

# **Selecting Chart Elements**

Modifying a chart is similar to everything else you do in Excel: First you make a selection (in this case, select a chart element), and then you issue a command to do something with the selection.

You can select only one chart element (or one group of chart elements) at a time. For example, if you want to change the font for two axis labels, you must work on each set of axis labels separately.

### **IN THIS CHAPTER**

Understanding chart customization

**Changing basic chart elements** 

Working with data series

Discovering some chartmaking tricks

Excel provides three ways, described in the following sections, to select a particular chart element:

- Mouse
- Keyboard
- Chart Elements control

### Selecting with the mouse

To select a chart element with your mouse, just click the element. The chart element appears with small circles at the corners.

### Tip

Some chart elements are a bit tricky to select. To ensure that you select the chart element that you intended to select, view the Chart Element control, located in the Chart Tools ⇔ Format ⇔ Current Selection group of the Ribbon (see Figure 19.1). ■

#### FIGURE 19.1

The Chart Element control displays the name of the selected chart element. In this example, the Legend is selected.



When you move the mouse over a chart, a small *chart tip* displays the name of the chart element under the mouse pointer. When the mouse pointer is over a data point, the chart tip also displays the value of the data point.

### Tip

If you find these chart tips annoying, you can turn them off. Choose File 

→ Options and click the Advanced tab in the Excel Options dialog box. Locate the Display section and clear either or both the Show Chart Element Names on Hover or the Show Data Point Values on Hover check boxes. ■

Some chart elements (such as a series, a legend, and data labels) consist of multiple items. For example, a chart series element is made up of individual data points. To select a particular data point, click twice: First click the series to select it and then click the specific element within the series (for example, a column or a line chart marker). Selecting the element enables you to apply formatting to only a particular data point in a series.

You may find that some chart elements are difficult to select with the mouse. If you rely on the mouse for selecting a chart element, you may have to click it several times before the desired element is actually selected. Fortunately, Excel provides other ways to select a chart element, and it's worth your while to be familiar with them. Keep reading to see how.

### Selecting with the keyboard

When a chart is active, you can use the up-arrow and down-arrow navigation keys on your keyboard to cycle among the chart's elements. Again, keep your eye on the Chart Elements control to ensure that the selected chart element is what you think it is.

- When a chart series is selected: Use the left-arrow and right-arrow keys to select an individual item within the series.
- When a set of data labels is selected: You can select a specific data label by using the left-arrow or right-arrow key.
- When a legend is selected: Select individual elements within the legend by using the left-arrow or right-arrow keys.

### Selecting with the Chart Element control

The Chart Element control is located in the Chart Tools ➡ Format ➡ Current Selection group and also in the Chart Tools ➡ Layout ➡ Current Selection group. This control displays the name of the currently selected chart element. It's a drop-down control, and you can also use it to select a particular element in the active chart (see Figure 19.2).

The Chart Element control also appears in the Mini toolbar, which is displayed when you rightclick a chart element.

The Chart Element control enables you to select only the top-level elements in the chart. To select an individual data point within a series, for example, you need to select the series and then use the navigation keys (or your mouse) to select the desired data point.

### **Draft Mode for Charts**.

If you create complex charts with lots of formatting, you may find that screen updating slows down. If so, that's a good time to turn on Draft mode.

### **New Feature**

#### The Draft Mode charting option is new to Excel 2010. ■

Select the chart, and choose Chart Tools  $\Rightarrow$  Design  $\Rightarrow$  Mode  $\Rightarrow$  Draft. This command toggles Draft mode for the selected chart. This Ribbon button also has a drop-down list, which has commands to apply Draft mode to all charts. A Draft Mode indicator appears in the lower-right corner. Click this indicator to switch from Draft mode to Normal mode.

When a chart is displayed in Draft mode, some formatting may be hidden. For example, dashed and dotted lines appear solid, shadows are hidden, gradients display as solid colors, and transparent elements are not transparent.

When you edit a chart in Draft mode, you'll notice that some formatting commands appear to have no effect. For example, if you apply a shadow to a chart element, the shadow does not appear. However, if you set the chart to Normal mode, the formatting will appear. Therefore, I recommend formatting your charts using Normal mode, not Draft mode.

In the unlikely event that you would like Draft mode to be the default for all charts, choose File  $\Rightarrow$  Options, click the Advanced tab, locate the Charts section, and select the Insert Charts Using Draft Mode check box.

#### FIGURE 19.2

Using the Chart Element drop-down control to select a chart element.



### Note

When a single data point is selected, the Chart Element control will display the name of the selected element even though it's not actually available for selection from the drop-down list.

### Tip

If you do a lot of work with charts, you may want to add the Chart Element control to your Quick Access toolbar. That way, it will always be visible regardless of which Ribbon tab is showing. To add the control to your Quick Access toolbar, right-click the down arrow in the control and choose Add to Quick Access Toolbar.

# User Interface Choices for Modifying Chart Elements

You have three main ways of working with chart elements: the Format dialog box, the Ribbon, and the Mini toolbar.

### Using the Format dialog box

When a chart element is selected, use the element's Format dialog box to format or set options for the element. Each chart element has a unique Format dialog box that contains controls specific to the element (although many Format dialog boxes have controls in common). To access the Format dialog box, use any of these methods:

- Double-click the chart element.
- Right-click the chart element and then choose Format *xxxx* from the shortcut menu (where *xxxx* is the name of the element).
- Select a chart element and then choose Chart Tools ↔ Format ↔ Current Selection ↔ Format Selection.
- Select a chart element and press Ctrl+1.

Any of these actions displays a tabbed Format dialog box from which you can make many changes to the selected chart element. For example, Figure 19.3 shows the dialog box that appears when a chart's legend is selected.

### Tip

The Format dialog box is a modeless dialog box, so you can leave it open while you're working on a chart. If you select a different chart element, the Format dialog box changes to display the options appropriate for the new element. ■

#### FIGURE 19.3

Use the Format dialog box to set the properties of a selected chart element — in this case, the chart's legend.

Format Legend		18.12
Legend Options Pil Border Color Borderur Genrand Seff Edges	Legend Options Legend Poston: So gets Left Built Top Right grow the legend atthout overlapping the chart	
		Ciese

### **Using the Ribbon**

When a chart element is selected, you can also use the commands on the Ribbon to change some aspects of its formatting. For example, to change the color of the bars in a column chart, use the commands from the Chart Tools I Format I Shape Styles group. For some types of chart element formatting, you need to leave the Chart Tools tab. For example, to adjust font-related properties, use the commands from the Home I Font Group.

The Ribbon controls do *not* comprise a comprehensive set of tools for chart elements. The Format dialog box usually presents options that aren't available on the Ribbon.

### Using the Mini toolbar

When you right-click an element in a chart, Excel displays a shortcut menu and the Mini toolbar. The Mini toolbar contains commonly used formatting commands, plus a copy of the Chart Elements control (which you can use to select another chart element).

Commands that are inappropriate for the selected chart element are disabled in the Mini toolbar. For example, if you select an element that doesn't contain text, the text-related tools are disabled.

# **Modifying the Chart Area**

The *Chart Area* is an object that contains all other elements in the chart. You can think of it as a chart's master background or container.

The only modifications that you can make to the Chart Area are cosmetic. You can change its fill color; outline; or effects, such as shadow and soft edges.

Note that if you set the Chart Area of an embedded chart to use No Fill, the underlying cells are visible. Figure 19.4 shows a chart that uses No Fill and No Outline in its Chart Area. The Plot Area, Legend, and Chart Title *do* use a fill color. Adding a shadow to these other elements make them appear to be floating on the worksheet.

The Chart Area element also controls all the fonts used in the chart. For example, if you want to change every font in the chart, you don't need to format each text element separately. Just select the Chart Area and then make the change from options of the Home r Font group or by using the Mini toolbar.

#### FIGURE 19.4

The Chart Area element uses No Fill, so the underlying cells are visible.



### **Resetting Chart Element Formatting**

If you go overboard formatting a chart element, you can always reset it to its original state. Just select the element and choose Chart Tools 🕫 Format 🗘 Current Selection 🕫 Reset to Match Style. Or, rightclick the chart element and choose Reset to Match Style from the shortcut menu.

To reset all formatting changes in the entire chart, select the Chart Area before you issue the Reset to Match Style command.

# **Modifying the Plot Area**

The *Plot Area* is the part of the chart that contains the actual chart. More specifically, the Plot Area is a container for the chart series.

### Tip

# If you set the Shape Fill property to No Fill, the Plot Area will be transparent. Therefore, the fill color applied to the Chart Area will show through. ■

You can move and resize the Plot Area. Select the Plot Area and then drag a border to move it. To change the size of the Plot Area, drag one of the corner handles.

Different chart types vary in how they respond to changes in the Plot Area dimensions. For example, you can't change the relative dimensions of the Plot Area of a pie chart or a radar chart. The Plot Area of these charts is always square. With other chart types, though, you can change the aspect ratio of the Plot Area by changing either the height or the width.

Figure 19.5 shows a chart in which the Plot Area was resized to make room for a Shape that contains text.

#### FIGURE 19.5

Reducing the size of the Plot Area makes room for the Shape.



In some cases, the size of the Plot Area changes automatically when you adjust other elements of your chart. For example, if you add a legend to a chart, the size of the Plot Area may be reduced to accommodate the legend.

### Tip

Changing the size and position of the Plot Area can have a dramatic effect on the overall look of your chart. When you're fine-tuning a chart, you'll probably want to experiment with various sizes and positions for the Plot Area. ■

# **Working with Chart Titles**

A chart can have several different types of titles:

- Chart title
- Category (X) axis title
- Value (Y) axis title
- Second category (X) axis title
- Second value (Y) axis title
- Depth axis title (for true 3-D charts)

The number of titles that you can use depends on the chart type. For example, a pie chart supports only a chart title because it has no axes.

To add a chart title, activate the chart and choose Chart Tools ➡ Layout ➡ Labels ➡ Chart Title. To add a title to one or more of the axes, choose Chart Tools ➡ Layout ➡ Labels ➡ Axis Titles. These controls are drop-down lists, and each has several options.

After you add a title, you can replace the default text and drag the titles to a different position. However, you can't change the size of a title by dragging. The only way to change the size of a title is to change the font size.

### Adding Free-Floating Text to a Chart.

Text in a chart is not limited to titles. In fact, you can add free-floating text anywhere you want. To do so, activate the chart and choose Chart Tools  $\Rightarrow$  Layout  $\Rightarrow$  Insert  $\Rightarrow$  Text Box. Click in the chart to create the text box and enter the text. You can resize the text box, move it, change its formatting, and so on. You can also add a Shape to the chart and then add text to the Shape (if the Shape is one that accepts text).

Many people prefer to use a text box in place of a chart's "official" title elements. Resizing a title is not possible (except by changing its font size). If you use a text box, though, you can resize it by dragging its corners, change the text alignment, and even rotate it.

The chart title or any of the axis titles can also use a cell reference. For example, you can create a link so the chart always displays the text contained in cell A1 as its title. To create a link, select the title, type an equal sign (=), point to the cell, and press Enter. After you create the link, the Formula bar displays the cell reference when you select the title.

# Working with a Legend

A chart's *legend* consists of text and keys that identify the data series in the chart. A *key* is a small graphic that corresponds to the chart's series (one key for each series).

To add a legend to your chart, choose Chart Tools A Layout A Labels A Legend. This drop-down control contains several options for the legend placement. After you add a legend, you can drag it to move it anywhere you like.

### Tip

If you move a legend from its default position, you may want to change the size of the Plot Area to fill in the gap left by the legend. Just select the Plot Area and drag a border to make it the desired size.

The quickest way to remove a legend is to select the legend and then press Delete.

You can select individual items within a legend and format them separately. For example, you may want to make the text bold to draw attention to a particular data series. To select an element in the legend, first select the legend and then click the desired element.

If you didn't include legend text when you originally selected the cells to create the chart, Excel displays Series 1, Series 2, and so on in the legend. To add series names, choose Chart Tools  $\Rightarrow$  Design  $\Rightarrow$  Data  $\Rightarrow$  Select Data to display the Select Data Source dialog box (see Figure 19.6). Select the series name and click the Edit button. In the Edit Series dialog box, type the series name or enter a cell reference that contains the series name. Repeat for each series that needs naming.

#### FIGURE 19.6

Use the Select Data Source dialog box to change the name of a data series.

Select Data Source	1.000
chartigina range: - Sheetch\$A\$33 (c)(2)	8
	h Row/Kolumn
Legend Entities (Series)	Harborital Category) Avia Labela
-3.991 -3.641 X Person 8 1	"Hat
seres1	1 *
Series2	2
Series3	3
	1
	s -
Igoblen and Empty Collin	OK Cancel

In some cases, you may prefer to omit the legend and use callouts to identify the data series. Figure 19.7 shows a chart with no legend. Instead, it uses Shapes to identify each series. These Shapes are from the Callouts section of the Chart Tools I Layout I Insert I Shapes Gallery.

#### FIGURE 19.7

Using Shapes as callouts in lieu of a legend.



### **Copying Chart Formatting**

You created a killer chart and spent hours customizing it. Now you need to create another one just like it, but with a different set of data. What are your options? You have several choices:

- Copy the formatting. Create your new chart with the default formatting. Then select your original chart and choose Home ↔ Clipboard ↔ Copy (or press Ctrl+C). Click your new chart and choose Home ↔ Clipboard ↔ Paste ↔ Paste Special. In the Paste Special dialog box, select the Formats option.
- Copy the chart; change the data sources. Press Ctrl while you click the original chart and drag. This creates an exact copy of your chart. Then choose Chart Tools ID Design ID Data ID Select Data. In the Select Data Source dialog box, specify the data for the new chart.
- Create a chart template. Select your chart and then choose Chart Tools  $\Rightarrow$  Design  $\Rightarrow$  Type  $\Rightarrow$  Save as Template. Excel prompts you for a name. When you create your next chart, use this template as the chart type.

### **Cross-Reference**

For more information about using chart templates, see "Creating Chart Templates," later in this chapter. ■

# **Working with Gridlines**

Gridlines can help the viewer determine what the chart series represents numerically. Gridlines simply extend the tick marks on an axis. Some charts look better with gridlines; others appear more cluttered. Sometimes, horizontal gridlines alone are enough although XY charts often benefit from both horizontal and vertical gridlines.

To add or remove gridlines, choose Chart Tools ➡ Layout ➡ Axes ➡ Gridlines. This drop-down control contains options for all possible gridlines in the active chart.

### Note

Each axis has two sets of gridlines: major and minor. Major units display a label. Minor units are located between the labels. ■

To modify the color or thickness of a set of gridlines, click one of the gridlines and use the commands from the Chart Tools I Format I Shape Styles group.

If gridlines seem too overpowering, consider changing them to a lighter color or use one of the dashed options.

# **Modifying the Axes**

Charts vary in the number of axes that they use. Pie and doughnut charts have no axes. All 2-D charts have two axes (three, if you use a secondary-value axis; four, if you use a secondary-category axis in an XY chart). True 3-D charts have three axes.

Excel gives you a great deal of control over these axes, via the Format Axis dialog box. The content of this dialog box varies depending on the type of axis selected.

### Value axis

To change a value axis, right-click it and choose Format Axis. Figure 19.8 shows the Axis Options tab of the Format Axis dialog box. The other tabs in the dialog box deal with cosmetic formatting.

On the Axis Options tab, the four sets of option buttons at the top determine the scale of the axis (its minimum, maximum, and intervals). By default, Excel determines these values based on the numerical range of the data, and the settings are set to Auto. You can override Excel's choice and set any or all of them to Fixed and then enter your own values.

#### FIGURE 19.8

These options are available for a Value Axis.

Format Asis		
Anis Options	Axis Options	
Number	Hinimate: 18 Auto C Bood 0.0	
ni	Perform @ Agto C Poed 4000.0	
Line Calor	Pagerunit @ Augo () Fliged Scolo	
Line Style	Plear unit @ Autg C Flagd 300.0	
Shadov .	Salues investorse order	
Gev and Seft Edges	Logarithmic scale (junc: 20	
3-D Pormet	Cispiley gelds I frame	
Algonent	<ul> <li>Show depley units lebel on chert</li> </ul>	
	Plejor tol mark type: Outside 💌	
	Pilyur tick mark type: Pione 💌	
	Anie labels: Piecet to Anie 💌	
	Horizonial axis creates:	
	@ Autgradic	
	C Asternalug: 0.1	
	<ul> <li>Bereinn and Aare</li> </ul>	
	6	Okee

Adjusting the scale of a value axis can dramatically affect the chart's appearance. Manipulating the scale, in some cases, can present a false picture of the data. Figure 19.9 shows two line charts that depict the same data. The chart on the left uses Excel's default (Auto) axis scale values, which extend from 7,400 to 9,400. In the chart on the right, the Minimum scale value was set to 0, and the Maximum scale value was set to 10,000. The first chart makes the differences in the data seem more prominent. The second chart gives the impression that there is not much change over time.

#### FIGURE 19.9

These two charts show the same data, but use a different Value Axis scales.



The actual scale that you use depends on the situation. There are no hard-and-fast rules regarding setting scale values except that you shouldn't misrepresent data by manipulating the chart to prove a point that doesn't exist.

### Tip

If you're preparing several charts that use similarly scaled data, keeping the scales the same is a good idea so that the charts can be compared more easily.

Another option in the Format Axis dialog box is Values in Reverse Order. The left chart in Figure 19.10 uses default axis settings. The right chart uses the Values in Reverse Order option, which reverses the scale's direction. Notice that the Category Axis is at the top. If you would prefer that it remain at the bottom of the chart, select the Maximum Axis Value option for the Horizontal Axis Crosses setting.

#### **FIGURE 19.10**

The right chart uses the Values in Reverse Order option.



If the values to be plotted cover a very large numerical range, you may want to use a logarithmic scale for the value axis. A log scale is most often used for scientific applications. Figure 19.11 shows two charts. The left chart uses a standard scale, and the right chart uses a logarithmic scale.

### Note

The Base setting is 10, so each scale value in the chart is 10 times greater than the one below it. Increasing the major unit to 100 results in a scale in which each tick mark value is 100 times greater than the one below. You can specify a base value between 2 and 1,000. ■

### On the CD

This workbook, log scale.xlsx, is available on the companion CD-ROM. ■

#### **FIGURE 19.11**



These charts display the same data, but the right chart uses a logarithmic scale.

If your chart uses very large numbers, you may want to change the Display Units settings. Figure 19.12 shows a chart that uses very large numbers. The chart on the right uses the Display Units as Millions settings, with the option to Show Display Units Labels on Chart.

#### **FIGURE 19.12**

The chart on the right uses display units of millions.



The Major and Minor Tick Mark options control how the tick marks are displayed. *Major tick marks* are the axis tick marks that normally have labels next to them. *Minor tick marks* fall between the major tick marks.

Excel lets you position the axis labels at three different locations: Next to Axis, High, and Low. Each axis extends from -10 to +10. When you combine these settings with the Axis Crosses At option, you have a great deal of flexibility, as shown in Figure 19.13.

#### **FIGURE 19.13**

Various ways to display axis labels and crossing points.



### **Category axis**

Figure 19.14 shows the Axis Options tab of the Format Axis dialog box when a category axis is selected. Some options are the same as those for a value axis.

Excel chooses how to display category labels, but you can override its choice. Figure 19.15 shows a column chart with month labels. Because of the lengthy category labels, Excel displays the text at an angle. If you make the chart wider, the labels will then appear horizontally. You can also adjust the labels from the Alignment tab of the Format Axis dialog box.

In some cases, you really don't need every category label. You can adjust the Interval between Labels settings to skip some labels (and cause the text to display horizontally). Figure 19.16 shows such a chart; the Interval between Labels setting is 3.

#### FIGURE 19.14

These options are available for a category axis.

Format Axis	18° 111
Axis Options	Axis Options
Number	Interval between tick marks: 1
ni	Interval between labels:
Line Calor Line Style	B Specify interval unit: 1
Shadaw	Categories in reverse order Label gatance from ansi: 200
Geward Soft Edges	Axis Type:
3-D Pormet	Automaticallyselect based on-data
Algonent	Date age
	Pager tidi mark tupes Outside
	gue labels: Frent to Aves
	Vertical axis courses Automatic
	C At Geogery numbers 1
	At maximum category
	Peatler Asia
	C Cristin Maria
	Ome

#### FIGURE 19.15

Excel determines how to display category axis labels.



#### **FIGURE 19.16**

Changing the Interval between Labels setting makes labels display horizontally.



When you create a chart, Excel recognizes whether your category axis contains date or time values. If so, it uses a time-based category axis. Figure 19.17 shows a simple example. Column A contains dates, and column B contains the values plotted in the column chart. The data consists of values for only 10 dates, yet Excel created the chart with 30 intervals on the category axis. It recognized that the category axis values were dates and created an equal-interval scale.

#### **FIGURE 19.17**

Excel recognizes dates and creates a time-based category axis.



You can override Excel's decision to use a time-based category axis by choosing the Text Axis option for Axis Type. Figure 19.18 shows the chart after making this change. In this case, using a time-based category axis presents a truer picture of the data.

### Don't Be Afraid to Experiment (But on a Copy),

I'll let you in on a secret: The key to mastering charts in Excel is experimentation, otherwise known as trial and error. Excel's charting options can be overwhelming, even to experienced users. This book doesn't even pretend to cover all the charting features and options. Your job, as a potential charting guru, is to dig deep and try out the various options in your charts. With a bit of creativity, you can create original-looking charts.

After you create a basic chart, make a copy of the chart for your experimentation. That way, if you mess it up, you can always revert to the original and start again. To make a copy of an embedded chart, click the chart and press Ctrl+C. Then activate a cell and press Ctrl+V. To make a copy of a chart sheet, press Ctrl while you click the sheet tab and then drag it to a new location among the other tabs.

#### FIGURE 19.18

Overriding the Excel time-based category axis.



# Working with Data Series

Every chart consists of one or more data series. This data translates into chart columns, bars, lines, pie slices, and so on. This section discusses some common operations that involve a chart's data series.

When you select a data series in a chart, Excel does the following:

- Displays the Series formula in the Formula bar
- Highlights the cells used for the selected series by outlining them in color

You can make changes to a data series by using options on the Ribbon or from the Format Data Series dialog box. This dialog box varies, depending on the type of data series you're working on (column, line, pie, and so on).

### Caution

The easiest way to display the Format Data Series dialog box is to double-click the chart series. Be careful, however: If a data series is already selected, double-clicking brings up the Format Data Point dialog box. Changes that you make affect only one point in the data series. To edit the entire series, make sure that a chart element other than the data series is selected before you double-click the data series. ■

### **Deleting a data series**

To delete a data series in a chart, select the data series and press Delete. The data series disappears from the chart. The data in the worksheet, of course, remains intact.

### Note

You can delete all data series from a chart. If you do so, the chart appears empty. It retains its settings, however. Therefore, you can add a data series to an empty chart, and it again looks like a chart. ■

### Adding a new data series to a chart

If you want to add another data series to an existing chart, re-create the chart and include the new data series. However, adding the data to the existing chart is usually easier, and your chart retains any customization that you've made.

Figure 19.19 shows a column chart that has two data series (Jan and Feb). The March figures just became available and were entered into the worksheet in row 4. Now the chart needs to be updated to include the new data series.

Excel provides two ways to add a new data series to a chart:

- Activate the chart and choose Chart Tools ➡ Design ➡ Data ➡ Select Data. In the Select Data Source dialog box, click the Add button, and Excel displays the Edit Series dialog box. Specify the Series Name (as a cell reference or text) and the range that contains the Series Values.
- Select the range to add and press Ctrl+C to copy it to the Clipboard. Then activate the chart and press Ctrl+V to paste the data into the chart.

### Note

In previous versions of Excel, you could add a new data series by selecting a range of data and "dragging" it into an embedded chart. That feature was removed, beginning with Excel 2007. ■

#### **FIGURE 19.19**

This chart needs a new data series.



### Tip

If the chart was originally made from data in a table (created via Insert 
→ Tables 
→ Table), the chart is updated automatically when you add new data to the table. If you have a chart that is updated frequently with new data, you can save time and effort by creating the chart from data in a table. ■

### Changing data used by a series

You may find that you need to modify the range that defines a data series. For example, say you need to add new data points or remove old ones from the data set. The following sections describe several ways to change the range used by a data series.

### Changing the data range by dragging the range outline

If you have an embedded chart, the easiest way to change the data range for a data series is to drag the range outline. When you select a series in a chart, Excel outlines the data range used by that series (see Figure 19.20). You can drag the small dot in the lower-right corner of the range outline to extend or contract the data series.

You can also click and drag one of the sides of the outline to move the outline to a different range of cells.

In some cases, you'll also need to adjust the range that contains the category labels as well. The labels are also outlined, and you can drag the outline to expand or contract the range of labels used in the chart.

If your chart is on a chart sheet, you need to use one of the two methods described next.

#### **FIGURE 19.20**

Changing a chart's data series by dragging the range outline.



### Using the Edit Series dialog box

Another way to update the chart to reflect a different data range is to use the Edit Series dialog box. A quick way to display this dialog box is to right-click the series in the chart and then choose Select Data from the shortcut menu. Excel displays the Select Source Data dialog box. Select the data series in the list, and click Edit to display the Edit Series dialog box, shown in Figure 19.21.

You can change the entire data range used by the chart by adjusting the range references in the Chart Data Range field. Or, select a Series from the list and click Edit to modify the selected series.

#### **FIGURE 19.21**

The Edit Series dialog box.

Edit Series		
Series gene: -Shoet121(C)(1	15	= Product A
Series unives: -Sheet1218C82-8C87	28	= 38, 32, 45, 43
	OK.	Ganal
## **Editing the Series formula**

Every data series in a chart has an associated Series formula, which appears in the Formula bar when you select a data series in a chart. If you understand how a Series formula is constructed, you can edit the range references in the Series formula directly to change the data used by the chart.

# Note

The Series formula is not a real formula: In other words, you can't use it in a cell, and you can't use worksheet functions within the Series formula. You can, however, edit the arguments in the Series formula. ■

A Series formula has the following syntax:

=SERIES(series\_name, category\_labels, values, order, sizes)

The arguments that you can use in the Series formula include

- series\_name: (Optional). A reference to the cell that contains the series name used in the legend. If the chart has only one series, the name argument is used as the title. This argument can also consist of text in quotation marks. If omitted, Excel creates a default series name (for example, Series 1).
- category\_labels: (Optional). A reference to the range that contains the labels for the category axis. If omitted, Excel uses consecutive integers beginning with 1. For XY charts, this argument specifies the X values. A noncontiguous range reference is also valid. The ranges' addresses are separated by commas and enclosed in parentheses. The argument could also consist of an array of comma-separated values (or text in quotation marks) enclosed in curly brackets.
- values: (Required). A reference to the range that contains the values for the series. For XY charts, this argument specifies the Y values. A noncontiguous range reference is also valid. The ranges addresses are separated by a comma and enclosed in parentheses. The argument could also consist of an array of comma-separated values enclosed in curly brackets.
- order: (Required). An integer that specifies the plotting order of the series. This argument is relevant only if the chart has more than one series. Using a reference to a cell is not allowed.
- sizes: (Only for bubble charts). A reference to the range that contains the values for the size of the bubbles in a bubble chart. A noncontiguous range reference is also valid. The ranges addresses are separated by commas and enclosed in parentheses. The argument can also consist of an array of values enclosed in curly brackets.

Range references in a Series formula are always absolute (contain two dollar signs), and they always include the sheet name. For example

```
=SERIES(Sheet1!$B$1,,Sheet1!$B$2:$B$7,1)
```

# Tip

You can substitute range names for the range references. If you do so, Excel changes the reference in the Series formula to include the workbook name. For example if you use a range named MyData (in a workbook named budget.xlsx), the Series formula looks like this:

```
=SERIES(Sheet1!$B$1,,budget.xlsx!MyData,1)
```

# Displaying data labels in a chart

Sometimes, you may want your chart to display the actual numerical values for each data point. You specify data labels by choosing Chart Tools I Layout I Labels I Data Labels. This dropdown control contains several data label positioning options.

Figure 19.22 shows three minimalist charts with data labels.

#### **FIGURE 19.22**

These charts use data labels.



To change the type of information that appears in data labels, select the data labels in the chart and press Ctrl+F1. Then use the Label Options tab of the Format Data Labels dialog box to customize the data labels. For example, you can include the series name and the category name along with the value.

The data labels are linked to the worksheet, so if your data changes, the labels also change. If you want to override the data label with other text, select the label and enter the new text.

# Tip

Often, the data labels aren't positioned properly — for example, a label may be obscured by another data point. If you select an individual data label, you can drag the label to a better location. To select an individual data label, click once to select them all and then click the single data label. ■

As you work with data labels, you discover that the Excel data labels feature leaves a bit to be desired. For example, it would be nice to be able to specify an arbitrary range of text to be used for the data labels. This capability would be particularly useful in XY charts in which you want to identify each data point with a particular text item. Despite what must amount to thousands of requests, Microsoft still hasn't added this feature to Excel. You need to add data labels and then manually edit each label.

# Handling missing data

Sometimes, data that you're charting may be missing one or more data points. As shown in Figure 19.23, Excel offers three ways to handle the missing data:

- **Gaps:** Missing data is simply ignored, and the data series will have a gap. This is the default.
- Zero: Missing data is treated as zero.
- **Connect Data Points with Line:** Missing data is interpolated, calculated by using data on either side of the missing point(s). This option is available for line charts, area charts, and XY charts only.

To specify how to deal with missing data for a chart, choose Chart Tools  $\Rightarrow$  Design  $\Rightarrow$  Data  $\Rightarrow$  Select Data. In the Select Data Source dialog box, click the Hidden and Empty Cells button. Excel displays its Hidden and Empty Cell Settings dialog box. Make your choice in the dialog box. The option that you choose applies to the entire chart, and you can't set a different option for different series in the same chart.

# Tip

Normally, a chart doesn't display data that's in a hidden row or column. You can use the Hidden and Empty Cell Settings dialog box to force a chart to use hidden data, though.

# Adding error bars

Some chart types support error bars. *Error bars* often are used to indicate "plus or minus" information that reflects uncertainty in the data. Error bars are appropriate for area, bar, column, line, and XY charts only.

Three options for dealing with missing data.



To add error bars, select a data series and then choose Chart Tools ➡ Layout ➡ Analysis ➡ Error Bars. This drop-down control has several options. You can then fine-tune the error bar settings from the Format Error Bars dialog box. The types of error bars are

- Fixed value: The error bars are fixed by an amount that you specify.
- **Percentage:** The error bars are a percentage of each value.
- **Standard Deviation(s):** The error bars are in the number of standard deviation units that you specify. (Excel calculates the standard deviation of the data series.)
- **Standard Error:** The error bars are one standard error unit. (Excel calculates the standard error of the data series.)
- **Custom:** You set the error bar units for the upper or lower error bars. You can enter either a value or a range reference that holds the error values that you want to plot as error bars.

The chart shown in Figure 19.24 displays error bars based on percentage.

# Tip

A data series in an XY chart can have error bars for both the X values and Y values. ■

This line chart series displays error bars based on percentage.



# Adding a trendline

When you're plotting data over time, you may want to plot a trendline that describes the data. A *trendline* points out general trends in your data. In some cases, you can forecast future data with trendlines. A single series can have more than one trendline.

To add a trendline, select the data series and choose Chart Tools ⇔ Layout ⇔ Analysis ⇔ Trendline. This drop-down control contains options for the type of trendline. The type of trendline that you choose depends on your data. Linear trends are most common, but some data can be described more effectively with another type.

Figure 19.25 shows an XY chart with a linear trendline and the (optional) equation for the trendline. The trendline describes the "best fit" of the height and weight data.

For more control over a trendline, right-click it and choose Format Trendline to open the Format Trendline dialog box. One option, Moving Average, is useful for smoothing out data that has a lot of variation (that is, "noisy" data).

The Moving Average option enables you to specify the number of data points to include in each average. For example, if you select 5, Excel averages every five data points. Figure 19.26 shows a chart that uses a moving average trendline.

#### An XY chart with a linear trendline.



## **FIGURE 19.26**

The dashed line displays a seven-interval moving average.



# **Modifying 3-D charts**

3-D charts have a few additional elements that you can customize. For example, most 3-D charts have a floor and walls, and true 3-D charts also have an additional axis. You can select these chart elements and format them to your liking using the Format dialog box.

One area in which Excel 3-D charts differ from 2-D charts is in the perspective — or *viewpoint* — from which you see the chart. In some cases, the data may be viewed better if you change the order of the series.

Figure 19.27 shows two versions of 3-D column chart with two data series. The left chart is the original, and the right chart shows the effect of changing the series order. To change the series order, choose Chart Tools I Design I Data I Select Data. In the Select Data Source dialog box, select a series and use the arrow buttons to change its order.

#### **FIGURE 19.27**

A 3-D column chart, before and after changing the series order.



Fortunately, Excel allows you to change the viewing angle of 3-D charts. Doing so may reveal portions of the chart that are otherwise hidden. To rotate a 3-D chart, choose Chart Tools  $\Rightarrow$  Layout  $\Rightarrow$  Background  $\Rightarrow$  3-D Rotation, which displays the 3-D Rotation tab of the Format Chart Area dialog box. You can make your rotations and perspective changes by clicking the appropriate controls.

Figure 19.28 shows four different views of the same chart. As you can see, you can accidentally distort the chart to make it virtually worthless in terms of visualizing information. If accuracy of presentation is important, a 3-D chart is hardly ever the best choice.

# **Creating combination charts**

A *combination chart* is a single chart that consists of series that use different chart types. A combination chart may also include a second value axis. For example, you may have a chart that shows both columns and lines, with two value axes. The value axis for the columns is on the left, and the value axis for the line is on the right. A combination chart requires at least two data series.

Creating a combination chart involves changing one or more of the data series to a different chart type. Select the data series to change and then choose Chart Tools 🗘 Design 🎝 Type 🎝 Change Chart Type. In the Change Chart Type dialog box, select the chart type that you want to apply to the selected series. Using a second Value Axis is optional.

Changing the viewing angle to show different views of the same 3-D column chart.



# Note

If anything other than a series is selected when you choose Chart Tools ▷ Design ▷ Type ▷ Change Chart Type, all the series in the chart change. ■

Figure 19.29 shows a column chart with two data series. The values for the Precipitation series are very low — so low that they're barely visible on the Value Axis scale. This is a good candidate for a combination chart.

The following steps describe how to convert this chart into a combination chart (column and line) that uses a second Value Axis.

- **1.** Double-click the Precipitation data series to display the Format Data Series dialog box.
- 2. Click the Series Options tab and select the Secondary Axis option.
- 3. With the Precipitation data series still selected, choose Chart Tools ⇒ Design ⇒ Type ⇔ Change Chart Type.
- 4. In the Change Chart Type dialog box, select the Line type and click OK.

Figure 19.30 shows the modified chart. The Precipitation data appears as a line, and it uses the Value Axis on the right.

## **FIGURE 19.29**

The Precipitation series is barely visible.

4	A	6	C C	D S F G H I J K
2	Month	AngTemp	Presipitation	
1	Jan	59.5	3.99	Weather Summary
а.	Peb	61.0	2.10	NH 0
.5	Mar	65.5	3.77	
8	Apr	65.6	175	M.0
2	May .	30.5	1.15	740
8	Jan	81.4	1.07	H0
н.	aut -	86.0	1.02	M2
1.0	Aug	90.6	3.10	
1.1	6 ep	73.4	3.24	
13	Oct	72.6	1.97	
13	Nov	65.6	2.45	
14	DHE	81.0	2.10	
15				11
1.0				Jan Fels Har day May Los Jul dag Rep Dolt Harv Des
17				Hard Trans. Mitability
18				- ALL LEVEL BUTHLEDGE

## **FIGURE 19.30**

The Precipitation series is now visible.



# On the CD

This workbook is available on the companion CD-ROM. The filename is  ${\tt weather \ combination \ chart. \ xlsx.}$ 

# Note

In some cases, you can't combine chart types. For example, you can't create a combination chart that involves a bubble chart or a 3-D chart. If you choose an incompatible chart type for the series, Excel lets you know.

Figure 19.31 demonstrates just how far you can go with a combination chart. This chart combines five different chart types: Pie, Area, Column, Line, and XY. I can't think of any situation that would warrant such a chart, but it's an interesting demo.

#### **FIGURE 19.31**

A five-way combination chart.



# Displaying a data table

In some cases, you may want to display a *data table*, which displays the chart's data in tabular form, directly in the chart.

To add a data table to a chart, choose Chart Tools ↔ Layout ↔ Labels ↔ Data Table. This control is a drop-down list with a few options to choose from. For more options, use the Format Data Table dialog box. Figure 19.32 shows a combination chart that includes a data table.



This combination chart includes a data table that displays the values of the data points.

# Tip

Using a data table is probably best suited for charts on chart sheets. If you need to show the data used in an embedded chart, you can do so using data in cells, which provide you with a lot more flexibility in terms of formatting. ■

# **Creating Chart Templates**

This section describes how to create custom chart templates. A template includes customized chart formatting and settings. When you create a new chart, you can choose to use your template rather than a built-in chart type.

If you find that you are continually customizing your charts in the same way, you can probably save some time by creating a template. Or, if you create lots of combination charts, you can create a combination chart template and avoid making the manual adjustments required for a combination chart.

To create a chart template

- 1. Create a chart to serve as the basis for your template. The data you use for this chart is not critical, but for best results, it should be typical of the data that you'll eventually be plotting with your custom chart type.
- **2.** Apply any formatting and customizations that you like. This step determines how the appearance of the charts created from the template.

- **3.** Activate the chart and choose Chart Tools r Design r Type r Save as Template. Excel displays its Save Chart Template dialog box.
- 4. Provide a name for the template and click Save.

To create a chart based on a template

- 1. Select the data to be used in the chart.
- 2. Choose Insert ⇔ Charts ⇔ Other Charts ⇔ All Chart Types. Excel displays its Insert Chart dialog box.
- **3.** From the left side of the Insert Chart dialog box, select Templates. Excel displays an icon for each custom template that has been created.
- **4.** Click the icon that represents the template you want to use and then click OK. Excel creates the chart based on the template you selected.

# Note

You can also apply a template to an existing chart. Select the chart and choose Chart Tools ⇔ Design ⇔ Change Chart Type. ■

# **Learning Some Chart-Making Tricks**

This section describes some interesting (and perhaps useful) chart-making tricks. Some of these tricks use little-known features, and several tricks enable you to make charts that you may have considered impossible to create.

# **Creating picture charts**

Excel makes it easy to incorporate a pattern, texture, or graphics file for elements in your chart. Figure 19.33 shows a chart that uses a photo as the background for a chart's Chart Area element.

To display an image in a chart element, use the Fill tab in the element's Format dialog box. Select the Picture or Texture Fill option and then click the button that corresponds to the image source (File, Clipboard, or ClipArt). If you use the Clipboard button, make sure that you copied your image first. The other two options prompt you for the image.

Figure 19.34 shows two more examples: a pie chart that uses Office clipart as its fill; and a column chart that uses a Shape, which was inserted on a worksheet and then copied to the Clipboard.

# On the CD

The examples in this section are available on the companion CD-ROM. The filename is <code>picture charts.xlsx</code>.

The Chart Area contains a photo.



Using images in a chart offers unlimited potential for creativity. The key, of course, is to resist the temptation to go overboard. A chart's primary goal is to convey information, not to impress the viewer with your artistic skills.

# Caution

Using images, especially photos, in charts can dramatically increase the size of your workbooks.

## **FIGURE 19.34**

The left chart uses clip art, and the right chart uses a Shape that was copied to the Clipboard.



# Creating a thermometer chart

You're probably familiar with a "thermometer" type display that shows the percentage of a task that has been completed. Creating such a display in Excel is very easy. The trick involves creating a chart that uses a single cell (which holds a percentage value) as a data series.

Figure 19.35 shows a worksheet set up to track daily progress toward a goal: 1,000 new customers in a 15-day period. Cell B18 contains the goal value, and cell B19 contains a simple formula that calculates the sum. Cell B21 contains a formula that calculates the percent of goal:

=B19/B18

As you enter new data in column B, the formulas display the current results.

#### **FIGURE 19.35**

This single-point chart displays progress toward a goal.

	A	8	C	D	1	E.	1
1.	Day	New Customers					
<b>2</b>	Day 1	90	1	2011		100	
3	Day 2	#3		- 84			
4	Day 3	132		98% -			
5	Day 4	87		- 84			
6	Day 5	302		NPN -			
T	Day 6	#2		- 84			
8	Day 7	98		70%			
9	Day 8						
10	Day 9			105	67%		
11	Day 10						
12	Day 11			2074			
13	Day 12			485			
14	Day 13						
15	Day 14			105 -			
16	Day 15				Mark		
17				28%	Mer.		
13	Goalt	1,000			Custon	nev.	
$\pm 9$	Total:	670		10%	n-om0	tion	
20					PIONI		
21		67%		ex -			
22			· · ·				_
2.2							

# On the CD

A workbook with this example is available on the companion CD-ROM. The filename is thermometer chart.xlsx.

To make the thermometer chart, select cell B21 and create a column chart from that single cell. Notice the blank cell above cell B21. Without this blank cell, Excel uses the entire data block for the chart, not just the single cell. Because B21 is isolated from the other data, only the single cell is used.

Other changes required are to

- Select the horizontal category axis and press Delete to remove the category axis from the chart.
- Remove the legend.
- Add a text box, linked to cell B21 to display the percent accomplished.
- In the Format Data Series dialog box (Series Options tab), set the Gap width to 0, which makes the column occupy the entire width of the plot area.
- Select the Value Axis and display the Format Value Axis dialog box. In the Axis Options tab, set the Minimum to 0 and the Maximum to 1.

Make any other cosmetic adjustments to get the look you desire.

# Creating a gauge chart

Figure 19.36 shows another chart based on a single cell. It's a pie chart set up to resemble a gauge. Although this chart displays only one value (entered in cell B1), it actually uses three data points (in A4:A6).

# On the CD

A workbook with this example is available on the companion CD-ROM. The filename is <code>gauge chart.xlsx</code>.

One slice of the pie — the slice at the bottom — always consists of 50 percent. I rotated the pie so that the 50 percent slice was at the bottom. Then I hid that slice by specifying No Fill and No Border for the data point.

## **FIGURE 19.36**

This chart resembles a speedometer gauge and displays a value between 0 and 100 percent.



The other two slices are apportioned based on the value in cell B1. The formula in cell A4 is

=MIN(B1,100%)/2

This formula uses the MIN function to display the smaller of two values: either the value in cell B1 or 100 percent. It then divides this value by 2 because only the top half of the pie is relevant. Using the MIN function prevents the chart from displaying more than 100 percent.

The formula in cell A5 simply calculates the remaining part of the pie — the part to the right of the gauge's "needle":

=50%-A4

The chart's title was moved below the half-pie. The chart also contains a text box, linked to cell B1, that displays the percent completed.

# Displaying conditional colors in a column chart

You may have noticed the Vary Colors by Point option on the Fill tab of the Format Data Series dialog box. This option simply uses more colors for the data series. Unfortunately, the colors aren't related to the values of the data series.

This section describes how to create a column chart in which the color of each column depends on the value that it's displaying. Figure 19.37 shows such a chart (more impressive when you see it in color). The data used to create the chart is in range A1:F14.

#### **FIGURE 19.37**

The color of the column depends varies with the value.



# On the CD

A workbook with this example is available on the companion CD-ROM. The filename is conditional colors.xlsx.

This chart displays four data series, but some data is missing for each series. The data for the chart is entered in column B. Formulas in columns C:F determine which series the number belongs to by referencing the bins in Row 1. For example, the formula in cell C3 is

=IF(B3<=\$C\$1,B3,"")

If the value in column B is less than the value in cell C1, the value goes in this column. The formulas are set up such that a value in column B goes into only one column in the row.

The formula in cell D3 is a bit more complex because it must determine whether cell C3 is greater than the value in cell C1 and less than or equal to the value in cell D1:

```
=IF(AND($B3>C$1,$B3<=D$1),$B3,"")
```

The four data series are overlaid on top of each other in the chart. The trick involves setting the Series Overlap value to a large number. This setting determines the spacing between the series. Use the Series Options tab of the Format Data Series dialog box to adjust this setting.

# Note

Series Overlap is a single setting for the chart. If you change the setting for one series, the other series change to the same value. ■

# Creating a comparative histogram

With a bit of creativity, you can create charts that you may have considered impossible. For example, Figure 19.38 shows a chart sometimes referred to as a *comparative histogram chart*. Such charts often display population data.

# On the CD

A workbook with this example is available on the companion CD-ROM. The filename is comparative histogram.xlsx.

Here's how to create the chart:

- **1.** Enter the data in A1:C8, as shown in Figure 19.38. Notice that the values for females are entered as negative values, which is very important.
- 2. Select A1:C8 and create a bar chart. Use the subtype labeled Clustered Bar.
- 3. Select the horizontal axis and display the Format Axis dialog box.
- **4.** Click the Number tab and specify the 0%;0%;0% custom number format. This custom format eliminates the negative signs in the percentages.

- 5. Select the vertical axis and display the Format Axis dialog box.
- **6.** On the Axis Options tab, set all tick marks to None and set the Axis Labels option to Low. This setting keeps the vertical axis in the center of the chart but displays the axis labels at the left side.
- 7. Select either data series and display the Format Data Series dialog box.
- **8.** On the Series Options tab, set the Series Overlap to 100% and the Gap Width to 0%.
- **9.** Delete the legend and add two text boxes to the chart (Females and Males) to substitute for the legend.
- **10.** Apply other formatting and labels as desired.

A comparative histogram.



# **Creating a Gantt chart**

A *Gantt chart* is a horizontal bar chart often used in project management applications. Although Excel doesn't support Gantt charts per se, creating a simple Gantt chart is possible. The key is getting your data set up properly.

Figure 19.39 shows a Gantt chart that depicts the schedule for a project, which is in the range A2:C13. The horizontal axis represents the total time span of the project, and each bar represents a project task. The viewer can quickly see the duration for each task and identify overlapping tasks.

# On the CD

A workbook with this example is available on the companion CD-ROM. The filename is gantt chart.xlsx.

You can create a simple Gantt chart from a bar chart.



Column A contains the task name, column B contains the corresponding start date, and column C contains the duration of the task, in days.

Follow these steps to create this chart:

- 1. Select the range A2:C13, and create a stacked bar chart.
- 2. Delete the legend.
- 3. Select the category (vertical) axis and display the Format Axis dialog box.
- **4.** From the Format Axis dialog box, specify Categories in Reverse Order to display the tasks in order, starting at the top. Choose Horizontal Axis Crosses at Maximum Category to display the dates at the bottom.
- 5. Select the Start Date data series and display the Format Data Series dialog box.
- **6.** Still in the Format Data Series dialog box, click the Series Options tab and set the Series Overlap to 100%. From the Fill tab, specify No Fill. From the Border Color tab, specify No Line. These steps effectively hide the data series.
- 7. Select the value (horizontal) axis and display the Format Axis dialog box.
- 8. In the Format Axis dialog box, adjust the Minimum and Maximum settings to accommodate the dates that you want to display on the axis. Unfortunately, you must enter these values as date serial numbers, not actual dates. In this example, the Minimum

is 40301 (May 3, 2010) and the Maximum is 40385 (July 26, 2010). Specify 7 for the Major Unit, to display one-week intervals. Use the number tab to specify a date format for the axis labels.

9. Apply other formatting as desired.

# Plotting mathematical functions with one variable

An XY chart is useful for plotting various mathematical and trigonometric functions. For example, Figure 19.40 shows a plot of the SIN function. The charts plots *y* for values of *x* (expressed in radians) from -5 to +5 in increments of 0.5. Each pair of *x* and *y* values appears as a data point in the chart, and the points connect with a line.

The function is expressed as

y = SIN(x)

The corresponding formula in cell B2 (which is copied to the cells below) is

=SIN(A2)

## On the CD

The companion CD-ROM contains a general-purpose, single-variable plotting application. The file is named function plot 2D.xlsx.

#### **FIGURE 19.40**

This chart plots the SIN(x).



# Plotting mathematical functions with two variables

The preceding section describes how to plot functions that use a single variable (x). You also can plot functions that use two variables. For example, the following function calculates a value of z for various values of two variables (x and y):

z = SIN(x) \* COS(y)

Figure 19.41 shows a surface chart that plots the value of z for 21 x values ranging from 1 to 5, and for 21 y values ranging from 1 to 5. Both x and y use an increment of 0.2.

The formula in cell B2, copied across and down, is

```
=SIN($A2*COS(B$1))
```

# On the CD

The companion CD-ROM contains a general–purpose, two-variable plotting application. The file is named function plot 3D.xlsm. This workbook contains a few simple VBA macros to allow you to change the chart's rotation and elevation. ■

#### **FIGURE 19.41**

Using a surface chart to plot a function with two variables.



# CHAPTER 20

# Visualizing Data Using Conditional Formatting

his chapter explores conditional formatting, one of Excel's most versatile features. You can apply conditional formatting to a cell so that the cell looks different, depending on its contents.

Microsoft made significant enhancements to conditional formatting in Excel 2007, and it's now a useful tool for visualizing numeric data. You'll find a few more conditional formatting improvements in Excel 2010.

# **About Conditional Formatting**

*Conditional formatting* enables you to apply cell formatting selectively and automatically, based on the contents of the cells. For example, you can set things up so that all negative values in a range have a light-yellow background color. When you enter or change a value in the range, Excel examines the value and checks the conditional formatting rules for the cell. If the value is negative, the background is shaded. If not, no formatting is applied.

Conditional formatting is a useful way to quickly identify erroneous cell entries or cells of a particular type. You can use a format (such as bright-red cell shading) to make particular cells easy to identify.

Figure 20.1 shows a worksheet with nine ranges, each with a different type of conditional formatting rule applied. Here's a brief explanation of each:

- **Greater than 10**: Values greater than 10 are highlighted with a different background color. This rule is just one of many numeric value related rules that you can apply.
- Above average: Values that are higher than the average value are highlighted.

# **IN THIS CHAPTER**

- An overview of Excel's conditional formatting feature
- How to use the graphical conditional formats
- Examples of using conditional formatting formulas

Tips for using conditional formatting

- Duplicate values: Values that appear more than one time are highlighted.
- Words that contain X: If the cell contains X (upper- or lowercase), the cell is highlighted.
- Data bars: Each cell displays a horizontal bar, proportional to its value.
- **Color Scale:** The background color varies, depending on the value of the cells. You can choose from several different color scales or create your own.
- **Icon Set:** One of several icon sets. It displays a small graphic in the cell. The graphic varies, depending on the cell value.
- Icon Set: Another icon set, with all but one icon hidden.
- **Custom rule**: The rule for this checkerboard pattern is based on a formula: =MOD(ROW(), 2)=MOD(COLUMN(), 2)

# On the CD

This workbook, named conditional formatting examples.xlsx, is available on the companion CD-ROM. ■

## FIGURE 20.1

This worksheet demonstrates a few conditional formatting rules.

10	A.	1	6	D	E.	F		6	14	1	1	ĸ
1	Gro	ater then	10	_	Abeve awarage			Du	pilcate velu	806		
2	3	10	1		88	ļ	63	13		55	- 54	58
1	13	11			19		79	17		-43	17	-29
4	5		3		71	1	7	50		6	55	16
5	- 4		1		11	1	12	- 19		52		87
6	5		11		68	1	55	10		62	86	60
2		11			30	1	40	32		21	11	2
	4	11	4		-41	6	-64			27	-47	3
3	12	7				2	51	19		74		
10	4				- 41		28	06		40	1	/1
13.	11	1			15	1	64	74		- 53	71	58
12												
13.	Woe	is that cost	tale X		_	Data 6	<b>H</b> 1	_			Colorticale	
14	apple	k De	LIE?							1	11	23
15	beby	light	vielie				19	1 4		3	13	23
18.	07F	PIMER	IV WR.		1.1.1		2	노제		3	13	23
$\mathbb{L}F$	coll	najht	8-08Y			: 2	2	8.4			14	24
18.	e#	0.001	young				5			5	13	23
18	TEK	purple	pelara		- E-	- II.	-2				28	28
26	Route the	quaint	angle				1				17	27
21	Park .	right	bey			- H.	-8	- 4			18	28
23	koon	sHed	champ			· 8	н.,				15	29
23	jevel	tartle	clasity					3		10	20	30
24												
23	-	kon Set				Joon 5	et	_			avtore Role	e
28	E	T 24	**		35, 0			4				
127	1 10	÷ 2	**		5							
28	10 H	3.2	* H		1	- 1	1.0					
10	1.1	1.5	1.0		1	- 1	36					
20	12	3.0	÷ 2		1	- 2		2				
10.1		12	1.0		1	51						
28.	포진	1.4	TC.		1	÷.		2				
100	E	72	÷ 21		1	~ <u>?</u>	1.0					
	1	11	1 1		1	- 2						
100	C 2 -	X.2	T.C.									
100		1.14	φ./I	1	+	- 1		-				

# **Specifying Conditional Formatting**

To apply a conditional formatting rule to a cell or range, select the cells and then use one of the commands from the Home is Styles is Conditional Formatting drop-down list to specify a rule. The choices are

- **Highlight Cell Rules:** Examples rules include highlighting cells that are greater than a particular value, between two values, contain specific text string, a date, or are duplicated.
- **Top Bottom Rules:** Examples include highlighting the top 10 items, the items in the bottom 20 percent, and items that are above average.
- Data Bars: Applies graphic bars directly in the cells, proportional to the cell's value.
- Color Scales: Applies background color, proportional to the cell's value.
- Icon Sets: Displays icons directly in the cells. The icons depend on the cell's value.
- New Rule: Enables you to specify other conditional formatting rules, including rules based on a logical formula.
- Clear Rules: Deletes all the conditional formatting rules from the selected cells.
- Manage Rules: Displays the Conditional Formatting Rules Manager dialog box, in which you create new conditional formatting rules, edit rules, or delete rules.

# Formatting types you can apply

When you select a conditional formatting rule, Excel displays a dialog box specific to that rule. These dialog boxes have one thing in a common: a drop-down list with common formatting suggestions.

Figure 20.2 shows the dialog box that appears when you choose Home  $\Rightarrow$  Styles  $\Rightarrow$  Conditional Formatting  $\Rightarrow$  Highlight Cells Rules  $\Rightarrow$  Between. This particular rule applies the formatting if the value in the cell falls between two specified values. In this case, you enter the two values (or specify cell references), and then use choices from the drop-down list to set the type of formatting to display if the condition is met.

# FIGURE 20.2

One of several different conditional formatting dialog boxes.



# Excel 2010 Improvements.

If you've used conditional formatting in Excel 2007, you'll find several improvements in Excel 2010:

- Data bars display proportionally.
- Data bars can display in a solid color with a border. Previously, data bars always displayed with a gradient.
- Data bars handle negative values much better.
- You can specify minimum and maximum values for data bars.
- You can create customized lcon sets.
- Hiding one or more icons in an icon set is easy.

The formatting suggestions in the drop-down list are just a few of thousands of different formatting combinations. If none of Excel's suggestions are what you want, choose the Custom Format option to display the Format Cells dialog box. You can specify the format in any or all of the four tabs: Number, Font, Border, and Fill.

# Note

The Format Cells dialog box used for conditional formatting is a modified version of the standard Format Cells dialog box. It doesn't have the Alignment and Protection tabs, and some of the Font formatting options are disabled. The dialog box also includes a Clear button that clears any formatting already selected. ■

# Making your own rules

For do-it-yourself types, Excel provides the New Formatting Rule dialog box, shown in Figure 20.3. Access this dialog box by choosing Home 🖒 Styles 🖒 Conditional Formatting 🖒 New Rules.

Use the New Formatting Rule dialog box to re-create all the conditional format rules available via the Ribbon, as well as new rules. First, select a general rule type from the list at the top of the dialog box. The bottom part of the dialog box varies, depending on your selection at the top. After you specify the rule, click the Format button to specify the type of formatting to apply if the condition is met. An exception is the first rule type, which doesn't have a Format button (it uses graphics rather than cell formatting).

Here is a summary of the rule types:

- Format all cells based on their values: Use this rule type to create rules that display data bars, color scales, or icon sets.
- Format only cells that contain: Use this rule type to create rules that format cells based on mathematical comparisons (greater than, less than, greater than or equal to, less than or equal to, equal to, not equal to, between, not between). You can also create rules based

on text, dates, blanks, nonblanks, and errors. This rule type is very similar to how conditional formatting was set up in previous versions of Excel.

- Format only top or bottom ranked values: Use this rule type to create rules that involve identifying cells in the top *n*, top *n* percent, bottom *n*, and bottom *n* percent.
- Format only values that are above or below average: Use this rule type to create rules that identify cells that are above average, below average, or within a specified standard deviation from the average.
- Format only unique or duplicate values: Use this rule type to create rules that format unique or duplicate values in a range.
- Use a formula to determine which cells to format: Use this rule type to create rules based on a logical formula. See "Formula-Based Conditions," later in this chapter.

## FIGURE 20.3

Use the New Formatting Rule dialog box to create your own conditional formatting rules.

Select a Rule Type: Format any cells based on their values Format only cells that contain Format only top or bottom ranked values Format only values that are above or bettom average Format only values that are above or bettom average Format only unique or duplicate values	
Format at colls based on this value     Format only colls that contain     Format only top or bottom anked values     Format only values that are alreve or below average     Format only unless that are alreve or below average	
Format only cells that contain     Format only top or bottom named values     Format only values that are above or below average     Format only unique or displicate values	
Format only top or bottom ranked values     Format only values that are above or below average     Format only unique or displicate values	
Format only values that are above or below average     Format only unique or duplicate values	
Format only unique or displicate values	
A line a line in the defension which each in formal	
Des a formula to celormere unichi delle foi format.	
gdt the Rule Description:  Format all onlik based on their values:  Pgreet-Style: 2-Color Scale  Weitman  Tage: Lowest Value  Value  Value: Color:  Provide:  Provide:	Rachuan Highent Uslas v Nichood value) (%) V OK Cancel

# **Conditional Formats That Use Graphics**

This section describes the three conditional formatting options that display graphics: data bars, color scales, and icons sets. These types of conditional formatting can be useful for visualizing the values in a range.

# Using data bars

The *data bars conditional format* displays horizontal bars directly in the cell. The length of the bar is based on the value of the cell, relative to the other values in the range.

# **New Feature**

The data bars feature is improved significantly in Excel 2010. Data bars now display proportionally (just like a bar chart), and there is now an option to display data bars in a solid color (no more forced color gradient) and with a border. In addition, negative values can now display in a different color, and to the left of an axis.

## A simple data bar

Figure 20.4 shows an example of data bars. It's a list of tracks on Bob Dylan albums, with the length of each track in column D. I applied data bar conditional formatting to the values in column D. You can tell at a glance which tracks are longer.

# On the CD

The examples in the section are available on the companion CD-ROM. The workbook is named data bars examples.xlsx.

#### FIGURE 20.4

The length of the data bars is proportional to the track length in the cell in column D.

		8	C	2	
13.	Beb Dylen	Another Side of Bob Dylan	Spanish Harlem Indident	0.02.34	
12	Bull Dylan	Another tride of Bulk Dylar	To Ramona	0.01.02	
13	Beb Dylan	Blonde On Blende	4th Time Around	0.94:35	
14	Build Digitate	Blonde on Blande	Absalately tweet Marte-	0.06.37	
15	Bob Dylan	Blonde On Blende	) Want You	0:020	
18	Beb Dylen	Blonde On Blende	Jest Like A Woman	0.04:54	
17	Bob Dylan	Blonde On Blende	Leepart-Skin Pill-Box Hat	0:54:00	
18	Beb Dylen	Blonde On Blende	Most Likely You Se Your Way (And Fill Go Mine)	0.65.25	
10	Build Digitate	Blonde tin Blande	Clinically 3 Believers	0.01.00	
20	Bob Dylan	Blonde On Blende	One OFUs Must Knew (Scener Or Later)	0.94:55	
21	Build Digitate	Blonde tin Blande	Piedging My Time	0.0149	
23	Bob Dylan	Blonde On Blende	Rainy Day Women #12 And #15	0:54:30	
23	Beb Dylen	Blonde On Blende	Sell Eyed Lady OF the Lowlands	0.11.00	
24	NOD LIVER	wionde un aliende	stuck made of Mobile with the Memphis alues Agen	03/35	
23	Beb Dylen	Blonde On Blende	Temperary Uke Achilles	0.05.05	
26	Build Digitate	Blonde on Blande	Vesianic Df Johanea	0.07.34	
27	Reb Dylan	Blood On The Tracks	Buckets Of Rain	0:69:22	
28	BUD Dylan	Bload the Teacks	Idiot wind	0.07.49	
29	Bob Dylan	Blood On The Tracks	If You See Her, Say Hello	0.04049	
50	Beb Dylen	Blond On The Tracks	Life Resemany And The Jack O' Hearts	0.0553	
$\square 1$	Bub Dylan	Bload the Teacks	Most the In The Marriag	0.04.33	
52	Beb Dylen	Blond On The Tracks	Shelter from The Storm	0.65.62	
$\equiv 1$	Build Digitate	Bload the Teacks	Simple Tweet of Filte	0.04.39	
24	Bob Dylan	Blood On The Tracks	Tangled Up in illue	0:85:42	
33	Build Digitate	Bload on the tasks	You're a big carl Now	0.04.90	
26	Bob Dylan	Blood On The Tracks	You're Genna Maka Me Lonecome When You Go	0.8255	
3T	Beb Dylen	Bringing It All Back Herme	Belo Dalan's 119th Desam	0.06:33	
110	mails probate	investing it All Back Pares	surprise of ticken	0.0144	1

# Tip

# When you adjust the column width, the bar lengths adjust accordingly. The differences among the bar lengths are more prominent when the column is wider. ■

Excel provides quick access to 12 data bar styles via Home ➡ Styles ➡ Conditional Formatting ➡ Data Bars. For additional choices, click the More Rules option, which displays the New Formatting Rule dialog box. Use this dialog box to

- Show the bar only (hide the numbers).
- Specify Minimum and Maximum values for the scaling.
- Change the appearance of the bars.
- Specify how negative values and the axis is handled.
- Specify the direction of the bars.

## Note

Oddly, the colors used for data bars are not theme colors. If you apply a new document theme, the data bar colors do not change.

#### Using data bars in lieu of a chart

Using the data bars conditional formatting can sometimes serve as a quick alternative to creating a chart. Figure 20.5 shows a three-column table of data (created by using Insert 🖒 Tables 🖒 Table), with data bars conditional formatting applied in the third column. The third column of the table contains references to the values in the second column. The conditional formatting in the third column uses the Show Bars Only option, so the values are not displayed.

#### FIGURE 20.5

This table uses data bars conditional formatting.



Figure 20.6 shows an actual bar chart created from the same data. The bar chart takes about the same amount of time to create and is a lot more flexible. But for a quick-and-dirty chart, data bars are a good option — especially when you need to create several such charts.

# Using color scales

The *color scale conditional formatting option* varies the background color of a cell based on the cell's value, relative to other cells in the range.

#### FIGURE 20.6



A real Excel bar chart (not conditional formatting data bars).

## A color scale example

Figure 20.7 shows a range of cells that use color scale conditional formatting. It depicts the number of employees on each day of the year. This is a 3-color scale that uses red for the lowest value, yellow for the midpoint, and green for the highest value. Values in between are displayed using a color within the gradient.

#### FIGURE 20.7

A range that uses color scale conditional formatting.



# On the CD

This workbook, named color scale example.xlsx, is available on the companion CD-ROM. ■

Excel provides four 2-color scale presets and four 3-color scales presets, which you can apply to the selected range by choosing Home ↔ Styles ↔ Conditional Formatting ↔ Color Scales.

To customize the colors and other options, choose Home ↔ Styles ↔ Conditional Formatting ↔ Color Scales ↔ More Rules. This command displays the New Formatting Rule dialog box, shown in Figure 20.8. Adjust the settings, and watch the Preview box to see the effects of your changes.

#### FIGURE 20.8

New Form	matting Rule								
Şeket a k	kule Type:								
▶ Form	<ul> <li>Format all cells based on their values</li> </ul>								
► form	Format ante colle that contain								
+ form	<ul> <li>Format only top or bottom naminal values</li> </ul>								
► rom	at only values that an	e above or below average							
► Form	at only unique or displ	icate values							
<ul> <li>User</li> </ul>	a formula to determine	which calls to format							
Forma	t all cells based on Style: 3-Calor Scale	their values:							
	Manan	Mapart	Maximum						
Dee	Lowest Yaller	Terterdie	Pegrest table						
Yake:	(Lowest value)	<u>16</u> 50	(Highest volue)	16					
Qolar:									
Previe	*								
			OK [	Cancel					

Use the New Formatting Rule dialog box to customize a color scale.

## An extreme color scale example

It's important to understand that color scale conditional formatting uses a gradient. For example, if you format a range using a 2-color scale, you will get a lot more than two colors. You'll get colors with the gradient between the two specified colors.

Figure 20.9 shows an extreme example that uses color scale conditional formatting on a range of 10,000 cells (100 rows x 100 columns). The worksheet is zoomed down to 20% to display a very smooth three-color gradient. The range contains formulas like this one, in cell C5:

=SIN(\$A2)+COS(B\$1)

Values in column A and row 1 range from 0 to 4.0, in increments of 0.04.

When viewed onscreen, the result is stunning; it loses a lot when converted to grayscale.

# On the CD

This workbook, named extreme color scale.xlsx, is available on the companion CD-ROM. ■

#### FIGURE 20.9

This worksheet, which uses color scale conditional formatting, displays an impressive color gradient.



# Note

You can't hide the cell contents when using a color scale rule, so I formatted the cells using this custom number format (which effectively hides the cell content):

;;;

# Using icon sets

Yet another conditional formatting option is to display an icon in the cell. The icon displayed depends on the value of the cell.

To assign an icon set to a range, select the cells and choose Home  $\Rightarrow$  Styles  $\Rightarrow$  Conditional Formatting  $\Rightarrow$  Icon Sets. Excel provides 20 icon sets to choose from. The number of icons in the sets ranges from three to five. You cannot supply your own icons.

#### An icon set example

Figure 20.10 shows an example that uses an icon set. The symbols graphically depict the status of each project, based on the value in column C.

# On the CD

All the icon set examples in this section are available on the companion CD-ROM. The workbook is named icon set examples.xlsx.

## FIGURE 20.10

Using an icon set to indicate the status of projects.

	-A			C	D
1		Project	Status R	lepart	
2					
3		Project	<ul> <li>Pct Cor</li> </ul>	npleted 📼	
4		Project 1	4	95%	
5		Project 2	4	100%	
6		Project 3	1	50%	
$\mathcal{T}$		Project 4	×	0%	
10		Project 5		20%	
9		Project 6	1	80%	
10		Project 7	4	100%	
11		Project 8	×	0%	
1.2		Project 9	×	0%	
13		Project 10	1	50%	
1.4					
15					

By default, the symbols are assigned using percentiles. For a 3-symbol set, the items are grouped into three percentiles. For a 4-symbol set, they're grouped into four percentiles. And for a 5-symbol set, the items are grouped into five percentiles.

If you would like more control over how the icons are assigned, choose Home ↔ Styles ↔ Conditional Formatting ↔ Icon Sets ↔ More Rules to display the New Formatting Rule dialog box. To modify an existing rule, choose Home ↔ Styles ↔ Conditional Formatting ↔ Manage Rules. Then select the rule to modify and click the Edit Rule button.

Figure 20.11 shows how to modify the icon set rules such that only projects that are 100% completed get the check mark icons. Projects that are 0% completed get the X icon. All other projects get no icon.

Figure 20.12 shows project status list after making this change.

#### FIGURE 20.11

Changing the icon assignment rule.

Edit Formatting Rule				1 B. B. B.				
≦ellect a Rule Type:								
Format all cells based	an their values							
<ul> <li>Format only cells that</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Formet only cells that contain</li> </ul>							
<ul> <li>Pormat: only top or be</li> </ul>	townshed values							
<ul> <li>Format only values th</li> </ul>	at are above or belo	w average						
<ul> <li>Format: only unique a</li> </ul>	displicate values							
<ul> <li>Lise a formula to determinate</li> </ul>	mine which calls to f	format.						
Edit the Rule Descriptions								
Format all cells base	d on three values:							
-Buscoche: Foliege		Reverse Joon Order						
2004 DRyles	* motaut	Shev (an Driv						
Crapitor each room account	ing to these rules:							
loop		Xalue		Ispe				
-d - 10	n vake is 🗦 🖉	1	18	tunter 🖵				
No Cellison 💌 who	n < Land ≥	0	法	Nather 💌				
× •	97							
			OK .	Cancel				

## FIGURE 20.12

Using a modified rule and eliminating an icon makes the table more readable.

	A.	B	C	D
1		Project S	latus Report	
2				_
3		Project =	Pct Completed 💌	1
4		Project 1	95%	
5		Project 2	100%	
6		Project 3	50%	
$\mathcal{T}$		Project 4	X 0%	
10		Project 5	20%	
9		Project 6	80%	
10		Project 7	100%	
11		Project 8	X 0%	
1.2		Project 9	34 ON	
13		Project 10	50%	
				-

## Another icon set example

Figure 20.13 shows a table that contains two test scores for each student. The Change column contains a formula that calculates the difference between the two tests. The Trend column uses an icon set to display the trend graphically.

This example uses the icon set named 3 Arrows, and I customized the rule:

- Up Arrow: When value is >= 5
- Level Arrow: When value < 5 and > -5
- **Down Arrow:** When value is <= -5

In other words, a difference of no more than five points in either direction is considered an even trend. An improvement of at least five points is considered a positive trend, and a decline of five points or more is considered a negative trend.

# Note

The Trend column contains a formula that references the Change column. I used the Show Icon Only option in the Trend column, which also centers the icon in the column. ■

## FIGURE 20.13

The arrows depict the trend from Test 1 to Test 2.

	- A	B	E	D	E
1					
2	Student 🖬	Test 1 🗖	Test 2 📼	Change 🖬	Trend 💌
3	Amy	39	65	6	*
4	8ob	82	78	-4	$\Rightarrow$
5	Calvind	98	92	-6	
6	Doug	56	60	4	
$\mathcal{T}$	Ephraim	98	89	-9	-
8	Frienk	67	75	8	*
9	Gretta	78	81	1	
10	Harold	87	92	5	*
11	inez	56	85	29	*
12	June	87	72	-15	- 4
13	Centry	87	88	1	$\Rightarrow$
14	Lance	92	92	0	
15	Marvin	82	73	-9	4
16	Neel	58	100	2	<b></b>
17	Opie	84	73	-11	4
18	Paul	94	91	-1	
19	Quinton	68	92	24	1
20	Rasmus	91	90	-1	
21	Sam	85	86	1	
22	Ted	72	92	20	1
23	Unsie	80	82	2	-
24	Valerie	77	78	1	
25	Wally	64	45	-15	4
26	Terrols	39	63	4	$\Rightarrow$
27	Yolanda	89	99	10	1
23	2.994	85	82	-1	÷.,
29					

In some cases, using icon sets can cause your worksheet to look very cluttered. Displaying an icon for every cell in a range might result in visual overload.

Figure 20.14 shows the test results table after hiding the level arrow by choosing No Cell Icon in the Edit Formatting Rule dialog box.

#### FIGURE 20.14

Hiding one of the icons makes the table less cluttered.

1	Å.	B	C	D	1
1					
2	Stadent 📼	Testi 🖬	Test 2 🗖	Change 🖬	Trend 💌
3	Arry	59	65	6	*
4	8cb	82	78	-4	
3	Calvind	95	92	-6	+
6	Doug	56	60	4	
7	Ephraim	98	89	-9	+
8	Frank	67	75	8	+
3	onetta	78	81	3	
10	Harold	87	92	5	<b>+</b>
11	linez	56	85	29	1
12	June	87	72	-15	+
13	Kenny	87	88	1	
14	Lance	92	92	0	
15	Marvin	82	78	-9	+
16	Noel	95	100	2	
17	Opie		73	-11	+
18	Paul	94	99	-1	
19	Quinton	68	92	24	+
20	Rasmus	51	50	-1	
21	Sam	85	88	1	
22	Ted	72	92	20	1
23	Ursie	80	82	2	
24	Valerie	77	78	1	
23	wally	64	-45	-19	4
26	Terros	59	63	4	
27	Yolanda	89	99	30	1
28	Zippy	85	82	-3	
24					-

# **Creating Formula-Based Rules**

Excel's conditional formatting feature is versatile, but sometimes it's just not quite versatile enough. Fortunately, you can extend its versatility by writing conditional formatting formulas.

The examples later in this section describe how to create conditional formatting formulas for the following:

- To identify text entries
- To identify dates that fall on a weekend
- To format cells that are in odd-numbered rows or columns (for dynamic alternate row or columns shading)
- To format groups of rows (for example, shade every two groups of rows)
- To display a sum only when all precedent cells contain values

Some of these formulas may be useful to you. If not, they may inspire you to create other conditional formatting formulas.
### On the CD

The companion CD-ROM contains all the examples in this section. The file is named conditional formatting formulas.xlsx.

To specify conditional formatting based on a formula, select the cells and then choose Home ↔ Styles ↔ Conditional Formatting ↔ New Rule. This command displays the New Formatting Rule dialog box. Click the rule type Use a Formula to Determine Which Cells to Format, and you can specify the formula.

You can type the formula directly into the box, or you can enter a reference to a cell that contains a logical formula. As with normal Excel formulas, the formula you enter here must begin with an equal sign (=).

### Note

The formula must be a logical formula that returns either TRUE or FALSE. If the formula evaluates to TRUE, the condition is satisfied, and the conditional formatting is applied. If the formula evaluates to FALSE, the conditional formatting is not applied. ■

# Understanding relative and absolute references

If the formula that you enter into the Conditional Formatting dialog box contains a cell reference, that reference is considered a *relative reference*, based on the upper-left cell in the selected range.

For example, suppose that you want to set up a conditional formatting condition that applies shading to cells in range A1:B10 only if the cell contains text. None of Excel's conditional formatting options can do this task, so you need to create a formula that will return TRUE if the cell contains text and FALSE otherwise. Follow these steps:

- 1. Select the range A1:B10 and ensure that cell A1 is the active cell.
- 2. Choose Home ⇔ Styles ⇔ Conditional Formatting ⇔ New Rule to display the New Formatting Rule dialog box.
- 3. Click the Use a Formula to Determine Which Cells to Format rule type.
- 4. Enter the following formula in the Formula box:
  - =ISTEXT(A1)
- 5. Click the Format button to display the Format Cells dialog box.
- **6.** From the Fill tab, specify the cell shading that will be applied if the formula returns TRUE.
- 7. Click OK to return to the New Formatting Rule dialog box (see Figure 20.15).
- **8.** In the New Formatting Rule dialog box, click the Preview button. Make sure that the formula is working correctly and to see a preview of your selected formatting.
- 9. If the preview looks correct, click OK to close the New Formatting Rule dialog box.

Notice that the formula entered in Step 4 contains a relative reference to the upper-left cell in the selected range.

### FIGURE 20.15

Creating a conditional formatting rule based on a formula.

iew Formatting Rule	- 1 BCB
(elect a Rule Type:	
<ul> <li>Format al cells/based on their values</li> </ul>	
Pormet only cells that contain	
<ul> <li>Pormat snip top or bottom nanked values</li> </ul>	
Pornat any values that are above or below average	
<ul> <li>Format anly unique or duplicate uniques</li> </ul>	
Use a formula to determine which cells to format.	
format values where this formula is true:	
=(\$70x7pxp	1
Preview: AulibCeYyZz	Carvel

Generally, when entering a conditional formatting formula for a range of cells, you'll use a reference to the active cell, which is typically the upper-left cell in the selected range. One exception is when you need to refer to a specific cell. For example, suppose that you select range A1:B10, and you want to apply formatting to all cells in the range that exceed the value in cell C1. Enter this conditional formatting formula:

=A1>\$C\$1

In this case, the reference to cell C1 is an *absolute reference;* it will not be adjusted for the cells in the selected range. In other words, the conditional formatting formula for cell A2 looks like this:

```
=A2>$C$1
```

The relative cell reference is adjusted, but the absolute cell reference is not.

# **Conditional formatting formula examples**

Each of these examples uses a formula entered directly into the New Formatting Rule dialog box, after selecting the Use a Formula to Determine Which Cells to Format rule type. You decide the type of formatting that you apply conditionally.

### Identifying weekend days

Excel provides a number of conditional formatting rules that deal with dates, but it doesn't let you identify dates that fall on a weekend. Use this formula to identify weekend dates:

```
=OR (WEEKDAY (A1) = 7, WEEKDAY (A1) = 1)
```

This formula assumes that a range is selected and that cell A1 is the active cell.

### **Displaying alternate-row shading**

The conditional formatting formula that follows was applied to the range A1:D18, as shown in Figure 20.16, to apply shading to alternate rows.

=MOD(ROW(), 2) = 0

Alternate row shading can make your spreadsheets easier to read. If you add or delete rows within the conditional formatting area, the shading is updated automatically.

This formula uses the ROW function (which returns the row number) and the MOD function (which returns the remainder of its first argument divided by its second argument). For cells in even-numbered rows, the MOD function returns 0, and cells in that row are formatted.

For alternate shading of columns, use the COLUMN function instead of the ROW function.

### FIGURE 20.16

Using conditional formatting to apply formatting to alternate rows.

	A	8	C.	D	. E
3	400	470	943	319	
2	283	784	119	658	
3	821	426	265	269	
4	521	809	382	186	
3	282	287	289	712	
6	727	885	0	126	
7	295	83	836	351	
8	121	922	541	798	
3	883	426	109	254	
10	455	55	177	919	
11	562	714	763	345	
12	109	847	116	340	
13	748	65	740	259	
14	524	293	537	541	
13	475	71	831	370	
1d	472	522	828	414	
17	467	608	963	278	
18	484	667	758	426	
19					

### Creating checkerboard shading

The following formula is a variation on the example in the preceding section. It applies formatting to alternate rows and columns, creating a checkerboard effect.

```
=MOD(ROW(), 2) =MOD(COLUMN(), 2)
```

### Shading groups of rows

Here's another rows shading variation. The following formula shades alternate groups of rows. It produces four rows of shaded rows, followed by four rows of unshaded rows, followed by four more shaded rows, and so on.

=MOD(INT((ROW()-1)/4)+1,2)

Figure 20.17 shows an example.

For different sized groups, change the 4 to some other value. For example, use this formula to shade alternate groups of two rows:

```
=MOD(INT((ROW()-1)/2)+1,2)
```

### **FIGURE 20.17**

Conditional formatting produces these groups of alternate shaded rows.

	A		C	D	
1	250	589	585	879	
2	650	865	956	473	
3	229	322	298	669	
4	200	65	282	246	
3	387	584	934	119	
6	304	604	445	495	
7	122	887	534	809	
8	797	846	482	148	
3	845	55	384	254	
10	339	499	736	228	
11	70	534	215	33	
12	481	177	127	566	
13	881	772	437	408	
14	697	459	542	786	
15	474	541	216	634	
15	71	729	764	96	
17	15	805	966	180	
18	415	76	568	752	
19	573	452	165	483	
20	355	795	811	667	
21	623	942	132	23	
22	589	195	966	588	
23					

### Displaying a total only when all values are entered

Figure 20.18 shows a range with a formula that uses the SUM function in cell C6. Conditional formatting is used to hide the sum if any of the four cells above is blank. The conditional formatting formula for cell C6 (and cell C5, which contains a label) is

=COUNT(\$C\$2:\$C\$5)=4

This formula returns TRUE only if C2:C5 contains no empty cells.

Figure 20.19 shows the worksheet when one of the values is missing.

### FIGURE 20.18

The sum is displayed only when all four values have been entered.

	A.	8	C	D
1				
2		Gtr-1	2,845	
3		QDr-2	2,233	
4		C284-3	2,987	
3		Qtr-4	3,021	
6		Total:	10,385	
7				
8				
3				
10				

### FIGURE 20.19

A missing value causes the sum to be hidden.

	A	B	C
1			
2		Qtr-1	2,145
3		Q0r-2	
4		Qtr-3	2,587
3		Q8-4	3,021
6			
$\overline{T}$			
8			
9			

# **Working with Conditional Formats**

This section describes some additional information about conditional formatting that you may find useful.

# **Managing rules**

The Conditional Formatting Rules Manager dialog box is useful for checking, editing, deleting, and adding conditional formats. First select any cell in the range that contains conditional formatting. Then choose Home 🗘 Styles 🞝 Conditional Formatting 🞝 Manage Rules.

You can specify as many rules as you like by clicking the New Rule button. As you can see in Figure 20.20, cells can even use data bars, color scales, and icon sets all at the same time — although I can't think of a good reason to do so.

### FIGURE 20.20

This range uses data bars, color scales, and icon sets.

	A	9	C	0	E	F	G	14	1	2	Ε.	L	
1													
2		X :											-
2		K	0	militional Par	rmatting Ra	in: Manager						P - M	1
5		6	- P	wa faratiling	pains for a	Control Date:	dars (						
8		0 1		🖄 bira Auk	- (34	kRik-	X bein	e Role i P					٦
7		2		We begins a	ander steam	0 Parmati		Applies	her .			Dep 27hat	- 1
9				Graded (c	Arr Scale			-102	sf923		16		
10		A		Icon Set		0.4	•	-9582	s8923		15		
12				Datallar				- 6852	00		15		
11		0											
14		9											10
13		2 20											-11
娇		Q X							-		Cont	Apple	ΠI
$\Sigma T$		0 II										_	
2.6		р											
2/8-		0 11											
20		р											
21		D 16											
23:		0 11											
23		0 18											
24													

# Copying cells that contain conditional formatting

Conditional formatting information is stored with a cell much like standard formatting information is stored with a cell. As a result, when you copy a cell that contains conditional formatting, you also copy the conditional formatting.

### Tip

To copy only the formatting (including conditional formatting), use the Paste Special dialog box and select the Formats option. Or, use Home ⇔ Clipboard ⇔ Paste ⇔ Formatting (R). ■

If you insert rows or columns within a range that contains conditional formatting, the new cells have the same conditional formatting.

# **Deleting conditional formatting**

When you press Delete to delete the contents of a cell, you do not delete the conditional formatting for the cell (if any). To remove all conditional formats (as well as all other cell formatting), select the cell. Then choose Home  $\Rightarrow$  Editing  $\Rightarrow$  Clear  $\Rightarrow$  Clear Formats. Or, choose Home  $\Rightarrow$  Editing  $\Rightarrow$  Clear  $\Rightarrow$  Clear All to delete the cell contents and the conditional formatting.

To remove only conditional formatting (and leave the other formatting intact), use Home I Styles I Conditional Formatting I Clear Rules.

# Locating cells that contain conditional formatting

You can't tell, just by looking at a cell, whether it contains conditional formatting. You can, however, use the Go To dialog box to select such cells.

- 2. In the Go To Special dialog box, select the Conditional Formats option.
- **3.** To select all cells on the worksheet containing conditional formatting, select the All option; to select only the cells that contain the same conditional formatting as the active cell, select the Same option.
- 4. Click OK. Excel selects the cells for you.

### Note

The Excel Find and Replace dialog box includes a feature that allows you to search your worksheet to locate cells that contain specific formatting. This feature does not locate cells that contain formatting resulting from conditional formatting. ■

# CHAPTER

# **Creating Sparkline Graphics**

ne of the new features in Excel 2010 is Sparklines graphics. A *Sparkline* is a small chart displayed in a single cell. A Sparkline allows you to quickly spot time-based trends or variations in data. Because they are so compact, Sparklines are often used in a group.

Although Sparklines look like miniature charts (and can sometimes take the place of a chart), this feature is completely separate from the charting feature. For example, charts are placed on a worksheet's draw layer, and a single chart can display several series of data. A Sparkline is displayed inside a cell and displays only one series of data. See Chapters 18 and 19 for information about *real* charts.

This chapter introduces Sparklines, and presents examples that demonstrate how they can be used in your worksheets.

### **New Feature**

Sparklines are new to Excel 2010. If you create a workbook that uses Sparklines, and that workbook is opened using a previous version of Excel, the Sparkline cells will be empty. ■

### On the CD

All examples in this chapter are available on the companion CD-ROM. The filename is sparkline examples.xlsx.

# **IN THIS CHAPTER**

An introduction to the new Sparkline graphics feature

How to add Sparklines to a worksheet

How to customize Sparklines

How make a Sparkline display only the most recent data

# **Sparkline Types**

Excel 2010 supports three types of Sparklines. Figure 21.1 shows examples of the three types of Sparkline graphics, displayed in column H. Each Sparkline depicts the six data points to the left.

- Line: Similar to a line chart. As an option, the line can display with a marker for each data point. The first group in Figure 21.1 shows line Sparklines, with markers. A quick glance reveals that with the exception of Fund Number W-91, the funds have been losing value over the six-month period.
- **Column:** Similar to a column chart. The second group in Figure 21.1 shows the same data displayed with column Sparklines.
- Win/Loss: A "binary" type chart that displays each data point as a high block or a low block. The third group shows win/loss Sparklines. Notice that the data is different. Each cell displays the *change* from the previous month. In the Sparkline, each data point is depicted as a high block (win) or a low block (loss). In this example, a positive change from the previous month is a win, and a negative change from the previous month is a loss.

### FIGURE 21.1

Three groups of Sparklines.

	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	Н
1	Line Sparklir	nes						
2	-							
3	Fund Number	Jan	Feb	Mar	Apr	May	Jun	Sparklines
4	A-13	103.98	98.92	88.12	86.34	75.58	71.2	*****
5	C-09	212.74	218.7	202.18	198.56	190.12	181.74	
6	K-88	75.74	73.68	69.86	60.34	64.92	59.46	******
7	W-91	91.78	95.44	98.1	99.46	98.68	105.86	
8	M-03	324.48	309.14	313.1	287.82	276.24	260.9	*****
9								
10	Column Spai	klines						
11								
12	Fund Number	Jan	Feb	Mar	Apr	May	Jun	Sparklines
13	A-13	103.98	98.92	88.12	86.34	75.58	71.2	
14	C-09	212.74	218.7	202.18	198.56	190.12	181.74	
15	K-88	75.74	73.68	69.86	60.34	64.92	59.46	
16	W-91	91.78	95.44	98.1	99.46	98.68	105.86	=
17	M-03	324.48	309.14	313.1	287.82	276.24	260.9	
18								
19	Win/Loss Sp	arklines						
20								
21	Fund Number	Jan	Feb	Mar	Apr	May	Jun	Sparklines
22	A-13	#N/A	-5.06	-10.8	-1.78	-10.76	-4.38	
23	C-09	#N/A	5.96	-16.52	-3.62	-8.44	-8.38	
24	K-88	#N/A	-2.06	-3.82	-9.52	4.58	-5.46	
25	W-91	#N/A	3.66	2.66	1.36	-0.78	7.18	
26	M-03	#N/A	-15.34	3.96	-25.28	-11.58	-15.34	
07								

# Why Sparklines?

If the term *Sparkline* seems odd, don't blame Microsoft. Edward Tufte coined the term *sparkline*, and in his book, *Beautiful Evidence* (Graphics Press, 2006), he described it as

Sparklines: Intense, simple, word-sized graphics

In the case of Excel, Sparklines are cell-sized graphics. As you see in this chapter, Sparklines aren't limited to lines.

# **Creating Sparklines**

Figure 21.2 shows some data to be summarized with Sparklines. To create Sparkline graphics, follow these steps:

**1.** Select the data that will be depicted. If you are creating multiple Sparklines, select all the data. In this example, start by selecting B4:M12.

### FIGURE 21.2

Data to be summarized with Sparklines.

4	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	Н	- 1	J	Κ	L	M
1	Average Monthly	y Preci	ipitati	ion (In	ches)								
2													
3		Jan	Feb	Mar	Apr	May	Jun	Jul	Aug	Sep	Oct	Nov	Dec
4	ASHEVILLE, NC	4.06	3.83	4.59	3.5	4.41	4.38	3.87	4.3	3.72	3.17	3.82	3.39
5	BAKERSFIELD, CA	1.18	1.21	1.41	0.45	0.24	0.12	0	0.08	0.15	0.3	0.59	0.76
б	BATON ROUGE, LA	6.19	5.1	5.07	5.56	5.34	5.33	5.96	5.86	4.84	3.81	4.76	5.26
7	BILLINGS, MT	0.81	0.57	1.12	1.74	2.48	1.89	1.28	0.85	1.34	1.26	0.75	0.67
8	DAYTONA BEACH, FL	3.13	2.74	3.84	2.54	3.26	5.69	5.17	6.09	6.61	4.48	3.03	2.71
9	EUGENE, OR	7.65	6.35	5.8	3.66	2.66	1.53	0.64	0.99	1.54	3.35	8.44	8.29
10	HONOLULU,HI	2.73	2.35	1.89	1.11	0.78	0.43	0.5	0.46	0.74	2.18	2.26	2.85
11	ST. LOUIS, MO	2.14	2.28	3.6	3.69	4.11	3.76	3.9	2.98	2.96	2.76	3.71	2.86
12	TUCSON, AZ	0.99	0.88	0.81	0.28	0.24	0.24	2.07	2.3	1.45	1.21	0.67	1.03
13													

- 2. With the data selected, choose Insert ⇔ Sparklines, and click one of the three Sparkline types: Line, Column, or Win/Loss. Excel displays the Create Sparklines dialog box, as shown in Figure 21.3.
- **3. Specify the location for the Sparklines.** Typically, you'll put the Sparklines next to the data, but that's not a requirement. Most of the time, you'll use an empty range to hold the Sparklines. However, Excel does not prevent your from inserting Sparklines into cells that already contain data. The Sparkline location that you specify must match the source data in terms of number of rows or number of columns. For this example, specify N4:N12 as the Location Range.
- 4. Click OK. Excel creates the Sparklines graphics of the type you specified.

The Sparklines are linked to the data, so if you change any of the values in the data range, the Sparkline graphic will update.

### FIGURE 21.3

Use the Create Sparklines dialog box to specify the data range and the location for the Sparkline graphics.

Create Sparkline	Create Sparklines						
Choose the data	tha	t you want					
Data Range:	B4	M12	1				
Choose where you want the sparklines to be placed							
Location Range	2:	\$N\$4:\$N\$12	1				
		ОК	Cancel				

### Tip

Most of the time, you'll create Sparklines on the same sheet that contains the data. If you want to create Sparklines on a different sheet, start by activating the sheet where the Sparklines will be displayed. Then, in the Create Sparklines dialog box, specify the source data either by pointing or by typing the complete sheet reference (for example, Sheet1A1:C12). The Create Sparklines dialog box lets you specify a different sheet for the Data Range, but not for the Location Range.

# Understanding Sparkline Groups \_\_\_\_\_

Most of the time, you'll probably create a group of Sparklines — one for each row or column of data. A worksheet can hold any number of Sparkline groups. Excel remembers each group, and you can work with the group as a single unit. For example, you can select one Sparkline in a group, and then modify the formatting of all Sparklines in the group. When you select one Sparkline cell, Excel displays an outline of all the other Sparklines in the group.

You can, however, perform some operations on an individual Sparkline in a group:

- Change the Sparkline's data source. Select the Sparkline cell and choose Sparkline Tools ↔ Design ↔ Sparkline ↔ Edit Data ↔ Edit Single Sparkline's Data. Excel displays a dialog box that lets you change the data source for the selected Sparkline.
- Delete the Sparkline. Select the Sparkline cell and choose Sparkline Tools ↔ Design ↔ Group ↔ Clear ↔ Clear Selected Sparklines.

Both operations are available from the shortcut menu that appears when you right-click a Sparkline cell.

You can also ungroup a set of Sparklines by selecting any Sparkline in the group and choosing Sparkline Tools ID Design ID Group ID Ungroup. After you ungroup a set of Sparklines, you can work with each Sparkline individually. Figure 21.4 shows column Sparklines for the precipitation data.

### FIGURE 21.4

Column Sparklines summarize the precipitation data for nine cities.

	A	В	C	D	E	F	G	н		J	K	L	M	N
1	Average Monthly	Preci	pitati	on (In	ches)									
2														
3		Jan	Feb	Mar	Apr	May	Jun	Jul	Aug	Sep	Oct	Nov	Dec	
4	ASHEVILLE, N.C.	4.06	3.83	4.59	3.5	4.41	4.38	3.87	4.3	3.72	3.17	3.82	3.39	808-8808-0-
5	BAKERSFIELD, CA	1.18	1.21	1.41	0.45	0.24	0.12	0	0.08	0.15	0.3	0.59	0.76	
6	BATON ROUGE, LA	6.19	5.1	5.07	5.56	5.34	5.33	5.96	5.86	4.84	3.81	4.76	5.26	8
7	BILLINGS, MT	0.81	0.57	1.12	1.74	2.48	1.89	1.28	0.85	1.34	1.26	0.75	0.67	
8	DAYTONA BEACH, FL	3.13	2.74	3.84	2.54	3.26	5.69	5.17	6.09	6.61	4.48	3.03	2.71	
9	EUGENE, OR	7.65	6.35	5.8	3.66	2.66	1.53	0.64	0.99	1.54	3.35	8.44	8.29	
10	HONOLULU, HI	2.73	2.35	1.89	1.11	0.78	0.43	0.5	0.46	0.74	2.18	2.26	2.85	
11	ST. LOUIS, MO	2.14	2.28	3.6	3.69	4.11	3.76	3.9	2.98	2.96	2.76	3.71	2.86	000000
12	TUCSON, AZ	0.99	0.88	0.81	0.28	0.24	0.24	2.07	2.3	1.45	1.21	0.67	1.03	
13														

# **Customizing Sparklines**

When you activate a cell that contains a Sparkline, Excel displays an outline around all the Sparklines in its group. You can then use the commands on the Sparkline Tools  $\Rightarrow$  Design tab to customize the group of Sparklines.

# Sizing Sparkline cells

When you change the width or height of a cell that contains a Sparkline, the Sparkline adjusts accordingly. In addition, you can insert a Sparkline into merged cells.

Figure 21.5 shows the same Sparkline, displayed at four sizes resulting from column width, row height, and merged cells.

### FIGURE 21.5

A Sparkline at various sizes.

				0		-		
	L	IVI	N	0	P	Q	ĸ	
2								
3								
4		**********						
5								
6					$\wedge$			
7					•	▲		
8							**	
9								
10								
				A Let				
11				- ¥				
12								

# Handling hidden or missing data

By default, if you hide rows or columns that are used in a Sparkline graphic, the hidden data does not appear in the Sparkline. Also, missing data is displayed as a gap in the graphic.

To change these settings, choose Sparkline Tools ↔ Design ↔ Sparkline ↔ Edit Data ↔ Hidden and Empty Cells. In the Hidden and Empty Cell Settings dialog box that appears (see Figure 21.6), specify how to handle hidden data and empty cells.

### FIGURE 21.6

The Hidden and Empty Cell Settings dialog box.

Hidden and Empty Co	ell Settings	? ×
Show empty cells as:	Gaps	
	Zero	
	Connect data	points with line
Show data in hidde	n rows and colum	ns
	ОК	Cancel

# Changing the Sparkline type

As I mentioned earlier, Excel supports three Sparkline types: Line, Column, and Win/Loss. After you create a Sparkline or group of Sparklines, you can easily change the type by selecting the Sparkline and clicking one of the three icons in the Sparkline Tools  $\Rightarrow$  Design  $\Rightarrow$  Type group. If the selected Sparkline is part of a group, all Sparklines in the group are changed to the new type.

### Tip

If you've customized the appearance, Excel remembers your customization settings for each type if you switch among Sparkline types. ■

# **Changing Sparkline colors and line width**

After you've created a Sparkline, changing the color is easy. Use the controls in the Sparkline Tools ↔ Design ↔ Style group.

### Note

Colors used in Sparkline graphics are tied to the document theme. Thus, if you change the theme (by choosing Page Layout ⇔ Themes), the Sparkline colors will change to the new theme colors. See Chapter 6 for more information about document themes. ■

For Line Sparklines, you can also specify the line width. Choose Sparkline Tools ↔ Design ↔ Style ↔ Sparkline Color ↔ Weight.

# Highlighting certain data points

Use the commands in the Sparkline Tools I Design I Show group to customize the Sparklines to highlight certain aspects of the data. The options are

- High Point: Apply a different color to the highest data point in the Sparkline.
- Low Point: Apply a different color to the lowest data point in the Sparkline.
- Negative Points: Apply a different color to negative values in the Sparkline.
- First Point: Apply a different color to the first data point in the Sparkline.
- Last Point: Apply a different color to the last data point in the Sparkline.
- Markers: Show data markers in the Sparkline. This option is available only for Line Sparklines.

You control the color of the highlighting by using the Marker Color control in the Sparkline Tools ➡ Design ➡ Style group. Unfortunately, you cannot change the size of the markers in Line Sparklines.

Figure 21.7 shows some Line Sparklines with various types of highlighting applied.

### FIGURE 21.7

Highlighting options for Line Sparklines.

	Α	В	С	D	E	F	G	Н	- 1	J	К	
1												
2												
3		12	9	-6	-12	2	8	16	14	$\sim$	Default	
4		12	9	-6	-12	2	8	16	14		Markers	
5		12	9	-6	-12	2	8	16	14	$\sim$	High Point, Low Point	
6		12	9	-6	-12	2	8	16	14	►	First Point, Last Point	
7		12	9	-6	-12	2	8	16	14	$\overline{}$	Negative Points	
8												
0												

# Adjusting Sparkline axis scaling

When you create one or more Sparklines, they all use (by default) automatic axis scaling. In other words, the minimum and maximum vertical axis values are determined automatically for each Sparkline in the group, based on the numeric range of the data used by the Sparkline.

The Sparkline Tools ↔ Design ↔ Group ↔ Axis command lets you override this automatic behavior and control the minimum and maximum value for each Sparkline, or for a group of Sparklines. For even more control, you can use the Custom Value option and specify the minimum and maximum for the Sparkline group.

Figure 21.8 shows two groups of Sparklines. The group at the top uses the default axis settings (Automatic for Each Sparkline). Each Sparkline shows the six-month trend for the product, but there is no indication of the magnitude of the values.

### FIGURE 21.8

The bottom group of Sparklines shows the effect of using the same axis minimum and maximum values for all Sparklines in a group.

	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	Н	
1									
2		Jan	Feb	Mar	Apr	May	Jun	Sparklines	
3	Product A	100	102	102	108	120	132		
4	Product B	300	301	307	319	318	331		
5	Product C	600	608	622	636	631	634		
6									
7									
8									
9		Jan	Feb	Mar	Apr	May	Jun	Sparklines	
10	Product A	100	102	102	108	120	132		
11	Product B	300	301	307	319	318	331		
12	Product C	600	608	622	636	631	634		
13									
14									

For the Sparkline group at the bottom (which uses the same data), I changed the vertical axis minimum and maximum to use the Same for All Sparklines setting. With these settings in effect, the magnitude of the values *across* the products is apparent — but the trend across the months within a product is not apparent.

The axis scaling option you choose depends upon what aspect of the data you want to emphasize.

# Faking a reference line

One useful feature that's missing in the Excel 2010 implementation of Sparklines is a reference line. For example, it might be useful to show performance relative to a goal. If the goal is displayed as a reference line in a Sparkline, the viewer can quickly see whether the performance for a period exceeded the goal.

You can, however, to transform the data and then use a Sparkline axis as a fake reference line. Figure 21.9 shows an example. Students have a monthly reading goal of 500 pages. The range of data shows the actual pages read, with Sparklines in column H. The Sparklines show the sixmonth page data, but it's impossible to tell who exceeded the goal, and when they did it.

Figure 21.10 shows another approach: Transforming the data such that meeting the goal is expressed as a 1, and failing to meet the goal is expressed as a -1. I used the following formula (in cell B18) to transform the original data:

```
=IF(B6>$C$2,1,-1)
```

#### FIGURE 21.9

Sparklines display the number of pages read per month.

	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	Н		
1	Pages Read									
2	Monthly G	oal:	500							
3										
4				Pages	Read					
5		Jan	Feb	Mar	Apr	May	Jun			
6	Ann	450	412	632	663	702	512			
7	Bob	309	215	194	189	678	256			
8	Chuck	608	783	765	832	483	763	$\sim$		
9	Dave	409	415	522	598	421	433			
10	Ellen	790	893	577	802	874	763			
11	Frank	211	59	0	0	185	230			
12	Giselle	785	764	701	784	214	185			
13	Henry	350	367	560	583	784	663			
2.0										

#### **FIGURE 21.10**

Using Win/Loss Sparklines to display goal achievement.

	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	Н	
15									
16		Pa	ges Read	l (Did or	Did Not I	Meet Go	al)		
17		Jan	Feb	Mar	Apr	May	Jun		
18	Ann	-1	-1	1	1	1	1		1
19	Bob	-1	-1	-1	-1	1	-1		(
20	Chuck	1	1	1	1	-1	1		
21	Dave	-1	-1	1	1	-1	-1		(
22	Ellen	1	1	1	1	1	1		
23	Frank	-1	-1	-1	-1	-1	-1		(
24	Giselle	1	1	1	1	-1	-1		(
25	Henry	-1	-1	1	1	1	1		I .
26									

I copied this formula to the other cells in B18:G25 range.

Using the transformed data, I created Win/Loss Sparklines to visualize the results. This approach is better than the original, but it doesn't convey any magnitude differences. For example, you cannot tell whether the student missed the goal by 1 page or by 500 pages.

Figure 21.11 shows a better approach. Here, I transformed the original data by subtracting the goal from the pages read. The formula in cell B31 is

=B6-\$C\$2

I copied this formula to the other cells in the B31:G38 range, and created a group of Line Sparklines, with the axis turned on. I also enabled the Negative Points option so that negative values (failure to meet the goal) clearly stand out.

### FIGURE 21.11

The axis in the Sparklines represents the goal.

	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	Н	1
28									
29			Pages	Read (Re	elative to	Goal)			
30		Jan	Feb	Mar	Apr	May	Jun		
31	Ann	-50	-88	132	163	202	12		
32	Bob	-191	-285	-306	-311	178	-244	$\sim$	
33	Chuck	108	283	265	332	-17	263	$\sim$	
34	Dave	-91	-85	22	98	-79	-67		
35	Ellen	290	393	77	302	374	263	$\sim$	
36	Frank	-289	-441	-500	-500	-315	-270	·	
37	Giselle	285	264	201	284	-286	-315		
38	Henry	-150	-133	60	83	284	163	$\sim$	
39									
40									

# **Specifying a Date Axis**

Normally, data displayed in a Sparkline is assumed to be at equal intervals. For example, a Sparkline might display a daily account balance, sales by month, or profits by year. But what if the data aren't at equal intervals?

Figure 21.12 shows data, by date, along with a Sparklines graphic created from Column B. Notice that some dates are missing, but the Sparkline shows the columns as if the values were spaced at equal intervals.

### FIGURE 21.12

The Sparkline displays the values as if they are at equal time intervals.

	A	В	С	D	E	F
1	Date	Amount				
2	1/1/2010	154				
3	1/2/2010	201		_		
4	1/3/2010	245				
5	1/4/2010	176				
6	1/11/2010	267				
7	1/12/2010	289				
8	1/13/2010	331				
9	1/14/2010	365				
10	1/18/2010	298				
11	1/19/2010	424				
12						

To better depict the data, the solution is to specify a date axis. Select the Sparkline and choose Sparkline Tools ➡ Design ➡ Group ➡ Axis ➡ Date Axis Type. Excel displays a dialog box, asking for the range that contains the dates. In this example, specify range A2:A11. Click OK, and the Sparkline displays gaps for the missing dates (see Figure 21.13).

### FIGURE 21.13

After specifying a date axis, the Sparkline shows the values accurately.

	A	В	С	D	E	
1	Date	Amount				
2	1/1/2010	154				
3	1/2/2010	201			I	
4	1/3/2010	245				
5	1/4/2010	176				
6	1/11/2010	267				
7	1/12/2010	289				
8	1/13/2010	331				
9	1/14/2010	365				
10	1/18/2010	298				
11	1/19/2010	424				
12						

# **Auto-Updating Sparklines**

If a Sparkline uses data in a normal range of cells, adding new data to the beginning or end of the range does *not* force the Sparkline to use the new data. You need to use the Edit Sparklines dialog box to update the data range (choose Sparkline Tools  $\Rightarrow$  Design  $\Rightarrow$  Sparkline  $\Rightarrow$  Edit Data). But, if the Sparkline data is in a column within a table (created by using Insert  $\Rightarrow$  Tables  $\Rightarrow$  Table), then the Sparkline will use new data that's added to the end of the table.

Figure 21.14 shows an example. The Sparkline was created using the data in the Rate column of the table. When you add the new rate for September, the Sparkline will automatically update its Data Range.

### FIGURE 21.14

Creating a Sparkline from data in a table.

	A	В	С	D	E
2					
3		Month 🔽	Rate 💌		
4		Jan	5.20%		
5		Feb	5.02%		
6		Mar	4.97%		- And
7		Apr	4.99%		2
8		May	4.89%		
9		Jun	4.72%		
10		Jul	4.68%		
11		Aug	4.56%		
12					
13					
0.0					

# Displaying a Sparkline for a Dynamic Range

The example in this section describes how to create a Sparkline that display only the most recent data points in a range. Figure 21.15 shows a worksheet that tracks daily sales. The Sparkline, in cell F4, displays only the seven most recent data points in column B.

### FIGURE 21.15

Using a dynamic range name to display only the last seven data points in a Sparkline.

	A	В	С	D	E	
1	Day	Sales				
2	1	695				
3	2	687				
4	3	687		7-Day Trend:		
5	4	695				
6	5	708				
7	6	719				
8	7	726				
9	8	727				
10	9	735				
11	10	744				
12	11	744				
13	12	740				
14	13	740				
15	14	735				
16	15	750				
17	16	743				
18	17					
19	18					
20	19					
21	20					

# Need More about Sparklines?

This chapter describes pretty much everything there is to know about Excel 2010 Sparklines. You may be left asking, *Is that all there is?* Unfortunately, it is.

The Sparklines feature in Excel 2010 certainly leaves much to be desired. For example, you're limited to three types (Line, Column, and Win/Loss). It would be useful to have access to other Sparkline types, such as a column chart with no gaps, an area chart, and a stacked bar chart. Although Excel provides some basic formatting options, many users would prefer to have more control over the appearance of their Sparklines.

If you like the idea of Sparklines — and you're disappointed by the implementation in Excel 2010 — check out some add-ins that provide Sparklines in Excel. These products provide many additional Sparkline types, and most provide many additional customization options. Search the Web for *sparklines excel*, and you'll find several add-ins to choose from.

I started by creating a dynamic range name. Here's how:

1. Choose Formulas ➡ Defined Names ➡ Define Name, specify Last7 as the Name, and enter the following formula in the Refers To field:

=OFFSET(\$B\$2,COUNTA(\$B:\$B)-7-1,0,7,1)

This formula calculates a range by using the OFFSET function. The first argument is the first cell in the range (B2). The second argument is the number of cells in the column (minus the number to be returned and minus 1 to accommodate the label in B1).

This name always refers to the last seven non-empty cells in column B. To display a different number of data points, change both instances of 7 to a different value.

- **2.** Chose Insert ▷ Sparklines ▷ Line.
- **3.** In the Data Range field, type Last7 (the dynamic range name). Specify cell E4 as the Location Range. The Sparkline shows the data in range B11:B17.
- **4.** Add new data to column B. The Sparkline adjusts to display only the last seven data points.

# CHAPTER

ソソ

# Enhancing Your Work with Pictures and Drawings

hen it comes to visual presentation, Excel has a lot more up its sleeve than charts. As you may know, you can insert a wide variety of graphics into your worksheet to add pizzazz to an otherwise boring report.

This chapter describes the non-chart-related graphic tools available in Excel. These tools consist of Shapes, SmartArt, WordArt, and imported or pasted images. In addition to enhancing your worksheets, you'll find that working with these objects can be a nice diversion. When you need a break from crunching numbers, you might enjoy creating an artistic masterpiece using Excel's graphic tools.

### On the CD

Most of the examples in this chapter are available on the companion CD-ROM. ■

# **Using Shapes**

Microsoft Office, including Excel, provides access to a variety of customizable graphic images known as *Shapes*. You might want to insert shapes to create diagrams, store text, or just add some visual appeal to a worksheet.

# **IN THIS CHAPTER**

Inserting and customizing Shapes

An overview of SmartArt and WordArt

Working with other types of graphics

# **Inserting a Shape**

You can add a Shape to a worksheet's draw layer by choosing Insert ➡ Illustrations ➡ Shapes, which opens the Shapes gallery, shown in Figure 22.1. Shapes are organized into categories, and the category at the top displays the Shapes that you've used recently. To insert a Shape on a worksheet, you can do one of the following:

- Click the Shape in the Shapes gallery and then click in the worksheet. A default-sized shape is added to your worksheet.
- Click the Shape and then drag in the worksheet to create a larger or smaller Shape, or a Shape with different proportions than the default

When you release the mouse button, the object is selected, and its name appears in the Name field (as shown in Figure 22.2).

### FIGURE 22.1

The Shapes gallery.

Iner B		Pannar	Own	taviter	
14 HA	E X	1 5-	a la	:200	6
Police Cog LA Para	The sector sector	UN Soteun	H CRUA	n 11mg +	1
	Bearty Us	ed Wrapes	1.1.0	40	-
8 0	150	() 余			
	555	1,1,1,1	220	0.1	H
	(Includes)	3996	88		
	Best Shape	1050	000		
	8660		200	10	
	000	10	# 47 G		
		000+	APP	3.2	
	6301	1000	0.00	444	
	Appartice II	agen.			
	Prestant				
	0000	2801	449	ab	
	C.C.C.C.	) erentes			
	00+1		886	88	
	Calleys	2 (2 (2 (2 (2 (2 (2 (2 (2 (2 (2 (2 (2 (2	10		
	0.000	Q Al an ion for	and the		1

### FIGURE 22.2

This Shape was drawn on the worksheet. Its name (Quad Arrow 1) appears in the Name field.



### Tip

You can also insert a Shape into a chart. Just select the chart before you choose the Shape from the gallery and then click inside the chart to insert the Shape. When a chart is selected, the Chart Tools contextual tab also displays an icon to access the Shapes gallery: Chart Tools ⇔ Layout ⇔ Insert ⇔ Shapes. ■

A few Shapes require a slightly different approach. For example, when adding a FreeForm Shape (from the Lines category), you can click repeatedly to create lines. Or click and drag to create a nonlinear shape. Double-click to finish drawing and create the Shape. The Curve and Scribble Shapes (in the Lines category) also require several clicks while drawing.

Here are a few tips to keep in mind when creating Shapes:

- Every Shape has a name. Some have generic names like *Shape 1* and *Shape 2*, but others are given more descriptive names (for example, *Rectangle 1*). To change the name of a Shape, select it, type a new name in the Name field, and press Enter.
- To select a specific shape, type its name in the Name field and press Enter.
- When you create a Shape by dragging, hold down the Shift key to maintain the object's default proportions.
- You can control how objects appear onscreen in the Advanced tab of the Excel Options dialog box (File +> Excel). This setting appears in the Display Options for This Workbook section. Normally, the All option is selected under For Objects Show. You can hide all objects by choosing Nothing (Hide Objects). Hiding objects may speed things up if your worksheet contains complex objects that take a long time to redraw.

# About the Drawing Layer.

Every worksheet and chart sheet has a *drawing layer*. This invisible surface can hold Shapes, SmartArt, WordArt, graphic images, embedded charts, inserted objects, and so on.

You can move, resize, copy, and delete objects placed on the drawing layer, with no effect on any other elements in the worksheet. Objects on the drawing layer have properties that relate to how they're moved and sized when underlying cells are moved and sized. When you right-click a graphic object and choose Size and Properties from the shortcut menu that appears, you get a tabbed dialog box. Click the Properties tab to adjust how the object moves or resizes with its underlying cells. Your choices are as follows:

- Move and Size with Cells: If this option is selected, the object appears to be attached to the cells beneath it. For example, if you insert rows above the object, the object moves down. If you increase the column width, the object gets wider.
- Move But Don't Size with Cells: If this option is selected, the object moves whenever rows or columns are inserted, but it never changes its size when you change row heights or column widths.
- **Don't Move or Size with Cells:** This option makes the object completely independent of the underlying cells.

The preceding options control how an object is moved or sized with respect to the underlying cells.

Excel also lets you *attach* an object to a cell. To do so, open the Excel Options dialog box, click the Advanced tab, and select the Cut, Copy, and Sort Inserted Objects With Their Parent Cells check box. After you do so, graphic objects on the drawing layer are attached to the underlying cells. If you copy a range of cells that includes an object, the object is also copied. Note that this is a general option that affects all objects and, by default, this option is enabled.

# Adding text to a Shape

Many Shape objects can display text. To add text to such a Shape, select the Shape and start typing the text.

To change the formatting for all text in a Shape, Ctrl-click the Shape object. You can then use the formatting commands on the Home tab of the Ribbon. To change the formatting of specific characters within the text, select only those characters, and use the Ribbon buttons. Or, right-click and use the Mini toolbar to format the text.

In addition, you can dramatically change the look of the text by using the tools in the Drawing Tools 🕫 Format 🖒 WordArt Styles group. You can read more about WordArt later in the chapter.

# **Formatting Shapes**

When you select a Shape, the Drawing Tools r> Format contextual tab is available, with the following groups of commands:

- Insert Shapes: Insert new Shapes; change a Shape to a different Shape.
- **Shape Styles:** Change the overall style of a Shape; modify the Shape's fill, outline, or effects.
- WordArt Styles: Modify the appearance of the text within a Shape.
- Arrange: Adjust the "stack order" of Shapes, align Shapes, group multiple Shapes, and rotate Shapes.
- **Size:** Change the size of a Shape.

Additional commands are available from the Shape's shortcut menu (which you access by rightclicking the Shape). In addition, you can use your mouse to perform some operations directly: for example, resize or rotate a Shape.

# Selecting and Hiding Objects\_

An easy way to select an object is to use the Selection and Visibility task pane. Just select any Shape and then choose Drawing Tools 🗢 Format 🗢 Arrange 🗢 Selection Pane. Or, choose Home 🗢 Editing 🗢 Find & Select 🗢 Selection Pane.

Like with all task panes, you can undock this pane from the side of the window and make it free-floating. The accompanying figure shows the Selection and Visibility task pane as a floating window.



Each object on the active worksheet is listed in the Selection and Visibility pane. Just click the object's name to select it. To select multiple objects, press Ctrl while you click the names.

To hide an object, click the "eye" icon to the right of its name. Use the buttons at the bottom of the task pane to quickly hide (or show) all items.

Figure 22.3 shows a worksheet with some Shapes that use various types of formatting.

As an alternative to the Ribbon, you can use the Format Shape dialog box. Right-click the Shape and choose Format Shape from the shortcut menu. You'll get a stay-on-top tabbed dialog box that contains some additional formatting options that aren't on the Ribbon. Changes appear immediately, and you can keep the Format Shape dialog box open while you work.

I could probably write 20 pages about formatting Shapes, but it would be a waste of paper and certainly not a very efficient way of learning about Shape formatting. The best way, by far, to learn about formatting Shapes is to experiment. Create some shapes, click some commands, and see what happens. The commands are fairly intuitive, and you can always use Undo if a command doesn't do what you expected it to do.

### FIGURE 22.3

A variety of Shapes.



# **Grouping objects**

Excel lets you combine (or *group*) two or more Shape objects into a single object. For example, if you create a design that uses four separate Shapes, you can combine them into a group. Then, you can manipulate this group as a single object (move it, resize it, apply formatting, and so on).

To group objects, press Ctrl while you click the objects to be included in the group. Then rightclick and choose Group 🕫 Group from the shortcut menu.

When objects are grouped, you can still work with an individual object in the group. Click once to select the group; then click again to select the object.

To ungroup a group, right-click the group object and choose Group  $\Rightarrow$  Ungroup from the shortcut menu. This command breaks the object into its original components.

# Aligning and spacing objects

When you have several objects on a worksheet, you may want to align and evenly space these objects. You can, of course, drag the objects with your mouse (which isn't very precise). Or, you can use the navigation arrow keys to move a selected object one pixel at a time. The fastest way to align and space objects is to let Excel do it for you.

To align multiple objects, start by selecting them (press Ctrl and click the objects). Then use the tools in the Drawing Tools 🖒 Format 🖒 Arrange 🖒 Align drop-down list.

### Note

Unfortunately, you can't specify which object is used as the basis for the alignment. When you're aligning objects to the left (or right), they're always aligned with the leftmost (or rightmost) object that's selected. When you're aligning objects to the top (or bottom), they're always aligned with the topmost (or bottommost) object. Aligning the centers (or middles) of objects will align them along an axis halfway between the left and right (or top and bottom) extremes of the selected shapes.

You can instruct Excel to distribute three or more objects so that they're equally spaced horizontally or vertically. Choose Drawing Tools ⇔ Format ⇔ Arrange ⇔ Align and then select either Distribute Horizontally or Distribute Vertically.

# **Reshaping Shapes**

Excel has many Shapes to choose from, but sometimes the Shape you need isn't in the gallery. In such a case, you may be able to modify one of the existing shapes using one of these techniques:

- **Rotate the Shape.** When you select a Shape, it displays a small green dot. Click and drag this dot to rotate the Shape.
- **Group multiple Shapes**. You may be able to create the Shape you need by combining two or more Shapes and then grouping them. (See "Grouping objects," earlier in this chapter.)
- **Reconfigure the Shape.** Many Shapes display one or more small yellow diamonds when the Shape is selected. You can click and drag this diamond to change the Shape's outline. The exact behavior varies with the Shape, so you should experiment and see what happens. Figure 22.4 shows six variations of an up-down arrow. This particular shape, when selected, has two yellow diamonds, which allows lots of variations.
- **Create a Freeform Shape.** Select the Freeform Shape (in the Lines category of the Shapes gallery) to create a custom Shape. Figure 22.5 shows a Freeform Shape, with eyes and a mouth added. The shadow effect completes the masterpiece.
- Editing a Shape's Points. Another way to create a unique Shape is to edit its points. Select the Shape and choose Drawing Tools ↔ Format ↔ Insert Shapes ↔ Edit Shape ↔ Edit Points. You can then drag the points to reconfigure the Shape. Figure 22.6 shows an example of a Shape that has been edited beyond all recognition.

### FIGURE 22.4

Six variations on a Shape.



### FIGURE 22.5

When none of the existing Shapes will do, create your own Freeform Shape.



# **Printing objects**

By default, objects are printed along with the worksheet. To avoid printing a Shape, right-click the Shape and choose Size and Properties. In the Format Shape dialog box, click the Properties tab and then clear the Print Object check box.

# Exporting Graphic Objects\_

If you create a graphic in Excel using Shapes, SmartArt, or WordArt, you may want to save the graphic as a separate file for use in another program. Unfortunately, Excel doesn't provide a direct way to export a graphic, but here's a trick you can use. Make sure that your graphic appears the way you want it and then follow these steps:

- 1. Save your workbook.
- 2. Choose File 

  → Save As to save your workbook as a Web Page. In the Save As dialog box, select Web Page (\*.htm; \*.html) from the Save as Type drop-down list.
- 3. Close the workbook.
- 4. Use Windows Explorer to locate the HTML file you saved in Step 2. You'll notice that Excel also created a companion directory for the HTML file. If you save the file as myart.htm, the directory will be named myart\_files.
- 5. Open the directory, and you'll find \*.png graphic files one for each graphic object in your workbook. The \*.png files have a transparent background.

### FIGURE 22.6

A Shape, before and after editing its points.



# **Using SmartArt**

Excel's Shapes are certainly impressive, but the SmartArt feature is downright amazing. Using SmartArt, you can insert a wide variety of highly customizable diagrams into a worksheet, and you can change the overall look of the diagram with a few mouse clicks. This feature was introduced in Office 2007, and is probably more useful for PowerPoint users. But many Excel users will be able to make good use of SmartArt.

# **Inserting SmartArt**

To insert SmartArt into a worksheet, choose Insert ⇔ SmartArt. Excel displays the dialog box shown in Figure 22.7. The diagrams are arranged in categories along the left. When you find one

that looks appropriate, click it for a larger view in the panel on the right, which also provides some usage tips. Then click OK to insert the graphic.

### Note

Don't be concerned about the number of elements contained in the SmartArt graphics. You can customize the SmartArt to display the number of elements you need. ■

FIGURE 22.7

Inserting a SmartArt graphic.



Figure 22.8 shows a SmartArt diagram after I customized it and added text. When you insert or select a SmartArt diagram, Excel displays its SmartArt Tools contextual tab, which provides many customization options.

### FIGURE 22.8

This SmartArt shows a simple organizational chart.



# **Customizing SmartArt**

Figure 22.9 shows a SmartArt graphic (named Vertical Equation, from the Process category) immediately after I inserted it into a worksheet. The Type Your Text Here window makes it very easy to enter text into the elements of the image. If you prefer, you can click one of the [Text] areas in the image and type the text directly.

### FIGURE 22.9

This SmartArt needs to be customized.



Figure 22.10 shows the SmartArt after I added some text.

This particular diagram depicts two items combining into a third item. Suppose that your boss sees this graphic and tells you that you need a third item: Advanced Technology. To add an element to the SmartArt graphic, just select an item and choose SmartArt Tools ↔ Design ↔ Create Graphic ↔ Add Shape. Or you can just select an item and press Enter. Figure 22.11 shows the modified SmartArt.

### FIGURE 22.10

The SmartArt now has text.

1	A 9 C	D	£	-F	G	Н	1	1	K	L
2	Type your lead here	51					100			
2 4 5 8 7	<ul> <li>Trainad Prepagaan</li> <li>Escallert Protects</li> <li>Traccedul Company</li> </ul>			tur Graphs	:1					
9 50				- 1	-	•	Su	ucces omp	sful any	
12 12 13 14				facal Produ	872 CT					
15 18 17	Vertical Equation	_					-			

### FIGURE 22.11

The SmartArt, after adding a new element.



When working with SmartArt, keep in mind that you can move, resize, or format individually any element within the graphic. Select the element and then use the tools on the SmartArt Tools  $\Rightarrow$  Format tab.

# Changing the layout

You can easily change the layout of a SmartArt diagram. Select the object and then choose SmartArt Tools ➡ Design ➡ Layouts. Any text that you've entered remains intact. Figure 22.12 shows a few alternate layouts for the previous example.

# Changing the style

After you decide on a layout, you may want to consider other styles or colors available in the SmartArt Tools ➡ Design ➡ SmartArt Styles group. Figure 22.13 shows the diagram after I chose a different style and changed the colors.

# Tip

SmartArt styles available vary depending upon the document theme assigned to the workbook. To change a workbook's theme, choose Page Layout ⇔ Themes ⇔ Themes. Switching to a different theme can have a dramatic impact on the appearance of SmartArt diagrams. ■

### FIGURE 22.12

A few different layouts for the SmartArt.



### FIGURE 22.13

A few mouse clicks changed the style of this diagram.



# Learning more about SmartArt

This section provided a basic introduction to SmartArt. The topic is complex enough to warrant an entire book, but I recommend simply experimenting with the commands.

# **Using WordArt**

WordArt is available in previous versions of Excel, but this feature got a well-needed facelift in Excel 2007. You can use WordArt to create graphical effects in text. Figure 22.14 shows a few examples of WordArt.

To insert a WordArt graphic on a worksheet, choose Insert  $\Rightarrow$  WordArt and then select a style from the gallery. Excel inserts an object with the placeholder text Your text here. Replace that text with your own, resize it, and apply other formatting if you like.

When you select a WordArt image, Excel displays its Drawing Tools contextual menu. Use the controls to vary the look of your WordArt.

### Note

The controls in the Drawing Tools ⇔ Format ⇔ Shape Styles group operate on the Shape that contains the text — not the text. To apply text formatting, use the controls in the Drawing Tools ⇔ Format ⇔ WordArt Styles group. You can also use some of the standard formatting controls on the Home tab or the Mini toolbar. In addition, right-click the WordArt and choose Format Text Effects for more formatting options. ■

### FIGURE 22.14

WordArt examples.

WORDaR	Texamples
Microsoft Excel	FACEL ADIO BIBLE
Excel 2010 Bible	Endraft Variance
Microsoft Excel	Report
Audit Cummons	Microsoft Excel
Audit Summary	
## Working with Other Graphic Types

Excel can import a wide variety of graphics into a worksheet. You have several choices:

- Use the Clip Art task pane to locate and insert an image.
- Import a graphic file directly.
- Copy and paste an image using the Windows Clipboard.

## About graphics files

Graphics files come in two main categories: bitmap and vector (picture).

- **Bitmap images** are made up of discrete dots. They usually look pretty good at their original size, but often lose clarity if you increase the size. Examples of common bitmap file formats include BMP, PNG, JPEG, TIFF, and GIF.
- Vector-based images, on the other hand, are comprised of points and paths that are represented by mathematical equations, so they retain their crispness regardless of their size. Examples of common vector file formats include CGM, WMF, and EPS.

You can find hundreds of thousands of graphics files free for the taking on the Internet. Be aware, however, that some graphic files have copyright restrictions.

#### Caution

Using bitmap graphics in a worksheet can dramatically increase the size of your workbook, resulting in more memory usage and longer load and save times. ■

## Using the Clip Art task pane

*Clip art* refers to pre-made images (as opposed to custom image) that are used to illustrate just about any medium. The term originated back in the days when images were actually clipped from books and reused in new print projects. Nowadays, clip art is almost always in electronic form.

## Want a Great Graphics File Viewer?\_

Many users are content to use the graphics file-viewing capabilities built into Windows. If you do a lot of work with graphics files, though, you owe it to yourself to get a *real* file-viewing program.

Many graphics viewers are available, but one of the best products in its class is IrfanView. It enables you to view just about any graphics file you can find, and it has features and options that will satisfy even hard-core graphics mavens. Best of all, it's free. To download a copy, visit www.irfanview.com.

Microsoft Office includes lots of clip art images, and you access them via the Clip Art task pane. This task pane provides an easy way to locate and insert images into a worksheet.

#### Note

The Clip Art task pane also allows you to insert sound and video files, and gives you direct access to the Microsoft Design Gallery Live on the Web. ■

Display the Clip Art task pane by choosing Insert ⇔ Clip Art. You can search for clip art by using the controls at the top of the task pane. Figure 22.15 shows the task pane, along with the thumbnail images resulting from a search for "people". To insert an image into the active worksheet, just double-click the thumbnail. For additional options, right-click the thumbnail image.

#### FIGURE 22.15

Use the Clip Art task pane to search for clip art and other multimedia files.

THE OWNER OF THE OWNER OWNER OF THE OWNER OWNE	Disp-lant taught for	+ /
	profit	
455	search ro	121
	The addresses	151
	Technologies Re book	
2000	/	
1		
	5.96	2
		.8.
	0.0	
		-
	S Carrow day.	
	CO LA LA COLT DOM	

If you can't find a suitable image, go online and browse through the extensive clip art at the Microsoft Clip Gallery Live Web site. Click the Find More at Office.com link (at the bottom of the task pane), and your Web browser will be activated, at which point you can view the images (or listen to the sounds) and add those you want to your Clip Organizer.

## **Inserting graphics files**

If the graphic image that you want to insert is available in a file, you can easily import the file into your worksheet. Choose Insert 🗘 Picture. Excel displays its Insert Picture dialog box, from which you can browse for the file.

When you insert a picture on a worksheet, you can modify the picture in a number of ways from the Picture Tools  $\Rightarrow$  Format contextual tab, which becomes available when you select a picture object. For example, you can adjust the color, contrast, and brightness. In addition, you can add borders, shadows, reflections, and so on — similar to the operations available for Shapes.

And don't overlook the Picture Tools ↔ Format ↔ Picture Styles group. These commands can transform your image in some very interesting ways. Figure 22.16 shows various styles for a picture.

#### FIGURE 22.16

Displaying a picture in a number of different styles.



#### **New Feature**

A new feature in Office 2010 is Artistic Effects. This command can apply a number of Photoshop-like effects to an image. To access this feature, right-click and image and choose Format Picture. Then, in the Format Picture dialog box, choose Artistic Effects. Each effect is somewhat customizable, so if you're not happy with the default effect, try adjusting some options.

You might be surprised by some of the image enhancements that are available. The best way to learn this feature is to dig in and experiment. Even if you have no need for image enhancement, you might find that it's a fun diversion when you need a break from working with numbers. ■

## **Inserting screenshots**

A new feature in Excel 2010 allows you to insert an image of any program currently running on your computer. To use the new screenshot feature

- 1. Make sure that the window you want to use displays the content that you want.
- **2.** Choose Insert ⇔ Illustrations ⇔ Shapes. You'll see a gallery that contains thumbnails of all windows open on your computer.
- 3. Click the image you want. Excel inserts it into your worksheet.

When the image is selected, you can use any of the normal picture tools.

## Taking Pictures of Ranges\_

One of Excel's best-kept secrets is its ability to copy and paste "live" pictures of cells and charts. You can copy a cell or range and then paste a picture (as an object) of the cell or range on any worksheet or chart. If you change the contents of a cell that's in a picture, the picture changes. The accompanying image shows a picture of a range after applying some picture effects.

10	A		c	Ð	E	- E # 1
£.						
2		8	First-Half Sal	es By Region		
1		-	Region 1	Region 2	Total	
4		January	98,203	145,983	244,185	
5		February	100,207	147,555	247,762	
6		March	104,726	140,221	250, 947	
7		April	102,329	148,868	251,197	
8		May	106,384	147,324	253,628	
9		June	111,249	148,131	259.340	
2			First-H	alf Entre		
		( 1000) ( America	Regts	HI DATES BY R	egion	
R.		Falle	isary i	NL203 34	Te Te	fail
16 7		Adamit Adamit Adam	6 10 10 10	4,225 14 4,225 14 2,329 14 6,304 14	2.555 U.221 U.868 7.324	564,386 547,262 563,967 553,497
3				14	LUII I	15/9, 3800
6						
23						

To "take a picture" of a range

- 1. Select the range.
- 2. Press Ctrl+C to copy the range.
- 3. Activate another cell.

The result is a live picture of the range you selected in Step 1.

If you use this feature frequently, you can save some time by adding the Excel Camera tool to your Quick access toolbar:

- 1. Right-click the Quick Access toolbar and choose Customize Quick Access Toolbar from the shortcut menu that appears.
- 2. On the Customization tab of the Excel Options dialog box, select Command Not in the Ribbon from the drop-down list on the left.
- 3. Select Camera from the list and click Add.
- 4. Click OK to close the Excel Options dialog box.

After you add the Camera tool to your Quick Access toolbar, you can select a range of cells and click the Camera tool to take a "picture" of the range. Then click in the worksheet, and Excel places a live picture of the selected range on the worksheet's draw layer. If you make changes to the original ranges, the changes are shown in the picture of the range.

#### Note

Keep in mind that the image is static. If the program from which it was taken updates its window, the image in your worksheet will not change. ■

In many cases, you don't want the entire window — just a portion of it. The solution is to crop the inserted screenshot by choosing Picture Tools 🕫 Format 🕫 Size 🕫 Crop. This command adds cropping marks to the corners of the image. Just drag the cropping marks to crop the image.

## Displaying a worksheet background image

If you want to use a graphics image for a worksheet's background (similar to wallpaper on the Windows desktop), choose Page Layout I Page Setup Page Setup Record and select a graphics file. The selected graphics file is tiled on the worksheet. Unfortunately, worksheet background images are for onscreen display only. These images do not appear when the worksheet is printed.

## **Using the Equation Editor**

#### **New Feature**

The final topic in this chapter deals with the new Equation Editor. Use this feature to insert a nicely formatted mathematical equation as a graphic object. ■

Figure 22.17 shows an example of an equation in a worksheet. Keep in mind that these equations do not perform calculations: They are for display purposes only.

#### **FIGURE 22.17**

An equation created by the new Equation Editor.

1	A.	C	D	E	F.	-6
1						
2			/15			
з		1	$b \pm \sqrt{D^2}$	- 4ac		
4		1	Za			
5						
3						

The best way to become familiar with the Equation Editor is to insert one of the pre-made equations. Choose Insert  $\Rightarrow$  Symbols  $\Rightarrow$  Equation, and choose one of equations from the gallery. The equation is inserted in your worksheet.

When you select an Equation object, you have access to two contextual tabs:

- Drawing Tools: Used to format the container object
- Equation Tools: Used to edit the equation

The Equation Tools ➡ Design tab contains three groups of controls:

- **Tools:** Used to insert a new equation, or control how the equation is displayed. Click the dialog box launcher in the bottom-right corner of the Tools group to display the Equation Options dialog box, where you can specify how the equation is copied and also define keyboard shortcuts (click Math AutoCorrect).
- **Symbols:** Contains common mathematical symbols and operators that you can use in your equations.
- Structures: Contains templates for various structures that are used in equations.

Describing how to use the Equation tools is more difficult than actually using them. Generally, you add a structure, and then edit the various parts by adding text or symbols. You can put structures inside of structures, and there is no limit to the complexity of the equations. It might be a bit tricky at first, but it doesn't take long before you understand how it works.

Figure 22.18 shows two equations that illustrate an old calculus joke.

#### FIGURE 22.18

Two Equation objects on a worksheet.



# Part IV

# Using Advanced Excel Features

number of Excel features can probably be fairly called "advanced" features if for no better reason than the ways in which they expand the definitions of what a spreadsheet program can do. The chapters in this part cover some useful features that you may not have used in the past but may find very valuable.

#### **IN THIS PART**

**Chapter 23** Customizing the Excel User Interface

**Chapter 24** Using Custom Number Formats

**Chapter 25** Using Data Validation

**Chapter 26** Creating and Using Worksheet Outlines

**Chapter 27** Linking and Consolidating Worksheets

**Chapter 28** Excel and the Internet

**Chapter 29** Sharing Data with Other Office Applications

**Chapter 30** Using Excel in a Workgroup

**Chapter 31** Protecting Your Work

**Chapter 32** Making Your Worksheets Error-Free

## CHAPTER



## **Customizing the Excel User Interface**

software program's *user interface* consists of all the ways that the user interacts with the software. In Excel, the user interface consists of

- The Ribbon
- The Quick Access toolbar
- Right-click shortcut menus
- Keyboard shortcuts

This chapter describes how to make changes to two Excel user interface components: the Ribbon and the Quick Access toolbar. You might want to customize these elements to make Excel more suited to the way you use it.

## Customizing the Quick Access Toolbar

The Quick Access toolbar is always visible, regardless of which Ribbon tab is selected. After you customize the Quick Access toolbar, your frequently used commands will always be one click away.

## Note

The only situation in which the Quick Access toolbar is not visible is in Full Screen mode, which is enabled by choosing View ⇔ Workbook Views ⇔ Full Screen. To cancel Full Screen mode, right-click any cell and choose Close Full Screen, or just press Esc(ape). ■

## **IN THIS CHAPTER**

About the Quick Access toolbar

Adding frequently used commands to the Quick Access toolbar

Adding commands that are otherwise not available

## About the Quick Access toolbar

By default, the Quick Access toolbar is located on the left side of Excel title bar, above the Ribbon (see Figure 23.1). It includes three tools:

- Save: Saves the active workbook
- Undo: Reverses the effect of the last action
- Redo: Reverses the effect of the last undo

If you prefer, you can move the Quick Access toolbar below the Ribbon. To do so, right-click the Quick Access toolbar and choose Show Quick Access Toolbar below the Ribbon. Moving the Quick Access toolbar below the Ribbon uses additional vertical space on your screen. In other words, you'll be able to see one less row of your worksheet if you move the Quick Access Toolbar from its default location. Unlike traditional toolbars, the Quick Access Toolbar cannot be made free-floating so you can move it to a convenient location. It always appears either above or below the Ribbon.

#### FIGURE 23.1

The default location for the Quick Access toolbar is on the left side of the Excel title bar.

	<i>1</i> 9 - 0	≝ -   <del>-</del>				
File	Ho	me Inse	rt Pag	e Layout	Formulas	Data
-	∦ Cut		Calibri	*	11 · A /	, = =
Paste	l 🗎 Cop Sorr	y ▼ nat Painter	BI	<u>u</u> -   🖽	• <u>A</u> • <u>A</u>	• E =
	Clipboard	Gi Gi		Font		Fai
	M16	- (	n	f <sub>x</sub>		
	А	В	С	D	E	F
1						
2						

Commands on the Quick Access toolbar always appear as a small icon, with no text. When you hover your mouse pointer over an icon, you see the name of the command and a brief description.

Customizing the Quick Access toolbar consists of adding new commands to it. If you find that you use some Excel commands frequently, you can make these commands easily accessible by adding them to your Quick Access toolbar. You can also rearrange the order of the icons.

As far as I can tell, there is no limit to the number of commands that you can add. The Quick Access toolbar always displays only a single line of icons. If the number of icons exceeds the Excel window width, it displays an additional icon at the end: More Controls. Click the More Controls icon, and the hidden Quick Access toolbar icons appear in a pop-up window.

## Adding new commands to the Quick Access toolbar

You can add a new command to the Quick Access toolbar in three ways:

- Click the Quick Access toolbar drop-down control, which is located on the right side of the Quick Access toolbar (see Figure 23.2). The list contains a few commonly used commands. Select a command from the list, and Excel adds it to your Quick Access toolbar.
- Right-click any control on the Ribbon and choose Add to Quick Access Toolbar. The control is added to your Quick Access toolbar, after the last control.
- Use the Quick Access Toolbar tab in the Excel Options dialog box. A quick way to access this dialog box is to right-click any Ribbon control and choose Customize Quick Access Toolbar.

#### FIGURE 23.2

This drop-down list is one way to add a new command to the Quick Access toolbar.



The remainder of this section discusses the Quick Access Toolbar tab of the Excel Options dialog box, shown in Figure 23.3.

The left side of the dialog box displays a list of Excel commands, and the right side shows the commands currently on your Quick Access toolbar. Above the command list on the left is the Choose Commands From drop-down list from which you can filter the list. Select an item from the dropdown list, and the list displays only the commands for that item. In Figure 23.3, the list shows commands in the Popular Commands category.

#### FIGURE 23.3

Use the Quick Access Toolbar tab in the Excel Options dialog box to customize the Quick Access toolbar.

ormulas				
of manage	Choose commands from: ()		Customize Quick Access Toolbar: 🕕	
Proofing	Popular Commands	•	For all documents (default)	-
Save				
anguage	< Separator>	*	Save Save	
	Borders	>	🔊 Undo	F
dvanced	Calculate Now		C <sup>™</sup> Redo	►
untersite Dilatera	害 Center	E		
uscolinize Kibbon	👪 Conditional Formatting	>		
uick Access Toolbar	Connections			
	Copy			
vdd-Ins	👔 Create Chart			
rust Center	Custom Sort	Add	>>	-
	👗 Cut			
	Datasheet Formatting	<< <u>K</u> el	move	
	A Decrease Font Size			
	🔐 Delete Cells			
	₩ Delete Sheet Columns			
	Delete Sheet Rows			
	🕡 E-mail			
	S Fill Color	<b>b</b>		
	Y∎ Filter	-		
		-	Customizations: Reset •	
	Show Quick Access Toolbar below	the Ribbon	Import/Export	]

Some of the items in the drop-down list are

- **Popular Commands:** Displays commands that Excel users commonly use
- **Commands Not in the Ribbon:** Displays a list of commands that you cannot access from the Ribbon
- All Commands: Displays a complete list of Excel commands
- Macros: Displays a list of all available macros
- File Tab: Displays the commands available in the Backoffice menu
- Home Tab: Displays all commands available when the Home tab is active

In addition, the Choose Commands From drop-down list contains an item for every other tab. To add an item to your Quick Access toolbar, select it from the list on the left and then click Add. The command appears in the list on the right.

#### Tip

You can create a Quick Access toolbar configuration that's specific to a particular workbook. In other words, the commands on the Quick Access toolbar appear only when a particular workbook is active. Start by activating the workbook, and then display the Customize Quick Access Toolbar tab of the Excel Options dialog box. When you add a command to the Quick Access toolbar, use the drop-down list in the upper right to specify the workbook (only the active workbook is available as a choice). By default, customizations are For All Documents option.

Sometimes, you need to do some guessing to find a particular command. For example, the command that displays the recent file list is named Open Recent File, not Recent Files.

#### Note

Some commands simply aren't available. For example, I would like the Quick Access toolbar to display the command to toggle page break display on a worksheet. As far as I can tell, the only way to issue that command is to display the Advanced tab of the Excel Options dialog box, and then scroll down until you find the Show Page Breaks check box. ■

When you select Macros from the Choose Commands From drop-down, Excel lists all available macros. You can attach a macro to a Quick Access Toolbar icon so that when you click the icon, the macro is executed. If you add a macro to your Quick Access toolbar, you can click the Modify button to change the text and choose a different icon for the macro.

When you finish making your Quick Access Toolbar customizations, click OK to close the Excel Options dialog box. The new icon will appear on the Quick Access toolbar.

## Tip

The only times you ever need to use the Quick Access Toolbar tab in the Excel Options dialog box is when you want to add a command that's not on the Ribbon, add a command that executes a macro, or rearrange the order of the icons. In all other situations, it's much easier to locate the command in the Ribbon, right-click the command, and choose Add to Quick Access Toolbar.

## **Other Quick Access toolbar actions**

Other Quick Access toolbar actions include the following:

- **Rearranging the Quick Access toolbar icons:** If you want to change the order of your Quick Access toolbar icons, you can do so from the Quick Access Toolbar tab of the Excel Options dialog box. Select the command and then use the Up and Down arrow buttons on the right to move the icon.
- **Removing Quick Access toolbar icons:** The easiest way to remove an icon from your Quick Access toolbar is to right-click the icon and choose Remove from Quick Access Toolbar. You can also use the Quick Access Toolbar tab of the Excel Options dialog box. Just select the command in the list on the right and click Remove.
- **Resetting the Quick Access toolbar:** If you want to return the Quick Access toolbar to its default state, display the Quick Access Toolbar tab of the Excel Options dialog box and click the Reset button. Then choose Rest Only Quick Access Toolbar. All your customizations disappear, and the Quick Access toolbar then displays its three default commands.

#### Caution

You can't undo resetting the Quick Access toolbar. Also, restoring defaults also resets any Ribbon customizations that you made. ■

## Sharing User Interface Customizations.

In the Excel Options dialog box, the Quick Access Toolbar tab and the Customize Ribbon tab both have an Import/Export button. You can use this button to save and open files that contain user interface customizations. For example, you might create a new Ribbon tab and want to share it with your office mates.

Click the Import/Export button, and you get two options:

- **Import Customization File:** You are prompted to locate the file. Before you load a file, you are asked whether you want to replace all existing Ribbon and Quick Access toolbar customizations.
- Export All Customization: You are prompted to provide a filename and location for the file.

The information is stored in a file that has a \*.exportedUI extension. Unfortunately, importing and exporting is not implemented very well. Excel does not allow you to save or load only the Quick Access toolbar customization or only the Ribbon customizations. Both types of customizations are exported and imported. Therefore, you cannot share your Quick Access toolbar customization without also sharing your Ribbon customizations.

## **Customizing the Ribbon**

The Ribbon is Excel's primary user interface. It consists of tabs along the top. When you click a tab, it displays a set of commands, and the commands are arranged in groups.

#### **New Feature**

The Ribbon was introduced in Excel 2007, but it could not be customized. Excel 2010, however, makes it fairly easy to modify the Ribbon in a number of ways. ■

## Why customize the Ribbon?

Most users will have no need to customize the Ribbon. If you find that you tend to use the same command over and over, though — and you are constantly clicking tabs to access these commands — then you might benefit for customizing the Ribbon in such a way that the commands you need are on the same tab.

## What can be customized

You can customize the Ribbon in these ways:

- Tabs
  - Add a new custom tab.
  - Delete custom tabs.

- Add a new group to tab.
- Change the order of the tabs.
- Change the name of a tab.
- Hide built-in tabs.
- Groups
  - Add new custom groups.
  - Add commands to a custom group.
  - Remove commands from custom groups.
  - Remove groups from a tab.
  - Move a group to a different tab.
  - Change the order of the groups within a tab.
  - Change the name of a group.

#### Note

To restore all or part of the Ribbon to its default state, use the Reset button on the Customize Ribbon tab of the Excel Options dialog box. Click this button to display two options: Reset Only Selected Ribbon Tab, and Rest All Customizations. If you choose the latter, you will also lose any Quick Access toolbar customizations that you made. ■

That's a fairly comprehensive list of customization options, but there are some actions that you *cannot* do:

- Remove built-in tabs but you *can* hide them.
- Remove commands from built-in groups.
- Change the order of commands in a built-in group.

#### Note

Unfortunately, you cannot customize the Ribbon (or Quick Access toolbar) by using VBA macros. However, developers can write RibbonX code and store it in workbook files. When the file is open, the Ribbon is modified to display new commands. Writing RibbonX is relatively complicated, and beyond the scope of this book.

## How to customize the Ribbon

Customizing the Ribbon is done via the Customize Ribbon panel of the Excel Options dialog box (see Figure 23.4). The quickest way to display this dialog box is to right-click anywhere on the Ribbon, and choose Customize The Ribbon.

#### FIGURE 23.4

The Customize Ribbon tab of the Excel Options dialog box.



Customizing the Ribbon is very similar to customizing the Quick Access toolbar, which I describe earlier in this chapter. The only difference is that you need to decide where to put the command within the Ribbon. The general procedure is

- **1.** Use the Choose Command From drop-down list on the left to display various groups of commands.
- 2. Locate the command in the list box on the left, and select it.
- **3.** Use the Customize the Ribbon drop-down list on the right to choose a group of tabs. *Main Tabs* refer to the tabs that are always visible; *Tool Tabs* refer to the contextual tabs that appear when a particular object is selected.
- **4.** In the list box on the right, select the tab and the group where you would like to put the command. You'll need to click the plus-sign control to expand the tab name so that it displays its group names.
- **5.** Click the Add button to add the selected command from the left to the selected group on the right.

Use the New Tab button to create a new tab, and the New Group button to create a new group within a tab. New tabs and groups are given generic names, so you'll probably want to give them more meaningful names. Use the Rename button to rename the selected tab or group. You can also rename built-in tabs and groups.

To rearrange the order of tabs, groups, or commands, select the item and use the Move Up and Move Down buttons on the right. Note that you can move a group into a different tab.

#### Note

#### Although you cannot remove a built-in tab, you can hide the tab by clearing the check box next to its name.

Figure 23.5 shows a part of a customized Ribbon. In this case, I added two groups to the View tab (to the right of the Zoom group): Extra Commands (with four new commands), and Text to Speech (with two new commands).

#### FIGURE 23.5

The View tab, with two new groups added.

ev	iew	View							
	R	100		:	¢,	0	È	9	9
	Zoom	100%	Zoom to Selection	Excel Options	Add-Ins	Document Panel	Web Page Preview	Speak Cells	Stop Speaking
		Zoom			Extra	Commands		Text Te	o Speech

## CHAPTER

## **Using Custom Number Formats**

hen you enter a number into a cell, you can display that number in a variety of different formats. Excel has quite a few built-in number formats, but you may find that none of them suit your needs.

This chapter describes how to create custom number formats and provides many examples that you can use as-is, or adapt to your needs.

## **About Number Formatting**

By default, all cells use the General number format. This format is basically "what you type is what you get." But if the cell isn't wide enough to show the entire number, the General format rounds numbers with decimals and uses scientific notation for large numbers. In many cases, the General number format works just fine, but most people prefer to specify a different number format for consistency.

The key thing to remember about number formatting is that it affects only how a value is *displayed*. The actual number remains intact, and any formulas that use a formatted number use the actual number.

#### Note

An exception to this rule occurs if you specify the Set Precision as Displayed option on the Advanced tab in the Excel Options dialog box. If that option is in effect, formulas use the values that are actually displayed in the cells. In general, using this option is not a good idea because it changes the underlying values in your worksheet. ■

## **IN THIS CHAPTER**

An overview of custom number formatting

How to create a custom number format

A list of all custom number format codes

Examples of custom number formats

One more thing to keep in mind: If you use the Find and Replace dialog box (Home ↔ Editing ↔ Find & Select ↔ Find), characters that are displayed as a result of number formatting (for example, a currency symbol) are not searchable by default. To be able to locate information based on formatting, use the Search In Value option in the Find and Replace dialog box.

## Automatic number formatting

Excel is smart enough to perform some formatting for you automatically. For example, if you enter **12.3%** into a cell, Excel assumes that you want to use a percentage format and applies it automatically. If you use commas to separate thousands (such as 123,456), Excel applies comma formatting for you. And if you precede your value with a currency symbol, Excel formats the cell for currency.

#### Note

You have an option when it comes to entering values into cells formatted as percentages. Access the Excel Options and click the Advanced tab. If the Enable Automatic Percent Entry check box is selected (the default setting), you can simply enter a normal value into a cell that has been formatted to display as a percent (for example, enter 12.5 for 12.5%). If this check box isn't selected, you must enter the value as a decimal (for example, .125 for 12.5%). ■

Excel automatically applies a built-in number format to a cell based on the following criteria:

- If a number contains a slash (/), it may be converted to a date format or a fraction format.
- If a number contains a hyphen (-), it may be converted to a date format.
- If a number contains a colon (:) or is followed by a space and the letter *A* or *P*, it may be converted to a time format.
- If a number contains the letter *E* (uppercase or lowercase), it may be converted to scientific notation or exponential format.

#### Tip

To avoid automatic number formatting when you enter a value, preformat the cell with the desired number format or precede your entry with an apostrophe. (The apostrophe makes the entry text, so number formatting is not applied to the cell.) ■

## Formatting numbers by using the Ribbon

The Number group on the Home tab of the Ribbon contains several controls for applying common number formats quickly. The Number Format drop-down control gives you quick access to 11 common number formats. In addition, the Number group contains some buttons. When you click one of these buttons, the selected cells take on the specified number format. Table 24.1 summarizes the formats that these buttons perform in the U.S. English version of Excel.

#### Note

Some of these buttons actually apply predefined styles to the selected cells. Access Excel's styles by using the Style gallery, in the Styles group on the Home tab. ■

#### **TABLE 24.1**

Number-romatting buttons on the Ribbon			
Button Name	Formatting Applied		
Accounting Number Format	Adds a dollar sign to the left, separates thousands with a comma, and displays the value with two digits to the right of the decimal point. This is a drop-down control, so you can select other common currency symbols.		
Percent Style	Displays the value as a percentage, with no decimal places.		
Comma Style	Separates thousands with a comma and displays the value with two digits to the right of the decimal place. It's like the Accounting number format, but without the currency symbol.		
Increase Decimal	Increases the number of digits to the right of the decimal point by one.		
Decrease Decimal	Decreases the number of digits to the right of the decimal point by one.		

#### Number-Formatting Buttons on the Ribbon

## Using shortcut keys to format numbers

Another way to apply number formatting is to use shortcut keys. Table 24.2 summarizes the shortcut key combinations that you can use to apply common number formatting to the selected cells or range. Notice that these are the shifted versions of the number keys along the top of a typical keyboard.

	Number Formatting Reyboard Shorteats
Key Combination	Formatting Applied
Ctrl+Shift+~	General number format (that is, unformatted values).
Ctrl+Shift+!	Two decimal places, thousands separator, and a hyphen for negative values.
Ctrl+Shift+@	Time format with the hour, minute, and AM or PM.
Ctrl+Shift+#	Date format with the day, month, and year.
Ctrl+Shift+\$	Currency format with two decimal places. (Negative numbers appear in parentheses.)
Ctrl+Shift+%	Percentage format with no decimal places.
Ctrl+Shift+^	Scientific notation number format with two decimal places.

Number-Formatting Keyboard Shortcuts

#### TABLE 24.2

## Using the Format Cells dialog box to format numbers

For maximum control of number formatting, use the Number tab in the Format Cells dialog box. You can access this dialog box in any of several ways:

- Click the dialog box launcher at the bottom right of the Home ➡ Number group.
- Choose Home ➡ Number ➡ Number Format ➡ More Number Formats.
- Press Ctrl+1.

The Number tab in the Format Cells dialog box contains 12 categories of number formats from which to choose. When you select a category from the list box, the right side of the dialog box changes to display appropriate options.

Here are the number-format categories, along with some general comments:

- **General:** The default format; it displays numbers as integers, decimals, or in scientific notation if the value is too wide to fit into the cell.
- Number: Specify the number of decimal places, whether to use your system thousands separator (for example, a comma) to separate thousands, and how to display negative numbers.
- **Currency:** Specify the number of decimal places, choose a currency symbol, and display negative numbers. This format always uses the system thousands separator symbol (for example, a comma) to separate thousands.
- Accounting: Differs from the Currency format in that the currency symbols always line up vertically, regardless of the number of digits displayed in the value.
- Date: Choose from a variety of date formats and select the locale for your date formats.
- Time: Choose from a number of time formats and select the locale for your time formats.
- Percentage: Choose the number of decimal places; always displays a percent sign.
- Fraction: Choose from among nine fraction formats.
- Scientific: Displays numbers in exponential notation (with an E): 2.00E+05 = 200,000. You can choose the number of decimal places to display to the left of E.
- **Text:** When applied to a value, causes Excel to treat the value as text (even if it looks like a value). This feature is useful for such items as numerical part numbers and credit card numbers.
- **Special:** Contains additional number formats. The list varies, depending on the Locale you choose. For the English (United States) locale, the formatting options are Zip Code, Zip Code +4, Phone Number, and Social Security Number.
- Custom: Define custom number formats not included in any of the other categories.

#### Note

If the cell displays a series of hash marks after you apply a number format (such as ##########), it usually means that the column isn't wide enough to display the value by using the number format that you selected. Either make the column wider (by dragging the right border of the column header) or change the number format. A series of hash marks also can mean that the cell contains an invalid date or time.

## **Creating a Custom Number Format**

When you create a custom number format, it can be used to format any cells in the workbook. You can create as many custom number formats as you need.

Figure 24.1 shows the Custom category in the Number tab of the Format Cells dialog box. Here, you can create number formats not included in any of the other categories. Excel gives you a great deal of flexibility in creating custom number formats.

#### FIGURE 24.1

The Custom category of the Number tab in the Format Cells dialog box.

ormat Cel	ls						? 🗙
Number	Alignment	Font	Border	Fill	Protection		
<u>C</u> ategory General Number	:	Sampl	e				
Accounti Date Time	ng	<u>T</u> ype: Gener	al				
Percenta Fraction Scientific Text	ge	0 0.00 #,##	al D				
Special Custom	_	#,##  #,##  #,##  #,##  \$#,## \$#,##	0.00 0_);(#,##0 0_);[Red](# 0.00_);(#,# 0.00_);[Red #0_);(\$#,# #0_);[Red](	) ##0.00) i](#,##0.0 #0) [\$#,##0)	00)		-
		~				[	Delete
Type the	number forma	it code, usii	ng one of th	ne existing	codes as a sta	arting point.	
						ОК	Cancel

### Tip

Custom number formats are stored with the workbook in which they are defined. To make the custom format available in a different workbook, you can just copy a cell that uses the custom format to the other workbook. ■

You construct a number format by specifying a series of codes as a *number format string*. You enter this code sequence in the Type field after you select the Custom category on the Number tab of the Format Cells dialog box. Here's an example of a simple number format code:

0.000

This code consists of placeholders and a decimal point; it tells Excel to display the value with three digits to the right of the decimal place. Here's another example:

00000

This custom number format has five placeholders and displays the value with five digits (no decimal point). This format is good to use when the cell holds a five-digit zip code. (In fact, this is the code actually used by the Zip Code format in the Special category.) When you format the cell with this number format and then enter a Zip Code, such as 06604 (Bridgeport, CT), the value is displayed with the leading zero. If you enter this number into a cell with the General number format, it displays 6604 (no leading zero).

Scroll through the list of number formats in the Custom category in the Format Cells dialog box to see many more examples. In many cases, you can use one of these codes as a starting point, and you'll need to customize it only slightly.

#### On the CD

The companion CD-ROM contains a workbook with many custom number format examples (see Figure 24.2). The file is named number formats.xlsx.

## Changing the Default Number Format for a Workbook \_\_\_\_\_

As I mention earlier, the default number format is General. If you prefer a different default number format, you have two choices: Preformat the cells with the number format of your choice, or change the number format for the Normal style.

You can preformat specific cells, entire rows or columns, or even the entire worksheet.

Rather than preformat an entire worksheet, however, a better solution is to change the number format for the Normal style. Unless you specify otherwise, all cells use the Normal style. Therefore, by changing the number format for the Normal style you are essentially creating a new default number format for the workbook.

Change the Normal style by displaying the Style gallery. Right-click the Normal style icon (in the Home r⇒ Styles group) and choose Modify to display the Style dialog box. In the Style dialog box, click the Format button and then choose the new number format that you want to use for the Normal style.

#### FIGURE 24.2

Examples of custom number formatting.

	A	В	C	D
1		Custom Format	Cell Entry	How it Appears
2		U	sing text	
3		#,##0 "US Dollars"	1500	1,500 US Dollars
4		"Answer: "General	1500	Answer: 1500
5		"The amount is "#,##0" dollars"	1500	The amount is 1,500 dollars
6				
7		Scaling	arge numbers	
8		#,##0,	123456789	123,457
9		#,##0,	12345678912	12,345,679
10		#,##0,	1234	1
11				
12		Data	Validation	
13		0.00; "No negative values!"	123	123.00
14		0.00; "No negative values!"	-123	No negative values!
15		0.00; "No negative values!"	0	0.00
16				
17		Zero	with Dashes	
18		#,##0_);(#,##0);-0)	0	-0-
19		#,##0_);(#,##0);-0)	12.2	12
20		#,##0_);(#,##0);-0)	-12	(12)
21				
22		Teleph	one Numbers	
23		(***) ***-***	8005551212	(800) 555-1212
24		***"/"***-****	8005551212	800/555-1212
25				
26		Social Se	curity Numbers	
27		***-**-***	421897322	421-89-7322
28		SSN ###-##-####	421897322	SSN 421-89-7322
29				
30		Dat	e Formats	
31		mmmm-YYYY	8/12/2009	August-2009
32		mmmm d, yyyy	8/12/2009	August 12, 2009
33		dddd	8/12/2009	Wednesday
34		mmmm d, yyyy (dddd)	8/12/2009	August 12, 2009 (Wednesday)
35		"It's" dddd	8/12/2009	It's Wednesday
36				
37		Different col	lors and formatting	3
38	[	[Red][<1]0.0%;[Blue][>=1]#,##0;General	1	1
39	[	[Red][<1]0.0%;[Blue][>=1]#,##0;General	-1	-100.0%

## Parts of a number format string

A custom format string can have up to four sections, which enables you to specify different format codes for positive numbers, negative numbers, zero values, and text. You do so by separating the codes with a semicolon. The codes are arranged in the following order:

Positive format; Negative format; Zero format; Text format

If you don't use all four sections of a format string, Excel interprets the format string as follows:

- If you use only one section: The format string applies to all types of entries.
- If you use two sections: The first section applies to positive values and zeros, and the second section applies to negative values.
- If you use three sections: The first section applies to positive values, the second section applies to negative values, and the third section applies to zeros.
- If you use all four sections: The last section applies to text stored in the cell.

The following is an example of a custom number format that specifies a different format for each of these types:

[Green]General; [Red]General; [Black]General; [Blue]General

This custom number format example takes advantage of the fact that colors have special codes. A cell formatted with this custom number format displays its contents in a different color, depending on the value. When a cell is formatted with this custom number format, a positive number is green, a negative number is red, a zero is black, and text is blue.

#### **Cross-Reference**

TABLE 24.3

If you want to apply cell formatting automatically (such as text or background color) based on the cell's contents, a much better solution is to use the Excel Conditional Formatting feature. Chapter 20 covers conditional formatting.

## **Custom number format codes**

Table 24.3 lists the formatting codes available for custom formats, along with brief descriptions. I use most of these codes in examples later in this chapter.

	Codes Used to Create Custom Number Formats
Code	Comments
General	Displays the number in General format.
#	Digit placeholder. Displays only significant digits, and does not display insignificant zeros.
0 (zero)	Digit placeholder. Displays insignificant zeros if a number has fewer digits than there are zeros in the format.
?	Digit placeholder. Adds spaces for insignificant zeros on either side of the decimal point so that decimal points align when formatted with a fixed-width font. You can also use ? for fractions that have varying numbers of digits.
•	Decimal point.
00	Percentage.
,	Thousands separator.
E- E+ e- e+	Scientific notation.
\$-+/(): space	Displays this character.
\	Displays the next character in the format.
*	Repeats the next character, to fill the column width.
(underscore)	Leaves a space equal to the width of the next character.

#### **Codes Used to Create Custom Number Formats**

Code	Comments
"text"	Displays the text inside the double quotation marks.
Ø	Text placeholder.
[color]	Displays the characters in the color specified. Can be any of the following text strings (not case sensitive): Black, Blue, Cyan, Green, Magenta, Red, White, or Yellow.
[Color n]	Displays the corresponding color in the color palette, where n is a number from 0 to 56.
[condition value]	Set your own criterion for each section of a number format.

Table 24.4 lists the codes used to create custom formats for dates and times.

#### **TABLE 24.4**

## **Codes Used in Creating Custom Formats for Dates and Times**

Code	Comments
m	Displays the month as a number without leading zeros (1–12).
mm	Displays the month as a number with leading zeros (01–12).
mmm	Displays the month as an abbreviation (Jan–Dec).
mmmm	Displays the month as a full name (January–December).
mmmmm	Displays the first letter of the month (J–D).
d	Displays the day as a number without leading zeros (1–31).
dd	Displays the day as a number with leading zeros (01–31).
ddd	Displays the day as an abbreviation (Sun–Sat).
dddd	Displays the day as a full name (Sunday–Saturday).
уу ог уууу	Displays the year as a two-digit number (00–99) or as a four-digit number (1900–9999).
h or hh	Displays the hour as a number without leading zeros (0–23) or as a number with leading zeros (00–23).
m or mm	Displays the minute as a number without leading zeros (0–59) or as a number with leading zeros (00–59).
s or ss	Displays the second as a number without leading zeros (0–59) or as a number with leading zeros (00–59).
[]	Displays hours greater than 24 or minutes or seconds greater than 60.
AM/PM	Displays the hour using a 12-hour clock; if no AM/PM indicator is used, the hour uses a 24 hour clock.

## Where Did Those Number Formats Come From?

Excel may create custom number formats without you realizing it. When you use the Increase Decimal or Decrease Decimal button on the Home  $\Rightarrow$  Number group of the Ribbon (or on the Mini toolbar), Excel creates new custom number formats, which appear on the Number tab in the Format Cells dialog box. For example, if you click the Increase Decimal button five times, the following custom number formats are created:

0.0

0.0000

0.00000

A format string for two decimal places is not created because that format string is built-in.

## **Custom Number Format Examples**

The remainder of this chapter consists of useful examples of custom number formats. You can use most of these format codes as-is. Others may require slight modification to meet your needs.

## **Scaling values**

You can use a custom number format to scale a number. For example, if you work with very large numbers, you may want to display the numbers in thousands (that is, display 1,200,000 as 1,200). The actual number, of course, will be used in calculations that involve that cell. The formatting affects only how it is displayed.

#### Displaying values in thousands

The following format string displays values without the last three digits to the left of the decimal place and no decimal places. In other words, the value appears as if it's divided by 1,000 and rounded to no decimal places.

#,###,

A variation of this format string follows. A value with this number format appears as if it's divided by 1,000 and rounded to two decimal places.

#,###.00,

Table 24.5 shows examples of these number formats:

Examples of Displaying Values in Thousands				
Value	Number Format	Display		
123456	#,###,	123		
1234565	#,###,	1,235		
-323434	#,###,	-323		
123123.123	#,###,	123		
499	#,###,	(blank)		
500	#,###,	1		
123456	#,###.00,	123.46		
1234565	#,###.00,	1,234.57		
-323434	#,###.00,	-323.43		
123123.123	#,###.00,	123.12		
499	#,###.00,	.50		
500	#,###.00,	.50		

#### **TABLE 24.5**

#### **Displaying values in hundreds**

The following format string displays values in hundreds, with two decimal places. A value with this number format appears as if it's divided by 100 and rounded to two decimal places.

0"."00

Table 24.6 shows examples of these number formats:

#### TABLE 24.6

#### **Examples of Displaying Values in Hundreds**

Value	Number Format	Display
546	0"."00	5.46
100	0"."00	1.00
9890	0"."00	98.90
500	0"."00	5.00
-500	0"."00	-5.00
0	0"."00	0.00

#### **Displaying values in millions**

The following format string displays values in millions with no decimal places. A value with this number appears as if it's divided by 1,000,000 and rounded to no decimal places.

#,###,,

A variation of this format string follows. A value with this number appears as if it's divided by 1,000,000 and rounded to two decimal places.

#,###.00,,

Another variation follows. This adds the letter M to the end of the value.

#,###,,M

The following format string is a bit more complex. It adds the letter *M* to the end of the value — and also displays negative values in parentheses as well as displaying zeros.

#,###.0,,"M"\_);(#,###.0,,"M)";0.0"M"\_)

Table 24.7 shows examples of these format strings.

	Examples of Displaying Values	in Millions
Value	Number Format	Display
123456789	#,###,,	123
1.23457E+11	#,###,,	123,457
1000000	#,###,,	1
500000	#,###,,	5
-5000000	#,###,,	-5
0	#,###,,	(blank)
123456789	#,###.00,,	123.46
1.23457E+11	#,###.00,,	123,457.00
1000000	#,###.00,,	1.00
5000000	#,###.00,,	5.00
-5000000	#,###.00,,	-5.00
0	#,###.00,,	.00
123456789	#,###,,"M"	123M
1.23457E+11	#,###,,"M"	123,457M
1000000	#.###"M"	1M

#### **TABLE 24.7**

Value	Number Format	Display
5000000	#,###,,"M"	5M
-5000000	#,###,,"M"	-5M
0	#,###,,"M"	М
123456789	#,###.0,,"M"_);(#,###.0,,"M)";0.0"M"_)	123.5M
1.23457E+11	#,###.0,,"M"_);(#,###.0,,"M)";0.0"M"_)	123,456.8M
1000000	#,###.0,,"M"_);(#,###.0,,"M)";0.0"M"_)	1.0M
5000000	#,###.0,,"M"_);(#,###.0,,"M)";0.0"M"_)	5.0M
-5000000	#,###.0,,"M"_);(#,###.0,,"M)";0.0"M"_)	(5.0M)
0	#,###.0,,"M"_);(#,###.0,,"M)";0.0"M"_)	0.0M

#### Adding zeros to a value

The following format string displays a value with three additional zeros and no decimal places. A value with this number format appears as if it's rounded to no decimal places and then multiplied by 1,000.

#",000"

Examples of this format string, plus a variation that adds six zeros, are shown in Table 24.8.

#### **TABLE 24.8**

#### **Examples of Displaying a Value with Extra Zeros**

Value	Number Format	Display
1	#",000"	1,000
1.5	#",000"	2,000
43	#",000"	43,000
-54	#",000"	-54,000
5.5	#",000"	6,000
0.5	#",000,000"	1,000,000
0	#",000,000"	,000,000
1	#",000,000"	1,000,000
1.5	#",000,000"	2,000,000
43	#",000,000"	43,000,000
-54	#",000,000"	-54,000,000
5.5	#",000,000"	6,000,000
0.5	#",000,000"	1,000,000

## **Displaying leading zeros**

To display leading zeros, create a custom number format that uses the 0 character. For example, if you want all numbers to display with ten digits, use the number format string that follows. Values with fewer than ten digits will display with leading zeros.

000000000

You also can force all numbers to display with a fixed number of leading zeros. The format string that follows, for example, appends three zeros to the beginning of each number:

```
"000"#
```

In the following example, the format string uses the repeat character code (an asterisk) to apply enough leading zeros to fill the entire width of the cell:

\*00

## **Displaying fractions**

Excel supports quite a few built-in fraction number formats (select the Fraction category on the Number tab in the Format Cells dialog box). For example, to display the value .125 as a fraction with 8 as the denominator, select As Eighths (4/8) from the Type list (see Figure 24.3).

#### FIGURE 24.3

Selecting a number format to display a value as a fraction.

Number	Alignment	Font	Border	Fill	Protection		
Category: General Number Currency Accountin Date Time Percenta Fractor Scientific Text Special Custom	ig ge	Sampl 1/8 Type: Up to Up to Up to As had As que As sixt	e one digit (1 two digits ( three digits ves (1/2) arters (2/4) hths (4/8) teenths (8/	/4) 21/25) (312/943) 16)			
						ок	Cancel

### **Testing Custom Number Formats.**

When you create a custom number format, don't overlook the Sample box on the Number tab in the Format Cells dialog box. This box displays the value in the active cell using the format string in the Type box.

It's a good idea to test your custom number formats by using the following data: a positive value, a negative value, a zero value, and text. Often, creating a custom number format takes several attempts. Each time you edit a format string, it is added to the list. When you finally get the correct format string, access the Format Cells dialog box one more time and delete your previous attempts.

You can use a custom format string to create other fractional formats. For example, the following format string displays a value in 50ths:

# ??/50

To display the fraction reduced to its lowest terms, use a question mark after the slash symbol. For example, the value 0.125 can be expressed as 2/16, and 2/16 can be reduced to 1/8. Here's an example of a number format that displays the value as a fraction reduced to its simplest terms:

# ?/?

If you omit the leading hash symbol, the value is displayed without a leading value. For example, the value 2.5 would display as 5/2 using this number format code:

?/?

The following format string displays a value in terms of fractional dollars. For example, the value 154.87 is displayed as 154 and 87/100 Dollars.

0 "and "??/100 "Dollars"

The following example displays the value in sixteenths, with a quotation mark appended to the right. This format string is useful when you deal with fractions of inches (for example, 2/16").

# ??/16\"

## Displaying a negative sign on the right

The following format string displays negative values with the negative sign to the right of the number. Positive values have an additional space on the right, so both positive and negative numbers align properly on the right.

0.00\_-;0.00-

To make the negative numbers more prominent, you can add a color code to the negative part of the number format string:

0.00\_-;[Red]0.00-

### Formatting dates and times

When you enter a date into a cell, Excel formats the date using the system short date format. You can change this format by using the Windows Control Panel (Regional and Language Options).

Excel provides many useful, built-in dates and time formats. Table 24.9 shows some other date and time formats that you may find useful. The first column of the table shows the date/time serial number.

#### **TABLE 24.9**

## Useful Built-In Date and Time Formats

Value	Number Format	Display
40360	mmmm d, yyyy (dddd)	July 1, 2007 (Thursday)
40360	"It's" dddd!	It's Thursday!
40360	dddd, mm/dd/yyyy	Thursday, 07/01/2010
40360	"Month: "mmm	Month: July
40360	General (m/d/yyyy)	40360 (7/1/2010)
0.345	h "Hours"	8 Hours
0.345	h:mmo'clock	8:16 o'clock
0.345	h:mm a/p"m"	8:16 am
0.78	h:mma/p".m."	6:43 p.m.

#### **Cross-Reference**

See Chapter 13 for more information about the Excel date and time serial number system.

## **Displaying text with numbers**

The ability to display text with a value is one of the most useful benefits of using a custom number format. To add text, just create the number format string as usual (or use a built-in number format as a starting point) and put the text within quotation marks. The following number format string, for example, displays a value with the text (US Dollars) added to the end:

#,##0.00 "(US Dollars)"
# Using the TEXT Function to Format Numbers.

The TEXT function accepts a number format string as its second argument. For example, the following formula displays the contents of cell A1 using a custom number format that displays a fraction:

=TEXT(A1,"# ??/50")

However, not all formatting codes work when used in this manner. For example, colors and repeating characters are ignored. The following formula does not display the contents of cell A1 in red:

```
=TEXT(A1,"[Red]General")
```

Here's another example that displays text before the number:

"Average: "0.00

If you use the preceding number format, you'll find that the negative sign appears before the text for negative values. To display number signs properly, use this variation:

"Average: "0.00; "Average: "-0.00

The following format string displays a value with the words Dollars and Cents. For example, the number 123.45 displays as 123 Dollars and .45 Cents.

```
0 "Dollars and" .00 "Cents"
```

# Suppressing certain types of entries

You can use number formatting to hide certain types of entries. For example, the following format string displays text but not values:

;;

This format string displays values but not text or zeros:

0.0;-0.0;;

This format string displays everything except zeros:

0.0;-0.0;;@

You can use the following format string to completely hide the contents of a cell:

;;;

Note that when the cell is activated, however, the cell's contents are visible on the Formula bar.

# Filling a cell with a repeating character

The asterisk (\*) symbol specifies a repeating character in a number format string. The repeating character completely fills the cell and adjusts if the column width changes. The following format string, for example, displays the contents of a cell padded on the right with dashes:

```
General*-;-General*-;General*-;General*-
```

# Using Data Validation

his chapter explores a very useful Excel feature: data validation. Data validation enables you to add dynamic elements to your worksheet without using any macro programming.

# **About Data Validation**

The Excel *data validation* feature allows you to set up certain rules that dictate what can be entered into a cell. For example, you may want to limit data entry in a particular cell to whole numbers between 1 and 12. If the user makes an invalid entry, you can display a custom message, such as the one shown in Figure 25.1.

# **IN THIS CHAPTER**

**CHAPTER** 

An overview of Excel's data validation feature

Practical examples of using data validation formulas

#### FIGURE 25.1

Displaying a message when the user makes an invalid entry.

_
_
_
<u>×</u>

Excel makes it easy to specify the validation criteria, and you can also use a formula for more complex criteria.

#### Caution

The Excel data validation feature suffers from a potentially serious problem: If the user copies a cell that does not use data validation and pastes it to a cell that does use data validation, the data validation rules are deleted. In other words, the cell then accepts any type of data. ■

# **Specifying Validation Criteria**

To specify the type of data allowable in a cell or range, follow the steps below while you refer to Figure 25.2, which shows all three tabs of the Data Validation dialog box.

- 1. Select the cell or range.
- 2. Choose Data ⇔ Data Tools ⇔ Data Validation. Excel displays its Data Validation dialog box.
- 3. Click the Settings tab.
- **4.** Choose an option from the Allow drop-down list. The contents of the Data Validation dialog box will change, displaying controls based on your choice. To specify a formula, select Custom.

#### FIGURE 25.2

The three tabs of the Data Validation dialog box.

Data Validation	8 2
Settings Input Message Error Alert	
Validation criteria	
Whole number	Data Validation 🔋 💌
Data:	Settings Input Message Error Alert
Minimum	Show input message when cell is selected
1	
Maximum:	The
12	1.00
Apply these changes to all other cells with the same set	Input message:
<u>C</u> lear All	Enter a whole number between 1 and 12.
	•
Data Validation	? 🗻
Settings Input Message Error Alert	OK Cancel
Show error alert after invalid data is a	entered
When user enters invalid data, show this	error alert:
Style: <u>T</u> itle:	
Stop 💌 Inco	rrect Value
Error	message:
(no. (2)	must enter a whole number decinal places) between 1 and +
	OK Cancel

- **5. Specify the conditions by using the displayed controls.** Your selection in Step 4 determines what other controls you can access.
- 6. (Optional) Click the Input Message tab and specify which message to display when a user selects the cell. You can use this optional step to tell the user what type of data is expected. If this step is omitted, no message will appear when the user selects the cell.
- 7. (Optional) Click the Error Alert tab and specify which error message to display when a user makes an invalid entry. The selection for Style determines what choices users have when they make invalid entries. To prevent an invalid entry, choose Stop. If this step is omitted, a standard message will appear if the user makes an invalid entry.
- 8. Click OK. The cell or range contains the validation criteria you specified.

#### Caution

Even with data validation in effect, a user can enter invalid data. If the Style setting on the Error Alert tab of the Data Validation dialog box is set to anything except Stop, invalid data *can* be entered. Also, remember that data validation does not apply to the calculated results of formulas. In other words, if the cell contains a formula, applying conditional formatting to that cell will have no effect.

# **Types of Validation Criteria You Can Apply**

From the Settings tab of the Data Validation dialog box, you can specify a wide variety of data validation criteria. The following options are available from the Allow drop-down list. Keep in mind that the other controls on the Settings tab vary, depending on your choice from the Allow dropdown list.

- Any Value: Selecting this option removes any existing data validation. Note, however, that the input message, if any, still displays if the check box is checked on the Input Message tab.
- Whole Number: The user must enter a whole number. You specify a valid range of whole numbers by using the Data drop-down list. For example, you can specify that the entry must be a whole number greater than or equal to 100.
- **Decimal:** The user must enter a number. You specify a valid range of numbers by refining the criteria from choices in the Data drop-down list. For example, you can specify that the entry must be greater than or equal to 0 and less than or equal to 1.
- List: The user must choose from a list of entries you provide. This option is very useful, and I discuss it in detail later in this chapter. (See "Creating a drop-down list.").
- **Date:** The user must enter a date. You specify a valid date range from choices in the Data drop-down list. For example, you can specify that the entered data must be greater than or equal to January 1, 2010, and less than or equal to December 31, 2010.
- **Time:** The user must enter a time. You specify a valid time range from choices in the Data drop-down list. For example, you can specify that the entered data must be later than 12:00 p.m.

- **Text Length:** The length of the data (number of characters) is limited. You specify a valid length by using the Data drop-down list. For example, you can specify that the length of the entered data be 1 (a single alphanumeric character).
- **Custom:** To use this option, you must supply a logical formula that determines the validity of the user's entry (a logical formula returns either TRUE or FALSE). You can enter the formula directly into the Formula control (which appears when you select the Custom option), or you can specify a cell reference that contains a formula. This chapter contains examples of useful formulas.

The Settings tab of the Data Validation dialog box contains two other check boxes:

- Ignore Blank: If selected, blank entries are allowed.
- Apply These Changes to All Other Cells with the Same Setting: If selected, the changes you make apply to all other cells that contain the original data validation criteria.

# Tip

The Data ⇔ Data Tools ⇔ Data Validation drop-down list contains an item named Circle Invalid Data. When you select this item, circles appear around cells that contain incorrect entries. If you correct an invalid entry, the circle disappears. To get rid of the circles, choose Data ⇔ Data Tools ⇔ Data Validation ⇔ Clear Validation Circles. In Figure 25.3, invalid entries are defined as values that are greater than 100.

#### FIGURE 25.3

Excel can draw circles around invalid entries (in this case, cells that contain values greater than 100).

	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	
1	11	26	67	26	67	24	93	
2	52	63	72	17	38	104	105	>
3	105	) 11	25	51	98	90	83	
4	89	97	33	95	14	18	101	>
5	69	102	36	94	13	87	94	
6	42	95	67	94	26	85	99	
7	84	14	48	4	23	97	48	
8	18	17	1	64	49	47	15	
9	97	49	61	35	57	99	9	
10	56	37	96	6	81	92	8	
11	82	18	26	54	8	73	50	
12	10	77	68	67	13	59	60	
13	31	65	19	24	82	14	4	
14	29	58	24	3	68	86	50	
15	68	46	74	24	38	80	104	>
16	102	) 43	26	78	78	36	94	
17	15	20	45	49	40	12	89	
18	16	88	49	87	74	63	72	
19	28	58	31	5	69	104	) 45	
20	7	80	76	78	25	19	7	
21	67	86	46	32	15	35	102	>
22	84	55	30	44	9	44	89	
23	82	48	90	43	82	22	19	

# **Creating a Drop-Down List**

Perhaps one of the most common uses of data validation is to create a drop-down list in a cell. Figure 25.4 shows an example that uses the month names in A1:A12 as the list source.

#### FIGURE 25.4

This drop-down list (with an Input Message) was created using data validation.

4	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	Н	
1	January								
2	February								
3	March								
4	April		Month:	October	<ul> <li>Montl</li> </ul>	h			
5	May			May	<ul> <li>Specif</li> <li>mont</li> </ul>	y the first			
6	June			July	report	ing period.			
7	July			August					
8	August			October	-				
9	September			November R	*				
10	October			December					
11	November								
12	December								
13									
14									

To create a drop-down list in a cell

- **1.** Enter the list items into a single-row or single-column range. These items will appear in the drop-down list.
- 2. Select the cell that will contain the drop-down list and then access the Data Validation dialog box (choose Data ↔ Data Tools ↔ Data Validation).
- **3.** From the Settings tab, select the List option (from the Allow drop-down list) and specify the range that contains the list, using the Source control.
- 4. Make sure that the In-Cell Dropdown check box is selected.
- 5. Set any other Data Validation options as desired.
- **6.** Click OK. The cell displays an input message (if specified) and a drop-down arrow when it's activated. Click the arrow and choose an item from the list that appears.

## Tip

If you have a short list, you can enter the items directly into the Source control of the Settings tab of the Data Validation dialog box. (This control appears when you choose the List option in the Allow drop-down list.) Just separate each item with list separators specified in your regional settings (a comma if you use the U.S. regional settings).

#### New

In previous versions of Excel the range that contains the list must be on the same worksheet as the cell that contains the data validation. That restriction was removed in Excel 2010. The list range can be on any worksheet in the workbook.

# **Using Formulas for Data Validation Rules**

For simple data validation, the data validation feature is quite straightforward and easy to use. The real power of this feature, though, becomes apparent when you use data validation formulas.

# Note

The formula that you specify must be a logical formula that returns either TRUE or FALSE. If the formula evaluates to TRUE, the data is considered valid and remains in the cell. If the formula evaluates to FALSE, a message box appears that displays the message that you specify on the Error Alert tab of the Data Validation dialog box. Specify a formula in the Data Validation dialog box by selecting the Custom option from the Allow drop-down list of the Settings tab. Enter the formula directly into the Formula control, or enter a reference to a cell that contains a formula. The Formula control appears on the Setting tab of the Data Validation dialog box when the Custom option is selected.

I have several examples of formulas used for data validation in the upcoming section "Data Validation Examples."

# **Understanding Cell References**

If the formula that you enter into the Data Validation dialog box contains a cell reference, that reference is considered a *relative reference*, based on the upper-left cell in the selected range.

The following example clarifies this concept. Suppose that you want to allow only an odd number to be entered into the range B2:B10. None of the Excel data validation rules can limit entry to odd numbers, so a formula is required.

Follow these steps:

- 1. Select the range (B2:B10 for this example) and ensure that cell B2 is the active cell.
- 2. Choose Data 🕏 Data Tools 🕏 Data Validation. The Data Validation dialog box appears.
- 3. Click the Settings tab and select Custom from the Allow drop-down list.
- 4. Enter the following formula in the Formula field, as shown in Figure 25.5:

=ISODD(B2)

This formula uses the ISODD function, which returns TRUE if its numeric argument is an odd number. Notice that the formula refers to the active cell, which is cell B2.

- **5.** On the Error Alert tab, choose Stop for the Style and then type An odd number is required here as the Error Message.
- 6. Click OK to close the Data Validation dialog box.

Notice that the formula entered contains a reference to the upper-left cell in the selected range. This data validation formula was applied to a range of cells, so you might expect that each cell

would contain the same data validation formula. Because you entered a relative cell reference as the argument for the ISODD function, Excel adjusts the formula for the other cells in the B2:B10 range. To demonstrate that the reference is relative, select cell B5 and examine its formula displayed in the Data Validation dialog box . You'll see that the formula for this cell is

=ISODD(B5)

#### FIGURE 25.5

Entering a data validation formula.

Data Valida	tion			? ×
Settings	Input Message	Error Alert		
Validation	criteria			
Allow:				
Custom		▼ ✓ Igno	ore <u>b</u> lank	
Data:				
betwee	n	-		
Eormula	:			
=ISODE	D(B2)		55	
Apply 1	these changes to a	ill other cells v	with the same settings	
Clear All			ОК	Cancel

Generally, when entering a data validation formula for a range of cells, you use a reference to the active cell, which is normally the upper-left cell in the selected range. An exception is when you need to refer to a specific cell. For example, suppose that you select range A1:B10, and you want your data validation to allow only values that are greater than C1. You would use this formula:

=A1>\$C\$1

In this case, the reference to cell C1 is an *absolute reference;* it will not be adjusted for the cells in the selected range — which is just what you want. The data validation formula for cell A2 looks like this:

=A2>\$C\$1

The relative cell reference is adjusted, but the absolute cell reference is not.

# **Data Validation Formula Examples**

The following sections contain a few data validation examples that use a formula entered directly into the Formula control on the Settings tab of the Data Validation dialog box. These examples help you understand how to create your own Data Validation formulas.

## On the CD

All the examples in this section are available on the companion CD-ROM. The file is named data validation examples.xlsx.

# Accepting text only

Excel has a data validation option to limit the length of text entered into a cell, but it doesn't have an option to force text (rather than a number) into a cell. To force a cell or range to accept only text (no values), use the following data validation formula:

```
=ISTEXT(A1)
```

This formula assumes that the active cell in the selected range is cell A1.

# Accepting a larger value than the previous cell

The following data validation formula enables the user to enter a value only if it's greater than the value in the cell directly above it:

=A2>A1

This formula assumes that A2 is the active cell in the selected range. Note that you can't use this formula for a cell in row 1.

# Accepting nonduplicate entries only

The following data validation formula does not permit the user to make a duplicate entry in the range A1:C20:

```
=COUNTIF($A$1:$C$20,A1)=1
```

This is a logical formula that returns TRUE if the value in the cell occurs only one time in the A1:C20 range. Otherwise, it returns FALSE, and the Duplicate Entry dialog box is displayed.

This formula assumes that A1 is the active cell in the selected range. Note that the first argument for COUNTIF is an absolute reference. The second argument is a relative reference, and it adjusts for each cell in the validation range. Figure 25.6 shows this validation criterion in effect, using a custom error alert message. The user is attempting to enter 16 into cell B5.

#### FIGURE 25.6

Using data validation to prevent duplicate entries in a range.

	A	В	С	D E F G H									
1	1	32			Data Valid	lation							
2	2	33			Accepts or	nly non-du	plicated d	ata					
3	3	34											
4	4	35											
5	5	16											
6	6												
7	7												
8	8		Duplicate En	try!				-	×Ì				
9	9			,					_				
10	10		х	he entrv vou	made alreadv	exists in ran	ae A1:C20. P	ease trv agai	n.				
11	11				,								
12	12			Retr	y Ca	ancel	<u>H</u> elp						
13	13												
14	14												
15	15												
16	16												
17	17												
18	18			]									
19	19			]									
20	20			]									
21													
	1												

# Accepting text that begins with a specific character

The following data validation formula demonstrates how to check for a specific character. In this case, the formula ensures that the user's entry is a text string that begins with the letter *A* (uppercase or lowercase).

=LEFT(A1)="a"

This is a logical formula that returns TRUE if the first character in the cell is the letter *A*. Otherwise, it returns FALSE. This formula assumes that the active cell in the selected range is cell A1.

The following formula is a variation of this validation formula. It uses wildcard characters in the second argument of the COUNTIF function. In this case, the formula ensures that the entry begins with the letter *A* and contains exactly five characters:

```
=COUNTIF(A1, "A????")=1
```

# Accepting dates by the day of the week

The following data validation formula ensures that the cell entry is a date, and that the date is a Monday:

=WEEKDAY(A1)=2

This formula assumes that the active cell in the selected range is cell A1. It uses the WEEKDAY function, which returns 1 for Sunday, 2 for Monday, and so on.

# Accepting only values that don't exceed a total

Figure 25.7 shows a simple budget worksheet, with the budget item amounts in the range B1:B6. The planned budget is in cell E5, and the user is attempting to enter a value in cell B4 that would cause the total (cell E6) to exceed the budget. The following data validation formula ensures that the sum of the budget items does not exceed the budget:

=SUM(\$B\$1:\$B\$6)<=\$E\$5

#### FIGURE 25.7

Using data validation to ensure that the sum of a range does not exceed a certain value.

	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	Н					
1	Meat:	\$120		Data Validation									
2	Vegetables:	\$25		Accept a value only	r if it doesr	n't go over	the budge	t.					
3	Fruit:	\$50											
4	Snacks:	80											
5	Alcohol:	\$200		Party Budget:	\$500								
6	Soft Drinks:	\$50		Total:	\$525								
7													
8	8 Too Much												
9		Too Much					×						
10													
11			The amount	t you entered will exceed	the budget. E	inter a smalle	r amount.						
12			ſ	Rotry Cancel	Hala								
13				Gancer									
14													
15	15												
16	16												
17	17												

# **Creating a dependent list**

As I describe previously, you can use data validation to create a drop-down list in a cell (see "Creating a Drop-Down List"). This section explains how to use a drop-down list to control the entries that appear in a second drop-down list. In other words, the second drop-down list is dependent upon the value selected in the first drop-down list.

Figure 25.8 shows a simple example of a dependent list created by using data validation. Cell E2 contains data validation that displays a three-item list from the range A1:C1 (Vegetables, Fruits, and Meats). When the user chooses an item from the list, the second list (in cell F2) displays the appropriate items.

This worksheet uses three named ranges:

- Vegetables: A2:A15
- Fruits: B2:B9
- Meats: C2:C5

Cell F2 contains data validation that uses this formula:

=INDIRECT(\$E\$2)

Therefore, the drop-down list displayed in F2 depends on the value displayed in cell E2.

#### FIGURE 25.8

The items displayed in the list in cell F2 depend on the list item selected in cell E2.

4	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	Н
1	Vegetables	Fruits	Meats					
2	Arugula	Apple	Beef		Vegetables	Potato	×	
3	Asparagus	Cherry	Chicken			Celery	~	
4	Beet	Lemon	Lamb			Green Bean		
5	Broccoli	Orange	Pork			Onion	- E	
6	Carrot	Peach				Radish	E	
7	Cauliflower	Pear				Squash VV	*	
8	Celery	Raspberry				Turnip		
9	Corn	Strawberry						
10	Green Bean							
11	Onion							
12	Potato							
13	Radish							
14	Squash							
15	Turnip							
16								



# **Creating and Using Worksheet Outlines**

f you use a word processor, you may be familiar with the concept of an outline. Most word processors (including Microsoft Word) have an outline mode that lets you view only the headings and subheadings in your document. You can easily expand a heading to show the text below it. Using an outline makes visualizing the structure of your document easy.

Excel also is capable of using outlines, and understanding this feature can make working with certain types of worksheets much easier for you.

# **Introducing Worksheet Outlines**

You'll find that some worksheets are more suitable for outlines than others. You can use outlines to create summary reports in which you don't want to show all the details. If your worksheet uses hierarchical data with subtotals, it's probably a good candidate for an outline.

The best way to understand how worksheet outlining works is to look at an example. Figure 26.1 shows a simple sales summary sheet without an outline. Formulas are used to calculate subtotals by region and by quarter.

Figure 26.2 shows the same worksheet after I created the outline. Notice that Excel adds a new section to the left of the screen. This section contains outline controls that enable you to determine which level to view. This particular outline has three levels: States, Regions (each region consists of states grouped into categories such as West, East, and Central), and Grand Total (the sum of each region's subtotal).

# **IN THIS CHAPTER**

Introducing worksheet outlines

Creating an outline

**Using outlines** 

#### FIGURE 26.1

A simple sales summary with subtotals.

	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	Н	1	J	
1	State	Jan	Feb	Mar	Qtr-1	Apr	May	Jun	Qtr-2	Total	
2	California	1,118	1,960	1,252	4,330	1,271	1,557	1,679	4,507	8,837	
3	Washington	1,247	1,238	1,028	3,513	1,345	1,784	1,574	4,703	8,216	
4	Oregon	1,460	1,954	1,726	5,140	1,461	1,764	1,144	4,369	9,509	
5	Arizona	1,345	1,375	1,075	3,795	1,736	1,555	1,372	4,663	8,458	
6	West Total	5,170	6,527	5,081	16,778	5,813	6,660	5,769	18,242	35,020	
7	New York	1,429	1,316	1,993	4,738	1,832	1,740	1,191	4,763	9,501	
8	New Jersey	1,735	1,406	1,224	4,365	1,706	1,320	1,290	4,316	8,681	
9	Massachusetts	1,099	1,233	1,110	3,442	1,637	1,512	1,006	4,155	7,597	
10	Florida	1,705	1,792	1,225	4,722	1,946	1,327	1,357	4,630	9,352	
11	East Total	5,968	5,747	5,552	17,267	7,121	5,899	4,844	17,864	35,131	
12	Kentucky	1,109	1,078	1,155	3,342	1,993	1,082	1,551	4,626	7,968	
13	Oklahoma	1,309	1,045	1,641	3,995	1,924	1,499	1,941	5,364	9,359	
14	Missouri	1,511	1,744	1,414	4,669	1,243	1,493	1,820	4,556	9,225	
15	Illinois	1,539	1,493	1,211	4,243	1,165	1,013	1,445	3,623	7,866	
16	Kansas	1,973	1,560	1,243	4,776	1,495	1,125	1,387	4,007	8,783	
17	Central Total	7,441	6,920	6,664	21,025	7,820	6,212	8,144	22,176	43,201	
18 19	Grand Total	18,579	19,194	17,297	55,070	20,754	18,771	18,757	58,282	113,352	

#### FIGURE 26.2

The worksheet after creating an outline.

1	2	3		A	В	С	D	E	F	G	Н	1	J
			1	State	Jan	Feb	Mar	Qtr-1	Apr	May	Jun	Qtr-2	Total
Г	Г	• [	2	California	1,118	1,960	1,252	4,330	1,271	1,557	1,679	4,507	8,837
		• [	3	Washington	1,247	1,238	1,028	3,513	1,345	1,784	1,574	4,703	8,216
		•	4	Oregon	1,460	1,954	1,726	5,140	1,461	1,764	1,144	4,369	9,509
		• [	5	Arizona	1,345	1,375	1,075	3, 795	1,736	1,555	1,372	4,663	8,458
	-		6	West Total	5,170	6,527	5,081	16,778	5,813	6,660	5,769	18,242	35,020
	Г	•	7	New York	1,429	1,316	1,993	4,738	1,832	1,740	1,191	4,763	9,501
		• [	8	New Jersey	1,735	1,406	1,224	4,365	1,706	1,320	1,290	4,316	8,681
		۰l	9	Massachusetts	1,099	1,233	1,110	3,442	1,637	1,512	1,006	4,155	7,597
		•	10	Florida	1,705	1,792	1,225	4,722	1,946	1,327	1,357	4,630	9,352
	-		11	East Total	5,968	5,747	5,552	17,267	7,121	5,899	4,844	17,864	35,131
	Г	•	12	Kentucky	1,109	1,078	1,155	3,342	1,993	1,082	1,551	4,626	7,968
		• [	13	Oklahoma	1,309	1,045	1,641	3,995	1,924	1,499	1,941	5,364	9,359
		• [	14	Missouri	1,511	1,744	1,414	4,669	1,243	1,493	1,820	4,556	9,225
		•	15	Illinois	1,539	1,493	1,211	4,243	1,165	1,013	1,445	3,623	7,866
		• [	16	Kansas	1,973	1,560	1,243	4,776	1,495	1,125	1,387	4,007	8,783
	-		17	Central Total	7,441	6,920	6,664	21,025	7,820	6,212	8,144	22,176	43,201
Ė			18	Grand Total	18,579	19,194	17,297	55,070	20,754	18,771	18,757	58,282	113,352

Figure 26.3 depicts the outline after clicking the 2 button, which displays the second level of details. Now, the outline shows only the totals for the regions (the detail rows are hidden). You can partially expand the outline to show the detail for a particular region by clicking one of the + buttons. Collapsing the outline to level 1 shows only the headers and the Grand Total row.

Excel can create outlines in both directions. In the preceding examples, the outline is a row (vertical) outline. Figure 26.4 shows the same model after a column (horizontal) outline was added. Now, Excel also displays outline controls at the top.

#### FIGURE 26.3

The worksheet after collapsing the outline to the second level.

1 2 3		A	В	C	D	E	F	G	Н	1	J
	1	State	Jan	Feb	Mar	Qtr-1	Apr	May	Jun	Qtr-2	Total
+	6	West Total	5,170	6,527	5,081	16,778	5,813	6,660	5,769	18,242	35,020
+	11	East Total	5,968	5,747	5,552	17,267	7,121	5,899	4,844	17,864	35,131
+	17	Central Total	7,441	6,920	6,664	21,025	7,820	6,212	8,144	22,176	43,201
Ē	18	Grand Total	18,579	19,194	17,297	55,070	20,754	18,771	18,757	58,282	113,352

#### FIGURE 26.4

The worksheet after adding a column outline.

	1											
	2		· .			— –				-		
123		A	В	С	D	E	F	G	Н	I.	J	
	1	State	Jan	Feb	Mar	Qtr-1	Apr	May	Jun	Qtr-2	Total	
ΓΓ·	2	California	1,118	1,960	1,252	4,330	1,271	1,557	1,679	4,507	8,837	
	3	Washington	1,247	1,238	1,028	3,513	1,345	1,784	1,574	4,703	8,216	
	4	Oregon	1,460	1,954	1,726	5,140	1,461	1,764	1,144	4,369	9,509	
	5	Arizona	1,345	1,375	1,075	3,795	1,736	1,555	1,372	4,663	8,458	
	6	West Total	5,170	6,527	5,081	16,778	5,813	6,660	5,769	18,242	35,020	
I T ·	7	New York	1.429	1.316	1.993	4,738	1.832	1.740	1.191	4,763	9,501	
	8	New Jersey	1,735	1,406	1,224	4,365	1,706	1,320	1,290	4,316	8,681	
	9	Massachusetts	1,099	1,233	1,110	3,442	1,637	1,512	1,006	4,155	7,597	
	10	Florida	1,705	1,792	1,225	4,722	1,946	1,327	1,357	4,630	9,352	
	11	East Total	5,968	5,747	5,552	17,267	7,121	5,899	4,844	17,864	35,131	
1 T ·	12	Kentucky	1,109	1,078	1,155	3,342	1,993	1,082	1,551	4,626	7,968	
	13	Oklahoma	1,309	1,045	1,641	3,995	1,924	1,499	1,941	5,364	9,359	
	14	Missouri	1,511	1,744	1,414	4,669	1,243	1,493	1,820	4,556	9,225	
	15	Illinois	1,539	1,493	1,211	4,243	1,165	1,013	1,445	3,623	7,866	
	16	Kansas	1,973	1,560	1,243	4,776	1,495	1,125	1,387	4,007	8,783	
	17	Central Total	7,441	6,920	6,664	21,025	7,820	6,212	8,144	22,176	43,201	
-	18 19	Grand Total	18,579	19,194	17,297	55,070	20,754	18,771	18,757	58,282	113,352	

If you create both a row and a column outline in a worksheet, you can work with each outline independent of the other. For example, you can show the row outline at the second level and the column outline at the first level. Figure 26.5 shows the model with both outlines collapsed at the second level. The result is a nice high-level summary table that gives regional totals by quarter.

#### FIGURE 26.5

The worksheet with both outlines collapsed at the second level.

	1 2 3		+	+	_	
1 2 3		А	E	1	J	К
	1	State	Qtr-1	Qtr-2	Total	
<b>+</b>	6	West Total	16,778	18,242	35,020	
+	11	East Total	17,267	17,864	35,131	
+	17	Central Total	21,025	22,176	43,201	
Ė	18	Grand Total	55,070	58,282	113,352	
	19					
	20					

## On the CD

# You can find the workbook used in the preceding examples on this book's CD-ROM. The file is named outline example.xlsx.

Keep in mind the following points about worksheet outlines:

- A worksheet can have only one outline. If you need to create more than one outline, move the data to a new worksheet.
- You can either create an outline manually or have Excel do it for you automatically. If you choose the latter option, you may need to do some preparation to get the worksheet in the proper format. You can read later in this chapter how to use both methods.
- You can create an outline for either all data on a worksheet or just a selected data range.
- You can remove an outline with a single command. (Read how in the upcoming section, "Removing an outline.") However, the data remains.
- You can hide the outline symbols (to free screen space) but retain the outline. I show you how in this chapter.
- An outline can have up to eight nested levels.

Worksheet outlines can be quite useful. If your main objective is to summarize a large amount of data, though, you may be better off using a pivot table. A pivot table is much more flexible and doesn't require that you create the subtotal formulas; it does the summarizing for you automatically. The ultimate solution depends upon your data source. If you're entering data from scratch, the most flexible approach is to enter it in a normalized table format, and create a pivot table.

#### **Cross-Reference**

I discuss pivot tables (and normalized data) in Chapters 34 and 35.

# **Creating an Outline**

This section describes the two ways to create an outline: automatically and manually. Before you create an outline, you need to ensure that data is appropriate for an outline and that the formulas are set up properly.

# Preparing the data

What type of data is appropriate for an outline? Generally, the data should be arranged in a hierarchy, such as a budget that consists of an arrangement similar to the following:

Company Division Department Budget Category Budget Item In this case, each budget item (for example, airfare and hotel expenses) is part of a budget category (for example, travel expenses). Each department has its own budget, and the departments are rolled up into divisions. The divisions make up the company. This type of arrangement is well suited for a row outline.

#### **Cross-Reference**

The data arrangement suitable for an outline is essentially a summary table of your data. In some situations, your data will be "normalized" data — one data point per row. You can easily create a pivot table to summarize such data, and a pivot table is much more flexible than dealing with an outline. See Chapters 34 and 35 for more information on pivot tables. ■

After you create such an outline, you can view the information at any level of detail that you want by clicking the outline controls. When you need to create reports for different levels of management, consider using an outline. For example, upper management may want to see only the division totals. Division managers may want to see totals by department, and each department manager needs to see the full details for his or her department.

Keep in mind that using an outline isn't a security feature. The data that's hidden when an outline is collapsed can easily be revealed when the outline is expanded.

You can include time-based information that is rolled up into larger units (such as months and quarters) in a column outline. Column outlines work just like row outlines, however, and the levels need not be time based.

Before you create an outline, you need to make sure that all the summary formulas are entered correctly and consistently. In this context, *consistently* means that the formulas are in the same relative location. Generally, formulas that compute summary formulas (such as subtotals) are entered below the data to which they refer. In some cases, however, the summary formulas are entered above the referenced cells. Excel can handle either method, but you must be consistent throughout the range that you outline. If the summary formulas aren't consistent, automatic outlining won't produce the results that you want.

#### Note

If your summary formulas aren't consistent (that is, some are above and some are below the data), you still can create an outline, but you must do it manually.

# Creating an outline automatically

Excel can create an outline for you automatically in a few seconds, whereas it may take you 10 minutes or more to do the same thing manually.

#### Note

If you have created a table for your data (Insert ⇔ Tables ⇔ Table), Excel can't create an outline automatically. You can create an outline from a table, but you must do so manually. To have Excel create an outline, move the cell pointer anywhere within the range of data that you're outlining. Then, choose Data i Outline Group i Auto Outline. Excel analyzes the formulas in the range and creates the outline. Depending on the formulas that you have, Excel creates a row outline, a column outline, or both.

If the worksheet already has an outline, Excel asks whether you want to modify the existing outline. Click Yes to force Excel to remove the old outline and create a new one.

# Note

Excel automatically creates an outline when you choose Data ⇔ Outline ⇔ Subtotal, which inserts subtotal formulas automatically.

# Creating an outline manually

Usually, letting Excel create the outline is the best approach. It's much faster and less error prone. If the outline that Excel creates isn't what you have in mind, however, you can create an outline manually.

When Excel creates a row outline, the summary rows must all be below the data or all above the data: They can't be mixed. Similarly, for a column outline, the summary columns must all be to the right of the data or to the left of the data. If your worksheet doesn't meet these requirements, you have two choices:

- Rearrange the worksheet so that it does meet the requirements.
- Create the outline manually.

You also need to create an outline manually if the range doesn't contain any formulas. You may have imported a file and want to use an outline to display it better. Because Excel uses the positioning of the formulas to determine how to create the outline, it cannot make an outline without formulas.

Creating an outline manually consists of creating groups of rows (for row outlines) or groups of columns (for column outlines). To create a group of rows

1. Click the row numbers for all the rows that you want to include in the group.

## Caution

Do not select the row that has the summary formulas. You don't want these rows to be included in the group. ■

- **2.** Choose Data ⇒ Outline ⇒ Group ⇔ Group. Excel displays outline symbols for the group.
- **3.** Repeat this process for each group that you want to create. When you collapse the outline, Excel hides rows in the group, but the summary row, which isn't in the group, remains in view.

# Note

If you select a range of cells (rather than entire rows or columns) before you create a group, Excel displays a dialog box asking what you want to group. It then groups entire rows or columns based on the range that you select. ■

You can also select groups of groups to create multilevel outlines. When you create multilevel outlines, always start with the innermost groupings and then work your way out. If you realize that you grouped the wrong rows, you can ungroup the group by selecting the rows and choosing Data 🕏 Outline 🕏 Ungroup 🗘 Ungroup.

Here are keyboard shortcuts you can use that speed up grouping and ungrouping:

- Alt+Shift+right arrow: Groups selected rows or columns
- Alt+Shift+left arrow: Ungroups selected rows or columns

Creating outlines manually can be confusing at first, but if you stick with it, you'll become a pro in no time.

# **Working with Outlines**

This section discusses the basic operations that you can perform with a worksheet outline.

# **Displaying levels**

To display various outline levels, click the appropriate outline symbol. These symbols consist of buttons with numbers on them (1, 2, and so on) or a plus sign (+) or a minus sign (–). Refer to Figure 26.5, which shows these symbols for a row and column outline.

Clicking the 1 button collapses the outline so that it displays no detail (just the highest summary level of information), clicking the 2 button expands the outline to show one level, and so on. The number of numbered buttons depends on the number of outline levels. Choosing a level number displays the detail for that level, plus any lower levels. To display all levels (the most detail), click the highest-level number.

You can expand a particular section by clicking its + button, or you can collapse a particular section by clicking its – button. In short, you have complete control over the details that Excel exposes or hides in an outline.

If you prefer, you can use the Hide Detail and Show Detail commands on the Data A Outline group to hide and show details, respectively.

# Tip

If you constantly adjust the outline to show different reports, consider using the Custom Views feature to save a particular view and give it a name. Then you can quickly switch among the named views. Choose View ⇔ Workbook Views ⇔ Custom Views. ■

# Adding data to an outline

You may need to add additional rows or columns to an outline. In some cases, you may be able to insert new rows or columns without disturbing the outline, and the new rows or columns become part of the outline. In other cases, you'll find that the new row or column is not part of the outline. If you create the outline automatically, choose Data  $\Rightarrow$  Outline  $\Rightarrow$  Group  $\Rightarrow$  Auto Outline. Excel makes you verify that you want to modify the existing outline. If you create the outline manually, you need to make the adjustments manually, as well.

# **Removing an outline**

After you no longer need an outline, you can remove it by choosing Data  $\Rightarrow$  Outline  $\Rightarrow$  Ungroup  $\Rightarrow$  Clear Outline. Excel fully expands the outline by displaying all hidden rows and columns, and the outline symbols disappear. Be careful before you remove an outline, however. You can't make it reappear by using the Undo button. You must re-create the outline from scratch.

# Hiding the outline symbols

The outline symbols Excel displays when an outline is present take up quite a bit of space. (The exact amount depends on the number levels.) If you want to see as much as possible onscreen, you can temporarily hide these symbols without removing the outline. Use Ctrl+8 to toggle the outline symbols on and off. When the outline symbols are hidden, you cannot expand or collapse the outline.

## Note

When you hide the outline symbols, the outline still is in effect, and the worksheet displays the data at the current outline level. That is, some rows or columns may be hidden. ■

The Custom Views feature, which saves named views of your outline, also saves the status of the outline symbols as part of the view, enabling you to name some views with the outline symbols and other views without them.

# CHAPTER

# Linking and Consolidating Worksheets

In this chapter, I discuss two procedures that you might find helpful: linking and consolidation. *Linking* is the process of using references to cells in external workbooks to get data into your worksheet. *Consolidation* combines or summarizes information from two or more worksheets (which can be in multiple workbooks).

# Linking Workbooks

As you may know, Excel allows you to create formulas that contain references to other workbook files. In such a case, the workbooks are linked in such a way that one depends upon the other. The workbook that contains the external reference formulas is the *dependent* workbook (because it contains formulas that depend upon another workbook). The workbook that contains the information used in the external reference formula is the *source* workbook (because it's the source of the information).

When you consider linking workbooks, you may ask yourself the following question: If Workbook A needs to access data in another workbook (Workbook B), why not just enter the data into Workbook A in the first place? In some cases, you can. But the real value of linking becomes apparent when the source workbook is being continually updated by another person or group. Creating a link in Workbook A to Workbook B means that in Workbook A, you always have access to the most recent information in Workbook B because Workbook A is updated whenever Workbook B changes.

Linking workbooks also can be helpful if you need to consolidate different files. For example, each regional sales manager may store data in a separate

# **IN THIS CHAPTER**

Various methods of linking workbooks

Consolidating multiple worksheets

workbook. You can create a summary workbook that first uses link formulas to retrieve specific data from each manager's workbook and then calculates totals across all regions.

Linking also is useful as a way to break up a large workbook into smaller files. You can create smaller workbooks that are linked with a few key external references.

Linking has its downside, however. External reference formulas are somewhat fragile, and accidentally severing the links that you create is relatively easy. You can prevent this mistake if you understand how linking works. Later in the chapter, I discuss some problems that may arise as well as how to avoid them. (See "Avoiding Potential Problems with External Reference Formulas.")

#### On the CD

The companion CD-ROM contains two linked files that you can use to get a feel for how linking works. The files are named source.xlsx and dependent.xlsx. As long as these files remain in the same folder, the links will be maintained.

# **Creating External Reference Formulas**

You can create an external reference formula by using several different techniques:

- **Type the cell references manually.** These references may be lengthy because they include workbook and sheet names (and, possibly, even drive and path information). The advantage of manually typing the cell references is that the source workbook doesn't have to be open. The disadvantage is that it's very error prone. Mistyping a single character makes the formula return an error (or possibly return a wrong value from the file).
- **Point to the cell references.** If the source workbook is open, you can use the standard pointing techniques to create formulas that use external references.
- Paste the links. Copy your data to the Clipboard. Then, with the source workbook open, choose Home ⇔ Clipboard ⇔ Paste ⇔ Paste Link (N). Excel pastes the copied data as external reference formulas.
- Choose Data  $\Rightarrow$  Data Tools  $\Rightarrow$  Consolidate. For more on this method, see the section "Consolidating worksheets by using the Consolidate command," later in this chapter.

# Understanding link formula syntax

The general syntax for an external reference formula is as follows:

```
=[WorkbookName]SheetName!CellAddress
```

Precede the cell address with the workbook name (in brackets), followed by the worksheet name and an exclamation point. Here's an example of a formula that uses cell A1 in the Sheet1 worksheet of a workbook named Budget:

```
=[Budget.xlsx]Sheet1!A1
```

If the workbook name or the sheet name in the reference includes one or more spaces, you must enclose the text in single quotation marks. For example, here's a formula that refers to cell A1 on Sheet1 in a workbook named Annual Budget.xlsx:

```
='[Annual Budget.xlsx]Sheet1'!A1
```

When a formula links to a different workbook, you don't need to open the other workbook. However, if the workbook is closed and not in the current folder, you must add the complete path to the reference. For example

```
='C:\Data\Excel\Budget\[Annual Budget.xlsx]Sheet1'!A1
```

# Creating a link formula by pointing

Entering external reference formulas manually is usually not the best approach because you can easily make an error. Instead, have Excel build the formula for you, as follows:

- **1.** Open the source workbook.
- 2. Select the cell in the dependent workbook that will hold the formula.
- **3.** Enter the formula. When you get to the part that requires the external reference, activate the source workbook and select the cell or range and press Enter. If you're simply creating a link to a cell, just enter an equal sign (=) and then select the cell and press Enter.
- **4.** After you press Enter, return to the dependent workbook, where you can finish the formula.

When you point to the cell or range, Excel automatically takes care of the details and creates a syntactically correct external reference. When using this method, the cell reference is always an absolute reference (such as \$A\$1). If you plan to copy the formula to create additional link formulas, you need to change the absolute reference to a relative reference by removing the dollar signs for the cell address.

As long as the source workbook remains open, the external reference doesn't include the path to the workbook. If you close the source workbook, however, the external reference formulas change to include the full path.

# **Pasting links**

Pasting links provides another way to create external reference formulas. This method is applicable when you want to create formulas that simply reference other cells. Follow these steps:

- **1.** Open the source workbook.
- 2. Select the cell or range that you want to link and then copy it to the Clipboard.
- **3.** Activate the dependent workbook and select the cell in which you want the link formula to appear. If you're pasting a copied range, just select the upper-left cell.

# **Working with External Reference Formulas**

This section discusses some key points that you need to know about when working with links. Understanding these details can help prevent some common errors.

# Creating links to unsaved workbooks

Excel enables you to create link formulas to unsaved workbooks (and even to nonexistent workbooks). Assume that you have two workbooks open (Book1 and Book2), and you haven't saved either of them. If you create a link formula to Book1 in Book2 and then save Book2, Excel displays the confirmation dialog box shown in Figure 27.1.

Typically, you don't want to save a workbook that has links to an unsaved document. To avoid this prompt, save the source workbook first.

#### FIGURE 27.1

This confirmation message indicates that the workbook you're saving contains references to a workbook that you haven't yet saved.

Microsoft	Excel
	Save 'budget consolidation.xlsx' with references to unsaved documents?
	OK Cancel

You also can create links to documents that don't exist. You may want to do so if you'll be using a source workbook from a colleague, but the file hasn't yet arrived. When you enter an external reference formula that refers to a nonexistent workbook, Excel displays its Update Values dialog box, which resembles the Open dialog box. If you click Cancel, the formula retains the workbook name that you entered, but it returns a #REF! error.

When the source workbook becomes available, you can choose File r > Info r > Related Documents r > Edit Links to Files to update the link; see "Updating links," later in this chapter) After doing so, the error goes away, and the formula displays its proper value.

# Opening a workbook with external reference formulas

When you open a workbook that contains links, Excel displays a dialog box (shown in Figure 27.2) that asks you what to do.

- **Update:** The links are updated with the current information in the source file(s).
- **Don't Update:** The links are not updated, and the workbook displays the previous values returned by the link formulas.
- Help: The Excel Help screen displays so you can read about links.

# Security Warning for Links \_\_\_\_

Excel 2010 features a new security feature. The first time you open a workbook that contains links to other files, you see a security warning below the Ribbon. The links will not be updated unless you click the Enable Content button.

Å.	Calibri	• 11 • A	A A	= =	%>- ⊮¶ -	🛱 Wrap Text			
Paste	BI	<u>u</u> • 🔛 • 🖄 •	<u>A</u> -	≣ ≣ ≣	使使	📑 Merge & Center			
Clipboard 🕞		Font	Gi.		Alignment				
Security Warning Automatic update of links has been disabled Enable Content									

However, Excel remembers that you've deemed the workbook safe, so you won't see that Security Warning again. If you would like to disable these Security Warnings, use the External Content tab of the Trust Center dialog box and change the option for Security Settings for Workbook Links. To display this dialog box, choose File  $\Rightarrow$  Options. Then click the Trust Center tab, and click the Trust Center Settings button.

What if you choose to update the links, but the source workbook is no longer available? If Excel can't locate a source workbook that's referred to in a link formula, it displays its Edit Links dialog box, shown in Figure 27.3. Click the Change Source button to specify a different workbook, or click the Break Link to destroy the link.

#### Note

You can also access the Edit Links dialog box by choosing File ⇔ Info ⇔ Related Documents ⇔ Edit Links to Files. The dialog box that appears lists all source workbooks, plus other types of links to other documents.

#### FIGURE 27.2

Excel displays this dialog box when you open a workbook that contains links to other files.

Microsoft	Excel
Â	This workbook contains links to other data sources. • If you update the links, Excel will attempt to retrieve the latest data. • If you don't update the links, Excel will use the previous information.
_	Note that data links can be used to access and share confidential information without your permission and possibly perform other harmful actions. Do not update the links if you do not trust the source of this workbook.
	Update Don't Update Help

#### FIGURE 27.3

The Edit Links dialog box.

Edit Links					? ×
Source	Туре	Update	Status		Update Values
region	Worksheet	Α	Unknown		Change Source
					Open Source
					Break Link
•			m	۲	Check Status
Location: (	C:\Users\John\	Desktop			
Item: Update: (	Automatic	Manual			
Startup Pr	ompt				Close

# Changing the startup prompt

When you open a workbook that contains one or more external reference formulas, Excel, by default, displays the dialog box (shown in Figure 27.2) that asks how you want to handle the links. You can eliminate this prompt by changing a setting in the Startup Prompt dialog box (see Figure 27.4).

To display the Startup Prompt dialog box, choose File ➡ Info ➡ Related Documents ➡ Edit Links to Files, which displays the Edit Links dialog box (refer to Figure 27.3). There, click the Startup Prompt button and then select the option that describes how you want to handle the links.

#### FIGURE 27.4

Use the Startup Prompt dialog box to specify how Excel handles links when the workbook is opened.



# **Updating links**

If you want to ensure that your link formulas have the latest values from their source workbooks, you can force an update. For example, say that you just discovered that someone made changes to the source workbook and saved the latest version to your network server. In such a case, you may want to update the links to display the current data.

To update linked formulas with their current value, open the Edit Links dialog box (choose File ↔ Info ↔ Related Documents ↔ Edit Links to Files), choose the appropriate source workbook in the

list, and then click the Update Values button. Excel updates the link formulas with the latest version of the source workbook.

# Note

Excel always sets worksheet links to the Automatic Update option in the Edit Links dialog box, and you can't change them to Manual, which means that Excel updates the links only when you open the workbook. Excel doesn't automatically update links when the source file changes (unless the source workbook is open). ■

# Changing the link source

In some cases, you may need to change the source workbook for your external references. For example, say you have a worksheet that has links to a file named Preliminary Budget, but you later receive a finalized version named Final Budget.

You can change the link source using the Edit Links dialog box (choose File ↔ Info ↔ Related Documents ↔ Edit Links to Files). Select the source workbook that you want to change and click the Change Source button. Excel displays its Change Source dialog box, from which you can select a new source file. After you select the file, all external reference formulas that referred to the old file are updated.

# **Severing links**

If you have external references in a workbook and then decide that you no longer need the links, you can convert the external reference formulas to values, thereby severing the links. To do so, access the Edit Links dialog box (choose File  $\Rightarrow$  Info  $\Rightarrow$  Related Documents  $\Rightarrow$  Edit Links to Files), select the linked file in the list, and then click Break Link.

# Caution

Excel prompts you to verify your intentions because you can't undo this operation.

# Avoiding Potential Problems with External Reference Formulas

Using external reference formulas can be quite useful, but the links may be unintentionally severed. As long as the source file hasn't been deleted, you can almost always re-establish lost links. If you open the workbook and Excel can't locate the file, you see a dialog box that enables you to specify the workbook and re-create the links. You also can change the source file by using the Change Source button in the Edit Links dialog box. The following sections discuss some pointers that you must remember when you use external reference formulas.

# Renaming or moving a source workbook

If you rename the source document or move it to a different folder, Excel won't be able to update the links. You need to use the Edit Links dialog box and specify the new source document. See "Changing the link source," earlier in this chapter.

# Note

If the source and dependent folder reside in the same folder, you can move both of the files to a different folder. In such a case, the links remain intact.

# Using the Save As command

If both the source workbook and the dependent workbook are open, Excel doesn't display the full path to the source file in the external reference formulas. If you use the File  $\Rightarrow$  Save As command to give the source workbook a new name, Excel modifies the external references to use the new workbook name. In some cases, this change may be what you want. But in other cases, it may not.

Here's an example of how using File  $\Rightarrow$  Save As can cause a problem: You finished working on a source workbook and save the file. Then you decide to be safe and make a backup copy on a different drive, using File  $\Rightarrow$  Save As. The formulas in the dependent workbook now refer to the backup copy, not the original source file. This is *not* what you want.

Bottom line? Be careful when you choose File  $\Rightarrow$  Save As with a workbook that is the source of a link in another open workbook.

# Modifying a source workbook

If you open a workbook that is a source workbook for another workbook, be extremely careful if the dependent workbook isn't open. For example, if you add a new row to the source workbook, the cells all move down one row. When you open the dependent workbook, it continues to use the old cell references — which is probably not what you want.

# Note

It's easy to determine the source workbooks for a particular dependent workbook: Just examine the files listed in the Edit Links dialog box (choose File I Info I Related Documents I Edit Links to Files). However, it's not possible to determine whether a particular workbook is used as the source for another workbook.

You can avoid this problem in the following ways:

- Always open the dependent workbook(s) when you modify the source workbook. If you do so, Excel adjusts the external references in the dependent workbook when you make changes to the source workbook.
- Use names rather than cell references in your link formula. This approach is the safest.

The following link formula refers to cell C21 on Sheet1 in the budget.xlsx workbook:

=[budget.xlsx]Sheet1!\$C\$21

If cell C21 is named *Total*, you can write the formula using that name:

=budget.xlsx!total

Using a name ensures that the link retrieves the correct value, even if you add or delete rows or columns from the source workbook.

#### **Cross-Reference**

See Chapter 4 for more information about creating names for cells and ranges. ■

# **Intermediary links**

Excel doesn't place many limitations on the complexity of your network of external references. For example, Workbook A can contain external references that refer to Workbook B, which can contain an external reference that refers to Workbook C. In this case, a value in Workbook A can ultimately depend on a value in Workbook C. Workbook B is an *intermediary link*.

I don't recommend using intermediary links, but if you must use them, be aware that Excel doesn't update external reference formulas if the dependent workbook isn't open. In the preceding example, assume that Workbooks A and C are open. If you change a value in Workbook C, Workbook A won't reflect the change because you didn't open Workbook B (the intermediary link).

# **Consolidating Worksheets**

The term *consolidation*, in the context of worksheets, refers to several operations that involve multiple worksheets or multiple workbook files. In some cases, consolidation involves creating link formulas. Here are two common examples of consolidation:

- The budget for each department in your company is stored in a single workbook, with a separate worksheet for each department. You need to consolidate the data and create a company-wide budget on a single sheet.
- Each department head submits a budget to you in a separate workbook file. Your job is to consolidate these files into a company-wide budget.

These types of tasks can be very difficult or quite easy. The task is easy if the information is laid out *exactly* the same in each worksheet. If the worksheets aren't laid out identically, they may be similar enough. In the second example, some budget files submitted to you may be missing categories that aren't used by a particular department. In this case, you can use a handy feature in Excel that matches data by using row and column titles. I discuss this feature in "Consolidating worksheets by using the Consolidate command," later in this chapter.

If the worksheets bear little or no resemblance to each other, your best bet may be to edit the sheets so that they correspond to one another. Better yet, return the files to the department heads and ask that they submit them using a standardized format.

You can use any of the following techniques to consolidate information from multiple workbooks:

- Use external reference formulas.
- Copy the data and choose Home 🖒 Clipboard 🖒 Paste 🖒 Paste Link (N).
- Use the Consolidate dialog box, displayed by choosing Data ➡ Data Tools ➡ Consolidate.

# Consolidating worksheets by using formulas

Consolidating with formulas simply involves creating formulas that use references to other worksheets or other workbooks. The primary advantages to using this method of consolidation are

- **Dynamic updating:** If the values in the source worksheets change, the formulas are updated automatically.
- **Open versus closed:** The source workbooks don't need to be open when you create the consolidation formulas.

If you're consolidating the worksheets in the same workbook and all the worksheets are laid out identically, the consolidation task is simple. You can just use standard formulas to create the consolidations. For example, to compute the total for cell A1 in worksheets named Sheet2 through Sheet10, enter the following formula:

```
=SUM(Sheet2:Sheet10!A1)
```

You can enter this formula manually or use the multisheet selection technique discussed in Chapter 4. You can then copy this formula to create summary formulas for other cells.

If the consolidation involves other workbooks, you can use external reference formulas to perform your consolidation. For example, if you want to add the values in cell A1 from Sheet1 in two workbooks (named Region1 and Region2), you can use the following formula:

=[Region1.xlsx]Sheet1!B2+[Region2.xlsx]Sheet1!B2

You can include any number of external references in this formula, up to the 8,000-character limit for a formula. However, if you use many external references, such a formula can be quite lengthy and confusing if you need to edit it.

If the worksheets that you're consolidating aren't laid out the same, you can still use formulas, but you need to ensure that each formula refers to the correct cell.

# **Consolidating worksheets by using Paste Special**

Another method of consolidating information is to use the Paste Special dialog box. This technique takes advantage of the fact that the Paste Special dialog box can perform a mathematical operation when it pastes data from the Clipboard. For example, you can use the Add option to add the copied data to the selected range. Figure 27.5 shows the Paste Special dialog box.

This method is applicable only when all the worksheets that you're consolidating are open. The disadvantage is that the consolidation isn't dynamic. In other words, it doesn't generate formulas. So, if any data that was consolidated changes, the consolidation is no longer accurate.

#### FIGURE 27.5

Choosing the Add operation in the Paste Special dialog box.

Paste Special	? <b>x</b>
Paste	
© <u>A</u> ll	All using Source theme
Eormulas	All except borders
Values	Column widths
Formats	Formulas and number formats
Comments	Values and number formats
Validation	<ul> <li>All merging conditional formats</li> </ul>
Operation	
None	Multiply
Add	Divide
Subtracts	
Skip <u>b</u> lanks	Transpos <u>e</u>
Paste Link	OK Cancel

Here's how to use this method:

- 1. Copy the data from the first source range.
- **2.** Activate the dependent workbook and select a location for the consolidated data. A single cell is sufficient.
- **3.** Display the Paste Special dialog box (choose Home 
  → Clipboard 
  → Paste 
  → Paste 
  Special).
- 4. Choose the Values option and the Add operation, and then click OK.

Repeat these steps for each source range that you want to consolidate. Make sure that the consolidation location in Step 2 is the same for each paste operation.

#### Caution

This method is probably the worst way of consolidating data. It can be rather error prone, and the lack of formulas means that you have no way to verify the accuracy of the data. ■

# **Consolidating worksheets by using the Consolidate command**

For the ultimate in data consolidation, use the Consolidate dialog box. This method is very flexible, and in some cases, it even works if the source worksheets aren't laid out identically. This technique can create consolidations that are *static* (no link formulas) or *dynamic* (with link formulas). The Data Consolidate feature supports the following methods of consolidation:

- By position: This method is accurate only if the worksheets are laid out identically.
- By category: Excel uses row and column labels to match data in the source worksheets. Use this option if the data is laid out differently in the source worksheets or if some source worksheets are missing rows or columns.

Figure 27.6 shows the Consolidate dialog box, which appears when you choose Data ➡ Data Tools ➡ Consolidate. Following is a description of the controls in this dialog box:

#### FIGURE 27.6

The Consolidate dialog box enables you to specify ranges to consolidate.

Consolidate			? ×
Eunction:			
Sum	-		
Reference:			
		<b>E</b> \$3	Browse
All references:			
		*	Add
		-	Delete
Use labels in			
Top row			
📃 Left column	Create links to <u>s</u> ource data		
		OK	Close

- **Function drop-down list:** Specify the type of consolidation. Sum is the most commonly used consolidation function, but you also can select from ten other options.
- **Reference text box:** Specify a range from a source file that you want to consolidate. You can enter the range reference manually or use any standard pointing technique (if the workbook is open). Named ranges are also acceptable. After you enter the range in this box, click Add to add it to the All References list. If you consolidate by position, don't include labels in the range. If you consolidate by category, *do* include labels in the range.
- All References list box: Contains the list of references that you have added with the Add button.

- Use Labels In check boxes: Use to instruct Excel to perform the consolidation by examining the labels in the top row, the left column, or both positions. Use these options when you consolidate by category.
- Create Links to Source Data check box: When you select this option, Excel adds summary formulas for each label and creates an outline. If you don't select this option, the consolidation doesn't use formulas, and an outline isn't created.
- **Browse button:** Click to display a dialog box that enables you to select a workbook to open. It inserts the filename in the Reference box, but you have to supply the range reference. You'll find that your job is much easier if all the workbooks to be consolidated are open.
- Add button: Click to add the reference in the Reference box to the All References list. Make sure that you click this button after you specify each range.
- Delete button: Click to delete the selected reference from the All References list.

# A workbook consolidation example

The simple example in this section demonstrates the power of the Data Consolidate feature. Figure 27.7 shows three single-sheet workbooks that will be consolidated. These worksheets report product sales for three months. Notice, however, that they don't all report on the same products. In addition, the products aren't even listed in the same order. In other words, these worksheets aren't laid out identically. Creating consolidation formulas manually would be a very tedious task.

#### FIGURE 27.7

Three worksheets to be consolidated.

reg	ion1.xlsx														
	A		В	С	0		E								
1	Product ID		Jan	Feb	Mar										
2	A-401		1,000	1,094	1	,202			regi	on	3.xlsx				
3	A-403		1,188	1,324	1	,236					A	В	С	D	E
4	A-404		1,212	1,002	1	,018			1	Pr	oduct ID	Mar	Feb	Jan	
5	A-409		1,173	1,116	1	,110			2	A-	407	3,301	3,478	3,453	
б	A-412		1,298	1,218	1	467			3	A-	401	3,224	3,246	3,000	
7	A-415		1,217	1,346	1	,006			4	A-	405	3,299	3,221	3,039	
8	A-503		1,285	1,054	1	,298			5	A-	406	3,263	3,255	3,282	
9	A-511		1,192	1,408	1	,010			6	A-	512	3,023	3,217	3,218	
10	A-536		1,202	1,544	1	,732			7	A-	514	3,011	3,024	3,177	
11									8	Α-	523	3,209	3,482	3,348	
12	Lc	-								•	533	3,447	3,252	3,327	
H ·	↓ ► ► She	년 1	egion2.xlsx						23	-	535	3,074	3,026	3,426	
			A		В	C	D			*	536	3,489	3,087	3,205	
		1	Product ID	Jar		Feb	Mar			П					
		2	A-402		5,344	5,211	5,52	6							
		3	A-401		5,000	5,600	5,45	1			H Sheet1	2			
		4	A-404		5,436	5,350	5,21	0		=					
		5	A-408		5,336	5,358	5,65	3							
		6	A-490		5,278	5,676	5,25	7							
		7	A-415		5,497	5,266	5,61	1	_	4					
		8	A-502		5,626	5,517	5,56	4							
		9	A-505		5,497	5,239	5,34	8							
		10	A-515		5,374	5,337	5,44	3							
		11	A-523		5,597	5,369	5,32	8							
		12	A-536		5,552	5,311	5,66	8		-					
	l	13 H 4	► H She	et1 🖉	/	1			• [	.::					

## On the CD

These workbooks are available on the companion CD-ROM. The files are named region1.xlsx, region2. xlsx, and region3.xlsx.

To consolidate this information, start with a new workbook. You don't need to open the source workbooks, but consolidation is easier if they are open. Follow these steps to consolidate the workbooks:

- 1. Choose Data 🖒 Data Tools 🖒 Consolidate. Excel displays its Consolidate dialog box.
- **2.** Use the Function drop-down list to select the type of consolidation summary that you want to use. Use Sum for this example.
- **3.** Enter the reference for the first worksheet to consolidate. If the workbook is open, you can point to the reference. If it's not open, click the Browse button to locate the file on disk. The reference must include a range. You can use a range that includes complete columns, such as A:K. This range is larger than the actual range to consolidate, but using this range ensures that the consolidation will still work if new rows and columns are added to the source file. When the reference in the Reference box is correct, click Add to add it to the All References list.
- **4.** Enter the reference for the second worksheet. You can point to the range in the Region2 workbook, or you can simply edit the existing reference by changing Region1 to Region2 and then clicking Add. This reference is added to the All References list.
- **5.** Enter the reference for the third worksheet. Again, you can edit the existing reference by changing Region2 to Region3 and then clicking Add. This final reference is added to the All References list.
- **6.** Because the worksheets aren't laid out the same, select the Left Column and the Top Row check boxes to force Excel to match the data by using the labels.
- **7.** Select the Create Links to Source Data check box to make Excel create an outline with external references.
- 8. Click OK to begin the consolidation.

Excel creates the consolidation, beginning at the active cell. Notice that Excel created an outline, which is collapsed to show only the subtotals for each product. If you expand the outline (by clicking the number 2 or the + symbols in the outline), you can see the details. Examine it further, and you discover that each detail cell is an external reference formula that uses the appropriate cell in the source file. Therefore, the consolidated results are updated automatically values are changed in any of the source workbooks.

Figure 27.8 shows the result of the consolidation, and Figure 27.9 shows the summary information (with the outline collapsed to hide the details).

#### **Cross-Reference**

For more information about Excel outlines, see Chapter 26. ■
#### FIGURE 27.8

1	2		A	В	С	D	E	F
		1			Jan	Feb	Mar	
Γ	•	2		Region2	5,344	5,211	5,526	
-	] [	3	A-402		5,344	5,211	5,526	
Γ	·	4		Region3	3,453	3,478	3,301	
-	] [	5	A-407		3,453	3,478	3,301	
Γ	·	6		Region1	1,000	1,094	1,202	
	•	7		Region2	5,000	5,600	5,451	
	•	8		Region3	3,000	3,246	3,224	
-	] [	9	A-401		9,000	9,940	9,877	
Γ	•	10		Region1	1,188	1,324	1,236	
-	]	11	A-403		1,188	1,324	1,236	
Γ	•	12		Region1	1,212	1,002	1,018	
	•	13		Region2	5,436	5,350	5,210	
-	]	14	A-404		6,648	6,352	6,228	
Γ	•	15		Region1	1,173	1,116	1,110	
-	]	16	A-409		1,173	1,116	1,110	
Γ	•	17		Region1	1,298	1,218	1,467	
-	]	18	A-412		1,298	1,218	1,467	
Γ	•	19		Region2	5,336	5,358	5,653	
-	]	20	A-408		5,336	5,358	5,653	
Γ	•	21		Region2	5,278	5,676	5,257	
-		22	A-490		5,278	5,676	5,257	
Γ	•	23		Region1	1,217	1,346	1,006	
	•	24		Region2	5,497	5,266	5,611	
-		25	A-415		6,714	6,612	6,617	
ſ	•	26		Region1	1,285	1,054	1,298	
-		27	A-503		1,285	1,054	1,298	
Г	•	28		Region1	1,192	1,408	1,010	

The result of consolidating the information in three workbooks.

### FIGURE 27.9

Collapsing the outline to show only the totals.

1	2		Α	В	С	D	E	F
		1			Jan	Feb	Mar	
+		3	A-402		5,344	5,211	5,526	
+		5	A-407		3,453	3,478	3,301	
+		9	A-401		9,000	9,940	9,877	
+		11	A-403		1,188	1,324	1,236	
+		14	A-404		6,648	6,352	6,228	
+		16	A-409		1,173	1,116	1,110	
+		18	A-412		1,298	1,218	1,467	
+		20	A-408		5,336	5,358	5,653	
÷		22	A-490		5,278	5,676	5,257	
÷		25	A-415		6,714	6,612	6,617	
÷		27	A-503		1,285	1,054	1,298	
+		29	A-511		1,192	1,408	1,010	
÷		31	A-536		1,202	1,544	1,732	
÷		33	A-502		5,626	5,517	5,564	
÷		35	A-505		5,497	5,239	5,348	
+		37	A-515		5,374	5,337	5,443	
÷		39	A-405		3,039	3,221	3,299	
÷		41	A-406		3,282	3,255	3,263	
÷		43	A-512		3,218	3,217	3,023	
÷		45	A-514		3,177	3,024	3,011	
+		47	A-523		3,348	3,482	3,209	
+		49	A-533		3,327	3,252	3,447	
+		51	A-535		3,426	3,026	3,074	
		52						

## **Refreshing a consolidation**

When you choose the option to create formulas, the external references in the consolidation workbook are created only for data that exists at the time of the consolidation. Therefore, if new rows are added to any of the original workbooks, the consolidation must be re-done. Fortunately, the consolidation parameters are stored with the workbook, so it's a simple matter to re-run the consolidation if necessary. That's why specifying complete columns and including extra columns (in Step 3 in the preceding section) is a good idea.

Excel remembers the references that you entered in the Consolidate dialog box and saves them with the workbook. That way, if you want to refresh a consolidation, you won't have to re-enter the references. Just display the Consolidate dialog box, verify that the ranges are correct, and then click OK.

## More about consolidation

Excel is very flexible regarding the sources that you can consolidate. You can consolidate data from the following:

- Open workbooks
- **Closed workbooks.** You need to enter the reference manually, but you can use the Browse button to get the filename part of the reference.
- The same workbook in which you're creating the consolidation

And, of course, you can mix and match any of the preceding choices in a single consolidation.

If you perform the consolidation by matching labels, be aware that the matches must be exact. For example, *Jan* doesn't match *January*. The matching is not case sensitive, however, so *April* does match *APRIL*. In addition, the labels can be in any order, and they don't need to be in the same order in all the source ranges.

If you don't select the Create Links to Source Data check box, Excel generates a static consolidation. (It doesn't create formulas.) Therefore, if the data on any of the source worksheets changes, the consolidation won't update automatically. To update the summary information, you need to choose Data 🖒 Data Tools 🗘 Consolidate again.

If you do select the Create Links to Source Data check box, Excel creates a standard worksheet outline that you can manipulate by using the techniques described in Chapter 26.

## CHAPTER 28

## **Excel and the Internet**

ost people who use a computer are connected to the Internet. The Web has become an important way to share and gather information from myriad sources. To help you with these tasks, Excel has the capability to create files that you can use on the Internet and also to gather and process data from the Web. This chapter covers topics related to Excel and the Internet.

## Note

Four of the Office 2010 applications are available in online versions: Excel, Word, PowerPoint, and OneNote. You can run these applications from within your Web browser. The online version of Excel is not the topic of this chapter, and is not covered in this book. Rather, the chapter deals with Internet-related features for the standard version of Excel. ■

## Understanding How Excel Uses HTML

HTML (HyperText Markup Language) is the language of the World Wide Web. When you browse the Web, most documents that your browser retrieves and displays are in HTML format. An HTML file consists of text information plus special tags that describe how the text is to be formatted. The browser interprets the tags, applies the formatting, and displays the information.

## **IN THIS CHAPTER**

Saving Excel files in HTML format

**Creating hyperlinks** 

Importing data from a Web page

## **Understanding the Different Web Formats**

You can save an Excel workbook so that it's viewable in a Web browser. When you save an Excel workbook for viewing on the Web, you have two options:

- An HTML file: Produces a static Web page, plus a folder that contains support files. You can create the HTML file from the entire workbook or from a specific sheet.
- A single file Web page: Produces a MIME HTML file (\*.mht; \*.mhtml). Not all browsers can open these files.

These options are described in the following sections. Both examples use a simple two-sheet workbook file. Each sheet has a table and a chart. Figure 28.1 shows one of these worksheets.

Keep in mind that these files are intended to be only displayed by a Web browser. They are *not* interactive files. In other words, the user cannot make any changes while viewing the file.

#### FIGURE 28.1

This workbook will be saved in Excel Web formats.



### On the CD

This workbook, named webpage.xlsx, is available on the companion CD-ROM. ■

## **Creating an HTML file**

To save a workbook as an HTML file:

- 1. (Optional but recommended) Save the workbook as a normal Excel file.
- **2.** Choose File ⊐ Save As to display the Save As dialog box.
- 3. Select Web Page (\*.htm; \*.html) from the Save as Type drop-down list.
- 4. Specify what to save (either Entire Workbook or the active sheet).
- 5. Specify a filename and then choose a location for the file.
- **6.** Click Save to create the HTML file. Excel may display a message warning you that some features in the workbook are not compatible with the Web page format. You can just ignore this message.

### Caution

Although Excel can open the HTML files that it creates, essential information is lost. For example, formulas are lost, and charts appear as static graphic images. Therefore, if you might need to make changes later on, make sure you keep a copy of your work in a standard Excel file format. ■

Figure 28.2 shows how Sheet1 of the example file looks in a browser: Firefox, in this case. Notice that the workbook's sheet tabs appear along the bottom, and you can switch sheets just like you do in Excel.

In addition to the webpage1.htm file, Excel also created a folder named webpage1\_files. This folder contains additional files that must be kept with the main HTML file. Therefore, if you post such a file on a Web server, don't forget to also post the accompanying directory.

## Creating a single file Web page

In the previous section, I discuss how creating an HTML file with Excel also creates a folder of additional files. The procedure for creating a Web page that uses a single file is exactly the same, except for Step 3. In Step 3, select Single File Web Page (\*.mht; \*.mhtml) from the Save as Type drop-down list.

Figure 28.3 shows the example file displayed in Internet Explorer.

## Caution

As I mention previously, not all browsers can open single-file MHTM files. Two that can are Microsoft Internet Explorer (IE) and Opera. Other browsers (such as Firefox and Google Chrome) may require an add-on to display these files. ■

#### FIGURE 28.2

Viewing the HTML file in a browser.



## Web Options.

If you save your work in HTML format, you should be aware of some additional options. In the Save As dialog box, click Tools and then choose Web Options to display the Web Options dialog box. From this dialog box you can control some aspects of the HTML file, such as target browser version (Internet Explorer only), target monitor resolution, and fonts. Most of the time, the default settings work just fine. However, if you plan to save Excel files in HTML format, familiarizing yourself with the options available is worthwhile. These options are described in the Help system.

#### FIGURE 28.3

Viewing the single file Web page in Internet Explorer.



## **Opening an HTML File**

Excel can open most HTML files, which can be stored on your local drive or on a Web server. Choose File ↔ Open and locate the HTML file. If the file is on a Web server, you'll need to copy the URL and paste it into the File Name field in the Open dialog box.

How the HTML code renders in Excel varies considerably. Sometimes, the HTML file may look exactly as it does in a browser. Other times, it may bear little resemblance, especially if the HTML file uses Cascading Style Sheets (CSS) for layout.

After opening an HTML file, you can work with the information using the normal Excel tools.

Another way to open an HTML file from a Web server is to use a Web query, which is discussed later in this chapter (see "Using Web Queries").

## **Working with Hyperlinks**

A *hyperlink* is clickable text that provides a quick way to jump to other workbooks and files. You can set up hyperlinks to display files on your own computer, your network, and the Web. For example, you can create a series of hyperlinks to serve as a table of contents for a workbook. Or, you can insert a hyperlink that displays a Web page in the default Web browser.

## Inserting a hyperlink

You can create hyperlinks from cell text or graphic objects, such as shapes and pictures. To create a text hyperlink in a cell, select the cell and choose Insert ↔ Links ↔ Hyperlink (or press Ctrl+K). Excel responds with the Insert Hyperlink dialog box, as shown in Figure 28.4.

#### FIGURE 28.4

Use the Insert Hyperlink dialog box to add hyperlinks to your Excel worksheets.



Select an icon in the Link To column that represents the type of hyperlink you want to create. You can create hyperlinks to a file on your hard drive, a Web page on the Internet, a new document, or a location in your current workbook. In addition, you can create a hyperlink that consists of an e-mail address. Then, specify the location of the file that you want to link to. The dialog box changes, depending upon the icon selected. If you like, click the ScreenTip button to provide some additional text that appears as a mouse-hover–activated ToolTip. Click OK, and Excel creates the hyperlink in the active cell.

Figure 28.5 shows a worksheet with hyperlinks that function as a table of contents for a workbook. Clicking a link activates a worksheet in the workbook. The example also shows an e-mail address that when clicked, activates the default e-mail program.

The appearance of hyperlinks in cells is controlled by two styles in the Style Gallery. The Hyperlink style controls the appearance of hyperlinks that haven't been clicked, and the Followed Hyperlink style controls the appearance of "visited" hyperlinks. To change the appearance of your hyperlinks, modify either or both of those styles. See Chapter 6 for information about using and modifying document styles.

To add a hyperlink to a Shape, select the Shape and then choose Insert ➡ Links ➡ Hyperlink (or, press Ctrl+K). Specify the required information in the Insert Hyperlink dialog box, as outlined earlier in this section. (Read more about Shapes in Chapter 22.)

#### FIGURE 28.5

Hyperlinks in a workbook.

	A	В	С
1			
2		Workbook Contents	
3		Click a hyperlink to activate a regional worksheet	
4			
5		Region 1	
6		Region 2	
7		Region 3	
8		Region 4	
9		Region 5	
10			
11		Created by Mark J. Smith	
12		mjsmith@xyzcorp.com	
13			

## **Using hyperlinks**

When you hover your mouse pointer over a cell that contains a hyperlink, the mouse pointer turns into a hand. Click the hyperlink, and you're taken to the hyperlinked document.

## Tip

To select a cell that has a hyperlink with your mouse (without following the hyperlink), position your mouse over the cell, click, and hold for a second or two before you release the mouse button. Or just activate a nearby cell and use the navigation keys to select the cell that contains the hyperlink.

When you hover your pointer over a Shape that contains a hyperlink, the mouse pointer turns into a hand. To follow a hyperlink from a Shape, just point to the Shape and click.

If the hyperlink contains an e-mail address, your default e-mail program launches so that you can send an e-mail to the address specified when you created the hyperlink.

## **Using Web Queries**

Excel enables you to pull in data contained in an HTML file by performing a Web query. The data is transferred to a worksheet, where you can manipulate it any way you like. Web queries are especially useful for data that is frequently updated, such as stock market quotes.

The term "Web Query" is a bit misleading. You can perform a Web Query on a local HTML file, a file stored on a network server, or a file stored on a Web server on the Internet. To retrieve information from a Web server, you must be connected to the Internet. After the information is retrieved, an Internet connection is not required to work with the information (unless you need to refresh the query).

#### Note

## Performing a Web query doesn't actually open the HTML file in Excel. Rather, it copies the information from the HTML file. ■

The best part about a Web query is that Excel remembers where the data came from. Therefore, after you create a Web query, you can *refresh* the query to pull in the most recent data.

To create a Web query

- **1.** Choose Data ⇔ Get External Data ⇔ From Web. Excel displays the New Web Query dialog box, shown in Figure 28.6. This dialog box is actually a resizable dialog box that functions as a Web browser.
- **2.** Click links to navigate, or just type the URL of the HTML file in the Address field. The HTML file can be on the Internet, on a corporate intranet, or on a local or network drive. Each table in the document is indicated by an arrow in a yellow box.
- 3. Click an arrow to select the table or tables you want to import.
- **4.** You can also control how the imported data is formatted. In the New Web Query dialog box, click Options (upper right) to display the Web Query Options dialog box. Select the desired formatting and then click OK to return to the New Web Query dialog box.
- 5. When you're ready to retrieve the information, click Import.
- **6. In the Import Data dialog box that opens, choose where you want to place the data.** The information on the Web page is retrieved and placed on your worksheet.

After you create your Web query, you have some options. Right-click any cell in the data range and choose Data Range Properties from the shortcut menu. Excel displays the External Data Range Properties dialog box, shown in Figure 28.7. These settings control when the data is refreshed, how it is formatted, and what happens if the amount of data changes when the query is refreshed.

To force a refresh at any time, right-click any cell in the data range and choose Refresh. The data in your worksheet is replaced by the latest of content of the Web page.

#### FIGURE 28.6

Use the New Web Query dialog box to specify the source of the data.

ext to the tables you want t ency Rates icy tine Peso silan Dollar an Real	In US Dollar 0.26103	Per US Dollar	PLAY
ency Rates ncy tine Peso slian Dollar an Real	In US Dollar 0.26103	Per US Dollar	PLAY
ency Rates incy tine Peso alian Dollar an Real	In US Dollar 0.26103	Per US Dollar	STADT N
ncy tine Peso alian Dollar an Real	In US Dollar 0.26103	Per US Dollar	STADT NA
tine Peso alian Dollar an Real	0.26103	0.00400	<b>MART N</b>
alian Dollar an Real	0.04475	3.83100	
an Real	0.841/5	1.18800	
	0.55006	1.81800	
Pound	1.65755	0.60330	
lian Dollar	0.92022	1.08670	
e Yuan	0.14642	6.82960	
	1.42857	0.70000	
Kong Dollar	0.12903	7.75020	
Rupee	0.02081	48.05000	
ese Yen	0.01049	95.34000	
n Won	0.00081	1,235.24999	
an Peso	0.07774	12.86300	
in Rouble	0.03152	31.72910	
sh Krona	0.13985	7.15040	
Franc	0.93423	1.07040	
llar	1.00000	1.00000	
enerated 8/13/2009 4:07:30 advertisem	D PM eent		
nto currency trading			
e Currencies Online at F \$50,000 Practice Accour Currency Trading eBook	OREX.com nt at FOREX.com		
	"		•
		Import	Cancal
	e Yuan Kong Dollar Rupee See Yen Won n Peso n Rouble h Kona Franc Franc Franc Advertisen to currency trading C Currencies Online at F SO,000 Practice Accou Currency Trading eBool	e Yuan 0.14642 1.42857 Kong Dollar 0.12903 Rupee 0.02081 see Yen 0.01049 Won 0.000081 in Peso 0.07774 Rouble 0.03152 h Krona 0.13985 Franc 0.93423 ar 1.00000 nerated 8/13/2009 4:07:30 PM advertisement to currency trading c Currencies Online at FOREX.com Sto 0.000 Fractice Account Currency Trading eBook at FOREX.com	e Yuan 0.14642 6.82960 1.42857 0.70000 Kong Dollar 0.12903 7.755020 Rupee 0.02081 48.05000 see Yen 0.01049 95.34000 Won 0.00091 1,225.24999 in Peso 0.07774 12.86300 in Rouble 0.03152 31.72910 h Krona 0.13995 7.15940 Franc 0.93423 1.07040 lar 1.00000 1.00000 Inerated 8/13/2009 4:07:30 PM advertisement to currency trading © Currencies Online at FOREX.com S50,000 Practice Account Currency Trading eBook at FOREX.com the second

#### FIGURE 28.7

Use the External Data Range Properties dialog box to specify how Excel handles the imported data.

	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	Н	1
1									
2		Currency Rates							
3		Currency	In US Dollar	Per US Dollar					
4		Argentine Peso	0.26103	3.831					
5		Australian Dollar	0.84175	1.188					
6		Brazilian Real	0.55006						
7		British Pound	1.65755	External I	Data Range P	roperties		-2-6	×
8		Canadian Dollar	0.92022	Name:	exchangerate	s			
9		Chinese Yuan	0.14642	Oueru de	finition				
10		Euro	1.42857	Query de	nnition				
11		Hong Kong Dollar	0.12903	V Sav	e guery denni	lon			
12		Indian Rupee	0.02081	Sav	e passworu				
13		Japanese Yen	0.01049	Refresh c	ontrol				
14		Korean Won	0.00081	2 Ena	ble backgroun	d refresh			
15		Mexican Peso	0.07774	E Refi	esh every	60 🗘 m	ninutes		
16		Russian Rouble	0.03152	🖂 Refi	esh data whe	n opening th	e file		
17		Swedish Krona	0.13985		Remove exter	nal data fron	n worksheet b	pefore closing	
18		Swiss Franc	0.93423	Data form	natting and lay	out			- 11
19		US Dollar	1	√ Incl	ude field name	s Pre	serve column	sort/filter/layo	ut
20				Indi	ude row numb	ers 🔽 Pre	gerve cell for	natting	
21				🗹 Adju	ust column wid	th			
22				If the n	umber of rows	in the data	range change	es upon refrest	n:
23				•	Insert <u>c</u> ells for	new data, d	ielete unused	cells	
24				0	Insert entire r	o <u>w</u> s for new	data, dear u	nused cells	
25				0	<u>O</u> verwrite exis	ting cells wit	h new data, (	clear unused ce	ells
26				E Fill d	lown formulas	in columns a	diacent to da	ta	
27						_			
28							OK	Cancel	
29							_		

## **Other Internet-Related Features**

Excel offers a few other Internet-related features, which I briefly describe here. Access these features from the Share tab of Backstage View (choose File Share). Figure 28.8 shows the Share options:

- Send Using E-Mail: Enables you to send the active workbook to one or more recipients via e-mail. The file can be the actual workbook, a PDF file, or an XPS file. If the workbook is saved to a shared location, you can send a link to the file (rather than the actual file). An additional option lets you fax the workbook (assuming that your system has a fax service provider).
- Save to SkyDrive: If you have a SkyDrive account, you can save the workbook to a folder on the Internet, where it can be accessed by others. *SkyDrive* is a free service offered by Microsoft (part of Windows Live). Go to www.windowslive.com for details.
- Save to SharePoint: Publish the workbook to your SharePoint server. A *SharePoint server* is a central location where files can be shared and worked on in collaborative manner. Check with your system administrator to see whether you have access to a SharePoint server.
- Publish to Excel Services: Excel Services also requires a SharePoint server.

#### FIGURE 28.8

The Share tab of Backstage View.



# CHAPTER

## Sharing Data with Other Office Applications

he applications in Microsoft Office are designed to work together. These programs have a common look and feel, and sharing data among these applications is usually quite easy.

Excel can import and export a variety of different file types. Besides sharing data using files, you can also transfer data to and from other open Windows applications in several other ways:

- Copy and paste, using either the Windows Clipboard or the Office Clipboard. Copying and pasting information creates a static copy of the data.
- Create a link so that subsequent changes in the source data will be reflected in the destination document.
- Embed an entire object from one application into another application's document.

This chapter explores some ways in which you can make use of other applications while working with Excel, as well as some ways in which you can use Excel while working with other applications.

## **Copying and Pasting**

Copying information from one Windows application to another is quite easy. The application that contains the information that you're copying is the *source application*, and the application to which you're copying the information is the *destination application*.

## **IN THIS CHAPTER**

Understanding data sharing

Pasting and linking data

Embedding objects in a worksheet

Embedding a workbook in a Word document

Here are the general steps that are required to copy from one application to another:

- **1.** Activate the source document window that contains the information that you want to copy.
- 2. Select the information, using the mouse or the keyboard.
- **3.** If the source application is a Microsoft Office 2010 application, choose Home ⇔ Clipboard ⇔ Copy. Most other applications have an Edit ⇔ Copy menu command. In most cases, pressing Ctrl+C works as well. The selection is copied to the Clipboard.

### Tip

You also can choose Home ⇔ Clipboard ⇔ Cut (or Edit ⇔ Cut) from the source application menu. This step deletes your selection from the source application after placing the selection on the Clipboard. ■

- **4.** Activate the destination application. If the program isn't running, you can usually start it without affecting the contents of the Clipboard.
- **5.** Move to the appropriate position in the destination application (where you want to paste the copied material).
- 6. If the destination application is a Microsoft Office 2010 application, choose Home ↔ Clipboard ↔ Paste. Most other applications have an Edit ↔ Paste command, and you can usually use Ctrl+V to paste. If the Clipboard contents aren't appropriate for pasting, the Paste command is disabled. You can sometimes select other paste options by choosing Home ↔ Clipboard ↔ Paste (or Edit ↔ Paste Special).

## Note

If you repeat Step 3 in any Office application, the Office Clipboard task pane appears automatically. If it doesn't appear, click the dialog launcher in the Home ⇔ Clipboard group. Use the Options button at the bottom of the Office Clipboard to control when this task pane appears. ■

## Two Clipboards\_

If you copy or cut information while working in a Microsoft Office application, the application places the copied information on both the Windows Clipboard *and* the Office Clipboard. After you copy information to the Windows Clipboard, it remains on the Windows Clipboard even after you paste it so that you can use it multiple times.

Because the Windows Clipboard can hold only one item at a time, when you copy or cut something else, the information previously stored on the Windows Clipboard is replaced. The Office Clipboard, unlike the Windows Clipboard, can hold up to 24 separate selections. The Office Clipboard operates in all Office applications; for example, you can copy two selections from Word and three from Excel and paste any or all of them in PowerPoint.

## **Cross-Reference**

See Chapter 4 for more information about the Office Clipboard. ■

## **Copying from Excel to Word**

One of the most frequently used software combinations is a spreadsheet and a word processor. This section describes some of the ways to copy information from an Excel worksheet to a Word document. Although I talk about Word here, most of the information in this section also applies to PowerPoint.

Generally speaking, you can copy something from Excel and paste it into Word in one of two ways:

- As static information: If the Excel data changes, the changes aren't reflected in the Word document.
- As a link: If the Excel data changes, the changes are shown in the Word document.

You can find all the various paste options for Word in the Paste drop-down list of Word's Home Clipboard group. In addition, various paste options are available from the Paste Special dialog box, which appears when you choose Home ♣ Clipboard ♣ Paste ♣ Paste Special.

## Note

If you use Word's standard paste command (Home c Clipboard c Paste, or Ctrl+V), you'll find that the paste method varies, depending on what is pasted. An Excel range copied and pasted to Word is pasted as a static table. An Excel chart, on the other hand, is pasted as a link. ■

## Pasting static information

Often, you don't need a link when you copy data from Excel to Word. For example, if you're preparing a report in your word processor and you simply want to include a range of data from an Excel worksheet, you probably don't need to create a link (unless the data in the Excel worksheet may be changed).

After you've copied an Excel range, activate Word and choose Home 
Clipboard 
Paste, or press Ctrl+V. The range appears as a Word table and is not linked to the Excel workbook.

### **New Feature**

When you paste information from Excel into a Word document, Word 2010 displays a Paste Options Smart Tag, shown in Figure 29.1. This lets you choose a formatting option for the pasted information. ■

A Paste Options Smart Tag appears when you paste Excel 2010 data into a Word 2010 document.

	reb	Jan	
3,301	3,478	3,453	
3,224	3,246	3,000	
3,299	3,221	3,039	
3,263	3,255	3,282	
3.023	3.217	3.218	
3 011	3 024	3 177	1
3 209	3 482	3 348	-
3 447	3 252	3 3 27	1
2.074	2 026	2 4 26	-
3,074	3,020	3,420	-
	3,301 3,224 3,299 3,263 3,023 3,011 3,209 3,447 3,074	3,301         3,478           3,224         3,246           3,299         3,221           3,263         3,255           3,023         3,217           3,011         3,024           3,209         3,482           3,447         3,252           3,074         3,026	3,301         3,478         3,453           3,224         3,246         3,000           3,299         3,221         3,039           3,263         3,255         3,282           3,023         3,217         3,218           3,011         3,024         3,177           3,209         3,482         3,348           3,447         3,252         3,327           3,074         3,026         3,426

For more control over pasting, use Home ⇔ Clipboard ⇔ Paste ⇔ Paste Special, which displays the Paste Special dialog box (see Figure 29.2).

#### FIGURE 29.2

The Paste Special dialog box in Word.

Paste Special		? 🗙
Source: Micros Sheet	oft Excel Worksheet 1!R1C1:R11C4	
	<u>A</u> s:	
Paste link:	Microsoft Excel Worksheet Object Formatted Text (RTF) Unformatted Text Picture (Windows Metafile) Bitmap Picture (Enhanced Metafile) Efficie Format Unformatted Unicode Text	Display as icon
Result	serts the contents of the Clipboard as HTML Format.	
		OK Cancel

Notice the two option buttons: Paste and Paste Link. If you select one of the choices in the Paste Special dialog box with the Paste option selected, the data is pasted without creating a link.

The paste options in Word's Paste Special dialog box when a range is copied include

- **Microsoft Excel Worksheet Object:** You can edit this object with Excel. Double-click, and the Word Ribbon is replaced with the Excel Ribbon. See "Embedding an Excel range in a Word document," later in this chapter.
- Formatted Text (RTF): The range is pasted as a table, with some formatting retained.
- **Unformatted Text:** Only the raw information is pasted, with no formatting. Cells are separated with a Tab character.
- Picture (Windows Metafile): The range is pasted as a picture.
- **Bitmap:** The range is pasted as a picture.
- Picture (Enhanced Metafile): The range is pasted as a picture.
- HTML Format: The range is pasted as a table, with all formatting retained. This format is pasted when you choose Home ↔ Clipboard ↔ Paste.
- **Unformatted Unicode Text:** Only the raw information is pasted, with no formatting. Cells are separated with a Tab character.

If you've copied an Excel chart to the Clipboard, Word's Paste Special dialog box displays different options. Figure 29.3 shows the Paste Special dialog box when an Excel chart is copied. The options are

- **Microsoft Excel Chart Object:** You can edit this object with Excel. Double-click, and the Word Ribbon is replaced with the Excel Ribbon.
- Picture (Windows Metafile): The chart is pasted as a picture.
- **Bitmap:** The chart is pasted as bitmap image.
- Picture (Enhanced Metafile): The chart is pasted as a picture.
- **Picture (GIF):** The chart is pasted as a GIF image.
- Picture (PNG): The chart is pasted as a PNG (Portable Network Graphics) image.
- **Picture (JPEG):** The chart is pasted as a JPEG image, which usually results in a fuzzy image.
- Microsoft Office Graphic Object: The image is linked to the Excel range, and you can also edit it in Word. This format is pasted when you choose Home ↔ Clipboard ↔ Paste.

Word paste options when an Excel chart is on the Clipboard.

Paste Special		8 8
Source: Micros C:\Us	soft Excel Chart ers\John\Documents\Word Files\Excel 2010 Bible\Examples\Chapt	
	As:	
● <u>P</u> aste: ○ Paste link:	Microsoft Excel Chart Object Picture (Windows Metafile) Bitmap Picture (Enhanced Metafile) Picture (GIF) Picture (PKG) Picture (PEG) Microsoft Office Graphic Object	as icon
Result		
	nserts the contents of the Clipboard as shapes.	
	ОК	Cancel

## **Pasting a link**

If the Excel data that you're copying will change, you may want to paste a link. Use the Paste Link option in the Paste Special dialog box.

When would you want to use this technique? If you generate proposals using Word, for example, you may need to refer to pricing information that you store in an Excel worksheet. If you set up a link between your Word document and the Excel worksheet, you can be sure that your proposals always quote the latest prices.

The link is a one-way link. You cannot make changes to the linked Excel worksheet in Word.

If you paste the data by using the Paste Link option in the Paste Special dialog box, you can make changes to the source document, and those changes appear in the destination application. You can test these changes by displaying both applications onscreen, making changes to the source document, and watching for them to appear in the destination document.

#### Caution

You can break links rather easily. For example, if you move the source document to another directory or save it under a different name, the destination document's application can't update the link. In such a case, you need to re-establish the link manually (described later in this section). ■

Figure 29.4 shows the Word Paste Special dialog box when an Excel range has been copied and the Paste Link option is specified. Note that, with one exception, these options are the same ones available when you select the Paste option. The only format that isn't available for pasting a link is Picture (Enhanced Metafile).

The Word paste link options for an Excel range.

Paste Special		8 2
Source: Micros Sheet	soft Excel Worksheet t1!R1C1:R11C4	
	As:	
<ul> <li>○ <u>P</u>aste:</li> <li>● Paste link:</li> </ul>	Microsoft Excel Worksheet Object Formatted Text (RTF) Unformatted Text Picture (Windows Metafile) Bitmap Word HypeInik HTML Format Unformatted Unicode Text	<u>D</u> isplay as icon
Result		
Ir ir	nserts the contents of the Clipboard as HTML Format. Paste Link creates a shortcut to the source file. Changes to the n your document.	source file will be reflected
		OK Cancel

When an Excel chart is on the Clipboard, you can also choose the Paste Link option from Word's Paste Special dialog box.

#### Note

When you paste an Excel chart to Word using the Microsoft Office Graphic Object option, only the chart's data is linked. All other modifications (such as formatting or changing the chart type) aren't reflected in the copy pasted in the Word document. When you activate the chart in Word, you can use the Chart Tools contextual menu to make changes to the chart.

To edit (or break) a link, activate Word and choose File ⇔ Info ⇔ Edit Links To Files, which displays the Links dialog box shown in Figure 29.5. Select the file from the Source File list and then click the Break Link button. After breaking a link, the data remains in the destination document, but it's no longer linked to the source document.

If the link has been broken (for example, the source file was moved or renamed), use the Change Source button to specify the source file and re-establish the link.

If the link isn't showing updated information from the source file, you can force an update by using the Update Now button.

Use Word's Links dialog box to modify or break links.

Links				? 🗙				
Source file	Item	Туре	Update					
C:\\region3.xlsx	Sheet1!R1C1	R Worksheet	Auto 🔺	Update Now				
C: \ yegions.xisx	UK	Chart	Mari	Open Source				
				Change Source				
				Break Link				
Source information for sele	cted link							
Source file: C:\Users\John\Documents\Word Files\Excel 2010 Bible\Examples\Chapter 27\region3.xlsx Item in file: Sheet1RICLR1IC4 Jink tyne: Winroshf Office Evrel 97-2003 Worksheet								
Update method for selected	d link							
Automatic update								
Manual update								
Locked								
Options for selected link								
✓ Save picture in docum	ent							
Preserve formatting a	fter update							
			0	Cancel				

## **Embedding Objects in a Worksheet**

Using *Object Linking and Embedding* (OLE), you can also embed an object to share information between Windows applications. This technique enables you to insert an object from another program and use that program's editing tools to manipulate it. The OLE objects can be such items as

- Text documents from other products, such as word processors
- Drawings or pictures from other products
- Information from special OLE server applications, such as Microsoft Equation
- Sound files
- Video or animation files

Many (but certainly not all) Windows applications support OLE. Embedding is often used for a document that you will distribute to others. It can eliminate the need to send multiple document files and help avoid broken link problems.

To embed an object into an Excel workbook, choose Insert ↔ Text ↔ Object, which displays the Object dialog box. This dialog box has two tabs: one for creating a new object and one for creating an object from an existing file.

## **Embedding Word documents**

To embed an empty Word document into an Excel worksheet, choose Insert I Text I Object in Excel. In the Object dialog box, click the Create New tab and then select Microsoft Office Word Document from the Object type list.

The result is a blank Word document, activated and ready for you to enter text. Notice that Word's Ribbon replaces Excel's Ribbon, giving you access to all of Word's features.

To embed a copy of an existing Word file, click the Create from File tab in the Object dialog box and then locate the file on your hard drive. The Word document is inserted into your Excel worksheet. Double-click the document to display the Word Ribbon.

## **Embedding other types of documents**

You can embed many other types of objects, including audio clips, video clips, MIDI sequences, and even an entire Microsoft PowerPoint presentation.

Figure 29.6 shows an MP3 audio file embedded in a worksheet. Clicking the object plays the song on the default MP3 player.

#### FIGURE 29.6

An MP3 file embedded in a worksheet.

	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	Γ	
1									
2									
3			Click below to play some music while you work.						
4									
5				63					
6			05 - The	Haints -Fad					
7			05 1110		ickiicy.imp5				
8									

## Tip

Some of the object types listed in the Object dialog box can result in quite useful and interesting items when inserted into an Excel worksheet. If you're not sure what an object type is, try adding the object to a blank Excel workbook to see what is available. Keep in mind that not all the objects listed in this dialog box actually work with Excel. Attempting to use some of them may even crash Excel. ■

## Embedding an Excel Workbook in a Word Document

You can embed an Excel workbook in a Word document in three ways:

- Copy a range and use Word's Paste Special dialog box.
- Open an existing Excel file using Word's Object dialog box.
- Create a new Excel workbook using Word's Object dialog box.

The following sections cover these methods.

## Embedding a workbook in Word by copying

The example in this section describes how to embed an Excel workbook (shown in Figure 29.7) in a Word document.

#### FIGURE 29.7

This workbook will be embedded in a Word document.

4	A	В	С	D
1				
2				
3	Region 💽	Manager 💽 🔽	ID 🔹	
4	Region 1	Logan Tipton	L12172	
5	Region 2	David D. Hill	D13168	
б	Region 3	Rene Martin	R1139	
7	Region 4	Janet Crane	J1169	
8	Region 5	Albert Thomas	A13124	
9	Region 6	Angel K. Bluhm	A1424	
10	Region 7	Carol P. Barger	C15118	
11	Region 8	Cassie Jones	C1287	
12	Region 9	Lori V. Moore	L1315	
13	Region 10	Jeffrey P. Moore	J1688	
14	Region 11	Beverly Glenn	B1360	
15	Region 12	Henry Baker	H1117	
16				
17				

To start, select A3:C15 and copy the range to the Clipboard. Then activate (or start) Word, open the document in which you want to embed the range, and move the insertion point to the location in the document where you want the table to appear. Choose Word's Home ↔ Clipboard ↔ Paste ↔ Paste Special command. Select the Paste option (not the Paste Link option) and then choose the Microsoft Excel Worksheet Object format. Click OK, and the range appears in the Word document. Although it appears that only the range is embedded, the entire Excel workbook is actually embedded.

If you double-click the embedded object, you notice that Word's Ribbon is replaced by the Excel Ribbon. In addition, the embedded object appears with Excel's familiar row and column borders. In other words, you can edit this object *in place* by using Excel's commands. Figure 29.8 shows the Word document after double-clicking the embedded Excel workbook. To return to Word, just click anywhere in the Word document.

#### FIGURE 29.8

Double-clicking the embedded Excel object enables you to edit it in place. Note that Word now displays Excel's Ribbon.

He	ome Insert Page	Layout Formu	las Data	Review	View	Developer
×	Calibri - 11	- A		Gen	eral 🔻	Condition
		AA		- <b>\$</b>	- %,	Format as
Paste	B <i>I</i> <u>U</u> ▼	<u></u> → A • ₹		0.⇒ ⊤ 1P∢	.00 ->-0	Cell Styles
Clipboard 🕞	Font	G.	Alignment	S Nu	mber 🕞	St
B7	<del>-</del> (°	f <sub>x</sub> Carol P. E	arger			
	<b>Region</b> Following i	al Repor	<b>t</b> nt regional	managers.		
	A		B		C	
	3 Region	Manage	r	J ID	-	
	4 Region 5	Albert T	homas	A13124		
	5 Region 6	Angel K	Bluhm	A1424		
	6 Region 11	Beverly	Glenn	B1360		
	7 Region 7	Carol P.	Barger	C15118		
	8 Region 8	Cassie J	ones	C1287		
	9 Region 2	David D	Hill	D13168		
	10 Region 12	Henry B	aker	H1117		
	11 Region 4	Janet Cr	ane	J1169		
	12 Region 10	Jeffrey	P. Moore	J1688		
	13 Region 1	Logan T	pton	L12172		
	14 Region 9	Lori V. N	loore	L1315		
	15 Region 3	Rene M	artin	R1139		-
	Shee	t1				
Double-click to	Edit Microsoft Excel Wo	rksheet				

## Caution

Remember that no link is involved here. If you make changes to the embedded object in Word, these changes don't appear in the original Excel worksheet. Because the embedded object is a copy of the original workbook, it is completely independent from the original source. ■

You may have noticed that Microsoft Excel Worksheet Object also appears in the Paste Special dialog box when you select the Paste Link option. If you paste the range using this option, the workbook isn't embedded in the Word document. When you double-click the object, Excel is activated so that you can edit the workbook.

## Embedding a saved workbook in Word

Another way to embed an Excel workbook in a Word document is to choose Insert  $\Rightarrow$  Text  $\Rightarrow$  Object in Word, which displays the Object dialog box. Select the Create from File tab, click Browse and locate the Excel document. When you click OK, a copy of the workbook is embedded in the document. No link is created.

#### Note

If you select the Link to File check box in the Object dialog box, you create a link to the workbook. In such a case, double-clicking the object in Word activates Excel so that you can edit the workbook. ■

## Creating a new Excel object in Word

The preceding examples embed an existing workbook into a Word document. This section demonstrates how to create a new (empty) Excel object in Word, which is useful if you're creating a report and need to insert a table of values. If those values aren't available in an existing Excel workbook, you can embed a new Excel object and type them.

### Tip

## You could insert a normal Word table, but you can take advantage of Excel's formulas and functions in an embedded Excel worksheet. ■

To create a new Excel object in a Word document, choose Insert ➡ Text ➡ Object in Word. Word responds with the Object dialog box. Click the Create New tab, and you see a list of the types of objects that you can create. Select Microsoft Office Excel Worksheet from the list and then click OK.

Word inserts an empty Excel worksheet object into the document and activates it for you. Again, you have full access to the Excel Ribbon, so you can enter whatever you want into the worksheet object. After you finish, click anywhere in the Word document. You can double-click this object at any time to make changes or additions.

You can change the size of the object while it's activated by dragging any of the sizing handles (the little black squares and rectangles) that appear on the borders of the object.

## Using Excel in a Workgroup

ost people who use a computer in an office connect to others via a network. In fact, networks are also common in homes. By enabling users to easily share data (and peripheral devices), networks make it much easier for you to work together with several people on projects. Excel has a number of features that facilitate this type of cooperation, and those features are the subject of this chapter.

## Note

If you're working on a corporate network, you may need to consult with your network administrator before using any of the features described in this chapter. ■

## Using Excel on a Network

A computer *network* consists of two or more PCs that are linked electronically. You can perform these tasks on a network:

- Access files on other systems.
- Share files with other users.
- Share resources, such as printers, scanners, and fax modems.
- Communicate with each other electronically.

Excel has tools that enable you to work cooperatively with other Excel users on a project.

## **IN THIS CHAPTER**

**CHAPTER** 

Using Excel on a network

Understanding file reservations

Using shared workbooks

Tracking changes in a workbook



## **Understanding File Reservations**

Networks provide you with the ability to share information stored on other computer systems. Sharing files on a network has two major advantages:

- It eliminates the need to have multiple copies of a file stored locally on user PCs.
- It ensures that the file is always up to date. For example, a group of users can work on a single document, as opposed to everyone working on his or her own document and then merging them.

## Note

Some networks — generally known as client-server networks — designate specific computers as file servers. On these types of networks, the shared data files are typically stored on the file server. Excel doesn't care whether you're working on a client-server or a peer-to-peer network (where all the PCs have essentially equal functions). ■

Some software applications are *multiuser applications*. Most database software applications, for example, enable multiple users to work simultaneously on the same database files. One user may be updating customer records in the database, while another is extracting information for a report. But what if two users attempt to change a particular customer record at the same time? Multiuser database software contains record-locking safeguards that ensure that only one user at a time can modify a particular record.

Excel, however, is *not* a multiuser application. When you open an Excel file, the entire file is loaded into memory. If the file is accessible to other users, you wouldn't want someone else to change the stored copy of a file that you've opened. If Excel allowed you to open and change a file that someone else on a network had already opened, the following scenario could happen.

Assume that your company keeps its sales information in an Excel file that is stored on a network server. Esther wants to add this week's data to the file, so she loads it from the server and begins adding new information. A few minutes later, Jim loads the file to correct some errors that he noticed last week. Esther finishes her work and saves the file. Later, Jim finishes his corrections and saves the file. Jim's file overwrites the copy that Esther saved, and her additions are gone.

This scenario *can't happen* because Excel uses a concept known as *file reservation*. When Esther opens the sales workbook, she has the reservation for the file. When Jim tries to open the file, Excel informs him that Esther is using the file. If he insists on opening it, Excel opens the file as *read-only*. In other words, Jim can open the file, but he can't save it with the same name.

Figure 30.1 shows the message that appears if you try to open a file that is in use by someone else.

#### FIGURE 30.1

The File in Use dialog box appears if you try to open a file that someone else is using.

File in Use	? X
regional report.xlsx is locked for editing	Read Only
by 'John'.	Notify
Open 'Read-Only' or click 'Notify' to open read-only and receive notification when the document is no longer in use.	Cancel

The File in Use dialog box has three choices:

- **Click Cancel, wait a while, and try again.** You may call the person who has the file reservation and ask when the file will be available.
- Click Read Only. Open the file to read it, but you cannot save changes to the same filename.
- **Click Notify.** This opens the file as read-only. Excel later pops up a message that notifies you when the person who has the file reservation is finished using the file.

Figure 30.2 shows the message that appears when the file is available. If you open the file as Read-Write, you receive another message if you makes any changes to this read-only version. You will have an opportunity to discard your changes or to save his file with a new name.

#### FIGURE 30.2

The File Now Available dialog box pops up with a new message when the file is available for editing.

File Now Available	? X
'regional report.xlsx' is now available for editing. Choose Read-Write to open it for editing.	Read- <u>W</u> rite
	Cancel

## **Sharing Workbooks**

Although Excel isn't a true multiuser application, it does support a feature known as *shared workbooks*, which enables multiple users to work on the same workbook simultaneously. Excel keeps track of the changes and provides appropriate prompts to handle conflicts.

### Caution

Although the ability to share workbooks sounds great in theory, it can be confusing if more than a few users are sharing a single workbook. Also, be warned that this feature has been known to cause problems, and it's certainly not 100-percent reliable. Therefore, use caution and make frequent backup copies of your workbooks. ■

## Understanding shared workbooks

You can share any Excel workbook with any number of users. Here are a few examples of workbooks that work well as shared workbooks:

- **Project tracking:** You may have a workbook that contains status information for projects. If multiple people are involved in the project, they can make changes and updates to the parts that are relevant to them.
- **Customer lists:** With a customer list, records are often added, deleted, and modified by multiple users.
- **Consolidations:** You may create a budget workbook in which each department manager is responsible for his or her department's budget. Usually, each department's budget appears on a separate worksheet, with one sheet serving as the consolidation sheet.

If you plan to designate a workbook as shared, be aware that Excel imposes quite a few restrictions on the workbook. For example, a shared workbook cannot contain tables (created with Insert 🕫 Tables 🗘 Table).

In addition, you can't perform any of the following actions while sharing the workbook. You can tell that these actions are not allowed because the relevant commands are disabled on the Ribbon.

- Delete worksheets or chart sheets.
- Insert or delete a blocks of cells. However, you can insert or delete entire rows and columns.
- Merge cells.
- Define or apply conditional formats.
- Change or delete array formulas.
- Set up or change data validation restrictions and messages.
- Insert or change charts, pictures, drawings, objects, or hyperlinks.
- Assign or modify a password to protect individual worksheets or the entire workbook.
- Create or modify pivot tables, scenarios, outlines, or data tables.
- Insert automatic subtotals.
- Write, change, view, record, or assign macros. However, you can record a macro while a shared workbook is active as long as you store the macro in another unshared workbook (such as your Personal Macro Workbook).

## Tip

You may want to choose Review ⇔ Protect Sheet to further control what users can do while working in a shared workbook. ■

## Caution

If you save an Excel 2010 shared workbook to an earlier version file format (such as \*.xls), sharing is turned off, and the revision history (if any) is lost. ■

## Designating a workbook as a shared workbook

To designate a workbook as a shared workbook, choose Review ⇔ Changes ⇔ Share Workbook. Excel displays the Share Workbook dialog box, shown in Figure 30.3. This dialog box has two tabs: Editing and Advanced. On the Editing tab, select the Allow Changes check box to allow changes by multiple users and then click OK. Excel then prompts you to save the workbook.

When you open a shared workbook, the workbook window's title bar displays [Shared]. If you no longer want other users to be able to use the workbook, remove the check mark from the Editing tab of the Share Workbook dialog box and save the workbook.

## Tip

Whenever you're working with a shared workbook, you can find out whether any other users are working on the workbook. Choose Review ⇔ Changes ⇔ Share Workbook, and the Editing tab of the Share Workbook dialog box lists the names of the other users who have the file open, as well as the time that each user opened the workbook. ■

#### FIGURE 30.3

Use the Share Workbook dialog box to control the sharing of your workbooks.

Share Wor	kbook	? X
Editing	Advanced	
Allow also a	changes by more than one user at the same llows workbook merging.	time. This
Who has	this workbook open now:	
John (Ex	dusive) - 8/16/2009 9:33 AM	<b>^</b>
		*
	Rer	nove User
	OK	Cancel

## Sharing a Workbook with Yourself.

If you plan to use shared workbooks, spend time experimenting with the various settings to ensure that you understand how sharing works. You don't need to enlist a colleague to help you — you can share a workbook with yourself. Just launch a second instance of Excel and then open a shared workbook in both instances. Make changes, save the file, adjust the settings, and so on. Before long, you'll have a good understanding of Excel's shared workbooks.

## Controlling the advanced sharing settings

Excel enables you to set options for shared workbooks. Choose Review 🖒 Changes 🖒 Share Workbook and click the Advanced tab of the Share Workbook dialog box to access these options (see Figure 30.4).

#### FIGURE 30.4

Use the Advanced tab of the Share Workbook dialog box to set the advanced sharing options for your workbook.

Share Workbook	? ×
Editing Advanced	
Track changes	
Don't keep change history	
Update changes	
<ul> <li>When file is saved</li> </ul>	
<u>Automatically every:</u> 15 → minutes	
Save my changes and see others' changes	
<ul> <li>Just see other users' changes</li> </ul>	
Conflicting changes between users	
<ul> <li>Ask me which changes win</li> </ul>	
The changes being saved win	
Include in personal view	
Print settings	
Eilter settings	
ОК	Cancel

#### **Tracking changes**

Excel can keep track of the workbook's changes: its *change history*. When you designate a workbook as a shared workbook, Excel automatically turns on the Change History option, enabling you to view information about previous (and perhaps conflicting) changes to the workbook. You can turn off change history by selecting the Don't Keep Change History button. You can also specify the number of days for which Excel tracks change history.

#### **Updating changes**

While you're working on a shared workbook, you can choose File  $\Rightarrow$  Save to update the workbook with your changes. The Update Changes settings determine what happens when you save a shared workbook:

- When File Is Saved: You receive updates from other users when you save your copy of the shared workbook.
- Automatically Every: Lets you specify a time period for receiving updates from other users of the workbook. You can also specify whether Excel should save your changes automatically, too, or just show you the changes made by other users.

#### **Resolving conflicting changes between users**

As you may expect, multiple users working on the same file can result in some conflicts. For example, assume that you're working on a shared customer information workbook, and another user also has the workbook open. If you and the other user both make a change to the same cell, a conflict occurs. You can specify the manner in which Excel resolves the conflicts by selecting one of two options from the Advanced tab of the Share Workbook dialog box:

- Ask Me Which Changes Win: If you select this option, Excel displays a dialog box to let you determine how to settle the conflict.
- The Changes Being Saved Win: If you select this option, the most recently saved version always takes precedence.

## Caution

The second option, The Changes Being Saved Win, has slightly deceptive wording. Even if the other user saves his changes, any changes you make will automatically override his changes when you save the workbook. This option may result in a loss of data because you won't have any warning that you've overwritten another user's changes. ■

#### **Controlling the Include in Personal View settings**

The final section of the Advanced tab of the Share Workbook dialog box enables you to specify settings that are specific to your view of the shared workbook. You can choose to use your own print settings and your own data-filtering settings. If you don't enable these check boxes, you can't save your own print and filter settings.

## **Tracking Workbook Changes**

Excel has a feature that enables you to track changes made to a workbook. You may want to use this feature if you send a workbook to someone for reviewing. When the file is returned, you can see what changes were made and then accept or reject them accordingly.

## **Turning Track Changes on and off**

To enable change tracking, choose Review ➡ Changes ➡ Track Changes ➡ Highlight Changes, which displays the Highlight Changes dialog box, shown in Figure 30.5. Then select the Track Changes While Editing check box.

#### FIGURE 30.5

Use the Highlight Changes dialog box to track changes made to a workbook.

Highlight Changes					
Track changes	Track changes while editing. This also shares your workbook.				
Highlight which	changes				
♥ Whe <u>n</u> :	All				
Wh <u>o</u> :	Everyone 💌				
Where:					
Highlight	<b>changes on screen</b> ges on a new sheet				
	OK Cancel				

You can also specify the period to track (When), which users to track (Who), and specify a range of cells to track (Where). If you enable the Highlight Changes on Screen option, each changed cell displays a small triangle in its upper-left corner. And when a changed cell is selected, you see a cell comment that describes what change was made (see Figure 30.6).

After you select the option(s) that you want, click OK to close the Highlight Changes dialog box and enable tracking. To stop tracking changes, choose Review ⇔ Changes ⇔ Track Changes ⇒ Highlight Changes again, and then clear the Track Changes While Editing check box.

#### Caution

When tracking changes is enabled, the workbook always becomes a shared workbook, which severely limits the types of changes you can make. Shared workbooks are discussed earlier in this chapter (see "Sharing Workbooks").

#### FIGURE 30.6

Excel displays a descriptive note when you select a cell that has changed.

	A	В	С	D	E	F	G
1		January					
2	Region 1	32,874					
3	Region 2	87,109	8/16/2009 9:40	∆м∙			
4	Region 3	109,344	Changed cell B4 fro	m			
5			'109,433.00' to				
6			109,344.00				
7							
8							
9							
10							
11							
12							
13							
14							
15							

Keep in mind the following when using the Track Changes feature:

- Changes made to cell contents are tracked, but other changes (such as formatting changes) aren't tracked.
- The change history is kept only for a set interval. When you turn on Track Changes, changes are kept for 30 days. You can increase or decrease the number of days of history to keep in from Highlight Changes dialog box (use the When setting).
- If you would like to generate a list of the changes made, choose Review ➡ Changes ➡ Track Changes ➡ Highlight Changes and then enable the List Changes on a New Sheet check box. Click OK, and Excel inserts a new worksheet named History. This sheet shows detailed information about each change made.
- Only one level of changes is maintained. Thus, if you change the value of a cell several times, only the most recent change is remembered.

## **Reviewing the changes**

To review the changes made while using the Track Changes features, choose Review ↔ Changes ↔ Track Changes ↔ Accept/Reject Changes. The Select Changes to Accept or Reject dialog box appears, enabling you to select the types of changes that you want to review. This dialog box is similar to the Highlight Changes dialog box. You can specify When, Who, and Where.

Click OK, and Excel displays each change in a new dialog box, as shown in Figure 30.7. You then click Accept to accept the change or click Reject to reject the change. You can also click Accept All (to accept all changes) or Reject All (to reject all changes).

#### FIGURE 30.7

The Accept or Reject Changes dialog box displays information about each cell that was changed.

Accept or Reject Changes	x
Change 1 of 3 made to this document:	
John Walkenbach, 8/16/2009 9:40 AM:	
Changed cell B3 from '87,901.00' to '87,109.00'.	H
Accept Reject All Close	]•

## CHAPTER 3]

## **Protecting Your Work**

The concept of "protection" gets a lot of attention in the Excel newsgroups and forums. It seems that many users want to learn how to protect their workbooks from being copied or modified. Excel has several protection-related features, and those features are covered in this chapter.

## **Types of Protection**

Excel's protection-related features fall into three categories:

- Worksheet protection: Protecting a worksheet from being modified, or restricting the modifications to certain users
- Workbook protection: Protecting a workbook from having sheets inserted or deleted, and also requiring the use of password to open the workbook
- Visual Basic (VB) protection: Using a password to prevent others from viewing or modifying your VBA code

## Caution

Before I discuss these features, you should understand the notion of security. Using a password to protect some aspect of your work doesn't guarantee that it's secure. Password-cracking utilities (and some simple tricks) have been around for a long time. Using passwords work in the vast majority of cases, but if someone is truly intent on getting to your data, he or she can usually find a way. If absolute security is critical, perhaps Excel isn't the proper tool. ■

## **IN THIS CHAPTER**

**Protecting worksheets** 

**Protecting workbooks** 

**Protecting Visual Basic Projects** 

Other related topics

## About Information Rights Management.

Excel supports an Information Rights Management (IRM) feature, which allows you to specify access permissions for workbooks. Using IRM may help prevent sensitive information from being printed, e-mailed, or copied by unauthorized people. When IRM is applied to a workbook, the permission information is stored in the document file itself.

To use IRM, you must install the Microsoft Windows Rights Management Services (RMS) — an extracost product that isn't included with Microsoft Office. You can access the IRM settings by choosing File  $\Rightarrow$  Info  $\Rightarrow$  Protect Workbooks  $\Rightarrow$  Restrict Permission By People.

IRM is not covered in this book. If your company uses RMS, consult your system administrator for more information about how this feature is used within your organization.

## **Protecting a Worksheet**

You may want to protect a worksheet for a variety of reasons. One reason is to prevent yourself or others from accidentally deleting formulas or other critical data. A common scenario is to protect a worksheet so that the data can be changed, but the formulas can't be changed.

To protect a worksheet, activate the worksheet and choose Review ↔ Changes ↔ Protect Sheet. Excel displays the Protect Sheet dialog box shown in Figure 31.1. Note that providing a password is optional. If you enter a password, that password will be required to unprotect the worksheet. If you accept the default options in the Protect Sheet dialog box (and if you haven't unlocked any cells), none of the cells on the worksheet can be modified.

To unprotect a protected sheet, choose Review ⇔ Changes ⇔ Unprotect Sheet. If the sheet was protected with a password, you're prompted to enter that password.

#### FIGURE 31.1

Use the Protect Sheet dialog box to protect a worksheet.

Protect Sheet
Protect worksheet and contents of locked cells
Password to unprotect sheet:
Allow all users of this worksheet to:
Select locked cells
Select unlocked cells
Format cells
Format columns 📰
Format rows
Insert columns
Insert rows
Insert hyperlinks
Delete columns
Delete rows
OK Cancel
### **Unlocking cells**

In many cases, you will want to allow *some* cells to be changed when the worksheet is protected. For example, your worksheet may have some input cells that are used by formula cells. In such a case, you would want the user to be able to change the input cells, but not the formula cells. Every cell has a Locked attribute, and that attribute determines whether the cell can be changed when the sheet is protected.

By default, all cells are locked. To change the locked attribute, select the cell or range, right-click, and choose Format Cells from the shortcut menu (or press Ctrl+1). The Protection tab of the Format Cells dialog box opens (see Figure 31.2); clear the Locked check box and then click OK.

#### FIGURE 31.2

Use the Protection tab in the Format Cells dialog box to change the Locked attribute of a cell or range.



### Note

The Protection tab of the Format Cells dialog box has another attribute: Hidden. If this check box is selected, the contents of the cell don't appear in the Formula bar when the sheet is protected. The cell isn't hidden in the worksheet. You may want to set the Hidden attribute for formula cells to prevent users from seeing the formula when the cell is selected. ■

After you unlock the desired cells, choose Review ➡ Changes ➡ Protect Sheet to protect the sheet. After doing so, you can change the unlocked cells, but if you attempt to change a locked cell, Excel displays the warning alert shown in Figure 31.3.

#### FIGURE 31.3

Excel warns you if you attempt to change a locked cell.

Microsoft	Excel
	The cell or chart that you are trying to change is protected and therefore read-only. To modify a protected cell or chart, first remove protection using the Unprotect Sheet command (Review tab, Changes group). You may be prompted for a password.
	OK

### Sheet protection options

The Protect Sheet dialog box has several options, which determine what the user can do when the worksheet is protected.

- Select Locked Cells: If checked, the user can select locked cells using the mouse or the keyboard. This setting is enabled by default.
- Select Unlocked Cells: If checked, the user can select unlocked cells using the mouse or the keyboard. This setting is enabled by default.
- Format Cells: If checked, the user can apply formatting to locked cells.
- Format Columns: If checked, the user can hide or change the width of columns.
- Format Rows: If checked, the user can hide or change the height of rows.
- Insert Columns: If checked, the user can insert new columns.
- Insert Rows: If checked, the user can insert new rows.
- Insert Hyperlinks: If checked, the user can insert hyperlinks (even in locked cells).
- Delete Columns: If checked, the user can delete columns.
- Delete Rows: If checked, the user can delete rows.
- **Sort:** If checked, the user can sort data in a range as long as the range doesn't contain any locked cells.
- Use AutoFilter: If checked, the user can use existing autofiltering.
- Use PivotTable Reports: If checked, the user can change the layout of pivot tables or create new pivot tables.
- Edit Objects: If checked, the user can make changes to objects (such as Shapes) and charts, as well as insert or delete comments.
- Edit Scenarios: If checked, the user can use scenarios (see Chapter 36).

### Tip

When the worksheet is protected and the Select Unlocked Cells option is set, pressing Tab moves to the next unlocked cell, making data entry much easier.

### Assigning user permissions

Excel also offers the ability to assign user-level permissions to different areas on a protected worksheet. You can specify which users can edit a particular range while the worksheet is protected. As an option, you can require a password to make changes.

This feature is rarely used, and the setup procedure is rather complicated. But if you need this level of protection, setting it up might be worth the effort.

- 1. Unprotect the worksheet if it's protected.
- 2. Choose Review ⇔ Changes ↔ Allow Users to Edit Ranges. The dialog box shown in Figure 31.4 opens.
- 3. Follow the prompts in the series of dialog boxes that follow.
- 4. Protect the sheet.

#### FIGURE 31.4

The Allow Users to Edit Ranges dialog box.

Allow Users to E	dit Ranges	? ×					
Ranges unlocked by a password when sheet is protected:							
Title	Refers to cells	<u>N</u> ew					
		Modify					
		Delete					
Specify who may edit the range without a password: Permissions							
Paste permissions information into a new workbook							
Protect Sheet	. OK Cancel	Apply					

# **Protecting a Workbook**

Excel provides three ways to protect a workbook:

- Require a password to open the workbook.
- Prevent users from adding sheets, deleting sheets, hiding sheets, and unhiding sheets.
- Prevent users from changing the size or position of windows.

I discuss each of these methods in the sections that follow.

### Requiring a password to open a workbook

Excel lets you save a workbook with a password. After doing so, whoever tries to open the workbook must enter the password.

To add a password to a workbook, follow these steps:

- **1.** Choose File ⇔ Info ⇔ Protect Workbook ⇔ Encrypt With Password. Excel displays the Encrypt Document dialog box shown in Figure 31.5.
- **2.** Type a password and click OK.
- 3. Type the password again and click OK.
- 4. Save the workbook.



Specify a workbook password in the Encrypt Document dialog box.

ncrypt Document		? 🔀
Encrypt the contents o Passwo <u>r</u> d:	f this file	
•••••		
Caution: If you lose or recovered. It is advisa their corresponding do (Remember that passy	r forget the password, able to keep a list of pa ocument names in a saf words are case-sensitiv	it cannot be isswords and fe place. /e.)
	ОК	Cancel

### Note

You need to perform these steps only one time. You don't need to specify the password every time you resave the workbook. ■

To remove a password from a workbook, repeat the same procedure. In Step 2, however, delete the existing password symbols from the Encrypt Document dialog box, click OK, and save your workbook.

Figure 31.6 shows the Password dialog box that appears when you try to open a file saved with a password.

#### FIGURE 31.6

Opening this workbook requires a password.

Password		? <b>x</b>
'top secret	document.xlsx' is protected.	
Password:	1	
	ОК	Cancel

Excel provides another way to add a password to a document:

- **2.** In the Save As dialog box, click the Tools button and choose General Options. Excel displays the General Options dialog box.
- 3. In the General Options dialog box, enter a password in the Password to Open field.
- **4.** Click OK. You're asked to re-enter the password before you return to the Save As dialog box.
- 5. In the Save As dialog box, make sure that the filename, location, and type are correct; then click Save.

### Note

The General Options dialog box has another password field: Password to Modify. If you specify a password for this field, the file opens in read-only mode (it can't be saved under the same name) unless the user knows the password. If you use the Read-Only Recommended check box without a password, Excel suggests that the file be opened in read-only mode, but the user can override this suggestion. ■

### Protecting a workbook's structure

To prevent others (or yourself) from performing certain actions in a workbook, you can protect the workbook's structure. When a workbook's structure is protected, the user may not

- Add a sheet.
- Delete a sheet.
- Hide a sheet.
- Unhide a sheet.
- Rename a sheet.
- Move a sheet.

To protect a worksheet's structure

- 1. Choose Review ⇔ Changes ⇔ Protect Workbook to display the Protect Workbook dialog box (see Figure 31.7).
- 2. In the Protect Workbook dialog box, select the Structure check box.
- **3.** (Optional) Enter a password.
- 4. Click OK.

To unprotect the workbook's structure, choose Review  $\Rightarrow$  Changes  $\Rightarrow$  Unprotect Workbook. If the workbook's structure was protected with a password, you are prompted to enter the password.

#### FIGURE 31.7

The Protect Workbook dialog box.

Protect Structure and Windows 😨 🎫				
Protect workbook for				
✓ <u>S</u> tructure				
<u>W</u> indows				
Password (optional):				
OK Cancel				

### Protecting a workbook's windows

To prevent others (or yourself) from changing the size or position of a workbook's windows, you can protect the workbook's windows:

- **1.** Choose Review ⊲ Changes ⊲ Protect Workbook.
- 2. In the Protect Workbook dialog box, select the Windows check box.
- 3. (Optional) Enter a password.
- 4. Click OK.

When a workbook's windows are protected, the user can't change anything related to the window size or position. For example, if the workbook window is maximized when the windows are protected, the user cannot unmaximize the window. The windows can, however, be zoomed.

To unprotect the workbook's windows, choose Review ⇔ Changes ⇔ Unprotect Workbook. If the workbook's windows were protected with a password, you are prompted to enter the password.

# **VB Project Protection**

If your workbook contains any VBA macros, you may want to protect the VB Project to prevent others from viewing or modifying your macros. Another reason to protect a VB Project is to prevent its components from being expanded in the VB Editor Project window (which can avoid clutter while you're working on other VB project). To protect a VB Project

- **1.** Press Alt+F11 to activate the VB Editor.
- 2. Select your project in the Projects window.
- **3.** Choose Tools *xxxx* Properties (where *xxxx* corresponds to your Project name). Excel displays the Project Properties dialog box.
- 4. In the Project Properties dialog box, click the Protection tab (see Figure 31.8).
- 5. Select the Lock Project for Viewing check box.

- **6.** Enter a password (twice).
- **7.** Click OK and then save your file. When the file is closed and then re-opened, a pass-word will be required to view or modify the VBA code.

#### FIGURE 31.8

Protecting a VB Project with a password.

VBAProjec	ct - Project Properties	٢
General	Protection	
Lock p	project	
	Lock project for viewing	
Passw	word to view project properties	
Conf	firm password *****	
	Cancel Help	

### **Cross-Reference**

Part VI discusses VBA macros.

# **Related Topics**

This section covers additional topics related to protecting and distributing your work.

### Saving a worksheet as a PDF file

The PDF (Portable Document Format) file format is widely used as a way to present information in a read-only manner, with precise control over the layout. Software to display PDF files is available from a number of sources. Excel can create PDF files, but it cannot open them.

XPS is another "electronic paper" format, developed by Microsoft as an alternative to the PDF format. At this time, there is very little third-party support for the XPS format.

Save a worksheet in PDF or XPS format by choosing File ➡ Save and Send ➡ Create PDF/XPS Document ➡ Create a PDF/XPS. Excel displays its Publish as PDF Or XPS dialog box, in which you can specify a filename and location and set some other options.

### Note

Only the active sheet is saved. If your workbook has multiple sheets, you must save each sheet to a separate PDF or XPS file. ■

### Marking a workbook final

Excel lets you mark a document as "final." This action makes two changes to the workbook:

- It makes the workbook read-only so that the file can't be saved using the same name.
- It makes the workbook view-only so that nothing may be changed. When you open a finalized document, you see a message below the Ribbon. You can override its "final" status by clicking the Edit Anyway button.

To finalize a workbook, choose File ↔ Info ↔ Protect Workbook ↔ Mark as Final. Excel displays a dialog box in which you can confirm your choice.

### Caution

Marking a document as final is not a security measure. Anyone who opens the workbook can cancel the mark as final designation. Therefore, this method doesn't guarantee that others will not change the workbook. ■

### Inspecting a workbook

If you plan to distribute a workbook to others, you may want to have Excel check the file for hidden data and personal information. This tool can locate hidden information about you, your organization, or about the workbook. In some situations, you may not want to share this information with others.

To inspect a workbook, choose File ⇔ Info ⇔ Check for Issues ⇔ Inspect Document. The Document Inspector dialog box opens, as shown in Figure 31.9. Click Inspect, and Excel displays the results of the inspection and gives you the opportunity to remove the items it finds.

### Caution

If Excel identifies items in the Document Inspector, it doesn't necessarily mean that they should be removed. In other words, you should not blindly use the Remove All buttons to remove the items that Excel locates. For example, you may have a hidden sheet that serves a critical purpose. Excel will identify that hidden sheet and make it very easy for you to delete it. To be on the safe side, always make a backup copy of your workbook before running the Document Inspector.

### Using a digital signature

Excel lets you add a *digital signature* to a workbook. Using a digital signature is somewhat analogous to signing a paper document. A digital signature helps to assure the authenticity of the workbook and also ensures that the content hasn't been modified since it was signed.

#### FIGURE 31.9

The Document Inspector dialog box identifies hidden and personal information in a workbook.

Document Inspector
To check the document for the selected content, dick Inspect.
Comments and Annotations Inspects the document for comments and ink annotations.
<b>Document Properties and Personal Information</b> Inspects for hidden metadata or personal information saved with the document.
Custom XML Data Inspects for custom XML data stored with this document.
✓ Headers and Footers Inspects the workbook for information in headers and footers.
Hidden Rows and Columns     Inspects the workbook for hidden rows and columns.
Hidden Worksheets     Inspects the workbook for hidden worksheets.
☑ Invisible Content Inspects the workbook for objects that are not visible because they have been formatted as invisible. This does not include objects that are covered by other objects.
Inspect Glose

After you sign a workbook, the signature is valid until you make changes and resave the file.

### **Getting a digital ID**

To digitally sign a workbook, you must obtain a certificate from a certified authority who is able to verify the authenticity of your signature. Prices vary, depending on the certificate granting company.

Another option is to create your own digital ID, but others will not be able to verify the authenticity. Creating your own digital ID is useful if you want to ensure that no one tampers with one of your signed workbooks.

#### Signing a workbook

Excel supports two types of digital signatures: a visible signature and an invisible signature.

To add a visible digital signature, choose Insert ↔ Text ↔ Signature Line ↔ Microsoft Office Signature Line. Excel displays its Signature Setup dialog box, and you're prompted for the information for the signature. After you add the signature box, double-click it to display the Sign dialog box, where you actually sign the document either by typing your name or uploading a scanned image of your signature.

Figure 31.10 shows a document with a visible digital signature.

#### FIGURE 31.10

This document has a digital signature.

	A	В		С		D	E	F	G	
1	Employee	<ul> <li>Location</li> </ul>	•	Sex	-					
2	Al Grubbs	California		Male						
3	Sarah Parks	New York		Female					8/16/2009	
4	Cheryl Cory	California		Female						
5	Gregory Steiger	California		Male						
б	Sheila Wigfall	California		Female			X lame	s R Hood		
7	Pedro H. Nicholson	Arizona		Male			2 Sume	510.11000		•
8	Howard Keach	California		Male			James R. Hoor Division Manar	l Ier		
9	Heather Lichtenstein	Washington		Female			errierer rierier			
10	Janet Woodson	Arizona		Female						
11	Hosea Pierson	New York		Male						
12	Nadine Blankenship	New York		Female						

To add an invisible digital signature, choose File ↔ Info ↔ Protect ↔ Add a Digital Signature. If the signed workbook is changed in any way, the digital signature is invalidated.

# CHAPTER CHAPTER

# Making Your Worksheets Error-Free

t goes without saying that you want your Excel worksheets to produce accurate results. Unfortunately, it's not always easy to be certain that the results are correct — especially if you deal with large, complex worksheets. This chapter introduces the tools and techniques available to help identify, correct, and prevent errors.

# Finding and Correcting Formula Errors

Making a change in a worksheet — even a relatively minor change — may produce a ripple effect that introduces errors in other cells. For example, accidentally entering a value into a cell that previously held a formula is all too easy to do. This simple error can have a major impact on other formulas, and you may not discover the problem until long after you make the change — or you may never discover the problem.

Formula errors tend to fall into one of the following general categories:

- **Syntax errors:** You have a problem with the syntax of a formula. For example, a formula may have mismatched parentheses, or a function may not have the correct number of arguments.
- Logical errors: A formula doesn't return an error, but it contains a logical flaw that causes it to return an incorrect result.
- **Incorrect reference errors:** The logic of the formula is correct, but the formula uses an incorrect cell reference. As a simple example, the range reference in a Sum formula may not include all the data that you want to sum.

### **IN THIS CHAPTER**

How to identify and correct common formula errors

**Using Excel auditing tools** 

Using formula AutoCorrect

**Tracing cell relationships** 

Checking spelling and related features



- Semantic errors: An example is a function name that is spelled incorrectly. Excel will attempt to interpret it as a name and will display the #NAME? error.
- **Circular references:** A circular reference occurs when a formula refers to its own cell, either directly or indirectly. Circular references are useful in a few cases, but most of the time, a circular reference indicates a problem.
- Array formula entry error: When entering (or editing) an Array formula, you must press Ctrl+Shift+Enter to enter the formula. If you fail to do so, Excel doesn't recognize the formula as an Array formula, and you may get an error or incorrect results.
- **Incomplete calculation errors:** The formulas simply aren't calculated fully. Microsoft has acknowledged some problems with Excel's calculation engine in some versions of Excel. To ensure that your formulas are fully calculated, press Ctrl+Alt+Shift+F9.

Syntax errors are usually the easiest to identify and correct. In most cases, you'll know when your formula contains a syntax error. For example, Excel won't permit you to enter a formula with mismatched parentheses. Other syntax errors also usually result in an error display in the cell.

The following sections describe common formula problems and offers advice on identifying and correcting them.

### **Mismatched parentheses**

In a formula, every left parenthesis must have a corresponding right parenthesis. If your formula has mismatched parentheses, Excel usually won't permit you to enter it. An exception to this rule involves a simple formula that uses a function. For example, if you enter the following formula (which is missing a closing parenthesis), Excel accepts the formula and provides the missing parenthesis.

```
=SUM(A1:A500
```

A formula may have an equal number of left and right parentheses, but the parentheses may not match properly. For example, consider the following formula, which converts a text string such that the first character is uppercase and the remaining characters are lowercase. This formula has five pairs of parentheses, and they match properly.

=UPPER(LEFT(A1))&RIGHT(LOWER(A1),LEN(A1)-1)

The following formula also has five pairs of parentheses, but they are mismatched. The result displays a syntactically correct formula that simply returns the wrong result.

=UPPER(LEFT(A1)&RIGHT(LOWER(A1),LEN(A1)-1))

Often, parentheses that are in the wrong location will result in a *syntax error*, which is usually a message that tells you that you entered too many or too few arguments for a function.

### Using Formula AutoCorrect

When you enter a formula that has a syntax error, Excel attempts to determine the problem and offers a suggested correction. The accompanying figure shows an example of a proposed correction.

Mcresoft	teel 📰
	Haroasift Bool faund an error in the formula you entered. Bo you want to accept the correction proposed below?
	=#PERAG2[SUM(N:E:A12,SUM(0:E:B122)]
~	To accept the correction, did res.     To close the message and correct the formula yourself, cidk No.
	()m ()m

Be careful when accepting corrections for your formulas from Excel because it doesn't always guess correctly. For example, I entered the following formula (which has mismatched parentheses):

```
=AVERAGE(SUM(A1:A12,SUM(B1:B12))
```

Excel then proposed the following correction to the formula:

=AVERAGE(SUM(A1:A12,SUM(B1:B12))))

You may be tempted to accept the suggestion without even thinking. In this case, the proposed formula is syntactically correct — but not what I intended. The correct formula is

=AVERAGE(SUM(A1:A12),SUM(B1:B12))

### Tip

Excel can help you out with mismatched parentheses. When you're editing a formula and you move the cursor over a parenthesis, Excel displays it (and its matching parenthesis) in bold for about one-half second. In addition, Excel color codes pairs of nested parentheses while you are editing a formula.

### Cells are filled with hash marks

A cell is filled with a series of hash marks (#) for one of two reasons:

- The column is not wide enough to accommodate the formatted numeric value. To correct it, you can make the column wider or use a different number format (see Chapter 24).
- The cell contains a formula that returns an invalid date or time. For example, Excel doesn't support dates prior to 1900 or the use of negative time values. A formula that returns either of these values results in a cell filled with hash marks. Widening the column won't fix it.

### Blank cells are not blank

Some Excel users have discovered that by pressing the spacebar, the contents of a cell seem to erase. Actually, pressing the spacebar inserts an invisible space character, which isn't the same as erasing the cell.

For example, the following formula returns the number of nonempty cells in range A1:A10. If you "erase" any of these cells by using the spacebar, these cells are included in the count, and the formula returns an incorrect result.

=COUNTA(A1:A10)

If your formula doesn't ignore blank cells the way that it should, check to make sure that the blank cells are really blank cells. Here's how to search for cells that contain only blank characters:

- 1. Press Ctrl+F to display the Find and Replace dialog box.
- 2. Click the Options button to expand the dialog box so it displays additional options.
- **3.** In the Find What box, enter \* \*. That's an asterisk, followed by a space, and followed by another asterisk.
- 4. Make sure the Match Entire Cell Contents check box is selected.
- **5.** Click Find All. If any cells that contain only space characters are found, Excel will list the cell address at the bottom of the Find and Replace dialog box.

### **Extra space characters**

If you have formulas or use procedures that rely on comparing text, be careful that your text doesn't contain additional space characters. Adding an extra space character is particularly common when data has been imported from another source.

Excel automatically removes trailing spaces from values that you enter, but trailing spaces in text entries are not deleted. It's impossible to tell just by looking at a cell whether it contains one or more trailing space characters.

The TRIM function removes leading spaces, trailing spaces, and multiple spaces within a text string. Figure 32.1 shows some text in column A. The formula in B1, which was copied down the column is

```
=TRIM(A1)=A1
```

This formula returns FALSE if the text in column A contains leading spaces, trailing spaces, or multiple spaces. In this case, the word *Dog* in cell A3 contains a trailing space.

#### FIGURE 32.1

Using a formula to identify cells that contain extra space characters.

	A	1	C	D
1	Monkey	TRUE		
2	Rat	TRUE		
3	Dog	FALSE		
4	Elephant	TRUE		
3	Zebra	TRUE		
6				
7				

### Tracing Error Values \_\_\_\_

Often, an error in one cell is the result of an error in a precedent cell. For help in identifying the cell causing an error value to appear, activate the cell that contains the error and then choose Formulas ⇔ Formula Auditing ⇔ Error Checking ⇔ Trace Error. Excel draws arrows to indicate which cell is the source of the error. After you identify the error, choose Formulas ⇔ Formula Auditing ⇔ Remove Arrows to get rid of the arrow display.

### Formulas returning an error

A formula may return any of the following error values:

- #DIV/0!
- #N/A
- #NAME?
- #NULL!
- #NUM!
- #REF!
- #VALUE!

The following sections summarize possible problems that may cause these errors.

### Tip

Excel allows you to choose how error values are printed. To access this feature, display the Page Setup dialog box and click the Sheet tab. You can choose to print error values as displayed (the default), or as blank cells, dashes, or #N/A. To display the Page Setup dialog box, click the dialog box launcher of the Page Layout the Page Setup group. ■

#### **#DIV/0! errors**

Division by zero is not a valid operation. If you create a formula that attempts to divide by zero, Excel displays its familiar #DIV/0! error value.

Because Excel considers a blank cell to be zero, you also get this error if your formula divides by a missing value. This problem is common when you create formulas for data that you haven't entered yet, as shown in Figure 32.2. The formula in cell D2, which was copied to the cells below it, is

=(C2-B2)/C2

#### FIGURE 32.2

#DIV/0! errors occur when the data in column C is missing.

1	A		C.	D	1	- P
1	Month	Last Year	This Year	Change		
2	January	87,095	74,023	-17.7%		
3	February	86,166	72,997	-18.0%		
4	March	86,425	78,522	-17.6%		
5	April	85,062	76,597	-12.4%		
6	May	87,427	77,753	-12.4%		
7	June	88,152		#Dh/(0)		
а.	July	87,920		#DN/01		
5	August	85,679		#DIV/01		
10	September	82,994		#DIV/01		
11	October	84,679		#Din/01		
12	Nevember	85,625		#DIV/01		
13	December	83,304		#0%/01		
14						

This formula calculates the percent change between the values in columns B and C. Data isn't available for months beyond May, so the formula returns a #DIV/0! error.

To avoid the error display, you can use an IF function to check for a blank cell in column C:

= IF(C2=0, "", (C2-B2)/C2)

This formula displays an empty string if cell C2 is blank or contains 0; otherwise, it displays the calculated value.

Another approach is to use an IFERROR function to check for *any* error condition. The following formula, for example, displays an empty string if the formula results in any type of error:

=IFERROR((C2-B2)/C2,"")

### Note

The IFERROR function was introduced in Excel 2007. For compatibility with previous versions, use this formula:

```
=IF(ISERROR((C2-B2)/C2), "", (C2-B2)/C2)
```

#### **#N/A errors**

The #N/A error occurs if any cell referenced by a formula displays #N/A.

### Note

Some users like to use =NA() or #N/A explicitly for missing data. This method makes it perfectly clear that the data is not available and hasn't been deleted accidentally.

The #N/A error also occurs when a LOOKUP function (HLOOKUP, LOOKUP, MATCH, or VLOOKUP) can't find a match.

#### **#NAME? errors**

The #NAME? error occurs under these conditions:

- The formula contains an undefined range or cell name.
- The formula contains text that Excel *interprets* as an undefined name. A misspelled function name, for example, generates a #NAME? error.
- The formula uses a worksheet function that's defined in an add-in, and the add-in is not installed.

### Caution

Excel has a bit of a problem with range names. If you delete a name for a cell or range and the name is used in a formula, the formula continues to use the name, even though it's no longer defined. As a result, the formula displays #NAME?. You may expect Excel to automatically convert the names to their corresponding cell references, but this doesn't happen.

#### **#NULL! errors**

A #NULL! error occurs when a formula attempts to use an intersection of two ranges that don't actually intersect. Excel's intersection operator is a space. The following formula, for example, returns #NULL! because the two ranges don't intersect:

=SUM(B5:B14 A16:F16)

The following formula doesn't return #NULL! but displays the contents of cell B9, which represents the intersection of the two ranges:

```
=SUM(B5:B14 A9:F9)
```

#### **#NUM! errors**

A formula returns a #NUM! error if any of the following occurs:

- You pass a non-numeric argument to a function when a numeric argument is expected.
- You pass an invalid argument to a function. For example, this formula returns #NUM!: =SORT (-12).
- A function that uses iteration can't calculate a result. Examples of functions that use iteration are IRR and RATE.
- A formula returns a value that is too large or too small. Excel supports values between -1E-307 and 1E+307.

#### **#REF! errors**

A **#REF!** error occurs when a formula uses an invalid cell reference. This error can occur in the following situations:

- You delete the row column of a cell that is referenced by the formula. For example, the following formula displays a #REF! error if row 1, column A, or column B is deleted: =A1/B1
- You delete the worksheet of a cell that is reference by the formula. For example, the following formula displays a **#REF!** error if Sheet2 is deleted:

=Sheet2!A1

• You copy a formula to a location that invalidates the relative cell references. For example, if you copy the following formula from cell A2 to cell A1, the formula returns #REF! because it attempts to refer to a nonexistent cell.

=A1-1

• You cut a cell (choose Home I Clipboard I Cut) and then paste it to a cell that's referenced by a formula. The formula will display #REF!.

#### **#VALUE! errors**

A #VALUE! error is very common and can occur under the following conditions:

- An argument for a function is of an incorrect data type, or the formula attempts to perform an operation using incorrect data. For example, a formula that adds a value to a text string returns the #VALUE! error.
- A function's argument is a range when it should be a single value.
- A custom worksheet function is not calculated. You can press Ctrl+Alt+F9 to force a recalculation.
- A custom worksheet function attempts to perform an operation that is not valid. For example, custom functions can't modify the Excel environment or make changes to other cells.
- You forget to press Ctrl+Shift+Enter when entering an Array formula.

### Pay Attention to the Colors\_

When you edit a cell that contains a formula, Excel color-codes the cell and range references in the formula. Excel also outlines the cells and ranges used in the formula by using corresponding colors. Therefore, you can see at a glance the cells that are used in the formula.

You also can manipulate the colored outline to change the cell or range reference. To change the references used in a formula, drag the outline's border or fill handle (at the lower right of the outline). This technique is often easier than editing the formula.

### Absolute/relative reference problems

As I describe in Chapter 10, a cell reference can be relative (for example, A1), absolute (for example, \$A\$1), or mixed (for example, \$A1 or A\$1). The type of cell reference that you use in a formula is relevant only if the formula will be copied to other cells.

A common problem is using a relative reference when you should use an absolute reference. As shown in Figure 32.3, cell C1 contains a tax rate, which is used in the formulas in column C. The formula in cell C4 is

=B4+(B4\*\$C\$1)

#### FIGURE 32.3

Formulas in the range C4:C7 use an absolute reference to cell C1.

	- A	8	C	D	1
1		Tax Rate:	7.35%		
2					
3	Bem	Price	Price + Tax		
4	Z-93hr	149.95	190.97		
5	K-092	59.95	64.36		
6	M-119	32.29	34.66		
7	A-091	11.49	12.33		
5					
1.15					

Notice that the reference to cell C1 is an absolute reference. When the formula is copied to other cells in column C, the formula continues to refer to cell C1. If the reference to cell C1 were a relative reference, the copied formulas would return an incorrect result.

### **Operator precedence problems**

As I describe in Chapter 10, Excel has some straightforward rules about the order in which mathematical operations are performed. When in doubt (or when you simply need to clarify your intentions), you should use parentheses to ensure that operations are performed in the correct order. For example, the following formula multiplies A1 by A2 and then adds 1 to the result. The multiplication is performed first because it has a higher order of precedence.

=1+A1\*A2

The following is a clearer version of this formula. The parentheses aren't necessary, but in this case, the order of operations is perfectly obvious.

=1+(A1\*A2)

Notice that the negation operator symbol is exactly the same as the subtraction operator symbol. This, as you may expect, can cause some confusion. Consider these two formulas:

=-3^2 =0-3^2

The first formula, as expected, returns 9. The second formula, however, returns -9. Squaring a number always produces a positive result, so how is it that Excel can return the -9 result?

In the first formula, the minus sign is a *negation* operator and has the highest precedence. However, in the second formula, the minus sign is a *subtraction* operator, which has a lower precedence than the exponentiation operator. Therefore, the value 3 is squared, and then the result is subtracted from 0 (zero), which produces a negative result.

Using parentheses, as shown in the following formula, causes Excel to interpret the operator as a minus sign rather than a negation operator. This formula returns -9.

=-(3^2)

### Formulas are not calculated

If you use custom worksheet functions written in VBA, you may find that formulas that use these functions fail to get recalculated and may display incorrect results. To force a single formula to be recalculated, select the cell, press F2, and then press Enter. To force a recalculation of all formulas, press Ctrl+Alt+F9.

### Actual versus displayed values

You may encounter a situation in which values in a range don't appear to add up properly. For example, Figure 32.4 shows a worksheet with the following formula entered into each cell in the range B2:B4:

=1/3

#### FIGURE 32.4

A simple demonstration of numbers that appear to add up incorrectly.

	- A -	- B	C	D	E
1					
2		0.388			
3		0.388			
4		0.333			
5		1.000			
6					
-					

Cell B5 contains the following formula:

=SUM(B2:B4)

All the cells are formatted to display with three decimal places. As you can see, the formula in cell B5 appears to display an incorrect result. (You may expect it to display 0.999.) The formula, of course, *does* return the correct result. The formula uses the *actual* values in the range B2:B4 not the *displayed* values.

You can instruct Excel to use the displayed values by selecting the Set Precision as Displayed check box of the Advanced section of the Excel Options dialog box. (Choose File 🖒 Excel Options to display this dialog box.)

### Caution

Be very careful with the Set Precision as Displayed option. This option also affects normal values (nonformulas) that have been entered into cells. For example, if a cell contains the value 4.68 and is displayed with no decimal places (that is, 5), selecting the Precision as Displayed check box converts 4.68 to 5.00. This change is permanent, and you can't restore the original value if you later clear the Set Precision as Displayed check box. A better approach is to use the ROUND function to round off the values to the desired number of decimal places.

### Floating point number errors

Computers, by their very nature, don't have infinite precision. Excel stores numbers in binary format by using eight bytes, which can handle numbers with 15-digit accuracy. Some numbers can't be expressed precisely by using eight bytes, so the number stores as an approximation.

To demonstrate how this lack of precision may cause problems, enter the following formula into cell A1:

=(5.1-5.2)+1

The result should be 0.9. However, if you format the cell to display 15 decimal places, you discover that Excel calculates the formula with a result of 0.899999999999999999. This result occurs because the operation in parentheses is performed first, and this intermediate result stores in binary format by using an approximation. The formula then adds 1 to this value, and the approximation error is propagated to the final result.

In many cases, this type of error doesn't present a problem. However, if you need to test the result of that formula by using a logical operator, it *may* present a problem. For example, the following formula (which assumes that the previous formula is in cell A1) returns FALSE:

=A1=.9

One solution to this type of error is to use the ROUND function. The following formula, for example, returns TRUE because the comparison is made by using the value in A1 rounded to one decimal place.

=ROUND(A1,1)=0.9

Here's another example of a "precision" problem. Try entering the following formula:

= (1.333 - 1.233) - (1.334 - 1.234)

This formula should return 0, but it actually returns -2.220446E-16 (a number very close to zero).

If that formula is in cell A1, the following formula returns Not Zero.

=IF(A1=0, "Zero", "Not Zero")

One way to handle these "very close to zero" rounding errors is to use a formula like this:

=IF(ABS(A1)<1E-6, "Zero", "Not Zero")

This formula uses the less-than (<) operator to compare the absolute value of the number with a very small number. This formula returns Zero.

### "Phantom link" errors

You may open a workbook and see a message like the one shown in Figure 32.5. This message sometimes appears even when a workbook contains no linked formulas. Often, these phantom links are created when you copy a worksheet that contains names.

#### FIGURE 32.5

Excel's way of asking whether you want to update links in a workbook.



First, try choosing File ↔ Info ↔ Edit Links to Files to display the Edit Links dialog box. Then select each link and click Break Link. If that doesn't solve the problem, this phantom link may be caused by an erroneous name. Choose Formulas ↔ Defined Names ↔ Name Manager and scroll through the list of names. If you see a name that refers to #REF!, delete the name. The Name Manager dialog box has a Filter button that lets you filter the names. For example, you can filter the lists to display only the names with errors.

# **Using Excel Auditing Tools**

Excel includes a number of tools that can help you track down formula errors. This section describes the auditing tools built in to Excel.

## Identifying cells of a particular type

The Go to Special dialog box (as shown in Figure 32.6) is a handy tool that enables you to locate cells of a particular type. To display this dialog box, choose Home  $\Rightarrow$  Editing  $\Rightarrow$  Find & Select  $\Rightarrow$  Go to Special.

### Note

If you select a multicell range before displaying the Go to Special dialog box, the command operates only within the selected cells. If a single cell is selected, the command operates on the entire worksheet. ■

### FIGURE 32.6

The Go to Special dialog box.

Go To Special	7 BB
Select	
C gaments	Tray differences
C Cyntarts	Colugn differences
@ Exmulat	C Brocadents
Physiosa 1998	C Dependents
Z Tegt	@ Direct only
C Legense	C Al levels
2 Drans	() LogLool
C Barla	Valble cells artig.
Carrent region	Conditional formatia
Correct gray	C Data galdatori
C OBMIN	0.4
	C fare
	OK Careel

You can use the Go to Special dialog box to select cells of a certain type, which can often help you identify errors. For example, if you choose the Formulas option, Excel selects all the cells that contain a formula. If you zoom the worksheet out to a small size, you can get a good idea of the worksheet's organization (see Figure 32.7). To zoom a worksheet, use the zoom controls on the right side of the status bar. Or, press Ctrl while you move the scroll wheel on your mouse.

#### FIGURE 32.7

Zooming out and selecting all formula cells can give you a good overview of how the worksheet is designed.

																	1 M 1
100.000	111-00-000	101010000							10000								_
and the second second	hat Provide a	Sara As	SA/16	Mag			3.6		1.000	Aug.	.84	-					_
10.00	had seeing	Lange and the	inget in	100	-	-	3.601	1000 B	Automa .	theme in the	10	-	-				_
Contraction in	bable services	Lagrander .	Name of Concession, Name of Street, or other	100	100		1.44	1000	Accession in		14		-				-
States in the second second	had a second second	i and in the local data	i and the second se	in a					Long.	Sec.	- log		104				_
State State State	Robell and and	Lange des	Present Street	iller .	8118	1111	44-		Long.	144	dan dan	the state	Mart I	Sec. 1			_
C. S. Sandar	Budd Instantion	Lange of the local data	Table .	No.	1000	100	10.000	Same R	ALC: NO	100	da .	-	1.000	-			_
The Application of the Applicati	D-1.Property in	toporta Mari	Conference of	17.4			8.8mm	Terra B.	Same No.	Sec.1	14	-	-	diam'r.	-		_
The Application of the Applicati	h.l.P.m.mini	Carrow Mar.	No. Allow M.	10.4		-	1.1		the state of the s	See. Bo	14	-	-	10.00			_
THE R. LEWIS CO., LANSING MICH.	ALC: NOT THE OWNER	1.001	and a	10.0	-	-	1.1		100	4.1.10	8.4	-	-				_
Contraction in	had seen in	take to	in the second se	1.0	-	-				1000	1.0	-	-				
The second second	Laboration of the laboration o	Logic L	and a	100	-					-	1.0	-	-				
and the second second	Line and	Lake .	Sector .	1.5	ALC: N	10.00			1000	1000	1.0	-	ALC: 1				_
States in the second second	Robell and and	ball is	1.1.4	100	100	10.00	1.1		1	- A.A.	de la	-	10.00				_
Contraction of the local division of the loc	B. J. P	1.00	100		-	-			100	- I.	1.	-					
State Street, or	1.1.5		Theory of Concession, Name	-	-							_	-				
Contraction of the local division of the loc	1.1.5		Contraction in succession.	-	_					_		_	-				
			Contraction of the local division of the loc	-		-				100		- 22	-				
0.0222	C15		Contraction of the local division of the loc	22	-	100	220		-	2022	22	-	-				
0.0222	CC		200.000		_				-		-	- 22	-				
0.02		_	A		_	-	220		-	-		-	=				
0.000				-	_				_	-		_	-				
10 million 100 mil		and the second s	and the second s	_	_	-	_	_	_			_					
100 C 100 C		the second			_			_	_	_		_					
Contraction of the local division of the loc	the second	The second	Comparison de	-	_	_		_	_	-	-	_	-				_
Contraction of the later.	Day and an	the second second	284	-				-	-		-	- 22	-				
10.00 March 1	2410-0-0	part of the second	34/3	-	_		8 M 1		2400	Sec	-	-	_				_
1.00	*******	Logo or Aller	the state of the s	-	-	-		_	1000		100	-					
Common Street	and the second s	Concession of the local division of the loca		and the second s	-		-		in second		and the second second	-					_
Sec. 1.				_					1.00		_						
Sec. 1.		transmitter	-								-		-				
Contraction of the local division of the loc		the second se	the second second		_			-				-					
Contraction of the local division of the loc	Saure-	tage and the	Capacity and	-		-	-	-	1000	1000	-	_	_				_
S. 5 March 1	Sec.	part of the second second	T-April 1	24			225	-		2	24	- 22	-				_
0.0100	24-0	part of the second s	per contra contr	-	-	100			1-0-	200	-	-	-				
10.00 March 10.00		the second se	the second se	-		-		_	1000	1000	-	-	-				_
ALC: No. 10.		2482	-	-	-		-	_		<b>100</b>	-	-	-	_	-	-	100
and the second second		Daniel Inc.	locate .	-	-				Provide a		-	_			-		
State of the local diversion of the local div	Sectors.	ball is		-	-	-		-	product of	-	-	-	and a				
State of the second second	lines and	hall be	Participan	100	mark .	197		-	1000	- Transfer	1.00	-	1004				
TO A BRIDE	Nauran I.	Name of Color	1/14Rel	714	101		1.000	-	14.44	10.0	54	-	_	-	101	-	-
11 To Barrison	54-0	5483	784	754	-	_	3.6	-	1	The second	54		1.00	-	-		
St. 5.84-5-	54-0	1-0-0-0-0-	10000	54	-	_	3.601	-	Second	-	54	-	-	-	-	-	-
10. 10. No. 10.	54-C	10000	cloudy burlts	Mag	-	_	3.6.	A	Sec.	-	.84	-			-	-	_
20.0 March 1	34-0		Hereit and the second s	104			3.600	3464	10000	denter i		-	-		-	- 66	- 100
ALL IN BRIDE	Sectors.		Table in Accession	in a		and the second se		1.000	-		-	-			-		
State of the local diversity of the local div	And and		- Cal.	iller .	-	1.00	****	1.444	1.000	-	dan .	-	-	1000	-	-	-
Contraction in	land and a	Barran I.	International Stationary	illes .	8.000	1075		1.000	1	Transfer 1	-las	100.	100	19/10	10/11		10710
No. of Address	Real Property lies	Revenue .	Sec. 1	17.4			1. Sec. 1	1.000	Trans.	A second	14	-	mm (	-		-	1000
THE R. DOCTOR	Real Transmission	Second .	Philasophics.	17.4		-	3. Sec.	7.000	Trans.	The second	-54	-	-				_
Contraction of the local diversion of the loc	Read and a second	Referred	Advantation of the	Mag	-	-	1.4	1.000	Name of	-	Au	100					_
COLUMN TWO IS NOT	April 1997	Referred		10.4	-	1001	1.4.1	1.000	Name of	4-14	Au	-	-				_
The second se	in the second se	in the second se	links in	10.0		1.44	1.00	"Including	And in case of	and the	1.0				100		1000
State of the local division of the local div	-	i ann de la	the state of the s	1.4		100	44-	1	Carlo		14	14.	B.4	1994	10.0		100
All the second second	the state of the s	Laura des	lane -	iller .	ALC: N	-	1.1	1.000	ALC: NO.	-	da .	-	-	100	-		10010
State of the local division of the local div	the state of the s	Longer Harrison	Sugar la construction de la construcción de la construcción de la construcción de la construcción de la constru	No.	No.	1001	1.1	1.1.1.1	ALC: NO.	March and	day .	180	1000	1400	100	100	100
The Party of Lot	the state of the s	Sugar State	Property and	10.4			1.000	1.000	1.000	1004	14	-			-	-	-
The Party of Street, or other	the state of the s	Sugar State	1.000	10.4			1.000	1.000	1.000	-	14	-	100 M	-	-	_	_
THE R. P.LEWIS	the state of the s	England March	- and the second	10. A	101	-	1.4	<b>B</b> .100	Read in case	Sec. 2.	Aut .	-	-	-	100	- 10	100
THE R. P. LEWIS CO., LANSING MICH.	the state of the s	England Mar.	10.0-All	Ma	-	-		<b>B</b> .165	Read in case	Sec. 81	Ref.	-	-	1000	100	-	100
The subscript of	the state of the s	And in	ting .	ing .	-	-		"home	Inc. in case	-	ing .	-	-		10.0	-	100
St. Distancion	the state of the s	Basili In	longer (	illes .	1000	10.00	1.4	The same	-	And A	dia .	the state	and the	100	100	100	1.00
and the description	the state of the s	ball is	ALC: NOT THE OWNER OF THE OWNER OWNER OF THE OWNER	ile.	10/5	10.00	1.4	Taking Street	Inc.	and the second s	da .	100	100	14	194	-	1000
In the second	in the second se	Aug 1 a	Railware	line .	1944	1788	S. Sec.	Taking a	Sec.	Sec.1	da .	100	198	178	100	1994	1000
In the Associate	Terration of the local division of the local	NAMES.	10484	174			1.000	1.400	Sec.	Sec.11	14	-					100
In the Real Property lies, Name	Terration of the local division of the local	NAME OF TAXABLE PARTY.	1984	114	100		1. Aug.	1.400	Sec.	Tables	14	-	1993	-	-	-	-
No. of Acres, in	A	handle de la constante	And a state of the	10. J	-	-	1.4	B.100	Real Property lies	1	8.4	-	and the second s				_
State State State	h	1.1.1.1.	County Barrier	10.1	-			B.100	100	-	Au .	-	100				
the subscripts	-	the state of the s	the design of the local division of the loca	100			1.4.	in such	1.000	and a	1.00	-	-				
St. St. Street, or	-	L 1 1 1	Table in London	1.4	100	100	1	122	i	Sec. 1	1.0	100	and a				_
The local division of	10 M	L 1 1 1	and the second s	100	100	100	1.0	1000	1.000	-	1.0	and the second	100				_
The Real Property lies	the state of the s	Sec. and	Sample Hollow	1.0	100	The state	1.1	Sec. 1	1	Sec. 1	dia.	-	10.01				
No. of Concession, Name	Terration of the local division of the local	Territory of	Sec. 1	194	100	-	1.1	Tax P	Taxa .	A second	14	-	-				
the local division of		And and a second	TRANSPORT	100	100	-		the state of the s	The state of the s	*	10	100	-				
State State State		and the second se	Advantation in the	AL.	-		1.1	10.00	Sugar State		1.1	-	-				_
The second second	-			10. c	100	100	1.00	100	-	A	1.1	-	100				
The second	Franking.	interesting to the second	Same .	100	100	-	1.000	100	Same.	and in	100	100	100				
10 Mar 10	E-content	the second second	and a second sec	100	-	100	1.1	122	100	-	10	100	100				_
and the second second		_		-	-			1000	100	-	-	-					

### Tip

Selecting the formula cells may also help you spot a common error: namely, a formula that has been replaced accidentally with a value. If you find a cell that's not selected amid a group of selected formula cells, chances are good that the cell previously contained a formula that has been replaced by a value. ■

### **Viewing formulas**

You can become familiar with an unfamiliar workbook by displaying the formulas rather than the results of the formulas. To toggle the display of formulas, choose Formulas ↔ Formula Auditing ↔ Show Formulas. You may want to create a second window for the workbook before issuing this command. This way, you can see the formulas in one window and the results of the formula in the other window. Choose View ↔ Window ↔ New Window to open a new window.

### Tip

You can also press Ctrl+` (the accent grave key, typically located above the Tab key) to toggle between Formula view and Normal view. ■

Figure 32.8 shows an example of a worksheet displayed in two windows. The window on the top shows Normal view (formula results), and the window on the bottom displays the formulas. Choosing View ⇔ Window ⇔ View Side by Side, which allows synchronized scrolling, is also useful for viewing two windows. (See Chapter 4 for more information about this command.)

#### FIGURE 32.8

Displaying formulas (bottom window) and their results (top window).

() any vision substant.										
A 0			0	C		6	5			
Commission 8 1	100.14	rendered	rinden sta							
Kales Gaal	LIN. by	-	i han prior	manin						
Bonas Babb B	1008 (19	MPMR.	CONTRACTOR	NHC .						
						0				
0.0		this		PC1	Max.					
Sales Rep Mon	uth	North	(hayz	Change	Goal?	Commission				
Marry 10	1.200	10,44	3,711	2.1%	19.00	7,649				
Granties 120	0.865	208,434	<2,499	-10.3N	154.58	5,844				
LHY 18	8,812	343,908	28,049	15.8%	15.00	38,794				
Lasky 10	0.323	305.010	1,790	1.05	INCS.	3,369				
Stafee 2	296.0	96:20	5,468	2.8%	TALSE	4,294				
Detail 534	A GA	963,285	24,147	4.96		NUME				
Everage Conversion	1000	3.99%								
a s a Alexaid / SU				14			8-4			
E Carry No. 10		0.080	8	Normal co	C NHE BORON	uf:		1	1	4
Minister		0.15		Indexen	eet hoes p	nc				
Gerrus Rode		0.065		Red #See	e Geal is a	ttei				
			auli -	1	hin -			Pat	Mint	
Jales Rep		ine ine	and the second se	M	and in	Clump		Change	Guelf	Commission
14an ang	1	101110		100444		-09-00		-06/89	-407-50031	-15(%,3036,3032)*C
American		LANNE		2004.04		10.467		Hoder .	14,710(65)	100-1969-3450 <sup>*</sup>
Units	1	\$29802		38303		-08-08		-06/38	={3==5854	+1016,5053,5858*0
larly.		444.94		100071		=75.8A		-04/38	+Pin(983	-APRIC 953, 587 (**
live face		18340		79533		+C10+610		-040/103	10.02-0003	-APEA, BASA, SABAY
		-10.004 (0.0	0.51	-10M(360	101	-LUNIDBUD()		-011/101		-0.0A(04.0.0)
1084										
1084										
Average Commission	lex.			-641/015						

### **Tracing cell relationships**

To understand how to trace cell relationships, you need to familiarize yourself with the following two concepts:

- **Cell precedents:** Applicable only to cells that contain a formula, a formula cell's precedents are all the cells that contribute to the formula's result. A *direct precedent* is a cell that you use directly in the formula. An *indirect precedent* is a cell that isn't used directly in the formula but is used by a cell that you refer to in the formula.
- **Cell dependents:** These formula cells depend upon a particular cell. A cell's dependents consist of all formula cells that use the cell. Again, the formula cell can be a *direct dependent* or an *indirect dependent*.

For example, consider this simple formula entered into cell A4:

=SUM(A1:A3)

Cell A4 has three precedent cells (A1, A2, and A3), which are all direct precedents. Cells A1, A2, and A3 each have a dependent cell (cell A4), and they're all direct dependents.

Identifying cell precedents for a formula cell often sheds light on why the formula isn't working correctly. Conversely, knowing which formula cells depend on a particular cell is also helpful. For example, if you're about to delete a formula, you may want to check whether it has any dependents.

### **Identifying precedents**

You can identify cells used by a formula in the active cell in a number of ways:

- **Press F2.** The cells that are used directly by the formula are outlined in color, and the color corresponds to the cell reference in the formula. This technique is limited to identifying cells on the same sheet as the formula.
- Display the Go to Special dialog box. (Choose Home ⇔ Editing ⇔ Find & Select ⇔ Go to Special.) Select the Precedents option and then select either Direct Only (for direct precedents only) or All Levels (for direct and indirect precedents). Click OK, and Excel selects the precedent cells for the formula. This technique is limited to identifying cells on the same sheet as the formula.
- Press Ctrl+[. This selects all direct precedent cells on the active sheet.
- **Press Ctrl+Shift+{**. This selects all precedent cells (direct and indirect) on the active sheet.
- Choose Formulas ➡ Formula Auditing ➡ Trace Precedents. Excel will draw arrows to indicate the cell's precedents. Click this button multiple times to see additional levels of precedents. Choose Formulas ➡ Formula Auditing ➡ Remove Arrows to hide the arrows. Figure 32.9 shows a worksheet with precedent arrows drawn to indicate the precedents for the formula in cell C13.

#### FIGURE 32.9

This worksheet displays arrows that indicate cell precedents for the formula in cell C13.

E.		1	- C	D	1	- F	Ш.	- 16
1	Contraission F	A-\$305	Normal com	mission rate	6			
3	Sales Goal	798	Biggiverne:	nt tiers price	indeth.			
1	Borrus Rate	-630%	akid belet	digel is attai	ted			
4		-	loc-12					
		Lant	This		Pitt	Mat	12	1
3	Soles Reg	Month	Month	-Chaige-	Change	-Goal?	Commission	1
	Murray	101,238	P-100,000	- 2012	- NOT	Confinition	7,049	
7.	Knuckles	130,933	108,434	-12,499	-100	41105	3,964	
	Letty	1.95,832	100,901	26,007	18.00	-thie	30,784	0
1	Linky	96,328	100,000	1,700	1.0%	44.50	3,500	
in	Scarface	76,322	79,923	1.001	2.0%	#ALSE	4,796	
11	Fotal	538,643	\$ 162,785	24,142	4.5%		12,697	
12	1997			1			1.	1
13	Average Comm	NUTRIES THE	5.55%					
14	0.0000000	1-0-01						
15								

#### **Identifying dependents**

You can identify formula cells that use a particular cell in a number of ways:

- **Display the Go to Special dialog box.** Select the Dependents option and then select either Direct Only (for direct dependents only) or All Levels (for direct and indirect dependents). Click OK. Excel selects the cells that depend upon the active cell. This technique is limited to identifying cells on the active sheet only.
- Press Ctrl+]. This selects all direct dependent cells on the active sheet.
- **Press Ctrl+Shift+**}. This selects all dependent cells (direct and indirect) on the active sheet.
- Choose Formulas ⇔ Formula Auditing ⇔ Trace Dependents. Excel will draw arrows to indicate the cell's dependents. Click this button multiple times to see additional levels of dependents. Choose Formulas ⇔ Formula Auditing ⇔ Remove Arrows to hide the arrows.

### **Tracing error values**

If a formula displays an error value, Excel can help you identify the cell that is causing that error value. An error in one cell is often the result of an error in a precedent cell. Activate a cell that contains an error value and then choose Formulas  $\Rightarrow$  Formula Auditing  $\Rightarrow$  Error Checking  $\Rightarrow$  Trace Error. Excel draws arrows to indicate the error source.

### Fixing circular reference errors

If you accidentally create a circular reference formula, Excel displays a warning message — Circular Reference — with the cell address, in the status bar, and also draws arrows on the worksheet to help you identify the problem. If you can't figure out the source of the problem, choose Formulas I Formula Auditing I Error Checking I Circular References. This command displays a list of all cells that are involved in the circular references. Start by selecting the first cell listed and then work your way down the list until you figure out the problem.

### Using background error-checking feature

Some people may find it helpful to take advantage of the Excel automatic error-checking feature. This feature is enabled or disabled via the Enable Background Error Checking check box, found on the Formulas tab of the Excel Options dialog box, shown in Figure 32.10. In addition, you can use the check boxes in the Error Checking Rules section to specify which types of errors to check.

When error checking is turned on, Excel continually evaluates the formulas in your worksheet. If a potential error is identified, Excel places a small triangle in the upper-left corner of the cell. When the cell is activated, a Smart Tag appears. Clicking this Smart Tag provides you with options. Figure 32.11 shows the options that appear when you click the Smart Tag in a cell that contains a #DIV/0! error. The options vary, depending on the type of error.

#### FIGURE 32.10

Excel can check your formulas for potential errors.

Eard Options		12.040
Ground	Brite Checking	
Partiabil	2 Inside juniger and man sharing	
Rooting	Indiate provident Principal Contraction	
See	Inter checking later.	
impap	🗵 Dife containing formulas that 💠 🔣 Formulas schöle gold only is a region 🖓	
Libered	Events in an error     EV Unledged cells considing formulas ID     Events of a consider of a construction of the construc	
CURDING HISBOR	Formula invitation	
Quick Acces Teolbar	Honorathed as 2 digits	
AZHIN	president to be aport to be an included and the second sec	- 11
Truit Carder	Permulas ignorialized sally other framulas in the region	-
	<b>x</b>	canee

#### **FIGURE 32.11**

After you click an error, Smart Tag gives you a list of options.

	A		C	D	E 1
1	Month	Last Year	This Year	Change	
2	January	87,093	74,023	-17.7%	
3	February	87,248	74,568	-17.0%	
4	March	85,858	74,804	-14.8%	
3	April	87,547	78,285	-11.8%	
6	May	87,782	80,741	-8.7%	
7	June	86,117		#Drx/01	
8	July	83,513		#Dn:/01	
9	August	84,629		RDriv/01	
10	September	83,480		HDru/iel	
11	October	80,756		HDIV/01	
12	November	82,337		#Drv/01	
13	December	84,345	· (D)	#Dr:/01	
14				Divide by Zero Erro	
15				A late on this same	
16				Deh ou me eusi.	N
17				Show Selculation 5	sebo- ng
18			_	Ignore Error	
19			_	Edit in Epernula Bar	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
20			_	Error Checking Opt	ione_
21					
22					
2.5					
24					

In many cases, you will choose to ignore an error by selecting the Ignore Error option. Selecting this option eliminates the cell from subsequent error checks. However, all previously ignored errors can be reset so that they appear again. (Use the Reset Ignored Errors button in the Formulas tab of the Excel Options dialog box.)

You can choose Formulas ➡ Formula Auditing ➡ Error Checking to display a dialog box that describes each potential error cell in sequence, much like using a spell-checking command. This command is available even if you disable background error checking. Figure 32.12 shows the Error Checking dialog box. This dialog box is *modeless*: that is, you can still access your worksheet when the Error Checking dialog box is displayed.

### Caution

The error-checking feature isn't perfect. In fact, it's not even close to perfect. In other words, you can't assume that you have an error-free worksheet simply because Excel doesn't identify any potential errors! Also, be aware that this error-checking feature won't catch a very common type of error: namely, overwriting a formula cell with a value. ■

### FIGURE 32.12

Use the Error Checking dialog box to cycle through potential errors identified by Excel.

Error Checking	
Error in cell D13 w(C13-8112)(C13	Table on the same
Divide by Sero Error	Show Galculation Steps
The formula or function used is dividing by zero ar empty cells.	terere finor
	Editin <u>Esimula</u> Bar
Options	Beneral Bener

### Using the Excel Formula Evaluator

Formula Evaluator lets you see the various parts of a nested formula evaluated in the order that the formula is calculated. To use Formula Evaluator, select the cell that contains the formula and then choose Formula ⇔ Formula Auditing ⇔ Evaluate Formula to display the Evaluate Formula dialog box (see Figure 32.13).

### FIGURE 32.13

The Evaluate Formula dialog box shows a formula being calculated one step at a time.

Evaluate Formula	- Ş. HA	1
Beforence: Silveet119C\$29	Egolastor: = [PE2:6029021)+2:=426(020,**)/000(421,129(621)+2305) (42:0-436(02100021)-23)	
To show the result of the appears italicized.	e underlined expression, dick.Evaluate. The most recent result	
	Definite Step (n. Step O.A. Given	l

Click the Evaluate button to show the result of calculating the expressions within the formula. Each click of the button performs another calculation. This feature may seem a bit complicated at first, but if you spend some time working with it, you'll understand how it works and see the value.

Excel provides another way to evaluate a part of a formula:

- **1.** Select the cell that contains the formula.
- 2. Press F2 to get into Cell Edit mode.
- **3.** Use your mouse to highlight the portion of the formula you want to evaluate. Or, press Shift and use the navigation keys.
- 4. Press F9.

The highlighted portion of the formula displays the calculated result. You can evaluate other parts of the formula or press Esc(ape) to cancel and return your formula to its previous state.

### Caution

Be careful when using this technique because if you press Enter (rather than Esc), the formula will be modified to use the calculated values. ■

# **Searching and Replacing**

Excel has a powerful search-and-replace feature that makes it easy to locate information in a worksheet or across multiple worksheets in a workbook. As an option, you can also search for text and replace it with other text.

To access the Find and Replace dialog box, start by selecting the range that you want to search. If you select any single cell, Excel searches the entire sheet. Choose Home ↔ Editing ↔ Find & Select ↔ Find (or, click Ctrl+F). You'll see the Find and Replace dialog box shown in Figure 32.14. If you're simply looking for information in the worksheet, click the Find tab. If you want to replace existing text with new text, use the Replace tab. Also note that you can use the Options button to display (or hide) additional options. The dialog box shown in the figure displays these additional options.

#### FIGURE 32.14

Use the Find and Replace dialog box to locate information in a worksheet or workbook.

nd and I	Raplace	10
Fing	Augine	
Ngd whe	e	Ro Format Set     Format Set
-	Sheet	Table gare
Contraction of the local division of the loc		
Search	ByRows	<ul> <li>Match entire cel contenta</li> </ul>

### Searching for information

Enter the information to search for in the Find What text box and then specify any of the following options.

- Within drop-down list: Specify where to search (the current sheet or the entire workbook).
- Search drop-down list: Specify the direction (by rows or by columns).
- Look In drop-down list: Specify what cell parts to search (formulas, values, or comments).
- Match Case check box: Specify whether the search should be case sensitive.
- Match Entire Cell Contents check box: Specify whether the entire cell contents must be matched.
- Format button: Click to search for cells that have a particular formatting (see the upcoming "Searching for formatting" section).

Click Find Next to locate the matching cells one at a time or click Find All to locate all matches. If you use the Find All button, the Find and Replace dialog box expands to display the addresses of all matching cells in a list (see Figure 32.15). When you select an entry in this list, Excel scrolls the worksheet so that you can view it in context.

#### **Tip** After using Find All, press Ctrl+A to select all the found cells. ■

#### FIGURE 32.15

Displaying the result of a search in the Find and Replace dialog box.

ind and Rep	place				- 1 H
Red	legiore				
Figd what:	canada			No Formet Set	Format
tatgin: 3 Search: 8 Look in: 9	heat x	iii Pietch ge iii Pietch en	ne tive cell-ogriteri		Ορφατα ε.ε.
			Find All	EndNext	Cleme
leck.	Sheet	Name	Coll.	Value	Formals
intere vie	Cuttoners		97510	Canada	
introduce with	Custoners		97941	Canada	
interested with	Custoners		97575	Canada	
Anabase.x8	Custoners		916147	Canada	
anabase.vie	Custoners		915139	Canada	
anabase.xik	Custoners		916183	Canada	
anabase.xis	Custoners		976328	Canada	
	Cuthiners		016178	Canada	
lambase.xit	Custoners		916772	Canada	
anabase.xis	Custoners		010421	Canada	
laftabase.via	Custoners		0F6425	Canada	
laftebase.xie	Custoners		UF6429	Canada	
lafabase.vie	Custoners		6F8407	Canada	
	Custoners		1F1-469	Canada	
intabase wie					

### Note

Because the Find and Replace dialog box is modeless, you can access the worksheet and make changes without the need to dismiss the dialog box. ■

### **Replacing information**

To replace text with other text, use the Replace tab in the Find and Replace dialog box. Enter the text to be replaced in the Find What field and then enter the new text in the Replace With field. Specify other options as described in the previous section.

Click Find Next to locate the first matching item and then click Replace to do the replacement. When you click the Replace button, Excel then locates the next matching item. To override the replacement, click Find Next. To replace all items without verification, click Replace All. If the replacement didn't occur as you planned, you can use the Undo button on the Quick Access toolbar (or press Ctrl+Z).

### Tip

To delete information, enter the text to be deleted in the Find What field but leave the Replace With field empty. ■

### Searching for formatting

From the Find and Replace dialog box, you can also locate cells that contain a particular type of formatting. As an option, you can replace that formatting with another type of formatting. For example, assume that you want to locate all cells that are formatted as bold and then change that formatting to bold and italic. Follow these steps:

- 1. Choose Home ↔ Editing ↔ Find & Select ↔ Replace to display the Find and Replace dialog box (or, press Ctrl+H).
- 2. Make sure that the Replace tab is displayed.
- 3. If the Find What and Replace With fields are not empty, delete their contents.
- **4.** Click the top Format button to display the Find Format dialog box. This dialog box resembles the standard Format Cells dialog box.
- 5. In the Find Format dialog box, click the Font tab.
- 6. Select Bold in the Font Style list and then click OK.
- 7. Click the bottom Format button to display the Replace Format dialog box.
- 8. In the Replace Format dialog box, click the Font tab.
- **9.** Select Bold Italic from the Font Style list and then click OK. At this point, the Find and Replace dialog box resembles Figure 32.16. Notice that it displays previews of the formatting that will be found and replaced.

**10. In the Find and Replace dialog box, click Replace All.** Excel locates all cells that have bold formatting and changes the formatting to bold italic.

You can also find formatting based on a particular cell. In the Find Format dialog box, click the Choose Format from Cell button and then click the cell that contains the formatting you're looking for.

#### FIGURE 32.16

Use the Find and Replace dialog box to change formatting.

Find and I	taplace -				
Find	Reglace				
ngt-shr	e: 🗌			Preview	Format
Appino	nit:			Preview	Format +
veter	Sheek	* 1964	h gere		
Search	ByRowt	* Mobil	h entire cel	l ogstrents	
(sek in	Familie	*			Options 44
Replace	#1 ER	ske.	fpd Al	[mel Next	Clean

### Caution

The Find and Replace dialog box cannot find background color formatting in tables that was applied using table styles, or formatting that is applied based on conditional formatting. ■

# **Spell Checking Your Worksheets**

If you use a word processing program, you probably take advantage of its spell checker feature. Spelling mistakes can be just as embarrassing when they appear in a spreadsheet. Fortunately, Microsoft includes a spell checker with Excel.

To access the spell checker, choose Review ⇔ Proofing ⇔ Spelling, or press F7. To check the spelling in just a particular range, select the range before you activate the spell checker.

If the spell checker finds any words it does not recognize as correct, it displays the Spelling dialog box, shown in Figure 32.17.

### Note

The spell checker checks cell contents, text in graphic objects and charts, and page headers and footers. Even the contents of hidden rows and columns are checked. ■

#### **FIGURE 32.17**

Use the Spelling dialog box to locate and correct spelling errors in your worksheets.

Spalling English (U.S.)		
Not in Dictionary:		
terps		Ignore Once
		Ignare Al
		AN IN DURING Y
Twoperficts		
bingo		Grandis
berons		Ownge Al
	-	Aductored
Didenary language: English (U.S.)		
Qeters	Unde Last:	Cancel

The Spelling dialog box works similarly to other spell checkers with which you may be familiar. If Excel encounters a word that isn't in the current dictionary or that is misspelled, it offers a list of suggestions. You can respond by clicking one of these buttons:

- Ignore Once: Ignore the word and continues the spell check.
- Ignore All: Ignore the word and all subsequent occurrences of it.
- Add to Dictionary: Add the word to the dictionary.
- Change: Change the word to the selected word in the Suggestions list.
- **Change All:** Change the word to the selected word in the Suggestions list and change all subsequent occurrences of it without asking.
- AutoCorrect: Add the misspelled word and its correct spelling (which you select from the list) to the AutoCorrect list.

## **Using AutoCorrect**

AutoCorrect is a handy feature that automatically corrects common typing mistakes. You can also add words to the list that Excel corrects automatically. The AutoCorrect dialog box appears in Figure 32.18. To access this feature, choose File  $\Rightarrow$  Options. In the Excel Options dialog box, click the Proofing tab and then click the AutoCorrect Options button.

This dialog box has several options:

- **Correct TWo INitial CApitals:** Automatically corrects words with two initial uppercase letters. For example, BUdget is converted to Budget. This mistake is common among fast typists. You can click the Exceptions button to specify a list of exceptions to this rule.
- **Capitalize First Letter of Sentences:** Capitalizes the first letter in a sentence. All other letters are unchanged.

- **Capitalize Names of Days:** Capitalizes the days of the week. If you enter *monday*, Excel converts it to *Monday*.
- **Correct Accidental Use of cAPS LOCK key:** Corrects errors caused if you accidentally pressed the CapsLock key while typing.
- **Replace Text as You Type:** AutoCorrect automatically changes incorrect words as you type them.

#### **FIGURE 32.18**

Use the AutoCorrect dialog box to control the spelling corrections Excel makes automatically.



Excel includes a long list of AutoCorrect entries for commonly misspelled words. In addition, it has AutoCorrect entries for some symbols. For example, (c) is replaced with ©, and (r) is replaced with ®. You can also add your own AutoCorrect entries. For example, if you find that you frequently misspell the word *January* as *January*, you can create an AutoCorrect entry so that it's changed automatically. To create a new AutoCorrect entry, enter the misspelled word in the Replace box and the correctly spelled word in the With field. You can also delete entries that you no longer need.

### Tip

You also can use the AutoCorrect feature to create shortcuts for commonly used words or phrases. For example, if you work for a company named Consolidated Data Processing Corporation, you can create an AutoCorrect entry for an abbreviation, such as cdp. Then, whenever you type cdp, Excel automatically changes it to Consolidated Data Processing Corporation. Just make sure that you don't use a combination of characters that might normally appear in your text.

### Note

In some cases, you may want to override the AutoCorrect feature. For example, you may need to literally enter (c) rather than a copyright symbol. Just click the Undo button on the Quick Access toolbar or press Ctrl+Z.

You can use the AutoFormat as You Type tab of the AutoCorrect dialog box to control a few other automatic settings in Excel.

Use the Smart Tags tab to make Excel show Smart Tags — similar to hyperlinks — for certain types of data in your worksheets. The types of Smart Tags Excel recognizes vary depending on the types of software that are installed on your system.

The Math AutoCorrect tab contains shortcuts used to enter symbols when working in the Equation Editor (see Chapter 22).
# Part V

# Analyzing Data with Excel

E As you'll see, many of the data-analysis capabilities in Excel are both surprisingly powerful and easy to use.

### **IN THIS PART**

**Chapter 33** Getting Data from External Database Files

**Chapter 34** Understanding Pivot Tables

**Chapter 35** Analyzing Data with Pivot Tables

**Chapter 36** Performing Spreadsheet What-If Analysis

**Chapter 37** Analyzing Data Using Goal Seeking and Solver

**Chapter 38** Analyzing Data with the Analysis ToolPak

# CHAPTER

## **Getting Data from External Database Files**

**E** xcel has some great analysis and presentation tools, but these tools require data. In many cases, the data that you need is available in an external database. For example, your company may have a database that contains customer information, sales data, and so on. This chapter is an introduction to retrieving data from external database files for use in Excel.

### Understanding External Database Files

When you work with an Excel workbook, the entire workbook must be loaded into memory before you can begin working. Although loading all the data provides you with immediate access to the entire file and all the data it contains, it also means that you can't work with extremely large amounts of data. Although Excel 2010 supports more than a million rows, actually using that many rows can slow your system to a crawl — even if your system has plenty of memory.

### Note

Using the 64-bit version of Excel allows you to work with much larger workbooks. But for extremely large data sets, it's usually more efficient to work with a subset of the data. ■

When you access an external database file using Excel, you can perform a query to load just a subset of the data into your workbook.

### **IN THIS CHAPTER**

Understanding external database files

Getting started using Microsoft Query

Working with external data

Accessing external database files from Excel is useful in the following situations:

- You need to work with a subset of a very large database.
- The subset of data changes over time. It's very easy to refresh a query and replace the old data with updated information.
- The database is in a format that Excel can't import, or the database may be too large to import.
- The database contains multiple tables with relationships between those tables.

If you need to work with data in an external database, you may prefer to use Excel rather than the tools available in database programs. The advantage? After you bring the data into Excel, you can manipulate and format it by using familiar tools such as formulas, charts, and pivot tables. Of course, real database programs, such as Access, have advantages, too. For example, creating a complex database report in Access may be easier than creating it in Excel.

### Understanding Some Database Terminology.

People who spend their days working with databases seem to have their own special language. The following terms can help you hold your own among a group of database experts:

- External database: A collection of data stored in one or more files (not Excel files). A database contains one or more tables, and tables are composed of records and fields.
- Field: A component of a database table, it corresponds to a column in Excel.
- **ODBC**: Open DataBase Connectivity is a standard developed by Microsoft that uses drivers to access database files in different formats. Microsoft Query comes with drivers for Access, dBASE, FoxPro, Paradox, SQL Server, Excel workbooks, and ASCII text files. ODBC drivers for other databases are available from Microsoft and from third-party providers.
- **OLAP Cube:** A multidimensional aggregate data source, often created from various other sources. OLAP is an acronym for OnLine Analytical Processing.
- **Query**: Search a database for records that meet specific criteria. This term is also used as a noun; you can write a query, for example.
- **Record**: In a database table, a single element that corresponds to a row.
- **Refresh**: Rerun a query to get the latest data. It's applicable when the database contains information that is subject to change, as in a multiuser environment.
- **Relational database**: A database stored in more than one table or file. At least one common field (sometimes called the *key field*) connects the tables.
- **Result set**: The data returned by a query, usually a subset of the original database. Query returns the result set to your Excel workbook or to a pivot table. (I discuss pivot tables in Chapter 34.)
- **SQL**: An acronym for Structured Query Language (pronounced *see*-quel). Microsoft Query (discussed in this chapter) uses SQL to search data stored in ODBC databases.
- Table: A record- and field-oriented collection of data. A database consists of one or more tables.

### **Importing Access Tables**

Microsoft Access is included with some versions of Office 2010. An Access database contains one or more tables of data, and you can import an Access table directly into a worksheet by choosing Data 

→ Get External Data 

→ From Access. When you choose this command, Excel displays the Select Data Source dialog box, which you use to locate the Access file.

After you locate the Access database file, Excel displays the Select Table dialog box, from which you select the table (or view) to import. Figure 33.1 shows the tables and views available for the Microsoft Northwind Traders database, which is a sample Access database that you can download from the Microsoft Web site. Select the table that contains the data you need, click OK, and Excel displays its Import Data dialog box, shown in Figure 33.2. Use this dialog box to specify the location and whether you want a normal table or a pivot table. See Chapter 34 for information about pivot tables.

#### FIGURE 33.1

Selecting an Access table to import.

kene	Oescri	Notified	Deated	Type	1
Product Sales Oty by Employee and Date		7/23/2006 7:40:12 MM	7(23)/2006 7:40:08 AM	7854	
Product Sales Total by Date		7/23/2006 7:43:12 8M	7/20/2006 7:41:12 AH	70514	
Products On Balk Order		7/23/2006 7:43:10 8M	7(23)/2006 7:45:18 AM	7854	
Purchase Betails Extended		7/23/2006 7:43:11 8M	7(23)(2006 7:43:11 AH	7854	
Prurchase Price Totals		7/23/2006 7:43:68 #M	2(23)/2006 7-43:08 AM	7854	
Practice Samary		7(23/2006 7:40:09 #M	2(20)/2006 7:40:09 AM	7804	
Customers		7/23/0006 7:40:52 AM	7(21)/2006 7:41:12 AM	TAILE	
Employee Privilegee		7(23/0006 7:40:52 AM	2(20)/2006 7:40:08 AM	TABLE	
fimployoes		7)23/0006 7:40:52 AM	7(20)/2006 7:42:18 AM	TABLE	
Inventory Restorking		7(23/0006 7:40:52 AM	2(10)(2006 7:40:13 AM	TABLE	
Inventory Restorking Details		7(23/0006 7:40:52 AM	2(23)/2006 7:40:11 AM	TABLE	
Inventory Transactions		7(23)(0006 7:41:52 AM	7(20/2006 7:40:08 AM	TAILE	
Invaion		7)23/2006 7:41:52 AM	7(25)/2006 7:42:10 API	TABLE	
Order Details		7)23/2006 7:43:52 AM	7(25)/2006 7:45:10 API	TABLE	
Order Details Status		7(25/2006 7:4):52 AM	2129/2806 7:45:08 AM	TABLE	
Orders		7(25/2006 7:41:52 AM	7/25/2806 7:45:08 AM	TABLE	
Orders Status		7/23/2006 7:40:52 AM	7(25)/2006 7:43:10 API	TABLE	
Privlopes		7/23/2006 7:43:52 AM	7/25/2806-7:43:11 AH	TABLE	
Products		7/25/2006 7:40:52 AM	7/23/2806 7:43:08 AM	TABLE	

### Note

Importing an Access table in this manner is all or none. You're not given an opportunity to query the database for specific records. ■

Figure 33.3 shows part of the Customers table from the Northwind Traders database. Excel converts the data to a table. You can use all of Excel's tools to work with the data. Note, however, that you cannot make changes and send the changed data back to the Access database.

#### FIGURE 33.2

Use this dialog box to specify the location of the imported table.



#### FIGURE 33.3

An Access table, imported into Excel.

	A 8	C	D	6	F	Ğ
1	10 Company -	First Name In	Lost Name -	Emil Adres 🔹	Job Title	Business Phone 🔹 Ho
2	3 Company &	Anes	Bedecc		Owner	120(496-7090
3	2 Company 8	Antonia	Snetecco Solsone		Overage	(12)(495-789)
10	3 Company C	Thomas	Score 1		Purchasing Representative	120,000-7000
5	4 Company D	Christina	Jame .		Purchasing Nanaper	1120(495-789)
	3 Company 8	MATH	O'ttoeneli		Owner	120,000-7000
7	6-Company F	Frankisco	Neep-Olasta		Purchasing Manager	(120)-455-7890
	7 Company B	bong-rang	K0-9		Owner	120,000-7000
9	8 Company H	Elizabeth	Andersen		Purchasing Representative	(120)455-7890
18	<ol> <li>Company I</li> </ol>	Svan	Mortenaes		Durchuning Manager	1210406-2010
1.1	50 Company J	Roland	Wacher		Purchasing Manager	(120)/455-7890
12	13 Company K	Peter	Grathme		Purchasing Manager	(12)(495-789)
1.1	52 Company L	who -	Edwards		Purchasing Manager	120(400-7090
14	13 Company M	Andre	Juelick.		Purchasing Representative	(12)(495-789)
13	54 Company N	carlos.	ania		Purchasing Representative	120,000-7000
18	13 Company D	Helena	Gupkeva		Purchasing Manager	(12)(405-789)
LT	S8 Company P	Daneel	aoldschmatt		Purchasing Representative	120,000-7000
1.6	17 Company Q	Jean Philippe	Repel		Owner	(120)-455-7890
1.9	18 Company R	catherne	SubH Misoni		Purchasing Representative	120(000-7090
20	19 Company 5	Alexander	Eggerer		Accounting Assistant	(120)495-7890

### **Retrieving Data with Query: An Example**

This section discusses *Microsoft Query*, an application that ships with Excel. Use Query to import a subset of a database.

### Note

To perform queries using external databases, Microsoft Query must be installed on your system. If Query isn't installed, you're prompted to install it when you first choose Data ⇔ Get External Data ⇔ From Other Sources ⇔ From Microsoft Query. ■

The best way to become familiar with Microsoft Query is to walk through an example. In the following sections, you learn how to use Query to open a database file and import a specified set of records.

### On the CD

The database file used in this example is available on the companion CD-ROM. It's an Access 2010 file named budget data.accdb.

### The database file

The database file used in this example is a single-table Access file that consists of 31,680 records. This table contains the following fields:

- Sort: A numeric field that holds record sequence numbers.
- **Division:** A text field that specifies the company division (Asia, Europe, N. America, Pacific Rim, or S. America).
- **Department:** A text field that specifies the department within the division. Each division is organized into the following departments: Accounting, Advertising, Data Processing, Human Resources, Operations, Public Relations, R&D, Sales, Security, Shipping, and Training.
- **Category:** A text field that specifies the budget category. The four categories are Compensation, Equipment, Facility, and Supplies & Services.
- Item: A text field that specifies the budget item. Each budget category has different budget items. For example, the Compensation category includes the following items: Benefits, Bonuses, Commissions, Conferences, Entertainment, Payroll Taxes, Salaries, and Training.
- Month: A text field that specifies the month (abbreviated as Jan, Feb, and so on).
- Year: A numeric field that stores the year (either 2008 or 2009).
- **Budget:** A numeric field that stores the budgeted amount.
- Actual: A numeric field that stores the actual amount spent.
- Variance: A numeric field that stores the difference between the Budget and Actual.

### The task

The objective of this exercise is to create a report that shows the first quarter 2009 (January through March) Compensation expenditures of the Training Department in the North American Division. In other words, the query will extract records that meet all the following criteria:

- Division: N. America
- Department: Training
- Category: Compensation
- Month: Jan, Feb, or Mar
- Year: 2009

One approach to this task is to import the entire Access file into a worksheet using the method described earlier in this chapter (see "Importing Access Tables"). When the table is imported, you can filter it to display only the rows that meet the specified criteria. This approach works because this particular table isn't very large. However, in some cases, the number of records in the table may exceed the number of rows in a worksheet.

The advantage of using Query is that it imports only the data that's required. And, after you import the data, you can refresh the query at any time to bring in updated data.

### Selecting a data source

Begin with an empty worksheet. Choose Data ↔ Get External Data ↔ From Other Sources ↔ From Microsoft Query, which displays the Choose Data Source dialog box, as shown in Figure 33.4. This dialog box contains three tabs:

- **Databases:** Lists the data sources that are known to Query. This tab may be empty, depending on which data sources are defined on your system.
- Queries: Contains a list of stored queries. Again, this tab may or may not be empty.
- OLAP Cubes: Lists OLAP databases available for query.

#### FIGURE 33.4

The Choose Data Source dialog box.

Choose Data Source	
Owtoherer   Gussies   DLUP Dobes	06.
Man Data Searce) MACK Fan	Cancel
Excel Files" MS-Access Database"	Brawah
	Options
	Delate

Your system may have some data sources already defined. If so, they appear in the list on the Databases tab. To set up a new data source, use the New Data Source option. For this example, choose New Data Source and click OK. The Create New Data Source dialog box, which has four parts, appears:

- **1.** Enter a descriptive name for the data source. For this example, use the name Budget Database.
- **2.** Select a driver for the data source by selecting from the list of installed drivers. For this example, choose Microsoft Access Driver (\*.mdb, \*.accdb).

- 3. Click the Connect button to display another dialog box that asks for information specific to the driver that you selected in Step 2. In this example, you need to click the Select button and then locate the budget data.accdb file. Click OK to return to the previous dialog box and click OK again to return to the Create New Data Source dialog box.
- **4.** Select the default data table that you want to use. For this example, the database file contains a single table named budget. If the database requires a password, you can also specify that the password be saved with the data source definition. Figure 33.5 shows the Create New Data Source dialog box at this point.
- **5.** After you supply all the information in the Create New Data Source dialog box, click OK. You're returned to the Choose Data Source dialog box, which now displays the name of the data source that you created.

#### FIGURE 33.5

The Create New Data Source dialog box.



### Note

You have to go through these steps only once for each data source. The next time that you need to access this data source, the Budget Database (and any other database sources that you've defined) appears in the Choose Data Source dialog box. ■

### Note

The preceding steps are general steps that work with all supported database types. In some situations, you may prefer to open the database file directly and not create a named data source that will appear in the Choose Data Source dialog box. For example, if you won't be using the database again, you can open the file directly and not have to bother creating a new named data source. If you're using an Access file, you can select MS Access Database from the Databases tab in the Choose Data Source dialog box. Then, you can specify the file, and you're taken directly to Microsoft Query. ■

### Using Query with Excel Files\_

You may have noticed that one of the options in the Choose Data Source dialog box is Excel Files. If you choose this option, you can use Query to bring in data stored in Excel workbooks. You can put any number of data tables in a workbook, but each one must have a range name because that's how Query identifies the tables.

### Using the Query Wizard

The Choose Data Source dialog box has a check box at the bottom that lets you specify whether to use the Query Wizard to create your query. (Refer to Figure 33.4.) The Query Wizard walks you through the steps used to create your query; if you use the Query Wizard, you don't have to deal directly with Query. I highly recommend using the Query Wizard, and the examples in this chapter use this tool.

In the Choose Data Source dialog box, do the following:

- 1. Select your data source (Budget Database, for this example).
- 2. Make sure that the Query Wizard check box is selected.
- 3. Click OK to start the Query Wizard.

#### **Query Wizard: Choosing the columns**

In the first step of the Query Wizard, select the database columns that you want to appear in your query. Select one or more columns and click the > button to add them (see Figure 33.6). To select all fields, click the table name (budget) and then click the > button.

#### FIGURE 33.6

In the first step of Query Wizard, you select the columns to use in your query.

Query Wisard - Choese Columns						100
What ediums of data-do you want to it Available tables and columns: D D DVFSEDN DVFSEDN DVFSEDN DDFSETTMENT CARGEORY TTP M	i i	() NOV	eny? Collern	c in ye	a awy	÷
Previewel data in selected eskutes	J	4	Dack.		Net?	Cancel

If you want to see the data for a particular column, select the column and click the Preview Now button. If you accidentally add a column that you don't need, select it in the right panel and click the < button to remove it.

For this example, add all the fields and then click the Next button.

### **Query Wizard: Filtering data**

In the second step of the Query Wizard , specify your record selection criteria — how you want to filter the data. This step is optional. If you want to retrieve all the data, just click the Next button to proceed.

Figure 33.7 shows the Filter Data dialog box of the Query Wizard.

#### FIGURE 33.7

In the second step of the Query Wizard, you specify how you want to filter the data.

Files the data to specifi If you don't work to the	y which nows to inclu a the claim, click Meet	de incelur queco.	
Column to filter:	Drig include	cost officer.	
CONSION CONSION CONSION CATEBORY ITIDAL		C And C Dr	-
HENTH RUDGET ACTUAL WANANCE		C And C Dr C And C Dr	v
Ð		<bok net=""></bok>	Canoel

For the example, not all records are needed. Recall that you're interested only in the records in which all the following applies:

- The Division is N. America.
- The Department is Training.
- The Category is Compensation.
- The Year is 2009.
- The Month is Jan, Feb, or Mar.

The criteria are entered by column. In this case, you have five criteria (one for each of five columns):

- From the Column to Filter list, select Division. In the right panel, select *equals* from the first drop-down list and then select N. America from the second drop-down list.
- From the Column to Filter list, select Department. In the right panel, select *equals* from the first drop-down list and then select Training from the second drop-down list.

- From the Column to Filter list, select Category. In the right panel, select *equals* from the first drop-down list and then select Compensation from the second drop-down list.
- From the Column to Filter list, select Year. In the right panel, select *equals* from the first drop-down list and then select 2009 from the second drop-down list.
- From the Column to Filter list, select Month. In the right panel, select *equals* from the first drop-down list and then select Jan from the second drop-down list. And because this column is filtered by multiple values, select the Or option button and then select *equals* and *Feb* from the drop-down lists in the second row. Finally, select *equals* and *Mar* from the drop-down lists in the third row.

To review the criteria that you entered, select the column from the Column to Filter list. The Query Wizard displays the criteria that you entered for the selected column. Notice that columns that are used in the query display in bold.

After you enter all the criteria, click Next.

#### Query Wizard: Sort order

The third step of the query lets you specify how you want the records to be sorted (see Figure 33.8). This step is optional, and you can click Next to move to the next step if you don't want the data sorted or if you prefer to sort it after it's returned to your worksheet.

For this example, sort by Category in ascending order. You can specify as many sort fields as you like. Click Next to move on to the next step.

#### **Query Wizard: Finish**

The final step of the Query Wizard, shown in Figure 33.9, lets you save the query so that you can reuse it. To save the query, click Save Query and then enter a filename.

Select an option that corresponds to what you want to do with the returned data. Normally, you want to return the data to Excel. If you know how to use the Microsoft Query application, you can return the data to Query and examine it or even modify the selection criteria.

#### FIGURE 33.8

In the third step of the Query Wizard, you specify the sort order.

Query Wisard - Serf Order		
lipecity here you rearry our data sarted. If you don't work to saft the data, click Need.		
Set by	E C Accending	÷
Then by	E Accerding	
Trenty	E Contraction	
1	clask Sel 2	Cancel

For this example, select the Return Data to Microsoft Excel option button and then click Finish.

#### FIGURE 33.9

The final step of the Query Wizard.

Query Wcard - Finish			
What vocald you like to do next?			
17 Petan Data to Microsoft Excel			Save Ourp.
C. Vere data or edit queryin Microsoft Query			
Ð	CENK	Fittsh	Canoel

### Specifying a location for the data

Figure 33.10 shows the Import Data dialog box, which appears after you click the Finish button in the Query Wizard.

For this example, select the Table option button and place the data beginning in cell A1 of the existing worksheet. Click OK to import the data.

### Note

If you choose PivotTable Report, or PivotChart and PivotTable Report, you can specify the layout for a pivot table (see Chapters 34 and 35). In such a case, the database is used as the source for the pivot table, and the original data table does not appear in your workbook. ■

### FIGURE 33.10

Specifying what to do with the data.

Import Data	
Select how you want to stew this details @ 3pble D @ pysmable Report	your verkbook.
Prot[Dart and Prot[Dart and Prot[Dart Big []]     Orly Deate Connector     Where do not want to put the data?     @ Existing worksheet:	epart
	18
Pypetes. OK	Carved

Figure 33.11 shows the data that is returned to a worksheet.

#### FIGURE 33.11

The results of the query.

			C	D	E .	F	6	14	1		E.
1	10 - I	50HT -	DWISIOS -	COMPTHENT -	CATEGORY -	11EM -	YB48 -	MOATH -	BADGET -	ACTUNE +	WARRANCE -
2	13963	1990.0	N. America	Taking	compensation	talares:	3009	286	31.84	4041	8.79
3	12204	12214	N. America	Training	Companyation	tenetito	2018	jen -	4179	2045	-3296
а.	19965	19963	N. America	Taking	compensation	Bonases	3089	280	42117	1411	-823
.5	12915	15964	N. America	Training	Compensation	Commissions	3089	Jan .	31.02	2516	-296
8	1990.2	19901	M. Järnerina	Training	Companyation	Reprell Taxes	2009	lan	101	2618	41
7	15918	15918	N. America	Training	Compensation	Training	3089	Jan	4784	2090	-3094
8	13915	19919	N. America	Training	Companyation	Conferences	2018	Jan	3650	5738	3028-
н.	19928	10100	N. America	Taking	compensation	<b>Endertainment</b>	3009	280	3280	1014	189
10	17258	17258	N. America	Training	Companyation	Salaries	2018	Peb	3678	3945	1507
1.1	17210	17216	N. America	Taking	compensation	Benefits:	3089	PHD	2367	4015	2358
13	17295	17295	N. America	Training	Compensation	Bonuses	3089	Feb	3020	2309	-3521
1/3	17208	17204	N. Jamerica	Training	Compensation	Demmissions	3008	Parks	3209	2818	604
14	17297	17297	N. America	Training	Compensation	Payroll Taxes	3089	Feb	3967	2812	.55
15	17258	17256	N. America	Training	Companyation	Training	2018	Peb	31.90	3736	546
18	17218	17208	N. America	Training	compensation	conferences.	3008	PHD	1887	0042	10
$\mathbf{I}\mathbf{T}$	17248	17240	N. America	Training	Companyation	Entertainment	2018	Peb	3017	565	12
13	18151	18353	N. America	Training	compensation	talares:	3008	1Mar	3099	(2090)	1993
1.9	18554	18554	N. America	Training	Compensation	Benefits	3089	Mar	2955	- 4140	1293
20	18100	18100	N. America	Taking	compensation	Bonades	3008	1Mar	3820	1178	358
21	18556	18556	N. America	Training	Compensation	Commissions	3089	Mar	4051	2643	-1299
22	18557	18557	N. America	Training	Companyation	Reprol Taxos	2008	lifar	2750	5295	548
21	LENNE	18358	N. America	Taking	compensation	training	3008	14Ar	3793	3172	3187
24	18555	18559	N. America	Training	Companyation	Conferences	2008	lifar	4229	3799	-450
25	18140	18140	N. America	Tamp	compensation	<b>Endertainment</b>	3089	14Ar	1769	1263	-304
26											

### Working with Data Returned by Query

Excel stores the data that Query returns in either a worksheet or a pivot table cache. When Excel stores data in a worksheet, it stores the data in a table that's a specially named range known as an *external data range*; Excel creates the name for this range automatically. In this example, the external data range is named Table\_Query\_from\_Budget\_Database.

You can manipulate data returned from a query just like any other worksheet range. For example, you can sort the data, format it, or create formulas that use the data.

The following sections describe what you can do with the data that Excel receives from Query and stores in a worksheet.

### Adjusting the external data range properties

You can adjust various properties of the external data range by using the External Data Properties dialog box (see Figure 33.12).

To display this dialog box, the cell pointer must be within the external data range. Open this dialog box by using either of these methods:

- Right-click and choose Table 🕫 External Data Properties from the shortcut menu.
- Choose Data S Connections Properties.

For more settings (applicable for advanced users), click the Properties icon, which is directly to the right of the Name field in the External Data Properties dialog box. Excel displays the Connection Properties dialog box.

#### FIGURE 33.12

The External Data Properties dialog box enables you to specify various options for an external data range.

Esternal Data Properties
Connection
Name: Query from Budget Database
Data fematting and layout
Include now regelors IV Preserve column sort/filter/layout
If the number of nows in the data range changes upon refresh: We seem gets for new data, deter unused cells Street entire rauge for new data, deer unused cells
© green to coordinate with new bids, dear unued cells OK Careel

### **Refreshing a query**

After performing a query, you can save the workbook file and then retrieve it later. The file contains the data that you originally retrieved from the external database. The external database may have changed, however, in the interim.

Fortunately, Excel saves the query definition with the workbook. Simply move the cell pointer anywhere within the external data table in the worksheet and then use one of the following methods to refresh the query:

- Right-click and choose Refresh from the shortcut menu.
- Choose Data I Connections I Refresh All.
- Click Refresh in the Workbook Connections dialog box (displayed by choosing Data 
   Connections 
   Connections).

Excel uses your original query to bring in the current data from the external database.

### Tip

If you find that refreshing the query causes undesirable results, use the Undo button to "unrefresh" the data.

### Note

A single workbook can hold as many external data ranges as you need. Excel gives each query a unique name, and you can work with each query independently. Excel automatically keeps track of the query that produces each external data range.

### Caution

After performing a query, you may want to copy or move the external data range, which you can do by using the normal copy, cut, and paste techniques. However, make sure that you copy or cut the entire external data range: Otherwise, the underlying query is not copied, and the copied data can't be refreshed. ■

### **Deleting a query**

If you decide that you no longer need the data returned by a query, you can delete it by selecting the entire external data range and pressing Delete. Excel displays a warning and asks you to verify your intentions. Your data source definition remains intact, so you can always re-specify your original query.

### Changing your query

If you bring the query results into your worksheet and discover that you don't have what you want, you can modify the query. Move the cell pointer anywhere within the external data table in the worksheet. Right-click and choose Table 🖒 Edit Query from the shortcut menu. You need to edit the query using Microsoft Query. See the next section to learn how to work with Query directly.

### Using Query without the Wizard

When you choose Data ⇔ Get External Data ⇔ From Other Sources ⇔ From Microsoft Query, the Choose Data Source dialog box gives you the option of whether to use Query Wizard to create your query. If you choose not to use Query Wizard, Microsoft Query is launched in a new window. You also work directly with Query if you choose to edit a query that was created with Query Wizard.

### Note

Microsoft Query is a relatively old application, and its user interface hasn't been updated to match the other Office programs. It works fine. It just looks old-fashioned. ■

### Creating a query manually

Before you can create a query, you must display the Criteria pane. In Query, open the View menu and place a check next to the Criteria menu item. The Criteria pane appears in the middle of the window. Figure 33.13 shows Microsoft Query, after selecting the Budget Database from the Choose Data Source dialog box.

#### FIGURE 33.13

Display the Criteria pane as shown here so that you'll be able to create your query.

#### Tables pane

Sharaali Qaray - Karay Ng Kas Life Very Far Maray	France Bundget Claim and Tables Claim Fight Fight The	innet Pio Records We 22 <u>24 24</u> 2	dan Halp T		
torbet acctual * aucear contractor Contractor Canaditacto					
Coloria Field Vidua ex					į.
Hell Stoot Field	for Data pare				

Criteria pane

Data pane

The Query window has three panes, which are split horizontally:

- **Tables pane:** The top pane, which holds the selected data tables for the database. Each data table window has a list of the fields in the table.
- **Criteria pane:** The middle pane, which holds the criteria that determine the rows that the query returns.
- Data pane: The bottom pane, which holds the data that passes the criteria.

Creating a query consists of the following steps:

- 1. Drag fields from the Tables pane to the Data pane. You can drag as many fields as you want. These fields are the columns that the query will return. You can also double-click a field instead of dragging it.
- **2.** Enter criteria in the Criteria pane. When you activate this pane, the first row (labeled Criteria Field) displays a drop-down list that contains all the field names. Select a field and enter the criteria below it. Query updates the Data pane automatically, treating each row like an OR operator.
- **3.** Choose File  $\Rightarrow$  Return Data to Microsoft Excel to execute the query and place the data in a worksheet or pivot table.

Figure 33.14 shows how the query for the example presented earlier in this chapter appears in Query. Recall that the goal is to retrieve records in which all of the following applies:

- The Division is N. America.
- The Department is Training.
- The Category is Compensation.
- The Year is 2009.
- The Month is Jan, Feb, or Mar.

#### **FIGURE 33.14**

Add the fields and criteria to complete your query.

the bar	Query - Duery has	Table Colabore)	and Select M	_		1 and 1 at 1
	10 m 175	য দ্বা আহা	सम गण ह	ń		
			1000 (222-) (2	2		
tings.	-					
CT.AL	<u><u></u></u>					
HORCT						
NUCLEY						
EV/F14	PF I					
M906	-					
ni Piét [	DVDIIN	16204116531	Datiogram.	VER .	HON'H	
VIAC	Witness .	Taking	Carpenadori	2019	Shel	
-	% Heator	Training	Corpanoatori	2007	790	
	<ol> <li>Areior</li> </ol>	Tiend	Corpensatori	2007	'Mar	
	* 100					
10	1.0007	No. 10 YO	DEROFTMENT.	1 DOLLAR WAY	1.1114	
201	1970	S amatica	Taring Street	Creation	Salater	384
0.07.4	TIPE	R manca	Refering .	Companyation	present.	200
1916 1	197.0	4 america	Training	Constantions	Economic .	200
12.00	+21-6	4. emailos	Training	Companiestion	Extension on	200
CD# P	TIPT	<ol> <li>Homise</li> </ol>	Taiting	Carpennaker	Page-I Tares	200
PDH B	101.0	4 amatra	Training	Campaneation	Durking	208
124 5	77910	4. emailos	Training	Companyation	Disferios-	389
NICE.	TYKE	<ol><li>Limming</li></ol>	Taking	Carpenadors	Entranjonani	209
520	1520	5. emailos	3494	Companieskon	Solater	202
17234	112.04	<ol> <li>maio</li> </ol>	haves	Conservation	presit:	200
17.0M	1508	S. DOM:NO	24.64	Carpenadors	Diman.	200
10.08	1.08	N amanos	1491	Companeetton	Crudent real	200
War -	108	4. HTMCI	18915	Corpension	Paper Tare	200
0.08	1110	A second	The second se	Companyation (	Contraction of the second	1004
1000	1100	a second	Territoria de la constante de	Contenenter	Entranda de la	200
UR RO	1440	A secolar	Training	Carportagion	E-dates.	304
107.4	+4054	d amailte	Training	Companying	Banalta.	500
UPAA.	1005	4. Domina	Training	Constanting	Louise.	300
UPPER .	LADAK	6 amains	Training	Constanting	Complement	208
1887	18257	4. emailor	Training	Conservation	ParciTtest	389
IPAL	10/00	4. Section	Training	Carpenadors	Trating	305
1888	147729	4. emailos	Taring	Contentierlon	Enteror:	308
1040	TONE	<ol> <li>mance</li> </ol>	Tarwig .	Corpensition	Exception (and the other	200
Barnt	100					

### Tip

Double-clicking a criteria box to display the Edit Criteria dialog box enables you to select an operator and value. ■

### Using multiple database tables

The example in this chapter uses only one database table. Some databases, however, use multiple tables. These databases are *relational databases* because a common field links the tables. Query lets you use any number of tables in your queries.

### Note

When you add tables to a query, the Tables pane in Query connects the linked fields with a line between the tables. If no links exist, you can create a link yourself by dragging a field from one table to the corresponding field in the other table.

### Adding and editing records in external database tables

To add, delete, and edit data when you're using Query, make sure that a check mark appears next to the Records r Allow Editing menu item. Of course, you'll need the proper permissions, and you can't edit a database file that's set up as read-only.

### Caution

Be careful with this feature because your changes are saved to disk as soon as you move the cell pointer out of the record that you're editing. You do not need to choose File ⇔ Save. ■

### Formatting data

If you don't like the data's appearance in the Data pane, you can change the font used by choosing Format  $\Rightarrow$  Font. Be aware that selective formatting isn't allowed (unlike in Excel); changing the font affects all the data in the Data pane.

### Tip

If you need to view the data in the Data pane in a different order, choose Records ⇔ Sort (or click the Sort Ascending or Sort Descending toolbar icon). ■

### **Learning More about Query**

This chapter isn't intended to cover every aspect of Microsoft Query; rather, it discusses the basic features that are used most often. In fact, if you use the Query Wizard, you may never need to interact with Query itself. But if you do need to use Query, you can experiment and consult the online Help to learn more. As with anything related to Excel, the best way to master Query is to use it — preferably with data that's meaningful to you.

### CHAPTER



## **Introducing Pivot Tables**

The Pivot Table feature is perhaps the most technologically sophisticated component in Excel. With only a few mouse clicks, you can slice and dice a data table in dozens of different ways and produce just about any type of summary you can think of.

If you haven't yet discovered the power of pivot tables, this chapter provides an introduction, and Chapter 35 continues with many examples that demonstrate how easy it is to create powerful data summaries using pivot tables.

### **About Pivot Tables**

A *pivot table* is essentially a dynamic summary report generated from a database. The database can reside in a worksheet (in the form of a table) or in an external data file. A pivot table can help transform endless rows and columns of numbers into a meaningful presentation of the data.

For example, a pivot table can create frequency distributions and crosstabulations of several different data dimensions. In addition, you can display subtotals and any level of detail that you want. Perhaps the most innovative aspect of a pivot table is its interactivity. After you create a pivot table, you can rearrange the information in almost any way imaginable and even insert special formulas that perform new calculations. You even can create post hoc groupings of summary items (for example, combine Northern Region totals with Western Region totals). And the icing on the cake: With a few mouse clicks, you can apply formatting to a pivot table to convert it into an attractive report.

### **IN THIS CHAPTER**

An introduction to pivot tables

Types of data appropriate for a pivot table

Pivot table terminology

How to create pivot tables

Pivot table examples that answer specific questions about data One minor drawback to using a pivot table is that unlike a formula-based summary report, a pivot table does not update automatically when you change information in the source data. This drawback doesn't pose a serious problem, however, because a single click of the Refresh button forces a pivot table to update itself with the latest data.

Pivot tables were introduced in Excel 97. Unfortunately, many users overlook this feature because they think it's too complicated. The pivot table feature was improved significantly in Excel 2007, and you'll find a few new twists in Excel 2010. Creating and working with pivot tables is easier than ever.

### A pivot table example

The best way to understand the concept of a pivot table is to see one. Start with Figure 34.1, which shows a portion of the data used in creating the pivot table in this chapter.

#### FIGURE 34.1

This table is used to create a pivot table.

10	A	9	-C	0	6	F	6
1	Gate -1	Weekday -	Amount -	AccType	Openedity	Branch -	Customer -
2	34p-01	Peiday	3,080	85	New ALC:	central	tritting
3	Sep-OL	Priday	14,571	00	Teller	Central	New
	sep-ct.	Peidag	300	checking	New ALC:	central	Existing
5	Sep-OL	Friday	15,080	00	New Accts	Central	Existing
	sep-ot.	Peidag	4,423	tavings	New ALC:	North County	Existing
7	Sep-OL	Friday	8,721	Savings	New Accts	Westside	New
.8	Sepcifi	Peidag	14,228	Savings	New Arets	Months County	Fainking
9	Sep-0L	Friday	5,080	Savings	New Accts	Westside	Existing
18	Sep-OL	Friday	15,759	00	Teller	Westside	Existing
11	34p-01	Peday	12,080	00	New Acces	mestada	testing
12	Sep-OL	Friday	7,127	Swings	Teller	North County	Existing
11	Sep-OL	Pedag	6,827	tavings	New Assn	medade	Existing
14	5ep-01	Friday	3,171	Checking	New Arets	Westside	Existing
13	sep-ct.	Peidag	38,080	Savings.	New ALC: L	central	Existing
1.6	Sep-0L	Friday	4,680	Checking	New Accts	North County	New
LT	54p-01	Priday	12,418	checking	New ALC:	Central	Existing
1.15	Sep-OL	Friday	5,080	Checking	Nevi Azzta	North County	Existing
1.9	Sep-OL	Friday	7,080	Savings	New Arets	North County	New
20	Sep-0L	Friday	11,957	Checking	New Accts	Central	Existing
21	Sep-OL	Friday	13,636	00	New Arets	North County	Existing
23	Sep-OL	Peidag	18,000	00	New ALC:	central	New
23	5ep-01	Friday	5,879	Checking	New Arets	Central	Existing
24	54p-01	Peidag	4,080	havings.	New ALC:	central	Existing
25	Sep-0L	Friday	18,080	0	Tellor	North County	Existing
28	sep-ot	Peiday	2,427	checking	New LUDI	North County	Existing
27	Sep-0L	Friday	4,580	Checking	New Accts	North County	New
28	Sep.O	Feidag	12,967	Charling	Teller	Central	Fainting
29	Sep-0L	Friday	580	Checking	New Accts	Central	New
30	5ep-01	Friday	5,384	Checking	Teller	Central	New
21	54p-0L	Peiday	45,080	8	Tellor	North County	triding
33	5ep-01	Friday	14,587	Checking	Teller	North County	Existing
==	340-01	Feiday	11,081	checking	Teller	central	New
34	5ep-08	Tridey	15,779	00	Teller	Centrel	New
33	340-02	full and any	4,999	checking	New ALCH	Central	New
26	Sep-02	Saturday	18,096	Savings	New Accts	Central	New

This table consists of a month's worth of new account information for a three-branch bank. The table contains 712 rows, and each row represents a new account. The table has the following columns:

- The date the account was opened
- The day of the week the account was opened
- The opening amount
- The account type (CD, checking, savings, or IRA)
- Who opened the account (a teller or a new-account representative)
- The branch at which it was opened (Central, Westside, or North County)
- The type of customer (an existing customer or a new customer)

### On the CD

#### This workbook, named bank accounts.xlsx, is available on the companion CD-ROM. ■

The bank accounts database contains quite a bit of information. In its current form, though, the data doesn't reveal much. To make the data more useful, you need to summarize it. Summarizing a database is essentially the process of answering questions about the data. Following are a few questions that may be of interest to the bank's management:

- What is the daily total new deposit amount for each branch?
- Which day of the week accounts for the most deposits?
- How many accounts were opened at each branch, broken down by account type?
- What's the dollar distribution of the different account types?
- What types of accounts do tellers open most often?
- How does the Central branch compare with the other two branches?
- In which branch do tellers open the most checking accounts for new customers?

You can, of course, spend time sorting the data and creating formulas to answer these questions. But almost always, a pivot table is a better choice. Creating a pivot table takes only a few seconds, doesn't require a single formula, and produces a nice-looking report. In addition, pivot tables are much less prone to error than creating formulas. (Later in this chapter, you'll see several pivot tables that answer the preceding questions.)

Figure 34.2 shows a pivot table created from the bank data. This pivot table shows the amount of new deposits, broken down by branch and account type. This particular summary represents one of dozens of summaries that you can produce from this data.

Figure 34.3 shows another pivot table generated from the bank data. This pivot table uses a dropdown Report Filter for the Customer item (in row 1). In the figure, the pivot table displays the data only for Existing customers. (The user can also select New or All from the drop-down control.) Notice the change in the orientation of the table? For this pivot table, branches appear as column labels, and account types appear as row labels. This change, which took about five seconds to make, is another example of the flexibility of a pivot table.

#### FIGURE 34.2

A simple pivot table.

1	A	8	C	D	1	F	
1							
2	1						
3	Sum of Amount	ActType 🔳					
4	Branch *	CD	Checking	IRA .	Savings	Grand Tetal	
3	Central	1,358,385	802,408	68,380	885,757	3,115,925	
6	North County	1,137,911	392,516	134,174	467,414	2,132,215	
7	Westside	648,549	292,995	10.000	236,088	1.287,632	
8	Grand Total	3,145,845	1,487,914	212,754	1,688,259	6,535,772	
5							
10							
11							

#### FIGURE 34.3

A pivot table that uses a report filter.

Ľ.	A		C	D	E
1	Customer	Existing at			
2					
3	Sum of Amount	Branch 🗉			
4	AcctType *	Central	North County	Westside	Grand Total
5	CD	978,112	945,522	156,079	2,174,713
6	Checking	\$05.822	208.375	144,391	\$58,588
Ŧ	84	68,380	125,374	18,000	208,754
5	Savings	548,198	286,891	291,728	1,126,817
9	Grand Total	2,095,512	1,466,162	802,198	4,368,872
10					

### Data appropriate for a pivot table

A pivot table requires that your data is in the form of a rectangular database. You can store the database in either a worksheet range (which can be a table or just a normal range) or an external database file. And although Excel can generate a pivot table from any database, not all databases benefit.

Generally speaking, fields in a database table consist of two types:

- **Data:** Contains a value or data to be summarized. For the bank account example, the Amount field is a data field.
- **Category:** Describes the data. For the bank account data, the Date, AcctType, OpenedBy, Branch, and Customer fields are category fields because they describe the data in the Amount field.

### Note

A database table that's appropriate for a pivot table is said to be "normalized." In other words, each record (or row) contains information that describes the data.

### Why "Pivot?"

Are you curious about the term "pivot?"

*Pivot*, as a verb, means to rotate or revolve. If you think of your data as a physical object, a pivot table lets you rotate the data summary and look at it from different angles or perspectives. A pivot table allows you to move fields around easily, nest fields within each other, and even create ad hoc groups of items.

If you were handed a strange object and asked to identify it, you'd probably look at it from several different angles in an attempt to figure it out. Working with a pivot table is similar to investigating a strange object. In this case, the object happens to be your data. A pivot table invites experimentation, so feel free to rotate and manipulate the pivot table until you're satisfied. You may be surprised at what you discover.

A single database table can have any number of data fields and category fields. When you create a pivot table, you usually want to summarize one or more of the data fields. Conversely, the values in the category fields appear in the pivot table as rows, columns, or filters.

Exceptions exist, however, and you may find the Excel Pivot Table feature useful even for databases that don't contain actual numerical data fields. Chapter 35 has an example of a pivot table created from non-numeric data.

Figure 34.4 shows an example of an Excel range that is *not* appropriate for a pivot table. You might recognize this data from the outline example in Chapter 26. Although the range contains descriptive information about each value, it does *not* consist of normalized data. In fact, this range actually resembles a pivot table summary, but it is much less flexible.

#### FIGURE 34.4

This range is not appropriate for a pivot table.

14	A	6	C	D	E	F	6	н	1	1
	State	jun	Feb	Mar	Qtr.1	Apr	May	Jun	Qtr2	<b>Total</b>
2	california	1,118	1,908	1,300	4,330	1,371	1,307	1,079	4,587	0,857
3	Weshington	1.347	1.258	1.628	3,573	1.345	1,754	1.574	4,763	8,216
4	ranegon	1,010	1,014	1,728	5,140	1,010	1,764	1,101	4,269	9,509
5	Anteona	1.345	1.375	1,075	3,796	1.758	1.355	1.372	4,663	8,458
	West Total	5,178	6,827	5,651	16,718	5,813	6,868	5,768	16,342	35,629
7	New York	1,425	1.315	1.990	4,738	1,602	1,740	1.225	4,762	9,905
1	New Lossey	1,735	1,408	1,328	4,365	1,708	1,320	1,310	4,216	0,601
3	Massochusetta	1,099	1,399	1,110	3,442	1,697	1.512	1,005	4,155	1,597
12	Planda	1,705	1,710	1,325	4,722	1,948	1,827	1,817	4,630	9,352
11	East Total	5,968	5,747	5,952	17,362	7,121	5,899	4,844	17,864	35,131
13	Kentuday	1,308	1,078	1,315	3,342	1,000	1,012	1,010	4,424	1,018
13	Oklahoma	1,309	1,645	1.640	3,996	1,924	1,499	1,540	5,364	9,358
14	Manouri	1.511	1,784	1,414	4,689	1.345	1,495	1,629	4,586	9,229
15	Himpis	1,529	1,499	1,311	4,240	1,355	1.012	1,445	3,623	T.866
18	Karoao	1.575	1,960	1.343	4,176	1,495	1.125	1,387	4,087	8,783
17	Control Total	1,441	6,829	6,654	21,825	T,829	6,212	8,144	22,118	41,301
[法 13]	Grand Tetal	15,579	15,154	17,297	95,878	30,754	18,711	18,757	98,382	113,352

Figure 34.5 shows the same data, but normalized. This range contains 78 rows of data — one for each of the six monthly sales values for the 13 states. Notice that each row contains category information for the sales value. This table is an ideal candidate for a pivot table, and contains all information necessary to summarize the information by region or quarter.

#### FIGURE 34.5

				L		
а.	State	Region	Month	Qtr	Sales	
2	California	West	Jan	Ctr-1	1,118	
3	California	West	Feb	Otr-1	1,960	
4	California	West	Mar	Qtr-1	1,252	
5	California	West	Apr	Qtr-2	1,271	
6	California	West	May	Qtr-2	1.557	
7	California	West	Jun	Q1r-2	1,679	
8	Washington	West	Jain .	Q17-1	1,247	
9	Washington	West	Feb	Qtr-1	1,238	
10	Washington	West	Mar	Qtr-1	1.028	
11	Washington	West	Apr	Qtr-2	1,345	
12	Washington	West	May	Ctr-2	1,784	
13	Washington	Viett	2011	QH-2	1,574	
14	Gregon	Vient	Jam	Qtr-1	1,400	
15	Oregon	West	Feb	Qtr-1	1,954	
15	Oregon	West	Mar	Q1r-1	1,726	
17	Oregon	West	Apr	Qtr-2	1,461	
18	Oregon	West	May	Qtr-2	1,764	
19	Gregon	West	Jun	Qtr-2	1,144	
20	Arizona	West	Jan	Qtr-1	1.945	
21	Arizona	West	Feb	Off-1	1,375	
22	Arizona	West	Mar	Q17-1	1,075	
23	Aripona	West	Apr	Qtr-2	1,796	
24	Arizona	West	May	Qtr-2	1,555	

This range contains normalized data and is appropriate for a pivot table.

Figure 34.6 shows a pivot table created from the normalized data. As you can see, it's virtually identical to the non-normalized data shown in Figure 34.4.

### On the CD

This workbook, named normalized data.xlsx, is available on the companion CD-ROM. ■

#### FIGURE 34.6

A pivot table created from normalized data.

Sum of Sales	Column								
	# Q2-1			Q9-1 Tetal				QV-I TANK	Grand Total
Rove Labels 🛛 🗖	tan -	Feb I	Mar		Apr	May	A.e		
WHI	1,171	8,537	N,OE1	16,178	1,011	8,860	5,799	18,212	15,000
Arizona	1,145	1,275	1,075	3,795	1,736	1,525	1,973	4,663	8,458
Collifernia	1.118	1,560	1,252	4,330	1.371	1,587	1,679	4,587	8,837
threepon	1,408	1,304	1, 128	5,140	1,400	1,794	1,144	4,103	3,589
Washington	1.347	1.235	1.028	3,913	1.345	1,784	1,574	4,793	8,216
- Last	1,968	5,247	5,153	17,367	7,111	5,899	4,816	17,884	15,111
Horida	1,705	1,792	1,225	4,722	1,545	1,237	1,157	4,630	9,153
Maxachusetts	1,099	1,211	1,110	1,602	1,817	1,512	1,008	4,111	2,387
New Jensey	1,715	1,405	1,224	4,165	1,706	1,230	1,290	4,105	8,681
New York	1,429	1.535	1,999	4,738	1,852	1,740	1,151	4,783	5,503
Control	7,410	6,830	9,091	35,005	7,820	8,211	8,144	33,176	40,003
#linets	1,555	1.485	1,213	4,243	1.365	1.015	1,443	3,623	7,586
KANGEL	1,070	1,560	1,201	4,178	1,410	1,125	1,187	4,087	8,783
Kentucky	1,109	1,079	1,155	3,142	1,999	1,082	1,551	4,626	7,968
Meddeurt	1,811	1,744	1,414	6,000	1,341	1,011	1,820	4,158	8,225
Oklahoma	1,309	1,045	1,641	3,995	1,824	1,499	1,941	5,164	9,159
Gnand Total	38,579	15,154	17,290	55,070	30,754	18,271	18,757	58,282	113,352

### **Creating a Pivot Table**

In this section, I describe the basic steps required to create a pivot table, using the bank account data described earlier in this chapter. Creating a pivot table is an interactive process. It's not at all uncommon to experiment with various layouts until you find one that you're satisfied with. If you're unfamiliar with the elements of a pivot table, see the upcoming sidebar, "Pivot Table Terminology."

### Specifying the data

If your data is in a worksheet range, select any cell in that range and then choose Insert  $\Rightarrow$  Tables  $\Rightarrow$  PivotTable, which displays the dialog box shown in Figure 34.7.

Excel attempts to guess the range, based on the location of the active cell. If you're creating a pivot table from an external data source, you need to select that option and then click Choose Connection to specify the data source.

### Tip

If you're creating a pivot table from data in a worksheet, it's a good idea to first create a table for the range (choose Insert ⇔ Tables ⇔ Table). Then, if you expand the table by adding new rows of data, Excel will refresh the pivot table without the need to manually indicate the new data range.

### FIGURE 34.7

In the Create PivotTable dialog box, you tell Excel where the data is and where you want the pivot table.



### Specifying the location for the pivot table

Use the bottom section of the Create PivotTable dialog box to indicate the location for your pivot table. The default location is on a new worksheet, but you can specify any range on any worksheet, including the worksheet that contains the data.

Click OK, and Excel creates an empty pivot table and displays its PivotTable Field List task pane, as shown in Figure 34.8.

#### FIGURE 34.8

Use the PivotTable Field List to build the pivot table.



### Tip

The PivotTable Field List is typically docked on the right side of the Excel window. Drag its title bar to move it anywhere you like. Also, if you click a cell outside the pivot table, the PivotTable Field List is hidden. ■

### Laying out the pivot table

Next, set up the actual layout of the pivot table. You can do so by using either of any techniques:

- Drag the field names (at the top) to one of the four boxes at the bottom of the PivotTable Field List.
- Place a check mark next to the item at the top of the PivotTable Field List. Excel will place the field into one of the four boxes at the bottom.
- Right-click a field name at the top of the PivotTable Field List and choose its location from the shortcut menu.

### Note

In versions prior to Excel 2007, you could drag items from the field list directly into the appropriate area of the pivot table. This feature is still available, but it's turned off by default. To enable this feature, choose PivotTable Tools r Options r PivotTable Options r Options to display the PivotTable Options dialog box. Click the Display tab and then select the Classic PivotTable Layout check box.

The following steps create the pivot table presented earlier in this chapter (see "A pivot table example"). For this example, I drag the items from the top of the PivotTable Field List to the areas in the bottom of the PivotTable Field List.

- **1. Drag the Amount field into the Values area.** At this point, the pivot table displays the total of all the values in the Amount column.
- **2. Drag the AcctType field into the Row Labels area**. Now the pivot table shows the total amount for each of the account types.
- **3.** Drag the Branch field into the Column Labels area. The pivot table shows the amount for each account type, cross-tabulated by branch (see Figure 34.9). The pivot table updates itself automatically with every change you make in the PivotTable Field List.

#### FIGURE 34.9

After a few simple steps, the pivot table shows a summary of the data.

	A	6	c	D	E	F	6	ы		1
1										
2						The state	the Rest Line			<b>W</b> W
3	Sum of Amount	Colores Labels 📼								
а.	Rave Labelis 🛛 💌	central	North County 1	Westkide -	farand total	choose	Note to seld	N HOW'S		2.5
5	CD	1258305	1137961	648548	2145845	100 pea				
	checking	000400	192104	28,7915	1007914	1 mars	Adav			
7	IRA .	68398	134074	10008	212754	17 Act	and a			
.8	Leavings .	BANTE?	007124	306048	208302310	2 Acc	73 M (H			
9	Grand Total	2115825	2532255	1287632	6535772	0.000	reiðv			
10						2 des	ach			
1.1						104				
12										
11										
14						Drug He	fala fanisamme a	erna kelou		
13						V 9	portetter		China Tapa	M
15								- 1	Branch	
LT										
1.6								_	-	
1.0						1 8	H LADAR		X Yekep	
20						AccT	4PH		Same/Amount	•
21										- 1
23						<b></b>		_		
23						0.04	ir Liyaz Upi	turne .		Update
24									1	

### Formatting the pivot table

Notice that the pivot table uses General number formatting. To change the number format for all data, right-click any value and choose Number Format from the shortcut menu. Then use the Format Cells dialog box to change the number format for the displayed data.

You can apply any of several built-in styles to a pivot table. Select any cell in the pivot table and then choose PivotTable Tools ↔ Design ↔ PivotTable Styles to select a style.

You also can use the controls from the PivotTable  $\Rightarrow$  Design  $\Rightarrow$  Layout group to control various elements in the pivot table. For example, you can choose to hide the grand totals if you prefer.

The PivotTable Tools ↔ Options ↔ Show group contains additional options that affect the appearance of your pivot table. For example, you use the Show Field Headers button to toggle the display of the field headings.

Still more pivot table options are available from the PivotTable Options dialog box, shown in Figure 34.10. To display this dialog box, choose PivotTable Tools I Options PivotTable Options Options. Or, right-click any cell in the pivot table and choose Table Options from the shortcut menu.

### Pivot Table Terminology \_\_\_\_

Understanding the terminology associated with pivot tables is the first step in mastering this feature. Refer to the accompanying figure to get your bearings.

1	e (	D	£	ş.
-				
Openants	any (and			
man of .	Anoun	Castorier +		
Beanch	<ul> <li>Accillages</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Existing</li> </ul>	New	Grand Tot
ROND	al .	3,095,512	1,630,411	1,115,45
	CD	979,112	286,379	1,958,9
	checking	M06,822	296,585	802,6
	IRA.	60,300		68,24
	Sevinp	545,256	517,055	885.7
-North	County	3,406,362	\$66,053	2132.2
	CD	845,522	282,889	1,137/00
	Checking	205.375	184,341	352,5
	18.4	123,878	9,000	1.01, 1
	Savings	295,891	190,523	467,4
West	side	002,399	465,414	1,297,6
	00	396,679	292,479	68,5
	checking	045,070	040,004	204,9
	IBA.	30,000		18.0
	Tavings	201,728	44,390	318,0
quadr	lator	4.001.072	3.171.000	6305.7
		1-1-1-1	-1	44-

- **Column labels:** A field that has a column orientation in the pivot table. Each item in the field occupies a column. In the figure, Customer represents a column field that contains two items (Existing and New). You can have nested column fields.
- **Grand totals:** A row or column that displays totals for all cells in a row or column in a pivot table. You can specify that grand totals be calculated for rows, columns, or both (or neither). The pivot table in the figure shows grand totals for both rows and columns.
- **Group:** A collection of items treated as a single item. You can group items manually or automatically (group dates into months, for example). The pivot table in the figure does not have any defined groups.

- Item: An element in a field that appears as a row or column header in a pivot table. In the figure, Existing and New are items for the Customer field. The Branch field has three items: Central, North County, and Westside. AcctType has four items: CD, Checking, IRA, and Savings.
- Refresh: Recalculates the pivot table after making changes to the source data.
- **Row labels:** A field that has a row orientation in the pivot table. Each item in the field occupies a row. You can have nested row fields. In the figure, Branch and AcctType both represent row fields.
- **Source data:** The data used to create a pivot table. It can reside in a worksheet or an external database.
- **Subtotals:** A row or column that displays subtotals for detail cells in a row or column in a pivot table. The pivot table in the figure displays subtotals for each branch.
- **Table Filter:** A field that has a page orientation in the pivot table similar to a slice of a three-dimensional cube. You can display only one item (or all items) in a page field at one time. In the figure, OpenedBy represents a page field that displays All (that is, not filtered). In previous version of Excel, a table filter was known as a Page field.
- Values area: The cells in a pivot table that contain the summary data. Excel offers several ways to summarize the data (sum, average, count, and so on).

#### FIGURE 34.10

The PivotTable Options dialog box.

PtrotTable Options			10.0	œ
Hame: Profilable-4				
Lavout & Formet Totals & Pitters Display	Preting	Data	Alt Text	Ц,
Layout				-1
Egripe and center cells with labels				
When in gangast form indent row labels: 1	0 chas	acter(4)		
Display fields in report filter areas Down, "In	n Over 💌	1		
Report filter fields per cakanes di 🔅				
romat				-1
For gron values show:				
For empty cells glass:				
[2] gutofft column widths on update				
Preserve cell formatting on update				
	1			5
	S	<u></u>	Carreet	-

### Modifying the pivot table

After you create a pivot table, changing it is easy. For example, you can add further summary information by using the PivotTable Field List. Figure 34.11 shows the pivot table after I dragged a second field (OpenedBy) to the Row Labels section in the PivotTable Field List.

#### FIGURE 34.11

Two fields are used for row labels.

E	A.	8	C	D	E	F	6	н	1	1	×
2 3 4	Sum of Amon Acctrige	nt • Oprendity •	Branch n Central 1	eorth County	wenside	transl Total	Provillable 1 Oncore Net	retur Lines In the world the reg	pet		* × 3 •
.5	°-00		1,209,305	1,137,911	648,548	3,345,845	C Dete				
		New ALLSE	1,000,470	127,236	\$10,041	2,885,805	C Volde				
7 8		Tollier	352,941	216,895	296,908	358,544	₹Ansut ₹ActTup				
78	ocheoling		802,403	100,535	394,995	1,487,914	12 Marcal	my .			
18		New Arets	435,050	296,845	357,758	762,615	and the second				
11		1diw/	354,171	185,871	116,217	725,805	-				
11	98A		68,583	10,01	18,008	212,718					
14		Hery Accts	29,315	40,554	18,008	311,829	Chang Hetala Is	NUMBER AND	ining.		
18 16		Tellar	0,005	81,820		208,815	- Neper	100	. Band	Linin Likologi	
1.7	= Sevings		885,757	467,434	358,058	1,689,259					
13		New Acces	501,301	300,901	362,162	1,118,108	1.1.1.1.1.1				_
1.9		Teller	322,514	156,515	73,908	952,955			2 18	<i></i>	
20							AccTINN		<ul> <li>Sand</li> </ul>	knount	
21	Grand Tatal		8.115.825	2,130,215	1,397,692	6,516,772	Operation		1		
20							<ul> <li>aniv u</li> </ul>	yaz upitan		- 19	69
24											

The following are some tips on other pivot table modifications you can make:

- To remove a field from the pivot table, select it in the bottom part of the PivotTable Field List and then drag it away.
- If an area has more than one field, you can change the order in which the fields are listed by dragging the field names. Doing so affects the appearance of the pivot table.
- To temporarily remove a field from the pivot table, remove the check mark from the field name in the top part of the PivotTable Field List. The pivot table is redisplayed without that field. Place the check mark back on the field name, and it appears in its previous section.
- If you add a field to the Report Filter section, the field items appear in a drop-down list, which allows you to filter the displayed data by one or more items. Figure 34.12 shows an example. I dragged the Date field to the Report Filter area. The report is now showing the data only for a single day (which I selected from the drop-down list in cell B1).

### **Pivot Table Calculations\_**

Pivot table data is most frequently summarized using a sum. However, you can display your data using a number of different summary techniques. Select any cell in the Values area of your pivot table and then choose PivotTable Tools ↔ Options ↔ Active Field ↔ Field Settings to display the Value Field Settings dialog box. This dialog box has two tabs: Summarize Values By and Show Values As.

Value Reld Settings	- <b>1</b>
Source Name: Amount	
Queton Name: Sun of Amou	rt
Sumarize Values By She	w Values An
Summarize value field b	·
Choose the type of calculate data from the selected field	on that you want to use to summarize
5.4	
Count Average	8
Max	
Product	
L	
garber Format	DR. Cancel

Use the Summarize Values By tab to select a different summary function. Your choices are Sum, Count, Average, Max, Min, Product, Count Numbers, StdDev, StdDevp, Var, and Varp.

To display your values in a different form, use the drop-down control on the Show Values As tab. You have many options to choose from, including as a percentage of the total or subtotal.

### FIGURE 34.12

The pivot table is filtered by date.

1	.A.	8	C	D	E	F	6	14	1	2 K
1	Owte	Sep-01 2	t .							
2							Prost Cable	Piels List		* 8
3	Sum of Amount		Beamch -							-
а.	Anttype	Opened by -	Central	North County	Westkide	taxed total	Choose the	We to add to see	et:	10 ·
.5	°-00		\$7,858	68,536	37,758	151,345	V Data			¥.
		New ALC:	31,000	23,808	12,000	30,818	Checks	H.		
7		Tollier	35,358	55,000	15,758	\$7,309	7 Anount	t.		
-8							24051	241		
18	Ochecking		84,800	36,494	5,171	100,010	Zépana	#y		
10		New Areb	31,274	21.407	5,171	96,062	Chart			
1.1		Toller	11,187	14,387		40,214	Custor			
12							_			
11	GIRA.		1,000			1,000				
14		New Acch	5,000			5,000	Drug Rebb	Information annual i	interes	and a shade
1.11										and and a second
1.6	Clavings		\$4,000	34,876	30,558	509,634	Dee		1.000	
][T]		New Areb	54,000	26,899	30,358	101,457				
18		Todier		3,177		7,3172	1.1.00.00			
1.9							L. Carro			
20	Grand Tutal		179,011	119,256	11,488	399,995	ACT I DR		20.0	Amount •
21							dered	γ ·		
23							_		- Contra 1	_
23							Cofe L	average and a second		Lpcine
24										

### Copying a Pivot Table.

A pivot table is very flexible, but it does have some limitations. For example, you can't add new rows or columns, change any of the calculated values, or enter formulas within the pivot table. If you want to manipulate a pivot table in ways not normally permitted, make a copy of it.

To copy a pivot table, select the entire table and choose Home ↔ Clipboard ↔ Copy (or, press Ctrl+C). Then select a new worksheet and choose Home Clipboard ↔ Paste ↔ Paste Values. The pivot table formatting is not copied — even if you repeat the operation and use the Formats option in the Paste Special dialog box.

To copy the pivot table and its formatting, use the Office Clipboard to paste. If the Office Clipboard is not displayed, click the dialog box launcher in the bottom right of the Home  $\Rightarrow$  Clipboard group.

The contents of the pivot table are copied to the new location so that you can do whatever you like to them.

Note that the copied information is not a pivot table, and it is no longer linked to the source data. If the source data changes, your copied pivot table will not reflect these changes.

### **More Pivot Table Examples**

To demonstrate the flexibility of this feature, I created some additional pivot tables. The examples use the bank account data and answer the questions posed earlier in this chapter (see "A pivot table example").

### **Question 1**

What is the daily total new deposit amount for each branch?

Figure 34.13 shows the pivot table that answers this question.

- The Branch field is in the Column Labels section.
- The Date field is in the Row Labels section.
- The Amount field is in the Values section and is summarized by Sum.

Note that the pivot table can also be sorted by any column. For example, you can sort the Grand Total column in descending order to find out which day of the month had the largest amount of new funds. To sort, just right-click any cell in the column to sort and choose Sort from the short-cut menu.

#### FIGURE 34.13

This pivot table shows daily totals for each branch.

	A		E	D	1
1					
2	Sum of Amount	Branch 🗉			
3	Date 🖃	Central	North County	Westside	Grand Total
4	Sep-01	115,145	57,402	51,488	244,235
5	Sep-02	79,642	81,794		151,435
6	Sep-08	59,119	65,590	20,117	144,765
$\overline{T}$	Sep-04	123,451	126,580	109,899	359,990
8	54p-05	101,480	50,294	57,413	245,189
9	Sep-06	188,018	91,724	52,788	332,480
10	Sep-07	271,227	196,188	53,525	520,940
11	Sep-08	67,999	24,123	47,329	139,451
12	Sep-09	14,475	41,248	56,172	91,895
13	54p-10	51,367	24,255	8,512	124,117
14	Sep-11	104,100	32,018	89,258	225,442
15	Sep-12	70,300	43,621	39,797	159,718
15	Sep-13	143,921	176,698	29,075	349,694
17	Sep-14	117,800	114,418	36,064	268,282
18	56p-13	BE,500	41,685	78,481	208,682
19	Sep-16	79,579	21,152	6,534	107,265
20	Sep-17	56,187	29,380	7,097	92,604
21	Sep-18	46,673	42,882	41,300	130,855
22	54p-19	208,916	213,728	53,721	476,365
23	Sep-20	125,276	140,739	56,444	322,459
24	Sep-21	79,255	15,751	1,419	118,527
25	Sep-22	132,409	149,447	97,210	379,060
26	Sep-23	56,106	15,823		71,929
Z7	58p-24	75,605	23,285	28,457	127,348
28	Sep-23	143,283	113,740	57,371	314,294
29	Sep-25	150,139	29,040	94,310	273,489
80	Sep-27	\$6,379	72,948	43,472	172,799
31	Sep-28	62,192	43,217	12,128	117,537
32	54p-29	186,955	33,570	36,339	256,884
33	Grand Total	1,115,925	2,112,215	1,287,682	6,515,772
34					

### **Question 2**

Which day of the week accounts for the most deposits?

Figure 34.14 shows the pivot table that answers this question.

- The Weekday field is in the Row Labels section.
- The Amount field is in the Values section and is summarized by Sum.

I added conditional formatting data bars to make it easier to see how the days compare.

### **Cross-Reference**

See Chapter 20 for more information about conditional formatting. ■

#### FIGURE 34.14

This pivot table shows totals by day of the week.

	A		8	C
1				
2	Sum of Amount			
3	Weekday	-	Total	
4	Monday		1,161,289	
5	Tuesday		1,152,761	
6	Wednesday		1.177,432	
$\mathcal{T}$	Thursday		1,025,286	
8	triday		1,645,649	
9	Saturday		150,855	
10	Grand Total		6,515,772	
11				

### **Question 3**

How many accounts were opened at each branch, broken down by account type?

Figure 34.15 shows a pivot table that answers this question.

- The AcctType field is in the Column Labels section.
- The Branch field is in the Row Labels section.
- The Amount field is in the Values section and is summarized by Count.

The most common summary function used in pivot tables is Sum. In this case, I changed the summary function to Count. To change the summary function to Count, right-click any cell in the Value area and choose Summarize Data By  $\Rightarrow$  Count from the shortcut menu.

#### **FIGURE 34.15**

This pivot table uses the Count function to summarize the data.

1	A	8	C	D	E	F
1						
2	Count of Amount	AcctType •	1			
3	Sranch -	CT	Checking	IBA	Savings	Grand Tetal
4	Central	5	7 158	8	99	162
5	North County		61	15	61	197
6	Westside	5	4 59	5	35	153
7	Grand Total	21	1 276	28	155	712
8						
4						

### **Question 4**

What's the dollar distribution of the different account types?

Figure 34.16 shows a pivot table that answers this question. For example, 253 of the new accounts were for an amount of \$5,000 or less.
#### FIGURE 34.16

This pivot table counts the number of accounts that fall into each value range.

	A			C	D
1					
2			Data		
3	Amount	•	No. Accounts	PtfL	
4	1-5000		253	15.51%	
5	5001-10000		293	27.11%	
6	10001-15000		222	31.18%	
$\mathcal{T}$	15001-20000		15	2.67%	
8	20001-25000		3	0.42%	
9	25001-30000		1	0.14%	
10	30001-35000		3	0.42%	
11	40001-45000		3	0.42%	
$\pm 2$	45001-50000		5	0.70%	
13	60001-65000		2	0.28%	
14	70001-75000		5	0.70%	
15	85001-90000		3	0.42%	
16	Grand Total		712	100.00%	
17					
18					

This pivot table is unusual because it uses only one field: Amount.

- The Amount field is in the Row Labels section (grouped).
- The Amount field is also in the Values section and is summarized by Count.
- A third instance of the Amount field is the Values section, summarized by Percent of Total.

When I initially added the Amount field to the Row Labels section, the pivot table showed a row for each unique dollar amount. I right-clicked one of the Row Labels and chose Group from the shortcut menu. Then I used the Grouping dialog box to set up bins of \$5,000 increments.

The second instance of the Amount field (in the Values section) is summarized by Count. I rightclicked a value and chose Summarize Data By ♣ Count from the shortcut menu.

I added another instance of Amount to the Values section, and I set it up to display the percentage. I right-clicked a value in column C and chose Show Values As  $\Rightarrow$  % of Grand Total. This option is also available in the Show Values As tab of the Value Field Settings dialog box.

# **Question 5**

What types of accounts do tellers open most often?

Figure 34.17 shows that the most common account opened by tellers is a Checking account.

- The AcctType field is in the Row Labels section.
- The OpenedBy field is in the Report Filters section.

- The Amount field is in the Values section (summarized by Count).
- A second instance of the Amount field is in the Values section (summarized by % of Total).

This pivot table uses the OpenedBy field as a Report Filter and is showing the data only for Tellers. I sorted the data so that the largest value is at the top, and I also used conditional formatting to display data bars for the percentages.

#### **Cross-Reference**

See Chapter 20 for more information about conditional formatting. ■

#### FIGURE 34.17

This pivot table uses a Report Filter to show only the Teller data.

	A	8	C
1	OpenedBy	Teller 🔐	
2			
3		Data	
4	AcctType 🛃	Accounts	PtL.
5	Checking	99	39.9N
6	CD	71	28.6%
7	Savings	68	27.4%
8	IRA .	10	4.0%
5	Grand Total	248	100.0%
10		-	
11			

# **Question 6**

How does the Central branch compare with the other two branches?

Figure 34.18 shows a pivot table that sheds some light on this rather vague question. It simply shows how the Central branch compares with the other two branches combined.

- The AcctType field is in the Row Labels section.
- The Branch field is in the Column Labels section.
- The Amount field is in the Values section.

I grouped the North County and Westside branches together and named the group Other. The pivot table shows the amount, by account type. I also created a pivot chart for good measure. See Chapter 35 for more information about pivot charts.

#### FIGURE 34.18

This pivot table (and pivot chart) compares the Central branch with the other two branches combined.



# **Question 7**

In which branch do tellers open the most checking accounts for new customers?

Figure 34.19 shows a pivot table that answers this question. At the Central branch, tellers opened 23 checking accounts for new customers.

- The Customer field is in the Report Filters section.
- The OpenedBy field is in the Report Filters section.
- The AcctType field is in the Report Filters section.
- The Branch field is in the Row Labels section.
- The Amount field is in the Values section, summarized by Count.

This pivot table uses three Report Filters. The Customer field is filtered to show only New, the OpenedBy field is filtered to show only Teller, and the AcctType field is filtered to show only Checking.

#### FIGURE 34.19

This pivot table uses three Report Filters.

	A	8	C
3	Customer	New	11
2	OpenedBy	Teller	18
3	AddType	Checking	-H
4			
5	Count of Amount		٦
6	Branch	Tot	sal
$\mathcal{T}$	Central		23
8	North County		10
9	Westsicle		10
10	Grand Total		43
11			
12			

# **Learning More**

The examples in this chapter should give you an appreciation for the power and flexibility of Excel pivot tables. The next chapter digs a bit deeper and covers some advanced features — with lots of examples.



# Analyzing Data with Pivot Tables

he previous chapter introduces pivot tables. There, I present several examples to demonstrate the types of pivot table summaries that you can generate from a set of data.

This chapter continues the discussion and explores the details of creating effective pivot tables. Creating a basic pivot table is very easy, and the examples in this chapter demonstrate additional pivot table features that you may find helpful. I urge you to try these techniques with your own data. If you don't have suitable data, use the files on the companion CD-ROM.

# Working with Non-Numeric Data

Most pivot tables are created from numeric data, but pivot tables are also useful with some types of non-numeric data. Because you can't sum nonnumbers, this technique involves counting.

Figure 35.1 shows a table and a pivot table generated from the table. The table is a list of 400 employees, along with their location and gender. As you can see, the table has no numeric values, but you can create a useful pivot table that counts the items rather than sums them. The pivot table cross-tabulates the Location field by the Sex field for the 400 employees and shows the count for each combination of location and gender.

## On the CD

A workbook that demonstrates the pivot table created from non-numeric data is available on the companion CD-ROM. The file is named employee list. xlsx.

# **IN THIS CHAPTER**

- How to create a pivot table from non-numeric data
- How to group items in a pivot table
- How to create a calculated field or a calculated item in a pivot table
- How to create an attractive report using a pivot table

Here are the settings I used for this pivot table:

- The Sex field is used for the Column Labels.
- The Location field is used for the Row Labels.
- Location is used for the Values and is summarized by Count.
- The pivot table has the field headers turned off (by choosing PivotTable Tools ➡) Options ➡) Show ➡) Show ➡) Show ➡)

#### FIGURE 35.1

This table doesn't have any numeric fields, but you can use it to generate a pivot table, shown next to the table.

	1 A	8	- C		0	E.	F	G	EI.	1
1	Employee	Location	5ex							
3	Al Grubbe	California.	Maile .			Cauet				
3	Sereh Parks	New York	Female				Female	Male	Grand Table	
12	cheryl cary	california	Periale -			Argena	3	13	20	
5	Oregory Stelger	Coll/prola	intalie			California	-44	54	308	
	sheda wigtali	california.	Penule -			Maxiachuset10	- 63	47	10	
7	Pedra H. Nicholson	Arizona	Male			New York	51	-40	- 26	
$\equiv$	Howard Reach	califiama.	tale -			Penecylsaeta	17	219	0.0	
-24	Heather Uchbensteile	Washington	Female			Washington	16	29	45	
18	lanat Wowhen	deletera a	Fernale			Grand Tetal	126	224	408	
1:1	Hosea Pierson	New York	Male							
1.7	Native Bankership	New York	Female							
11	Koy areano	New York	maie							
1)4	William N. Campbell	New York	Hale							
1.1	Stephen Poster	Nerve Nork	naie –							
18	Charles 5. Billings	Pennoglinania	Hale							
17	Intergenet Servic	califiama.	Penule -							
4.45	Physics Todd	Managharanthe	Carnala	_						

#### Note

The Employee field is not used. This example uses the Location field for the Values section, but you can actually use any of the three fields because the pivot table is displaying a count. ■

Figure 35.2 shows the pivot table after making some additional changes:

- I added a second instance of the Location field to the Values section. To display percentages, I right-clicked a value in that column, and chose Show Values As ↔ Percent of Column Total.
- I changed the field names in the pivot table to Count and Pct.
- I selected a Pivot Table Style that makes it easier to distinguish the columns.

The pivot table, after making a few changes.

	E	P	G	H	1	J	H.
2		Female		Male		Total Count	Total Pct
		Count	Pct.	Count	PdL		
	Arizona	3	3%	15	7%	20	5%
	California	44	25%	64	29%	100	27%
	Massachusetts	43	24%	47	21%	90	23%
	New York	51	29%	40	18%	91	23%
	Pennsylvania	17	30%	29	18%	46	12%
	Washington	16	- 356	29	13%	45	11%
3	Grand Total	176	100%	234	100%	4990	200%

# **Grouping Pivot Table Items**

One of the most useful features of a pivot table is the ability to combine items into groups. You can group items that appear as Row Labels or Column Labels. Excel offers two ways to group items:

- Manually: After creating the pivot table, select the items to be grouped and then choose PivotTable Tools 
  Options 
  Op
- Automatically: If the items are numeric (or dates), use the Grouping dialog box to specify how you would like to group the items. Select any item in the Row Labels or Column Labels and then choose PivotTable Tools I Options I Group I Group Selection. Or, you can right-click and choose Group from the shortcut menu. In either case, Excel displays its Grouping dialog box.

# A manual grouping example

Figure 35.3 shows the pivot table example from the previous sections, with two groups created from the Row Labels. To create the first group, I held the Ctrl key while I selected Arizona, California, and Washington. Then I right-clicked and chose Group from the shortcut menu. Excel created a second group automatically. Then I replaced the default group names (Group 1 and Group 2) with more meaningful names (Western Region and Eastern Region).

You can create any number of groups, and even create groups of groups.

Excel provides a number of options for displaying a pivot table, and you may want to experiment with these options when you use groups. These commands are on the PivotTable Tools  $\Rightarrow$  Design tab of the Ribbon. There are no rules for choosing a particular option. The key is to try a few and see which makes your pivot table look the best. In addition, try various PivotTable Styles, with options for banded rows or banded columns. Often, the style that you choose can greatly enhance readability.

A pivot table with two groups.

	D	1	- F -	Gi	н	1
		Count				
			Female	Male	Grand Total	
		<b>Western Region</b>				
		Arizona	5	15	20	
		California	-66	64	108	
		Washington	16	29	45	
		= Eastern Region				
		Massachusetts	43	47	90	
1		New York	51	40	90	
		Pennsylvania	17	29	45	
2		Grand Total	176	224	400	

Figure 35.4 shows pivot tables using various options for displaying subtotals, grand totals, and styles.

#### FIGURE 35.4

Pivot tables with options for subtotals and grand totals.

2 Can 3	ant Meeteen Region Adores californa Weshington Redore Region Messchusetts New York Petrogiuana	Pemale 5 40 15 40 51 17	Mate 25 84 29 47 40		Count Western Regten Attiona Colffornia twichargtan Hiladers Regten	Poenalo 85 3 44 30	55400 308 13 64 23	Grand Tetal 377 20 309 43
2 Can 3 3 4 67 5 67 5 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10	ant Mentern Region Adorne Califianas Washington Releve Region Massachusetts New York Pennsylvana	Female 5 43 15 43 5 43 51 27	Male 15 84 29 47 40		Western Regten artiona Gelffornia Trachington	Poenalo 85 3 44 20 111	59285 308 308 315 64 23	Grand Total 377 20 309 43
3 4 5 8 7 4 7 4 7 4 7 4 7 4 7 4 7 4 7 4 7 4 7 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10	Methem Region Adapter California Washington Gelere Region Massachusetts New York Pennsylvania	Female 5 43 15 43 51 17	Male 25 86 29 47 40		Western Regten Britann Geliffernia Truchargtan	45 3 44 20	306 15 64 23	377 20 301 43
	Meeteen Region Adorna Califianaa Weehington Laden e Region Meeseksusetto Neen York Pennogisana	5 44 15 40 31 17	15 84 29 47 40		Artsona Geliffornia Trachengtan	3 44 20	15 64 29	20 20 43
5 8 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15	Adoona califiamaa Wabhington Galera Regke Masachusetta New York Hernoylisama	5 40 40 51 51	15 84 29 47 40		California Washington Wilanian a Region	44	54	30
8 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15	califarna Washington Iasles Kingke Masachusetta New York Henroylvarna	40 15 40 51 17	84 29 47 40		Washington Hitasian n Region	20	28	4
7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15	Weshington Eelen Reglee Massachusetta New York Petrosylvania	15 40 50 17	29 47 40		Tilasia a Region	111	114	
1 + 4 3 + 4 10 11 12 14 14 15 15 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16	Geoles a Region Massachusetta New York Petrosylvania	40 N 1/	47 40		TEaster & Register	111	314	
9 10 11 11 14 15 15 15 15 15 15	Massach-usetts New York Petrosylvania	40 51 1/	47 40		Adverse in the second			337
10 11 12 13 14 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15	New York Petrosylivania	51 1/	40		MINISTRATIC	49	47	98
11 12 13 14 15 15 17 <b>Cas</b>	PERNISIVANA	1/			New York	51	40	
12 13 14 15 15 17 Cm			24		Pennsylvania	37	10	40
13 14 15 15 17 <b>Cm</b>								
14 15 16 17 <b>Cus</b>					Grand Total	176	338	400
15 16 17 Can								
1.0				_	C 10.421			
		Longia	Adda.	Grand Total	Carata	Consider	Add a	Grand Table
10.00	And any Reading	reaso		the server in the server	104 June Reading	No. of Concession, Name	and the	A REAL PROPERTY.
200	d dates		- 44	30	iniana a	4	45	
71	Followia .	44	1.2	104	Antonia Coliferatio		1.5	10
21	CONDITING			100	Carebra .			
22 885	the Reduct	10	100	43	Warrington Total	27	10	12
22 1993	even seguratess		100	145	weren segen ross		3.9	10
20.00	Contract Resolution				in a series of the series of the	41	47	
0.00	normal webox				Metoworkhetto	40	47	2
28	MINAL AND IN CONTROL		47	80	New York	51	40	96
11	Advertised and a second	36	40	91	Pennisylvania	17	29	41
28	New York		29	40	Eastern Region Total	in	118	337
22 644	New York Prencylvania	47						

# Automatic grouping examples

When a field contains numbers, dates, or times, Excel can create groups automatically. The two examples in this section demonstrate automatic grouping.

#### Grouping by date

Figure 35.5 shows a portion of a simple table with two fields: Date and Sales. This table has 730 rows and covers the dates between January 1, 2008 and December 31, 2009. The goal is to summarize the sales information by month.

#### FIGURE 35.5

You can use a pivot table to summarize the sales data by month.

	A	8	C	D
3	Date 💶	Sales 💶		
2	1/1/2008	3,830		
3	1/2/2008	3,763		
4	1/3/2008	4,362		
5	1/4/2008	3,569		
6	1/5/2008	3,942		
T	1/6/2008	4,488		
8	1/7/2008	4,416		
9	1/8/2008	3,371		
10	1/9/2008	3,628		
11	1/10/2008	4,548		
12	1/11/2008	5,493		
13	1/12/2008	3,706		
14	1/13/2008	6,579		
15	1/14/2008	6.333		
16	1/15/2008	6,901		
17	1/16/2008	5,289		
18	1/17/2008	3,149		
19	1/18/2008	5,834		
30	a dato, Focone	4 644		

# On the CD

A workbook demonstrating how to group pivot table items by date is available on the companion CD-ROM. The file is named sales by date.xlsx.

Figure 35.6 shows part of a pivot table created from the data. The Date field is in the Row Labels section, and the Sales field is in the Values section. Not surprisingly, the pivot table looks exactly like the input data because the dates have not been grouped.

To group the items by month, select any date and choose PivotTable Tools ↔ Options ↔ Group ↔ Group Field (or, right-click and choose Group from the shortcut menu). You see the Grouping dialog box, shown in Figure 35.7. Excel supplies values for the Starting At and Ending At fields. The values cover the entire range of data, and you can change them if you like.

The pivot table, before grouping by month.

	A.	8	C
1			
2			
3	Row Labels	<ul> <li>Sum of Sales</li> </ul>	
4	1/1/2008	3630	
3	1/2/2008	3.763	
6	1/3/2008	4162	
7	1/4/2008	3669	
8	1/5/2008	3942	
3	1/8/2008	4458	
10	1/7/2008	4415	
11	1/8/2008	3371	
12	1/9/2008	3628	
13	1/10/2008	4548	
14	1/11/2008	5493	
15	1/12/2008	5706	
16	1/11/2008	6379	
17	1/14/2008	6333	
18	1/15/2008	6100	
19	1/16/2008	5285	
	a the sector sector		

#### FIGURE 35.7

Use the Grouping dialog box to group pivot table items by dates.

Grouping		1.86
Auto		
V Starting at:	1/1/2008	
Z priling at:	1/1/2010	
D+		
Seconds Minutes News Own Culture Quarters Eccut		
14	inder of days:	1 10
	OK	Carrent

In the By list box, select Months and Years and verify that the starting and ending dates are correct for your data. Click OK. The Date items in the pivot table are grouped by years and by months, as shown in Figure 35.8.

## Note

If you select only Months in the By list box in the Grouping dialog box, months in different years combine together. For example, the January item would display sales for both 2008 and 2009.

The pivot table, after grouping by month and year.

	A.		6	C	D
1					
2					
3	Years	× Date	*	Sum of Sales	
4	8 2006				
3		Jan		167,634	
6		Feb		137,835	
7		Mar		214,896	
8		Apr		100,872	
9		May		158,005	
10		Jun		117,649	
11		Jul		295.248	
12		Aug		518,966	
13		Sep		612,673	
14		Oct		689,834	
15		Nov		861,085	
16		Dec		970,441	
17	= 2009				
18		Jan		934,625	
19		Feb		969,096	
20		Mar		1,081,596	
21		Apr		983,306	
22		May		1,044,322	
23		Jun		930,076	
24		Jul		961,557	
25		Aug		935,433	
26		Sep		975,503	
27		Oct		948,120	
28		Nov		950,493	
29		Dec		906,319	
BO	Grand Total			10,521,254	
31					

Figure 35.9 shows another view of the data, grouped by quarter and by year.

#### FIGURE 35.9

This pivot table shows sales by quarter and by year.

1	A	B	C	D	
1					
2					
3	Tears 💌	Oute	Sum of Sales		
4	8 2008				
3		Q#1	520,345		
6		Q8r2	336,535		
$\overline{J}$		Qb/3	1,426,887		
8		Ogn4	2,533,380		
9	8 2009				
10		Q9/1	3,025,517		
11		Q8r2	2,957,704		
12		Q\$r3	2,875,493		
13		Q\$r6	2,805,002		
$\pm 4$	Grand Total		16,521,254		
15					
16					

#### Grouping by time

Figure 35.10 shows a set of data in columns A:B. Each row is a reading from a measurement instrument, taken at one-minute intervals throughout an entire day. The table has 1,440 rows, each representing one minute. The pivot table summarizes the data by hour.

## On the CD

#### This workbook, named hourly readings.xlsx, is available on the companion CD-ROM. ■

Here are the settings I used for this pivot table:

- The Values area has three instances of the Reading field and each instance displays a different summary method (Average, Minimum, and Maximum). To change the summary method for a column, right-click any cell in the column and choose the Summarize Values By and then appropriate option.
- The Time field is in the Row Labels section, and I used the Grouping dialog box to group by Hours.

#### **FIGURE 35.10**

This pivot table is grouped by Hours.

	A	8	C	0	E.	F	G	H
1	Time:	Reading 🗖			Average	Minimum	Maximum	
2	6/33/2009 5/05	305.12		12 AM	110.50	101.17	118.21	
3	\$V15/2009 ROL	305.35		LAM	118-57	112.72	127.14	
10	6/33/2009 0.02	201.17		2.8M	124.09	115.75	100.00	
5	6/15/2009 8:00	305.48		2.AM	123.74	112.05	122.98	
	6/33/2009 3-04	308.42		E AM	128.29	120.09	133.52	
2	6/15/2009 0:05	305.45		5.6M	120.91	125.08	141.04	
8	6/15/2009 0:06	307.48		5.4M	139.67	152.68	346.04	
3	6/33/2009 5/07	308.49		7.6M	128.18	117.00	139.40	
10	6/15/2009 9-08	119.54		8.AM	115.24	112.19	125.58	
11	6/33/2009 3/09	110.10		FAM	114.00	129.11	143.79	
	6/15/2009 1:18	318.55		13 AM	126.16	120.95	143.89	
11	6/33/2009 0.11	209.16		12 AM	123.79	208.40	118.18	
14	6/15/2009 8:12	307.68		12 PM	111.76	306.40	116.71	
15	6/15/2009 R13	307.68		L PM	194.51	58.48	111.84	
1.6-	6/15/2009 It:14	309.68		2 PM	115.71	118.97	120.55	
1.1	6/15/2009 R15	307.78		5 PM	131.83	121.92	139.45	
1.0	6/33/2009 0.14	307.85		4 PM	111.00	121.18	117.94	
1.9	6/15/2009 R17	308.83		5 PM	138.50	155.05	343.04	
210	6/13/2009 0110	208.85		a PM	104.71	129.29	109.09	
21	6/15/2009 It19	313.94		2 PM	123.09	113.97	125.29	
23	6/33/2009 0.20	116.00		E PM	118.11	112.00	123.40	
23	6/15/2009 8:21	312.12		2 PM	113.94	308.09	117.72	
24	6/15/2009 R-22	312.21		18 PM	103-19	98.13	110.48	
23	0/13/2009 8.11	312.15		13 PM	176-71	308.00	111.79	
26	6/15/2009 R.24	113.34		Grand Total	121.13	96.13	3.46.06	
27	6/33/2009 3:25	312.45						
248	6215/2000 8-26	112.40						

# **Creating a Frequency Distribution**

Excel provides a number of ways to create a frequency distribution (see Chapter 13), but none of these methods is easier than using a pivot table.

Figure 35.11 shows part of a table of 221 students and the test score for each. The goal is to determine how many students are in each 10-point range (1-10, 11-20, and so on).

#### FIGURE 35.11

Creating a frequency distribution for these test scores is simple.

	A		C.
3	Stadent	E Score E	
2	Rhea Madsen	69	
3	Jennifer Mendez	81	
4	Brett Broyles	100	
3	Shirley Smith	28	
6	John Brown	93	
7	Michael G. Welch	50	
8	Donald Tse	100	
3	Madeline Stevens	82	
10	Howard Porter	86	
11	Helen Graven	81	
12	Lille Schultz	76	
13	Enily U	80	
14	Michael Long	71	
15	Chris Hentman	88	
16	Marshall Sherman	-45	
17	William Grindle	82	
18	Pauline Haun	85	
19	Lydia J. Evens	82	
20	James Vileaver	80	
21	Barbara Billings	77	
22	William Hernandez	26	
23	Robert Griffin	90	
24	Pearl Mendez	36	
-	Freedow Transfelling	473	

## On the CD

This workbook, named test scores.xlsx, is available on the companion CD-ROM. ■

The pivot table is simple:

- The Score field is in the Row Labels section (grouped).
- Another instance of the Score field is in the Values section (summarized by Count).

The Grouping dialog box that generated the bins specified that the groups start at 1, end at 100, and are incremented by 10.

#### Note

By default, Excel does not display items with a count of zero. In this example, no test scores are less than 21, so the 1–10 and 11–20 items are hidden. To force the display of empty bins, choose PivotTable Tools ⇔ Options ⇔ Field Settings to display the Field Settings dialog box. Click the Layout & Print tab, and select Show Items with No Data. ■

Figure 35.12 show the frequency distribution of the test scores, along with a pivot chart. (See "Creating Pivot Charts," later in this chapter).

The pivot table and pivot chart show the frequency distribution for the test scores.

-41	C	D.	E.	Ł	- G	н	1			K	1		- M
2													_
		Bony Labels -	Count of Same	Devit of	2004								
4		-18	6	100									
.8		2-3		- NO									
6		18-39		80									
7		28-29	2	30									
		30-33		80									
9		41-49	6	30								_	
1.0		30-99	1.7	40									
1.1		68-42	24	30					-	_			
12		76-75	22	30				_		-			
11		80-819	87	30			_	_					
14		56-308	51	0+									
1.5		>208		· · ·	9 99	10.3	0 50 4	6-6 310	- 10-40	1010	00.00	0.00	
1.6		Grand Tetal	221	2008.7	5								
1.7													
	_												

# Note

This example uses the Excel Grouping dialog box to create the groups automatically. If you don't want to group in equal-sized bins, you can create your own groups. For example, you may want to assign letter grades based on the test score. Select the rows for the first group, right-click, and then choose Group from the shortcut menu. Repeat these steps for each additional group. Then replace the default group names with more meaning-ful names. ■

# **Creating a Calculated Field or Calculated Item**

Perhaps the most confusing aspect of pivot tables is calculated fields versus calculated items. Many pivot table users simply avoid dealing with calculated fields and items. However, these features can be useful, and they really aren't that complicated once you understand how they work.

First, some basic definitions:

- A calculated field: A new field created from other fields in the pivot table. If your pivot table source is a worksheet table, an alternative to using a calculated field is to add a new column to the table, and create a formula to perform the desired calculation. A calculated field must reside in the Values area of the pivot table. You can't use a calculated field in the Column Labels, in the Row Labels, or in a Report Filter.
- A calculated item: Uses the contents of other items within a field of the pivot table. If your pivot table source is a worksheet table, an alternative to using a calculated item is to insert one or more rows and write formulas that use values in other rows. A calculated item must reside in the Column Labels, Row Labels, or Report Filter area of a pivot table. You can't use a calculated item in the Values area.

The formulas used to create calculated fields and calculated items aren't standard Excel formulas. In other words, you don't enter the formulas into cells. Rather, you enter these formulas in a dialog box, and they're stored along with the pivot table data.

The examples in this section use the worksheet table shown in Figure 35.13. The table consists of five columns and 48 rows. Each row describes monthly sales information for a particular sales representative. For example, Amy is a sales rep for the North region, and she sold 239 units in January for total sales of \$23,040.

#### FIGURE 35.13

	A	8	C	D	1	E.
1	SalesRep -	Region *	Month *	Sales -	Units Sold 🔹	
2	Arriy	North	Jan	\$23,040	239	
3	Amy	North	Feb	\$24,131	79	
4	Amy	North	Mar	\$24,648	71	
5	Arriy	North	Apr	\$22,047	71	
6	Arriy	North	May	\$24,971	157	
7	Arriy	North	Jun	\$34,218	92	
8	Amy	North	Jul	\$25,735	175	
9	Amy	North	AUE	\$23,638	87	
10	Arry	North	Sep	\$25,749	557	
11	Arriy	North	Oct	\$24,437	95	
12	Arriy	North	Nov	\$25,355	706	
13	Amy	North	Dec	\$25,899	180	
14	8ob	North	Jan	\$20,034	108	
15	Bob	North	Feb	\$23,822	267	
15	8cb	North	Mar	\$24,854	96	
$\pm 7$	8ob	North	Apr	\$22,838	74	
18	5cb	North	May	\$25,329	231	
19	8cb	North	Jun	\$24,733	164	
20	Bob	North	Jul	\$21,164	6.0	
21	8cb	North	Aug	\$23,174	114	
22	8ob	North	5ep	\$25,999	84	
2.5	5cb	North	Ott	\$22,635	260	
24	8cb	North	Nov	\$23,949	109	
25	Bob	North	Dec	\$23,179	465	
26	Chuck	South	Jan	\$29,886	95	
-5/18	Aburk .	South.	Sec.	872.464	1.49	

This data demonstrates calculated fields and calculated items.

# On the CD

A workbook demonstrating calculated fields and items is available on the companion CD-ROM. The file is named calculated fields and items.xlsx.

Figure 35.14 shows a pivot table created from the data. This pivot table shows Sales (Values area), cross-tabulated by Month (Row Labels) and by SalesRep (Column Labels).

The examples that follow create

- A calculated field, to compute average sales per unit
- Four calculated items, to compute the quarterly sales commission

This pivot table was created from the sales data.

- F.	G	H	1	1	ĸ
	Sum of Sales	Column Labels ·			
	Row Labels 💌	Arry	Beb	Chuck	Doug
	Jan	23,040	20,024	19,885	26,264
	Feb	24,131	23,822	23,494	29,953
	Mar	26,665	24,854	21,824	25,041
	Apr	22,047	22,838	22,058	29,338
	May	24,971	25,320	20,280	25,150
	Jun	24,218	24,755	25,965	27,371
	Jul	25,715	21,184	23,032	25,044
	Aug	23,618	23,176	21,273	29,506
	Sep	25,749	25,999	21,584	29,061
	Oct	24,437	22,659	19,625	27,813
	Nov	25,355	23,949	19,832	25,553
	Dec	25,899	23,179	20,588	28,670
	Grand Total	293,866	281,715	257,435	328,464

# Creating a calculated field

Because a pivot table is a special type of range, you can't insert new rows or columns within the pivot table, which means that you can't insert formulas to perform calculations with the data in a pivot table. However, you can create calculated fields for a pivot table. A *calculated field* consists of a calculation that can involve other fields.

A calculated field is basically a way to display new information (derived from other fields) in a pivot table. It essentially presents an alternative to creating a new column field in your source data. In many cases, you may find it easier to insert a new column in the source range with a formula that performs the desired calculation. A calculated field is most useful when the data comes from a source that you can't easily manipulate — such as an external database.

In the sales example, for example, suppose that you want to calculate the average sales amount per unit. You can compute this value by dividing the Sales field by the Units Sold field. The result shows a new field (a calculated field) for the pivot table.

Use the following procedure to create a calculated field that consists of the Sales field divided by the Units Sold field:

- 1. Select any cell within the pivot table.
- 2. Choose PivotTable Tools ↔ Options ↔ Calculations ↔ Fields, Items & Sets ↔ Calculated Field. Excel displays the Insert Calculated Field dialog box.
- **3.** Enter a descriptive name in the Name box and specify the formula in the Formula box (see Figure 35.15). The formula can use worksheet functions and other fields from

the data source. For this example, the calculated field name is Average Unit Price, and the formula is

=Sales/'Units Sold'

- 4. Click Add to add this new field.
- 5. Click OK to close the Insert Calculated Field dialog box.

#### **FIGURE 35.15**

The Insert Calculated Field dialog box.

Invest Cal	culated Rield	
Name:	Average Unit Price	- 144
PWIDAH	-sales/'Uwa salif	Delete
Evide Selection Region Month Select RECORD	a Juant Pajd	Orac Dates

# Note

You can create the formula manually by typing it or by double-clicking items in the Fields list box. Doubleclicking an item transfers it to the Formula field. Because the Units Sold field contains a space, Excel adds single quotes around the field name. ■

After you create the calculated field, Excel adds it to the Values area of the pivot table (and it also appears in the PivotTable Field List). You can treat it just like any other field, with one exception: You can't move it to the Row Labels, Column Labels, or Report Filter areas. It must remain in the Values area.

Figure 35.16 shows the pivot table after adding the calculated field. The new field displayed Sum of Average Unit Price, but I shortened this label to Avg Price. I also changed the style to display banded columns.

# Tip

The formulas that you develop can also use worksheet functions, but the functions can't refer to cells or named ranges. ■

This pivot table uses a calculated field.

	De	dumin Lab 🖂							
		Arry		Bob		chu	de:	(bos)	6
	Bony Labels 💌	Tot sales	Ang Price	Tot halos	ArgPrice	Two hades.	Ang Wice	Tot Bales	Avg Price
- 1	Jan .	21,040	296	28,624	St34	15,895	\$209	35,354	SHIS
- 1	Peb	34,131	\$305	25,422	589	21,494	\$1.99	29,955	\$35
1	Mar	34,840	\$147	24,814	\$259	21,834	3263	23,041	\$210
- 3	Apr	21,047	\$111	22,458	\$309	22,498	\$210	29,358	\$452
	10ay	34,871	\$110	25,120	\$110	20,280	543	23,230	\$200
- 1	/wn	34,210	\$363	24,732	\$151	23,965	\$12	171,571	SIN
	ial .	21, 215	\$147	20,154	64.9	21,413	5141	25,644	\$405
	Aug	21,530	\$172	29,174	\$293	21,273	\$39	39,506	\$106
- 3	Sep	23,749	548	25,999	\$30.0	21.584	\$2,89	29,061	\$299
	OCT .	24,417	\$217	22,419	387	18,875	\$236	27,111	\$228
- 1	Nov	25, 395	\$06	23,545	\$229	15,832	5260	25,950	\$429
	DHE	23,899	\$144	21,179	300	20,501	35.20	28,872	1245
	Grand Tatal	291,805	5117	398,785	51.00	253,486	586	338,454	\$142

# Inserting a calculated item

The preceding section describes how to create a calculated field. Excel also enables you to create a *calculated item* for a pivot table field. Keep in mind that a calculated field can be an alternative to adding a new field to your data source. A calculated item, on the other hand, is an alternative to adding a new row to the data source — a row that contains a formula that refers to other rows.

In this example, you create four calculated items. Each item represents the commission earned on the quarter's sales, according to the following schedule:

- Quarter 1: 10% of January, February, and March sales
- Quarter 2: 11% of April, May, and June sales
- Quarter 3: 12% of July, August, and September sales
- Quarter 4: 12.5% of October, November, and December sales

#### Note

Modifying the source data to obtain this information would require inserting 16 new rows, each with formulas. So, for this example, creating four calculated items may be an easier task. ■

To create a calculated item to compute the commission for January, February, and March, follow these steps:

1. Move the cell pointer to the Row Labels or Column Labels area of the pivot table and choose PivotTable Tools ↔ Options ↔ Calculations ↔ Fields, Items & Sets ↔ Calculated Item. Excel displays the Insert Calculated Item dialog box.

**2.** Enter a name for the new item in the Name field and specify the formula in the Formula field (see Figure 35.17). The formula can use items in other fields, but it can't use worksheet functions. For this example, the new item is named Qtr1 Commission, and the formula appears as follows:

=10%\*(Jan+Feb+Mar)

- 3. Click Add.
- 4. Repeat Steps 2 and 3 to create three additional calculated items:

Qtr2 Commission: = 11%\* (Apr+May+Jun)

Qtr3 Commission: = 12%\* (Jul+Aug+Sep)

Qtr4 Commission: = 12.5%\* (Oct+Nov+Dec)

**5.** Click OK to close the dialog box.

#### **FIGURE 35.17**

The Insert Calculated Item dialog box.

Irent Cal	culated bern in "Month"		1	1.000
Same:	Qtr 1 Commission		· 2046	
PW10AH	=3010/(Jan+reb-IMar)		Qelete	
Gelda: SalesFing Rogan Dales Units Solt Austrage	ing Price	Danis Jan Peb May Apr May Jan Jan Jan		*
	Insert Field		10	ert 2em
			ок	Okee

#### Note

A calculated item, unlike a calculated field, does not appear in the PivotTable Field List. Only fields appear in the field list. ■

## Caution

If you use a calculated item in your pivot table, you may need to turn off the Grand Total display for columns to avoid double counting. In this example, the Grand Total includes the calculated items, so the commission amounts are included with the sales amounts. To turn off Grand Totals, choose PivotTable Tools  $\Rightarrow$  Design  $\Rightarrow$  Layout  $\Rightarrow$  Grand Totals.

After you create the calculated items, they appear in the pivot table. Figure 35.18 shows the pivot table after adding the four calculated items. Notice that the calculated items are added to the end of the Month items. You can rearrange the items by selecting the cell and dragging its border. Another option is to create two groups: One for the sales numbers, and one for the commission calculations. Figure 35.19 shows the pivot table after creating the two groups and adding subtotals.

#### FIGURE 35.18

This pivot table uses calculated items for quarterly totals.

	15	6	H	1	3	×	L	M
1								
2		Tot Nakes	Colume Labels •					
3		Now Jakets	Arry	Bob	Chuck	Devig	Grand Total	
10		aan	21,040	20,024	15,889	28,284	39,210	
5		Feb	24,131	23,823	23,494	29,953	305,408	
		1Mar	24,800	24,814	10,824	25,011	18,305	
7		Apr	23,847	23,899	22,058	29,308	96,395	
8		Hay	24,571	23, 529	29,290	25,150	98,721	
9		Jun	24,219	24,703	23,965	27,371	308,397	
10		Jul	23,735	21,194	25,092	25,044	94,995	
11		Aug	23,838	23,174	10,278	28,308	107,3102	
12		Sep	25,745	23,599	21,584	25,061	302,395	
23		(bc)	24,417	23,809	18,625	27,113	10,810	
14		Nov	25,255	23,949	19,002	25,953	95,009	
1.3		Des	23,899	23,179	20,343	28,670	06,335	
116-		Q91 Commission	7,582	6,870	6,520	8,126	28,098	
1T		Qtr2 Commission	2,836	6,008	7,293	9,094	32,852	
1.0		Q51 Commission	8,815	1,40	7,987	18,083	10,117	
1.9		Q94 Commission	5,401	8,721	7,585	18,257	35,904	
20								

#### **FIGURE 35.19**

The pivot table, after creating two groups and adding subtotals.

C - F	Ű.		1	1	K	L	N
	Tuttailer	Palaces tabalar					
-	firms i alterity	And a second sec	Red:	Cleark	(inset	daged listed	
-	Citizentile tales		8080	Casta	0.00	1044403 10444	
5	ing	23,040	10.014	10.805	15.154	09.714	
-	Feth	24.111	31,832	33,4%	25,453	105,408	
3	Mar	24.645	34.854	21.026	25.641	96.355	
-	i.e.	23.047	72,835	32,846	25.158	96,343	
	Min	34 871	21.120	30,380	75.754	10.775	
140	lun.	24,215	34,215	23,965	27.371	108,357	
11		25.215	31.184	31.042	73.044	34,915	
4/2	i ur	23,630	11.178	14,125	10 506	07.906	
1.12	Fag.	20,000	71,880	71,545	30,045	103,865	
tud.	0.0	24,412	10,610	20,625	12 11 3	\$9,814	
1.0	bios.	24,411	71,845	35,835	21,413	05,049	
107	Figure 1	20,000	11.170	120626	20,000	20000	
1.1	Monthly Sales Total	291,805	281,735	257,455	\$35,464	1,351,481	
1.0	Toles whether & some helpers.						
1.7	- quarterry commences		4.830	4,515		10.010	
200	Chair Commission	7,004	4,810	3,820	0,000	20,000	
21	LETS COMPANIES	7,810	5,839	GDW	50004	32,152	
22.	Qtrit Commission	5,035	2,445	7,907	30,655	35,197	
218	CESE Commission	9,041	8,731	7,308	30,317	35,900	
24	Quarterly Commissions Total	33,494	32,052	29,225	37,388	352,958	
23							
26							

# A Reverse Pivot Table\_

The Excel Pivot Table feature creates a summary table from a list. But what if you want to perform the opposite operation? Often, you may have a two-way summary table, and it would be convenient if the data were in the form of a list.

In the figure here, range A1:E13 contains a summary table with 48 data points. Notice that this summary table is similar to a pivot table. Column G:I shows part of a 48-row table that was derived from the summary table. In other words, every value in the original summary table gets converted to a row, which also contains the region name and month. This type of table is useful because it can be sorted and manipulated in other ways. And, you can create a pivot table from this transformed table.

	A	- E	C	0	6	ş.	6	H		1
1		North	South	East	West:		Month	Fieglos	Sales	
2	zan -	1.13	210	114	- 460		380	Nuth	112	
3	Feb	143	258	214	487		Jan -	South	399	
10	Mit	172	312	343	410		Jan .	tast.	314	
.5	Apr	184	290	365	452	_	Jan -	West	440	
5	Mag	212	299	401	453		Aeb	North	345	
2	200	219	317	411	417	~	AND .	auuth	210	
-5	(MI	249	350	427	450		Aeb	Exot	314	
	Ang	281	334	66X	444		Neb	Web	667	
1.0	Sep	291	379	367	472		Mar	North	172	
11	Cell .	294	410	1912	429		Mar	Realth	342	
13	Nov	362	407	485	- 404		Mar	Gant:	345	
13	Det	503	458	304	450		Mar	West	450	
14							Арг	North	380	
15							Apr	South	209	
1.0							Apr	147	365	
17							Apr	West	452	
18							May	North	212	
1.9							May	huse	239	
20	1						May	Eint	400	
21							May	Web	410	
23							Jun	North	229	
23							Jan .	3843	817	
24							Jun .	Gant	412	
23							Jan .	West	457	
28							Add .	Nuth	349	

The companion CD-ROM contains a workbook, reverse pivot.xlsm, which has a macro that will convert any two-way summary table into a three-column normalized table.

# **Filtering Pivot Tables with Slicers**

A *Slicer* is an interactive control that makes it easy to filter data in a pivot table. Figure 35.20 shows a pivot table with three Slicers. Each Slicer represents a particular field. In this case, the pivot table is displaying data for New customers, opened by tellers at the Westside branch.

### **New Feature**

#### Slicers are new to Excel 2010. ■

The same type of filtering can be accomplished by using the field labels in the pivot table, but Slicers are intended for those who might not understand how to filter data in a pivot table. Slicers can also be used to create an attractive and easy-to-use interactive "dashboard."

#### **FIGURE 35.20**

Using Slicers to filter the data displayed in a pivot table.

	A		C		D		E	1.1		6	H
1	Openedity	Teller	14								
2							Custmmer		16		
3				2			Painting				
4	Ballech .	g Auttype	<ul> <li>New</li> </ul>		torand hotal		Depends	_	= 1		
5	Westside			175,889	17	5,889	New				
8		cn.		40,198	4	0,195					
7		Checking		73,989	1	3,989					
8		Sevinp		16,766	)	0.765			_		
1	Grand Total			175,889	17	1,899		- L			
18.							Openedaty 1	5 I I	enance		-
51							New Accts		Centr	al .	
12							Teller	11.11	Noth	Count	y I
13								1 I K			
14									1012	202	
13									[black		
18											
11											
18											
15											

To add one or more Slicers to a worksheet, start by selecting any cell in a pivot table. Then choose Insert ➡ Filter ➡ Slicer. The Insert Slicers dialog box appears, with a list of all fields in the pivot table. Place a check mark next to the Slicers you want, and then click OK.

Slicers can be moved and resized, and you can change the look. To remove the effects of filtering by a particular Slicer, click the icon in the Slicer's upper-right corner.

To use a Slicer to filter data in a pivot table, just click a button. To display multiple values, press Ctrl while you click the buttons in a Slicer.

Figure 35.21 shows a pivot table and a pivot chart. Two Slicers are used to filter the data (by state and by month). In this case, the pivot table (and pivot chart) shows only the data for Missouri for the months of January through March. Slicers provide quick and easy way to create an interactive chart.

## On the CD

This workbook, named pivot chart slicer.xlsx, is available on the companion CD-ROM. ■

Using Slicers to filter a pivot table by state and by month.

4	F.	Ú.	н		1	1	E		L	H H	0	P	Ú	R	
L.,															
2		Tare of Tales.	Column Lab	en K											
-		New Cables -	Mancen		rand tatal										
5		Eub.		1744	1744										
8		Mar		3484	3484										
μ.		Grand Total		4087	4088										
8															
1.0															
1.3															
13								_	1.17		- 14	1			ı.
14				Mis	souri				13	4.000	*	Nexts		- 16	L
15		1000								Antsona	1.4	Jan			L
18		1800						_		California		Feb			L
10		3000	_	-1				-		Florida	18	Mar			L
1.9		1100								(Ninois		Apr.			L
20		1000		-1		-8		-		Kancas		May			L
22		900 600								roeetuaky -		.8.8			L
21		400		-1		- 8		-		Matachanth	1				L
24		200								Ministri					L
24			181		Million		Mir			New Jerrey					L
51				100	inere i					New York	-				L
28															8

# **Referencing Cells within a Pivot Table**

After you create a pivot table, you may want to create a formula that references one or more cells within a pivot table. Figure 35.22 shows a simple pivot table that displays income and expense information for three years. In this pivot table, the Month field is hidden, so the pivot table shows the year totals.

## On the CD

This workbook, named income and expenses.xlsx, is available on the companion CD-ROM. ■

#### **FIGURE 35.22**

The formulas in column F reference cells in the pivot table.

	A	8	C	D	 F
4	Tear 👘	Moeth *	Sum of Income	Sum of Expenses	Ratio
5	= 2007		1,256,274	525,288	41.8%
6	¥2008		1,357,068	533,893	39.3%
$\mathcal{T}$	÷ 2009		1,585,717	640,181	40.8%
	Grand Total		4,297,059	1,795,162	40.6%
9					
10					

Column F contains formulas, and this column is not part of the pivot table. These formulas calculate the expense-to-income ratio for each year. I created these formulas by pointing to the cells. You may expect to see this formula in cell F5:

=D5/C5

In fact, the formula in cell F5 is

```
=GETPIVOTDATA("Sum of Expenses", $A$3, "Year", 2007)/GETPIVOTDATA
("Sum of Income", $A$3, "Year", 2007)
```

When you use the pointing technique to create a formula that references a cell in a pivot table, Excel replaces those simple cell references with a much more complicated GETPIVOTDATA function. If you type the cell references manually (rather than pointing to them), Excel does not use the GETPIVOTDATA function.

The reason? Using the GETPIVOTDATA function helps ensure that the formula will continue to reference the intended cells if the pivot table layout is changed. Figure 35.23 shows the pivot table after expanding the years to show the month detail. As you can see, the formulas in column F still show the correct result even though the referenced cells are in a different location. Had I used simple cell references, the formula would return incorrect results after expanding the years.

## Caution

Using the GETPIVOTDATA function has one caveat: The data that it retrieves must be visible. If you modify the pivot table so that the value returned by GETPIVOTDATA is no longer visible, the formula returns an error.

# Tip

If, for some reason, you want to prevent Excel from using the GETPIVOTDATA function when you point to pivot table cells when creating a formula, choose PivotTable Tools ↔ Options ↔ PivotTable ↔ Options ↔ Generate GetPivot Data. (This command is a toggle.)

After expanding the pivot table, formulas that use the GETPIVOTDATA function continue to display the correct result.

	4		E.	0	P
1					
3					
1			Data		
4	Year +	Month	Sum of Norma	Sam of Exponsion	Battio
2	+ 2007	Jarr	98,085	42,878	41.8%
4		Felt	96,898	44,247	29.3%
$\mathbb{T}_{\mathbb{C}}$		Mar	102,403	43,349	40.8%
1		Apr	106,844	43,382	40.6%
1		May	105,961	40,083	100 - Carl
in.		Just 1	105,729	44,210	
11		241	108,857	42,835	
11		Aug	109,869	41,952	
13		Sep	107,233	44,671	
14		Det	105,048	41,385	
10		THEY.	107,446	44,403	
20		Dec	105,001	45,329	
17	2007 Total		1,256,234	525,288	
18	1 2008	Jári	105,899	46,245	
19		Feb	109,146	40,672	
71		Mar	106,576	44,343	
71		Apr	100,821	47,825	
22		May	108,811	44,314	
33		Juin .	111,541	44,648	
34		24	114,278	44,822	
23		Aug	112,965	44,053	
24		Sep	114,215	40,779	
27		Oct.	118,373	44,469	

# **Creating Pivot Charts**

A *pivot chart* is a graphical representation of a data summary displayed in a pivot table. A pivot chart is always based on a pivot table. Although Excel lets you create a pivot table and a pivot chart at the same time, you can't create a pivot chart without a pivot table.

If you're familiar with creating charts in Excel, you'll have no problem creating and customizing pivot charts. All Excel charting features are available in a pivot chart.

#### **Cross-Reference**

I cover charting in Chapters 18 and 19. ■

Excel provides two ways to create a pivot chart:

- Select any cell in an existing pivot table and then choose PivotTable Tools ➡ Options ➡ Tools ➡ PivotChart.
- Choose Insert ➡ Tables ➡ Pivot Table ➡ Pivot Chart. Excel creates a pivot table and a pivot chart.

# A pivot chart example

Figure 35.24 shows part of a table that tracks daily sales by region. The Date field contains dates for the entire year (excluding weekends), the Region field contains the region name (Eastern, Southern, or Western), and the Sales field contains the sales amount.

### On the CD

This workbook, named sales by region pivot chart.xlsx, is available on the companion CD-ROM.

#### **FIGURE 35.24**

This data will be used to create a pivot chart.

1	A	B	C	D
1	Oate	Region	Sales	
2	1/2/2009	Eastern	10,909	
3	1/3/2009	Eastern	11,125	
4	1/4/2009	Eastern	11,224	
5	1/5/2009	Eastern	11,299	
6	1/6/2009	Eastern	11,255	
7	1/9/2009	Eastern	11,328	
1	1/10/2009	Eastern	11,494	
9	1/11/2009	Eastern	11,328	
10	1/12/2009	Gastern	11,598	
11	1/13/2009	Eastern	11,968	
12	1/16/2009	Gastern	11,702	
13	1/17/2009	Eastern	11,845	
14	1/18/2009	Eastern	11,998	
15	1/19/2009	Eastern	11,871	
16	1/20/2009	Eastern	12,053	
$\pm 7$	1/25/2009	Eastern	12,073	
$\pm 8$	1/24/2009	Eastern	12,158	
19	1/25/2009	Eastern	12,226	
20	1/26/2009	Eastern	12,413	
21	1/27/2009	Eastern	12,663	
22	1/30/2009	Eastern	12,571	
23	1/31/2009	Eastern	12,508	
24	2/1/2009	Castern	12,390	
25	2/2/2009	Eastern	12,649	

The first step is to create a pivot table to summarize the data. Figure 35.25 shows the pivot table. The Date field is in the Row Labels area, and the daily dates have been grouped into months. The Region field is in the Column Labels area. The Sales field is in the Values area.

The pivot table is certainly easier to interpret than the raw data, but the trends would be easier to spot in a chart.

To create a pivot chart, select any cell in the pivot table and choose PivotTable Tools ↔ Options ↔ Tools ↔ PivotChart. Excel displays its Create Chart dialog box, from which you can choose a chart type. For this example, select a standard line chart and then click OK. Excel creates the pivot chart shown in Figure 35.26.

The chart makes it easy to see an upward sales trend for the Western division, a downward trend for the Southern division, and relatively flat sales for the Eastern division.

A pivot chart includes field buttons that let you filter the chart's data. To remove the field buttons, right-click a button and choose the Hide command from the shortcut menu.

When you select a pivot chart, the Ribbon displays a new contextual tab: PivotChart Tools. The commands are virtually identical to those for a standard Excel chart, so you can manipulate the pivot chart any way you like.

#### FIGURE 35.25

This pivot table summarizes sales by region and by month.

		1	C	0.	4	1
3						
1						
1	Sam of Sales					
4		Eastern	Southern	Western	Grand Total	
2	lart	258,418	\$71,897	99,813	531,146	
+	Feb	255,497	135,497	100,333	491.217	
7	Mar	296,958	\$47,425	107,884	552,267	
	Apr	248,956	111,401	110,828	450,585	
12	hitay.	291,192	117,165	144,889	370,240	
111	Jun	281,641	122,156	133,153	536,950	
11	Jul	263,899	130,844	147,484	522,227	
\$2	Aug	283,917	307,935	176,525	568,177	
33	3-8 p	252,049	301,338	181,518	534,800	
34	Clet	271,592	304,542	212,512	591,865	
45	Nev	292,585	98,041	282,082	622,638	
18	Dec	288,578	95,988	239,514	623,878	
17	Grand Total	1,290,070	1,459,122	1,888,525	6,635,787	
18						
1.00						

#### FIGURE 35.26

The pivot chart uses the data displayed in the pivot table.



If you modify the underlying pivot table, the chart adjusts automatically to display the new summary data. Figure 35.27 shows the pivot chart after I changed the Date group to quarters.

#### **FIGURE 35.27**

If you modify the pivot table, the pivot chart is also changed.



# More about pivot charts

Keep in mind these points when using pivot charts:

- A pivot table and a pivot chart are joined in a two-way link. If you make structural or filtering changes to one, the other is also changed.
- The field buttons in a pivot chart contain the same controls as the pivot chart's field headers. These controls allow you to filter the data that's displayed in the pivot table (and pivot chart). If you make changes to the chart using these buttons, those changes are also reflected in the pivot table.
- If you have a pivot chart and you delete the underlying pivot table, the pivot chart remains. The chart's Series formulas contain the original data, stored in arrays.
- By default, pivot charts are embedded in the sheet that contains the pivot table. To move the pivot chart to a different worksheet (or to a Chart sheet), choose PivotChart Tools ↔ Tools ↔ Design ↔ Location ↔ Move Chart.
- You can create multiple pivot charts from a pivot table, and you can manipulate and format the charts separately. However, all the charts display the same data.
- Slicers also work with pivot charts. See the example in the earlier previous section, "Filtering Pivot Tables with Slicers."
- Don't forget about themes. You can choose Page Layout → Themes → Themes to change the workbook theme, and your pivot table and pivot chart will both reflect the new theme.

# **Another Pivot Table Example**

The pivot table example in this section demonstrates some useful ways to work with pivot tables.

Figure 35.28 shows part of a table with 3,144 data rows, one for each county in the United States. The fields are

- **County:** The name of the county
- State Name: The state of the county
- **Region:** The region (Roman number ranging from I to XII)
- Census 2000: The population of the county, according to the 2000 Census
- Census 1990: The population of the county, according to the 1990 Census
- LandArea: The area, in square miles (excluding water-covered area)
- WaterArea: The area, in square miles, covered by water

## On the CD

This workbook, named county data.xlsx, is available on the companion CD-ROM. ■

#### FIGURE 35.28

This table contains data for each county in the United States.

	A	8	6	D	6	F	G
1	County •	State Haree	Begion -	Comus 2000 -	Centers 2000 -1	Land Area -	Water/aga =
2	LOC RADIES	california	Region IX	8,519,118	0,881,284	4,040.87	081.03
3	Carok	illingis	Region V	5,535,341	5,193,067	541.68	689.56
4	HAYK	Texas	Region VI	1,400,578	2,818,199	1,728.83	48.87
5	Sen Diego	California	Fagios N	2,815,035	2,456,835	4,159.85	325-62
	charge.	califerea	Region IX	2,846,289	2,450,599	201-00	158.57
7	Kings	New York	Region II	3,405,836	2,300,864	79.61	36.39
1	Maroopa	Artiora.	Region IX	1,072,349	2,123,101	9,208.04	21.13
19	Mayne	Michigan	Region V	3,001,302	2,111,897	614.15	58.05
1.0	Queero	New York	Region II	2,229,379	1,951,595	308.34	69.04
1:1	Dade	Florida	Region IV	3,253,362	1,997,094	1,146.21	72.65
12	Dalles	Течко	Region VI	2,235,899	1,852,830	875.60	35.95
11	Philadelphia	Peengivana	Region III	1,517,590	1,340,577	115.09	7.80
14	Org	Weshington	Region X	1,797,694	1,587,529	2.128.04	180.45
15	savita clara	california	Region IX	1,882,585	1,487,577	1,290.89	11.12
18	New York	New York	Region II	1,537,285	1,487,536	22.95	30.81
$\mathbf{LT}$	tas ternantiso	california	Region IX	1,709,414	1,418,380	20,011.10	53.83
18	Cayahaga	Ohio	Region V	1,299,579	1,463,540	458,49	262.62
2/8	his-bilevera	Menashusetis	Region i	1,003,000	2,338,468	823-06	24.08
20	Alleghony	Pennyivania	Region III	1,291,005	1,396,449	338.17	34.54
	Suffolk	New York	Fagion II	1.415.365	1,321,864	912.30	1.460.87
23	Notes.	Nev York	Region II	1,214,544	1,287,240	396.69	105.39
23	Alamada	California	Region X	1.445,341	1,275,182	731.57	43.57
24	Received	Plonda	Region IV	1,823,828	1,250,488	1,201-00	114.24
23	Beone	New York	Region II	1,332,690	1,293,789	42.65	25.40
216	Recar	Texas	Region VI	1,092,011	1,183,894	1,318.82	9.84
371	Cinercide	/ alifernia	Descine 14	1.545.362	1.120.410	7 2012 27	-96, 26

Figure 35.29 shows a pivot table created from the county data. The pivot table uses the Region and State Name fields for the Row Labels, and uses Census 2000 and Census 1990 as the Column Labels.

This pivot table was created from the county data.

A	8	c	D	6	F	G
	Popu	lation Grov	wth by Stat	e (1990 - 2	2000)	
			,		,	
		CHINAL 1990	CHINAK 2000			
		Population	Propulation	Peo Change	Pct Rop Change	Pag/Sg Hills
Region I		11,306,941	10.800.A17	753,124	1.05	333
	Connectical	3,317,115	3,405,505	115,449	1.6%	769
	Maing	1.377.528	1,274,525	46,995	3.8%	41.
	Mexachaeetts	0.020.425	6.045.097	103.673	3.5%	820
	New Hampohine	1.309.252	1,211,786	126,534	11.4%	135
	Rhade Island	1,008,460	1,041,119	04,850	4.5%	1,808
	Vernent	562,758	60L8J7	-4L069	6.2%	65
Region II		35,730,640	23.396.807	1,676,154	6.5%	901
	New Jersey	7,750,358	8.434.590	684,182	8.5%	1.194
	New York	17,990,415	18,876,497	1484,0823	3.5%	402
Region III		21,917,014	27,828,549	1,003,105	1.0%	211
	Delowore	605,358	781.600	117,403	17.6%	401
	District of Colorelate	808,808	573,499	(14,841)	-3.7%	0,120
	Maryland	4,701,458	5.296.495	545,068	20.8%	542
	Petroplania	11.821.643	12,281,094	395,411	1.4%	238
	Vigena	0.377,838	7,087,000	339,628	34.5%	179
	West Virginia	1.755,477	3,806,344	14,887	0.8%	75
Region IV		45,643,644	55,506,309	8,953,684	31.0%	:50
	#Jaharna	4,040,887	4,441,180	404,123	30.1%	88
	Florida	34,873,804	18,225,740	2,961,996	21.6%	335
	Georgia	6,475,218	6.186.485	1,796,257	26.4%	341
	<b>DHIDLERY</b>	1,653,219	4,041,799	336,473	1.2%	182
1	Mississippi	2,575,218	2,844,858	273,442	30.5%	61
	North Carolina	0.828.817	8.045.313	1,428,479	21.0%	383
1	South Carolina	3,495,709	4.011.012	525,989	25.1%	589
	Terrenter	4 877 385	1,404,7073	811,088	14.798	1988

I created three calculated fields to display additional information:

- Change (displayed as **Pop Change**): The difference between Census 2000 and Census 1990
- Pct Change (displayed as **Pct Pop Change**): The population change expressed as a percentage of the 1990 population
- Density (displayed as Pop/Sq Mile): The population per square mile of land

# Tip

To view (or document) calculated fields and calculated items in a pivot table, choose PivotTable Tools ↔ Options ↔ Calculations ↔ Fields, Items & Sets ↔ List Formulas. Excel inserts a new worksheet with information about your calculated fields and items. Figure 35.30 shows an example.

This worksheet lists calculated fields and items for the pivot table.

	A		C	D	6	1
1	Calculated Field	1				
2	holve Onlier	Field	Formalia			
3		1 Change	"Centrus 2008"- "Centrus 2998"			
11		2 PKt Change	«LCMARTN 3000CHERTN 7666.1(CHERTN 3566.			
.5		2 Geneity	Census 2009//Lanc Area/			
8						
$\mathcal{T}$	calculated trees					
8	Solve Onder	item	Formela			
н.						
1.0						
13	Note	When a cell	Its updated by more than one formula.			
1.1		the value a	set by the formalia with the last solve order.			
13						
14		To change t	the salive-order for multiple calculated iteras or	faelds,		
15		on the Op6	one tab. in the Tools group, click Formulas, and	then click	Solve Ord	er.
18						

This pivot table is sorted on two columns. The main sort is by Region, and states within each region are sorted alphabetically. To sort, just select a cell that contains a data point to be included in the sort. Right-click and choose from the shortcut menu.

Sorting by Region requires some additional effort because Roman numerals are not in alphabetical order. Therefore, I had to create a custom list. To create a custom sort list, access the Excel Options dialog box, click the Advanced tab, and click Edit Custom Lists. Click New List, type your list entries, and click Add. Figure 35.31 shows the custom list I created for the region names.

#### **FIGURE 35.31**

This custom list ensures that the Region names are sorted correctly.

Eurteen Lists		
Cuartom Lieto		
Custom (ets)	Lat entries	
Netro Latt Sun, Hon, Tues, Vitel, Thu, Ph. S Sunday, Handay, Ruesday, Vite Jan, Feb, Nar, Jay, Kay, Jay, J Januar, Poto, Nar, Jay Januar, Poto, San, San, Jay Januar, Poto, San, San, San, Jay	Rogion I Rogion II Rogion II Rogion IV Rogion VII Rogion VIII Rogion VIII Rogion IX Rogion IX	- 64
-		
jepert int from only:		N Inpot
		OK Carvel

# **Producing a Report with a Pivot Table**

By using a pivot table, you can convert a huge table of data into an attractive printed report. Figure 35.32 shows a small portion of a pivot table that I created from a table that has more than 40,000 rows of data. This data happens to be my digital music collection, and each row contains information about a single music file: the genre, the artist name, the album, the filename, the file size, and the duration.

#### **FIGURE 35.32**

A 132-page pivot table report.

The David Codes Seasons The Fodul Percents Samples Wager State SeasPick Bagdy Color P		10000	106.00
The Pinkel Parameter Sampler Fager Monderscon Sauffich MagdyGuiter		11146	10.00
reger Hendescon Lee Pich Regig Outer	10	421/6	0.02.0
leadFich. RegBg/Cohr	37	130 946	625.29
Right Golar	10	794	24406
		00145	10640
as Assurtic	884	4.4299.05	\$415-08
Alberta Blanter		E1 88.	*****
Anna Illuri	8	1116	1.75.28
Both Seuler	1	4 880	0.0040
Ellerin Putable		41/0	10140
dia dos Dentis	2	23 85	0.00.05
Big.coe Ampi Agan/	Ť	2016	0.00
Black Ace	10		100.41
The The Based Card Is Toka Hand	.13	04110	100-41
Blatt City Backaliden		21.85	0.45.42
BMPCH Darkelden		7946	14841
Bo Battora		7.85	
Develop	3	THE	0.000
Builds Gas & Junity Malls			
JULAR & Accounts		101-0	180.00
City Market	24	17.00	100.00
Charling		27745	BUT W
Period Dec		001-6	20900
Down Mind and	25	230 845	246.03
A Lotte Tex	10	980-06	14595
0400	10	00145	105.25
Conated Food		01145	104.00
Whene i Been	1	6146	20504
Esta Haber	3	12 845	0.07.03
		814	24790
Demicals			
Donikuti Poje Lei 102			
Decentionals Proje to at the Means Link			_
Providuale Proje tot the Massie Link Granif Makform		77.85	
Providuale Proje tor the Provid Malalane The Second Handhales		<b>73 86</b> 1296	8-45.61 0.460
Providuals Proje Balt to: Proje Balt	1	73 MA 1246	84641 0440

The pivot table report created from this data is 132 pages long, and it took about five minutes to set up (and a little longer to fine-tune it).

### On the CD

This workbook, named music list.xlsx, is available on the companion CD-ROM. ■

Here's a quick summary of how I created this report:

- **1.** I selected a cell in the table and chose Insert 与 Tables 与 PivotTable.
- 2. In the Create PivotTable dialog box, I clicked OK to accept the default settings.
- **3.** In the new worksheet, I used the PivotTable Field List and dragged the following fields to the Row Labels area: Genre, Artist, and Album.
- 4. I dragged these fields to the Values area: Track, Size, and Duration.
- 5. I used the Data Field Settings dialog box to summarize Track as Count, Size as Sum, and Duration as Sum.
- **6.** I wanted the information in the Size column to display in megabytes, so I formatted the column using this custom number format:

###,###, "Mb";;

**7.** I wanted the information in the Duration column to display as hours, minutes, and seconds, so I formatted the column using this custom number format:

[h]:mm:ss;;

- 8. I edited the column headings. For example, I replaced *Count of Track* with *Tracks*.
- 9. I changed the layout to outline format by choosing PivotTable Tools ⇒ Design ⇒ Layout ⇔ Report Layout ⇔ Show In Outline Form.
- **10.** I turned off the field headers by choosing PivotTable Tools ▷ Options ▷ Show ▷ Show Field Headers.
- **11.** I turned off the buttons by choosing PivotTable Tools ▷ Options ▷ Show ▷ +/- Buttons.
- **12.** I displayed a blank row after each artist's section by choosing PivotTable Tools ↔ Design ↔ Layout ↔ Blank Rows ↔ Insert Blank Line after Each Item.
- **13.** I applied a built-in style by choosing PivotTable Tools ↔ Design ↔ PivotTable Styles.
- **14.** I increased the font size for the Genre.
- **15.** I went into Page Layout view and adjusted the column widths so that the report would fit horizontally on the page.

## Note

Step 14 was actually kind of tricky. I wanted to increase the size of the genre names, but leave the subtotals in the same font size. Therefore, I couldn't modify the style for the PivotTable Style I chose. I selected the entire column A and pressed Ctrl+G to bring up the Go To dialog box. I clicked Special to display the Go To Special dialog box. Then I selected the Constants option and clicked OK, which selected only the nonempty cells in column A. I then adjusted the font size for the selected cells. ■

# CHAPTER 36

# Performing Spreadsheet What-If Analysis

ne of the most appealing aspects of Excel is its ability to create dynamic models. A *dynamic model* uses formulas that instantly recalculate when you change values in cells that are used by the formulas. When you change values in cells in a systematic manner and observe the effects on specific formula cells, you're performing a type of *what-if* analysis.

What-if analysis is the process of asking such questions as "What if the interest rate on the loan changes to 7.5 percent rather than 7.0 percent?" or "What if we raise our product prices by 5 percent?"

If you set up your worksheet properly, answering such questions is simply a matter of plugging in new values and observing the results of the recalculation. Excel provides useful tools to assist you in your what-if endeavors.

# A What-If Example

Figure 36.1 shows a simple worksheet model that calculates information pertaining to a mortgage loan. The worksheet is divided into two sections: the input cells and the result cells (which contain formulas).

# On the CD

This workbook is available on the companion CD-ROM. The filename is mortgage loan.xlsx.

# **IN THIS CHAPTER**

A what-if example

Types of what-if analyses

Manual what-if analyses

Creating one-input and two-input data tables

**Using Scenario Manager** 

With this worksheet, you can easily answer the following what-if questions:

- What if I can negotiate a lower purchase price on the property?
- What if the lender requires a 20-percent down payment?
- What if I can get a 40-year mortgage?
- What if the interest rate increases to 7.0 percent?

#### FIGURE 36.1

This simple worksheet model uses four input cells to produce the results.

	A 8	C	D
1	Mortgage Loan V	Vorksheet	
2			
3	Input Calls	4	
4	Purchase Price:	\$185,500	
5	Down Payment:	20%	
6	Loan Term (Months):	360	
$\overline{T}$	Interest Rate (APR):	6.50%	
8			
9	Result Cell		
10	Loan Amount:	\$346,950	
11	Monthly Payment:	\$2,193	
12	Total Payments:	\$789,466	
13	Total Interest:	\$442,516	
14			
1.5			

You can answer these questions by simply changing the values in the cells in range C4:C7 and observing the effects in the dependent cells (C10:C13). You can, of course, vary any number of input cells simultaneously.

# Avoid Hard-Coding Values in a Formula

The mortgage calculation example, simple as it is, demonstrates an important point about spreadsheet design: You should always set up your worksheet so that you have maximum flexibility to make changes. Perhaps the most fundamental rule of spreadsheet design is the following:

Do not hard-code values in a formula. Rather, store the values in separate cells and use cell references in the formula.

The term *hard-code* refers to the use of actual values, or *constants*, in a formula. In the mortgage loan example, all the formulas use references to cells, not actual values.

You *could* use the value 360, for example, for the loan term argument of the pmt function in cell C11 of Figure 36.1. Using a cell reference has two advantages. First, you have no doubt about the values that the formula uses (they aren't buried in the formula). Second, you can easily change the value — which is easier than editing the formula.
Using values in formulas may not seem like much of an issue when only one formula is involved, but just imagine what would happen if this value were hard-coded into several hundred formulas that were scattered throughout a worksheet.

# **Types of What-If Analyses**

Not surprisingly, Excel can handle much more sophisticated models than the preceding example. To perform a what-if analysis using Excel, you have three basic options:

- Manual what-if analysis: Plug in new values and observe the effects on formula cells.
- **Data tables:** Create a special type of table that displays the results of selected formula cells as you systematically change one or two input cells.
- Scenario Manager: Create named scenarios and generate reports that use outlines or pivot tables.

I discuss each of these types of what-if analysis in the rest of this chapter.

## **Manual What-If Analysis**

A manual what-if analysis doesn't require too much explanation. In fact, the example that opens this chapter demonstrates how it's done. Manual what-if analysis is based on the idea that you have one or more input cells that affect one or more key formula cells. You change the value in the input cells and see what happens to the formula cells. You may want to print the results or save each scenario to a new workbook. The term *scenario* refers to a specific set of values in one or more input cells.

Manual what-if analysis is very common, and people often use this technique without even realizing that they're doing a type of what-if analysis. This method of performing what-if analysis certainly has nothing wrong with it, but you should be aware of some other techniques.

### Tip

If your input cells are not located near the formula cells, consider using a Watch Window to monitor the formula results in a movable window. I discuss this feature in Chapter 3. ■

# **Creating Data Tables**

This section describes one of Excel's most underutilized features: data tables. A *data table* is a dynamic range that summarizes formula cells for varying input cells. You can create a data table

fairly easily, but data tables have some limitations. In particular, a data table can deal with only one or two input cells at a time. This limitation becomes clear as you view the examples.

### Note

Scenario Manager, discussed later in this chapter (see "Using Scenario Manager"), can produce a report that summarizes any number of input cells and result cells. ■

Don't confuse a data table with a standard table (created by choosing Insert ⇔ Tables ⇔ Table). These two features are completely independent.

### Creating a one-input data table

A *one-input data table* displays the results of one or more formulas for various values of a single input cell. Figure 36.2 shows the general layout for a one-input data table. You need to set up the table yourself, manually. This is not something that Excel will do for you.

#### FIGURE 36.2

How a one-input data table is set up.



You can place the data table anywhere in a worksheet. The left column contains various values for the single input cell. The top row contains references to formulas located elsewhere in the worksheet. You can use a single formula reference or any number of formula references. The upper-left cell of the table remains empty. Excel calculates the values that result from each value of the input cell and places them under each formula reference.

This example uses the mortgage loan worksheet from earlier in the chapter (see "A What-If Example"). The goal of this exercise is to create a data table that shows the values of the four formula cells (loan amount, monthly payment, total payments, and total interest) for various interest rates ranging from 6 to 8 percent, in 0.25-percent increments.

### On the CD

This workbook is available on the companion CD-ROM. The file is named mortgage loan data table.xlsx.

Figure 36.3 shows the setup for the data table area. Row 3 consists of references to the formulas in the worksheet. For example, cell F3 contains the formula =C10, and cell G3 contains the formula =C11. Row 2 contains optional descriptive labels, and these are not actually part of the data table. Column E contains the values of the single input cell (interest rate) that Excel will use in the table.

To create the table, select the data table range (in this case, E3:112) and then choose Data ↔ Data Tools ↔ What-If Analysis ↔ Data Table. Excel displays the Data Table dialog box, shown in Figure 36.4.

#### FIGURE 36.3

Preparing to create a one-input data table.

				Loon Arrit	Mo Pet	7otal Perts	Teto//e
Impair Cells				\$201,110	01,010	\$147,411	\$125,000
Purchase Price:	\$225,900		6.00%				
Down Represent:	30%		6.2%				
Lose Terris	380		8.52%				
Interest Pate (Menths):	5.50%	2	6.25%				
		1	2.00%				
Result Colls		14	3.25%				
Loan Amount	\$291,330	- 4	3.58%				
Monthly Payment	31,834		2.0%				
Total Payments:	5867.411		8.00%				
Total Interest	10710-000						

### FIGURE 36.4

The Data Table dialog box.

	8 B	C	D	6	6	G	14	1
1 2	Mortgage Loan	Worksheet			Loon Art	Mo Pet	Total Prets	Teto//st
а	Ingrah Cirl			\$201,310	01,814	\$167,411	\$1238,884	
-4	Purchase Price:	\$325,900		6.00%				
3	Down Represent:	30%		6.2%		Day Date	-	1000
	LOGIE TWYNS	380		8.52%		(And the state of		
2	Interest Pate (Menths):	5.90%	- 2	6.75%		Que input rai		76.
			1	2.00%		çikim riput	441 441	10m.
9	Result Co	81	- 2	3.25%				
10	Loss Amount	\$291,330	- 4	3.58%			0. 0	nod
11	Monthly Payment	\$1,834		2.0%				
12	Total Payments:	\$861.411		8.00%				
23	Total Interest	\$1716,2024						
14								

You must specify the worksheet cell that contains the input value. Because variables for the input cell appear in the left column in the data table, you place this cell reference in the Column Input Cell field. Enter **C7** or point to the cell in the worksheet. Leave the Row Input Cell field blank. Click OK, and Excel fills in the table with the calculated results (see Figure 36.5).

#### FIGURE 36.5

The result of the one-input data table.

[]A	8	C	0	6	F	G	14	
	Mortgage Loan We	orksheet			Loon Amt	Alo Pet	7otol Pents	Tetol/et
	Input Cells				\$391,110	\$4,014	\$987,411	\$134,321
	Purchase Price:	\$225,900		6.00%	\$250,318	\$1,759	\$633,875	\$218,765
	Desers Represents	1016		6.275	\$245,310	\$2,AM	5000,146	5796,836
6	Loan Term:	360		6.965	\$250,318	\$8,854	\$567,411	\$274,101
	Interest Fate (Menths):	5.50%	5	6.75%	\$215,319	\$1,992	5084.845	\$381,585
			1	2.00%	\$211,110	\$5,993	\$793,564	\$409,196
	Besult Cells		1	3,275	\$215,319	\$2,001	\$726,521	\$47.013
8	Loan Areount	\$2711,120	5	2.58%	\$211,310	\$2,013	1000,002	\$40,002
1	Monthly Payment	SL854		3.75%	\$253,318	\$2,181	\$756,471	\$40,00
	total Payments	3887,411		1.00%	\$211,310	\$2,152	\$774,784	\$101,000
1	Total interest	5074.501						

Using this table, you can now see the calculated loan values for varying interest rates. If you examine the contents of the cells that Excel entered as a result of this command, you'll see that the data is generated with a multicell array formula:

{=TABLE(,C7)}

As I discuss in Chapter 16, an *array formula* is a single formula that can produce results in multiple cells. Because the table uses formulas, Excel updates the table that you produce if you change the cell references in the first row or plug in different interest rates in the first column.

### Note

You can arrange a one-input table vertically (as in this example) or horizontally. If you place the values of the input cell in a row, you enter the input cell reference in the Row Input Cell field of the Data Table dialog box. ■

### Creating a two-input data table

As the name implies, a *two-input data table* lets you vary *two* input cells. You can see the setup for this type of table in Figure 36.6. Although it looks similar to a one-input table, the two-input table has one critical difference: It can show the results of only one formula at a time. With a one-input table, you can place any number of formulas, or references to formulas, across the top row of the table. In a two-input table, this top row holds the values for the second input cell. The upper-left cell of the table contains a reference to the single result formula.

Using the mortgage loan worksheet, you could create a two-input data table that shows the results of a formula (say, monthly payment) for various combinations of two input cells (such as interest rate and down-payment percent). To see the effects on other formulas, you simply create multiple data tables — one for each formula cell that you want to summarize.

The example in this section uses the worksheet shown in Figure 36.7 to demonstrate a two-input data table. In this example, a company wants to conduct a direct-mail promotion to sell its product. The worksheet calculates the net profit from the promotion.

#### FIGURE 36.6

The setup for a two-input data table.



#### FIGURE 36.7

This worksheet calculates the net profit from a direct-mail promotion.

	A	8	C				
1	Direct Mail Profit	Model					
2							
3	InputCells						
4	Number mailed:	275,000					
5	Response rate:	2.50%					
6							
$\overline{T}$	Parameters						
	Printing costs per unit:	\$0.15					
5	Mailing costs per unit:	\$0.28					
10	Responses:	6,875					
11	Profit per response:	\$18.50					
12	Grass profit:	\$127,188					
13	Printing + mailing costs:	\$118,250					
14	Net Profit	\$8,917					
$\pm 5$							

### On the CD

This workbook, named direct mail.xlsx, is available on the companion CD-ROM. ■

This model uses two input cells: the number of promotional pieces mailed and the anticipated response rate. The following items appear in the Parameters area:

• **Printing costs per unit:** The cost to print a single mailer. The unit cost varies with the quantity: \$0.20 each for quantities less than 200,000; \$0.15 each for quantities of 200,001 through 300,000; and \$0.10 each for quantities of more than 300,000. The following formula is used:

=IF(B4<200000,0.2,IF(B4<300000,0.15,0.1))

- Mailing costs per unit: A fixed cost, \$0.28 per unit mailed.
- Responses: The number of responses, calculated from the response rate and the number mailed. The formula in this cell is the following: =B4\*B5
- **Profit per response:** A fixed value. The company knows that it will realize an average profit of \$18.50 per order.
- **Gross profit:** This is a simple formula that multiplies the profit-per-response by the number of responses:

=B10\*B11

- **Print + mailing costs:** This formula calculates the total cost of the promotion: =B4\*(B8+B9)
- Net Profit: This formula calculates the bottom line the gross profit minus the printing and mailing costs.

If you enter values for the two input cells, you see that the net profit varies quite a bit, often going negative to produce a net loss.

Figure 36.8 shows the setup of a two-input data table that summarizes the net profit at various combinations of quantity and response rate; the table appears in the range E4:M14. Cell E4 contains a formula that references the Net Profit cell:

=B14

#### FIGURE 36.8

Preparing to create a two-input data table.

K	A	8	C D	E.	5	6	14	1	1	6	L	bd
1	Direct Mail Profit	Model										
2												
1	Expect Code							Анаралия	HOM:			
-4	Number mailed:	275,000		\$5,517	1,58%	1.37%	2.00%	2,35%	2.50%	2,75%	3,00%	3.25%
3	Response take	2,58%		190,000								
-				1/5,800								
7	Pasameters			150,000								
	Printing costs per unit:	\$0.15		175,000								
9	Mailing costs per unit:	58.28	1	290.000								
10	Respersed:	0,875	- 2	325,000								
11	Profit per response:	\$18.50	- 5	250,000								
	Orms profit:	\$127.388	~	275,000								
13	Printing + mailing costs:	\$818,359		300,000								
14	Net Profit	\$5,557		325,000								
13												

To create the data table

- **1.** Enter the response rate values in F4:M4.
- 2. Enter the number mailed values in E5:E14.

- 3. Select the range E4:M14 and choose Data □> Data Tools □> What-If Analysis □> Data Table.
- **4.** In the Data Table dialog box, specify B5 as the Row input cell (the response rate) and cell B4 as the Column input (the number mailed).
- 5. Click OK. Excel fills in the data table.

Figure 36.9 shows the result. As you see, quite a few of the combinations of response rate and quantity mailed result in a loss rather than a profit.

As with the one-input data table, this data table is dynamic. You can change the formula in cell E4 to refer to another cell (such a gross profit). Or, you can enter some different values for Response Rate and Number Mailed.

#### FIGURE 36.9

The result of the two-input data table.

	- A.		- C   #	1.100	F			- 111-				W
Dir	ect Mail Profi	t Model										
	Input Cells							feets	e fiste			
<ul> <li>Numbri</li> </ul>	e tallet:	375,088			1.50%	1.75%	2.08%	2,855	2.56%	2.75%	18%	1.15%
PAUM	tote telter	2,10%		1.00,000	1535,2904	105.6251	(TIL/OID)	(96,57%)	10.750	\$2.03	STOR	\$12,315
				131,000	(\$29,221)	(118,922)	(\$11,710)	121,767	10.140	\$5,394	\$1,171	\$11,218
	Facemeters		1 4	158,000	(\$8,215)	(\$23.400)	(3.8.309)	123,7634	100.6358	\$4,312	\$21,258	\$13,218
PERMIT	g costs per unit.	\$5.15	1 6	171,098	(38.440)	1127,840	1221.730	1011.1044	133,080	\$3,511	303,125	\$21,218
Main's	a costs per unit:	58,38	1 2	206,000	158.580	1521.2501	\$17.0000	\$1,7501	\$8,508	\$15,790	\$25,000	\$24,258
Farm	10401	6,875	1 2	225,000	1594,3351	1523,9901	(\$13.908)	151.0941	\$2,512	\$17,115	538.128	\$38,855
I PROLA	нейтендовре	818.90	E &	JAL DEC	1808,1201	(inclusion)	(011.000)	101.020	68,128	STRAIL	811,230	\$42,813
Owne	and it:	\$127.348	8.5	275,000	(343,9954)	1525-3331	1236,3000	123.7811	38,907	\$11,690	594.575	\$47,894
i restr	g + reaking costs:	31.18,790		100,000	(10.70)	(114,070)	101.000	100,070	\$23,758	111.673	102.100	346,175
il blat bri	ufit .	\$0.817		105,000	1571.3131	1518.2810	(\$1,218)	521,701	\$26,002	541,044	556.675	\$71,906

## **Using Scenario Manager**

Data tables are useful, but they have a few limitations:

- You can vary only one or two input cells at a time.
- Setting up a data table is not very intuitive.
- A two-input table shows the results of only one formula cell although you can create additional tables for more formulas.
- In many situations, you're interested in a few select combinations, not an entire table that shows all possible combinations of two input cells.

The Scenario Manager feature makes automating your what-if models easy. You can store different sets of input values (called *changing cells* in the terminology of Scenario Manager) for any number of variables and give a name to each set. You can then select a set of values by name, and Excel displays the worksheet by using those values. You can also generate a summary report that shows the

effect of various combinations of values on any number of result cells. These summary reports can be an outline or a pivot table.

For example, your annual sales forecast may depend upon several factors. Consequently, you can define three scenarios: best case, worst case, and most likely case. You then can switch to any of these scenarios by selecting the named scenario from a list. Excel substitutes the appropriate input values in your worksheet and recalculates the formulas.

### **Defining scenarios**

To introduce you to Scenario Manager, this section starts with an example that uses a simplified production model, as shown in Figure 36.10.

### On the CD

This workbook, named production model.xlsx, is available on the companion CD-ROM. ■

This worksheet contains two input cells: the hourly labor cost (cell B2) and the unit cost for materials (cell B3). The company produces three products, and each product requires a different number of hours and a different amount of materials to produce.

#### FIGURE 36.10

A simple production model to demonstrate Scenario Manager.

	A		C	D
1	Resource Cost Va	riables		
2	Hourly labor cost	30		
3	Material cost	37		
ţ.				
5				
6		Product A	Product B	Product C
7	Hours per unit	12	14	24
I.	Material per unit	6	9	14
£.	Cost to preduce	\$702	\$933	\$1,518
ġ.	Sales price	\$795	\$1.295	\$2,195
1	Unit profit	\$93	\$362	\$677
2	Units produced	36	18	12
3	Total profit per product	\$1,148	\$6,510	\$8,124
4				
5	Total Profit	\$17,988		
-				

Formulas calculate the total profit per product (row 13) and the total combined profit (cell B15). Management — trying to predict the total profit, but uncertain what the hourly labor cost and material costs will be — has identified three scenarios, listed in Table 36.1.

TABLE SOIT								
Three Scenarios for the Production Model								
Scenario	Hourly Cost	Materials Cost						
Best Case	30	57						
Worst Case	38	62						
Most Likely	34	59						

#### TABLE 36.1

The Best Case scenario has the lowest hourly cost and lowest materials cost. The Worst Case scenario has high values for both the hourly cost and the materials cost. The third scenario, Most Likely Case, has intermediate values for both of these input cells. The managers need to be prepared for the worst case, however, and they're interested in what would happen under the Best Case scenario.

Choose Data ↔ Data Tools ↔ What-If Analysis ↔ Scenario Manger to display the Scenario Manager dialog box. When you first open this dialog box, it tells you that no scenarios are defined — which is not too surprising because you're just starting. As you add named scenarios, they appear in the Scenarios list in this dialog box.

### Tip

I strongly suggest that you create names for the changing cells and all the result cells that you want to examine. Excel uses these names in the dialog boxes and in the reports that it generates. If you use names, keeping track of what's going on is much easier; names also make your reports more readable. ■

To add a scenario, click the Add button in the Scenario Manager dialog box. Excel displays its Add Scenario dialog box, shown in Figure 36.11.

### FIGURE 36.11

Use the Add Scenario dialog box to create a named scenario.

Add Scenario	
Scenario game:	
Sest Case	
Changing galle:	
82:83	18
OtH-dick cells to select non-adjacent-thang	ing cells.
Comments	
Crouded by Honace James	4
	-
Protection	
I grevent changes	
Hide	
	OK Carved

This dialog box consists of four parts:

- Scenario Name: You can give the scenario any name that you like preferably something meaningful.
- **Changing Cells:** The input cells for the scenario. You can enter the cell addresses directly or point to them. If you've created a name for the cells, type the name. Nonadjacent cells are allowed; if pointing to multiple cells, press Ctrl while you click the cells. Each named scenario can use the same set of changing cells or different changing cells. The number of changing cells for a scenario is limited to 32.
- **Comment:** By default, Excel displays the name of the person who created the scenario and the date when it was created. You can change this text, add new text to it, or delete it.
- **Protection:** The two Protection options (preventing changes and hiding a scenario) are in effect only when you protect the worksheet and choose the Scenario option in the Protect Sheet dialog box. Protecting a scenario prevents anyone from modifying it; a hidden scenario doesn't appear in the Scenario Manager dialog box.

In this example, define the three scenarios that are listed in Table 36.1. The changing cells are Hourly\_Cost (B2) and Materials\_Cost (B3).

After you enter the information in the Add Scenario dialog box, click OK. Excel then displays the Scenario Values dialog box, shown in Figure 36.12. This dialog box displays one field for each changing cell that you specified in the previous dialog box. Enter the values for each cell in the scenario. If you click OK, you return to the Scenario Manager dialog box, which then displays your named scenario in its list. If you have more scenarios to create, click the Add button to return to the Add Scenario dialog box.

#### FIGURE 36.12

You enter the values for the scenario in the Scenario Values dialog box.



### **Displaying scenarios**

After you define all the scenarios and return to the Scenario Manager dialog box, the dialog box displays the names of your defined scenarios. Select one of the scenarios and then click the Show button. Excel inserts the corresponding values into the changing cells and calculates the worksheet to show the results for that scenario. Figure 36.13 shows an example of selecting a scenario.

#### FIGURE 36.13

Selecting a scenario to display.

Scanatio Mana	per		1.000
Spreeks: Hard Case Sect Case		-	ğıktır. Qıkta Qıktı
			Sege
Changing cels: Comment)	\$942-\$943		
		gen	dese

### Using the Scenarios Drop-Down List.

The Scenarios drop-down list shows all the defined scenarios and enables you to quickly display a scenario. Oddly, this useful tool doesn't appear on the Ribbon. But, if you use Scenario Manager, you can add the Scenarios control to your Quick Access toolbar. Here's how:

- 1. Right-click the Quick Access toolbar and choose Customize Quick Access Toolbar from the shortcut menu. Excel displays the Quick Access Toolbar tab of the Excel Options dialog box.
- 2. From the Choose Commands From drop-down list, select Commands Not in the Ribbon.
- 3. Scroll down the list and select Scenario.
- 4. Click the Add button.
- 5. Click OK to close the Excel Options dialog box.

Alternatively, you can add the Scenarios control to the Ribbon. See Chapter 23 for additional details on customizing the Quick Access toolbar and the Ribbon.

### **Modifying scenarios**

After you've created scenarios, you may need to change them. Click the Edit button in the Scenario Manager dialog box to change one or more of the values for the changing cells of a scenario. From the Scenarios list, select the scenario that you want to change and then click the Edit button. In the Edit Scenario dialog box that appears, click OK to access the Scenario Values dialog box. Make your changes and then click OK to return to the Scenario Manager dialog box. Notice that Excel automatically updates the Comments box with new text that indicates when the scenario was modified.

### **Merging scenarios**

In workgroup situations, you may have several people working on a spreadsheet model, and several people may have defined various scenarios. The marketing department, for example, may have its opinion of what the input cells should be, the finance department may have another opinion, and your CEO may have yet another opinion.

Excel makes it easy to merge these various scenarios into a single workbook. Before you merge scenarios, make sure that the workbook from which you're merging is open:

- 1. Click the Merge button in the Scenario Manager dialog box.
- **2.** From the Merge Scenarios dialog box that appears, choose the workbook that contains the scenarios you're merging in the Book drop-down list.
- **3.** Choose the sheet that contains the scenarios you want to merge from the Sheet list box. Notice that the dialog box displays the number of scenarios in each sheet as you scroll through the Sheet list box.
- **4.** Click OK. You return to the previous dialog box, which now displays the scenario names that you merged from the other workbook.

### Generating a scenario report

If you've created multiple scenarios, you may want to document your work by creating a scenario summary report. When you click the Summary button in the Scenario Manager dialog box, Excel displays the Scenario Summary dialog box.

You have a choice of report types:

- Scenario Summary: The summary report appears in the form of a worksheet outline.
- Scenario PivotTable: The summary report appears in the form of a pivot table.

### **Cross-Reference**

See Chapter 26 for more information about outlines, and Chapter 34 for more information about pivot tables. ■

For simple cases of scenario management, a standard Scenario Summary report is usually sufficient. If you have many scenarios defined with multiple result cells, however, you may find that a Scenario Pivot Table provides more flexibility.

The Scenario Summary dialog box also asks you to specify the *result cells* (the cells that contain the formulas in which you're interested). For this example, select B13:D13 and B15 (a multiple selection) to make the report show the profit for each product, plus the total profit.

### Note

As you work with Scenario Manager, you may discover its main limitation: namely, that a scenario can use no more than 32 changing cells. If you attempt to use more cells, you get an error message. ■

Excel creates a new worksheet to store the summary table. Figure 36.14 shows the Scenario Summary form of the report. If you gave names to the changing cells and result cells, the table uses these names. Otherwise, it lists the cell references.

#### FIGURE 36.14

A Scenario Summary report produced by Scenario Manager.

	1							
	1					-	-	
12		$\Delta$		C		1	P	
	1							
	2		Scenario	Summary				
*	3				Carnet/Velance	Worst Same	Most Likely	Sept Gene
-	3		Charging	Crills				
1	6			Neurly_laber_cost.	20	38	24	240
L · I	т			Material_cost	62	62	39	3.17
9.	8		Resalt Co	đa:				
· ·				Products_Profit	-\$1,388	-30,288	30,188	\$1,548
1.1	30			Productil_Pro/it	\$9,098	\$3,698	\$5,184	\$6,516
1 · 1				ProductC Profit	\$4,550	\$4,950	58,636	58.124
L - I	32			Total_Profit	\$2,402	\$7,492	\$13,089	\$67,966
-	32		Notes: C	ement Vialues colum	e represents valu	es of changing	cells at	
	34		time took	ano turenary tepo	rt vac orwatero, o	nanging sets: to	ar each	
	35		scenario (	ere highlighted is ge	τψ.			
	35							

# chapter 37

# Analyzing Data Using Goal Seeking and Solver

The preceding chapter discusses *what-if analysis* — the process of changing input cells to observe the results on other dependent cells. This chapter looks at that process from the opposite perspective: finding the value of one or more input cells that produces a desired result in a formula cell.

This chapter covers two tools: Goal Seeking and the Solver add-in.

# What-If Analysis, in Reverse

Consider the following what-if question: "What is the total profit if sales increase by 20 percent?" If you set up your worksheet model properly, you can change the value in one cell to see what happens to the profit cell. The examples in this chapter take the opposite approach. If you know what a formula result *should* be, Excel can tell you the values that you need to enter in one or more input cells to produce that result. In other words, you can ask a question such as "How much do sales need to increase to produce a profit of \$1.2 million?" Excel provides two tools that are relevant:

- **Goal Seek:** Determines the value that you need to enter in a single input cell to produce a result that you want in a dependent (formula) cell.
- **Solver:** Determines the values that you need to enter in multiple input cells to produce a result that you want. Moreover, because you can specify certain constraints to the problem, you gain significant problem-solving ability.

### **IN THIS CHAPTER**

What-if analysis - in reverse

Single-cell goal seeking

**Introducing Solver** 

Solver examples

# Single-Cell Goal Seeking

Single-cell goal seeking is a rather simple concept. Excel determines what value in an input cell produces a desired result in a formula cell. The following example shows you how single-cell goal seeking works.

### A goal-seeking example

Figure 37.1 shows the mortgage loan worksheet used in the preceding chapter. This worksheet has four input cells (C4:C7) and four formula cells (C10:C13). Originally, this worksheet was used for a what-if analysis example. This example demonstrates the opposite approach. Rather than supply different input cell values to look at the calculated formulas, this example lets Excel determine one of the input values that will produce the desired result.

### On the CD

This workbook is available on the companion CD-ROM. The file is named mortgage loan.xlsx.

#### FIGURE 37.1

This worksheet is a good demonstration of goal seeking.

	A B	С	D								
1	Mortgage Loan W	orksheet									
2											
3	Input Cells										
4	Purchase Price:	\$409,000									
5	Down Payment:	20%									
6	Loan Term (Months):	360									
7	Interest Rate (APR):	6.50%									
8											
9	Result Cells	5									
10	Loan Amount:	\$327,200									
11	Monthly Payment:	\$2,068									
12	Total Payments:	\$744,526									
13	Total Interest: \$417,326										
14											
15											

Assume that you're in the market for a new home and you know that you can afford an \$1,800 monthly mortgage payment. You also know that a lender can issue a 30-year fixed-rate mortgage loan for 6.50%, based on an 80% loan-to-value (that is, a 20% down payment). The question is "What is the maximum purchase price I can handle?" In other words, what value in cell C4 causes the formula in cell C11 to result in \$1,800? In this simple example, you could plug values into cell C4 until C11 displays \$1,800. With more complex models, Excel can usually determine the answer much more efficiently.

To answer the question posed in the preceding paragraph, first set up the input cells to match what you already know. Specifically:

- Enter **20%** in cell C5 (the down payment percent)
- Enter **360** in cell C6 (the loan term, in months)
- Enter 6.5% in cell C7 (the annual interest rate)

Next, choose Data ⇔ Data Tools ⇔ What-If Analysis ⇔ Goal Seek. Excel displays the Goal Seek dialog box, shown in Figure 37.2. Completing this dialog box is similar to forming a sentence. You want to set cell C11 to 1800 by changing cell C4. Enter this information in the dialog box either by typing the cell references or by pointing with the mouse. Click OK to begin the goal-seeking process.

#### FIGURE 37.2

The Goal Seek dialog box.

Q	mortgage loan.xlsx								0	23
	A B	С	D	E	F		G	н		
1	Mortgage Loan V	Vorksheet								
2										
3	Input Cell	5		Carlse			6			
4	Purchase Price:	\$409,000		Goal Se	ек		8			
5	Down Payment:	20%		Set cell:		\$C\$11				=
6	Loan Term (Months):	360		To value	:	1800				
7	Interest Rate (APR):	6.50%		By ghan	ging cell:	\$C\$4		15		
8				G						
9	Result Cel	ls			OK	i	Cance	el		
10	Loan Amount:	\$327,200								
11	Monthly Payment:	\$2,068								
12	Total Payments:	\$744,526								
13	Total Interest:	\$417,326								
14										_
4.5	🕩 H Sheet1 🦉			[ ◀ [						▶ [].d

In less than a second, Excel displays the Goal Seek Status box, which shows the target value and the value that Excel calculated. In this case, Excel found an exact value. The worksheet now displays the found value in cell C4 (\$355,974). As a result of this value, the monthly payment amount is \$1,800. At this point, you have two options:

- Click OK to replace the original value with the found value.
- Click Cancel to restore your worksheet to the form that it had before you chose Goal Seek.

### More about goal seeking

Excel can't always find a value that produces the result that you're seeking. Sometimes, a solution simply doesn't exist. In such a case, the Goal Seek Status box informs you of that fact.

Other times, however, Excel may report that it can't find a solution, but you're pretty sure that one exists. If that's the case, you can try the following options:

• Change the current value of the By Changing Cell field in the Goal Seek dialog box (refer to Figure 37.2) to a value that is closer to the solution and then reissue the command.

- Adjust the Maximum iterations setting on the Formulas tab of the Excel Options dialog box (choose File +> Excel Options). Increasing the number of iterations (or calculations) makes Excel try more possible solutions.
- Double-check your logic and make sure that the formula cell does, indeed, depend upon the specified changing cell.

### Note

Like all computer programs, Excel has limited precision. To demonstrate this limitation, enter  $=A1^{2}$  into cell A2. Then, use the Goal Seek dialog box to find the value in cell A1 (which is empty) that makes the formula return 16. Excel comes up with a value of 4.00002269, which is close to the square root of 16, but certainly not exact. You can adjust the precision on the Formulas tab of the Excel Options dialog box (make the Maximum Change value smaller).

### Note

In some cases, multiple values of the input cell produce the same desired result. For example, the formula  $=A1^2$  returns 16 if cell A1 contains either -4 or +4. If you use goal seeking when multiple solutions are possible, Excel gives you the solution that is closest to the current value.

# **Introducing Solver**

The Excel Goal Seek feature is a useful tool, but it clearly has limitations. It can solve for only one adjustable cell, and it returns only a single solution. Excel's powerful Solver tool extends this concept by enabling you to do the following:

- Specify multiple adjustable cells.
- Specify constraints on the values that the adjustable cells can have.
- Generate a solution that maximizes or minimizes a particular worksheet cell.
- Generate multiple solutions to a problem.

Although goal seeking is a relatively simple operation, using Solver can be much more complicated. In fact, Solver is probably one of the most difficult (and potentially frustrating) features in Excel. I'm the first to admit that Solver isn't for everyone. In fact, most Excel users have no use for this feature. However, many users find that having this much power is worth spending the extra time to learn about it.

### **New Feature**

In Excel 2010, the Solver add-in received a much-needed facelift. In addition to the cosmetic improvements, the product also performs better.

### No Solver Command?\_\_\_\_

You access Solver by choosing Data  $\Rightarrow$  Analysis  $\Rightarrow$  Solver. If this command isn't available, you need to install the Solver add-in. It's a simple process:

- 2. In the Excel Options dialog box, click the Add-Ins tab.
- **3.** At the bottom of the dialog box, select Excel Add-Ins from the Manage drop-down list and then click Go. Excel displays its Add-Ins dialog box.
- 4. In the Add-Ins dialog box, place a check mark next to Solver Add-In and then click OK.

After performing these steps, the Solver add-in loads whenever you start Excel.

### **Appropriate problems for Solver**

Problems that are appropriate for Solver fall into a relatively narrow range. They typically involve situations that meet the following criteria:

- A target cell depends upon other cells and formulas. Typically, you want to maximize or minimize this target cell or set it equal to some value.
- The target cell depends on a group of cells (called *changing cells*) that Solver can adjust to affect the target cell.
- The solution must adhere to certain limitations, or *constraints*.

After you set up your worksheet appropriately, you can use Solver to adjust the changing cells and produce the result that you want in your target cell — and simultaneously meet all the constraints that you defined.

### A simple Solver example

I start with a simple example to introduce Solver and then present some increasingly complex examples to demonstrate what this feature can do.

Figure 37.3 shows a worksheet that is set up to calculate the profit for three products. Column B shows the number of units of each product, Column C shows the profit per unit for each product, and Column D contains formulas that calculate the total profit for each product by multiplying the units by the profit per unit.

### On the CD

This workbook, named three products.xlsx, is available on this book's CD-ROM. ■

#### FIGURE 37.3

Use Solver to determine the number of units to maximize the total profit.

	A	В	С	D	
1					
2		Units	Profit/Unit	Profit	
3	Product A	25	\$13	\$325	
4	Product B	25	\$18	\$450	
5	Product C	25	\$22	\$550	
6	Total	75		\$1,325	
7					
0	1				

You don't need an MBA degree to realize that the greatest profit comes from Product C. Therefore, to maximize total profit, the logical solution is to produce only Product C. If things were really this simple, you wouldn't need tools such as Solver. As in most situations, this company has some constraints that must be met:

- The combined production capacity is 300 total units per day.
- The company needs 50 units of Product A to fill an existing order.
- The company needs 40 units of Product B to fill an anticipated order.
- Because the market for Product C is relatively limited, the company doesn't want to produce more than 40 units of this product.

These four constraints make the problem more realistic and a bit more challenging. In fact, it's a perfect problem for Solver.

I go into more detail in a moment, but here is the basic procedure for using Solver:

- **1.** Set up the worksheet with values and formulas. Make sure that you format cells logically; for example, if you can't produce partial units of your products, format those cells to contain numbers with no decimal values.
- 2. Choose Data 🗘 Analysis 🖒 Solver to bring up the Solver Parameters dialog box.
- **3.** Specify the target cell.
- 4. Specify the range that contains the changing cells.
- 5. Specify the constraints.
- 6. Change the Solver options, if necessary.
- 7. Let Solver solve the problem.

To start Solver to tackle this example, choose Data ↔ Analysis ↔ Solver. Excel displays its Solver Parameters dialog box, shown in Figure 37.4.

#### FIGURE 37.4

#### The Solver Parameters dialog box.

5et Objective:				8
To: O Max	⊚ Mi <u>n</u>	© <u>V</u> alue Of:	0	
By Changing Variable Cells:				
l				5
Subject to the Constraints:				
			*	Add
				⊆hange
				Delete
				<u>R</u> eset All
			Ŧ	Load/Save
🔽 Make Unconstrained Var	iables Non-N	legative		
Select a Solving Method:	GR	G Nonlinear	•	Options
Solving Method				
Select the GRG Nonlinear e engine for linear Solver Pro non-smooth.	ngine for So blems, and	lver Problems that a select the Evolutiona	re smooth nonlinear. ry engine for Solver	Select the LP Simplex problems that are

In this example, the target cell is D6 — the cell that calculates the total profit for three products.

- 1. Enter D6 in the Set Objective field of the Solver Parameters dialog box.
- 2. Because the objective is to maximize this cell, select the Max option button.
- **3.** Specify the changing cells (which are in the range B3:B5) in the By Changing Variable Cells field. The next step is to specify the constraints on the problem. The constraints are added one at a time and appear in the Subject to the Constraints list.
- **4.** To add a constraint, click the Add button. Excel displays the Add Constraint dialog box, shown in Figure 37.5. This dialog box has three parts: a Cell Reference, an operator, and a Constraint value.

#### FIGURE 37.5

The Add Constraint dialog box.

Add Constraint		×
C <u>e</u> ll Reference: B6	Co <u>n</u> str	aint:
<u>O</u> K	Add	

- **5.** To set the first constraint (that the total production capacity is 300 units), enter B6 as the Cell Reference, choose equal (=) from the drop-down list of operators, and enter 300 as the Constraint value.
- **6.** Click Add, and enter the remaining constraints. Table 37.1 summarizes the constraints for this problem.

#### **TABLE 37.1**

Constraint	Expressed As
Capacity is 300 units	В6=300
At least 50 units of Product A	B3>=50
At least 40 units of Product B	B4>=40
No more than 40 units of Product C	B5<=40

- **7.** After you enter the last constraint, click OK to return to the Solver Parameters dialog box, which now lists the four constraints.
- 8. For the Solving Method, use the default, GRG Nonlinear.
- **9.** Click the Solve button to start the solution process. You can watch the progress onscreen, and Excel soon announces that it has found a solution. The Solver Results dialog box is shown in Figure 37.6.

#### FIGURE 37.6

Solver displays this dialog box when it finds a solution to the problem.

	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	Н	1	J	K	L	M
1													_
2		Units	Profit/Unit	Profit		Solver Resu	ilts					1	3
3	Product A	50	\$13	\$650									
4	Product B	210	\$18	\$3,780		Solver to optimal	ound a solu ity conditio	tion. All Co ne are catie	nstraints a fied	nd	Paporte		
5	Product C	40	\$22	\$880		opuniu	rey contartero	ins are sads	neu.		Answer		
6	Total	300		\$5,310		⊙ Kee	p Solver Solu	tion			Sensitivity	,	
7						ORes	tore Original	Values			Limits		
8													
9						□ Retu	n to Solver	Parameters	Dialog		_		
10											O <u>u</u> tline F	teports	
11							1.12						
12						<u></u> K		<u>C</u> ancel			SaveSc	enario	
13													
14						Solver fo	ound a solu	tion. All Cor	istraints an	d optimalit	y conditions a	re	
15						When th	e GRG engi	ne is used i	Solver bas t	ound at le	ast a local on	timal	
16						solution	. When Sim	plex LP is u	sed, this me	ans Solver	has found a	global	
17						optimal	solution.						
18						-							-
19													
20													

At this point, you have the following options:

- Keep the solution that Solver found.
- Restore the original changing cell values.
- Create any or all three reports that describe what Solver did.
- Click the Save Scenario button to save the solution as a scenario so that Scenario Manager can use it (see Chapter 36).

The Reports section of the Solver Results dialog box lets you select any or all of three optional reports. If you specify any report options, Excel creates each report on a new worksheet, with an appropriate name. Figure 37.7 shows an Answer Report, in the form of a collapsible outline (I chose the Outline Reports check box in the Solver Results dialog box). In the Constraints section of the report, three of the four constraints are *binding*, which means that these constraints were satisfied at their limit with no more room to change.

This simple example illustrates how Solver works. The fact is, you could probably solve this particular problem manually just as quickly. That, of course, isn't always the case.

#### FIGURE 37.7

One of three reports that Solver can produce.

1 2		A B	С	D	E	F	G	Н	1	J	K
	1	Microso	ft Excel 14.0 Ans	wer Report							
	2	Worksh	eet: [three produ	ucts.xlsx]Sheet1	L						
	3	Report	Created: 12/28/20	009 4:09:49 PM							
	4	Result:	Solver found a so	lution. All Con	straints and o	optimality cor	nditio	ns are satis	fied.		
	5	Solver E	ngine								
۲·	6	Engin	e: Simplex LP								
•	7	Solut	ion Time: 0 Secor	nds.							
•	8	Iterat	ions: 2 Subprobl	ems: 0							
Ξ	9	Solver C	Options								
Г·	10	Max	lime 100 sec, Ite	rations 100, Pre	cision 0.0000	01					
· ·	11	Max 9	Subproblems Unl	imited, Max Int	eger Sols Un	limited, Integ	er Tol	erance 5%	, Solve Wit	hout Integ	er Constraints
-	12										
	13										
	14	Objectiv	/e Cell ()								
	15	Cell	Name	Original Value	Final Value						
	16	\$D\$6	Total Profit	\$1,325	\$5,310						
	17										
	18										
	19	Variable	e Cells								
	20	Cell	Name	Original Value	Final Value	Integer					
	21	\$B\$3:	\$B\$5								
٢·	22	\$B\$3	Product A Units	25	50	Contin					
•	23	\$B\$4	Product B Units	25	210	Contin					
•	24	\$B\$5	Product C Units	25	40	Contin					
<b>—</b>	25										
	26										
	27										
	28	Constra	ints								
	29	Cell	Name	Cell Value	Formula	Status	Slack				
	30	\$B\$6	Total Units	300	\$B\$6=300	Binding	0				
	31	\$B\$3	Product A Units	50	\$B\$3>=50	Binding	-				
	32	\$B\$4	Product B Units	210	\$B\$4>=40	Not Binding	170	_			
	33	\$B\$5	Product C Units	40	\$B\$5<=40	Binding	0				
	34										

### Caution

When you close the Solver Results dialog box (by clicking either OK or Cancel) the Undo stack is cleared. In other words, you cannot undo any changes that Solver makes to your workbook. ■

### **More about Solver**

Before presenting more complex examples, this section discusses the Solver Options dialog box. From this dialog box, you control many aspects of the solution process, as well as load and save model specifications in a worksheet range.

Usually, you want to save a model only when you're using more than one set of Solver parameters with your worksheet. This is because Excel saves the first Solver model automatically with your worksheet (using hidden names). If you save additional models, Excel stores the information in the form of formulas that correspond to the specifications. (The last cell in the saved range is an array formula that holds the options settings.)

It's not unusual for Solver to report that it can't find a solution, even when you know that one should exist. Often, you can change one or more of the Solver options and try again. When you click the Options button in the Solver Parameters dialog box, Excel displays the Solver Options dialog box, shown in Figure 37.8.

#### FIGURE 37.8

You can control many aspects of how Solver solves a problem.

Options	? ×
All Methods GRG Nonlinear	Evolutionary
Constraint <u>P</u> recision:	0.000001
Use Automatic Scaling	
□ S <u>h</u> ow Iteration Results	
Solving with Integer Constra	aints
✓ Ignore Integer Constraint	its
I <u>n</u> teger Optimality (%):	5
Solving Limits	
Max <u>T</u> ime (Seconds):	100
Iterations:	100
Evolutionary and Integer Co	onstraints:
<u>M</u> ax Subproblems:	
Max <u>F</u> easible Solutions:	
<u>о</u> к	<u>C</u> ancel

This list describes Solver's options:

- **Constraint Precision:** Specify how close the Cell Reference and Constraint formulas must be to satisfy a constraint. Excel may solve the problem more quickly if you specify less precision.
- Use Automatic Scaling: Use when the problem involves large differences in magnitude when you attempt to maximize a percentage, for example, by varying cells that are very large.
- Show Iteration Results: Instruct Solver to pause and display the results after each iteration by selecting this check box.
- **Ignore Integer Constraints:** When this check box is selected, Solver ignores constraints that specify that a particular cell must be an integer. Using this option may allow Solver to find a solution that cannot be found otherwise.
- **Max Time:** Specify the maximum amount of time (in seconds) that you want Solver to spend on a problem. If Solver reports that it exceeded the time limit, you can increase the amount of time that it spends searching for a solution.
- Iterations: Enter the maximum number of trial solutions that you want Solver to perform.
- Max Subproblems: For complex problems. Specify the maximum number of subproblems that may be explored by the Evolutionary algorithm.
- Max Feasible Solutions: For complex problems. Specify the maximum number of feasible solutions that may be explored by the Evolutionary algorithm.

### Note

The other two tabs in the Options dialog box contain additional options used by the GRG Nonlinear and Evolutionary algorithms. ■

## **Solver Examples**

The remainder of this chapter consists of examples of using Solver for various types of problems.

### Solving simultaneous linear equations

This example describes how to solve a set of three linear equations with three variables. Here's an example of a set of linear equations:

4x + y - 2z = 02x - 3y + 3z = 9-6x - 2y + z = 0

The question that Solver will answer is What values of *x*, *y*, and *z* satisfy all three equations?

Figure 37.9 shows a workbook set up to solve this problem. This workbook has three named cells, which makes the formulas more readable:

- x: C11
- y: C12
- z: C13

The three named cells are all initialized to 1 (which certainly doesn't solve the equations).

### FIGURE 37.9

Solver will attempt to solve this series of linear equations.

	A	В	С	D
1	4x + y - 2z = 0			
2	2x - 3y + 3z = 9			
3	-6x - 2y + z = 0			
4				
			Desired	
5		Formula	Value	
6	Equation 1:	3	0	
7	Equation 2:	2	9	
8	Equation 3:	-7	0	
9				
10		Variable	Value	
11		х:	1.00	
12		y:	1.00	
13		Z:	1.00	
14				

### On the CD

This workbook, named linear equations.xlsx, is available on the companion CD-ROM. ■

The three equations are represented by formulas in the range B6:B8:

- B6: = (4 \* x) + (y) (2 \* z)
- B7: = (2 \* x) (3 \* y) + (3 \* z)
- B8: = -(6\*x) (2\*y) + (z)

These formulas use the values in the x, y, and z named cells. The range C6:C8 contains the "desired" result for these three formulas.

Solver will adjust the values in x, y, and z — that is, the changing cells in C11:C13 — subject to these constraints:

- B6=C6
- B7=C7
- B8=C8

### Note

This problem doesn't have a target cell because it's not trying to maximize or minimize anything. However, the Solver Parameters dialog box insists that you specify a formula for the Set Target Cell field. Therefore, just enter a reference to any cell that has a formula. ■

Figure 37.10 shows the solution. The x (0.75), y (-2.0), and z (0.5) values satisfy all three equations.

#### FIGURE 37.10

Solver solved the simultaneous equations.

	A	В	С	D
1	$4\mathbf{x} + \mathbf{y} - 2\mathbf{z} = 0$			
2	2x - 3y + 3z = 9			
3	$-\mathbf{6x} - 2\mathbf{y} + \mathbf{z} = 0$			
4				
			Desired	
5		Formula	Value	
6	Equation 1:	0	0	
7	Equation 2:	9	9	
8	Equation 3:	0	0	
9				
10		Variable	Value	
11		x:	0.75	
12		y:	-2.00	
13		z:	0.50	
14				

### Note

A set of linear equations may have one solution, no solution, or an infinite number of solutions.

### **Minimizing shipping costs**

This example involves finding alternative options for shipping materials, while keeping total shipping costs at a minimum (see Figure 37.11). A company has warehouses in Los Angeles, St. Louis, and Boston. Retail outlets throughout the United States place orders, which the company then ships from one of the warehouses. The company wants to meet the product needs of all six retail outlets from available inventory and keep total shipping charges as low as possible.

### On the CD

This workbook, named shipping costs.xlsx, is available on the companion CD-ROM. ■

#### **FIGURE 37.11**

This worksheet determines the least expensive way to ship products from warehouses to retail outlets.

4	А	В	С	D		E	F	G	
1		s	hipping Co						
2			L.A.	St. Louis		Boston			
3		Denver	\$58	\$47		\$108			
4		Houston	\$87	\$46		\$100			
5		Atlanta	\$121	\$30		\$57			
6		Miami	\$149	\$66		\$83			
7		Seattle	\$62	\$115		\$164			
8		Detroit	\$128	\$28		\$38			
9									_
10			Number	No.	to s	hip froi	n	No. to be	
11		Store	Needed	L.A.	St.	Louis	Boston	Shipped	
12		Denver	150	25		25	25	75	1
13		Houston	225	25		25	25	75	
14		Atlanta	100	25		25	25	75	
15		Miami	250	25		25	25	75	
16		Seattle	120	25		25	25	75	
17		Detroit	150	25		25	25	75	
18		Total	995	150		150	150	450	
19									
20			V	Varehous	e In	ventor	y		
21		Starting Inve	entory:	400	1	350	500		
22		No. Remaini	ng:	250	2	200	350		
23									
24		Shipping Co	sts:	\$15,125	\$	8,300	\$13,750	\$37,175	
25		L							'
26									

This workbook is rather complicated, so each part is explained individually:

- Shipping Costs Table: This table, in range B2:E8, is a matrix that contains per-unit shipping costs from each warehouse to each retail outlet. The cost to ship a unit from Los Angeles to Denver, for example, is \$58.
- **Product needs of each retail store:** This information appears in C12:C17. For example, Denver needs 150 units, Houston needs 225, and so on. C18 contains a formula that calculates the total needed.
- Number to ship from: Range D12:F17 holds the adjustable cells that Solver varies. These cells are all initialized with a value of 25 to give Solver a starting value. Column G contains formulas that sum the number of units the company needs to ship to each retail outlet.
- Warehouse inventory: Row 21 contains the amount of inventory at each warehouse, and row 22 contains formulas that subtract the amount shipped (row 18) from the inventory.
- **Calculated shipping costs:** Row 24 contains formulas that calculate the shipping costs. Cell D24 contains the following formula, which is copied to the two cells to the right of Cell D24:

```
=SUMPRODUCT(C3:C8,D12:D17)
```

Cell G24 is the bottom line, the total shipping costs for all orders.

Solver fills in values in the range D12:F17 in such a way that minimizes shipping costs while still supplying each retail outlet with the desired number of units. In other words, the solution minimizes the value in cell G24 by adjusting the cells in D12:F17, subject to the following constraints:

• The number of units needed by each retail outlet must equal the number shipped. (In other words, all the orders are filled.) These constraints are represented by the following specifications:

```
C12=G12 C14=G14 C16=G16
C13=G13 C15=G15 C17=G17
```

• The adjustable cells can't be negative because shipping a negative number of units makes no sense. These constraints are represented by the following specifications:

```
D12>=0E12>=0F12>=0D13>=0E13>=0F13>=0D14>=0E14>=0F14>=0D15>=0E15>=0F15>=0D16>=0E16>=0F16>=0D17>=0E17>=0F17>=0
```

• The number of units remaining in each warehouse's inventory must not be negative (that is, they can't ship more than what's available). This is represented by the following constraint specifications:

D22>=0 E22>=0 F22>=0

### Note

Before you solve this problem with Solver, you may want to attempt to solve this problem manually, by entering values in D12:F17 that minimize the shipping costs. And, of course, you need to make sure that all the constraints are met. Doing so may help you better appreciate Solver. ■

Setting up the problem is the difficult part. For example, you must enter 27 constraints. When you have specified all the necessary information, click the Solve button to put Solver to work. Solver displays the solution shown in Figure 37.12.

### Learning More about Solver.

Solver is a complex tool, and this chapter barely scratches the surface. If you'd like to learn more about Solver, I highly recommend the Web site for Frontline Systems:

```
www.solver.com
```

Frontline Systems is the company that developed Solver for Excel. Its Web site has several tutorials and lots of helpful information, including a detailed manual that you can download. You can also find additional Solver products for Excel that can handle much more complex problems.

The total shipping cost is \$55,515, and all the constraints are met. Notice that shipments to Miami come from both St. Louis and Boston.

#### **FIGURE 37.12**

The solution that was created by Solver.

A	В	С	D	E	F	G				
1	Shipping Costs Table									
2		L.A.	St. Louis	Boston						
3	Denver	\$58	\$47	\$108						
4	Houston	\$87	\$46	\$100						
5	Atlanta	\$121	\$30	\$57						
6	Miami	\$149	\$66	\$83						
7	Seattle	\$62	\$115	\$164						
8	Detroit	\$128	\$28	\$38						
9					·		_			
LO		Number	No.	to ship from	m	No. to be				
11	Store	Needed	L.A.	St. Louis	Boston	Shipped				
12	Denver	150	150	0	0	150	1			
13	Houston	225	0	225	0	225				
14	Atlanta	100	0	100	0	100				
15	Miami	250	0	25	225	250				
16	Seattle	120	120	0	0	120				
17	Detroit	150	0	0	150	150				
18	Total	995	270	350	375	995				
19										
20		<u>۱</u>	Varehous	e Inventor	у		_			
21	Starting Inve	entory:	400	350	500					
22	No. Remaining:		130	0	125					
23							_			
24	Shipping Co	sts:	\$16,140	\$ 15,000	\$ 24,375	\$55,515				
100										

### **Allocating resources**

The example in this section is a common type of problem that's ideal for Solver. Essentially, problems of this sort involve optimizing the volumes of individual production units that use varying amounts of fixed resources. Figure 37.13 shows an example for a toy company.

### On the CD

This workbook is available on the companion CD-ROM. The file is named allocating resources.xlsx.

This company makes five different toys, which use six different materials in varying amounts. For example, Toy A requires 3 units of blue paint, 2 units of white paint, 1 unit of plastic, 3 units of wood, and 1 unit of glue. Column G shows the current inventory of each type of material. Row 10 shows the unit profit for each toy.

#### FIGURE 37.13

Using Solver to maximize profit when resources are limited.

	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	Н	1
1	XYZ Toys Inc.								
2									
							Amt.	Amt.	Amt.
3	Material	Toy A	Toy B	Toy C	Toy D	Toy E	Avail.	Used	Left
4	Red Paint	0	1	0	1	3	625	250	375
5	Blue Paint	3	1	0	1	0	640	250	390
6	White Paint	2	1	2	0	2	1,100	350	750
7	Plastic	1	5	2	2	1	875	550	325
8	Wood	3	0	3	5	5	2,200	800	1,400
9	Glue	1	2	3	2	3	1,500	550	950
10	Unit Profit	\$15	\$30	\$20	\$25	\$25			
11	No. to Make	50	50	50	50	50			
12	Profit	\$750	\$1,500	\$1,000	\$1,250	\$1,250			
13	Total Profit	\$5,750							
14									

The number of toys to make is shown in the range B11:F11. These are the values that Solver determines (the changing cells). The goal of this example is to determine how to allocate the resources to maximize the total profit (B13). In other words, Solver determines how many units of each toy to make. The constraints in this example are relatively simple:

- Ensure that production doesn't use more resources than are available. This can be accomplished by specifying that each cell in column I is greater than or equal to 0 (zero).
- Ensure that the quantities produced aren't negative. This can be accomplished by specifying that each cell in row 11 be greater than or equal to 0.

Figure 37.14 shows the results that are produced by Solver. It shows the product mix that generates \$12,365 in profit and uses all resources in their entirety, except for glue.

#### **FIGURE 37.14**

Solver determined how to use the resources to maximize the total profit.

	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	Н	I
1	XYZ Toys Inc.								
2	1	Materials Needed							
							Amt.	Amt.	Amt.
3	Material	Toy A	Тоу В	Toy C	Toy D	Toy E	Avail.	Used	Left
4	Red Paint	0	1	0	1	3	625	625	0
5	Blue Paint	3	1	0	1	0	640	640	0
6	White Paint	2	1	2	0	2	1,100	1,100	0
7	Plastic	1	5	2	2	1	875	875	0
8	Wood	3	0	3	5	5	2,200	2,200	0
9	Glue	1	2	3	2	3	1,500	1,353	147
10	Unit Profit	\$15	\$30	\$20	\$25	\$25			
11	No. to Make	194	19	158	40	189			
12	Profit	\$2,903	\$573	\$3,168	\$1,008	\$4,713			
13	Total Profit	\$12,365							
14									
15									

### **Optimizing an investment portfolio**

This example demonstrates how to use Solver to help maximize the return on an investment portfolio. A portfolio consists of several investments, each of which has a different yield. In addition, you may have some constraints that involve reducing risk and diversification goals. Without such constraints, a portfolio problem becomes a no-brainer: Put all your money in the investment with the highest yield.

This example involves a *credit union* (a financial institution that takes members' deposits and invests them in loans to other members, bank CDs, and other types of investments). The credit union distributes part of the return on these investments to the members in the form of *dividends*, or interest on their deposits.

This hypothetical credit union must adhere to some regulations regarding its investments, and the board of directors has imposed some other restrictions. These regulations and restrictions comprise the problem's constraints. Figure 37.15 shows a workbook set up for this problem.

#### **FIGURE 37.15**

This worksheet is set up to maximize a credit union's investments, given some constraints.

	A	В	С	D	E	F
1	Portfolio Amount:	\$5,000,000				
2						
3						
			Amount		Pct. of	
4	Investment	Pct Yield	Invested	Yield	Portfolio	
5	New Car Loans	6.90%	1,000,000	69,000	20.00%	
6	Used Car Loans	8.25%	1,000,000	82,500	20.00%	
7	Real Estate Loans	8.90%	1,000,000	89,000	20.00%	
8	Unsecured Loans	13.00%	1,000,000	130,000	20.00%	
9	Bank CDs	4.60%	1,000,000	46,000	20.00%	
10	TOTAL		\$5,000,000	\$416,500	100.00%	
11		_				
12			Total Yield:	8.33%		
13						
14			Auto Loans	40.00%		
15						

### On the CD

This workbook is available on the companion CD-ROM. The file is named investment portfolio.xlsx.

The following constraints are the ones to which you must adhere in allocating the \$5 million portfolio:

• The amount that the credit union invests in new-car loans must be at least three times the amount that the credit union invests in used-car loans. (Used-car loans are riskier investments.) This constraint is represented as

C5>=C6\*3

• Car loans should make up at least 15 percent of the portfolio. This constraint is represented as

D14>=.15

• Unsecured loans should make up no more than 25 percent of the portfolio. This constraint is represented as

E8<=.25

- At least 10 percent of the portfolio should be in bank CDs. This constraint is represented as: E9>=.10
- The total amount invested is \$5,000,000.
- All investments should be positive or zero. In other words, the problem requires five additional constraints to ensure that none of the changing cells goes below zero.

The changing cells are C5:C9, and the goal is to maximize the total yield in cell D12. Starting values of 1,000,000 have been entered in the changing cells. When you run Solver with these parameters, it produces the solution shown in Figure 37.16, which has a total yield of 9.25 percent.

#### **FIGURE 37.16**

The results of the portfolio optimization.

	A	В	С	D	E
1	Portfolio Amount:	\$5,000,000			
2					
3					
			Amount		Pct. of
4	Investment	Pct Yield	Invested	Yield	Portfolio
5	New Car Loans	6.90%	562,500	38,812	11.25%
6	Used Car Loans	8.25%	187,500	15,469	3.75%
7	Real Estate Loans	8.90%	2,500,000	222,500	50.00%
8	Unsecured Loans	13.00%	1,250,000	162,500	25.00%
9	Bank CDs	4.60%	500,000	23,000	10.00%
10	TOTAL		\$5,000,000	\$462,281	100.00%
11					
12			Total Yield:	9.25%	
13					
14	]		Auto Loans	15.00%	
45	1				

# CHAPTER 38

# Analyzing Data with the Analysis ToolPak

Ithough Excel was designed primarily for business users, people in other disciplines, including education, research, statistics, and engineering, use it. One way how Excel addresses these nonbusiness users is with its Analysis ToolPak add-in. However, many features in the Analysis ToolPak are valuable for business applications as well.

# The Analysis ToolPak: An Overview

The Analysis ToolPak is an add-in that provides analytical capability that normally isn't available.

### Note

Prior to Excel 2007, the Analysis ToolPak add-in included many additional worksheet functions. These worksheet functions are built into Excel and no longer require the Analysis ToolPak add-in. ■

These analysis tools offer many features that may be useful to those in the scientific, engineering, and educational communities — not to mention business users whose needs extend beyond the normal spreadsheet fare.

This section provides a quick overview of the types of analyses that you can perform with the Analysis ToolPak. This chapter covers each of the following tools:

- Analysis of variance (three types)
- Correlation

### **IN THIS CHAPTER**

The Analysis ToolPak: An overview

Using the Analysis ToolPak

Meeting the Analysis ToolPak tools

- Covariance
- Descriptive statistics
- Exponential smoothing
- F-Test
- Fourier analysis
- Histogram
- Moving average
- Random number generation
- Rank and percentile
- Regression
- Sampling
- t-Test (three types)
- z-Test

As you can see, the Analysis ToolPak add-in brings a great deal of functionality to Excel. These procedures have limitations, however, and in some cases, you may prefer to create your own formulas to do some calculations.

## Installing the Analysis ToolPak Add-in

The Analysis ToolPak is implemented as an add-in. Before you can use it, though, you need to make sure that the add-in is installed. Click the Data tab. If you see an Analysis group, showing Data Analysis, the Analysis ToolPak is installed. If you can't access Data ⇔ Analysis ⇔ Data Analysis, install the add-in by following these steps:

- **1.** Choose File ▷ Options to display the Excel Options dialog box.
- 2. In the Excel Options dialog box, click the Add-Ins tab.
- **3.** At the bottom of the dialog box, select Excel Add-Ins from the Manage drop-down list and then click Go. Excel displays the Add-Ins dialog box.
- 4. In the Add-Ins dialog box, place a check mark next to Analysis ToolPak.
- 5. Click OK to close the Add-Ins dialog box.

### Tip

Pressing Alt+TI is a much quicker way to display the Add-Ins dialog box. ■
### **Using the Analysis Tools**

Using the procedures in the Analysis ToolPak add-in is relatively straightforward as long as you're familiar with the particular analysis type. To use any of these tools, choose Data  $\Rightarrow$  Analysis  $\Rightarrow$  Data Analysis, which displays the dialog box shown in Figure 38.1. Scroll through the list until you find the analysis tool that you want to use and then click OK. Excel displays a dialog box specific to the procedure that you select.

### FIGURE 38.1

Select your tool from the Data Analysis dialog box.

Data Analysis		
Brailysis Tools		
Constant populations Annual: Two Pactor With Replication Annual: Two Pactor Without Replication Constation Constitution	Í	Cancel
Descriptive Schedultz Underwehlslichsething Pritest for Sample for Varianses Pourior Analysis Hottagram		

Usually, you need to specify one or more Input ranges, plus an Output range (one cell is sufficient). Alternatively, you can choose to place the results on a new worksheet or in a new workbook. The procedures vary in the amount of additional information required. In many dialog boxes, you may be able to indicate whether your Data range includes labels. If so, you can specify the entire range, including the labels, and indicate to Excel that the first column (or row) contains labels. Excel then uses these labels in the tables that it produces. Most tools also provide different output options that you can select, based on your needs.

### Caution

The Analysis ToolPak isn't consistent in how it generates its output. In some cases, the procedures use formulas, so you can change your data, and the results update automatically. In other procedures, Excel stores the results as values, so if you change your data, the results don't reflect your changes. Make sure that you understand what Excel is doing. ■

### **Introducing the Analysis ToolPak Tools**

This section describes each tool in the Analysis ToolPak and provides an example. Space limitations prevent a discussion of every available option in these procedures. However, if you need to use the advanced analysis tools, you probably already know how to use most of the options not covered here.

### On the CD

The companion CD-ROM contains a workbook that shows output from all the tools discussed in this section. The file is named atp examples.xlsx.

### **Analysis of Variance**

*Analysis of Variance* (sometimes abbreviated as *Anova*) is a statistical test that determines whether two or more samples were drawn from the same population. Using tools in the Analysis ToolPak, you can perform three types of analysis of variance:

- **Single-factor:** A one-way analysis of variance, with only one sample for each group of data
- **Two-factor with replication:** A two-way analysis of variance, with multiple samples (or replications) for each group of data
- **Two-factor without replication:** A two-way analysis of variance, with a single sample (or replication) for each group of data

Figure 38.2 shows the dialog box for a single-factor analysis of variance. Alpha represents the statistical confidence level for the test.

### FIGURE 38.2

Specifying parameters for a single-factor analysis of variance.

	.8.	8 0	2	0	6	F G	14	1	1	E	L.
1	Low 🖪 Mi	olium 🖬 High	<b>a</b> 0a	ntrol 🖬							
2	34	45	113	- 63		Annua Gogle Partne				1.0.14.0	à –
3	36	42	- 54	-42		100.0					1
10	42	38	3.0	- 61		Disk/Range:		041-048	26	06	
5	51.	59	28	207		Con matches		di Coloma		Careal	
	38	44	- 63	30		manual.		() Bern		_ telt	
7	32	35	.54	26		E statute features				34	
-8	36	3.7	- 52	- 53		abday 0.56					
9	209	399	368	273,		mana [					
10						Cutput-908016					
11						# p.o.temper		2478	76		
12						C. Berr Hardward De					
11						C and restarting			_		
14						C. no. Doorne					
13							_		_		
1.15-											
1T											

The output for this test consists of the means and variances for each of the samples, the value of F, the critical value of F, and the significance of F (P-value).

### Correlation

*Correlation* is a widely used statistic that measures the degree to which two sets of data vary together. For example, if higher values in one data set are typically associated with higher values in the second data set, the two data sets have a positive correlation. The degree of correlation is

expressed as a coefficient that ranges from -1.0 (a perfect negative correlation) to +1.0 (a perfect positive correlation). A correlation coefficient of 0 indicates that the two variables aren't correlated.

Figure 38.3 shows the Correlation dialog box. Specify the input range, which can include any number of variables, arranged in rows or columns.

#### FIGURE 38.3

The Correlation dialog box.

E.	A	8	- C	0	E	F	- 6	н	1	J K	L	M	1
1	Name 5	Height 🖬	Mitter -	Sex 🗖	lett 🔹	Test2 📼	Rest5 🖬 1	lesti 🖬 1	ieriti 🗖				
2	REE	74.2	176	1	90	96	104	46	5				
3	Alley .	48.5	132	1	90	87	22	31	67				
	Casol	46.8	162	6	82	75	Dented	alian .	_			1.0.1474	1
.5	Scott	73.2	120	1	50	13	100						1
11	38	41.8	154		180	10	700	Thirte		1011-000-0	1040	CK .	
7	Francia	52.4	101	0	75	- 69					1000	Central	
8	Holes	49.Z	157		90	34	Cres .	free sub-		St. Danser			
	Marci	65.0	148	6	65	64	100	states in Res		College		240	
1.0	Beeedict.	77.8	225	- 1	92	85	-						
1.1	Heak	71.0	119	1	70	68	0.0	ut retire			-		
1.3	John	73.6	198	1	69	- 68		Baltout Rang	81	841	26.		
1.3	Scean	66.5	158	0	80	35	01	in the	eni (Cy				
14	Giarlia	47.1	198	6	89	17	01	w grite	dk.				
13													
14													

The output consists of a correlation matrix that shows the correlation coefficient for each variable paired with every other variable.

### Note

The resulting correlation matrix doesn't use formulas to calculate the results. Therefore, if any data changes, the correlation matrix isn't valid. You can use the CORREL function to create a correlation matrix that changes automatically when you change data. ■

### Covariance

The Covariance tool produces a matrix that is similar to the one generated by the Correlation tool. *Covariance*, like correlation, measures the degree to which two variables vary together. Specifically, *covariance* is the average of the product of the deviations of each data point pair from their respective means.

Because the Covariance tool does not generate formulas, you may prefer to calculate a covariance matrix using the COVAR function.

### **Descriptive Statistics**

The Descriptive Statistics tool produces a table that describes your data with some standard statistics. Figure 38.4 shows some sample output.

Descriptive Statistics output.

1	A	9	- C		D E	F	6	н	1	1	K
	W. Crest Sample	Midwest Sample	E. Count		W. Court Tompie		Milwer tangie		A count tangée		
2		55	41	52							
		12	10	278	Minasi	38.25	Mean		Dibalati	41.00	
-4		46	36	40	Standard Driver	5.04805	Standard Dror	1.01763	Standard Dvar	5.95467	
.5		MT .	D	45	Median	17.5	Median	43.3	bitecking	45.3	
-6		46	-44	28	Mode	37	Mode	53	Mode	37	
2		28	62	15	Mandaled Devertion	1.26410	Mandard Deviation	1.07163	Standard Deviation	6.79811	
		60	61	3.7	Sample Variance	68,2026	Sample Valiance	10.0421	Sample Variance	46,9762	
3		5T	42	52	Runtopia	1,47358	<b>Surtools</b>	-0.473	Kartosis	-6.2905	
1.10		24	26	30	Skewness	1.18013	Skewness	0.14121	Skawness	-6.2495	
13		53	52	-40	Renge	32	Range	- 54	Famps	35	
1.3		17	- 28	34	Mananaum	28	Millionaria	28	Minanum	28	
1.3		52	52	-84	Maximum	- 60	Maximum	62	Maximum	54	
14			-	62	Sum.	783	1am	100	thum:	837	
15		41	29	-40	Count	29	Count	26	Count	30	
					Confidence		Confidence		Confidence		
1.6		28	50	-46	Level(95.0%)	2.06790	i level(95.0%)	4.41120	Level(95.0%)	2.17514	
T	1	42	52	47							
13		219	at	10							
1.5	1	40	26	-40							
210	F.	11	-04	44							
21		44	50	47							
23											

Because the output for this procedure consists of values (not formulas), you should use this procedure only when you're certain that your data isn't going to change; otherwise, you will need to reexecute the procedure. You can generate all these statistics by using formulas.

### **Exponential Smoothing**

*Exponential smoothing* is a technique for predicting data that is based on the previous data point and the previously predicted data point. You can specify the *damping factor* (also known as a *smoothing constant*), which can range from 0 to 1. This factor determines the relative weighting of the previous data point and the previously predicted data point. You also can request standard errors and a chart.

The exponential smoothing procedure generates formulas that use the damping factor that you specify. Therefore, if the data changes, Excel updates the formulas.

### F-Test (two-sample test for variance)

An *F-Test* is a commonly used statistical test that enables you to compare two population variances. Figure 38.5 shows a small data set and F-Test output.

The output for this test consists of the means and variances for each of the two samples, the value of F, the critical value of F, and the significance of F.

Output from the F-Test tool.

	A.	8	C	D	1	F.	6	H
3	Group 1 🖬	Group 2 🖬		F-Test Two-Same	ple for Var	iances		
2	96	39						
3	78	53			Group f	Group 2		
4	72	51		Mean	75.44444	46.66667		
5	78	48		Variance	109.5278	25		
8	65	51		Observations	9	9		
$\overline{T}$	65	42		df		8		
8	69	- 44		F	4.381111			
9	87	42		P(F<-f) one-tail	0.025855			
10	68	50		P Critical ene-tai	3.455103			
11								
1.5								

### **Fourier Analysis**

The Fourier Analysis tool performs a "fast Fourier" transformation of a range of data. Using the Fourier Analysis tool, you can transform a range limited to the following sizes: 1, 2, 4, 8, 16, 32, 64, 128, 256, 512, or 1,024 data points. This procedure accepts and generates complex numbers, which are represented as text string (not numerical values).

### Histogram

The Histogram tool is useful for producing data distributions and histogram charts. It accepts an Input range and a Bin range. A *bin range* is a range of values that specifies the limits for each column of the histogram. If you omit the Bin range, Excel creates 10 equal-interval bins for you. The size of each bin is determined by the following formula:

=(MAX(input\_range) - MIN(input\_range))/10

Output from the Histogram tool is shown in Figure 38.6. As an option, you can specify that the resulting histogram be sorted by frequency of occurrence in each bin.

If you specify the Pareto (Sorted Histogram) option, the bin range must contain values and can't contain formulas. If formulas appear in the bin range, Excel doesn't sort properly, and your work-sheet displays error values. The Histogram tool doesn't use formulas, so if you change any of the input data, you need to repeat the histogram procedure to update the results.

### **Cross-Reference**

For other ways of generating frequency distributions, see Chapters 13 and 35. ■



Use the Histogram tool to generate distributions and graphical output.

### **Moving Average**

The Moving Average tool helps you smooth out a data series that has a lot of variability. This procedure is often used in conjunction with a chart. Excel does the smoothing by computing a moving average of a specified number of values. In many cases, a moving average enables you to spot trends that otherwise would be obscured by noise in the data.

Figure 38.7 shows a chart generated by the Moving Average tool. You can, of course, specify the number of values that you want Excel to use for each average. If you select the Standard Errors check box in the Moving Average dialog box, Excel calculates standard errors and places formulas for these calculations next to the moving average formulas. The standard error values indicate the degree of variability between the actual values and the calculated moving averages.

A chart produced by the Moving Average tool.



The first few cells in the output are #N/A because not enough data points exist to calculate the average for these initial values.

### **Random Number Generation**

Although Excel contains built-in functions to calculate random numbers, the Random Number Generation tool is much more flexible because you can specify what type of distribution you want the random numbers to have. Figure 38.8 shows the Random Number Generation dialog box. The Parameters section varies, depending upon the type of distribution that you select.

#### FIGURE 38.8

This dialog box enables you to generate a wide variety of random numbers.

Candiom Number De	eneration	- 9 - BC
Number of Variables		Cirk .
Number of Random	Numbers:	Canod
Britikutor:	Discrete	· Unb
Parameters		
Value and Probability	ca Sabrit Hraudec	
	18	
Bandam Souch	18	
Bunctom Souch Cullput sphows	18	
Bandom Soect Culput sphores © Quiput Bange:	18	5
Bjundem Soect Output sphores © Quitput Humper @ New Worksheet	Br .	1

Number of Variables refers to the number of columns that you want, and Number of Random Numbers refers to the number of rows that you want. For example, if you want 200 random numbers arranged in 10 columns of 20 rows, you specify 10 and 20, respectively, in these fields.

In the Random Seed field, you can specify a starting value that Excel uses in its random numbergenerating algorithm. Usually, you leave this field blank. If you want to generate the same random number sequence, however, you can specify a seed between 1 and 32,767 (integer values only). You can create the following types of distributions via the Distribution drop-down list in the Random Number Generation dialog box:

- Uniform: Every random number has an equal chance of being selected. You specify the upper and lower limits.
- Normal: The random numbers correspond to a normal distribution. You specify the mean and standard deviation of the distribution.
- **Bernoulli:** The random numbers are either 0 or 1, determined by the probability of success that you specify.
- **Binomial:** This option returns random numbers based on a Bernoulli distribution over a specific number of trials, given a probability of success that you specify.
- **Poisson:** This option generates values in a Poisson distribution. A *Poisson distribution* is characterized by discrete events that occur in an interval, where the probability of a single occurrence is proportional to the size of the interval. The lambda parameter is the expected number of occurrences in an interval. In a Poisson distribution, lambda is equal to the mean, which also is equal to the variance.
- **Patterned:** This option doesn't generate random numbers. Rather, it repeats a series of numbers in steps that you specify.
- **Discrete:** This option enables you to specify the probability that specific values are chosen. It requires a two-column input range; the first column holds the values, and the second column holds the probability of each value being chosen. The sum of the probabilities in the second column must equal 100 percent.

### **Rank and Percentile**

The Rank and Percentile tool creates a table that shows the ordinal and percentile ranking for each value in a range. You can also generate ranks and percentiles by using Excel functions (those that begin with RANK and PERCENTILE).

### Regression

Use the Regression tool (see Figure 38.9) to calculate a regression analysis from worksheet data. You can use regression to analyze trends, forecast the future, build predictive models, and, often, to make sense out of a series of seemingly unrelated numbers.

Regression analysis enables you to determine the extent to which one range of data (the dependent variable) varies as a function of the values of one or more other ranges of data (the independent variables). This relationship is expressed mathematically, using values that Excel calculates. You can use these calculations to create a mathematical model of the data and predict the dependent variable by using different values of one or more independent variables. This tool can perform simple and multiple linear regressions and calculate and standardize residuals automatically.

#### FIGURE 38.9

The Regression dialog box.

Regression			
Input	Constant is Zero	56 56	Carcol Lipite
Dulput options © gulput Ranges I then Vicinalment Bys Press Vicinalment Bys Reschede		76	
Episiduals Tgandarikani riesaluais Tiomai Probability Egomai Probability Piots	<ul> <li>Residual Plots</li> <li>Lipe Pit Plats</li> </ul>		

As you can see, the Regression dialog box offers many options:

- Input Y Range: The range that contains the dependent variable.
- Input X Range: One or more ranges that contain independent variables.
- Confidence Level: The confidence level for the regression.
- **Constant Is Zero:** If selected, forces the regression to have a constant of 0 (which means that the regression line passes through the origin; when the X values are 0, the predicted Y value is 0).
- **Residuals:** The four options in this section of the dialog box enable you to specify whether to include residuals in the output. *Residuals* are the differences between observed and predicted values.
- Normal Probability: Generates a chart for normal probability plots.

### Sampling

The Sampling tool generates a random sample from a range of input values. The Sampling tool can help you to work with a large database by creating a subset of it.

This procedure has two options: periodic and random. If you choose a periodic sample, Excel selects every *n*th value from the Input range, where *n* equals the period that you specify. With a random sample, you simply specify the size of the sample you want Excel to select, and every value has an equal probability of being chosen.

### t-Test

Use the t-Test tool to determine whether a statistically significant difference exists between two small samples. The Analysis ToolPak can perform three types of t-Tests:

- **Paired two-sample for means:** For paired samples in which you have two observations on each subject (such as a pretest and a post-test). The samples must be the same size.
- **Two-sample assuming equal variances:** For independent, rather than paired, samples. Excel assumes equal variances for the two samples.
- **Two-sample assuming unequal variances:** For independent, rather than paired, samples. Excel assumes unequal variances for the two samples.

Figure 38.10 shows output for the Paired Two Sample for Means t-Test. You specify the significance level (alpha) and the hypothesized difference between the two means (that is, the *null hypothesis*).

### FIGURE 38.10

Output from the paired t-Test dialog box.

	A		-C	D	6	F	6
1	Skullerdi 🗖	Protest 🗖	Posttest 🖬		1-Test: Psired Two Sample for M	ieero.	
2	1	71	68				
3	2	63	68			Pretent	Asuthert
4	3	- 68	79		Mieen	65.615048	71.05524
5		67	68		Variance	30.867618	48.7W048
8	3	- 68	- 60		Observations	21	21
2		60	60		Pearson Convelation	0.962363	
8	2	76	69		Hypethesized Mean Offfenence		
1		78	12		a1	20	
10		68	78		tStat	-2.006522	
10.	19	73	77		P(Trint) one-tail	0.0252224	
12	11	71	72		t Criticatione-tail	1.724718	
13	12	- 68	68		P(Trint) two-tell	0.0504448	
14	11	78	n		tortialitye-tail	3.0819425	
15	14	78					
18	15	- 68	79				
LT.	18	n	78				
18	12	65	60				
18	18	67	68				
20	19	78	77				
21	30	78	78				
23	21	71	70				
21.							

### z-Test (two-sample test for means)

The t-Test is used for small samples; the z-Test is used for larger samples or populations. You must know the variances for both input ranges.

# Part VI

# Programming Excel with VBA

f you've ever wanted to do a bit more or automate routine operations so that you don't always have to perform boring, repetitious tasks manually, this part is for you. This part is also aimed at those Excel users who want to develop Excel-based applications for other users. VBA — Visual Basic for Applications — is the powerful programming language that you can use for these tasks as well as for more esoteric purposes, such as developing that specialized worksheet function that you simply can't find in Excel.

### **IN THIS PART**

**Chapter 39** Introducing Visual Basic for Applications

#### Chapter 40

Creating Custom Worksheet Functions

Chapter 41 Introducing UserForms

**Chapter 42** Using UserForm Controls in a Worksheet

**Chapter 43** Working with Excel's Events

Chapter 44 VBA Examples

**Chapter 45** Creating Custom Excel Add-Ins

## CHAPTER 30

## Introducing Visual Basic for Applications

his chapter is an introduction to the Visual Basic for Applications (VBA) macro language — a key component for users who want to customize and automate Excel. This chapter teaches you how to record macros and create simple macro procedures. Subsequent chapters expand upon the topics in this chapter.

### **Introducing VBA Macros**

In its broadest sense, a *macro* is a sequence of instructions that automates some aspect of Excel so that you can work more efficiently and with fewer errors. You may create a macro, for example, to format and print your month-end sales report. After the macro is developed, you can then execute the macro to perform many time-consuming procedures automatically.

You don't have to be a power user to create and use simple VBA macros. Casual users can simply turn on Excel's macro recorder: Excel records your actions and converts them into a VBA macro. When you execute this macro, Excel performs the actions again. More advanced users, though, can write code that tells Excel to perform tasks that can't be recorded. For example, you can write procedures that display custom dialog boxes, add new commands to Excel's menus, or process data in a series of workbooks.

### **IN THIS CHAPTER**

Introducing VBA macros

**Creating VBA macros** 

**Recording VBA macros** 

More about recording VBA macros

Writing VBA code

Learning more about VBA

### What You Can Do with VBA.

VBA is an extremely rich programming language with thousands of uses. The following list contains just a few things that you can do with VBA macros. (Not all of these tasks are covered in this book.)

- Insert boilerplate text. If you need to enter standard text into a range of cells, you can create a macro to do the typing for you.
- Automate a procedure that you perform frequently. For example, you may need to prepare a month-end summary. If the task is straightforward, you can develop a macro to do it for you.
- Automate repetitive operations. If you need to perform the same action in 12 different workbooks, you can record a macro while you perform the task once and then let the macro repeat your action in the other workbooks.
- **Create a custom command.** For example, you can combine several Excel commands so that they're executed from a single keystroke or from a single mouse click.
- Create a simplified "front end" for users who don't know much about Excel. For example, you can set up a foolproof data-entry template.
- **Develop a new worksheet function.** Although Excel includes a wide assortment of built-in functions, you can create custom functions that greatly simplify your formulas.
- Create complete macro-driven applications. Excel macros can display custom dialog boxes and respond to new commands added to the Ribbon.
- Create custom add-ins for Excel. Most add-ins shipped with Excel were created with Excel macros. I used VBA exclusively to create my Power Utility Pak.

### **Displaying the Developer Tab**

If you plan to work with VBA macros, you'll want to make sure that the Developer tab is present on the Excel Ribbon. The Developer tab, which does not appear by default, contains useful commands for VBA users. To display this tab

- **1.** Choose File 与 Options.
- 2. In the Excel Options dialog box, select Customize Ribbon.
- 3. In the list box on the right, place a check mark next to Developer.
- 4. Click OK to return to Excel.

Figure 39.1 shows the Ribbon commands of the Developer tab.

#### FIGURE 39.1

The Developer tab.

(図) (目 - 11 - 14) + (+ (+ )) - (+ ) (+ )			Sould - Internated Inc.	6	
12 Perce Dart Parties	et family	1544	dates viet	bestget	+ Q + pr. c.
	Ø 10	·24	C Strates	And Andrews Constant and Andre	a 1

### **About Macro Security**

Macros have the potential to cause serious damage to your computer, such as erasing files or installing malware. Consequently, Microsoft has added macro-security features to help prevent macro-related problems.

Figure 39.2 shows the Macro Settings section of the Trust Center dialog box. To display this dialog box, choose Developer ♣ Code ♣ Macro Security.

#### FIGURE 39.2

The Macro Settings section of the Trust Center dialog box.

uit Center	1.5
Twoted Publishers	Macro Settings
Trusted Goruments	Biable all manos without notification
Add-ins	Bisble all matros with notification Disble all matros except digitally signed matros
Activel Settings	<ul> <li>Endote all macros (not recommended; potentially dangerous onde can mai)</li> </ul>
06P Settings	Developer Macro Settings
Message Dar	🗵 Trust access to the 1284 project sliped model
Edernal Content	
File Block Settings Privacy Options	
	OK Canot

By default, Excel uses the Disable All Macros with Notification option. With this setting in effect, if you open a workbook that contains macros (and the file is not digitally "signed"), the macros will be disabled, and Excel displays a Security Warning above the Formula bar (see Figure 39.3). If you're certain that the workbook comes from a trusted source, click the Enable Content button in the security warning area, and the macros will be enabled. Excel remembers your decision; if you enable the macros, you will not see the Security Warning the next time you open that file.

### Note

If the Visual Basic (VB) Editor window is open when you open a workbook that contains macros, Excel does not display the Security Warning above the Formula bar. Rather, it displays a dialog box with two buttons: Enable Macros and Disable Macros.

#### FIGURE 39.3

Excel displays a Security Warning if a workbook contains macros.

1 Security Warning Macros have been disabled. Brable Content

Rather than deal with individual workbooks, you may prefer to designate one or more folders as "trusted locations." All the workbooks in a trusted location are opened without a macro warning. You designate trusted folders in the Trusted Locations section of the Trust Center dialog box.

### **Saving Workbooks That Contain Macros**

If you store one or more VBA macros in a workbook, you must save the file with an XLSM extension.

The first time you save a workbook that contains macros, the file format defaults to XLSX — and this format can't contain macros. Unless you change the file format to XLSM, Excel displays the warning shown in Figure 39.4. You need to click No, and then choose Excel Macro-Enabled Workbook (\*.xlsm) from the Save As Type drop-down list in the Save As dialog box.

### Note

Alternatively, you can save the workbook in the old Excel 97-2003 format (which uses an XLS extension). This file format can contain macros. ■

#### FIGURE 39.4

Excel warns you if your workbook contains macros and you attempt to save it in a nonmacro file format.



### **Two Types of VBA Macros**

Before getting into the details of creating macros, you need to understand a key distinction. A VBA *macro* (also known as a *procedure*) can be one of two types: a Sub or a Function. The next two sections discuss the difference.

### **VBA Sub procedures**

You can think of a Sub procedure as a new command that either the user or another macro can execute. You can have any number of Sub procedures in an Excel workbook. Figure 39.5 shows a simple VBA Sub procedure. When this code is executed, VBA inserts the current date into the active cell, applies a number format, makes the cell bold, and then adjusts the column width.

### FIGURE 39.5

#### A simple VBA procedure.

```
    current data.htm - Module1@Code(
    currentDate
    femenal)
    w CurrentDate
    current data into the active cells
    ActiveCell.Taise = Date
    ActiveCell.Celumes.AutoFits
    End Sub
    w
```

### On the CD

A workbook that contains this macro is available on the companion CD-ROM. It also includes a button that makes it easy to execute the macro. The file is named current date.xlsm.

Sub procedures always start with the keyword Sub, the macro's name (every macro must have a unique name), and then a pair of parentheses. (The parentheses are required; they're empty unless the procedure uses one or more arguments.) The End Sub statement signals the end of the procedure. The lines in between comprise the procedure's code.

### What's New in the Visual Basic Editor?.

In a word, nothing. Beginning with Excel 2007, Microsoft made many changes to Excel. However, the VB Editor has remained untouched. The VBA language has been updated to accommodate the new Excel features, but the VB Editor has no new features, and the toolbars and menus work exactly like they always have.

The CurrentDate macro also includes a comment. *Comments* are simply notes to yourself, and they're ignored by VBA. A comment line begins with an apostrophe. You can also put a comment in the same line as a statement. In other words, when VBA encounters an apostrophe, it ignores the rest of the text in the line.

You execute a VBA Sub procedure in any of the following ways:

- Choose Developer ➡ Code ➡ Macros to display the Macro dialog box. Select the procedure name from the list and then click Run. You can also access the Macro dialog box by pressing Alt+F8.
- Press the procedure's shortcut key combination (if it has one).
- If the VB Editor is active, move the cursor anywhere within the code and press F5.
- Execute the procedure by calling it from another VBA procedure.

### **VBA** functions

The second type of VBA procedure is a function. A *function* always returns a single value (just as a worksheet function always returns a single value). A VBA function can be executed by other VBA procedures or used in worksheet formulas, just as you would use Excel's built-in worksheet functions.

Figure 39.6 shows a custom worksheet function. This function is named CubeRoot, and it requires a single argument. CubeRoot calculates the cube root of its argument. A Function procedure looks much like a Sub procedure. Notice, however, that function procedures begin with the keyword Function and end with an End Function statement.

### On the CD

A workbook that contains this function is available on the companion CD-ROM. The file is named cube root .xlsm.

#### FIGURE 39.6

This VBA function returns the cube root of its argument.



### **Cross-Reference**

Creating VBA functions that you use in worksheet formulas can simplify your formulas and enable you to perform calculations that otherwise may be impossible. Chapter 40 discusses VBA functions in greater detail. ■

### Some Definitions.

If you're new to VBA, you may be overwhelmed by the terminology. I've put together some key definitions to help you keep the terms straight. These terms cover VBA and UserForms (custom dialog boxes) — two important elements that are used to customize Excel:

- **Code:** VBA instructions that are produced in a module sheet when you record a macro. You also can enter VBA code manually.
- **Controls:** Objects on a UserForm (or in a worksheet) that you manipulate. Examples include buttons, check boxes, and list boxes.
- Function: One of two types of VBA macros that you can create. (The other is a Sub procedure.) A function returns a single value. You can use VBA functions in other VBA macros or in your worksheets.
- Macro: A set of VBA instructions performed automatically.
- **Method:** An action taken on an object. For example, applying the Clear method to a Range object erases the contents and formatting of the cells.
- Module: A container for VBA code.
- **Object:** An element that you manipulate with VBA. Examples include ranges, charts, drawing objects, and so on.
- **Procedure:** Another name for a macro. A VBA procedure can be a Sub procedure or a Function procedure.
- **Property:** A particular aspect of an object. For example, a Range object has properties, such as Height, Style, and Name.
- **Sub procedure:** One of two types of Visual Basic macros that you can create. The other is a function.
- UserForm: A container that holds controls for a custom dialog box and holds VBA code to manipulate the controls. (Chapters 41 and 42 explain UserForms in depth.)
- VBA: Visual Basic for Applications. The macro language that is available in Excel, as well as in the other applications in Microsoft Office.
- VB Editor: The window (separate from Excel) that you use to create VBA macros and UserForms. Use Alt+F11 to toggle between Excel and the VB Editor.

### **Creating VBA Macros**

Excel provides two ways to create macros:

- Turn on the macro recorder and record your actions.
- Enter the code directly into a VBA module.

The following sections describe these methods.

### **Recording VBA macros**

In this section, I describe the basic steps that you take to record a VBA macro. In most cases, you can record your actions as a macro and then simply replay the macro; you needn't look at the code that's automatically generated. If simply recording and playing back macros is as far as you go with VBA, you don't need to be concerned with the language itself (although a basic understanding of how things work doesn't do any harm).

### Recording your actions to create VBA code: The basics

The Excel macro recorder translates your actions into VBA code. To start the macro recorder, choose Developer 
Code 
Record Macro (or, click the Record Macro icon on the left side of the status bar). Excel displays the Record Macro dialog box, shown in Figure 39.7.

### FIGURE 39.7

The Record Macro dialog box.

Recent Macro	
Bern name: Permit	
Shortcatlyry: Cirl +	
Store macro in: This Warkbook	×
Description:	
	Careel

The Record Macro dialog box presents several options:

- Macro Name: The name of the macro. Excel proposes generic names, such as Macro1, Macro2, and so on.
- Shortcut Key: You can specify a key combination that executes the macro. The key combination always uses the Ctrl key. You can also press Shift when you enter a letter. For example, pressing Shift while you enter the letter *H* makes the shortcut key combination Ctrl+Shift+H.

### Warning

Shortcut keys assigned to macros take precedence over built-in shortcut keys. For example, if you assign Ctrl+S to a macro, then you cannot use the key combination to save your workbook. ■

- Store Macro In: The location for the macro. Your choices are the current workbook, your Personal Macro Workbook (See "Storing macros in your Personal Macro Workbook," later in this chapter), or a new workbook.
- **Description:** A description of the macro (optional).

To begin recording your actions, click OK; your actions within Excel are converted to VBA code. When you finish recording the macro, choose Developer 🕏 Code 🕏 Stop Recording. Or, you can click the Stop Recording button on the status bar. This button replaces the Start Recording button while your macro is being recorded.

### Note

Recording your actions always results in a new Sub procedure. You can't create a Function procedure by using the macro recorder. Function procedures must be created manually. ■

### Recording a macro: A simple example

This example demonstrates how to record a very simple macro that inserts your name in the active cell.

To create the macro, start with a new workbook and follow these steps:

**1.** Activate an empty cell.

### Note

Select the cell to be formatted *before* you start recording your macro. This step is important. If you select a cell while the macro recorder is turned on, the actual cell that you select will be recorded into the macro. In such a case, the macro would always format that particular cell, and it would not be a general-purpose macro.

- **2.** Choose Developer ⇔ Code ⇔ Record Macro. Excel displays the Record Macro dialog box. (Refer to Figure 39.7.)
- **3.** Enter a new single-word name for the macro, to replace the default Macrol name. A good name is MyName.
- **4.** Assign this macro to the shortcut key Ctrl+Shift+N by entering an uppercase N in the Shortcut Key field.
- 5. Click OK to close the Record Macro dialog box and begin recording your actions.
- 6. Type your name into the selected cell and then press Enter.
- 7. Choose Developer ➡ Code ➡ Stop Recording (or click the Stop Recording button on the status bar).

#### Examining the macro

The macro was recorded in a new module named Module1. To view the code in this module, you must activate the VB Editor. You can activate the VB Editor in either of two ways:

- Press Alt+F11.
- Choose Developer I Code I Visual Basic.

In the VB Editor, the Project window displays a list of all open workbooks and add-ins. This list is displayed as a tree diagram, which you can expand or collapse. The code that you recorded previously is stored in Module1 in the current workbook. When you double-click Module1, the code in the module appears in the Code window.

Figure 39.8 shows the recorded macro, as displayed in the Code window.

#### FIGURE 39.8

The MyName procedure was generated by the Excel macro recorder.



The macro should look something like this (with your name substituted for mine, of course):

```
Sub MyName()
'
' MyName Macro
'
' Keyboard Shortcut: Ctrl+Shift+N
'
ActiveCell.FormulaR1C1 = "John Walkenbach"
End Sub
```

The macro recorded is a Sub procedure that is named MyName. The statements tell Excel what to do when the macro is executed.

Notice that Excel inserted some comments at the top of the procedure. These comments are some of the information that appeared in the Record Macro dialog box. These comment lines (which begin with an apostrophe) aren't really necessary, and deleting them has no effect on how the macro runs. If you ignore the comments, you'll see that this procedure has only one VBA statement:

ActiveCell.FormulaR1C1 = "John Walkenbach"

This single statement causes the name you typed while recording the macro to be inserted into the active cell. The FormulaR1C1 part is a property of the Range object — but I'm getting ahead of myself.

#### Testing the macro

Before you recorded this macro, you set an option that assigned the macro to the Ctrl+Shift+N shortcut key combination. To test the macro, return to Excel by using either of the following methods:

- Press Alt+F11.
- Click the View Microsoft Excel button on the VB Editor toolbar.

When Excel is active, activate a worksheet. (It can be in the workbook that contains the VBA module or in any other workbook.) Select a cell and press Ctrl+Shift+N. The macro immediately enters your name into the cell.

#### Editing the macro

After you record a macro, you can make changes to it (although you must know what you're doing). For example, assume that you want your name to be bold. You could re-record the macro, but this modification is simple, so editing the code is more efficient. Press Alt+F11 to activate the VB Editor window. Then activate Module1 and insert the following statement before the End Sub statement:

ActiveCell.Font.Bold = True

The edited macro appears as follows:

```
Sub MyName()
'
' MyName Macro
'
' Keyboard Shortcut: Ctrl+Shift+N
'
ActiveCell.FormulaR1C1 = "John Walkenbach"
ActiveCell.Font.Bold = True
End Sub
```

Test this new macro, and you see that it performs as it should.

### Another example

This example demonstrates how to record a time-stamp macro that inserts the current date and time into the active cell.

To create the macro, follow these steps:

- **1.** Activate an empty cell.
- 2. Choose Developer ➡ Code ➡ Record Macro. Excel displays the Record Macro dialog box.
- **3.** Enter a new single-word name for the macro, to replace the default Macrol name. A good name is TimeStamp.
- **4.** Assign this macro to the shortcut key Ctrl+Shift+T by entering an uppercase T in the Shortcut Key field.
- 5. Click OK to close the Record Macro dialog box.
- 6. Enter this formula into the selected cell:

=NOW()

- **7.** With the date cell selected, click the Copy button (or press Ctrl+C) to copy the cell to the Clipboard.
- **8.** Choose Home 
  → Clipboard 
  → Paste 
  → Values (V). This step replaces the formula with static text so that the data and time do not update when the worksheet is calculated.
- 9. Press Esc(ape) to cancel Copy mode.
- **10.** Choose Developer 
  → Code 
  → Stop Recording (or click the Stop Recording button on the status bar).

#### Running the macro

Activate an empty cell and press Ctrl+Shift+T to execute the macro. There's a pretty good chance that the macro won't work!

The VBA code that is recorded in this macro depends upon a setting on the Advanced tab of the Excel Options dialog box: namely, after Pressing Enter, Move Selection. If this setting is enabled, the recorded macro won't work as intended because the active cell was changed when you pressed Enter. Even if you reactivated the date cell while recording (in Step 7), the macro still fails.

#### Examining the macro

Activate the VB Editor and take a look at the recorded code. Figure 39.9 shows the recorded macro, as displayed in the Code window.

The procedure has five statements. The first inserts the NOW() formula into the active cell. The second statement selects cell C4 — an action I performed because the cell pointer moved to the next cell after I entered the formula.

#### FIGURE 39.9

The TimeStamp procedure was generated by the Excel macro recorder.

(General)	* Timetiane	¥
sus timestamp()		-
lineStern Netro		
: Neyboard Shartout: Ctit+Shift+	e	
LetimeCell.FormulaNIC1 = "-0 Range("04").Sebect Swiestion.copy	CALL.	
<pre>Pelection.FesteRpecial Feste -Talme, Transgumen-Fels Application.OutlogyNode = Ta</pre>	oralFasteraloss, operationoralme - los	ne, reipeising _
EM 740		
		-6

The third statement copies the cell. The fourth statement, which is displayed on two lines (the underscore character means that the statement continues on the next line), pastes the Clipboard contents (as a value) to the current selection. The fourth statement cancels the moving border around the selected range.

The problem is that the macro is hard-coded to select cell C4. If you execute the macro when a different cell is active, the code always selects cell C4. This is not what you intended, and it causes the macro to fail.

### Note

You'll also notice that the macro recorded some actions that you didn't make. For example, it specified several options for the PasteSpecial operation. Recording actions that you don't specifically make is just a by-product of the method that Excel uses to translate actions into code.

### **Re-recording the macro**

You can fix the macro in several ways. If you understand VBA, you can edit the code so it works properly. Or, you can re-record the macro using relative references.

Delete the existing TimeStamp procedure, and re-record it. Before you start recording, click the Use Relative References command in the Code group of the Developer tab. This control is a toggle, and it's turned off by default.

Figure 39.10 shows the new macro, recorded with relative references in effect.

#### **FIGURE 39.10**

This TimeStamp macro works correctly.

```
    WyMannake - Maddd(Can)

    Water and a - Maddd(Can)

    Water a
```

### Testing the macro

When Excel is active, activate a worksheet. (It can be in the workbook that contains the VBA module or in any other workbook.) Select a cell and press Ctrl+Shift+T. The macro immediately enters the current date and time into the cell. You may need to widen the column to see the date and time. To widen the column automatically, just add this statement to the end of the macro (before the End Sub statement):

ActiveCell.EntireColumn.AutoFit

### More about recording VBA macros

If you followed along with the preceding examples, you should have a better feel for how to record macros — and also a good feel for problems that might occur with even simple macros. If you find the VBA code confusing, don't worry. You don't really have to be concerned with it as long as the macro that you record works correctly. If the macro doesn't work, rerecording the macro rather than editing the code often is easier.

A good way to learn about what gets recorded is to set up your screen so that you can see the code that is being generated in the VB Editor windows. To do so, make sure that the Excel window isn't maximized; then arrange the Excel window and the VB Editor window so both are visible. While you're recording your actions, make sure that the VB Editor window is displaying the module in which the code is being recorded. (You may have to double-click the module name in the Project window.)

### Tip

If you do a lot of work with VBA, consider adding a second monitor to your system. Then you can display Excel on one monitor and the VB Editor on the other.

### Absolute versus relative recording

If you're going to work with recorded macros, you need to understand the concept of *relative* versus *absolute* recording modes. In a previous example in this chapter, I showed how even a simple macro could fail because of an incorrect recording mode. Normally, when you record a macro, Excel stores exact references to the cells that you select. (That is, it performs *absolute* recording.) If you select the range B1:B10 while you're recording a macro, for example, Excel records this selection as

Range("B1:B10").Select

This VBA statement means exactly what it says: "Select the cells in the range B1:B10." When you invoke the macro that contains this statement, the same cells are always selected, regardless of where the active cell is located.

Look in the Developer  $\Rightarrow$  Code group of the Ribbon for Use Relative References. When you click this control, Excel changes its recording mode from absolute (the default) to relative. When recording in relative mode, selecting a range of cells is translated differently, depending on where the active cell is located. For example, if you're recording in relative mode and cell A1 is active, selecting the range B1:B10 generates the following statement:

ActiveCell.Offset(0, 1).Range("A1:A10").Select

This statement can be translated as "From the active cell, move 0 rows down and 1 column right, and then treat this new cell as if it were cell A1. Now select what would be A1:A10." In other words, a macro that is recorded in relative mode starts out by using the active cell as its base and then stores relative references to this cell. As a result, you get different results, depending on the location of the active cell. When you replay this macro, the cells that are selected depend on the active cell. This macro selects a range that is 10 rows by 1 column, offset from the active cell by 0 rows and 1 column.

When Excel is recording in relative mode, the Use Relative Reference control appears depressed. To return to absolute recording, click the Use Relative Reference control again (and it displays its normal, undepressed state).

### Storing macros in your Personal Macro Workbook

Most user-created macros are designed for use in a specific workbook, but you may want to use some macros in all your work. You can store these general-purpose macros in the Personal Macro Workbook so that they're always available to you. The Personal Macro Workbook is loaded whenever you start Excel. This file, named personal.xlsb, doesn't exist until you record a macro, using Personal Macro Workbook as the destination.

### Note

The Personal Macro Workbook normally is in a hidden window (to keep it out of the way). ■

To record the macro in your Personal Macro Workbook, select the Personal Macro Workbook option in the Record Macro dialog box before you start recording. This option is in the Store Macro In drop-down box.

If you store macros in the Personal Macro Workbook, you don't have to remember to open the Personal Macro Workbook when you load a workbook that uses macros. When you want to exit, Excel asks whether you want to save changes to the Personal Macro Workbook.

### Assigning a macro to a shortcut key

When you begin recording a macro, the Record Macro dialog box gives you an opportunity to provide a shortcut key for the macro. Here's what to do if you'd like to change the shortcut key or provide a shortcut key for a macro that doesn't have one:

- 1. Choose Developer 
  → Code 
  → Macros (or press Alt+F8) to display the Macro dialog box.
- 2. In the Macro dialog box, select the macro name from the list.
- **3.** Click the Options button, and Excel displays its Macro Options dialog box. See Figure 39.11.
- **4. Specify the shortcut key.** Use a single letter (for a Ctrl+letter shortcut), or press Shift and enter an uppercase letter (for a Ctrl+Shift+letter shortcut).
- 5. Click OK to return to the Macro dialog box.
- 6. Click Cancel to close the Macro dialog box.

#### FIGURE 39.11

Use the Macro Options dialog box to add or change a shortcut key for a macro.

Macro Options	
Pace name TimeRamp	
Shortout ignyc Ch1+	
Description:	
	OKCervel

### Assigning a macro to a button

After you record a macro and test it, you may want to assign the macro to a button placed in a worksheet. You can follow these steps to do so:

- **1.** If the macro is a general-purpose macro that you plan to use in more than one workbook, make sure that the macro is stored in your Personal Macro Workbook.
- **2.** Choose Developer ➡ Controls ➡ Insert and then click the Button control from the Form Controls section (see Figure 39.12). Move your mouse pointer over the icons, and you see a ToolTip that describes the control.

- 3. Draw the button on the worksheet. Excel displays the Assign Macro dialog box.
- 4. In the Assign Macro dialog box, select the macro from the list.
- 5. Click OK to close the Assign Macro dialog box.
- **6.** (Optional) Change the text that appears on the button to make it descriptive; rightclick the button, choose Edit Text from the shortcut menu, and make your changes.

After performing these steps, clicking the button executes the assigned macro.

### **FIGURE 39.12**

Adding a button to a worksheet so that it can be used to execute a macro.



### Tip

You can also assign a macro to a button on your Quick Access toolbar. Right-click the Quick Access toolbar and choose Customize Quick Access Toolbar from the shortcut menu. On the Quick Access Toolbar tab of the Excel Options dialog box that appears, select Macros from the drop-down list on the left. Then select your macro and click the Add button. To change the icon, click the Modify button. ■

### Writing VBA code

As demonstrated in the preceding sections, the easiest way to create a simple macro is to record your actions. To develop more complex macros, however, you have to enter the VBA code manually — in other words, write a program. To save time, you can often combine recording with manual code entry.

Before you can begin writing VBA code, you must have a good understanding of such topics as objects, properties, and methods. And it doesn't hurt to be familiar with common programming constructs, such as looping and If-Then statements.

This section is an introduction to VBA programming, which is essential if you want to write (rather than record) VBA macros. It isn't intended to be a complete instructional guide. My book *Excel 2010 Power Programming with VBA* (Wiley) covers all aspects of VBA and advanced spreadsheet application development.

### VBA Coding Tips \_\_\_\_

When you enter code in a module sheet, you're free to use indenting and blank lines to make the code more readable. In fact, this is an excellent habit.

After you enter a line of code (by pressing Enter), it's evaluated for syntax errors. If none are found, the line of code is reformatted, and colors are added to keywords and identifiers. This automatic reformatting adds consistent spaces (before and after an equal sign, for example) and removes extra spaces that aren't needed. If a syntax error is found, you receive a pop-up message, and the line is displayed in a different color (red, by default). You need to correct your error before you can execute the macro.

A single statement can be as long as you need. However, you may want to break the statement into two or more lines. To do so, insert a space followed by an underscore (\_). The following code, although written as two lines, is actually a single VBA statement:

```
Sheets("Sheet1").Range("B1").Value = _
Sheets("Sheet1").Range("A1").Value
```

You can insert comments freely into your VBA code. The comment indicator is an apostrophe single quote character ('). Any text that follows a single quote is ignored. A comment can be a line by itself, or it can be inserted after a statement. The following examples show two comments:

```
' Assign the values to the variables
Rate = .085 'Rate as of November 16
```

### The basics: Entering and editing code

Before you can enter code, you must insert a VBA module into the workbook. If the workbook already has a VBA module, you can use the existing module sheet for your new code.

Use the following steps to insert a new VBA module:

- **1. Press Alt+F11 to activate the VB Editor window**. The Project window displays a list of all open workbooks and add-ins.
- 2. In the Project window, locate and select the workbook you're working in.
- **3.** Choose Insert ⇒ Module. VBA inserts a new (empty) module into the workbook and displays it in the Code window.

A VBA module, which is displayed in a separate window, works like a text editor. You can move through the sheet, select text, insert, copy, cut, paste, and so on.

#### **How VBA works**

VBA is by far the most complex feature in Excel, and you can easily get overwhelmed. To set the stage for the details of VBA, here is a concise summary of how VBA works:

- You perform actions in VBA by writing (or recording) code in a VBA module sheet and then executing the macro in any one of various ways. VBA modules are stored in an Excel workbook, and a workbook can hold any number of VBA modules. To view or edit a VBA module, you must activate the VB Editor window. (Press Alt+F11 to toggle between Excel and the VB Editor window.)
- A VBA module consists of procedures. A *procedure* is basically computer code that performs some action. The following is an example of a simple Sub procedure called ShowSum, which adds 1 + 1 and displays the result:

```
Sub ShowSum()
Sum = 1 + 1
MsgBox "The answer is " & Sum
End Sub
```

• A VBA module also can store function procedures. A *function procedure* performs calculations and returns a single value. A function can be called from another VBA procedure or can even be used in a worksheet formula. Here's an example of a function named AddTwo. (It adds two values, which are supplied as arguments.)

```
Function AddTwo(arg1, arg2)
AddTwo = arg1 + arg2
End Function
```

- VBA manipulates objects. Excel provides more than 100 classes of objects that you can manipulate. Examples of objects include a workbook, a worksheet, a range on a worksheet, a chart, and a rectangle shape.
- Objects are arranged in a hierarchy and can act as containers for other objects. For example, Excel itself is an object called Application, and it contains other objects, such as Workbook objects. The Workbook object can contain other objects, such as Worksheet objects and Chart objects. A Worksheet object can contain objects such as Range objects, PivotTable objects, and so on. The arrangement of all these objects is referred to as an *object model*.
- Objects that are alike form a *collection*. For example, the Worksheets collection consists of all worksheets in a particular workbook. The ChartObjects collection consists of all ChartObjects on a worksheet. Collections are objects in themselves.
- You refer to an object in your VBA code by specifying its position in the object hierarchy, using a period as a separator.

For example, you can refer to a workbook named Book1.xlsx as

Application.Workbooks("Book1.xlsx")

This expression refers to the Book1.xlsx workbook in the Workbooks collection. The Workbooks collection is contained in the Application object (that is, Excel). Extending this to another level, you can refer to Sheet1 in Book1 as follows:

Application.Workbooks("Book1.xlsx").Worksheets("Sheet1")

You can take it to still another level and refer to a specific cell as follows:

Application.Workbooks("Book1.xlsx").Worksheets("Sheet1"). \_ Range("A1")

• If you omit specific references, Excel uses the *active* objects. If Book1.xlsx is the active workbook, the preceding reference can be simplified as follows:

```
Worksheets("Sheet1").Range("A1")
```

If you know that Sheet1 is the active sheet, you can simplify the reference even more: Range("A1")

- Objects have properties. A *property* can be thought of as a setting for an object. For example, a Range object has properties, such as Value and Address. A Chart object has properties such as HasTitle and Type. You can use VBA both to determine object properties and to change them.
- You refer to properties by combining the object with the property, separated by a period. For example, you can refer to the value in cell A1 on Sheet1 as follows:

```
Worksheets("Sheet1").Range("A1").Value
```

• You can assign values to variables. To assign the value in cell A1 on Sheet1 to a variable called Interest, use the following VBA statement:

```
Interest = Worksheets("Sheet1").Range("A1").Value
```

- **Objects have methods.** A *method* is an action that is performed with the object. For example, one of the methods for a Range object is ClearContents. This method clears the contents of the range.
- You specify methods by combining the object with the method, separated by a period. For example, to clear the contents of range A1:C12, use the following statement: Worksheets("Sheet1").Range("A1:C12").ClearContents
- VBA also includes all the constructs of modern programming languages, including variables, arrays, looping, and so on.

The preceding describes VBA in a nutshell. Now you just have to learn the details, some of which are covered in the rest of this chapter.

### **Objects and collections**

VBA is an *object-oriented language*, which means that it manipulates objects, such as Ranges, Charts, Shapes, and so on. These objects are arranged in a hierarchy. The Application object (which is Excel) contains other objects. For example, the Application object contains a number of objects, including the following:

- AddIns (a collection of AddIn objects)
- Windows (a collection of Window objects)
- Workbooks (a collection of Workbook objects)

Most of these objects can contain other objects. For example, a Workbook object can contain the following objects:

- Charts (a collection of Chart sheet objects)
- Names (a collection of Name objects)
- Styles (a collection of Style objects)
- Windows (a collection of Window objects in the workbook)
- Worksheets (a collection of Worksheet objects)

Each of these objects, in turn, can contain other objects. A Worksheet object, for example, can contain the following objects:

- ChartObjects (a collection of all ChartObject objects)
- PageSetup (an object that stores printing information)
- PivotTables (a collection of all PivotTable objects)

A collection consists of all like objects. For example, the collection of all Workbook objects is known as the Workbooks collection. You can refer to an individual object in a collection by using an index number or a name. For example, if a workbook has three worksheets (named Sheet1, Sheet2, and Sheet3), you can refer to the first object in the Worksheets collection in either of these ways:

```
Worksheets(1)
Worksheets("Sheet1")
```

### **Properties**

The objects that you work with have *properties*, which you can think of as attributes of the objects. For example, a Range object has properties, such as Column, Row, Width, and Value. A Chart object has properties, such as Legend, ChartTitle, and so on. ChartTitle is also an object, with properties such as Font, Orientation, and Text. Excel has many objects, and each has its own set of properties. You can write VBA code to do the following:

- Examine an object's current property setting and take some action based on it.
- Change an object's property setting.

You refer to a property in your VBA code by placing a period (a dot) and the property name after the object's name. For example, the following VBA statement sets the Value property of a range named *frequency* to 15. (That is, the statement causes the number 15 to appear in the range's cells.)

```
Range("frequency").Value = 15
```

Some properties are *read-only*, which means that you can examine the property, but you can't change the property. For a single-cell Range object, the Row and Column properties are read-only

properties: You can determine where a cell is located (in which row and column), but you can't change the cell's location by changing these properties.

A Range object also has a Formula property, which is *not* read-only; that is, you can insert a formula into a cell by changing its Formula property. The following statement inserts a formula into cell A12 by changing the cell's Formula property:

```
Range("A12").Formula = "=SUM(A1:A10)"
```

### Note

Contrary to what you may think, Excel doesn't have a Cell object. When you want to manipulate a single cell, you use the Range object (with only one cell in it). ■

At the top of the object hierarchy is the Application object, which is actually Excel, the program. The Application object has several useful properties:

- Application.ActiveWorkbook: Returns the active workbook (a Workbook object) in Excel.
- Application.ActiveSheet: Returns the active sheet (a Sheet object) of the active workbook.
- Application.ActiveCell: Returns the active cell (a Range object) object of the active window.
- Application.Selection: Returns the object that is currently selected in the active window of the Application object. This can be a Range, a Chart, a Shape, or some other selectable object.

You also should understand that properties can return objects. In fact, that's exactly what the preceding examples do. The result of Application.ActiveCell, for example, is a Range object. Therefore, you can access properties by using a statement such as the following:

Application.ActiveCell.Font.Size = 15

In this case, the ActiveCell property returns a Range object. The Font property returns a Font object, which is contained in the Range object. Size is a property of the Font object. The preceding statement sets the Size property to 15 — that is, it causes the font in the currently selected cell to have a size of 15 points (pt).

### Tip

Because Application properties are so commonly used, you can omit the object qualifier (Application). For example, to get the row of the active cell, you can use a statement such as the following:

ActiveCell.Row

In many cases, you can refer to the same object in a number of different ways. Assume that you have a workbook named Sales.xlsx and it's the only workbook open. Furthermore, assume

that this workbook has one worksheet, named Summary. Your VBA code can refer to the Summary sheet in any of the following ways:

```
Workbooks("Sales.xlsx").Worksheets("Summary")
Workbooks(1).Worksheets(1)
Workbooks(1).Sheets(1)
Application.ActiveWorkbook.ActiveSheet
ActiveWorkbook.ActiveSheet
ActiveSheet
```

The method that you use is determined by how much you know about the workspace. For example, if more than one workbook is open, the second or third method is not reliable. If you want to work with the active sheet (whatever it may be), any of the last three methods would work. To be absolutely sure that you're referring to a specific sheet on a specific workbook, the first method is your best choice.

### Methods

Objects also have *methods*. You can think of a method as an action taken with an object. For example, Range objects have a Clear method. The following VBA statement clears a Range, an action that is equivalent to selecting the Range and then choosing Home r Editing r Clear r Clear All:

Range("A1:C12").Clear

In VBA code, methods *look* like properties because they are connected to the object with a "dot." However, methods and properties are different concepts.

### Variables

Like all programming languages, VBA enables you to work with variables. In VBA (unlike in some languages), you don't need to declare variables explicitly before you use them in your code (although doing so is definitely a good practice).

### Note

If your VBA module contains an Option Explicit statement at the top of the module, then you must declare all variables in the module. Undeclared variables will result in a compile error, and your procedures will not run.

In the following example, the value in cell A1 on Sheet1 is assigned to a variable named Rate:

Rate = Worksheets("Sheet1").Range("A1").Value

You then can work with the variable Rate in other parts of your VBA code. Note that the variable Rate is not a named range, which means that you can't use it as such in a worksheet formula.

#### **Controlling execution**

VBA uses many constructs that are found in most other programming languages. These constructs are used to control the flow of execution. This section introduces a few of the more common programming constructs.

#### The If-Then construct

One of the most important control structures in VBA is the If-Then construct, which gives your applications decision-making capability. The basic syntax of the If-Then structure is as follows:

If condition Then statements [Else elsestatements]

In plain English, if a condition is true, then a group of statement will be executed. If you include the Else clause, then another group of statements will be executed if the condition is not true.

The following is an example (which doesn't use the optional Else clause). This procedure checks the active cell. If it contains a negative value, the cell's color is changed to red. Otherwise, nothing happens.

```
Sub CheckCell()
If ActiveCell.Value < 0 Then ActiveCell.Font.ColorIndex = 3
End Sub</pre>
```

#### For-Next loops

You can use a For-Next loop to execute one or more statements a number of times. Here's an example of a For-Next loop:

```
Sub SumSquared()
Total = 0
For Num = 1 To 10
Total = Total + (Num ^ 2)
Next Num
MsgBox Total
End Sub
```

This example has one statement between the For statement and the Next statement. This single statement is executed 10 times. The variable Num takes on successive values of 1, 2, 3, and so on, up to 10. The variable Total stores the sum of Num squared, added to the previous value of Total. The result is a value that represents the sum of the first 10 integers squared. This result is displayed in a message box.

#### The With-End With construct

Another construct that you encounter if you record macros is the With-End With construct. This is a shortcut way of dealing with several properties or methods of the same object. The following is an example:

```
Sub AlignCells()
With Selection
.HorizontalAlignment = xlCenter
```
```
.VerticalAlignment = xlCenter
.WrapText = False
.Orientation = xlHorizontal
End With
End Sub
```

The following macro performs exactly the same operations but doesn't use the With-End With construct:

```
Sub AlignCells()
Selection.HorizontalAlignment = xlCenter
Selection.VerticalAlignment = xlCenter
Selection.WrapText = False
Selection.Orientation = xlHorizontal
End Sub
```

## The Select Case construct

The Select Case construct is useful for choosing among two or more options. The following example demonstrates the use of a Select Case construct. In this example, the active cell is checked. If its value is less than 0, it's colored red. If it's equal to 0, it's colored blue. If the value is greater than 0, it's colored black.

```
Sub CheckCell()
Select Case ActiveCell.Value
Case Is < 0
ActiveCell.Font.Color = vbRed
Case 0
ActiveCell.Font.Color = vbBlue
Case Is > 0
ActiveCell.Font.Color = vbBlack
End Select
End Sub
```

Any number of statements can go below each Case statement, and they all get executed if the case is true.

## A macro that can't be recorded

The following is a VBA macro that can't be recorded because it uses programming concepts that must be entered manually. This macro creates a list of all formulas on the active sheet. The list is stored on a new worksheet.

```
Sub ListFormulas()
' Create a range object
Set InputRange = ActiveSheet.UsedRange
' Add a new sheet
Set OutputSheet = Worksheets.Add
' Variable for the output row
OutputRow = 1
' Loop through the range
```

```
For Each cell In InputRange
If cell.HasFormula Then
OutputSheet.Cells(OutputRow, 1) = "'" & cell.Address
OutputSheet.Cells(OutputRow, 2) = "'" & cell.Formula
OutputRow = OutputRow + 1
End If
Next cell
End Sub
```

## On the CD

A workbook that contains this example is available on the companion CD-ROM. The file is named list formulas.xlsm.

Although this macro may look complicated, it's fairly simple when you break it down. Here's how it works:

- 1. The macro creates an object variable named InputRange. This variable corresponds to the used range on the active sheet (avoiding the need to check every cell).
- 2. It then adds a new worksheet and assigns the worksheet to an object variable named OutputSheet. The OutputRow variable is set to 1. This variable is incremented later on.
- 3. The For-Next loop examines each cell in the InputRange. If the cell has a formula, the cell's address and formula are written to the OutputSheet. The OutputRow variable is also incremented.

Figure 39.13 shows the result of running this macro — a handy list of all formulas in the work-sheet.

## **FIGURE 39.13**

The ListFormulas macro creates a list of all formulas in a worksheet.

	A	8	C	D	
1	\$652	-#8/2			
2	\$458	-5UM(A2:A7)			
3	\$858	-SUW(82:57)			
4	\$C\$8	-SUM(C2:C7)			
5	9058	=5UW(02:07)			
6	\$459	=AVERAGE(A2:A7)			
$\overline{T}$	5859	-AVEFAGE(82:87)			
8	\$C\$9	-AVERAGE(C2:C7)			
5	\$0.59	nAVERAGE(D2:07)			
10	\$659	=AVERAGE(E2:E7)			
11	\$A515	-RANDBETWEEN(1,1000)			
12	\$#\$15	-RANDBETWEEN(1,1000)			
11	\$C\$15	=RANDBETWEEN(1,1000)			
14	\$0\$45	=RANDBETWEEN(1,1000)			
15	96515	-#ANDBETWEEN(1,1000)			
16	\$A\$15	-RANDBETWEEN(1,1000)			

As macros go, this example is okay, but it's certainly not perfect. It's not very flexible, and it doesn't include any error handling. For example, if the workbook structure is protected, trying to add a new sheet will cause an error.

# **Learning More**

This chapter barely scratches the surface of what you can do with VBA. If this is your first exposure to VBA, you're probably a bit overwhelmed by objects, properties, and methods. I don't blame you. If you try to access a property that an object doesn't have, you get a run-time error, and your VBA code grinds to a screeching halt until you correct the problem. Fortunately, several good ways are available to learn about objects, properties, and methods.

- **Read the rest of the book.** Subsequent chapters in this section contain additional information and many more examples.
- **Record your actions.** The best way to become familiar with VBA is to turn on the macro recorder and record actions that you make in Excel. You can then examine the code to gain some insights regarding the objects, properties, and methods.
- Use the Help system. The main source of detailed information about Excel's objects, methods, and procedures is the VBA Help system. Help is very thorough and easy to access. When you're in a VBA module, just move the cursor to a property or method and press F1. You get help that describes the word that is under the cursor.
- Get another book. Several books are devoted exclusively to using VBA with Excel. My book, *Excel 2010 Power Programming with VBA* (Wiley), is one.

www.it-ebooks.info

# CHAPTER

# **Creating Custom Worksheet Functions**

s mentioned in the preceding chapter, you can create two types of VBA procedures: Sub procedures and Function procedures. This chapter focuses on Function procedures.

# **Overview of VBA Functions**

Function procedures that you write in VBA are quite versatile. You can use these functions in two situations:

- You can call the function from a different VBA procedure.
- You can use the function in formulas that you create in a worksheet.

This chapter focuses on creating functions for use in your formulas.

Excel includes hundreds of predefined worksheet functions. With so many from which to choose, you may be curious as to why anyone would need to develop additional functions. The main reason is that creating a custom function can greatly simplify your formulas by making them shorter, and shorter formulas are more readable and easier to work with. For example, you can often replace a complex formula with a single function. Another reason is that you can write functions to perform operations that would otherwise be impossible.

## Note

This chapter assumes that you're familiar with entering and editing VBA code in the Visual Basic Editor (VB Editor). See Chapter 39 for an overview of the VB Editor. ■

# **IN THIS CHAPTER**

Overview of VBA functions About function procedures Function procedure arguments Debugging custom functions Pasting custom functions

## www.it-ebooks.info

# **An Introductory Example**

Creating custom functions is relatively easy after you understand VBA. Without further ado, here's an example of a VBA function procedure. This function is stored in a VBA module, which is accessible from the VB Editor.

# A custom function

This example function, named NumSign, uses one argument. The function returns a text string of Positive if its argument is greater than 0 (zero), Negative if the argument is less than 0, and Zero if the argument is equal to 0. The function is shown in Figure 40.1.

## FIGURE 40.1

A simple custom worksheet function.



You can, of course, accomplish the same effect with the following worksheet formula, which uses a nested IF function:

=IF(A1=0, "Zero", IF(A1>0, "Positive", "Negative"))

Many would agree that the custom function solution is easier to understand and to edit than the worksheet formula.

# Using the function in a worksheet

When you enter a formula that uses the NumSign function, Excel executes the function to get the result. This custom function works just like any built-in worksheet function. You can insert it in a formula by choosing Formulas is Function Library is Function Wizard, which displays the Insert Function dialog box. (Custom functions are listed in the User Defined category.) When you select

the function from the list, you can then use the Function Arguments dialog box to specify the arguments for the function, as shown in Figure 40.2. You also can nest custom functions and combine them with other elements in your formulas.

#### FIGURE 40.2

Creating a worksheet formula that uses a custom function.

Function Arguments	? 🗙
NumSign	
Num	=
No help available.	-
Num	
Formula result =	
Help on this function	OK Cancel

## Analyzing the custom function

This section describes the NumSign function. Here again is the code:

```
Function NumSign(num)
Select Case num
Case Is < 0
NumSign = "Negative"
Case 0
NumSign = "Zero"
Case Is > 0
NumSign = "Positive"
End Select
End Function
```

Notice that the procedure starts with the keyword Function, followed by the name of the function (NumSign). This custom function uses one argument (num), and the argument's name is enclosed in parentheses. The num argument represents the cell or variable that is to be processed. When the function is used in a worksheet, the argument can be a cell reference (such as A1) or a literal value (such as -123). When the function is used in another procedure, the argument can be a numeric variable, a literal number, or a value that is obtained from a cell.

The NumSign function uses the Select Case construct (described in Chapter 39) to take a different action, depending on the value of num. If num is less than 0, NumSign is assigned the text Negative. If num is equal to 0, NumSign is Zero. If num is greater than 0, NumSign is Positive. The value returned by a function is always assigned to the function's name.

#### www.it-ebooks.info

If you work with this function, you might notice a problem if the argument is non-numeric. In such a case, the function returns Positive. In other words, the function has a bug. Following is a revised version that returns an empty string if the argument is non-numeric. This code uses the VBA IsNumeric function to check the argument. If it's numeric, the code checks the sign. If the argument is not numeric, the Else part of the If-Then-Else structure is executed.

```
Function NumSign(num)
If IsNumeric(num) Then
Select Case num
Case Is < 0
NumSign = "Negative"
Case 0
NumSign = "Zero"
Case Is > 0
NumSign = "Positive"
End Select
Else
NumSign = ""
End If
End Function
```

# **About Function Procedures**

A custom Function procedure has much in common with a Sub procedure. Function procedures have some important differences, however. Perhaps the key difference is that a function returns a *value* (which can be a number or a text string). When writing a Function procedure, the value that's returned is the value that has been assigned to the function's name when a function is finished executing.

To create a custom function, follow these steps:

- 1. Activate the VB Editor (press Alt+F11).
- 2. Select the workbook in the Project window.
- **3.** Choose Insert ⇔ Module to insert a VBA module. Or you can use an existing code module. However, it must be a standard VBA module.
- 4. Enter the keyword Function followed by the function's name and a list of the arguments (if any) in parentheses. If the function doesn't use an argument, the VB Editor adds a set of empty parentheses.
- 5. Insert the VBA code that performs the work and make sure that the variable corresponding to the function's name has the appropriate value when the function ends. This is the value that the function returns.
- 6. End the function with an End Function statement.

## Note

Step 3 is very important. If you put a function procedure in a code module for ThisWorkbook or a worksheet (for example, Sheet1), the function will not be recognized in a worksheet formula. Excel will display a #NAME? error.

Function names that are used in worksheet formulas must adhere to the same rules as variable names.

# What a Function Can't Do\_\_\_\_\_

Almost everyone who starts creating custom worksheet functions using VBA makes a fatal mistake: They try to get the function to do more than is possible.

A worksheet function returns a value, and the function must be completely "passive." In other words, the function can't change anything on the worksheet. For example, you can't develop a worksheet function that changes the formatting of a cell. (Every VBA programmer has tried, and not one of them has been successful!) If your function attempts to perform an action that isn't allowed, the function simply returns an error.

VBA functions that aren't used in worksheet formulas can do anything that a regular Sub procedure can do — including changing cell formatting.

# **Executing Function Procedures**

You can execute a Sub procedure in many ways, but you can execute a Function procedure in just two ways:

- Call it from another VBA procedure.
- Use it in a worksheet formula.

# Calling custom functions from a procedure

You can call custom functions from a VBA procedure just as you call built-in VBA functions. For example, after you define a function called CalcTax, you can enter a statement such as the following:

Tax = CalcTax(Amount, Rate)

This statement executes the CalcTax custom function with Amount and Rate as its arguments. The function's result is assigned to the Tax variable.

# Using custom functions in a worksheet formula

You use a custom function in a worksheet formula just like you use built-in functions. However, you must ensure that Excel can locate the function. If the function procedure is in the same workbook, you don't have to do anything special. If the function is defined in a different workbook, you may have to tell Excel where to find the function. The following are the three ways in which you can do this:

• Precede the function's name with a file reference. For example, if you want to use a function called CountNames that's defined in a workbook named MyFunctions, you can use a reference such as the following:

=MyFunctions.xlsm!CountNames(A1:A1000)

If the workbook name contains a space, you need to add single quotes around the workbook name. For example

='My Functions.xlsm'!CountNames(A1:A1000)

If you insert the function with the Insert Function dialog box, the workbook reference is inserted automatically.

- Set up a reference to the workbook. If the custom function is defined in a referenced workbook, you don't need to precede the function name with the workbook name. You establish a reference to another workbook by choosing Tools ⇒ References (in the VB Editor). You are presented with a list of references that includes all open workbooks. Place a check mark in the item that refers to the workbook that contains the custom function. (Click the Browse button if the workbook isn't open.)
- **Create an add-in.** When you create an add-in from a workbook that has function procedures, you don't need to use the file reference when you use one of the functions in a formula; the add-in must be installed, however. Chapter 45 discusses add-ins.

## Note

Function procedures don't appear in the Macro dialog box because you can't execute a function directly. As a result, you need to do extra, up-front work to test your functions while you're developing them. One approach is to set up a simple Sub procedure that calls the function. If the function is designed to be used in worksheet formulas, you can enter a simple formula that uses the function to test it while you're developing the function.

# **Function Procedure Arguments**

Keep in mind the following about function procedure arguments:

- Arguments can be variables (including arrays), constants, literals, or expressions.
- Some functions do not have arguments.

## www.it-ebooks.info

- Some functions have a fixed number of required arguments (from 1 to 60).
- Some functions have a combination of required and optional arguments.

The following sections present a series of examples that demonstrate how to use arguments effectively with functions. Coverage of optional arguments is beyond the scope of this book.

## On the CD

The examples in this chapter are available on the companion CD-ROM. The file is named VBA functions.xlsm.

## A function with no argument

Functions don't necessarily use arguments. Excel, for example, has a few built-in worksheet functions that don't use arguments, such as RAND, TODAY, and NOW.

The following is a simple example of a function that has no arguments. This function returns the UserName property of the Application object, which is the name that appears in the Personalize section of the Excel Options dialog box. This function is very simple, but it can be useful because no other way is available to get the user's name to appear in a worksheet formula.

```
Function User()
' Returns the name of the current user
User = Application.UserName
End Function
```

When you enter the following formula into a worksheet cell, the cell displays the name of the current user:

```
=User()
```

Like with Excel's built-in functions, when you use a function with no arguments, you must include a set of empty parentheses.

## A function with one argument

The function that follows takes a single argument and uses the Excel text-to-speech generator to "speak" the argument.

```
Function SayIt(txt)
Application.Speech.Speak (txt)
End Function
```

## Note

To hear the synthesized voice, your system must be set up to play sound. ■

For example, if you enter this formula, Excel will "speak" the contents of cell A1 whenever the worksheet is recalculated:

```
=SayIt(A1)
```

You can use this function in a slightly more complex formula, as shown here. In this example, the argument is a text string rather than a cell reference.

=IF(SUM(A:A)>1000,SayIt("Goal reached"),)

This formula calculates the sum of the values in Column A. If that sum exceeds 1,000, you will hear "Goal reached."

When you use the SayIt function in a worksheet formula, the function always returns 0 because a value is not assigned to the function's name.

## Another function with one argument

This section contains a more complex function that is designed for a sales manager who needs to calculate the commissions earned by the sales force. The commission rate is based on the amount sold — those who sell more earn a higher commission rate. The function returns the commission amount, based on the sales made (which is the function's only argument — a required argument). The calculations in this example are based on the following table:

Monthly Sales	Commission Rate
0–\$9,999	8.0%
\$10,000-\$19,999	10.5%
\$20,000-\$39,999	12.0%
\$40,000+	14.0%

You can use any of several different methods to calculate commissions for various sales amounts that are entered into a worksheet. You could write a formula such as the following:

=IF(AND(A1>=0,A1<=9999.99),A1\*0.08,IF(AND(A1>=10000, A1<=19999.99),A1\*0.105,IF(AND(A1>=20000, A1<=39999.99),A1\*0.12,IF(A1>=40000,A1\*0.14,0))))

This approach isn't the best for a couple of reasons. First, the formula is overly complex and difficult to understand. Second, the values are hard-coded into the formula, making the formula difficult to modify if the commission structure changes. A better solution is to use a lookup table function to compute the commissions; for example

```
=VLOOKUP(A1,Table,2)*A1
```

Using the VLOOKUP function requires that you have a table of commission rates set up in your worksheet.

Another option is to create a custom function, such as the following:

```
Function Commission(Sales)
   Calculates sales commissions
    Tier1 = 0.08
   Tier2 = 0.105
    Tier3 = 0.12
    Tier4 = 0.14
    Select Case Sales
         Case 0 To 9999.99
            Commission = Sales * Tier1
         Case 1000 To 19999.99
            Commission = Sales * Tier2
         Case 20000 To 39999.99
            Commission = Sales * Tier3
         Case Is >= 40000
            Commission = Sales * Tier4
    End Select
End Function
```

After you define the Commission function in a VBA module, you can use it in a worksheet formula. Entering the following formula into a cell produces a result of 3,000. (The amount, 25,000, qualifies for a commission rate of 12 percent.)

=Commission(25000)

If the sales amount is in cell D23, the function's argument would be a cell reference, like this:

```
=Commission(D23)
```

## A function with two arguments

This example builds on the previous one. Imagine that the sales manager implements a new policy: The total commission paid is increased by 1 percent for every year that the salesperson has been with the company. For this example, the custom Commission function (defined in the preceding section) has been modified so that it takes two arguments, both of which are required arguments. Call this new function Commission2:

```
Function Commission2(Sales, Years)
    Calculates sales commissions based on years in service
    Tier1 = 0.08
    Tier2 = 0.105
     Tier3 = 0.12
     Tier4 = 0.14
     Select Case Sales
         Case 0 To 9999.99
            Commission2 = Sales * Tier1
          Case 1000 To 19999.99
           Commission2 = Sales * Tier2
          Case 20000 To 39999.99
            Commission2 = Sales * Tier3
          Case Is >= 40000
            Commission2 = Sales * Tier4
     End Select
     Commission2 = Commission2 + (Commission2 * Years / 100)
End Function
```

The modification was quite simple. The second argument (Years) was added to the Function statement, and an additional computation was included that adjusts the commission before exiting the function.

The following is an example of how you write a formula by using this function. It assumes that the sales amount is in cell A1, and that the number of years that the salesperson has worked is in cell B1.

```
=Commission2(A1,B1)
```

## A function with a range argument

The example in this section demonstrates how to use a worksheet range as an argument. Actually, it's not at all tricky; Excel takes care of the details behind the scenes.

Assume that you want to calculate the average of the five largest values in a range named Data. Excel doesn't have a function that can do this calculation, so you can write the following formula:

```
= (LARGE(Data,1)+LARGE(Data,2)+LARGE(Data,3)+
LARGE(Data,4)+LARGE(Data,5))/5
```

This formula uses Excel's LARGE function, which returns the *n*th largest value in a range. The preceding formula adds the five largest values in the range named Data and then divides the result by 5. The formula works fine, but it's rather unwieldy. And, what if you need to compute the average of the top *six* values? You'd need to rewrite the formula and make sure that all copies of the formula also get updated.

Wouldn't it be easier if Excel had a function named TopAvg? For example, you could use the following (nonexistent) function to compute the average:

```
=TopAvg (Data,5)
```

This situation is an example of when a custom function can make things much easier for you. The following is a custom VBA function, named TopAvg, which returns the average of the top n values in a range:

```
Function TopAvg(Data, Num)
' Returns the average of the highest Num values in Data
Sum = 0
For i = 1 To Num
Sum = Sum + WorksheetFunction.Large(Data, i)
Next i
TopAvg = Sum / Num
End Function
```

This function takes two arguments: Data (which represents a range in a worksheet) and Num (the number of values to average). The code starts by initializing the Sum variable to 0. It then uses a For-Next loop to calculate the sum of the *n*th largest values in the range. (Note that Excel's LARGE function is used within the loop.) You can use an Excel worksheet function in VBA if you precede the function with WorksheetFunction and a dot. Finally, TopAvg is assigned the value of Sum divided by Num.

You can use all Excel worksheet functions in your VBA procedures *except* those that have equivalents in VBA. For example, VBA has a Rnd function that returns a random number. Therefore, you can't use Excel's RAND function in a VBA procedure.

# **Debugging Custom Functions**

Debugging a Function procedure can be a bit more challenging than debugging a Sub procedure. If you develop a function to use in worksheet formulas, an error in the Function procedure simply results in an error display in the formula cell (usually #VALUE!). In other words, you don't receive the normal run-time error message that helps you to locate the offending statement.

When you're debugging a worksheet formula, using only one instance of the function in your worksheet is the best technique. The following are three methods that you may want to use in your debugging:

• Place MsgBox functions at strategic locations to monitor the value of specific variables. Fortunately, message boxes in function procedures pop up when the procedure is executed. But make sure that you have only one formula in the worksheet that uses your function; otherwise, the message boxes appear for each formula that's evaluated.

- Test the procedure by calling it from a Sub procedure. Run-time errors display normally, and you can either fix the problem (if you know what it is) or jump right into the debugger.
- Set a breakpoint in the function and then use the Excel debugger to step through the function. Press F9, and the statement at the cursor becomes a breakpoint. The code will stop executing, and you can step through the code line by line (by pressing F8). Consult the Help system for more information about using VBA debugging tools.

# **Inserting Custom Functions**

The Excel Insert Function dialog box is a handy tool from which you can choose a worksheet function; you even can choose one of your custom worksheet functions. After you select a function, the Function Arguments dialog box prompts you for the function's arguments.

## Note

Function procedures that are defined with the Private keyword do not appear in the Insert Function dialog box. So, if you create a function that will be used only by other VBA procedures, you should declare the function by using the Private keyword. ■

You also can display a description of your custom function in the Insert Function dialog box. To do so, follow these steps:

- 1. Create the function in a module by using the VB Editor.
- 2. Activate Excel.
- 3. Choose Developer 🕫 Code 🖙 Macros. Excel displays its Macro dialog box.
- **4.** In the Macro dialog box, type the name of the function (in the Macro Name field). Notice that functions don't typically appear in this dialog box, so you must enter the function name yourself.
- **5.** Click the Options button. Excel displays its Macro Options dialog box. (See Figure 40.3.)
- **6.** Enter a description of the function and then click OK. The Shortcut key field is irrelevant for functions.

The description that you enter appears in the Insert Function dialog box.

#### FIGURE 40.3

Entering a description for a custom function. This description appears in the Insert Function dialog box.

Macro Options	? X
Macro name: TopAvg	
Shortcut key:	
Ctrl+	
Description:	
Returns the average of the nth largest values in	the range
ОК	Cancel

Another way to provide a description for a custom function is to execute a VBA statement that uses the MacroOptions method. The MacroOptions method also lets you assign your function to a specific category, and even provide a description of the arguments. The argument descriptions display in the Function Arguments dialog box, which appears after you select the function in the Insert Function dialog box.

## **New Feature**

#### The ability to provide a description of function arguments is new to Excel 2010. ■

Figure 40.4 shows the Function Arguments dialog box, which prompts the user to enter arguments for a custom function (TopAvg). This function appears in function category 3 (Math & Trig). I added the description, category, and argument descriptions by executing this Sub procedure:

```
Sub CreateArgDescriptions()
Application.MacroOptions Macro:="TopAvg", _
Description:="Calculates the average of the top n values in a range", _
Category:=3, _
ArgumentDescriptions:=Array("The range that contains the data", _
"The value of n")
End Sub
```

The category numbers are listed in the VBA Help system. You execute this procedure only one time. After executing it, the description, category, and argument descriptions are stored in the file.

#### FIGURE 40.4

Using the Function Arguments dialog box to insert a custom function.

Function	n Arguments		? 🗙
TopAvg			
Data	A1:A15	<b>:</b>	{21;24;15;30;25;19;3;5;16;30;25;18
Num	12	<b>1</b> 5	12
Calculate	s the average of the top n value Data	= is in a range. The range	20.91666667 that contains the data.
Formula	result = 20.91666667		
<u>Help on t</u>	his function		OK Cancel

# **Learning More**

The information in this chapter only scratches the surface when it comes to creating custom functions. It should be enough to get you started, however, if you're interested in this topic. See Chapter 44 for more examples of useful VBA functions. You may be able to use the examples directly or adapt them for your needs.

# CHAPTER

# **Creating UserForms**

The second secon

# Why Create UserForms?

Some macros that you create behave exactly the same every time that you execute them. For example, you may develop a macro that enters a list of your sales regions into a worksheet range. This macro always produces the same result and requires no additional user input. You may develop other macros, however, that perform differently under different circumstances or that offer options for the user. In such cases, the macro may benefit from a custom dialog box.

The following is an example of a simple macro that makes each cell in the selected range uppercase (but it skips cells that have a formula). The procedure uses VBA's built-in StrConv function.

```
Sub ChangeCase()
For Each cell In Selection
If Not cell.HasFormula Then
cell.Value = StrConv(cell.Value, vbUpperCase)
End If
Next cell
End Sub
```

## IN THIS CHAPTER

Why create UserForms

**UserForm alternatives** 

Creating UserForms: An overview

**UserForm examples** 

More on creating UserForms

This macro is useful, but it can be improved. For example, the macro would be more helpful if it could also change the cells to lowercase or *proper case* (only the first letter of each word is uppercase). This modification is not difficult to make, but if you make this change to the macro, you need some method of asking the user what type of change to make to the cells. The solution is to present a dialog box like the one shown in Figure 41.1. This dialog box is a UserForm that was created by using the Visual Basic (VB) Editor, and it is displayed by a VBA macro.

#### FIGURE 41.1

A UserForm that asks the user to select an option.

Case Changer	
F Upper Case	Canoli
C Boper Case	OK .

Another solution is to develop three macros, one for each type of text case change. Combining these three operations into a single macro and using a UserForm is a more efficient approach, however. I discuss this example, including how to create the UserForm, in "Another UserForm Example," later in the chapter.

# **UserForm Alternatives**

After you get the hang of it, developing UserForms isn't difficult. But sometimes using the tools that are built into VBA is easier. For example, VBA includes two functions (InputBox and MsgBox) that enable you to display simple dialog boxes without having to create a UserForm in the VB Editor. You can customize these dialog boxes in some ways, but they certainly don't offer the number of options that are available in a UserForm.

# The InputBox function

The InputBox function is useful for obtaining a single input from the user. A simplified version of the function's syntax follows:

```
InputBox(prompt[,title][,default])
```

The elements are defined as follows:

- prompt: (Required) Text that is displayed in the input box
- title: (Optional) Text that appears in the input box's title bar
- default: (Optional) The default value

The following is an example of how you can use the InputBox function:

```
CName = InputBox("Customer name?", "Customer Data")
```

When this VBA statement is executed, Excel displays the dialog box shown in Figure 41.2. Notice that this example uses only the first two arguments for the InputBox function and does not supply a default value. When the user enters a value and clicks OK, the value is assigned to the variable CName. Your VBA code can then use that variable.

#### FIGURE 41.2

This dialog box is displayed by the VBA InputBox function.

OK
Gancel

## The MsgBox function

The VBA MsgBox function is a handy way to display information and to solicit simple input from users. I use the VBA MsgBox function in many of this book's examples to display a variable's value. A simplified version of the MsgBox syntax is as follows:

```
MsgBox(prompt[,buttons][,title])
```

The elements are defined as follows:

- prompt: (Required) Text that is displayed in the message box
- buttons: (Optional) The code for the buttons that are to appear in the message box
- title: (Optional) Text that appears in the message box's title bar

You can use the MsgBox function by itself or assign its result to a variable. If you use it by itself, don't include parentheses around the arguments. The following example displays a message and does not return a result:

Sub MsgBoxDemo()
 MsgBox "Click OK to continue"
End Sub

Figure 41.3 shows how this message box appears.

#### FIGURE 41.3

A simple message box, displayed with the VBA MsgBox function.



To get a response from a message box, you can assign the result of the MsgBox function to a variable. The following code uses some built-in constants (described in Table 41.1) to make it easier to work with the values that are returned by MsgBox:

```
Sub GetAnswer()
Ans = MsgBox("Continue?", vbYesNo)
Select Case Ans
Case vbYes
' ...[code if Ans is Yes]...
Case vbNo
' ...[code if Ans is No]...
End Select
End Sub
```

When this procedure is executed, the Ans variable contains a value that corresponds to vbYes or vbNo. The Select Case statement determines the action to take based on the value of Ans.

You can easily customize your message boxes because of the flexibility of the buttons argument. Table 41.1 lists the built-in constants that you can use for the buttons argument. You can specify which buttons to display, whether an icon appears, and which button is the default.

#### **TABLE 41.1**

## **Constants Used in the MsgBox Function**

Constant	Value	Description
vbOKOnly	0	Displays OK button.
vbOKCancel	1	Displays OK and Cancel buttons.
vbAbortRetryIgnore	2	Displays Abort, Retry, and Ignore buttons.
vbYesNoCancel	3	Displays Yes, No, and Cancel buttons.
vbYesNo	4	Displays Yes and No buttons.

Constant	Value	Description
vbRetryCancel	5	Displays Retry and Cancel buttons.
vbCritical	16	Displays Critical Message icon.
vbQuestion	32	Displays Query icon (a question mark).
VBExclamation	48	Displays Warning Message icon.
vbInformation	64	Displays Information Message icon.
vbDefaultButton1	0	First button is default.
vbDefaultButton2	256	Second button is default.
vbDefaultButton3	512	Third button is default.

The following example uses a combination of constants to display a message box with a Yes button and a No button (vbYesNo), and a question mark icon (vbQuestion). The second button (the No button) is designated as the default button (vbDefaultButton2), which is the button that is executed if the user presses Enter. For simplicity, these constants are assigned to the Config variable, and Config is then used as the second argument in the MsgBox function.

```
Sub GetAnswer()
Config = vbYesNo + vbQuestion + vbDefaultButton2
Ans = MsgBox("Process the monthly report?", Config)
If Ans = vbYes Then RunReport
If Ans = vbNo Then Exit Sub
End Sub
```

Figure 41.4 shows how this message box appears when the GetAnswer Sub is executed. If the user clicks the Yes button the routine executes the procedure named RunReport (which is not shown). If the user clicks the No button (or presses Enter), the procedure is ended with no action. Because the title argument was omitted in the MsgBox function, Excel uses the default title (Microsoft Excel).

## FIGURE 41.4

The second argument of the MsgBox function determines what appears in the message box.



The Sub procedure that follows is another example of using the MsgBox function:

```
Sub GetAnswer2()
Msg = "Do you want to process the monthly report?"
Msg = Msg & vbNewLine & vbNewLine
Msg = Msg & "Processing the monthly report will take approximately"
Msg = Msg & "15 minutes. It will generate a 30-page report for all"
Msg = Msg & "sales offices for the current month."
Title = "XYZ Marketing Company"
Config = vbYesNo + vbQuestion
Ans = MsgBox(Msg, Config, Title)
If Ans = vbYes Then RunReport
If Ans = vbNo Then Exit Sub
End Sub
```

This example demonstrates an efficient way to specify a longer message in a message box. A variable (Msg) and the concatenation operator (&) are used to build the message in a series of statements. vbNewLine is a constant that represents a break character. (Using two line breaks inserts a blank line.) The title argument is also used to display a different title in the message box. The Config variable stores the constants that generate Yes and No buttons and a question mark icon. Figure 41.5 shows how this message box appears when the procedure is executed.

### FIGURE 41.5

A message box with a longer message and a title.



# **Creating UserForms: An Overview**

The InputBox and MsgBox functions are adequate for many situations, but if you need to obtain more information, you need to create a UserForm.

The following is a list of the general steps that you typically take to create a UserForm:

1. Determine exactly how the dialog box is going to be used and where it is to fit into your VBA macro.

- 2. Activate the VB Editor and insert a new UserForm.
- 3. Add the appropriate controls to the UserForm.
- **4.** Create a VBA macro to display the UserForm. This macro goes in a normal VBA module.
- **5.** Create event handler VBA procedures that are executed when the user manipulates the controls (for example, clicks the OK button). These procedures go in the code module for the UserForm.

The following sections provide more details on creating a UserForm.

# Working with UserForms

To create a dialog box, you must first insert a new UserForm in the VB Editor window. To activate the VB Editor, choose Developer r Visual Basic (or press Alt+F11). Make sure that the correct workbook is selected in the Project window and then choose Insert r UserForm. The VB Editor displays an empty UserForm, shown in Figure 41.6. When you activate a UserForm, the VB editor displays the Toolbox, which is used to add controls to the UserForm.

## FIGURE 41.6

#### An empty UserForm.



# **Adding controls**

The Toolbox, also shown in Figure 41.6, contains various ActiveX controls that you can add to your UserForm.

When you move the mouse pointer over a control in the Toolbox, the control's name appears. To add a control, click and drag it into the form. After adding a control, you can move it or change its size.

. .

Table 41.2 lists the Toolbox controls.

	Ioolbox Controls
Control	Description
Select Objects	Lets you select other controls by dragging.
Label	Adds a label (a container for text).
TextBox	Adds a text box (allows the user to type text).
ComboBox	Adds a combo box (a drop-down list).
ListBox	Adds a list box (to allow the user to select an item from a list).
CheckBox	Adds a check box (to control Boolean options).
OptionButton	Adds an option button (to allow a user to select from multiple options).
ToggleButton	Adds a toggle button (to control Boolean options).
Frame	Adds a frame (a container for other objects).
CommandButton	Adds a command button (a clickable button).
TabStrip	Adds a tab strip (a container for other objects).
MultiPage	Adds a multipage control (a container for other objects).
ScrollBar	Adds a scroll bar (to specify a value by dragging a bar).
SpinButton	Adds a spin button (to specify a value by clicking up or down).
Image	Adds a control that can contain an image.
RefEdit	Adds a reference edit control (lets the user select a range).

...

#### **TABLE 41.2**

## **Cross-Reference**

You can also place some of these controls directly on your worksheet. See Chapter 42 for details. ■

# Changing the properties of a control

Every control that you add to a UserForm has several properties that determine how the control looks and behaves. You can change some of these properties (such as Height and Width) by clicking and dragging the control's border. To change other properties, use the Properties window.

To display the Properties window, choose View r> Properties Window (or press F4). The Properties window displays a list of properties for the selected control. (Each control has a different set of properties.) If you click the UserForm itself, the Properties window displays properties for the form. Figure 41.7 shows the Properties window for a CommandButton control.

To change a property, select the property in the Properties window and then enter a new value. Some properties (such as BackColor) enable you to select a property from a list. The top of the Properties window contains a drop-down list that enables you to select a control to work with. You can also click a control to select it and display its properties.

#### FIGURE 41.7

The Properties window for a CommandButton control.



When you set properties via the Properties window, you're setting properties at *design time*. You can also use VBA to change the properties of controls while the UserForm is displayed (that is, at *run time*).

A complete discussion of all the properties is well beyond the scope of this book — and it would indeed be very dull reading. To find out about a particular property, select it in the Properties window and press F1. The Help for UserForm controls is extremely thorough.

#### www.it-ebooks.info

# **Handling events**

When you insert a UserForm, that form can also hold VBA Sub procedures to handle the events that are generated by the UserForm. An *event* is something that occurs when the user manipulates a control. For example, clicking a button causes an event. Selecting an item in a list box control also triggers an event. To make a UserForm useful, you must write VBA code to do something when an event occurs.

Event-handler procedures have names that combine the control with the event. The general form is the control's name, followed by an underscore, and then the event name. For example, the procedure that is executed when the user clicks a button named MyButton is MyButton\_Click.

# **Displaying a UserForm**

You also need to write a procedure to display the UserForm. You use the Show method of the UserForm object. The following procedure displays the UserForm named UserForm1:

Sub ShowDialog() UserForm1.Show End Sub

This procedure should be stored in a regular VBA module (not the code module for the UserForm). If your VB project doesn't have a regular VBA module, choose Insert  $\Rightarrow$  Module to add one.

When the ShowDialog procedure is executed, the UserForm is displayed. What happens next depends upon the event-handler procedures that you create.

# A UserForm Example

The preceding section is, admittedly, rudimentary. This section demonstrates, in detail, how to develop a UserForm. This example is rather simple. The UserForm displays a message to the user — something that can be accomplished more easily by using the MsgBox function. However, a UserForm gives you more flexibility in terms of formatting and layout of the message.

## On the CD

This workbook is available on the companion CD-ROM. The file is named show message.xlsm.

## **Creating the UserForm**

If you're following along on your computer, start with a new workbook. Then follow these steps:

- 1. Choose Developer 
  → Visual Basic (or press Alt+F11) to activate the VB Editor window.
- 2. In the VB Editor Project window, double-click your workbook's name to activate it.
- **3.** Choose Insert ↔ UserForm. The VB Editor adds an empty form named UserForm1 and displays the Toolbox.
- **4.** Press F4 to display the Properties window and then change the following properties of the UserForm object:

Property	Change To
Name	AboutBox
Caption	About This Workbook

- 5. Use the Toolbox to add a Label object to the UserForm.
- 6. Select the Label object. In the Properties window, enter any text that you want for the label's Caption.
- 7. In the Properties window, click the Font property and adjust the font. You can change the typeface, size, and so on. The changes then appear in the form. Figure 41.8 shows an example of a formatted Label control. In this example, the TextAlign property was set to the code that center aligns the text.
  - 2 fmTextAlignCenter

#### FIGURE 41.8

A Label control, after changing its Font properties.

Contraction of the local data	This workbook w George Bellingtor Depart	as developed by n in the Finance ment.	
1	If you have any problems, call :	y questions or Jim at x8773.	
l	If you have any problems, call :	y questions or Jim at x8773.	
l,	If you have any problems, call :	y questions or Jim at x8773.	
	If you have any problems, call :	y questions or Jim at x8773.	
	If you have any problems, call :	y questions or Jim at x8773.	
	If you have any problems, call :	y questions or Jim at x8773.	

8. Use the Toolbox and add a CommandButton object to the UserForm, and use the Properties window to change the following properties for the CommandButton:

Property	Change To
Name	OKButton
Caption	OK
Default	True

**9.** Make other adjustments so that the form looks good to you. You can change the size of the form or move or resize the controls.

# **Testing the UserForm**

At this point, the UserForm has all the necessary controls. What's missing is a way to display the UserForm. While you're developing the UserForm, you can press F5 to display it and see how it looks. To close the UserForm, click the X button in the title bar.

This section explains how to write a VBA Sub procedure to display the UserForm when Excel is active.

- **1.** Insert a VBA module by choosing Insert 与 Module.
- 2. In the empty module, enter the following code:

```
Sub ShowAboutBox()
AboutBox.Show
End Sub
```

- 3. Activate Excel. (Pressing Alt+F11 is one way.)
- **4.** Choose Developer 
  → Code 
  → Macros to display the Macros dialog box. Or you can press Alt+F8.
- **5.** In the Macros dialog box, select ShowAboutBox from the list of macros and then click Run. The UserForm then appears.

If you click the OK button, notice that it doesn't close the UserForm as you may expect. This button needs to have an event-handler procedure in order for it to do anything when it's clicked. To dismiss the UserForm, click the Close button (X) in its title bar.

## **Cross-Reference**

You may prefer to display the UserForm by clicking a CommandButton on your worksheet. See Chapter 42 for details on attaching a macro to a worksheet CommandButton.

## Creating an event-handler procedure

An *event-handler procedure* is executed when an event occurs. In this case, you need a procedure to handle the Click event that's generated when the user clicks the OK button.

- 1. Activate the VB Editor. (Pressing Alt+F11 is the fastest way.)
- 2. Activate the AboutBox UserForm by double-clicking its name in the Project window.
- **3. Double-click the** CommandButton **control**. The VB Editor activates the code module for the UserForm and inserts some boilerplate code, as shown in Figure 41.9.

## FIGURE 41.9

The code module for the UserForm.



#### 4. Insert the following statement before the End Sub statement:

Unload AboutBox

This statement simply dismisses the UserForm by using the Unload statement. The complete event-handler procedure is

```
Private Sub OKButton_Click()
Unload AboutBox
End Sub
```

# **Another UserForm Example**

The example in this section is an enhanced version of the ChangeCase procedure presented at the beginning of the chapter. Recall that the original version of this macro changes the text in the selected cells to uppercase characters. This modified version asks the user what type of case change to make: uppercase, lowercase, or proper case (initial capitals).

## On the CD

This workbook is available on the companion CD-ROM. The file is change case.xlsm.

# **Creating the UserForm**

This UserForm needs one piece of information from the user: the type of change to make to the text. Because only one option can be selected, OptionButton controls are appropriate. Start with an empty workbook and follow these steps to create the UserForm:

- 1. Press Alt+F11 to activate the VB Editor window.
- 2. In the VB Editor, choose Insert ⇔ UserForm. The VB Editor adds an empty form named UserForm1 and displays the Toolbox.
- **3.** Press F4 to display the Properties window and then change the following property of the UserForm object:

Property	Change To
Caption	Case Changer

**4.** Add a CommandButton object to the UserForm and then change the following properties for the CommandButton:

Property	Change To
Name	OKButton
Caption	OK
Default	True

5. Add another CommandButton object and then change the following properties:

Property	Change To
Name	CancelButton
Caption	Cancel
Cancel	True

6. Add an OptionButton control and then change the following properties. (This option is the default, so its Value property should be set to True.)

Property	Change To
Name	OptionUpper
Caption	Upper Case
Value	True

7. Add a second OptionButton control and then change the following properties:

Property	Change To
Name	OptionLower
Caption	Lower Case

8. Add a third OptionButton control and then change the following properties:

Property	Change To
Name	OptionProper
Caption	Proper Case

**9.** Adjust the size and position of the controls and the form until your UserForm resembles the UserForm shown in Figure 41.10. Make sure that the controls do not overlap.

## FIGURE 41.10

The UserForm after adding controls and adjusting some properties.

🖄 Marenali Vacal Bais - sharge canados - Johange canados - Dawford (Dawford)	
100 Fin fat you beast fyrnat helang fan Inde Add-ber Mindow Help	- # ×
蜀倉・鼠 といふめ ウクト・エスピ 総合協力(単)	
Construction     Construction	
x x	

## Tip

The VB Editor provides several useful commands to help you size and align the controls. For example, you can make a group of selected controls the same size, or move them so they are all aligned to the left. Select the controls that you want to work with and then choose a command from the Format menu. These commands are fairly self-explanatory, and the Help system has complete details. ■

# **Testing the UserForm**

At this point, the UserForm has all the necessary controls. What's missing is a way to display the form. This section explains how to write a VBA procedure to display the UserForm.

- 1. Make sure that the VB Editor window is activated.
- **2.** Insert a module by choosing Insert ⇔ Module.
- 3. In the empty module, enter the following code:

```
Sub ShowUserForm()
UserForm1.Show
End Sub
```

**4.** Choose Run ⇔ Sub/UserForm (or press F5).

The Excel window is then activated, and the new UserForm is displayed, as shown in Figure 41.11. The OptionButton controls work, but clicking the OK and Cancel buttons has no effect. These two buttons need to have event-handler procedures. Click the Close button in the title bar to dismiss the UserForm.

#### FIGURE 41.11

Displaying the UserForm.



## **Creating event-handler procedures**

This section explains how to create two event-handler procedures: one to handle the Click event for the CancelButton CommandButton and the other to handle the Click event for the OKButton CommandButton. Event handlers for the OptionButton controls are not necessary. The VBA code can determine which of the three OptionButton controls is selected.

Event-handler procedures are stored in the UserForm code module. To create the procedure to handle the Click event for the CancelButton, follow these steps:

- 1. Activate the UserForm1 form by double-clicking its name in the Project window.
- **2. Double-click the** CancelButton **control**. The VB Editor activates the code module for the UserForm and inserts an empty procedure.
- 3. Insert the following statement before the End Sub statement:

Unload UserForm1

That's all there is to it. The following is a listing of the entire procedure that's attached to the Click event for the CancelButton:

```
Private Sub CancelButton_Click()
Unload UserForm1
End Sub
```

This procedure is executed when the CancelButton is clicked. It consists of a single statement that unloads the UserForm1 form.

The next step is to add the code to handle the Click event for the OKButton control. Follow these steps:

- 1. Select OKButton from the drop-down list at the top of the module. The VB Editor begins a new procedure called OKButton\_Click.
- **2.** Enter the following code. The first and last statements have already been entered for you by the VB Editor.

```
Private Sub OKButton_Click()
   Application.ScreenUpdating = False
' Exit if a range is not selected
   If TypeName(Selection) <> "Range" Then Exit Sub
' Upper case
   If OptionUpper Then
        For Each cell In Selection
        If Not cell.HasFormula Then
            cell.Value = StrConv(cell.Value, vbUpperCase)
```

```
End If
        Next cell
    End If
   Lower case
    If OptionLower Then
        For Each cell In Selection
        If Not cell.HasFormula Then
            cell.Value = StrConv(cell.Value, vbLowerCase)
        End If
        Next cell
   End If
   Proper case
    If OptionProper Then
        For Each cell In Selection
        If Not cell.HasFormula Then
            cell.Value = StrConv(cell.Value, vbProperCase)
        End If
        Next cell
    End If
   Unload UserForm1
End Sub
```

The macro starts by turning off screen updating, which makes the macro run a bit faster. Next, the code checks the type of the selection. If a range is not selected, the procedure ends. The remainder of the procedure consists of three separate blocks. Only one block is executed, determined by which OptionButton is selected. The selected OptionButton has a value of True. Finally, the UserForm is unloaded (dismissed).

# **Testing the UserForm**

To try out the UserForm from Excel, follow these steps:

- 1. Activate Excel.
- 2. Enter some text into some cells.
- 3. Select the range with the text.
- 4. Choose Developer 与 Code 与 Macros (or press Alt+F8).
- **5.** In the Macros dialog box, select ShowUserForm from the list of macros and then click OK. The UserForm appears.
- 6. Make your choice and click OK.
Try it with a few more selections. Notice that if you click Cancel, the UserForm is dismissed, and no changes are made.

# Making the macro available from a worksheet button

At this point, everything should be working properly. However, you have no quick and easy way to execute the macro. A good way to execute this macro would be from a button on the worksheet. You can use the following steps:

- **1.** Choose Developer ⇔ Controls ⇔ Insert and click the Button control in the Form Controls group.
- 2. Click and drag in the worksheet to create the button.
- 3. Excel displays the Assign Macro dialog box.
- 4. In the Assign Macro dialog box, select ShowUserForm and then click OK.
- **5.** (Optional) At this point, the button is still selected, so you can change the text to make it more descriptive. You can also right-click the button at any time to change the text.

After performing the preceding steps, clicking the button executes the macro and displays the UserForm.

#### **Cross-Reference**

The button in this example is from the Form Controls group. Excel also provides a button in the ActiveX Controls group. See Chapter 42 for more information about the ActiveX Controls group. ■

# Making the macro available on your Quick Access toolbar

If you would like to use this macro while other workbooks are active, you may want to add a button to your Quick Access toolbar. Use the following steps:

- 1. Make sure that the workbook containing the macro is open.
- **2.** Right-click anywhere on the Ribbon and choose Customize Quick Access Toolbar from the shortcut menu. The Excel Options dialog box appears, with the Quick Access Toolbar section selected.
- **3.** Choose Macros from the Choose Commands From drop-down menu on the left. You'll see your macro listed.

- 4. Select the macro's name and click Add to add the item to the list on the right.
- **5.** (Optional) To change the icon, click Modify and choose a new image. You can also change the Display Name.
- **6.** Click OK to close the Excel Options dialog box. The icon appears on your Quick Access toolbar.

# More on Creating UserForms

Creating UserForms can make your macros much more versatile. You can create custom commands that display dialog boxes that look exactly like those that Excel uses. This section contains some additional information to help you develop custom dialog boxes that work like those that are built in to Excel.

# Adding accelerator keys

Custom dialog boxes should not discriminate against those who prefer to use the keyboard rather than a mouse. All Excel dialog boxes work equally well with a mouse and a keyboard because each control has an associated accelerator key. The user can press Alt plus the accelerator key to work with a specific dialog box control.

Adding accelerator keys to your UserForms is a good idea. You do this in the Properties window by entering a character for the Accelerator property.

The letter that you enter as the accelerator key must be a letter that is contained in the caption of the object. However, it can be *any* letter in the text — not necessarily the first letter). You should make sure that an accelerator key is not duplicated in a UserForm. If you have duplicate accelerator keys, the accelerator key acts on the first control in the tab order of the UserForm. Then, pressing the accelerator key again takes you to the next control.

Some controls (such as edit boxes) don't have a caption property. You can assign an accelerator key to a label that describes the control. Pressing the accelerator key then activates the next control in the tab order (which you should ensure is the edit box).

# **Controlling tab order**

The previous section refers to a UserForm's *tab order*. When you're working with a UserForm, pressing Tab and Shift+Tab cycles through the dialog box's controls. When you create a UserForm,

you should make sure that the tab order is correct. Usually, it means that tabbing should move through the controls in a logical sequence.

To view or change the tab order in a UserForm, choose View  $\Rightarrow$  Tab Order to display the Tab Order dialog box. You can then select a control from the list; use the Move Up and Move Down buttons to change the tab order for the selected control.

# **Learning More**

Mastering UserForms takes practice. You should closely examine the dialog boxes that Excel uses to get a feeling for how dialog boxes are designed. You can duplicate many of the dialog boxes that Excel uses.

The best way to learn more about creating dialog boxes is by using the VBA Help system. Pressing F1 is the quickest way to display the Help window.

# CHAPTER

# Using UserForm Controls in a Worksheet

hapter 41 presents an introduction to UserForms. If you like the idea of using dialog box controls — but don't like the idea of creating a custom dialog box — this chapter is for you. It explains how to enhance your worksheet with a variety of interactive controls, such as buttons, list boxes, and option buttons.

# Why Use Controls on a Worksheet?

The main reason to use controls on a worksheet is to make it easier for the user to provide input. For example, if you create a model that uses one or more input cells, you can create controls to allow the user to select values for the input cells.

Adding controls to a worksheet requires much less effort than creating a dialog box. In addition, you may not have to create any macros because you can link a control to a worksheet cell. For example, if you insert a CheckBox control on a worksheet, you can link it to a particular cell. When the CheckBox is checked, the linked cell displays TRUE. When the CheckBox is not checked, the linked cell displays FALSE.

Figure 42.1 shows an example that uses three types of controls: a Checkbox, two sets of OptionButtons, and a ScrollBar.

# **IN THIS CHAPTER**

Why use controls on a worksheet?

Using controls

The Controls Toolbox controls

#### On the CD

This workbook is available on the companion CD-ROM. The file is named mortgage loan.xlsm.

#### FIGURE 42.1

This worksheet uses UserForm controls.

	А	В	С	D	E	F	G	Н	I
1									
2			Mortgage Lo	an I	Parameters			Li	nked Cells
3								675	Interest from scroller
4			Purchase Price:		\$345,000			6.75	Percent
5			🔽 Finance the §	\$5,00	00 Ioan fee				
6				Г		.		TRUE	Loan Fee
7			Pct. Down Payment:		Loan Term:			\$315,500	Loan
8			10%		O 30-year fixed				
9			C 15%		• 15-year fixed			FALSE	30-year
10			C 20%		o 15 year nixea			TRUE	15-year
11			2070	L		1		15	Year term
12				Г		1			
13			Loan Amount:	L	\$315,500	1		TRUE	10% down
14			4	Г		.		FALSE	15% down
15					6.75% Interest			FALSE	20% down
16						.		10%	Down payment
17			Monthly Payment:		\$2,791.89				
18									
19			Amortizati	on S	chedule				
20									
21									

Adding controls to a worksheet can be a bit confusing because Excel offers two different sets of controls, both of which you access by choosing Developer 🖒 Controls 🎝 Insert.

- Form controls: These controls are unique to Excel.
- ActiveX controls: These controls are a subset of those that are available for use on UserForms.

Figure 42.2 shows the controls that appear when you choose Developer ↔ Controls ↔ Insert. When you move your mouse pointer over a control, Excel displays a ToolTip that identifies the controls.

To add to the confusion, many controls are available from both sources. For example, a control named ListBox is listed in both Forms controls and ActiveX controls. However, they are two entirely different controls. In general, Forms controls are easier to use, but ActiveX controls provide more flexibility.

#### Note

#### This chapter focuses exclusively on ActiveX controls. ■

A description of ActiveX controls appears in Table 42.1.

#### FIGURE 42.2

Excel's two sets of worksheet controls.

<b>mport</b> Export
<

#### **TABLE 42.1**

	ActiveX Controls
Button	What It Does
CommandButton	Inserts a CommandButton control (a clickable button)
ComboBox	Inserts a ComboBox control (a drop-down list)
CheckBox	Inserts a CheckBox control (to control Boolean options)
ListBox	Inserts a ListBox control (to allow the user to select an item from a list)
TextBox	Inserts a TextBox control (allows the user to type text)
ScrollBar	Inserts a ScrollBar control (to specify a value by dragging a bar)
SpinButton	Inserts a SpinButton control (to specify a value by clicking up or down)
OptionButton	Inserts an OptionButton control (to allow a user to select from multiple options)
Label	Inserts a Label control (a container for text)
Image	Inserts an Image control (to hold an image)
ToggleButton	Inserts a ToggleButton control (to control Boolean options)
More Controls	Displays a list of other ActiveX controls that are installed on your system. Not all these controls work with Excel.

# **Using Controls**

Adding ActiveX controls in a worksheet is easy, but you need to learn a few basic facts about how to use them.

# Adding a control

To add a control to a worksheet, choose Developer ↔ Controls ↔ Insert. From the Insert dropdown icon list, click the control that you want to use and then drag in the worksheet to create the control. You don't need to be too concerned about the exact size or position because you can modify those properties at any time.

#### Warning

Make sure that you select a control from the ActiveX controls — not from the Forms controls. If you insert a Forms control, the instructions in this chapter will not apply. ■

# About design mode

When you add a control to a worksheet, Excel goes into *design mode*. In this mode, you can adjust the properties of any controls on your worksheet, add or edit macros for the control, or change the control's size or position.

#### Note

When Excel is in design mode, the Design Mode icon in the Developer ⇔ Controls section appears highlighted. You can click this icon to toggle design mode on and off. ■

When Excel is in design mode, the controls aren't enabled. To test the controls, you must exit design mode by clicking the Design Mode icon. When you're working with controls, you'll probably need to need to switch in and out of design mode frequently.

# **Adjusting properties**

Every control that you add has various properties that determine how it looks and behaves. You can adjust these properties only when Excel is in design mode. When you add a control to a work-sheet, Excel enters design mode automatically. If you need to change a control after you exit design mode, click the Design Mode icon in the Controls section of the Developer tab.

To change the properties for a control

- 1. Make sure that Excel is in design mode.
- 2. Click the control to select it.
- **3.** If the Properties window isn't visible, click the Properties icon in the Controls section of the Developer tab. The Properties window appears, as shown in Figure 42.3.
- 4. Select the property and make the change.

The manner in which you change a property depends upon the property. Some properties display a drop-down list from which you can select from a list of options. Others (such as Font) provide a button that when clicked, displays a dialog box. Other properties require you to type the property value. When you change a property, the change takes effect immediately.

#### Tip

To find out about a particular property, select the property in the Properties window and press F1. ■

The Properties window has two tabs. The Alphabetic tab displays the properties in alphabetical order. The Categorized tab displays the properties by category. Both tabs show the same properties; only the order is different.

#### FIGURE 42.3

Use the Properties window to adjust the properties of a control — in this case, a CommandButton control.

@1	ook2									0	23
	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	н	1 T	J	
1				_							-6
2	Ŷ			0	Properties				۰		
3	1	Commons	Dutton1		CommandRe	tten1 Com	nandRutten				
4	Ĭ	command	Buttoni		Commanuat	CONT CONT	nanubutton		-		
5	Ċ.			0	Alphabetic (	Categorized					- 11
5					(Name)	Comma	ndButton1		^		-11
6					Accelerator						- 11
7					AutoLoad	False					
8					AutoSize	False			_		
9					BackColor	8H8	000000F&				
10					BackStyle	1 - fmBa	ackStyleOpaq	ue	_		
10					Caption	Comma	ndButton1		E		
11					Enabled	True					- 11
12					Font	Calibri					
13					ForeColor	8H8	0000012&		- 11		
1.4					Height	37.5			- 11		
1.4					Left	41.25			- 11		- 11
15					Locked	True			_		- 11
16					MouseIcon	(None)			- 11		
17					MousePointer	0 - fmM	ousePointerD	efault	- 11		
18					Picture	(None)			- 11		
10					PicturePositio	n /-mPi	cturePosition.	abovecenter	_		- 11
19					Placement	2			-		_
20				L			1				- 11
_21 I4 - 4	► H Sh	eet1 🖉	/							•	<b>▼</b> .::

# **Common properties**

Each control has its own unique set of properties. However, many controls share properties. This section describes some properties that are common to all or many controls, as set forth in Table 42.2.

## Note

Some ActiveX control properties are required (for example, the Name property). In other words, you can't leave the property empty. If a required property is missing, Excel will always tell you by displaying an error message.

	Properties Shared by Multiple Controls
Property	Description
AutoSize	If True, the control resizes itself automatically, based on the text in its caption.
BackColor	The background color of the control.
BackStyle	The style of the background (either transparent or opaque).
Caption	The text that appears on the control.
LinkedCell	A worksheet cell that contains the current value of a control.
ListFillRange	A worksheet range that contains items displayed in a ListBox or ComboBox control.
Value	The control's value.
Left and Top	Values that determine the control's position.
Width and Height	Values that determine the control's width and height.
Visible	If False, the control is hidden.
Name	The name of the control. By default, a control's name is based on the control type. You can change the name to any valid name. However, each control's name must be unique on the worksheet.
Picture	Enables you to specify a graphic image to display.

#### **TABLE 42.2**

# Linking controls to cells

Often, you can use ActiveX controls in a worksheet without using any macros. Many controls have a LinkedCell property, which specifies a worksheet cell that is "linked" to the control.

For example, you may add a SpinButton control and specify cell B1 as its LinkedCell property. After doing so, cell B1 contains the value of the SpinButton, and clicking the SpinButton changes the value in cell B1. You can, of course, use the value contained in the linked cell in your formulas.

#### Note

When specifying the LinkedCell property in the Properties window, you can't "point" to the linked cell in the worksheet. You must type the cell address or its name (if it has one). ■

# **Creating macros for controls**

To create a macro for a control, you must use the Visual Basic Editor (VB Editor). The macros are stored in the code module for the sheet that contains the control. For example, if you place an

ActiveX control on Sheet2, the VBA code for that control is stored in the Sheet2 code module. Each control can have a macro to handle any of its events. For example, a CommandButton control can have a macro for its Click event, its DblClick event, and various other events.

## Tip

The easiest way to access the code module for a control is to double-click the control while in design mode. Excel displays the VB Editor and creates an empty procedure for the control's default event. For example, the default event for a CheckBox control is the Click event. Figure 42.4 shows the autogenerated code for a control named CheckBox1, located on Sheet1.

#### FIGURE 42.4

Double-clicking a control in design mode activates the VB Editor and enters an empty event-handler procedure.



The control's name appears in the upper-left portion of the code window, and the event appears in the upper-right area. If you want to create a macro that executes when a different event occurs, select the event from the list in the upper-right area.

The following steps demonstrate how to insert a CommandButton and create a simple macro that displays a message when the button is clicked:

- **1.** Choose Developer ▷ Controls ▷ Insert.
- 2. Click the CommandButton tool in the ActiveX Controls section.
- **3.** Click and drag in the worksheet to create the button. Excel automatically enters design mode.

4. Double-click the button.

The VB Editor window is activated, and an empty Sub procedure is created.

- 5. Enter the following VBA statement before the End Sub statement: MsgBox "Hello. You clicked the command button."
- 6. Press Alt+F11 to return to Excel.
- 7. (Optional) Adjust any other properties for the CommandButton, using the Properties window. Choose Developer ↔ Controls ↔ Properties if the Properties window isn't visible.
- 8. Click the Design Mode button in the Developer 与 Controls section to exit design mode.

After performing the preceding steps, click the CommandButton to display the message box.

#### Note

You must enter the VBA code manually. You can't create macros for controls using the VBA macro recorder. However, you can record a macro and then execute it from an event procedure. For example, if you record a macro named FormatCells, insert Call FormatCells as a VBA statement. Or, you can copy the recorded code and paste it to your event procedure.

# **Reviewing the Available ActiveX Controls**

The sections that follow describe the ActiveX controls that are available for use in your worksheets.

#### On the CD

The companion CD-ROM contains a file that includes examples of all the ActiveX controls. This file is named worksheet controls.xlsm.

# CheckBox

A CheckBox control is useful for getting a binary choice: YES or NO, TRUE or FALSE, ON or OFF, and so on.

The following is a description of the most useful properties of a CheckBox control:

• Accelerator: A letter that enables the user to change the value of the control by using the keyboard. For example, if the accelerator is A, pressing Alt+A changes the value of the CheckBox control. The accelerator letter is underlined in the Caption of the control.

• LinkedCell: The worksheet cell that's linked to the CheckBox. The cell displays TRUE if the control is checked or FALSE if the control is not checked.

# ComboBox

A ComboBox control is similar to a ListBox control. A ComboBox, however, is a drop-down box, and it displays only one item at a time. Another difference is that the user may be allowed to enter a value that does not appear in the list of items.

Figure 42.5 shows a ComboBox control that uses the range D1:D12 for the ListFillRange and cell A1 for the LinkedCell.

#### FIGURE 42.5

A ComboBox control.



The following is a description of the most useful properties of a ComboBox control:

- BoundColumn: If the ListFillRange contains multiple columns, this property determines which column contains the returned value.
- ColumnCount: The number of columns in the list.
- LinkedCell: The worksheet cell that displays the selected item.
- ListFillRange: The worksheet range that contains the list items.
- ListRows: The number of items to display when the list drops down.
- ListStyle: Determines the appearance of the list items.
- Style: Determines whether the control acts like a drop-down list or a ComboBox. A drop-down list doesn't allow the user to enter a new value.

#### **Cross-Reference**

You can also create a drop-down list directly in a cell, by using data validation. See Chapter 25 for details. ■

# CommandButton

A CommandButton control is used to execute a macro. When a CommandButton is clicked, it executes a macro with a name that is made up of the CommandButton name, an underscore, and the word *Click*. For example, if a CommandButton is named MyButton, clicking it executes the macro named MyButton\_Click. This macro is stored in the code module for the sheet that contains the CommandButton.

# Image

An Image control is used to display an image.

These are the most useful properties of an Image control:

- AutoSize: If TRUE, the Image control is resized automatically to fit the image.
- Picture: The path to the image file. Click the button in the Properties window, and Excel displays a dialog box so you can locate the image. Or, copy the image to the Clipboard, select the Picture property in the Properties window, and press Ctrl+V.

#### Tip

You can also insert an image on a worksheet by choosing Insert ⇔ Illustrations ⇔ Picture. In fact, using an Image control offers no real advantage. ■

# Label

A Label control simply displays text. This control isn't a very useful for use on worksheets, and a TextBox control (described later in this list) gives you more versatility.

# ListBox

A ListBox control presents a list of items, and the user can select an item (or multiple items). It's similar to a ComboBox. The main difference is that a ListBox displays more than one item at a time.

The following is a description of the most useful properties of a ListBox control:

- BoundColumn: If the list contains multiple columns, this property determines which column contains the returned value.
- ColumnCount: The number of columns in the list.

- IntegralHeight: This is TRUE if the height of the ListBox adjusts automatically to display full lines of text when the list is scrolled vertically. If FALSE, the ListBox may display partial lines of text when it is scrolled vertically.
- LinkedCell: The worksheet cell that displays the selected item.
- ListFillRange: The worksheet range that contains the list items.
- ListStyle: Determines the appearance of the list items.
- MultiSelect: Determines whether the user can select multiple items from the list.

#### Note

If you use a MultiSelect ListBox, you can't specify a LinkedCell; you need to write a macro to determine which items are selected. ■

# **OptionButton**

OptionButton controls are useful when the user needs to select from a small number of items. OptionButtons are always used in groups of at least two.

The following is a description of the most useful properties of an OptionButton control:

- Accelerator: A letter that lets the user select the option by using the keyboard. For example, if the accelerator for an OptionButton is C, pressing Alt+C selects the control.
- GroupName: A name that identifies an OptionButton as being associated with other OptionButtons with the same GroupName property.
- LinkedCell: The worksheet cell that's linked to the OptionButton. The cell displays TRUE if the control is selected or FALSE if the control isn't selected.

#### Note

If your worksheet contains more than one set of OptionButton controls, you must ensure that each set of OptionButtons has a different GroupName property. Otherwise, all OptionButtons become part of the same set.

# ScrollBar

A ScrollBar control is useful for specifying a cell value. Figure 42.6 shows a worksheet with three ScrollBar controls. These ScrollBars are used to change the color in the rectangle shape. The value of the ScrollBars determines the red, green, or blue component of the rectangle's color. This example uses a few simple macros to change the colors.

#### FIGURE 42.6

This worksheet has three ScrollBar controls.

	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	
1								
2	255	RED	•		•			
3								
4	125	GREEN	•		•			
5								
6	125	BLUE	•		•			
7							1	
8								
9								
10								
11								
12								
13								
14								
15								
16								
1/								
18								

The following is a description of the most useful properties of a ScrollBar control:

- Value: The current value of the control
- Min: The minimum value for the control
- Max: The maximum value for the control
- LinkedCell: The worksheet cell that displays the value of the control
- SmallChange: The amount that the control's value is changed by a click
- LargeChange: The amount that the control's value is changed by clicking either side of the button

The ScrollBar control is most useful for selecting a value that extends across a wide range of possible values.

# **SpinButton**

A SpinButton control lets the user select a value by clicking the control, which has two arrows (one to increase the value and the other to decrease the value). A SpinButton can display either horizontally or vertically.

The following is a description of the most useful properties of a SpinButton control:

- Value: The current value of the control.
- Min: The minimum value of the control.

- Max: The maximum value of the control.
- LinkedCell: The worksheet cell that displays the value of the control.
- SmallChange: The amount that the control's value is changed by a click. Usually, this property is set to 1, but you can make it any value.

# **TextBox**

On the surface, a TextBox control may not seem useful. After all, it simply contains text — you can usually use worksheet cells to get text input. In fact, TextBox controls are useful not so much for input control but rather for output control. Because a TextBox can have scroll bars, you can use a TextBox to display a great deal of information in a small area.

Figure 42.7 shows a TextBox control that contains Lincoln's *Gettysburg Address*. Notice the vertical scroll bar, displayed using the ScrollBars property.

#### FIGURE 42.7

A TextBox control with a vertical scroll bar.

	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	
4								
5		propos	ition that a	ll men are o	reated equ	al. 🔺		
6		PP						
7		Now w	e are enga	ged in a gre	at civil war	,		
8		testing	whether th	at nation o	r any natior	1 SO		
9		We are	ved and so e met on a	areat battle	can long er field of that	war		
10		We ha	ve come to	dedicate a	portion of t	that		
11		field as	s a final res	ting-place f	or those wh	no here		
12		gave th	neir lives the	at that natio	on might live	e. It is		
13		this B	ut in a laro	er sense w	nal we sho e cannot	uia ao		
14		dadica	te we can	not concerr	ate we ca	nnot 💌		
15								
16								
17								

The following is a description of the most useful properties of a TextBox control:

- AutoSize: Determines whether the control adjusts its size automatically, based on the amount of text.
- IntegralHeight: If TRUE, the height of the TextBox adjusts automatically to display full lines of text when the list is scrolled vertically. If FALSE, the ListBox may display partial lines of text when it is scrolled vertically.
- MaxLength: The maximum number of characters allowed in the TextBox. If 0, no limit exists on the number of characters.

- MultiLine: If True, the TextBox can display more than one line of text.
- TextAlign: Determines how the text is aligned in the TextBox.
- WordWrap: Determines whether the control allows word wrap.
- ScrollBars: Determines the type of ScrollBars for the control: horizontal, vertical, both, or none.

# ToggleButton

A ToggleButton control has two states: on or off. Clicking the button toggles between these two states, and the button changes its appearance. Its value is either TRUE (pressed) or FALSE (not pressed). You can often use a ToggleButton in place of a CheckBox control.

# CHAPTER 433

# Working with Excel Events

n the preceding chapters, I presented a few examples of VBA eventhandler procedures. These procedures are the keys to making your Excel applications interactive. This chapter provides an introduction to the concept of Excel events and includes many examples that you can adapt to meet your own needs.

# **Understanding Events**

Excel can monitor a wide variety of events and execute your VBA code when a particular event occurs. This chapter covers the following types of events.

- Workbook events: These occur for a particular workbook. Examples include Open (the workbook is opened or created), BeforeSave (the workbook is about to be saved), and NewSheet (a new sheet is added). VBA code for workbook events must be stored in the ThisWorkbook code module.
- Worksheet events: These occur for a particular worksheet. Examples include Change (a cell on the sheet is changed), SelectionChange (the cell pointer is moved), and Calculate (the worksheet is recalculated). VBA code for worksheet events must be stored in the code module for the worksheet (for example, the module named Sheet1).
- Events not associated with objects: The final category consists of two useful application-level events: OnTime and OnKey. These work differently from other events.

# **IN THIS CHAPTER**

**Understanding events** 

Using workbook-level events

Working with worksheet events

Using non-object events

# **Entering Event-Handler VBA Code**

Every event-handler procedure must reside in a specific type of code module. Code for workbooklevel events is stored in the ThisWorkbook code module. Code for worksheet-level events is stored in the code module for the particular sheet (for example, the code module named Sheet1).

In addition, every event-handler procedure has a predetermined name. You can declare the procedure by typing it, but a much better approach is to let the VB Editor do it for you, by using the two drop-down controls at the top of the window.

Figure 43.1 shows the code module for the ThisWorkbook object. Select this code module by double-clicking it in the Project window. To insert a procedure declaration, select Workbook from the objects list in the upper left of the code window. Then select the event from the procedures list in the upper right. When you do, you get a procedure "shell" that contains the procedure declaration line and an End Sub statement.

#### FIGURE 43.1

The best way to create an event procedure is to let the VB Editor do it for you.



For example, if you select Workbook from the objects list and Open from the procedures list, the VB Editor inserts the following (empty) procedure:

Private Sub Workbook\_Open()

End Sub

Your event-handler VBA code goes between these two lines.

Some event-handler procedures contain an argument list. For example, you may need to create an event-handler procedure to monitor the SheetActivate event for a workbook. (This event is triggered when a user activates a different sheet.) If you use the technique described in the previous section, the VB Editor creates the following procedure:

```
Private Sub Workbook_SheetActivate(ByVal Sh As Object)
```

End Sub

This procedure uses one argument (Sh), which represents the activated sheet. In this case, Sh is declared as an Object data type rather than a Worksheet data type because the activated sheet also can be a chart sheet.

Your code can, of course, make use of information passed as an argument. The following example displays the name of the activated sheet by accessing the argument's Name property. The argument becomes either a Worksheet object or a Chart object.

```
Private Sub Workbook_SheetActivate(ByVal Sh As Object)
    MsgBox Sh.Name & " was activated."
End Sub
```

Several event-handler procedures use a Boolean argument named Cancel. For example, the declaration for a workbook's BeforePrint event is

Private Sub Workbook\_BeforePrint(Cancel As Boolean)

The value of Cancel passed to the procedure is FALSE. However, your code can set Cancel to TRUE, which cancels the printing. The following example demonstrates this:

```
Private Sub Workbook_BeforePrint(Cancel As Boolean)
Msg = "Have you loaded the 5164 label stock? "
Ans = MsgBox(Msg, vbYesNo, "About to print... ")
If Ans = vbNo Then Cancel = True
End Sub
```

The Workbook\_BeforePrint procedure executes before the workbook prints. This procedure displays a message box asking the user to verify that the correct paper is loaded. If the user clicks the No button, Cancel is set to TRUE, and nothing prints.

# **Using Workbook-Level Events**

Workbook-level events occur for a particular workbook. Table 43.1 lists the most commonly used workbook events, along with a brief description of each. Keep in mind that workbook event-handler procedures must be stored in the code module for the ThisWorkbook object.

	IJ		121
<b>V</b> A			45.1
_			

	Workbook Events
Event	Action That Triggers the Event
Activate	The workbook is activated.
AddinInstall	The workbook is installed as an add-in.
AddinUninstall	The workbook is uninstalled as an add-in.
BeforeClose	The workbook is about to be closed.
BeforePrint	The workbook (or anything in it) is about to be printed.
BeforeSave	The workbook is about to be saved.
Deactivate	The workbook is deactivated.
NewSheet	A new sheet is created in the workbook.
Open	The workbook is opened.
SheetActivate	Any sheet in the workbook is activated.
SheetBeforeDoubleClick	Any worksheet in the workbook is double-clicked. This event occurs before the default double-click action.
SheetBeforeRightClick	Any worksheet in the workbook is right-clicked. This event occurs before the default right-click action.
SheetCalculate	Any worksheet in the workbook is calculated (or recalculated).
SheetChange	Any worksheet in the workbook is changed by the user.
SheetDeactivate	Any sheet in the workbook is deactivated.
SheetFollowHyperlink	Any hyperlink in the workbook is clicked.
SheetSelectionChange	The selection on any worksheet in the workbook is changed.
WindowActivate	Any window of the workbook is activated.
WindowDeactivate	Any workbook window is deactivated.
WindowResize	Any workbook window is resized.

The remainder of this section presents examples of using workbook-level events. All the example procedures that follow must be located in the code module for the ThisWorkbook object. If you put them into any other type of code module, they will not work.

# Using the Open event

One of the most common monitored events is a workbook's Open event. This event is triggered when the workbook (or add-in) opens and executes the Workbook\_Open procedure. A Workbook\_Open procedure is very versatile and is often used for the following tasks:

- Displaying welcome messages.
- Opening other workbooks.
- Activating a specific sheet.
- Ensuring that certain conditions are met; for example, a workbook may require that a particular add-in is installed.

#### Caution

Be aware that there is no guarantee that your <code>Workbook\_Open</code> procedure will be executed. For example, the user may choose to disable macros. And if the user holds down the Shift key while opening a workbook, the workbook's <code>Workbook\_Open</code> procedure will not execute.

The following is a simple example of a Workbook\_Open procedure. It uses the VBA Weekday function to determine the day of the week. If it's Friday, a message box appears to remind the user to perform a file backup. If it's not Friday, nothing happens.

```
Private Sub Workbook_Open()
   If Weekday(Now) = 6 Then
        Msg = "Make sure you do your weekly backup!"
        MsgBox Msg, vbInformation
   End If
End Sub
```

What if you would like to activate a particular Ribbon tab automatically when a workbook is opened? Unfortunately, VBA can't do much at all with the Excel Ribbon, and there is no direct way to activate a particular Ribbon tab. The next example uses the SendKeys statement to simulate keystrokes. In this case, it sends Alt+H, which is the Excel's "keytip" equivalent of activating the Home tab of the Ribbon. Sending the F6 keystroke removes the keytip letters from the Ribbon.

```
Private Sub Workbook_Open()
Application.SendKeys ("%h{F6}")
End Sub
```

The following example performs a number of actions when the workbook is opened. It maximizes the Excel window, maximizes the workbook window, activates the sheet named DataEntry, and selects the first empty cell in column A. If a sheet named DataEntry does not exist, the code generates an error.

```
Private Sub Workbook_Open()
Application.WindowState = xlMaximized
ActiveWindow.WindowState = xlMaximized
Worksheets("DataEntry").Activate
Range("A1").End(xlDown).offset(1,0).Select
End Sub
```

#### Using the SheetActivate event

The following procedure executes whenever the user activates any sheet in the workbook. The code simply selects cell A1. Including the On Error Resume Next statement causes the procedure to ignore the error that occurs if the activated sheet is a chart sheet.

```
Private Sub Workbook_SheetActivate(ByVal Sh As Object)
    On Error Resume Next
    Range("A1").Select
End Sub
```

An alternative method to handle the case of a chart sheet is to check the sheet type. Use the Sh argument, which is passed to the procedure.

```
Private Sub Workbook_SheetActivate(ByVal Sh As Object)
    If TypeName(Sh) = "Worksheet" Then Range("A1").Select
End Sub
```

# Using the NewSheet event

The following procedure executes whenever a new sheet is added to the workbook. The sheet is passed to the procedure as an argument. Because a new sheet can be either a worksheet or a chart sheet, this procedure determines the sheet type. If it's a worksheet, it inserts a date and time stamp in cell A1.

```
Private Sub Workbook_NewSheet(ByVal Sh As Object)
If TypeName(Sh) = "Worksheet" Then _
Range("A1") = "Sheet added " & Now()
End Sub
```

# Using the BeforeSave event

The BeforeSave event occurs before the workbook is actually saved. As you know, choosing Office is Save sometimes brings up the Save As dialog box — for example, when the file has never been saved or was opened in read-only mode.

When the Workbook\_BeforeSave procedure executes, it receives an argument that enables you to identify whether the Save As dialog box will appear. The following example demonstrates this:

```
Private Sub Workbook_BeforeSave _
  (ByVal SaveAsUI As Boolean, Cancel As Boolean)
    If SaveAsUI Then
        MsgBox "Use the new file-naming convention."
    End If
End Sub
```

When the user attempts to save the workbook, the Workbook\_BeforeSave procedure executes. If the save operation brings up the Save As dialog box, the SaveAsUI variable is TRUE. The preceding procedure checks this variable and displays a message only if the Save As dialog box is displayed. In this case, the message is a reminder about how to name the file.

The BeforeSave event procedure also has a Cancel variable in its argument list. If the procedure sets the Cancel argument to TRUE, the file is not saved.

# Using the BeforeClose event

The BeforeClose event occurs before a workbook is closed. This event often is used in conjunction with a Workbook\_Open event handler. For example, use the Workbook\_Open procedure to initialize items in your workbook, and use the Workbook\_BeforeClose procedure to clean up or restore settings to normal before the workbook closes.

If you attempt to close a workbook that hasn't been saved, Excel displays a prompt that asks whether you want to save the workbook before it closes.

## Caution

A problem can arise from this event. By the time the user sees this message, the BeforeClose event has already occurred. This means that the Workbook\_BeforeClose procedure has already executed. ■

# **Working with Worksheet Events**

The events for a Worksheet object are some of the most useful. As you'll see, monitoring these events can make your applications perform feats that otherwise would be impossible.

Table 43.2 lists the more commonly used worksheet events, with a brief description of each. Remember that these event procedures must be entered into the code module for the sheet. These code modules have default names like Sheet1, Sheet2, and so on.

	Worksheet Events	
Event	Action That Triggers the Event	
Activate	The worksheet is activated.	
BeforeDoubleClick	The worksheet is double-clicked.	
BeforeRightClick	The worksheet is right-clicked.	

#### **TABLE 43.2**

continued

TABLE 43.2(continued)	
Event	Action That Triggers the Event
Calculate	The worksheet is calculated (or recalculated).
Change	Cells on the worksheet are changed by the user.
Deactivate	The worksheet is deactivated.
FollowHyperlink	A hyperlink on the worksheet is clicked.
PivotTableUpdate	A PivotTable on the worksheet has been updated.
SelectionChange	The selection on the worksheet is changed.

# Using the Change event

A Change event is triggered when any cell in the worksheet is changed by the user. A Change event is not triggered when a calculation generates a different value for a formula or when an object (such as a chart or SmartArt) is added to the sheet.

When the Worksheet\_Change procedure executes, it receives a Range object as its Target argument. This Range object corresponds to the changed cell or range that triggered the event. The following example displays a message box that shows the address of the Target range:

```
Private Sub Worksheet_Change(ByVal Target As Excel.Range)
    MsgBox "Range " & Target.Address & " was changed."
End Sub
```

To get a feel for the types of actions that generate the Change event for a worksheet, enter the preceding procedure into the code module for a Worksheet object. After entering this procedure, activate Excel and, using various techniques, make changes to the worksheet. Every time the Change event occurs, a message box displays the address of the range that changed.

Unfortunately, the Change event doesn't always work as expected. For example

- Changing the formatting of a cell does not trigger the Change event (as expected), but choosing Home ➡ Editing ➡ Clear ➡ Clear Formats *does*.
- Pressing Delete generates an event even if the cell is empty at the start.
- Cells changed via Excel commands may or may not trigger the Change event. For example, sorting and goal seeking operations do not trigger the Change event. However, operations such as Find and Replace, using the AutoSum button, or adding a Totals row to a table *do* trigger the event.
- If your VBA procedure changes a cell, it *does* trigger the Change event.

# Monitoring a specific range for changes

Although the Change event occurs when any cell on the worksheet changes, most of the time, you'll be concerned only with changes that are made to a specific cell or range. When the Worksheet\_Change event-handler procedure is called, it receives a Range object as its argument. This Range object corresponds to the cell or cells that changed.

Assume that your worksheet has a range named InputRange, and you want to monitor changes to this range only. No Change event exists for a Range object, but you can perform a quick check within the Worksheet\_Change procedure. The following procedure demonstrates this:

```
Private Sub Worksheet_Change(ByVal Target As Excel.Range)
Dim VRange As Range
Set VRange = Range("InputRange")
If Union(Target, VRange).Address = VRange.Address Then
            Msgbox "The changed cell is in the input range."
End if
End Sub
```

This example creates a Range object variable named VRange, which represents the worksheet range that you want to monitor for changes. The procedure uses the VBA Union function to determine whether VRange contains the Target range (passed to the procedure in its argument). The Union function returns an object that consists of all the cells in both of its arguments. If the range address is the same as the VRange address, Vrange contains Target, and a message box appears. Otherwise, the procedure ends, and nothing happens.

The preceding procedure has a flaw. Target may consist of a single cell or a range. For example, if the user changes more than one cell at a time, Target becomes a multicell range. Therefore, the procedure requires modification to loop through all the cells in Target. The following procedure checks each changed cell and displays a message box if the cell is within the desired range:

```
Private Sub Worksheet_Change(ByVal Target As Excel.Range)
Set VRange = Range("InputRange")
For Each cell In Target
If Union(cell, VRange).Address = VRange.Address Then
Msgbox "The changed cell is in the input range."
End if
Next cell
End Sub
```

#### On the CD

A workbook with this example is available On the CD-ROM the file is named monitor a range.xlsm.

# Using the SelectionChange event

The following procedure demonstrates a SelectionChange event. It executes whenever the user makes a new selection on the worksheet:

```
Private Sub Worksheet_SelectionChange(ByVal Target _
As Excel.Range)
Cells.Interior.ColorIndex = xlNone
With ActiveCell
.EntireRow.Interior.ColorIndex = 35
.EntireColumn.Interior.ColorIndex = 35
End With
End Sub
```

This procedure shades the row and column of an active cell, making it easy to identify. The first statement removes the background color of all cells. Next, the entire row and column of the active cell is shaded light yellow. Figure 43.2 shows the shading.

#### On the CD

A workbook with this example is available On the CD-ROM. The file is named selection change event.xlsm.

#### FIGURE 43.2

Moving the cell cursor causes the active cell's row and column to become shaded.

1 Ja 2 Ja 3 Fe 4 M 5 Ap 5 M 7 Ju 8 Ju 8 Ju	anuary ebruary Iarch pril Iay Ine Ily	Mary 551 548 665 699 640 649	Bill 664 572 513 667 581	Joe 582 577 546 663 661	Frank 607 529 678 562	Carol 675 500 673 504	Pete 513 681 566	Nancy 557 635		
2 Ja 3 Fe 4 M 5 Ap 5 M 7 Ju 8 Ju 8 Au	anuary ebruary larch pril lay ine ily	551 548 665 699 640 649	664 572 513 667 581	582 577 546 663 661	607 529 678 562	675 500 673	513 681 566	557 635		
Fe           4         M           5         Ap           5         M           6         M           7         Ju           8         Ju           9         Au	ebruary Iarch pril Iay Ine Ily	548 665 699 640 649	572 513 667 581	577 546 663 661	529 678 562	500 673	681 566	635		
4 M 5 Ap 5 M 7 Ju 8 Ju 9 Au	larch pril lay ine ily	665 699 640 649	513 667 581	546 663 661	678 562	673	566	602		
5 Ap 5 M 7 Ju 3 Ju 9 Au	pril 1ay 1ne 1ly	699 640 649	667 581	663 661	562	504		095		
5 M 7 Ju 8 Ju 9 Au	lay Ine Ily	640 649	581	661		504	626	595		
7 Ju 3 Ju 9 Au	ine ilv	649	600		586	510	542	537		
3 Ju 9 Au	ıly		689	569	518	591	607	625		
) Au		538	516	660	626	523	560	689		
	ugust	618	533	611	681	585	641	618		
.0 Se	eptember	587	546	584	538	575	624	648		
1 00	ctober	573	616	612	602	696	621	620		
2 No	ovember	613	692	617	603	544	601	678		
.3 De	ecember	657	518	597	630	638	602	652		
.4										
.5										
.6										
.7										
.8										
.9										

#### Caution

You won't want to use this procedure if your worksheet contains background shading because the macro will erase it. However, if the shading is the result of a style applied to a table, the macro does not erase the table's background shading. ■

# Using the BeforeRightClick event

Normally, when the user right-clicks in a worksheet, a shortcut menu appears. If, for some reason, you want to prevent the shortcut menu from appearing, you can trap the RightClick event. The following procedure sets the Cancel argument to TRUE, which cancels the RightClick event — and, thus, the shortcut menu. Instead, a message box appears.

```
Private Sub Worksheet_BeforeRightClick _
  (ByVal Target As Excel.Range, Cancel As Boolean)
      Cancel = True
      MsgBox "The shortcut menu is not available."
End Sub
```

# **Using Non-Object Events**

So far, the events discussed in this chapter are associated with an object (Application, Workbook, Sheet, and so on). This section discusses two additional events: OnTime and OnKey. These events are not associated with an object. Rather, you access them by using methods of the Application object.

#### Note

Unlike the other events discussed in this chapter, you use a general VBA module to program the On events in this section. ■

# Using the OnTime event

The OnTime event occurs at a specified time. The following example demonstrates how to program Excel to beep and then display a message at 3 p.m.:

```
Sub SetAlarm()
Application.OnTime 0.625, "DisplayAlarm"
End Sub
Sub DisplayAlarm()
Beep
MsgBox "Wake up. It's time for your afternoon break!"
End Sub
```

In this example, the SetAlarm procedure uses the OnTime method of the Application object to set up the OnTime event. This method takes two arguments: the time (0.625, or 3 p.m., in the example) and the procedure to execute when the time occurs (DisplayAlarm in the example). In the example, after SetAlarm executes, the DisplayAlarm procedure is called at 3 p.m., bringing up the message.

Most people find it difficult to think of time in terms of Excel's time numbering system. Therefore, you may want to use the VBA TimeValue function to represent the time. TimeValue converts a string that looks like a time into a value that Excel can handle. The following statement shows an easier way to program an event for 3 p.m.:

```
Application.OnTime TimeValue("3:00:00 pm"), "DisplayAlarm"
```

If you want to schedule an event that's relative to the current time — for example, 20 minutes from now — you can write an instruction like this:

Application.OnTime Now + TimeValue("00:20:00"), "DisplayAlarm"

You also can use the OnTime method to schedule a procedure on a particular day. Of course, you must keep your computer turned on, and Excel must be running.

#### Using the OnKey event

While you work, Excel constantly monitors what you type. As a result, you can set up a keystroke or a key combination that — when pressed — executes a particular procedure.

The following example uses the OnKey method to set up an OnKey event. This event essentially reassigns the PgDn and PgUp keys. After the Setup\_OnKey procedure executes, pressing PgDn executes the PgDn\_Sub procedure, and pressing PgUp executes the PgUp\_Sub procedure. The next effect is that pressing PgDn moves down one row, and pressing PgUp moves up one row.

```
Sub Setup_OnKey()
Application.OnKey "{PgDn}", "PgDn_Sub"
Application.OnKey "{PgUp}", "PgUp_Sub"
End Sub
Sub PgDn_Sub()
On Error Resume Next
ActiveCell.Offset(1, 0).Activate
End Sub
Sub PgUp_Sub()
On Error Resume Next
ActiveCell.Offset(-1, 0).Activate
End Sub
```

## Note

The key codes are enclosed in brackets, not parentheses. For a complete list of the keyboard codes, consult VBA Help. Search for OnKey. ■

# Tip

The preceding examples used On Error Resume Next to ignore any errors generated. For example, if the active cell is in the first row, trying to move up one row causes an error. Furthermore, if the active sheet is a chart sheet, an error occurs because no such thing as an active cell exists in a chart sheet.

By executing the following procedure, you cancel the OnKey events, and the keys return to their normal functions.

```
Sub Cancel_OnKey()
Application.OnKey "{PgDn}"
Application.OnKey "{PgUp}"
End Sub
```

# Caution

Contrary to what you may expect, using an empty string as the second argument for the OnKey method does *not* cancel the OnKey event. Rather, it causes Excel to ignore the keystroke and do nothing. For example, the following instruction tells Excel to ignore Alt+F4 (the percent sign represents the Alt key):

```
Application.OnKey "%{F4}", ""
```

# CHAPTER

# **VBA Examples**

y philosophy about learning to write Excel macros places heavy emphasis on examples. Often, a well-thought-out example communicates a concept much better than a lengthy description of the underlying theory. In this book, space limitations don't allow describing every nuance of VBA, so I prepared many examples. Don't overlook the VBA Help system for specific details. To get help while working in the VB Editor window, press F1 or type your search terms into the Type a Question for Help field on the menu bar.

This chapter consists of several examples that demonstrate common VBA techniques. You may be able to use some examples directly, but in most cases, you must adapt them to your own needs. These examples are organized into the following categories:

- Working with ranges
- Working with workbooks
- Working with charts
- Programming techniques to speed up your VBA code

# **Working with Ranges**

Most of what you do in VBA probably involves worksheet ranges. When you work with range objects, keep the following points in mind:

- Your VBA code doesn't need to select a range to do something with the range.
- If your code does select a range, its worksheet must be active.

#### **IN THIS CHAPTER**

Working with ranges

Working with charts

**Modifying properties** 

VBA speed tips

**887** 

- The macro recorder doesn't always generate the most efficient code. Often, you can use the recorder to create your macro and then edit the code to make it more efficient.
- I recommend that you use named ranges in your VBA code. For example, a reference such as Range ("Total") is better than Range ("D45"). In the latter case, you need to modify the macro if you add a row above row 45.
- When you record macros that select ranges, pay close attention to relative versus absolute recording mode (see Chapter 39). The recording mode that you choose can drastically affect the way the macro operates.
- If you create a macro that loops through each cell in the current range selection, be aware that the user can select entire columns or rows. In such a case, you need to create a subset of the selection that consists only of nonblank cells. Or, you can work with cells in the worksheet's used range (by using the UsedRange property).
- Be aware that Excel allows you to select multiple ranges in a worksheet. For example, you can select a range, press Ctrl, and then select another range. You can test for this in your macro and take appropriate actions.

The examples in the following sections demonstrate these points.

# Copying a range

Copying a range is a frequent activity in macros. When you turn on the macro recorder (using absolute recording mode) and copy a range from A1:A5 to B1:B5, you get a VBA macro like this:

```
Sub CopyRange()
Range("A1:A5").Select
Selection.Copy
Range("B1").Select
ActiveSheet.Paste
Application.CutCopyMode = False
End Sub
```

This macro works, but it's not the most efficient way to copy a range. You can accomplish exactly the same result with the following one-line macro:

```
Sub CopyRange2()
Range("A1:A5").Copy Range("B1")
End Sub
```

This code takes advantage of the fact that the Copy method can use an argument that specifies the destination. Useful information about properties and methods is available in the Help system.

The example demonstrates that the macro recorder doesn't always generate the most efficient code. As you see, you don't have to select an object to work with it. Note that CopyRange2 doesn't select a range; therefore, the active cell doesn't change when this macro is executed.

# Copying a variable-size range

Often, you want to copy a range of cells in which the exact row and column dimensions are unknown.

Figure 44.1 shows a range on a worksheet. This range contains data that is updated weekly. Therefore, the number of rows changes. Because the exact range address is unknown at any given time, writing a macro to copy the range can be challenging.

#### FIGURE 44.1

This range can consist of any number of rows.

	A	В	С	D
1	Week Ending	Calls	Orders	
2	8/7/2009	452	89	
3	8/14/2009	546	102	
4	8/21/2009	587	132	
5	8/28/2009	443	65	
6	9/4/2009	609	156	
7	9/11/2009	592	92	
8	9/18/2009	487	95	
9	9/25/2009	601	105	
10	10/2/2009	515	133	
11	10/9/2009	540	122	
12				

The macro that follows demonstrates how to copy this range from Sheet1 to Sheet2 (beginning at cell A1). It uses the CurrentRegion property, which returns a Range object that corresponds to the block of used cells surrounding a particular cell. This is equivalent to choosing Home  $\Rightarrow$  Editing  $\Rightarrow$  Find & Select  $\Rightarrow$  Go To, clicking the Special button, and then selecting the Current Region option.

```
Sub CopyCurrentRegion()
Range("A1").CurrentRegion.Copy Sheets("Sheet2").Range("A1")
End Sub
```

#### On the CD

A workbook that contains this macro is available on the companion CD-ROM. The file is named range copy.xlsm.

# Selecting to the end of a row or column

You probably are in the habit of using key combinations, such as pressing Ctrl+Shift+ $\rightarrow$  and Ctrl+Shift+ $\downarrow$ , to select from the active cell to the end of a row or column. When you record these actions in Excel (using relative recording mode), you'll find that the resulting code works as you would expect it to.

The following VBA procedure selects the range that begins at the active cell and extends down to the last cell in the column (or to the first empty cell, whichever comes first). When the range is selected, you can do whatever you want with it — copy it, move it, format it, and so on.

```
Sub SelectDown()
Range(ActiveCell, ActiveCell.End(xlDown)).Select
End Sub
```

Notice that the Range property has two arguments. These arguments represent the upper-left and lower-right cells in a range.

This example uses the End method of the Range object, which returns a Range object. The End method takes one argument, which can be any of the following constants: xlUp, xlDown, xlToLeft, or xlToRight.

#### On the CD

A workbook that contains this macro is available on the companion CD-ROM. The file is named select cells.xlsm.

# Selecting a row or column

The macro that follows demonstrates how to select the column of the active cell. It uses the EntireColumn property, which returns a range that consists of a column:

```
Sub SelectColumn()
ActiveCell.EntireColumn.Select
End Sub
```

As you may suspect, an EntireRow property also is available, which returns a range that consists of a row.

If you want to perform an operation on all cells in the selected column, you don't need to select the column. For example, when the following procedure is executed, all cells in the row that contains the active cell are made bold:
```
Sub MakeRowBold()
ActiveCell.EntireRow.Font.Bold = True
End Sub
```

#### Moving a range

Moving a range consists of cutting it to the Clipboard and then pasting it to another area. If you record your actions while performing a move operation, the macro recorder generates code as follows:

```
Sub MoveRange()
Range("A1:C6").Select
Selection.Cut
Range("A10").Select
ActiveSheet.Paste
End Sub
```

As demonstrated with copying earlier in this chapter (see "Copying a range"), this method is not the most efficient way to move a range of cells. In fact, you can do it with a single VBA statement, as follows:

```
Sub MoveRange2()
Range("A1:C6").Cut Range("A10")
End Sub
```

This statement takes advantage of the fact that the Cut method can use an argument that specifies the destination.

#### On the CD

A workbook that contains this macro is available on the companion CD-ROM. The file is named range move.xlsm.

#### Looping through a range efficiently

Many macros perform an operation on each cell in a range, or they may perform selective actions based on the content of each cell. These operations usually involve a For-Next loop that processes each cell in the range.

The following example demonstrates how to loop through all the cells in a range. In this case, the range is the current selection. In this example, Cell is a variable name that refers to the cell being processed. (Notice that this variable is declared as a Range object.) Within the For-Next loop, the single statement evaluates the cell. If the cell is negative, it's converted to a positive value.

```
Sub ProcessCells()
Dim Cell As Range
For Each Cell In Selection
If Cell.Value < 0 Then Cell.Value = Cell.Value * -1
Next Cell
End Sub</pre>
```

The preceding example works, but what if the selection consists of an entire column or an entire range? This is not uncommon because Excel lets you perform operations on entire columns or rows. In this case, though, the macro seems to take forever because it loops through each cell — even those that are blank. What's needed is a way to process only the nonblank cells.

You can accomplish this task by using the SelectSpecial method. In the following example, the SelectSpecial method is used to create a new object: the subset of the selection that consists of cells with constants (as opposed to formulas). This subset is processed, with the net effect of skipping all blank cells and all formula cells.

```
Sub ProcessCells2()
    Dim ConstantCells As Range
    Dim Cell As Range
' Ignore errors
    On Error Resume Next
' Process the constants
    Set ConstantCells = Selection.SpecialCells _
    (xlConstants, xlNumbers)
    For Each Cell In ConstantCells
        If Cell.Value < 0 Then Cell.Value = Cell.Value * -1
        Next Cell
End Sub</pre>
```

The ProcessCells2 procedure works fast, regardless of what is selected. For example, you can select the range, select all columns in the range, select all rows in the range, or even select the entire worksheet. In all these cases, only the cells that contain constants are processed inside the loop. This procedure is a vast improvement over the ProcessCells procedure presented earlier in this section.

Notice that the following statement is used in the procedure:

On Error Resume Next

This statement causes Excel to ignore any errors that occur and simply to process the next statement. This statement is necessary because the SpecialCells method produces an error if no cells qualify and because the numerical comparison will fail if a cell contains an error value. Normal error checking is resumed when the procedure ends. To tell Excel explicitly to return to normal error-checking mode, use the following statement:

```
On Error GoTo 0
```

#### On the CD

This macro is available on the companion CD-ROM. The file is named skip blanks while looping.xlsm.

#### Prompting for a cell value

As discussed in Chapter 41, you can take advantage of the VBA InputBox function to ask the user to enter a value. Figure 44.2 shows an example.

#### FIGURE 44.2

Using the VBA InputBox function to get a value from the user.

	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	Н	
1									
2									
3		_							
4		1	Microsoft Exe	cel				×	
5			Enter the val	lue for cell A	1		OK		
6									
7							Cance	3	
8									
9			1					_	
10			<b>I</b>						
11									
12									
13									

You can assign this value to a variable and use it in your procedure. Often, however, you want to place the value into a cell. The following procedure demonstrates how to ask the user for a value and place it into cell A1 of the active worksheet, using only one statement:

```
Sub GetValue()
Range("A1").Value = InputBox("Enter the value for cell A1")
End Sub
```

#### Determining the type of selection

If your macro is designed to work with a range selection, you need to determine that a range is actually selected. Otherwise, the macro most likely fails. The following procedure identifies the type of object selected:

```
Sub SelectionType()
MsgBox TypeName(Selection)
End Sub
```

#### On the CD

## A workbook that contains this macro is available on the companion CD-ROM. The file is named selection type.xlsm.

If a cell or a range is selected, the MsgBox displays Range. If your macro is designed to work only with ranges, you can use an If statement to ensure that a range is actually selected. The following is an example that displays a message and exits the procedure if the current selection is not a Range object:

```
Sub CheckSelection()
  If TypeName(Selection) <> "Range" Then
    MsgBox "Select a range."
    Exit Sub
  End If
' ... [Other statements go here]
End Sub
```

Another way to approach this task is to define a custom function that returns TRUE if the selection (represented by the sel argument) is a Range object, and FALSE otherwise. The following function does just that:

```
Function IsRange(sel) As Boolean
IsRange = False
If TypeName(sel) = "Range" Then IsRange = True
End Function
```

Here's a more compact version of the IsRange function:

```
Function IsRange(sel) As Boolean
IsRange = (TypeName(sel) = "Range")
End Function
```

If you enter the IsRange function in your module, you can rewrite the CheckSelection procedure as follows:

```
Sub CheckSelection()
If IsRange(Selection) Then
' ... [Other statements go here]
Else
MsgBox "Select a range."
Exit Sub
End If
End Sub
```

#### Identifying a multiple selection

Excel enables you to make a multiple selection by pressing Ctrl while you select objects or ranges. This method can cause problems with some macros; for example, you can't copy a multiple selection that consists of nonadjacent ranges. The following macro demonstrates how to determine whether the user has made a multiple selection:

```
Sub MultipleSelection()
If Selection.Areas.Count > 1 Then
MsgBox "Multiple selections not allowed."
Exit Sub
End If
' ... [Other statements go here]
End Sub
```

This example uses the Areas method, which returns a collection of all Range objects in the selection. The Count property returns the number of objects that are in the collection.

The following is a VBA function that returns TRUE if the selection is a multiple selection:

```
Function IsMultiple(sel) As Boolean
IsMultiple = Selection.Areas.Count > 1
End Function
```

#### **Counting selected cells**

You can create a macro that works with the selected range of cells. Use the Count property of the Range object to determine how many cells are contained in a range selection (or any range, for that matter). For example, the following statement displays a message box that contains the number of cells in the current selection:

```
MsgBox Selection.Count
```

#### Caution

With the larger worksheet size introduced in Excel 2007, the Count property can generate an error. The Count property uses the Long data type, so the largest value that it can store is 2,147,483,647. For example, if the user selects 2,048 complete columns (2,147,483,648 cells), the Count property generates an error. Fortunately, Microsoft added a new property (CountLarge) that uses the Double data type, which can handle values up to 1.79+E^308.

For more on VBA data types, see upcoming Table 44.1.

Bottom line? In the vast majority of situations, the Count property will work fine. If there's a chance that you may need to count more cells (such as all cells in a worksheet), use CountLarge instead of Count.

If the active sheet contains a range named *data*, the following statement assigns the number of cells in the *data* range to a variable named CellCount:

CellCount = Range("data").Count

You can also determine how many rows or columns are contained in a range. The following expression calculates the number of columns in the currently selected range:

Selection.Columns.Count

And, of course, you can also use the Rows property to determine the number of rows in a range. The following statement counts the number of rows in a range named *data* and assigns the number to a variable named RowCount:

```
RowCount = Range("data").Rows.Count
```

## **Working with Workbooks**

The examples in this section demonstrate various ways to use VBA to work with workbooks.

#### Saving all workbooks

The following procedure loops through all workbooks in the Workbooks collection and saves each file that has been saved previously:

```
Public Sub SaveAllWorkbooks()
   Dim Book As Workbook
   For Each Book In Workbooks
        If Book.Path <> "" Then Book.Save
        Next Book
End Sub
```

Notice the use of the Path property. If a workbook's Path property is empty, the file has never been saved (it's a new workbook). This procedure ignores such workbooks and saves only the workbooks that have a nonempty Path property.

#### Saving and closing all workbooks

The following procedure loops through the Workbooks collection. The code saves and closes all workbooks.

```
Sub CloseAllWorkbooks()
Dim Book As Workbook
For Each Book In Workbooks
If Book.Name <> ThisWorkbook.Name Then
Book.Close savechanges:=True
End If
Next Book
ThisWorkbook.Close savechanges:=True
End Sub
```

The procedure uses an If statement within the For-Next loop to determine whether the workbook is the workbook that contains the code. This is necessary because closing the workbook that contains the procedure would end the code, and subsequent workbooks would not be affected.

## **Working with Charts**

Manipulating charts with VBA can be confusing, mainly because of the large number of objects involved. To get a feel for working with charts, turn on the macro recorder, create a chart, and perform some routine chart editing. You may be surprised by the amount of code that's generated.

When you understand how objects function within in a chart, however, you can create some useful macros. This section presents a few macros that deal with charts. When you write macros that manipulate charts, you need to understand some terminology. An embedded chart on a worksheet is a ChartObject object, and the ChartObject contains the actual Chart object. A chart on a chart sheet, on the other hand, does not have a ChartObject container.

It's often useful to create an object reference to a chart (see "Simplifying object references," later in this chapter). For example, the following statement creates an object variable (MyChart) for the embedded chart named Chart 1 on the active sheet.

Dim MyChart As Chart
Set MyChart = ActiveSheet.ChartObjects("Chart 1")

The following sections contain examples of macros that work with charts.

#### On the CD

These macros are available on the companion CD-ROM. The file is named chart macros.xlsm.

#### Modifying the chart type

The following example changes the chart type of every embedded chart on the active sheet. It makes each chart an area chart by adjusting the ChartType property of the Chart object. A built-in constant, xlColumnClustered, represents a standard column chart.

```
Sub ChartType()
Dim ChtObj As ChartObject
For Each ChtObj In ActiveSheet.ChartObjects
ChtObj.Chart.ChartType = xlColumnClustered
Next ChtObj
End Sub
```

The preceding example uses a For-Next loop to cycle through all the ChartObject objects on the active sheet. Within the loop, the chart type is assigned a new value, making it an area chart.

The following macro performs the same function but works on all chart sheets in the active workbook:

```
Sub ChartType2()
Dim Cht As Chart
For Each Cht In ActiveWorkbook.Charts
Cht.ChartType = xlColumnClustered
Next Cht
End Sub
```

#### Modifying chart properties

The following example changes the legend font for all charts that are on the active sheet. It uses a For-Next loop to process all ChartObject objects and uses the HasLegend property to ensure that the chart has a legend. The code then adjusts the properties of the Font object contained in the Legend object:

```
Sub LegendMod()
Dim ChtObj As ChartObject
For Each ChtObj In ActiveSheet.ChartObjects
ChtObj.Chart.HasLegend = True
With ChtObj.Chart.Legend.Font
.Name = "Arial"
.FontStyle = "Bold"
.Size = 8
End With
Next ChtObj
End Sub
```

#### Applying chart formatting

This example applies several different formatting types to the specified chart (in this case, Chart 1 on the active sheet):

```
Sub ChartMods()
With ActiveSheet.ChartObjects("Chart 1").Chart
.ChartType = xlArea
.ChartArea.Font.Name = "Arial"
.ChartArea.Font.FontStyle = "Regular"
.ChartArea.Font.Size = 9
.PlotArea.Interior.ColorIndex = 6
.Axes(xlValue).TickLabels.Font.Bold = True
.Axes(xlCategory).TickLabels.Font.Bold = True
End With
End Sub
```

One way to learn about these properties is to record a macro while you apply various changes to a chart.

## **VBA Speed Tips**

VBA is fast, but it's often not fast enough. This section presents programming examples that you can use to help speed your macros.

## Turning off screen updating

You've probably noticed that when you execute a macro, you can watch everything that occurs in the macro. Sometimes, this view is instructive; but, after you get the macro working properly, it can be annoying and slow things considerably.

Fortunately, you can disable the normal screen updating that occurs when you execute a macro. Insert the following statement to turn off screen updating:

```
Application.ScreenUpdating = False
```

If, at any point during the macro, you want the user to see the results of the macro, use the following statement to turn screen updating back on:

```
Application.ScreenUpdating = True
```

#### **Preventing alert messages**

One benefit of using a macro is that you can perform a series of actions automatically. You can start a macro and then get a cup of coffee while Excel does its thing. Some operations cause Excel to display messages that must be attended to, however. For example, if your macro deletes a sheet, you see the message that is shown in the dialog box in Figure 44.3. These types of messages mean that you can't execute your macro unattended.

#### FIGURE 44.3

You can instruct Excel not to display these types of alerts while a macro is running.

Microsoft	Office Excel
	Data may exist in the sheet(s) selected for deletion. To permanently delete the data, press Delete.
	Delete

To avoid these alert messages (and automatically choose the default response), insert the following VBA statement:

Application.DisplayAlerts = False

To turn alerts back on, use this statement:

```
Application.DisplayAlerts = True
```

#### Simplifying object references

As you may have discovered, references to objects can get very lengthy — especially if your code refers to an object that's not on the active sheet or in the active workbook. For example, a fully qualified reference to a Range object may look like this:

Workbooks("MyBook.xlsx").Worksheets("Sheet1").Range("IntRate")

If your macro uses this range frequently, you may want to use the Set command to create an object variable. For example, to assign this Range object to an object variable named Rate, use the following statement:

Set Rate= Workbooks("MyBook.xlsx").Worksheets("Sheet1").Range("IntRate")

After this variable is defined, you can use the variable Rate instead of the lengthy reference. For example

Rate.Value = .0725

Besides simplifying your coding, using object variables also speeds your macros quite a bit. I've seen macros execute twice as fast after creating object variables.

#### **Declaring variable types**

Usually, you don't have to worry about the type of data that's assigned to a variable. Excel handles all these details behind the scenes. For example, if you have a variable named MyVar, you can assign a number of any type to it. You can even assign a text string to it later in the procedure.

If you want your procedures to execute as fast as possible, though, you should tell Excel in advance what type of data is going be assigned to each of your variables. Providing this information in your VBA procedure is known as *declaring* a variable's type.

Table 44.1 lists all the data types that are supported by VBA. This table also lists the number of bytes that each type uses and the approximate range of possible values.

VBA Data Types			
Data Type	Bytes Used	Approximate Range of Values	
Byte	1	0 to 255	
Boolean	2	True or False	
Integer	2	-32,768 to 32,767	
Long (long integer)	4	-2,147,483,648 to 2,147,483,647	
Single (single-precision floating-point)	4	-3.4E38 to -1.4E-45 for negative values; 1.4E-45 to 4E38 for positive values	
Double (double-precision floating-point)	8	-1.7E308 to -4.9E-324 for negative values; 4.9E-324 to .7E308 for positive values	
Currency (scaled integer)	8	-9.2E14 to 9.2E14	
Decimal	14	+/-7.9E28 with no decimal point	
Date	8	January 1, 100 to December 31, 9999	
Object	4	Any object reference	
String (variable-length)	10 + string length	0 to approximately 2 billion	
String (fixed-length)	Length of string	1 to approximately 65,400	
Variant (with numbers)	16	Any numeric value up to the range of a Double	
Variant (with characters)	22 + string length	Same range as for variable-length String	
User-defined (using Type)	Number required by elements	Range of each element is the same as the range of its data type	

#### **TABLE 44.1**

If you don't declare a variable, Excel uses the Variant data type. In general, the best technique is to use the data type that uses the smallest number of bytes yet can still handle all the data assigned to it. An exception is when you're performing floating-point calculations. In such a case, it is always best to use the Double data type (rather than the Single data type) to maintain maximum precision. Another exception involves the Integer data type. Although the Long data type uses more bytes, it usually results in faster performance.

When VBA works with data, execution speed is a function of the number of bytes that VBA has at its disposal. In other words, the fewer bytes that are used by data, the faster VBA can access and manipulate the data.

To declare a variable, use the Dim statement before you use the variable for the first time. For example, to declare the variable Units as a Long data type, use the following statement:

Dim Units as Long

To declare the variable UserName as a string, use the following statement:

Dim UserName as String

If you declare a variable within a procedure, the declaration is valid only within that procedure. If you declare a variable outside of any procedures (but before the first procedure), the variable is valid in all procedures in the module.

If you use an object variable (as described in "Simplifying object references," earlier in this chapter), you can declare the variable as the appropriate object data type. The following is an example:

```
Dim Rate as Range
Set Rate = Workbooks("MyBook.xlsx").Worksheets("Sheet1").Range("IntRate")
```

To force yourself to declare all the variables that you use, insert the following statement at the top of your module:

Option Explicit

If you use this statement, Excel displays an error message if it encounters a variable that hasn't been declared. After you get into the habit of correctly declaring all your variables, you will find that it helps eliminate errors and makes spotting errors easier.

## chapter 45

## **Creating Custom Excel Add-Ins**

or developers, one of the most useful features in Excel is the capability to create add-ins. This chapter discusses this concept and provides a practical example of creating an add-in.

## What Is an Add-In?

Generally speaking, an *add-in* is something that's added to software to give it additional functionality. Excel includes several add-ins, including the Analysis ToolPak and Solver. Ideally, the new features blend in well with the original interface so that they appear to be part of the program.

Excel's approach to add-ins is quite powerful because any knowledgeable Excel user can create add-ins from workbooks. An Excel add-in is basically a different form of a workbook file. Any Excel workbook can be converted into an add-in, but not every workbook is a good candidate for an add-in.

What distinguishes an add-in form a normal workbook? Add-ins, by default, have an .xlam extension In addition, add-ins are always hidden, so you can't display worksheets or chart sheets that are contained in an add-in. But, you can access its VBA procedures and display dialog boxes that are contained on UserForms.

#### **IN THIS CHAPTER**

**Understanding add-ins** 

Converting a workbook to an add-in

The following are some typical uses for Excel add-ins:

- Store one or more custom worksheet functions. When the add-in is loaded, you can use the functions like any built-in worksheet function.
- **Store Excel utilities.** VBA is ideal for creating general-purpose utilities that extend the power of Excel. The Power Utility Pak that I created is an example.
- Store proprietary macros. If you don't want end users to see (or modify) your macros, store the macros in an add-in and protect the VBA project with a password. A user can use the macros, but they can't view or change them unless the user knows the password. An additional benefit is that the add-in doesn't display a workbook window, which can be distracting.

As previously noted, Excel ships with several useful add-ins (see the sidebar "Add-Ins Included with Excel"), and you can acquire other add-ins from third-party vendors or the Internet. In addition, Excel includes the tools that enable you to create your own add-ins. I explain this process later in the chapter (see "Creating Add-Ins").

## Working with Add-Ins

The best way to work with add-ins is to use the Excel Add-In Manager. To display the Add-In Manager

- 2. In the Excel Options dialog box, select the Add-Ins category.
- **3.** At the bottom of the dialog box, select Excel Add-Ins from the Manage list and then click Go.

Excel displays its Add-Ins dialog box, shown in Figure 45.1. The list box contains all the add-ins that Excel knows about. The add-ins that are checked are open. You can open and close add-ins from this dialog box by selecting or deselecting the check boxes.

#### Tip

Pressing Alt+TI is a much faster way to display the Add-Ins dialog box. ■

#### Caution

You can also open most add-in files by choosing File ⇔ Open. After an add-in is opened, however, you can't choose File ⇔ Close to close it. The only way to remove the add-in is to exit and restart Excel or to write a macro to close the add-in. Therefore, you're usually better off opening the add-ins by using the Add-Ins dialog box. ■

#### FIGURE 45.1

The Add-Ins dialog box.

Add-Ins		? ×
Add-Ins available: Analysis ToolPak Analysis ToolPak Conditional Sum Wizard Euro Currency Tools Internet Assistant VBA Lookup Wizard Power Utility Pak v7 Solver Add-in	*	OK Cancel Browse Automation
Analysis ToolPak Provides data analysis too engineering a	+ ols for s	statistical and s

The user interface for some add-ins (including those included with Excel) may be integrated into the Ribbon. For example, when you open the Analysis ToolPak add-in, you access these tools by choosing Data  $\Rightarrow$  Analysis  $\Rightarrow$  Data Analysis.

## Add-Ins Included with Excel.

The following table lists the add-ins included with Excel 2010. Some add-ins may not have been installed. If you try to use one of these add-ins and it's not installed, you receive a prompt asking whether you want to install it.

Add-In Name	What It Does	Where to Find It
Analysis ToolPak	Statistical and engineering tools. See Chapter 38.	Choose Data 🕫 Analysis 🕏 Data Analysis.
Analysis ToolPak — VBA	VBA functions for the Analysis ToolPak.	The functions in this add-in are used by VBA pro- grammers, and they are not accessible from Excel.
Euro Currency Tools	Tools for converting and for- matting the euro currency.	Choose Formulas 다 Solutions 다 Euro Conversion and Formulas 다 Solutions 다 Euro Formatting.
Solver Add-In	A tool that helps you to use a variety of numeric meth- ods for equation solving and optimization.	Choose Data ➪ Analysis ➪ Solver.

#### Note

If you open an add-in created in a version prior to Excel 2007, any user interface modifications made by the add-in will not appear as they were intended to appear. Rather, you must access the user interface items (menus and toolbars) by choosing Add-Ins c Menu Commands or Add-Ins c Custom Toolbars.

#### Tip

You can also download additional Excel add-ins from http://office.microsoft.com.

## Why Create Add-Ins?

Most Excel users have no need to create add-ins. However, if you develop spreadsheets for others — or if you simply want to get the most out of Excel — you may be interested in pursuing this topic further.

Here are some reasons why you may want to convert your Excel workbook application to an add-in:

- Avoid confusion. If an end user loads your application as an add-in, the file isn't visible in the Excel window and, therefore, is less likely to confuse novice users or get in the way. Unlike a hidden workbook, an add-in can't be unhidden.
- Simplify access to worksheet functions. Custom worksheet functions stored in an addin don't require the workbook name qualifier. For example, if you have a custom function named MOVAVG stored in a workbook named Newfuncs.xlsm, you have to use a syntax such as the following to use this function in a different workbook:

=NEWFUNC.XLSM!MOVAVG(A1:A50)

However, if this function is stored in an add-in file that's open, the syntax is much simpler because you don't need to include the file reference:

=MOVAVG(A1:A50)

- **Provide easier access.** After you identify the location of your add-in, it appears in the Add-Ins dialog box and can display a friendly name and a description of what it does.
- **Permit better loading control.** You can automatically open add-ins when Excel starts, regardless of the directory in which they're stored.
- Omit prompts when unloading. When an add-in is closed, the user never sees the Save Change In prompt because changes to add-ins aren't saved unless you specifically do so from the VB Editor window.

## **Creating Add-Ins**

Technically, you can convert any workbook to an add-in. Not all workbooks benefit from this conversion, though. In fact, workbooks that consist only of worksheets (that is, not macros or custom dialog boxes) become unusable because add-ins are hidden.

Workbooks that benefit from conversion to an add-in are those with macros. For example, you may have a workbook that consists of general-purpose macros and functions. This type of workbook makes an ideal add-in.

These steps describe how to create an add-in from a workbook:

- 1. Develop your application and make sure that everything works properly.
- 2. (Optional) Add a title and description for your add-in. Choose File ➡ Info ➡ Properties ➡ Show Document Panel. When the Properties panel above your worksheet appears, enter a brief descriptive title in the Title field, and then enter a longer description in the Comments field. Although this step isn't required, it makes installing and identifying the add-in easier. To close the Document Properties panel, click its close button (X).
- **3.** (Optional) Lock the VBA project. This step protects the VBA code and UserForms from being viewed. You do this in the VB Editor; choose Tools ⇒ *projectname* Properties (where *projectname* corresponds to your VB project name). In the dialog box, click the Protection tab and select Lock Project for Viewing. If you like, you can specify a password to prevent others from viewing your code.
- **4.** Save the workbook as an add-in file by choosing File ▷ Save As and selecting Excel Add-In (\*.xlam) from the Save as Type drop-down list. By default, Excel saves your add-in in your AddIns directory. You can override this location and choose any directory you like.

#### Note

After you save the workbook as an add-in, the original (non-add-in) workbook remains active. You should close this file to avoid having two macros with the same name. ■

After you create the add-in, you need to install it:

- **2.** Select Excel Add-Ins from the Manage drop-down list and then click Go to display the Add-Ins dialog box.
- **3.** In the Add-Ins dialog box, click the Browse button to locate the XLAM file that you created, which installs the add-in. The Add-Ins dialog box uses the descriptive title that you provided in the Properties panel.

#### Note

You can continue to modify the macros and UserForms in the XLAM version of your file. Because the add-in doesn't appear in the Excel window, you save your changes in the VB Editor by choosing File ⇔ Save. ■

## An Add-In Example

This section discusses the steps to create a useful add-in from the change case.xlsm workbook I cover in Chapter 41. This workbook contains a UserForm that displays options that change the text case of selected cells (uppercase, lowercase, or proper case). Figure 45.2 shows the add-in in action.

#### FIGURE 45.2

This dialog box enables the user to change the case of text in the selected cells.

	A	В	C	D	E	F
1	WILMA GONZALEZ	LUKE RODRIGUEZ	SONIA HARRIS	ALBERTA PATTERSON		
2	CHARLENE WILSON	MYONG DAVIS	MELISSA MYERS	MABLE SULLIVAN		
3	BLAKE MARTINEZ	DWIGHT CARR	MARGARET BARNES	PATRICIA JOHNSON		
4	THOMAS FORD	JOHN TRUJILLO	JULIA BROWN	RODNEY SCOTT		
5	DAVID ROGERS	MICHEL SNYDER	AUDREY WRIGHT	PAUL PARKER		
6	JOSEPHINE RAYMOND	BROOKE MORRIS	RICHARD BROWN	LISA TURNER		
7	BEVERLY BANKS	GEORGE JENKINS	DANIEL WALSH	JENNIFER HOWARD		
8	NANCY WILSON	MICHELLE SMITH	STEPHEN M. PORTER			a)
9	JAMES CHANDLER	MATTHEW HERNANDEZ	PRESTON BARKER	Case Changer		5
10	JANICE PETERSON	STEVEN E. TAYLOR	RAE O. THOMPSON	C Upper Case	Cancel	
11	MILDRED ROGERS	SUSANNE WILLIAMS	CATHERINE ROSS	C Lower Caro	Cancer	
12	THOMAS CURRY	CELESTE HEAD	SANDRA KELLER	Cower case	OK L	
13	BRANDI DIAZ	APRIL SNYDER	DELORIS HAMMONE	Proper Case	0.0	
14	ANN DAVIS	JOHN SCHNEIDER	RICHARD MASON			
15	SUZANNE M. HARDY	KATHLEEN WARD	OLEN HERNANDEZ	JULIA WILLIAMS		
16	MICHAEL BROWN	ANTHONY MILLER	ADAM CLARK	AMANDA MARTINEZ		
17	RICHARD GONZALES	RUSSELL MEDINA	LUCILLE THOMPSON	WILLIAM CHAVEZ		
18	JONI HANNA	HOMER SMITH				
19						
20						

#### On the CD

This file is available on the companion CD-ROM and is named change case.xlam. The file is not locked, so you have full access to the VBA code and UserForm. ■

## Setting up the workbook

This workbook contains one worksheet, which is empty. Although the worksheet is not used, it must be present because every workbook must have at least one sheet.

Choose Insert  $\Rightarrow$  Module in the VB Editor to insert a VBA module (named Module1). Choose Insert  $\Rightarrow$  UserForm to insert a UserForm (named UserForm1).

#### **Procedures in Module1**

The two macros that follow are contained in the Module1 code module. The ShowUserForm procedure checks the type of selection. If a range is selected, the dialog box in UserForm1 appears. If anything other than a range is selected, a message box is displayed.

The ChangeCaseOfText procedure is a special callback procedure, with one argument, that is executed from a control on the Ribbon. See "Creating the user interface for your add-in macro," later in this chapter. This procedure simply executes the ShowUserForm procedure.

```
Sub ShowUserForm()
    If TypeName(Selection) = "Range" Then
        UserForm1.Show
    Else
        MsgBox "Select some cells."
    End If
End Sub
Sub ChangeCaseOfText(ByVal control As IRibbonControl)
    Call ShowUserForm
End Sub
```

#### About the UserForm

Figure 45.3 shows the UserForm1 form, which has five controls: three OptionButton controls and two CommandButton controls. The controls have descriptive names, and the Accelerator property is set so that the controls display an accelerator key (for keyboard users). The option button with the Upper Case caption has its Value property set to TRUE, which makes it the default option.

#### FIGURE 45.3

The custom dialog box.



The UserForm1 object contains the event-handler procedures for the two CommandButton objects that are on the form. The following procedure is executed when the OK button is clicked. This procedure does all the work:

```
Private Sub OKButton_Click()
    CaseChangerDialog.Hide
    Application.ScreenUpdating = False
    Upper case
    If OptionUpper Then
        For Each cell In Selection
        If Not cell.HasFormula Then
            cell.Value = StrConv(cell.Value, vbUpperCase)
        End If
        Next cell
    End If
   Lower case
    If OptionLower Then
        For Each cell In Selection
        If Not cell.HasFormula Then
            cell.Value = StrConv(cell.Value, vbLowerCase)
        End If
        Next cell
    End If
    Proper case
    If OptionProper Then
        For Each cell In Selection
        If Not cell.HasFormula Then
            cell.Value = StrConv(cell.Value, vbProperCase)
        End If
        Next cell
    End If
   Unload UserForm1
End Sub
```

The following procedure is executed if the user clicks the Cancel button:

```
Private Sub CancelButton_Click()
    Unload UserForm1
End Sub
```

#### **Testing the workbook**

Before you convert this workbook to an add-in, test it when a different workbook is active to simulate what happens when the workbook is an add-in. Remember that an add-in is never the active workbook, and it never displays any of its worksheets. To test it, save the workbook, close it, and then reopen it. With the workbook open, then activate a different workbook, select some cells that contain text, and then press Alt+F8 to display the Macros dialog box. Execute the ShowUserForm macro and try all the options.

## Adding descriptive information

Adding descriptive information is recommended but not necessary. Choose File  $\Rightarrow$  Info  $\Rightarrow$ Properties  $\Rightarrow$  Show Document Panel to display the Properties panel below the Ribbon. See Figure 45.4. Enter a title for the add-in in the Title field. This text appears in the Add-Ins dialog box. In the Comments field, enter a description. This information appears at the bottom of the Add-Ins dialog box when the add-in is selected.

#### FIGURE 45.4

Use the Document Properties panel to enter descriptive information about your add-in.

Ocument Properties •		
Author: John Walkenbach	Title: Change Case	Subject:
Comments: Change the case of selected cell	s.	

## **Protecting the project**

In some situations (such as a commercial product), you may want to protect your project so that others can't see the source code. To protect the project, follow these steps:

- 1. Activate the VB Editor.
- 2. In the Project window, click the project.
- **3.** Choose Tools ↔ *project name* Properties. The VB Editor displays its Project Properties dialog box.
- 4. Click the Protection tab (as shown in Figure 45.5).
- 5. Select the Lock Project for Viewing check box.
- 6. Enter a password (twice) for the project.
- 7. Click OK.

#### FIGURE 45.5

The Project Properties dialog box.

VBProject - Project Properti	ies		X
General Protection			
Lock project			
☑ Lock project for vie	ewing		
Password to view project	t properties		
Confirm password			
,			
		1 1	
	ОК	Cancel	Help

## Creating the add-in

To save the workbook as an add-in, switch to the Excel window and activate your workbook. Then choose File  $\Rightarrow$  Save As. Select Microsoft Excel Add-In (\*.xlam) from the Save as Type drop-down list. Enter a name for the add-in file and then click OK. By default, Excel saves the add-in in your AddIns directory, but you can choose a different directory if you like.

#### Creating the user interface for your add-in macro

At this point, the add-in is created, but it's missing one key component: a way to execute the macro that displays the UserForm. Here are three ways to do this:

- Customize your Quick Access toolbar (or the Ribbon) to include a new command. See Chapter 23 for details.
- Create an old-style (pre-Excel 2007) CommandButton. See the sidebar, "Modify the User Interface the Old Way."
- Modify the add-in file so that it adds a new command to the Ribbon when the add-in is opened. I discuss this topic briefly in Chapter 23, but complete details are beyond the scope of this book.

#### Modify the User Interface the Old Way\_\_\_\_

Before Excel 2007, it was much simpler to provide a way to execute a macro in an add-in. It was done by using a CommandBar object, which display menus and toolbars. Excel 2010 still supports CommandBars for compatibility. All changes made to a CommandBar object are displayed in the Menu Commands or Custom Toolbars groups of the Add-Ins tab.

If you would like to modify change case.xlsm to use CommandBars, add these two procedures to the ThisWorkbook code module:

```
Private Sub Workbook_Open()
Set NewMenuItem = Application.CommandBars("Worksheet Menu Bar") _
.Controls("Tools").Controls.Add
With NewMenuItem
.Caption = "Change Case of Text..."
.BeginGroup = True
.OnAction = "ChangeCaseofText"
End With
End Sub
Private Sub Workbook_BeforeClose(Cancel As Boolean)
On Error Resume Next
Application.CommandBars("Worksheet Menu Bar").Controls("Tools"). _
Controls("Change Case of Text...").Delete
End Sub
```

When the add-in is opened, this code adds a new control to the Menu Commands group of the Add-Ins tab. When it's closed, the new control is removed. Simple and easy.

#### Installing the add-in

Now it's time to try the add-in. Choose File ⇔ Excel Options ⇔ Add-Ins. Select Excel Add-ins from the Manage drop-down list, and click Go.

Excel displays its Add-Ins dialog box. Click the Browse button and locate the change case. xlam add-in that you just created. After you do so, the Add-Ins dialog box displays the add-in in its list. Notice that the information that you provided in the Properties panel appears here. Click OK to close the dialog box and open the add-in.

# Part VII

# Appendixes

This part contains some very useful appendixes. Appendix A provides a complete reference of all the worksheet functions. Appendix B gives you the rundown on all the great sample files on the CD-ROM that accompanies this book. Appendix C contains some great additional Excel resources; discover Excel shortcut keys in Appendix D.

#### **IN THIS PART**

Appendix A Worksheet Function Reference

**Appendix B** What's on the CD-ROM

Appendix C Additional Excel Resources

Appendix D Excel Shortcut Keys

#### APPENDIX



## Worksheet Function Reference

The functions are arranged alphabetically by the categories displayed in the Insert Function dialog box.

For more information about a particular function, including its arguments, select the function in the Insert Function dialog box and then click Help on This Function.

#### On the CD

An interactive workbook that contains this information is available on the companion CD-ROM. The filename is worksheet functions.xlsx.

#### TABLE A.1

## **Compatibility Category Functions**

Function	What It Does
BETADIST	Returns the cumulative beta probability density function.
BETAINV	Returns the inverse of the cumulative beta probability density function.
BINOMDIST	Returns the individual term binomial distribution probability.
CHIDIST	Returns the one-tailed probability of the chi-squared distribution.
CHIINV	Returns the inverse of the one-tailed probability of the chi-squared distribution.
CHITEST	Returns the test for independence.
CONFIDENCE	Returns the confidence interval for a population mean.
COVAR	Returns covariance, the average of the products of paired deviations.
CRITBINOM	Returns the smallest value for which the cumulative binomial distribution is less than or equal to a criterion value.
EXPONDIST	Returns the exponential distribution.
FDIST	Returns the F probability distribution.
FINV	Returns the inverse of the F probability distribution.
FTEST	Returns the result of an F-Test.
GAMMADIST	Returns the gamma distribution.
GAMMAINV	Returns the inverse of the gamma cumulative distribution.
HYPGEOMDIST	Returns the hypergeometric distribution.
LOGINV	Returns the inverse of the lognormal distribution.
LOGNORMDIST	Returns the cumulative lognormal distribution.
MODE	Returns the most common value in a data set.
NEGBINOMDIST	Returns the negative binomial distribution.
NORMDIST	Returns the normal cumulative distribution.
NORMINV	Returns the inverse of the normal cumulative distribution.
NORMSDIST	Returns the standard normal cumulative distribution.
NORMSINV	Returns the inverse of the standard normal cumulative distribution.
PERCENTILE	Returns the <i>k</i> th percentile of values in a range.

Function	What It Does
PERCENTRANK	Returns the percentage rank of a value in a data set.
POISSON	Returns the Poisson distribution.
QUARTILE	Returns the quartile of a data set.
RANK	Returns the rank of a number in a list of numbers.
STDEVP	Calculates standard deviation based on the entire population, ignoring text and logical values.
TDIST	Returns the Student's t-distribution.
TINV	Returns the inverse of the Student's t-distribution.
TTEST	Returns the probability associated with a Student's t-Test.
VAR	Estimates variance based on a sample, ignoring logical values and text.
VARP	Calculates variance based on the entire population, ignoring logical values and text.
WEIBULL	Returns the Weibull distribution.
ZTEST	Returns the two-tailed P-value of a Z-test.

The functions in the Compatibility category all have new versions in Excel 2010. The new versions are listed in the Statistical category. The old versions are still available for compatibility.

#### TABLE A.2

#### **Cube Category Functions**

Function	What It Does
CUBEKPIMEMBER*	Returns a key performance indicator name, property, and measure, and displays the name and property in the cell.
CUBEMEMBER*	Returns a member or tuple in a cube hierarchy.
CUBEMEMBERPROPERTY*	Returns the value of a member property in the cube.
CUBERANKEDMEMBER*	Returns the <i>n</i> th, or ranked, member in a set.
CUBESET*	Defines a calculated set of members or tuples by sending a set expression to the cube on the server.
CUBESETCOUNT*	Returns the number of items in a set.
CUBEVALUE*	Returns an aggregated value from a cube.

\* Indicates a function introduced in Excel 2007.

#### TABLE A.3

	Database Category Functions
Function	What It Does
DAVERAGE	Averages the values in a column of a list or database that match conditions you specify.
DCOUNT	Counts the cells that contain numbers in a column of a list or database that match conditions you specify.
DCOUNTA	Counts the nonblank cells in a column of a list or database that match conditions you specify.
DGET	Extracts a single value from a column of a list or database that matches conditions you specify.
DMAX	Returns the largest number in a column of a list or database that matches conditions you specify.
DMIN	Returns the smallest number in a column of a list or database that matches conditions you specify.
DPRODUCT	Multiplies the values in a column of a list or database that match conditions you specify.
DSTDEV	Estimates the standard deviation of a population based on a sample by using the numbers in a column of a list or database that match conditions you specify.
DSTDEVP	Calculates the standard deviation of a population based on the entire population, using the numbers in a column of a list or database that match conditions you specify.
DSUM	Adds the numbers in a column of a list or database that match conditions you specify.
DVAR	Estimates the variance of a population based on a sample by using the numbers in a column of a list or database that match conditions you specify.
DVARP	Calculates the variance of a population based on the entire population by using the numbers in a column of a list or database that match conditions you specify.

#### TABLE A.4

## **Date & Time Category Functions**

Function	What It Does
DATE	Returns the serial number of a particular date.
DATEVALUE	Converts a date in the form of text to a serial number.
DAY	Converts a serial number to a day of the month.
DAYS360	Calculates the number of days between two dates, based on a 360-day year.
EDATE	Returns the serial number of the date that is the indicated number of months before or after the start date.
EOMONTH	Returns the serial number of the last day of the month before or after a specified number of months.
HOUR	Converts a serial number to an hour.

Function	What It Does
MINUTE	Converts a serial number to a minute.
MONTH	Converts a serial number to a month.
NETWORKDAYS	Returns the number of whole workdays between two dates.
NETWORKDAYS.INTL*	Returns the number of whole workdays between two dates (international version).
NOW	Returns the serial number of the current date and time.
SECOND	Converts a serial number to a second.
TIME	Returns the serial number of a particular time.
TIMEVALUE	Converts a time in the form of text to a serial number.
TODAY	Returns the serial number of today's date.
WEEKDAY	Converts a serial number to a day of the week.
WEEKNUM	Returns the week number in the year.
WORKDAY	Returns the serial number of the date before or after a specified number of work days.
WORKDAY.INTL*	Returns the serial number of the date before or after a specified number of work days (International version).
YEAR	Converts a serial number to a year.
YEARFRAC	Returns the year fraction representing the number of whole days between <i>start_date</i> and <i>end_date</i> .

\* Indicates a function introduced in Excel 2010.

#### TABLE A.5

#### **Engineering Category Functions**

Function	What It Does
BESSELI	Returns the modified Bessel function In(x).
BESSELJ	Returns the Bessel function $Jn(x)$ .
BESSELK	Returns the modified Bessel function Kn(x).
BESSELY	Returns the Bessel function Yn(x).
BIN2DEC	Converts a binary number to decimal.
BIN2HEX	Converts a binary number to hexadecimal.
BIN2OCT	Converts a binary number to octal.
COMPLEX	Converts real and imaginary coefficients into a complex number.
CONVERT	Converts a number from one measurement system to another.

continued

TABLE A.5 (c	continued)
Function	What It Does
DEC2BIN	Converts a decimal number to binary.
DEC2HEX	Converts a decimal number to hexadecimal.
DEC2OCT	Converts a decimal number to octal.
DELTA	Tests whether two values are equal.
ERF	Returns the error function.
ERF.PRECISE*	Returns the error function.
ERFC	Returns the complementary error function.
ERFC.PRECISE*	Returns the complementary error function.
GESTEP	Tests whether a number is greater than a threshold value.
HEX2BIN	Converts a hexadecimal number to binary.
HEX2DEC	Converts a hexadecimal number to decimal.
HEX2OCT	Converts a hexadecimal number to octal.
IMABS	Returns the absolute value (modulus) of a complex number.
IMAGINARY	Returns the imaginary coefficient of a complex number.
IMARGUMENT	Returns the argument theta, an angle expressed in radians.
IMCONJUGATE	Returns the complex conjugate of a complex number.
IMCOS	Returns the cosine of a complex number.
IMDIV	Returns the quotient of two complex numbers.
IMEXP	Returns the exponential of a complex number.
IMLN	Returns the natural logarithm of a complex number.
IMLOG10	Returns the base-10 logarithm of a complex number.
IMLOG2	Returns the base-2 logarithm of a complex number.
IMPOWER	Returns a complex number raised to an integer power.
IMPRODUCT	Returns the product of complex numbers.
IMREAL	Returns the real coefficient of a complex number.
IMSIN	Returns the sine of a complex number.
IMSQRT	Returns the square root of a complex number.
IMSUB	Returns the difference of two complex numbers.
IMSUM	Returns the sum of complex numbers.
OCT2BIN	Converts an octal number to binary.
OCT2DEC	Converts an octal number to decimal.
OCT2HEX	Converts an octal number to hexadecimal.

\* Indicates a function introduced in Excel 2010.

#### TABLE A.6

	Financial Category Functions
Function	What It Does
ACCRINT	Returns the accrued interest for a security that pays periodic interest.
ACCRINTM	Returns the accrued interest for a security that pays interest at maturity.
AMORDEGRC	Returns the depreciation for each accounting period.
AMORLINC	Returns the depreciation for each accounting period. (The depreciation coefficient depends on the life of the assets.)
COUPDAYBS	Returns the number of days from the beginning of the coupon period to the settlement date.
COUPDAYS	Returns the number of days in the coupon period that contains the settlement date.
COUPDAYSNC	Returns the number of days from the settlement date to the next coupon date.
COUPNCD	Returns the next coupon date after the settlement date.
COUPNUM	Returns the number of coupons payable between the settlement date and maturity date.
COUPPCD	Returns the previous coupon date before the settlement date.
CUMIPMT	Returns the cumulative interest paid between two periods.
CUMPRINC	Returns the cumulative principal paid on a loan between two periods.
DB	Returns the depreciation of an asset for a specified period, using the fixed-declining-balance method.
DDB	Returns the depreciation of an asset for a specified period, using the double-declining-balance method or some other method that you specify.
DISC	Returns the discount rate for a security.
DOLLARDE	Converts a dollar price, expressed as a fraction, into a dollar price expressed as a decimal number.
DOLLARFR	Converts a dollar price, expressed as a decimal number, into a dollar price expressed as a fraction.
DURATION	Returns the annual duration of a security with periodic interest payments.
EFFECT	Returns the effective annual interest rate.
FV	Returns the future value of an investment.
FVSCHEDULE	Returns the future value of an initial principal after applying a series of compound interest rates.
INTRATE	Returns the interest rate for a fully invested security.
IPMT	Returns the interest payment for an investment for a given period.
IRR	Returns the internal rate of return for a series of cash flows.
ISPMT	Returns the interest associated with a specific loan payment.
MDURATION	Returns the Macauley modified duration for a security with an assumed par value of \$100.

continued

TABLE A.6	(continued)
Function	What It Does
MIRR	Returns the internal rate of return where positive and negative cash flows are financed at different rates.
NOMINAL	Returns the annual nominal interest rate.
NPER	Returns the number of periods for an investment.
NPV	Returns the net present value of an investment based on a series of periodic cash flows and a discount rate.
ODDFPRICE	Returns the price per \$100 face value of a security with an odd first period.
ODDFYIELD	Returns the yield of a security with an odd first period.
ODDLPRICE	Returns the price per \$100 face value of a security with an odd last period.
ODDLYIELD	Returns the yield of a security with an odd last period.
PMT	Returns the periodic payment for an annuity.
PPMT	Returns the payment on the principal for an investment for a given period.
PRICE	Returns the price per \$100 face value of a security that pays periodic interest.
PRICEDISC	Returns the price per \$100 face value of a discounted security.
PRICEMAT	Returns the price per \$100 face value of a security that pays interest at maturity.
PV	Returns the present value of an investment.
RATE	Returns the interest rate per period of an annuity.
RECEIVED	Returns the amount received at maturity for a fully invested security.
SLN	Returns the straight-line depreciation of an asset for one period.
SYD	Returns the sum-of-years' digits depreciation of an asset for a specified period.
TBILLEQ	Returns the bond-equivalent yield for a Treasury bill.
TBILLPRICE	Returns the price per \$100 face value for a Treasury bill.
TBILLYIELD	Returns the yield for a Treasury bill.
VDB	Returns the depreciation of an asset for a specified or partial period using a double declining- balance method.
XIRR	Returns the internal rate of return for a schedule of cash flows that is not necessarily periodic.
XNPV	Returns the net present value for a schedule of cash flows that is not necessarily periodic.
YIELD	Returns the yield on a security that pays periodic interest.
YIELDDISC	Returns the annual yield for a discounted security, for example, a Treasury bill.
YIELDMAT	Returns the annual yield of a security that pays interest at maturity.

#### TABLE A.7

Information Category Functions	
Function	What It Does
CELL	Returns information about the formatting, location, or contents of a cell.
ERROR.TYPE	Returns a number corresponding to an error type.
INFO	Returns information about the current operating environment.
ISBLANK	Returns TRUE if the value is blank.
ISERR	Returns TRUE if the value is any error value except #N/A.
ISERROR	Returns TRUE if the value is any error value.
ISEVEN	Returns TRUE if the number is even.
ISLOGICAL	Returns TRUE if the value is a logical value.
ISNA	Returns TRUE if the value is the #N/A error value.
ISNONTEXT	Returns TRUE if the value is not text.
ISNUMBER	Returns TRUE if the value is a number.
ISODD	Returns TRUE if the number is odd.
ISREF	Returns TRUE if the value is a reference.
ISTEXT	Returns TRUE if the value is text.
Ν	Returns a value converted to a number.
NA	Returns the error value #N/A.
ТҮРЕ	Returns a number indicating the data type of a value.

#### TABLE A.8

#### **Logical Category Functions**

Function	What It Does
AND	Returns TRUE if all its arguments are TRUE.
FALSE	Returns the logical value FALSE.
IF	Specifies a logical test to perform.
IFERROR*	Returns a different result if the first argument evaluates to an error.
NOT	Reverses the logic of its argument.
OR	Returns TRUE if any argument is TRUE.
TRUE	Returns the logical value TRUE.

\* Indicates a function introduced in Excel 2007.

#### TABLE A.9

Lookup & Reference Category Functions	
Function	What It Does
ADDRESS	Returns a reference as text to a single cell in a worksheet.
AREAS	Returns the number of areas in a reference.
CHOOSE	Chooses a value from a list of values.
COLUMN	Returns the column number of a reference.
COLUMNS	Returns the number of columns in a reference
GETPIVOTDATA	Returns data stored in a PivotTable.
HLOOKUP	Searches for a value in the top row of a table and then returns a value in the same column from a row you specify in the table.
HYPERLINK	Creates a shortcut that opens a document on your hard drive, a server, or the Internet.
INDEX	Uses an index to choose a value from a reference or array.
INDIRECT	Returns a reference indicated by a text value.
LOOKUP	Returns a value from either a one-row or one-column range or from an array.
MATCH	Returns the relative position of an item in an array.
OFFSET	Returns a reference offset from a given reference.
ROW	Returns the row number of a reference.
ROWS	Returns the number of rows in a reference.
RTD	Returns real-time data from a program that supports COM automation.
TRANSPOSE	Returns the transpose of an array.
VLOOKUP	Searches for a value in the leftmost column of a table and then returns a value in the same row from a column you specify in the table.

#### TABLE A.10

## Math & Trig Category Functions

Function	What It Does
ABS	Returns the absolute value of a number.
ACOS	Returns the arccosine of a number.
ACOSH	Returns the inverse hyperbolic cosine of a number.
AGGREGATE**	Returns an aggregate in a list or database.
ASIN	Returns the arcsine of a number.
Function	What It Does
-------------------	---
ASINH	Returns the inverse hyperbolic sine of a number.
ATAN	Returns the arctangent of a number.
ATAN2	Returns the arctangent from x and y coordinates.
ATANH	Returns the inverse hyperbolic tangent of a number.
CEILING	Rounds a number to the nearest integer or to the nearest multiple of significance.
CEILING.PRECISE**	Rounds a number up to the nearest integer or to the nearest multiple of significance, regardless of the sign of the number.
COMBIN	Returns the number of combinations for a given number of objects.
COS	Returns the cosine of a number.
COSH	Returns the hyperbolic cosine of a number.
DEGREES	Converts radians to degrees.
EVEN	Rounds a number up to the nearest even integer.
EXP	Returns e raised to the power of a given number.
FACT	Returns the factorial of a number.
FACTDOUBLE	Returns the double factorial of a number.
FLOOR	Rounds a number down, toward 0.
FLOOR.PRECISE**	Rounds a number down to the nearest integer or to the nearest multiple of significance, regardless of the sign.
GCD	Returns the greatest common divisor.
INT	Rounds a number down to the nearest integer.
ISO.CEILING**	Returns a number that is rounded up to the nearest integer or to the nearest multiple of significance.
LCM	Returns the least common multiple.
LN	Returns the natural logarithm of a number.
LOG	Returns the logarithm of a number to a specified base.
LOG10	Returns the base-10 logarithm of a number.
MDETERM	Returns the matrix determinant of an array.
MINVERSE	Returns the matrix inverse of an array.
MMULT	Returns the matrix product of two arrays.
MOD	Returns the remainder from division.
MROUND	Returns a number rounded to the desired multiple.
MULTINOMIAL	Returns the multinomial of a set of numbers.
ODD	Rounds a number up to the nearest odd integer.

continued

TABLE A.10 (C	ontinued)
Function	What It Does
PI	Returns the value of pi.
POWER	Returns the result of a number raised to a power.
PRODUCT	Multiplies its arguments.
QUOTIENT	Returns the integer portion of a division.
RADIANS	Converts degrees to radians.
RAND	Returns a random number between 0 and 1.
RANDBETWEEN	Returns a random number between the numbers that you specify.
ROMAN	Converts an Arabic numeral to Roman, as text.
ROUND	Rounds a number to a specified number of digits.
ROUNDDOWN	Rounds a number down, toward 0.
ROUNDUP	Rounds a number up, away from 0.
SERIESSUM	Returns the sum of a power series based on the formula.
SIGN	Returns the sign of a number.
SIN	Returns the sine of the given angle.
SINH	Returns the hyperbolic sine of a number.
SQRT	Returns a positive square root.
SQRTPI	Returns the square root of pi.
SUBTOTAL	Returns a subtotal in a list or database.
SUM	Adds its arguments.
SUMIF	Adds the cells specified by a given criteria.
SUMIFS*	Adds the cells specified by a multiple criteria.
SUMPRODUCT	Returns the sum of the products of corresponding array components.
SUMSQ	Returns the sum of the squares of the arguments.
SUMX2MY2	Returns the sum of the difference of squares of corresponding values in two arrays.
SUMX2PY2	Returns the sum of the sum of squares of corresponding values in two arrays.
SUMXMY2	Returns the sum of squares of differences of corresponding values in two arrays.
TAN	Returns the tangent of a number.
TANH	Returns the hyperbolic tangent of a number.
TRUNC	Truncates a number (you specify the precision of the truncation).

\* Indicates a function introduced in Excel 2007.

\*\* Indicates a function introduced in Excel 2010.

# TABLE A.11

Statistical Category Functions		
Function	What It Does	
AVEDEV	Returns the average of the absolute deviations of data points from their mean.	
AVERAGE	Returns the average of its arguments.	
AVERAGEA	Returns the average of its arguments and includes evaluation of text and logical values.	
AVERAGEIF*	Returns the average for the cells specified by a given criterion.	
AVERAGEIFS*	Returns the average for the cells specified by multiple criteria.	
BETA.DIST**	Returns the beta cumulative distribution function.	
BETA.INV**	Returns the inverse of the cumulative distribution function for a specified beta distribution.	
BINOM.DIST**	Returns the individual term binomial distribution probability.	
BINOM.INV**	Returns the smallest value for which the cumulative binomial distribution is less than or equal to a criterion value.	
CHISQ.DIST**	Returns the chi-square distribution	
CHISQ.DIST.RT**	Returns the right-tailed probability of the chi-squared distribution.	
CHISQ.INV**	Returns the inverse of the left-tailed probability of the chi-squared distribution	
CHISQ.INV.RT**	Returns the inverse of the right-tailed probability of the chi-squared distribution.	
CHISQ.TEST**	Returns the test for independence.	
CONFIDENCE.NORM**	Returns the confidence interval for a population mean.	
CONFIDENCE.T**	Returns the confidence interval for a population mean, using a student's t-distribution.	
CORREL	Returns the correlation coefficient between two data sets.	
COUNT	Counts how many numbers are in the list of arguments.	
COUNTA	Counts how many values are in the list of arguments.	
COUNTBLANK	Counts the number of blank cells in the argument range.	
COUNTIF	Counts the number of cells that meet the criteria you specify in the argument.	
COUNTIFS*	Counts the number of cells that meet multiple criteria.	
COVARIANCE.P**	Returns covariance, the average of the products of paired deviations.	
COVARIANCE.S**	Returns the sample covariance, the average of the products deviations for each data point pair in two data sets.	
DEVSQ	Returns the sum of squares of deviations.	
EXPON.DIST**	Returns the exponential distribution.	
F.DIST**	Returns the F probability distribution.	
F.DIST.RT**	Returns the F probability distribution.	
F.INV**	Returns the inverse of the F probability distribution.	
F.INV.RT**	Returns the inverse of the F probability distribution.	

continued

TABLE A.11 (continued)		
Function	What It Does	
F.TEST**	Returns the result of an F-test.	
FISHER	Returns the Fisher transformation.	
FISHERINV	Returns the inverse of the Fisher transformation.	
FORECAST	Returns a value along a linear trend.	
FREQUENCY	Returns a frequency distribution as a vertical array.	
GAMMA.DIST**	Returns the gamma distribution.	
GAMMA.INV**	Returns the inverse of the gamma cumulative distribution.	
GAMMALN.PRECISE**	Returns the natural logarithm of the gamma function, G(x).	
GAMMALN	Returns the natural logarithm of the gamma function, G(x).	
GEOMEAN	Returns the geometric mean.	
GROWTH	Returns values along an exponential trend.	
HARMEAN	Returns the harmonic mean.	
HYPGEOM.DIST**	Returns the hypergeometric distribution.	
INTERCEPT	Returns the intercept of the linear regression line.	
KURT	Returns the kurtosis of a data set.	
LARGE	Returns the <i>k</i> th largest value in a data set.	
LINEST	Returns the parameters of a linear trend.	
LOGEST	Returns the parameters of an exponential trend.	
LOGNORM.DIST**	Returns the cumulative lognormal distribution.	
LOGNORM.INV**	Returns the inverse of the lognormal cumulative distribution.	
MAX	Returns the maximum value in a list of arguments, ignoring logical values and text.	
MAXA	Returns the maximum value in a list of arguments, including logical values and text.	
MEDIAN	Returns the median of the given numbers.	
MIN	Returns the minimum value in a list of arguments, ignoring logical values and text.	
MINA	Returns the minimum value in a list of arguments, including logical values and text.	
MODE.MULT**	Returns a vertical array of the most frequently occurring, or repetitive values in an array or range of data.	
MODE.SNGL**	Returns the most common value in a data set.	
NEGBINOM.DIST**	Returns the negative binomial distribution.	
NORM.DIST**	Returns the normal cumulative distribution.	
NORM.INV**	Returns the inverse of the normal cumulative distribution.	
NORM.S.DIST**	Returns the standard normal cumulative distribution.	
NORM.S.INV**	Returns the inverse of the standard normal cumulative distribution.	
PEARSON	Returns the Pearson product moment correlation coefficient.	

Function	What It Does
PERCENTILE.EXC**	Returns the <i>k</i> th percentile of values in a range, where <i>k</i> is in the range 0 through 1, exclusive.
PERCENTILE.INC**	Returns the <i>k</i> th percentile of values in a range
PERCENTRANK.EXC**	Returns the rank of a value in a data set as a percentage (0 through 1, exclusive) of the data set.
PERCENTRANK.INC**	Returns the percentage rank of a value in a data set.
PERMUT	Returns the number of permutations for a given number of objects.
POISSON.DIST**	Returns the Poisson distribution.
PROB	Returns the probability that values in a range are between two limits.
QUARTILE.EXC**	Returns the quartile of the data set, based on percentile values from 0through1, exclusive.
QUARTILE.INC**	Returns the quartile of a data set.
RANK.AVG**	Returns the rank of a number in a list of numbers.
RANK.EQ**	Returns the rank of a number in a list of numbers.
RSQ	Returns the square of the Pearson product moment correlation coefficient.
SKEW	Returns the skewness of a distribution.
SLOPE	Returns the slope of the linear regression line.
SMALL	Returns the <i>k</i> th smallest value in a data set.
STANDARDIZE	Returns a normalized value.
STDEV.P**	Calculates standard deviation based on the entire population.
STDEV.S**	Estimates standard deviation based on a sample.
STDEVA	Estimates standard deviation based on a sample, including text and logical values.
STDEVPA	Calculates standard deviation based on the entire population, including text and logical values.
STEYX	Returns the standard error of the predicted y-value for each x in the regression.
T.DIST	Returns the Percentage Points (probability) for the student T-distribution.
T.DIST.2T**	Returns the Percentage Points (probability) for the Student T-distribution.
T.DIST.RT**	Returns the student's T-distribution.
T.INV**	Returns the t-value of the student's T-distribution as a function of the probability and the degrees of freedom.
T.INV.2T**	Returns the inverse of the student's T-distribution.
T.TEST**	Returns the probability associated with a student's T-test.
TREND	Returns values along a linear trend.
TRIMMEAN	Returns the mean of the interior of a data set.
VAR.P**	Calculates variance based on the entire population.
VAR.S**	Estimates variance based on a sample.
VARA	Estimates variance based on a sample, including logical values and text.

continued

TABLE A.11	(continued)
Function	What It Does
VARPA	Calculates variance based on the entire population, including logical values and text.
WEIBULL.DIST**	Returns the Weibull distribution.
Z.TEST**	Returns the one-tailed probability-value of a Z-test.

\* Indicates a function introduced in Excel 2007.

\*\* Indicates a function introduced in Excel 2010.

# TABLE A.12

# **Text Category Functions**

Function	What It Does
BAHTTEXT	Converts a number to Baht text.
CHAR	Returns the character specified by the code number.
CLEAN	Removes all nonprintable characters from text.
CODE	Returns a numeric code for the first character in a text string.
CONCATENATE	Joins several text items into one text item.
DOLLAR	Converts a number to text, using currency format.
EXACT	Checks to see whether two text values are identical.
FIND	Finds one text value within another (case-sensitive).
FIXED	Formats a number as text with a fixed number of decimals.
LEFT	Returns the leftmost characters from a text value.
LEN	Returns the number of characters in a text string.
LOWER	Converts text to lowercase.
MID	Returns a specific number of characters from a text string, starting at the position you specify.
PROPER	Capitalizes the first letter in each word of a text value.
REPLACE	Replaces characters within text.
REPT	Repeats text a given number of times.
RIGHT	Returns the rightmost characters from a text value.
SEARCH	Finds one text value within another (not case-sensitive).
SUBSTITUTE	Substitutes new text for old text in a text string.
Т	Returns the text referred to by value.
TEXT	Formats a number and converts it to text.
TRIM	Removes excess spaces from text.
UPPER	Converts text to uppercase.
VALUE	Converts a text argument to a number.

# APPENDIX

# What's on the CD-ROM

his appendix describes the contents of the CD that accompanies this book. For any last minute changes, please refer to the ReadMe file located at the root of the CD.

This appendix provides information on the following topics:

- System Requirements
- Using the CD
- Files and software on the CD
- Troubleshooting

# **System Requirements**

Make sure that your computer meets these minimum requirements:

- A Windows PC with Microsoft Excel 2010 installed.
- A CD-ROM drive.

# Using the CD

To install the items from the CD to your hard drive, follow these steps:

- 1. Insert the CD-ROM into your computer's CD drive.
- **2.** Read through the license agreement and then click the Accept button if you want to use the CD.

# Note

The interface won't launch if you have autorun (or autoplay) disabled. In that case, choose Start  $\Rightarrow$  Run. In the dialog box that appears, type D:\start.exe. (Replace D with the proper letter if your CD drive uses a different letter. If you don't know the letter, see how your CD drive is listed under My Computer.)

You can then view the directory structure on the CD.

# What's on the CD

The following sections provide more details about the software and other materials available on the CD.

# **Applications**

Adobe Reader

Adobe Reader is a freeware application for viewing files in the Adobe Portable Document format.

Freeware programs are copyrighted games, applications, and utilities that are free for personal use. Unlike shareware, these programs do not require a fee or provide technical support.

# eBook version of Excel 2010 Bible

The complete text of the book you hold in your hands is provided on the CD in Adobe's Portable Document Format (PDF). You can read and quickly search the content of this PDF file by using Adobe's Acrobat Reader.

# Sample files for Excel 2010 Bible

The files discussed in the book are organized by chapter. With a few exceptions, the files are all Excel 2010 files that have either of the following extensions:

- XLSX: An Excel workbook file
- XLSM: An Excel workbook file that contains VBA macros

When you open an XLSM file, Excel may display a Security Warning and tell you that macros have been disabled. To enable macros, click the Enable Content button in the Security Warning panel.

Because the files on this CD are from a trusted source, you may want to copy the files to your hard drive and then designate the folder as a trusted location. To do so, follow these steps:

- **1.** Open an Explorer window, and select the CD-ROM drive that contains the companion CD-ROM.
- **2.** Right-click the folder that corresponds to the root folder for the samples files, and choose Copy from the shortcut menu.
- **3.** Activate the folder on your hard drive where you'd like to copy the files. Right-click the directory, and choose Paste from the shortcut menu.

The CD-ROM files will be copied to a subfolder in the folder you specified in Step 3. To designate this new folder as a trusted location:

- 1. Start Excel and choose File ➡ Options to display the Excel Options dialog box.
- 2. In the Excel Options dialog box, click the Trust Center tab.
- 3. Click the Trust Center Settings button.
- 4. In the Trust Center dialog box, click the Trusted Locations tab.
- 5. Click the Add New Location button to display the Microsoft Office Trusted Location dialog box.
- **6.** In the Microsoft Office Trusted Location dialog box, click the Browse button and locate the folder that contains the files you copied from the CD-ROM.
- 7. Make sure that you select the option labeled Subfolders Of This Location Are Also Trusted.

After performing these steps, when you open XLSM files from this location, the macros are enabled and you don't see the security warning.

Following is a list of the sample files, along with a brief description.

# Note

Some chapters don't use any sample files. ■

#### Chapter 01

• table and chart.xlsx: An introductory hands-on example that creates a table and a chart.

#### Chapter 02

- loan payment calculator.xlsx: A workbook that demonstrates the difference between unformatted cells and formatted cells.
- number formatting.xlsx: A workbook with some examples of number formatting.

#### Chapter 04

• budget.xlsx: A simple multisheet budget workbook to demonstrate formatting across worksheets.

#### Chapter 05

• real estate table.xlsx: A workbook that contains a table of real estate listings for practice working with tables.

#### Chapter 06

- background image.xlsx: A workbook that contains a background image for a worksheet.
- loan payments.xlsx: A workbook that contains a range of data and formulas to demonstrate the effect of applying simple formatting.

- text alignment.xlsx: A workbook that demonstrates different types of horizontal text alignment.
- theme examples.xlsx: A workbook that contains a table, SmartArt, and a chart to demonstrate the effect of applying different document themes.

- cell references.xlsx: A workbook used to demonstrate the effect of using different types of cell references when copying formulas.
- circular reference.xlsx: A workbook that demonstrates an intentional circular reference. When you open this workbook, you see a message informing you of the circular reference.
- table formulas.xlsx: A workbook used to demonstrate the use of formulas within a table.

#### Chapter 11

- character set.xlsm: A workbook that displays the characters available in any font installed on your system.
- extract names.xlsx: A workbook that contains formulas to extract first, middle, and last names.
- text formula examples.xlsx: A workbook that contains examples of advanced text formulas.
- text histogram.xlsx: A workbook that contains two examples of creating a histogram directly in a range.

#### Chapter 12

- holidays.xlsx: A workbook that demonstrates how to calculate the date for 10 U.S. holidays.
- jogging log.xlsx: A workbook that tracks time and distanced jogged. Demonstrates the use of times not associated with a time of day.
- time sheet.xlsm: A workbook that tracks hours worked during a week.
- work days.xlsx: A workbook that demonstrates how to calculate the number of work days between two dates (excluding weekends and holidays).
- XDATE demo.x1sm: A workbook that contains custom functions that allow you to work with dates prior to 1900.

#### Chapter 13

- basic counting.xlsx: A workbook that demonstrates basic counting formulas.
- conditional sum.xlsx: A workbook that demonstrates how to calculate conditional sums, using single and multiple criteria.
- count unique.xlsx: A workbook that demonstrates how to count unique (nonduplicated) items in a range.

- counting text in a range.xlsx: A workbook that demonstrates various ways to count text in a range.
- cumulative sum.xlsx: A workbook that demonstrates how to display a cumulative sum.
- frequency distribution.xlsx: A workbook that demonstrates four methods to create a frequency distribution.
- multiple criteria counting.xlsx: A workbook that demonstrates counting formulas that use multiple criteria.

- basic lookup examples.xlsx: A workbook that demonstrates a variety of common lookup techniques.
- specialized lookup examples.xlsx: A workbook that demonstrates a variety of specialized lookup techniques.

## Chapter 15

- annuity calculator.xlsx: A workbook that calculates interest on annuities.
- credit card payments.xlsx: A workbook that contains formulas to calculate credit card payments.
- depreciation calculations.xlsx: A workbook that demonstrates methods to calculate depreciation of an asset.
- investment calculations.xlsx: A workbook that demonstrates formulas to calculate interest on investments.
- irregular payments.xlsx: A workbook that calculates a loan with irregular payments.
- loan amortization schedule.xlsx: A workbook that calculates a loan amortization schedule.
- loan data tables.xlsx: A workbook that demonstrates how to use 1-way and 2-way data tables to calculate loan information.
- loan payment.xlsx: A workbook that contains formulas to calculate loan payments.

### **Chapter 16**

• array examples.xlsx: A workbook that contains examples of array formulas.

### Chapter 17

- array formula calendar.xlsx: A workbook that displays a calendar for any month by using a complex array formula.
- multi-cell array formulas.xlsx: A workbook that demonstrates a variety of multicell array formulas.
- single-cell array formulas.xlsx: A workbook that demonstrates a variety of single-cell array formulas.
- yearly calendar.xlsx: A workbook that displays monthly calendars for any year by using a complex array formula.

- area charts.xlsx: A workbook that contains an area chart example.
- bar charts.xlsx: A workbook that contains bar chart examples.
- bubble charts.xlsx: A workbook that contains bubble chart examples.
- column charts.xlsx: A workbook that contains various types of column charts.
- doughnut charts.xlsx: A workbook that contains a doughnut chart example.
- hands-on example.xlsx: A workbook that contains data used in the hands-on charting example.
- line charts.xlsx: A workbook that contains bar chart examples.
- pie charts.xlsx: A workbook that contains pie chart examples.
- radar charts.xlsx: A workbook that contains radar chart examples.
- six chart types.xlsx: A workbook that shows a single range, displayed using six chart types.
- stock charts.xlsx: A workbook that contains stock chart examples.
- surface charts.xlsx: A workbook that contains a surface chart example.
- xy charts.xlsx: A workbook that contains XY chart examples.

#### Chapter 19

- comparative histogram.xlsx: A workbook that demonstrates how to create a comparative histogram chart.
- conditional colors.xlsx: A workbook that contains a chart that displays different color columns, based on the value.
- function plot 2D.xlsx: A workbook that demonstrates how to plot a function that uses one variable.
- function plot 3D.xlsm: A workbook that demonstrates how to plot a function that uses two variables.
- gantt chart.xlsx: A workbook that demonstrates how to create a simple Gantt chart for project planning.
- gauge chart.xlsx: A workbook that contains a chart that plots a single data point as a gauge.
- log scale.xlsx: A workbook that demonstrates a logarithmic scale on a chart.
- picture charts.xlsx: A workbook that demonstrates the use of pictures in charts.
- thermometer chart.xlsx: A workbook that contains a chart that plots a single data point as a thermometer.
- weather combination chart.xlsx: A workbook that demonstrates a combination chart with two value axes.

- color scale example.xlsx: A workbook that demonstrates a conditional formatting color scale.
- conditional formatting examples.xlsx: A workbook that contains examples of various types of conditional formatting.
- conditional formatting formulas.xlsx: A workbook that demonstrates a variety of conditional formatting formulas.
- data bars examples.xlsx: A workbook that demonstrates conditional formatting data bars.
- extreme color scale.xlsx: A workbook that demonstrates a conditional formatting color scale in a large range.
- icon set examples.xlsx: A workbook that demonstrates a conditional formatting icon set.

### Chapter 21

• sparkline examples.xlsx: A workbook that contains examples of Sparklines.

### Chapter 22

- photo styles.xlsx: A workbook that contains examples of styles applied to a photo.
- shape examples.xlsx: A workbook that contains examples of shapes.
- smartart demo xlsx: A workbook that contains SmartArt.
- smartart org chart.xlsx: A workbook that contains an organizational chart created using SmartArt.
- wordart examples.xlsx: A workbook that contains examples of WordArt.

#### Chapter 24

• number formats.xlsx: A workbook that contains examples of many custom number formats.

### Chapter 25

• data validation examples.xlsx: A workbook that contains examples that demonstrate data validation.

#### Chapter 26

• outline example.xlsx: A workbook that contains data suitable for an outline.

### Chapter 27

- dependent.xlsx: A workbook used to demonstrate linking (uses source.xlsx).
- region1.xlsx: One of three workbooks used to demonstrate data consolidation.
- region2.xlsx: One of three workbooks used to demonstrate data consolidation.

- region3.xlsx: One of three workbooks used to demonstrate data consolidation.
- source.xlsx: A workbook used to demonstrate linking (uses dependent.xlsx).

• webpage.xlsx: A workbook used to demonstrate HTML exporting.

#### Chapter 33

• budget data.accdb: A single-table Microsoft Access database file, used to demonstrate Microsoft Query.

#### Chapter 34

- bank accounts.xlsx: A workbook that contains data suitable for a pivot table.
- normalized data.xlsx: A workbook that demonstrates normalized data.

#### Chapter 35

- calculated fields and items.xlsx: A workbook that contains a pivot table that demonstrates calculated fields and calculated items.
- county data.xlsx: A workbook that contains a large table and a pivot table created from the table.
- employee list.xlsx: A workbook that contains a table to demonstrate the use of nonnumeric data in a pivot table.
- hourly readings.xlsx: A workbook that contains time-based information to demonstrate grouping item by time.
- income and expense.xlsx: A workbook that contains a pivot table to demonstrate how to reference cells within a pivot table.
- music list.xlsx: A workbook that demonstrates how to create and format a pivot table report.
- reverse pivot.xlsm: A workbook that contains a VBA macro that converts a summary table into a 3-column database table.
- sales by date.xlsx: A workbook that contains time-based information to demonstrate grouping items by date.
- sales by region pivot chart.xlsx: A workbook that demonstrates how to create a pivot chart from a pivot table.
- test scores.xlsx: A workbook that demonstrates how to use a pivot table to create a frequency distribution.

#### **Chapter 36**

- direct mail.xlsx: A workbook that contains a profit model to demonstrate how to create a 2-way data table for what-if analysis.
- mortgage loan.xlsx: A workbook with input cells and formula cells to demonstrate what-if analysis.

- mortgage loan data table.xlsx: A workbook that demonstrate how to create a data 1-way data table for what-if analysis.
- production model.xlsx: A workbook to demonstrate the Scenario Manager.

- allocating resources.xlsx: A workbook that contains a model to demonstrate how to allocate resources and maximize profit using Solver.
- investment portfolio.xlsx: A workbook that contains a model to demonstrate how to maximize the return on an investment portfolio using Solver.
- linear equations.xlsx: A workbook that demonstrates how to use Solver to solve a set of linear equations.
- mortgage loan.xlsx: A workbook with input cells and formula cells to demonstrate goal seeking.
- shipping costs.xlsx: A workbook that contains a model to demonstrate how to minimize shipping costs using Solver.
- three products.xlsx: A workbook that contains a simple profit model to demonstrate Solver.

#### Chapter 38

• atp examples.xlsx: A workbook that demonstrates the tools in the Analysis ToolPak add-in.

#### Chapter 39

- cube root.xlsm: A workbook that contains a VBA function to calculate the cube root.
- current date.xlsm: A workbook that contains a simple VBA macro to insert the current date into the active cell.
- list formulas.xlsm: A workbook that contains a VBA macro to generate a list of all formulas in a worksheet.

#### Chapter 40

• vba functions.xlsm: A workbook that contains examples of VBA functions used in worksheet formulas.

#### Chapter 41

- change case.x1sm: A VBA macro that uses a UserForm to enable the user to make a choice.
- show message.xlsm: A workbook that contains a UserForm that displays a message.

#### Chapter 42

- mortgage loan.xlsx: A workbook that demonstrates how to use ActiveX controls on a worksheet, with no macros.
- worksheet controls.xlsm: A workbook that contains examples of all ActiveX controls that can be used on a worksheet.

- monitor a range.xlsm: A workbook that contains a VBA Worksheet\_Change macro that monitors all changes made to a specific range.
- selection change event.xlsm: A workbook that contains a VBA Selection\_Change macro that changes the color of the row and column of the active cell.

#### **Chapter 44**

- chart macros.xlsm: A workbook that contains VBA macros that manipulate charts.
- range copy.xlsm: A workbook that contains a VBA macro that copies a variable-sized range.
- range move.xlsm: A workbook that contains a VBA macro that moves a range of cells.
- select cells.xlsm: A workbook that contains VBA macros that demonstrate range selection techniques.
- selection type.xlsm: A workbook that contains a VBA macro that demonstrates how to identify the object type of the current selection.
- skip blanks while looping.xlsm: A workbook that contains a VBA macro that demonstrates how to loop through a range of cells efficiently.

#### Chapter 45

• change case.xlam: An add-in file, created from the change case.xlsm example in Chapter 41.

# Troubleshooting

If you have difficulty installing or using any of the materials on the companion CD, try the following solutions:

- **Turn off any antivirus software that you may have running.** Installers sometimes mimic virus activity and can make your computer incorrectly believe that it is being infected by a virus. (Be sure to turn the antivirus software back on later.)
- **Close all running programs.** The more programs you're running, the less memory is available to other programs. Installers also typically update files and programs; if you keep other programs running, installation may not work properly.
- **Reference the ReadMe:** Refer to the ReadMe file located at the root of the CD-ROM for the latest product information (if any) at the time of publication.

#### **Customer Care**

If you have trouble with the CD-ROM, please call the Wiley Product Technical Support phone number at (800) 762-2974. Outside the United States, call 1(317) 572-3994. You can also contact Wiley Product Technical Support at **http://support.wiley.com**. John Wiley & Sons will provide technical support only for installation and other general quality control items. For technical support on the applications themselves, consult the program's vendor or author.

To place additional orders or to request information about other Wiley products, please call (877) 762-2974.

# APPENDIX

# Additional Excel Resources

f I've done my job, the information provided in this book will be very useful to you. The book, however, can't cover every conceivable topic about Excel. Therefore, I've compiled a list of additional resources that you may find helpful.

I classify these resources into four categories: Excel's Help System, Microsoft technical support, Internet newsgroups, and Internet Web sites.

# The Excel Help System

Many users tend to forget about an excellent source of information: the Excel Help system. This Help information is available by clicking the question mark icon in the upper-right corner of Excel's window. Or, just press F1. Either method displays Excel Help in a new window. Type your search query and then click Search.

# Note

The Search button is a drop-down control that lets you specify what and where to search. ■

The Excel Help system isn't perfect — it often provides only superficial help and ignores some topics altogether — but, if you're stuck, a quick search of the Help system may be worth a try.

# **Microsoft Technical Support**

*Technical support* is the common term for assistance provided by a software vendor. In this case, I'm talking about assistance that comes directly from Microsoft. Its technical support is available in several different forms.

# **Support options**

The Microsoft support options are constantly changing. To find out what options are available (both free and fee-based), go to

```
http://support.microsoft.com
```

# **Microsoft Knowledge Base**

Perhaps your best bet for solving a problem may be the Microsoft Knowledge Base, which is the primary Microsoft product information source. This extensive, searchable database comprises tens of thousands of detailed articles containing technical information, bug lists, fix lists, and more.

You have free and unlimited access to the Knowledge Base via the Internet. To access the Knowledge Base, use the following URL and then click Search the Knowledge Base:

```
http://support.microsoft.com/search
```

# **Microsoft Excel Home Page**

The official home page of Excel is at

http://www.microsoft.com/office/excel

This site contains a variety of material, such as tips, templates, answers to questions, training materials, and links to companion products.

# **Microsoft Office Home Page**

For information about Office 2010 (including Excel), try this site:

http://office.microsoft.com

You'll find product updates, add-ins, examples, and lots of other useful information.

# Note

As you know, the Internet is a dynamic entity that changes rapidly. Web sites are often reorganized, so a particular URL listed in this appendix may not be available when you try to access it. ■

# **Internet Newsgroups**

*Usenet* is an Internet service that provides access to several thousand special interest groups that enable you to communicate with people who share common interests. A newsgroup works like a public bulletin board. You can post a message or questions, and (usually) others reply to your message.

Thousands of newsgroups cover virtually every topic you can think of (and many that you haven't thought of). Typically, questions posed on a newsgroup are answered within 24 hours — assuming, of course, that you ask the questions in a manner that makes others want to reply.

# Accessing newsgroups by using a newsreader

You can use newsreader software to access the Usenet newsgroups. Many such programs are available, but you probably already have one installed: Microsoft Outlook Express, which is installed with Internet Explorer.

Microsoft maintains an extensive list of newsgroups, including quite a few devoted to Excel. If your Internet service provider (ISP) doesn't carry the Microsoft newsgroups, you can access them directly from the Microsoft's news server. (In fact, that's the preferred method.) You need to configure your newsreader software (not your Web browser) to access Microsoft's news server at this address:

```
msnews.microsoft.com
```

# Accessing newsgroups by using a Web browser

As an alternative to using newsreader software, you can read and post to the Microsoft newsgroups directly from your Web browser. This option is often significantly slower than using standard newsgroup software and is best suited for situations in which newsgroup access is prohibited by network policies.

- Access thousands of newsgroups at Google Groups. The URL is <a href="http://groups.google.com">http://groups.google.com</a>
- Access the Microsoft newsgroups (including Excel newsgroups) from this URL: www.microsoft.com/communities/newsgroups/default.mspx

Table C.1 lists the most popular English-language Excel newsgroups found on the Microsoft news server (and also available at Google Groups).

#### TABLE C.1

	<b>ë</b> .
Newsgroup	Торіс
microsoft.public.excel	General Excel topics
microsoft.public.excel.charting	Building charts with Excel
microsoft.public.excel.interopoledde	OLE, DDE, and other cross-application issues
microsoft.public.excel.macintosh	Excel issues on the Macintosh operating system
microsoft.public.excel.misc	General topics that don't fit one of the other categories
microsoft.public.excel.newusers	Help for newcomers to Excel
microsoft.public.excel.printing	Printing with Excel
microsoft.public.excel.programming	Programming Excel with VBA macros
microsoft.public.excel.templates	Spreadsheet Solutions templates and other Xlt files
microsoft.public.excel.worksheet.functions	Worksheet functions

# The Microsoft.com Excel-Related Newsgroups

# Searching newsgroups

The fastest way to find a quick answer to a question is to search the past newsgroup postings. Often, searching past newsgroup postings is an excellent alternative to posting a question to the newsgroup because you can get the answer immediately. Unless your question is very obscure, there's an excellent chance that your question has already been asked and answered. The best source for searching newsgroup postings is Google Groups, at the following Web address:

http://groups.google.com

How does searching work? Suppose that you have a problem identifying unique values in a range of cells. You can perform a search using the following keywords: **Excel**, **Range**, and **Unique**. The Google search engine probably will find dozens of newsgroup postings that deal with these topics.

If the number of results is too large, refine your search by adding search terms. Sifting through the messages may take a while, but you have an excellent chance of finding an answer to your question. In fact, I estimate that at least 90 percent of the questions posted in the Excel newsgroups can be answered by searching Google Groups.

# Tips for Posting to a Newsgroup.

If you're new to online newsgroups, here are some pointers:

- Conduct a search to make sure that your question has not already been answered.
- Make the subject line descriptive. Postings with a subject line such as "Help me!" and "Another Question" are less likely to be answered than postings with a more specific subject, such as "Sizing a Chart's Plot Area."
- Specify the Excel version that you use. In many cases, the answer to your question depends on your version of Excel.
- For best results, ask only one question per message.
- Make your question as specific as possible.
- Keep your question brief and to the point but provide enough information so that someone can answer it adequately.
- Indicate what you've done to try to answer your own question.
- Post in the appropriate newsgroup, and don't cross-post to other groups unless the question applies to multiple groups.
- Don't type in all uppercase or all lowercase; check your grammar and spelling.
- Don't include a file attachment.
- Avoid posting in HTML format. Plain text is the preferred format.
- If you request an e-mail reply in addition to a newsgroup reply, don't use an "anti-spam" e-mail address that requires the responder to modify your address. Why cause extra work for someone doing you a favor?

# **Internet Web sites**

The World Wide Web has dozens of excellent sites devoted to Excel. I list a few of my favorites here.

# **The Spreadsheet Page**

This is my own Web site, which contains files to download, developer tips, spreadsheet jokes, an extensive list of links to other Excel sites, and information about my books. The URL is

```
http://spreadsheetpage.com
```

# **Daily Dose of Excel**

This is a frequently updated weblog created by Dick Kusleika, with about a dozen contributors. It covers a variety of topics, and readers can leave comments. The URL is

```
http://dailydoseofexcel.com
```

# Jon Peltier's Excel Page

Those who frequent the microsoft.public.excel.charting newsgroup are familiar with Jon Peltier. Jon has an uncanny ability to solve practically any chart-related problem. His Web site contains many Excel tips and an extensive collection of charting examples. The URL is

```
http://peltiertech.com/Excel
```

# **Pearson Software Consulting**

This site, maintained by Chip Pearson, contains dozens of useful examples of VBA and clever formula techniques. The URL is

www.cpearson.com/excel.htm

# Contextures

This site, maintained by Deborah Dalgleish, covers Excel and Access. The URL is

http://contextures.com

# **David McRitchie's Excel Pages**

David's site is jam-packed with useful Excel information and is updated frequently. The URL is

```
www.mvps.org/dmcritchie/excel/excel.htm
```

# **Pointy Haired Dilbert**

An interesting Excel blog by Chandoo. The URL is

http://chandoo.org/wp

# **Mr. Excel**

Mr. Excel, also known as Bill Jelen, maintains an extensive site devoted to Excel. The site also features a message board. The URL is

www.mrexcel.com

# APPENDIX

# **Excel Shortcut Keys**

any users have discovered that using their keyboard can often be much more efficient than using their mouse. This appendix lists the most useful shortcut keys available in Excel. The shortcuts are arranged by context.

The keys listed assume that you're not using the Transition Navigation Keys, which are designed to emulate Lotus 1-2-3. You can select the Transition Navigation Keys option of the Advanced tab of the Excel Options dialog box. This option is in the Lotus Compatibility section.

# Note

On the surface, the Ribbon interface appears to be designed for a mouse. However, you can access nearly all the Ribbon commands by using the keyboard. Press the Alt key, and Excel displays "keytips" next to each command. Just press the key that corresponds to the command you need. For example, the command to toggle worksheet gridlines is View ▷ Show ▷ Gridlines. The keyboard equivalent is Alt, followed by WVG. Note that you don't need to keep the Alt key depressed while you type the subsequent letters. ■

	Moving through a Worksheet
Key(s)	What It Does
Navigation keys ( $\leftarrow$ , $\rightarrow$ , $\uparrow$ , $\downarrow$ )	Moves left, right, up, or down one cell
Home	Moves to the beginning of the row
Home*	Moves to the upper-left cell displayed in the window
End*	Moves to the lower-left cell displayed in the window
Navigation keys*	Scrolls left, right, up, or down one cell
PgUp	Moves up one screen
PgDn	Moves down one screen
Ctrl+PgUp	Moves to the previous sheet
Ctrl+PgDn	Moves to the next sheet
Alt+PgUp	Moves one screen to the left
Alt+PgDn	Moves one screen to the right
Ctrl+Home	Moves to the first cell in the worksheet (A1)
Ctrl+End	Moves to the last nonempty cell of the worksheet
Ctrl+navigation key	Moves to the edge of a data block; if the cell is blank, moves to the first nonblank cell
Ctrl+Backspace	Scrolls to display the active cell
End, followed by Home	Moves to the last nonempty cell on the worksheet
F5	Prompts for a cell address to go to
F6	Moves to the next pane of a window that has been split
Shift+F6	Moves to the previous pane of a window that has been split
Ctrl+Tab	Moves to the next window
Ctrl+Shift+Tab	Moves to the previous window
Ctrl+F6	Moves to the next window
Ctrl+Shift+F6	Moves to the previous window

\* With Scroll Lock on

# TABLE D.2

# Selecting Cells in the Worksheet

Key(s)	What It Does
Shift+navigation key	Expands the selection in the direction indicated.
Shift+spacebar	Selects the entire row(s) in the selected range.
Ctrl+spacebar	Selects the entire column(s) in the selected range.

Key(s)	What It Does
Ctrl+Shift+spacebar	Selects the entire worksheet.
Ctrl+Shift+spacebar	If the active cell is within a table. Selects the table without the header row and totals row. Pressing Ctrl+Shift+spacebar again selects the complete table. Pressing Ctrl+Shift+spacebar again selects the entire worksheet.
Shift+Home	Expands the selection to the beginning of the current row.
Ctrl+*	If the active cell is within a multicell range, selects the block of data surrounding the active cell.
F8	Extends the selection as you use navigation keys. Press F8 again to return to normal selection mode.
Shift+F8	Adds other nonadjacent cells or ranges to the selection; pressing Shift+F8 again ends Add mode.
F5	Prompts for a range or range name to select.
Ctrl+G	Prompts for a range or range name to select.
Ctrl+A	Selects the entire worksheet.
Ctrl+A	If the active cell is within a table. Selects the table without the header row and totals row. Pressing Ctrl+Shift+spacebar again selects the complete table. Pressing Ctrl+Shift+spacebar again selects the entire worksheet.
Shift+Backspace	Cancels a range selection and selects only the active cell.

# Moving within a Range Selection

Key(s)	What It Does
Enter	Moves the cell pointer. The direction depends on the setting in the Edit tab of the Options dialog box.
Shift+Enter	Moves the cell pointer up to the preceding cell in the selection.
Tab	Moves the cell pointer right to the next cell in the selection.
Shift+Tab	Moves the cell pointer left to the preceding cell in the selection.
Ctrl+period (.)	Moves the cell pointer to the next corner of the current cell range.
Shift+Backspace	Collapses the cell selection to just the active cell.

# TABLE D.4

# Editing Keys in the Formula Bar

Key(s)	What It Does
F2	Begins editing the active cell
Navigation keys	Moves the cursor one character in the direction of the arrow

continued

TABLE D.4   (continued)	
Key(s)	What It Does
Home	Moves the cursor to the beginning of the line
End	Moves the cursor to the end of the line
$Ctrl+\rightarrow$	Moves the cursor one word to the right
Ctrl+←	Moves the cursor one word to the left
F3	Displays the Paste Name dialog box when you're creating a formula
Ctrl+A	Displays the Function Arguments dialog box (after you type a function name in a formula)
Del(ete)	Deletes the character to the right of the cursor
Ctrl+Del(ete)	Deletes all characters from the cursor to the end of the line
Backspace	Deletes the character to the left of the cursor
Esc	Cancels the editing

# Formatting Keys

Key(s)	What It Does
Ctrl+1	Displays the Format dialog box for the selected object
Ctrl+B	Sets or removes boldface
Ctrl+I	Sets or removes italic
Ctrl+U	Sets or removes underlining
Ctrl+5	Sets or removes strikethrough
Ctrl+Shift+~	Applies the general number format
Ctrl+Shift+!	Applies the comma format with two decimal places
Ctrl+Shift+#	Applies the date format (day, month, year)
Ctrl+Shift+@	Applies the time format (hour, minute, a.m./p.m.)
Ctrl+Shift+\$	Applies the currency format with two decimal places
Ctrl+Shift+%	Applies the percent format with no decimal places
Ctrl+Shift+&	Applies border to outline
Ctrl+Shift+_	Removes all borders

Other Shortcut Keys	
Key(s)	What It Does
Ctrl+F1	Toggles the display of the Ribbon
Alt+=	Inserts the AutoSum formula
Alt+Backspace	Equivalent to Undo
Alt+Enter	Starts a new line in the current cell
Ctrl+;	Enters the current date
Ctrl+:	Enters the current time
Ctrl+0 (zero)	Hides columns
Ctrl+6	Cycles among various ways of displaying objects on a worksheet
Ctrl+8	Toggles the display of outline symbols
Ctrl+9	Hides rows
Ctrl+[	Selects direct precedent cells
Ctrl+]	Selects directly dependent cells
Ctrl+C	Equivalent to Home 🕫 Clipboard 🕏 Copy
Ctrl+D	Equivalent to Home 다 Editing 다 Fill 다 Down
Ctrl+F	Equivalent to Home 🕫 Editing 🕏 Find & Select 🕫 Find
Ctrl+H	Equivalent to Home 다 Editing 다 Find & Select 다 Replace
Ctrl+K	Equivalent to Insert 다 Links 다 Hyperlink
Ctrl+N	Creates a new workbook
Ctrl+O	Equivalent to File 🞝 Open
Ctrl+P	Equivalent to File 🞝 Print
Ctrl+R	Equivalent to Home 다 Editing 다 Fill 다 Fill Right
Ctrl+T	Equivalent to Insert 🗘 Tables 🖒 Table
Ctrl+Shift+T	Toggles the Total row in a table
Ctrl+Shift+L	Toggles the AutoFilter controls in a table
Ctrl+S	Equivalent to File 🞝 Save
Ctlr+Alt+V	Equivalent to Home 다 Clipboard 다 Paste 다 Paste Special
Ctrl+Shift+(	Unhides rows in the selection
Ctrl+Shift+)	Unhides columns in the selection
Ctrl+Shift+A	Inserts the argument names and parentheses for the function (after you type a valid function name in a formula)
Ctrl+V	Equivalent to Home 🕏 Clipboard 🕏 Paste
Ctrl+X	Equivalent to Home 다 Clipboard 다 Cut
Ctrl+7	Undo

<b>Function Keys</b>	5
----------------------	---

Key(s)	What It Does
F1	Displays Help
Alt+F1	Inserts default chart object that uses the selected range
Alt+Shift+F1	Inserts a new worksheet
F2	Edits the active cell
Shift+F2	Edits a cell comment
Alt+F2	Equivalent to File 🕏 Save As
Alt+Shift+F2	Equivalent to File 🕏 Save
F3	Pastes a name into a formula
Shift+F3	Pastes a function into a formula
Ctrl+F3	Equivalent to Formulas 🕫 Defined Names 🕫 Name Manager
Ctrl+Shift+F3	Equivalent to Formulas 🕫 Defined Names 🕫 Create From Selection
F4	Repeats the last action
Shift+F4	Repeats the last Find (Find Next)
Ctrl+F4	Closes the window
Alt+F4	Equivalent to File 🕏 Exit
F5	Equivalent to Home 🕫 Editing 🕫 Find & Select 🕫 Go To
Shift+F5	Equivalent to Home 🕏 Editing 🕏 Find & Select 🕏 Find
Ctrl+F5	Restores a minimized or maximized workbook window
Alt+F5	Refreshes active query or pivot table
F6	Moves to the next pane
Shift+F6	Moves to the previous pane
Ctrl+F6	Activates to the next window
Ctrl+Shift+F6	Activates the previous workbook window
F7	Equivalent to Review 🕫 Proofing 🕫 Spelling
Ctrl+F7	Allows moving the window with the arrow keys
F8	Extends a selection (toggle)
Shift+F8	Adds to the selection (toggle)
Ctrl+F8	Allows resizing the window with the arrow keys
Alt+F8	Equivalent to View 🕏 Macros 🕫 Macros, or Developer 🕫 Code 🕫 Macros
F9	Calculates all sheets in all open workbooks
Shift+F9	Calculates the active worksheet

Key(s)	What It Does
Ctrl+Alt+F9	Global calculation
Ctrl+F9	Minimizes the workbook
F10	Displays keytips for the Ribbon
Shift+F10	Displays a shortcut menu for the selected object (equivalent to right-clicking)
Ctrl+F10	Maximizes or restores the workbook window
F11	Creates a chart in a chart sheet
Shift+F11	Inserts a new worksheet
Ctrl+F11	Inserts an Excel 4.0 macro sheet
Alt+F11	Equivalent to Developer 다 Code 다 Visual Basic
F12	Equivalent to File 🕏 Save
Shift+F12	Equivalent to File 🖒 Save
Ctrl+F12	Equivalent to File 🕏 Open
Ctrl+Shift+F12	Equivalent to File 다 Print

# Undex

# SPECIAL CHARACTERS AND NUMERICS

#DIV/0! error, 219, 653-654 #N/A error, 219, 360, 654-655 #NAME? error, 655 #NULL! error, 219, 655 #NUM! error, 219, 396-397, 655 #REF! error, 219, 656 #VALUE! error, 219, 656 & (ampersand), 234 \* (asterisk) wildcard character, 77-78, 242, 568 @ (at) symbol, 217 = (equal sign), 203 # (hash mark) character, 67, 218 ? (question mark) wildcard character, 77, 242 ~ (tilde) character, 78, 242  $3 \times 4$  array constant, 361-3623-D area chart, 428 3-D charts, 464-465 3-D clustered column chart, 421 3-D data point, 432 3-D line chart, 423 15-digit accuracy, 31 64-bit version, 4, 677 1900 date system, 250 1904 date system, 250

# A

Above average conditional formatting rule, 481 ABS function, 274, 926 absolute references Data Validation dialog box, 575 formulas and functions, 210–212 problems with, 657 accelerator key, 19, 856 Accelerator property CheckBox control, 866 OptionButton control, 869 Accept or Reject Changes dialog box, 635

Access database program versus Excel, 678 importing tables, 679-680 Accounting format, Format Cells dialog box, 46-47, 554 Accounting Number Format button, Ribbon, 553 Accounting Number Format drop-down list, 44 ACCRINT function, 923 ACCRINTM function, 923 ACOS function, 926 ACOSH function, 926 actions, VBA, 813 Activate event, 876, 879 activating embedded chart, 405, 413 active area, worksheet, 172 active cell, 8-9 Active cell indicator, 6-7 active objects, VBA, 814 Active Sheets printing option, 178 active window, 51 active workbook, 50 ActiveX controls CheckBox, 866-867 ComboBox, 867-868 CommandButton, 868 Image, 868 Label, 868 ListBox, 868-869 OptionButton, 869 overview, 861 ScrollBar, 869-870 SpinButton, 870-871 TextBox, 871-872 ToggleButton, 872 Add a Digital Signature command, Info pane, 155 Add button Consolidate dialog box, 601 Customize Quick Access Toolbar, 41 Add Constraint dialog box, 767 Add operation, Paste Special dialog box, 599 Add Scenario dialog box, 755 Add to Dictionary button, Spelling dialog box, 672 Add View dialog box, 191

# Index

AddinInstall event, 876 add-ins, 514. See also custom add-ins Add-Ins dialog box installing add-ins, 913 overview, 904-905 AddIns object, 814 Add-Ins tab, Ribbon, 11 AddinUninstall event, 876 address cell, 8-9, 69 range, 69 ADDRESS function, 328, 385, 926 Advanced tab Excel Options dialog box, 36-38, 52, 439, 519, 806 Share Workbook dialog box, 631-633 age, calculating, 265-266 AGGREGATE function, 201, 204-205, 380, 926 alert messages, 900 Align with Page Margins check box, 187 aligning objects, 523 Alignment tab Format Axis dialog box, 452 Format Cells dialog box, 15, 122, 125 All Commands option, Choose Commands From drop-down list, 544 All Except Borders option, Paste Special dialog box, 88 All merging conditional formats option, Paste Special dialog box, 88 All Methods tab, Solver Options dialog box, 770-771 All option, Paste Special dialog box, 87 All References list box, Consolidate dialog box, 600 All Using Source Theme option, Paste Special dialog box, 88 allocating resources.xlsx sample file, 941 Allow drop-down list, Data Validation dialog box, 571 Allow Users to Edit Ranges dialog box, 641 Alphabetic tab, Properties window, 863 alternate-rows, shading, 497 Always Show Document Information Panel on Document Open and Initial Save check box, 151 AMORDEGRC function, 923 AMORLINC function, 923 ampersand (&), 234 Analysis ToolPak add-in WORKDAY function, 264 counting formulas, 297-298 installing, 298, 782 overview, 781-782, 905 tools Analysis of Variance, 784 Correlation, 784-785

Covariance, 785 Descriptive Statistics, 785-786 exponential smoothing, 786 Fourier Analysis, 787 F-Test, 786-787 Histogram, 787-788 Moving Average, 788-789 overview, 783 Random Number Generation, 789-790 Rank and Percentile, 790 Regression, 790-791 Sampling, 791-792 t-Test, 792 z-Test, 792 using, 783 Analysis ToolPak-VBA add-in, 905 And criteria, 289-291, 305-307 AND function, 925 angled text, displaying, 125-126 animated border, 79 annuity, 348 annuity calculator.xlsx sample file, 937 ANSI character set, 231-232 Any Value option, Data Validation dialog box, 571 Application close button, 6-7 Application minimize button, 6-7 Application object, 814, 816 Application.ActiveCell property, 816 Application. ActiveSheet property, 816 Application. ActiveWorkbook property, 816 applications, on CD, 934 Application.Selection property, 816 Apply Names dialog box, 226 Apply These Changes to All Other Cells with the Same Setting check box, 572 area charts, 427-428 area charts.xlsx sample file, 938 AREAS function, 926 Areas method, 895 arguments formulas and functions, 201-202 function procedure, 828-833 Arrange command, 521 Arrange Windows dialog box, 51 array, defined, 355 array argument, 316 array examples.xlsx sample file, 937 array formula calendar.xlsx sample file, 937 array formulas #VALUE! error, 656 array constant elements, 360

array dimensions one-dimensional horizontal, 360-361 one-dimensional vertical, 361 two-dimensional, 361-362 creating array constants, 358-359 defined, 750 editing, 364-365 entering, 364 entry error, 650 multicell creating array constant from values in ranges, 367 creating array from values in ranges, 366-367 displaying calendar, 398-399 expanding or contracting, 365-366 generating array of consecutive integers, 370-371 overview, 356-357 performing operations on arrays, 368 returning list of unique items, 396-398 returning nonblank cells, 394-395 returning only positive values, 394 reversing order of cells, 395-396 sorting range of values dynamically, 396 transposing array, 369-370 using functions with array, 369 naming array constants, 362-363 overview, 355-356 performing case-sensitive lookup, 320 selecting range, 364 single-cell computing averages that exclude zeros, 381-382 counting characters in range, 371-372 counting differences in two ranges, 384 counting error values, 380-381 counting text cells in range, 373-374 determining closest values, 391 determining whether particular values appears, 383-384 determining whether range contains valid values, 386 eliminating intermediate formulas, 374-376 finding row of value's nth occurrence, 385 overview, 357-358 ranking data, 392-393 removing non-numeric characters from strings, 390 returning last value in columns, 391-392 returning last value in rows, 392 returning locations of maximum values, 384-385 returning longest text, 385 summing digits of integers, 386-387 summing every nth value, 388-390 summing ranges that contain errors, 379-380 summing rounded values, 388 summing smallest values in ranges, 372-373

summing the n largest values, 381 using arrays instead of range reference, 376-377 Artistic Effects feature, Office 2010, 533 ASIN function, 926 ASINH function, 927 Ask Me Which Changes Win option, Share Workbook dialog box, 633 asterisk (\*) wildcard character, 77-78, 242, 568 at (@) symbol, 217 ATAN function, 927 ATAN2 function, 927 ATANH function, 927 atp examples.xlsx sample file, 941 Auditing tools background error-checking feature, 665-667 fixing circular reference errors, 665 Formula Evaluator feature, 667-668 identifying cells of particular types, 661-662 tracing cell relationships identifying dependents, 665 identifying precedents, 664 overview, 663-664 tracing error values, 665 viewing formulas, 662-663 AutoComplete feature, 39 AutoCorrect button, Spelling dialog box, 672 AutoCorrect dialog box, 40, 233, 672-674 AutoCorrect feature, 40, 672-674 AutoCorrect Options button, AutoCorrect feature, 40 AutoCorrect tab, AutoCorrect feature, 40 AutoFill feature copying to adjacent cells, 83 generating series of dates, 260-261 overview, 38-39 worksheet data entry, 23 AutoFill handle, 38 autofiltering, 282 AutoFit Column Width option, 68 AutoFormat as You Type tab, AutoCorrect dialog box, 674 Automatic Calculation mode, 220 Automatic item grouping, pivot table, 717 automatic number formatting, 43-44, 552 automatic percent-entry feature, 44 Automatic Update option, Edit Links dialog box, 595 Automatically Every setting, Share Workbook dialog box, 632 Automatically Except for Data Tables option, 222 Automatically Insert a Decimal Point check box, Excel Options dialog box, 38 AutoRecover feature recovering unsaved work, 149-150 recovering versions of current workbooks, 149

# Index

AutoSize property defined, 864 Image control, 868 TextBox control, 871 auto-updating Sparklines, 513 Available Template screen My Templates icon, 165 New from Existing option, 169 AVEDEV function, 929 AVERAGE function, 200, 375, 382, 929 Average summary formula, 108 AVERAGEA function, 929 AVERAGEIF function, 382, 929 AVERAGEIFS function, 929 averages, that exclude zeros, 381-382 axis categories, 452-455 scaling, Sparkline graphics, 509-510 value, 448-452 Axis Crosses At option, 452 Axis options tab, Format Axis dialog box, 448-449

# B

BackColor property, 864 background error-checking feature, 665-667 background images displaying, 535 printing, 185 worksheet formatting, 130-131 background image.xlsx sample file, 935 Backstage view New page, 162 Print tab, 179 Share tab, 614 BackStyle property, 864 backups, 157 BAHTTEXT function, 932 Banded Columns check box, 107 Banded Rows check box, 107 bank accounts.xlsx sample file, 940 bar charts, 422 bar charts.xlsx sample file, 938 bar of pie chart, 425 basic counting.xlsx sample file, 936 basic lookup examples.xlsx sample file, 937 BeforeClose event, 876, 879 BeforeDoubleClick event, 879 BeforePrint event, 876 BeforeRightClick event, 883, 879

BeforeSave event, 876, 878-879 Bernoulli distribution option, Random Number Generation dialog box, 790 **BESSELI** function, 921 **BESSELJ** function, 921 BESSELK function, 921 BESSELY function, 921 Best Case scenario, Scenario Manager, 755 BETADIST function, 918 BETA.DIST function, 929 BETAINV function, 918 BETA. INV function, 929 bin range, 787 **BIN2DEC** function, 921 BIN2HEX function, 921 BIN2OCT function, 921 binding constraint, 769 BINOMDIST function, 918 BINOM.DIST function, 929 Binomial distribution option, Random Number Generation dialog box, 790 BINOM.INV, 929 bitmap image, 531 Bitmap paste option, Paste Special dialog box, 619 blank cells, counting formulas, 284-285 blank cells not blank error, 651-652 blank skipping, Paste Special dialog box, 89 Blanks option, Go to Special dialog box, 75 Bold button, Ribbon, 14 book.xlt template, 185 Boolean data type, 901 Border tab, Format Cells dialog box, 129, 484 borders, worksheet formatting, 128-129 Borders drop-down list, 128 Bottom vertical alignment option, 124 BoundColumn property ComboBox control, 867 ListBox control, 868 breaking links, 620 Browse button, Consolidate dialog box, 601 bubble charts, 433 bubble charts.xlsx sample file, 938 budget data.accdb sample file, 940 budget.x1sx sample file, 935 built-in data form, 41 built-in date format, 566 buttons, assigning macros to, 810-811 buttons element, MsgBox function, 839 By Changing Cell field, Goal Seek dialog box, 763

By Changing Variable Cells field, Solver Parameters dialog box, 767 By list box, Grouping dialog box, 720 Byte data type, 901

# C

Calculate event, 880 calculated fields, 724-728 calculated fields and items.xlsx sample file, 940 calculated items, in pivot tables creating, 724-725 inserting, 728-731 calculation mode, changing, 341 calendar, displaying in ranges, 398-399 Camera tool, 535 Cancel option, File in Use dialog box, 629 candlesticks, 434-435 Capitalize First Letter of Sentences option, AutoCorrect dialog box, 672 Capitalize Names of Days option, AutoCorrect dialog box, 673 Caption property, 864 Cascading Style Sheets (CSS), 609 case changing, 239-240 lookup formulas, 320-321 case sensitive password, 151 Categorized tab, Properties window, 863 category axis, 407, 452-455 Category field, database table, 698 category\_labels argument, 459 CD applications, 934 eBook version of Excel 2010 Bible, 934 sample files for Excel 2010 Bible, 934-942 system requirements, 933 troubleshooting, 942 using, 933-934 CEILING function, 927 CEILING. PRECISE function, 927 cell dependents, 663 CELL function, 925 cell precedents, 663 cell references.xlsx sample file, 936 Cell Styles command, 132 cells. See also ranges blank, 317-318, 651-652 changing, 753, 765 comments changing shape, 96 deleting, 98

editing, 98 formatting, 95 hiding and showing, 97 overview, 94-95 printing, 96-97 reading, 96 selecting, 97-98 conditional formatting copying, 500 locating, 501 counting and summing, 281-283 counting characters in, 243 counting formulas, 283-285 counting occurrences of specific text, 292-293 counting occurrences of substrings in, 243-244 creating drop-down list, 573 Data Validation feature, 574-575 data-entry techniques AutoComplete feature, 39 AutoCorrect feature, 40 AutoFill feature, 38-39 automatically moving the cell pointer, 37 Ctrl+Enter key combination, 38 current date or time, 42 decimal points, 38 forcing text to appear, 40 forms, 40-42 navigation keys, 37 numbers with fractions, 40 selecting range of input cells, 38 defined, 5 editing contents, 35-37 erasing contents, 35 filled with hash marks, 651 filling with repeating characters, 568 identifying particular type, 661-662 joining, 234-235 linking controls to, 864 look up address of values within range, 326 merging, 124-125 overview, 34, 69 printing gridlines, 183-184 prompting for values, 893 references in changing types of, 212 from other workbooks, 213-214 from other worksheets, 212-213 overview, 209-210 relative, absolute, and mixed, 210-212 referencing within pivot tables, 733-735 replacing contents, 35

# Index

result, 759 reversing order of, 395-396 selecting complete rows and columns, 71 multisheet ranges, 72-74 noncontiguous ranges, 71-72 ranges, 70 by searching, 76-78 special types of cells, 74-76 shortcuts for selecting in worksheet, 950-951 Sparkline, 507 summing all in range, 299-300 target, 765 tracing relationships identifying dependents, 665 identifying precedents, 664 overview, 663 unlocking, 639-640 Center across Selection horizontal alignment option, Format Cells dialog box, 123 Center command, Ribbon, 14 Center horizontal alignment option, Format Cells dialog box, 123 Center vertical alignment option, Format Cells dialog box, 124 Change All button, Spelling dialog box, 672 Change button, Spelling dialog box, 672 change case.xlam sample file, 942 change case.xlsm sample file, 941 Change Chart Type dialog box, 412, 465-466 Change event, 880 Change History option, Share Workbook dialog box, 632 Change Source button Edit Links dialog box, 595 Links dialog box, 621 Change Source dialog box, 595 Change worksheet event, 880 ChangeCaseOfText procedure, 909 changing cells, 753, 765 Changing Cells field, Add Scenario dialog box, 756 CHAR function, 234, 932 character codes CHAR function, 231-233 CODE function, 231 characters counting in cells, 243 in ranges, 371-372 in strings, 239 extracting from strings, 240-241 filling cells with repeating, 568 removing from strings, 390

Chart Element drop-down control, 439-440 Chart Layouts option, 437 chart macros.xlsm sample file, 942 chart series feature, 439 chart sheet, 5, 49 Chart Styles option, 437 chart tip, 438 Chart Tools contextual tab, 405, 519, 621 Chart Tools control, 468 Chart type option, 437 ChartObject object, 897 ChartObjects object, 815 charts axis category, 452-455 value, 448-452 Chart Area, 443 copying, 414 creating and customizing choosing types, 409, 412 data views, 411 layouts, 409-411 selecting data, 408-409 styles, 412-413 data series 3-D charts, 464-465 adding, 456-457 changing, 457-460 changing range by dragging range outline, 457-458 combination charts, 465-468 data labels, 460-461 deleting, 456 displaying data tables, 468-469 Edit Series dialog box, 458 editing Series formula, 459-460 error bars, 461-463 missing data, 461 overview, 455-456 trendlines, 463-464 deleting, 414 displaying colors in column, 474-475 elements adding, 415 Chart Element Control, selecting with, 439-441 Format dialog box, 441-442 formatting, 415-416 keyboard, selecting with, 439 Mini toolbar, 442 moving and deleting, 415 overview, 437-438
Ribbon feature, 442 selecting with mouse, 438-439 embedded, 405 Gantt, 476-477 gauge, 473-474 gridlines, 448 histogram, 475-476 legends, 446-448 moving, 414 overview, 403-404 picture, 470-471 Plot Area, 444-445 plotting one variable mathematical functions, 477-478 plotting two variable mathematical functions, 479 printing, 416-417 resizing, 414 sheets, 406-407 templates, 469-470 thermometer, 472-473 titles, 445-446 types of area, 427-428 bar, 422 bubble, 433 choosing, 417-419 column, 419-421 doughnut, 429-430 line, 423-424 pie, 424-426 radar, 430-432 stock, 433-436 surface, 432-433 XY (scatter), 426-427 using data bars instead of, 487 VBA macros and applying formatting, 899 modifying properties, 898 modifying type, 898 overview, 897 Charts object, 815 Check Accessibility command, Info pane, 155 check boxes, Ribbon, 14 Check Compatibility command, Info pane, 156 Check for Issues button, 155 Check Mark icon Formula bar, 36 New Formatting Rule dialog box, 491-492 CheckBox control, ActiveX, 844, 859, 861, 866-867 checkerboard shading, 497 Chi Square distribution, 201

CHIDIST function, 918 CHIINV function, 918 CHISO.DIST function, 929 CHISO.DIST.RT function, 929 CHISQ.INV function, 929 CHISQ.INV.RT function, 929 CHISQ.TEST function, 929 CHITEST function, 918 Choose Commands list, Customize Quick Access Toolbar, 41 Choose Data Source dialog box, 682, 684, 690 Choose Details dialog box, 152 CHOOSE function, 311, 926 Christmas Day, date functions, 271 Circle Invalid Data item, Data Validation drop-down list, 572 Circular Reference Warning message, 219 circular references, 219-220, 650, 665 circular reference.xlsx sample file, 936 CLEAN function, 239, 932 Clear All button, Office Clipboard, 85 Clear All command, 35 Clear button, Format Cells dialog box, 484 Clear Comments command, 35 Clear Contents command, 35 Clear Formats command, 35 Clear Hyperlinks command, 35 Clear method, 817 Clear Rules command, Conditional Formatting drop-down list, 483 Click event, 853 client-server network, 628 Clip Art task pane, 22, 531-532 ClipArt button, 470-471 Clipboard button, 470-471 Clipboards overview, 616-617 replacing cell contents, 35 Close button, 50 closest values, determining, 391 closing all workbooks, VBA macros, 896-897 Excel windows, 52-53 clustered column chart, 410, 419 CODE function, 932 codes entering and editing, 812 for number formatting, 558-560 col\_index\_num argument, VLOOKUP function, 312 col\_num argument, INDEX function, 316 Collated option, 180

collections, VBA macros, 814-815 colon operator, 225 color chart columns, 474-475 charts, 430-432 Sparkline graphics, 508 worksheets, 127-128 Color Scale conditional formatting rule, 482 color scale example.xlsx sample file, 939 Color Scales command, Conditional Formatting drop-down list, 483 Columbus Day, date functions, 270 column chart, 418 column charts.xlsx sample file, 938 Column Differences option, Go to Special dialog box, 75 COLUMN function, 497-498, 926 column labels, pivot table, 704 column letters overview, 6-7 replacing table headings, 63 Column Sparkline, 504 Column to Filter list, Query Wizard, 685-686 Column Width dialog box, 68 Column Widths option, Paste Special dialog box, 88 ColumnCount property ComboBox control, 867 ListBox control, 868 columns. See also rows and columns defined, 99 keeping visible while scrolling, 63 selecting entire, 105 COLUMNS function, 926 COMBIN function, 927 combination chart, 407, 465-468 ComboBox control, ActiveX, 844, 861, 867-868 comma operator, 225 Comma Style button Number Format drop-down list, 44 Ribbon, 553 CommandBar object, 913 CommandButton control, ActiveX, 844, 848, 861, 868 commands adding to Quick Access toolbar, 543-545 Ribbon interface, 13-15 Commands Not in the Ribbon option, Choose Commands From drop-down list, 544 comments changing shape, 96 deleting, 98 editing, 98

formatting, 95 hiding and showing, 97 overview, 94-95 printing, 96-97 reading, 96 selecting, 97-98 VBA code, 812 Comments option Add Scenario dialog box, 756 Go to Special dialog box, 75 Paste Special dialog box, 88 comparative histogram.xlsx sample file, 938 Compare Side by Side feature, 61 comparisons, chart, 417 compatibility checking, 157-159 saving for use with older versions, 159-160 Compatibility Category Functions, 918-919 Compatibility Checker dialog box, 156-158 Compatibility Mode section, Info pane, 65, 154 COMPLEX function, 921 compound interest, calculating, 344-346 CONCATENATE function, 235, 932 concatenation operator, 234 conditional colors.xlsx sample file, 938 Conditional Formats option, Go to Special dialog box, 76 conditional formatting copying cells, 500 deleting, 500 formula-based rules formula examples, 496-499 overview, 494-495 relative and absolute references, 495-496 graphics color scales, 487-490 data bars, 485-487 icon sets, 490-494 loan amortization schedule, 337 locating cells, 501 making rules, 484-485 managing rules, 499-500 overview, 481-482 types of, 483-484 Conditional Formatting command, Ribbon, 14 Conditional Formatting drop-down list, 483 conditional formatting examples.xlsx sample file, 939 conditional formatting formulas, 494 conditional formatting formulas.xlsx sample file, 939

Conditional Formatting Rules Manager dialog box, 483 conditional sums multiple criteria using And, 305-306 using And and Or, 307 using Or, 306-307 single criterion only negative values, 303-304 overview, 302-303 values based on date comparisons, 305 values based on different ranges, 304 values based on text comparisons, 305 conditional sum.xlsx sample file, 936 CONFIDENCE function, 918 Confidence Level option, Regression dialog box, 791 CONFIDENCE.NORM function, 929 CONFIDENCE.T function, 929 confirmation message, saving references, 592 Connect button, Create New Data Source dialog box, 683 Connect Data Points with Line option, 461-462 consecutive integers, generating arrays of, 370-371 Consolidate command, consolidating worksheets, 600-601 Consolidate dialog box, 600 consolidating worksheets example of, 601-603 overview, 597-598 refreshing, 604 using Consolidate command, 600-601 using formulas, 598 using Paste Special dialog box, 599 Constant Is Zero option, Regression dialog box, 791 Constants option, Go to Special dialog box, 75 Constraint Precision option, Solver Options dialog box, 771 constraints adding, 767-768 binding, 769 defined, 765 Constraints section, Solver Results dialog box, 769 contextual tabs, Ribbon interface, 13 Contextures, Web site, 948 contiguous range, 71 continuous compounding interest, 346-348 contracting multicell arrays, 365-366 controls defined, 801 UserForm adding, 862 adjusting properties, 862-863 common properties, 863-864

creating macros for, 864-866 design mode, 862 linking controls to cells, 864 overview, 843-844, 861 Convert button, 154 CONVERT function, 921 Convert to Number option, Smart Tag, 230 converting charts to combination chart, 466-467 tables to ranges, 113 Copy method, 888 Copy to New Sheet button, Compatibility Checker dialog box, 158 copying cells and ranges adjacent cells, 82-83 drag-and-drop, 81-82 Office Clipboard, 84-85 to other sheets, 83 overview, 78-79 Paste Special dialog box, 87-89 pasting, 85-86 Ribbon commands, 79-80 shortcut keys, 81 shortcut menu commands, 80-81 chart formatting, 447 charts, 414 from Excel to Word pasting links, 620-622 pasting static information, 617-620 with Office application, 615-617 pivot tables, 708 workbooks, in Word, 624-626 worksheets, 56 Correct Accidental Use of cAPS LOCK key option, AutoCorrect dialog box, 673 Correct TWo INitial CApitals option, AutoCorrect dialog box, 672 CORREL function, 785, 929 Correlation dialog box, 785 Correlation tool, Analysis ToolPak add-in, 784-785 COS function, 927 COSH function, 927 Cost argument, 351 COUNT function, 282, 929 Count Numbers summary formula, 108 Count property, 895 Count summary formula, 108 count unique.xlsx sample file, 936 COUNTA function, 282, 285, 392, 929

### Index

COUNTBLANK function, 282, 284-285, 929 COUNTIF function computing averages that excludes zeros, 382 counting error values in range, 286 counting text cells in range, 373 formulas using, 287 function of, 929 overview, 282 references, 576 COUNTIFS function, 282, 929 counting characters in strings, 239 differences in two ranges, 384 error values in ranges, 380-381 number of words, 248 occurrences of substrings in cells, 243-244 specific characters in cells, 243 text cells in range, 373-374 counting formulas blank cells, 284-285 COUNTIF function, 287 creating frequency distributions FREQUENCY function, 294-295 using a pivot table, 298-299 using formulas, 296-297 using the Analysis ToolPak, 297-298 error values in ranges, 286 logical values, 286 most frequently occurring entry, 291 multiple criteria, 288-291 nonblank cells, 285 nontext cells, 285 number of unique values, 293-294 numeric cells, 285 occurrences of specific text, 292-293 overview, 281 text cells, 285 total number of cells, 283-284 counting text in a range.xlsx sample file, 937 CountLarge property, 895 county data.xlsx sample file, 940 COUPDAYBS function, 923 COUPDAYS function, 923 COUPDAYSNC function, 923 COUPNCD function, 923 COUPNUM function, 923 COUPPCD function, 923 COVAR function, 785, 918 Covariance tool, Analysis ToolPak add-in, 785 COVARIANCE.P function, 929

COVARIANCE.S function, 929 Create Chart dialog box, 736 Create from File tab, Object dialog box, 623, 626 Create Links to Source Data check box, Consolidate dialog box, 601-602, 604 Create Names from Selection dialog box, 92, 325 Create New Data Source dialog box, 682-683 Create New tab, Object dialog box, 623 Create New Theme Colors dialog box, 138-139 Create PivotTable dialog box, 701 Create Sparklines dialog box, 506 Create Table dialog box, 25, 102 credit card payment, calculating, 334-336 credit card payments.xlsx sample file, 937 credit union, 778 CRITBINOM function, 918 criteria argument COUNTIF function, 287 SUMIF function, 302 Criteria pane, Microsoft Query, 690-691 Crop command, 535 CSS (Cascading Style Sheets), 609 Cube Category Functions, 919 cube root.xlsm sample file, 941 CUBEKPIMEMBER function, 919 CUBEMEMBER function, 919 CUBEMEMBERPROPERTY function, 919 CUBERANKEDMEMBER function, 919 CUBESET function, 919 CUBESETCOUNT function, 919 CUBEVALUE function, 919 CUMIPMT function, 332, 923 CUMPRINC function, 332, 923 cumulative sum, computing, 300-302 cumulative sum.xlsx sample file, 937 curly brackets, 284, 359, 362, 364 Currency data type, 901 Currency format, Format Cells dialog box, 46-47, 554 Current Array option, Go to Special dialog box, 75 Current Date button, 186 current date, displaying, 259 current date.xlsm sample file, 941 Current Region option, Go to Special dialog box, 75 Current Time button, 186 Curve and Scribble Shapes, 519 custom add-ins creating, 907-908 defined, 903-904 example of about UserForm, 909-910 adding descriptive information, 911

creating user interface for add-in macros, 912-913 installing add-ins, 913 procedures in Module1, 909 protecting projects, 911-912 setting up workbooks, 908 testing workbook, 910-911 overview, 903-904 reasons for creating, 906 Custom category in the Number tab, Format Cells dialog box, 399 Custom conditional formatting rule, 482 Custom error bar, Format Error Bars dialog box, 462-463 Custom format, Format Cells dialog box, 46-47, 554 Custom Format option, 484 Custom option, Data Validation dialog box, 572 custom templates changing workbook defaults, 166-167 changing worksheet defaults, 167-168 editing, 168 ideas, 170 overview, 165-166 resetting default settings, 168 saving, 170 Custom Value option, Sparkline group, 509 Custom Views feature, 587-588 Custom Views of worksheet, printing, 190-191 custom workbook template, 166 custom worksheet functions debugging, 833-834 example of analyzing, 825-826 custom function, 824 using function in worksheet, 824-825 function procedure arguments function with no argument, 829 function with one argument, 829-831 function with range argument, 832-833 function with two arguments, 831-832 overview, 828-829 function procedures calling custom functions from, 827 overview, 826-827 using custom functions in worksheet formulas, 828 inserting, 834-836 VBA functions, 823 customer list, 630 customer satisfaction charts, 413 Customize button, Customize Regional Options dialog box, 257 Customize Quick Access Toolbar Add button, 41 Choose Commands list, 41

Form button, 41-42 New button, 42 Customize Regional Options dialog box, 257 Customize Ribbon tab, Excel Options dialog box, 548 customizing charts, 408-413 Quick Access toolbar adding new commands, 543-545 overview, 17-19, 541-542 Ribbon feature, 5, 546-549 SmartArt feature, 527-528 Sparkline graphics adjusting axis scaling, 509-510 changing colors and line width, 508 changing type, 508 faking reference lines, 510-512 hidden or missing data, 508 highlighting certain data points, 509 sizing cells, 507 user interface Quick Access toolbar, 541-546 Ribbon feature, 546-549 Cut method, 891

## D

Daily Dose of Excel, Web site, 948 Dalgleish, Deborah, 948 damping factor, 786 Dark style category, tables, 103 data. See also entering and editing data adding in outlines, 588 non-numeric, 715-717 for pivot tables, 698-701 preparing for outlines, 588 ranking with array formulas, 392-393 returned by Query adjusting external data range properties, 688-689 changing, 690 deleting, 690 refreshing, 689-690 selecting from charts, 408-409 sharing with Office applications. See sharing data with Office applications specifying location for, 687-688 transforming with formulas, 240 types of formulas, 30-31 numeric values, 30 overview, 29 text entries, 30

### Index

Data Analysis dialog box, 783 Data bar conditional formatting, 4, 485 data bars in pivot tables, 299 simple, 486-487 using instead of chart, 487 Data Bars command, Conditional Formatting drop-down list, 483 Data Bars conditional formatting feature, 237 Data bars conditional formatting rule, 482 data bars examples.xlsx sample file, 939 Data Consolidate feature, 600 Data field, database table, 698 data label adding to chart, 415 selecting, 439 Data pane, Microsoft Query, 691, 693 data points, 407, 509 data relationships, comparing, 417 data series 3-D charts, 464-465 adding, 456-457 changing by dragging range outline, 457-458 by editing Series formulas, 459-460 using Edit Series dialog box, 458 combination chart, 407, 465-468 data labels, 460-461 deleting, 456 displaying data tables, 468-469 doughnut chart, 429 error bars, 461-463 line chart, 423 missing data, 461 overview, 455-456 pie chart, 424 trendlines, 463-464 data source, Query applications, 682-684 Data tab Analysis ToolPak add-in, 782 Ribbon, 11 Data Table dialog box, 339, 749 Data Table feature, 338, 437 data tables one-input, 748-750 one-way, 338-340 overview, 747-748 two-input, 750-753 two-way, 340-341 Data Validation dialog box, 570-571, 574-575

data validation examples.xlsx sample file, 939 data validation feature adding comments to cells, 98 cell references, 574-575 creating drop-down lists, 573 criteria types, 571-572 formula examples accepting dates by day of week, 577 accepting larger values than previous cell, 576 accepting nonduplicate entries only, 576-577 accepting only values that don't exceed total, 578 accepting text only, 576 accepting text that begins with specific characters, 577 creating dependent lists, 578-579 overview, 575 overview, 569-570 specifying criteria, 570-571 using formulas, 574 Data Validation option, Go to Special dialog box, 76 data views, charts, 411 Database Category Functions, 920 database files, Query application, 681 Databases tab, Choose Data Source dialog box, 682 data-entry techniques AutoComplete feature, 39 AutoCorrect feature, 40 AutoFill feature, 38-39 automatically moving the cell pointer, 37 current date or time, 42 decimal points, 38 forcing text to appear, 40 forms, 40-42 navigation keys, 37 numbers with fractions, 40 selecting a range of input cells, 38 using Ctrl+Enter, 38 Date & Time Category Functions, 920-921 date axis, Sparkline graphics, 512-513 Date category, 254 Date data type, 901 Date format category, 554 Date format, Format Cells dialog box, 46-47 DATE function calculating holiday dates, 268 function of, 920 overview, 258 summing values based on date comparison, 305 TIME function and, 273 date functions age calculation, 265-266 converting nondate string to date, 261-262

current date, 259 date of most recent Sunday, 267 date's quarter, 271 day of week, 267 day of year, 266-267 displaying date, 259-260 first day of week after a date, 267-268 generating series of dates, 260-261 holiday dates Christmas Day, 271 Columbus Day, 270 Easter, 270 Independence Day, 270 Labor Day, 270 Martin Luther King, Jr. Day, 269 Memorial Day, 270 New Year's Day, 269 overview, 268-269 Presidents' Day, 269 Thanksgiving Day, 271 Veterans Day, 270 last day of month, 271 leap year, 271 nth occurrence of day of week in month, 268 number of days between dates, 262 number of work days dates, 263-264 number of years between dates, 265 offsetting dates using only work days, 264 Date option, Data Validation dialog box, 570-572 DATEDIF function, 265-266 dates. See also date functions entering, 33-34, 42 formatting, 566 grouping in pivot tables, 719-721 DATEVALUE function, 258, 260, 920 DAVERAGE function, 920 David McRitchie's Excel Pages Web site, 948 DAY function, 258-259, 920 DAYS360 function, 258, 920 DB function, 350, 923 DCOUNT function, 282, 920 DCOUNTA function, 282, 920 DDB function, 350, 923 Deactivate event, 876, 880 dead formulas, 228 debugging custom worksheet functions, 833-834 DEC2BIN function, 922 DEC2HEX function, 922 DEC2OCT function, 922 Decimal data type, 901

decimal hours, 277-278 Decimal option, Data Validation dialog box, 571 decimal points, 38 Decrease Decimal Places button, Ribbon, 44, 553, 560 default element, InputBox function, 838 default number format, 556 default row height, 68 default templates, 166-168 Default Width command, 68 default workbook template, 166 default worksheet template, 166 DEGREES function, 927 Degrees spinner control, Format Cells dialog box, 126 Delete All Draft Versions command, Info pane, 156 Delete button, Consolidate dialog box, 601 Delete Columns option, Protect Sheet dialog box, 640 Delete command drop-down list, 35 Delete Rows option, Protect Sheet dialog box, 640 deleting chart elements, 415 charts, 414 comments in cells, 98 conditional formatting, 500 data series, 456 queries, 690 rows and columns, 66 worksheets, 54 DELTA function, 922 dependent lists, 578-579 dependent variable, 791 dependent workbook defined, 589 Save As command, 596 dependents, 665 Dependents option, Go to Special dialog box, 76, 665 dependent.x1sx sample file, 939 deposits, future value of compound interest, 344-346 interest with continuous compounding, 346-348 simple interest, 343-344 depreciation, calculating, 350-353 depreciation calculations.xlsx sample file, 937 Description option, Record Macro dialog box, 803 descriptive information, 151, 911 Descriptive Statistics tool, Analysis ToolPak add-in, 785-786 Design contextual tab, 13 Design Mode icon, 862 design mode, UserForm, 862 destination application, 615

Developer tab displaying, 796-797 Ribbon, 11 DEVSO function, 282, 929 DGET function, 920 dialog box launcher, 15 dialog boxes navigating, 19-20 tabbed, 20-21 Different First Page check box, 187 Different Odd & Even Pages check box, 187 digital IDs, 647 digital signatures, 646-648 Dim statement, 902 direct cell dependent, 663 direct cell precedent, 663 direct mail.xlsx sample file, 940 Disable All Macros with Notification option, Trust Center dialog box, 797 disabling Mini toolbar, 118 DISC function, 923 Discrete distribution option, Random Number Generation dialog box, 790 Display Options for This Workbook section, 174, 519 display preferences, files, 147 Display Unit as Millions settings, 451 Display Units settings, 451 displaying current time, 272-273 data tables, 468-469 icons in cells, 490 image inside comment, 95 Open dialog box, 143 Page Setup dialog box, 653 scenarios, 757 time, 273 UserForms, 846 Win/Loss Sparkline goal achievement, 511 Distributed horizontal alignment option, Format Cells dialog box, 123 Distributed vertical alignment option, Format Cells dialog box, 124 Distribution drop-down list, Random Number Generation dialog box, 790 #DIV/0! error, 219, 653-654 dividends, 778 DMAX function, 920 DMIN function, 920

Document Information Panel dialog box, 151 Document Inspector dialog box, 646-647 Document Properties panel, 911 document theme applying, 137 customizing, 138-139 overview, 135-136 Sparkline graphics color, 508 DOLLAR function, 236, 932 DOLLARDE function, 923 DOLLARFR function, 923 Don't Keep Change History button, Share Workbook dialog box, 632 Don't Move or Size with Cells option, 520 Don't Update option, 592 Double data type, 901 double-clicking charts, 415 "double-spaced" effect, 67 doughnut charts, 429-430 doughnut charts.xlsx sample file, 938 Down arrow key, 10 DPRODUCT function, 920 Draft Mode indicator, 440 draft versions, 149 drag-and-drop method versus cut and paste method, 81-82 multiple windows, 60 noncontiguous ranges, 72 Draw Border command, 128 Draw Border Grid command, 128 draw layer, 5 Drawing Tools contextual menu, WordArt, 530 Drawing Tools tab, Equation Editor, 536 drawings. See pictures and drawings drop-down lists, data validation feature, 573 DSTDEV function, 920 DSTDEVP function, 920 DSUM function, 282, 920 duplicate rows, 109 Duplicate values conditional formatting rule, 482 DURATION function, 923 DVAR function, 920 DVARP function, 920 dynamic chart, 405 dynamic consolidation, 600 dynamic model, 745 dynamic ranges, Sparkline graphics, 514-515 dynamic updating, consolidation, 598

# E

Easter, date functions, 270 eBook version, 934 EDATE function, 258, 920 Edit button Scenario Manager dialog box, 758 Select Data Source dialog box, 446 Edit Criteria dialog box, 691 Edit Formatting Rule dialog box, 493 Edit Links dialog box, 593-594, 660 Edit mode multiple formatting styles in single cell, 121 overview, 36 Edit Objects option, Protect Sheet dialog box, 640 Edit Scenarios option, Protect Sheet dialog box, 640 Edit Series dialog box charts, 458 defined, 446 Edit Sparklines dialog box, 513 editing, 440. See also entering and editing data Editing tab, Share Workbook dialog box, 631 EFFECT function, 923 element codes, headers and footers, 186-187 elements, of charts, 437-442 Else clause, If-Then-Else structure, 818 embedded chart activating, 405, 413 changing data range, 457 embedding objects in worksheets non-Word documents, 623 overview, 622 Word documents, 623 workbooks in Word copying, 624-626 creating new Excel objects, 626 saved workbooks, 626 employee list.xlsx sample file, 940 Enable Automatic Percent Entry check box, 44, 552 Enable Background Error Checking check box, 209, 665 Enable Content button Security Warning panel, 153, 934 Trust Center dialog box, 797 Enable Iterative Calculation setting, 220 Encrypt Document dialog box, 150, 642 Encrypt with Password command, Info pane, 155 End Sub statement, 799 end\_period argument

CUMIPMT function, 332 CUMPRINC function, 332 depreciation functions, 351 Engineering Category Functions, 921-922 entering and editing data array formulas, 364 cell contents data-entry techniques, 37-42 editing, 35-37 erasing, 35 overview, 34 replacing, 35 data types formulas, 30-31 numeric values, 30 overview, 29 text entries, 30 date values, 33-34 number formatting automatic number formatting, 43-44 custom number formats, 47-48 Format Cells dialog box, 45-47 overview, 42-43 Ribbon interface, 44 shortcut keys, 45 text and values, 32-33 time values, 33-34 Entire Workbook printing option, 178 EntireColumn property, 890 EntireRow property, 890 entry types, suppressing, 567 EOMONTH function, 258, 920 equal sign (=), 203 Equation Editor feature defined, 5 general discussion, 535-537 Equation Tools tab, Equation Editor, 536 erasing cell contents, 35 ERF function, 922 ERFC function, 922 ERFC. PRECISE function, 922 ERF.PRECISE function, 922 Error Alert tab, Data Validation dialog box, 571, 574 error bars feature, 437, 461-463 Error Checking dialog box, 667 errors. See also names of specific error appropriate for Solver tool, 765 AutoCorrect feature, 672-674

errors (continued) in formulas #DIV/0! errors, 653-654 #N/A errors, 654-655 #NAME? errors, 655 #NULL! errors, 655 #NUM! errors, 655 #REF! errors, 656 **#VALUE!** errors, 656 absolute/relative reference problems, 657 actual versus displayed values, 658-659 blank cells not blank, 651-652 colors, 656 extra space characters, 652 floating point number errors, 659-660 formulas are not calculated, 658 hash mark filled cells, 651 mismatched parentheses, 650-651 operator precedence problems, 657-658 overview, 649-650 "phantom link" errors, 660 returning errors, 653 overview, 219 in ranges, 286 replacing information, 670 searching for formatting, 670-671 searching for information, 669-670 spell checking worksheets, 671-672 summing ranges containing, 379-380 tools for background error-checking feature, 665-667 fixing circular reference errors, 665 Formula Evaluator feature, 667-668 identifying cells of particular type, 661-662 tracing cell relationships, 663-665 tracing error values, 665 viewing formulas, 662-663 ERROR. TYPE function, 925 Euro Currency Tools, 905 Evaluate button, Evaluate Formula dialog box, 668 Evaluate Formula dialog box, 390, 667 EVEN function, 927 events defined, 846 entering event-handler VBA code, 874-875 non-object events OnKey, 884-885 OnTime, 883-884 not associated with objects, 873

workbook BeforeClose, 879 BeforeSave, 878-879 NewSheet, 878 Open, 876-877 SheetActivate, 878 worksheets BeforeRightClick, 883 Change, 880 monitoring specific range for changes, 881 SelectionChange, 882-883 Evolutionary tab, Solver Options dialog box, 770 EXACT function, 234, 932 Excel Options dialog box adding comments to cells, 94-95 Advanced tab, 36-38, 52, 439, 519, 806 Automatically Insert a Decimal Point check box, 38 Customize Ribbon tab, 548 Formulas tab, 665-666 Language tab, 127 Quick Access Toolbar section, 18 Reset button, 547 Reset Ignored Errors button, 666 Save Files in This Format option, 148 Selection option, 118 Set Precision as Displayed check box, 659 Set Precision as Displayed option, 551 Show Mini Toolbar on Selection option, 17 Transition Navigation Keys option, 949 Excel shortcut keys. See shortcut keys EXP function, 927 expanding multicell arrays, 365-366 exploded view, pie chart, 425 **EXPONDIST** function, 918 EXPON.DIST function, 929 exponential smoothing tool, Analysis ToolPak add-in, 786 Export All Customization option, 546 exporting graphic objects, 525 Extended Date Functions add-in, 256 external cell references, 590 External Data Properties dialog box, 688-689 External Data Range Properties dialog box, 612-613 external database file data data returned by Query adjusting external data range properties, 688-689 changing, 690 deleting, 690 refreshing, 689-690 importing Access tables, 679-680 overview, 677-678

retrieving data database file, 681 overview, 680 selecting data source, 682-684 specifying location for data, 687-688 using Query Wizard, 684-687 using without Wizard, 690-693 external reference formulas changing link source, 595 changing startup prompt, 594 creating link formulas by pointing, 591 creating links to unsaved workbooks, 592 link formula syntax, 590-591 opening workbook with, 592-594 pasting links, 591 severing links, 595 updating links, 594-595 extracting all but first word of strings, 245 characters from strings, 240-241 filenames from path specifications, 244 first, middle, and last names, 245-247 last word of strings, 244-245 extreme color scale.xlsx sample file, 939

# F

FACT function, 927 FACTDOUBLE function, 927 Factor argument, 351 FALSE function, 925 Favorite Links list, 146 FDIST function, 918 F.DIST function, 929 F.DIST.RT function, 929 fence-post analogy, 262 field, database, 678 field buttons, pivot chart, 738 15-digit accuracy, 31 File Block Policy, 145 File button, 4, 6-7, 470-471 File in Use dialog box, 629 File Name button, 187 File Name field, Save As dialog box, 148 File Now Available dialog box, 629 File Path button, 187 File Tab option, Choose Commands From drop-down list, 544 files. See also workbooks AutoRecover feature, 149-150 compatibility checking, 157-159 saving for use with older versions, 159-160

display preferences, 147 Info options Compatibility Mode section, 154 Permissions section, 154-155 Prepare for Sharing section, 155-156 Security Warning section, 153-154 Versions section, 156 names of extracting from path specification, 244 filtering, 146-147 organizing, 151-153 overview, 141-142 passwords, 150-151 reservations, 628-629 safeguarding, 157 fill handle, 23 Fill horizontal alignment option, Format Cells dialog box, 123 Fill tab, Format Cells dialog box, 484 Filter button, Name Manager dialog box, 660 Filter command, shortcut menu, 113 Filter Data dialog box, Query Wizard, 685 filtering data, Query Wizard, 685-686 with slicers, 731-733 tables, 112-113 final mark, workbooks, 646 financial application formulas. See formulas, for financial applications Financial Category Functions, 923-924 financial functions, 4, 331 Find All button, Find and Replace dialog box, 669 Find and Replace dialog box, 76-77, 252, 501, 552, 668-671 Find Format dialog box, 670 FIND function, 242, 932 Finish button, Query Wizard, 686-687 FINV function, 918 F.INV function, 929 F.INV.RT function, 929 First Column check box, 107 First Point option, Sparklines, 509 FISHER function, 930 FISHERINV function, 930 fixed decimal-places option, 38 FIXED function, 932 fixed pitch font, 67 Fixed value error bar, Format Error Bars dialog box, 462-463 fixed-term investment, 344 floating point number errors, 659-660 FLOOR function, 927 FLOOR. PRECISE function, 927 Followed Hyperlink style, 611

### Index

FollowHyperlink event, 880 Font tab, Format Cells dialog box, 120, 484 fonts modifying in charts, 443 worksheet formatting, 119-122 footers. See headers and footers FORECAST function, 371, 930 Form button, Customize Quick Access Toolbar, 41-42 Form controls, 860 Format Axis dialog box Alignment tab, 452 Axis Options tab, 448-449 displaying, 415 Format button Find What text box, 669 New Formatting Rule dialog box, 484-485 Format Cells dialog box Alignment tab, 122 Border tab, 129, 484 Clear button, 484 Custom category in the Number tab, 399 Fill tab, 484 Font tab, 484 formatting numbers, 45-47, 554-555 Number tab, 254, 484 overview, 118-119 pivot tables, 703 Protection tab, 639 tabbed dialog boxes, 19-21 Format Cells option, Protect Sheet dialog box, 640 Format Chart Area dialog box, 189, 417 Format Columns option, Protect Sheet dialog box, 640 Format Comment dialog box, 95 Format contextual tab, 13 Format Data Labels dialog box, 460 Format Data Point dialog box, 456 Format Data Series dialog box displaying, 456 Series Options tab, 425, 475 Format Data Table dialog box, 468-469 Format dialog box charts, 441-442 Properties tab, 189 Format Error Bars dialog box, 462-463 Format Painter button, 131 Format Picture button, 187 Format Rows option, Protect Sheet dialog box, 640 Format Shape dialog box, 522 Format Trendline dialog box, 463-464 Formatted Text (RTF) paste option, Paste Special dialog box, 619

formatting chart elements, 415-416 comments in cells, 95 conditional copying cells, 500 deleting, 500 formula-based rules, 494-495 graphics, 485-494 locating cells, 501 making rules, 484-485 managing rules, 499-500 overview, 481-482 types of, 483-484 data, 693 dates and times, 254-255 numbers automatic, 43-44, 552 creating, 555-560 custom, 47-48 examples of, 560-568 Format Cells dialog box, 45-47, 554-555 overview, 42-43, 551-552 Ribbon interface, 44, 552-553 shortcut keys, 45, 553 pivot tables, 703-705 searching for, 670-671 Shape images, 520-522 shortcut keys, 952 worksheets background images, 130-131 borders and lines, 128-129 colors and shading, 127-128 document themes, 135-139 fonts, 119-122 named styles, 131-135 text alignment, 122-127 tools for, 115-119 Formatting (R) option, 86, 88 forms, data entry, 40-42 Formula Autocomplete feature, 204, 218 Formula AutoCorrect feature, 199, 651 Formula bar array constants, 367 Check Mark icon, 36 defined, 32-33 editing keys, 951-952 overview, 6-7 using as calculator, 227 X icon, 36 formula data, 29-31 Formula Evaluator feature, 390, 667-668

Formula property, 816 Formula tab Excel Options dialog box, 230 Ribbon, 11 Formula view, workbook, 662 formulas. See also array formulas; text formulas arguments, 201-202 calculating amortization schedule, 338 calculating loans with irregular payments, 342 conditional sums using multiple criteria using And, 305-306 using And and Or, 307 using Or, 306-307 conditional sums using single criterion only negative values, 303-304 overview, 302-303 values based on date comparison, 305 values based on different range, 304 values based on text comparison, 305 consolidating worksheets, 598 counting blank cells, 284-285 COUNTIF function, 287 creating a frequency distribution, 294-299 error values in a range, 286 logical values, 286 most frequently occurring entry, 291 multiple criteria, 288-291 nonblank cells, 285 nontext cells, 285 number of unique values, 293-294 numeric cells, 285 occurrences of specific text, 292-293 text cells, 285 total number of cells, 283-284 worksheet cells, 281-283 creating conditional formatting rule, 496 data validation feature accepting dates by day of week, 577 accepting larger values than previous cell, 576 accepting nonduplicate entries only, 576-577 accepting only values that don't exceed total, 578 accepting text only, 576 accepting text that begins with specific characters, 577 creating dependent lists, 578-579 overview, 574 editing, 209 entering into worksheets inserting functions, 206-208 manually, 203

overview, 202-203 pasting range names, 205-206 by pointing, 203-205 tips, 208-209 errors #DIV/0! errors, 653-654 #N/A errors, 654-655 #NAME? errors, 655 #NULL! errors, 655 #NUM! errors, 655 #REF! errors, 656 #VALUE! errors, 656 absolute/relative reference problems, 657 actual versus displayed values, 658-659 blank cells not blank, 651-652 circular references, 219-220 colors, 656 extra space characters, 652 floating point number errors, 659-660 formulas are not calculated, 658 hash mark filled cells, 651 mismatched parentheses, 650-651 operator precedence problems, 657-658 overview, 218-219 "phantom link" errors, 660 returning errors, 653 specifying when formulas are calculated, 220-222 external reference changing link source, 595 changing startup prompt, 594 creating link formulas by pointing, 591 creating links to unsaved workbooks, 592 link formula syntax, 590-591 opening workbook with, 592-594 pasting links, 591 severing links, 595 updating links, 594-595 for financial applications depreciation calculations, 350-353 investment calculations, 343-350 loan calculations, 330-343 time value of money, 329-330 formula-based rules formula examples, 496-499 overview, 494-495 relative and absolute references, 495-496 hard-coding values, 746-747 lookup calculating grade-point averages, 322-323 case-sensitive, 320-321 combining MATCH and INDEX functions, 316-318

formulas, lookup (continued) determining cell address of values within range, 326 determining letter grades for test scores, 322 exact values, 318-319 HLOOKUP function, 313-314 looking up values by using closest match, 327-328 looking up values from multiple lookup tables, 321 LOOKUP function, 314-315 lookup relevant functions, 310-312 overview, 309-310 performing two-way lookup, 323-326 values to left, 319-320 VLOOKUP function, 312-313 making exact copies of, 227-228 naming techniques applying names to existing references, 226 names for constants, 222-223 names for formulas, 223-224 range intersections, 224-226 overview, 30-31, 195-196, 281-282 selecting array formula range, 364 summing all cells in a range, 299-300 computing a cumulative sum, 300-302 "top n" values, 302 worksheet cells, 281-283 syntax of, linking workbooks, 590-591 that use functions, 200-201 transforming data, 240 using cell references changing types of, 212 from other workbooks, 213-214 from other worksheets, 212-213 overview, 209-210 relative, absolute, and mixed, 210-212 using custom functions, 828 using functions in, 199-202 using in tables referencing data, 217-218 summarizing data, 214-216 within a table, 216-217 using operators in operator precedence, 197-199 overview, 196-199 values converting to, 228 hard-code, 227 viewing using Excel Auditing tools, 662-663 Formulas & Number Formatting option, 85, 88

Formulas option defined, 85 Go to Special dialog box, 75, 661 Paste Special dialog box, 87 Formulas tab Excel Options dialog box, 665-666, 764 Function Library group, 206 For-Next loop looping through ranges, 891 modifying chart properties, 898 VBA macros, 818 Fourier Analysis tool, Analysis ToolPak add-in, 787 Fraction format category, 554 Fraction format, Format Cells dialog box, 46-47 fractions displaying, 564-565 entering numbers with, 40 Frame control, 844 free-floating text, 445 FreeForm Shape, 519, 523 freeware programs, 934 Freeze First Column option, 63 Freeze Panes option, 63 Freeze Top Row option, 63 freezing panes, 62-64 frequency distributions creating, 722-724 FREQUENCY function, 294-295 using a pivot table, 298-299 using formulas, 296-297 using the Analysis ToolPak, 297-298 frequency distribution.xlsx sample file, 937 FREQUENCY function arrays and, 371 counting formulas, 294-295 function of, 930 overview, 282 Frontline Systems company, 775 FTEST function, 918 F.TEST function, 930 F-Test tool, Analysis ToolPak add-in, 786-787 Full Screen mode, Quick Access toolbar, 541 Function Arguments dialog box displaying, 208 inserting custom function, 835-836 inserting functions into formulas, 206 specifying arguments, 825 Function drop-down list, Consolidate dialog box, 600 Function keys, 954-955 Function Library group, 206

function plot 2D.xlsx sample file, 938 function plot 3D.xlsm sample file, 938 Function procedure, 800 functions custom worksheet debugging, 833-834 example of, 824-826 function procedure arguments, 828-833 function procedures, 826-828 inserting, 834-836 VBA functions, 823 date age calculation, 265-266 converting nondate string to date, 261-262 current date, 259 date of most recent Sunday, 267 date's quarter, 271 day of week, 267 day of year, 266-267 displaying date, 259-260 first day of week after a date, 267-268 generating series of dates, 260-261 holiday dates, 268-271 last day of month, 271 leap year, 271 nth occurrence of day of week in month, 268 number of days between dates, 262 number of work days dates, 263-264 number of years between dates, 265 offsetting dates using only work days, 264 overview, 258 defined, 801 time adding hours, minutes, or seconds, 278 calculating difference between times, 274-275 converting decimal hours, minutes, or seconds, 277-278 converting from military time, 277 displaying any time, 273 displaying current time, 272-273 non-time-of-day values, 279-280 rounding time values, 279 summing times that exceed 24 hours, 275-277 using in worksheets, 824-825 using with arrays, 369 Future Value (FV), defined, 330 FV function calculating compound interest, 347 calculating final investment amounts, 345 function of, 923

fv function argument, 331 FVSCHEDULE function, 923

## G

GAMMADIST function, 918 GAMMA.DIST function, 930 GAMMAINV function, 918 GAMMA.INV function, 930 GAMMALN function, 930 GAMMALN. PRECISE function, 930 Gantt charts, 476-477 gantt chart.xlsx sample file, 938 Gaps option, 461-462 gauge charts, 473-474 gauge chart.xlsx sample file, 938 GCD function, 927 general array formula type, 374 General format, Format Cells dialog box, 46 General horizontal alignment option, Format Cells dialog box. 122 General number format category, 551, 554, 703 General Options dialog box, 643 GEOMEAN function, 930 **GESTEP** function. 922 GETPIVOTDATA function, 734-735, 926 Go To dialog box, 501 Go to Special dialog box Dependents option, 665 identifying cells, 661 Precedents option, 664 selecting special types of cells, 74-76 Goal Seek tool, 761-764 grade-point averages, 322-323 Grand Total display defined, 704 using calculated items in pivot table, 729 graphic object, exporting, 525 graphics conditional formats using color scale, 487-490 data bars, 485-487 icon sets, 490-494 inserting, 532-533 overview, 531 graphs. See charts Greater than 10 conditional formatting rule, 481 GRG Nonlinear tab, Solver Options dialog box, 770-771 gridlines, charts, 448 Group mode, 73-74

grouping automatically, 719–722 manually, 717–722 Shape images, 522 Grouping dialog box, 717, 720 GroupName property, 869 groups customizing on Ribbon, 546–547 pivot table, defined, 704 GROWTH function, 371, 930

# Η

hands-on example.xlsx sample file, 938 hard drive, backing up, 157 hard-code values, 227, 746-747 HARMEAN function, 930 hash mark (#) character, 67, 218 hash mark filled cells, 651 HasLegend property, 898 Header Row, 110 Header Row check box. 107 Header/Footer tab, Page Setup dialog box, 185 headers and footers element codes, 186-187 options, 187 overview, 185-186 predefined, 186 Height property, 864 Help button, 6-7 Help on This Function link, 206 Help option, 592 help resources Help system, 943 Internet newsgroups accessing by newsreaders, 945 accessing by Web browsers, 945-946 searching, 946-947 Internet Web sites contextures, 948 daily dose of Excel, 948 David McRitchie's Excel Pages, 948 Jon Peltier's Excel page, 948 Mr. Excel, 948 Pearson Software Consulting, 948 Pointy Haired Dilbert, 948 spreadsheet page, 947 Microsoft technical support Microsoft Excel home page, 944 Microsoft Knowledge Base, 944

Microsoft Office Home page, 944-945 options, 944 HEX2BIN function, 922 HEX2DEC function, 922 HEX2OCT function, 922 Hidden and Empty Cell Settings dialog box, 461, 508 hidden data, Sparkline graphics, 508 hiding comments, 97 rows and columns, 66-67 worksheets, 57-58 High Point option, Sparklines, 509 Highlight Changes dialog box, 633-634 Histogram tool, Analysis ToolPak add-in, 297-298, 787-788 histograms, 237-238, 475-476 HLOOKUP function, 311, 313-314, 327, 926 holidays Christmas Day, 271 Columbus Day, 270 Easter, 270 Independence Day, 270 Labor Day, 270 Martin Luther King, Jr. Day, 269 Memorial Day, 270 New Year's Day, 269 overview, 268-269 Presidents' Day, 269 Thanksgiving Day, 271 Veterans Day, 270 holidays.xlsx sample file, 936 Home Tab option, 544 Home tab, Ribbon, 11-12, 116, 120 horizontal alignment options, 122-123 Horizontal Axis Crosses setting, 450-451 horizontal page-break line, 181 Horizontal scrollbar, 6-7 hot key, 19, 856 HOUR function, 272, 920 hourly readings.xlsx sample file, 940 hours, decimal, 277-278 HTML (HyperText Markup Language), 605-609 HTML Format paste option, Paste Special dialog box, 619 hundreds, displaying values in, 561 HYPERLINK function, 926 hyperlinks copying data from Excel to Word, 617 inserting, 610-611 pasting, 620-622 selecting, 611 HyperText Markup Language (HTML), 605-609

HYPGEOMDIST function, 918 HYPGEOM.DIST function, 930 hypocycloid curve, 427

## I

Icon Set conditional formatting rule, 482 icon set examples.xlsx sample file, 939 Icon Sets command, Conditional Formatting drop-down list. 483 identical strings, 233-234 IE (Internet Explorer), 609 IF function #DIV/0! errors, 654 error values, 380 formulas using, 200 function of, 925 hiding cumulative sums for missing data, 301 Lookup formulas, 311-312 returning location of maximum value in range, 384 If statement, 894 IFERROR function #DIV/0! errors, 654 compatibility with older versions, 394 extracting first word of string, 244-245 function of, 925 modified version, 380 overview, 311 testing for error results, 319 If-Then construct, VBA macros, 818 Ignore All button, Spelling dialog box, 672 Ignore Blank check box, Data Validation dialog box, 572 Ignore Error option, 666 Ignore Integer Constraints option, Solver Options dialog box. 771 Ignore Once button, Spelling dialog box, 672 Ignore Print Areas check box, 178 IMABS function, 922 Image control, ActiveX, 844, 861, 868 Image editing enhancements, 4 **IMAGINARY** function, 922 **IMARGUMENT** function, 922 IMCONJUGATE function, 922 IMCOS function, 922 IMDIV function, 922 IMEXP function, 922 IMLN function. 922 IMLOG10 function, 922 IMLOG2 function, 922 Import Customization File option, 546

Import Data dialog box, 687 Import/Export button, 545 importing, 679-680. See also external database file data **IMPOWER** function, 922 **IMPRODUCT** function, 922 IMREAL function, 922 IMSIN function, 922 IMSORT function, 922 IMSUB function, 922 IMSUM function, 922 Include in Personal View settings, 633 income and expense.xlsx sample file, 940 incomplete calculation error, 650 incorrect reference error, 649 Increase Decimal Places button, Ribbon, 44, 553, 560 Increase Font Size button, Ribbon, 14 Indent setting, 123 Independence Day, date functions, 270 independent variables, 791 INDEX function arrays, 363 function of, 926 general discussion, 316-318 Lookup formulas, 311 multiple forms, 208 returning longest text in range, 385 indirect cell dependent, 663 indirect cell precedent, 663 INDIRECT function, 328, 371, 926 INFO function, 925 Info options Compatibility Mode section, 154 Permissions section, 154-155 Prepare for Sharing section, 155-156 Security Warning section, 153-154 Versions section, 156 information replacing, 670 searching for, 669-670 Information Category Functions, 925 Information Rights Management (IRM), 638 Input Message tab, Data Validation dialog box, 571 Input X Range option, Regression dialog box, 791 InputBox function, 838-839, 893 Insert Calculated Field dialog box, 727 Insert Calculated Item dialog box, 729 Insert Chart Dialog box, 470 Insert Columns option, Protect Sheet dialog box, 640 Insert dialog box, 65-66

Insert Function dialog box custom functions, 834-835 overview, 202 Search for a Function field, 207 tips, 208 Insert Hyperlink dialog box, 610 Insert Hyperlinks option, Protect Sheet dialog box, 640 Insert Picture dialog box, 532 Insert Rows option, Protect Sheet dialog box, 640 Insert Shapes command, 6-7, 521 Insert shortcut menu, 106 Insert tab, Ribbon, 11 Insert Worksheet control, 54 inserting custom worksheet functions, 834-836 rows and columns, 65-66 WordArt graphic on worksheet, 530 Inspect Document command, Info pane, 155 inspecting workbook, 646 installing add-ins, 913 Analysis ToolPak add-in, 298, 782 Solver add-in, 765 INT function, 927 Integer data type, 901 integers generating arrays of, 370-371 summing digits of, 386-387 IntegralHeight property ListBox control, 869 TextBox control, 871 INTERCEPT function, 930 interest, calculating, 343-348 interest rate, 330 interface. See user interface intermediary links, 597 Internet backup site, 157 HTML, 605, 607, 609 hyperlinks, 610-611 newsgroups accessing by newsreaders, 945 accessing by Web browsers, 945-946 searching, 946-947 Web formats creating HTML files, 607 creating single file web pages, 607-609 overview, 606 Web queries, 612-613

Web sites contextures, 948 daily dose of Excel, 948 David McRitchie's Excel Pages, 948 Jon Peltier's Excel Page, 948 Mr. Excel, 948 Pearson Software Consulting, 948 Pointy Haired Dilbert, 948 spreadsheet page, 947 Internet Explorer (IE), 609 intersection operator, 224 Interval between Labels setting, 453-454 **INTRATE** function, 923 investment calculations future value of series of deposits, 348-350 future value of single deposit compound interest, 344-346 interest with continuous compounding, 346-348 simple interest, 343-344 investment calculations.xlsx sample file, 937 investment portfolio, optimizing, 778-779 investment portfolio.xlsx sample file, 941 invisible digital signature, 647 IPMT function, 332, 923 IrfanView, 531 IRM (Information Rights Management), 638 IRR function, 655, 923 irregular payment, calculating, 341-343 irregular payments.xlsx sample file, 937 **ISBLANK** function, 925 ISERR function, 286, 925 ISERROR function, 286, 925 **ISEVEN** function, 925 **ISLOGICAL** function, 925 ISNA function, 286, 925 ISNONTEXT function, 285, 925 **ISNUMBER** function, 925 **ISO.CEILING** function, 927 ISODD function, 925 **ISPMT** function, 923 **ISREF** function, 925 ISTEXT function, 925 item, pivot table, 705 Iterations option, Solver Options dialog box, 771

## J

Jelen, Bill, 948 jogging log.xlsx sample file, 936

Jon Peltier's Excel Page, 948 Justify horizontal alignment option, Format Cells dialog box, 123 Justify vertical alignment option, Format Cells dialog box, 124

# K

Keep Source Column Width (W) option, 85 Keep Source Formatting (K) option, 85 key field, 678 keyboard accessing Ribbon via, 15–16 navigating with, 9–10 selecting chart elements, 438–439 keyboard shortcuts, 587. *See also* shortcut keys keytips pop-up, 15–16 KURT function, 930 Kusleika, Dick, 948

# L

Label control, ActiveX, 844, 861, 868 Label Options tab, Format Data Labels dialog box, 460 Labor Day, date functions, 270 landscape orientation, 179 Language tab, Excel Options dialog box, 127 LARGE function function of, 930 with range argument, 832 summing values, 381 LargeChange property, 870 Last Cell option, Go to Special dialog box, 76 Last Column check box, 107 Last Custom Setting, Page Layout view, 180 Last Point option, Sparklines, 509 Layout contextual tab, 13 layouts of charts, 409-411 of SmartArt diagram, 528 LCM function, 927 leap year, 255-256, 271 Left arrow key, 10 Left Column check box, Consolidate dialog box, 602 LEFT function extracting characters from string, 240-241 function of, 932 Left horizontal alignment option, Format Cells dialog box, 122 Left property, 864 legend, chart, 407, 439, 442, 446-448 LEN function counting characters in string, 239 function of, 932

letter grades for test scores, 322 levels, outline, 588 Life argument, 351 Light style category, tables, 103 line chart, 405, 418, 423-424 line charts.xlsx sample file, 938 Line Sparkline, 504 line width, Sparkline graphics, 508 linear equations, 771-773 linear equations.xlsx sample file, 941 lines, worksheet, 128-129 LINEST function function of, 930 returning arrays, 371 Link to File check box, Object dialog box, 626 Linked Picture (I) option, 86 LinkedCell property CheckBox control, 867 ComboBox control, 867 defined, 864 ListBox control, 869 OptionButton control, 869 ScrollBar control, 870 SpinButton control, 871 linking workbooks external reference formulas changing link source, 595 changing startup prompts, 594 creating link formulas by pointing, 591 creating links to unsaved workbooks, 592 link formula syntax, 590-591 opening workbook with, 592-594 pasting links, 591 severing links, 595 updating links, 594-595 overview, 589-590 problem avoidance intermediary links, 597 modifying source workbooks, 596-597 overview, 595 renaming or moving source workbooks, 596 using Save As command, 596 Links dialog box, 621-622 list formulas.xlsm sample file, 941 List option, Data Validation dialog box, 571 ListBox control, ActiveX, 844, 861, 868-869 ListFillRange property ComboBox control, 867 defined, 864 ListBox control, 869

### Index

ListFormulas macro, 820 ListRows property, ComboBox control, 867 list-separator character, 202 ListStyle property ComboBox control, 867 ListBox control, 869 live preview, 132, 137 LN function, 927 loan amortization schedule.xlsx sample file, 937 loan calculations amortization schedule, 337-338 credit card payments, 334-336 data tables one-way, 338-340 two-way, 340-341 example of, 333-334 **IPMT** function, 332 irregular payments, 341-343 NPER function, 333 overview, 330 PMT function, 331-332 PV function, 333 RATE function, 332 loan data tables.xlsx sample file, 937 loan payment calculator.xlsx sample file, 935 loan payment.xlsx sample file, 935, 937 locating functions, 828 LOG function, 927 log scale.xlsx sample file, 938 LOG10 function, 927 LOGEST function function of, 930 returning arrays, 371 Logical Category Functions, 925 logical error, 649 logical values counting formulas, 286 SUM function, 300 LOGINV function, 918 LOGNORMDIST function, 918 LOGNORM. DIST function, 930 LOGNORM. INV function, 930 Long data type, 901 Look In drop-down list, 78, 669 Lookup & Reference Category Functions, 926 lookup formulas calculating grade-point averages, 322-323 case-sensitive, 320-321 combining MATCH and INDEX functions, 316-318 determining cell address of values within range, 326

determining letter grades for test scores, 322 exact values, 318-319 HLOOKUP function, 313-314 looking up values by using closest match, 327-328 looking up values from multiple lookup tables, 321 LOOKUP function, 314-315 lookup relevant functions, 310-312 overview, 309-310 performing two-way lookup, 323-326 values to left, 319-320 VLOOKUP function, 312-313 LOOKUP function #N/A error, 655 function of, 926 general discussion, 314-315 Lookup formulas, 311 lookup\_array argument, MATCH function, 316 lookup\_value argument HLOOKUP function, 314 LOOKUP function, 315 MATCH function, 316 VLOOKUP function, 312 lookup\_vector argument, LOOKUP function, 315 Lotus worksheet file, 255 Low Point option, Sparklines, 509 LOWER function changing text case, 239 function of, 932

## Μ

Macro Name option, Record Macro dialog box, 802 Macro Options dialog box, 810 Macro recorder indicator, 6-7 Macro Settings section, Trust Center dialog box, 797 macros. See also Visual Basic for Applications (VBA) macros creating, 864-866 defined, 795, 801 making available from worksheet button, 855 making available on Quick Access toolbar, 855-856 overview, 795-796 Macros option, Choose Commands From drop-down list, 544-545 Main Tabs, Customize Ribbon drop-down list, 548 major gridlines, 448 Major Tick Mark option, 451 malware, 145 Manage Rules command, Conditional Formatting drop-down list. 483

Manage Versions button, 156 Manual Calculation mode, 221 Manual item grouping, pivot table, 717 manual what-if analysis, 747 Manufacturing sheet tab, 73 "marching ants" border, 79 Margins tab, Page Setup dialog box, 181 Mark as Final option, Info pane, 155 Marker Color control, Sparklines, 509 Markers option, Sparklines, 509 Martin Luther King, Jr. Day, date functions, 269 master workbook, 135 Match Case check box Find and Replace dialog box, 78 Find What text box, 669 Match Entire Cell Contents check box Find and Replace dialog box, 78 Find What text box, 669 MATCH function function of, 926 general discussion, 316-318 Lookup formulas, 311 returning longest text in range, 385 Match Style command, 443 match\_type argument, MATCH function, 316 Math & Trig Category Functions, 926-927 Math AutoCorrect tab, AutoCorrect dialog box, 674 mathematical functions, plotting, 477-479 Max Feasible Solutions option, Solver Options dialog box, 771 MAX function formulas using, 200 function of, 930 returning longest text in range, 385 Max property ScrollBar control, 870 SpinButton control, 871 Max Subproblems option, Solver Options dialog box, 771 Max summary formula, 108 Max Time option, Solver Options dialog box, 771 MAXA function, 930 Maximize (Restore) button, 50 Maximum Axis Value option, 450 MaxLength property, 871 MDETERM function, 927 MDURATION function, 923 MEDIAN function, 930 Medium style category, table, 103 Memorial Day, date functions, 270 Merge & Center control, Ribbon, 125

Merge Across option, 125 Merge Cells option, 125 Merge command, Ribbon, 14 Merge Conditional Formatting (G) option, 86 Merge Scenarios dialog box, 758-759 merging cells, 124-125 name styles, 134-135 scenarios, 758 metadata, 151, 911 methods defined, 801 VBA, 814 Microsoft Excel Chart Object paste option, Paste Special dialog box, 619 Microsoft Excel Worksheet Object paste option, Paste Special dialog box, 619 Microsoft Office Graphic Object paste option, Paste Special dialog box, 619, 621 Microsoft Office Online, 161-162 Microsoft Query. See Query application Microsoft technical support, 944-945 microsoft.public.excel newsgroup, 946 microsoft.public.excel.charting newsgroup, 946 microsoft.public.excel.interopoledde newsgroup, 946 microsoft.public.excel.macintosh newsgroup, 946 microsoft.public.excel.misc newsgroup, 946 microsoft.public.excel.newusers newsgroup, 946 microsoft.public.excel.printing newsgroup, 946 microsoft.public.excel.programming newsgroup, 946 microsoft.public.excel.templates newsgroup, 946 microsoft.public.excel.worksheet.functions newsgroup, 946 MID function extracting characters from string, 240-241 function of, 932 summing integer digits, 386-387 military time, converting, 277 millions, displaying values in, 562-563 MIME HTML file, 606 MIN function function of, 930 gauge charts, 473 returning location of maximum value in range, 385 Min property ScrollBar control, 870 SpinButton control, 870 Min summary formula, 108

MINA function, 930 Mini toolbar, 17, 116-118, 439, 442 Minimize button, 50 Minimize Ribbon button, 6-7, 12 minor gridlines, 448 Minor Tick Mark option, 451 MINUTE function, 272, 921 minutes, decimal adding to a time, 278 converting to a time, 277-278 MINVERSE function function of, 927 returning arrays, 371 MIRR function, 924 mismatched parentheses, formula, 199 missing data, charts, 461 mixed references, 210-212, 300 MMULT function function of, 927 returning arrays, 371 MOD function displaying alternate-row shading, 497-498 function of, 927 summing nth values in range, 389 modal dialog box, 19 MODE function counting frequently occurring entries, 291 function of, 918 modeless dialog box, 19 MODE.MULT function, 930 MODE.SNGL function, 930 Modify Table Quick Style dialog box, 105 Module1 code module, 909 monitor a range.xlsm sample file, 942 Month argument, 351 MONTH function, 258, 921 More Controls option, Activex, 861 More Functions summary formula, 108 mortgage loan data table.xlsx sample file, 941 mortgage loan.xlsx sample file, 940-941 Most Likely scenario, Scenario Manager, 755 mouse navigating worksheets with, 10 selecting chart element with, 438-439 Move and Size with Cells option, 520 Move But Don't Size with Cells option, 520 Move Chart dialog box, 406, 414 Move Down button, Ribbon, 549 Move or Copy dialog box, 56 Move Up button, Ribbon, 549

moving cells and ranges adjacent cells, 82-83 drag-and-drop, 81-82 Office Clipboard, 84-85 to other sheets, 83 overview, 78-79 Paste Special dialog box, 87-89 pasting, 85-86 Ribbon commands, 79-80 shortcut keys, 81 shortcut menu commands, 80-81 chart elements, 415 charts, 414 Excel windows, 51 tables, 106-107 worksheets, 56 Moving Average option, Format Trendline dialog box, 463-464 Moving Average tool, Analysis ToolPak add-in, 788-789 MP3 audio file, embedding, 623 Mr. Excel Web site, 948 MROUND function, 927 MsqBox function debugging custom functions, 833 general discussion, 839-842 multi-cell array formulas.xlsx sample file, 937 multicell arrays creating array constant from values in ranges, 367 creating array from values in ranges, 366-367 expanding or contracting, 365-366 formulas displaying calendar, 398-399 overview, 356-357 returning lists of unique items, 396-398 returning nonblank cells, 394-395 returning only positive values, 394 reversing order of cells, 395-396 sorting range of values dynamically, 396 generating array of consecutive integers, 370-371 performing operations on arrays, 368 transposing array, 369-370 using functions with array, 369 MultiLine property, 872 MULTINOMIAL function, 927 MultiPage control, 844 multiple copies, printing, 180 multiple criteria counting.xlsx sample file, 937 multiple database tables, 692-693 multiple formatted worksheet, 170 multiple windows, worksheet, 60-61

MultiSelect property, 869 multiuser application, 628 music list.xlsx sample file, 940 My Templates icon, Available Template screen, 165

## Ν

N function, 925 #N/A error, 219, 360, 654-655 NA function, 925 Name box Excel screen, 6-7 ranges, 70 #NAME? error, 219, 655 Name Manager dialog box Filter button, 660 overview, 93 Name property, 864 Name text field, New Name dialog box, 91 named constant, 223 named styles applying, 132-133 controlling with templates, 135 creating, 134 merging from other workbooks, 134-135 modifying, 133 overview, 131 names applying to existing references, 226 assigning to cells and ranges Create Names from Selection dialog box, 91-92 creating names, 90-92 managing, 92-94 Name box, 91 New Name dialog box, 90-91 overview, 89-90 removing titles from, 247 using for constants, 222-223 using for formulas, 223-224 of worksheets, changing, 54-55 Names object, 815 naming array constants, 362-363 Narrow setting, Page Layout view, 180 navigating tables, 105 navigation keys, 9-10, 32, 37, 439 negation operator, 658 Negative Points option, Sparklines, 509 negative signs, 565-566 negative times, 274-275 negative values, formula, 303-304

**NEGBINOMDIST** function, 918 NEGBINOM.DIST function, 930 nesting parentheses in formulas, 198 network server, 157 NETWORKDAYS function, 258, 263, 921 NETWORKDAYS.INTL function, 201, 258, 921 networks, 627 New button, Customize Quick Access Toolbar, 42 New Data Source option, Choose Data Source dialog box, 682 New dialog box, 165 New Formatting Rule dialog box customizing color scale, 489 Edit Rule button, 491-492 overview, 484-485 New from Existing option, Available Templates screen, 169 New Group button, Ribbon, 549 New Name dialog box creating arrays, 362-363 creating names for cells and ranges, 91 formulas, 223 overview, 90-91 Refers To box, 212 Refers To field, 224 New page, Backstage view, 162 New Rule command, Conditional Formatting drop-down list, 483 New Tab button, Ribbon, 549 New Table Quick Style dialog box, 103-104 New Web Query dialog box, 612-613 New Year's Day, date functions, 269 newsgroups accessing by newsreaders, 945 accessing by Web browsers, 945-946 searching, 946-947 NewSheet event, 876, 878 newsreaders, 945 1900 date system, 250 1904 date system, 250 No Borders (B) option, 85 No Cell Icon, Edit Formatting Rule dialog box, 493-494 No cells were found message, 74 No Comments or Indicators option, 95 No Switch argument, 351 NOMINAL function, 924 nonblank cells counting, 285 returning from ranges, 394-395 nondate, 250 None summary formula, 108 nonformula cells, unlocking, 169

non-numeric characters pivot tables, 715-717 removing from string, 390 non-object events OnKey, 884-885 OnTime, 883-884 nonprinting characters, 239 nonrelative references, 212 nontext cells, 285 Normal distribution option, Random Number Generation dialog box, 790 Normal Font check box, 120 Normal mode formatting, 440 Normal Probability option, Regression dialog box, 791 Normal setting, Page Layout view, 180 Normal style, cells, 132-133 Normal view, workbooks, 662 normalized data, 700 normalized data.xlsx sample file, 940 NORMDIST function, 918 NORM.DIST function, 930 NORMINV function, 918 NORM. INV function, 930 NORMSDIST function, 918 NORM.S.DIST function, 930 NORMSINV function, 918 NORM.S.INV function, 930 NOT function, 925 Notify option, File in Use dialog box, 629 NOW function, 201, 258, 272, 829, 921 NPER function, 33, 924 nper function argument, 331 NPV function, 924 #NULL! error, 219, 655 null hypothesis, 792 #NUM! error, 219, 396-397, 655 Num Lock key, 9 Number Format drop-down control, 25, 44, 552 Number format, Format Cells dialog box, 46-47, 554 number format string, 556 number formats.xlsx sample file, 939 number formatting automatic, 43-44, 552 creating format codes, 558-560 overview, 555-557 parts of format strings, 557-558 custom, 47-48

examples of dates and times, 566 filling cells with repeating characters, 568 fractions, 564-565 leading zeros, 564 negative signs on right, 565-566 scaling values, 560-563 suppressing entry types, 567 text with numbers, 566-567 Format Cells dialog box, 45-47, 554-555 overview, 42-43, 551-552 Ribbon interface, 44, 552-553 shortcut keys, 45, 553 number formatting.xlsx sample file, 935 Number of Pages button, 186 Number of Random Numbers option, Random Number Generation dialog box, 790 Number of Variables option, Random Number Generation dialog box, 790 Number tab, Format Cells dialog box, 45-46, 254-255, 484, 554 numbers with fractions, 40 ordinal, 247-248 padding, 238-239 serial dates, 249-250 times, 252-253 numeric cells, 285 numeric values, 30

# 0

Object data type, 901 Object dialog box, 622-623 Object Linking and Embedding (OLE), 622 object references, 900-901 object-oriented language, 814 objects creating new in Word, 626 defined, 801 VBA, 813-815 Objects option, Go to Special dialog box, 75 OCT2BIN function, 922 ODBC (Open DataBase Connectivity), 678 ODD function, 927 **ODDFPRICE** function, 924 **ODDFYIELD** function, 924 **ODDLPRICE** function, 924 **ODDLYIELD** function, 924 Office applications. See sharing data with Office applications Office ClipArt, 470-471

Office Clipboard cells and ranges, 84-85 copying and pasting, 79-80 versus Windows Clipboard, 616 Office Online Templates section, 161 OFFSET function function of, 926 Lookup formulas, 311 returning last value in column, 392 OLAP (OnLine Analytical Processing) cube, 678 OLAP Cubes tab, Choose Data Source dialog box, 682 OLE (Object Linking and Embedding), 622 On Error Resume Next statement, 878, 885 one-dimensional array horizontal, 360-361 storing, 355 vertical, 361 one-input data table, 748-750 one-way data table, 338-340 OnKey event, 884-885 OnLine Analytical Processing (OLAP) cube, 678 OnTime event, 883-884 Open and Repair option, Open dialog box, 146 Open as Copy option, Open dialog box, 146 Open DataBase Connectivity (ODBC), 678 Open dialog box compared to Save As dialog box, 148 displaying, 143 Open and Repair option, 146 Open as Copy option, 146 Open in Browser option, 146 Open in Protected View option, 146 Open option, 145 Open Read-Only option, 145 organizing files, 151 resizing, 144 Windows Vista, 144 Open event, 876-877 Open in Browser option, Open dialog box, 146 Open in Protected View option, Open dialog box, 146 Open option, Open dialog box, 145 Open Read-Only option, Open dialog box, 145 operand, 219 Operation section, Paste Special dialog box, 88 operator precedence, 197-199, 657-658 operators, 196-197 Option Explicit statement, 817 OptionButton control, ActiveX, 844, 861, 869 options headers and footers, 187 tables, 107

Options button, Clipboard task pane, 84 Options dialog box. See Excel Options dialog box; Solver Options dialog box Or criteria, formulas, 290-291, 306-307 OR function, 925 order argument, Series formula, 459 ordinal numbers, 247-248 organizing files, 151-153 orientation, chart data, 411 Other Charts category, 429-433 outliers, 417 outline example.xlsx sample file, 939 outlines adding data, 588 creating, 584-587 displaying levels, 587 hiding symbols, 588 overview, 581-584 removing, 588 output Analysis ToolPak add-in, 783 Descriptive Statistics tool, 785-786 F-Test tool, 786-787 Histogram tool, 787-788 paired t-Test dialog box, 792 overriding positioning of category axis, 452 time-based category axis, 454-455

## Ρ

padding numbers, 238-239 Page Break Preview, 172 page breaks, 173, 181-182 Page Layout tab, Ribbon, 11 Page Layout view, 27, 172 page margins, printing, 180-181 Page Number button, 186 page orientation, printing, 179 Page Setup dialog box displaying, 653 Header/Footer tab, 185 printing comments, 97 Sheet tab, 183 page setup settings adjusting page margins, 180-181 background images, 185 changing page orientation, 179 choosing printers, 178 overview, 177-178

page breaks inserting, 181-182 removing, 182 printing cell gridlines, 183-184 multiple copies, 180 row and column headers, 185 row and column titles, 182-183 scaling printed output, 183 specifying paper size, 179-180 what to print, 178-179 Page View buttons, 6-7 PageSetup object, 815 Paired two-sample for means t-Test, 792 panes, worksheets, 62 paper size, printing, 179-180 Parameters section, Random Number Generation dialog box, 789 parentheses, mismatched, 650-651 Pareto option, Histogram tool, 787 Password dialog box, 642 passwords to open workbooks, 641-643 protecting work, 637 specifying, 150-151 Paste (P) option, 85 Paste All button, Clipboard task pane, 84 Paste button, Paste Special dialog box, 619 Paste command, 5 Paste Link (N) option, Paste Special dialog box, 86, 89, 619-620 Paste Name dialog box, 205-206 Paste Options Smart Tag, 617-618 Paste preview option, 5 Paste Special dialog box consolidating worksheets, 599 copying formatting, 500 copying from Excel to Word, 617-620 mathematical operations without formulas, 88 overview, 87-88 skipping blanks, 89 transposing a range, 89 Paste Special option, 86 PasteSpecial operation, 807 pasting cells and ranges, 85-86 linking workbooks, 591 with Office application, 616-617 undoing, 79

pasting links, 590 Path property, 896 Patterned distribution option, Random Number Generation dialog box, 790 Payment (PMT), 330 PDF (Portable Document Format), 645 PDF files, 645-646 Pearson, Chip, 948 PEARSON function, 930 Pearson Software Consulting Web site, 948 peer-to-peer network, 628 per function argument, 331 Percent Style button Number Fromat drop-down list, 44 Ribbon, 553 Percentage error bar, Format Error Bars dialog box, 462-463 Percentage format category, 554 Percentage format, Format Cells dialog box, 46-47 PERCENTILE function, 918 PERCENTILE.EXC function, 931 PERCENTILE.INC function, 931 PERCENTRANK function, 919 PERCENTRANK. EXC function, 931 PERCENTRANK.INC function, 931 period, interest, 330 Period argument, 351 periodic interest rate, 334 periodic sampling, 792 Permissions section, Info options, 154-155 PERMUT function, 931 Personal Macro Workbook, 809-810 PgDn key, 10 PgUp key, 10 "phantom link" errors, 660 photo styles.xlsx sample file, 939 PI function, 928 Pick from Drop-Down List, AutoComplete feature, 39 Picture (Enhanced Metafile) paste option, Paste Special dialog box, 619 Picture (GIF) paste option, Paste Special dialog box, 619 Picture (JPEG) paste option, Paste Special dialog box, 619 Picture (PNG) paste option, Paste Special dialog box, 619 Picture (U) option, 86 Picture (Windows Metafile) paste option, Paste Special dialog box, 619 Picture button, 187 picture charts, 470-471 picture charts.xlsx sample file, 938 Picture Fill tab, Format dialog box, 470

Picture property defined, 864 Image control, 868 pictures and drawings Clip Art task pane, 531-532 displaying worksheet background image, 535 Equation Editor feature, 535-537 graphics files inserting, 532-533 overview, 531 printing changing layout, 528 changing style, 528-529 customizing SmartArt feature, 527-528 inserting SmartArt feature, 525-526 screenshots, inserting, 533-535 Shape images adding text to, 520 aligning and spacing, 523 formatting, 520-522 grouping, 522 inserting, 518-520 overview, 517 printing, 524 reshaping, 523-524 WordArt feature, 530 pie charts, 418, 424-426 pie charts.xlsx sample file, 938 pie of pie chart, 425 pivot charts example of, 736-738 overview, 735 pivot tables appropriate data, 698-700 calculated fields, 724-728 calculated items, 724-725, 728-731 counting formulas, 298-299 creating formatting, 703-705 laying out, 702-703 modifying, 706-708 specifying data, 701 specifying location, 701-702 creating frequency distributions, 722-724 examples of, 696-698, 708-714, 739-741 filtering with slicers, 731-733 formatting option, 4 grouping items automatically by date, 719-721 by time, 722

grouping items manually, 717-718 non-numeric data, 715-717 overview, 695-696, 715-717 pivot charts example of, 736-738 overview, 735 producing reports, 742-743 referencing cells, 733-735 versus worksheet outlines, 584 PivotTable Field List, 702 PivotTable Options dialog box, 705 PivotTables object, 815 PivotTableUpdate event, 880 Plot Area, charts, 444-445 plotting mathematical functions, 477-479 PMT (Payment), 330 PMT function calculating periodic loan payment, 334 function of, 331-332, 924 pmt function argument, 331 pointer, data entry, 37 Pointy Haired Dilbert Web site, 948 Poisson distribution option, Random Number Generation dialog box, 790 POISSON function, 919 POISSON. DIST function, 931 Popular Commands option, Choose Commands From drop-down list, 544 Portable Document Format (PDF), 645 portfolios, optimizing investment, 778-779 positioning axis label, 452 data label, 461 POWER function, 928 PPMT function, 924 pre-1900 dates, 256 precedents, 664 Precedents option, Go to Special dialog box, 76, 664 precision, adjusting, 764 Precision as Displayed option, Excel Options dialog box, 48 Prepare for Sharing section, Info options, 155-156 Present Value (PV), 330 Presidents' Day, date functions, 269 Preview box, Page Setup dialog box, 180 Preview Now button, Query Wizard, 684 PRICE function, 924 PRICEDISC function, 924 PRICEMAT function, 924 Print Area setting, 188

Print button, Page Layout mode, 28 Print Preview, 173 Print tab, Backstage view, 179 Print Titles setting, 188 printing cell comments, 96-97 charts, 416-417 copying settings to other sheets, 188 Custom Views of worksheet, 190-191 headers and footers element codes, 186-187 options, 187 overview, 185 predefined, 186 one click, 171-172 page setup settings adjusting page margins, 180-181 background images, 185 changing page orientation, 179 choosing printer, 178 overview, 177-178 page breaks, inserting, 181-182 page breaks, removing, 182 printing cell gridlines, 183-184 printing multiple copies, 180 printing row and column headers, 185 printing row and column titles, 182-183 scaling printed output, 183 specifying paper size, 179-180 specifying what to print, 178-179 page view Normal view, 173-174 overview. 172-173 Page Break Preview mode, 175-176 Page Layout view, 174-175 pictures and drawings changing layout, 528 changing style, 528-529 customizing SmartArt feature, 527-528 inserting SmartArt feature, 525-526 overview, 525-526 preventing certain cells from being printed, 188-189 preventing objects from being printed, 189 Shape images, 524 Private keyword, 834 PROB function, 931 procedure defined, 801 VBA module, 799, 813

procedure arguments function with no argument, 829 function with one argument, 829-831 function with range argument, 832-833 function with two arguments, 831-832 overview, 828-829 ProcessCells2 procedure, 892 PRODUCT function, 928 production model.xlsx sample file, 941 Project Properties dialog box, 912 project tracking, 630 Project window, VB Editor, 804 prompt element InputBox function, 838 MsgBox function, 839 Proofing tab, AutoCorrect feature, 40 proper case, macro, 838 PROPER function, 200, 239-240, 932 properties adjusting, UserForm controls, 862-864 VBA macros, 815-817 Properties dialog box, 178 Properties tab, Format dialog box, 189 Properties window, 845, 863 property defined, 801 VBA, 814 Protect Current Sheet command, Info pane, 155 Protect Sheet dialog box, 19-20, 638 Protect Workbook button, 150, 154-155 Protect Workbook dialog box, 57, 644 Protect Workbook Structure command, Info pan, 155 Protected View mode, 5, 145 protection. See also passwords digital signatures getting digital ID, 647 overview, 646-647 signing workbooks, 647-648 Information Rights Management (IRM), 638 inspecting workbooks, 646 marking workbooks as final, 646 of projects using custom add-ins, 911-912 safeguarding work, 157 saving worksheet as PDF file, 645-646 types of, 637 VB Projects, 644-645 workbooks protecting structures, 643-644 protecting windows, 644 requiring passwords to open, 641-643

worksheets assigning user permissions, 641 overview, 638 sheet protection options, 640 unlocking cells, 639-640 Protection option Add Scenario dialog box, 756 Style dialog box, 134 Protection tab, Format Cells dialog box, 639 Publish as PDF Or XPS dialog box, 645 Publish to Excel Services option, 614 pushpin icon, 144 PV (Present Value), 330 PV function function of, 924 overview, 333

# Q

quarters, determining, 271 QUARTILE function, 919 QUARTILE.EXC function, 931 QUARTILE.INC function, 931 Queries tab, Choose Data Source dialog box, 682 query, defined, 678 Query application data returned adjusting external data range properties, 688-689 changing, 690 deleting, 690 refreshing, 689-690 database files, 681 overview. 680 Query Wizard choosing columns, 684-685 filtering data, 685-686 Finish step, 686-687 sort order, 686 selecting data source, 682-684 specifying location for data, 687-688 using without Wizard adding and editing records in external database tables, 693 creating query manually, 690-692 formatting data, 693 using multiple database tables, 692-693 question mark (?) wildcard character, 77, 242 Quick Access toolbar adding Camera tool to, 535 adding command, 41

customizing adding new commands, 543–545 overview, 17–19, 541–542 making macros available on, 855–856 overview, 6–7 Quick Access Toolbar tab, Excel Options dialog box, 543–544 Quick Print icon, 171 QUOTIENT function, 928

## R

radar charts, 419, 430-432 radar charts.xlsx sample file, 938 **RADIANS** function, 928 RAND function, 829, 928 RANDBETWEEN function, 228, 928 Random Number Generation dialog box, 789-790 Random Number Generation tool, Analysis ToolPak add-in, 789-790 random sampling, 792 Random Seed field, Random Number Generation dialog box, 790 range argument COUNTIF function, 287 SUMIF function, 302 range copy.xlsm sample file, 942 range move.x1sm sample file, 942 Range object, 816 range\_lookup argument HLOOKUP function, 314 VLOOKUP function, 312 ranges adjusting external properties, 688-689 appropriate for pivot tables, 700 converting from table to, 113 copying or moving adjacent cells, 82-83 copying to other sheets, 83 drag-and-drop, 81-82 Office Clipboard, 84-85 overview, 78-79, 888-889, 891 Paste Special dialog box, 87-89 pasting, 85-86 Ribbon commands, 79-80 shortcut keys, 81 shortcut menu commands, 80-81 copying variable-size, 889 counting characters in, 371-372 counting differences between, 384

ranges (continued) counting error values in, 380-381 determining whether contains valid values, 386 displaying calendar, 398-399 finding row of value's nth occurrence, 385 intersections, 224-226 looping through, 891-893 naming Create Names from Selection dialog box, 91-92 creating names, 90-92 managing, 92-94 Name box, 91 New Name dialog box, 90-91 overview, 89-90 pasting into formulas, 205-206 outline dragging, charts, 457-458 picture effects, 534 returning lists of unique items, 396-398 returning locations of maximum values, 384-385 returning longest text, 385 returning nonblank cells from, 394-395 sorting dynamically, 396 summing smallest values in, 372-373 summing the n largest values in, 381 versus table, 101 using references instead of arrays, 376-377 VBA macros copying ranges, 888-889 copying variable-size ranges, 889 counting selected cells, 895-896 determining type of selections, 893-894 identifying multiple selections, 895 looping through ranges, 891-893 moving ranges, 891 overview, 887-888 prompting for cell values, 893 selecting rows or columns, 890-891 selecting to end of rows or columns, 890 Rank and Percentile tool, Analysis ToolPak add-in, 790 RANK function function of, 919 overview, 392-393 RANK. AVG function, 931 RANK.EQ function, 931 RATE function #NUM! error, 655 calculating loan information, 332 function of, 924 rate function argument, 331 Read Only option, File in Use dialog box, 629

reading comments, cells, 96 ReadMe file, 942 read-only permission, 628 read-only property, 815-816 Read-Only Recommended check box, General Options dialog box, 643 real estate table.xlsx sample file, 935 rearranging Quick Access toolbar icons, 545 worksheets, 56-57 **RECEIVED** function, 924 Recent Workbooks list, 143 Record Macro dialog box, 802-803, 809 recording VBA macros absolute versus relative, 808-809 assigning to buttons, 810-811 assigning to shortcut keys, 810 basics, 802-803 editing, 805 examining, 804-805, 806-807 example of, 803, 806 re-recording, 807-808 running, 806 storing in Personal Macro Workbook, 809-810 testing, 805, 808 records adding in external database tables, 693 defined, 678 Recover Draft Versions command, 149, 156 recovering unsaved work, 149-150 versions of current workbooks, 149 Redo tool, Quick Access toolbar, 542 #REF! error value, 219, 656 RefEdit control, 844 reference lines, faking, 510-512 reference operators, range, 225 Reference text box, Consolidate dialog box, 600 referencing cells within pivot tables, 733-735 data in tables, 217-218 Refers To field, New Name dialog box, 91, 212, 224 refreshing consolidating worksheets, 604 defined, 678 pivot table, 705 queries, 689-690 Web query, 612 region1.xlsx sample file, 939 region2.xlsx sample file, 939

region3.xlsx sample file, 940 regional settings, data and time, 251 Regression dialog box, 791 Regression tool, Analysis ToolPak add-in, 790-791 relational database, 678, 691 relative cell reference, 574 relative comparisons, 417 relative references formulas and functions, 210-212 problems, 657 Remove Duplicates dialog box, 109 removing Quick Access toolbar icons, 545 titles from names, 247 Rename button, Ribbon, 549 Repeat button, Quick Access toolbar, 18 repeating characters, 236-237, 568 REPLACE function, 241-242, 932 Replace tab, Find and Replace dialog box, 670 Replace Text as You Type option, AutoCorrect dialog box, 40,673 replacing cell contents, 35 within strings, 242-243 text with other text, 241-242 report production, pivot tables, 742-743 Reports section, Solver Results dialog box, 769 REPT function, 236-237, 932 Reset button, Excel Options dialog box, 547 Reset Ignored Errors button, Excel Options dialog box, 666 Reset Only Selected Ribbon Tab option, 547 Reset to Match Style option, 416 resetting chart formatting, 443 custom template default settings, 168 Quick Access toolbar icons, 545 reshaping, Shape images, 523-524 Residuals option, Regression dialog box, 791 resizing charts, 414 Name Manager dialog box, 93 Open dialog box, 144 Plot Area, 444 windows, 51 resource allocation, Solver tool, 776-777 Rest All Customizations option, 547 Restore (Maximize) button, 50 Restrict Permission by People option, Info pane, 155 result cells, 759 result set, 678

result\_vector argument, LOOKUP function, 315 returning errors, 653 reverse pivot table, 731 reverse pivot.xlsm sample file, 940 reversing actions, 19 reversing order of cells, 395-396 Review tab, Ribbon, 11 RGB components, chart, 430-432 Ribbon feature Accounting Number Format button, 553 active chart sheets, 406 charts, 442 Comma Style button, 553 copying ranges, 79-80 customizing, 5, 546-549 Decrease Decimal button, 553 Home tab, 120 interface accessing using keyboard, 15-16 command types, 13-15 contextual tabs, 13 tabs, 11-12 number formatting, 552-553 overview, 6-7 spinner control, 14-16 Right arrow key, 10 RIGHT function, 240-241, 932 Right horizontal alignment option, Format Cells dialog box, 123 Rights Management Services (RMS), 638 ripple effect, 219 ROMAN function, 928 rotating Shapes, 523 text, 126 ROUND function defined, 48 floating point number errors, 659 function of, 928 rounding time values, 279 **ROUNDDOWN** function, 928 **ROUNDUP** function, 928 Row Differences option, Go to Special dialog box, 75 ROW function displaying alternate-row shading, 497-498 function of, 926 generating array of consecutive integers, 370 Row Input Cell field, Data Table dialog box, 750 row labels, pivot table, 705 Row numbers, 6-7

### Index

row\_index\_num argument, HLOOKUP function, 314 row\_num argument, INDEX function, 316 rows and columns column width, changing, 67-68 defined, 99 deleting, 66 headers, printing, 185 height, changing, 67 hiding, 66-67 inserting, 65-66 keeping visible while scrolling, 63 returning last value in, 392 row height, changing, 67 selecting, 890-891 selecting entire, 105 selecting to end of, 890 shading groups of, 498-499 tables, 105-106 ROWS function, 926 RSQ function, 931 RTD function, 926 Rule of 72, 347-348 rules conditional formatting making, 484-485 managing, 499-500 formula-based, 494-499

# S

sales by date.xlsx sample file, 940 sales by region pivot chart.xlsx sample file, 940 Salvage argument, 351 Sample box, Format Cells dialog box, 565 sample files, CD, 934-942 Sampling tool, Analysis ToolPak add-in, 791-792 Save As command, linking workbooks, 596 Save As dialog box compared to Open dialog box, 148 Save As Type drop-down list, 798 saving file for older version of Excel, 159 Save button, Quick Access toolbar, 18, 28 Save Chart Template dialog box, 469 Save Files in This Format option, Excel Options dialog box, 148 Save to SharePoint option, 614 Save to SkyDrive option, 614 Save tool, Quick Access toolbar, 542 saving custom templates, 170 files for use with older versions, 159-160

workbooks containing macros, 798 overview, 147-148, 896 worksheets as PDF files, 645-646 Scale with Document check box, 187 scaling, printed output, 183 scaling values adding zeros, 563 hundreds, 561 millions, 562-563 thousands, 560-561 scatter plots, 426 scattergrams, 426 Scenario Manager feature defined, 747 defining scenarios, 754-756 displaying scenarios, 757 generating scenario reports, 758-759 merging scenarios, 758 modifying scenarios, 758 overview, 753-754 Scenario Name field, Add Scenario dialog box, 756 Scenario PivotTable, 759 Scenario Summary dialog box, 759 Scenario Summary report, 759 Scenarios drop-down list, 757 Scientific format category, 554 Scientific format, Format Cells dialog box, 46-47 scope, 91 Screen capture tool, 4 screen updating, 899 screenshots, inserting, 533-535 ScreenTip button, Insert Hyperlink dialog box, 610 scroll box, 10 Scroll Lock key, 9 ScrollBar control, ActiveX, 844, 861, 869-870 scrollbars, 10 ScrollBars property, 872 Search button, Help system, 943 Search drop-down list, 669 Search for a Function field, Insert Function dialog box, 207 SEARCH function, 242, 932 searching formatting, 670-671 information, 669-670 newsgroups, 946-947 selecting cells by, 76-78 within strings, 242 SECOND function, 272, 921 seconds, decimal, 277-278

security, 797-798. See also protection Security Warning, macros, 798 Security Warning section, Info options, 153-154 Select Case construct, Visual Basic for Applications (VBA) macros, 819 select cells.xlsm sample file, 942 Select Data Source dialog box defined, 446 locating Access file, 679 Select Locked Cells option, Protect Sheet dialog box, 640 Select Objects control, 844 Select Unlocked Cells option, Protect Sheet dialog box, 640 Select Versions to Show button, Compatibility Checker dialog box, 158 Selected Table printing option, 178 selecting cells complete rows and columns, 71 multisheet ranges, 72-74 noncontiguous ranges, 71-72 ranges, 70 by searching, 76-78 special types, 74-76 comments, 97-98 data from charts, 408-409 multiple columns, 67 parts of tables, 105 rows and columns, 890-891 Selection and Visibility task pane, 521 selection change event.xlsm sample file, 942 Selection option, Excel Options dialog box, 118 Selection printing option, 178 selection type.xlsm sample file, 942 SelectionChange event, 880, 882-883 SelectSpecial method, 892 semantic error, 650 Send Using E-Mail option, 614 serial numbers dates, 249-250 times, 252-253 Series formula, charts, 459-460 Series Options tab, Format Data Series dialog box, 425, 475 Series Overlap value setting, 475 series\_name argument, Series formula, 459 SERIESSUM function, 928 Set Precision as Displayed check box, Excel Options dialog box, 48, 551, 659 Settings tab, Data Validation dialog box, 571 shading rows, 497-498 worksheet formatting, 127-128

shape examples.xlsx sample file, 939 Shape images adding hyperlinks, 611 adding text to, 520 aligning and spacing, 523 formatting, 520-522 grouping, 522 inserting, 518-520 overview, 517 printing, 524 reshaping, 523-524 Share tab, Backstage view, 614 Share Workbook dialog box, 631-633 SharePoint server, 614 sharing data with Office applications copying and pasting, 615-617 copying from Excel to Word pasting links, 620-622 pasting static information, 617-620 embedding objects in worksheets non-Word documents, 623 overview, 622 Word documents, 623 embedding workbooks in Word copying, 624-626 creating new Excel objects, 626 saved workbooks, 626 sharing workbooks advanced sharing settings overview, 631-632 resolving conflicting changes between users, 632-633 tracking changes, 632 updating changes, 632 designating workbook as shared, 631 overview, 629 with yourself, 633 Sheet Name button, 187 sheet protection options, 640 Sheet settings, custom templates, 170 Sheet tab Excel screen, 6–7 Page Setup dialog box, 183 SheetActivate event, 876, 878 SheetBeforeDoubleClick event, 876 SheetBeforeRightClick event, 876 SheetCalculate event, 876 SheetChange event, 876 SheetDeactivate event, 876 SheetFollowHyperlink event, 876 sheets, chart, 406-407 SheetSelectionChange event, 876

### Index

shipping cost minimization, Solver tool, 773-776 shipping costs.xlsx sample file, 941 short date format, 251 Shortcut Key option, Record Macro dialog box, 802 shortcut keys assigning macros to, 810 cells and ranges, 81 number formatting, 553 overview, 45, 949-955 shortcut menus commands, cells and ranges, 80-81 overview, 16-17 Show All Properties Another option, 151 Show All Windows in the Taskbar option, 52 Show button, Scenario Manager dialog box, 757 Show Display Units Labels option, 451 Show Iteration Results option, Solver Options dialog box, 771 Show Margins option, Print Preview, 173 show message.xlsm sample file, 941 Show Mini Toolbar on Selection option, Excel Options dialog box, 17 Show Office Clipboard Automatically check box, 79, 84 Show Page Breaks check box, 174 Show Values As tab, Value Field Settings dialog box, 707 showing comments, cells, 97 ShowUserForm procedure, 909 Shrink to Fit option, 124 shrinking text, worksheet formatting, 124 side by side sheets, worksheets, 61 Sign dialog box, 647 SIGN function, 928 Signature Setup dialog box, 647 signatures, digital, 647-648 signing workbooks, 647-648 Simple buttons, Ribbon, 14 simple interest, 343-344 simultaneous linear equations, Solver tool, 771-773 SIN function, 928 Single data type, 901 Single File Web Page option, Save as Type drop-down list, 607 single file web pages, 607-609 single-cell array formulas computing averages that exclude zeros, 381-382 counting characters in ranges, 371-372 counting differences in two ranges, 384 counting error values, 380-381 counting text cells in ranges, 373-374 determining closest values, 391 determining whether particular values appears, 383-384 determining whether range contains valid values, 386

eliminating intermediate formulas, 374-376 finding row of value's nth occurrence, 385 overview, 357-358 ranking data, 392-393 removing non-numeric characters from strings, 390 returning last value in columns, 391-392 returning last value in rows, 392 returning locations of maximum values, 384-385 returning longest text, 385 summing digits of integers, 386-387 summing every nth value, 388-390 summing ranges that contain errors, 379-380 summing rounded values, 388 summing smallest values in ranges, 372-373 summing the n largest values, 381 using arrays instead of range references, 376-377 single-cell array formulas.xlsx sample file, 937 single-cell goal seeking, 762-764 Single-factor analysis of variance, 784 SINH function, 928 six chart types.xlsx sample file, 938 64-bit version, 4, 677 Size command, 521 sizes argument, Series formula, 459 sizing cells, Sparkline graphics, 507 SKEW function, 931 Skip Blanks option, Paste Special dialog box, 89 skip blanks while looping.xlsm sample file, 942 skipping blanks, Paste Special dialog box, 89 SkyDrive, 614 slicers, 4, 731-733 SLN function, 350, 924 SLOPE function, 931 SMALL function function of, 931 nth smallest row number, 385 summing values, 373 SmallChange property ScrollBar control, 870 SpinButton control, 871 Smart Icon, 38-39 Smart Tag background error-checking, 665-666 Convert to Number option, 230 defined, 82 Stop Automatically Creating Calculated Columns option, 217 Smart Tags tab, AutoCorrect dialog box, 674 smartart demo x1sx sample file, 939

SmartArt feature customizing, 527-528 overview, 525-526 smartart org chart.xlsx sample file, 939 smoothing constant, 786 Solve button, Solver Parameters dialog box, 768 Solver Options dialog box, 770 Solver Parameters dialog box, 767 Solver Results dialog box, 768-769 Solver tool appropriate problems for, 765 defined, 5 examples using allocating resources, 776-777 minimizing shipping costs, 773-776 optimizing investment portfolios, 778-779 overview, 765-769 simultaneous linear equations, 771-773 overview, 761, 764, 770-771, 905 Sort dialog box, 111–112 Sort option, Protect Sheet dialog box, 640 sort order, Query Wizard, 686 sorting range of values dynamically, 396 tables, 110-112 source application, 615 source data, pivot table, 705 source workbook defined, 589 modifying, 596-597 Save As command, 596 source.xlsx sample file, 940 space character errors, 652 space operator, 225 spacing, Shape images, 523 Sparkline chart, 4, 403 sparkline examples.xlsx sample file, 939 Sparkline graphics auto-updating, 513 creating, 505-507 customizing adjusting axis scaling, 509-510 changing colors and line width, 508 changing type, 508 faking reference lines, 510-512 hidden or missing data, 508 highlighting certain data points, 509 sizing cells, 507 displaying for dynamic ranges, 514-515

overview, 503 specifying date axis, 512-513 types of, 504-505 special characters, inserting, 233 Special format category, 554 Special format, Format Cells dialog box, 46-47 specialized lookup examples.xlsx sample file, 937 spell checking worksheets, 671-672 Spelling dialog box, 672 SpinButton control, ActiveX, 844, 861, 870-871 spinners, 14 Split button control, Ribbon, 14 splitting worksheet window into panes, 62 Spreadsheet Page, Web site, 947 SQL (Structured Query Language), 678 SORT function, 928 SORTPI function, 928 stacked area chart, 428 stacked column chart, 420, 430 Standard Deviation error bar, Format Error Bars dialog box, 462-463 Standard Errors check box, Moving Average dialog box, 788 STANDARDIZE function, 931 start\_period argument CUMIPMT function, 332 CUMPRINC function, 332 depreciation functions, 351 Startup Prompt dialog box, 594 static consolidation, 600, 604 static information copying from Excel to Word, 617 pasting, 617-620 Statistical Category Functions, 929-932 Status bar, 6, 8 StdDev summary formula, 108 STDEVA function, 931 STDEVP function, 919 STDEV.P function, 931 STDEVPA function, 931 STDEV.S function, 931 STEYX function, 931 stock charts, 433-436 stock charts.xlsx sample file, 938 Stop Automatically Creating Calculated Columns option, SmartTag, 217 Store Macro In option, Record Macro dialog box, 803 StrConv function, 837 String data types, 901

strings converting from nondate to date, 261-262 counting characters in, 239 defined, 229 extracting all but the first word of, 245 extracting characters from, 240-241 extracting the first word of, 244 extracting the last word of, 244-245 number formatting, 557-558 removing non-numeric characters from, 390 searching and replacing within, 242-243 searching within, 242 splitting without using formulas, 247 Structured Query Language (SQL), 678 Structures control, Equation Editor, 536 Style dialog box modifying named styles, 133 Protection option, 134 Style Gallery, 611 Style property, ComboBox control, 867 Style settings, custom templates, 170 styles charts, 412-413 named applying, 132-133 controlling with templates, 135 creating, 134 merging from other workbooks, 134-135 modifying, 133 overview, 131 pictures and drawings, 528-529 Styles object, 815 Sub procedure debugging custom functions, 834 defined, 801 general discussion, 799-800 writing to display UserForm, 848 SUBSTITUTE function counting number of words in cells, 248 function of, 932 replacing text, 241 substrings, 243-244 SUBTOTAL function, 282, 928 subtotals, pivot table, 705 subtraction operator, 658 SUM formula, 371-372 SUM function array constants, 359 counting differences in two ranges, 384 displaying totals, 498-499

function of, 928 overview, 282 ranges with error values, 379-380 single array formula, 358 summing all cells in range, 299-300 "top n" values, 302 Sum summary formula, 108 sum\_range argument, 302 SUMIF function arguments, 302 function of, 928 overview, 282 summing values based on date comparison, 305 SUMIFS function, 282, 928 Summarize Values By tab, Value Field Settings dialog box, 707 summarizing formula data, 214-216 summary formulas consistency, 585 Total Row, 108 summing digits of integers, 386-387 every nth value, 388-390 formulas all cells in a range, 299-300 computing a cumulative sum, 300-302 "top n" values, 302 n largest values in ranges, 381 ranges that contain errors, 379-380 rounded values, 388 smallest values in ranges, 372-373 SUMPRODUCT function, 282, 358-359, 928 SUMSQ function, 282, 928 SUMX2MY2 function, 282, 928 SUMX2PY2 function, 928 SUMXMY2 function, 282, 928 surface charts, 432-433 surface charts.xlsx sample file, 938 switching, Excel windows, 52 SYD function, 351, 924 Symbol dialog box, 233 symbols, hiding in ouline, 588 Symbols control, Equation Editor, 536 Synchronous Scrolling toggle, 61 syntax PMT function, 331 PPMT function, 331 HLOOKUP function, 314 INDEX function, 316 LOOKUP function, 314 NPER function, 333 PV function, 333
RATE function, 332 Series formula, 459 syntax error, 649 system requirements, CD-ROM, 933

# T

T function, 932 Tab list, 6, 8 tab order, UserForm, 856-857 tab scrolling controls, 53 tab split control, 53 table and chart.xlsx sample file, 935 Table Filter, pivot table, 705 table formulas.xlsx sample file, 936 table headings, 63 Table Style Options group, 107 table\_array argument HLOOKUP function, 314 VLOOKUP function, 312 tables. See also data tables; Pivot tables Access, importing, 679-680 changing look of, 103-105 converting back to ranges, 113 creating, 102-103 creating outlines, 585 filtering, 112-113 formulas within, 216-217 moving, 106-107 navigating, 105 options, setting, 107 overview, 99-102 parts, selecting, 105 referencing data, formulas, 217-218 rows and columns adding, 105-106 deleting, 106 removing duplicate, 109 selecting entire, 105 sorting, 110-112 summarizing formula data, 214-216 Total Row feature, 107-109 Tables pane, Microsoft Query, 691, 693 tabs changing color, 55-56 Ribbon interface, 11-12, 546-547 TabStrip control, 844 TAN function, 928 TANH function, 928 target cells, 765 task pane, 22 tasks, Query application, 681-682

TBILLEO function, 924 TBILLPRICE function, 924 TBILLYIELD function, 924 TDIST function, 919 T.DIST function, 931 T.DIST.2T function, 931 T.DIST.RT function, 931 templates chart, 469-470 creating workbooks from, 162-164 custom changing workbook defaults, 166-167 changing worksheet defaults, 167-168 editing, 168 ideas, 170 overview, 165-166 resetting default settings, 168 saving, 170 modifying, 164-165 viewing, 161-162 Templates icon, 470 test scores.xlsx sample file, 940 testing custom number format, 565 UserForms, 848, 852, 854-855 text adding to Shape images, 520 alignment controlling the direction, 126-127 displaying at an angle, 125-126 horizontal alignment options, 122-123 merging cells, 124-125 vertical alignment options, 124 wrapping or shrinking, 124 case changing, 239-240 counting occurrences of, 292-293 counting text cells, 285 displaying, 40 entering and editing, 32-33 entries, 30 free-floating, 445 number formatting, 566-567 replacing with other text, 241-242 text alignment.xlsx sample file, 936 Text Axis option, 454 Text Category Functions, 932 text data, 29-31 Text Direction setting, 126 Text Filters option, 113 Text format category, 554

Text format, Format Cells dialog box, 46-47 text formulas changing case of text, 239-240 character codes, 231-233 counting characters in strings, 239 number of words, 248 occurrences of substrings in cells, 243-244 specific characters in cells, 243 creating histograms, 237-238 ordinal numbers, 247-248 determining identical strings, 233-234 displaying formatted currency values as text, 236 formatted values as text, 235-236 extracting all but first word of strings, 245 characters from strings, 240-241 filename from path specification, 244 first word of strings, 244 last word of strings, 244-245 names, 245-247 joining cells, 234-235 overview, 229-230 padding numbers, 238-239 removing excess spaces and nonprinting characters, 239 titles from names, 247 repeating characters or strings, 236-237 replacing text with other text, 241-242 searching and replacing within strings, 242-243 what is considered text, 229-230 TEXT function displaying formatted values as text, 235-236 formatting numbers, 567 function of, 932 text functions. See text formulas text histogram.xlsx sample file, 936 Text Length option, Data Validation dialog box, 572 text string defined, 229 splitting without using formulas, 247 TextAlign property, 872 TextBox control, ActiveX, 844, 861, 871-872 Texture Fill option, Format dialog box, 470 Thanksgiving Day, date functions, 271 The Changes Being Saved Win option, Share Workbook dialog box, 633 theme examples.xlsx sample file, 936

themes applying, 137 customizing, 138-139 overview, 135-136 thermometer charts, 472-473 thermometer chart.xlsx sample file, 938 thousands, number formatting, 560-561 three products.xlsx sample file, 941  $3 \times 4$  array constant, 361-3623-D area chart, 428 3-D charts, 464-465 3-D clustered column chart, 421 3-D data point, surface chart, 432 3-D line chart, 423 three-dimensional range, 72 three-part header, 186 tilde (~) character, 78, 242 Time category, 254 Time format category, 554 Time format, Format Cells dialog box, 46-47 TIME function, 921 time functions adding hours, minutes, or seconds to a time, 278 calculating the difference between times, 274-275 converting decimal hours, minutes, or seconds to a time, 277-278 converting from military time, 277 displaying any time, 273 displaying current time, 272-273 non-time-of-day values, 279-280 rounding time values, 279 summing times that exceed 24 hours, 275-277 Time option, Data Validation dialog box, 571 time sheet.xlsm sample file, 936 time values entering and editing, 34 of money, 329-330 rounding, 279 times data entering, 42 grouping in pivot tables, 722 number formatting, 566 TimeStamp procedure, 807-808 TIMEVALUE function, 272-273, 884, 921 TINV function, 919 T.INV function, 931 T.INV.2T function, 931 title bar, Excel window, 6, 8 title element InputBox function, 838 MsgBox function, 839

titles charts, 445-446 removing from names, 247 TODAY function, 258-259, 829, 921 ToggleButton ActiveX control, 872 Ribbon, 14 ToggleButton control, 844, 861 Tool Tabs, Ribbon, 548 Toolbox controls, 844 Tools control, Equation Editor, 536 Top Bottom Rules command, Conditional Formatting dropdown list, 483 "top n" values, formulas, 302 Top property, 864 Top Row check box, Consolidate dialog box, 602 Top vertical alignment option, Format Cells dialog box, 124 Total Row feature, tables, 107-109 tracking workbook changes reviewing, 635 turning track changes on and off, 633-635 TRANPOSE function, 390 Transition Navigation Keys option, Excel Options dialog box, 949 Transpose (T) option, Paste Special dialog box, 86, 89 TRANSPOSE function arrays, 363 function of, 926 transposing arrays, 369-370 transposing arrays, 369-370 ranges, Paste Special dialog box, 89 TREND function, 371, 931 trendlines, charts, 463-464 trial and error method, 455 TRIM function, 239, 652, 932 TRIMMEAN function, 931 troubleshooting, 942 TRUE function, 925 TRUNC function, 928 Trust Center dialog box, 797 TTEST function, 919 T.TEST function, 931 t-Test tool, Analysis ToolPak add-in, 792 Tufte, Edward, 505 two-dimensional array, 355, 361-362 Two-factor with replication analysis of variance, 784 Two-factor without replication analysis of variance, 784 two-input data tables, 750-753 Two-sample assuming equal variances t-Test, 792

Two-sample assuming unequal variances t-Test, 792 two-way data tables, 340–341 two-way lookup, 323–326 TYPE function, 925 type function argument, 331 Type Your Text Here window, SmartArt, 527

## U

Undo command, Quick Access toolbar, 18-19 Undo tool pasting, 79 Quick Access toolbar, 542 Unformatted Text paste option, Paste Special dialog box, 619 Unformatted Unicode Text paste option, Paste Special dialog box, 619 Unfreeze Panes option, 63 Unhide dialog box, 58 unhiding columns, 67 rows. 67 worksheets. 57-58 Uniform distribution option, Random Number Generation dialog box, 790 unique values, counting formulas, 293-294 unlocking cells, 639-640 nonformula cells, 169 Unmerge Cells option, 125 Unprotect Workbook option, 643-644 Up arrow key, 10 up-bars, 434-435 Update Changes settings, Share Workbook dialog box, 632 Update Now button, Links dialog box, 621-622 Update Values dialog box, 592 updating changes when sharing workbooks, 632 links, 594-595 Sparklines, 513 UPPER function, 239, 932 U.S. English language date format, 249 USB drive, 157 Use AutoFilter option, Protect Sheet dialog box, 640 Use Automatic Scaling option, Solver Options dialog box, 771 Use Labels In check boxes, Consolidate dialog box, 601 Use PivotTable Reports option, Protect Sheet dialog box, 640 Use Relative References control, 809 Usenet, 945 user interface creating for add-in macros, 912-913 customizations, 546

user interface (continued) customizing Quick Access toolbar, 541-546 Ribbon feature, 546-549 modifying, 913 user permissions, 641 UserForms accelerator keys, 856 ActiveX controls adding, 843-844, 862 adjusting properties, 844-845, 862-863 CheckBox, 866-867 ComboBox, 867-868 CommandButton, 868 common properties, 863-864 creating macros for, 864-866 design mode, 862 Image, 868 Label, 868 linking controls to cells, 864 ListBox, 868-869 OptionButton, 869 overview, 861 reasons for using, 859-861 ScrollBar, 869-870 SpinButton, 870-871 TextBox, 871-872 ToggleButton, 872 alternatives to InputBox function, 838-839 MsgBox function, 839-842 controlling tab order, 856-857 defined, 801 displaying, 846 examples of creating, 847-848, 850-852 creating event-handler procedures, 849, 853-854 overview, 846 testing, 848, 852, 854-855 handling events, 846 macros making available from worksheet button, 855 making available on Quick Access toolbar, 855-856 overview, 837-838, 842-846, 909-910 reasons for creating, 837-857

### V

Validation option, Paste Special dialog box, 88 value axis, 407, 448-452

#VALUE! error value, 219, 656 Value Field Settings dialog box, 707 VALUE function, 932 Value property defined, 864 ScrollBar control, 870 SpinButton control, 870 values actual versus displayed errors, 658-659 converting to, 228 counting formulas, 286 creating array constants from, 367 creating arrays from, 366-367 custom functions, 826 displaying as text, 235-236 entering and editing, 32-33 formulas, 304-305 looking up by using closest match, 327-328 looking up from multiple lookup tables, 321 lookup formulas, 318-320 pie chart, 425 returning only positive, 394 sorting dynamically, 396 summing, 388-390 tracing errors with Excel Auditing tools, 665 Values (V) option, Paste Special dialog box, 86, 87 Values & Number Formatting (A) option, Paste Special dialog box, 86, 88 Values & Source Formatting (E) option, Paste Special dialog box, 86 Values area, pivot table, 705 values argument, Series formula, 459 Values in Reverse Order option, 450 VAR function, 919 Var summary formula, 108 variables declaring types, 901-902 Visual Basic for Applications (VBA) macros, 817 Variant data types, 901 VARP function, 919 VAR. P function, 931 VARPA function, 932 Vary Colors by Point option, 474 VB Projects, protecting, 644-645 VBA (Visual Basic for Applications) functions, 800-801, 823 VBA (Visual Basic for Applications) macros. See Visual Basic for Applications macros vba functions.xlsm sample file, 941 vbAbortRetryIgnore constant, MsgBox function, 840 vbCritical constant, MsgBox function, 841

#### vbDefaultButton1 constant, MsgBox function, 841

vbDefaultButton2 constant, MsgBox function, 841 vbDefaultButton3 constant, MsgBox function, 841 VBE (Visual Basic Editor). See Visual Basic Editor (VBE) VBExclamation constant, MsgBox function, 841 vbInformation constant, MsgBox function, 841 vbOKCancel constant, MsgBox function, 840 vbOKOnly constant, MsgBox function, 840 vbQuestion constant, MsgBox function, 841 vbRetryCancel constant, MsgBox function, 841 vbYesNo constant, MsgBox function, 840 vbYesNoCancel constant, MsgBox function, 840 VDB function, 351, 924 vector-based image, 531 Versions section, Info options, 149, 156 vertical alignment options, worksheet, 124 vertical page break, 181-182 vertical scrollbar, 6, 8 Veterans Day, date functions, 270 View tab, Ribbon, 549 views chart data, 411 page Normal view, 173-174 overview, 172-173 Page Break Preview mode, 175-176 Page Layout view, 174-175 templates, 161-162 worksheets freezing panes, 62-64 multiple windows, 60-61 overview, 58 side by side sheets, 61 splitting window into panes, 62 Watch Window, 64-65 zooming, 59-60 Visible Cells Only option, Go to Special dialog box, 76 visible digital signature, 647 Visible property, 864 Visual Basic Editor (VBE) creating macros for controls, 864-865 defined, 801 disabling Mini toolbar, 118 Project window, 804 sizing and aligning controls, 852 window, 798 Visual Basic for Applications (VBA) functions, 800-801, 823 Visual Basic for Applications (VBA) macros charts applying formatting, 899 modifying properties, 898 modifying type, 898 displaying Developer tab, 796-797

overview, 795-796 ranges copying, 888-889 copying variable-size, 889 counting selected cells, 895-896 determining type of selections, 893-894 identifying multiple selections, 895 looping through, 891-893 moving, 891 overview, 887-888 prompting for cell values, 893 selecting rows or columns, 890-891 selecting to end of rows or columns, 890 recording absolute versus relative, 808-809 assigning to buttons, 810-811 assigning to shortcut keys, 810 basics, 802-803 editing, 805 examining, 804-807 example of, 803, 806 re-recording, 807-808 running, 806 storing in Personal Macro Workbook, 809-810 testing, 805, 808 saving with .x1sx file extension, 148 saving workbooks all, 896 closing and, 896-897 containing macros, 798 security, 797-798 speed tips declaring variable types, 901-902 preventing alert messages, 900 simplifying object references, 900-901 turning off screen updating, 899 Sub procedures, 799-800 writing VBA code entering and editing, 812 event-handler procedures, 874-875 For-Next loops, 818 how VBA works, 812-814 If-Then construct, 818 macro that can't be recorded, 819-821 methods, 817 objects and collections, 814-815 overview, 811 properties, 815-817 Select Case construct, 819 variables, 817 With-End With construct, 818-819

Visual Basic (VB) protection, 637 VLOOKUP function function of, 926 general discussion, 312–313 looking up values, 327 Lookup formulas, 311

## W

Watch Window formula results. 747 worksheets. 64-65 watermark, 184 weather combination chart.xlsx sample file, 938 Web formats HTML files, 607 overview, 606 single file web pages, 607-609 Web Options dialog box, 608 Web pages, 607-609 Web queries, 612-613 Web sites contextures, 948 daily dose of Excel, 948 David McRitchie's Excel Pages, 948 Jon Peltier's Excellge, 948 Mr. Excel, 948 Pearson Software Consulting, 948 Pointy Haired Dilbert, 948 spreadsheet page, 947 webpage.xlsx sample file, 940 WEEKDAY function, 258, 267, 577, 921 WEEKNUM function, 258, 921 WEIBULL function, 919 WEIBULL.DIST function, 932 What You See Is What You Get (WYSIWYG) mode, 406 what-if analysis creating data tables one-input, 748-750 two-input, 750-753 example of, 745-747 goal seeking and Solver tools, 761 manual, 747 Scenario Manager feature defining scenarios, 754-756 displaying scenarios, 757 generating scenario reports, 758-759 merging scenarios, 758 modifying scenarios, 758 overview, 753-754 types of, 747

When File Is Saved setting, Share Workbook dialog box, 632 Whole Number option, Data Validation dialog box, 571 Wide setting, Page Layout view, 180 Width property, 864 wildcard characters, 77-78 Window Close button, 6, 8 Window Maximize/Restore button, 6, 8 Window Minimize button, 6, 8 WindowActivate event, 876 WindowDeactivate event, 876 WindowResize event, 876 windows closing, 52-53 moving, 51 overview, 49-51 resizing, 51 splitting, 62 switching, 52 Windows Clipboard, 79-80, 616 Windows Control Panel adjusting date and time, 42 Regional and Language Options, 251 specifying two-digit years, 257 Windows object, 814, 815 Windows Vista, 144 Win/Loss Sparkline displaying goal achievement, 511 overview, 504 With-End With construct, VBA macros, 818-819 Within drop-down list, 669 Word documents copying from Excel, 617-622 embedding, 624-626 wordart examples.xlsx sample file, 939 WordArt feature, 530 WordArt Styles command, 521 Words that contain X conditional formatting rule, 482 WordWrap property, 872 work days, date fuctions, 263-264 work days.xlsx sample file, 936 Workbook Connections dialog box, 689 Workbook events, 873 workbook file, 5 Workbook\_BeforeClose procedure, 879 Workbook\_BeforePrint procedure, 875 Workbook\_BeforeSave procedure, 878-879 Workbook\_Open procedure, 876-877, 879 workbooks adding digital signatures, 646 changing default number of worksheets, 55

#### 1004

#### www.it-ebooks.info

closing, 156

creating overview, 141-143 from templates, 162-164 defined, 49 embedding when saved, 626 events BeforeClose, 879 BeforeSave, 878-879 NewSheet, 878 Open, 876-877 overview, 875-876 SheetActivate, 878 inspecting, 646 linking avoiding potential problems, 595-597 external reference formulas, 590-595 overview, 589-590 marking as final, 646 opening with external reference formulas, 592-594 Favorite Links list, 146 file display preferences, 147 filtering filenames, 146-147 overview, 143-146 overview, 5-8 protecting overview, 637 requiring passwords to open, 641-643 structures, 643-644 windows, 644 referencing from, 213-214 renaming or moving source, 596 saving containing macros, 798 overview, 147-148, 896 setting up, 908 sharing advanced sharing settings, 631-633 designating workbook as shared, 631 overview, 629 with yourself, 633 signing, 647-648 source workbooks, 596-597 templates, 168 testing custom add-ins, 910-911 tracking changes in, 633-635 VBA macros, 896-897 Workbooks object, 814-815 WORKDAY function, 258, 264, 921 WORKDAY.INTL function, 201, 258, 921

workgroups file reservations, 628-629 sharing workbooks advanced sharing settings, 631-633 designating workbook as shared, 631 overview, 629 with yourself, 633 tracking workbook changes reviewing, 635 turning track changes on and off, 633-635 using on networks, 627 worksheet button, making macros available, 855 worksheet controls.xlsm sample file, 941 Worksheet events, 873 Worksheet\_Change procedure, 880 worksheets activating, 53 adding to workbook, 54 changing sheet tab color, 55-56 consolidating example of, 601-603 overview, 597-598 refreshing, 604 using Consolidate command, 600-601 using formulas, 598 using Paste Special dialog box, 599 creating appearance, 25 creating charts, 26 formatting numbers, 24-25 month names, 23 printing, 27-28 sales data, 23-24 saving, 28 starting, 22-23 summing values, 25-26 custom functions debugging, 833-834 example of, 824-826 function procedure arguments, 828-833 function procedures, 826-828 inserting, 834-836 using in formulas, 828 VBA functions, 823 Custom Views of worksheet, printing, 190-191 defined, 49 deleting, 54 entering formulas, 203-205 events BeforeRightClick, 883 Change, 880

worksheets, events (continued) monitoring specific range for changes, 881 overview, 879-880 SelectionChange, 882-883 formatting background images, 130-131 borders and lines, 128-129 colors and shading, 127-128 document themes, 135-139 fonts, 119-122 named styles, 131-135 text alignment, 122-127 tools for, 115-119 function references, 917-932 hiding/unhiding, 57-58 inserting functions into formulas, 206-208 naming, 54-55 navigating, 9-10, 950 overview, 5-10 pasting range names into formulas, 205-206 protecting assigning user permissions, 641 overview, 637-638 sheet protection options, 640 unlocking cells, 639-640 rearranging, 56-57 referencing from, 212-213 rows and columns changing height, 67-68 changing width, 67-68 deleting, 66 hiding, 66-67 inserting, 65-66 saving as PDF file, 645-646 spell checking, 671-672 views multiple windows, 60-61 overview, 58 panes, freezing, 62-64 side by side sheets, 61 splitting windows into panes, 62 Watch Window, 64-65 zooming, 59-60 windows closing, 52-53 moving, 51 overview, 49-51 resizing, 51 switching, 52

Worksheets object, 815 Worst Case scenario, Scenario Manager, 755 Wrap Text option, 124 wrapping text, worksheet formatting, 124 WYSIWYG (What You See Is What You Get) mode, 406

#### X X icon

Formula bar, 36 New Formatting Rule dialog box, 491-492 XDATE demo.xlsm sample file, 936 XIRR function, 924 XLSA format, 159 XLSB format, 159 XLSK format, 159 XLSM format, 159, 934 XLStart folder, 135, 147 XLSX format, 159, 934 XLTM format, 159 XLTX format, 159 XML files. 159 XNPV function, 924 XPS format, 645 XY charts, 426-427 xy charts.xlsx sample file, 938

# Y

YEAR function, 258, 265, 921 YEARFRAC function, 258, 265, 921 yearly calendar.xlsx sample file, 937 years between dates, calculating, 265 YIELD function, 924 YIELDDISC function, 924 YIELDMAT function, 924

# Ζ

Zero option, 461–462 zeros, 563–564 Zip-compressed text files, 159 Zoom control, 6, 8 Zoom to Page option, Print Preview, 173 zooming, worksheets, 59–60 ZTEST function, 919 Z.TEST function, 932 z-Test tool, Analysis ToolPak add-in, 792

# Wiley Publishing, Inc. End-User License Agreement

**READ THIS.** You should carefully read these terms and conditions before opening the software packet(s) included with this book "Book". This is a license agreement "Agreement" between you and Wiley Publishing, Inc. "WPI". By opening the accompanying software packet(s), you acknowledge that you have read and accept the following terms and conditions. If you do not agree and do not want to be bound by such terms and conditions, promptly return the Book and the unopened software packet(s) to the place you obtained them for a full refund.

- 1. License Grant. WPI grants to you (either an individual or entity) a nonexclusive license to use one copy of the enclosed software program(s) (collectively, the "Software") solely for your own personal or business purposes on a single computer (whether a standard computer or a workstation component of a multi-user network). The Software is in use on a computer when it is loaded into temporary memory (RAM) or installed into permanent memory (hard disk, CD-ROM, or other storage device). WPI reserves all rights not expressly granted herein.
- **2. Ownership.** WPI is the owner of all right, title, and interest, including copyright, in and to the compilation of the Software recorded on the physical packet included with this Book "Software Media". Copyright to the individual programs recorded on the Software Media is owned by the author or other authorized copyright owner of each program. Ownership of the Software and all proprietary rights relating thereto remain with WPI and its licensers.

#### 3. Restrictions on Use and Transfer.

- (a) You may only (i) make one copy of the Software for backup or archival purposes, or (ii) transfer the Software to a single hard disk, provided that you keep the original for backup or archival purposes. You may not (i) rent or lease the Software, (ii) copy or reproduce the Software through a LAN or other network system or through any computer subscriber system or bulletin-board system, or (iii) modify, adapt, or create derivative works based on the Software.
- (**b**) You may not reverse engineer, decompile, or disassemble the Software. You may transfer the Software and user documentation on a permanent basis, provided that the transferee agrees to accept the terms and conditions of this Agreement and you retain no copies. If the Software is an update or has been updated, any transfer must include the most recent update and all prior versions.
- **4. Restrictions on Use of Individual Programs.** You must follow the individual requirements and restrictions detailed for each individual program in the "About the CD" appendix of this Book or on the Software Media. These limitations are also contained in the individual license agreements recorded on the Software Media. These limitations may include a requirement that after using the program for a specified period of time, the user must pay a registration fee or discontinue use. By opening the Software packet(s), you agree to abide by the licenses and restrictions for these individual programs that are detailed in the "About the CD" appendix and/or on the Software Media. None of the material on this Software Media or listed in this Book may ever be redistributed, in original or modified form, for commercial purposes.

#### 5. Limited Warranty.

- (a) WPI warrants that the Software and Software Media are free from defects in materials and workmanship under normal use for a period of sixty (60) days from the date of purchase of this Book. If WPI receives notification within the warranty period of defects in materials or workmanship, WPI will replace the defective Software Media.
- (b) WPI AND THE AUTHOR(S) OF THE BOOK DISCLAIM ALL OTHER WARRANTIES, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY AND FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, WITH RESPECT TO THE SOFTWARE, THE PROGRAMS, THE SOURCE CODE CONTAINED THEREIN, AND/OR THE TECHNIQUES DESCRIBED IN THIS BOOK. WPI DOES NOT WARRANT THAT THE FUNCTIONS CONTAINED IN THE SOFTWARE WILL MEET YOUR REQUIREMENTS OR THAT THE OPERATION OF THE SOFTWARE WILL BE ERROR FREE.
- (c) This limited warranty gives you specific legal rights, and you may have other rights that vary from jurisdiction to jurisdiction.

#### 6. Remedies.

- (a) WPI's entire liability and your exclusive remedy for defects in materials and workmanship shall be limited to replacement of the Software Media, which may be returned to WPI with a copy of your receipt at the following address: Software Media Fulfillment Department, Attn.: *Excel 2010 Bible*, Wiley Publishing, Inc., 10475 Crosspoint Blvd., Indianapolis, IN 46256, or call 1-800-762-2974. Please allow four to six weeks for delivery. This Limited Warranty is void if failure of the Software Media has resulted from accident, abuse, or misapplication. Any replacement Software Media will be warranted for the remainder of the original warranty period or thirty (30) days, whichever is longer.
- (**b**) In no event shall WPI or the author be liable for any damages whatsoever (including without limitation damages for loss of business profits, business interruption, loss of business information, or any other pecuniary loss) arising from the use of or inability to use the Book or the Software, even if WPI has been advised of the possibility of such damages.
- (c) Because some jurisdictions do not allow the exclusion or limitation of liability for consequential or incidental damages, the above limitation or exclusion may not apply to you.
- **7. U.S. Government Restricted Rights.** Use, duplication, or disclosure of the Software for or on behalf of the United States of America, its agencies and/or instrumentalities "U.S. Government" is subject to restrictions as stated in paragraph (c)(1)(ii) of the Rights in Technical Data and Computer Software clause of DFARS 252.227-7013, or subparagraphs (c) (1) and (2) of the Commercial Computer Software Restricted Rights clause at FAR 52.227-19, and in similar clauses in the NASA FAR supplement, as applicable.
- **8. General.** This Agreement constitutes the entire understanding of the parties and revokes and supersedes all prior agreements, oral or written, between them and may not be modified or amended except in a writing signed by both parties hereto that specifically refers to this Agreement. This Agreement shall take precedence over any other documents that may be in conflict herewith. If any one or more provisions contained in this Agreement are held by any court or tribunal to be invalid, illegal, or otherwise unenforceable, each and every other provision shall remain in full force and effect.

# The keys to your new Office.

Unlock the full potential of Microsoft Office 2010 with our comprehensive Bibles from expert authors. These are the books you need to succeed!



978-0-470-59184-0

978-0-470-47487-7

978-0-470-59186-4



WILEY Now you know. wiley.com

# Special Offer . . . Save \$30.00! *Power Utility Pak v7*

"The Excel tools Microsoft forgot"

A \$39.95 value. Yours for only \$9.95.

#### **Pro-Quality Tools**

PUP v7 is a handy collection of 60 general purpose Excel utilities, plus 50 new worksheet functions. Download a trial version from the URL at the bottom of this page. If you like it, use this coupon and save \$30 on the licensed version.

#### **VBA Source Code is Available**

You can also get the complete VBA source files for only \$20.00 more. Learn how the utilities and functions were written, and pick up useful tips and programming techniques in the process. This is a must for all VBA programmers.

YES! I wa	ant Power Utility Pak v7
Name:	
Сотрапу:	
Address:	
City:	State: Zip:
Check one:	
PUP v7 Licensed Version	
Developer's Pak: Licensed Version (	(\$9.95) + VBA Source (\$20.00)\$29.95
Opon receipt of this coupon, you will	receive download instructions via e-mail. Please make
your e-mail address legible.	receive download instructions via e-mail. Please make
your e-mail address legible. E-mail:	receive download instructions via e-mail. Please make
opon receipt of this coupon, you will your e-mail address legible. E-mail: Credit Card:	receive download instructions via e-mail. Please make
Opon receipt of this coupon, you will your e-mail address legible. E-mail: Credit Card: Make check or money order (U.S. fund	receive download instructions via e-mail. Please make Expires:ds only) payable to:
opon receipt of this coupon, you will your e-mail address legible. E-mail: Credit Card: Make check or money order (U.S. fund	receive download instructions via e-mail. Please make
Upon receipt of this coupon, you will your e-mail address legible. E-mail: Credit Card: Make check or money order (U.S. fund JWal	Expires: ds only) payable to: k & Associates Inc. P.O. Box 68797
Upon receipt of this coupon, you will your e-mail address legible. E-mail: Credit Card: Make check or money order (U.S. fund JWal JWal	Expires: Expires: ds only) payable to: k & Associates Inc. P.O. Box 68797 son, AZ 85737 (USA)
Upon receipt of this coupon, you will your e-mail address legible. E-mail: Credit Card: Make check or money order (U.S. fund JWal JWal Tucs Download a fre	Expires: Expires: ds only) payable to: <b>k &amp; Associates Inc.</b> <b>P.O. Box 68797</b> <b>son, AZ 85737 (USA)</b> ee 30-day trial version of PUP from:

PUP v7 is compatible only with Excel 2007 and Excel 2010. For earlier versions of Excel, use PUP v6.

"John Walkenbach's writing style makes the difficult seem easy in this book that can be used as a reference or read cover to cover. You won't find a more comprehensive book on Excel 2010 than this!"

-Dick Kusleika, Microsoft MVP, DailyDoseOfExcel.com

# If Excel can do it, John Walkenbach can show you how

What better way to learn Excel 2010 than from "Mr. Spreadsheet" himself? Excel guru, Microsoft MVP, and author of all the previous top-selling editions of *Excel Bible*, John Walkenbach provides more than 1,000 pages packed with techniques, tips, and tricks for beginners as well as Excel power users. Discover what's new in Excel 2010, learn shortcuts you didn't know, make the Ribbon interface work for you, and master all the latest ins-and-outs with this must-have guide.

- Get up to speed on everything new in Excel 2010
- Understand functions, charts, worksheets, and workbooks
- Perform magic with array formulas—and even more with Sparklines
- Master "what-if" analysis, Goal Seeking, external database files, and pivot tables
- Develop custom functions, program with VBA, and create UserForms
- Try new slice-and-dice tools to dynamically filter your data

6 G 9 . Mala			Best L-A
The House Shine	Papelared Free	en 199	Agents (199
A Caller	10 18 4		
Faite J B Z H	- 💷 - 🛕 - 🗛 - 1		e (# 🔠-
Fath	Fed. 72117	1000	and 1 to 1
31420	5-		
m n n	C 10	E 1	- 11 -
Parte Vallant -	-		
and and Testpoor (%)			
Others Parity Options	7		
	8		
Rache (ground)			
18	2an		7 8
11	Feb		4 9

Preview how your copied text will look

 And Mandal Mar.
 And
 And

Spot trends in your data with Sparklines



Chart your data using Excel's different chart types

Shelving Category: COMPUTERS / Spreadsheets Reader Level: Beginning to Advanced

\$44.99 USA \$53.99 Canada www.it-ebooks.in



# What's on the CD-ROM?

Follow the examples in the book, chapter by chapter, using the bonus materials on the CD-ROM:

- All the examples and workbook files used in the book
- Searchable PDF of the book

**System Requirements:** See the CD Appendix in the book for details and complete system requirements.

# John Walkenbach

aka "Mr. Spreadsheet" is the principal of J-Walk and Associates, Inc. and a Microsoft Excel MVP. He is a leading authority on spreadsheet software and the creator of the award-winning Power Utility Pak. John has written more than 50 books, as well as articles and reviews for publications including *PC World*, *InfoWorld*, and *Windows*. He also maintains the popular Spreadsheet Page at spreadsheetpage.com.





www.wiley.com/compbooks

